## Victor Ivrii

# Microlocal Analysis, Sharp Spectral Asymptotics and Applications V

Applications to Quantum Theory and Miscellaneous Problems



Microlocal Analysis, Sharp Spectral Asymptotics and Applications V

Victor Ivrii

# Microlocal Analysis, Sharp Spectral Asymptotics and Applications V

Applications to Quantum Theory and Miscellaneous Problems



Victor Ivrii Department of Mathematics University of Toronto Toronto, ON, Canada

ISBN 978-3-030-30560-4 ISBN 978-3-030-30561-1 (eBook) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-30561-1

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010): 35P20, 35S05, 35S30, 81V70

#### © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

### Preface

The Problem of the *Spectral Asymptotics*, in particular the problem of the *Asymptotic Distribution of the Eigenvalues*, is one of the central problems in the *Spectral Theory of Partial Differential Operators*; moreover, it is very important for the *General Theory of Partial Differential Operators*.

I started working in this domain in 1979 after R. Seeley [1] justified a remainder estimate of the same order as the then hypothetical second term for the Laplacian in domains with boundary, and M. Shubin and B. M. Levitan suggested me to try to prove Weyl's conjecture. During the past almost 40 years I have not left the topic, although I had such intentions in 1985, when the methods I invented seemed to fail to provide the further progress and only a couple of not very exciting problems remained to be solved. However, at that time I made the step toward local semiclassical spectral asymptotics and rescaling, and new much wider horizons opened.

So I can say that this book is the result of 40 years of work in the Theory of Spectral Asymptotics and related domains of Microlocal Analysis and Mathematical Physics (I started analysis of *Propagation of singularities* (which plays the crucial role in my approach to the spectral asymptotics) in 1975).

This monograph consists of five volumes. This Volume II concludes the general theory. It consists of two parts. In the first one we develop methods of combining local asymptotics derived in Volume I, with estimates of the eigenvalue counting functions in the small domains (singular zone) derived by methods of functional analysis. In the second part we derive eigenvalue asymptotics which either follow directly from the general theory, or require applications of the developed methods (if the operator has singularities or degenerations, strong enough to affect the asymptotics).

Blly

Victor Ivrii, Toronto, June 10, 2019.

### Contents

Preface		V
Introduction		XX
	Part XI. Asymptotics of the Ground State Energy of Heavy Atoms and Molecules Part XII. Articles	XX XXIV
XI Appl ory	ication to Multiparticle Quantum The-	1
25 No Magne	etic Field Case	<b>2</b>
25.1 Introd	luction	2
25.1.1	Framework	2
25.1.2	Problems to Consider	4
25.1.3	Thomas-Fermi Theory	5
25.1.4	Main Results Sketched and Plan of the Chapter .	7
25.2  Reduce	etion to Semiclassical Theory	8
25.2.1	Lower Estimate	9
25.2.2	Upper Estimate	12
25.2.3	Remarks and Dirac Correction	14
25.3 Thom	as-Fermi Theory	15
25.3.1	Existence	16
25.3.2	Properties	18
25.4 Appli	cation of Semiclassical Methods	23
25.4.1	Asymptotics of the Trace	23
25.4.2	Upper Estimate for E	26
	Estimating $ \lambda_N - \nu $	26

			Estimating D-Term
			Finally, a tTheorem
		25.4.3	Improved Asymptotics
		25.4.4	Corollaries and Discussion
			Estimates for $D(\rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{TF}, \rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{TF})$
			Estimates for Distance between Nuclei in the Free
			Nuclei Model
	25.5	Negati	vely Charged sSystems
		25.5.1	Estimates of the Correlation Function
		25.5.2	Excessive Negative Charge
		25.5.3	Estimate for Ionization Energy
	25.6	Positiv	vely Charged sSystems
		25.6.1	Estimate from above for Ionization Energy
		25.6.2	Estimate from below for Ionization Energy
		25.6.3	Estimate for Excessive Positive Charge
	25.A	Appen	dices
		25.A.1	Electrostatic Inequalities
		25.A.2	Hamiltonian Trajectories
		25.A.3	Some Spectral Function Estimates
~ ~	<b>7</b> 01	a	
26	The	Case	of External Magnetic Field
	26.1	Introd	uction
		26.1.1	Framework
		26.1.2	Problems to Consider
		26.1.3	Magnetic Thomas-Fermi Theory
	000	26.1.4	Main Results Sketched and Plan of the Chapter .
	26.2	Magne	tic Thomas-Fermi Theory
		26.2.1	Framework and Existence
		26.2.2	Properties
	00.0	26.2.3	Positive lons
	26.3	Applyi	ing Semiclassical Methods: $M = 1$
		26.3.1	Heuristics
			Total Charge
			Semiclassical D-Term
			$ \lambda_N - \nu $ and Another D-Term
			Trace
			Discussion
		26.3.2	Smooth Approximation

		Trivial Arguments	93
		Formal Expansion	96
		Expansion: Justification	98
	26.3.3	Rough Approximation	100
		Properties of Mollification	100
		Charge Term	102
		Trace Term	105
		Semiclassical D-Term: Local Theory	108
		Semiclassical D-Term: Global Theory	111
26.4	Applyi	ing Semiclassical Methods: $M \ge 2$	113
	26.4.1	Scaling Functions in Zone $\mathcal{X}_2$	113
	26.4.2	Zone $\mathcal{X}_2$ : Semiclassical N-Term	118
	26.4.3	Zone $\mathcal{X}_2$ : Semiclassical D-Term	122
	26.4.4	Semiclassical T-Term	125
		Semiclassical T-Term: Zone $\mathcal{X}_1$ Extended	125
		Semiclassical T-Term: Zone $\mathcal{X}_2$	127
	26.4.5	Zone $\mathcal{X}_3$	131
26.5	Semicl	assical Analysis in the Boundary Strip for $M \ge 2$ .	131
	26.5.1	Properties of $W_B^{TF}$ if $N = Z$	132
	26.5.2	Analysis in the Boundary Strip $\mathcal Y$ for $N \geq Z$	137
	26.5.3	Analysis in the Boundary Strip $\mathcal Y$ for $N < Z$	140
		Case $B > (Z - N)^{\frac{4}{3}}$	140
		$C_{\text{add}} P \leq (7 \text{ N})^{\frac{4}{3}}$	145
	26 5 4	Case $D \leq (Z - N)_+^2 \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots$	140
າດດ	20.3.4 Crown	d State Engury	140
20.0	$\frac{1}{26}$ $\frac{6}{6}$ 1	a State Energy	147
	20.0.1	Lower Estimates	147
	20.0.2	Upper Estimate: General Scheme	149
	20.0.3	Upper Estimate as $M = 1$	149
		Estimate for $ \lambda_N - \nu $	149
		Estimate for D-ferms	151
	0C C 4	Summary $\dots$	152
	26.6.4	Upper Estimate as $M \ge 2$	153
		Estimate for $ \lambda_N - \nu $	153
		Estimate for D-ferms for Almost Neutral Systems	150
		Estimate for D-Terms for Positively Charged Systems	158
00 5	<b>N</b> T	Summary	163
26.7	Negati	vely Charged Systems	164

	26.7.1	Estimates of the Correlation Function	165
	26.7.2	Excessive Negative Charge	166
	26.7.3	Estimate for Ionization Energy	171
26.8	Positiv	rely Charged Systems	177
	26.8.1	Upper Estimate for Ionization Energy: $M = 1$	177
	26.8.2	Lower Estimate for Ionization Energy: $M = 1$ .	182
	26.8.3	Estimates for Ionization Energy: $M \ge 2$	191
	26.8.4	Free Nuclei Model	192
		Preliminary Arguments	192
		Minimal Distance	193
		Estimate of Excessive Positive Charge	196
		Estimate for Excessive Negative Charge and Ioniza-	
		tion Energy	198
26.A	Appen	dices	198
	26.A.1	Electrostatic Inequalities	198
	26.A.2	Very Strong Magnetic Field Case	203
	26.A.3	Riemann Sums and Integrals	204
	26.A.4	Some Spectral Function Estimates	205
	26.A.5	Zhislin's Theorem for Constant Magnetic Field	206
0 <b>7</b> TL.	G	- Call Carrente d Manualia Field	200
21 Ine	Later d	of Self-Generated Magnetic Field	208
27.1	Introd	Considerational Theory Agreement of the second seco	208
21.2	Local 1	Terr Model	210
	21.2.1	Ioy-Model	210
		Dealization Analysis	210
		Freiminary Analysis	211
	9799	Microlessi Analysis Unlosshed	214
	21.2.2	Sham Estimates	217
		Ann line tion	217
		Application	222
	07 0 0	Classical Dynamics and Snarper Estimates	220
	21.2.3	Local Ineory	228
		Extincte from below	228
	07.0.4	Estimate from below	231
	27.2.4	$C_{\text{rescalling}} \dots $	233
		$Case \ \kappa \leq 1 \qquad \dots \qquad$	234
		Case $1 \leq \kappa \leq n^{-1}$	236

27.3 Gl	obal Trace Asymptotics in the Case of Coulomb-Like
Sir	gularities
27.	3.1 Problem
27.	3.2 Estimates to a Minimizer
	Preliminary Analysis
	Estimates to a Minimizer. I
	Estimates to a Minimizer. II
	Estimates to a Minimizer. III
27.	3.3 Basic Trace Estimates
27.	3.4 Improved Trace Estimates
	Improved Tauberian Estimates
	Improved Weyl eEstimates
27.	3.5 Single Singularity
	Coulomb Potential
	Main Theorem
27.	3.6 Several Singularities
	Decoupling of Singularities
	Main Results
	Problems and Remarks
27.4 As	ymptotics of the Ground State Energy
27.	4.1 Problem
27.	4.2 Lower Estimate
27.	4.3 Upper Estimate
27.	4.4 Main Theorems
27.	4.5 Free Nuclei Model
27.5 Mi	scellaneous Problems
27.	5.1 Excessive Negative Charge
27.	5.2 Estimates for iIonization Energy
27.	5.3 Free Nuclei Model: Excessive Positive Charge 278
27.A Ap	pendices
27.	A.1 Minimizers and Ground States
27.	A.2 Zhislin's Theorem
27.	A.3 L. Erdös–J. P. Solovej's Lemma
28 The Ca	ase of Combined Magnetic Field 284
28.1 Int	roduction $\ldots \ldots 284$
28	1.1 Plan of the Chapter
28	1.2 Unfinished Business

28.2	Local S	Semiclassical Trace Asymptotics: Preparation	. 280	ŝ
	28.2.1	Toy-Model	. 280	3
	28.2.2	Formal Semiclassical Theory	. 280	ŝ
		Semiclassical Theory: $\beta h \lesssim 1$	. 280	3
		Semiclassical Theory: $\beta h \gtrsim 1$	. 290	)
	28.2.3	Estimate from below	. 290	)
		Basic Estimates	. 290	)
		Estimates to a Minimizer: $\beta h \lesssim 1 \dots \dots$	. 292	2
		Estimates to a Minimizer: $\beta h \gtrsim 1$	. 294	4
28.3	Microl	ocal Analysis Unleashed: $\beta h \lesssim 1$	. 290	ŝ
	28.3.1	Rough Estimate to a Minimizer	. 290	3
	28.3.2	Microlocal Analysis	. 300	C
	28.3.3	Advanced Estimate to a Minimizer	. 305	õ
		Tauberian Estimate	. 305	õ
		Calculating Tauberian Expression	. 308	3
		Estimating $ \partial^2 A' $	. 31	1
	28.3.4	Trace Term Asymptotics	. 312	2
		General Microlocal Arguments	. 312	2
		Strong Non-Degenerate Case	. 315	õ
		Non-Degenerate Case	. 310	ŝ
		Degenerate Case	. 31'	7
	28.3.5	Endgame	. 318	3
		Upper Estimate	. 318	3
		Lower Estimate	. 319	9
		Weak Magnetic Field Approach	. 32	1
		Main Theorem	. 32	1
	28.3.6	N-Term Asymptotics	. 322	2
		Introduction	. 322	2
		Strong Non-Degenerate Case	. 323	3
		Non-Degenerate Case	. 324	4
		Degenerate cCase	. 324	4
	28.3.7	D-Term Estimate	. 325	5
28.4	Microl	ocal Analysis: $\beta h \gtrsim 1$	. 33	1
	28.4.1	Estimate to a Minimizer	. 33	1
	28.4.2	Trace Term Asymptotics	. 332	2
	28.4.3	Endgame	. 334	4
	28.4.4	$N\mathchar`-$ Asymptotics and $D\mathchar`-$ Estimates $\ .$ .	. 334	4

28.5	Global	Trace Asymptotics in the Case of Thomas-Fermi
	Potent	ial: $B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$
	28.5.1	Introduction
	28.5.2	Estimates to a Minimizer
		Preliminary Analysis
		Estimates to a Minimizer: Interior Zone 339
		Estimates to a Minimizer: Exterior Zone
	28.5.3	Trace Asymptotics
	28.5.4	Endgame 347
		Main Theorem: $M = 1$
	28.5.5	N-Term Asymptotics and D-Term Estimate 350
		Case $M = 1$
		Case $M \ge 2$
	28.5.6	More Estimates to a Minimizer
		Case $M = 1$
		Case $M \ge 2$
	28.5.7	Endgame: $M \ge 2$ 359
28.6	Global	Trace Asymptotics in the Case of Thomas-Fermi
	Potent	ial: $Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^3$ 360
	28.6.1	Trace Estimates
	28.6.2	Estimates to a Minimizer
	28.6.3	N-Term Asymptotics and D-Term Estimates 367
28.7	Applic	ations to the Ground State Energy
	28.7.1	Preliminary Remarks
	28.7.2	Estimate from above: $B \le Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$
	28.7.3	Main Theorems: $B \le Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$
		Ground State Energy Asymptotics
		Ground State Density Asymptotics
	28.7.4	Main Theorems: $Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^3 \dots \dots$
		Ground State Energy Asymptotics
		Ground State Density Asymptotics
28.A	Appen	dices
	28.A.1	Generalization of Lieb-Loss-Solovej Estimate 382
	28.A.2	Electrostatic Inequality
	28.A.3	Estimates for $(hD_{x_i} - \mu x_j)e(x, y, \tau) _{x=y}$ for Toy-Model
		Operator
		Calculations
		Case $\alpha \ge \mu^2 h$

Case $\mu h \ge \epsilon_0$ 3	90
$\underbrace{\operatorname{case}}_{\mu} \mu \underline{\operatorname{c}}_{\mu} = \underbrace{\operatorname{c}}_{\mu} \cdot \cdot$	92
Tauberian Estimates 3	94

### Bibliography

### XII Articles

467

 $\mathbf{395}$ 

Spect	ral Asymptotics for the Semiclassical Dirichlet to Neu-	
ma	ann Operator	468
1	Introduction	469
2	Reduction to Semiclassical Spectral Asymptotics	475
3	Semiclassical Spectral Asymptotics	478
4	Relation to Dirichlet Boundary Condition	484
А	Appendix	486
	A.1 Standard Semiclassical Asymptotics	486
	A.2 Tauberian Theorem	486
	A.3 Propagator	487
	A.4 Propagation of Singularities	488
	A.5 Method of Successive Approximations	490
	A.6 Two Term Expansion	491
Bił	bliography	493
Spect	ral Asymptotics for Fractional Laplacians	495
Spect	ral Asymptotics for Fractional Laplacians Problem Set-up	<b>495</b> 495
$\frac{\mathbf{Spect}}{2}$	ral Asymptotics for Fractional Laplacians      Problem Set-up       Preliminary Analysis	<b>495</b> 495 496
<b>Spect</b> 1 2 3	ral Asymptotics for Fractional Laplacians      Problem Set-up    Preliminary Analysis      Preliminary Analysis    Propagation of Singularities near the Boundary	<b>495</b> 495 496 498
<b>Spect</b> 1 2 3 4	ral Asymptotics for Fractional Laplacians      Problem Set-up    Preliminary Analysis      Preliminary Analysis    Propagation of Singularities near the Boundary      Reflection of Singularities from the Boundary    Presson	<b>495</b> 495 496 498 500
<b>Spect</b> 1 2 3 4	ral Asymptotics for Fractional Laplacians      Problem Set-up       Preliminary Analysis       Propagation of Singularities near the Boundary       Reflection of Singularities from the Boundary       4.1    Toy-Model	<b>495</b> 495 496 498 500 500
<b>Spect</b> 1 2 3 4	ral Asymptotics for Fractional Laplacians      Problem Set-up	<b>495</b> 495 496 498 500 500 500
<b>Spect</b> 1 2 3 4 5	ral Asymptotics for Fractional Laplacians      Problem Set-up	<b>495</b> 496 498 500 500 503 504
<b>Spect</b> 1 2 3 4 5	ral Asymptotics for Fractional Laplacians      Problem Set-up    Propagation of Singularities near the Boundary      Propagation of Singularities from the Boundary    Propagation of Singularities from the Boundary      4.1    Toy-Model      4.2    General Case      Main Results    Source      5.1    From Tauberian to Weyl Asymptotics	<b>495</b> 496 498 500 500 503 504 504
<b>Spect</b> 1 2 3 4 5	ral Asymptotics for Fractional LaplaciansProblem Set-up	<b>495</b> 496 498 500 500 503 504 504 504
<b>Spect</b> 1 2 3 4 5 6	ral Asymptotics for Fractional Laplacians      Problem Set-up      Preliminary Analysis      Propagation of Singularities near the Boundary      Reflection of Singularities from the Boundary      4.1      Toy-Model      4.2      General Case      Main Results      5.1      From Tauberian to Weyl Asymptotics      5.2      Discussion	<b>495</b> 496 498 500 500 503 504 504 504 506 507
<b>Spect</b> 1 2 3 4 5 6 A	ral Asymptotics for Fractional Laplacians      Problem Set-up      Preliminary Analysis      Propagation of Singularities near the Boundary      Reflection of Singularities from the Boundary      4.1      Toy-Model      4.2      General Case      5.1      From Tauberian to Weyl Asymptotics      5.2      Discussion      Global Theory      Variational Estimates for Fractional Laplacian	<b>495</b> 496 498 500 500 503 504 504 504 506 507 509
<b>Spect</b> 1 2 3 4 5 6 A	ral Asymptotics for Fractional LaplaciansProblem Set-upPreliminary AnalysisPreliminary AnalysisPropagation of Singularities near the BoundaryPropagation of Singularities from the BoundaryPropagation of Singularities from the Boundary4.1Toy-Model4.2General CaseMain ResultsSource5.1From Tauberian to Weyl Asymptotics5.2DiscussionGlobal TheorySourceVariational Estimates for Fractional LaplacianA.1Variational Estimates for Fractional Laplacian	<b>495</b> 496 498 500 503 504 504 504 506 507 509 509

	the Do	omains with Edges
1	Intro	duction
2	Diric	hlet-to-Neumann Operator
	2.1	Toy-Model: Dihedral Angle
	2.2	General Case
3	Micro	olocal Analysis
	3.1	Propagation of Singularities near Edge
	3.2	Reflection of Singularities from the Edge
1	Main	Results
	4.1	From Tauberian to Weyl Asymptotics
	4.2	Main Theorems
	4.3	Discussion
4	Appe	endix
	A.1	Planar Toy-Model
		Preparatory Results
	A.2	Spectrum
Bib	liograp	hy
m	ptotics Settin	s of the Ground State Energy in the Relativis-
ic		
ic	Intro	duction
	Intro	duction
z <b>ic</b>	Intro Func 2 1	duction
z <b>ic</b> 1 2	Intro Func 2.1 2.2	duction
	Intro Func 2.1 2.2 Semi	duction
	Intro Func 2.1 2.2 Semi- 3.1	duction
	Intro Func 2.1 2.2 Semi- 3.1 3.2	duction
;ic 2 3	Intro Func 2.1 2.2 Semi 3.1 3.2 3.3	duction
	Intro Func 2.1 2.2 Semi 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4	duction
5 <b>ic</b>	Intro Func 2.1 2.2 Semi- 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5	duction

tic Settings and with Self-Generated Magnetic Field      1    Introduction      2    Local Semiclassical Trace Asymptotics      2.1    Set-up      2.2    Functional Analytic Arguments      2.3    Microlocal Analysis and Local Theory      Microlocal Analysis Unleashed    Decel Theory and Rescaling      2.3    Global Trace Asymptotics in the Case of Coulomb-Like Singularities      3.1    Estimates to a Minimizer      3.2    Trace Estimates      4    Main Results      4.1    Asymptotics of the Ground State Energy      4.2    Related Problems      A    Some Inequalities      Bibliography    Introduction      1.1    Preliminary Remarks      1.2    Main Theorem      1.3    Plan of the Paper      2    Proof of the Main Theorem      1.3    Plan of the Paper      2.4    Gauge Transformation      2.5    Resonant Zone      2.6    End of the Proof      3    Global Trace Asymptotics      4    Main Theorem      1.3    Plan of the Paper      2    Gau	symp	ototics	of the Ground State Energy in the Relativis-
1    Introduction      2    Local Semiclassical Trace Asymptotics      2.1    Set-up      2.2    Functional Analytic Arguments      2.2    Functional Analytic Arguments      2.2    Functional Analytic Arguments      2.3    Microlocal Analysis and Local Theory      2.3    Microlocal Analysis Unleashed      3    Global Trace Asymptotics in the Case of Coulomb-Like      Singularities	tic	Settin	gs and with Self-Generated Magnetic Field
2    Local Semiclassical Trace Asymptotics      2.1    Set-up      2.2    Functional Analytic Arguments      2.3    Microlocal Analysis and Local Theory      2.3    Microlocal Analysis and Local Theory      3    Global Trace Asymptotics in the Case of Coulomb-Like Singularities      3.1    Estimates to a Minimizer      3.2    Trace Estimates      4    Main Results      4.1    Asymptotics of the Ground State Energy      4.2    Related Problems      4.3    Some Inequalities      4    Main Results      4.1    Asymptotics of the Ground State Energy      4.2    Related Problems      5    Bibliography      5    Omplete Semiclassical Spectral Asymptotics for Periodic and Almost Periodic Perturbations of Constant Operator      1    Introduction      1.1    Preliminary Remarks      1.2    Main Theorem      1.3    Plan of the Paper      2    Proof of the Main Theorem      2.1    Preliminary Analysis      2.2    Gauge Transformation      2.3    Non-Resonant Zone      2.4	1	Intro	duction
2.1    Set-up	2	Local	Semiclassical Trace Asymptotics
2.2    Functional Analytic Arguments      Estimates    Properties of a Minimizer      2.3    Microlocal Analysis and Local Theory      Microlocal Analysis Unleashed    Local Theory and Rescaling      3    Global Trace Asymptotics in the Case of Coulomb-Like      Singularities		2.1	Set-up
Estimates    Properties of a Minimizer      2.3    Microlocal Analysis and Local Theory      Microlocal Analysis Unleashed    Local Theory and Rescaling      3    Global Trace Asymptotics in the Case of Coulomb-Like Singularities      3.1    Estimates to a Minimizer      3.2    Trace Estimates      4    Main Results      4.1    Asymptotics of the Ground State Energy      4.2    Related Problems      A    Some Inequalities      Bibliography    Some Inequalities      1    Introduction      1.1    Preliminary Remarks      1.2    Main Theorem      1.3    Plan of the Paper      2    Proof of the Main Theorem      2.1    Preliminary Analysis      2.2    Gauge Transformation      2.3    Non-Resonant Zone      2.4    Gauge Transformation      2.5    Resonant Zone      2.6    End of the Proof      3.1    Matrix Operators      3.2    Perturbations		2.2	Functional Analytic Arguments
Properties of a Minimizer      2.3    Microlocal Analysis and Local Theory      Microlocal Analysis Unleashed      Local Theory and Rescaling      3    Global Trace Asymptotics in the Case of Coulomb-Like      Singularities    3.1      Estimates to a Minimizer      3.1    Estimates to a Minimizer      3.2    Trace Estimates      4    Main Results      4.1    Asymptotics of the Ground State Energy      4.2    Related Problems      4    Some Inequalities      Bibliography			Estimates
2.3    Microlocal Analysis and Local Theory      Microlocal Analysis Unleashed    Local Theory and Rescaling      3    Global Trace Asymptotics in the Case of Coulomb-Like      Singularities    3.1      Estimates to a Minimizer    3.2      Trace Estimates    4      Main Results    4.1      Asymptotics of the Ground State Energy    4.2      Related Problems    4.2      Related Problems    4.3      Some Inequalities    4.4      Bibliography    4.5      Some Inequalities    4.6      Min Resulta    4.7      Related Problems    4.7      Related Problems    4.7      Main Theorem    4.7      Nomplete Semiclassical Spectral Asymptotics for Periodic and Almost Periodic Perturbations of Constant Operator      1    Introduction      1.1    Preliminary Remarks      1.2    Main Theorem      1.3    Plan of the Paper      2    Proof of the Main Theorem      2.1    Preliminary Analysis      2.2    Gauge Transformation      2.3    Non-Resonant Zone      2.4			Properties of a Minimizer
Microlocal Analysis Unleashed		2.3	Microlocal Analysis and Local Theory
Image: Local Theory and Rescaling      3    Global Trace Asymptotics in the Case of Coulomb-Like Singularities      3.1    Estimates to a Minimizer      3.2    Trace Estimates      4    Main Results      4.1    Asymptotics of the Ground State Energy      4.2    Related Problems      4.3    Some Inequalities      4.4    Some Inequalities      5    Bibliography      5    model assical Spectral Asymptotics for Periodic and Almost Periodic Perturbations of Constant Operator      1    Introduction      1.1    Preliminary Remarks      1.2    Main Theorem      1.3    Plan of the Paper      2    Proof of the Main Theorem      2.1    Preliminary Analysis      2.2    Gauge Transformation      2.3    Non-Resonant Zone      2.4    Gauge Transformation      2.5    Resonant Zone      2.6    End of the Proof      3.1    Matrix Operators      3.2    Perturbations			Microlocal Analysis Unleashed
3    Global Trace Asymptotics in the Case of Coulomb-Like Singularities      3.1    Estimates to a Minimizer      3.2    Trace Estimates      4    Main Results      4.1    Asymptotics of the Ground State Energy      4.2    Related Problems      A    Some Inequalities      Bibliography			Local Theory and Rescaling
Singularities    3.1    Estimates to a Minimizer      3.1    Estimates to a Minimizer      3.2    Trace Estimates      4    Main Results      4.1    Asymptotics of the Ground State Energy      4.2    Related Problems      A    Some Inequalities      Bibliography	3	Globa	al Trace Asymptotics in the Case of Coulomb-Like
3.1    Estimates to a Minimizer      3.2    Trace Estimates      4    Main Results      4.1    Asymptotics of the Ground State Energy      4.2    Related Problems      A    Some Inequalities      Bibliography		Singu	larities
3.2    Trace Estimates      4    Main Results      4.1    Asymptotics of the Ground State Energy      4.2    Related Problems      A    Some Inequalities      Bibliography		3.1	Estimates to a Minimizer
4    Main Results		3.2	Trace Estimates
4.1    Asymptotics of the Ground State Energy      4.2    Related Problems      A    Some Inequalities      Bibliography	4	Main	Results
4.2    Related Problems      A    Some Inequalities      Bibliography    Bibliography      omplete Semiclassical Spectral Asymptotics for Periodic and Almost Periodic Perturbations of Constant Operator      1    Introduction      1.1    Preliminary Remarks      1.2    Main Theorem      1.3    Plan of the Paper      2    Proof of the Main Theorem      2.1    Preliminary Analysis      2.2    Gauge Transformation      2.3    Non-Resonant Zone      2.4    Gauge Transformation      2.5    Resonant Zone      2.6    End of the Proof      3.1    Matrix Operators      3.2    Perturbations		4.1	Asymptotics of the Ground State Energy
A    Some Inequalities      Bibliography		4.2	Related Problems
Bibliography	А	Some	Inequalities
omplete Semiclassical Spectral Asymptotics for Periodic and Almost Periodic Perturbations of Constant Opera- tor      1    Introduction      1.1    Preliminary Remarks      1.2    Main Theorem      1.3    Plan of the Paper      2    Proof of the Main Theorem      2.1    Preliminary Analysis      2.2    Gauge Transformation      2.3    Non-Resonant Zone      2.4    Gauge Transformation      2.5    Resonant Zone      2.6    End of the Proof      3    Generalizations and Discussion      3.1    Matrix Operators      3.2    Perturbations	Bibl	iograp	hv
and Almost Periodic Perturbations of Constant Operator      1    Introduction      1.1    Preliminary Remarks      1.2    Main Theorem      1.3    Plan of the Paper      2    Proof of the Main Theorem      2.1    Preliminary Analysis      2.2    Gauge Transformation      2.3    Non-Resonant Zone      2.4    Gauge Transformation      2.5    Resonant Zone      2.6    End of the Proof      3.1    Matrix Operators      3.2    Perturbations	ompl	ete Se	emiclassical Spectral Asymptotics for Periodic
tor      1    Introduction	and	Almo	ost Periodic Perturbations of Constant Opera-
1Introduction1.1Preliminary Remarks1.2Main Theorem1.3Plan of the Paper2Proof of the Main Theorem2.1Preliminary Analysis2.2Gauge Transformation2.3Non-Resonant Zone2.4Gauge Transformation2.5Resonant Zone2.6End of the Proof3Generalizations and Discussion3.1Matrix Operators3.2Perturbations	$\operatorname{tor}$		-
1.1Preliminary Remarks1.2Main Theorem1.3Plan of the Paper2Proof of the Main Theorem2.1Preliminary Analysis2.2Gauge Transformation2.3Non-Resonant Zone2.4Gauge Transformation2.5Resonant Zone2.6End of the Proof3.1Matrix Operators3.2Perturbations	1	Intro	duction
1.2    Main Theorem      1.3    Plan of the Paper      2    Proof of the Main Theorem      2.1    Preliminary Analysis      2.2    Gauge Transformation      2.3    Non-Resonant Zone      2.4    Gauge Transformation      2.5    Resonant Zone      2.6    End of the Proof      3.1    Matrix Operators      3.2    Perturbations		1.1	Preliminary Remarks
1.3Plan of the Paper2Proof of the Main Theorem2.1Preliminary Analysis2.2Gauge Transformation2.3Non-Resonant Zone2.4Gauge Transformation2.5Resonant Zone2.6End of the Proof3.1Matrix Operators3.2Perturbations		1.2	Main Theorem
2    Proof of the Main Theorem      2.1    Preliminary Analysis      2.2    Gauge Transformation      2.3    Non-Resonant Zone      2.4    Gauge Transformation      2.5    Resonant Zone      2.6    End of the Proof      3.1    Matrix Operators      3.2    Perturbations		1.3	Plan of the Paper
2.1Preliminary Analysis2.2Gauge Transformation2.3Non-Resonant Zone2.4Gauge Transformation2.5Resonant Zone2.6End of the Proof3Generalizations and Discussion3.1Matrix Operators3.2Perturbations	2	Proof	of the Main Theorem
2.2    Gauge Transformation      2.3    Non-Resonant Zone      2.4    Gauge Transformation      2.5    Resonant Zone      2.6    End of the Proof      3.1    Matrix Operators      3.2    Perturbations		2.1	Preliminary Analysis
2.3    Non-Resonant Zone		2.2	Gauge Transformation
2.4Gauge Transformation2.5Resonant Zone2.6End of the Proof3Generalizations and Discussion3.1Matrix Operators3.2Perturbations		2.3	Non-Resonant Zone
2.5Resonant Zone		2.4	Gauge Transformation
2.6End of the Proof3Generalizations and Discussion3.1Matrix Operators3.2Perturbations		2.5	Resonant Zone
3    Generalizations and Discussion		2.6	End of the Proof
3.1Matrix Operators3.2Perturbations	3		
3.2 Perturbations		Gener	ralizations and Discussion
		Gener 3.1	ralizations and Discussion

	3.3	Differentiability	603
Bi	bliograp	hy	605
Com	plete D	ifferentiable Semiclassical Spectral Asymptotics	607
1	Intro	duction $\ldots$	607
2	Proo	fs $\ldots$	610
	2.1	Preliminary Remarks	610
	2.2	Propagation and Local Energy Decay	610
	2.3	Traces and the End of the Proof	615
	2.4	Discussion	616
Bi	bliograp	hy	617
	a		010
Beth	e-Somn	nerfeld Conjecture in Semiclassical Settings	619 C10
1	Intro		619
	1.1	Preliminary Remarks	619
	1.2	Main Theorem (Statement)	621
-	1.3	Idea of the Proof and the Plan of the Paper	622
2	Redu	action of Operator	624
	2.1	Reduction	624
	2.2	Classification of Resonant Points	627
	2.3	Structure of Operator $\mathcal{A}$	628
3	Proo	f of Theorem 1.3 $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$	629
	3.1	Choosing $\gamma^*$	629
	3.2	Non-Resonant Points	630
	3.3	Resonant Points	633
4	Discu	ussion	634
	4.1	Improving $v$	634
	4.2	Condition $(1.14)$	635
	4.3	Differentiability	635
	4.4	Bethe-Sommerfeld Conjecture for Almost Periodic	
		Perturbations	635
Bi	bliograp	hy	636
100 y	ears of	Weyl's Law	641
1	Intro	duction $\ldots$	641
	A Bi	t of History	641
	Meth	nod of the Hyperbolic Operator	644
2	Loca	l Semiclassical Spectral Asymptotics	646

	Asymptotics Inside the Domain
	Propagation of Singularities
	Successive Approximation Method
	Recovering Spectral Asymptotics
	Second Term and Dynamics
	Rescaling Technique
	Operators with Periodic Trajectories
	Boundary Value Problems
	Preliminary Analysis
	Propagation of Singularities
	Successive Approximations Method
	Recovering Spectral Asymptotics
	Second Term and Dynamics
	Rescaling Technique
	Operators with Periodic Billiards
3	Global Asymptotics
	Weyl Asymptotics
	Regular Theory
	Singularities
	Non-Weyl Asymptotics
	Partially Weyl Theory
	Domains with Thick Cusps
	Neumann Laplacian in Domains with Ultra-Thin
	Cusps $\ldots \ldots \ldots$
	Operators in $\mathbb{R}^d$
	Maximally Hypoelliptic Operators
	Trace Asymptotics for Operators with Singularities 686
	Periodic Operators
4	Non-Smooth Theory
	Non-Smooth Symbols and Rough Microlocal Analysis 689
	Non-Smooth Boundaries
	$Aftermath \dots \dots$
2	Magnetic Schrödinger Operator
	Introduction
	Standard Theory
	Preliminaries
	Canonical Form $\ldots \ldots 694$
	Asymptotics: Moderate Magnetic Field 694

Asymptotics: Strong Magnetic Field	695
2D case, Degenerating Magnetic Field	696
Preliminaries	696
Moderate and Strong Magnetic Field	697
Strong and Superstrong Magnetic Field	698
2D Case, near the Boundary	699
Moderate Magnetic Field	699
Strong Magnetic Field	701
Pointwise Asymptotics and Short Loops	702
$Case d = 2 \dots \dots$	703
Case $d = 3$	704
Related Asymptotics	705
Magnetic Dirac oOperators	705
3 Magnetic Schrödinger Operator. II	706
Higher Dimensions	706
General Theory	706
Case $d = 4$ : More Results	708
Non-Smooth Theory	708
Global Asymptotics	709
$\operatorname{Case} d = 2r$	710
Case $d > 2r$ . I	711
Case $d > 2r$ . II $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	712
4 Applications to Multiparticle Quantum Theory	713
Problem Set-up	713
Reduction to One-Particle Problem	714
Estimate from below	714
Estimate from above	716
Semiclassical Approximation	717
Estimate from below	717
Estimate from above	718
More Precise Estimates	719
Ramifications	720
Adding Magnetic Field	721
Adding External Magnetic Field	721
Adding Self-Generated Magnetic Field	723
Combining External and Self-Generated Magnetic	-
Fields	724
Bibliography	725

CONTENTS	XIX
Presentations	730
Index	732

### Introduction

This Volume is devoted to applications. In Part XI we consider Multiparticle Quantum Theory, and in Part XII Miscellaneous problems (again, including Multiparticle Quantum Theory).

#### Part XI. Asymptotics of the Ground State Energy of Heavy Atoms and Molecules

In this Part we consider an application to Thomas-Fermi Theory. Consider a large (heavy) atom or molecule; it is described by *Multiparticle Quantum Hamiltonian* 

(0.1) 
$$\mathsf{H}_{N} = \sum_{1 \le n \le N} H_{V}(x_{n}) + \sum_{1 \le n < k \le N} \frac{1}{|x_{n} - x_{k}|},$$

where H is one-particle quantum Hamiltonian, Planck constant  $\hbar = 1$ , electron mass  $= \frac{1}{2}$ , electron charge = -1,  $y_m$  is a location of m-th nuclei and  $Z_m$  its charge, M is fixed, but  $Z_m \simeq N \rightarrow \infty$ .

This operator acts on the space  $\wedge_{1 \leq j \leq N} \mathcal{L}^2(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{C}^2)$  of totally antisymmetric functions  $\Psi(x_1, \varsigma_1; ...; x_N, \varsigma_N)$  because electrons are Fermions,  $x_n = (x_n^1, x_n^2, x_n^3)$  is a coordinate and  $\varsigma_n \in \{-\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}\}$  is a *spin* of *n*-th particle. We identify  $\mathbb{C}^2$ -valued function  $\psi(x)$  on  $\mathbb{R}^3$  with scalar-valued  $\psi(x, \varsigma)$ 

If electrons were not interacting between themselves, but the field potential was -W(x), then they would occupy lowest eigenvalues and ground state wave functions would be (anti-symmetrized)  $\phi_1(x_1,\varsigma_1)\phi_2(x_2,\varsigma_2)\dots\phi_N(x_N,\varsigma_N)$ where  $\phi_n$  and  $\lambda_n$  are eigenfunctions and eigenvalues of  $H_W$ .

Then the local electron density would be  $\rho_{\Psi} = \sum_{1 \leq n \leq N} |\phi_n(x)|^2$  and according to pointwise Weyl law (if there is no magnetic field)

(0.2) 
$$\rho_{\Psi}(x) \approx \frac{1}{3\pi^2} (W + \nu)_{+}^{\frac{3}{2}},$$

where  $\nu = \lambda_N$ ; here we assume that  $H_V = \Delta - V(x)$  as it is in Chapter 25.

This density would generate potential  $-|x|^{-1} * \rho_{\Psi}$  and we would have  $W \approx V - |x|^{-1} * \rho_{\Psi}$ .

Replacing all approximate equalities by strict ones we arrive to Thomas-Fermi equations:

(0.3) 
$$V - W^{\mathsf{TF}} = |\mathbf{x}|^{-1} * \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}$$

(0.4) 
$$\rho^{\mathsf{TF}} = \frac{1}{3\pi^2} (W^{\mathsf{TF}} + \nu)_+^{\frac{3}{2}},$$

(0.5) 
$$\int \rho^{\mathsf{TF}} \, d\mathbf{x} = \mathbf{N},$$

where  $\nu \leq 0$  is called *chemical potential* and in fact approximates  $\lambda_N$ .

Thomas-Fermi theory has been rigorously justified (with pretty good error estimates).

Chapter 25. No Magnetic Field Case. In this chapter we assume that there is no magnetic field:  $H_V = \Delta - V(x)$  with

(0.6) 
$$V(x) = \sum_{1 \le m \le M} \frac{Z_m}{|x - y_m|},$$

where  $y_m$  is a *position* and  $Z_m$  is a *charge* of *m*-th nuclei, *M* is fixed and  $Z_1 \simeq Z_2 \simeq \cdots \simeq Z_M \simeq N$ .

Section 25.1 is an Introduction and in Section 25.2 we justify a reduction of the original multiparticle problem to one-particle one. This is done mainly by methods of the classical mathematical physics (functional analysis).

In Section 25.3 we expose Thomas-Fermi theory described by (0.3)-(0.5).

In *Section 25.4* we, based on previous sections and chapters, prove our main results. First of all, the *ground state energy* is given by

(0.7) 
$$\mathsf{E}_{N} = 2 \frac{(6\pi^{2})^{\frac{5}{3}}}{15\pi^{2}} \int \left(\rho^{\mathsf{TF}\frac{5}{3}} - V\rho^{\mathsf{TF}}\right) dx \\ - \frac{1}{2} \iint \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}(x)\rho^{\mathsf{TF}}(y)|x-y|^{-1} dx dy + O(Z^{2}).$$

Using results of Section 12.6 Riesz Means for Operators with Singularities, we improve the remainder estimate to  $O(Z^{\frac{5}{3}})$  but we need to include the Scott correction term

$$(0.8) \qquad \qquad \sum_{1 \le m \le M} S_0 Z_m^2$$

and even to  $O(Z^{\frac{5}{3}-\delta})$  but we need to include *Dirac and Schwinger correction* terms  $\sim Z^{\frac{5}{3}}$ .

In Section 25.5 we consider negatively charged systems (i.e. those with  $Z := Z_1 + ... + Z_m < N$ ) and estimate excessive negative charge (N - Z), when system is able to bind N electrons, i.e.  $E_N < E_{N-1}$ .

In Section 25.6 we consider positively charged systems (i.e. those with Z > N) and estimate or find asymptotics  $I_N \approx \nu_N$  for an *ionization energy*  $I_N := E_{N-1} - E_N$ .

We also consider systems with free  $y_1,\ldots,y_M$  and include in the total energy the internuclear energy

(0.9) 
$$\sum_{1 \le m < m' \le M} \frac{Z_m Z_{m'}}{|y_m - y_{m'}|},$$

and minimize the ground state energy by  $\mathsf{y}_1,\ldots,\mathsf{y}_M$  and recover all a forementioned results.

We also estimate *excessive positive charge* (Z - N) for which system does not disintegrate into separate atoms.

Chapter 26. The Case of External Magnetic Field. Here we assume that there is a constant magnetic field with a magnetic potential  $A(x) = B(-\frac{1}{2}x_2, \frac{1}{2}x_1, 0)$  and then one-particle Hamiltonian is Schrödinger-Pauli operator:

(0.10) 
$$H = ((-ih\nabla - \mu \mathbf{A}(x)) \cdot \mathbf{\sigma})^2 + V(x)$$

(see, f.e. Volume III, (0.41)). We assume that the magnetic field is not hyperstrong:  $B \ll N^3$ . Still it may be sufficiently strong to affect pointwise Weyl formula, which needs to be modified according to Chapter 13 (the results of Chapter 14 are not needed here).

Basically there are two principally cases  $B \ll Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  of a moderate magnetic field and  $Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \ll B \ll Z^3$  of a strong magnetic field and a transitional case.

Section 26.1 is an Introduction (which is parallel to Sections 25.1 and 25.2, arguments and results of which require almost no modification).

Section 26.2 is parallel to Section 25.3 but instead of Section 25.4 we have four Sections 26.3–26.6, covering single nucleus case M = 1, multiple nuclei case  $M \ge 2$  with analysis "inside molecule" and "near the molecule edge" and the synthesis, respectively.

Sections 26.7 and 26.8 are similar to Sections 25.5 and 25.6.

Chapter 27. The Case of Self-Generated Magnetic Field. Here we consider the same Schrödinger-Pauli operator but magnetic field is underdetermined a priory and its energy

$$(0.11) \qquad \qquad \alpha^{-1} \int |\nabla \times \mathbf{A}|^2 \, d\mathbf{x}$$

is included in the total energy. Here we assume that  $\alpha Z_m \leq \kappa^*$  with some constant  $\kappa^* > 0$ . We recover the same results as in Chapter 25 but with the *Scott correction term* 

(0.12) 
$$\sum_{1 \le m \le M} S(\alpha Z_m) Z_m^2$$

instead of (0.8).

Section 27.1 is an Introduction. Sections 27.2 and 27.3 provide a replacement for Sections 12.6: while Section 27.2 treats a single singularity, Section 27.3 deals with a molecular case and the necessity to "decouple" singularities.

In Section 27.4 as in Section 25.4 the asymptotics of the ground state energy is recovered and Section 27.5 is similar to Sections 25.5 and Section 25.6.

Chapter 28. The Case of Combined Magnetic Field. This chapter combines two previous ones: there is an external constant magnetic field  $A_0(x) = B(-\frac{1}{2}x_2, \frac{1}{2}x_1, 0)$  and an unknown self-generated magnetic field  $(A - A_0)(x)$ , and the energy of the latter

(0.13) 
$$\alpha^{-1} \int |\nabla \times (\boldsymbol{A} - \boldsymbol{A}_0(\boldsymbol{x}))|^2 \, d\boldsymbol{x}$$

should be added to the total energy.

Section 28.1 is an Introduction. Since we need a lot of microlocal arguments, they spread over six sections: Sections 28.2–28.4 cover the local theory and Sections 28.5 and 28.6 the global theory under different assumptions.

However applications to the ground state energy, excessive negative and positive charges and ionization energy need only small modifications of our previous arguments and squeeze into a single *Section 28.7*.

### XXIV

### Part XII. Articles

I decided to put results of the last few years in this volume as separate articles. So far those  ${\rm are}^{1)}$ 

- Joint paper with A. Hassel [1] Spectral asymptotics for the semiclassical Dirichlet to Neumann operator.
- My paper [29] Spectral asymptotics for fractional Laplacians.
- My paper [32] Spectral asymptotics for Dirichlet to Neumann operator in the domains with edges.
- My paper [30] Asymptotics of the ground state energy in the relativistic settings.
- My paper [31] Asymptotics of the ground state energy in the relativistic settings and with self-generated magnetic field.
- My paper [33] Complete semiclassical spectral asymptotics for periodic and almost periodic perturbations of constant operator.
- My paper [34] Complete Differentiable Semiclassical Spectral Asymptotics.

item My paper [34] Bethe-Sommerfeld conjecture in semiclassical settings.

- My paper [28] 100 years of Weyl's law.

See also the List of my presentations with links to them.

 $<sup>^{1)}</sup>$  While I do not plan to change the main body of this book, I intend to add new articles, as soon as I write them.

### Part XI

### Application to Multiparticle Quantum Theory



# Chapter 25 No Magnetic Field Case

### 25.1 Introduction

The purpose of this Part is to apply semiclassical methods developed in the previous parts to the theory of heavy atoms and molecules. Because of this we combine our semiclassical methods with the traditional methods of that theory, mainly function-analytic.

In this Chapter we consider the case without magnetic field. Next chapters will be devoted to the cases of the self-generated magnetic field, strong external magnetic field and the combined external and self-generated fields. Basically this Chapter should be considered as an introduction.

We explore the ground state energy, an excessive negative charge, ionization energy and excessive negative charge when atoms can still bind into molecules.

### 25.1.1 Framework

Let us consider the following operator (quantum Hamiltonian)

(25.1.1) 
$$\mathsf{H} = \mathsf{H}_N \coloneqq \sum_{1 \le j \le N} H_{V, x_j} + \sum_{1 \le j < k \le N} |x_j - x_k|^{-1}$$

on

(25.1.2) 
$$\mathfrak{H} = \bigwedge_{1 \le n \le N} \mathsf{H}, \qquad \mathsf{H} = \mathscr{L}^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^q)$$

with

(25.1.3) 
$$H_V = D^2 - V(x)$$

describing N same type particles in the external field with the scalar potential -V (it is more convenient but contradicts notations of the previous chapters), and repulsing one another according to the Coulomb law.

Here  $x_j \in \mathbb{R}^d$  and  $(x_1, ..., x_N) \in \mathbb{R}^{Nd}$ , potential V(x) is assumed to be real-valued. Except when specifically mentioned we assume that

(25.1.4) 
$$V(x) = \sum_{1 \le m \le M} \frac{Z_m}{|x - y_m|}$$

where  $Z_m > 0$  and  $y_m$  are charges and locations of nuclei.

Mass is equal to  $\frac{1}{2}$  and the Plank constant and a charge are equal to 1 here. The crucial question is the quantum statistics.

(25.1.5) We assume that the particles (electrons) are *fermions*. This means that the Hamiltonian should be considered on the *Fock space*  $\mathfrak{H}$  defined by (25.1.2) of the functions antisymmetric with respect to all variables  $(x_1, \varsigma_1), \ldots, (x_N, \varsigma_N)$ .

Here  $\varsigma \in \{1, \dots, q\}$  is a spin variable.

*Remark 25.1.1.* (i) Meanwhile for *bosons* one should consider this operator on the space of symmetric functions. The results would be very different from what we will get here. Since our methods fail in that framework, we consider only fermions here.

(ii) In this Chapter we do not have magnetic field and we can assume that q = 1; for  $q \ge 1$  no modifications of our arguments is required and results are the same albeit with different numerical coefficients. In the next chapters we introduce magnetic field (external or self-generated) we will be interested in d = 3, q = 2 and

(25.1.6) 
$$H_{V,A} = \left( \left( i \nabla - A \right) \cdot \boldsymbol{\sigma} \right)^2 - V(x)$$

where  $\boldsymbol{\sigma} = (\sigma_1, \sigma_2, \sigma_3), \sigma_k$  are Pauli matrices.

Let us assume that

(25.1.7) Operator H is self-adjoint on  $\mathfrak{H}$ .

As usual we will never discuss this assumption.

#### 25.1.2 Problems to Consider

We are interested in the ground state energy  $\mathsf{E} = \mathsf{E}_N$  of our system i.e. in the lowest eigenvalue of the operator  $\mathsf{H} = \mathsf{H}_N$  on  $\mathfrak{H}$ :

(25.1.8) 
$$\mathsf{E} \coloneqq \inf \mathsf{Spec} \mathsf{H}$$
 on  $\mathfrak{H}$ ;

more precisely we are interested in the asymptotics of  $\mathsf{E}_N = \mathsf{E}(\underline{y}; \underline{Z}; N)$  as V is defined by (25.1.4) and  $N \simeq Z \coloneqq Z_1 + Z_2 + \ldots + Z_M \to \infty$  and we are going to prove that<sup>1</sup>)  $\mathsf{E}$  is equal to *Thomas-Fermi energy*  $\mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}}$  with Scott and Dirac-Schwinger corrections and with  $o(Z^{\frac{5}{3}})$  error.

Here we use notations  $\mathbf{y} = (\mathbf{y}_1, \dots, \mathbf{y}_M), \underline{Z} = (Z_1, \dots, Z_M).$ 

We are also interested in the asymptotics for the *ionization energy* 

$$(25.1.9) I_N := \mathsf{E}_{N-1} - \mathsf{E}_N.$$

It is well-known (see G. Zhislin [1]) that  $I_N > 0$  as  $N \leq Z$  (i.e. molecule can bind at least Z electrons) and we are interested in the following question: estimate maximal excessive negative charge

(25.1.10) 
$$\max_{N: \ I_N > 0} (N - Z)$$

i.e. how many extra electrons can bind a molecule?.

All these questions so far were considered in the framework of the fixed positions  $y_1, \ldots, y_M$  but we can also consider

-

(25.1.11)  $\widehat{\mathsf{E}} = \widehat{\mathsf{E}}_{\mathsf{N}} = \widehat{\mathsf{E}}(\underline{\mathsf{y}}; \underline{Z}; \mathsf{N}) = \mathsf{E} + U(\underline{\mathsf{y}}; \underline{Z})$ 

(25.1.12) 
$$U(\underline{y};\underline{Z}) := \sum_{1 \le m < m' \le M} \frac{Z_m Z_{m'}}{|y_m - y_{m'}|}$$

and

(25.1.13) 
$$\widehat{\mathsf{E}}(\underline{Z};\mathsf{N}) = \inf_{y_1,\ldots,y_M} \widehat{\mathsf{E}}(\underline{y};\underline{Z};\mathsf{N})$$

and replace  $I_N$  by  $\hat{I}_N = -\hat{E}_N + \hat{E}_{N-1}$  and modify all our questions accordingly. We call these frameworks *fixed nuclei model* and *free nuclei model* respectively.

In the free nuclei model we can consider two other problems:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1)</sup> Under reasonable assumption  $|y_m - y_{m'}| \gg Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  for all  $m \neq m'$ .

(a) Estimate from below minimal distance between nuclei i.e.

$$a \coloneqq \min_{1 \le m < m' \le M} |\mathsf{y}_m - \mathsf{y}_{m'}|$$

for which such minimum is achieved;

(b) Estimate maximal excessive positive charge

(25.1.14) 
$$\max_{N} \left\{ Z - N \colon \widehat{\mathsf{E}} < \min_{\substack{N_1, \dots, N_M \colon \\ N_1 + \dots + N_M = N}} \sum_{1 \le m \le M} \mathsf{E}(Z_m; N_m) \right\}$$

for which molecule does not disintegrates into  $atoms^{2}$ .

### 25.1.3 Thomas-Fermi Theory

The first approximation is the Thomas-Fermi theory. Let us introduce the *spacial density* of the particle with the state  $\Psi \in \mathfrak{H}$ :

(25.1.15) 
$$\rho(x) = \rho_{\Psi}(x) = N \int |\Psi(x, x_2, \dots, x_N)|^2 dx_2 \cdots dx_N$$

where  $|\cdot|$  means a norm in  $\mathbb{C}^{Nq}$  and antisymmetricity of  $\Psi$  implies that it does not matter what variable  $x_j$  is replaced by x while in the general case one should sum on j = 1, ..., N. Let us write the Hamiltonian, describing the corresponding "quantum liquid":

(25.1.16) 
$$\mathcal{E}(\rho) = \int \tau(\rho(x)) \, dx - \int V(x) \rho(x) \, dx + \frac{1}{2} \mathsf{D}(\rho, \rho),$$

with

(25.1.17) 
$$\mathsf{D}(\rho,\rho) = \iint |x-y|^{-1}\rho(x)\rho(y) \, dx dy$$

where  $\tau$  is the energy density of a gas of noninteracting electrons. Namely,

(25.1.18) 
$$\tau(\rho) = \sup_{w \ge 0} (\rho w - P(w))$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2)</sup> One can ask the same question about disintegration into smaller molecules but our methods are too crude to distinguish between such questions.

is the Legendre transform of the pressure P(w) given by the formula

(25.1.19) 
$$P(w) = \varkappa_1 w_+^{\frac{d}{2}+1}, \qquad \varkappa_1 = 2(2\pi)^{-d} (d+2)^{-1} \varpi_d q$$

The classical sense of the second and the third terms in the right-hand expression of (25.1.16) is clear and the density of the kinetic energy is given by  $\tau(\rho)$  in the semiclassical approximation (see Remark 25.1.2). So, the problem is

(25.1.20) Minimize functional  $\mathcal{E}(\rho)$  defined by (25.1.16) under restrictions:

$$(25.1.21)_{1,2}$$
  $\rho \ge 0, \qquad \int \rho \, dx \le N.$ 

The solution if exists is unique because functional  $\mathcal{E}(\rho)$  is strictly convex (see below). The existence and the property of this solution denoted further by  $\rho^{\mathsf{TF}}$  is known in the series of physically important cases.

Remark 25.1.2. If w is the negative potential then

$$(25.1.22) tr e(x, x, 0) \approx P'(w)$$

defines the density of all non-interacting particles with negative energies at point  $\boldsymbol{x}$  and

(25.1.23) 
$$\int_{-\infty}^{0} \tau \, d_{\tau} \operatorname{tr} e(x, x, \tau) dx \approx -\int P(w) \, dx$$

is the total energy of these particles; here  $\approx$  means "in the semiclassical approximation".

We consider in the case of d = 3 a large (heavy) molecule with potential (25.1.4). It is well-known<sup>3</sup> that

**Proposition 25.1.3.** (i) For V(x) given by (25.1.4) minimization problem (25.1.20) has a unique solution  $\rho = \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}$ ; then denote  $\mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}} := \mathcal{E}(\rho^{\mathsf{TF}})$ ;

(ii) Equality in (25.1.21)<sub>2</sub> holds if and only if  $N \leq Z := \sum_m Z_m$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3)</sup> E. Lieb, "Thomas-fermi and related theories of atoms and molecules", [4], pp. 263–301.

(iii) Further,  $\rho^{\mathsf{TF}}$  does not depend on N as  $N \geq Z$ .

(iv) Thus

(25.1.24) 
$$\int \rho^{\mathsf{TF}} dx = \min(N, Z), \qquad Z \coloneqq \sum_{1 \le m \le M} Z_m$$

### 25.1.4 Main Results Sketched and Plan of the Chapter

In the first half of the Chapter we derive asymptotics for ground state energy and justify Thomas-Fermi theory.

First of all, in Section 25.2 we reduce the calculation of E to calculation of  $N_1(H_W - \nu)$  and to estimate for  $D(e(x, x, \nu) - \rho, e(x, x, \nu) - \rho)$  where  $N_1(H_W - \nu) = \text{Tr}((H_W - \nu)^-)$  is the sum of the negative eigenvalues of operator  $H_W - \nu$   $H_W = D^2 - W$ ,  $W = W^{\text{TF}}$ ,  $\rho = \rho^{\text{TF}}$  are Thomas-Fermi potential and Thomas-Fermi density respectively (or their appropriate approximations),  $\nu$  is either  $\lambda_N$  (*N*-th eigenvalue of  $H_W$ ) or its appropriate approximation and  $e(x, y, \nu)$  is the Schwartz kernel of  $E(\nu)$  which is the spectral projector of  $H_W$ .

Section 25.3 is devoted to the systematic presentation of the Thomas-Fermi theory.

Further, in Section 25.4 we apply our standard semiclassical arguments and calculate  $N_1(H_W - \nu)$  and estimate  $D(e(x, x, \nu) - \rho, e(x, x, \nu) - \rho)$  and also  $|\lambda_N - \nu|$  where now  $\nu$  is the chemical potential (which is the Thomas-Fermi approximation to  $\lambda_N$ ). As a result under appropriate restrictions to N, Z and

we prove that

(25.1.26) 
$$\mathsf{E} = \mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}} + \mathsf{Scott} + \mathsf{Dirac} + \mathsf{Schwinger} + o(Z^{\frac{5}{3}})$$

and

(25.1.27) 
$$\mathsf{D}(\rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}, \rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}) = o(Z^{\frac{5}{3}})$$

where

(25.1.28) 
$$\mathsf{Scott} = q \sum_{1 \le m \le M} Z_m^2$$

(25.1.29) 
$$\operatorname{Dirac} = -\frac{9}{2} (36\pi)^{\frac{2}{3}} q^{\frac{2}{3}} \int (\rho^{\mathsf{TF}})^{\frac{4}{3}} dx,$$

(25.1.30) Schwinger = 
$$(36\pi)^{\frac{2}{3}}q^{\frac{2}{3}}\int (\rho^{\mathsf{TF}})^{\frac{4}{3}}dx$$

and  $\Psi$  is the ground state.

*Remark 25.1.4.* (i) Actually we will recover even slightly better remainder estimate  $O(Z^{\frac{5}{3}-\delta})$  in (25.1.26) and (25.1.27) as  $a \geq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}+\delta_1}$ .

(ii) Condition  $a \gtrsim Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  bans nuclei to be so close that the repulsion energy between them be much larger than the total energy of all the electrons. Estimates in case when this condition is violated will be also proven;

(iii) Keeping in mind that there is no binding in Thomas-Fermi theory (and this statement could be quantified) one gets immediately that in the free nuclei model  $a \ge Z^{-\frac{5}{21}}$  and therefore remainder estimate  $O(Z^{\frac{5}{3}-\delta})$  holds.

(iv) Due to scaling in the Thomas-Fermi theory (see proposition 25.3.3)  $\mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}} \sim q^{\frac{2}{3}} Z^{\frac{7}{3}} = q^3 (q^{-1}Z)^{\frac{3}{7}}$ , Scott  $\sim qZ^2 = q^3 (q^{-1}Z)^2$ , and both Dirac and Schwinger are  $\sim q^{\frac{4}{3}} Z^{\frac{5}{3}} = q^3 (q^{-1}Z)^{\frac{5}{3}}$ .

In the second half of the Chapter we apply estimate (25.1.27) to investigate negatively and positively charged systems. In Section 25.5 we consider negatively charged systems and derive an upper estimate for the excessive negative charge (N - Z) such that  $I_N > 0$  and ionization energy  $I_N$  itself.

In Section 25.6 we derive upper and lower estimates for  $I_N + \nu$  and an upper estimate for the excessive positive charge for which in the framework of the free nuclei model  $a < \infty$ .

### 25.2 Reduction to Semiclassical Theory

To justify the heuristic formula  $\mathsf{E} \sim \mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}} = \mathcal{E}(\rho^{\mathsf{TF}})$  and to find an error estimate let us deduce the lower and upper estimates for  $\mathsf{E}$ .

#### 25.2.1 Lower Estimate

For the lower estimate we apply the *electrostatic inequality* due to E. H. Lieb:

(25.2.1) 
$$\sum_{1 \le j < k \le N} \int |x_j - x_k|^{-1} |\Psi(x_1, \dots, x_N)|^2 dx_1 \cdots dx_N \ge \frac{1}{2} \mathsf{D}(\rho_{\Psi}, \rho_{\Psi}) - C \int \rho_{\Psi}^{\frac{4}{3}}(x) dx$$

with  $\rho_{\Psi}$  defined by (25.1.15).

Remark 25.2.1. Inequality (25.2.1 holds for all (not necessarily antisymmetric) functions  $\Psi$  with  $\|\Psi\|_{\mathscr{L}^2(\mathbb{R}^{3N})} = 1$ .

Therefore

$$(25.2.2) \quad \langle \mathsf{H}_{N}\Psi,\Psi\rangle \geq \sum_{1\leq j\leq N} \langle H_{V,x_{j}}\Psi,\Psi\rangle + \frac{1}{2}\mathsf{D}(\rho_{\Psi},\rho_{\Psi}) - C\int \rho_{\Psi}^{\frac{4}{3}}(x)\,dx = \sum_{1\leq j\leq N} \langle H_{W,x_{j}}\Psi,\Psi\rangle + \frac{1}{2}\mathsf{D}(\rho_{\Psi}-\rho,\rho_{\Psi}-\rho) - \frac{1}{2}\mathsf{D}(\rho,\rho) - C\int \rho_{\Psi}^{\frac{4}{3}}(x)\,dx$$

where  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  means the inner product in  $\mathfrak{H}$  and  $H_W$  is one-particle Schrödinger operator with the potential

(25.2.3) 
$$W = V - |x|^{-1} * \rho,$$

where  $\rho$  is an arbitrary chosen real-valued non-negative function.

The physical sense of the second term in W is transparent: it is a potential created by a charge  $-\rho$ . Skipping the positive second term in the right-hand expression of (25.2.2) and believing that the last term is not very important for the ground state function  $\Psi^{4}$  we see that we need to estimate from below the first term.

Here assumption that  $\Psi$  is antisymmetric is crucial. Namely, for general (or symmetric–does not matter)  $\Psi$  the best possible estimate is  $N\lambda_1$  where  $\lambda_1$  is the lowest eigenvalue of  $H_W$  (we always assume that there is sufficiently many eigenvalues under the bottom of the essential spectrum of  $H_W$ ) and we

 $<sup>^{4)}</sup>$  When we derive also an upper estimate for  $\mathsf{E}$  we will get an upper estimate for this term as a bonus.

cannot apply semiclassical theory. However, for antisymmetric  $\Psi$  situation is rather different.

Namely, let  $\lambda_1 \leq \lambda_2 \leq \lambda_3 \leq \dots$  be negative eigenvalues of  $H_W$  (on  $H = \mathcal{L}^3(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{C}^q)$ ). Then the first term in the right-hand expression of (25.2.2) is bounded from below by

(25.2.4) 
$$\sum_{1 \le j \le N} \lambda_j = \mathsf{N}_1(H_W - \bar{\lambda}) + \bar{\lambda}N$$

where N(B),  $N_1(B) = \text{Tr}(B^-)$  are the number and the sum of all the negative eigenvalues of operator B respectively such that  $\text{Spec}_{ess}(B) \subset \mathbb{R}^+$  provided  $\overline{\lambda} = \lambda_N < 0$ ; the latter assumption is equivalent to

$$(25.2.5) N(H_W) \ge N.$$

Applying the semiclassical approximation (which needs to be justified!) one gets

(25.2.6) 
$$\mathsf{N}_1(H_W - \bar{\lambda}) = \mathcal{N}_1(H_W - \bar{\lambda}) + \operatorname{error}_1$$

with

(25.2.7) 
$$\mathcal{N}_1(H_W - \bar{\lambda}) := -\int P(W(x) + \bar{\lambda}) dx$$

and error<sub>0</sub> an error in the semiclassical approximation for  $N_1(H_W - \bar{\lambda})$ . Therefore the lower estimate for the ground state energy is

(25.2.8) 
$$\mathsf{E} \ge -\int P(W + \bar{\lambda}) \, dx + \bar{\lambda} N - \frac{1}{2} \mathsf{D}(\rho, \rho) - \mathsf{error}$$

where error now includes both an estimate for  $\int \rho_{\Psi}^{\frac{4}{3}} dx$  and the semiclassical remainder estimate.

Furthermore, applying a semiclassical approximation for the number  $N(H_W - \bar{\lambda})$  of eigenvalues below  $\bar{\lambda}$  (and this number should be approximately N) one gets an equality

(25.2.9) 
$$N = \mathcal{N}(H_W - \bar{\lambda}) + \operatorname{error}_0$$

with

(25.2.10) 
$$\mathcal{N}(H_W - \bar{\lambda}) \coloneqq \int P'(W(x) + \bar{\lambda}) dx$$

and error<sub>0</sub> an error in the semiclassical approximation for  $N(H_W - \bar{\lambda})$ .

To get the best possible lower estimate one should pick up  $\rho$  delivering maximum to the functional

(25.2.11) 
$$-\int P(W(x) + \nu) dx + \nu N - \frac{1}{2} D(\rho, \rho)$$

 $(\nu=\bar{\lambda}~{\rm here})$  under assumptions  $(25.1.21)_{1,2}$  and (25.2.3) as we skip all the errors.

One can see that the optimal choice is the *Thomas-Fermi potential*  $W^{TF}$ and density  $\rho^{TF}$ . The above arguments are very standard in MQT with  $\rho = \rho^{TF}$ ,  $W = W^{TF 5}$  from the very beginning.

On the other hand, let us consider the Euler-Lagrange equation for  $\rho = \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}$  under condition  $\int \rho \, dx = N$ :

(25.2.12) 
$$\tau'(\rho) - W = \nu \quad (\rho > 0), \qquad W = V - |x|^{-1} * \rho$$

with the Lagrange factor  $\nu^{6}$ . Expressing  $\rho$  and integrating we get

(25.2.13) 
$$N = \mathcal{N}(H_W - \nu) = \int P'(W(x) + \nu) \, dx$$

Comparing (25.2.12) and (25.2.13) we get that with some error  $\bar{\lambda} \sim \nu$ . Substituting to the first term in (25.2.6)  $\bar{\lambda} = \nu$  and  $\nu - W = -\tau'_B(\rho)$  we get the lower estimate  $\mathsf{E} \geq \mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}} - \mathsf{error}$ .

Remark 25.2.2. (i) Instead of (25.2.6) we will use a better estimate<sup>7</sup>;

(ii) To minimize errors we will also recalculate (25.2.4) effectively replacing  $\bar{\lambda}$  by  $\nu$ :

(25.2.14) 
$$\sum_{1 \le j \le N} \lambda_j = \sum_{1 \le j \le N} (\lambda_j - \nu) + \nu N \ge \mathsf{N}_1(H_W - \nu) + \nu N$$

The advantage is that we even do not mess up with the semiclassical asymptotics for  $N(H_W - \nu)$ . Further, one can replace here N by  $\int \rho^{\mathsf{TF}} dx$ : (these quantities fail to be equal only for N > Z i.e. for  $\nu = 0$ ).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5)</sup> Or some their close approximations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6)</sup> Called *chemical potential* and in contrast to  $\bar{\lambda}$  belonging to Thomas-Fermi theory.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7)</sup> With  $\mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}}$  replaced by  $\mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}}$  + Scott + Schwinger and with much smaller error<sub>1</sub> than for a simple semiclassical approximation.

(iii) Recall that we assumed that  $\lambda_N < 0$  i.e. (25.2.5) holds. In the opposite case

(25.2.15) 
$$N(H_W) < N$$
.

we estimate the first term in the right-hand expression of (25.2.2) from below by  $N_1(H_W)$  i.e. we will get the same formula but with  $\nu = 0$ .

#### 25.2.2 Upper Estimate

To get the upper estimate one takes a test function  $\Psi(x_1, \ldots, x_N)$  which is not a ground state here but an antisymmetrization with respect to  $(x_1, \ldots, x_N)$ of the product  $\phi_1(x_1) \cdots \phi_N(x_N)$  where  $\phi_1, \ldots, \phi_N$  are orthonormal eigenfunctions of  $H_W$  corresponding to eigenvalues  $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_N$ , provided  $\lambda_N < 0$ . Namely this function minimizes the first term in the right-hand expression of (25.2.2).

One can write

(25.2.16) 
$$\Psi = \frac{1}{N!} \operatorname{det}(\phi_i(x_j))_{i,j=1,\dots,N}$$

and it is called the *Slater determinant*. Obviously,  $\|\Psi\| = 1$  and

$$(25.2.17) \qquad \qquad \rho_{\Psi}(x) = \operatorname{tr} e_N(x, x)$$

where

(25.2.18) 
$$e_N(x,y) = \sum_{1 \le j \le N} \phi_j(x) \phi_j^{\dagger}(y)$$

is the Schwartz kernel of the projector to the subspace spanned on  $\{\phi_j\}_{1 \le j \le N}$ .

Remark 25.2.3. If  $q \ge 2$  then  $\phi_j = \phi_j(x,\varsigma)$  and  $\Psi(x_1,\varsigma_1;...;x_N,\varsigma_N)$  is an antisymmetrization with respect to  $(x_1,\varsigma_1;...;x_N,\varsigma_N)$  of the product  $\phi_1(x_1,\varsigma_1)\cdots\phi_N(x_N,\varsigma_N)$ .

Easy calculations show that

(25.2.19) 
$$\langle \mathsf{H}\Psi,\Psi\rangle = \sum_{1\leq j\leq N} \lambda_j + \frac{1}{2}\mathsf{D}(\rho_{\Psi} - \rho, \rho_{\Psi} - \rho)$$
  
 $-\frac{1}{2}\mathsf{D}(\rho, \rho) - \frac{1}{2}\iint |x - y|^{-1}\operatorname{tr} e_N^{\dagger}(x, y)e_N(x, y)\,dxdy.$
The first term in the right-hand expression again is equal to the middle expression in (25.2.4) which does not exceed

(25.2.20) 
$$N_1(H_W - \nu) + \nu N + |\lambda_N - \nu| \cdot |N(H_W - \nu) - N|.$$

Really, we need to consider (non-zero) terms which do not cancel in

(25.2.21) 
$$\sum_{j \leq N} (\lambda_j - \nu) - \sum_{\lambda_j < \nu} (\lambda_j - \nu)$$

and their absolute value does not exceed  $|\lambda_N - \nu|$  while their number does not exceed  $|N(H_W - \nu) - N|$ .

Again, discounting all the errors and considering semiclassical approximation (including  $\rho_{\Psi}(x) \sim P'(W(x) + \nu)$ ) we arrive to a functional

(25.2.22) 
$$-\int P(W(x) + \nu) dx + \nu N - \frac{1}{2} D(\rho, \rho) + \frac{1}{2} D(P'(W + \nu) - \rho, P'(W + \nu) - \rho)$$

which needs to be minimized under assumptions  $(25.1.21)_{1,2}$  and (25.2.3). This functional differs from (25.2.11) which was minimized by the last term. One can prove that (25.2.22) minimizes as  $\rho = \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}$ ,  $W = W^{\mathsf{TF}}$  and  $\nu$  is a chemical potential. So again we may pick them (or their appropriate approximations) up from the very beginning.

Therefore in addition to a semiclassical  $\mathsf{error}_1$   $^{7)}$  of the previous subsection we need to consider also semiclassical errors

(25.2.23) 
$$D(tr e(x, x, \nu) - P'(W + \nu), tr e(x, x, \nu) - P'(W + \nu))$$

(25.2.24) 
$$\mathsf{D}(e(x, x, \nu) - e_N(x, x), e(x, x, \nu) - e_N(x, x))$$

where  $e(x, y, \nu)$  is the Schwartz kernel of the spectral projector  $\theta(\tau - H_W)$  of  $H_W$ ,

(25.2.25) 
$$N(H_W - \nu) - \int P'(W + \nu) dx$$

and

 $(25.2.26) \qquad \qquad \lambda_N - \nu.$ 

Remark 25.2.4. (i) Recall that we assumed that  $\lambda_N < 0$  i.e. (25.2.5) holds. In the opposite case (25.2.15) selecting appropriate  $\phi_j(x)$  with  $j = N(H_W) + 1, ..., N$  we with arbitrarily small error estimate the first term in the right-hand expression of (25.2.2) from above by  $N_1(H_W)$  as i.e. we will get the same formula but with  $\nu = 0$  and we also will need to estimate (25.2.23) with  $\nu = 0$ .

(ii) To make this case compatible with the case (25.2.5) we will need to estimate  $|\nu|$  (and |N - Z|) under assumption (25.2.15); we will also compare  $\mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}}$  calculated for such  $\nu$  (or, equivalently, N as they are connected) and  $\nu = 0$  (and N = Z).

(iii) Sure  $\rho^{\mathsf{TF}}$  and  $W^{\mathsf{TF}}$  depend on  $\nu$  (or N) but we will prove that for N - Z relatively small we can do all calculations as  $\nu = 0$  (and N = Z).

(iv) If we are interested in the estimate for  $D(\rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}, \rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}})$  where  $\Psi$  is the ground state, we do not need to calculate a semiclassical error in  $N_1(H_W - \nu)$ . In fact, we can simply stick with  $N_1(H_W - \bar{\lambda})$  with  $\bar{\lambda} = \lambda_N$  under assumption (25.2.5) and  $\bar{\lambda} = 0$  otherwise. As a result in certain cases our estimate for  $D(\rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}, \rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}})$  will be better than the error in an approximation for E and we need the former rather than the latter for the results of the second half of this Chapter. Especially significant the difference will be when we introduce magnetic field.

# 25.2.3 Remarks and Dirac Correction

Now almost everything is in framework of the theory we developed; the only missing is an estimate

(25.2.27) 
$$\int \rho_{\Psi}^{\frac{4}{3}} dx \le C Z^{\frac{5}{3}}$$

for a reasonable candidate  $\Psi$  to the ground state; one can find it in E. Lieb's  $Selecta^{3)}.$ 

However if we want a more sharp asymptotics with Dirac–Schwinger terms, we need a remainder estimate  $o(Z^{\frac{5}{3}})$  or better; luckily there is improved electrostatic inequality due to Theorem 1, G. Graf and J. P. Solovej [1] (see also V. Bach [1]).

**Theorem 25.2.5.** Let  $N \ge \epsilon Z$ . Then for the ground state  $\Psi$ 

 $\begin{array}{ll} (25.2.28) & {\sf E}_{\sf HF} \geq {\sf E} \geq {\sf E}_{\sf HF} - {\it CZ}^{\frac{5}{3}-\delta} \\ and \\ (25.2.29) & {\sf E} \geq {\sf E}_{\sf DS} - {\it CZ}^{\frac{5}{3}-\delta} \end{array}$ 

with some exponent  $\delta > 0$  where

$$(25.2.30) E_{\mathsf{HF}} \coloneqq \inf_{\mathsf{W}} E_{\mathsf{HF}}(\Psi),$$

where in (25.2.30)  $\Psi$  runs through Slater determinants<sup>8)</sup> and

(25.2.31) 
$$E_{\mathsf{HF}}(\Psi) \coloneqq \sum_{1 \le j \le N} \langle H_{V,x_j} \Psi, \Psi \rangle + \frac{1}{2} \mathsf{D}(\rho_{\Psi}, \rho_{\Psi}) - \frac{1}{2} \iint |x - y|^{-1} \operatorname{tr} e_N^{\dagger}(x, y) e_N(x, y) \, dx dy,$$

$$(25.2.32) \qquad E_{\mathrm{DS}} \coloneqq \sum_{j:1 \le j \le N; \lambda_j < 0} \lambda_j - \frac{1}{2} \mathrm{D}(\rho^{\mathrm{TF}}, \rho^{\mathrm{TF}}) - \kappa_{\mathrm{Dirac}} \int \rho^{\mathrm{TF}, \frac{4}{3}} dx,$$

 $\kappa_{\text{Dirac}} = (2\pi)^{-3} q c_{\text{TF}}^2, \ c_{\text{TF}} = (6\pi^2/q^2)^{\frac{2}{3}} \ is \ a \ Dirac \ constant.$ 

Here (25.2.28)-(25.2.31) are (1.15), (1.16), (1.8), (1.6) respectively and (25.2.32) is a combination of (1.12) and (25.3.30) of this paper<sup>9</sup>. Actually we need only (25.2.29) and (25.2.32).

As we are going to prove that the last terms in (25.2.31) and (25.2.19) coincide modulo  $O(Z^{\frac{5}{3}-\delta})$  we made a necessary step completely.

# 25.3 Thomas-Fermi Theory

Thomas-Fermi theory is well-developed in the no-magnetic-field case. We cannot suggest any better reading than E. Lieb's  $Selecta^{3}$ .

In the Thomas-Fermi theory N is a real nonnegative number (not necessarily an integer).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8)</sup> Albeit not necessarily of eigenfunctions of  $H_W$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9)</sup> We do not have a coefficient  $\frac{1}{2}$  in the definition of D(.,.) but G. Graf and J. P. Solovej [1] have.

### 25.3.1 Existence

Let us recall that in order to get the best lower estimate (neglecting semiclassical errors) one needs to maximize

(25.3.1) 
$$\Phi_*(W+\nu) := -\int P(W+\nu) \, dx - \frac{1}{8\pi} \|\nabla(W-V)\|^2$$

given by (25.2.11) where we used equalities

(25.3.2) 
$$D(\rho, \rho) = -(\rho, W - V) = \frac{1}{4\pi} \|\nabla(W - V)\|^2$$

(25.3.3) 
$$\rho \coloneqq \frac{1}{4\pi} \Delta(W - V),$$

 $\|.\| \text{ means } \mathcal{L}^2\text{-norm and } W \to 0 \text{ as } |x| \to \infty.$ 

On the other hand, to get the best possible upper estimate (neglecting semiclassical errors) one needs to minimize

(25.3.4) 
$$\Phi^*(\rho',\nu) := \int (\tau(\rho') - V\rho') dx + \frac{1}{2} \mathsf{D}(\rho',\rho') - \nu \int \rho' dx$$

where

(25.3.5) 
$$\rho' \coloneqq P'(W + \nu)$$

and  $\tau(\rho)$  the Legendre transformation (25.1.18) of P. Recall that according to (25.1.19)

 $(25.3.6)_{1,2} \qquad P(w) = \frac{q}{15\pi^2} w_+^{\frac{5}{2}}, \qquad P'(w) = \frac{q}{6\pi^2} w_+^{\frac{3}{2}}$ 

and therefore

(25.3.7) 
$$\tau(\rho) = \frac{3}{5} (6\pi^2 q^{-1})^{\frac{2}{3}} \rho^{\frac{5}{3}}$$

**Proposition 25.3.1.** In our assumptions for any fixed  $\nu \leq 0$ 

(i)  $\Phi_*(W + \nu)$  is a strictly concave functional.

(ii)  $\Phi^*(\rho)$  is a strictly convex functional.

(iii)  $\Phi_*(W + \nu) \leq \Phi^*(\rho, \nu)$  for any  $\rho \geq 0$  and W.

(iv) These extremal problems have a common solution W and  $\rho$  and

(25.3.8) 
$$\rho = \frac{1}{4\pi} \Delta (W - V) = P'(W + \nu),$$

(25.3.9) 
$$W = o(1) \quad as \quad |x| \to \infty.$$

(v) On the other hand, solution of (25.3.8)–(25.3.9) is the solution of the both extremal problems.

(vi) Neither of these problem has a solution for  $\nu > 0$ .

(vii) Function

(25.3.10) 
$$\mathcal{N}(\nu) = \int P'(W+\nu) \, dx$$

is continuous and monotone increasing at  $(-\infty, 0]$  with  $\mathcal{N}(\nu) \to 0$  as  $\nu \to -\infty$  and  $\mathcal{N}(0) = Z$ .

(viii) For  $\nu$  and N linked by  $N = \mathcal{N}(\nu)$  solutions of the problem above coincide with  $\rho^{\mathsf{TF}}$ ,  $W^{\mathsf{TF}}$  of the problem (25.1.20) and one can skip condition (25.1.20)<sub>2</sub> for  $N \geq Z$  and

(25.3.11) 
$$\mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}} = \Phi(W^{\mathsf{TF}} + \nu) + \nu N = \Phi^*(\rho^{\mathsf{TF}}, \nu) + \nu N.$$

*Proof.* The proof of Statements (i) and (ii) is obvious; therefore both problems have unique solutions. Comparing Euler-Lagrange equations we get that these solutions coincide which yields Statements (iv) and (iii).

Proof of Statements (v)–(viii) is also rather obvious.

**Proposition 25.3.2.** For arbitrary W the following estimates hold with absolute constants  $\epsilon_0 > 0$  and  $C_0$ :

(25.3.12) 
$$\epsilon_0 \mathsf{D}(\rho - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}, \rho - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}) \leq \Phi_*(W^{\mathsf{TF}} + \nu) - \Phi_*(W + \nu) \leq C_0 \mathsf{D}(\rho - \rho', \rho - \rho')$$

and

(25.3.13) 
$$\epsilon_0 \mathsf{D}(\rho' - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}, \rho' - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}) \leq \Phi^*(\rho, \nu) - \Phi^*(\rho^{\mathsf{TF}}, \nu) \leq C_0 \mathsf{D}(\rho - \rho', \rho - \rho')$$

with  $\rho = \frac{1}{4\pi} \Delta(W - V), \ \rho' = P'(W + \nu).$ 

*Proof.* This proof is rather obvious as well.

## 25.3.2 Properties

**Proposition 25.3.3.** The solution of the Thomas-Fermi problem has following scaling properties

(25.3.14) 
$$W^{\mathsf{TF}}(x; \underline{Z}; \underline{y}; N; q) = q^{\frac{2}{3}} N^{\frac{4}{3}} W^{\mathsf{TF}}(q^{\frac{2}{3}} Z^{\frac{1}{3}} x; N^{-1} \underline{Z}; q^{\frac{2}{3}} N^{\frac{1}{3}} \underline{y}; 1; 1),$$

$$(25.3.15) \qquad \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}(x; \underline{Z}; \underline{y}; N; q) = N^2 q^2 \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}(q^{\frac{2}{3}} Z^{\frac{1}{3}} x; N^{-1} \underline{Z}; q^{\frac{2}{3}} N^{\frac{1}{3}} \underline{y}; 1; 1),$$

(25.3.16)  $\mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}}(\underline{Z}; \underline{y}; N; q) = q^{\frac{2}{3}} N^{\frac{7}{3}} \mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}}(N^{-1}\underline{Z}; q^{\frac{2}{3}} N^{\frac{1}{3}} \underline{y}; 1; 1),$ 

(25.3.17) 
$$\nu^{\mathsf{TF}}(\underline{Z}; \underline{y}; N; q) = q^{\frac{2}{3}} N^{\frac{4}{3}} \nu^{\mathsf{TF}}(N^{-1}\underline{Z}; q^{\frac{2}{3}} N^{\frac{1}{3}}\underline{y}; 1; 1)$$

where  $\nu^{\mathsf{TF}} = \nu$  is the chemical potential; recall that  $\underline{Z} = (Z_1, ..., Z_M)$  and  $\underline{y} = (y_1, ..., y_M)$  are arrays and parameter q also enters into Thomas-Fermi theory.

*Proof.* Proof is trivial by scaling.

Since we can exclude q by scaling, we do not indicate dependence on it anymore. The following properties of Thomas-Fermi potential and density in the case of the single atom (M = 1) are well-known:

**Proposition 25.3.4.** Let M = 1. Then the solution of the Thomas-Fermi problem has the following properties:

(i)  $W^{\mathsf{TF}}(x; Z_m, y_m; N)$  and  $\rho^{\mathsf{TF}}(x; Z_m, y_m; N)$  are spherically symmetric (with respect to  $y_m$ ) and are non-increasing convex functions of  $|x - y_m|$ .

(ii) If 
$$N = Z_m$$
, then  
(25.3.18)  $W^{TF} \simeq \min(Z_m |x - y_m|^{-1}, |x - y_m|^{-4}),$   
(25.3.19)  $\rho^{TF} \simeq \min(Z_m^{\frac{3}{2}} |x - y_m|^{-\frac{3}{2}}, |x - y_m|^{-6})$   
with the threshold at  $|x - y_m| \simeq r_m^* = Z_m^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  when  $W^{TF} \simeq Z_m^{\frac{4}{3}}$  and  $\rho^{TF} \simeq Z_m^2$ .  
(iii) If  $\epsilon Z_m \le N < Z_m$ , then  
(25.3.20)  $-\nu \simeq |Z_m - N|^{\frac{4}{3}}$   
and (25.3.18) holds as  $|x - y_m| \le \bar{r}_m$  where  
(25.3.21)  $\bar{r}_m = -\nu^{-1} |Z_m - N|^{-1} \simeq |Z_m - N|^{-\frac{1}{3}}$ 

for atoms denotes the exact radius of the support of  $\rho^{\mathsf{TF}}$  (see Statement (iv).

(iv) On the other hand,  
(25.3.22) 
$$W^{\mathsf{TF}} = (Z_m - N)|x - y_m|^{-1}$$
 as  $|x - y_m| \ge \bar{r}_m$   
and  $\rho^{\mathsf{TF}} = 0$  as  $|x - y_m| \ge \bar{r}_m$ ;  
(v) Meanwhile,  $W^{\mathsf{TF}} \simeq -\nu$  and  $\rho^{\mathsf{TF}} = O(|Z_m - N|^2)$  as  $|x - y_m| \simeq \bar{r}_m$   
(vi) Finally,  
(25.3.23)  $-\langle x - y_m, \nabla W \rangle \simeq W$ .

Consider now the molecular case  $(M \ge 2)$ :

**Proposition 25.3.5.** (i) Let  $M \ge 2$ . Then

 $(25.3.24) \qquad \qquad \nu \asymp |Z - N|^{\frac{4}{3}}$ 

and

(25.3.25) 
$$\sum_{m} \epsilon W_{m}^{\mathsf{TF}}(c(x - y_{m})) \leq W^{\mathsf{TF}} \leq c \sum_{m} W_{m}^{\mathsf{TF}}(\epsilon(x - y_{m}))$$

where  $Z = Z_1 + ... + Z_M$  and  $W_m^{TF}$  denotes an atomic Thomas-Fermi potential with the charge  $Z_m$  located at 0 and the same chemical potential  $\nu$ . Here  $\epsilon$  and c depend only on M.

(ii) In particular, if N < Z and  $|x - y_m| \ge c\bar{r}_m$  for all m = 1, ..., M, then

(25.3.26) 
$$W^{\mathsf{TF}}(x) \asymp \sum_{m} |Z - N| |x - y_m|^{-1}$$

and

(25.3.27) 
$$\rho^{\mathsf{TF}}(x) = 0$$

*Proof.* Proof is due to the comparison arguments of E. Lieb, J. P. Solovej and J. Yngvason [1,3].

**Proposition 25.3.6.** (i) Let  $N \leq Z$  and

- (25.3.28)  $\ell(x) = \frac{1}{2} \min_{m} |x y_{m}|,$
- (25.3.29)  $\zeta(x) = (W^{\mathsf{TF}}(x))^{\frac{1}{2}}.$

Then

$$(25.3.30) \quad \zeta(x) \leq \bar{\zeta}(x) = C \begin{cases} Z^{\frac{1}{2}}\ell(x)^{-\frac{1}{2}} & as \ \ell(x) \leq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}, \\ \ell(x)^{-2} & as \ Z^{-\frac{1}{3}} \leq \ell(x) \leq |Z - N|^{-\frac{1}{3}}, \\ |Z - N|^{\frac{1}{2}}\ell(x)^{-\frac{1}{2}} & as \ \ell(x) \geq |Z - N|^{-\frac{1}{3}}; \end{cases}$$

 $\begin{aligned} \zeta(\mathbf{x}) \ and \ \bar{\zeta}(\mathbf{x}) \ are \ both \ \ell\text{-admissible} \ and \\ (25.3.31) \qquad |D^{\alpha}W^{\mathsf{TF}}(\mathbf{x})| \leq C_{\alpha}\zeta(\mathbf{x})^{2}\,\ell(\mathbf{x})^{-|\alpha|} \qquad \forall \alpha : |\alpha| \leq 3, \end{aligned}$ 

and

(25.3.32) 
$$|D^{\alpha}W^{\mathsf{TF}}(x) - D^{\alpha}W^{\mathsf{TF}}(y)| \le C_{3}\zeta(x)^{2}\ell(x)^{-\frac{7}{2}}|x-y|^{\frac{1}{2}}$$
  
 $\forall x, y : |x-y| \le \epsilon \ell(x)$ 

(ii) Unless  $\zeta(\mathbf{x}) \simeq (-\nu)^{\frac{1}{2}}$  estimates (25.3.32) hold for all  $\alpha$ .

*Proof.* This proof is rather obvious corollary of the Euler-Lagrange equation.  $\hfill \Box$ 

Remark 25.3.7. Let

Then  $\zeta(x) \simeq \overline{\zeta}(x)$ .

**Theorem 25.3.8**<sup>10)</sup>. Consider  $\mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}}$  and

(25.3.34)  $\widehat{\mathcal{E}}^{\mathsf{TF}} \coloneqq \mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}} + U,$ 

(25.3.35) 
$$U = U(Z_1, ..., Z_M; y_1, ..., y_M) = \sum_{1 \le m < m' \le M} \frac{Z_m Z_{m'}}{|y_m - y_{m'}|}.$$

Select a nucleus  $y_m$  and a unit vector n such that

(25.3.36)  $\langle \mathbf{y}_k - \mathbf{y}_m, \mathbf{n} \rangle \leq \mathbf{0} \quad \forall k$ 

and plug  $y_m + \alpha n$  instead of  $y_m$  into  $\mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}}$  and into  $\widehat{\mathcal{E}}^{\mathsf{TF} \ 11}$ . Then

 $<sup>^{10)}</sup>$  Theorem 1 of R. Benguria [1]; we combine two last statements in (iii).

 $<sup>^{11)}</sup>$  So all other nuclei are confined in half-space and  $\mathsf{y}_m$  moves away outside.

- (i)  $\widehat{\mathcal{E}}_{\alpha}^{\mathsf{TF}}$  is a non-increasing function of  $\alpha \geq \mathbf{0}$ ;
- (ii)  $\mathcal{E}_{\alpha}^{\mathsf{TF}}$  is a non-increasing function of  $\alpha \geq 0$ ;

(iii) For fixed  $\alpha > 0$  both  $\widehat{\mathcal{E}}_{\alpha}^{\mathsf{TF}} - \widehat{\mathcal{E}}_{0}^{\mathsf{TF}}$  and  $\mathcal{E}_{\alpha}^{\mathsf{TF}} - \mathcal{E}_{0}^{\mathsf{TF}}$  are non-decreasing functions of N.

Equality

(25.3.37) 
$$\nu = \frac{\partial \mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}}}{\partial \mathsf{N}}$$

implies that (iii) is equivalent to

$$(25.3.38) \qquad \qquad \nu_{\alpha} \ge \nu_{0}.$$

**Theorem 25.3.9**<sup>12)</sup>. (i) For fixed  $Z_1, ..., Z_M; y_1, ..., y_M$  and N = Z

(25.3.39) 
$$\lambda^{7} \widehat{\mathcal{E}}^{\mathsf{TF}}(\underline{Z}; \lambda \underline{y}; \mathbf{N}) = \widehat{\mathcal{E}}^{\mathsf{TF}}(\lambda^{3} \underline{Z}; \underline{y}; \lambda^{3} \mathbf{N})$$

is positive non-decreasing function of  $\lambda > 0$  and has a finite limit as  $\lambda \rightarrow +\infty$ .

(ii) This limit does not depend on  $Z_1, \ldots, Z_M$ .

*Remark 25.3.10.* One can observe easily that the same scaling property without assumption N = Z holds for  $\mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}}$  and U as well.

These two theorems and remark imply immediately

Proposition 25.3.11. Let assumption (25.3.33) be fulfilled. Then

(25.3.40) 
$$\widehat{\mathcal{E}}^{\mathsf{TF}}(\underline{Z};\underline{y};N) - \min_{\substack{N_1,\dots,N_m:\\N_1+\dots,N_m=N}} \sum_{1 \le m \le M} \mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}}(Z_m;N_m) \ge \epsilon \min(a^{-7}, Z^{\frac{7}{3}})$$

where

(25.3.41) 
$$a = \frac{1}{2} \min_{m < m'} |\mathbf{y}_m - \mathbf{y}_{m'}|.$$

*Proof.* In virtue of theorem 25.3.8(i) it suffices to prove proposition for M = 2 (all other nuclei could be pulled to infinity), and in virtue of theorem 25.3.8(iii) it suffices to prove proposition for Z = N.

Then the proof is due to theorem 25.3.9(i) and (25.3.33), which provides uniformity.  $\hfill \Box$ 

 $^{12)}$  (1.8)–(1.9) of H. Brezis and E. Lieb [1].

Remark 25.3.12. In virtue of (25.3.37) the minimum (with respect to  $N_1, \ldots, N_M$ ) in the sum in the right hand expression is reached when  $\nu_j = \nu_k$  for all j, k. The same is true for a system of isolated molecules.

**Proposition 25.3.13.** Let Q denote Thomas-Fermi excess energy which is the left-hand expression of (25.3.40). Then

(25.3.42) 
$$\mathsf{D}(\rho^{\mathsf{TF}} - \bar{\rho}^{\mathsf{TF}}, \rho^{\mathsf{TF}} - \bar{\rho}^{\mathsf{TF}}) \le C\mathcal{Q}, \qquad \bar{\rho}^{\mathsf{TF}} \coloneqq \sum_{1 \le m \le M} \rho_m^{\mathsf{TF}}.$$

*Proof.* We follow "non-binding" proof due to Baxter (see E. Lieb  $Selecta^{3}$ ).

According to Baxter's lemma there exist  $g, 0 \le g \le \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}$  and  $h = \rho^{\mathsf{TF}} - g$ such that  $g * |x|^{-1} = V_1$  a.e. when h > 0 and  $g * |x|^{-1} \le V_1$  a.e. when h = 0. Here  $V_m = Z_m |x - y_m|^{-1}$ .

Let  $\alpha = \int g \, dx$ ,  $\beta = \int h \, dx$  and let  $\mathcal{E}_1^{\mathsf{TF}}$ ,  $\mathcal{E}_{(1)}^{\mathsf{TF}}$  be Thomas-Fermi energies for the first atom and for the rest of molecule respectively and  $\rho_1^{\mathsf{TF}}$ ,  $\rho_{(1)}^{\mathsf{TF}}$  be corresponding Thomas-Fermi densities. Then

$$(25.3.43) \quad \min_{N_{1}+N' \leq N} \left( \mathcal{E}_{1}^{\mathsf{TF}}(N_{1}) + \mathcal{E}_{(1)}^{\mathsf{TF}}(N') \right) \leq \mathcal{E}_{1}(\alpha) + \mathcal{E}_{(1)}(\beta) \leq \\ \mathcal{E}_{1}(g) + \mathcal{E}_{(1)}(h) - \epsilon \mathsf{D}(g - \rho_{1}^{\mathsf{TF}}, g - \rho_{1}^{\mathsf{TF}}) - \epsilon \mathsf{D}(h - \rho_{(1)}^{\mathsf{TF}}, h - \rho_{(1)}^{\mathsf{TF}}) \leq \\ \mathcal{E}(g + h) + \int h(V_{1} - g * |x|^{-1}) \, dx - \int (V_{1} - |g * |x|^{-1}) \, d\mu_{(1)} \\ - \epsilon \mathsf{D}(g - \rho_{1}^{\mathsf{TF}}, g - \rho_{1}^{\mathsf{TF}}) - \epsilon \mathsf{D}(h - \rho_{(1)}^{\mathsf{TF}}, h - \rho_{(1)}^{\mathsf{TF}}) \right)$$

where  $\mu_1$  and  $\mu_{(1)}$  are measures with the densities respectively  $Z_1\delta(x - y_1)$ and  $\sum_{2 \le m \le M} Z_m \delta(x - y_m)$  and we used the superadditivity of  $\tau(\rho) = \rho^{\frac{5}{3}}$ . The last expression does not exceed

(25.3.44) 
$$\mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}} - \epsilon \mathsf{D}(\boldsymbol{g} - \boldsymbol{\rho}_1^{\mathsf{TF}}, \boldsymbol{g} - \boldsymbol{\rho}_1^{\mathsf{TF}}) - \epsilon \mathsf{D}(\boldsymbol{h} - \boldsymbol{\rho}_{(1)}^{\mathsf{TF}}, \boldsymbol{h} - \boldsymbol{\rho}_{(1)}^{\mathsf{TF}}).$$

Using induction with respect to M we arrive to

(25.3.45) 
$$\mathsf{D}(\rho^{\mathsf{TF}} - \rho_{1}^{\mathsf{TF}} - \rho_{(1)}^{\mathsf{TF}}, \rho^{\mathsf{TF}} - \rho_{1}^{\mathsf{TF}} - \rho_{(1)}^{\mathsf{TF}}) \leq 2\mathsf{D}(g - \rho_{1}^{\mathsf{TF}}, g - \rho_{1}^{\mathsf{TF}}) + 2\mathsf{D}(h - \rho_{(1)}^{\mathsf{TF}}, h - \rho_{(1)}^{\mathsf{TF}}) \leq C\mathcal{Q}$$

and finally to (25.3.42).

**Problem 25.3.14.** Find the stronger lower bound in (25.3.40) as N < Z. Would be the left-hand expression  $\approx \min(a^{-7} + |Z - N|^2 a^{-1}, Z^{\frac{7}{3}})$ ?

# 25.4 Application of Semiclassical Methods

### 25.4.1 Asymptotics of the Trace

In this subsection we calculate asymptotics of  $\text{Tr}((H_W - \nu)^-)$ . Here we need to consider both inner and outer zones.

An inner zone (near nucleus  $y_m$ ) is a ball where  $V_j = Z_m |x - y_m|^{-1}$ dominates  $W - V_m$ . For a single nucleus (M = 1) it is defined by

$$(25.4.1) |\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}_m| \le \epsilon Z_m^{-\frac{1}{3}}$$

but in the case  $M \ge 2$  there are another restrictions

(25.4.2) 
$$|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}_m| \le \epsilon \min_{m' \ne m} \left( Z_m (Z_m + Z_{m'})^{-1} |\mathbf{y}_m - \mathbf{y}_{m'}| \right)$$

and

$$|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}_m| \le Z_m \nu^{-1}$$

but we shrink this zone to

(25.4.4) 
$$|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}_m| \le r_m \coloneqq \epsilon \min\left(Z_m Z^{-1} \mathbf{a}, Z_m^{-\frac{1}{3}}\right).$$

Let us consider contribution of the zone  $\mathcal{X}_m$  described by (25.4.4) to  $N_1(H_W - \nu) = \text{Tr}((H_W - \nu)^-)$ , both into the principal part of asymptotics and the remainder. Let  $\psi_m$  be a partition element concentrated in  $\mathcal{X}_m$  and equal to 1 in  $\{x : |x - y_m| \leq \frac{1}{2}r_m\}$ . Then, according to Theorem 12.6.8,

(25.4.5) 
$$\operatorname{Tr}((H_W - \nu)^- \psi_m) = \int \operatorname{Weyl}_1(x) \psi_m(x) \, dx + \operatorname{Scott}_m + O(R_m)$$

where  $Weyl_1(x)$  and  $Scott_m$  are calculated for the case q = 1 and then multiplied by  $q^{13}$ :

(25.4.6) 
$$\operatorname{Weyl}_{1}(x) \coloneqq -\frac{q}{15\pi^{2}} (W(x) + \nu)_{+}^{\frac{5}{2}}$$

while  $R_m$  is  $C\zeta^2(\zeta \ell) = C\zeta^3 \ell$  calculated on its border i.e.

(25.4.7) 
$$R_m = CZ_m^{\frac{5}{3}} + CZ_m^{\frac{3}{2}}r_m^{-\frac{1}{2}} \le CZ^{\frac{5}{3}} + CZ^{\frac{3}{2}}a^{-\frac{1}{2}}.$$

Really, one needs just to rescale  $x \mapsto (x - y_m)r_m^{-1}$  and  $\tau \mapsto \tau Z_m^{-1}r_m$  and introduce a semiclassical parameter  $\hbar = Z_m^{\frac{1}{2}}r_m^{\frac{1}{2}}$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13)</sup> As operator  $H_w - \nu$  is nothing but q copies of  $\Delta - (W + \nu)$ .

Remark 25.4.1. (i) Clearly, these arguments work only if  $r_m \ge Z_m^{-1}$  (i.e.  $Z_m^2 \ge a^{-1}Z$ ).

(ii) On the other hand, if  $Z_m^2 \ge a^{-1}Z$  but  $a \ge Z^{-1}$  we define  $r_m = a^{\frac{1}{2}}Z^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ and we do not include  $\operatorname{Scott}_m^{(14)}$  into the principal expression; moreover, in this case we include  $\mathcal{X}_m$  into a singular zone and use variational methods to estimate its contribution into the principal part of asymptotics; it will not exceed  $CZa^{-1} \le CZ^{\frac{3}{2}}a^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ .

(iii) Furthermore, if  $a \leq Z^{-1}$ , we set  $r_m = Z^{-1}$  and we do not include any  $\operatorname{Scott}_m^{14}$  into the principal part of asymptotics and include all  $\mathcal{X}_m$  into singular zones; using variational methods we estimate their contributions into the principal part of asymptotics by  $CZ^2$ .

Therefore we conclude that

(25.4.8) The total contribution of all inner zones into remainder does not exceed the right-hand expression of (25.4.7) as  $a \ge Z^{-1}$  and  $CZ^2$  as  $a \le Z^{-1}$ .

Let us consider contributions of the *outer zone*  $\mathcal{X}_0$  which is complimentary to the union of all inner zones. Then

(25.4.9) 
$$\operatorname{Tr}((H_W - \nu)^- \psi_0) = \int \operatorname{Weyl}_1(x) \psi_0(x) \, dx + O(R_0)$$

with  $Weyl_1(x)$  defined by (25.4.6) where

(25.4.10) 
$$R_0 = \int_{\mathcal{X}_0} C\bar{\zeta}(x)^3 \ell^{-2} \, dx$$

and

(25.4.11) 
$$\bar{\zeta} = \begin{cases} Z^{\frac{1}{2}}\ell^{-\frac{1}{2}} & \text{as } \ell \leq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}, \\ \ell^{-2} & \text{as } \ell \geq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}. \end{cases}$$

We justify (25.4.9)-(25.4.11) a bit later by an appropriate partition of unity. One can see easily that the contribution of the zone  $\{x : \ell(x) \le Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}\}$  into expression (25.4.10) does not exceed the same expression as in (25.4.8) and that the contribution of the zone  $\{x : \ell(x) \ge Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}\}$  into (25.4.10) does not exceed  $CZ^{\frac{5}{3}}$ . Then we arrive to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14)</sup> However it will be less than the remainder estimate, so we can include it into the principal part of asymptotics anyway.

**Theorem 25.4.2.** Let  $W = W^{\mathsf{TF}}$ ,  $N \asymp Z$ ,  $W = W^{\mathsf{TF}}$ . Then

(25.4.12) 
$$\operatorname{Tr}((H_W - \nu)^-) = \int \operatorname{Weyl}_1(x) dx + \sum_{1 \le m \le M} \operatorname{Scott}_m + O(R),$$

with

(25.4.13) 
$$R := \begin{cases} CZ^{\frac{5}{3}} + CZ^{\frac{3}{2}}a^{-\frac{1}{2}} & as \quad a \ge Z^{-1}, \\ CZ^{2} & as \quad a \le Z^{-1}. \end{cases}$$

*Proof.* (i) Consider  $\nu = 0$  first. Then we just apply  $\ell$ -admissible partition of unity. Sure,  $\zeta \ell \leq 1$  as  $\ell \geq 1$  but we can deal with it <u>either</u> by taking  $\zeta = \ell^{-1}$  here <u>or</u> considering it as a singular zone and applying here variational estimate as well.

(ii) Variational estimate works for  $\nu < 0$  as well; furthermore, zone  $\{x : W(x) \le (1 - \epsilon)\nu, \ell \ge |\nu|^{-\frac{1}{2}}\}$  is classically forbidden.

(iii) However as  $\nu \leq -c$  we have a little problem as  $W^{\mathsf{TF}}$  is not very smooth, it is only  $\mathscr{C}^{\frac{7}{2}}$  as  $W \approx -\nu$ . The best<sup>15)</sup> way to deal with it is to take  $\varepsilon \ell$ mollification with  $\varepsilon = \hbar^{1-\delta}$ ,  $\hbar = (\zeta \ell)^{-1}$ , use rough microlocal analysis of Section 4.6 and the bracketing; it will bring an approximation error not exceeding  $C\varepsilon^{\frac{7}{2}}\hbar^{-3}|\nu|$  which does not exceed  $|\nu| = O(|Z - N|^{\frac{4}{3}})$ . We leave easy details to the reader.

Now we arrive to the lower estimate for E:

Corollary 25.4.3. Let  $N \simeq Z$ . Then

 $(25.4.14) E \ge \mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}} + \mathsf{Scott} - CR$ 

with R defined by (25.4.13).

*Proof.* We know from Subsection 25.2.1 that

(25.4.15) 
$$\mathsf{E} \ge \mathsf{N}_1(H_W - \nu) + \nu N - \frac{1}{2}\mathsf{D}(\rho, \rho) - CZ^{\frac{5}{3}}$$

as W is given by (25.2.3). In virtue of Theorem 25.4.2

(25.4.16) 
$$\mathsf{E} \ge \int \mathsf{Weyl}_1(x) \, dx + \nu \int \mathsf{Weyl}(x) \, dx - \frac{1}{2} \mathsf{D}(\rho, \rho) + \mathsf{Scott} - CR$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15)</sup> From the point of view of generalization to the case when magnetic field is present and it is not too weak, so magnetic version of  $W^{\mathsf{TF}}$  has multiple singularities.

where we also plugged instead of N as N < Z (and  $\nu < 0$ )

(25.4.17) 
$$N = \int \operatorname{Weyl}(x) \, dx$$

with

(25.4.18) 
$$\operatorname{Weyl}(x) = \frac{q}{6\pi^2} (W(x) + \nu)_{+}^{\frac{3}{2}}.$$

One can check easily that three first terms in the right-hand expression of (25.4.18) constitute exactly  $\Phi_*(W + \nu)$  coinciding with  $\mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}}$  as  $W = W^{\mathsf{TF}}$ .

*Remark 25.4.4.* (i) As  $a \leq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  using the same method one can prove a slightly better remainder estimate–with  $Z^{\frac{3}{2}}a^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  replaced by

(25.4.19) 
$$\sum_{1 \le m < m' \le M} \min\left( (Z_m + Z_{m'})^{\frac{3}{2}} |x_m - y_{m'}|^{-\frac{1}{2}}, (Z_m + Z_{m'})^2 \right)$$

allowing to lighter nuclei to be closer one to another.

(ii) To improve this estimate further, allowing lighter nuclei to be closer to heavier, ones one needs to improve Theorem 12.6.8 which seems to be too difficult task for a such little gain.

# 25.4.2 Upper Estimate for E

Recall that in virtue of Subsection 25.2.2

(25.4.20) 
$$\mathsf{E} \le \mathsf{N}_1(H_W - \nu) + \nu N - \frac{1}{2}\mathsf{D}(\rho, \rho) + |\lambda_N - \nu| \cdot |\mathsf{N}(H_W - \nu) - N| + \frac{1}{2}\mathsf{D}(\mathsf{tr} \, e_N(x, x) - \rho, \mathsf{tr} \, e_N(x, x) - \rho)$$

and thus we need to estimate two last terms in the right-hand expression.

#### Estimating $|\lambda_N - \nu|$

First, we need to estimate  $|\lambda_N - \nu|$ . We will use the heuristic equality  $N(H_W - \lambda_N) \approx N$  or more precisely two inequalities

$$(25.4.21)_{1,2} \qquad \qquad \mathsf{N}(H_W - \lambda_N - 0) \le \mathsf{N} \le \mathsf{N}(H_W - \lambda_N + 0)$$
 and equality

(25.4.22) 
$$\int \operatorname{Weyl}(x) \, dx = \min(N, Z)$$

where the right inequality  $(25.4.21)_2$  is valid only if  $\lambda_N < 0$  i.e.  $N(H_W) \ge N$ .

**Case**  $\lambda_N < \nu$ . Then we will use  $(25.4.21)_2$  and to calculate  $N(H_W - \lambda_N + 0)$  we will use semiclassical approximation:

(25.4.23) 
$$\mathsf{N}(H_W - \lambda_N + 0) = \int \mathsf{Weyl}(x, \lambda_N) \, dx + O(R_0)$$

with the semiclassical error

(25.4.24) 
$$R_0 = \int \zeta^2 \ell^{-1} \, dx$$

with the integral not exceeding

$$CZ\int_{\{|x|\leq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}\}}|x|^{-2}\,dx+C\int_{\{|x|\geq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}\}}|x|^{-5}\,dx\asymp CZ^{\frac{2}{3}};$$

again we need to consider separately the case of  $N \ge Z$  and  $\nu = 0$ , when integral (25.4.24) is taken over  $\mathbb{R}^3$ , and the case of N < Z and  $\nu < 0$ , when this integral should be taken over  $\{x : \ell(x) \le C(Z - N)^{-\frac{1}{3}}\}$ ; in the latter case to cover non-smoothness we consider an approximation (mollification) of W and an approximation error  $\varepsilon^{\frac{7}{2}}\hbar^{-3} \ll 1$ . Therefore

(25.4.25) 
$$\int \operatorname{Weyl}(x, \lambda_N) \, dx \ge N - CZ^{\frac{2}{3}}$$

Comparing with (25.4.22) we conclude that

(25.4.26) 
$$\int \left( \left( W(x) + \nu \right)_{+}^{\frac{3}{2}} - \left( W(x) + \lambda_{N} \right)_{+}^{\frac{3}{2}} \right) dx \leq C Z^{\frac{2}{3}}.$$

Here an integrand is non-negative (since  $\lambda_N < \nu$ ). Further, one can see easily that the main contribution to this integral is delivered by the zone  $\{x: \ell(x) \simeq |\lambda_N|^{-\frac{1}{4}}\}^{16}$  and the whole integral is  $\simeq |\lambda_N|^{-\frac{1}{4}}|\nu - \lambda_N|$ . Therefore (25.4.26) yields that

$$|\lambda_N - \nu| \leq C(|\nu| + |\lambda_N - \nu|)^{\frac{1}{4}} Z^{\frac{2}{3}},$$

which is equivalent to

(25.4.27) 
$$|\lambda_{N} - \nu| \le CZ^{\frac{8}{9}} + C|\nu|^{\frac{1}{4}}Z^{\frac{2}{3}} \asymp CZ^{\frac{8}{9}} + C(Z - N)^{\frac{1}{3}}_{+}Z^{\frac{2}{3}} \le CZ^{\frac{8}{9}}$$

In particular,

<sup>16)</sup> Provided  $|\lambda_N| \leq C_0 Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$ . On the other hand, if  $|\lambda_N| \geq C_0 Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  one can see easily that (25.4.26) is  $\asymp Z$  because  $|\nu| \leq c_0 Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  due to  $N \asymp Z$ .

(25.4.28) If 
$$|\nu| \le c_0 Z^{\frac{8}{9}}$$
 (i.e.  $(Z - N)_+ \le c_1 Z^{\frac{2}{3}}$ ), then  $|\lambda_N| \le C_0 Z^{\frac{8}{9}}$ 

and also

(25.4.29) 
$$|\lambda_{N} - \nu| \cdot |\mathsf{N}(H_{W} - \nu) - N| \le CZ \cdot Z^{\frac{2}{3}} = CZ^{\frac{5}{3}}.$$

**Case**  $\lambda_N \geq \nu$ . Then we will use the left inequality  $(25.4.21)_1$ , but if  $N(H_W) < N$  then integral (25.4.24) is diverging.

To avoid all related difficulties we will consider first the case when we necessarily conclude that  $|\lambda_N| \geq (1 - \epsilon)|\nu|$ . To do so observe that even if the main contribution to the integral  $(25.4.26)^{17}$  is delivered by the zone  $\{x \colon \ell(x) \asymp (Z - N) |\lambda_N|^{-1} \asymp |\nu|^{\frac{3}{4}} |\lambda_N|^{-1}\}$ , we will ignore this observation and consider a larger zone  $\{x \colon \ell(x) \leq C_0 |\nu|^{-\frac{1}{4}}\}$  instead of  $\{x \colon \ell(x) \leq C_0 |\nu|^{\frac{3}{4}} |\lambda_N|^{-1}\}^{18}$ .

One can prove easily that

(25.4.30) The contribution of the zone  $\{x : \ell(x) \leq C_0 |\nu|^{-\frac{1}{4}}\}$  to the semiclassical remainder, when calculating  $N(H_W - \lambda_N)$ , does not exceed  $CZ^{\frac{2}{3}}$ .

Therefore we arrive to the estimate

(25.4.31) 
$$|\lambda_N - \nu| \le C |\nu|^{\frac{1}{4}} Z^{\frac{2}{3}} \asymp C(Z - N)^{\frac{1}{3}}_+ Z^{\frac{2}{3}} \le CZ$$

(cf. (25.4.27)). In particular, we conclude that

(25.4.32) If 
$$|\nu| \ge CZ^{\frac{8}{9}}$$
 (i.e.  $(Z - N) \ge CZ^{\frac{2}{3}}$ ), then  $|\lambda_N| \asymp |\nu|$ 

(cf. (25.4.28)). Then one can easily recover (25.4.27) completely. Since  $|\mathsf{N}(\mathcal{H}_W - \nu) - \mathsf{N}| \leq CZ^{\frac{2}{3}}$  we arrive to (25.4.29).

**Case**  $|\nu| \leq \eta = CZ^{\frac{8}{9}}$ . This case (i.e.  $(Z - N) \leq \eta^{\frac{3}{4}} = CZ^{\frac{2}{3}}$ ) is the most important one. The easiest way to tackle it is to pick up  $\rho^{\mathsf{TF}}$  and  $\mathsf{W}^{\mathsf{TF}}$  calculated as if  $\nu = 0$  i.e. Z = N; that means the change of the test function  $\Psi$  in the upper estimate.

We need to modify an upper estimate of  $\sum_{1 \le j \le N} \lambda_j$ . To do this we note that

$$(25.4.33) \qquad \qquad \lambda_{\mathsf{N}} \ge -\eta$$

and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17)</sup> Now an integrand is non-positive.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18)</sup> Obviously these zones coincides as  $|\nu| \simeq |\lambda_N|$ .

(25.4.34) A number of eigenvalues between  $\lambda_N$  (if  $\lambda_N < 0$ ) and 0 does not exceed  $CZ^{\frac{2}{3}} + C\eta^{\frac{3}{4}}$ ,

which can be proven easily by our standard methods. Therefore

(25.4.35) 
$$\sum_{1 \le j \le N} \lambda_j \le \operatorname{Tr}(H_W^-) + C\eta \left( Z^{\frac{2}{3}} + \eta^{\frac{3}{4}} \right)$$

and the last term is less than  $CZ^{\frac{5}{3}}$  as long as  $\eta \leq CZ^{\frac{20}{21}}$  which is fulfilled.

In this last case<sup>19)</sup> we arrive to an upper estimate with  $\mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}}$  calculated as if  $\nu = 0$  i.e.  $\mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}}(\underline{Z};\underline{y};Z)$  which is less than  $\mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}}(\underline{Z};\underline{y};N)$ . Actually the difference between these two is  $\approx |\nu|^{\frac{7}{4}} \leq |\eta|^{\frac{7}{4}}$ .

#### **Estimating D-Term**

We need to estimate the last term in the right-hand expression of (25.4.20); we estimate it by

(25.4.36) 
$$C_0 D(\operatorname{tr} e(x, x, \nu) - P'(W + \nu), \operatorname{tr} e(x, x, \nu) - P'(W + \nu)) + C_0 D(\operatorname{tr} e(x, x, \nu) - \operatorname{tr} e_N(x, x), \operatorname{tr} e(x, x, \nu) - \operatorname{tr} e_N(x, x)) + C_0 D(\rho - P'(W + \nu), \rho - P'(W + \nu)),$$

where the last term vanishes as  $\rho = \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}$ ,  $W = W^{\mathsf{TF}}$ ; however, for some technical reasons we want to avoid this assumption.

**Estimating the First Term.** To estimate the first term in (25.4.36) we apply the semiclassical asymptotics

(25.4.37) 
$$\operatorname{tr} e(x, x, \nu) = \operatorname{Weyl}(x) + O(\zeta^2 \ell^{-1}),$$

where  $Weyl(x) = P'(W(x) + \nu)$  and therefore this term does not exceed

(25.4.38) 
$$\iint \zeta(x)^2 \zeta(y)^2 \ell(x)^{-1} \ell(y)^{-1} |x-y|^{-1} dx dy.$$

Estimating this integral by the double sum of the integrals over domains  $\{(x, y) \colon \ell(x) \leq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}, \ell(y) \leq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}\}$  and  $\{(x, y) \colon \ell(x) \geq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}, \ell(y) \geq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}\}$  we get

(25.4.39) 
$$CZ^2 \iint_{\{|x| \le Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}, |y| \le Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}\}} |x|^{-2} |y|^{-2} |x-y|^{-1} dx dy$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19)</sup> Pending an analysis of the next subsubsection.

and

(25.4.40) 
$$C \iint_{\{|x| \ge Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}, |y| \ge Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}\}} |x|^{-3} |y|^{-3} |x-y|^{-1} \, dx dy$$

respectively, and rescaling we get the same integrals but both with the "threshold" 1 rather than  $Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  and both with factor  $Z^{\frac{5}{3}}$  rather than  $Z^2$  or 1 respectively; one can see easily that both obtained integrals (without factor  $Z^{\frac{5}{3}}$ ) are  $\approx 1$ . Therefore, expression (25.4.38) is  $O(Z^{\frac{5}{3}})$ .

Therefore we proved

**Proposition 25.4.5.** As  $W = W^{\mathsf{TF}}$  the first term in (25.4.36) does not exceed  $CZ^{\frac{5}{3}}$ .

Remark 25.4.6. (i) For  $N \geq Z$  and  $\nu = 0$  we used that  $\zeta \leq C_1 \ell^{-2}$  for  $\ell \geq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$ .

(ii) For N < Z and  $\nu < 0$  we used that zone  $\{x \colon \ell \ge C(Z - N)^{-\frac{1}{3}}\}$  is classically forbidden  $(W + \nu < 0$  there) and therefore integral is taken over zone  $\{x \colon \ell \le C(Z - N)^{-\frac{1}{3}}\}$  where  $\zeta \le C_1 \ell^{-2}$ .

(iii) As  $N < Z W^{TF}$  is not very smooth near  $W + \nu = 0$  but one can handle it by rescaling arguments.

(iv) Alternatively (preferably<sup>15)</sup>) one can replace  $W^{\mathsf{TF}}$  by its mollification  $W_{\varepsilon}^{\mathsf{TF}}$ .

Remark 25.4.7. Estimating this term, and also the second D-term (in the next paragraph) we need to estimate the contribution of the singular zone  $\{x: \ell(x) \leq \bar{r} = Z^{-1}\}$  where effective semiclassical parameter is less than 1. We claim that there

(25.4.41) 
$$e(x, x, \lambda) \leq CZ^3$$
 for  $\lambda \leq cZ^2$ .

Indeed, it is true if  $\ell(x) \geq 1$ . Also operator H is bounded from below by  $-CZ^2$ . And finally, in the ball of  $B(y_m, \epsilon Z^{-1})$  operator  $\Delta$  is larger than  $Z|x-y_m|^{-1}$ . We leave the easy details to the reader.

Therefore the contribution of this zone into N-term is  $O(CZ^3\bar{r}^3) = O(1)$ , into both D-terms is  $O(Z^6\bar{r}^5) = O(Z)$ , and into T-term is  $O(Z^5\bar{r}^3) = O(Z^2)$ .

Estimating the Second term. Consider now the second term in (25.4.36). Due to the arguments of the previous paragraph modulo  $O(Z^{\frac{5}{3}})$  one can rewrite it as

(25.4.42) 
$$C_1 \mathsf{D} \big( \mathsf{P}'(\mathsf{W} + \lambda_{\mathsf{N}}) - \mathsf{P}'(\mathsf{W} + \nu), \mathsf{P}'(\mathsf{W} + \lambda_{\mathsf{N}}) - \mathsf{P}'(\mathsf{W} + \nu) \big).$$

Really, if we replace tr  $e(x, x, \nu)$  and tr  $e_N(x, x)$  by Weyl $(x, \nu)$  and Weyl $(x, \lambda_N)$  respectively we make a semiclassical errors estimated by  $Z^{\frac{5}{3}}$  provided either  $\lambda_N < \nu$  or  $\lambda_N \asymp \nu$  which is always the case unless  $|\nu| \leq CZ^{\frac{8}{9}}$  but in this case we just "cheat" resetting everything to the case  $\nu = 0$ .

Let us estimate (25.4.42). According to the previous Subsubsection 25.4.2.1 there are two cases:

(i)  $N \ge Z - CZ^{\frac{2}{3}}$ , in which case  $|\nu| \le CZ^{\frac{8}{9}}$  and  $|\lambda_N| \le CZ^{\frac{8}{9}}$ , and (25.4.42) does not exceed

$$C|\nu - \lambda_N|^2 \iint_{\{\ell(x) \le L, \ell(y) \le L\}} |x - y|^{-1} \zeta(x) \zeta(y) \, dx dy$$
$$+ C \iint_{\{\ell(x) \ge L, \ell(y) \ge L\}} |x - y|^{-1} \zeta(x)^3 \zeta(y)^3 \, dx dy$$

with  $L = |\lambda_N - \nu|^{-\frac{1}{4}}$ ; one can calculate easily that both terms are of the magnitude  $C|\lambda_N - \nu|^{\frac{7}{4}} \leq CZ^{\frac{14}{9}} \ll Z^{\frac{5}{3}}$ .

(ii)  $N \leq Z - C Z^{\frac{2}{3}},$  in which case (25.4.42) does not exceed

$$C|\nu-\lambda_N|^2 \iint_{\{\ell(x)\leq L,\ell(y)\leq L\}} |x-y|^{-1}\zeta(x)\zeta(y)\,dxdy$$

with  $L = |\nu|^{-\frac{1}{4}}$  and this integral does not exceed  $|\lambda_N - \nu|^2 |\nu|^{-\frac{1}{4}}$  which due to (25.4.27) does not exceed  $C(Z - N)^{\frac{1}{3}}Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq CZ^{\frac{5}{3}}$ .

Estimating the Third term. The third term in (25.4.36) does not exceed

$$C_1 \mathsf{D}(\rho - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}, \rho - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}) + C_1 \mathsf{D}(P'(W + \nu) - P'(W^{\mathsf{TF}} + \nu), P'(W + \nu) - P'(W^{\mathsf{TF}} + \nu))$$

and we leave to the reader an easy proof that both terms here are  $O(Z^{\frac{5}{3}-\delta})$  as W is a described mollification of  $W^{\mathsf{TF}}$ .

#### Finally, a tTheorem

As we finished an upper estimate for E we arrive to the following main result:

**Theorem 25.4.8.** Let  $N \simeq Z$  and let  $\Psi$  be a ground state. Then

(25.4.43) 
$$|\mathsf{E} - \mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}} - \mathsf{Scott}| \le C \begin{cases} Z^{\frac{5}{3}} + a^{-\frac{1}{2}}Z^{\frac{3}{2}} & as \quad a \ge Z^{-1}, \\ Z^2 & as \quad a \le Z^{-1}, \end{cases}$$

where a is the minimal distance between nuclei.

# 25.4.3 Improved Asymptotics

So far as  $a \ge Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  we recovered only  $O(Z^{\frac{5}{3}})$  for both error estimate in E and (as a coproduct, see Subsection 25.4.4) for  $D(\rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}, \rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}})$ .

Our purpose is to improve them to  $o(Z^{\frac{5}{3}})$  (or slightly better) as  $a \gg Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$ and recover the Schwinger and Dirac terms. To do so in the lower estimate for E one just need an improved electrostatic inequality (see Theorem 25.2.5) and also improved semiclassical estimates in  $Tr((H_W - \nu)^-)$  and  $N(H_W - \nu)$ .

For the improved upper estimate we will need also to improve estimate  $\frac{1}{2}\mathsf{D}(\rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}, \mathsf{D}(\rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}))$  for the test function  $\Psi$  and apply an estimate

$$(25.4.44) \quad |\frac{1}{2} \iint |x - y|^{-1} \operatorname{tr} e_{N}(x, y) e_{N}^{\dagger}(x, y) \, dx dy + \\ \kappa_{\operatorname{Dirac}} \int \rho^{\operatorname{TF} \frac{4}{3}}(x) \, dx| \leq Z^{\frac{5}{3} - \delta}$$

which is due to Theorem  $6.4.17^{20}$ .

Remark 25.4.9. (i) Only contributions to the remainder of zones

(25.4.45) 
$$\{x: Z^{-\frac{1}{3}-\delta_1} \le |x-y_m| \le Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}b^{\delta_1}\}$$

with  $b := \min(aZ^{\frac{1}{3}}, 1)$  (where now we assume that  $b \ge 1$ ) should be considered because the contributions of both zones  $\{x : \ell(x) \le Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}b^{-\delta_1}\}$  and  $\{x : \ell(x) \le Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}b^{\delta_1}\}$  are  $O(Z^{\frac{5}{3}}b^{-\delta})$ .

(ii) Only m with  $Z_m \ge Zb^{-\delta_2}$  should be considered because contributions of other m are are  $O(Z^{\frac{5}{3}}b^{-\delta})$  as well.

**Proposition 25.4.10.** Let  $\vartheta$  be a (small) parameter such that  $b^{-\delta_2} \leq \vartheta \leq 1$ ; consider m with  $Z_m \geq Z \vartheta^{\delta_1}$ . Let  $\phi(\mathbf{x}) = \psi(r^{-1}(\mathbf{x}-\mathbf{y}_m))$  with  $\psi \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}_0(B(0,1))$  and r defined below.

(i) Further, let  $(Z - N)^{-\frac{1}{3}} \ge r = Z^{-\frac{1}{3}} \vartheta^{-1}$ . Then inequalities

(25.4.46) 
$$\left|\int \phi(\mathbf{x}) \int_{-\infty}^{\lambda} \left( e(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}, \lambda') - \operatorname{Weyl}(\mathbf{x}, \lambda') \right) d\mathbf{x} d\lambda' - \operatorname{Scott} - \operatorname{Schwinger} \right| \leq C Z^{\frac{5}{3}} \vartheta^{\delta},$$

 $<sup>^{20)}</sup>$  This theorem implies the above estimate with  $\delta=1$  which is definitely overkill for our purposes.

(25.4.47) 
$$\left|\int \phi(x) \left(e(x, x, \lambda) - \operatorname{Weyl}(x, \lambda)\right) dx\right| \le C Z^{\frac{2}{3}} \vartheta^{\delta}$$

and

(25.4.48) 
$$\mathsf{D}\Big(\phi\big(e(x,x,\lambda) - \mathsf{Weyl}(x,\lambda)\big), \phi\big(e(x,x,\lambda) - \mathsf{Weyl}(x,\lambda)\big)\Big) \le CZ^{\frac{5}{3}}\vartheta^{\delta}$$

hold with some exponent  $\delta > 0$  for all  $\lambda \leq 0$  and for  $\phi$  which is r-admissible.

(ii) On the other hand, let  $(Z - N)^{-\frac{1}{3}} \leq r$ . Let W be a constructed above mollification of  $W^{\mathsf{TF}}$ . Then

- (a) Estimates (25.4.46)–(25.4.48) hold for all  $\lambda \leq \nu$ .
- (b) Further, estimates (25.4.47), (25.4.48) hold for  $\lambda \in [\nu, 0]$  such that  $N(H \lambda) \leq N$ .
- (c) Furthermore, in this last case

(25.4.49) 
$$|\lambda - \nu| \le C Z^{\frac{2}{3}} (Z - N)^{\frac{1}{3}} \vartheta^{\delta}.$$

To prove these statements we need to study behavior of the Hamiltonian trajectories. First we want to prove that in the indicated zone  $W^{\mathsf{TF}}$  is a weak perturbation of  $W_m^{\mathsf{TF}}$  which is a single atom Thomas-Fermi potential with  $Z_m$  and with  $\nu_m = \nu$ .

**Proposition 25.4.11.** In the framework of Proposition 25.4.10 in  $B(y_m, r)$ 

(25.4.50) 
$$|D^{\alpha}(W^{\mathsf{TF}} - W_m^{\mathsf{TF}})| \le c_{\alpha} W_m^{\mathsf{TF}} |\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}_m|^{-|\alpha|} \vartheta^{\delta}.$$

This estimate holds for all  $\alpha$  as  $W^{\mathsf{TF}}/(-\nu)$  is disjoint from 1; otherwise it holds for  $|\alpha| \leq 3$  and

(25.4.51) 
$$|D^{\alpha}(W^{\mathsf{TF}} - W_{m}^{\mathsf{TF}})(x) - D^{\alpha}(W^{\mathsf{TF}} - W_{m}^{\mathsf{TF}})(y)| \leq cW_{m}^{\mathsf{TF}}|x - y_{m}|^{-\frac{7}{2}}|x - y|^{\frac{1}{2}}\vartheta^{\delta}$$

for  $|\alpha| = 3$  and  $|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}_m| \asymp |\mathbf{y} - \mathbf{y}_m| \asymp (Z - N)^{-\frac{1}{3}}$ .

*Proof.* An easy proof based on the variational approach is left to the reader.  $\Box$ 

Next, let us consider a manifold  $\Sigma_{\lambda} = \{(x, \xi) : H(x, \xi) = \lambda\}$  with the classical Hamiltonian  $H(x, \xi) = |\xi|^2 - W(x)$ , and let us introduce a measure  $\mu_{\lambda}$  with the density  $dxd\xi : dH$  on  $\Sigma_{\lambda}$ ; this measure is invariant with respect to the Hamiltonian flow with the Hamiltonian  $H(x, \xi)$ . Note that  $\mu_{\lambda}(\Sigma_{\lambda}) \simeq Z$ .

**Proposition 25.4.12.** In the framework of Proposition 25.4.10 there exists a set  $\Sigma'_{\lambda,\vartheta} \subset \Sigma_{\lambda}$  such that

(25.4.52) 
$$\mu_{\lambda}(\Sigma'_{\lambda,\vartheta}) \leq C \vartheta^{\delta} Z$$

and through each point  $(x, \xi)$  belonging to  $\vartheta(Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}, Z^{\frac{2}{3}})$ -vicinity of  $\Sigma_{\lambda} \setminus \Sigma'_{\lambda,\vartheta}$ in  $T^*\mathbb{R}^3$  there passes a Hamiltonian trajectory  $(x(t), \xi(t))$  of H of the length  $T = Z^{-1}\vartheta^{-\delta}$  along which

(25.4.53) 
$$\left| D^{\alpha}_{(xZ^{\frac{1}{3}},\xi Z^{-\frac{2}{3}})}(x(t)Z^{\frac{1}{3}},\xi(t)Z^{-\frac{2}{3}}) \right| \leq C\vartheta^{-\kappa} \quad \forall \alpha : |\alpha| \leq k$$

and

(25.4.54) 
$$|x(t) - x(0)|Z^{\frac{1}{3}} + |\xi(t) - \xi(0)|Z^{-\frac{2}{3}} \ge \vartheta^{\kappa}|t|Z,$$

where m is arbitrary and  $K, \delta$  depend on k.

*Proof.* We will just sketch the proof.

(i) Consider first the case M = 1. Then the the classical dynamical system is completely integrable since both the angular momentum and the energy are preserved.

First, let us include into  $\Sigma'_{\lambda,\vartheta}$  all the points  $(x,\xi)$  with trajectories not residing over  $\{\vartheta^{\delta'}Z^{-\frac{1}{3}} \leq \ell(x) \leq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}\vartheta^{-\delta'}\}$  for all  $t: |t| \leq T^{21}$ .

Further, if  $(Z - N)_+ \geq Z \vartheta^{\delta''}$  we also include into  $\Sigma'_{\lambda,\vartheta}$  all the points  $(x, \xi)$  with the trajectories not residing over  $B(y_1, (1 - \vartheta^{\delta'})\bar{r})$ ; recall that for atoms  $\bar{r}$  is an *exact* radius of  $\text{supp}(\rho^{\mathsf{TF}})$ . Then (25.4.52)–(25.4.53) hold and we reduce  $\delta, \delta'$  if necessary.

It is known that not all the Hamiltonian trajectories are closed (see Appendix 25.A.2). Then one can prove easily that adding to  $\Sigma'_{\lambda,\vartheta}$  the set satisfying (25.4.52) we can fulfill (25.4.52) and (25.4.54) as well<sup>22)</sup>. One can find the similar arguments in the proof of Theorem 7.4.12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21)</sup> I.e. trajectories, leaving this "comfort zone" for some  $t : |t| \le T$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22)</sup> It is important that in the classical dynamics is completely integrable.

(ii) The general case  $M \ge 2$  is due of this particular one, Proposition 25.4.11 and trivial perturbation arguments.

Proof of Proposition 25.4.10. Now estimates (25.4.46) and (25.4.47) follow from Propositions 25.4.11 and 25.4.12 and the standard arguments. Note that if  $(Z - N)_+ \geq Z \vartheta^{\delta''}$  we need to mollify  $W^{\mathsf{TF}}$  in the standard way.

To prove estimate (25.4.48) we can use decomposition (16.4.1) and apply to the contribution of zone  $\{(x, y): |x - y| \ge Z^{-\frac{1}{2}}\vartheta^{\delta'}\}$  the same standard arguments. Meanwhile one can notice that the contribution of the zone  $\{(x, y): |x - y| \ge Z^{-\frac{1}{2}}\vartheta^{\delta'}\}$  is  $O(Z^{\frac{5}{3}-\delta})$ .

Combining all these improvements we arrive to

**Theorem 25.4.13.** Let  $N \simeq Z$ . Let  $a \ge Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  and let  $\Psi$  be a ground state. Then

 $(25.4.55) \quad |\mathsf{E} - \mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}} - \mathsf{Scott} - \mathsf{Dirac} - \mathsf{Schwinger}| \leq CZ^{\frac{5}{3}} (Z^{-\delta} + (aZ^{\frac{1}{3}})^{-\delta}).$ 

### 25.4.4 Corollaries and Discussion

Estimates for  $D(\rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}, \rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}})$ 

Recall that in the lower estimate there was in the left-hand expression a nonnegative term  $\frac{1}{2}D(\rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}, \rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}})$  which we so far just dropped. Then in the frameworks of Theorems 25.4.8 and 25.4.13 we conclude that this term does not exceed the right-hand expressions of (25.4.43) and (25.4.55) respectively.

However, we can do better in the case  $a \leq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$ . Indeed, recall that the term  $a^{-\frac{1}{2}}Z^{\frac{3}{2}}$  in the remainder estimate (25.4.43) appeared *only* because we replaced  $\text{Tr}((H_W - \nu)^-)$  by its Weyl approximation (with correction terms) which we by no means need for estimating this term since  $\text{Tr}((H_W - \nu)^-)$  was present in both lower and upper estimates. Then we arrive to the following

**Theorem 25.4.14.** Let  $N \simeq Z$  and let  $\Psi$  be a ground state. Then

(25.4.56) 
$$D(\rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}, \rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}) \leq CQ := C\begin{cases} Z^{\frac{5}{3}} & \text{if } a \leq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}, \\ Z^{\frac{5}{3}}(Z^{-\delta} + (aZ^{\frac{1}{3}})^{-\delta}) & \text{if } a \geq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}. \end{cases}$$

#### Estimates for Distance between Nuclei in the Free Nuclei Model

Let us estimate from below the distance between nuclei in the stable molecule in the free nuclei model (with the full energy optimized with respect to the position of the nuclei).

**Theorem 25.4.15.** Let  $M \ge 2$  and let condition (25.3.33) be fulfilled. Assume that

$$(25.4.57) \quad \mathsf{E}(\underline{Z};\underline{y};N) + \sum_{1 \le m < m' \le M} Z_j Z_k |\mathbf{y}_m - \mathbf{y}_{m'}|^{-1} \le \min_{\substack{N_1, \dots, N_M:\\N_1 + \dots + N_M = N}} \sum_{1 \le m \le M} \mathsf{E}(Z_m;N_m)$$

Then

(25.4.58) 
$$|\mathbf{y}_m - \mathbf{y}_{m'}| \ge Z^{-\frac{5}{21} + \delta_1} \quad \forall m \neq m'$$

and

(25.4.59)  $|\widehat{\mathsf{E}}^{\mathsf{TF}}(\underline{Z}; N) - \widehat{\mathcal{E}}^{\mathsf{TF}}(\underline{Z}; N) - \mathsf{Scott} - \mathsf{Dirac} - \mathsf{Schwinger}| \leq CZ^{\frac{5}{3}-\delta}.$ 

*Proof.* Note first that  $|\mathsf{E}| \leq CZ^{\frac{7}{3}}$  and in virtue of Theorem 25.4.8 we can replace  $\mathsf{E}$  by  $\mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}}$  with  $O(Z^2)$  error:

(25.4.60) 
$$\mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}}(\underline{Z};\underline{y};N) + \sum_{1 \le m < m' \le M} Z_j Z_k |y_m - y_{m'}|^{-1} \le \min_{\substack{N_1, \dots, N_M:\\N_1 + \dots + N_M = N}} \sum_{1 \le m \le M} \mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}}(Z_m;N_m) - CZ^2;$$

which in virtue of Proposition 25.3.11 is impossible unless  $a^{-7} \leq CZ^2$  i.e.  $a \geq \epsilon Z^{-\frac{2}{7}} \gg Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$ .

Then, again in virtue of Theorem 25.4.8 we can replace  $\mathsf{E}$  by  $\mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}} + \mathsf{Scott}$  with  $O(Z^{\frac{5}{3}})$  error. Let us take into account that for molecule  $\mathsf{Scott}$  equals the sum of  $\mathsf{Scott}_m$ . Therefore in (25.4.60) we can replace  $CZ^2$  by  $CZ^{\frac{5}{3}}$ . Applying again Proposition 25.3.11 we conclude that  $a \ge \epsilon Z^{-\frac{5}{21}}$ .

Let us improve this estimate further. In virtue of Theorem 25.4.13 we can replace E by  $\mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}} + \mathsf{Scott} + \mathsf{Dirac} + \mathsf{Schwinger}$  with  $O(Z^{\frac{5}{3}-\delta_2})$  error. However one needs to compare Dirac–Schwinger correction for the molecule with the sums of such corrections for separate atoms: Proposition 25.4.16. If  $a \geq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}+\delta_1}$  and

(25.4.61) 
$$\mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}}(\underline{Z};\underline{y};N) = \sum_{1 \le m \le M} \mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}}(Z_m;N_m) + O(Z^{\frac{7}{3}-\delta_1})$$

where  $N = N_1 + ... + N_M$ , then

(25.4.62) 
$$\int (\rho^{\mathsf{TF}})^{\frac{4}{3}} dx = \sum_{1 \le m \le M} \int (\rho_m^{\mathsf{TF}})^{\frac{4}{3}} dx + O(Z^{\frac{5}{3} - \delta_2}),$$

where  $\rho_m^{\mathsf{TF}} = \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}(x - y_m; Z_m; N_m)$  are atomic Thomas-Fermi densities.

Proof of this Proposition 25.4.16 will be provided immediately. Therefore Dirac and Schwinger correction terms for a molecule are equal to the sums of Dirac<sub>m</sub> and Schwinger<sub>m</sub> correction terms respectively with  $O(Z^{\frac{5}{3}-\delta_2})$  error and in (25.4.60) we can replace  $CZ^2$  by  $CZ^{\frac{5}{3}-\delta_2}$ .

Applying Proposition 25.3.11 again we conclude that  $a \ge Z^{\frac{5}{21}+\delta}$ .  $\Box$ 

*Proof of Proposition 25.4.16.* Note that the left-hand expression of (25.3.42) is equal to

(25.4.63) 
$$\|\nabla \left(W^{\mathsf{TF}} - \bar{W}^{\mathsf{TF}}\right)\|^2 \quad \text{with} \quad \bar{W}^{\mathsf{TF}} \coloneqq \sum_{1 \le m \le M} W_m^{\mathsf{TF}}$$

and therefore this expression is less than  $CQ \leq CZ^{\frac{7}{3}-\delta_1}$  as well. Then since  $a \geq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}+\delta_1}$  we conclude that if we restrict the norm to the zone  $\{x : |x - y_m| \leq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}+\delta}\}$ , we can replace  $\bar{\rho}^{\mathsf{TF}}$  and  $\bar{W}^{\mathsf{TF}}$  by  $\rho_m^{\mathsf{TF}}$  and  $W_m^{\mathsf{TF}}$ respectively in (25.3.42), (25.4.63).

Using Thomas-Fermi equations we conclude that in this zone

(25.4.64) 
$$|D^{\alpha}(W^{\mathsf{TF}} - W_{m}^{\mathsf{TF}})| \leq C_{\alpha}W_{m}^{\mathsf{TF}}\ell^{-|\alpha|}Z^{-\delta_{2}} \qquad \forall \alpha : |\alpha| \leq 2$$

and then  $|(\rho^{\mathsf{TF}})^{\frac{4}{3}} - (\rho_m^{\mathsf{TF}})^{\frac{4}{3}}| \leq C(\rho_m^{\mathsf{TF}})^{\frac{4}{3}}Z^{-\delta_2}$  which implies (25.4.62) because  $\int (\rho_m^{\mathsf{TF}})^{\frac{4}{3}} dx \approx Z^{\frac{5}{3}}$  and contributions of zone  $\{x : \ell(x) \geq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}+\delta}\}$  to each integral is  $O(Z^{\frac{5}{3}-\delta})$ .

The following problem seems to be very challenging:

**Problem 25.4.17.** In the framework of the free nuclei model consider the case when assumption (25.3.33) is violated, i.e. when some nuclei are much lighter than the others. We do not need this assumption for Theorems 25.4.8, 25.4.13 or 25.4.14 but we need to estimate from below the minimal distance between nuclei a.

We cannot do this without some generalization of Proposition 25.3.11, which we definitely do not expect to survive in its current form without assumption (25.3.33). It would be unrealistic to expect any estimate from below for  $a_m := \min_{m' \neq m} |\mathbf{y}_m - \mathbf{y}_{m'}|$  without some estimate from below for  $Z_m$ .

The following problem seems to be reasonably challenging:

**Problem 25.4.18.** (i) Let us discuss the case M = 2 and  $Z_2 \ll Z_1$ ,  $a \leq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$ . Then there is an unpleasant remainder  $O(a^{-\frac{1}{2}}Z^{\frac{3}{2}})$  in the trace asymptotics. Let us discuss how one can improve it.

Let us observe that in  $\mathbb{R}^3 \setminus B(y_1, Cb)$  we have  $W_1^{\mathsf{TF}} \gg W_2^{\mathsf{TF}}$ , where  $b = \min(Z_2^{-\frac{1}{3}+\delta}, aZ_2Z^{-1})$ . One can expect that we can modify  $W^{\mathsf{TF}}$  in  $B(y_1, Cr_2)$  to W so that the dynamical systems corresponding to Hamiltonians  $H_W$  and  $H_{W_1}$  would be close; then for  $H_W$  we would be able to recover trace asymptotics with the remainder estimate  $O(Z^{\frac{5}{3}-\delta})$ .

Meanwhile, if  $b \ge Z_2^{-1}$ , i.e.  $a \ge Z_2^{-2}Z$ , the contribution of  $B(y_1, Cr_2)$  to the trace remainder would be  $O(b^{-\frac{1}{2}}Z_2^{\frac{3}{2}}) = O(Z_2^{\frac{5}{3}-\delta}) + O(a^{-1/2}Z_2Z^{1/2})$  and we would improve  $O(a^{-\frac{1}{2}}Z^{\frac{3}{2}})$  to  $O(Z^{\frac{5}{3}-\delta} + a^{-\frac{1}{2}}Z_2Z^{\frac{1}{2}})$ .

On the other hand, if  $b \leq Z_2^{-1}$ , i.e.  $a \leq Z_2^{-2}Z$ , the contribution of  $B(y_1, Cr_2)$  to the trace remainder would be  $O(Z_2^2)$ , so we would get the remainder  $O(Z^{\frac{5}{3}-\delta} + Z_2^2)$ .

In particular, we get  $O(Z^{\frac{5}{3}-\delta})$  provided  $Z_2 \leq Z^{\frac{5}{6}-\delta}$ .

(ii) Generalize for  $M \ge 2$ .

# 25.5 Negatively Charged sSystems

In this section we consider the case  $N \ge Z$  and provide upper estimates for excessive negative charge (N - Z) if  $I_N > 0$  and for ionization energy  $I_N := E_{N-1} - I_N$ .

### 25.5.1 Estimates of the Correlation Function

First of all, we provide some estimates which will be used for both negatively and positively charged systems. Let us consider the ground-state function  $\Psi(x_1, \varsigma_1; ...; x_N, \varsigma_N)$  and the corresponding density  $\rho_{\Psi}(x)$ .

The crucial role plays estimate (25.4.56)  $D(\rho_{\psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}, \rho_{\psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}) \leq CQ$  of Theorem 25.4.14 and the difference between upper and lower bounds for  $\mathsf{E}_{N}$ (with  $\mathsf{N}_{1}(\mathcal{H}_{W} - \nu) + \nu N$  not replaced by its semiclassical approximation).

Let us consider the *classical density* of the electron system

(25.5.1) 
$$\varrho_{\underline{x}}(x) = \sum_{1 \le j \le N} \delta(x - x_j)$$

and the smeared classical density

(25.5.2) 
$$\varrho_{\underline{x},\varepsilon}(x) = \varrho_{\underline{x}} * \phi_{\varepsilon} = \sum_{1 \le j \le N} \phi_{\varepsilon}(x - x_j)$$

where  $\varepsilon$  will be chosen later; here  $(\underline{x}, \underline{\varsigma}) = (x_1, \varsigma_1; ..., x_N, \varsigma_N) \in (\mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{C}^q)^N$ ,

(25.5.3)  $\phi_{\varepsilon}(z) = \varepsilon^{-3}\phi(z\varepsilon^{-1}), \phi \in \mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}(B(0, \frac{1}{2}))$  is a spherically symmetric, non-negative function such that  $\int \phi(x) dx = 1$ .

Then  $\int \phi_{\varepsilon}(x) f(x) dx = f(0) + O(\varepsilon^2)$  for any  $f \in \mathcal{C}^2$ . Let us consider

(25.5.4) 
$$K_{N}(\underline{x}) := \frac{1}{2} \mathsf{D}(\varrho_{\underline{x}}(\cdot) - \rho(\cdot), \varrho_{\underline{x}}(\cdot) - \rho(\cdot))$$

where  $\rho = \frac{1}{4\pi} \Delta(W - V)$ , W is either  $W^{\mathsf{TF}}$  if  $\nu = 0$  or a "good" approximation for it, constructed in the previous section.

Using Newton's screening theorem<sup>23</sup>) we conclude that

(25.5.5) 
$$\sum_{1 \le j < k \le N} |x_j - x_k|^{-1} \ge \frac{1}{2} \mathsf{D} \big( \varrho_{\underline{x}}(\cdot), \varrho_{\underline{x}}(\cdot) \big) - C \varepsilon^{-1} N$$

where the last term estimates

$$\sum_{1\leq j\leq N} \mathsf{D}\big(\phi_{\varepsilon}(x-x_j),\phi_{\varepsilon}(x-x_j)\big).$$

On the other hand,

(25.5.6) 
$$\frac{1}{2}\mathsf{D}(\varrho_{\underline{x}}(\cdot),\varrho_{\underline{x}}(\cdot)) = \int \varrho_{\underline{x}}(|x|^{-1}*\rho)\,dx + K_N(\underline{x}) - \frac{1}{2}\mathsf{D}(\rho,\rho)$$

<sup>23)</sup> That uniformly charged sphere S(0, r) creates potential  $v(x) = -q \min(|x|^{-1}, r^{-1})$  where q is the total charge of the sphere.

and therefore

(25.5.7) 
$$\mathsf{H}_{N} \geq \sum_{1 \leq j \leq N} H_{W_{\varepsilon}}(x_{j}) + \mathcal{K}_{N}(\underline{x}) - \frac{1}{2}\mathsf{D}(\rho, \rho) - C\varepsilon^{-1}N$$

on  $(\mathscr{L}^2(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{C}^q))^N$  where  $W_{\varepsilon}$  is the smeared potential:

(25.5.8) 
$$W_{\varepsilon}(\mathbf{x}) = V(\mathbf{x}) - \phi_{\varepsilon} * |\mathbf{x}|^{-1} * \rho.$$

Observe that the smeared potential does not depend on  $\underline{x}$  and is defined via  $\rho$  rather than  $\rho_{\Psi}$ .

Also let us define

(25.5.9) 
$$N_x(x_2, \ldots, x_N) \coloneqq \sum_{2 \le j \le N} (\chi_x * \phi_\varepsilon)(x_j)$$

and

(25.5.10) 
$$\bar{N}_{x} \coloneqq \int \rho(y) \chi_{x}(y) dy$$

with  $\chi_x(y) := \chi(x, y), \ \chi \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^6)$ . Furthermore, let us consider function  $\theta \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3)$  such that

$$(25.5.11) 0 \le \theta \le 1.$$

Finally, consider

(25.5.12) 
$$\mathcal{J} \coloneqq |\int \left(\rho_{\Psi}^{(2)}(x,y) - \rho(y)\rho_{\Psi}(x)\right)\theta(x)\chi(x,y)\,dxdy|.$$

Obviously

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{J} &\leq \int \rho_{\Psi}^{(2)}(x,y) \big| \chi_{x} * \phi_{\varepsilon} - \chi_{x}(y) \big| \theta(x) \, dx dy \\ &+ N \int |\Psi(x,x_{2},\ldots,x_{N})|^{2} \big| N_{x}(x_{2},\ldots,x_{N}) - \bar{N}_{x} \big| \theta(x) \, dx dx_{2} \cdots dx_{N} \\ &\leq CN \varepsilon^{s} \| \nabla_{y}^{s+1} \chi \|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}} \Theta \\ &+ \left( N \int |\Psi(x,x_{2},\ldots,x_{N})|^{2} |N_{x} - \bar{N}_{x}|^{2} \theta(x) \, dx dx_{2} \cdots dx_{N} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \Theta^{\frac{1}{2}} \end{aligned}$$

where  $\rho_{\Psi}^{(2)}(\cdot, \cdot)$  is the quantum correlation function,

(25.5.13) 
$$\rho_{\Psi}^{(2)}(x,y) := N(N-1) \int |\Psi(x,y,x_3,\ldots,x_N)|^2 dx_3 \cdots dx_N,$$

(25.5.14) 
$$\int \rho_{\Psi}^{(2)}(x,y) dy = (N-1)\rho_{\Psi}(x),$$

(25.5.15) 
$$\Theta = \Theta_{\Psi} := \int \theta(x) \rho_{\Psi}(x) dx$$

and we used Cauchy-Schwartz inequality. Since

(25.5.16) 
$$N_{x}(x_{2},\ldots,x_{N})-\bar{N}_{x}=\int \left(\sum_{2\leq j\leq N}\phi_{\varepsilon}(y-x_{j})-\rho(y)\right)\chi(x,y)\,dxdy,$$

we again from Cauchy-Schwartz inequality conclude that

(25.5.17) 
$$|N_x - \bar{N}_x|^2 \le C \|\nabla_y \chi\|_{\mathscr{L}^2}^2 \cdot K_{N-1}(x_2, ..., x_N).$$

Note that

(25.5.18) 
$$\sum_{1 \le j \le N} \langle \mathsf{H}_N \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(x_j) \Psi, \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(x_j) \Psi \rangle = \mathsf{E}_N \int \int \theta(x) \rho_{\Psi}(x) \, dx + \int |\nabla \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}|^2(x) \rho_{\Psi}(x) \, dx$$

and then (25.5.7) yields that

$$(25.5.19) \quad \mathsf{E}_{N} \int \theta(x) \rho_{\Psi}(x) \, dx \ge -\int |\nabla \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}|^{2}(x) \rho_{\Psi}(x) \, dx \\ + \sum_{1 \le j,k \le N} \langle H_{W_{\varepsilon}}(x_{k}) \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(x_{j}) \Psi, \theta(x_{j}) \Psi \rangle \\ + \int K_{N}(\underline{x}) \theta(x_{1}) |\Psi(x_{1}, \dots, x_{N})|^{2} \, dx_{1} \dots \, dx_{N} - \frac{1}{2} \mathsf{D}(\rho, \rho) \Theta - C \varepsilon^{-1} N \Theta.$$

Also note that

(25.5.20) The sum of (N-1) lowest eigenvalues of  $H_{W_{\varepsilon}}$  on  $\mathcal{H}$  is greater than  $(\nu N + N_1(H_{W_{\varepsilon}} - \nu))$ .

Then the second term in the right-hand expression of (25.5.19) is bounded from below by  $(\nu N + N_1(H_{W_{\varepsilon}} - \nu))\Theta$ , while the left-hand expression is  $\mathsf{E}_N\Theta$ . Therefore assembling terms proportional to  $\Theta$  we conclude that

(25.5.21) 
$$S\Theta + \int |\nabla \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}|^2 \rho_{\Psi} dx \ge \sum_j \langle H_{W_{\varepsilon}, x_j} \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(x_j) \Psi, \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(x_j) \Psi \rangle$$
  
  $+ N \int K_N(x_1, \dots, x_N) \theta(x_1) |\Psi(x_1, \dots, x_N)|^2 dx_1 \cdots dx_N$ 

with

(25.5.22) 
$$S := \mathsf{E}_{N} - \nu N - \mathsf{N}_{1}(H_{W_{\varepsilon}} - \nu) + \frac{1}{2}\mathsf{D}(\rho, \rho)$$

Due to the non-negativity of operator  $D_x^2$ , the last term in (25.5.21) is greater than  $-CT\Theta$  with

$$(25.5.23) T = \sup_{\operatorname{supp}(\theta)} W_{1}$$

so we arrive to

(25.5.24) 
$$N \int K_N(x_1, \dots, x_N) \theta(x_1) |\Psi(x_1, \dots, x_N)|^2 dx_1 \cdots dx_N \le C(S + T + \varepsilon^{-1}N)\Theta + P$$

with

(25.5.25) 
$$P = \int |\nabla \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}|^2 \rho_{\Psi} dx$$

Combining this inequality with (25.5.13), (25.5.17) we conclude that

(25.5.26) 
$$\mathcal{J} \leq C \sup_{x} \|\nabla_{y} \chi_{x}\|_{\mathscr{L}^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3})} \Big( \big(S + \varepsilon^{-1}N + T\big)\Theta + P \Big)^{\frac{1}{2}} \Theta^{\frac{1}{2}} + C \varepsilon N \|\nabla_{y} \chi\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}} \Theta^{\frac{1}{2}} \Big)$$

due to obvious estimate

(25.5.27) 
$$\mathcal{K}_{N-1}(x_2,\ldots,x_N) \leq 2\mathcal{K}_N(x_1,\ldots,x_N) + \varepsilon^{-1}N.$$

Now we want to estimate S from above and for this we need an upper estimate for  $E_N$ . Recall that due to the arguments of Subsection 25.2.2  $S \leq CQ$  provided we manage to prove that

(25.5.28) Expressions (25.2.23)–(25.2.26) satisfy the same estimates as before if we plug  $W_{\varepsilon}$  instead of W.

So, we need to calculate both semiclassical errors (which are calculated exactly as for  $W = W^{TF}$ ) and the principal parts, and in calculations of

(25.5.29) 
$$\mathsf{D}(\mathsf{P}'(\mathsf{W}_{\varepsilon}+\nu)-\rho^{\mathsf{TF}}, \mathsf{P}'(\mathsf{W}_{\varepsilon}+\nu)-\rho^{\mathsf{TF}})$$

and

(25.5.30) 
$$\mathsf{D}(\rho_{\varepsilon} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}, \rho_{\varepsilon} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}})$$

an error is  ${\cal O}(\varepsilon^2 Z^3)$  due to estimates

$$(25.5.31) |D^{\alpha}(W - W_{\varepsilon})| \leq C \begin{cases} Z\ell^{-1-|\alpha|}(1 + \ell\varepsilon^{-1})^{-2} & \forall \alpha & \text{if } \ell \leq \epsilon Z^{-\frac{1}{3}} \\ \varepsilon^{2}\ell^{-6-|\alpha|} & \forall \alpha & \text{if } \ell \geq \epsilon Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}, \ell \neq \bar{r}, \\ \varepsilon^{2}\ell^{-6-|\alpha|} & \forall \alpha : |\alpha| \leq \frac{3}{2} & \text{if } \ell \asymp \bar{r}. \end{cases}$$

Then one can prove easily that the sum of these two expressions (25.5.29) and (25.5.30) does not exceed  $CQ + CZ^3\varepsilon^2 + CZ^2\varepsilon$ , and this estimate cannot be improved. Choosing  $\varepsilon \leq Z^{-\frac{2}{3}}$  we estimate these two terms by  $CZ^{\frac{5}{3}}$ .

Under this restriction a smearing error in the principal part of the asymptotics of  $\int e(x, x, \lambda) dx$ , namely

(25.5.32) 
$$|\int \left(P'(W_{\varepsilon}+\nu)-P'(W+\nu)\right)\,dx|,$$

does not exceed  $CZ^{\frac{3}{2}}\varepsilon^{\frac{3}{2}} = O(Z^{\frac{1}{2}})$  which is less than the semiclassical error. Then  $S \leq CQ$ .

So, the following proposition is proven:

**Proposition 25.5.1.** If  $\theta$ ,  $\chi$  are as above then

$$(25.5.33) \quad \mathcal{J} = |\int \left(\rho_{\Psi}^{(2)}(x,y) - \rho(y)\rho_{\Psi}(x)\right)\theta(x)\chi(x,y)\,dxdy| \leq C \sup_{x} \|\nabla_{y}\chi_{x}\|_{\mathscr{L}^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3})}\left((Q + \varepsilon^{-1}N + T)^{\frac{1}{2}}\Theta + P^{\frac{1}{2}}\Theta^{\frac{1}{2}}\right) + C\varepsilon N \|\nabla_{y}\chi\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}}\Theta$$

with  $\Theta = \Theta_{\Psi}$  defined by (25.5.15) and T, P defined by (25.5.23), (25.5.25) respectively and arbitrary  $\varepsilon \leq Z^{-\frac{2}{3}}$ .

# 25.5.2 Excessive Negative Charge

Let us select  $\theta = \theta_b$ (25.5.34)  $supp(\theta) \subset \{x : \ell(x) \ge b\}.$  Observe that  $\mathsf{H}_{N}\Psi=\mathsf{E}_{N}\Psi$  yields

(25.5.35) 
$$\mathsf{E}_{N} \int \rho_{\Psi}(x)\ell(x)\theta(x)\,dx = \sum_{j} \langle \Psi, \ell(x_{j})\theta(x_{j})\mathsf{H}_{N}\Psi \rangle = \sum_{j} \langle \ell(x_{j})^{\frac{1}{2}}\theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(x_{j})\Psi, \ell(x_{j})^{\frac{1}{2}}\theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(x_{j})\mathsf{H}_{N}\Psi \rangle - \sum_{j} \|\nabla(\theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(x_{j})\ell(x_{j})^{\frac{1}{2}})\Psi\|^{2}$$

and isolating the contribution of j-th electron in j-th term we get

(25.5.36) 
$$\mathsf{E}_{N} \int \rho_{\Psi}(x)\ell(x)\theta \, dx \geq \mathsf{E}_{N-1} \int \rho_{\Psi}(x)\ell(x)\theta(x) \, dx + \sum_{j} \langle \Psi, \ell(x_{j})\theta(x_{j})\Big(-V(x_{j}) + \sum_{k:k\neq j} |x_{j} - x_{k}|^{-1}\Big)\Psi \rangle - \sum_{j} \|\nabla\big(\theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(x_{j})\ell(x_{j})^{\frac{1}{2}}\big)\Psi\|^{2}$$

due to non-negativity of operator  $D_x^2$ .

Now let us select b to be able to calculate the magnitude of  $\Theta.$  Observe that

(25.5.37) 
$$|\int \theta(x) (\rho_{\Psi}(x) - \rho(x)) dx| \leq C \mathsf{D}(\rho_{\Psi} - \rho, \rho_{\Psi} - \rho)^{\frac{1}{2}} ||\nabla \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}|| \approx C \mathsf{D}(\rho_{\Psi} - \rho, \rho_{\Psi} - \rho)^{\frac{1}{2}} b^{\frac{1}{2}} \leq C Q^{\frac{1}{2}} b^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

and

(25.5.38) 
$$\int \theta(x)\rho(x)\,dx \asymp b^{-3}$$

as long as

(25.5.39) 
$$Z^{-\frac{1}{3}} \le b \le \epsilon (Z - N)_{+}^{-\frac{1}{3}}$$

because  $\rho \approx |x|^{-6}$  as  $Z^{-\frac{1}{3}} \leq |x| \leq c_0 (Z - N)_+^{-\frac{1}{3}}$ . Note that the right-hand expression of (25.5.38) is larger than the right-hand expression of (25.5.37) as  $b \geq C_0 Q^{-\frac{1}{7}}$ . Therefore let us pick up

$$(25.5.40) b \coloneqq \epsilon_0 Q^{-\frac{1}{7}};$$

it does not conflict with (25.5.39) provided

(25.5.41) 
$$N \ge Z - C_0 Q^{\frac{3}{7}}$$

and then

$$(25.5.42) \qquad \qquad \Theta \asymp Q^{\frac{3}{7}}$$

Then the same arguments imply that the last term in the right-hand expression of (25.5.36) does not exceed  $Cb^{-1}\Theta$ ; using inequality

(25.5.43) 
$$\int \rho_{\Psi}(x)\ell(x)\theta(x)dx \ge b\Theta$$

we conclude that

$$(25.5.44) \quad bl_{N}\Theta_{b} \leq \int \theta(x)V(x)\ell(x)\rho_{\Psi}(x)\,dx$$
$$-\int \rho_{\Psi}^{(2)}(x,y)\ell(x)|x-y|^{-1}\theta(x)\,dxdy + Cb^{-1}\Theta =$$
$$=\int \theta(x)V(x)\ell(x)\rho_{\Psi}(x)\,dx$$
$$-\int \rho_{\Psi}^{(2)}(x,y)\ell(x)|x-y|^{-1}(1-\theta(y))\theta(x)\,dxdy$$
$$-\int \rho_{\Psi}^{(2)}(x,y)\ell(x)|x-y|^{-1}\theta(y)\theta(x)\,dxdy + Cb^{-1}\Theta.$$

Denote by  $\mathcal{I}_1$ ,  $\mathcal{I}_2$ , and  $\mathcal{I}_3$  the first, second and third terms in the right-hand expression of (25.5.44) respectively. Symmetrizing  $\mathcal{I}_3$  in the right-hand expression of (25.5.44) with respect to x and y we see that

$$\mathcal{I}_{3} = -\frac{1}{2} \int \rho_{\Psi}^{(2)}(x,y) \big(\ell(x) + \ell(y)\big) |x-y|^{-1} \theta(y) \theta(x) \, dx dy$$

and using inequality  $\ell(x) + \ell(y) \ge \min_j(|x - y_j| + |y - y_j|) \ge |x - y|$  we conclude that this term is less than

$$(25.5.45) \quad -\frac{1}{2} \int \rho_{\Psi}^{(2)}(x,y)\theta(y)\theta(x) \, dxdy = \\ -\frac{1}{2}(N-1) \int \rho_{\Psi}(x)\theta(x) \, dx + \frac{1}{2} \int \rho_{\Psi}^{(2)}(x,y)(1-\theta(y))\theta(x) \, dxdy.$$

Here the first term is exactly  $-\frac{1}{2}(N-1)\Theta$ ; replacing  $\rho_{\Psi}^{(2)}(x, y)$  by  $\rho(y)\rho_{\Psi}(x)$  we get

(25.5.46) 
$$\frac{1}{2}\int (1-\theta(y))\rho(y)\,dy\times\Theta$$

with an error

(25.5.47) 
$$\frac{1}{2} \int \left(\rho_{\Psi}^{(2)}(x,y) - \rho(y)\rho_{\Psi}(x)\right) \left(1 - \theta(y)\right) \theta(x) \, dx dy$$

which we estimate using Proposition 25.5.1 with  $\chi(x, y) = 1 - \theta(y)$ . Then  $\|\nabla_y \chi_x\|_{\mathscr{L}^2} \simeq b^{\frac{1}{2}}$ ,  $\|\nabla_y \chi\|_{\mathscr{L}^\infty} \simeq b^{-1}$ ,  $T \simeq b^{-4}$ ,  $P \simeq b^{-1}\Theta$  and picking up  $\varepsilon = Z^{-\frac{2}{3}}$  we conclude that an error (25.5.47) is less than  $Cb^{\frac{1}{2}}Q^{\frac{1}{2}}\Theta \simeq CQ^{\frac{3}{7}}\Theta$  and then we conclude that

(25.5.48) 
$$\mathcal{I}_3 \leq -\frac{1}{2}(N-Z)_+\Theta + CQ^{\frac{3}{7}}\Theta$$

because  $\int \rho \theta \, dy \simeq Q^{\frac{3}{7}}$  and  $\int \rho(y) \, dy = \min(Z, N)$ . On the other hand,

(25.5.49) 
$$\mathcal{I}_2 \leq -\int \rho_{\Psi}^{(2)}(x,y)\ell(x)|x-y|^{-1}(1-\bar{\theta}(y))\theta(x)\,dxdy$$

with  $\bar{\theta} = \theta_{b(1-\epsilon)}$  and replacing  $\rho_{\Psi}^{(2)}(x, y)$  by  $\rho(y)\rho_{\Psi}(x)$  we get

(25.5.50) 
$$-\int \rho_{\Psi}(x)\rho(y)\ell(x)|x-y|^{-1}(1-\bar{\theta}(y))\theta(x)\,dxdy$$

and we estimate an error in the same way by  $CQ^{\frac{3}{7}}\Theta$ .

Therefore

$$(25.5.51) \quad \mathcal{I}_{1} + \mathcal{I}_{2} \leq \int \theta(x) V(x) \ell(x) \rho_{\Psi}(x) \, dx - \int \rho_{\Psi}(x) \ell(x) \rho(y) |x - y|^{-1} (1 - \bar{\theta}(y)) \theta(x) \, dx dy + CQ^{\frac{3}{7}} \Theta = \int \theta(x) W(x) \ell(x) \rho_{\Psi}(x) \, dx \\ + \int \rho(y) \rho_{\Psi}(x) \ell(x) |x - y|^{-1} \bar{\theta}(y) \theta(x) \, dx dy + CQ^{\frac{3}{7}} \Theta$$

due to  $V-W=|x|^{-1}*\rho.$  Since  $W\ell\leq Cb^{-3}$  we can skip the first term in the right-hand expression. Furthermore, as

(25.5.52) 
$$\int \rho(\mathbf{y}) |\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}|^{-1} \overline{\theta}(\mathbf{y}) \, d\mathbf{y} \asymp \Theta \asymp Q^{\frac{3}{7}}$$

we can skip the second term as well.

Adding  $\mathcal{I}_3$  to and multiplying by  $\Theta^{-1}$  we arrive to

(25.5.53) 
$$bI_N \leq -\frac{1}{2}(N-Z)_+ + CQ^{\frac{3}{7}}$$

which implies immediately

**Theorem 25.5.2.** Let condition (25.3.33) be fulfilled.

(i) In the fixed nuclei model let  $I_N > 0$ . Then

(25.5.54) 
$$(N-Z)_{+} \leq CQ^{\frac{3}{7}} = CZ^{\frac{5}{7}} \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } a \leq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}, \\ Z^{-\delta} + (aZ^{\frac{1}{3}})^{-\delta} & \text{if } a \geq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}. \end{cases}$$

(ii) In particular, for a single atom and for molecule with  $a \ge Z^{-\frac{1}{3}+\delta}$ 

(25.5.55) 
$$(N-Z)_+ \leq Z^{\frac{5}{7}-\delta'}.$$

(iii) In the free nuclei model let  $\widehat{I}_N > 0$ . Then estimate (25.5.55) holds.

## 25.5.3 Estimate for Ionization Energy

Recall that as N < Z we assumed that  $N \ge Z - CQ^{\frac{3}{7}}$  (see (25.5.41)) and  $b = Q^{-\frac{1}{7}}$ . Then (25.5.53) also implies  $I_N \le CQ^{\frac{4}{7}}$  and we arrive to

**Theorem 25.5.3.** Let condition (25.3.33) be fulfilled and let  $N \ge Z - C_0 Z^{\frac{5}{7}}$ . Then

(i) In the framework of fixed nuclei model

(25.5.56) 
$$I_N \le CZ^{\frac{20}{21}}$$
.

(ii) In the framework of free nuclei model with  $N \geq Z - C_0 Z^{\frac{5}{7}-\delta}$ 

 $(25.5.57) \qquad \qquad \widehat{\mathsf{I}}_{\mathsf{N}} \le Z^{\frac{20}{21} - \delta'}.$ 

Remark 25.5.4. (i) Classical theorem of G. Zhislin [1] implies that the system can bind at least Z electrons; the proof is based on the demonstration that the energy of the system with N < Z electrons plus one electron on the distance r is increasing as  $r \to +\infty$  because potential created by the system with N < Z electrons behaves as  $(Z - N)|x|^{-1}$  as  $|x| \to \infty$ ;

(ii) In the proof of Theorem 25.5.2(iii) and 25.5.3(ii) we note that tearing of one electron in free nuclei model is easier than in the fixed nuclei model.

The following problem does not look extremely challenging:

**Problem 25.5.5.** In Theorems 25.5.2(i),(ii) and 25.5.3(i) get rid of condition (25.3.33).

# 25.6 Positively Charged sSystems

In this section we consider the case of positively charged system with  $Z - N \ge C_0 Q^{\frac{3}{7}}$  with sufficiently large  $C_0$ .

First let us find asymptotics of the ionization energy; the principal term will be  $-\nu$  but we need to estimate a remainder.

## 25.6.1 Estimate from above for Ionization Energy

As M = 1 construction is well-known: let us pick up function  $\theta$  such that  $\theta = 1$  as  $|x-y_m| \ge \bar{r} - \beta$  and  $\theta = 0$  as  $|x-y_m| \le \bar{r} - 2\beta$ where  $\bar{r}$  is an exact radius of support  $\rho^{\mathsf{TF}}$ . Here  $\beta \ll \bar{r}$ . As  $M \ge 1$  let us pick instead

(25.6.1) 
$$\theta(x) = f^2 (v^{-1} [W(x) + \nu])$$

where  $f \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ , supported in  $(-\infty, 2)$  and equal 1 in  $(-\infty, 1)$ ,  $\upsilon \leq \upsilon$ .

We will assume that

(25.6.2) 
$$a \ge \bar{r} = C_1 (Z - N)^-$$

 $\frac{\nu}{\nu} = 1 \rightarrow \nu = 1 \rightarrow \mu = 1$ 

W(x)

with sufficiently large  $C_1$ ; we will discuss dropping this assumption later. Then as we know that  $\rho^{\mathsf{TF}}$  is supported in  $c\bar{r}$ -vicinity of nuclei, we conclude that "atoms" are rather disjoint.

One can see easily that then as  $W + \nu \approx 0$ ,

$$(25.6.3) \qquad \qquad |\nabla W| \asymp \bar{r}^{-5};$$

then the width of the zone  $\{x: 0 \leq W(x) + \nu \leq 2\upsilon\}$  is  $\approx \upsilon |\nabla W|^{-1} \approx \beta = \upsilon \overline{r}^5$ and
(25.6.4) 
$$\Theta^{\mathsf{TF}} \coloneqq \int \theta(x) \rho^{\mathsf{TF}} \, dx \asymp v^{\frac{3}{2}} \times \beta \bar{r}^2 = v^{\frac{5}{2}} \bar{r}^7$$

while  $\|\nabla \theta\| \simeq \beta^{-\frac{1}{2}} \bar{r} = \upsilon^{-\frac{1}{2}} \bar{r}^{-\frac{3}{2}}$  and therefore to ensure that  $\Theta$  has the same magnitude (25.6.4) we pick up the smallest  $\upsilon$  such that  $\upsilon^{\frac{5}{2}} \bar{r}^7 \ge C \upsilon^{-\frac{1}{2}} \bar{r}^{-\frac{3}{2}} Q^{\frac{1}{2}}$  i.e.

(25.6.5)  $\upsilon \coloneqq C_2 \bar{r}^{-\frac{17}{6}} Q^{\frac{1}{6}} \quad (\iff \beta = C_2 \bar{r}^{\frac{13}{6}} Q^{\frac{1}{6}});$ 

then

$$(25.6.6) \qquad \qquad \Theta \asymp \overline{r}^{-\frac{1}{12}} Q^{\frac{5}{12}}$$

Then (25.5.15) is fulfilled. Note that  $v \leq \nu = \bar{r}^{-4}$  iff  $(Z - N) \geq Q^{\frac{3}{7}}$  exactly as we assumed.

Then (25.5.44) is replaced by

(25.6.7) 
$$I_N \int \ell(x) \rho_{\Psi}(x) \theta(x) \, dx \leq \int \theta(x) V(x) \ell(x) \rho_{\Psi}(x) \, dx$$
$$- \int \rho_{\Psi}^{(2)}(x, y) \ell(x) |x - y|^{-1} \theta(x) \, dx \, dy + C \beta^{-2} \bar{r} \Theta$$

where  $C\beta^{-2}\overline{r}\Theta$  estimates the last term in the right-hand expression of (25.5.36). Then

(25.6.8) 
$$I_{N} \int \ell(x) \rho_{\Psi}(x) \theta(x) dx \leq \int \theta(x) V(x) \ell(x) \rho_{\Psi}(x) dx$$
$$- \int \left( \rho_{\Psi}^{(2)}(x, y) - \rho_{\Psi}(x) \rho(y) \right) \ell(x) |x - y|^{-1} \theta(x) dx dy$$
$$- \int \rho_{\Psi}(x) \rho(y) \ell(x) |x - y|^{-1} \theta(x) dx dy + C \beta^{-2} \bar{r} \Theta.$$

Let us estimate from above

$$(25.6.9) \quad -\int \left(\rho_{\Psi}^{(2)}(x,y) - \rho_{\Psi}(x)\rho(y)\right)\ell(x)|x-y|^{-1}\theta(x)\,dxdy \leq \\ -\int \left(\rho_{\Psi}^{(2)}(x,y) - \rho_{\Psi}(x)\rho(y)\right)\left(1 - \omega(x,y)\right)\ell(x)|x-y|^{-1}\theta(x)\,dxdy \\ +\int \rho_{\Psi}(x)\rho(y)\omega(x,y)\ell(x)|x-y|^{-1}\theta(x)\,dxdy$$

with  $\omega = \omega_{\gamma}$ :  $\omega = 0$  for  $|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}| \ge 2\gamma$  and  $\omega = 1$  for  $|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}| \le \gamma, \gamma \ge \beta$ .

To estimate the first term in the right-hand expression one can apply Proposition 25.5.1. In this case  $\|\nabla_y \chi\|_{\mathscr{L}^2} \simeq C \bar{r} \gamma^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ ,  $\|\nabla_y \chi\|_{\mathscr{L}^\infty} \simeq \bar{r} \gamma^{-2}$  and plugging  $P = \beta^{-2} \Theta$  and  $T = |\nu|$ ,  $\varepsilon = Z^{-\frac{2}{3}}$  we conclude that this term does not exceed

(25.6.10) 
$$C\bar{r}(\gamma^{-\frac{1}{2}}\bar{Q}^{\frac{1}{2}} + CZ^{\frac{2}{3}}\gamma^{-2})\Theta, \quad \bar{Q} = \max(Q, Z^{\frac{5}{3}}).$$

Consider the second term in the right-hand expression of (25.6.9). Note that

$$\int \rho(\mathbf{y})\omega(\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y})|\mathbf{x}-\mathbf{y}|^{-1}\,d\mathbf{y} \leq C(\overline{r}^{-\frac{15}{2}}\gamma^{\frac{7}{2}}+\upsilon^{\frac{3}{2}}\gamma^{2})$$

since  $\rho(y) \simeq (W(y) + \nu)^{\frac{3}{2}}$  and  $|\nabla W| \simeq \bar{r}^{-5}$ ; then this term does not exceed  $C(\bar{r}^{-\frac{15}{2}}\gamma^{\frac{7}{2}} + v^{\frac{3}{2}}\gamma^2)\bar{r}\Theta$ .

Adding to (25.6.10) we get

$$C\left(\gamma^{-\frac{1}{2}}\bar{Q}^{\frac{1}{2}} + CZ^{\frac{2}{3}}\gamma^{-2} + \bar{r}^{-\frac{15}{2}}\gamma^{\frac{7}{2}} + v^{\frac{3}{2}}\gamma^{2}\right)\bar{r}\Theta$$

Optimizing with respect to  $\gamma = \bar{Q}^{\frac{1}{5}}v^{-\frac{3}{5}}$  we get  $Cv^{\frac{3}{10}}\bar{Q}^{\frac{2}{5}}\bar{r}\Theta$  and (25.6.8) becomes

(25.6.11) 
$$(\mathsf{I}_{N}+\nu)\int\ell(x)\rho_{\Psi}(x)\theta(x)\,dx \leq \int\theta(x)\big(W(x)+\nu\big)\ell(x)\rho_{\Psi}(x)\,dx + Cv^{\frac{3}{10}}Q^{\frac{2}{5}}\overline{r}\Theta \leq C(v+v^{\frac{3}{10}}\overline{Q}^{\frac{2}{5}})\overline{r}\Theta.$$

where we took into account that  $V - |x|^{-1} * \rho = W$ , and that  $W + \nu \leq v$ on supp $(\theta)$ .

Since a factor at  $(I_N + \nu)$  in the left-hand expression of (25.6.11) is obviously  $\approx \overline{r}\Theta$  we arrive to  $(I_N + \nu) \leq C\upsilon + \upsilon^{\frac{3}{10}}\overline{Q}^{\frac{2}{5}}$ .

Recalling definition (25.6.4) of  $\upsilon$  we arrive to an upper estimate in Theorem 25.6.3 below:

(25.6.12) 
$$I_N + \nu \le Cv = CQ^{\frac{1}{6}}(Z - N)^{\frac{17}{18}}.$$

Really, this is true if  $Q \ge Z^{\frac{5}{3}}$  (we are interested in the general approach) and in this case  $v \ge v^{\frac{3}{10}}Q^{\frac{2}{5}}$ . On the other hand, if  $Q = Z^{\frac{5}{3}}(aZ^{\frac{1}{3}})^{-\delta}$ ,  $aZ^{\frac{1}{3}} \ge 1$ , then we get an extra term  $CQ^{\frac{1}{20}}(Z-N)^{\frac{1}{5}}Z^{\frac{2}{3}}$  but we can skip it decreasing unspecified exponent  $\delta > 0$  in the definition of Q. *Remark 25.6.1.* (i) We will prove the same estimate from below in the next Subsection 25.6.2.

(ii) Note that the relative error in the estimates is  $v/v = (Z - N)^{-\frac{7}{2}}Q^{\frac{1}{6}}$ .

(iii) In the proof we used not assumption (25.6.2) itself but its corollary (25.6.3). If we do not have such assumption instead of equality (25.6.4) we have inequality  $\Theta^{\mathsf{TF}} \gtrsim v^{\frac{5}{2}} \bar{r}^7$  (but probably equality still holds). However we have a problem to estimate  $|\Theta - \Theta^{\mathsf{TF}}|$ : namely, we need to estimate the first factor in the product  $\|\nabla \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}\| \mathsf{D}(\rho - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}, \rho - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}})^{\frac{1}{2}}$ .

Let us select f in (25.6.1) such that  $|f'| \leq c f^{1-\delta/2}$  with arbitrarily small  $\delta > 0.$  Then

$$b^2 \|
abla heta^{rac{1}{2}}\|^2 \leq C \int_{\mathcal{Z}} heta^{1-\delta} dx \leq C (\int_{\mathcal{Z}} heta dx)^{1-\delta} C (\int_{\mathcal{Z}} 1 dx)^{\delta} \leq C (\Theta^{\mathsf{TF}})^{1-\delta} \upsilon^{-rac{3}{2}(1-\delta)} ar{r}^{3\delta}$$

with  $\mathcal{Z} = \text{supp}(\nabla \theta)$  and  $\beta = \overline{r}^{\frac{13}{6}} Q^{\frac{1}{6}}$  and an error is less than  $\epsilon \Theta^{\mathsf{TF}}$  provided

$$v = C_2 \overline{r}^{-\frac{17}{6}} Q^{\frac{1}{6}} \times (\overline{r}^7 Q)^{-\delta_1}$$

which leads to a marginally larger error.

Estimate P could be done in the same manner but here slight increase of it does not matter.

(iv) The same arguments of (iii) could be applied to the proof of the lower estimate in the next subsection despite rather different definition of  $\Theta_{\Psi}$  by (25.6.18).

(v) In vrirtue of Theorem 25.6.4 stable molecules do not exist in the free nuclei model as  $Z - N \ge CQ^{\frac{3}{7}}$  and in atomic case  $\widehat{I}_N = I_N$ .

**Problem 25.6.2.** Consider f such that  $|f'| \leq fg(f)$  where  $g^{-1}(t) \in \mathcal{L}^1$  and further improve remainder estimate without assumption (25.6.3).

#### 25.6.2 Estimate from below for Ionization Energy

Now let us prove estimate  $I_N + \nu$  from below. Let  $\Psi = \Psi_N(x_1, ..., x_N)$  be the ground state for N electrons,  $\|\Psi\| = 1$ ; consider an antisymmetric test

function

(25.6.13) 
$$\tilde{\Psi} = \tilde{\Psi}(x_1, \dots, x_{N+1}) = \Psi(x_1, \dots, x_N)u(x_{n+1}) - \sum_{1 \le j \le N} \Psi(x_1, \dots, x_{j-1}, x_{N+1}, x_{j+1}, \dots, x_N)u(x_j).$$

Then

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{E}_{N+1} \|\tilde{\Psi}\|^2 &\leq \langle \mathsf{H}_{N+1}\tilde{\Psi}, \tilde{\Psi} \rangle = N \langle \mathsf{H}_{N+1}\Psi u, \tilde{\Psi} \rangle = \\ N \langle \mathsf{H}_N \Psi u, \tilde{\Psi} \rangle + N \langle H_{V, x_{N+1}} \Psi u, \tilde{\Psi} \rangle + N \langle \sum_{1 \leq i \leq N} |x_i - x_{N+1}|^{-1} \Psi u, \tilde{\Psi} \rangle = \\ (\mathsf{E}_N - \nu') \|\tilde{\Psi}\|^2 + N \langle H_{W+\nu', x_{N+1}} \Psi u, \tilde{\Psi} \rangle \\ &+ N \langle (\sum_{1 \leq i \leq N} |x_i - x_{N+1}|^{-1} - (V - W)(x_{N+1})) \Psi u, \tilde{\Psi} \rangle \end{split}$$

and therefore

(25.6.14) 
$$N^{-1}(I_{N+1} + \nu') \|\tilde{\Psi}\|^2 \ge -\langle H_{W+\nu',x_{N+1}}\Psi u, \tilde{\Psi} \rangle$$
  
 $- \langle (\sum_{1 \le i \le N} |x_i - x_{N+1}|^{-1} - (V - W)(x_{N+1}))\Psi u, \tilde{\Psi} \rangle$ 

with  $\nu' \ge \nu$  to be chosen later. One can see easily that

(25.6.15) 
$$N^{-1} \|\tilde{\Psi}\|^2 = \|\Psi\|^2 \cdot \|u\|^2 - N \int \Psi(x_1, \dots, x_{N-1}, x) \Psi^{\dagger}(x_1, \dots, x_{N-1}, y) u(y) u^{\dagger}(x) dx_1 \cdots dx_{N-1} dx dy$$

where  $^{\dagger}$  means a complex or Hermitian conjugation.

Note that every term in the right-hand expression in (25.6.14) is the sum of two terms: one with  $\tilde{\Psi}$  replaced by  $\Psi(x_1, \ldots, x_N)u(x_{N+1})$  and another with  $\tilde{\Psi}$  replaced by  $-N\Psi(x_1, \ldots, x_{N-1}, x_{N+1})u(x_N)$ . We call these terms *direct* and *indirect* indirect term respectively.

Obviously, in the direct and indirect terms u appears as  $|u(x)|^2 dx$  and as  $u(x)u^{\dagger}(y) dxdy$  respectively, multiplied by some kernels.

Recall that u is an arbitrary function. Let us take  $u(x) = \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(x)\phi_j(x)$  where  $\phi_j$  are orthonormal eigenfunctions of  $H_{W+\nu}$  and  $\theta(x)$  is  $\beta$ -admissible function supported in  $\{x: -\nu \geq W(x) + \nu \geq \frac{2}{3}\nu\}$  and equal 1 in  $\{x: | -2\nu \geq W(x) + \nu \geq \frac{1}{2}\nu\}$ , satisfying (25.5.11), and  $\beta = \nu \bar{r}^5$ .

Let us substitute it into (25.6.14), multiply by  $\varphi(\lambda_j L^{-1})$  and take sum with respect to *j*. We get the same expressions with  $|u(x)|^2 dx$  and  $u(x)u^{\dagger}(y) dxdy$  replaced by F(x, x) dx and F(x, y) dxdy respectively with



(25.6.16) 
$$F(x, y) = \int \varphi(\lambda L^{-1}) d_{\lambda} e(x, y, \lambda).$$

Here  $\varphi(\tau)$  is a fixed  $\mathscr{C}^{\infty}$  non-negative function equal to 1 as  $\tau \leq \frac{1}{2}$  and equal to 0 as  $\tau \geq 1$  and  $L = \nu' - \nu = 6\nu$ .

Under described construction and procedures the direct term generated by  $N^{-1}\|\tilde{\Psi}\|^2$  is

(25.6.17) 
$$\int \theta(x)\varphi(\lambda L^{-1}) d_{\lambda}e(x,x,\lambda) dx$$

and applying the semiclassical approximation we get

(25.6.18) 
$$\Theta_{\Psi} := \int \varphi(\lambda L^{-1}) \, d_{\lambda} P'(W + \nu - \lambda) \, dx.$$

Therefore under assumptions (25.3.33) and (25.6.2)<sup>24)</sup> the remainder estimate is  $C\hbar^{-1}\bar{r}^2b^{-2} = Cv^{\frac{1}{2}}\bar{r}^{2}b^{-1} = Cv^{-\frac{1}{2}}\bar{r}^{-3}$ ; one can prove it easily by partition of unity on  $\operatorname{supp}(\theta)$  and applying the semiclassical asymptotics with effective semiclassical parameter  $\hbar = 1/(v^{\frac{1}{2}}b) = v^{-\frac{3}{2}}\bar{r}^{-5}$ .

On the other hand, indirect term generated by  $N^{-1}\|\tilde{\Psi}\|^2$  is

(25.6.19) 
$$-N\int \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(x)\theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(y)\Psi(x_1,\ldots,x_{N-1},x)\Psi^{\dagger}(x_1,\ldots,x_{N-1},y)\times F(x,y)\,dxdydx_1\cdots dx_{N-1}$$

 $<sup>^{24)}</sup>$  Or rather its corollary (25.6.3).

and since the operator norm of F(.,.,.) is 1 the absolute value of this term does not exceed

(25.6.20) 
$$N \int \theta(x) |\Psi(x_1, \dots, x_{N-1}, x)|^2 dx = \int \theta(x) \rho_{\Psi}(x) dx \leq \int \theta(x) \rho(x) dx + CQ^{\frac{1}{2}} ||\nabla \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}||$$

where  $\rho^{\mathsf{TF}} = 0$  on  $\mathsf{supp}(\theta)$  and under assumption (25.6.2)<sup>24</sup>  $\|\nabla \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}\| \approx b^{-\frac{1}{2}} \overline{r} \approx \zeta^{-\frac{1}{2}} \overline{r}^{-\frac{3}{2}}$ .

Recall that  $P'(W^{\mathsf{TF}} + \nu) = \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}$ . We will take  $\nu' = \nu + L$  large enough to keep  $\Theta_{\Psi}$  larger than all the remainders including those due to replacement W by  $W^{\mathsf{TF}}$  and  $\rho$  by  $\rho^{\mathsf{TF}}$  in the expression above. One can see easily that

(25.6.21) 
$$\Theta_{\Psi} \asymp \hbar^{-3} \times b^{-2} \bar{r}^2 \asymp v^{\frac{3}{2}} b \bar{r}^2 \asymp v^{\frac{5}{2}} \bar{r}^7$$

Therefore

•

(25.6.22) If  $v = C_0 \bar{r}^{-\frac{17}{6}} Q^{\frac{1}{6}}$  and  $Z - N \ge C_0 Z^{\frac{5}{7}}$  the total expression generated by  $N^{-1} \|\tilde{\Psi}\|^2$  is greater than  $\epsilon \Theta$  with  $\Theta = v^{\frac{5}{2}} \bar{r}^7$ .

Now let us consider direct terms in the right-hand expression of (25.6.14). The first of them is

$$(25.6.23) \quad -\int \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(x)\varphi(\lambda L^{-1}) d_{\lambda} (H_{W+\nu',x}\theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(x)e(x,y,\lambda))_{y=x} dx = -\int \theta(x)\varphi(\lambda L^{-1}) d_{\lambda} (H_{W+\nu',x}e(x,y,\lambda))_{y=x} dx -\frac{1}{2}\int \varphi(\lambda L^{-1})[[H_{W},\theta^{\frac{1}{2}}],\theta^{\frac{1}{2}}] d_{\lambda}e(x,x,\lambda) \geq \int \theta(x)(\nu'-\nu-\lambda)\varphi(\lambda L^{-1}) d_{\lambda}e(x,x,\lambda) dx - C\int |\nabla \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}|^{2}e(x,x,\nu') dx.$$

Note that the absolute value of last term in the right-hand expression of (25.6.23) does not exceed  $Cb^{-1}\bar{r}^2L^{\frac{3}{2}} \simeq Cv^{\frac{1}{2}}\bar{r}^{-3} \ll Cv\Theta$ .

The second direct term in the right-hand expression is

$$(25.6.24) - \int \theta(x) \Big( \rho_{\Psi} * |x|^{-1} - (V - W)(x) \Big) F(x, x) \, dx = - \mathsf{D} \big( \rho_{\Psi} - \bar{\rho}, \theta(x) F(x, x) \big) \ge - C \mathsf{D} \big( \rho_{\Psi} - \rho, \rho_{\Psi} - \rho \big)^{\frac{1}{2}} \cdot \mathsf{D} \Big( \theta^{\frac{1}{2}} F(x, x), \theta^{\frac{1}{2}} F(x, x) \big) \Big)^{\frac{1}{2}} \ge - C Q^{\frac{1}{2}} \bar{r}^{\frac{15}{2}} \upsilon^{\frac{5}{2}}$$

provided  $V - W = |\mathbf{x}|^{-1} * \rho$  with  $\mathsf{D}(\rho - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}, \rho - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}) \leq CQ$ ; the absolute value of this term is  $\ll \upsilon \Theta$ .

Further, the first indirect term in the right-hand expression of (25.6.14) is

$$(25.6.25) - N \int \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(y) \Psi(x_{1}, \dots, x_{N-1}, x) \Psi^{\dagger}(x_{1}, \dots, x_{N-1}, y) \times \varphi(\lambda L^{-1}) d_{\lambda} (H_{W+\nu',x} \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(x) e(x, y, \lambda)) dx dy dx_{1} \cdots dx_{N-1} = - N \int \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(y) \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(x) \Psi(x_{1}, \dots, x_{N-1}, x) \Psi^{\dagger}(x_{1}, \dots, x_{N-1}, y) \times \varphi(\lambda L^{-1}) (\nu' - \nu - \lambda) d_{\lambda} e(x, y, \lambda) dx dy dx_{1} \cdots dx_{N-1} - N \int \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(y) \Psi(x_{1}, \dots, x_{N-1}, x) \Psi^{\dagger}(x_{1}, \dots, x_{N-1}, y) \times \varphi(\lambda L^{-1}) [H_{W,x}, \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(x)] d_{\lambda} e(x, y, \lambda) dx dy dx_{1} \cdots dx_{N-1}.$$

Note that one can rewrite the sum of the first terms in the right-hand expressions in (25.6.23) and (25.6.25) as  $\sum_{j} \varphi(\lambda_{j} L^{-1}) (\nu' - \nu - \lambda_{j}) \|\hat{\Psi}_{j}\|^{2}$  with

$$\hat{\Psi}_j(x_1,\ldots,x_{N-1})\coloneqq\int\Psi(x_1,\ldots,x_{N-1},x) heta^{rac{1}{2}}(x)\phi_j(x)\,dx$$

and therefore this sum is non-negative.

One can prove easily that the absolute value of the second term in (25.6.25) is less than

$$Cv^{\frac{1}{2}}b^{-1}\int 
ho_{\Psi}(y)\theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(y)\,dy\leq Cv^{-\frac{1}{2}}\overline{r}^{-5}\Theta\ll v\Theta.$$

Therefore

(25.6.26) The sum of the first direct and indirect terms in the right-hand expression of (25.6.14) is greater than  $-C\upsilon\Theta$ .

Finally, we need to consider the second indirect term generated by the right-hand expression of (25.6.14)

$$(25.6.27) \quad -\int \left(\sum_{1 \le i \le N} |y - x_i|^{-1} - (V - W)(y)\right) \times \\ \Psi(x_1, \dots, x_N) \Psi^{\dagger}(x_1, \dots, x_{N-1}, y) \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(x_N) \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(y) F(x_N, y) \, dx_1 \cdots dx_N dy =$$

$$-\int \left(|y|^{-1} * \rho_{\underline{x}}(y) - (V - W)(y)\right) \Psi(x_1, \dots, x_N) \Psi^{\dagger}(x_1, \dots, x_{N-1}, y) \times \\ \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(x_N) \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(y) F(x_N, y) \, dx_1 \cdots dx_N dy \\ -\int \left(\sum_{1 \le i \le N} |y - x_i|^{-1} - |y|^{-1} * \rho_{\underline{x}}(y)\right) \Psi(x_1, \dots, x_N) \Psi^{\dagger}(x_1, \dots, x_{N-1}, y) \times \\ \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(x_N) \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(y) F(x_N, y) \, dx_1 \cdots dx_N dy;$$

recall that  $\rho_{\underline{x}}$  is a smeared density,  $\underline{x} = (x_1, \dots, x_N)$ .

Since  $|y|^{-1} * \rho_{\underline{x}}(y) - (V - W)(y) = |y|^{-1} * (\rho_{\underline{x}} - \rho)$ , the first term in the right-hand expression is equal to

(25.6.28) 
$$\int \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(x_N)\Psi(x_1,\ldots,x_N) \times D_y\left(\rho_{\underline{x}}(y)-\rho(y),F(x_N,y,\lambda)\theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(y)\Psi(x_1,\ldots,x_{N-1},y)\right) dx_1\cdots dx_N;$$

and its absolute value does not exceed

$$(25.6.29)$$

$$\left(N\int \mathsf{D}(\rho_{\underline{x}}(\cdot)-\rho(\cdot),\rho_{\underline{x}}(\cdot)-\rho(\cdot))|\Psi(x_{1},\ldots,x_{N})|^{2}\theta(x_{N})\,dx_{1}\cdots dx_{N}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}\times$$

$$N^{-\frac{1}{2}}\left(\mathsf{D}_{y}\left(F(x_{N},y,\lambda)\theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(y)\Psi(x_{1},\ldots,x_{N-1},y),F(x_{N},y,\lambda)\theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(y)\Psi(x_{1},\ldots,x_{N-1},y)\right)dx_{1}\cdots dx_{N}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

Due to estimate (25.5.24) and definition (25.5.4) as the first factor in (25.6.29) does not exceed  $((Q + T + \varepsilon^{-1}N)\Theta + P)^{\frac{1}{2}}$  where we assume that  $\varepsilon \leq Z^{-\frac{2}{3}}$  and  $\Theta \simeq b^{-\frac{1}{2}}Q^{\frac{1}{2}}\bar{r}$  is now an upper estimate for  $\int \theta(y)\rho_{\Psi}(y) dy$ -like expressions; due to our choice of v it coincides with  $\Theta = v^{\frac{5}{2}}\bar{r}^{7}$ .

Then according to (25.5.25)  $P \simeq Cb^{-2}\Theta \ll Q\Theta$  and according to (25.5.23)  $T \ll Q$  and therefore in all such inequalities we may skip P and T terms; so we get  $C(Q + \varepsilon^{-1}N)^{\frac{1}{2}}\Theta^{\frac{1}{2}}$ .

Meanwhile the second factor in (25.6.29) (without square root) is equal

 $\mathrm{to}$ 

$$N^{-1}\int L^{-2}\varphi'(\lambda L^{-1})\varphi'(\lambda' L^{-1})|y-z|^{-1} \underbrace{e(x_N, y, \lambda)}_{e(x_N, z, \lambda')} \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(y)\Psi(x_1, \dots, x_{N-1}, y) \times \underbrace{e(x_N, z, \lambda')}_{e(x_N, z, \lambda')} \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(z)\Psi^{\dagger}(x_1, \dots, x_{N-1}, z) \, dydz \, dx_1 \cdots dx_{N-1} \, dx_N \, d\lambda d\lambda';$$

after integration by  $x_N$  we get instead of marked terms  $e(y, z, \lambda)$  (recall that e(.,.,.) is the Schwartz kernel of projector and we keep  $\lambda < \lambda'$ ) and then integrating with respect to  $\lambda'$  we arrive to

$$N^{-1} \int |y-z|^{-1} F(y,z) \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(y) \Psi(x_1, \dots, x_{N-1}, y) \times \\ \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(z) \Psi^{\dagger}(x_1, \dots, x_{N-1}, z) \, dy dz \, dx_1 \cdots dx_{N-1}$$

where now F is defined by (25.6.16) albeit with  $\varphi^2$  instead of  $\varphi.$  This latter expression does not exceed

(25.6.30) 
$$N^{-1} \iint |y-z|^{-1} |F(y,z)| \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(y) |\Psi(x_1,\ldots,x_{N-1},y)|^2 \times dy dz \, dx_1 \cdots dx_{N-1}.$$

Then due to proposition 25.A.3 expression  $\int |y-z|^{-1}|F(y,z)| dz$  does not exceed  $Cb^{-1}\hbar^{-1} \approx v^{\frac{1}{2}}$ , and thus expression (25.6.30) does not exceed  $CZ^{-2}v^{\frac{1}{2}}\Theta$  and therefore the second factor in (25.6.29) does not exceed  $CN^{-1}v^{\frac{1}{4}}\Theta^{\frac{1}{2}}$  and the whole expression (25.6.29) does not exceed

$$C(Q+\varepsilon^{-1}N)^{\frac{1}{2}}\Theta^{\frac{1}{2}}\times N^{-1}v^{\frac{1}{4}}\Theta^{\frac{1}{2}}=CN^{-1}(Q+\varepsilon^{-1}N)^{\frac{1}{2}}v^{\frac{1}{4}}\Theta$$

and then

(25.6.31) As  $\varepsilon \geq Z^{-1}v^{-\frac{3}{2}}$  the first term in the right-hand expression of (25.6.27) does not exceed  $Cv\Theta$ .

Further, we need to estimate the second term in the right-hand expression of (25.6.27). It can be rewritten in the form

$$(25.6.32) \quad \sum_{1 \le i \le N} \int U(x_i, y) \Psi(x_1, \dots, x_N) \Psi^{\dagger}(x_1, \dots, x_{N-1}, y) \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(x_N) \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(y) \times F(x_N, y) dx_1 \cdots dx_N dy$$

where  $U(x_i, y)$  is the difference between potential generated by the charge  $\delta(x - x_i)$  and the same charge smeared; note that  $U(x_i, y)$  is supported in  $\{(x_i, y): |x_i - y| \le \varepsilon\}$ . Let us estimate the *i*-th term in this sum with i < N first; multiplied by N(N - 1), it does not exceed

$$N\left(\int |U(x_{i}, y)|^{2} |\Psi(x_{1}, ..., x_{N})|^{2} \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(x_{N}) \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(y) |F(x_{N}, y)| dx_{1} \cdots dx_{N} dy\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \times \\ N\left(\int \omega(x_{i}, y) |\Psi(x_{1}, ..., x_{N-1}, y)|^{2} \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(x_{N}) \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(y) |F(x_{N}, y)| dx_{1} \cdots dx_{N} dy\right)^{\frac{1}{2}};$$

here  $\omega$  is  $\varepsilon$ -admissible and supported in  $\{(x_i, y) : |x_i - y| \leq 2\varepsilon\}$  function. Due to Proposition 25.A.3 in the second factor  $\int \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(x_N) |F(x_N, y)| dx_N \leq C$  and therefore the whole second factor does not exceed

(25.6.34) 
$$C\left(\int \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(x)\omega(x,y)\rho_{\Psi}^{(2)}(x,y)\,dxdy\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

where we replaced  $x_i$  by x. According to Proposition 25.5.1 in the selected expression one can replace  $\varrho_{\Psi}^{(2)}(x, y)$  by  $\rho_{\Psi}(x)\rho(y)$  with an error which does not exceed

$$C\left(\sup_{x} \|\nabla_{y}\chi_{x}\|_{\mathscr{L}^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3})}\left(Q+\varepsilon^{-1}N\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}+C\varepsilon N\|\nabla_{y}\chi\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}}\right)\Theta$$

which as we plug  $\sup_{x} \|\nabla_{y}\chi_{x}\|_{\mathcal{L}^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3})} \simeq \varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}}, \|\nabla_{y}\chi\|_{\mathcal{L}^{\infty}} \simeq \varepsilon^{-1}$  becomes  $CN\Theta$ . Meanwhile, consider

(25.6.35) 
$$\int |U(x_i, y)|^2 \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(y) |F(x_N, y)| \, dy$$

Again due to Proposition 25.A.3 it does not exceed

$$Cv^{\frac{3}{2}}\int |U(x_i, y)|^2 \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(y) (|x_N - y|v^{\frac{1}{2}} + 1)^{-s} dy$$

and this integral should be taken over  $B(x_i, \varepsilon)$ , with  $|U(x_i, y)| \le |x_i - y|^{-1}$ , so (25.6.35) does not exceed  $C \varepsilon v^{\frac{3}{2}} \omega'(x_i, x_N)$  with  $\omega'(x, y) = (1 + v^{\frac{1}{2}} |x - y|)^{-s}$ 

(provided  $\varepsilon \leq v^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  which will be the case). Therefore the first factor in (25.6.33) does not exceed

(25.6.36) 
$$C\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}}\upsilon^{\frac{3}{4}}\left(\int \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(x)\omega'(x,y)\rho_{\Psi}^{(2)}(x,y)\,dxdy\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

Therefore in selected expression one can replace  $\rho_{\Psi}^{(2)}(x, y)$  by  $\rho_{\Psi}(x)\rho(y)$  with an error which does not exceed what we got before but with  $\varepsilon$  replaced by  $v^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ , i.e. also  $CN\Theta$ .

However in both selected expressions replacing  $\rho_{\Psi}^{(2)}(x, y)$  by  $\rho_{\Psi}(x)\rho(y)$  we get just **0**. Therefore expression (25.6.33) does not exceed  $C\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}}v^{\frac{3}{4}}Z\Theta$  which does not exceed  $Cv\Theta$  provided  $\varepsilon \leq Cv^{\frac{1}{2}}Z^{-2}$ .

So, we have two restriction to  $\varepsilon$  from above: the last one and  $\varepsilon \leq Z^{-\frac{2}{3}}$  and one can see easily that both of them are compatible with with restriction to  $\varepsilon$  in (25.6.31).

Finally, consider term in (25.6.32) with i = N (multiplied by N):

(25.6.37) 
$$N \int U(x_N, y) |\Psi(x_1, ..., x_N)|^2 \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(x_N) \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(y) F(x_N, y) dx_1 \cdots dx_N dy;$$

due to Cauchy inequality it does not exceed

(25.6.38) 
$$N\left(\int |x_N - y|^{-2} |\Psi(x_1, \dots, x_N)|^2 \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(x_N) \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(y) dx_1 \cdots dx_N dy\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \times N\left(\int |F(x_N, y)|^2 |\Psi(x_1, \dots, x_N)|^2 \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(x_N) \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(y) dx_1 \cdots dx_N dy\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

where both integrals are taken over  $\{|x_N - y| \le \varepsilon\}$  and integrating with respect to y there we get that it does not exceed

$$\mathcal{C}\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}}\Theta^{\frac{1}{2}} \times v^{\frac{3}{4}}\varepsilon^{\frac{3}{2}}\Theta^{\frac{1}{2}} = \mathcal{C}v^{\frac{3}{4}}\varepsilon^{2}\Theta \ll v\Theta.$$

Therefore the right-hand expression in (25.6.14) is  $\geq -C\upsilon\Theta$  and recalling that  $\nu' - \nu = O(\upsilon)$  we recover an lower estimate in Theorem 25.6.3 below:

(25.6.39) 
$$I_N + \nu \ge -C\upsilon = CQ^{\frac{1}{6}}(Z - N)^{\frac{17}{18}}.$$

Combining with a lower estimate (25.6.12) and recalling estimate (25.4.5) for Q we arrive to

**Theorem 25.6.3.** Let condition (25.3.33) be fulfilled and let  $N \leq Z - C_0 Q^{\frac{3}{7}}$  with  $Q \leq C_1 Z^{\frac{5}{3}}$ .

Then in the framework of fixed nuclei model under assumption (25.6.2)

(25.6.40) 
$$|I_{N} + \nu| \le C(Z - N)^{\frac{17}{18}} Z^{\frac{5}{18}} \begin{cases} 1 & as \ a \le Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}, \\ Z^{-\delta} + (aZ^{\frac{1}{3}})^{-\delta} & as \ a \ge Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}. \end{cases}$$

### 25.6.3 Estimate for Excessive Positive Charge

To estimate excessive positive charge when molecules can still exist in free nuclei model we apply arguments of section 5 of B. Ruskai and J. P. Solovej [1]. In view of Theorem 25.4.15 it is sufficient to consider the case

(25.6.41) 
$$a = \min_{j < k} |\mathbf{y}_j - \mathbf{y}_k| \ge C_0 \bar{r}$$

Therefore in Thomas-Fermi theory  $\rho^{\mathsf{TF}}$  is supported in separate "atoms".

Let us consider *a*-admissible functions  $\theta_m(x)$ , supported in  $B(y_m, \frac{1}{3}a)$  for m = 1, ..., M and in  $\{|x - y_m| \ge \frac{1}{4}a \ \forall m = 1, ..., M\}$  for m = 0, such that

(25.6.42) 
$$\theta_0^2 + \dots + \theta_M^2 = 1.$$

Then for the ground state  $\Psi$ 

(25.6.43) 
$$\mathsf{E}_{N} = \langle \mathsf{H}\Psi, \Psi \rangle = \sum_{\alpha} \langle \theta_{\alpha} \mathsf{H} \theta_{\alpha} \Psi, \Psi \rangle - \sum_{\alpha, j} \| (\nabla_{j} \theta_{\alpha}) \Psi \|^{2}$$

with the sum over of (M + 1)-cluster decompositions  $\alpha = (\alpha_0, ..., \alpha_M)$  of  $\{1, ..., N\}$  and  $\theta_{\alpha}(\underline{x}) = \prod_{0 \le m \le M} \prod_{i \in \alpha_m} \theta_m(x_i); j = 1, ..., N$ . Then for any given  $\alpha$ 

(25.6.44) 
$$\mathsf{H} = \sum_{0 \le m \le M} \mathsf{H}_{\alpha_m} + J_{\alpha}$$

with the *cluster Hamiltonians*  $H_{\alpha_m}$ , involving only potential of *m*-th nucleus (no nucleus potential as m = 0) and only electrons belonging to  $\alpha_m$  and therefore satisfying

$$(25.6.45) \qquad \qquad \mathsf{H}_{\alpha_m} \geq \mathsf{E}_{at}(N_m(\alpha), Z_m), \qquad \mathsf{H}_{\alpha_0} \geq \mathsf{0},$$

and with the *intercluster Hamiltonian* (actually, just potentials)

(25.6.46) 
$$J_{\alpha} = \sum_{1 \le m \le M} \sum_{i \notin \alpha_m} -Z_m |x_i - y_m|^{-1} + \sum_{m < l} \sum_{i \in \alpha_m, j \in \alpha_l} |x_i - x_j|^{-1} + \sum_{m < l} Z_m Z_l |y_l - y_m|^{-1}.$$

Let us note that

(25.6.47) 
$$\sum_{\alpha} \theta_{\alpha}^2 J_{\alpha} = \sum_{0 \le m < l \le M} J_{ml}$$

with  $J_{ml}$  given by (32)–(33) of Ruskai–Solovej [1] if m,l>0 and m=0 respectively:

(25.6.48) 
$$J_{ml} = Z_m Z_l |\mathbf{y}_m - \mathbf{y}_l|^{-1} - Z_m \sum_i \theta_l(\mathbf{x}_i)^2 |\mathbf{x}_i - \mathbf{y}_m|^{-1} - Z_l \sum_i \theta_m(\mathbf{x}_i)^2 |\mathbf{x}_i - \mathbf{y}_l|^{-1} + \sum_{i \neq j} \theta_m(\mathbf{x}_i)^2 \theta_l(\mathbf{x}_j)^2 |\mathbf{x}_i - \mathbf{x}_j|^{-1},$$

and

(25.6.49) 
$$J_{0l} = \sum_{i} \theta_0(x_i)^2 \Big( -Z_l |x_i - y_l|^{-1} + \sum_{j} \theta_l(x_j)^2 |x_i - x_j|^{-1} \Big).$$

Then we recover (35) of Ruskai–Solovej [1]

(25.6.50) 
$$\langle J_{ml}\Psi,\Psi\rangle = Z_m Z_l |y_m - y_l|^{-1} - Z_l \int \rho_{\Psi}(x) \theta_m(x)^2 |x - y_l|^{-1} dx - Z_m \int \rho_{\Psi}(x) \theta_l(x)^2 |x - y_m|^{-1} dx + \int \rho_{\Psi}^{(2)}(x,y) \theta_m(x) \theta_l(y) dx dy.$$

Applying Proposition 25.5.1 and estimate (25.4.56) (replacing first  $\theta_m$  with m = 1, ..., M by  $\tilde{\theta}_m$  supported in  $B(y_m, c\bar{r})$  and estimating an error), we conclude that

(25.6.51) 
$$\int \rho_{\Psi}(x)\theta_{m}(x)^{2}|x-y_{l}|^{-1} dx = \left(\int \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}(x)\theta_{m}(x)^{2}|x-y_{l}|^{-1} dx + O(Y)\right)|y_{m}-y_{l}|^{-1},$$

(25.6.52) 
$$\int \rho_{\Psi}(x)\tilde{\theta}_m(x)^2 dx = N_m^{\mathsf{TF}} + O(Y),$$

with

(25.6.53) 
$$N_m^{\mathsf{TF}} = \int \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}(x)\theta_m(x)^2 \, dx, \qquad Y := Q^{\frac{1}{2}} \bar{r}^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

(compare with (36)–(37) of Ruskai–Solovej [1]) which yields

(25.6.54) 
$$\int \rho_{\Psi}(x) \left(1 - \sum_{1 \le m \le M} \tilde{\theta}_m(x)\right) dx \le CY,$$

and we prove that (25.6.52) holds for  $\theta_m$  as well (compare with (38) of Ruskai–Solovej [1]).

The last term in (25.6.51) is estimated by Proposition 25.5.1 and estimate (25.4.56) and the same replacement trick:

$$(25.6.55) \quad \int \rho_{\Psi}^{(2)}(x,y)\theta_{m}(x)^{2}\theta_{l}(y)^{2}|x-y|^{-1} dxdy \geq \int \rho_{\Psi}^{(2)}(x,y)\tilde{\theta}_{m}(x)^{2}\theta_{l}(y)^{2}|x-y|^{-1} dxdy \geq \int \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}(x)\rho_{\Psi}(y)\tilde{\theta}_{m}(x)^{2}\theta_{l}(y)^{2}|x-y|^{-1} dxdy - C\left(Q^{\frac{1}{2}}\int \rho_{\Psi}(x)\theta_{l}(x)^{2}dx + Ya^{-1}\right)|y_{m}-y_{l}|^{-1}$$

and repeating the same trick we get that it is larger than

(25.6.56) 
$$\int \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}(x)\rho^{\mathsf{TF}}(y)|x-y|^{-1}dxdy - C(Z-N)Ya^{-1} - CY^2a^{-1}.$$

Then we conclude that

(25.6.57) 
$$\langle J_{ml}\Psi,\Psi\rangle \ge J_{ml}^{\mathsf{TF}} - CNYa^{-1}$$

with

$$(25.6.58) \quad J_{ml}^{\mathsf{TF}} = \int \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}(x)\rho^{\mathsf{TF}}(y)\theta_m(x)\theta_l(y)|x-y|^{-1}\,dxdy - Z_m \int \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}(x)\theta_l(y)|x-y_m|^{-1}\,dx - Z_l \int \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}(x)\theta_m(y)|x-y_l|^{-1}\,dx + Z_m Z_l|y_m-y_l|^{-1}$$

and

(25.6.59) 
$$|\langle J_{0}\Psi,\Psi\rangle| \leq C(Z-N)Ya^{-1} + CY^2a^{-1}$$

(compare with (39)–(40) of Ruskai–Solovej [1]) provided

(25.6.60) 
$$\left| \int \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}(y) |x - y|^{-1} \tilde{\theta}_m(x) \, dy - N_m^{\mathsf{TF}} |x - y_m|^{-1} \right| \le C(Z - N) |x - y_m|^{-1}$$

for  $|x - y_m| \ge C\overline{r}$ .

Let us note that the absolute value of the last term in the right-hand expression of (25.6.43) does not exceed  $Ca^{-2}Y$  due to (25.6.52). Now stability condition yields

(25.6.61) 
$$J = \sum_{0 \le m < l \le M} J_{ml} \le CYa^{-2} + C(Z - N)Ya^{-1} + CY^2a^{-1}$$

This inequality, (25.6.41) and Proposition 25.6.6 below yield that  $Z - N \leq CY = C\bar{r}^{\frac{1}{2}}Q^{\frac{1}{2}}$ . Since  $\bar{r} \simeq (Z - N)^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  we arrive to  $(Z - N) \leq CQ^{\frac{3}{7}}$ :

**Theorem 25.6.4.** Let condition (25.3.33) be fulfilled. Then in the framework of free nuclei model with  $M \geq 2$  the stable molecule does not exist unless

(25.6.62) 
$$Z - N \le Z^{\frac{5}{7} - \delta}.$$

*Remark 25.6.5.* Unfortunately, we do not prove that molecules exist. We are not aware of any rigorous result of this type in the frameworks of our models.

**Proposition 25.6.6.** Let (25.6.41) be fulfilled. Then inequality (25.6.60) holds and

(25.6.63) 
$$J \ge \epsilon (Z - N)^2 a^{-1}$$

*Proof.* Note first that

with  $\bar{\rho} = \sum_{i} \rho_{i}^{\mathsf{TF}}$  while

(25.6.64) 
$$\mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}} \leq \mathcal{E}(\bar{\rho}) = \sum_{j} \mathcal{E}(\rho_{j}^{\mathsf{TF}}) + J^{\mathsf{TF}}(\bar{\rho}) \leq \sum_{j} \mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}}(\rho_{j}^{\mathsf{TF}}) + C(Z - N)^{2} a^{-1}$$

(25.6.65)  $\sum_{j} \mathcal{E}(\rho_{j}^{\mathsf{TF}}) \leq \sum_{j} \mathcal{E}(\theta_{j} \rho^{\mathsf{TF}});$ 

then

(25.6.66) 
$$J^{\mathsf{TF}}(\rho^{\mathsf{TF}}) \le C(Z-N)^2 a^{-1}$$

and using (25.6.62) we conclude that

(25.6.67) 
$$\mathsf{D}(\rho^{\mathsf{TF}} - \bar{\rho}, \rho^{\mathsf{TF}} - \bar{\rho}) \le C(Z - N)^2 a^{-1}.$$

Further,

(25.6.68) 
$$\Lambda \coloneqq \sum_{j} \mathsf{D}(\rho^{\mathsf{TF}}\theta_{j} - \rho_{j}^{\mathsf{TF}}, \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}\theta_{j} - \rho_{j}^{\mathsf{TF}}) \leq \mathsf{D}(\rho^{\mathsf{TF}} - \bar{\rho}, \rho^{\mathsf{TF}} - \bar{\rho}) + C\bar{r}a^{-1}\Lambda$$

and combining with (25.6.66) we conclude that

$$(25.6.69) \qquad \qquad \Lambda \le C(Z-N)^2 a^{-1}$$

due to (25.6.41). Combining with  $\rho_j^{\mathsf{TF}} * |x|^{-1} = N_j^{\mathsf{TF}} |x - y_j|^{-1}$  for  $|x - y_j| \ge r_s$  we arrive to (25.6.60). Further,

(25.6.70) 
$$J^{\mathsf{TF}}(\rho^{\mathsf{TF}}) \ge J^{\mathsf{TF}}(\bar{\rho}) - C\Lambda^{\frac{1}{2}}\bar{r}\frac{1}{2}(Z-N)a^{-\frac{3}{2}} - C\Lambda\bar{r}^{-1}$$

which together with (25.6.68) and (25.6.69) yields (25.6.63).

## 25.A Appendices

#### 25.A.1 Electrostatic Inequalities

We know already that there are two sources of errors in the lower estimate: due to electrostatic inequality (25.2.1) and semiclassical errors. For the first error in the case  $\vec{B} = \text{const} E$ . Lieb, J. P. Solovej and J. Yngvason [3] provide the (almost) perfect estimate; the reader can find the proof based on the magnetic Lieb–Thirring inequality (and this inequality as well) in that paper (p. 122) which in the case of  $\vec{B} = 0$  becomes

**Theorem 25.A.1.** For the ground state  $\Psi$  of (25.1.1) with potential (25.1.4)

(25.A.1) 
$$\int \rho_{\Psi}^{\frac{4}{3}} dx \leq C Z^{\frac{5}{6}} N^{\frac{1}{2}} (Z + N)^{\frac{1}{3}}$$

otherwise.

In particular for  $c^{-1}N\leq Z\leq cN$  the right-hand expression does not exceed  $CZ^{\frac{5}{3}}.$ 

On the other hand, for B = 0 there is a more precise inequality due to V. Bach [1] and G. Graf and J. P. Solovej [1]:

**Theorem 25.A.2.** For the ground state  $\Psi$  of (25.1.1) with potential (25.1.4)

(25.A.2) 
$$\langle \mathsf{H}\Psi,\Psi\rangle \ge$$
  
 $\mathsf{N}_1(A-\nu)+\nu\mathsf{N}-\frac{1}{2}\iint |x-y|^{-1}|e(x,y,\nu)|^2\,dxdy-C\mathsf{N}^{\frac{5}{3}-\delta}$ 

with some exponent  $\delta > 0$ .

We will discuss magnetic field case in more details in the Appendix to the next Chapter 26.

#### 25.A.2 Hamiltonian Trajectories

We are going to prove that for  $W = W^{\mathsf{TF}}$  in M = 1 case the generic trajectory on the energy level  $\nu$  is not periodic. We use some ideas from V. Arnold [2], pages 37–38. Recall that in this case W = W(r)  $(r = |x - y_1|)$  and angular momentum  $\vec{M}$  is a motion integral. Then any trajectory lies on some plane and if  $M = |\vec{M}| > 0$  it lies in  $\{0 < r < \bar{r}\}$  where W is analytic and  $W(\bar{r}) = -\nu$ .

(25.A.3) Let us assume that all the trajectories on the energy level  $\nu$  are periodic.

Then the rotation number

(25.A.4) 
$$\Phi = \int_{r_1}^{r_2} \frac{M \, dr}{r^2 \sqrt{2(W(r) + \nu) - M^2 r^{-2}}}$$

showing the increment of the polar angle over a half-trajectory should be  $\pi k^{-1}$  with  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  and should not depend on M where  $r_1 \leq r_2$  are roots of  $(W(r) + \nu) - M^2 r^{-2} = \nu$ . So,  $\Phi$  should be the same for all trajectories on the energy level  $\nu$ . One can see easily that for  $M \to 0$   $\Phi$  tends to those of the Coulomb potential. So,  $\Phi = 2\pi$  for all trajectories on the energy level  $\nu$ .

Let  $r_0$  be a root of  $F(r) = 2(W(r) + \nu) + r^4(W'(r))^2 = 0$ . One can see easily that  $F(\bar{r}) > 0$ ,  $F(r) \to \infty$  as  $r \to 0$  and F'(r) < 0 because

(25.A.5) 
$$W' < 0, \qquad W'' + 2rW' = r^{-1}(r^2W')' = r\Delta W > 0.$$

So, the unique root exists. Then  $r = r_0$  is a circular motion with  $M = -r_0^3 W'(r_0)$ .

Then (V. Arnold [2], problem 2 at page 37)

$$\Phi \to \pi \sqrt{W'/(3W'+rW'')^{-1}}\Big|_{r=r_0} = \Phi_0$$

for trajectories tending to circular. However, 3W' + rW'' > W' due to (25.A.5) and then  $\Phi_0 > \pi$ . Contradiction to assumption (25.A.3).

#### 25.A.3 Some Spectral Function Estimates

**Proposition 25.A.3.** For Schrödinger operator with  $W \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}$  and for  $\phi \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}_{0}([-1, 1])$  the following estimate holds for any *s*:

(25.A.6)  $|F(x,y)| \leq Ch^{-3} (1+h^{-1}|x-y|)^{-s},$ 

(25.A.7) 
$$F(x, y) \coloneqq \int \phi(\lambda) \, d_{\lambda} e(x, y, \lambda).$$

*Proof.* Let  $u(x, y, t) = \int e^{-i\hbar^{-1}t\lambda} d_{\lambda}e(x, y, \lambda)$  be the Schwartz's kernel of  $e^{-i\hbar^{-1}Ht}$ .

Fix y. Note first that  $\mathscr{L}^2$ -norm<sup>25)</sup> of  $\phi(hD_t)\chi(t)\omega(x)u(x, y, t)$  is less than  $Ch^s$  as  $\chi \in \mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}([-\epsilon, \epsilon])$  and  $\omega \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}$  supported in  $\{|x - y| \ge \epsilon_1\}$   $(\epsilon_1 = C\epsilon)$  due to the finite speed of propagation of singularities.

We conclude then that  $\mathscr{L}^2$ -norm of  $\phi(hD_t)\chi(t)\omega(x,y,t)$  is less than  $Ch^s$  for  $\omega \in \mathscr{C}^\infty$  supported in  $\{x: |x-y| \geq C\}$ .

Then  $\mathscr{L}^2$ -norm of  $\partial_t^{\prime} \nabla^{\alpha} \phi(hD_t) \chi(t) \omega(x) u$  does not exceed  $Ch^s$ . Then due to imbedding inequality  $\mathscr{L}^{\infty}$ -norm of  $\phi(hD_t) \chi(t) \omega(x) u$  does not exceed  $Ch^s$ . Setting t = 0 and using this inequality and  $|F(x, y)| \leq Ch^{-3}$  (due to Chapter 4) we get that  $|F(x, y)| \leq Ch^s$  for  $|x - y| \geq \epsilon_0$ ;

Now let us consider general  $|x-y| = r \ge Ch$ . Rescaling  $x-y \mapsto (x-y)r^{-1}$  we need to rescale  $h \mapsto hr^{-1}$  and rescaling above inequality and keeping in mind that F(x, y) is a density with respect to x we get  $|F(x, y)| \le Ch^s r^{-3-s}$  which is equivalent to (25.A.6)-(25.A.7).

## Comments

There are papers of physicists. L.H. Thomas and E. Fermi have suggested in 1927 that a large Coulomb system (atom or molecule) in the ground

 $<sup>^{25)}</sup>$  With respect to x,t here and below.

state looks like a classical gas but with the Pauli principle, so, leading to the first term  $\mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}}$  in the asymptotics. The second term of asymptotics was conjectured by J. M.C. Scott in 1952 as a contribution of those electrons which move very close to the nuclei. Next terms, Dirac and Schwinger corrections were conjectured in 1930 and 1980, respectively.

The mathematical rigorous papers one can separated into several groups:

First, there are papers concerning only the Thomas–Fermi model (so, studying the Thomas-Fermi equation, may be, with some modifications, without any consideration of the quantum mechanical model, even if the latter was a source for the former). Most notably H. Brezis, H. and E. Lieb E. [1], R. Benguria [1], R. Benguria, R. and Lieb E. H. [1].

The second group consists of the papers, justifying Thomas–Fermi model as an approximation to the quantum mechanical model: E. H. Lieb and B. Simon, [1], where the leading term was derived; also certain properties of the the Thomas–Fermi model were established.

Next, W. Hughes [1] and H. Siedentop and R. Weikart [1–3] justified the Scott correction term in the atomic case, while V. Ivrii and M. Sigal [1] justified it in the molecular case.

Then, C. Fefferman and L. Seco [1] justified Dirac and Schwinger correction terms in the atomic case, while V. Ivrii justified them in [21] (even in the case of the relatively weak magnetic field). J. P. Solovej, J. P., T. Ø. Sørensen and W. L. Spitzer [1] recovered Scott correction term in the relativistic case (under assumption preventing relativistic instability).

The third group consists of the papers, related to the ground state energy problem: B. Ruskai and J. P. Solovej [1], J. P. Solovej [1] and L. A. Seco, I. M. Sigal, and J. P. Solovej [1].

Finally, we already mentioned papers which provided the solid functionalanalytical base for all this construction. Pretty complete survey could be found in C. L. Fefferman, V. Ivrii, L. A. Seco, and I. M. Sigal [1].



# Chapter 26

# The Case of External Magnetic Field

## 26.1 Introduction

In this Chapter we repeat analysis of the previous Chapter 25 but in the case of the constant external magnetic field<sup>1</sup>).

#### 26.1.1 Framework

Let us consider the following operator (quantum Hamiltonian)

(26.1.1) 
$$\mathsf{H} = \mathsf{H}_{N} \coloneqq \sum_{1 \le j \le N} H_{A,V,x_{j}} + \sum_{1 \le j < k \le N} |x_{j} - x_{k}|^{-1}$$

on

(26.1.2) 
$$\mathfrak{H} = \bigwedge_{1 \le n \le N} \mathsf{H}, \qquad \mathsf{H} = \mathscr{L}^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{C}^q)$$

with

(26.1.3) 
$$H_{V,A} = \left( \left( i \nabla - A \right) \cdot \sigma \right)^2 - V(x)$$

describing N same type particles in the external field with the scalar potential -V and vector potential A(x), and repulsing one another according to the Coulomb law.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1)</sup> Actually we need a magnetic field either sufficiently weak or close to a constant on the very small scale.

Here  $x_j \in \mathbb{R}^d$  and  $(x_1, ..., x_N) \in \mathbb{R}^{dN}$ , potentials V(x) and A(x) are assumed to be real-valued. Except when specifically mentioned we assume that

(26.1.4) 
$$V(x) = \sum_{1 \le k \le M} \frac{Z_m}{|x - y_m|}$$

where  $Z_m > 0$  and  $y_m$  are charges and locations of nuclei. Here  $\sigma = (\sigma_1, \sigma_2, ..., \sigma_d)$ ,  $\sigma_k$  are  $q \times q$ -Pauli matrices.

So far in comparison with the previous Chapter 25 we only changed (25.1.3) to (26.1.3) introducing magnetic field. Now spin enters not only in the definition of the space but also into operator through matrices  $\sigma_k$ . Since we need d = 3 Pauli matrices it is sufficient to consider q = 2 but we will consider more general case as well (but q should be even).

Remark 26.1.1. In the case of the the constant magnetic field  $\nabla \times A$ 

(26.1.5) 
$$H_{A,V} = \left(-i\nabla - A(x)\right)^2 + \boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot (\nabla \times A) - V(x)$$

In the case d = 2 this operator downgrades to

(26.1.6) 
$$H_{A,V} = \left(-i\nabla - A(x)\right)^2 + \sigma_3(\nabla \times A) - V(x)$$

Again, let us assume that

(26.1.7) Operator H is self-adjoint on  $\mathfrak{H}$ .

As usual we will never discuss this assumption.

#### 26.1.2 Problems to Consider

As in the previous Chapter we are interested in the ground state energy  $E = E_N$  of our system i.e. in the lowest eigenvalue of the operator  $H = H_N$  on  $\mathfrak{H}$ :

(26.1.8) 
$$\mathsf{E} \coloneqq \inf \mathsf{Spec} \mathsf{H}$$
 on  $\mathfrak{H}$ ;

more precisely, we are interested in the asymptotics of  $\mathsf{E}_N = \mathsf{E}(\underline{y}; \underline{Z}; N)$  as V is defined by (26.1.4) and  $N \simeq Z := Z_1 + Z_2 + \ldots + Z_M \to \infty$  and we are going

to prove that<sup>2)</sup>  $\mathsf{E}$  is equal to *Magnetic Thomas-Fermi energy*  $\mathcal{E}_{\mathsf{B}}^{\mathsf{TF}}$ , possibly with the Scott and Dirac-Schwinger corrections and with an appropriate error.

We are also interested in the asymptotics for the *ionization energy* 

$$(26.1.9) I_N \coloneqq \mathsf{E}_{N-1} - \mathsf{E}_N$$

and we also would like to estimate maximal excessive negative charge

(26.1.10) 
$$\max_{N: \ |N| > 0} (N - Z).$$

All these questions so far were considered in the framework of the fixed positions  $y_1, \ldots, y_M$  but we can also consider

(26.1.11) 
$$\widehat{\mathsf{E}} \coloneqq \widehat{\mathsf{E}}_{N} = \widehat{\mathsf{E}}(\underline{\mathsf{y}}; \underline{Z}; N) = \mathsf{E} + U(\underline{\mathsf{y}}; \underline{Z})$$

(26.1.12) 
$$U(\underline{y};\underline{Z}) \coloneqq \sum_{1 \le m < m' \le M} \frac{Z_m Z_{m'}}{|\mathbf{y}_m - \mathbf{y}_{m'}|}$$

and

(26.1.13) 
$$\widehat{\mathsf{E}}(\underline{Z};\mathsf{N}) = \inf_{\mathsf{y}_1,\ldots,\mathsf{y}_M} \widehat{\mathsf{E}}(\underline{y};\underline{Z};\mathsf{N})$$

and replace  $I_N$  by  $\hat{I}_N = \hat{E}_{N-1} - \hat{E}_N$  and modify all our questions accordingly. We call these frameworks *fixed nuclei model* and *free nuclei model* respectively.

In the free nuclei model we can consider two other problems:

(a) Estimate from below *minimal distance between nuclei* i.e.

$$\min_{1 \le m < m' \le M} |\mathbf{y}_m - \mathbf{y}_{m'}|$$

for which such minimum is achieved.

(b) Estimate maximal excessive positive charge

(26.1.14) 
$$\max_{N} \{ (Z - N) : \widehat{\mathsf{E}} < \min_{\substack{N_1, \dots, N_M:\\N_1 + \dots + N_M = N}} \sum_{1 \le m \le M} \mathsf{E}(Z_m; N_m) \}$$

for which molecule does not disintegrates into atoms.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2)</sup> Under reasonable assumption to the minimal distance between nuclei.

#### 26.1.3 Magnetic Thomas-Fermi Theory

As in the previous Chapter 25 the first approximation is the Hartree-Fock (or Thomas-Fermi) theory. Let us introduce the *spacial density* of the particle with the state  $\Psi \in \mathfrak{H}$ :

(26.1.15) 
$$\rho(x) = \rho_{\Psi}(x) = N \int |\Psi(x, x_2, \dots, x_N)|^2 dx_2 \cdots dx_N.$$

Let us write the Hamiltonian, describing the corresponding "quantum liquid":

(26.1.16) 
$$\mathcal{E}_B(\rho) = \int \tau_B(\rho(x)) \, dx - \int V(x)\rho(x) \, dx + \frac{1}{2}\mathsf{D}(\rho,\rho),$$

with

(26.1.17) 
$$\mathsf{D}(\rho, \rho) = \iint |x - y|^{-1} \rho(x) \rho(y) \, dx \, dy$$

where  $\tau_B$  is the energy density of a gas of noninteracting electrons:

(26.1.18) 
$$\tau_B(\rho) = \sup_{w \ge 0} (\rho w - P_B(w))$$

is the Legendre transform of the pressure  $P_B(w)$  given by the formula

(26.1.19) 
$$P_B(w) = \varkappa_1 B\left(\frac{1}{2}w_+^{\frac{d}{2}} + \sum_{j\geq 1} (w - 2jB)_+^{\frac{d}{2}}\right)$$

with  $\varkappa_1 = (2\pi)^{-1}q$ ,  $(3\pi^2)^{-1}q$  for d = 2, 3 respectively.

The classical sense of the second and the third terms in the right-hand expression of (26.1.16) is clear and the density of the kinetic energy is given by  $\tau_{\mathcal{B}}(\rho)$  in the semiclassical approximation (see remark 26.1.2). So, the problem is

(26.1.20) Minimize functional  $\mathcal{E}_{\mathcal{B}}(\rho)$  defined by (26.1.16) under restrictions:

$$(26.1.21)_{1,2}$$
  $\rho \ge 0, \qquad \int \rho \, dx \le N.$ 

The solution if exists is unique because functional  $\mathcal{E}_B(\rho)$  is strictly convex (see below). The existence and the property of this solution denoted further by  $\rho_B^{\mathsf{TF}}$  is known in the series of physically important cases.

Remark 26.1.2. If w is the negative potential then

$$(26.1.22) tr e(x, x, 0) \approx P'_B(w)$$

defines the density of all non-interacting particles with negative energies at point  $\boldsymbol{x}$  and

(26.1.23) 
$$\int_{-\infty}^{0} \tau \, d_{\tau} \operatorname{tr} e(x, x, \tau) dx \approx -\int P_{B}(w) \, dx$$

is the total energy of these particles; here  $\approx$  means "in the semiclassical approximation".

We consider in the case of d = 3 a large (heavy) molecule with potential (25.1.4). It is well-known<sup>3</sup> that

**Proposition 26.1.3.** (i) For V(x) given by (26.1.4) minimization problem (26.1.20) has a unique solution  $\rho = \rho_B^{\mathsf{TF}}$ ; then denote  $\mathcal{E}_B^{\mathsf{TF}} := \mathcal{E}_B(\rho_B^{\mathsf{TF}})$ .

- (ii) Equality in (26.1.21)<sub>2</sub> holds if and only if  $N \leq Z := \sum_m Z_m$ .
- (iii) Further,  $\rho^{\mathsf{TF}}$  does not depend on N as  $N \geq Z$ .
- (iv) Thus

(26.1.24) 
$$\int \rho_B^{\mathsf{TF}} dx = \min(\mathsf{N}, \mathsf{Z}), \qquad \mathsf{Z} := \sum_{1 \le m \le \mathsf{M}} \mathsf{Z}_m.$$

## 26.1.4 Main Results Sketched and Plan of the Chapter

In the first half of this Chapter we derive asymptotics for ground state energy and justify Thomas-Fermi theory. As construction of Section 25.2 works with minimal modifications (see Section 26.6) in the magnetic case as well we start immediately from magnetic Thomas-Fermi theory in Section 26.2.

We discover that there are three different cases: a moderate magnetic field case  $B \ll Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  when  $\mathcal{E}_B^{\mathsf{TF}} \simeq Z^{\frac{5}{3}}$  and  $\mathcal{E}_B^{\mathsf{TF}} = \mathcal{E}_0^{\mathsf{TF}}(1 + o(1))$ , a strong magnetic field case  $B \gg Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  when  $\mathcal{E}_B^{\mathsf{TF}} \simeq B^{\frac{2}{5}} Z^{\frac{9}{5}}$  and  $\mathcal{E}_B^{\mathsf{TF}} = \bar{\mathcal{E}}_B^{\mathsf{TF}}(1 + o(1))$  where  $\bar{\mathcal{E}}_B^{\mathsf{TF}}$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3)</sup> Section IV of E. H. Lieb, J. P. Solovej and J. Yngvason [3].

is Thomas-Fermi potential derived as  $P_B(w) = \frac{1}{2} \varkappa_1 w^{\frac{d}{2}}$  (cf. (26.1.19)), and an intermediate case  $B \sim Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$ .

Then we apply semiclassical methods (like in Section 25.4) albeit now our analysis is way more complicated due to two factors: the semiclassical theory of the magnetic Schrödinger operator is more difficult than the corresponding theory for the non-magnetic Schrödinger operator and also Thomas-Fermi potential  $W^{\mathsf{TF}}$  is not very smooth in the magnetic case, so we need to approximate it by a smooth one (on a microscale).

We discover that both semiclassical methods and Thomas-fermi theory are relevant only if  $B \ll Z^3$ . The case of the superstrong magnetic field  $B \gg Z^3$  was considered in E. H. Lieb, J. P. Solovej and J. Yngvason [1].

First of all, in Section 26.3 we consider the case M = 1; then the Thomas-Fermi potential  $W_B^{\mathsf{TF}}$  is non-degenerate and in this case we derive sharp spectral asymptotics.

Next, in Section 26.4 we consider the case  $M \ge 2$  but we analyze only zone  $\{W_B^{\mathsf{TF}} + \nu \gtrsim B\}$  where  $\nu$  is a chemical potential and B is an intensity of the magnetic field. A certain weaker non-degeneracy condition is satisfied due to the Thomas-Fermi equation and we derive almost sharp spectral asymptotics.

Furthermore, in Section 26.5 we analyze in the case  $M \ge 2$  the boundary strip  $\{W^{\mathsf{TF}} + \nu \le B\}$  containing the boundary of  $\mathsf{supp}(\rho_B^{\mathsf{TF}})$ ; this is the most difficult case to analyze and our remainder estimates are not sharp unless  $N \ge Z - CZ^{\frac{2}{3}}$ .

Finally, in Section 26.6 we derive asymptotics of the ground state energy. Their precision (or lack of it) follows from the precision of the corresponding semiclassical results; so our results in the case M = 1 are sharp, but our results in the case  $M \ge 2$  (especially if  $N \le Z - CZ^{\frac{2}{3}}$ ) are not.

In the second half of this Chapter we consider related problems. In Section 26.7 (cf. Section 25.5) we consider negatively charged systems  $(N \ge Z)$  and estimate both ionization energy  $I_N$  and excessive negative charge  $(N - Z)_+^{4}$ .

In Section 26.8 (cf. Section 25.6) we consider positively charged systems  $(N \leq Z)$  and estimate the remainder  $|I_N + \nu|$  in the formula  $I_N \approx -\nu$ ; for  $M \geq 2$  we also consider a free nuclei model and estimate from below the distance between nuclei and an excessive positive charge  $(Z - N)_+$  when atoms can be bound into molecule<sup>4</sup>).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4)</sup> In the (magnetic) Thomas-Fermi theory both answers are **0**.

Appendices contain some auxiliary material, most notably, electrostatic inequalities in Appendix 26.A.1 and also Zhislin's theorem (that system can bind at least Z electrons) in Appendix 26.A.4–all in the case of magnetic field.

## 26.2 Magnetic Thomas-Fermi Theory

#### 26.2.1 Framework and Existence

The Thomas-Fermi theory is well developed in the magnetic case as well albeit in the lesser degree than in the non-magnetic one. The most important source now is Section IV of E. H. Lieb, J. P. Solovej and J. Yngvason [3].

Again as in the previous Chapter 25 to get the best lower estimate for the ground state energy (neglecting semiclassical errors) one needs to maximize functional  $\Phi_{B,*}(W + \nu)$  defined by (25.3.1) albeit with the pressure  $P_B(w)$  given for d = 2, 3 by (26.1.19). Formulae (25.3.2) and (25.3.3) also remain valid.

Further, to get the best upper estimate (neglecting semiclassical errors) one needs to minimize functional  $\Phi_B^*(\rho', \nu)$  defined by (25.3.4) where (25.3.4) remains valid with P replaced by  $P_B$  and respectively  $\tau(\rho')$  replaced by  $\tau_B(\rho')$  which is Legendre transformation of  $P_B$  (see (26.1.18)).

Since  $P_B$  is given by much more complicated expression (26.1.19) rather than  $(25.3.6)_1$ , and respectively

(26.2.1) 
$$P'_{B}(w) = \frac{d}{2}\varkappa_{1}B\left(\frac{1}{2}w_{+}^{\frac{d}{2}-1} + \sum_{j\geq 1}(w-2jB)_{+}^{\frac{d}{2}-1}\right)$$

(cf.  $(25.3.6)_2$ ), there is no explicit expression for  $\tau_B$  similar to (25.3.7).

Remark 26.2.1. (i)  $B(x) = |\nabla \times A(x)|$ .

(ii) From now on we will assume that d = 3.

(iii)  $P_B$  is a strictly convex function and therefore  $\tau_B$  is also a strictly convex function<sup>5)</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5)</sup> As d = 2,  $P_B$  is a convex and piecewise linear function and therefore  $\tau_B$  is also a convex function.

(iv)  $P_B(w) \to P_0(w)$ ,  $P'_B(w) \to P'_0(w)$  and  $\tau_B(\rho) \to \tau_0(\rho)$  as  $B \to 0$  where (without subscript "0") the limit functions have been defined by  $(25.3.6)_{1,2}$  and (25.3.7) respectively.

Remark 26.2.2. (i) Alternatively we minimize  $\mathcal{E}_B(\rho) = \Phi_B^*(\rho, 0)$  under assumptions

$$(26.2.2)_{1,2}$$
  $\rho \ge 0, \qquad \int \rho \, dx \le N.$ 

(ii) So far in comparison with the previous Chapter 25 we changed only definition of  $P_B(w)$  and  $\tau_B(\rho)$  respectively. Note that  $P_B(w)$  belongs to  $\mathscr{C}^{\frac{d}{2}+1}$  (as d = 2, 3) as function of w; this statement will be quantified later.

(iii) While not affecting existence (with equality in  $(26.2.2)_1$  iff  $N \leq Z$ ) and uniqueness of solution, it affects other properties, especially as  $B \geq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$ .

**Proposition 26.2.3.** In our assumptions for any fixed  $\nu \leq 0$  Statements (*i*)–(*viii*) of Proposition 25.3.1 hold.

*Proof.* The proof is the same as of Proposition 25.3.1. The proof that threshold  $\nu = 0$  matches to N = Z are theorems 4.9 and 4.10 of Section IV of E. H. Lieb, J. P. Solovej and J. Yngvason [3].

Note that (25.3.8)-(25.3.9) and (25.3.10) become

- (26.2.3)  $\rho = \frac{1}{4\pi} \Delta (W V) = P'_{B} (W + \nu),$
- (26.2.4) W = o(1) as  $|x| \to \infty$

and

(26.2.5) 
$$\mathcal{N}(\nu) = \int P'_{\mathcal{B}}(W+\nu) \, dx$$

respectively.

Similarly, Proposition 25.3.2 remains true:

**Proposition 26.2.4.** For arbitrary W the following estimates hold with absolute constants  $\epsilon_0 > 0$  and  $C_0$ :

(26.2.6) 
$$\epsilon_0 \mathsf{D}(\rho - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}, \rho - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}) \leq \Phi_{B,*}(W^{\mathsf{TF}} + \nu) - \Phi_{B,*}(W + \nu) \leq C_0 \mathsf{D}(\rho - \rho', \rho - \rho')$$

and

(26.2.7) 
$$\epsilon_0 \mathsf{D}(\rho' - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}, \rho' - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}) \leq \Phi_B^*(\rho, \nu) - \Phi_B^*(\rho^{\mathsf{TF}}, \nu) \leq C_0 \mathsf{D}(\rho - \rho', \rho - \rho')$$
  
with  $\rho = \frac{1}{2} \Lambda(W - V), \rho' = P_{-}'(W + \nu)$ 

$$accurp = \frac{1}{4\pi} \Delta (V V), p = V B (V + V).$$

*Proof.* This proof is rather obvious as well.

### 26.2.2 Properties

**Proposition 26.2.5.** The solution of the magnetic Thomas-Fermi problem has the following scaling properties

$$(26.2.8) \quad W^{\mathsf{TF}}(x; \underline{Z}; \underline{y}; B; N; q) = q^{\frac{2}{3}} N^{\frac{4}{3}} W^{\mathsf{TF}}(q^{\frac{2}{3}} N^{\frac{1}{3}}x; N^{-1}\underline{Z}; q^{\frac{2}{3}} N^{\frac{1}{3}}\underline{y}; q^{-\frac{2}{3}} N^{-\frac{4}{3}}B; 1; 1),$$

$$(26.2.9) \quad \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}(x; \underline{Z}; \underline{y}; B; N; q) = q^{2} N^{2} \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}(q^{\frac{2}{3}} N^{\frac{1}{3}}x; N^{-1}\underline{Z}; q^{\frac{2}{3}} N^{\frac{1}{3}}\underline{y}; q^{-\frac{2}{3}} N^{-\frac{4}{3}}B; 1; 1),$$

$$(26.2.10) \quad \mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}}(\underline{Z}; \underline{y}; B; N; q) = q^{\frac{2}{3}} N^{\frac{7}{3}} \mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}}(N^{-1}\underline{Z}; q^{\frac{2}{3}} N^{\frac{1}{3}}\underline{y}; q^{-\frac{2}{3}} N^{-\frac{4}{3}}B; 1; 1),$$

$$(26.2.11) \quad \nu^{\mathsf{TF}}(\underline{Z}; \underline{y}; B; N; q) = q^{\frac{2}{3}} N^{\frac{4}{3}} \nu^{\mathsf{TF}}(N^{-1}\underline{Z}; q^{\frac{2}{3}} N^{\frac{1}{3}}\underline{y}; q^{-\frac{2}{3}} N^{-\frac{4}{3}}B; 1; 1)$$

where  $\nu^{\mathsf{TF}} = \nu$  is the chemical potential; recall that  $\underline{Z} = (Z_1, ..., Z_M)$  and  $\underline{y} = (y_1, ..., y_M)$  are arrays and parameter q also enters into Thomas-Fermi theory.

In particular,  $\nu^{TF}$  and B scale the same way.

*Proof.* Proof is trivial by scaling.

Now one can guess that there are two cases  $B \ll Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  and  $B \gg Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  (recall that  $N \simeq Z$ ) in which magnetic Thomas-Fermi theory looks very different (and also an intermediate case  $B \sim Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$ ). To explain this difference let us consider one atom case:

First of all recall that if B = 0 and N = Z theory (as M = 1) has just one parameter and we can get rid of it by rescaling;  $W^{\mathsf{TF}} \simeq Z\ell^{-1}$  as  $\ell \lesssim Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$ and  $W^{\mathsf{TF}} \simeq \ell^{-4}$  as  $\ell \gtrsim Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$ . Then

$$W^{\mathsf{TF}\frac{3}{2}}\ell^3 \simeq Z^{\frac{3}{2}}\ell^{\frac{3}{2}}, \quad W^{\mathsf{TF}\frac{5}{2}}\ell^3 \simeq Z^{\frac{5}{2}}\ell^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

and

$$W^{\mathsf{TF}\frac{3}{2}}\ell^3 \simeq \ell^{-3}, \quad W^{\mathsf{TF}\frac{5}{2}}\ell^3 \simeq \ell^{-7}$$

respectively where the first factors are spacial densities of the charge and (negative) Thomas-Fermi energy respectively and therefore zone  $\ell \asymp Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  provides the main contributions into both.

Therefore, if in this main zone  $B \ll W^{\mathsf{TF}} \simeq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  we guess that the magnetic theory is similar to non-magnetic one, and actually it is true.

However, let us study an atomic case rigorously. Let  $M=1,\,y_m=0$  and  $N\leq Z.$  Then

(26.2.12)  $W_B^{\mathsf{TF}}$  is a spherically symmetric, and it is monotone non-increasing function of |x|;  $W_B^{\mathsf{TF}} \to +0$  as  $|x| \to \infty$ ;

(26.2.13) 
$$W_B^{\mathsf{TF}}(x) \le -\nu \implies W_B^{\mathsf{TF}} = |x|^{-1}(Z - N).$$

Indeed, (26.2.12) is obvious and (26.2.13) follows from it and Newton screening theorem.

Two propositions below treat cases  $B \lesssim Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  and  $B \gtrsim Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  respectively; in the former case there is another fork:  $B \lesssim (Z - N)_{+}^{\frac{4}{3}}$  and  $B \gtrsim (Z - N)_{+}^{\frac{4}{3}}$ .

Proposition 26.2.6. Let M = 1,  $y_m = 0$ ,  $N \simeq Z_m$  and  $B \le Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$ .

(26.2.14) 
$$W_B^{\mathsf{TF}} \le \min(Z|x|^{-1}, C|x|^{-4})$$

and

(26.2.15) 
$$\rho_B^{\mathsf{TF}} \le C \min(Z^{\frac{3}{2}}|x|^{-\frac{3}{2}} + BZ^{\frac{1}{2}}|x|^{-\frac{1}{2}}, |x|^{-6} + B|x|^{-2}).$$

(ii) There exists

(26.2.16) 
$$\bar{r}_m \asymp \min\left(B^{-\frac{1}{4}}, (Z-N)^{-\frac{1}{3}}\right)$$

such that  $W_B^{\mathsf{TF}} \geq -\nu$  as  $|\mathbf{x}| \leq \bar{r}_m$  and then  $\rho_B^{\mathsf{TF}} = 0$  iff  $\mathbf{x} \geq \bar{r}_m$ .

(iii) (26.2.14) and (26.2.15) become equivalencies ( $\approx$ ) as  $|\mathbf{x}| \leq (1 - \epsilon) \bar{r}_m$ .

(iv) 
$$B \leq (Z - N)_{+}^{\frac{4}{3}}$$
 implies  $\bar{r}_m \asymp (Z - N)_{+}^{-\frac{1}{3}}$ ,  $\nu \asymp (Z - N)_{+}^{\frac{4}{3}}$  and

(26.2.17) 
$$W^{\mathsf{TF}} + \nu \asymp (Z - N)^{\frac{5}{3}}_{+}(\bar{r}_m - |x|),$$
$$-\partial_{|x|}W^{\mathsf{TF}} \asymp (Z - N)^{\frac{5}{3}}_{+} \qquad \text{if } (1 - \epsilon)\bar{r}_m \le |x| \le \bar{r}_m.$$

(v) 
$$B \ge (Z - N)^{\frac{4}{3}}_+$$
 implies  $\overline{r}_m \asymp B^{-\frac{1}{4}}$ ,  $\nu \asymp (Z - N)_+ B^{\frac{1}{4}} \lesssim B$  and

(26.2.18) 
$$W^{\mathsf{TF}} + \nu \simeq B^2 (\bar{r}_m - |x|)^4 + B^{\frac{1}{2}} (Z - N)_+ (\bar{r}_m - |x|) - \partial_{|x|} W^{\mathsf{TF}} \simeq B^2 (\bar{r}_m - |x|)^3 + B^{\frac{1}{2}} (Z - N)_+$$
  
as  $(1 - \epsilon) \bar{r}_m \le |x| \le \bar{r}_m.$ 

Proposition 26.2.7. Let M = 1,  $y_m = 0$ ,  $N \asymp Z_m$  and  $B \ge Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$ .

(i) Then

(26.2.19) 
$$W_B^{\mathsf{TF}} \le Z|x|^{-1}$$

and

(26.2.20) 
$$\rho_B^{\mathsf{TF}} \le C Z^{\frac{3}{2}} |x|^{-\frac{3}{2}} + C B Z^{\frac{1}{2}} |x|^{-\frac{1}{2}}.$$

(ii) There exist  $\bar{r}_m$  and  $\bar{r}'_m$ ,

(26.2.21)  $\overline{r}_m \asymp B^{-\frac{2}{5}} Z^{\frac{1}{5}}, \qquad \overline{r}'_m \asymp B^{-1} Z_m,$ 

such that  $W_B^{\mathsf{TF}} \geq B$  as  $|x| \leq \bar{r}_m$ ,  $W_B^{\mathsf{TF}} \geq -\nu$  as  $|x| \leq \bar{r}'_m$  and then  $\rho_B^{\mathsf{TF}} = 0$  iff  $x \geq \bar{r}_m$ .

(iii) (26.2.19)–(26.2.20) become equivalencies ( $\approx$ ) as  $|\mathbf{x}| \leq (1 - \epsilon) \bar{r}_m$ .

(iv) 
$$\nu \asymp (Z - N)_{+}B^{\frac{2}{5}}Z^{-\frac{1}{5}} \lesssim B$$
 and  
(26.2.22)  $W^{\mathsf{TF}} + \nu \asymp B^{2}(\bar{r}_{m} - |x|)^{4} + \bar{r}_{m}^{-2}(Z - N)_{+}(\bar{r}_{m} - |x|)$   
and

(26.2.23) 
$$-\partial_{|x|}W^{\mathsf{TF}} \simeq B^2(\bar{r}_m - |x|)^3 + \bar{r}_m^{-2}(Z - N)_+$$

as  $(1-\epsilon)\overline{r}_m \leq |x| \leq \overline{r}_m$ .

*Proofs of Propositions 26.2.6 and 26.2.7.* Proofs easily follow from equation and "boundary conditions" satisfied by w(r) where r = |x|:

(26.2.24)  $w'' + 2r^{-1}w = P'_B(w + \nu),$ 

(26.2.25) 
$$w = r^{-1}Z_m + O(1)$$
 as  $r \to 0$ ,

(26.2.26)  $w(\bar{r}_m) = -\nu, \qquad w'(\bar{r}_m) = \nu \bar{r}_m^{-1}$ 

where  $\nu = -(Z_m - N)_+ \overline{r}_m^{-1}$ .

Corollary 26.2.8. Let M = 1,  $y_m = 0$  and  $N \asymp Z_m$ . Then

(i)  $W_B^{\mathsf{TF}} \lesssim B \text{ if } |\mathbf{x}| \geq \vec{r}'_m \text{ where } \vec{r}'_m \asymp B^{-1}Z_m \text{ as } B \geq Z_m^{\frac{4}{3}} \text{ and } \vec{r}'_m \asymp B^{-\frac{1}{4}} \text{ as } B \leq cZ_m^{\frac{4}{3}}.$ 

(ii) As  $B \lesssim Z_m^{\frac{4}{3}}$  the main contribution to both the charge and the Thomas-Fermi energy is delivered by zone  $\{x : |x| \asymp r_m^*\}$  with  $r_m^* = Z_m^{-\frac{1}{3}}$ ; in particular, then  $\mathcal{E}_B^{\mathsf{TF}} \asymp \mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}} \asymp Z_m^{\frac{7}{3}}$ ; further, in this case  $W_B^{\mathsf{TF}} \asymp W^{\mathsf{TF}}$  in the zone  $\{x : |x| \lesssim \epsilon \bar{r}_m\}$ .

(iii) Further,  $\mathcal{E}_{B}^{\mathsf{TF}} \sim \mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}}$  as  $B \ll Z_{m}^{\frac{4}{3}}$ ; furthermore, in this case  $W_{B}^{\mathsf{TF}} \sim W^{\mathsf{TF}}$ in the zone  $\{x : |x| \ll \bar{r}_{m}\}$ .

(iv) On the other hand, as  $B \ge Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$ , the main contributions to the total charge and energy are delivered by  $\{x : |x| \asymp \bar{r}_m\}$  and in particular  $\rho_m \asymp BZ_m^{\frac{1}{2}} \bar{r}_m^{\frac{5}{2}}$  and

(26.2.27) 
$$\mathcal{E}_B^{\mathsf{TF}} \asymp B Z_m^{\frac{3}{2}} \bar{r}_m^{\frac{3}{2}} \asymp B^{\frac{2}{5}} Z_m^{\frac{9}{5}}$$

Recall that  $\bar{r}_m \simeq B^{-\frac{1}{4}}$  as  $B \leq Z_m^{\frac{4}{3}}$  and  $\bar{r}_m \simeq B^{-\frac{2}{5}} Z_M^{\frac{1}{5}}$  as  $B \geq Z_M^{\frac{4}{3}}$ . Note that Proposition 25.3.5 (comparing  $W^{\mathsf{TF}}$  for molecule with the sum of those for single atoms) still holds. Therefore we conclude that

Corollary 26.2.9. (i) Assume that

for all m = 1, ..., M. Then all statements of corollary 26.2.8 remain true for  $M \ge 2$  with  $|\mathbf{x}|$  and  $Z_m$  replaced by  $\ell(\mathbf{x})$  and Z and  $\bar{r}_m$ ,  $\bar{r}'_m$ ,  $r^*_m$  by  $\bar{r}$ ,  $\bar{r}'$ ,  $r^*$  respectively.

(ii) In the general case global statements remain true, pointwise statements remain true without modification only as  $\ell(x) = \ell_m(x) \coloneqq |x - y_m|$  with  $Z_m \simeq Z$ .

Remark 26.2.10. (i) Also holds Proposition 25.3.13 as it uses only superadditivity of  $\tau(\rho)$  and  $\tau_B(\rho)$  is also super-additive (this follows from convexity of  $\tau_B(\rho)$  and equality  $\tau_B(0) = 0$ ).

(ii) However there is a significant difference: if there is no magnetic field atoms really repulse one another on any distances and we can attribute it to either excessive positive charge as N < Z or their infinite spatial size as N = Z. However with magnetic field atoms have a finite size even as N = Z and they do not repulse one another on the large distances. In particular, Proposition 26.2.11 below holds.

#### Proposition 26.2.11. Let N = Z and

 $(26.2.29) |\mathbf{y}_m - \mathbf{y}_{m'}| \ge \bar{r}_m + \bar{r}_{m'} \forall m: 1 \le m < m' \le M.$  $(26.2.30) \mathcal{E}_B^{\mathsf{TF}}(\underline{Z}, \underline{y}, B, Z) = \sum_{1 \le m \le M} \mathcal{E}_B^{\mathsf{TF}}(Z_m, \mathbf{y}_m, B, Z_m)$ 

(26.2.31) 
$$\rho_B^{\mathsf{TF}}(x, \underline{Z}, \underline{y}, B, Z) = \sum_{1 \le m \le M} \rho_B^{\mathsf{TF}}(x, Z_m, y_m, B, Z_m)$$

**Proposition 26.2.12.** (i)  $\nu$  is monotone increasing function of N.

(ii)  $W_B(x)$  is monotone non-increasing function of N.

(iii)  $W_B(x) + \nu$  is monotone non-decreasing function of N ; in particular  $\rho_B$  can only increase as N increases.

(iv)  $\nu$  is monotone non-increasing function of  $Z_m$ .

(v)  $W_B(x)$  is monotone non-decreasing function of  $Z_m$ .

*Proof.* (i) Statement (i) follows from the strict convexity of  $\mathcal{E}(\rho)$ : consider two solutions with corresponding subscripts. Then  $\mathcal{E}(\rho) - \mathcal{E}(\rho_j) > \nu_j (N - N_j)$  for any non-negative  $\rho \neq \rho_j$  and  $N = \int \rho \, dx$ .

In particular,  $\mathcal{E}(\rho_1) - \mathcal{E}(\rho_2) > \nu_2(N_1 - N_2)$  and  $\mathcal{E}(\rho_2) - \mathcal{E}(\rho_1) > \nu_1(N_2 - N_1)$ and then  $(\nu_1 - \nu_2)(N_1 - N_2) > 0$ . (ii) Indeed, consider  $N_1 < N_2$  and in the definition of  $W_2$  slightly decrease  $Z_1, \ldots, Z_M$  thus replacing them by  $Z'_1, \ldots, Z'_M$ . Then  $W_1 > W_2$  for large |x|,  $W_1 - W_2 \rightarrow +\infty$  as  $x \rightarrow y_m$  and therefore if Statement (ii) fails, then  $W_1 - W_2$  reaches non-positive minimum at some regular point  $\bar{x}$ ; at this point  $W_1 \leq W_2$  and

$$0 \leq rac{1}{4\pi} \Delta(W_1 - W_2) = P'(W_1 + 
u_1) - P'(W_2 + 
u_2).$$

This is possible only if at this point  $W_2 + \nu_2 \leq 0$  and  $W_1 + \nu_1 < 0$ . Then in the small vicinity  $\Delta(W_1 - W_2) \leq 0$  and  $\bar{x}$  cannot be a point of minimum unless  $W_1 - W_2 = \text{const}$  there. Then any point of this vicinity is also a point of minimum and then due to standard analytic arguments  $W_1 - W_2 = \text{const}$  everywhere which is impossible.

So,  $W_1(x; Z_1, \ldots, Z_M) > W_2(x; Z'_1, \ldots, Z'_M)$ . Taking limit as  $Z'_m \to Z_m$  we arrive to  $W_1(x; Z_1, \ldots, Z_M) \ge W_2(x; Z_1, \ldots, Z_M)$ .

(iii) Proof of Statement (iii) is similar but roles of  $W_1$  and  $W_2$  are played by  $W_2 + \nu_2$  and  $W_1 + \nu_1$  respectively.

(iv) Let  $Z_{m,2} > Z_{m,1}$  for all m. Assume that  $\nu_2 > \nu_1$ . Then similar arguments prove that  $W_2 + \nu_2 \ge W_1 + \nu_1$  and thus  $\rho_2 \ge \rho_1$  everywhere which is impossible unless there are just identical equalities as  $W_2 + \nu_2 > 0$ , which is impossible.

(v) Finally, after Statement (iv) was established, the same arguments prove Statement (v).  $\hfill \Box$ 

As far as we know Theorem 1 of R. Benguria [1] (see Theorem 25.3.8) has not been proven in the case of magnetic field; however one can see easily that arguments of of R. Benguria's proof remain valid and we arrive to

**Theorem 26.2.13.** All Statements (i)-(iii) of Theorem 25.3.8 hold in the case of the constant magnetic field.

**Problem 26.2.14.** (i) Investigate how  $supp(\rho_B^{\mathsf{TF}})$  depends on B and on Z in the atomic case M = 1.

(ii) More generally, investigate how  $supp(\rho_B^{\mathsf{TF}})$  depends on B and on Z in the case  $M \geq 2$ .

### 26.2.3 Positive Ions

In view of Remark 26.2.10 we need to consider repulsion of positive ions in more details. Our purpose is to prove

**Theorem 26.2.15.** Let condition (26.2.28) be fulfilled. Then the energy excess is estimated from below

(26.2.32) 
$$\mathcal{Q} \coloneqq \widehat{\mathcal{E}}_{B}^{\mathsf{TF}} - \sum_{1 \le m \le M} \mathcal{E}_{B,m}^{\mathsf{TF}} \ge \epsilon (Z - N)_{+}^{2} a^{-1}.$$

Note first that

(26.2.33) 
$$\mathsf{D}(\rho_{B(\nu)}^{\mathsf{TF}} - \rho_{B,0}^{\mathsf{TF}}, \rho_{B(\nu)}^{\mathsf{TF}} - \rho_{B(0)}^{\mathsf{TF}}) + \int (P_B'(W_{B(\nu)}^{\mathsf{TF}} + \nu) - P_B'(W_{B(0)}^{\mathsf{TF}})) (W_{B(\nu)}^{\mathsf{TF}} + \nu - W_{B(0)}^{\mathsf{TF}})) dx = \nu \int (P_B'(W_{B(\nu)}^{\mathsf{TF}} + \nu) - P_B'(W_{B(0)}^{\mathsf{TF}} + 0)) dx$$

with the right-hand expression equal  $\nu(N-Z) \simeq (Z-N)^2 \bar{r}^{-1}$  and due to monotonicity  $P'_B(w)$  we conclude that

Proposition 26.2.16. Let condition (26.2.28) be fulfilled. Then

(26.2.34) 
$$\mathsf{D}(\rho_{B(\nu)}^{\mathsf{TF}} - \rho_{B(0)}^{\mathsf{TF}}, \rho_{B,\nu}^{\mathsf{TF}} - \rho_{B(0)}^{\mathsf{TF}}) \leq C(Z - N)^2 \bar{r}^{-1}.$$

*Proof of Theorem 26.2.15. Step 1.* Note first that due to non-negativity of the expression

(26.2.35) 
$$\widehat{\mathcal{E}}_{B}^{\mathsf{TF}}(\underline{Z},\underline{y},N) - \min_{N_{1}+N'=N} \left( \mathcal{E}_{B}^{\mathsf{TF}}(Z_{1},N_{1}) - \widehat{\mathcal{E}}_{B}^{\mathsf{TF}}(\underline{Z}',\underline{y}',N') \right)$$

(see proof of Proposition 25.3.13 which persists even if there is constant magnetic field, see Remark 26.2.10) it is sufficient to prove theorem only for M = 2. From now on we assume that M = 2.

Step 2. According to Proposition 25.3.13

(26.2.36) 
$$\mathsf{D}(\rho_B^{\mathsf{TF}} - \rho_{B,1}^{\mathsf{TF}} - \rho_{B,2}^{\mathsf{TF}}) \le C\mathcal{Q}.$$

Therefore due to superadditivity  $\tau_B$ 

(26.2.37) 
$$Q \ge -\int V_1 \rho_{B,2}^{\mathsf{TF}} dx - \int V_2 \rho_{B,1}^{\mathsf{TF}} dx + D(\rho_{B,2}^{\mathsf{TF}}, \rho_{B,1}^{\mathsf{TF}}) + Z_1 Z_2 a^{-1} - CQ$$

and it is sufficient to prove the same estimate from below for the right-hand expression without the last term. However this is easy if  $a \ge \bar{r}_1 + \bar{r}_2$  since  $V_m = |x - y_m|^{-1} Z_m$  and  $\rho_{B,m}^{\mathsf{TF}} = \rho_{B,m}^{\mathsf{TF}}(|x - y_m|)$  are spherically symmetric functions<sup>6</sup>.

Therefore for  $a \ge \bar{r}_1 + \bar{r}_2$  inequality (26.2.32) has been proven and in what follows we can assume that  $a \le \bar{r}_1 + \bar{r}_2$ . Further, applying Theorem 26.2.13 we conclude then that

(26.2.38) Inequality (26.2.32) holds for  $a \ge \epsilon \overline{r}$ .

Step 3. Recall that the bulk of electrons are in the zone  $\{\ell(x) \asymp r^*\}^{7}$ . Based on this one can prove easily that as  $a \leq \epsilon \bar{r}$  the right-hand hand expression of (26.2.37) is greater than  $(1 - \epsilon_1)a^{-1}Z_1Z_2$  and therefore

(26.2.39) As  $B \ge Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  and  $a \le \epsilon r^*$  we have  $Q \ge (1 - \epsilon_1)a^{-1}Z_1Z_2$ 

and combining with (26.2.38) we conclude that (26.2.32) holds for  $B \gtrsim Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$ and for  $B \lesssim Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  we need to consider the case  $\epsilon_0 r^* \leq a \leq \epsilon \bar{r}$  with arbitrarily small constant  $\epsilon$ .

Replacing then  $P_B$  by  $P_0$  and noting that an error will not exceed  $C_0 \bar{r} B^2 \leq C_1 \epsilon a^{-7}$  while  $Q \geq \epsilon_0 a^{-7}$  for B = 0 we conclude that (26.2.32) holds as  $\epsilon_0 r^* \leq a \leq c \bar{r}$  and  $(Z - N) \leq C_2 a^{-3}$ .

Finally, as  $(Z - N) \ge C_2 a^{-3}$  we see that  $\bar{r} \le C_0 (Z - N)^{-\frac{1}{3}} \le \epsilon a$  and (26.2.32) holds again.

Even if we do not need it for our purposes we want to consider the repulsion of too close neutral atoms:

<sup>7)</sup> I.e. zone  $\{c(\epsilon)^{-1}r^* \leq \ell(x) \leq c(\epsilon)r^*\}$  contains at least  $(1-\epsilon)N$  electrons.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6)</sup> However this is not true in general as  $a < \bar{r}_1 + \bar{r}_2$ . Really, consider  $N_m = Z_m$  and uniformly charged spheres. Then the right-hand expression of (26.2.37) is 0 as  $a \ge \bar{r}_1 + \bar{r}_2$  and is negative and decays as a decays from  $\bar{r}_1 + \bar{r}_2$  to  $\max(\bar{r}_1, \bar{r}_2)$  and it increases again as a decays from  $\max(\bar{r}_1, \bar{r}_2)$  to 0.

**Theorem 26.2.17.** Let condition (26.2.28) be fulfilled and N = Z. Then as  $a \ge \epsilon \overline{r}$  the energy excess is estimated from below

(26.2.40) 
$$\mathcal{Q} \ge \epsilon \mathcal{G}^2 \bar{r} \sum_{1 \le m < m' \le M} (\bar{r}_m + \bar{r}_n - |\mathbf{y}_m - \mathbf{y}_{m'}|)_+^{12} \bar{r}^{-12}$$

where

(26.2.41) 
$$G := \begin{cases} B & \text{if } B \le Z^{\frac{4}{3}}, \\ Z^{\frac{4}{5}}B^{\frac{2}{5}} & \text{if } B \ge Z^{\frac{4}{3}}. \end{cases}$$

and correspondingly  $G^2 \overline{r} = \begin{cases} B^{\frac{7}{4}} & \text{if } B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}, \\ Z^{\frac{9}{5}} B^{\frac{2}{5}} & \text{if } B \geq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}. \end{cases}$ 

*Proof.* Again we need to consider case M = 2. Since

(26.2.42) 
$$\frac{1}{4\pi}\Delta W_B = \rho_B - \sum_{m=1,2} Z_m \delta(x - y_m)$$

and  $W_{B,1}$ ,  $W_{B,2}$  satisfy similar equations, (26.2.36) implies that

(26.2.43) 
$$\|\nabla(W_B - W_{B,1} - W_{B,2})\| \le c \mathcal{Q}^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

This inequality and the fact that  $W_B = 0$  as  $\ell(x) \ge c\bar{r}$ , and  $W_{B,m} = 0$  as  $|x - y_m| \ge \bar{r}_m$  imply that

(26.2.44) 
$$\|(W_B - W_{B,1} - W_{B,2})\| \le c \bar{r} Q^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

Note that  $\int (-\rho_B + \rho_{B,1} + \rho_{B,2}) dx = 0$  implies that

$$(26.2.45) | \int ((W_{B,1} + W_{B,2})^{\frac{1}{2}} - W_{B,1}^{\frac{1}{2}} - W_{B,1}^{\frac{1}{2}}) dx \leq \int |W_B^{\frac{1}{2}} - (W_{B,1} + W_{B,2})^{\frac{1}{2}}| dx.$$

One can calculate easily that the left-hand expression has a magnitude  $(G\eta^4)^{\frac{1}{2}} \cdot \eta \overline{r} \cdot (\eta^{\frac{1}{2}}\overline{r})^2 \simeq G^{\frac{1}{2}}\overline{r}^3\eta^4$  where the first factor is a magnitude of an integrand as  $W_{B,1} \simeq W_{B,2} \simeq G\eta^4$ ,  $\eta \overline{r}$  is a depth, and  $\eta^{\frac{1}{2}}\overline{r}$  the width of this zone.

On the other hand, consider the right hand expression. It consists of contributions of several zones:
(a) Zone  $\mathcal{Y}_t$  where  $W_{B,1} + W_{B,2} \leq Gt^4$ ,  $W_B \leq 2Gt^4$ . This contribution does not exceed  $CG^{\frac{1}{2}}t^2 \operatorname{ms}(\mathcal{Y}_t) \simeq CG^{\frac{1}{2}}\overline{r}^3 t^{3/8}$ .

(b) Zone  $\mathcal{Z}_t$  where  $W_{B,1}+W_{B,2}\leq Gt^4,~W_B\geq 2\,Gt^4.$  Its contribution does not exceed

$$C\int_{\mathcal{Z}_{t}}W_{B}^{\frac{1}{2}}\,dx \leq C\|W_{B}\|_{\mathcal{Z}}^{\frac{1}{2}}(\operatorname{mes}(\mathcal{Z}_{t}))^{\frac{3}{4}} \leq C\,\overline{r}^{\frac{11}{4}}\mathcal{Q}^{\frac{1}{4}}t^{\frac{3}{4}}$$

since due to (26.2.44)  $\|W_B\|_{\mathcal{Z}_t} \leq c \bar{r} \mathcal{Q}^{\frac{1}{2}}$ .

(c) Zone where  $W_{B,1} + W_{B,2} \simeq G\tau^4$ . This contribution does not exceed

(26.2.46) 
$$CG^{-\frac{1}{2}}\tau^{-2}\int |W_B - W_{B,1} - W_{B,2}| dx \le CG^{-\frac{1}{2}}\tau^{-2} \times ||W_B - W_{B,1} - W_{B,2}|| \times (\operatorname{mes}(\mathcal{X}_{\tau}))^{\frac{1}{2}} \asymp CG^{-\frac{1}{2}}\mathcal{Q}^{\frac{1}{2}}\overline{r}^{\frac{5}{2}}\tau^{-\frac{3}{2}}.$$

Integrating by  $\tau^{-1} d\tau$  from t we get (26.2.46) calculated as  $\tau = t$  (and capped by the same expression as  $\tau = \eta$ .

So, the right-hand expression of (26.2.45) does not exceed

$$CG^{\frac{1}{2}}\bar{r}^{3}t^{3} + CQ^{\frac{1}{4}}\bar{r}^{\frac{11}{4}}t^{\frac{3}{4}} + CG^{-\frac{1}{2}}Q^{\frac{1}{2}}\bar{r}^{\frac{5}{2}}t^{-\frac{3}{2}};$$

optimizing with respect to  $t = G^{-\frac{2}{9}}Q^{\frac{1}{9}}\bar{r}^{-\frac{1}{9}}$  we get all three terms equal to  $CG^{-\frac{1}{6}}Q^{\frac{1}{3}}\bar{r}^{\frac{8}{3}}$  comparing with  $CG^{\frac{1}{2}}\bar{r}^{3}\eta^{4}$  we arrive to (26.2.40).

# 26.3 Applying Semiclassical Methods: M = 1

# 26.3.1 Heuristics

Let us consider first a mock proof of our main results; we deal here as if  $W_B^{\mathsf{TF}}$  was very smooth which it is not the case; however later we will show that its smoothness is sufficient to employ arguments of Chapter 18 rather than those of Chapter 13. We also will deal as if non-degeneracy conditions were satisfied leaving them also to more rigorous arguments below.

It will allow us to establish our target remainder estimates which we will be able to prove rigorously for M = 1 (in this section) while for  $M \ge 2$  (in the next two sections) our results will be not that good.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8)</sup> Obviously,  $\mathsf{mes}(\mathcal{Y}_t \cup \mathcal{Z}_t) \simeq \overline{r}^3 t$  and similarly  $\mathsf{mes}(\mathcal{X}_\tau) \simeq \overline{r}^3 \tau$ .



Figure 26.1: Let  $B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$ . Then at  $\{\ell \asymp Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}\}$  are contained both the bulk of charge and the bulk of energy,  $\ell \asymp \min((Z - N)_{+}^{-\frac{1}{3}}, B^{-\frac{1}{4}})$  is the border of  $\operatorname{supp}(\rho_B^{\mathsf{TF}})$ ;  $\ell \asymp Z^{-1}$  is the Scott distance; here  $h \asymp 1$ . Further,  $\ell \asymp B^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  if  $B \leq Z$  and  $\ell \asymp B^{-\frac{2}{3}}Z^{\frac{1}{3}}$  if  $Z \leq B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  separates  $\{\mu \lesssim 1\}$  (on the left) and  $\{\mu \gtrsim 1\}$  (on the right).



Figure 26.2: Let  $Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^3$ . Then at  $\{\ell \asymp Z^{-\frac{2}{5}}B^{\frac{1}{5}}\}$  are contained both the bulk of charge and the bulk of energy and it is also the border of  $\operatorname{supp}(\rho_B^{\mathsf{TF}})$ ;  $\ell \asymp Z^{-1}$  is the Scott distance; here  $h \asymp 1$ . Further, if  $Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^2 \ \ell \asymp B^{-\frac{2}{3}}Z^{\frac{1}{3}}$  separates  $\{\mu \lesssim 1\}$  (on the left) and  $\{\mu \gtrsim 1\}$  (on the right) and  $\ell \asymp B^{-1}Z$  separates  $\{\mu h \lesssim 1\}$  (on the left) and  $\{\mu h \gtrsim 1\}$  (on the right).

### **Total Charge**

Consider

(26.3.1) 
$$\int e(x, x, \nu)\psi(x) dx$$

first with  $\gamma$ -admissible  $\psi(x)$ , where  $\gamma \leq \epsilon \ell$ . Recall that  $\ell(x) = \min_m |x - y_m|$  is the distance to the nearest nucleus.

**General Arguments.** The main part of the semiclassical expression for (26.3.1) is of magnitude  $h'^{-3} + \mu' h'^{-2} \simeq \zeta^3 \gamma^3 + B \zeta \gamma^3$  with  $h' = 1/(\zeta \gamma)$  and  $\mu' = B \gamma / \zeta$ .

Indeed, let us rescale  $x \mapsto x/\gamma$  and  $\tau \mapsto \tau/\zeta^2$  which leads to  $h = 1 \mapsto h'$ and  $B \mapsto \mu'$ . In particular, for  $\gamma \simeq \ell$  we get

(26.3.2) 
$$\zeta^3 \ell^3 + B \zeta \ell^3.$$

Meanwhile, the remainder in the semiclassical expression for (26.3.1) does not exceed  $Ch'^{-2} + C\mu'h'^{-1} \simeq \zeta^2 \gamma^2 + B\gamma^2$  (gaining factor h' in comparison to the main part; here we need the smoothness and if  $\mu' \geq h'^{\delta-1}$  we also need the non-degeneracy); for  $\gamma \simeq \ell$  we get

(26.3.3) 
$$\zeta^2 \ell^2 + B \ell^2.$$

Sure, we ignored the fact that  $h' \leq 1$  does not necessarily hold even if  $\gamma \approx \ell$  but we believe that the contributions to the main part and the remainder of these zones will be less than of zone where this inequality holds, provided  $B \ll Z^3$ .

Finally, let us sum expressions (26.3.2) and (26.3.3) with respect to  $\ell\text{-partition.}$ 

**Moderate Magnetic Field.** Consider the case  $B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  first. Then for  $\ell \leq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  we plug  $\zeta = Z^{\frac{1}{2}} \ell^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  into (26.3.2) and (26.3.3) resulting in

$$(26.3.4)_{0,1} \qquad \qquad Z^{\frac{3}{2}}\ell^{\frac{3}{2}} + BZ^{\frac{1}{2}}\ell^{\frac{5}{2}} \qquad \text{and} \qquad Z\ell + B\ell^2$$

in the main part and in the remainder respectively and the summation over zone  $\{x : \ell(x) \le Z^{-\frac{4}{3}}\}$  results in the same expressions with  $\ell = Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$ , i. e. in  $Z + BZ^{-\frac{1}{3}} \asymp Z$  and  $Z^{\frac{2}{3}} + BZ^{-\frac{2}{3}} \asymp Z^{\frac{2}{3}}$  respectively.

On the other hand, for  $\ell \geq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  we plug  $\zeta = \ell^{-2}$  into (26.3.2) and (26.3.3) resulting in

$$(26.3.5)_{0.1}$$
  $\ell^{-3} + B\ell$  and  $\ell^{-2} + B\ell^2$ ;

then summation over zone  $\{x \colon Z^{-\frac{1}{3}} \leq \ell(x) \leq \overline{r} = B^{-\frac{1}{4}}\}$  results in  $Z + B^{\frac{3}{4}} \approx Z$ and  $Z^{\frac{2}{3}} + B^{\frac{1}{2}} \approx Z^{\frac{2}{3}}$  respectively.

**Strong Magnetic Field.** Consider the case  $B \ge Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  now. Then the threshold  $Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  disappears and we sum expressions  $(26.3.4)_{0,1}$  over zone  $\{x: \ell(x) \le \overline{r} := Z^{\frac{1}{5}}B^{-\frac{2}{5}}\}$ , resulting in  $Z^{\frac{9}{5}}B^{-\frac{3}{5}} + Z \simeq Z$  and  $Z^{\frac{6}{5}}B^{-\frac{2}{5}} + Z^{\frac{2}{5}}B^{\frac{1}{5}} \simeq Z^{\frac{2}{5}}B^{\frac{1}{5}}$  respectively.

Therefore, for both cases  $B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  we arrive to

(26.3.6) The total charge is  $\min(N, Z)$  (due to the choice of  $\nu$ ) with the remainder estimate  $O(\max(Z^{\frac{2}{3}}, Z^{\frac{2}{5}}B^{\frac{1}{5}}))$  which is  $O(Z^{\frac{2}{3}})$  if  $B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  and  $O(Z^{\frac{2}{5}}B^{\frac{1}{5}})$  if  $Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^{3}$ .

*Remark 26.3.1.* Remainder is less than the main part if  $Z^{\frac{2}{5}}B^{\frac{1}{5}} \leq Z$  i.e.  $B \leq Z^3$ . It means exactly that  $\zeta \ell \geq 1$  if  $\ell = \bar{r}$  (in the case  $B \geq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$ ), or, in other words that  $h \leq 1$ . The same is true for all other semiclassical asymptotics below.

If  $B \ll Z^3$  we arrive to asymptotics, ig  $B \lesssim Z^3$  we have estimates and in the case of superstrong magnetic field  $B \gg Z^3$  Thomas-Fermi theory is not valid for our main model.

### Semiclassical D-Term

Consider now the semiclassical D-term

(26.3.7) 
$$\mathsf{D}(\boldsymbol{e}(\boldsymbol{x},\boldsymbol{x},\boldsymbol{\nu}) - \rho_B^{\mathsf{TF}}(\boldsymbol{x}), \ \boldsymbol{e}(\boldsymbol{x},\boldsymbol{x},\boldsymbol{\nu}) - \rho_B^{\mathsf{TF}}(\boldsymbol{x})).$$

**General Arguments.** We do not have appropriate asymptotics for  $e(x, x, \nu)$  in the case of the magnetic field<sup>9)</sup> but we apply Fefferman-de Llave decomposition (16.4.1):

(26.3.8) 
$$|x - y|_{\gamma}^{-1}(x, y) := |x - y|\varphi(\gamma^{-1}|x - y|) = \gamma^{-4} \int \psi_{1,\gamma}(x, z)\psi_{2,\gamma}(y, z) dz$$

where  $\varphi \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}([1, 2])$ .

Therefore contribution of  $B(z, \gamma) \times B(z', \gamma)$  with  $3\gamma \leq |z - z'| \leq 4\gamma$ ,  $\gamma \leq \epsilon \ell(z)$  to such term does not exceed  $C(\zeta^2 \gamma^2 + B\gamma^2)^2 \gamma^{-1}$ . There are  $\approx \ell^3 \gamma^{-3}$  of such pairs with  $\ell(x) \approx \ell$  and their total contribution does not exceed  $C(\zeta^2 + B)^2 \ell^3$ .

Now we need to sum over  $\gamma^{-1} d\gamma$  which does not look good because it leads to the logarithmic divergency but there is a simple remedy: we treat this way only pairs  $t\ell \leq |z - z'| \leq \ell$  and apply for pairs with  $|z - z'| \leq t\ell$  pointwise asymptotics; then we get

(26.3.9) 
$$C(\zeta^2 + B)^2 \ell^3 (1 + (\log B\ell/\zeta)_+);$$

 $<sup>^{9)}</sup>$  Unless we really assume that W is smooth and apply results sections 16.6–16.9.

to get rid of this logarithmic factor we apply more delicate arguments similar to those of Subsection 16.10.3.

Thus, ignoring this logarithmic factor we conclude that the contribution of all pairs (z, z') with  $\ell(z) \simeq \ell(z') \simeq \ell$  does not exceed  $C(\zeta^2 + B)^2 \ell^3$  while contribution of all pairs (z, z') with  $\ell(z) \simeq \ell_1 \neq \ell(z') \simeq \ell_2$  does not exceed  $C(\zeta_1^2 + B)(\zeta_2^2 + B)\ell_1^2\ell_2^2(\ell_1 + \ell_2)^{-1}$ .

Finally let us sum these expressions over partitions of unity.

**Moderate Magnetic Field.** Consider the case  $B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$ . Then summation over zone  $\{\ell_1 \leq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}, \ell_2 \leq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}\}$  results in  $CZ^{\frac{5}{3}}$  and the same is also true for summation over zone  $\{Z^{-\frac{1}{3}} \leq \ell_1 \leq B^{-\frac{1}{4}}, Z^{-\frac{1}{3}} \leq \ell_2 \leq B^{-\frac{1}{4}}\}$ .

Obviously, in such estimates, if there is a fixed number of zones, we do not need to sum over "mixed" pairs when z and z' belong to different zones.

**Strong Magnetic Field.** Consider the case  $B \ge Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$ . Then summation over zone  $\{\ell_1 \le Z^{\frac{1}{5}}B^{-\frac{2}{5}}, \ell_2 \le Z^{\frac{1}{5}}B^{-\frac{2}{5}}\}$  results in  $CZ^{\frac{3}{5}}B^{\frac{4}{5}}$ .

Therefore, for both cases  $B \lessgtr Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  we arrive to

(26.3.10) Term (26.3.7) does not exceed  $C \max(Z^{\frac{5}{3}}, Z^{\frac{3}{5}}B^{\frac{4}{5}})$  which is  $CZ^{\frac{5}{3}}$  if  $B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  and  $CZ^{\frac{3}{5}}B^{\frac{4}{5}}$  if  $Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^{3}$ .

Remark 26.3.2<sup>10</sup>). Estimating this term, and also the second D-term (in the next paragraph) we need to estimate the contribution of the singular zone  $\{x: \ell(x) \leq \bar{r} = Z^{-1}\}$  where effective semiclassical parameter is less than 1. We claim that there

(26.3.11) 
$$e(x, x, 0) \le C(BZ + Z^3) \quad \text{for } \lambda \le cZ^2.$$

Indeed, it is true if  $\ell(x) \geq 1$ . Also operator H is bounded from below by  $-CZ^2$ . And finally, in the ball of  $B(y_m, \epsilon Z^{-1})$  operator  $\Delta$  is larger than  $Z|x-y_m|^{-1}$ . We leave the easy details to the reader.

Therefore for  $B \leq Z^2$  the contribution of this zone into N-term is  $O(CZ^3\bar{r}^3) = O(1)$ , into both D-terms is  $O(Z^6\bar{r}^5) = O(Z)$ , and into T-term is  $O(Z^5\bar{r}^3) = O(Z^2)$  exactly as in Chapter 25. On the other hand, for  $Z^2 \leq BleZ^3$  the contribution of this zone into N-term is  $O(CBZ\bar{r}^3) = O(BZ^{-2})$ , into both D-terms is  $O(B^2Z^2\bar{r}^5) = O(B^2Z^{-3})$ , and into T-term is  $O(BZ^3\bar{r}^3) = O(B)$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10)</sup> Cf. Remark 25.4.7.

# $|\lambda_N - \nu|$ and Another D-Term

Consider two other non-trace terms in the upper estimate.

Moderate Magnetic Field. In the case  $B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  we established the remainder in the total charge  $O(Z^{\frac{2}{3}})$ . Then using our standard arguments we conclude easily that  $|\lambda_N - \nu| = O(Z)$  and then

(26.3.12) 
$$|\lambda_{N} - \nu| \cdot |\mathsf{N}(\nu) - N| \le CZ^{\frac{5}{3}}$$

and

(26.3.13) 
$$\mathsf{D}\big(\mathcal{P}'_{\mathcal{B}}(\mathcal{W}_{\mathcal{B}}^{\mathsf{TF}}(x) + \lambda_{\mathcal{N}}) - \mathcal{P}'_{\mathcal{B}}(\mathcal{W}_{\mathcal{B}}^{\mathsf{TF}}(x) + \nu), \\ \mathcal{P}'_{\mathcal{B}}(\mathcal{W}_{\mathcal{B}}^{\mathsf{TF}}(x) + \lambda_{\mathcal{N}}) - \mathcal{P}'_{\mathcal{B}}(\mathcal{W}_{\mathcal{B}}^{\mathsf{TF}}(x) + \nu)\big) \leq CZ^{\frac{5}{3}};$$

combining with the estimate of the previous subsubsection we conclude that

(26.3.14) 
$$\mathsf{D}(\rho_{\Psi} - \rho_{B}^{\mathsf{TF}}, \rho_{\Psi} - \rho_{B}^{\mathsf{TF}}) \leq CQ = O(Z^{\frac{5}{3}}),$$

exactly as in (25.4.56).

**Strong Magnetic Field.** Let now  $Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^3$ . Then we established the remainder in the total charge  $O(Z^{\frac{2}{5}}B^{\frac{1}{5}})$  and for the semiclassical D-term we established estimate  $O(Z^{\frac{3}{5}}B^{\frac{4}{5}})$ . Therefore to estimate

(26.3.15) 
$$|\lambda_N - \nu| \cdot |\mathsf{N}(\nu) - N| \le CZ^{\frac{3}{5}}B^{\frac{4}{5}}$$

as well we want to prove that

(26.3.16) 
$$|\lambda_N - \nu| = O(Z^{\frac{1}{5}}B^{\frac{3}{5}}).$$

Observe that  $|\nu| \lesssim Z\bar{r}^{-1} \asymp Z^{\frac{4}{5}}B^{\frac{2}{5}} \leq CB$ . Therefore if  $|\lambda_N - \nu| \leq \frac{1}{2}|\nu|$  we conclude that

(26.3.17) 
$$\left| \int \left( P_B'(W_B^{\mathsf{TF}}(x) + \lambda_N) - P_B'(W_B^{\mathsf{TF}}(x) + \nu) \right) dx \right| \ge \epsilon |\lambda_N - \nu| B \int (W + \nu)_+^{-\frac{1}{2}} dx$$

with the integral taken over zone  $\{x \colon W(x) + \nu \ge |\lambda_N - \nu|\}$ .

One can see easily that as  $|\lambda_N - \nu| \leq \epsilon |\nu|$  the right-hand expression of (26.3.17) is larger than  $\epsilon |\lambda_N - \nu| \cdot Z^{\frac{1}{5}} B^{-\frac{2}{5}}$  and it must be less than  $CZ^{\frac{2}{5}}B^{\frac{1}{5}}$ :  $|\lambda_N - \nu| Z^{\frac{1}{5}} B^{-\frac{2}{5}} \leq CZ^{\frac{2}{5}}B^{\frac{1}{5}}$  which implies (26.3.16).

Let us estimate the left-hand expression of (26.3.13). For this, however, estimate (26.3.16) is insufficient. We consider here only the atomic case. Then using (26.2.22)–(26.2.23) one can prove easily that the right-hand expression of (26.3.17) is of magnitude

$$|\lambda_{N} - \nu| \cdot B\bar{r}^{2} \times (|\nu|\bar{r}^{-1})^{-\frac{1}{3}}B^{-\frac{1}{3}} \asymp |\lambda_{N} - \nu| \cdot |\nu|^{-\frac{1}{3}}Z^{\frac{7}{15}}B^{-\frac{4}{15}}$$

provided  $|\lambda - N| \leq \epsilon \nu$ , where the selected factor is just  $\int (B^2 z^4 + |\nu|\bar{r}^{-1})_+^{-\frac{1}{2}} dz$ (appearing due to (26.2.22)–(26.2.23)). Comparing with  $Z^{\frac{2}{5}}B^{\frac{1}{5}}$  we conclude that

(a) If  $|\nu| \ge C_1 Z^{-\frac{1}{10}} B^{\frac{7}{10}} (= C_1 Z^{\frac{2}{5}} B^{\frac{3}{5}} \times Z^{-\frac{3}{10}} B^{\frac{1}{10}})$  then

(26.3.18) 
$$|\lambda_N - \nu| \le C |\nu|^{\frac{1}{3}} Z^{-\frac{1}{15}} B^{\frac{7}{15}}$$

which is less than  $\epsilon |\nu|$  and coincides with (26.3.16) as  $(Z - N)_+ \simeq Z$ .

(b) If 
$$|\nu| \ge C_1 Z^{-\frac{1}{10}} B^{\frac{7}{10}}$$
 then  $|\lambda_N - \nu| \le C_2 Z^{-\frac{1}{10}} B^{\frac{7}{10}}$ .

In the former case one can prove easily that the left-hand expression of (26.3.13) does not exceed  $CZ^{\frac{3}{5}}B^{\frac{4}{5}}$ .

In the latter case (exactly as in Subsection 25.4.2) we consider Thomas-Fermi theory with  $\nu = 0$  i.e. N = Z and also prove that that

(26.3.19) The left-hand expression of (26.3.16) does not exceed  $Q = CZ^{\frac{3}{5}}B^{\frac{4}{5}}$ .

In particular, we slightly improve estimate (26.3.15) to  $|\nu|^{\frac{1}{3}} Z^{\frac{3}{5}} B^{\frac{2}{3}}$  as well (if  $(Z - N) \ll Z$ ).

Therefore in our framework we estimated all non-trace terms in the upper estimate by  $CZ^{\frac{3}{5}}B^{\frac{4}{5}}$  and therefore "proved" estimate

(26.3.20) 
$$\mathsf{D}(\rho_{\Psi} - \rho_{B}^{\mathsf{TF}}, \rho_{\Psi} - \rho_{B}^{\mathsf{TF}}) \leq CQ = O(Z^{\frac{3}{5}}B^{\frac{4}{5}}).$$

#### Trace

Consider now  $\operatorname{Tr}((H_{A,W}-\nu)^{-})$ . This term is of magnitude  $\int (\zeta^5 + B\zeta^3) dx$  and one can see easily that it is  $\asymp Z^{\frac{7}{3}}$  for  $B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  and  $\asymp B^{\frac{2}{5}}Z^{\frac{9}{5}}$  for  $Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^3$ .

Meanwhile, consider the remainder. Again for simplicity consider only the atomic case. If  $B \leq Z$  the contribution of the zone  $\{x : \ell(x) \leq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}\}$  is  $O(Z^{\frac{5}{3}})$  (we need to include Scott correction term in the main part) while the contribution of the zone  $\{x : \ell(x) \geq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}\}$  does not exceed

(26.3.21) 
$$C \int (\zeta^3 + B\zeta) \ell^{-2} dx$$

taken over this zone and it is  $\approx Z^{\frac{5}{3}}$  as well.

If  $Z \leq B \leq B^2$  the contribution of the zone  $\{x \colon \ell(x) \leq b \coloneqq B^{-\frac{2}{3}}Z^{\frac{1}{3}}\}$  is  $O(b^{-\frac{1}{2}}Z^{\frac{3}{2}}) = O(Z^{\frac{4}{3}}B^{\frac{1}{3}})$  and we need to include Scott correction term. Meanwhile, the contribution of the zone  $\{x \colon \ell(x) \geq b\}$  does not exceed integral (26.3.21) taken over this zone which is  $\asymp Z^{\frac{4}{3}}B^{\frac{1}{3}} + Z^{\frac{3}{5}}B^{\frac{4}{5}}$  where the last term coincides with estimate for (26.3.7) if  $B \geq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  and does not exceed  $CZ^{\frac{5}{3}}$  if  $B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$ .

Finally, if  $Z^2 \leq B \leq B^3$  we need to reset  $b = Z^{-1}$  because  $h = 1/(\zeta \ell)$  becomes  $\gtrsim 1$  inside. Then we do not need Scott correction term and the contributions of the zone  $\{x \colon \ell(x) \leq b\}$  to both the main part and the remainder do not exceed  $C \int (\zeta^5 + B\zeta^3) dx \approx Z^2 + B \approx B$ .

Further, the contribution of the zone  $\{x \colon \ell(x) \ge b\}$  to the remainder does not exceed integral (26.3.21) taken over this zone which results in  $CB + CZ^{\frac{3}{5}}B^{\frac{4}{5}}$  and the second term dominates due to assumption  $B \ll Z^3$ . Thus we arrive to

(26.3.22) The main therm in  $\operatorname{Tr}((H_{A,W}-\nu)^{-})$  is of magnitude  $Z^{\frac{7}{3}}$  for  $B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$ and  $B^{\frac{2}{5}}Z^{\frac{9}{5}}$  for  $Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^3$ , while the remainder estimate is  $O(Z^{\frac{5}{3}})$  for  $B \leq Z$ ,  $O(Z^{\frac{4}{3}}B^{\frac{1}{3}})$  for  $Z \leq B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$ , and  $O(Z^{\frac{4}{3}}B^{\frac{1}{3}}+Z^{\frac{3}{5}}B^{\frac{4}{5}})$  for  $Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^3$ . If  $B \leq Z^{\frac{7}{4}}$  we need to include into main part Scott correction term.

#### Discussion

Now let us formulate our expectations:

Remark 26.3.3. We expect

(i) Estimate (26.3.14) for  $B \le Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  and estimate (26.3.20) for  $Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \le B \le Z^{3}$ .

(ii) Furthermore, since for  $B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  the main contribution to all terms needed to derive this estimate is delivered by the zone  $\{x : \ell(x) \approx Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}\}$  and the

effective magnetic field is  $\mu = B\ell/\zeta \approx BZ^{-1}$  we expect improved to "o" (or better) estimate (26.3.14) if  $B \ll Z$  and  $a \gg Z^{-\frac{1}{3} \ 11}$ .

(iii) Statement, similar to (ii) should be also true for the trace term; however then we need to include the Schwinger term.

(iv) The remainder estimate for the ground state energy is maximum of the remainder estimate for the non-trace and trace terms; therefore we expect the same remainder estimate as in (26.3.22); Statement, similar to (ii) should be also correct for the ground state energy. However then we need to include both Schwinger and Dirac terms.

(v) We expect the described remainder estimate of the trace term and the ground state energy if a is large enough; otherwise it should contain term  $O(a^{-\frac{1}{2}}Z^{\frac{3}{2}})$  ifs  $B \leq Z^{\frac{7}{4}}$  and  $a \geq Z^{-1}$  (and in this case we include Scott correction term).

Remark 26.3.4. The other difference between cases  $B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  and  $B \geq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  is that  $\mu h = B\zeta^{-2} \lesssim 1$  in the former case if  $\ell(x) \leq \overline{r}$ ; however in the latter case it happens only if  $\ell(x) \leq B^{-1}Z$  but in the zone  $\{x : B^{-1}Z \leq \ell(x) \leq B^{-\frac{2}{5}}Z^{\frac{1}{5}}\}$  an opposite inequality holds.

# 26.3.2 Smooth Approximation

An approach described in Subsection 26.3.1 hits two obstacles: the nonsmoothness of  $W_B^{\mathsf{TF}}$  and its possible degeneration i.e.  $\nabla W_B^{\mathsf{TF}}$  is not disjoint from **0**. However non-smoothness of  $W_B^{\mathsf{TF}}$  is due to the non-smoothness of  $P_B$ . So we want to consider first the zone where we can just replace  $P_B(W + \nu)$  by  $P(W + \nu)$  and therefore  $W_B^{\mathsf{TF}}$  by some smooth function Wwhich does not necessary coincides with  $W^{\mathsf{TF}}$ .

### **Trivial Arguments**

Obviously we can do this as an effective magnetic field  $\mu = B\ell/\zeta \lesssim 1$ . In this case we do not need assumption  $W + \nu \approx \zeta^2$  and therefore we can take  $\zeta = \ell^{-4}$  as  $B \lesssim Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  and  $\ell \gtrsim Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  and  $\zeta = Z^{\frac{1}{2}}\ell^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  in all other cases. Therefore zone in question is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11)</sup> Recall that  $a = \min_{1 \le m \le m' \le M} |y_m - y_{m'}|$  is the minimal distance between nuclei.

 $(26.3.23) \quad \mathcal{X}_1 \coloneqq \{ x \colon \ell(x) \le r_1 \}$ 

with 
$$r_1 = \begin{cases} B^{-\frac{1}{3}} & \text{if } 1 \leq B \lesssim Z, \\ B^{-\frac{2}{3}}Z^{\frac{1}{3}} & \text{if } Z \lesssim B \lesssim Z^2. \end{cases}$$

In this zone  $\mathcal{X}_1$  for such modified W we can unleash the full power of the same smooth theory as in Section 25.4 and prove easily the following

Proposition 26.3.5. Let  $1 \leq B \leq Z^2$ . Then

(i) A contribution of zone  $\mathcal{X}_1$  defined by (26.3.23) to

(26.3.24) 
$$\int \left( e(x, x, \nu) - P'(W(x) + \nu) \right) dx$$

does not exceed  $CZ^{\frac{2}{3}}$  while its contribution to

(26.3.25) 
$$D(e(x, x, \nu) - P'(W(x) + \nu), e(x, x, \nu) - P'(W(x) + \nu))$$

does not exceed  $CZ^{\frac{5}{3}}$ , and its contribution to

(26.3.26) 
$$\int \left(e_1(x, x, \nu) + P(W(x) + \nu)\right) dx - \text{Scott}$$

does not exceed  $CZ^{\frac{5}{3}} + Ca^{-\frac{1}{2}}Z^{\frac{3}{2}} + CZ^{\frac{4}{3}}B^{\frac{1}{3} \, 11}$ , <sup>12)</sup>.

(ii) Further, if  $B \ll Z$  and  $a \gg Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  we can recover for these contributions estimates  $CZ^{\frac{2}{3}}v$ ,  $CZ^{\frac{5}{3}}v$  and  $CZ^{\frac{5}{3}}v$  respectively with

(26.3.27) 
$$\upsilon \coloneqq Z^{-\delta} + (aZ^{\frac{1}{3}})^{-\delta} + (BZ^{-1})^{\delta}$$

where expression (26.3.26) should be modified to

(26.3.28) 
$$\int (e_1(x, x, \nu) - P(W(x) + \nu)) dx - \text{Scott} - \text{Schwinger}.$$

Furthermore in this case contribution of  $\mathcal{X}_1$  to

(26.3.29) 
$$\frac{1}{2}\int \operatorname{tr}\left(e^{\dagger}(x,y,\nu)e(x,y,\nu)\right)dxdy - \operatorname{Dirac}$$

does not exceed  $CZ^{\frac{5}{3}-\delta}$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12)</sup> If  $a \leq Z^{-1}$  we skip Scott and reset  $a = Z^{-1}$  in the remainder estimate which become  $CZ^2$ .

*Remark 26.3.6.* (i) So far we should use P(.) instead of  $P_B(.)$  but we will prove that the same results would hold for  $P_B$  as well.

(ii) In the next subsubsections we expand this zone to one defined by  $\mu \leq h^{-\frac{1}{3} 13}$  but for trace term we still need a separate analysis as  $\mu \lesssim 1$ .

(iii) The same estimates hold if we replace in all expressions (26.3.24)–(26.3.28) P by  $P_B.$ 

(iv) We assumed that  $B \leq Z^2$  since otherwise  $h \gtrsim 1$  not only in  $\mathcal{X}_1$  but even in  $\{x \colon W^{\mathsf{TF}}(x) \geq B\}$ .

(v) Note that if  $r_1 \gtrsim (Z - N)_+^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  this zone (and the whole analysis) could be cut short since outside zone in question  $W + \nu \ge 0$ . From Chapter 25 we already know how to deal with such irregularities.

(vi) We need to assume that  $a \ge Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  and to include the second term  $(aZ^{\frac{1}{3}})^{-\delta}$  in the definition of v only as we estimate the trace term (26.3.26).

Remark 26.3.7. (i) If either  $a \ll Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  or  $B \gg Z$  we estimated (26.3.5) by  $Ca^{-\frac{1}{2}}Z^{\frac{3}{2}} + CZ^{\frac{4}{3}}B^{\frac{1}{3}}$ . While the first term does not bother us since assumption  $a \ll \min(Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}, B^{-\frac{1}{4}})$  is unrealistic, the second term is troublesome. Let us assume that  $a \ge Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$ .

We can marginally improve this estimate of expression (26.3.26) to  $CZ^{\frac{5}{3}} + o(Z^{\frac{4}{3}}B^{\frac{1}{3}}).$ 

First, observe, that this term  $CZ^{\frac{3}{2}}B^{\frac{1}{3}}$  appears as  $b^{-\frac{1}{2}}Z^{\frac{3}{2}}$  with  $b = B^{-\frac{2}{3}}Z^{\frac{2}{3}} \ll 1$ . Therefore we need to estimate this way only contribution of the zone  $\mathcal{Y} := \{x : b^{\delta} \leq \ell(x)Z^{\frac{1}{3}} \leq b^{-\delta}\}$  and it is sufficient to investigate the corresponding classical dynamics in the zone  $\mathcal{Y}_1 := \{x : b^{2\delta} \leq \ell(x)Z^{\frac{1}{3}} \leq b^{-2\delta}\}$ .

Indeed, to recover estimate we have now, we used a classical dynamics on  $\Sigma := \{(x,\xi) : H(x,\xi) = 0\}$  for time  $T(x) = Z^{-1}\ell(x)^{\frac{3}{2}}$ .

Further, one can see easily that along classical trajectories, starting in  $\Sigma|_{\mathcal{Y}}, \ell(x) \leq b^{-2\delta}$  for time  $T = b^{-\sigma}T_0$  with  $\sigma = \sigma(\delta) > 0$ .

On the other hand, the invariant measure of  $\Sigma_r = \{(x, \xi) \in \Sigma, \ell(x) \asymp r\}$ is  $\asymp r^2 Z$  and since the spatial speed there is  $O(Z^{\frac{1}{2}}r^{-\frac{1}{2}})$  we conclude that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13)</sup> Or even to  $\mu \leq h^{-\frac{3}{5}}$  under non-degeneracy assumption (26.3.35) with  $\gamma = \ell$ , in particular, in the atomic case.

(26.3.30) The invariant measure of the points in  $\Sigma|_{\mathcal{Y}}$ , such that the classical trajectories starting from them do not remain in  $\mathcal{Y}_1$  for time  $T = b^{-\sigma}T_0$ , does not exceed  $b^{2+\sigma}Z^{\frac{1}{3}}$ .

(ii) Now it is sufficient to explore the classical dynamics with the Hamiltonian, corresponding to the Coulomb potential and constant magnetic field, and to prove that

(26.3.31) The invariant measure of the periodic points  $\Sigma$  is 0.

To do so, we need to prove that there are non-periodic trajectories, which do not hit an origin. It is sufficient to consider trajectories belonging to the plane  $\{z = 0\}$ ; we assume that magnetic intensity is (0, 0, B). See Part (iii).

(iii) To improve this estimate further we need to investigate the classical dynamics in more details, and it seems to be a daunting, if not impossible task. Indeed, while in 2D the system is completely integrable<sup>14</sup>), it does not seem so in 3D as we know only two first integrals, energy E and  $M_z = (x\dot{y} - y\dot{x}) + \frac{1}{2}B(x^2 + y^2)$ .

# Formal Expansion

Now we want to expand zone  $\mathcal{X}_1$ . Note first that

(26.3.32)  $P'_{B}(W+\nu) - P'(W+\nu) = O(B^{\frac{3}{2}})$ 

and

(26.3.33) 
$$P_B(W+\nu) - P(W+\nu) - \kappa_1 B^2 (W+\nu)^{\frac{1}{2}} = O(B^{\frac{5}{2}}).$$

Really, one can consider  $P'_B(w)$  and  $P_B(w)$  as Riemann sums for integrals P'(w) and P(w) respectively; see Appendix 26.A.3 for details.

However under non-degeneracy assumption  $|\nabla W| \simeq \zeta^2 \ell^{-1}$  we can do better with the integrated expressions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14)</sup> And easily solvable in the polar coordinates since  $E = \frac{1}{2}\dot{r}^2 + V^*(r)$  with effective potential  $V^*(r) = \frac{1}{2}r^2(M_zr^{-2} - B/2)^2 - r^{-1}$ , and the corrected angular momentum  $M_z = r^2\dot{\theta} + \frac{1}{2}Br^2$ . One can see easily that  $V^*(r) \to +\infty$  as  $r \to +0$  or  $r \to +\infty$  and has a single nondegenerate minimum. Therefore along each trajectory r oscillates between  $r_{\min}$  and  $r_{\max}$ . If all trajectories on the energy level E were periodic, then the number of oscillations was constant for increment  $\theta$  equal to  $2\pi n$  with some  $n \in \mathbb{Z}^+$ . But this is definitely not the case since the number of oscillations tends to  $\infty$  as  $M_z/B \to +\infty$ .

**Proposition 26.3.8.** Assume that in  $B(z, \gamma)$ 

$$\begin{array}{ll} (26.3.34) & |\nabla^{\alpha}W| \leq C_{\alpha}\zeta^{2}\gamma^{-|\alpha|} & \forall \alpha : |\alpha| \leq n, \\ (26.3.35) & |\nabla W| \geq \epsilon \zeta^{2}\gamma^{-1}, \\ and \\ (26.3.36) & B \leq \zeta^{2}. \end{array}$$

Then

(26.3.37) 
$$\int \phi(x) \Big( P'_B(W(x) + \nu) - \tilde{P}'_B(W(x) + \nu) \Big) \, dx = O(B^2 \zeta^{-1} \gamma^3),$$
  
(26.3.38) 
$$\int \phi(x) \Big( P_B(W(x) + \nu) - \tilde{P}'_B(W(x) + \nu) \Big) \, dx = O(B^5 \zeta^{-5} \gamma^3)$$

and

(26.3.39) 
$$\mathsf{D}\Big(\phi(x)\big(P'_{B}(W(x)+\nu)-\tilde{P}'_{B}(W(x)+\nu)\big),$$
  
 $\phi(x)\big(P'_{B}(W(x)+\nu)-\tilde{P}'_{B}(W(x)+\nu)\big)\Big) = O(B^{5}\zeta^{-4}\gamma^{5})$ 

with

(26.3.40) 
$$\tilde{P}_B(w) \coloneqq P(w) + (\kappa_1 P''(w)B^2 + \kappa_2 P'' B^4) \cdot (1 - \varphi(w/B))$$

where  $\varphi \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}([-2, 2]), \ \varphi = 1 \ on \ [-1, 1].$ 

*Proof.* Rescaling  $\mathbf{x} \mapsto \mathbf{x}\gamma^{-1}$ ,  $\mathbf{w} \mapsto \mathbf{w}\zeta^{-2}$  and therefore  $\mathbf{B} \mapsto \beta = \mathbf{B}\zeta^{-2}$  one can reduce the case to  $\gamma = \zeta = 1$ ,  $\beta \leq 1^{15}$ . Then estimates (26.3.37) and (26.3.38) are trivially proven by (multiple) integration by parts which integrates  $P_{\beta}$  on each step increasing its smoothness<sup>16</sup>.

To prove estimate (26.3.39) we apply decomposition (26.3.8). Integration by parts shows that (26.3.37) with *t*-admissible function  $\phi$  is  $O(\beta^3 t^{\frac{3}{2}})$  if  $t \geq \beta$  and therefore the contribution of the zone  $\{(x, y) : |x - y| \approx t\}$  is  $O(\beta^6 t^3 \times t^{-4})$ . Then the total contribution of the zone  $\{(x, y) : |x - y| \geq \beta\}$ is  $O(\beta^5)$ . Meanwhile a total contribution of the zone  $\{(x, y) : |x - y| \leq \beta\}$ is  $O(\beta^3 \times \beta^2)$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15)</sup> Recall that  $\beta = \mu h$  with  $\mu = B\gamma/\zeta$  and  $h = 1/\zeta\gamma$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16)</sup> In fact one can prove then estimates  $\mathcal{O}(\beta^{s})$  but adding correction terms  $\sum \kappa_{k}\beta^{2k}$ . However this improvement is not carried on to (26.3.39) in full.

Therefore we expect that the zone  $\mathcal{X}_1$  defined by  $\mu \lesssim 1$  could be expanded to the zone  $\mathcal{X}'_1$  defined by  $\mu \lesssim h^{-\frac{1}{3} \, 13)}$  or even larger<sup>17</sup>; furthermore, under assumption  $|\nabla W| \asymp \zeta^2 \ell^{-1}$  we can define  $\mathcal{X}'_1$  by  $\mu \lesssim h^{-\frac{3}{5}}$  or even larger<sup>17</sup>.

#### **Expansion:** Justification

Now however we need to deal with  $e(x, x, \nu)$  rather than  $P'_B(W(x) + \nu)$  (etc).

**Proposition 26.3.9.** Assume that in  $B(z, \gamma)$  conditions (26.3.34),  $\zeta \gamma \geq 1$  and

$$(26.3.41) B \le c\zeta^2(\zeta\gamma)^{-\delta}$$

are fulfilled. Then for  $\gamma$ -admissible  $\phi$ 

(26.3.42) 
$$\int \phi(x) \left( e(x, x, \nu) - \tilde{P}'_B(W(x) + \nu) \right) dx = O(\zeta^2 \gamma^2),$$

(26.3.43) 
$$\int \phi(x) \Big( e_1(x, x, \tau) - \tilde{P}_B(W(x) + \nu) \Big) dx = O(\zeta^3 \gamma)$$

and

(26.3.44) 
$$\mathsf{D}\Big(\phi(x)\big(e(x,x,\nu) - \tilde{P}'_B(W(x) + \nu)\big), \phi(x)\big(e(x,x,\nu) - \tilde{P}'_B(W(x) + \nu)\big)\Big) = O(\zeta^4 \gamma^3).$$

*Proof.* Estimates (26.3.42) and (26.3.43) are due to Chapter 13. Really, rescale  $x \mapsto x\gamma^{-1}$ ,  $\tau \mapsto \tau\zeta^{-2}$  and  $h = 1 \mapsto h = \gamma^{-1}\zeta^{-1}$ ,  $B \mapsto \mu = B\gamma\zeta^{-1}$ .

To prove (26.3.44) let us apply decomposition (26.3.8); then according to (26.3.42) J(t) (defined as expression (26.3.42) with  $t\gamma$ -admissible  $\phi_t$ ) does not exceed  $C\zeta^2\gamma^2t^2$  as long as  $t\zeta\gamma \ge 1$ ; therefore contribution of zone  $\{(x, y): |x - y| \le t\}$  into the left-hand expression of (26.3.44) does not exceed  $C(\zeta^2\gamma^2t^2)^2 \times t^{-4}\gamma^{-1} \ge C\zeta^4\gamma^3$ .

Then summation over  $t \ge \mu^{-1} = B^{-1}\gamma^{-1}\zeta$  returns  $C\zeta^4\gamma^3\int t^{-1}dt \asymp C\zeta^4\gamma^3\log\mu$  (we assume that  $\mu \ge 2$ ; case  $\mu \le 2$  has been covered already). So, the total contribution of zone  $\{(x, y): |x - y| \ge \mu^{-1}\}$  does not exceed  $C\zeta^4\gamma^3\log\mu$ .

 $<sup>^{17)}</sup>$  We do not need for each  $\ell$  have a sharp remainder estimates but need only them to sum to a sharp estimate.

Let us get rid of the logarithmic factor. Returning back to B(z, t) stretched to B(0, 1) one can see easily that conditions of Proposition 13.7.25 are fulfilled as well with  $T = \min(t^{-\delta}, h^{-\delta}t^{\delta})$  and thus

$$|J(t)| \leq C(ht^{-1})^{-2}T^{-1} \leq Ch^{-2}t^{2}(t^{\delta}+h^{\delta}t^{-\delta}).$$

Plugginginto (26.3.8) we get

$$Ch^{-4}\gamma^{-1}\int_{\mu^{-1}}^{1}t^{-1}(t^{\delta}+h^{\delta}t^{-\delta})\,dt \asymp Ch^{-4}\gamma^{-1}=C\zeta^{4}\gamma^{3}$$

On the other hand, in zone  $t \leq \mu^{-1}$  we use the trivial estimate

$$e(x,x,
u) - P'(W(x) + 
u) = O(\mu \zeta^2 \gamma^2)$$

(due to simple rescaling  $x \mapsto \mu x$ ) and its contribution to the left-hand expression of (26.3.44) does not exceed  $C(\mu \zeta^2 \gamma^2)^2 \times \mu^{-2} \gamma^{-1} \simeq C \zeta^4 \gamma^3$ .  $\Box$ 

Combining with estimates (26.3.32) and (26.3.33) we arrive to Statement (i) below; combining with Proposition 26.3.7 to Statement (ii):

**Corollary 26.3.10.** Assume that in  $B(z, \gamma)$  conditions (26.3.34) and  $\zeta \gamma \geq 1$  are fulfilled. Let  $\phi$  be  $\gamma$ -admissible function.

(i) Let

(26.3.45) 
$$B \le c\zeta^{\frac{4}{3}}\gamma^{-\frac{2}{3}}$$

then

(26.3.46) 
$$\int \phi(x) \Big( e(x, x, \nu) - \tilde{P}'_B(W(x) + \nu) \Big) dx = O(\zeta^2 \gamma^2),$$

(26.3.47) 
$$\int \phi(x) \Big( e_1(x, x, \tau) - \tilde{P}_B(W(x) + \nu) \Big) dx = O(\zeta^3 \gamma)$$

and

(26.3.48) 
$$\mathsf{D}\Big(\phi(x)\big(e(x, x, \nu) - \tilde{P}'_B(W(x) + \nu)\big), \phi(x)\big(e(x, x, \nu) - \tilde{P}'_B(W(x) + \nu)\big)\Big) = O(\zeta^4 \gamma^3).$$

(ii) Let assumption (26.3.35) be fulfilled and

(26.3.49)  $B \le c\zeta^{\frac{8}{5}}\gamma^{-\frac{2}{5}}.$ 

Then (26.3.46) - (26.3.48) hold.

# 26.3.3 Rough Approximation

Unless our analysis has been cut short with  $r_1 \gtrsim (Z - N)_+^{-\frac{1}{3}}$ , we need to consider the zone  $\{x: \ell(x) \geq r_1\}$  with redefined  $r_1$ , so that this zone is described by  $\mu \gtrsim h^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  or  $\mu \gtrsim h^{-\frac{3}{5}}$  in the general or non-degenerate (i.e. satisfying assumption (26.3.35)) cases respectively.

In this zone the replacement of  $P_B$  by P and thus  $W_B^{\mathsf{TF}}$  by some smooth function leads to the error which is too large. Therefore instead in this zone we consider  $\varepsilon \ell$ -mollification of  $W_B^{\mathsf{TF}}$  with  $\varepsilon \ll 1$  (after rescaling  $x \mapsto x/\ell$ ). In contrast to potentials considered in Chapter 18 function  $W_B^{\mathsf{TF}}$  is more regular.

### **Properties of Mollification**

First, recall regularity properties of  $W_B^{\mathsf{TF}}$ :

**Proposition 26.3.11.**  $W_B^{\text{TF}}$  have the following properties:

(26.3.50) 
$$|\nabla^{\alpha} W_{B}^{\mathsf{TF}}(x)| \leq c_{\alpha} \zeta(x)^{2} \ell(x)^{-|\alpha|} \qquad \forall \alpha : |\alpha| \leq 2$$

$$(26.3.51) |\nabla^{\alpha} (W_{B}^{\mathsf{TF}}(x) - W_{B}^{\mathsf{TF}}(y))| \leq c_{0}B\ell(x)^{-\frac{5}{2}}|x - y|^{\frac{1}{2}} + c_{0}\zeta(x)^{2}\ell(x)^{-3}|x - y| \\ \forall |\alpha| = 2 \quad \forall x, y \colon |x - y| \leq \epsilon \ell(x)$$

where we recall

(26.3.52) 
$$\zeta(x) = \min(Z^{\frac{1}{2}}\ell(x)^{-\frac{1}{2}}, \ell(x)^{-2})$$
 if  $B \le Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$ ,

(26.3.53) 
$$\zeta(\mathbf{x}) = Z^{\frac{1}{2}} \ell(\mathbf{x})^{-\frac{1}{2}}$$
 if  $B \ge Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$ ;

*Proof.* This proof is rather obvious corollary of the Thomas-Fermi equation (26.2.3). See also arguments below.

Let us consider  $B(z, \ell(z))$  with  $\zeta^2 \gtrsim B$  and rescale  $x \mapsto x\ell^{-1}$ ,  $W \mapsto w = \zeta^{-2}(W + \nu)$  (where we included  $\nu$  for a convenience). After such rescaling  $w \in \mathscr{C}^{\frac{5}{2}}$  uniformly, but there is more: Thomas-Fermi equation (26.2.3) translates into

(26.3.54) 
$$\frac{1}{4\pi}\Delta w = \ell^2 P'_{\beta}(w) = \ell^2 \zeta P'(w) + \ell^2 \zeta (P'_{\beta}(w) - P'(w))$$

with  $\beta = B\zeta^{-2}$ ; observe that  $P'_B(W)$  is positively homogeneous of degree 3 with respect to (W, B).

Note that parameter  $\eta \coloneqq \zeta \ell^2 \lesssim 1$  and  $\eta \asymp 1$  if and only if  $B \lesssim Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  and  $\ell \gtrsim Z^{-\frac{4}{3}}$  (in which case  $\zeta \asymp \ell^{-2}$ ).

Also note that the first term and the second terms in the right-hand expression of (26.3.54) belong to  $\mathscr{C}^{\frac{5}{2}}$  and  $\beta \eta \mathscr{C}^{\frac{1}{2}}$  respectively uniformly<sup>18)</sup> and

(26.3.55) 
$$\beta \eta = \beta \zeta \ell^2 = B \zeta^{-1} \ell^2, \qquad \eta \coloneqq \zeta \ell^2 \qquad \text{if } \beta \lesssim 1.$$

Because of this  $w \in \mathscr{C}^{\frac{9}{2}} \oplus \beta \eta \mathscr{C}^{\frac{5}{2}}$  again uniformly. Iterating, we conclude that  $w \in \mathscr{C}^n \oplus \beta \eta \mathscr{C}^{\frac{5}{2}}$  with arbitrarily large exponent n.

On the other hand, if  $B \gtrsim \zeta^2$  (i.e.  $\beta \gtrsim 1$ ) without invoking  $P'_B$  one can prove easily that  $w \in \eta \mathscr{C}^{\frac{5}{2}}$  with

$$(26.3.55)' \qquad \qquad \eta \coloneqq \beta \zeta \ell^2 = B \zeta^{-1} \ell^2 \qquad \text{if} \quad \beta \gtrsim 1.$$

Therefore we have proven

(26.3.56)  $w \in \mathcal{C}^n \oplus \beta \eta \mathcal{C}^{\frac{5}{2}}$  with arbitrarily large exponent n as  $\beta \lesssim 1$  and  $w \in \eta \mathcal{C}^{\frac{5}{2}}$  as  $\beta \gtrsim 1$ 

and one can see easily that

(26.3.57) Parameter  $\eta = B\zeta^{-1}\ell^2$  is O(1) and  $\eta \asymp 1$  iff either  $B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  and  $\ell \asymp B^{-\frac{1}{4}} \text{ or } B \geq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  and  $\ell \asymp B^{-\frac{2}{5}}Z^{\frac{1}{5}}$  (i.e. near border of  $\text{supp}(\rho_B^{\mathsf{TF}})$ , uncut by  $\nu$ ).

Remark 26.3.12. It may seem strange to define  $\eta$  differently as  $\beta \leq 1$  and  $\beta \geq 1$  but there is a good reason for this when we consider the case of  $M \geq 2$ . Anyway,  $\eta$  is the magnitude of the right-hand expression of (26.3.54).

**Proposition 26.3.13.** (i) Let  $w_{\varepsilon}$  be a  $\varepsilon$ -mollification of w with  $\varepsilon \leq \min(\beta, h^{\delta})$  (recall that  $h = 1/(\zeta \ell)$ ). Then if  $\beta \leq 1$  the following estimates hold:

(26.3.58)	$  abla^lpha({\it w}-{\it w}_arepsilon) \leq {\it c}_lphaeta\etaarepsilon^{rac{5}{2}- lpha }$	$\forall \alpha :  \alpha  \leq 2,$
-----------	--	-------------------------------------

(26.3.59)  $|P_{\beta}(w) - P_{\beta}(w_{\varepsilon})| \le c\beta\eta\varepsilon^{\frac{5}{2}}$ 

and

 $(26.3.60) \qquad |P_{\beta}'(w) - P_{\beta}'(w_{\varepsilon})| \le c\beta^{\frac{3}{2}}\eta^{\frac{1}{2}}\varepsilon^{\frac{5}{4}} + c\beta\eta\varepsilon^{\frac{5}{2}};$ 

 $^{18)}$  I.e. norms do not depend on any parameters.

(ii) On the other hand, if  $\beta \gtrsim 1$  the right-hand expressions of (26.3.58)–(26.3.60) should be replaced by the similar expressions albeit without  $\beta$ :

$$(26.3.58)' \qquad |\nabla^{\alpha}(\mathbf{w} - \mathbf{w}_{\varepsilon})| \le c_{\alpha} \eta \varepsilon^{\frac{5}{2} - |\alpha|} \qquad \forall \alpha : |\alpha| \le 2$$

$$(26.3.59)' \qquad |P_{\beta}(w) - P_{\beta}(w_{\varepsilon})| \le c\eta \varepsilon^{\frac{5}{2}}$$

and

$$(26.3.60)' \qquad |P'_{\beta}(w) - P'_{\beta}(w_{\varepsilon})| \le c\eta^{\frac{1}{2}}\varepsilon^{\frac{5}{4}}.$$

(iii) Further, under assumption  $|\nabla w| \approx 1$  in both cases

(26.3.61) 
$$|\int \phi(x) (P_{\beta}(w) - P_{\beta}(w_{\varepsilon})) dx| \leq c \eta \varepsilon^{\frac{7}{2}},$$

(26.3.62) 
$$|\int \phi(x) (P'_{\beta}(w) - P'_{\beta}(w_{\varepsilon})) dx| \le c \eta \varepsilon^{\frac{9}{4}}$$

and

(26.3.63) 
$$\mathsf{D}\big(\phi(P'_{\beta}(w) - P'_{\beta}(w_{\varepsilon})), \ \phi(P'_{\beta}(w) - P'_{\beta}(w_{\varepsilon}))\big) \le c\eta^{2}\varepsilon^{\frac{9}{2}}.$$

*Proof.* Proof of Statement (i) is trivial; in particular, we observe that  $\eta \varepsilon^{\frac{5}{2}} \lesssim \beta$ .

Proof of Statement (iii) is also easy since then  $w_{\varepsilon}$  is different from w on the set of measure  $\asymp \beta^{-1}\varepsilon$  if  $\beta \leq C_0$  and on the set of measure  $\asymp \varepsilon$  if  $\beta \geq C_0$ . Actually w is uniformly smooth if  $\beta \gtrsim 1$  and  $\ell(x) \leq \epsilon \overline{r}$  and we do not need any mollification here.

One definitely can improve estimates (26.3.61)–(26.3.63) but we do not need it.

Consider now the analytical expressions and estimate the semiclassical errors.

Remark 26.3.14. (i) From now on until the end of this Section we assume that M = 1 to avoid possible degenerations.

(ii) Recall that we can reduce operator with mollified potential to a canonical form provided  $\varepsilon \geq C(\mu^{-1}h)^{\frac{1}{2}}|\log \mu|$  (see Section 18.7). However here we will have a much better estimate since we will take  $\varepsilon \geq h^{\frac{2}{3}-\delta}$ .

# Charge Term

Let us consider the *charge term* i.e. expression  $\int e(x, x, \nu) dx = (\operatorname{Tr} \theta(\nu - H)).$ 

Regular Zone. Then the results of Section 18.9 implies that as

(26.3.64)  $W + \nu \asymp \zeta^2$ and (26.3.65)  $|\nabla W| \asymp \zeta^2 \ell^{-1}$ 

contribution of the ball  $B(x, \ell(x))$  to expression (26.3.24) does not exceed  $C(1 + \mu h)h^{-2} \simeq C\zeta^2\ell^2 + CB\ell^2$  exactly as in the mock proof.

Then summation with respect to  $\ell$ -partition in this zone results in  $CB^{\frac{2}{3}}$ as  $B \leq Z$ ,  $CZ^{\frac{2}{3}}$  as  $Z \leq B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  and  $CB^{\frac{1}{5}}Z^{\frac{2}{5}}$  as  $Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^{3}$ .

Remark 26.3.15. (i) Condition (26.3.64) is fulfilled as  $\ell(x) \le \epsilon \overline{r}$ .

(ii) Further, since M = 1 both conditions (26.3.64) and (26.3.65) are fulfilled if  $|x| \leq (1 - \epsilon)\bar{r}_m$  (we pick up  $y_m = 0$  and  $\bar{r}_m$  exact radius of  $\text{supp}(\rho_B^{\mathsf{TF}})$ ).

**Border Strip.** Now we need to consider the contribution of the border strip  $\mathcal{Y} \coloneqq \{x \colon \gamma(x) \leq \epsilon\}$  with  $\gamma(x) = \epsilon(\bar{r} - |x|)\bar{r}^{-1}$  and  $\bar{r} \coloneqq \bar{r}_m$ . Here  $\ell \asymp \bar{r}$ ,  $\zeta \asymp \bar{\zeta}$  with

(26.3.66) 
$$\bar{r} \asymp \begin{cases} (Z - N)_{+}^{-\frac{1}{3}} & \text{if } B \leq (Z - N)_{+}^{\frac{4}{3}}, \\ B^{-\frac{1}{4}} & \text{if } (Z - N)_{+}^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}, \\ Z^{\frac{1}{5}}B^{-\frac{2}{5}} & \text{if } Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq CZ^{3} \end{cases}$$

and

(26.3.67) 
$$\overline{\zeta} \asymp \begin{cases} (Z - N)_{+}^{\frac{2}{3}} & \text{if } B \leq (Z - N)_{+}^{\frac{4}{3}}, \\ B^{\frac{1}{2}} & \text{if } (Z - N)_{+}^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}, \\ Z^{\frac{2}{5}}B^{\frac{1}{5}} & \text{if } Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq CZ^{3} \end{cases}$$

and scaling we get  $\mu = B\bar{r}\bar{\zeta}^{-1}$  and  $h = \bar{\zeta}^{-1}\bar{r}^{-1}$  here.

Let us consider first the case  $\nu = 0$ . Then both conditions (26.3.64) and (26.3.65) are fulfilled albeit with  $\ell_1 = \gamma(x)\bar{r}$  and  $\varsigma(x) = \bar{\zeta}\gamma(x)^2$  instead of  $\ell$  and  $\zeta$ .

Thus if  $\varsigma \ell_1 \geq 1$  (i.e.  $\gamma \geq \bar{\gamma} \coloneqq h^{\frac{1}{3}}$ ), the contribution of the ball  $B(x, \gamma(x)\bar{r})$  to the remainder does not exceed  $C\mu h^{-1}\gamma^{2} \, {}^{(19)}$  and therefore the total contribution of zone  $\mathcal{Y}_1 := \{x \colon \bar{\gamma} \leq \gamma(x) \leq \epsilon \bar{r}\}$  to the remainder does not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19)</sup> Really, after additional rescaling  $x \mapsto x\gamma^{-1}$ ,  $w \mapsto w\gamma^{-2}$  we have  $\mu_1 = \mu\gamma^{-1}$ ,  $h_1 = h\gamma^{-3}$  and  $\mu_1 h_1^{-1} = \mu h^{-1} \gamma^2$ .

exceed

(26.3.68) 
$$C\mu h^{-1} \int \gamma(x)^{-1} dx \asymp C\mu h^{-1} |\log h| = CB\bar{r}^2 |\log h|$$

which is  $O(Z^{\frac{2}{3}})$  as long as  $B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}(\log Z)^{-2}$ .

Further, the same approach works if  $|\nu| \lesssim \bar{\zeta}^2 \bar{\gamma}^3 \asymp \bar{\zeta}^2 h \asymp \bar{\zeta} \bar{r}^{-1}$  which is equivalent to  $(Z - N)_+ \leq \bar{\zeta}$  (then  $|\nabla W| \asymp \bar{\zeta}^2 \ell_1^{-1}$  if  $\gamma(x) \geq \bar{\gamma}$ ) and also if this condition is violated but  $|\nu| \leq \bar{\zeta}^2$ ; in the latter case we need to pick up  $\bar{\gamma} = \bar{\gamma}_1 := |\nu|^{\frac{1}{3}} \bar{\zeta}^{-\frac{2}{3}}$ .

To get rid of the logarithmic factor let us consider propagation. Recall that it goes along magnetic lines i.e. that  $(x_1, x_2)$  remains constant. Let us consider propagation in the direction in which  $|x_3|$  increases (i.e.  $\gamma(x)$  decays); we do not need to consider zone  $\mathcal{Y}_1 \cap \{|x_3| \leq Z^{-\delta}\bar{r}\}$  since contribution of this zone (26.3.68) is  $o(B\bar{r}^2)$ .

One can see easily that we can follow dynamics which does not return for a time  $T_1^*(x) := T_1(x)(\gamma(x)/\bar{\gamma})^{\delta}$  where  $T(x) \simeq \ell_1^{-1}\varsigma^{-1} \simeq \bar{r}\bar{\zeta}^{-1}\gamma^{-1}$  is a time required for this dynamics to pass though  $B(x, \ell_1(x))$ . Therefore one can replace (26.3.68) by

(26.3.69) 
$$C\mu h^{-1} \int_{\{x: \gamma(x) \ge \bar{\gamma}\}} \bar{\gamma}^{\delta} \gamma(x)^{-1-\delta} dx \asymp C\mu h^{-1} = CB\bar{r}^2.$$

Further, as  $|\nu| \ge B\bar{r}$  we need also to consider zone  $\mathcal{Y}_0 := \{x : \gamma(x) \le \bar{\gamma}\}$ . In this zone we take  $\ell_1 = \bar{\ell}_1 = \bar{\gamma}\bar{r}$  and  $\varsigma = \bar{\varsigma} = (|\nu|\bar{\gamma})^{\frac{1}{2}}$  with  $\ell_1\varsigma \ge 1$  and since  $|\nabla W| \simeq \varsigma^2 \ell_1^{-1}$ , contribution of  $B(x, \ell_1(x))$  to the remainder does not exceed  $CB\bar{\ell}_1^2$  and the total contribution of  $\mathcal{Y}_2$  does not exceed  $CB\bar{r}^2$  which what exactly we achieved for zone  $\mathcal{Y}_1$  after we got rid of logarithm. We take mollification parameter  $\varepsilon = \bar{\varsigma}^{-1}Z^{\delta 20}$ .

Furthermore, zone  $\mathcal{Y}_3=\{x\colon |x|\geq \bar{r}+\bar{\ell}_1\}$  is classically forbidden. So we can take here

(26.3.70) 
$$\ell_1(x) = \epsilon(|x| - \bar{r}), \qquad \varsigma(x) = \min(\bar{\varsigma}\bar{\ell}_1^{-\frac{1}{2}}\ell_1(x)^{\frac{1}{2}}, |\nu|^{\frac{1}{2}})$$

and prove easily that its contribution also does not exceed  $CB\bar{r}^2$ .

Returning to the case  $|\nu| \lesssim \overline{\zeta}$  we see that the contribution of zone  $\mathcal{Y}_2$  to the remainder does not exceed  $CB\bar{r}^2$  because effective semiclassical

 $<sup>^{20)}</sup>$  One can see easily that the resulting errors in the expressions (26.3.24) and (26.3.25)–(26.3.26) will not violate our claims.

parameter here is  $h_1 = 1$  and non-degeneracy condition is of no concern for us. We take mollification parameter  $\varepsilon = \overline{\varsigma}^{-1} Z^{\delta 20}$ .

Moreover, we can modify W in  $\mathcal{Y}_2$  (make it negative there) so that this zone would be classically forbidden with  $\ell_1$ ,  $\varsigma$  defined by (26.3.70) with  $|\nu|$  replaced by  $\overline{\zeta}$ .

Finally in the case  $B \leq |\nu|$  (i. e.  $B \leq C(Z - N)^{\frac{4}{3}}_{+}$  we can apply the above arguments with  $\bar{\gamma} = 1$  and arrive to the same result. Therefore we proved in all cases

(26.3.71) If M = 1 the total contribution of the border strip  $\mathcal{Y}$  to the remainder in the charge term is  $O(B\bar{r}^2)$  which does not exceed  $CB^{\frac{1}{2}}$  as  $B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  and  $CB^{\frac{1}{5}}Z^{\frac{2}{5}}$  if  $Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^3$ .

**Conclusion.** If  $Z^2 \leq B \leq Z^3$  we need to estimate also contribution of the *inner core*  $\mathcal{X}_0 := \{x : \ell(x) \leq CZ^{-1}\}$ . By means of variational methods we will prove (see Corollary 26.A.5)

(26.3.72) If  $Z^2 \leq B \leq Z^3$  the contributions of  $\mathcal{X}_0$  to both  $\int e(x, x, \nu) dx$ and  $\int P'_B(W(x) + \nu) dx$  do not exceed  $CBZ^{-2}$ .

Then we arrive to the following

Proposition 26.3.16. Let M = 1. Then

(i) For constructed above potential W expression (26.3.24) does not exceed  $CZ^{\frac{2}{3}} + CB^{\frac{1}{5}}Z^{\frac{2}{5}}$ .

(ii) If  $B \leq Z$  expression (26.3.24) does not exceed  $C(B+1)^{\delta} Z^{\frac{2}{3}-\delta}$ .

### Trace Term

Let us consider the *trace term* i.e. expression  $\int e_1(x, x, \nu) dx = \text{Tr}((H - \nu)^-)$ .

**Regular Zone.** Here again let us consider first zone where  $|x| \leq (1 - \epsilon)\bar{r}$ . Then the contribution of  $B(x, \ell(x))$  to the Tauberian remainder<sup>21</sup> does not exceed  $C\zeta^2(h^{-1}+\mu) \simeq C\zeta^3\ell + CB\zeta\ell$  as in the mock proof and the summation over zone results in  $CZ^{\frac{5}{3}} + CZ^{\frac{4}{3}}B^{\frac{1}{3}} + CZ^{\frac{3}{5}}B^{\frac{4}{5}}$ .

 $<sup>^{21)}</sup>$  We will consider a bit later transition from the Tauberian expression to the magnetic Weyl expression.

**Border Strip.** Again in zone  $\mathcal{Y}_1$  contribution of  $B(x, \gamma(x))$  does not exceed  $CB_{\varsigma}\ell_1$  and the summation over this zone returns

$$(26.3.73) CB \int \varsigma \ell_1^{-2} \, dx$$

and plugging  $\ell_1 = \bar{r}\gamma$  and  $\varsigma = \bar{\zeta}\gamma^2$  results in  $CB^{\frac{5}{4}}$  as  $B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  and  $CB^{\frac{4}{5}}Z^{\frac{3}{5}}$  otherwise. The analysis of zone  $\mathcal{Y}_0$  if there  $\mathcal{Y}_2 = \emptyset$  is also easy.

Consider zones  $\mathcal{Y}_2$  and  $\mathcal{Y}_0$ . The same arguments as before imply that their contributions to the remainder do not exceed  $CB\bar{r}^2\bar{\varsigma}\bar{\ell}_1^{-1}$  which is what we got before.

#### Justification: from Tauberian to Magnetic Weyl Expression.

**Case**  $\mu h \leq C_0$ . We need to prove that with the announced error we can replace the Tauberian expression by magnetic Weyl one. Note that the canonical form of  $\zeta^{-2}H_{A,W}$  as described in Sections 13.3 and 18.7 is

(26.3.74) 
$$\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{H}_0 + \mu^{-2}\omega_1(x_1, \mu^{-1}hD_1, x_3) + \mu^{-2}\omega_2(x_1, \mu^{-1}hD_1, x_3)(x_2^2 + \mu^2h^2D_2^2) + \mu^{-1}h\omega_3(x_1, \mu^{-1}hD_1, x_3) + O(\mu^{-3}h(\gamma + \mu^{-1})^{-\frac{3}{2}} + \mu^{-4})$$

with

(26.3.75) 
$$\mathcal{H}_0 = h^2 D_3^2 - (x_2^2 + \mu^2 h^2 D_2^2 \pm \mu h) + w(x_1, \mu^{-1} h D_1, x_3)$$

and

(26.3.76) 
$$\gamma = \epsilon \min_{j} |w - 2j\mu h|$$

where we used the fact that  $w \in \mu h \mathscr{C}^{\frac{5}{2}} + \mathscr{C}^n$ ,  $\mu^{-3}h = \mu^{-4} \cdot \mu h$ . Here we have signs "+" and "-" on q/2 of the diagonal elements equally.

Then the Tauberian expression is

(26.3.77) const 
$$\cdot \mu h^{-2} \int \sum_{j \ge 0} \left( w - 2j\mu h - \mu^{-2}\omega_1 - 2j\mu^{-1}h\omega_2 \right)_+^{\frac{3}{2}} \times \left( \psi + \mu^{-2}\psi_1 + 2j\mu^{-1}h\psi_2 \right) dx$$

where term with j = 0 enters with the weight  $\frac{1}{2}$  and an error does not exceed

$$Ch^{-3}\Big(\mu^{-4}+\mu^{-3}h\int(\gamma+\mu^{-1})^{-\frac{3}{2}}dx\Big)\asymp C\mu^{-\frac{7}{2}}h^{-3}$$

because an integral does not exceed  $C\mu^{\frac{1}{2}}(\mu h)^{-1}$ ; since  $\mu \ge h^{-\frac{3}{5}}$  this error does not exceed  $Ch^{-\frac{9}{10}}$  which is better than  $O(h^{-1})$ .

On the other hand, if we consider the difference between (26.3.77) and the same expression with  $\omega_1 = \omega_2 = \psi_1 = \psi_2 = 0$  and consider it as a Riemannian sum and replace it by an integral we get  $G\mu^{-2}h^{-3}$  with an error not exceeding  $C\mu^{-4}(\mu h)^{\frac{1}{2}}h^{-3}$  which is even less. Therefore (26.3.77) becomes

$$\int P_{\mu h}(w)\psi\,dx+G\mu^{-2}h^{-3}$$

and comparing with the result if  $\mu \simeq h^{-\frac{3}{5}}$  when we get the same answer albeit with G = 0 we conclude that G must be 0. This concludes the justification in  $\mathcal{X}_2$ .

**Case**  $\mu h \geq C_0$ . In this case we need a simplified version of (26.3.74)  $\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{H}_0 + O(\mu^{-1}h)$  and we need to consider only j = 0 and replacing  $\mathcal{H}$  by  $\mathcal{H}_0$  brings and error  $C\mu h^{-2} \times \mu^{-1}h = O(h^{-1})$ . This takes care of  $\mathcal{X}_2$  and after scaling of  $\mathcal{Y}$ .

**Conclusion.** As  $Z^2 \leq B \leq Z^3$  we need to estimate also contribution of  $\mathcal{X}_0 = \{x : \ell(x) \leq CZ^{-1}\}$ . By means of variational methods we will prove (see Corollary 26.A.5)

(26.3.78) For  $Z^2 \leq B \leq Z^3$  the contributions of  $\mathcal{X}_0$  to both  $\int e_1(x, x, \nu) dx$ and  $\int P'_B(W(x) + \nu) dx$  do not exceed CB.

Then we arrive to the following

Proposition 26.3.17. Let M = 1. Then

(i) For constructed above potential W expression (26.3.26) does not exceed  $CZ^{\frac{5}{3}} + CZ^{\frac{4}{3}}B^{\frac{1}{3}} + CZ^{\frac{3}{5}}B^{\frac{4}{5}}$ .

(ii) If  $B \leq Z$  expression (26.3.26) does not exceed  $C(B+1)^{\delta}Z^{\frac{5}{3}-\delta}$  (but one should subtract a Schwinger term from the trace).

#### Semiclassical D-Term: Local Theory

Unfortunately, we do not have any non-smooth theory (cf. Section 16.8) here so far but actually we almost do not need it since singularities are rather rare. Let us introduce a scaling function (26.3.76) and consider

(26.3.79) 
$$J_{\lambda}(z) = \int \phi_{z,\lambda}(x) \big( e(x, x, \tau) - P_{\beta}(w(x) + \tau) \big) dx$$

with  $\phi_{z,\lambda}(x) = \phi(\lambda^{-1}(x-z))$  and  $\lambda \leq \gamma(z)$ . Scaling  $x \mapsto \lambda^{-1}(x-z)$  we have  $\mu \mapsto \mu' = \lambda \mu$  and  $h \mapsto h' = \lambda^{-1}h$ .

Then, according to Section 13.5

(26.3.80) 
$$|J_{\lambda}(z)| \leq Ch'^{-2}(1+\mu'h') \asymp C\lambda^{2}h^{-2}(1+\mu h)$$

as long as  $\lambda \geq h$ .

Really, a transition from the Tauberian decomposition to magnetic Weyl one in this case is easy: skipping all perturbation terms  $O(\mu^{-2} + \mu^{-1}h)$  in (26.3.74) and also setting  $\psi_1 = \psi_2 = 0$  results in an error  $O(\mu^{-2}h^{-3} + h^{-1})$  in (26.3.77)-like expression albeit with the power  $\frac{1}{2}$  rather than  $\frac{3}{2}$  and without integration:

(26.3.81) const 
$$\cdot \mu h^{-2} \sum_{j \ge 0} (w - 2j\mu h - \mu^{-2}\omega_1 - 2j\mu^{-1}h\omega_2)_+^{\frac{1}{2}} \times (\psi + \mu^{-2}\psi_1 + 2j\mu^{-1}h\psi_2);$$

scaling produces expression smaller than (26.3.80).

Let us apply this estimate (26.3.80) to the Fefferman–de Llave decomposition (26.3.8).

# Case $\mu \leq C_0 h^{-1}$ .

(i) Consider first a pair (z, z') such that  $|z' - z''| \leq \epsilon_0 \gamma(z')$ ; then also  $|z' - z''| \leq \epsilon_0 \gamma(z'')$  and we take  $\lambda = \epsilon |z' - z''|$ .

Then in the virtue of (26.3.80) the total contribution to D-term of all such pairs belonging to  $B(z, \gamma(z))$ , and with  $|z' - z''| \approx \lambda$  does not exceed

(26.3.82) 
$$C\gamma^3\lambda^{-3} \times \lambda^{-1} \times \lambda^2 h^{-4} (1+\mu h)^2 \simeq C\gamma^3 h^{-4} (1+\mu h)^2$$

where  $C\gamma^3\lambda^{-3}$  estimate the number of such pairs,  $\lambda^{-1}$  the inverse distance between them, and  $C\lambda^2h^{-2}(1+\mu h)$  is the right-hand expression of (26.3.80).

Then summation over  $\lambda \in (\mu^{-1}, \gamma)$  results in  $C\gamma^3(1+\mu h)^2 h^{-4} |\log(\mu \gamma)|$ .

Further, summation over all balls  $B(z, \gamma) \subset B(0, 1)$  with  $\gamma(z) \asymp \gamma$  results in  $C(\mu h)^{-1} \gamma h^{-4} |\log(\mu \gamma)|$  since there are  $\asymp (\mu h)^{-1} \gamma^{-2}$  such balls due to nondegeneracy assumption  $|\nabla w| \asymp 1$ . Summation over  $\gamma \in (\mu^{-1}, \mu h)$  results in  $Ch^{-4} |\log(\mu^2 h)|$ .

As  $\lambda \leq \mu^{-1}$  we can apply standard non-magnetic methods without Fefferman–de Llave decomposition (26.3.8). Coefficients are smooth after scaling as long as  $\varepsilon \geq \mu^{-1}$ .

(ii) Consider *disjoint* pairs (z', z'') with  $|z' - z''| \ge \max(\gamma(z'), \gamma(z''))$ . Here estimate (26.3.80) is not sufficient and it should be replaced by

 $\begin{array}{ll} (26.3.83) & |J_{\gamma}(z)| \leq C \lambda^3 h^{-2} (1+\mu h) \\ \text{as long as} \\ (26.3.84) & \gamma \geq h^{\frac{2}{3}-\delta}. \end{array}$ 

Really, the shift for time T with respect to  $\xi_3$  is  $\asymp T$  provided  $|\nabla_{x_3}w| \asymp 1$ and this shift is observable if  $T \times \gamma \gtrsim h^{1-\delta}$ . Similarly, in the canonical form the shift for time T with respect to  $\mu^{-1}\xi_i$  is  $\asymp \mu^{-1}T$  provided  $|\nabla_{x_i}w| \asymp 1$ and this shift is observable if  $\mu^{-1}T \times \gamma \gtrsim \mu^{-1}h^{1-\delta}$ . In both cases shift with  $T \in (\gamma^{\frac{1}{2}}, \epsilon_0)$  is observable under assumption (26.3.84) and therefore we can extend  $T \asymp \gamma^{\frac{1}{2}}$  to  $T \asymp 1$ .

Note that for  $\varepsilon \geq h^{\frac{2}{3}-\delta}$  assumption (26.3.84) is fulfilled automatically. Then contribution of each disjoint pair to D-term does not exceed

$$Ch^{-4}(1+\mu h)^2 \gamma(z')^3 \gamma(z'')^3 |z'-z''|^{-1}$$

and the total contribution does not exceed

$$Ch^{-4}(1+\mu h)^2 \iint |z'-z''|^{-1} dz' dz'' \asymp Ch^{-4}(1+\mu h)^2$$

(iii) To shed of logarithm in (i) we need a slightly better estimate than (26.3.80). The same arguments as in Part (ii) result in

(26.3.85) 
$$|J_{\lambda}(z)| \leq C\lambda^2 h^{-2} (1+\mu h) \cdot (1+\lambda\gamma/h)^{-\delta}.$$

Really, we just advance from time  $T \simeq \lambda$  to  $T \simeq \lambda (1 + \lambda \gamma / h)^{\delta}$ .

Then the same factor is acquired by the right-hand expression of (26.3.82) and the summation with respect to  $\lambda \in (h\gamma^{-1}, \gamma)$  results in  $C\gamma^3(1+\mu h)^2 h^{-4}$  but summation with respect to  $\lambda \in (\mu^{-1}, h\gamma^{-1})$  results

$$C\gamma^3(1+\mu h)^2h^{-4}(1+|\log(\mu h\gamma^{-1})|).$$

Further, summation over all balls  $B(z, \gamma) \subset B(0, 1)$  with  $\gamma(z) \simeq \gamma$  results in  $C(\mu h)^{-1}\gamma(1 + \mu h)^2 h^{-4}(1 + |\log(\mu h \gamma^{-1})|)$  and, finally, summation over  $\gamma \lesssim \mu h$  results in  $Ch^{-4}(1 + \mu h)^2$ .

Note that in all cases perturbation terms in (26.3.74) and (26.3.81) result in the error not exceeding the announced one.

Case  $\mu \ge C_0 h^{-1}$ . So far factor  $(1 + \mu h)$  was for a compatibility only. Now it is important.

Exactly the same arguments work as  $\mu \geq C_0 h^{-1}$  with a minor modifications:

(a)  $\gamma(x)$  now is defined by (26.3.76) with j = 0 and its upper bound is 1 rather than  $\mu h$ .

(b) Also the number of  $\gamma$ -balls is  $\simeq \gamma^{-2}$  rather than  $\simeq (\mu h)^{-1} \gamma^{-2}$ ;

(c)  $\lambda$  now runs from h to  $\gamma$  in (i) and (iii).

(d) We need to estimate contribution of pairs (z', z'') with  $|z' - z''| \le h$ . One can see easily that  $e(x, x, \tau) \le \mu h^{-2}$  and therefore the total contribution of these pairs does not exceed  $C\mu^2 h^{-4} \iint |z' - z''|^{-1} dz' dz'' \simeq C\mu^2 h^{-4} \times h^2 \simeq C\mu^2 h^{-2}$ .

Therefore we have the following

**Proposition 26.3.18.** As  $|\nabla w| \approx 1$  and  $\varepsilon \geq h^{\frac{2}{3}-\delta}$  in B(0,1) and  $\phi \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(B(0,\frac{1}{2}))$ 

(26.3.86) 
$$\mathsf{D}\Big(\phi\big(e(x,x,\tau)-P'_{\beta}(w(x)+\tau)\big),\phi\big(e(x,x,\nu)-P'_{\beta}(w(x)+\tau)\big) \le C(1+\mu h)^2 h^{-4}.$$

Remark 26.3.19. One can see easily that one can select  $\varepsilon \geq h^{\frac{2}{3}-\delta}$  such that expressions (26.3.61), (26.3.62) and (26.3.62) will be respectively  $O(h^{2+\delta})$ ,  $O(h^{1+\delta})$  and  $O(h^{2+\delta})$ .

#### Semiclassical D-Term: Global Theory

**Regular Zone.** The above results allow us to consider a total contribution of zone  $\mathcal{X}_2$  into semiclassical D-term. As before let us consider  $\ell$ -admissible partition of unity there and apply it to Fefferman-de Llave decomposition (26.3.8). Then the total contribution of the elements which are not disjoint does not exceed

(26.3.87) 
$$\sum_{n} \ell_{n}^{-1} (1 + B\zeta_{n}^{-2})^{2} \ell_{n}^{4} \zeta_{n}^{4} \asymp \int (\zeta^{4} + B^{2}) \ell^{3} \ell^{-1} d\ell$$

where  $(1 + B\zeta_n^{-2})^2$  and  $\ell_n^4\zeta_n^4$  are  $(1 + \mu h)$  and  $h^{-4}$  respectively and  $\ell_n^{-1}$  is a scaling factor.

Then if  $\zeta^2 = Z\ell^{-1}$ , an integral equals to the value of the selected expression as  $\ell$  reaches its maximum, i.e. for  $\ell = Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  for  $B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  and  $\ell = Z^{\frac{1}{5}}B^{-\frac{2}{5}}$  for  $Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^3$  and we arrive to  $CZ^{\frac{5}{3}}$  and  $CZ^{\frac{3}{5}}B^{\frac{4}{5}}$  respectively.

On the other hand, if  $\zeta^2 = \ell^{-4}$  an integral equals to the value of the selected expression as  $\ell$  reaches its minimum, i.e. for  $\ell = Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  and only in the case  $B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  and we arrive to  $CZ^{\frac{5}{3}}$  again.

Furthermore, the total contribution of the disjoint elements does not exceed

(26.3.88) 
$$\sum_{n,p} |z_n - z_p|^{-1} (1 + B\zeta_n^{-2}) (1 + B\zeta_p^{-2}) \ell_n^2 \zeta_n^2 \ell_p^2 \zeta_p^2 \asymp \int \int (\ell + \ell')^{-1} (\zeta^2 + B) \ell^2 (\zeta'^2 + B) \ell'^2 \ell^{-1} d\ell \ell'^{-1} d\ell'.$$

Then if  $\zeta^2 = Z\ell^{-1}$  and  $\zeta'^2 = Z\ell'^{-1}$  an integral equals to the value of the selected expression as both  $\ell$  and  $\ell'$  reach their maxima, and we arrive to  $CZ^{\frac{5}{3}}$  and  $CZ^{\frac{3}{5}}B^{\frac{4}{5}}$  respectively.

On the other hand, if  $\zeta^2 = \ell^{-4}$  and  $\zeta'^2 = \ell'^{-4}$  (we do not need to consider mixed pair) an integral equals to the value of the selected expression as both  $\ell$  and  $\ell'$  reach their minima, and we arrive to  $CZ^{\frac{5}{3}}$ .

Therefore (combining with Proposition 26.A.5 as  $Z^2 \leq B \leq Z^3)$  we arrive to

Proposition 26.3.20. Let M = 1. Then

(i) The total contribution of the zone  $\{x: \ell(x) \leq (1-\epsilon)\overline{r}\}$  to the semiclassical D-term does not exceed  $CZ^{\frac{5}{3}}$  and  $CZ^{\frac{3}{5}}B^{\frac{4}{5}}$  for  $B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  and for  $Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^3$  respectively.

(ii) If  $B \leq Z$  this contribution does not exceed  $C(B+1)^{\delta}Z^{\frac{5}{3}-\delta}$ .

**Border Strip.** Border strip  $\mathcal{Y} = \{x : (1 - \epsilon)\overline{r} \le \ell(x) \le (1 + \epsilon)\overline{r}\}$  is more subtle. Here we need to use the same  $\ell_1(x) = \epsilon_0(\overline{r} - |x|)$  partition as before.

Remark 26.3.21.  $\mathcal{Y}$  is already covered by our arguments if  $\bar{r} \simeq (Z - N)_{+}^{-\frac{1}{3}}$ .

**Close Elements.** Consider first contribution of elements which are not disjoint. It is given by the left-hand expression of (26.3.87) with  $\ell$ ,  $\zeta$  replaced by  $\ell_1(x) = \bar{r}\gamma(x)$  and  $\varsigma(x) = \bar{\zeta}\gamma(x)^2$  respectively. However since the layer  $\{x : \gamma(x) \asymp \gamma\}$  contains  $\asymp \gamma^{-2}$  elements the right-hand expression should be replaced by

$$\int B^2 \bar{r}^3 \gamma \gamma^{-1} d\gamma \asymp B^2 \bar{r}^3$$

since  $\varsigma^2 \leq B$ ; so we arrive to  $O(\max(B^{\frac{5}{4}}, Z^{\frac{3}{5}}B^{\frac{4}{5}}))$ .

Meanwhile for  $\mathcal{Y}_2$  we have  $\gamma(x) = \bar{\gamma} \leq 1$  and  $\varsigma(x) = \bar{\varsigma} = \bar{\zeta}\bar{\gamma}^2$  and its contribution does not exceed what we got for  $\mathcal{Y}_1$ .

**Disjoint Elements.** Consider contribution of the disjoint elements. It is given by the left-hand expression of (26.3.88) with  $\ell$ ,  $\zeta$  replaced by  $\gamma$  and  $\varsigma$  respectively. Note that  $\sum_{n,p} |z_n - z_p|^{-1} \approx \bar{r}^{-1} \gamma^{-2} \gamma'^{-2}$  where we sum with respect to all pairs with  $\gamma_n \approx \gamma$  and  $\gamma_p \approx \gamma'$ . Therefore the right-hand expression should be replaced by

(26.3.89) 
$$\int \bar{r}^3 B^2 \gamma^{-1} d\gamma \gamma'^{-1} d\gamma'$$

which leads to  $C\bar{r}^3 B^2 |\log(\bar{r}^{-1}\bar{\gamma})|^2$  which differs from what we got before by a logarithmic factor. To get rid of it we will use exactly the same trick as in Paragraph 26.3.3.2.2. Border Strip proving Proposition 26.3.16 because considering disjoint pairs we consider the same objects as there. Then instead of (26.3.89) we arrive to

$$\int \bar{r}^{3} B^{2} \gamma^{-\delta} \gamma'^{-\delta} \bar{\gamma}^{2\delta} \gamma^{-1} d\gamma \gamma'^{-1} d\gamma'$$

which results in  $C\bar{r}^3B^2$ .

Meanwhile for  $\mathcal{Y}_2$  we have  $\gamma(x) = \overline{\gamma} \leq \overline{r}$  and  $\varsigma(x) = \overline{\varsigma} = \overline{\zeta}\overline{\gamma}^2$  and its contribution does not exceed what we got for  $\mathcal{Y}_1$ .

**Conclusion.** Finally, analysis in the outer zone is trivial. Therefore we arrive

**Proposition 26.3.22.** Let M = 1. Then for constructed above potential W

- (i) Expression (26.3.25) does not exceed  $CZ^{\frac{5}{3}} + CZ^{\frac{3}{5}}B^{\frac{4}{5}}$ .
- (ii) If B < Z expression (26.3.25) does not exceed  $C(B+1)^{\delta} Z^{\frac{5}{3}-\delta}$ .

# **Applying Semiclassical Methods:** 26.4M > 2

Let us consider now the molecular case (M > 2). The major problem is that the non-degeneracy condition  $|\nabla w| \simeq 1$  is not necessarily fulfilled. Therefore we need to find an alternative approach to the zone where  $\mu \ge h^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  (with  $\mu = B\ell\zeta^{-1}$  and  $h = 1/\ell\zeta$ ). Recall that it consists of three smaller zones: zone  $\mathcal{X}_2 := \{ \mu h \leq C_0, W_B^{\mathsf{TF}} \geq \epsilon_0 \zeta^2 \}^{22}, \text{ zone } \mathcal{X}_3 := \{ \mu h \geq C_0, W_B^{\mathsf{TF}} \geq \epsilon_0 \zeta^2 \}^{23},$ and the (most difficult) boundary strip  $\mathcal{Y} = \{ W_B^{\mathsf{TF}} \leq \epsilon_0 \zeta^2 \}$ , which we leave for the next Section 26.5.

#### Scaling Functions in Zone $\mathcal{X}_2$ 26.4.1

Step 1. We will use the scaling method in this zone; the good news is that  $W_B^{\mathsf{TF}}$  is sufficiently regular after a proper rescaling and also sufficiently non-degenerate. Recall that after we rescale  $x \mapsto \bar{\ell}^{-1}(x-\bar{x}), \tau \mapsto \bar{\zeta}^{-2}\tau$  in the ball  $B(\bar{x}, \frac{1}{2}\bar{\ell})$  with  $\bar{\ell} = \ell(\bar{x}), \, \bar{\zeta} = Z^{\frac{1}{2}}\bar{\ell}^{-1}$ , the rescaled potential  $w = \bar{\zeta}^{-2}W_B^{\mathsf{TF}}$ satisfies in B(0,2) equation

(26.4.1) 
$$\frac{1}{4\pi}\Delta w = \eta P'_{\beta}(w)$$
 with  $\eta = \overline{\zeta}\overline{\ell}^2 \lesssim 1$ ,  $\beta = \mu h = B\overline{\zeta}^{-2} \leq 1$ 

and therefore in B(0, 1)

(26.4.2) 
$$w = -\frac{1}{4\pi} \int |x - z|^{-1} \eta P'_{\beta}(w(z))\phi(z) \, dz + w'$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22)</sup> Only if  $B \leq C_1 Z^2$ ; this zone disappears for  $C_1 Z^2 \leq B \lesssim Z^3$ . <sup>23)</sup> Only if  $Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \lesssim B \lesssim Z^3$ ; this zone disappears for  $B \lesssim Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$ .

with  $\phi \in \mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}(B(0, \frac{5}{6}))$  and  $w' \in \mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}(B(0, \frac{3}{4}))$ .

Remark 26.4.1. (i) If  $\zeta^2 \simeq Z\ell^{-1}$  then  $\eta = Z^{\frac{1}{2}}\ell^{\frac{3}{2}} \leq 1$ ; this happens for  $B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}, \ell \lesssim Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  and for  $B \geq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}, \ell \lesssim B^{-\frac{1}{3}}$ .

(ii) If  $\zeta^2 \simeq \ell^{-2}$  then  $\eta \simeq 1$ ; this happens only for  $B \le Z^{\frac{4}{3}}, \, \ell \gtrsim Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$ .

Let us introduce a function

(26.4.3) 
$$\gamma_0(x) = \left(\min_j |w - 2j\beta|^3 + |\nabla w|^4 + |\nabla^2 w|^6 + |\nabla^3 w'|^{12}\right)^{\frac{1}{12}}.$$

*Remark 26.4.2.* We cannot replace w' by w in the last term because  $w \in \mathcal{C}^{\frac{5}{2}}$  only rather than  $\mathcal{C}^{3}$ .

**Proposition 26.4.3.**  $\gamma_0(x)$  is a scaling function i.e.  $|x - y| \le \epsilon \gamma_0(x) \Longrightarrow \gamma_0(y) \asymp \gamma_0(x)$ .

*Proof.* (a) If w belonged to  $\mathscr{C}^4$  (and we would put w instead of w' in the last term of (26.4.3)) then we would just prove that  $|\nabla \gamma_0| \leq c$ . Here we should be more subtle. We need to prove that if

$$(26.4.4)_{1,2} \qquad \min_{j} |w - 2j\beta| \le \gamma_0^4, \qquad |\nabla w| \le \gamma_0^3,$$

$$(26.4.4)_{3,4} |\nabla^2 w| \le \gamma_0^2, |\nabla^3 w'| \le \gamma_0$$

at point x, then at point y the same inequalities hold with  $\gamma_0$  replaced by  $c\gamma_0^{24)}$ . Definitely this is true for  $(26.4.4)_4$  since w' is smooth.

(b) Consider  $|\nabla^2 w|$ . Consider  $|\Lambda_{\alpha} w(y) - \Lambda_{\alpha} w(x)|$  with  $\Lambda_{\alpha} = \nabla^{\alpha} - \frac{1}{3} \delta_{ij} \Delta$ ,  $\alpha = (i, j)$ . Then due to (26.4.2)

(26.4.5) 
$$|\Lambda_{\alpha,y}w(y) - \Lambda_{\alpha,x}w(x)| \leq |\eta \int (\Lambda_{\alpha,x}|x-z|^{-1} - \Lambda_{\alpha,y}|y-z|^{-1}) P_{\beta}'(w(z))\phi(z) dz| + \epsilon_1 \gamma_0^2$$

where the last term estimates  $|\Lambda_{\alpha,y}w'(y) - \Lambda_{\alpha,x}w'(x)|$  and we used  $(26.4.4)_4$ . Integrals here are understood in the sense of the principal value (vrai) and  $\epsilon_1 = \epsilon_1(\epsilon) \rightarrow +0$  as  $\epsilon \rightarrow +0$ .

 $<sup>^{24)}</sup>$  We need to prove a bit of converse as well; see Part (c).

Note that the integral in expression (26.4.5) does not change if we add to  $P'_{\beta}(w)$  any constant with respect to z.

Let us consider first this integral over  $\{z : |x - z| \ge 2\gamma_0\}$ , provided  $\gamma_0 \ge |x - y|$ , and note that this integral does not exceed

$$egin{aligned} &\eta|\int|x-z|^{-4}|x-y| imes\ &ig(|
abla w(x)|\cdot|x-z|+|
abla^2w(x)|\cdot|x-z|^2+|x-z|^{rac{5}{2}}ig)^{rac{1}{2}}\,dz|\leq C\epsilon_1\eta_2. \end{aligned}$$

Consider now integral over zone  $\{z : |x - z| \le 2\gamma_0\}$ :

$$|\eta \int \Lambda_{\alpha,x}|x-z|^{-1} \cdot \left(P_{\beta}'(w(z)) - P_{\beta}'(w(x))\right) dz|$$

and note that it also does not exceed  $\epsilon_1 \eta$ . Further, t same arguments work for this integral with x replaced by y but still integrated over zone  $\{z: |x-z| \leq 2\gamma_0\}$  (one needs to remember that  $|\nabla w(x) - \nabla w(y)| = O(\gamma_0)$ and  $|\nabla^2 w(x) - \nabla^2 w(y)| = O(\gamma_0^{\frac{1}{2}})$ ).

Furthermore, the same arguments work also for these expressions integrated over  $\{z: |y - z| \le 2\gamma_0\}$  and we are left with

$$|\eta \int \omega(x, y, z) (P'_{\beta}(w(x)) - P'_{\beta}(w(y))) dz|$$

integrated over zone  $\{z : |x - z| \simeq \gamma_0\}$  and  $\omega \simeq \gamma_0^{-3}$  and one can estimate it by  $\epsilon_1 \eta$  easily in the same way. Therefore since  $|\Delta w(x) - \Delta w(y)|$  does not exceed  $\epsilon_1 \eta$  we conclude that  $|\nabla^2 w(x) - \nabla^2 w(y)|$  does not exceed  $\epsilon_1(\eta + \gamma_0^2)$ .

However (26.4.2) implies that  $\eta \leq c\gamma_0^2$  since  $P'_{\beta}(w) \approx 1$  in  $\mathcal{X}_2$  and therefore  $|\nabla^2 w(x) - \nabla^2 w(y)| \leq \epsilon_1 \gamma_0^2$  in  $B(x, \gamma_0)$ .

Finally, combining this inequality with  $(26.4.4)_2$  we conclude that  $|\nabla w(x) - \nabla w(y)| \le \epsilon_1 \gamma_0^3$  in  $B(x, \gamma_0)$ ; finally, combining with  $(26.4.4)_1$  we conclude that  $|w(x) - w(y)| \le \epsilon_1 \gamma_0^4$  in  $B(x, \gamma_0)$ .

(c) Therefore  $(26.4.4)_{1-4}$  are fulfilled in  $y \in B(x, \epsilon\gamma_0)$  with  $\gamma_0$  replaced by  $\gamma_0(1 + C\epsilon_1)$ . Further, if we redefine  $\gamma_0$  as the minimal scale such that inequalities  $(26.4.4)_{1-4}$  are fulfilled in x, then  $(26.4.4)_{1-4}$  fail in  $y \in B(x, \epsilon\gamma_0)$ with  $\gamma_0$  replaced by  $\gamma_0(1 - C\epsilon_1)$ . Therefore with appropriate  $\epsilon > 0$  we conclude that  $\frac{1}{2} \leq \gamma_0(x)/\gamma_0(y) \leq 2$ . Obviously,  $\gamma_0 \simeq \gamma_{0old}$  where  $\gamma_{0old}$  was defined by (26.4.3) and therefore the same conclusion also holds for  $\gamma_{0old}$ .

Now let us reintroduce the scaling function

$$(26.4.3)^* \quad \gamma_0(x) = \epsilon \left( \min_j |w - 2j\beta|^3 + |\nabla w|^4 + |\nabla^2 w|^6 + |\nabla^3 w'|^{12} \right)^{\frac{1}{12}} + C_0 h^{\frac{1}{3}} + C_0 \eta^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

Then

(26.4.6)  $|x - y| \leq 2\gamma_0(x) \implies \gamma_0(y) \asymp \gamma_0(x)$  and (26.4.4)<sub>1-4</sub> hold (with some constant factor in the right-hand expression).

Consider  $B(\bar{x}, \bar{\gamma}_0), \bar{\gamma}_0 = \gamma_0(\bar{x})$ , and scale again  $x \mapsto \bar{\gamma}_0^{-1}(x - \bar{x}), \tau \mapsto \bar{\gamma}_0^{-4}\tau$ and respectively  $w \mapsto w_1 = \bar{\gamma}_0^{-4}(w - 2\bar{j}\beta)), h \mapsto h_1 = h\bar{\gamma}_0^{-3}$ . Further, since after rescaling  $|\Delta w_1| = O(\eta \bar{\gamma}_0^{-2})$  we set  $\eta \mapsto \eta_1 = \eta \bar{\gamma}_0^{-2}$ .

Due to cut-off in the end of  $(26.4.3)^* h_1 \leq 1$  and  $\eta_1 \leq 1$ . If  $\bar{\gamma}_0 \simeq h^{\frac{1}{3}}$  then  $h_1 \simeq 1$  and we are done. If  $\bar{\gamma}_0 \simeq \eta^{\frac{1}{2}}$  then  $\eta_1 \simeq 1$  and we proceed to Step 3.

**Step 2.** So, let  $\eta_1 \ll 1$ . Let us introduce a scaling function in B(0, 1) obtained after the previous rescaling:

(26.4.7) 
$$\gamma_1(x) = \epsilon \left( \min_j |w_1 + 2(\bar{j} - j)\beta\bar{\gamma}_0^{-4}|^2 + |\nabla w_1|^3 + |\nabla^2 w_1|^6 \right)^{\frac{1}{6}}.$$

Then

$$(26.4.8)_{1-2} \qquad \min_{j} |w_{1} + 2(\bar{j} - j)\beta\bar{\gamma}_{0}^{-4}| \le C_{0}\gamma_{1}^{3}, \qquad |\nabla w_{1}| \le C_{0}\gamma_{1}^{2},$$

$$(26.4.8)_3 \qquad |\nabla^2 w_1| \le C_0 \gamma_1$$

Remark 26.4.4<sup>25)</sup>. Since now we do not have the third derivative in (26.4.7), we do not need in  $w'_1$  in the definition of  $\gamma_1$ , only in the proof of Proposition 26.4.5 below.

**Proposition 26.4.5.** (i)  $\gamma_1(x)$  is a scaling function:  $|x - y| \le 2\gamma_1(x) \Longrightarrow \gamma_1(y) \asymp \gamma_1(x)$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25)</sup> Cf. Remark 26.4.2.

(ii) If 
$$\eta_1 \leq \epsilon_0$$
 then  
(26.4.9)  $|\nabla^2 w_1(x) - \nabla^2 w_1'(x)| \leq \epsilon_2 \gamma_1, \qquad w_1' = (w' - \overline{j}\beta)\gamma_0^{-4}.$ 

*Proof.* Proof is similar but simpler than one of Proposition 26.4.3; it is based on the rescaled version of (26.4.1)-(26.4.2):

(26.4.10) 
$$\frac{1}{4\pi}\Delta w_1 = \eta_1 P_\beta (w_1 \bar{\gamma}_0^4 + 2\bar{\jmath}\beta), \qquad \eta_1 = \eta \bar{\gamma}_0^{-2} \le 1$$

and therefore in B(0, 1)

(26.4.11) 
$$w_{1} = -\frac{1}{4\pi} \int |x - z|^{-1} \eta_{1} P_{\beta}'(w_{1}(z)\bar{\gamma}_{0}^{4} + 2\bar{\jmath}\beta)\phi(z) dz + w_{1}'.$$

Now let us reintroduce the scaling function

$$(26.4.7)^* \ \gamma_1(x) = \epsilon \left( \min_j |w_1 + 2(\bar{j} - j)\beta\bar{\gamma}_0^{-4}|^2 + |\nabla w_1|^3 + |\nabla^2 w_1|^6 \right)^{\frac{1}{6}} + C_0 h_1^{\frac{2}{5}}.$$

Then

(26.4.12)  $|x - y| \leq 2\gamma_0(x) \implies \gamma_0(y) \approx \gamma_0(x)$  and (26.4.8)<sub>1-3</sub> hold (with some constant factor in the right-hand expression).

Let us consider  $\bar{x} \in B(0, 1)$  (it is a new point),  $B(\bar{x}, \bar{\gamma}_1), \bar{\gamma}_1 = \gamma_1(\bar{x})$ , and scale again  $x \mapsto \bar{\gamma}_1^{-1}(x - \bar{x}), \tau \mapsto \bar{\gamma}_1^{-3}\tau$  and respectively  $w_1 \mapsto w_2 = \bar{\gamma}_1^{-3}w_1$ ,  $h_1 \mapsto h_2 = h_1 \bar{\gamma}_1^{-\frac{5}{2}}$ .

If  $\bar{\gamma}_1 \simeq h_1^{\frac{5}{5}}$  then  $h_2 \simeq 1$  and we are done. If  $|\nabla w_2| \simeq 1$  we are done as well.

**Step 3.** So, consider the remaining case  $|\nabla^2 w_2| \approx 1$ . Then we introduce the scaling function (now, we have no doubt that this is a scaling function):

(26.4.13) 
$$\gamma_2(x) = \epsilon \left( \min_j |w_2 + 2(\bar{j} - j)\beta \bar{\gamma}_0^{-4} \bar{\gamma}_1^{-3}| + |\nabla w_2|^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} + C_0 h_2^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

Let us consider  $\bar{x} \in B(0,1)$  (it is a new point),  $B(\bar{x}, \bar{\gamma}_2)$ ,  $\bar{\gamma}_2 = \gamma_2(\bar{x})$ , and scale again  $x \mapsto \bar{\gamma}_2^{-1}(x - \bar{x})$ ,  $\tau \mapsto \bar{\gamma}_2^{-2}\tau$  and respectively  $w_2 \mapsto w_3 = \bar{\gamma}_2^{-2}w_2$ ,  $h_2 \mapsto h_3 = h_2 \bar{\gamma}_2^{-2}$ .

If  $\bar{\gamma}_2 \simeq h_1^{\frac{1}{2}}$  then  $h_3 \simeq 1$  and we are done. If  $|\nabla w_3| \simeq 1$  we are done as well.

Step 4. Finally, introduce

(26.4.14) 
$$\gamma_3(x) = \epsilon \min_j |w_3 + 2(\bar{j} - j)\beta \bar{\gamma}_0^{-4} \bar{\gamma}_1^{-3} \bar{\gamma}_2^{-2}| + Ch_3^{\frac{2}{3}}.$$

#### 26.4.2Zone $\mathcal{X}_2$ : Semiclassical N-Term

Now we apply scaling the arguments using scaling functions  $\gamma_{1-3}$  constructed above.

We revert our steps. While we call  $\gamma_{1-3}$  relative scaling functions let us introduce absolute scaling functions  $\alpha_0(x) = \gamma_0(x), \ \alpha_1(x) = \gamma_0(x)\gamma_1(x),$  $\alpha_2(x) = \gamma_0(x)\gamma_1(x)\gamma_2(x)$ , and  $\alpha_3(x) = \gamma_0(x)\gamma_1(x)\gamma_2(x)\gamma_3(x)^{26}$ . We need first

**Proposition 26.4.6.** Consider B(0,1) and assume that in it

 $|\nabla w| \asymp \theta.$ (26.4.15)and  $|\nabla^2 w| < c\theta.$ (26.4.16)Let  $\gamma(\mathbf{x}) \coloneqq \epsilon \min_{i} |\mathbf{w} - 2\mu hj| \theta^{-1} + \hbar^{\frac{2}{3}}$ (26.4.17)and  $\varepsilon > \hbar^{\frac{2}{3}-\delta}, \qquad \hbar := h\theta^{-\frac{1}{2}}.$ (26.4.18)Let  $\varphi \in \mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}([-\epsilon_0, \epsilon_0])$ . Then for  $\alpha \leq \bar{\gamma} \coloneqq \gamma(\bar{x})$ ,  $(26.4.19) \quad |\int \phi_{\alpha}(x) \Big( e_{\varphi}(x,x,\tau) - P'_{\mu h,\varphi}(w(x)+\tau) \Big) \, dx| \leq$  $C\mu h^{-1}\alpha^{3} + C\mu h^{-1}\alpha^{3}\bar{\gamma}^{-1}(\hbar\bar{\gamma}^{-\frac{1}{2}}\alpha^{-1})^{s}$ 

with

(26.4.20) 
$$e_{\varphi}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}, \tau) \coloneqq \varphi \left( h^2 D_{\mathbf{x}_3}^2(\mu h)^{-1} \right) e(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}, \tau)$$

and Weyl expression

(26.4.21) 
$$P'_{\beta,\varphi}(w+\tau) = \operatorname{const} \sum_{j} \beta(w+\tau-2j\mu h)^{\frac{1}{2}}\varphi(w+\tau-2j\mu h)$$

 $<sup>^{26)}</sup>$  So far we ignore the very first scaling  $x\mapsto (x-\bar{x})\ell^{-1}.$  Therefore really absolute scaling functions would be  $\alpha_i \ell$ .

with the standard constant where for each x only one term is present in this sum. Here we take large s > 0 as  $\hbar \leq \bar{\gamma} \alpha$  and s = 0 otherwise.

*Proof.* The proof is standard and based on the standard reduction to the canonical form, standard estimates for U(x, y, t) a Schwartz kernel of propagator  $e^{i\hbar^{-1}\theta^{-1}tH}$ :

(26.4.22) 
$$|F_{t\to\hbar^{-1}\tau}\int \bar{\chi}_{\tau}(t)\phi_{\alpha}(x)U_{\varphi}(x,x,t)\,dx| \leq C\mu h^{-1}\alpha^{3}$$

for  $T \asymp 1$  and

(26.4.23) 
$$|\mathcal{F}_{t\to\hbar^{-1}\tau}\int\phi_{\alpha}(x)\big(\bar{\chi}_{\tau}(t)-\bar{\chi}_{\bar{\tau}}(t)\big)U_{\varphi}(x,x,t)\,dx| \leq C\mu h^{-1}\alpha^{3}(\hbar\bar{\gamma}^{-\frac{1}{2}}\alpha^{-1})^{s}$$

with  $\overline{T} = \epsilon \gamma^{\frac{1}{2}}$  where  $U_{\varphi}$  is defined similarly to (26.4.20).

Here obviously we can skip in (26.4.19) all perturbation terms in the argument and in  $\phi_{\alpha}$  transformed.

Then plugging into (26.4.19)  $\alpha = \gamma$  (=  $\bar{\gamma}$ ), we have factor  $(h\gamma^{-\frac{3}{2}})^s$  in the second term.

There are two cases:  $\theta \leq \mu h$  and  $\theta \geq \mu h$ .

In the former case  $\theta \leq \mu h$ , taking the sum over  $\gamma$ -partition of 1-element we estimate the same expressions with  $\phi_1$  instead of  $\phi_{\gamma}$  by their right-hand expressions integrated over  $\gamma^{-3} d\gamma$  which returns  $C \mu h^{-1}$ .

On the other hand, in the latter case  $\theta \ge \mu h$ , let  $\lambda = \mu h \theta^{-1}$ . Taking the sum over  $\gamma_3$ -partition of  $\lambda$ -element  $\phi_{\lambda}$  by the right-hand expressions which returns  $C \mu h_2^{-1} \lambda^2$ . In this case summation over  $\lambda$ -partition return  $C \theta h^{-2}$ .

In both cases we arrive to the following estimate:

$$(26.4.24) \quad \left|\int \phi(x) \Big( e_{\varphi}(x,x,\tau) - P'_{\mu h,\varphi} \big( w(x) + \tau \big) \Big) \, dx \right| \leq C \theta h^{-2} + C \mu h^{-1}.$$

Applying this estimate after  $\alpha_2$ -scaling we conclude that the left-hand expression with  $\phi = \phi_{\alpha_2}$  (in the non-scaled settings) does not exceed  $C\theta h^{-2}\alpha_2^2 + C\mu h^{-1}\alpha_2^2$ . Here the first term is  $O(h^{-2}\alpha_2^3)$  and the summation over 1-element returns  $O(h^{-2})$ .

Consider the second term  $C\mu h^{-1}\alpha_2^2 = C\mu h^{-1}\gamma_0^2\gamma_1^2\gamma_2^2$ . Then summation over  $\alpha_2$ -partition of  $\alpha_1$ -element returns

$$\mathcal{C}\mu h^{-1}\gamma_0^2\gamma_1^2\int\gamma_2^2 imes\gamma_2^{-3}\,dx \asymp \mathcal{C}\mu h^{-1}\gamma_0^2\gamma_1^2(1+|\log\hat{\gamma}_2|)$$

where  $\hat{\gamma}_k$  is a minimal value of  $\gamma_k$  over  $\gamma_{k-1}$ -element. However in fact there will be no logarithmic factor because in virtue of equation (26.4.1) there is a positive eigenvalue of Hess  $w_2$  of the maximal size (cf. Section 5.2.1). Therefore, in fact, we have  $C\mu h^{-1}\gamma_0^2\gamma_1^2$ .

Now summation over  $\alpha_1$ -partition of  $\alpha_0$ -element returns

$$C\mu h^{-1}\gamma_0^2\int\gamma_1^2 imes\gamma_1^{-3}\,dx imes C\mu h^{-1}\gamma_0^2(1+|\log\hat{\gamma}_1|).$$

Finally, summation over  $\alpha_0$ -partition of 1-element returns

$$C\mu h^{-1} \int \gamma_0^2 (1+|\log \hat{\gamma}_1|) imes \gamma_0^{-3} dx \asymp C\mu h^{-1} \hat{\gamma}_0^{-1} (1+|\log \check{\gamma}_1|) dx$$

where  $\check{\gamma}_k$  is an absolute minimum of  $\gamma_k$ . However  $\gamma_0^2 \ge \eta$  and  $\gamma_1 \ge \eta$  and therefore expression above does not exceed  $C\mu h^{-1}\eta^{-\frac{1}{2}}(1+|\log \eta|)$ .

Remark 26.4.7. Recall that we estimated only the cut-off expression. To calculate the full expression we need to calculate also the contribution of the zone  $\{\xi_3^3 \ge \mu h\}$ . However this is easy.

Really, instead of  $\varphi(h^2 D_3^2/(\mu h))$  consider  $\varphi'(h^2 D_3^2/\theta)$  with  $\varphi' \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}([1, 4])$ and  $\epsilon \mu h \leq \theta \leq 1$ . Without any scaling one can prove easily that such modified expression (26.4.24) does not exceed  $C\theta h^{-2}$ . We leave easy details to the reader.

Therefore plugging  $\theta = 2^n \mu h$  and taking a sum over  $n = 0, ..., \lfloor |\log_2 \mu h| \rfloor$ we get the required expressions. Also note that in such expressions we need to consider perturbed argument  $w + \mu^{-2}\omega_1 + j\mu^{-1}h\omega_2$  (all other terms which are  $O(\mu^{-4} + \mu^{-\frac{3}{2}}h)$  could be skipped and also a perturbed function transformed).

Remark 26.4.8. (i) However we need to get rid of these perturbations for  $\theta \leq \mu h^{1-\delta}$  only. Indeed, for  $\theta \geq \mu h^{1-\delta}$  we need canonical form *only* to study propagation and calculations could be performed without it. But then
getting rid of the perturbation is trivial provided this perturbation does not exceed  $C\mu h^{1+\delta}$  which is the case if

(26.4.25) 
$$\mu \ge h^{-\frac{1}{3}-\delta}$$

(ii) Note that in the smooth approximation contributions of  $\mathcal{X}_1$  is always less than  $CZ^{\frac{2}{3}-\delta_1}$ ,  $C\max(Z^{\frac{5}{3}}, Z^{\frac{3}{5}}B^{\frac{4}{5}})Z^{-\delta_1}$  or  $C\max(Z^{\frac{5}{3}}, Z^{\frac{3}{5}}B^{\frac{4}{5}})Z^{-\delta_1} + CB^{\frac{1}{2}}Z^{\frac{7}{6}-\delta_1}$  respectively with an exception of the first two and only in the case of the threshold value  $\geq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}-\delta_2}$ . However in this case  $\eta \geq Z^{-\delta_3}$  and the errors of the smooth approximation approach in fact are less than  $CZ^{\frac{2}{3}-\delta_4}$ ,  $CZ^{\frac{5}{3}-\delta_4}$  as well. Therefore there are in fact no exception.

(iii) It is important to have  $\varepsilon \leq \mu h$  and with  $\varepsilon = \hbar^{\frac{2}{3}-\delta}$ ,  $\hbar = h\theta^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  it means  $\mu \geq h^{-\frac{1}{3}-\delta}\theta^{\frac{1}{3}-\frac{1}{2}\delta}$  which is due to (26.4.25).

Therefore we conclude that in the completely non-scaled settings with  $\phi = \phi_{\ell}(\mathbf{x})$ 

(26.4.26) 
$$|\int \phi(x) \Big( e(x, x, \tau) - P'_B(W(x) + \tau) \Big) | \le C\zeta^2 \ell^2 + CB\ell \zeta^{-\frac{1}{2}} (1 + |\log \ell^2 \zeta|)$$

where the first term is  $Ch^{-2}$  and the second term is  $C\mu h^{-1}\eta^{-\frac{1}{2}}(1+|\log \eta|)$ ; recall that  $h^{-1} \simeq \ell \zeta$ ,  $\mu \simeq B\ell\zeta^{-1}$  and  $\eta \simeq \ell^2 \zeta$ . In comparison with the non-degenerate case  $|\nabla W_B^{\mathsf{TF}}| \simeq \zeta^2 \ell^{-1}$  we acquired the last term.

Assume first that condition (26.2.28) is fulfilled. Then

(i) If  $B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$ ,  $\ell \leq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  we have  $\zeta = Z^{\frac{1}{2}}\ell^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  and the right-hand expression of (26.4.26) returns  $CZ\ell + CB\ell^{\frac{5}{4}}Z^{-\frac{1}{4}}$  and the summation with respect to  $\ell$  results in its value as  $\ell = Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  i.e.  $CZ^{\frac{2}{3}} + CBZ^{-\frac{2}{3}}$  with the dominating first term.

(ii) If  $B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$ ,  $\ell \geq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  we have  $\zeta = \ell^{-2}$  and the right-hand expression of (26.4.26) returns  $C\ell^{-2} + CB\ell^2$ . We need to sum as long as  $\mu h \leq 1$  i.e.  $Z^{-\frac{1}{3}} \leq \ell \leq B^{-\frac{1}{4}}$  and the summation returns  $CZ^{\frac{2}{3}} + CB^{\frac{1}{2}}$  with the dominating first term.

(iii) If  $Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^2$ ,  $\ell \leq B^{-1}Z$  we have  $\zeta = Z^{\frac{1}{2}}\ell^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  and the right-hand expression of (26.4.26) returns  $CZ\ell + CBZ^{-\frac{1}{4}}\ell^{\frac{5}{4}}$ . Then summation results in  $CZ^2B^{-1} + CZ^2B^{-\frac{1}{4}}Z \lesssim Z^{\frac{2}{3}}$ .

If assumption (26.2.28) is not fulfilled we can estimate in the first term of the right-hand expression of (26.4.26) parameter  $\zeta$  from above by  $\min(Z^{\frac{1}{2}}\ell^{-\frac{1}{2}}, \ell^{-2})$  and in the second term from below by  $\zeta_m = \min(Z_m^{\frac{1}{2}}\ell_m^{-\frac{1}{2}}, \ell_m^{-2})$  if  $\ell = \ell_m := |\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}_m|$  and repeat all above arguments.

Therefore we arrive to the Statement (i) of Proposition 26.4.9 below. Furthermore, note that for  $B \leq Z$  the zone  $\mathcal{X}_2$  is contained in the zone  $\{x: \ell(x) \geq B^{-\frac{3}{10}} \geq Z^{-\frac{3}{10}}\}$  (really,  $\mu \geq h^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  in  $\mathcal{X}_2$ ) and we arrive to the Statement (ii) below.

**Proposition 26.4.9.** (i) For  $B \leq Z^2$  the contribution of zone  $\mathcal{X}_2$  to the expression

(26.4.27) 
$$\int (e(x, x, \nu) - P'_B(W(x) + \nu)) dx$$

does not exceed  $CZ^{\frac{2}{3}}$ .

(ii) For  $B \leq Z$  the contribution of zone  $\mathcal{X}_2$  to the expression (26.4.27) does not exceed  $CZ^{\frac{2}{3}-\delta}$ .

## 26.4.3 Zone $\mathcal{X}_2$ : Semiclassical D-Term

Further, we need to estimate the *semiclassical* D-term

(26.4.28) 
$$\mathsf{D}\Big(\phi_{\alpha}[e(x,x,\nu)-P'_{B}(W(x)+\nu)],\phi_{\alpha}[e(x,x,0)-P'_{B}(W(x)]\Big)$$

where  $\phi_{\alpha}(\mathbf{x})$  is an  $\alpha$ -admissible function. Again we revert our steps.

Consider  $B(x, \bar{\alpha}_3)$  and apply Fefferman-de Llave decomposition (26.3.8). Then in the framework of Proposition 26.4.6 contribution of pairs  $B(x, \alpha)$  and  $B(y, \alpha)$  with  $3\alpha \leq |x - y| \leq 4\alpha$  does not exceed the right-hand expression of (26.4.19) squared and multiplied by  $\alpha^{-4}$ , where  $C\alpha^{-3}$  estimates the number of the pairs and  $\alpha^{-1}$  is the inverse distance. At this moment we discuss a cut-off version of (26.4.28) i.e. with  $e_{\varphi}(.,.,.)$  and  $P'_{uh,\varphi}(.)$ . So, we have

$$C\mu^2 h^{-2} (1 + \gamma_3^{-1} (h_2 \gamma_3^{-\frac{1}{2}} \alpha^{-1})^s)^2 \alpha^4.$$

Then integrating this expression with respect to  $\alpha^{-1} d\alpha$  with  $\alpha \leq \gamma_3$  we arrive to  $C\mu^2 h^{-2} (\gamma_3^4 + h_2^2 \gamma_3)$ .

Therefore we conclude that

(26.4.29) A cut-off version of expression (26.4.28) with  $\alpha = \alpha_3$  does not exceed  $C\mu^2 h^{-2} (\gamma_3^4 + h_2^2 \gamma_3) \alpha_2^3$ 

The first term here  $C\mu^2 h^{-2} \gamma_3^4 \alpha_2^3$  does not exceed  $C\mu^2 h^{-2} \alpha_3^3$  (recall that  $\alpha_j = \alpha_{j-1} \gamma_j$ ) and the summation over  $\alpha_3$ -partition of 1-element returns  $C\mu^2 h^{-2}$ .

Consider the second term  $C\mu^2 h^{-2} h_2^2 \gamma_3 \alpha_2^3$ ; its summation with respect to  $\alpha_3$ -partition of  $\alpha_2$ -element returns  $C\mu^2 h^{-2} \alpha_2^3 h_2^2 \int \gamma_3^{-2} d\gamma_3 \lesssim C\mu^2 h^{-2} \alpha_2^3$ (really, recall that according to (26.4.14)  $\gamma_3 \ge h_3^{\frac{2}{3}}$ ) and then the summation over  $\alpha_2$ -partition of 1-element returns  $C\mu^2 h^{-2}$ .

Consider  $B(x, \bar{\alpha}_2)$  and apply Fefferman-de Llave decomposition (26.3.8). There are two kinds of pairs:

- (a) those with  $|x y| \ge \epsilon (\alpha_3(x) + \alpha_3(y))$  for all (x, y) and
- (b) those with  $|x y| \le \min(\alpha_3(x), \alpha_3(y))$  for all (x, y).

The total contribution of the pairs of the second type (i.e. summation is taken over *all* pairs of  $\alpha_3$ -elements in B(0, 1)) as we already know is  $O(\mu^2 h^{-2})$ . Meanwhile according to the analysis in the previous Subsection 26.4.2 a contribution of one pair of kind (a) does not exceed

$$C\underbrace{(h^{-2} + \mu h^{-1} \gamma_0^{-1} \gamma_1^{-1} \gamma_2^{-1} \gamma_3^{-1-\delta} \bar{\gamma}_3^{\delta}) \alpha_3^3}_{\text{at } x} \times \underbrace{(h^{-2} + \mu h^{-1} \gamma_0^{-1} \gamma_1^{-1} \gamma_2^{-1} \gamma_3^{-1-\delta} \bar{\gamma}_3^{\delta}) \alpha_3^3}_{\text{at } y} \times |x - y|^{-1}$$

where each of two first factors is just an estimate of the integral (26.4.24) calculated over corresponding domain. If we take the first term in the first factor and sum over  $\alpha_3$ -partition of 1-element we get only the second factor multiplied by  $\mu h^{-1}$  and then summation was done in the previous subsection. Similarly we can deal with the first term in the second factor. On the other hand, if we take only second factors and sum over pairs of  $\alpha_3$ -subelements of the same  $\alpha_2$ -element we get

$$\mathcal{C}\mu^2 h^{-2} \gamma_0^{-2} \gamma_1^{-2} \gamma_2^{-2} \alpha_2^5 \asymp \mathcal{C}\mu^2 h^{-2} \alpha_2^3.$$

Then summation with respect to  $\alpha_2$ -partition of 1-element returns  $C\mu^2 h^{-2}$ .

Consider now  $B(\bar{x}, \bar{\alpha}_1)$  and apply here Fefferman-de Llave decomposition (26.3.8). There are two kinds of pairs:

- (a) those with  $|x y| \ge \epsilon (\alpha_2(x) + \alpha_2(y))$  for all (x, y) and
- (b) those with  $|x y| \le \min(\alpha_2(x), \alpha_2(y))$  for all (x, y).

According to the above analysis the total contribution of the pairs of the second type (i.e. the summation is taken over *all* pairs of  $\alpha_2$ -elements in B(0, 1)) as we already know is  $O(\mu^2 h^{-2})$ . Meanwhile according to the analysis in the previous Subsection 26.4.2 a contribution of one pair of kind (a) does not exceed

$$C\underbrace{\left(h^{-2} + \mu h^{-1} \gamma_0^{-1} \gamma_1^{-1} \gamma_2^{-1}\right) \alpha_3^3}_{\text{at } x} \times \underbrace{\left(h^{-2} + \mu h^{-1} \gamma_0^{-1} \gamma_1^{-1} \gamma_2^{-1}\right) \alpha_3^3}_{\text{at } y} \times |x - y|^{-1}$$

and here again we can "forget" about the first terms in each factor. Then the summation with respect to pairs of  $\alpha_2$ -subelements of the same  $\alpha_1$ -element results in  $C\mu^2 h^{-2} \gamma_0^{-2} \gamma_1^{-2} \alpha_1^5 \approx C\mu^2 h^{-2} \alpha_1^3$  where we avoid logarithmic factor in virtue of the same positive eigenvalue of Hess w. Summation with respect to  $\alpha_1$ -admissible partition of 1-element returns  $C\mu^2 h^{-2}$ .

Consider now  $B(\bar{x}, \bar{\alpha}_0)$  and apply here Fefferman-de Llave decomposition. Again there are two kinds of pairs and the total contributions of the pairs of the second kind we already calculated and contribution of the pairs of  $\alpha_1$ -subelements of the same 1-element does not exceed

$$\mathcal{C}\mu^2 h^{-2} \gamma_0^{-2} (1+|\log \hat{\gamma}_1|)^2 lpha_0^5 \lesssim \mathcal{C}\mu^2 h^{-2} (1+|\log \eta|)^2 lpha_0^3$$

and the summation with respect to  $\alpha_0$ -partition of 1-element returns  $C\mu^2 h^{-2} (1 + |\log \eta|)^2$ .

Finally, consider  $B(\bar{x}, 1)$  and apply here Fefferman-de Llave decomposition. Again there are two kinds of pairs and the total contributions of the pairs of kind (b) we already estimated while the total contribution of the pairs of kind (a) does not exceed  $Ch^{-4} + C\mu^2 h^{-2} \eta^{-1} (1 + |\log \eta|)^2$  where we recalled the forgotten terms.

Again, this is estimate for cut-off expression. Going to uncut expression we repeat the same trick as before but as we deal with D-term we need to consider "mixed" pairs when one "factor" comes with  $\theta$  and another with  $\theta'$  but then contribution of such pair does not exceed  $C(\nu h^{-4})^{\frac{1}{2}}(\nu' h^{-4})^{\frac{1}{2}}$ . Easy details are left to the reader.

Therefore returning to the original scale we conclude that the contribution of  $\ell$ -layer to (26.4.28) does not exceed

(26.4.30) 
$$C\zeta^4\ell^3 + CB^2\ell\zeta^{-1}(1+|\log \ell^2\zeta|)^2$$

which is exactly the right-hand expression of (26.4.26) squared and multiplied by  $\ell^{-1}$  due to scaling.

Remark 26.4.10. In comparison with the non-degenerate case  $|\nabla W_B^{\mathsf{TF}}| \simeq \zeta^2 \ell^{-1}$  we acquired the last term.

Assume first that condition (26.2.28) is fulfilled. Then

(i) For  $B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$ ,  $\ell \leq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  we have  $\zeta = Z^{\frac{1}{2}}\ell^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  and expression (26.3.42) returns  $CZ^{2}\ell + CB^{2}\ell^{\frac{3}{2}}Z^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  and the summation with respect to  $\ell$  results in its value as  $\ell = Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  i.e.  $CZ^{\frac{5}{3}} + CB^{2}Z^{-1}$  with the dominating first term.

(ii) For  $B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$ ,  $\ell \geq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  we have  $\zeta = \ell^{-2}$  and expression (26.3.42) returns  $C\ell^{-5} + CB^2\ell^3$ . We need to sum as long as  $\mu h \leq 1$  i.e.  $Z^{-\frac{1}{3}} \leq \ell \leq B^{-\frac{1}{4}}$  and the summation returns  $CZ^{\frac{5}{3}} + CB^{\frac{5}{4}}$  with the dominating first term.

(iii) For  $Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^2$ ,  $\ell \leq B^{-1}Z$  we have  $\zeta = Z^{\frac{1}{2}}\ell^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  and expression (26.3.42) returns  $CZ^2\ell + CB^2Z^{-\frac{1}{2}}\ell^{\frac{3}{2}}$ . Then the summation results in  $CZ^3B^{-1} + CB^{\frac{1}{2}}Z \leq Z^{\frac{3}{5}}B^{\frac{4}{5}}$ .

Sure, we need to consider also mixed pairs of the layers and their contributions are

 $C(\zeta^{2}\ell^{2} + CB\ell\zeta^{-\frac{1}{2}}(1+|\log \ell^{2}\zeta|)) \times (\zeta'^{2}\ell'^{2} + CB\ell'\zeta'^{-\frac{1}{2}}(1+|\log \ell'^{2}\zeta'|)) \times (\ell+\ell')^{-1}$ 

and the summation with respect to  $\ell$  and  $\ell'$  returns the same expression as above.

If assumption (26.2.28) is not fulfilled we use the same trick as in the previous Subsection 26.4.2. Therefore we arrive to the Statement (i) of Proposition 26.4.11 below. Applying the same arguments as in the proof of Proposition 26.4.9 we arrive to the Statement (ii):

**Proposition 26.4.11.** (i) For  $B \leq Z^2$  the contribution of the zone  $\mathcal{X}_2 \times \mathcal{X}_2$  to expression (26.4.28) does not exceed  $C \max(Z^{\frac{5}{3}}, Z^{\frac{3}{5}}B^{\frac{4}{5}})$ .

(ii) For  $B \leq Z$  contribution of the zone  $\mathcal{X}_2 \times \mathcal{X}_2$  to expression (26.4.28) does not exceed  $CZ^{\frac{5}{3}-\delta}$ .

## 26.4.4 Semiclassical T-Term

### Semiclassical T-Term: Zone $\mathcal{X}_1$ Extended

First let us cover zone  $\mathcal{X}_1$  extended.

What is  $\mathcal{X}_1$  Extended? To define this zone  $\mathcal{X}'_1 \coloneqq \{x \colon \ell(x) \leq r\}$ , where we define W using P rather than  $P_B$  let first us analyze the precise extension in the framework of N- and D-terms. For N-term we have approximation error and corresponding D-term not exceeding respectively  $C(\mu h)^2 \eta^{-\frac{1}{2}} h^{-3} =$  $CB^2 \zeta^{-\frac{3}{2}} \ell^2$  and this expression squared and multiplied by  $\ell^{-1}$  i.e.  $CB^4 \zeta^{-3} \ell^3$ . Finally, both expressions are summed to their values as  $\ell = r$ . Recall that either  $\zeta = Z^{\frac{1}{2}} \ell^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  or  $\zeta = \ell^{-2}$ .

(i) Consider first  $B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$ . Then we want these errors not to exceed respectively  $CZ^{\frac{2}{3}}$  and  $CZ^{\frac{5}{3}}$ . Obviously, if  $r \geq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  the first condition is more restrictive. In this case plugging  $\zeta = r^{-2}$  and we set  $CB^2r^5 = Z^{\frac{2}{3}}$  i.e.  $r = B^{-\frac{2}{5}}Z^{\frac{2}{15}}$ . Then  $r \geq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  as long as  $B \leq Z^{\frac{7}{6}}$ .

Then  $\mu = Br^3 = B^{-\frac{1}{5}}Z^{\frac{6}{15}} \ge Z^{\frac{1}{6}}$  and  $h = B^{-\frac{2}{5}}Z^{\frac{2}{15}} \ge Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$ ; and one can see easily that  $\mu \gtrsim h^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  provided  $\ell(x) \ge r$ .

(ii) Consider next  $Z_{\overline{6}}^{\overline{7}} \leq B \leq Z_{\overline{3}}^{4}$ . Then for  $r \leq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  we have  $\zeta = Z_{\overline{2}}^{\frac{1}{2}}r^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ . In this case the second requirement is more restrictive and we set  $B^{4}Z^{-\frac{3}{2}}r^{\frac{9}{2}} = Z_{\overline{3}}^{\frac{5}{3}}$ , i.e.  $r = B^{-\frac{8}{9}}Z^{\frac{19}{27}}$ . Then  $\mu = B^{-\frac{1}{3}}Z^{\frac{5}{9}}$  and  $h = Z^{-\frac{1}{2}}r^{-\frac{1}{2}} = B^{\frac{4}{9}}Z^{-\frac{23}{27}}$  and  $\mu \geq h^{-\frac{3}{7}}$ ; this is better than  $h^{-\frac{1}{3}}$ .

However, we can do better than this: observe that  $\mu h \leq \eta$  if and only if  $r \geq B^2 Z^{-3}$  i.e.  $B \leq Z^{\frac{50}{39}}$ , which is greater than  $Z^{\frac{7}{6}}$  but less than  $Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$ , so we test  $\mu$  and h in this case:  $\mu = Z^{\frac{5}{39}}$  and  $h = Z^{\frac{11}{39}}$  and  $\mu \geq h^{-\frac{5}{11}}$  provided  $\ell(x) \geq r$ .

If  $B \ge Z^{\frac{5}{11}}$  we will use another estimate for D-term: namely it does not exceed  $(\mu h)^3 h^{-6} r^{-1} = B^3 r^5$  and we want it not to exceed  $Z^{\frac{5}{3}}$ , so  $r = Z^{\frac{1}{3}} B^{-\frac{3}{5}}$  (which is still less than  $Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$ ) and  $\mu = B^{\frac{1}{10}}$  and  $h = B^{\frac{3}{10}} Z^{-\frac{2}{3}}$  and we test it as  $B = Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  when  $\mu = B^{\frac{1}{10}}$  and  $h = B^{-\frac{1}{5}}$ , so exponent  $-\frac{5}{11}$  fits again.

(iii) Finally, if  $Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^3$  then the error D-term does not exceed  $B^3 r^5$  and we want it not to exceed  $B^{\frac{4}{5}} Z^{\frac{3}{5}}$ . So, we pick up  $r = B^{-\frac{11}{25}} Z^{\frac{3}{25}}$ ,  $\mu = B^{\frac{17}{50}} Z^{-\frac{8}{25}}$ ,  $h = B^{\frac{11}{50}} Z^{-\frac{14}{25}}$  and exponent  $-\frac{5}{11}$  fits again.

When We can Use the same Method for T-Term? As far as semiclassical T-expression is concerned an approximation error of such approach in the localized and scaled settings is  $C(\mu h)^{\frac{5}{2}}h^{-3}$  which is  $O(h^{-1})$  only

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27)</sup> If instead of  $P_B(W)$  we use  $P(W) + \frac{1}{2}P''(W)B^2$  rather than P(W). This modification does not affect our previous arguments.

if  $\mu \ge h^{-\frac{1}{5}}$ . One can extend it to  $\mu \ge h^{-\frac{1}{5}-\delta}$  using the same trick as in Remark 26.4.8 but we need to do better than this.

On the other hand, observe that in fact an approximation error does not exceed<sup>27)</sup>  $C(\mu h)^3 \eta^{-\frac{1}{2}} h^{-3} \simeq CB^3 \ell^2 \zeta^{-\frac{7}{2}}$  in the localized scaled settings. The simple proof is left to the reader. This is translated into  $CB^3 \ell^2 \zeta^{-\frac{3}{2}}$  into unscaled settings. Summation with respect to  $\ell \leq r$  returns its value as  $\ell = r$ .

So we get  $CB^3r^5$  as  $B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  and  $r \geq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$ . Consider first  $B \leq Z$ . In this case we want  $CB^3r^5 \leq CZ^{\frac{5}{3}}$  and we pick up  $r = B^{-\frac{3}{5}}Z^{\frac{1}{3}}$  which is greater than  $Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  provided  $B \leq Z^{\frac{10}{9}}$ . Then  $\mu = Br^3 = B^{-\frac{4}{5}}Z \geq Z^{\frac{1}{5}}$  and  $h = r = B^{-\frac{3}{5}}Z^{\frac{1}{3}} \geq Z^{-\frac{4}{15}}$  and  $\mu \geq h^{-\frac{3}{4}}$ .

If  $Z \le B \le Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  but still  $r \ge Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  we want  $CB^3r^5 \le CZ^{\frac{4}{3}}B^{\frac{1}{3}}2^{(8)}$  and we pick up  $r = B^{-\frac{8}{15}}Z^{\frac{4}{15}}$  and we want it to be greater than  $Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  i.e.  $B \le Z^{\frac{9}{8}}$ . Then  $\mu = Br^3 = B^{-\frac{3}{5}}Z^{\frac{4}{5}} \ge Z^{\frac{1}{8}}$  and  $h = B^{-\frac{8}{15}}Z^{\frac{4}{15}} \ge B^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  and  $\mu \ge h^{-\frac{3}{8}}$ . It is not as good as  $\mu \ge h^{-\frac{3}{7}}$ .

Then we use the smooth canonical form. In the operator perturbation terms have factors  $\mu^{-2}$ ,  $\mu^{-4}$  etc and we can use the standard approach to get rid of  $\mu^{-4} \leq \mu h$ , so we need to consider only  $\mu^{-2}$ .

However let before scaling the second derivative of W be of magnitude  $\theta$ ; then after scaling it becomes of magnitude  $\theta' = \gamma_0^2 \gamma_1^2 \theta$  and then the perturbation is of magnitude  $\theta \mu^{-2}$  but contribution of the error will be (after we compare the true Riemann sum and the corresponding integral and their difference  $Ch^{-3}\nu\mu^{-2}(\mu h)^2(\theta')^{-\frac{1}{2}} \times \alpha_1^3 \leq C\theta^{\frac{1}{2}}h^{-1}\gamma_0^{-1}\gamma_1^{-1}\alpha_1^3 \leq Ch^{-1}\gamma_1^{-\frac{1}{2}}\alpha_1^3$  where we used that  $\theta \leq C\gamma_0^2\gamma_1$ . Then summation over  $\alpha_1$ -partition of  $\alpha_0$  element returns  $Ch^{-1}\alpha_0^3$  and the summation over  $\gamma_0$ -partition returns  $Ch^{-1}$  as desired. Therefore we covered zone  $\mathcal{X}_1$  for T-term.

#### Semiclassical T-Term: Zone $\mathcal{X}_2$

**Tauberian eEstimate.** Tauberian estimate for cut-off expression is rather simple:

$$C\mu h^{-1} \gamma_0^{-1} \gamma_1^{-1} \gamma_2^{-1} \times h \gamma_0^{-3} \gamma_1^{-\frac{5}{2}} \gamma_1^{-2} \times \gamma_0^4 \gamma_1^3 \gamma_2^2 \alpha_2^3 \asymp C\mu \gamma_1^{-\frac{1}{2}} \gamma_2^{-1} \alpha_2^3$$

which nicely sums to  $C\mu$  without logarithm due to the same positive eigenvalue arguments as before; for  $\theta$ -cut-off with  $\theta \ge \mu h$  we get the same albeit

 $<sup>^{28)}</sup>$  Because the semiclassical remainder estimate is not better than this. Actually, due to Remark 26.3.7 we can do marginally better than this, but we leave this analysis to the reader.

with  $\gamma_j$  defined by the same formula albeit with  $(w_j - 2j\mu h s_j^{-1})$  replaced by  $\theta s_j^{-1}$  where  $s_j^{-1}$  means the scale; and this should be multiplied by  $\theta/(\mu h)$ . The result nicely sums to  $Ch^{-1}$ . This is what was required.

**Magnetic Weyl Expression.** Now we will get the same answer albeit  $C\mu^{-4}$  term will be supplemented by  $C\mu^{-\frac{3}{2}}h$  which in cut-off sum adds  $C\mu^{-\frac{3}{2}}h \times \mu h^{-2} \leq Ch^{-1}$ .

We can use the standard approach, with an error  $C\mu^{-\frac{3}{2}}h \times \theta/(\mu h) \times \mu h^{-2} \simeq C\theta\mu^{-\frac{3}{2}}h^{-2}$  which means that we can take  $\theta = \mu^{\frac{3}{2}}h$  which is sufficient to deal with with  $\theta \ge C\mu^{\frac{3}{2}}h$ ; in particular, for  $\mu \ge h^{\frac{2}{3}}$  we are done. But for  $\theta \ge \mu h^{1-\delta}$  we can apply the weak magnetic field approach, which is sufficient. So we arrive to inequality

$$(26.4.31) \qquad |\int_{-\infty}^{\tau} \int \phi(x) \Big( e_{\varphi}(x,x,\tau) - P'_{\beta,\varphi}(w(x)+\tau) \Big) \, dx \, d\tau| \leq Ch^{-1}$$

and therefore we arrive to

**Proposition 26.4.12.** (i) If  $B \leq Z^2$  the contribution of zone  $\mathcal{X}_2$  to the expression

(26.4.32) 
$$\int_{-\infty}^{\tau} \int \phi(x) \Big( e_{\varphi}(x, x, \tau) - P'_{B,\varphi}(W(x) + \tau) \Big) dx d\tau$$

does not exceed  $C \max((Z+B)^{\frac{1}{3}}Z^{\frac{4}{3}}, Z^{\frac{3}{5}}B^{\frac{4}{5}}).$ 

(ii) If  $B \leq Z$  the contribution of zone  $\mathcal{X}_2$  to expression (26.4.32) does not exceed  $CZ^{\frac{5}{3}-\delta}$ .

Mollification Errors. Further, we need to estimate

(26.4.33) 
$$\int \phi(x) \left( P'_B(W(x) + \tau) \right) - P'_B(W_B^{\mathsf{TF}}(x) + \tau) \right) dx,$$

(26.4.34) 
$$\int \phi(x) \Big( P_B(W(x) + \tau) \Big) - P_B(W_B^{\mathsf{TF}}(x) + \tau) \Big) dx,$$

(26.4.35) 
$$\mathsf{D}\Big(\phi(x)\big(P'_{B}(W(x)+\tau)\big) - P'_{B}(W^{\mathsf{TF}}_{B}(x)+\tau)\big)\Big),$$
  
 $\phi(x)\big(P'_{B}(W(x)+\tau)\big) - P'_{B}(W^{\mathsf{TF}}_{B}(x)+\tau)\big)\Big)\Big)$ 

and

(26.4.36) 
$$\|\phi(\mathbf{x})\nabla\big(W(\mathbf{x})-W_B^{\mathsf{TF}}(\mathbf{x})\big)\|^2.$$

We start from local versions (so in fact we dealing with w and  $w_{\beta}^{\mathsf{TF}}$ ).

Obviously after all rescalings  $\hbar = h\gamma_0^{-3}\gamma_1^{-\frac{5}{2}}\gamma_2^{-2}$  and therefore  $\varepsilon = \hbar^{\frac{3}{2}} = h^{\frac{3}{2}}(\gamma_0^{-3}\gamma_1^{-\frac{5}{2}}\gamma_2^{-2})^{-\frac{3}{2}}$  where we set  $\delta = 0$  but we will show that we have a reserve to set it as  $\delta > 0$  if we want to estimate (26.4.33) by h and (26.4.34)–(26.4.36) by  $h^2$ .

We claim that

(26.4.37) 
$$|\boldsymbol{w} - \boldsymbol{w}_{\beta}^{\mathsf{TF}}| \leq C\varsigma \coloneqq C\beta\eta \left(\gamma_{0}^{4}\gamma_{1}^{3}\gamma_{2}^{2}\varepsilon\right)^{\frac{3}{2}}.$$

and

(26.4.38) 
$$|\nabla(\boldsymbol{w} - \boldsymbol{w}_{\beta}^{\mathsf{TF}})| \leq C_{\varsigma_1} \coloneqq C\beta\eta \left(\gamma_0^4 \gamma_1^3 \gamma_2^2 \varepsilon\right)^{\frac{3}{2}}.$$

Indeed, it follows from equation (26.4.2).

Then the contribution of  $\alpha_2$ -element to (26.4.34) does not exceed  $C_{\varsigma \varepsilon \alpha_2^3}$ as measure of zone of  $\alpha_2$ -element where  $w \neq w_{\beta}^{\mathsf{TF}}$  is  $O(\varepsilon \alpha_2^3)$ . One can see easily that  $\varsigma \varepsilon = O(h^{\frac{7}{3}})$  and therefore  $C_{\varsigma \varepsilon \alpha_2^3} = O(h^{\frac{7}{3}} \alpha_2^3)$  and the summation over  $\alpha_2$ -partition of 1-element returns  $O(h^{\frac{7}{3}})$ .

Modulo above calculations the contribution of  $\alpha_2$ -element to (26.4.33) does not exceed  $C\beta\varsigma^{\frac{1}{2}}\varepsilon\alpha_3^2$ . One can check easily that  $\varsigma\varepsilon = O(h^{\frac{3}{2}}\gamma_2^{-\frac{1}{2}})$  and therefore  $C\varsigma^{\frac{1}{2}}\varepsilon\alpha_2^3 = O(h^{\frac{7}{3}}\alpha_1^3\gamma_2^{\frac{5}{2}})$  and the summation over  $\alpha_2$ -partition of  $\alpha_1$ -element returns  $O(h^{\frac{3}{2}}\alpha_1^3)$  and then the summation over  $\alpha_1$ -partition of 1-element returns  $O(h^{\frac{3}{2}})$ .

Similarly, expression (26.4.35) with  $\phi = \phi_{\alpha_2}$  does not exceed  $C_{\varsigma}\varepsilon_2\alpha_2^5 \leq Ch^3\alpha_2^4$  and the summation over  $\alpha_2$ -partition of 1-element returns  $O(h^3)$ . However we need to consider disjoint pairs of  $\alpha_2$ -elements belonging to given  $\alpha_1$ -element and their contribution does not exceed

$$Ch^{3}\int \gamma_{2x}^{-rac{1}{2}}\gamma_{2y}^{-rac{1}{2}}|x-y|^{-1}\,dxdy\leq Ch^{2}lpha_{1}^{5}$$

and then summation over  $\alpha_1$ -partition of 1-element returns  $O(h^{\frac{3}{2}})$ . We need also to consider disjoint pairs of  $\alpha_1$ -elements belonging to given 1-element and their contribution does not exceed  $Ch^3 \int |x - y|^{-1} dx dy = O(h^3)$ . Finally, contribution of  $\alpha_2$ -element to (26.4.36) does not exceed  $C_{\varsigma_1^2} \varepsilon \alpha_2^3$ and one can check easily that this does not exceed  $C \alpha_1^3 \gamma_2^{\frac{8}{3}} h^{\frac{8}{3}}$  and the summation over  $\alpha_2$ -partition of  $\alpha_1$ -element returns  $C \alpha_1^3 h^{\frac{8}{3}}$ ; then summation over 1-partition of 1-element returns  $O(h^{\frac{8}{3}})$ .

So, the scaled versions of (26.4.33) and (26.4.34)–(26.4.36) do not exceed *Ch* and *Ch*<sup>2</sup> respectively. Then the original versions of (26.4.33), (26.4.34), (26.4.34), and (26.4.36) do not exceed respectively  $C\zeta^{3}\ell^{3} \times (\zeta\ell)^{-1} = C\zeta^{2}\ell^{2}$ ,  $C\zeta^{5}\ell^{3} \times (\zeta\ell)^{-2} = C\zeta^{3}\ell$ ,  $C\zeta^{6}\ell^{5} \times (\zeta\ell)^{-2} = C\zeta^{4}\ell^{3}$ , and  $C\zeta^{4}\ell \times (\zeta\ell)^{-2} = C\zeta^{2}\ell^{-1} \leq C\zeta^{4}\ell^{3}$ .

Leaving the easy details to the reader we arrive to

**Proposition 26.4.13.** (i) Contribution of zone  $\mathcal{X}_2$  to the mollification error (26.4.33) does not exceed  $CZ^{\frac{2}{3}}$ .

(ii) Contribution of zone  $\mathcal{X}_2$  to the mollification error (26.4.34) does not exceed  $CZ^{\frac{5}{3}} + o(Z^{\frac{4}{3}}B^{\frac{1}{3}})$ .

(iii) Contributions of zone  $\mathcal{X}_2$  to the mollification errors (26.4.35) and (26.4.36) do not exceed  $\mathbb{CZ}^{\frac{5}{3}}$ .

and

### Proposition 26.4.14. Let $B \leq Z$ . Then

(i) Contribution of zone  $\mathcal{X}_2$  to the mollification error (26.4.33) does not exceed  $CB^{\delta}Z^{\frac{2}{3}-\delta}$ .

(ii) Contributions of zone  $\mathcal{X}_2$  to the mollification errors (26.4.35)–(26.4.35) do not exceed  $CB^{\delta}Z^{\frac{5}{3}-\delta}$ .

Remark 26.4.15. Consider the mollification parameter in "absolute" scale (i.e.  $\ell$ -scale):  $\varepsilon = \gamma_0 \gamma_1 \gamma_2 \gamma (h/\gamma_0^3 \gamma_1^{\frac{5}{2}} \gamma_2^2)^{\frac{2}{3}-\delta}$ . One can see easily that  $\varepsilon \geq h^{\frac{2}{3}-\delta} \geq (\mu^{-1}h)^{\frac{1}{2}-\delta_1}$  which makes reduction possible.

*Remark 26.4.16.* All statements of Propositions 26.4.13 and 26.4.14 are valid for semiclassical errors as well except statements, concerning *T*-term; to should include also terms  $Ca^{-\frac{1}{2}}Z^{\frac{3}{2}}$  for  $a \leq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  and  $Ca^{-\delta}Z^{\frac{5}{3}+\frac{1}{3}\delta}$  for  $a \geq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$ .

### 26.4.5 Zone $\mathcal{X}_3$

Zone  $\mathcal{X}_3$  defined by  $\mu h \geq C_0$ ,  $h \leq 1$ ,  $\{x \colon \ell(x) \leq \epsilon_0 \overline{r}\}$  appears only as  $Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^3$ . In this zone  $W_B^{\mathsf{TF}}$  is smooth and no mollification is necessary. Further, in this zone the canonical form contains only one number j = 0 and  $|D^{\alpha}W| \leq C_{\alpha} \zeta^2 \ell^{-|\alpha|}$  and  $W \asymp \zeta^2$ .

Therefore we have non-degeneracy condition fulfilled and applying the standard theory we conclude that in the scaled version contribution of B(0, 1) to the semiclassical errors in N- and T-terms and into D-term are  $C\mu h^{-1}$ ,  $C\mu$  and  $C\mu^2 h^{-2}$  respectively.

In the unscaled version they become  $CB\ell^2$ ,  $CB\ell\zeta \leq CBZ^{\frac{1}{2}}\ell^{\frac{1}{2}}$  and  $CB^2\ell^3$ and after summation (where for D-term we need to consider mixed contribution of different layers) we arrive to the same expressions calculated as  $\ell = \bar{r} = B^{-\frac{2}{5}}Z^{\frac{1}{5}}$  i.e.  $CB^{\frac{1}{5}}Z^{\frac{2}{5}}$ ,  $CB^{\frac{4}{5}}Z^{\frac{3}{5}}$  and  $CB^{\frac{4}{5}}Z^{\frac{3}{5}}$  respectively. Thus we have proven

**Proposition 26.4.17.** Let  $Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \le B \le Z^{3}$ . Then

(i) Contribution of zone  $\mathcal{X}_3$  to the N-error does not exceed  $CZ^{\frac{2}{5}}B^{\frac{1}{5}}$ .

(ii) Contributions of zone  $\mathcal{X}_3$  to the T-error and D-term do not exceed  $CZ^{\frac{3}{5}}B^{\frac{4}{5}}$ .

# 26.5 Semiclassical Analysis in the Boundary Strip for $M \ge 2$

To finish our analysis we need to get the same estimates as before in the  $boundary \ strip$ 

(26.5.1) 
$$\mathcal{Y} \coloneqq \{ x \colon W(x) + \nu \le \epsilon G, \ \epsilon \overline{r} \le \ell(x) \le c \overline{r} \}$$

with

(26.5.2) 
$$G := \begin{cases} (Z - N)_{+}^{\frac{4}{3}} & \text{for } B \leq (Z - N)_{+}^{\frac{4}{3}}, \\ B & \text{for } (Z - N)_{+}^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}, \\ Z^{\frac{4}{5}}B^{\frac{2}{5}} & \text{for } B \geq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}. \end{cases}$$

which coincides with (26.2.41) as  $B \ge (Z - N)^{\frac{4}{3}}$ . Recall that  $\bar{r} = (Z - N)^{-\frac{1}{3}}_+$ ,  $\bar{r} = B^{-\frac{1}{4}}$  and  $\bar{r} = B^{-\frac{2}{5}}Z^{\frac{1}{5}}$  in these three cases respectively. Analysis of

the external zone  $\mathcal{X}_4 := \{x : \ell(x) \ge C_1 \overline{r}\}$  will be trivial and inner zone  $\{x : W(x) + \nu \ge \epsilon G\}$  has been covered already.

# 26.5.1 Properties of $W_B^{\text{TF}}$ if N = Z

Let us explore properties of  $W_B^{\mathsf{TF}}$  in  $\mathcal{Y}$  if  $N = Z^{29}$  Let us rescale  $x \mapsto x' = x\bar{r}^{-1}$ ,  $W \mapsto w = G^{-1}W$  and define  $h = G^{-\frac{1}{2}}\bar{r}^{-1}$ ,  $\mu = G^{-\frac{1}{2}}B\bar{r}$ . Then

(a) In the case  $B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  we need to rescale  $w(x') = B^{-1}W_B^{\mathsf{TF}}(x'\bar{r})$  and take  $h = B^{-\frac{1}{4}} \leq 1, \ \mu = B^{\frac{1}{4}} \geq 1, \ \mu h = 1.$ 

(b) On the other hand, for  $B \ge Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  one should set  $w(x') = \bar{r}Z^{-1}W_B^{\mathsf{TF}}(x'\bar{r})$ and  $h = (Z\bar{r})^{-\frac{1}{2}} = (BZ^{-3})^{\frac{1}{5}} \le 1$ ,  $\mu = BZ^{-\frac{1}{2}}\bar{r}^{\frac{3}{2}} = B^{\frac{2}{5}}Z^{-\frac{1}{5}} \ge 1$ ,  $\mu h = B^{\frac{3}{5}}Z^{-\frac{4}{5}} \ge 1$  ( $\mu h \asymp 1$  iff  $B \lesssim Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$ ,  $h \asymp 1$  iff  $B \asymp Z^3$ ).

We will use now only rescaled coordinates unless the opposite is specified. Then in  ${\mathcal Y}$  rescaled

(26.5.3) 
$$\Delta w = \kappa w_+^{\frac{1}{2}}, \quad \kappa = 12, \quad w \to \theta = \nu \overline{\zeta}^{-2} \text{ as } |x| \to \infty,$$

with  $\overline{\zeta} := G^{\frac{1}{2}}$  where one can always get  $\kappa = 12$  after rescaling  $w \mapsto 144\kappa^{-2}w$ .

**Proposition 26.5.1.** Let Z = N. Then in  $\mathcal{Y}$  after rescaling

(26.5.4)  $|D^{\alpha}w| \le C_{\alpha}w\gamma^{-|\alpha|} \quad \forall \alpha$ 

with the scaling function  $\gamma = \mathbf{w}^{\frac{1}{4}}$  and

(26.5.5) 
$$|\nabla w^{\frac{1}{4}}| \le 1 + Cw^{\frac{1}{4}}$$

with some constant C and exponent t > 0.

*Proof.* (a) Rescaling  $x \mapsto x\bar{r}^{-1}$  we get an equations  $(26.5.3)_0 = (26.5.3)$  with  $\theta = 0$ . We know that W = 0 for  $\ell(x) \ge c\bar{r}$ ; so after rescaling w = 0 for  $\ell(x) \ge c$ . On the other hand,  $w \asymp 1$  as  $\ell(x) \le \epsilon$  (uniformly with respect to all the parameters).

Let us consider solution of the equation

 $\frac{(26.5.6)}{^{29)} \text{ I.e. } \nu = 0 \text{ and } G = B\bar{r}^{-4}.} \Delta w_s = 12w_+^s$ 

in  $\Omega = \{ w \leq \epsilon, \ell \leq c \}$  with the boundary condition  $w_s = w$  at  $\partial \Omega; s > \frac{1}{2}$ .

Note first that  $w_s \geq 0.~$  Really,  $w_s$  is the solution of the variational problem to minimize

(26.5.7) 
$$\|\nabla w\|^2 + 24(s+1)^{-1} \int w_+^{s+1} dx$$

and one makes this functional only less replacing w by  $w_+$ .

Further, the standard maximum principle arguments show that  $w_s \searrow$  as  $s \searrow^{30}$ . Obviously  $w_s \searrow w$  and  $w_s \rightarrow w$  in  $\mathscr{C}^{\infty}$  in  $\{x \colon w(x) > 0\}$  as  $s \searrow \frac{1}{2}$ .

We claim that

(26.5.8)  $w_s \in \mathcal{C}^{4s+2}$ .

To prove (26.5.8) note first that  $w \in \mathcal{C}^{2-\delta'}$  uniformly with respect to all the parameters for any  $\delta' > 0$ . Then  $w_s^s \in \mathcal{C}^{s-\delta}$  and then (26.5.6) yields that  $w_s \in \mathcal{C}^{2+s-\delta}$  as soon as  $s - \delta \notin \mathbb{Z}$ . Then since  $w_s \ge 0$  we get  $|\nabla w_s| \le c w_s^{\frac{1}{2}}$ and so  $w_s^s \in \mathcal{C}^{s-\frac{1}{2}}$ . Then equation (26.5.6) again yields that  $w_s \in \mathcal{C}^{s+\frac{3}{2}}$ .

Now we need more subtle arguments. First, for |y| = 1

(26.5.9) 
$$w_s(x+ty) = w_s(x) + t(\nabla w_s)_x \cdot y + \frac{1}{2}(\nabla^2 w_s)_x(y)t^2 + O(t^3)$$

Then the lowest eigenvalue  $\varsigma$  of  $\nabla^2 w_s$  at x should be greater than  $-Cw_s^{\frac{1}{3}}$ . Indeed, otherwise we can take y as the corresponding eigenvector and t with  $|t| = \epsilon \varsigma$  and with a sign making second term non-positive and get  $w_s(x + ty) < 0$ .

This lower estimate for eigenvalues of  $\nabla^2 w_s$  and equation (26.5.6) yield that  $|\nabla^2 w_s| \leq C w_s^{\frac{1}{3}}$ . But then  $|\nabla w_s| \leq C w_s^{\frac{2}{3}}$ . Really, otherwise picking  $y = |\nabla w_s|^{-1} \nabla w_s$  with  $|t| = \epsilon |\nabla w_s|^{\frac{1}{2}}$  and an appropriate sign we would get  $w_s(x + ty) < 0$ .

These estimates yield that  $w_s(x') \simeq w_s(x)$  in  $B(x, \gamma(x))$  with  $\gamma(x) = \epsilon w_s^{\frac{1}{3}}$ . Then  $w_s^s \in \mathscr{C}^{\frac{3}{2}}$ . In fact, let us consider  $f = w_s^{s-1} \nabla w$  and |f(x) - f(x')|. Let

 $<sup>\</sup>overline{ ^{30)} \text{ If } \Delta w_i = f_i(w_i) \text{ in } \Omega, f_i(w) \nearrow \text{ as } w \nearrow \text{ and } f_1(w) \ge f_2(w) \text{ then } \Delta(w_1 - w_2) > 0 \text{ as } w_1 > w_2 \text{ and then } w_1 - w_2 \text{ does not reach maximum inside } \Omega.$ 

us consider first  $|x - x'| \ge \frac{1}{3}(\gamma(x) + \gamma(x'))$ ; since  $|f(x)| \le \gamma(x)^{\frac{1}{2}}$  at each point we get that  $|f(x) - f(x') \le |x - x'|^{\frac{1}{2}}$ .

On the other hand, for  $|x - x'| \leq \frac{1}{3}(\gamma(x) + \gamma(x'))$  we conclude that  $\gamma(x) \approx \gamma(x')$  and  $|f(x) - f(x')| \leq |\nabla f| \cdot |x - x'| \leq |x - x'|^s$  due to inequality  $|\nabla f| \leq |\nabla^2 w_s| w_s^{s-1} + |\nabla w_s|^2 w_s^{s-2} \leq C \gamma^{s-1}$ .

Therefore  $w_s^s \in \mathcal{C}^{s+1}$  and equation (26.5.6) yields that  $w_s \in \mathcal{C}^{3+s}$ .

(b) In the next round we assume that  $w_s \in \mathcal{C}^{4+s-\delta}$  with some  $\delta \in (0,1).$  Then

$$(26.5.10) \quad w_{s}(x+ty) \leq w_{s}(x) + t(\nabla w_{s})_{x} \cdot y + \frac{1}{2}(\nabla^{2} w_{s})_{x}(y)t^{2} + \frac{1}{6}(\nabla^{3} w_{s})_{x}(y)t^{3} + C|t|^{p}$$

with  $p = \min(4, 4 + s - \delta)$ .

We claim now that the lowest possible eigenvalue  $\varsigma$  of  $(\nabla^2 w_s)_x$  is greater than  $-Cw_s^{(p-2)/p}$ . Really, otherwise let us pick up y as the corresponding eigenvector, t with  $|t| = \epsilon |\varsigma|^{1/(p-2)}$  and with a sign making expression

$$t(\nabla w_s)_x \cdot y + \frac{1}{6}t^3(\nabla^3 w_s)_x(y)$$

non-positive and get  $w_s(x+ty)<0$  again. Now equation (26.5.6) yields that inequality

$$(26.5.11)_k \qquad \qquad |\nabla^k w_s| \le C w_s^{(p-k)/p}$$

holds with k = 2.

Further, we claim that this inequality holds with k = 1, 3. Indeed, if one or both of these inequalities are violated then let us take corresponding y and t with

$$|t| = \epsilon \left( |\nabla w_s|^{1/(p-1)} + |\nabla^3 w_s(y)|^{1/(p-3)} \right)$$

(calculated on y); replacing  $\epsilon$  by  $2\epsilon$  if necessary we get

$$|t(\nabla w_{s})_{x} \cdot y + \frac{1}{6}t^{3}(\nabla^{3}w_{s})_{x}(y)| \geq \epsilon_{0}|t(\nabla w_{s})_{x} \cdot y| + |\frac{1}{6}t^{3}(\nabla^{3}w_{s})_{x}(y)|$$

and choosing an appropriate sign of t we get w(x + ty) < 0.

Therefore inequalities  $(26.5.11)_{1-3}$  hold. The same arguments as above with  $\gamma = w_s^{1/p}$  lead us to  $w^s \in \mathcal{C}^{ps}$  and then equation (26.5.6) yields that  $w_s \in \mathcal{C}^{ps+2}$ . So, now we came back with  $\delta$  replaced by  $\delta' = 2 + s - ps$  and one can see easily that if  $\delta > s$  then  $\delta' = s + (2 - 4s) + (\delta - s)s$  and after few repeats  $\delta < s$ . Then we get (26.5.8). Unfortunately, constants depend on s due to the fact that  $\Delta w \in \mathcal{C}^2$  fails to yield  $w \in \mathcal{C}^4$ .

(c) Now we are going to finish the proof of (26.5.4). Let us consider  $w_s$  again and let  $\gamma = \gamma_{s,\delta} = w_s^{1/(4-\delta)}$ . Due to the previous inequalities  $\gamma \in \mathcal{C}^1$ . We claim that  $|\nabla \gamma|$  is bounded uniformly with respect to  $s, \delta$ . Note first that  $\Delta \gamma^{4-\delta} = \gamma^{(4-\delta)s}$  implies that

(26.5.12) 
$$a|\nabla\gamma|^2 + b\gamma\Delta\gamma = \gamma^o$$

with  $a = \frac{1}{12}(4-\delta)(3-\delta)$ ,  $b = \frac{1}{12}(4-\delta)$ , and  $\sigma = 4s - 2 + (1-s)\delta$ . Let  $\psi = |\nabla \gamma|^2$ ; obviously  $\psi$  is uniformly bounded at  $\partial \Omega$ . Let us consider maximum of  $\psi$  reached inside  $\Omega$ . At the point of maximum

(26.5.13) 
$$\sum_{i} \gamma_{\mathbf{x}_i \mathbf{x}_j} \gamma_{\mathbf{x}_i} = \mathbf{0}$$

and

$$\begin{split} \frac{1}{2} \Delta \psi &= \sum_{i,j} \gamma_{\mathbf{x}_i \mathbf{x}_j}^2 + \sum_i \gamma_{\mathbf{x}_i} \left( \Delta \gamma \right)_{\mathbf{x}_i} = \\ &\sum_{i,j} \gamma_{\mathbf{x}_i \mathbf{x}_j}^2 + b^{-1} \sum_i \gamma_{\mathbf{x}_i} \left( \gamma^{-1} \left( \gamma^{\sigma} - \mathbf{a} |\nabla \gamma|^2 \right) \right)_{\mathbf{x}_i}. \end{split}$$

Due to (26.5.12) and due to (26.5.13) this expression is equal to

$$\sum_{i,j} \gamma_{\mathbf{x}_i \mathbf{x}_j}^2 - b^{-1} \gamma^{-2} |\nabla \gamma|^2 (\gamma^{\sigma} - \mathbf{a} |\nabla \gamma|^2) + b^{-1} \sigma \gamma^{\sigma-2} |\nabla \gamma|^2$$

and therefore at an inner point of minimum  $a|\nabla\gamma|^2 \leq \gamma^{\sigma}$ . So,  $|\nabla\gamma| \leq C$  is proven and for  $s \searrow \frac{1}{2}$ ,  $\delta \searrow 0$  we get that  $|\nabla w^{\frac{1}{4}}| \leq C$ .

Let us pick  $\gamma(x) = \epsilon' w^{\frac{1}{4}}(x)$ ; then  $|\nabla w| \leq \frac{1}{2}$  and  $w(x) \approx w(x)$  in  $B(x, \gamma(x))$ . This and equation (26.5.6) easily yield (26.5.4).

To prove inequality (26.5.5) let us consider  $w_s$  again and let us take now  $\psi = |\nabla \gamma|^2 - F \gamma^{2t}$  with t > 0; obviously  $\psi$  is non-positive at  $\partial \Omega$  for sufficiently large F. Let us consider maximum of  $\psi$  reached inside  $\Omega.$  At the point of maximum

$$(26.5.13)' \qquad \sum_{i} \gamma_{x_i x_j} \gamma_{x_i} - Ft \gamma^{2t-2} \gamma_{x_j} = 0$$

and the same arguments as before (plus inequality  $|\nabla \gamma| \leq C_0$ ) show that at an inner point of maximum  $a|\nabla \gamma|^2 \leq \gamma^{\sigma} + CtF\gamma^{2t}$  where C does not depend on F and small t > 0. Then at this point  $\psi \leq 1$  for small enough t > 0 and as  $s \to \frac{1}{2}$  and  $\delta \to 0$  we get (26.5.5).

The following statement heavily uses estimate (26.5.5):

**Proposition 26.5.2.** The following estimate holds

(26.5.14)  $D(\gamma^{-1+s}, \gamma^{-1+s}) \le Cs^{-2}$ 

with some constant C which does not depend on  $s \in (0, 1)$  where we set  $\gamma^{-1+s} := w_+^{\frac{1}{4}(-1+s)}$  (i.e. it is 0 as  $w \leq 0$ ).

*Proof.* As in the notations of the proof of Proposition 26.5.1  $\delta = 0$  and  $s = \frac{1}{2}$  we have (26.5.12) with a = 1, b = 3 and  $\sigma = 0$ :

(26.5.15) 
$$\frac{1}{3}\gamma\Delta\gamma + |\nabla\gamma|^2 = 1.$$

Then

$$\gamma^{-1+s} = \gamma^{-1+s} |\nabla \gamma|^2 + \frac{1}{3} \gamma^s \Delta \gamma = (1 - \frac{s}{3}) \gamma^{-1+s} |\nabla \gamma|^2 + \frac{1}{3(1+s)} \Delta \gamma^{1+s}$$

and

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{D}(\gamma^{-1+s},\gamma^{-1+s}) &\leq (1-\frac{s}{3})\mathsf{D}(\gamma^{-1+s}|\nabla\gamma|^2,\gamma^{-1+s}) + C \leq \\ & (1-\frac{s}{3})\mathsf{D}(\gamma^{-1+s},\gamma^{-1+s}) + C\mathsf{D}(\gamma^{-1+t+s},\gamma^{-1+s}) + C \end{split}$$

due to (26.5.5) and this yields

$$\mathsf{D}(\gamma^{-1+s},\gamma^{-1+s}) \leq Cs^{-2}\mathsf{D}(\gamma^{-1+t+s},\gamma^{-1+t+s}) + Cs^{-1}.$$

Substituting s + mt instead of  $s, 0 \le m \le Ct^{-1}$  we recover (26.5.14).  $\Box$ 

## 26.5.2 Analysis in the Boundary Strip $\mathcal{Y}$ for $N \geq Z$

We consider now the case of if  $N \ge Z$  (i.e.  $\nu = 0$  and  $G = B\bar{r}^{-4}$ ).

It is really easy to construct the proper potential in this case: we just take

(26.5.16) 
$$w_{\varepsilon} = w \phi_{\varepsilon}, \qquad \phi_{\varepsilon} = f(w \varepsilon^{-4})$$

with  $f \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}((\frac{1}{2},\infty))$ ,  $supp(f) \subset (\frac{1}{2},\infty)$ ,  $0 \leq f \leq 1$ , f(t) = 1 for t > 1. Note that due to (26.5.3)

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{D}(\gamma^{-1}\phi_{\varepsilon},\gamma^{-1}\varphi_{\varepsilon}) &\leq C\varepsilon^{-2s}\mathsf{D}(\gamma^{s-1},\gamma^{s-1}) \leq Cs^{-2}\varepsilon^{-2s},\\ \mathsf{D}(1-\phi_{\varepsilon},1-\phi_{\varepsilon}) &\leq C\varepsilon^{2-2s}\mathsf{D}(\gamma^{s-1},\gamma^{s-1}) \leq Cs^{-2}\varepsilon^{2-2s}; \end{split}$$

then minimizing with respect to  $s~(=|\log\varepsilon|^{-1})$  the right-hand expression we conclude that

(26.5.17) 
$$\mathsf{D}(\gamma^{-1}\phi_{\varepsilon},\gamma^{-1}\varphi_{\varepsilon}) + \varepsilon^{-2}\mathsf{D}(1-\phi_{\varepsilon},1-\phi_{\varepsilon}) \le C(1+|\log\varepsilon|)^{2}$$

and therefore

(26.5.18) 
$$\int \gamma^{-1} \phi_{\varepsilon} \, dx + \varepsilon^{-1} \int (1 - \phi_{\varepsilon}) \, dx \leq C \left( 1 + |\log \varepsilon| \right).$$

Remark 26.5.3. (i) Recall that all these integrals are taken over domain  $\{x: w(x) > 0\}$ . To avoid possible troubles we pick  $\varepsilon = h^{\frac{1}{3}}$  and set in the zone  $\{x: w(x) \leq C_0 h^{\frac{4}{3}}\}$ 

(26.5.16)' 
$$\gamma(x) = \operatorname{dist}(x, \{w \ge 2C_0 h^{\frac{4}{3}}\}),$$
$$w_{\varepsilon} = \begin{cases} -\gamma^4 \phi'_{\varepsilon} & \text{for } \gamma \le \varepsilon, \\ -\varepsilon^4 & \text{for } \gamma \ge \varepsilon \end{cases}$$

with  $\phi'_{\varepsilon} = f(\gamma \varepsilon^{-1})$  and then in the complemental domain  $\{x : w(x) \leq -\varsigma^2\}$  our assumptions are fulfilled with  $\varsigma = \varepsilon^2$  and  $\varsigma \gamma = \gamma^3 \geq h$ .

(ii) Further, for  $\varepsilon = h^{\frac{1}{3}-\delta}$  with sufficiently small exponent  $\delta > 0$  it does not break estimate for mollification error in T-term.

(iii) Furthermore, for  $t > \varepsilon$ 

$$\mathsf{mes}(\{x \colon \gamma(x) \le t\}) \le Ct^3 \varepsilon^{-3} \mathsf{mes}(\{x \colon \gamma(x) \le \epsilon \varepsilon\})$$

and therefore

$$h^s \int \gamma^{-1-s} \varsigma^{-s} dx \leq C \varepsilon^{-1} \operatorname{mes}(\{x \colon \gamma(x) \leq \epsilon \varepsilon\}) \leq CL \coloneqq C(1 + |\log h|)$$

for sufficiently large s.

Using these estimates and the last remark we can prove easily

### Proposition 26.5.4. Let $N \ge Z$ . Then

(i) Contribution of  $\mathcal{Y} \cup \mathcal{X}_4$  with external zone  $\mathcal{X}_4 \coloneqq \{x \colon w(x) = 0\}$  to mollification and semiclassical errors in N-term do not exceed  $CT_0\varepsilon^3(1 + |\log \varepsilon|)$  and  $R_0(1 + |\log \varepsilon|)$  respectively with

$$(26.5.19)_1 \quad T_0 = B^{\frac{3}{4}}, \qquad R_0 = B^{\frac{1}{2}}, \qquad T = B^{\frac{7}{4}}, \qquad R = B^{\frac{5}{4}}$$
  
for  $B \le Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$ 

and

 $(26.5.19)_2 \quad T_0 = Z, \qquad R_0 = B^{\frac{1}{5}} Z^{\frac{2}{5}}, \qquad T = Z^{\frac{9}{5}} B^{\frac{2}{5}}, \qquad R = Z^{\frac{3}{5}} B^{\frac{4}{5}}$ for  $Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \le B \le Z^3$ .

(ii) Contribution of  $\mathcal{Y} \cup \mathcal{X}_4$  to mollification and semiclassical D-terms do not exceed  $CT\varepsilon^6(1+|\log\varepsilon|)^2$  and  $R(1+|\log\varepsilon|)^2$  respectively.

(iii) Contribution of  $\mathcal{Y} \cup \mathcal{X}_4$  to both mollification and semiclassical errors in T-term do not exceed  $CT\varepsilon^7(1+|\log \varepsilon|)$  and CR respectively.

*Proof.* Really, estimates for mollification errors and terms immediately follow from the inequality

(26.5.20) 
$$\operatorname{mes}(\{x \colon w(x) \le \varepsilon^4\}) \le C\varepsilon(1 + |\log \varepsilon|)$$

which is due to (26.5.18).

Let us consider semiclassical errors and terms.

(i) Let us consider N-term first. Let us consider all possible balls and their contributions: the contribution of each ball  $B(x, \gamma(x))$  to the semiclassical error does not exceed  $C\mu h^{-1}\gamma^2 \simeq CB\bar{r}^2\gamma^2$  and the total contribution does not exceed

(26.5.21) 
$$CR_0 \int \gamma(x)^{-1} dx \leq CR_0 (1+|\log \varepsilon|)$$

where  $R_0 = B\bar{r}^2$ ; recall that  $\gamma(x) \ge \varepsilon$ .

(ii) Consider semiclassical D-term. Let us consider all possible balls and their contributions: the similar arguments with the analysis of disjoint balls of different types and with analysis of the intersecting balls (of the same type) lead us to the proper estimate of the contribution of  $\mathcal{Y}_4 \cup \mathcal{X}_4$  to semiclassical D-term: namely, it does not exceed  $CR_0^2\bar{r}^{-1}(1 + |\log \varepsilon|)^2$  (i.e. expression (26.5.21) squared and multipled by  $C\bar{r}^{-1}$ ) where  $R_0^2\bar{r}^{-1} \simeq R$ .

(iii) Consider T-term. Let us consider all possible balls and their contributions. Contribution of each ball  $B(x, \gamma(x))$  to the semiclassical error does not exceed  $C\bar{\zeta}^2\mu\zeta^2\gamma \simeq CB\bar{\zeta}^2\bar{r}\varsigma\gamma^2$  and the total contribution does not exceed

(26.5.22) 
$$CR \int \varsigma(x) \gamma(x)^{-2} dx \asymp CR$$

where  $R = B\overline{\zeta}^2\overline{r}$  and  $\varsigma(x) \asymp \gamma(x)^2$ .

Then picking appropriate  $\varepsilon = h^{\frac{1}{3}}$  we arrive to

Corollary 26.5.5. Let  $N \geq Z$ . Then

(i) Contributions of  $\mathcal{Y} \cup \mathcal{X}_4$  to all errors in N-terms do not exceed  $CR_0L$  with  $L = (1 + |\log BZ^{-3}|)$ .

(ii) Contribution of  $\mathcal{Y} \cup \mathcal{X}_4$  to all D-terms do not exceed  $CRL^2$ .

(iii) Contribution of  $\mathcal{Y} \cup \mathcal{X}_4$  to all errors in T-terms do not exceed CR.

We will sum contributions of all zones to errors in Propositions 26.5.14 and 26.5.17 below.

Remark 26.5.6. Could we get rid of the logarithmic factors i.e. make L = 1 as it was in the case M = 1?

(i) With the mollification errors we need to replace (26.5.20) by

(26.5.23)  $\operatorname{mes}(\{x \colon w(x) \le \varepsilon^4\}) \le C\varepsilon;$ 

(ii) With the semiclassical terms our arguments here are insufficient even if we established (26.5.23); we need extra propagation arguments in the direction of decaying w along magnetic lines-exactly as in the case M = 1. Surely there could be points where such arguments do not work; f.e. consider

M = 2 and nuclei so that  $|y_1 - y_2|$  is slightly less than  $\bar{r}_1 + \bar{r}_2$  where  $\bar{r}_{1,2}$  are precise radii of support. Then w reaches its minimum at  $\mathcal{Y}$ .

So, we need to prove that the measure of such points is sufficiently small (f.e. less than  $C |\log BZ^{-3}|^{-1}$ ).

Unfortunately, we do not know how to make the above remark work and we suggest

**Problem 26.5.7.** Follow through the discussed plan. For M = 2 it could be easier due to the rotational symmetry of the potential  $W_B^{\text{TF}}$ .

## 26.5.3 Analysis in the Boundary Strip $\mathcal{Y}$ for N < Z

Now let us consider the case of N < Z (i.e.  $\nu < 0$ ).

Case  $B \ge (Z - N)^{\frac{4}{3}}_+$ 

We start from the case  $B \ge (Z - N)_+^{\frac{4}{3}}$  when  $\bar{r} = \min(B^{-\frac{1}{4}}, Z^{\frac{1}{5}}B^{-\frac{2}{5}})$  matching cases  $B \le Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  and  $Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \le B \le Z^3$ .

Remark 26.5.8. (i) The results of the previous Subsection 26.4.2 remain true as long as  $|\nu|G^{-1} \leq C_0 h^{\frac{4}{3}}$ ; in other words, as  $(Z - N)_+ \leq C_0 G \bar{r} h^{\frac{4}{3}}$ . Plugging  $\bar{r}$ , G and h, we rewrite it as

(26.5.24) 
$$(Z - N)_{+} \leq C_0 \min\left(B^{\frac{5}{12}}, Z^{\frac{1}{5}}B^{\frac{4}{15}}\right)$$

matching cases  $B \lesssim Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  and  $Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \lesssim B \lesssim Z^{3}$ .

(ii) Therefore in this Subsection we assume that condition (26.5.24) fails. Let  $\theta = |\nu|G^{-1} \approx (Z - N)_+ \cdot \max(B^{-\frac{3}{4}}, Z^{-1})$ , also matching cases  $B \lesssim Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  and  $Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \lesssim B \lesssim Z^3$ .

**Proposition 26.5.9.** Consider dependence of  $W_B^{\mathsf{TF}} = W_{B(\nu)}^{\mathsf{TF}}(x)$  on  $\nu$ . Then

(i)  $W_{B(\nu)}^{\mathsf{TF}}(\mathbf{x}) + \nu$  is non-decreasing with respect to  $\nu$  at each point  $\mathbf{x}$ .

(ii)  $W_{B(\nu)}^{\mathsf{TF}}(\mathbf{x})$  is non-increasing with respect to  $\nu$  at each point  $\mathbf{x}$ .

(iii) In particular,  $W_{B(\nu)}^{\mathsf{TF}}(x) + \nu \nearrow W_{B(0)}^{\mathsf{TF}}(x)$  and  $W_{B(\nu)}^{\mathsf{TF}}(x) \searrow W_{B(0)}^{\mathsf{TF}}(x)$  at each point x as  $\nu \nearrow 0$ .

*Proof.* (i) Consider  $W_j := W_{B(\nu_j)}^{\mathsf{TF}} + \nu_j$  with  $0 > \nu_1 > \nu_2$ . One can prove easily that  $W_B^{\mathsf{TF}} - V$  is a continuous function and since

$$(26.5.25) \qquad \qquad W_1 - W_2 \to \nu_1 - \nu_2 \qquad \text{as } \ell(x) \to \infty$$

with  $\nu_1 - \nu_2 > 0$  we conclude that  $W_1 \ge W_2$  at each point x (which is exactly our Statement (i)) unless  $W_1 - W_2$  achieves a negative minimum at some point  $x^*$ :

(a) Let  $x^* \neq y_m$ ; then  $\Delta(W_1 - W_2)(x^*) = P'_B(W_1) - P'_B(W_2) \le 0$  because  $W_1 < W_2$  at  $x^*$  and therefore  $x^*$  cannot be such point.

(b) Let  $x^*=\mathsf{y}_m.$  From Thomas-Fermi equations for  $W_{1,2}$  one can prove easily that

$$(W_1 - W_2)(x) = (W_1 - W_2)(y_m) + L_m(x - y_m) + \kappa_m |x - y_m|^{\frac{3}{2}} (W_1 - W_2)(y_m) + O(|x - y_m|^2)$$

near  $y_m$  where  $L_m(x)$  is a linear function and  $\kappa_m > 0$  and therefore if  $(W_1 - W_2)(y_m) < 0$ ,  $y_m$  cannot be a minimum point either.

(ii) So,  $W_1 \ge W_2$  and therefore  $\Delta(W_1 - W_2)(x^*) = P'_B(W_1) - P'_B(W_2) \ge 0$ and  $W_1 - W_2$  is a subharmonic function. Then due to (26.5.25) we conclude that  $W_1 - W_2 \le \nu_1 - \nu_2$  i.e.  $W_{B,(\nu_1)}^{\mathsf{TF}} \le W_{B,(\nu_2)}^{\mathsf{TF}}$  at each point.

(iii) Statement (iii) follows from Statements (i) and (ii).

From Statements (i) and (iii) we conclude immediately that

**Corollary 26.5.10.** (i)  $\rho_{B(\nu)}^{\mathsf{TF}}(x)$  is non-decreasing with respect to  $\nu$  at each point x.

(ii)  $\rho_{B(\nu)}^{\mathsf{TF}}(\mathbf{x}) \nearrow \rho_{B(0)}^{\mathsf{TF}}(\mathbf{x})$  at each point  $\mathbf{x}$  as  $\nu \nearrow \mathbf{0}$ .

Therefore in the zone  $\{x \in \mathcal{Y} : W_{B(\nu)}^{\mathsf{TF}} \ge (1+\epsilon)|\nu|\}$  we can apply the same  $(\gamma,\varsigma)$  scaling with  $\varsigma = \gamma^2$  defined for  $\nu = 0$ . Indeed, we know that there  $W_{B(\nu)}^{\mathsf{TF}} + \nu \asymp W_{B(0)}^{\mathsf{TF}} \asymp \varsigma^2$  and  $\varsigma = \gamma^2$ .

Then Thomas-Fermi equation (26.2.3) implies that

(26.5.26) 
$$|\nabla^{\alpha} W_{\mathcal{B}(\nu)}^{\mathsf{TF}}| \le C_{\alpha} \varsigma^2 \gamma^{-|\alpha|} \quad \forall \alpha$$

and then we arrive to the Statement (i) in Proposition 26.5.11 below. On the other hand, in the zone  $\{x \colon W_{B(\nu)}^{\mathsf{TF}} \leq (1-\epsilon)|\nu|\}$  we can apply the same arguments but this zone is classically forbidden and we arrive to Statement (ii) below. In both cases  $\varsigma \gamma \geq h$  (where in the latter case  $\gamma$  is the distance from x to  $W_{B(\nu)}^{\mathsf{TF}}$  (scaled) and  $\varsigma = |\theta|^{\frac{1}{2}}$  in virtue of Remark 26.5.8.

**Proposition 26.5.11.** Let <u>either</u>  $B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  and  $|\nu|^{\frac{3}{4}} \geq Z^{\frac{2}{3}}$  <u>or</u>  $Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^{3}$ and  $|\nu|^{\frac{3}{4}} \geq B^{\frac{1}{2}}$ . Then

(i) Contributions of zone  $\{x : W_B^{\mathsf{TF}}(x) \ge (1 + \epsilon_0)|\nu|\}$  to the semiclassical errors in N- and T-terms and into semiclassical D-term do not exceed  $CR_0L$ , CR and  $CRL^2$  respectively.

(ii) Contributions of zone  $\{x : W_B^{\mathsf{TF}}(x) \leq (1 - \epsilon_0)|\nu|\}$  to the semiclassical errors in N- and T-terms and into semiclassical D-term do not exceed  $CR_0L$ , CR and  $CRL^2$  respectively.

Remark 26.5.12. Here actually we can replace L by  $L_* = 1 + |\log \theta|$  with

(26.5.27) 
$$\theta = |\nu| G^{-1} \asymp \begin{cases} (Z - N)_+ B^{-\frac{3}{4}} & \text{if } (Z - N)_+^{\frac{4}{3}} \le B \le Z^{\frac{4}{3}}, \\ (Z - N)_+ Z^{-1} & \text{if } Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \le B \le Z^3; \end{cases}$$

Therefore we need to explore the following zone

$$\mathcal{Y}^* \coloneqq \{x \colon (1-\epsilon_0)|
u| \leq W^{\mathsf{TF}}_B(x) \leq (1+\epsilon_0)|
u|\}$$

in the framework of Proposition 26.5.11. In virtue of Remark 26.5.8  $\hbar \lesssim 1$  where

(26.5.28) 
$$\hbar = h\theta^{-\frac{3}{4}} \asymp \begin{cases} (Z - N)_{+}^{-\frac{3}{4}} B^{\frac{5}{16}} & \text{if } B \le Z^{\frac{4}{3}}, \\ (Z - N)_{+}^{-\frac{3}{4}} Z^{\frac{3}{20}} B^{\frac{1}{5}} & \text{if } Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \le B \le Z^{3} \end{cases}$$

Let us rescale the ball  $B(., \alpha)$  to B(., 1) by  $x \mapsto x\alpha^{-1}$  with  $\alpha = \theta^{\frac{1}{4}}$  (after we already rescaled  $x \mapsto x\overline{r}^{-1}$ ). After this let us introduce scaling function  $\gamma_0$  by (26.4.3). Then let us introduce consequently scaling functions  $\gamma_1$  by (26.4.7),  $\gamma_2$  by (26.4.13) and  $\gamma_3$  by (26.4.14)<sup>31)</sup>.

Consider contributions of different balls in this hierarchy into semiclassical and approximation errors in N- and T-terms and into D semiclassical and approximation D-terms.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31)</sup> With  $j = \bar{j} = 0$  and corrected as in (26.4.3)<sup>\*</sup> and (26.4.7)<sup>\*</sup>.

(i) Consider first semiclassical error in N-term. Due to Chapter 18 the contribution of  $\alpha_j$  element does not exceed  $CB\ell_j^2 = CB\bar{r}^2\alpha_j^2$  for j = 3, 2, where recall that  $\alpha_j = \gamma_0 \cdots \gamma_j$ .

Then for j = 2 we have  $CB\bar{r}^2\alpha_2^2 = CB\bar{r}^2\alpha_1^2\gamma_1^2$  and therefore we estimate the contribution of  $\alpha_1$  element by  $CB\bar{r}^2\alpha_1^2\int\gamma_2^{-1}dx^{32}$ , which also results in  $CB\bar{r}^2\alpha_1^2$  but with the logarithmic factor. However we can get rid of this factor due to a simple observation:

(26.5.29) If  $\gamma_2 \leq \epsilon$  then  $\text{Hess}(w_1)$  has at least two eigenvalues of magnitude 1 due to  $|\Delta w_1| \leq \epsilon_1$ .

Then the contribution of  $\alpha_0$  element does not exceed  $CB\bar{r}^2\alpha_0^2\int\gamma_1^{-1}dx^{32}$ ; we claim that it is  $CB\bar{r}^2\alpha_0^2$ . Indeed, we need to consider only points with  $\gamma_1 \leq \epsilon$  and there we use a similar observation:

(26.5.30) If  $\gamma_1 \leq \epsilon$  then  $|\nabla^3 w'| \approx 1$  and also  $|\nabla^3 w' - e \otimes e \otimes e| \geq c^{-1}$  for any  $e \in \mathbb{R}^3$  due to  $|\partial_j \Delta w_1| \leq \epsilon_1$ ; here  $\nabla^3 w'$  is a 3-tensor of the third derivatives of w'.

Further, the contribution of  $\alpha$  element does not exceed  $CB\bar{r}^2\alpha^2\int\gamma_0^{-1}dx^{(32)}$ ; since  $\gamma \geq \bar{\gamma}_0 = \hbar^{\frac{1}{3}}$ , we estimate it by  $CB\bar{r}^2\alpha^2\hbar^{-\frac{1}{3}}$ .

Finally, since  $\bar{r}^{-1}\mathcal{Y}^*$  is covered by no more than  $CL_*\alpha^{-2}$  such elements<sup>33)</sup>, we conclude that

(26.5.31) The total contribution of  $\mathcal{Y}^*$  into the semiclassical (and also approximation) errors in N-term does not exceed  $CB\bar{r}^2\hbar^{-\frac{1}{3}}L_*$ , where  $L_* := (1 + |\log \theta|)$ .

Plugging values of  $\hbar$  and  $\theta$ , we arrive to expression (26.5.33) in Proposition 26.5.13(i) below.

(ii) Similarly, in virtue of Subsubsection 26.3.1.2. Semiclassical D-Term we know the that the contribution of the non-disjoint pair of  $\alpha_j$ -elements to the semiclassical D-term does not exceed  $CB^2\ell^3 = CB^2\bar{r}^3\alpha_i^3$  for j = 3, 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32)</sup> With the integral calculated in the scaled coordinates.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33)</sup> Indeed, due to Subsection 26.5.1  $\operatorname{mes}(\bar{r}^{-1}\mathcal{Y}^*) \leq C\alpha L_*$ .

Therefore the contribution of all non-disjoint pairs of  $\alpha_2$  subelements to the same expression for  $\alpha_1$  element does not exceed  $CB^2 \bar{r}^3 \alpha_1^3$ . Adding all disjoint pairs, we get<sup>32)</sup>

(26.5.32) 
$$CB^2\bar{r}^3\alpha_1^3\iint |x-y|^{-1}\gamma_2(x)^{-1}\gamma_2(y)^{-1}\,dxdy$$

Then using the results of Part (i) together with observation (26.5.29) we arrive to  $CB^2\bar{r}^3\alpha_1^3$ . So, contribution of the non-disjoint pair of  $\alpha_1$ -elements to the semiclassical D-term does not exceed  $CB^2\ell^3 = CB^2\bar{r}^3\alpha_1^3$ .

Further, continuing in the same manner, we estimate the contribution of the non-disjoint pair of  $\alpha_0$ -elements by  $CB^2 \bar{r}^3 \alpha_0^3$ .

Furthermore, in the same manner we estimate the contribution of the non-disjoint pair of  $\alpha$ -elements by expression (26.5.32) with  $\gamma_2$  replaced by  $\gamma_0$ , which does not exceed  $CB^2 \bar{r}^3 \alpha^3 \hbar^{-\frac{2}{3}}$ .

Finally, adding contribution of all non disjoint pairs and using results of Part (i), we conclude that the total contribution of  $\mathcal{Y}^* \times \mathcal{Y}^*$  into the semiclassical (and also approximation) D-terms does not exceed the final expression we recovered there, squared and multiplied by  $\bar{r}^{-1}$ , i.e.  $CB^2\bar{r}^3\hbar^{-\frac{2}{3}}L_*^2$ .

Plugging values of  $\hbar$  and  $\theta$  we arrive to expression (26.5.34) in Proposition 26.5.13(ii) below.

(iii) Due to Chapter 18 the contribution of  $\alpha_j$  element to the semiclassical error in T-term does not exceed  $CB\ell_*\zeta_*$  as j = 3, 2. Note that  $\zeta = G^{\frac{1}{2}}\gamma_0^2\gamma_1^{\frac{3}{2}}\gamma_2\gamma_3^{\frac{1}{2}}$  and  $\zeta = G^{\frac{1}{2}}\gamma_0^2\gamma_1^{\frac{3}{2}}\gamma_1$  for j = 3, 2. Here we took  $\theta = \alpha = 1$  thus covering the whole zone  $\mathcal{Y}$ .

Then the contribution of  $\alpha_2$ -element does not exceed  $CBG^{\frac{1}{2}}\bar{r}\gamma_0^3\gamma_1^{\frac{5}{2}}\gamma_2^2$ . Further, the contribution of  $\alpha_1$ -element does not exceed  $CBG^{\frac{1}{2}}\bar{r}\gamma_0^3\gamma_1^{\frac{5}{2}}\int \gamma_2^{-1} dx^{32}$ , resulting in  $CBG^{\frac{1}{2}}\bar{r}\gamma_0^3\gamma_1^{\frac{5}{2}}$  in virtue of the same observation (26.5.29).

Further, the contribution of  $\alpha_0$ -element does not exceed  $CBG^{\frac{1}{2}}\bar{r}\gamma_0^3 \int \gamma_1^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  resulting in  $CBG^{\frac{1}{2}}\bar{r}\gamma_0^3$  in virtue of the same observation (26.5.30).

Finally, the total contribution of  $\mathcal{Y}$  does not exceed  $CBG^{\frac{1}{2}}\bar{r} = CB^{2}\bar{r}^{3} = \max(B^{\frac{5}{4}}, Z^{\frac{3}{5}}B^{\frac{4}{5}}).$ 

Therefore we arrive to

**Proposition 26.5.13.** In the framework of Proposition 26.5.13 there exists potential  $W_{\varepsilon}$  such that

(i) Contributions of  $\mathcal{Y}^*$  to both semiclassical and approximation errors for N-term do not exceed

(26.5.33) 
$$(Z - N)^{\frac{1}{4}}_{+}L \times (B^{\frac{19}{48}}; Z^{\frac{7}{20}}B^{\frac{2}{15}}),$$

where here and below we list different values for  $(Z - N)_{+}^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  and for  $Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^{3}$ .

(ii) Contributions of  $\mathcal{Y}^* \times \mathcal{Y}^*$  to both semiclassical and approximation D-terms do not exceed

(26.5.34) 
$$(B^{\frac{25}{24}}; Z^{\frac{1}{2}}B^{\frac{2}{3}})$$

(iii) Contributions of  $\mathcal{Y}^*$  to both semiclassical and approximation errors for T-term do not exceed

(26.5.35) 
$$(B^{\frac{5}{4}}; Z^{\frac{3}{5}}B^{\frac{4}{5}}).$$

Case  $B \leq (Z - N)^{\frac{4}{3}}_+$ 

Now let us consider the case  $B \leq (Z - N)_{+}^{\frac{4}{3}}$ . In this case the boundary strip

(26.5.36) 
$$\mathcal{Y} \coloneqq \{ x \colon |W(x) + \nu| \le \epsilon |\nu| \}$$

consists of two subzones

(26.5.37)  $\mathcal{Y}_1 \coloneqq \{ x \colon \epsilon B \le |W(x) + \nu| \le \epsilon |\nu| \}$ 

and

(26.5.38) 
$$\mathcal{Y}^* \coloneqq \{ \mathbf{x} \colon | \mathcal{W}(\mathbf{x}) + \nu | \le \epsilon B \}.$$

Applying arguments of Section 26.4 (more precisely, analysis in zones  $\mathcal{X}_1$ ,  $\mathcal{X}_1$  extended and  $\mathcal{X}_2$ ) one can prove easily that

**Proposition 26.5.14.** Let  $B \leq (Z - N)_{+}^{\frac{4}{3}}$ . Then

(i) Contributions of  $\mathcal{Y}_1$  into semiclassical and approximation errors in N-term do not exceed  $C|\nu|\bar{r}^2 \simeq C(Z-N)_+^{\frac{2}{3}}$ .

(ii) Contributions of  $\mathcal{Y}_1 \times \mathcal{Y}_1$  into semiclassical and approximation D-terms do not exceed  $C|\nu|^2 \bar{r}^3 \simeq C(Z-N)_+^{\frac{5}{3}}$ .

(iii) Contribution of  $\mathcal{Y}_1$  into semiclassical and approximation errors in T-term do not exceed  $C|\nu|^{\frac{3}{2}}\bar{r} \simeq C(Z-N)^{\frac{5}{4}}_+$ .

*Proof.* We leave easy details to the reader.

On the other hand, applying arguments of the previous Subsubsection 26.5.3.1. Case  $B \ge (Z - N)_+^{\frac{4}{3}}$  with  $\theta = 1$ ,  $\hbar = |\nu|^{-\frac{1}{2}}\bar{r}^{-1} \asymp (Z - N)_+^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  one can prove easily the following

**Proposition 26.5.15.** Let  $B \leq (Z - N)_{+}^{\frac{4}{3}}$ . Then

(i) Contributions of  $\mathcal{Y}_2$  into semiclassical and approximation errors in N-term do not exceed  $C(Z - N)_+^{-\frac{5}{9}}B$ .

(ii) Contributions of  $\mathcal{Y}_2 \times \mathcal{Y}_2$  into semiclassical and approximation D-terms do not exceed  $C(Z - N)_+^{-\frac{7}{9}}B^2$ .

(iii) Contribution of  $\mathcal{Y}_2$  into semiclassical and approximation errors in T-term do not exceed  $C(Z - N)^{\frac{5}{3}}_{+}$ .

*Proof.* We leave easy details to the reader.

### 26.5.4 Summary

Adding contributions of all other zones we arrive to

**Proposition 26.5.16.** Let  $M \ge 2$ . Then for the constructed potential W

(i) Total semiclassical and approximation errors in N-term do not exceed

$$(26.5.39) \quad C \begin{cases} CZ^{\frac{2}{3}} + (Z - N)_{+}^{-\frac{5}{9}}B & \text{if } B \leq (Z - N)_{+}^{\frac{4}{3}}, \\ Z^{\frac{2}{3}} + B^{\frac{1}{2}}L + (Z - N)_{+}^{\frac{1}{4}}B^{\frac{19}{46}}L_{*} & \text{if } (Z - N)_{+}^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}, \\ Z^{\frac{2}{5}}B^{\frac{1}{5}}L + (Z - N)_{+}^{\frac{1}{4}}Z^{\frac{7}{20}}B^{\frac{2}{15}}L_{*} & \text{if } Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^{3} \end{cases}$$

where  $L_* = (1 + |\log \theta|)$  with  $\theta = |\nu|G^{-1} = (Z - N)_+ \cdot \max(B^{-\frac{3}{4}}, Z^{-1})$  and  $L = (1 + |\log BZ^3|)$ .

 $\square$ 

(ii) Both semiclassical and approximation D-terms do not exceed

$$(26.5.40) \quad C \begin{cases} Z^{\frac{5}{3}} + (Z - N)_{+}^{-\frac{7}{9}} B^2 & \text{if } B \leq (Z - N)_{+}^{\frac{4}{3}}, \\ Z^{\frac{5}{3}} + B^{\frac{5}{4}} L^2 + (Z - N)_{+}^{\frac{1}{2}} B^{\frac{25}{24}} L_*^2 & \text{if } (Z - N)_{+}^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}, \\ Z^{\frac{3}{5}} B^{\frac{4}{5}} L^2 + (Z - N)_{+}^{\frac{1}{2}} Z^{\frac{1}{2}} B^{\frac{2}{3}} L_*^2 & \text{if } Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^3. \end{cases}$$

(iii) Total approximation error in T-term does not exceed

(26.5.41) 
$$CQ \coloneqq C \max(Z^{\frac{5}{3}}, Z^{\frac{3}{5}}B^{\frac{4}{5}}) = C \begin{cases} Z^{\frac{5}{3}} & \text{if } B \le Z^{\frac{4}{3}}, \\ Z^{\frac{3}{5}}B^{\frac{4}{5}} & \text{if } Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \le B \le Z^{3}. \end{cases}$$

(iv) Total semiclassical error in T-term does not exceed

(26.5.42)  $CQ + CZ^{\frac{4}{3}}B^{\frac{1}{3}} + CZ^{\frac{3}{2}}a^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ 

provided  $\mathbf{a} \geq Z^{-1}$ ; for  $\mathbf{a} \leq Z^{-1}$  the last term should be replaced by  $CZ^2$ .

Also we arrive to

**Proposition 26.5.17.** Let  $M \ge 2$ ,  $B \le Z$  and  $a \ge Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$ . Then for the constructed potential W

(i) Total semiclassical and approximation errors in N-term do not exceed  $CZ^{\frac{2}{3}}((BZ^{-1})^{\delta} + (aZ^{\frac{1}{3}})^{-\delta} + Z^{-\delta}).$ 

(ii) Both semiclassical and approximation D-terms and semiclassical and approximation errors in T-term do not exceed  $CZ^{\frac{5}{3}}((BZ^{-1})^{\delta}+(aZ^{\frac{1}{3}})^{-\delta}+Z^{-\delta})$ .

## 26.6 Ground State Energy

### 26.6.1 Lower Estimates

Now the lower estimates for the ground state energy  $E_N$  are already proven: in virtue of the analysis given in Subsection 25.2.1 we know that

(26.6.1) 
$$\mathsf{E}_{N} \ge \Phi_{*}(W) + \left(\mathsf{Tr}(H_{A,W} - \nu)^{-} + \int P_{B}(W + \nu) \, dx\right) - \nu N$$

for arbitrary potential W and  $\nu \leq 0$ ; picking Thomas-Fermi potential  $W = W_B^{\mathsf{TF}}$  and chemical potential  $\nu$ , we arrive to estimate (26.6.2) below with  $W = W_B^{\mathsf{TF}}$  and Q = 0.

However we use slightly different potential W and arrive to estimate (26.6.2) below where CQ, defined by (26.5.42), estimates an approximation error; replacing T-term by its semiclassical approximation and applying Proposition 26.5.16(iii) and 26.5.17(ii), we arrive to estimates (26.6.3)–(26.6.6) below:

## **Proposition 26.6.1.** Let $B \leq Z^3$ . Then

(i) The following estimate holds with an approximate potential W we constructed:

(26.6.2) 
$$E^{\mathsf{TF}} \geq \mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}} + \left(\mathsf{Tr}((H_{A,W} - \nu)^{-}) + \int P_B(W + \nu) \, dx\right) - CQ$$

with Q defined by (26.5.41); further, for  $W = W_B^{\mathsf{TF}}$  this estimate holds with Q = 0.

(ii) The following estimates hold for M = 1 and  $M \ge 2$  respectively

(26.6.3) 
$$E^{\mathsf{TF}} \ge \mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}} + \mathsf{Scott} - CQ - CZ^{\frac{4}{3}}B^{\frac{1}{3}}$$

and

(26.6.4) 
$$E^{\mathsf{TF}} \ge \mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}} + \mathsf{Scott} - CQ - CZ^{\frac{4}{3}}B^{\frac{1}{3}} - CZ^{\frac{3}{2}}a^{-\frac{1}{2}}$$

provided  $a \ge Z^{-1 \ 34)}$  and  $B \le Z^2$ ; on the other hand, if  $a \le Z^{-1}$ , we can skip Scott and replace the last term in (26.4.2) by  $CZ^2$ .

(iii) As  $B \leq Z$  the following estimates hold for M = 1 and  $M \geq 2$ ,  $a \geq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  respectively

 $(26.6.5) \quad \boldsymbol{E}^{\mathsf{TF}} \geq \boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}^{\mathsf{TF}} + \mathsf{Scott} + \mathsf{Dirac} + \mathsf{Schwinger} - \boldsymbol{CZ}^{\frac{5}{3}} \left( \boldsymbol{Z}^{-\delta} + (\boldsymbol{BZ}^{-1})^{\delta} \right)$ 

and

(26.6.6) 
$$E^{\mathsf{TF}} \ge \mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}} + \mathsf{Scott} + \mathsf{Dirac} + \mathsf{Schwinger} - CZ^{\frac{5}{3}} (Z^{-\delta} + (BZ^{-1})^{\delta} + (aZ^{\frac{1}{3}})^{-\delta}).$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34)</sup> Recall that a is the minimal distance between nuclei.

## 26.6.2 Upper Estimate: General Scheme

On the other hand, the upper estimate is more demanding. Recall that, according to Subsection 25.2.2, for the upper estimate in addition to the trace we need to estimate also  $|\lambda_N - \nu|$  where  $\lambda_N < 0$  is *N*-th eigenvalue of  $H_{A,W}$  and  $\lambda_N = 0$  if  $H_{A,W}$  has less than *N* negative eigenvalues, and the product

$$(26.6.7) \qquad \qquad |\lambda_N - \nu| \cdot |\mathsf{N}(H_{A,W}) - N|$$

and also three D-terms: two of them are semiclassical:

$$(26.6.8)_{1,2} \quad \mathsf{D}\Big(e(x,x,\lambda) - P'_{\mathcal{B}}(\mathcal{W}(x) + \lambda), \ e(x,x,\lambda) - P'_{\mathcal{B}}(\mathcal{W}(x) + \lambda)\Big)$$

with  $\lambda = \nu$  and  $\lambda = \lambda_N$  and also

(26.6.9)  

$$D\Big(P'_{B}(W(x) + \lambda_{N}) - P'_{B}(W(x) + \nu), P'_{B}(W(x) + \lambda_{N}) - P'_{B}(W(x) + \nu)\Big).$$

For this purpose our tool will be semiclassical estimates for two semiclassical  $\mathsf{N}\text{-}\mathsf{terms}$ 

$$(26.6.10)_{1,2} \qquad \qquad \int \left( e(x,x,\lambda) - P'_B(W(x) + \lambda) \right) dx$$

also with  $\lambda = \nu$  and  $\lambda = \lambda_N$  and also estimate from below for the third N-term

(26.6.11) 
$$|\int \left( P'_B(W(x) + \lambda_N) - P'_B(W(x) + \nu) \right) dx|.$$

## **26.6.3** Upper Estimate as M = 1

## Estimate for $|\lambda_N - \nu|$

We start from the easier case M = 1. Exactly as in Subsection 25.2.2 we have two cases: in the first case  $|\nu|$  is small enough so we construct  $W^{\mathsf{TF}}$  with  $\nu = 0$  and estimate  $|\lambda_N|$ , and in the second case we prove that  $\lambda_N \simeq \nu$  and estimate  $|\lambda_N - \nu| \leq \epsilon |\nu|$ .

**Proposition 26.6.2.** *Let* M = 1,  $B \le Z^3$ .

(i) Assume first that

(26.6.12) 
$$(Z - N)_+ \leq K \coloneqq C_0 \max(Z^{\frac{2}{3}}, Z^{\frac{2}{5}}B^{\frac{1}{5}})$$

and let us construct W as if  $\nu = 0$  i.e. N = Z. Then

(26.6.13) 
$$|\lambda_N| \le C_1 \max(Z^{\frac{8}{9}}, B^{\frac{2}{3}}).$$

(ii) Assume now that

(26.6.14) 
$$(Z - N)_+ \ge K = C_0 \max \left( Z^{\frac{2}{3}}, Z^{\frac{2}{5}} B^{\frac{1}{5}} \right)$$

with sufficiently large  $C_0$ . Then  $\lambda_N \simeq \nu$  and

(26.6.15) 
$$|\lambda_N - \nu| \le C_1 \max(Z^{\frac{2}{3}}, B^{\frac{1}{2}})|\nu|^{\frac{1}{4}}.$$

*Proof.* (i) In the framework of Statement (i) assume first that  $B \ge (Z - N)_+^{\frac{4}{3}}$ . One can see easily that then

(26.6.16) Expression (26.6.11) is

$$\asymp B|\lambda_N|^{\frac{1}{2}} \times \left(\frac{|\lambda_N|}{G}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}} \bar{r}^3 \asymp |\lambda_N|^{\frac{3}{4}} \min\left(1, B^{-\frac{3}{10}} Z^{\frac{2}{5}}\right)$$

where  $(|\lambda_N|/G)^{\frac{1}{4}}\bar{r}$  is a width of the zone where  $0 < W \leq -\lambda_N$  and the selected factor is the volume of this zone. Indeed,  $W \simeq (\bar{r} - |x|)^{\frac{4}{4}}\bar{r}^{-4}G$  for  $|x| \simeq \bar{r}$ .

However this expression (26.6.11) should be less than  $C \max(Z^{\frac{2}{3}}, Z^{\frac{2}{5}}B^{\frac{1}{5}})$  which is exactly an error estimate in the semiclassical expression for N. Thus

(26.6.17) 
$$|\lambda_N|^{\frac{3}{4}} \min\left(1, Z^{\frac{2}{5}}B^{-\frac{3}{10}}\right) \le C \max\left(Z^{\frac{2}{3}}, Z^{\frac{2}{5}}B^{\frac{1}{5}}\right)$$

where everywhere the first and the second cases are as  $B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  and  $Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^3$  respectively. The last inequality is equivalent to (26.6.13).

On the other hand, if  $B \leq (Z - N)_{+}^{\frac{4}{3}}$ , inequality (26.6.17) is replaced by  $|\lambda_N|^{\frac{3}{4}} \leq CZ^{\frac{2}{3}}$  which coincides with (26.6.17) with *B* reset to  $(Z - N)_{+}^{\frac{4}{3}}$ and also with the same inequality derived for B = 0 in Subsection 25.4.2; therefore (26.6.13) holds in this case as well. (ii) One can prove easily that

(26.6.18) If condition (26.6.14) is fulfilled, and expression (26.6.11) does not exceed the semiclassical error estimate  $C_0 \max(Z^{\frac{2}{3}}, Z^{\frac{2}{5}}B^{\frac{1}{5}})$ , then  $\lambda_N \simeq \nu$  and, furthermore, expression (26.6.11) is

(26.6.19) 
$$\simeq B|\lambda_N-\nu|\int P_B''(W+\nu)\,dx \simeq B|\lambda_N-\nu|\int (W+\nu)_+^{-\frac{1}{2}}\,dx,$$

which for  $B \ge (Z - N)_+^{\frac{4}{3}}$  is

$$(26.6.20) \approx B\bar{r}^{3}|\lambda_{N}-\nu|\cdot|\nu|^{-\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{|\nu|}{G}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}} \approx |\lambda_{N}-\nu|\cdot|\nu|^{-\frac{1}{4}}\min\left(1, B^{-\frac{3}{10}}Z^{\frac{2}{5}}\right)$$

and this should be less than  $C \max(Z^{\frac{2}{3}}, Z^{\frac{2}{5}}B^{\frac{1}{5}})$ , and this implies (26.6.15).

On the other hand, if  $B \leq (Z - N)_{+}^{\frac{4}{3}}$ , then the right-hand expression of (26.6.19) is  $\approx |\lambda_N - \nu| \bar{r} \approx |\lambda_N - \nu| (Z - N)_{+}^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  and this should be less than  $CZ^{\frac{2}{3}}$ , and this implies (26.6.15) in this case as well.

Proposition 26.6.2 immediately implies

Corollary 26.6.3. In the frameworks of Proposition 26.6.2(i), (ii),

(26.6.21)  $|\lambda_N - \nu| \cdot \mathsf{N}([\lambda_N, \nu]) \le CQ,$ 

where  $N(\lambda_N, \nu)$  is the number of (non-zero) eigenvalues on interval  $[\lambda_N, \nu]$  or  $[\nu, \lambda_N]^{35}$ .

### Estimate for D-Terms

**Proposition 26.6.4.** In the frameworks of Proposition 26.6.2(i),(ii) expressions

(26.6.22) 
$$\mathsf{D}(e(x, x, \lambda) - P'_B(W + \lambda), e(x, x, \lambda) - P'_B(W + \lambda))$$

with  $\lambda = \nu^{35}$  and with  $\lambda = \lambda_N$  and

(26.6.23) 
$$D(P'_B(W + \nu) - P'_B(W + \lambda), P'_B(W + \nu) - P'_B(W + \lambda_N))$$

with  $\lambda = \lambda_N$  do not exceed  $C \max(Z^{\frac{5}{3}}, Z^{\frac{3}{5}}B^{\frac{4}{5}})$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35)</sup> Recall, that the frameworks of Proposition 26.6.2(i) we pick up  $\nu = 0$ .

*Proof.* Recall that we already derived in Section 26.3 this estimate for D-term (26.6.22) with  $\lambda = \nu$ . Further, the same estimate for this term with  $\lambda = \lambda_N$  can be proven exactly in the same way; we leave easy details to the reader.

Furthermore, one can derive the same estimate for D-term (26.6.23) using Proposition 26.6.2; again we leave easy details to the reader.  $\Box$ 

Remark 26.6.5. Let  $B \leq Z$ . Then in (26.6.12)–(26.6.15) and therefore also in (26.6.19) and in Proposition 26.6.4 one can replace  $C_0$  and C by  $C_0\varepsilon$  and  $C\varepsilon$  respectively with the small parameter  $\varepsilon$ : max $(Z^{-\delta}, (BZ^{-1})^{\delta}) \leq \varepsilon \leq 1$ .

### Summary

Then following the scheme of Subsection 25.4.4 we arrive to upper estimates in Theorem 26.6.6 below (lower estimates have been proven in Proposition 26.6.1). Furthermore, based on estimates (26.6.2) and (26.6.24) and the fact, that the left-hand term in (26.6.28) should fit into the "gap" between them (see Section 25.2), we also arrive to Theorem 26.6.7 below:

**Theorem 26.6.6.** Let M = 1,  $B \le Z^3$ . Then

(i) The following estimate holds:

(26.6.24) 
$$E^{\mathsf{TF}} \leq \mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}} + \left(\mathsf{Tr}((H_{A,W} - \nu)^{-}) + \int P_B(W^{\mathsf{TF}}(x) + \nu) \, dx\right) + CQ$$

with  $Q = \max(Z^{\frac{5}{3}}, Z^{\frac{3}{5}}B^{\frac{4}{5}}).$ 

(ii) The following estimate holds:

(26.6.25)  $E^{\mathsf{TF}} \leq \mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}} + \mathsf{Scott} + CQ + CZ^{\frac{4}{3}}B^{\frac{1}{3}}.$ 

Here for  $Z^2 \leq B \leq Z^3$  one can skip Scott.

(iii) If  $B \leq Z$ , then

(26.6.26)  $E^{\mathsf{TF}} \geq \mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}} + \mathsf{Scott} + \mathsf{Dirac} + \mathsf{Schwinger} + CZ^{\frac{5}{3}}(Z^{-\delta} + (BZ^{-1})^{\delta}).$ 

**Theorem 26.6.7.** Let  $M = 1, B \leq Z^3$ . Then

- (i) The following estimate holds:
- (26.6.27)  $\mathsf{D}(\rho_{\Psi} \rho_{B}^{\mathsf{TF}}, \rho_{\Psi} \rho_{B}^{\mathsf{TF}}) \leq CQ.$
- (ii) If  $B \leq Z$ , then

(26.6.28) 
$$\mathsf{D}(\rho_{\Psi} - \rho_{B}^{\mathsf{TF}}, \rho_{\Psi} - \rho_{B}^{\mathsf{TF}}) \leq CZ^{\frac{5}{3}} (Z^{-\delta} + (BZ^{-1})^{\delta}).$$

Main term



Figure 26.3: This figure illustrates the remainder estimate for  $E_N$ . Thresholds  $B = Z^*$  are shown in the yellow boxes.

## **26.6.4** Upper Estimate as $M \ge 2$

## Estimate for $|\lambda_N - \nu|$

Again we need to consider two cases: almost neutral molecules (systems) when  $(Z - N)_+ \leq C_0 K$  with K slightly redefined below and we can set  $\nu = 0$  in the definition of Thomas-Fermi potential and establish estimate for  $|\lambda_N|$  (and for optimal  $\nu$  we have the same estimate for both  $|\nu|$  and  $\lambda_N$ ) and not almost neutral molecules (systems) when  $(Z - N)_+ \geq C_0 K$  and we can prove that  $|\lambda_N| \approx |\nu|$  and estimate  $|\lambda_N - \nu|$ .

**Proposition 26.6.8**<sup>36)</sup>. Let  $M \ge 1$ ,  $B \le Z^3$  and condition (26.2.28) be fulfilled.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36)</sup> Cf. Proposition 26.6.2.

(i) Assume first that

(26.6.29) 
$$(Z - N)_+ \le K := C_0 \begin{cases} Z^{\frac{2}{3}} + B^{\frac{1}{2}}L & \text{if } B \le Z^{\frac{4}{3}}, \\ Z^{\frac{1}{5}}B^{\frac{4}{15}}L & \text{if } Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \le B \le Z^3 \end{cases}$$

and let us construct W as if  $\nu=0$  i.e. N=Z. Then

(26.6.30) 
$$|\lambda_{N}| \leq C_{1} \begin{cases} Z^{\frac{8}{9}} + B^{\frac{2}{3}}L^{\frac{4}{3}} & \text{if } B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}, \\ Z^{\frac{1}{5}}B^{\frac{4}{15}}L^{\frac{4}{3}} & \text{if } Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^{3}; \end{cases}$$

recall that  $L = |\log BZ^{-3}|$ .

(ii) Assume now that

(26.6.31) 
$$(Z - N)_+ \ge K$$

with sufficiently large  $C_0$  in the definition of K. Then  $\lambda_N \simeq \nu$  and moreover

(26.6.32)  $|\lambda_N - \nu| \le C \max(Z^{\frac{2}{3}}, B^{\frac{1}{2}}L_1)|\nu|^{\frac{1}{4}},$ 

where

(26.6.33) 
$$L_{1} = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } B \leq (Z - N)_{+}^{\frac{4}{3}}, \\ |\log((Z - N)_{+}/B^{\frac{3}{4}}| & \text{if } (Z - N)_{+}^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}, \\ |\log(Z - N)_{+}/B^{\frac{4}{5}}Z^{\frac{3}{5}}|) & \text{if } Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^{3}. \end{cases}$$

(iii) For M = 1 one can take  $L = L_1 = 1$ .

*Proof.* We will apply arguments slightly more sophisticated than the obvious ones, used in the proof of Proposition 26.6.2. These better arguments will allow us to derive slightly better estimates for  $|\lambda_N - \nu|$  as  $(Z - N)_+ \ge CK$ , and for threshold K itself.

Recall that estimates for  $|\lambda_N - \nu|$  are derived by comparison of expression (26.6.11) and the semiclassical errors for the number of eigenvalues below  $\lambda = \nu$  and  $\lambda = \lambda_N$ : expression (26.6.11) should be less than the sum of these semiclassical errors.

Consider contribution of each ball

(26.6.34) 
$$B(x, \ell(x)) \subset \mathcal{Y} = \{x \colon \min_{m} |x - y_{m}| \ge \epsilon \overline{r}\}$$

to semiclassical errors as  $\lambda = \nu$  and  $\lambda = \lambda_N$  and compare it with its contribution to (26.6.11):

(a) Each ball contributes no more than  $CB\ell^2$  to the first error (with  $\lambda = \nu$ ) where due to our choice  $\zeta \ell \geq 1$ .

(b) Further, each ball with  $\zeta \geq C_1 |\lambda_N - \nu|^{\frac{1}{2}}$  contributes no more than  $CB\ell^2$ . On the other hand, each ball with  $\zeta \leq C_1 |\lambda_N - \nu|^{\frac{1}{2}}$  contributes no more than  $CB\ell^{3-\sigma}|\lambda_N - \nu|^{\sigma/2}$  to the second error (with  $\lambda = \lambda_N$ ); here  $\sigma = \frac{1}{3}$  is due to rescaling.

(c) Meanwhile, each ball with  $\zeta \geq C_1 |\lambda_N - \nu|^{\frac{1}{2}}$  contributes no less than  $\epsilon_0 B |\lambda_N - \nu| \zeta^{-1} \ell^3$ , and each ball with  $\zeta \geq C_1 |\lambda_N - \nu|^{\frac{1}{2}}$  contributes no less than  $\epsilon_0 |\lambda_N - \nu|^{\frac{1}{2}} \ell^3$  to expression (26.6.11) and it is larger than the contributions of this ball to each of semiclassical errors (multiplied by C) as long as

 $(26.6.35)_{1,2} \qquad \qquad \zeta^2 \ge |\lambda_N - \nu| \ge C_2 \zeta \ell^{-1}, \qquad |\lambda_N - \nu| \ge C_2 \ell^{-2}.$ 

Obviously in Statements (i), (ii) we can assume that

(26.6.36) Inequalities (26.6.30) and (26.6.32) respectively (with C replaced by arbitrarily large  $C_3$ ) are violated.

(i)(a) Assume first that  $(Z - N)_{+}^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^3$ . Then in the framework of assumption  $\zeta = B^2 \ell^4$  with minimal  $\ell = B^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  and therefore  $(26.6.35)_{1,2}$  are fulfilled for  $\ell \leq C_2 B^{-1} |\lambda_N|$ . Therefore we need to account for the semiclassical errors contributed by an inner shell (not exceeding  $C \max(Z^{\frac{2}{3}}, B^{\frac{1}{2}})$ ) and by zone  $\mathcal{Y} \cap \{\ell \geq C_2 B^{-1} |\lambda_N|\}$ ; there  $\zeta \geq C_1 |\lambda_N|^{\frac{1}{2}}$  and therefore its contribution does not exceed  $CB \int \ell(x)^{-1} dx$  with integral over this zone and it does not exceed  $CB \int \ell(x)^{-1} dx$ 

So, these truncated semiclassical errors do not exceed  $C \max(Z^{\frac{2}{3}}, B\bar{r}^{2}L)$ . Meanwhile, expression (26.6.11) is no less than  $CB^{\frac{1}{2}}\bar{r}^{2}|\lambda_{N}|^{\frac{3}{4}}$ . Therefore comparing these two expressions as  $B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  and as  $Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^{3}$  we arrive to (26.6.30).

(b) Consider the remaining case  $B \leq (Z - N)_{+}^{\frac{4}{3}}$ . Semiclassical arguments remain valid while estimate of (26.6.11) from below by  $\epsilon_0 |\lambda_N|^{\frac{3}{4}}$  also could be proven easily.

(ii)(a) Again, assume first that  $(Z - N)_{+}^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^{3}$ . Again, in the calculation of the truncated semiclassical errors we integrate over zone

 $\{\ell \geq C_2 B^{-1} | \lambda_N - \nu |\}$  where  $\zeta \geq C_1 | \lambda_N |^{\frac{1}{2}}$  and therefore its contribution does not exceed  $CB \int \ell(x)^{-1} dx$  with integral over this zone and it does not exceed  $CB \tilde{r}^2 L_1^{37}$ .

Again, expression (26.6.21) is larger than the expressions afterwards and comparing with the semiclassical error estimate we arrive to (26.6.32).

(b) Consider the remaining case  $B \leq (Z - N)_{+}^{\frac{4}{3}}$ . Semiclassical arguments remain valid while estimate of (26.6.11) from below by  $\epsilon_0 |\lambda_N - \nu| \cdot |\lambda_N|^{-\frac{1}{4}}$  also could be proven easily.

(iii) Recall that for M = 1 the semiclassical error estimate hold with  $L = L_1 = 1$ .

Then we arrive immediately to

**Corollary 26.6.9.** In the framework of Proposition 26.6.8  $|\lambda_N - \nu| \cdot N([\lambda_N, \nu])$  does not exceed expression (26.5.40).

### Estimate for D-Terms for Almost Neutral Systems

We need to estimate the semiclassical error D-term (26.6.22) with  $\lambda = \lambda_N$  because for  $\lambda = \nu$  we already estimated it, and also we need to estimate another D-term (26.6.23). We start from the latter one. Recall that under assumption (26.6.29) we take  $\nu = 0$ . The trivial estimate is based on

(26.6.37) 
$$|P'_{B}(W) - P'_{B}(W + \lambda)| \leq CW^{\frac{1}{2}}|\lambda| + CBW^{-\frac{1}{4}}|\lambda|^{\frac{3}{4}},$$

leading to

(26.6.38) 
$$J \le CD(W^{\frac{1}{2}}, W^{\frac{1}{2}})|\lambda|^2 + CB^2|\lambda|^{\frac{3}{2}}D(W^{-\frac{1}{4}}\theta, W^{-\frac{1}{4}}\theta)$$

where here and below J is expression (26.6.23),  $\theta$  is a characteristic function of the domain  $\{x: \gamma(x) \ge h^{\frac{1}{3}}\}$  and we can ignore the contribution of the zone  $\{x: \gamma(x) \le h^{\frac{1}{3}}\}$ . Really, the contribution of this zone does not exceed a semiclassical error estimate  $R := C \max(Z^{\frac{5}{3}}, Z^{\frac{3}{5}}B^{\frac{4}{5}}L^2)$ .

Note that even without assumption (26.6.29)

(26.6.39) 
$$\mathsf{D}(W^{\frac{1}{2}}, W^{\frac{1}{2}}) \asymp (B^{-\frac{1}{4}}; B^{-\frac{8}{5}}Z^{\frac{9}{5}})$$
 for  $B \le Z^{\frac{4}{3}}, Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \le B \le Z^{3}$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37)</sup> In Statement (i) this leads only to insignificant improvement.
respectively and (26.6.30) implies that the first term in the right-hand expression of (26.6.38) is much less than R.

Meanwhile, under assumption (26.6.29)

(26.6.40) 
$$\mathsf{D}(W^{-\frac{1}{4}}\theta, W^{-\frac{1}{4}}\theta) \asymp B^{-1}\mathsf{D}(\ell^{-1}\theta, \ell^{-1}\theta) \asymp B^{-1}\bar{r}^{3}\mathsf{D}(\gamma^{-1}\theta, \gamma^{-1}\theta)$$

where in the right-hand expression D and  $\gamma, \theta$  are in the scale  $x \mapsto x\bar{r}^{-1}$  and then  $\mathsf{D}(\gamma^{-1}\theta, \gamma^{-1}\theta) \simeq L^2$  so the second term in (26.6.38) does not exceed  $CB\bar{r}^3|\lambda_N|^{\frac{3}{2}}L^2$  which due to (26.6.30) does not exceed

(26.6.41) 
$$R \coloneqq C \max(Z^{\frac{5}{3}}, Z^{\frac{3}{5}}B^{\frac{4}{5}}L^{4}).$$

Consider now term (26.6.22) with  $\lambda = \lambda_N$ . Let us consider zones  $\Omega_1 := \{x : |\lambda - \nu| \leq \zeta \ell^{-1}\}$  and  $\Omega_2 := \{x : |\lambda - \nu| \geq \zeta \ell^{-1}\}.$ 

Note that the contribution to the term in question of each pair of balls contained in  $\Omega_1 \times \Omega_1$  does not exceed estimate for the same term with  $\lambda = \nu$ ; really, after rescaling  $x \mapsto x/\ell$  and  $\tau \mapsto \tau/\zeta^2$  we conclude that the difference between energy levels does not exceed local semiclassical parameter  $C/(\zeta\ell)$ .

Therefore the total contribution of  $\Omega_1 \times \Omega_1$  to this term does not exceed  $C \max(Z^{\frac{5}{3}}, Z^{\frac{3}{5}}B^{\frac{4}{5}}L^2)$ .

On the other hand, the contribution to the term in question of each pair of balls contained in  $\Omega_2 \times \Omega_2$  does not exceed its contribution to (26.6.25) and therefore the total contribution of  $\Omega_2 \times \Omega_2$  to this term does not exceed expression (26.6.41). Thus, term (26.6.22) with  $\lambda = \lambda_N$  does not exceed (26.6.41).

Therefore we arrive immediately to

**Theorem 26.6.10.** Let  $M \ge 2$ ,  $B \le Z^3$  and condition (26.2.28) be fulfilled. Then under assumption (26.6.29)

(i) The following estimate holds:

(26.6.42) 
$$E^{\mathsf{TF}} \leq \mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}} + \left(\mathsf{Tr}((H_{A,W} - \nu)^{-}) + \int P_B(W^{\mathsf{TF}} + \nu) dx\right) + C \max(Z^{\frac{5}{3}}, Z^{\frac{3}{5}}B^{\frac{4}{5}}L^4).$$

(ii) If  $a \ge Z^{-1}$  then the following estimate holds:

 $(26.6.43) \quad {\cal E}^{\rm TF} \le {\cal E}^{\rm TF} + {\rm Scott} + {\cal C} \max \left( Z^{\frac{5}{3}}, \ Z^{\frac{3}{5}} {\cal B}^{\frac{4}{5}} {\cal L}^4 \right) + {\cal C} Z^{\frac{4}{3}} {\cal B}^{\frac{1}{3}} + {\cal C} {\it a}^{-\frac{1}{2}} Z^{\frac{3}{2}};$ 

if  $a \leq Z^{-1}$  one should replace the last term in the right-hand expression by  $CZ^2$  and skip Scott.

(iii) If  $B \leq Z$  and  $a \geq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$ 

$$\begin{array}{ll} (26.6.44) \quad {\cal E}^{\mathsf{TF}} \leq {\cal E}^{\mathsf{TF}} + \mathsf{Scott} + \mathsf{Dirac} + \mathsf{Schwinger} + \\ & \qquad {\cal C}Z^{\frac{5}{3}} \big( Z^{-\delta} + (BZ^{-1})^{\delta} + (aZ^{\frac{1}{3}})^{-\delta} \big). \end{array}$$

Here proof of Statement (iii) is due to the same arguments as in the case B = 0. Combining with the estimate from below we also conclude that

**Theorem 26.6.11.** (i) In the framework of Theorem 26.6.10 the following estimate holds:

(26.6.45) 
$$\mathsf{D}(\rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}, \, \rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}) \le C \max(Z^{\frac{5}{3}}; \, Z^{\frac{3}{5}}B^{\frac{6}{5}}L^{4}).$$

(ii) In the framework of Theorem 26.6.10(iii) the following estimate holds:

(26.6.46) 
$$\mathsf{D}(\rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}, \rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}) \leq CZ^{\frac{5}{3}}(Z^{-\delta} + (BZ^{-1})^{\delta} + (aZ^{\frac{1}{3}})^{-\delta}).$$

#### Estimate for D-Terms for Positively Charged Systems

Let assumption (26.6.31) be fulfilled. Let  $W = W_{\nu}$  and  $\ell = \ell_{\nu}$  be a potential and a scaling function (used to derive semiclassical remainder estimates) for this  $\nu < 0$  (and N < Z) while  $W_0$  and  $\ell_0$  be a potential and a scaling function for  $\nu = 0$  (and N = Z).

Let us start from rather trivial arguments. Note that

(26.6.47) 
$$|P'_B(W+\lambda) - P'_B(W+\nu)| \le CW^{\frac{1}{2}}|\lambda - \nu|\theta_1 + CB|\lambda - \nu|^{\frac{1}{2}}\theta_2,$$

where  $\theta_1$  and  $\theta_2$  are characteristic functions of  $\mathcal{Y}_1 = \{x \colon W(x) + \nu \ge C_0 |\nu|\}$ and  $\mathcal{Y}_2 = \{x \colon 0 < W(x) + \nu \le C_0 |\nu|\}$  respectively. Let

$$J_k := \mathsf{D}\big([P'_B(W+\lambda_N)-P'_B(W+\nu)]\theta_k, \ [P'_B(W+\lambda_N)-P'_B(W+\nu)]\theta_k\big).$$

Then in virtue of (26.6.47)

$$J_1 \leq C \mathsf{D}(W^{\frac{1}{2}} heta_1, W^{\frac{1}{2}} heta_1)|\lambda_N - 
u|^2)$$

Note that  $^{38)}$ 

$$D(W^{\frac{1}{2}}\theta_1, W^{\frac{1}{2}}\theta_1) \asymp ((Z - N)^{-\frac{1}{3}}, B^{-\frac{1}{4}}, Z^{\frac{9}{5}}B^{-\frac{8}{5}}).$$

Then, using inequality (26.6.32) one can prove easily that  $J_1 \leq CZ^{\frac{5}{3}}$ . However estimate for a contribution of zone  $\mathcal{Y}_2$  is much worse:

(26.6.48) 
$$J_2 \le CB^2 \mathsf{D}(\theta_2, \theta_2) |\lambda_N - \nu| \le CB^2 \bar{r}^3 (|\nu|/B^2)^{\frac{1}{2}} L_1^2 |\lambda_N - \nu|$$

where for  $B \leq (Z - N)^{\frac{1}{3}}_{+}$  we should replace  $(|\nu|/B^2)^{\frac{1}{2}}L_1^2$  by  $\overline{r}^2$ . Then, using (26.6.32), we conclude that for  $(Z - N)^{\frac{4}{3}}_{+} \leq B \leq Z^3$ 

$$J_2 \leq CB\bar{r}^3|\nu|^{\frac{3}{4}}L_1^2\max(Z^{\frac{2}{3}},B^{\frac{1}{2}}) \asymp CB(Z-N)_+^{\frac{3}{4}}\bar{r}^{\frac{9}{4}}\max(Z^{\frac{2}{3}},B^{\frac{1}{2}}L_1)L_1^2,$$

and therefore we arrive to the last two cases below; the first case is proven similarly:

(26.6.49) 
$$J_{2} \leq C \begin{cases} (Z - N)_{+}^{-\frac{4}{3}} Z^{\frac{2}{3}} B^{2}, \\ (Z - N)_{+}^{\frac{3}{4}} B^{\frac{7}{16}} \max(Z^{\frac{2}{3}}, B^{\frac{1}{2}} L_{1}) L_{1}^{2}, \\ (Z - N)_{+}^{\frac{3}{4}} Z^{\frac{9}{20}} B^{\frac{3}{5}} L_{1}^{3} \end{cases}$$

in our three cases.

This is really shabby estimate. To improve it let us observe that

(26.6.50) If estimate  $|\lambda_N - \nu| \leq C \max(B^{\frac{2}{3}}, (Z - N)^{\frac{8}{9}})$  holds, then  $J_2$  does not exceed (26.5.40)

and therefore we can assume that

(26.6.51) 
$$|\lambda_N - \nu| \ge C \max((Z - N)^{\frac{6}{9}}_+; B^{\frac{2}{3}}).$$

Let us estimate the truncated semiclassical error<sup>39</sup>).

**Proposition 26.6.12.** (i) Let  $(Z - N)^{\frac{4}{3}}_{+} \le B \le Z^3$  and

(26.6.52) 
$$C_0 B^{\frac{2}{3}} \le |\lambda_N - \nu| \le C_1 B^{\frac{1}{2}} |\nu|^{\frac{1}{4}}$$

Then the truncated semiclassical error in N-term does not exceed

(26.6.53) 
$$F \coloneqq CZ^{\frac{2}{3}} + CB\bar{r}^{2}(|\nu|/B^{2})^{\frac{1}{4}}L \times (B^{-1}|\lambda_{N}-\nu|)^{-1}.$$

<sup>38)</sup> In our three cases  $B \leq (Z - N)^{\frac{4}{3}}_+$ ,  $(Z - N)^{\frac{4}{3}}_+ \leq B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$ , and  $Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^3$  respectively.

 $^{39)}$  I.e. contribution to such error of the zone, where it exceeds the contribution to the principal part.

(ii) Let  $(Z-N)_+^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^3$  and

(26.6.54) 
$$C_1 B^{\frac{1}{2}} |\nu|^{\frac{1}{4}} \le |\lambda_N - \nu| \le C_1 B^{\frac{1}{2}} |\nu|^{\frac{1}{4}} L.$$

Then the truncated semiclassical error does not exceed

$$(26.6.55) F \coloneqq CZ^{\frac{2}{3}} + CB\bar{r}^{2}L.$$

(iii) Let  $B \leq (Z - N)^{\frac{4}{3}}_+$  and

(26.6.56) 
$$(Z - N)_{+}^{\frac{3}{9}} \le |\lambda_N - \nu| \le C_1 (Z - N)_{+}$$

Then the truncated semiclassical error does not exceed

(26.6.57) 
$$F := CZ^{\frac{2}{3}} + C(Z - N)^{\frac{5}{3}}_{+} |\lambda_N - \nu|^{-1}.$$

(iv) Let  $B \leq (Z - N)^{\frac{4}{3}}_+$  and

(26.6.58) 
$$C_0(Z-N)_+ \le |\lambda_N-\nu| \le C_1 Z^{\frac{2}{3}} (Z-N)_+^{\frac{1}{3}}.$$

Then the truncated semiclassical error does not exceed  $F := CZ^{\frac{2}{3}}$ .

*Proof.* The easy proof, which uses arguments of the proof of Proposition 26.6.8, is left to the reader.  $\Box$ 

**Proposition 26.6.13.** In the framework of Proposition 26.6.12(i)–(iv) term (26.6.25) does not exceed

$$CF^{\frac{5}{3}}(B|\lambda_N - \nu|^{\frac{1}{2}})^{\frac{1}{3}} + (26.5.40)$$

with F defined in the corresponding cases in Proposition 26.6.12.

*Proof.* Using Proposition 26.6.8 one can prove easily that

(26.6.59) Contribution of  $\{x \colon \ell(x) \coloneqq \min_m |x - y_m| \le \epsilon \overline{r}\}$  to (26.6.25) does not exceed  $CZ^{\frac{5}{3}}$ .

Now we need to estimate the excess of expression (26.6.25) over semiclassical D-term (with  $\lambda = \nu$ ), which has been estimated by (26.5.40). To do so we need to estimate

(26.6.60) 
$$\mathsf{D}([P_B(W+\nu) - P_B(W+\lambda)]\theta, [P_B(W+\nu) - P_B(W+\lambda)]\theta)$$

which is the contribution of the domain  $\Omega' := \{x : \ell(x) \leq CB^{-1}|\lambda - \nu|\}$ where  $\theta$  is the characteristic function of  $\Omega'$ . Recall that in the complementary domain  $|P_B(W + \nu) - P_B(W + \lambda)| \leq C\ell^{-1}$ . Let us consider

(26.6.61) 
$$D([P_B(W + \nu) - P_B(W + \lambda)]\theta_0, [P_B(W + \nu) - P_B(W + \lambda)]\theta_0)$$
  
and

(26.6.62) 
$$D([P_B(W + \nu) - P_B(W + \lambda)]\theta_t, [P_B(W + \nu) - P_B(W + \lambda)]\theta_{t'}),$$

where  $\theta_0$  is a characteristic function of

$$\Omega_0' \coloneqq \{x \colon \ell(x) \le t_0 \coloneqq (|\lambda_N - \nu|B^{-2})^{\frac{1}{4}}\}$$

and  $\theta_t$  is a characteristic function of  $\Omega'_t := \{x \colon t \leq \ell(x) \leq 2t\}$  with  $t \geq t' \geq t_0$ .

Observe that, when calculating expression (26.6.11), the contribution of  $\Omega'_0$  is  $\approx B|\lambda_N - \nu|^{\frac{1}{2}} \operatorname{mes}(\Omega'_0)$ , and therefore due to Proposition 26.6.12

,

(26.6.63) 
$$\operatorname{mes}(\Omega_0') \le CF(B|\lambda_N - \nu|^{\frac{1}{2}})^{-1}$$

while term (26.6.61) is

$$\asymp B^2|\lambda_N-\nu|\mathsf{D}(\theta_0,\theta_0)\leq CB^2|\lambda_N-\nu|(\mathsf{mes}(\Omega_0))^{\frac{5}{3}}\leq CF^{\frac{5}{3}}(B|\lambda_N-\nu|^{\frac{1}{2}})^{\frac{1}{3}},$$

where the middle inequality

(26.6.64) 
$$\mathsf{D}(\chi_G,\chi_G) \le C(\mathsf{mes}(G))^{\frac{5}{3}}$$

is well known<sup>40)</sup> and the last one is due to (26.6.63);  $\chi_G$  denotes characteristic function of G.

Similarly, when calculating expression (26.6.11), one can see easily that the contribution of  $\Omega'_t$  is  $\asymp B|\lambda_N - \nu|(B^2t^4)^{-1} \operatorname{\mathsf{mes}}(\Omega'_t)$  and therefore

(26.6.65) 
$$\operatorname{mes}(\Omega_t') \le CF |\lambda_N - \nu|^{-1} t^2,$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40)</sup> Really, among uniform solids of equal mass and density the ball has the least potential energy; then  $C = \frac{1}{5}(12\pi)^{\frac{1}{3}}$ .

while term (26.6.62) is  $\approx |\lambda_N - \nu|^2 t^{-2} t'^{-2} \mathsf{D}(\theta_t, \theta_{t'})$ , which does not exceed

(26.6.66)

 $C|\lambda_N - \nu|^2 t^{-2} t'^{-2} \operatorname{mes}(\Omega_t) \operatorname{mes}(\Omega_{t'}) [\max(\operatorname{mes}(\Omega_t), \operatorname{mes}(\Omega_{t'}))]^{-\frac{1}{3}}$ 

due to inequality

$$(26.6.67) \quad \mathsf{D}(\chi_{\mathcal{G}}, \chi_{\mathcal{G}'}) \leq C \operatorname{mes}(\mathcal{G}) \operatorname{mes}(\mathcal{G}') [\max(\operatorname{mes}(\mathcal{G}), \operatorname{mes}(\mathcal{G}'))]^{-\frac{1}{3}}$$

which trivially follows from the obvious inequality  $D(\chi_G, \delta_z) \leq C(\mathsf{mes}(G))^{\frac{2}{3}}$ , where  $\delta_z(x) = \delta(x - z)$ .

Due to (26.6.65) expression (26.6.66) does not exceed  $CF^{\frac{5}{3}}t^{-\frac{2}{3}}$ ; recall that  $t \ge t'$ . Since summation with respect to  $t \ge t'$  and then with respect to  $t' \ge t_0$  returns  $CF^{\frac{5}{3}}t_0^{-\frac{2}{3}}$ , we conclude that term (26.6.61) with  $\theta_0$  replaced by  $\theta''$  (the characteristic function of  $\{x : \ell(x) \ge t_0\}$ ) also does not exceed  $CF^{\frac{5}{3}}(B|\lambda_N - \nu|^{\frac{1}{2}})^{\frac{1}{3}}$ .

So, we have now two estimates for an excess of expression (26.6.25) over (26.5.40): one estimate is

(26.6.68) 
$$CF^{\frac{5}{3}}(B|\lambda_N-\nu|^{\frac{1}{2}})^{\frac{1}{3}}$$

with  $F = F(|\lambda_N - \nu|)$  derived in Proposition 26.6.12 and another one is due to (26.6.48). Let us consider the best of them. Note that estimate (26.6.68) consists of two terms each due to the corresponding term in the definition of F. The second term in the framework of Proposition 26.6.12(i) is

$$C\left(B^{\frac{3}{2}}\bar{r}^{2}|\nu|^{\frac{1}{4}}L|\lambda_{N}-\nu|^{-1}\right)^{\frac{5}{3}}\left(B|\lambda_{N}-\nu|^{\frac{1}{2}}\right)^{\frac{1}{3}} \asymp B^{\frac{17}{6}}\bar{r}^{\frac{10}{3}}|\nu|^{\frac{5}{12}}L^{\frac{5}{3}}|\lambda_{N}-\nu|^{-\frac{3}{2}}$$

Then, taking minimum of this expression and  $CB\bar{r}^3|\nu|^{\frac{1}{2}}L^2|\lambda_N-\nu|$ , we see that this minimum does not exceed

$$C\left(B^{\frac{17}{6}}\bar{r}^{\frac{10}{3}}|\nu|^{\frac{5}{12}}L^{\frac{5}{3}}\right)^{\frac{2}{5}}\left(B\bar{r}^{3}|\nu|^{\frac{1}{2}}L^{2}\right)^{\frac{3}{5}} \asymp CB^{\frac{5}{3}}\bar{r}^{\frac{8}{3}}(Z-N)^{\frac{7}{15}}_{+}L^{\frac{28}{15}} \asymp \\ C\left\{\begin{array}{ll} (Z-N)^{\frac{7}{15}}_{+}BL^{\frac{28}{15}} & \text{if } (Z-N)^{\frac{4}{3}}_{+} \le B \le Z^{\frac{4}{3}}, \\ (Z-N)^{\frac{7}{15}}_{+}Z^{\frac{8}{15}}B^{\frac{3}{5}}L^{\frac{26}{15}} & \text{if } Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \le B \le Z^{3}, \end{array}\right.$$

which is achieved for  $|\lambda_N - \nu| \simeq B^{\frac{11}{15}} \bar{r}^{\frac{2}{15}} |\nu|^{-\frac{1}{30}} L^{-\frac{2}{15}}$ . One can see easily that this expression does not exceed (26.5.40).

Therefore in the framework of Proposition 26.6.12(i)(ii) we can select  $F = (Z^{\frac{2}{3}} + B\bar{r}^{2}L)$  according to (26.6.55), arriving to

$$C(Z^{\frac{2}{3}} + B\bar{r}^{2}L)^{\frac{5}{3}}B^{\frac{1}{3}}|\lambda_{N} - \nu|^{\frac{1}{6}} \leq C(Z^{\frac{2}{3}} + B\bar{r}^{2}L)^{\frac{5}{3}}B^{\frac{1}{3}}(Z^{\frac{2}{3}} + B^{\frac{1}{2}}L_{1})^{\frac{1}{6}}|\nu|^{\frac{1}{24}}$$

which we can rewrite (slightly increasing powers of logarithms) as two last cases in expression

$$(26.6.69) \quad C \begin{cases} (Z-N)_{+}^{\frac{11}{9}}Z^{\frac{11}{9}}B^{\frac{1}{3}} & \text{if } B \leq (Z-N)_{+}^{\frac{4}{3}}, \\ (Z-N)_{+}^{\frac{1}{24}}(Z^{\frac{11}{9}}+B^{\frac{11}{12}}L^4)B^{\frac{11}{32}} & \text{if } (Z-N)_{+}^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}, \\ (Z-N)_{+}^{\frac{1}{24}}Z^{\frac{79}{120}}B^{\frac{23}{30}} & \text{if } Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^{3}. \end{cases}$$

In the framework of Proposition 26.6.12(iii) one should replace  $(\nu/B^2)^{\frac{1}{4}}$ by  $\bar{r}$  and L by 1, so  $B^{\frac{3}{2}}\bar{r}^2|\nu|^{\frac{1}{4}}L|\lambda_N-\nu|^{-1}\mapsto B^2\bar{r}^3|\lambda_N-\nu|^{-1}$ ; further, one should preserve  $B|\lambda_N-\nu|^{\frac{1}{2}}$  and therefore the second term becomes

$$(B^{2}\bar{r}^{3}|\lambda_{N}-\nu|^{-1})^{\frac{5}{3}} (B|\lambda_{N}-\nu|^{\frac{1}{2}})^{\frac{1}{3}} \asymp B^{\frac{11}{3}}\bar{r}^{5}|\lambda_{N}-\nu|^{-\frac{3}{2}}$$

and taking minimum of it and (26.6.48) we again get a term lesser than (26.5.40).

Meanwhile, the first term becomes  $Z^{\frac{10}{9}}B^{\frac{1}{3}}|\lambda_N - \nu|^{\frac{1}{6}} \leq (Z - N)^{\frac{1}{18}}_+ Z^{\frac{11}{9}}B^{\frac{1}{3}}$  occupying the first line in (26.6.69).

Therefore we have proven

**Proposition 26.6.14.** If  $M \ge 2$ ,  $B \le Z^3$  all three D-terms do not exceed (26.5.40) + (26.6.69).

### Summary

Therefore all error terms in the upper estimate do not exceed (26.5.40) and we arrive to

**Theorem 26.6.15.** Let  $M \ge 2$ ,  $B \le Z^3$ . Then

(i) The following estimate holds:

(26.6.70) 
$$E^{\mathsf{TF}} \leq \mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}} + \left(\mathsf{Tr}((H_{A,W} - \nu)^{-}) + \int P_B(W^{\mathsf{TF}} + \nu) \, dx\right) + (26.5.40) + (26.6.69).$$

(ii) The following estimate holds for  $a \ge Z^{-1}$ :

(26.6.71) 
$$E^{\mathsf{TF}} \leq \mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}} + \underbrace{\mathsf{Scott} + CZ^{\frac{4}{3}}B^{\frac{1}{3}} + a^{-\frac{1}{2}}Z^{\frac{3}{2}}}_{=} + (26.5.40) + (26.6.69);$$

for  $a \leq Z^{-1}$  one should replace selected terms by  $CZ^2$ .

(iii) If  $B \leq Z$  and  $a \geq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$ 

We also arrive to

**Theorem 26.6.16.** (i) In the framework of Theorem 26.6.15(i) the following estimate holds:

(26.6.73) 
$$\mathsf{D}(\rho_{\psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}, \rho_{\psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}) \le (26.5.40) + (26.6.69).$$

(ii) In the framework of Theorem 26.6.15(iii) (albeit without assumption  $a \ge Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$ ) the following estimate holds:

(26.6.74) 
$$\mathsf{D}\big(\rho_{\psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}, \rho_{\psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}\big) \le CQ \coloneqq CZ^{\frac{5}{3}}\big(Z^{-\delta} + (BZ^{-1})^{\delta}\big).$$

Remark 26.6.17. In virtue of Remark 26.3.7 we can replace term  $CZ^{\frac{4}{3}}B^{\frac{1}{3}}$  to  $o(Z^{\frac{4}{3}}B^{\frac{1}{3}})$ . This is also true in the case of the better estimates M = 1.

We leave to the reader the following easy problem:

Problem 26.6.18. Investigate conditions to  $(Z - N)_+$  so that terms (26.5.40) and (26.6.69) do not spoil the upper estimate for  $\mathsf{E}_N$  or  $\mathsf{D}(\rho_{\Psi} - \rho_B^{\mathsf{TF}}, \rho_{\Psi} - \rho_B^{\mathsf{TF}})$ .

# 26.7 Negatively Charged Systems

In this section we following Section 25.5 consider the case  $N \ge Z$  and provide upper estimates for the excessive negative charge (N - Z) if  $I_N > 0$  and for the ionization energy  $I_N$ .

### 26.7.1 Estimates of the Correlation Function

First of all we provide some estimates which will be used for both negatively and positively charged systems. Let us consider the ground-state function  $\Psi(x_1, \varsigma_1; ...; x_N, \varsigma_N)$  and the corresponding density  $\rho_{\Psi}(x)$ . Again the crucial role play estimates<sup>41</sup>

(26.7.1) 
$$\mathsf{D}(\rho_{\psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}, \rho_{\psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}) \leq \bar{Q}$$

where  $\bar{Q} \ge Q$  is just the right-hand expression of the corresponding estimate; as  $B \le Z$  we can slightly decrease  $\bar{Q} = Q$ .

Recall that the same estimate holds also for difference between upper and lower bounds for  $E_N$  (with  $Tr((H_W - \nu)^-) + \nu N$  not replaced by its semiclassical approximation).

*Remark 26.7.1.* All arguments and conclusions of Subsection 25.5.1 up to but excluding estimate (25.5.31) are not related to the Schrödinger operator and remain true.

So we need to calculate both the semiclassical errors and the principal parts. Note that all semiclassical errors for  $W_{\varepsilon}$  do not exceed those obtained for W we selected. Consider approximations errors in the principal part, namely

(26.7.2) 
$$\mathsf{D}(\mathsf{P}'(\mathsf{W}_{\varepsilon}+\nu)-\mathsf{P}'(\mathsf{W}+\nu),\mathsf{P}'(\mathsf{W}_{\varepsilon}+\nu)-\mathsf{P}'(\mathsf{W}+\nu))$$

and

(26.7.3) 
$$D(\rho_{\varepsilon} - \rho, \rho_{\varepsilon} - \rho)$$

since we already estimated terms  $D(P'(W + \nu) - \rho_B^{\mathsf{TF}}, P'(W + \nu) - \rho_B^{\mathsf{TF}})$ and  $D(\rho - \rho_B^{\mathsf{TF}}, \rho - \rho_B^{\mathsf{TF}})$  by  $\bar{Q}$ .

Note that

$$|W - W_{\varepsilon}| \le C(1 + \ell \varepsilon^{-1})^{-2} \zeta^2$$

and

(26.7.5) 
$$|P'(W_{\varepsilon}+\nu)-P'(W+\nu)| \leq C(1+\ell\varepsilon^{-1})^{-2}\zeta^{3}+C(1+\ell\varepsilon^{-1})^{-1}\zeta B$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41)</sup> Namely, estimate (26.6.27) of Theorem 26.6.7 if M = 1, and similar estimates (26.6.45) of Theorem 26.6.11 and (26.6.73) of Theorem 26.6.16 if  $M \ge 2$ . For  $B \le Z$  and  $a \ge Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$ , we use estimate (26.6.74) in all cases.

and therefore expression (26.7.2) does not exceed  $C(Z^3\varepsilon^2 + ZB^2\varepsilon^2\bar{r}^2)$  and it does not exceed  $C\max(Z^{\frac{5}{3}}, B^{\frac{4}{5}}Z^{\frac{3}{5}})$  for  $\varepsilon = \min(Z^{-\frac{2}{3}}, Z^{\frac{2}{5}}B^{-\frac{4}{5}})$  and this does not exceed  $C\bar{Q}$ .

Further, consider expression (26.7.3); it is equal to  $4\pi |(W_{\varepsilon} - W, \rho_{\varepsilon} - \rho)|$  and one can prove easily the same estimate for it.

Furthermore, under this restriction an error in the principal part of asymptotics of  $\int e(x, x, \lambda) dx$ , namely  $|\int (P'(W_{\varepsilon} + \nu) - P'(W + \nu)) dx|$ , does not exceed  $C(Z^{\frac{3}{2}}\varepsilon^{\frac{3}{2}} + Z^{\frac{1}{2}}B\varepsilon \overline{r}^{\frac{3}{2}})$ , which is less than the semiclassical error. Then  $S \leq C\overline{Q}$  with S defined by (25.5.22).

So, the following proposition is proven:

**Proposition 26.7.2**<sup>42)</sup>. If  $\theta$ ,  $\chi$  are as in Subsection 25.5.2, then estimate (25.5.33) holds, namely,

(26.7.6) 
$$\mathcal{J} = |\int \left(\rho_{\Psi}^{(2)}(x,y) - \rho(y)\rho_{\Psi}(x)\right)\theta(x)\chi(x,y)\,dxdy| \leq C \sup_{x} \|\nabla_{y}\chi_{x}\|_{\mathscr{L}^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3})}\left((\bar{Q} + \varepsilon^{-1}N + T)^{\frac{1}{2}}\Theta + P^{\frac{1}{2}}\Theta^{\frac{1}{2}}\right) + C\varepsilon N \|\nabla_{y}\chi\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}}\Theta$$

with  $\Theta = \Theta_{\Psi}$  defined by (25.5.15) and T, P defined by (25.5.23), (25.5.25) and arbitrary  $\varepsilon \leq \min(Z^{-\frac{2}{3}}, Z^{\frac{2}{5}}b^{-\frac{4}{5}}).$ 

Recall that  $\rho_{\Psi}^{(2)}(x, y)$  defined by (25.5.13) is the quantum correlation function.

### 26.7.2 Excessive Negative Charge

Let us select  $\theta = \theta_b$  according to (25.5.34):

$$(25.5.34) \qquad \qquad \mathsf{supp}(\theta) \subset \{x \colon \ell(x) \ge b\}$$

Note that  $H_N \Psi = E_N \Psi$  yields identity (25.5.35) and isolating the contribution of *j*-th electron in *j*-th term we get inequality (25.5.36):

$$(25.5.36) \quad -\operatorname{I}_{N} \int \rho_{\Psi}(x)\ell(x)\theta \, dx \geq \\ \sum_{j} \langle \Psi, \ell(x_{j})\theta(x_{j})\Big(-V(x_{j}) + \sum_{k:k\neq j} |x_{j} - x_{k}|^{-1}\Big)\Psi \rangle - \sum_{j} \|\nabla\big(\theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(x_{j})\ell(x_{j})^{\frac{1}{2}}\big)\Psi\|^{2}$$

<sup>42)</sup> Cf. Proposition 25.5.1.

due to the non-negativity of operator  $((D_x - A(x)) \cdot \sigma)^2$ .

Now let us select b to be able to calculate the magnitude of  $\Theta$ . Note that inequality (25.5.37) holds. Also (25.5.38) holds as long as

(26.7.7) 
$$Z^{-\frac{1}{3}} \le b \le \epsilon \min\left((Z - N)_{+}^{-\frac{1}{3}}, B^{-\frac{1}{4}}\right)$$

Using inequalities

$$|
abla( heta_b(x)^{rac{1}{2}}\ell^{rac{1}{2}})| \leq cb^{-1} heta_{(1-\epsilon)b}(x)$$

and

$$\int \rho_{\Psi}(x)\ell(x)\theta_b(x)\,dx\geq b\Theta_b$$

(i.e. (25.5.43)) we conclude that

$$(26.7.8) \quad bl_N\Theta_b \leq \int \theta_b(x)V(x)\ell(x)\rho_\Psi(x)\,dx$$
$$-\int \rho_\Psi^{(2)}(x,y)\ell(x)|x-y|^{-1}\theta_b(x)\,dxdy + Cb^{-1}\Theta_{b(1-\epsilon)} =$$
$$=\int \theta_b(x)V(x)\ell(x)\rho_\Psi(x)\,dx$$
$$-\int \rho_\Psi^{(2)}(x,y)\ell(x)|x-y|^{-1}(1-\theta_b(y))\theta_b(x)\,dxdy$$
$$-\int \rho_\Psi^{(2)}(x,y)\ell(x)|x-y|^{-1}\theta_b(y)\theta_b(x)\,dxdy + Cb^{-1}\Theta_{b(1-\epsilon)}$$

(cf. (25.5.44)). Denote by  $\mathcal{I}_1$ ,  $\mathcal{I}_2$ , and  $\mathcal{I}_3$  the first, second and third terms in the right-hand expression of (26.7.8) respectively. Symmetrizing  $\mathcal{I}_3$  with respect to x and y

$$\mathcal{I}_3 = -\frac{1}{2} \int \rho_{\Psi}^{(2)}(x,y) \big(\ell(x) + \ell(y)\big) |x-y|^{-1} \theta(y) \theta(x) \, dx dy$$

and using inequality  $\ell(x) + \ell(y) \ge \min_j(|x - y_j| + |y - y_j|) \ge |x - y|$  we conclude that this term does not exceed

(26.7.9) 
$$-\frac{1}{2} \int \rho_{\Psi}^{(2)}(x, y) \theta_{b}(y) \theta_{b}(x) \, dx dy = -\frac{1}{2} (N-1) \int \rho_{\Psi}(x) \theta_{b}(x) \, dx + \frac{1}{2} \int \rho_{\Psi}^{(2)}(x, y) (1-\theta_{b}(y)) \theta_{b}(x) \, dx dy$$

(cf. (25.5.45)).

Here the first term is exactly  $-\frac{1}{2}(N-1)\Theta_b$ ; replacing  $\rho_{\Psi}^{(2)}(x,y)$  by  $\rho(y)\rho_{\Psi}(x)$  we get

(26.7.10) 
$$\frac{1}{2}\int (1-\theta_b(y))\rho(y)\,dy\times\Theta_b$$

with an error

(26.7.11) 
$$\frac{1}{2} \int \left( \rho_{\Psi}^{(2)}(x,y) - \rho(y) \rho_{\Psi}(x) \right) \left( 1 - \theta_b(y) \right) \theta_b(x) \, dx dy$$

(cf. (25.5.46), (25.5.47)). We estimate this expression using Proposition 26.7.2 with  $\chi(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) = 1 - \theta_b(\mathbf{y})$ . Then  $\|\nabla_y \chi_x\|_{\mathscr{L}^2} \approx b^{\frac{1}{2}}$ ,  $\|\nabla_y \chi\|_{\mathscr{L}^\infty} \approx b^{-1}$  and  $P \approx b^{-1} \Theta_b^{(43)}$ , while  $T \lesssim b^{-4}$  as long as  $B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  and  $b \leq B^{-\frac{1}{4}}$ .

To estimate the excessive negative charge we assume that (N - Z) > 0 with  $I_N > 0$ . In this case the left-hand expression in (26.7.8) should be positive.

*Remark 26.7.3.* Recall that in Subsection 25.5.2 we picked  $b = Z^{-\frac{5}{21}}$  and it makes sense here as well as long as  $b \leq \bar{r} = B^{-\frac{1}{4}}$  i.e. as  $B \leq Z^{\frac{20}{21}}$ . However for  $B \geq Z^{\frac{20}{21}}$  we just pick up  $b = C_0 \bar{r}$  and then T = 0 in our framework.

Estimating (26.7.11) we conclude that

(26.7.12) 
$$\mathcal{I}_{3} \leq -\frac{1}{2} \Big( N - 1 - \int \big( 1 - \theta_{b}(\mathbf{y}) \big) \rho(\mathbf{y}) \, d\mathbf{y} \Big) \Theta_{b} + \mathcal{I}_{0}$$

with

(26.7.13) 
$$\mathcal{I}_{0} = Cb^{\frac{1}{2}} \left( \mathcal{S}\Theta_{b} + Nb^{-2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \Theta_{b}^{\frac{1}{2}} + C\varepsilon Nb^{-1}\Theta_{b}$$

(cf. (25.5.48)).

On the other hand,

(26.7.14) 
$$\mathcal{I}_{2} \leq -\int \rho_{\Psi}^{(2)}(x,y)\ell(x)|x-y|^{-1}(1-\theta_{b(1-\epsilon)}(y))\theta_{b}(x)\,dxdy$$

<sup>43)</sup> Recall that  $P = \int |\nabla \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}|^2 \rho_{\Psi} dx$  and  $T = \sup_{supp(\theta)} W$ .

and replacing  $\rho_{\Psi}^{(2)}(x, y)$  by  $\rho(y)\rho_{\Psi}(x)$  and estimating an error due to Proposition 26.7.2 again, we get

$$(26.7.15) \quad \mathcal{I}_{2} \leq -\int \rho(y)\rho_{\Psi}(x)\ell(x)|x-y|^{-1}\left(1-\theta_{b(1-\epsilon)}(y)\right)\theta_{b}(x)\,dxdy + Cb^{-\frac{1}{2}}\left(\mathcal{S}\Theta_{b}+Nb^{-2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}\Theta_{b}^{\frac{1}{2}}+C\varepsilon Nb^{-1} = -\int (V-W)(x)\ell(x)\theta_{b}(x)\,dx + \int \rho(y)\rho_{\Psi}(x)\ell(x)|x-y|^{-1}\theta_{b(1-\epsilon)}(y))\theta_{b}(x)\,dxdy + \mathcal{I}_{0}.$$

So, we picked up

(26.7.16) 
$$b = C \min(Z^{-\frac{5}{21}}, \bar{r}) = \begin{cases} Z^{-\frac{5}{21}} & \text{if } B \le Z^{\frac{20}{21}}, \\ B^{-\frac{1}{4}} & \text{if } Z^{\frac{20}{21}} \le B \le Z^{\frac{4}{3}}, \\ B^{-\frac{2}{5}}Z^{\frac{1}{5}} & \text{if } Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \le B \le Z^{3}, \end{cases}$$

and

(26.7.17) 
$$\varepsilon = \min(Z^{-\frac{2}{3}}, B^{-\frac{4}{5}}Z^{\frac{2}{5}}).$$

Then, preserving all the estimates one can take  $W = \rho = 0$  at  $supp(\theta_{\frac{b}{2}})^{44}$ and then

(26.7.18) 
$$\mathcal{I}_1 + \mathcal{I}_2 = \int \theta_b(x) W(x) \ell(x) \rho_{\Psi}(x) \, dx - \int \left( \rho_{\Psi}^{(2)}(x,y) - \rho_{\Psi}(x) \rho(y) \right) \ell(x) |x-y|^{-1} \left( 1 - \theta_b(y) \right) \theta_b(x) \, dx \, dy \leq \mathcal{I}_0.$$

Further, since  $\int (1 - \theta_b(y)) \rho(y) dy \leq Z^{45}$  we get from (26.7.8) and estimate (26.7.12) for  $\mathcal{I}_3$  that

(26.7.19) 
$$(N-Z) \leq Cb^{\frac{1}{2}}S^{\frac{1}{2}} + C\Theta_b^{-\frac{1}{2}}N^{\frac{1}{2}}b^{-1} + Cb^{-1}\Theta_{b(1-\epsilon)}\Theta_b^{-1}$$

because then  $\varepsilon N^{\frac{1}{2}} b^{-1}$  does not exceed  $C b^{\frac{1}{2}} \bar{Q}^{\frac{1}{2}}$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44)</sup> For  $B \ge Z^{\frac{20}{21}}$  this is fulfilled automatically. <sup>45)</sup> Actually for  $B \ge Z^{\frac{20}{21}}$  this is an equality.

Let us assume that estimate (26.7.20) below does not hold. Then  $\Theta_b = N - \int (1 - \theta_b(y)) \rho_{\Psi}(y) dy$  and due to Theorem 26.6.16

$$|\Theta_b - N - Z| \le Cb^{\frac{1}{2}} \bar{Q}^{\frac{1}{2}} \le \frac{1}{2}(N - Z)$$

and the same is true for  $\Theta_{b(1-\epsilon)}$ . Then (26.7.19) yields (26.7.20). So, (26.7.20) has been proven.

Thus we proved the following theorem:

**Theorem 26.7.4.** Let condition (26.2.28) be fulfilled. In the fixed nuclei model let  $I_N > 0$ .

(i) Then

$$(26.7.20) (N-Z)_{+} \leq C \begin{cases} Z^{\frac{5}{7}} & \text{if } B \leq Z^{\frac{20}{21}}, \\ Z^{\frac{5}{6}}B^{-\frac{1}{8}} + B^{\frac{1}{2}}L & \text{if } Z^{\frac{20}{21}} \leq B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}L \\ Z^{\frac{2}{5}}B^{\frac{1}{5}}L & \text{if } Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^{3} \end{cases}$$

where  $L = |\log(Z^{-3}B)|$ .

(ii) For M = 1 the same estimate holds with L = 1:

$$(26.7.21) (N-Z)_{+} \leq C \begin{cases} Z^{\frac{5}{7}} & \text{if } B \leq Z^{\frac{20}{21}}, \\ Z^{\frac{5}{6}}B^{-\frac{1}{8}} & \text{if } Z^{\frac{20}{21}} \leq B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}L \\ Z^{\frac{2}{5}}B^{\frac{1}{5}} & \text{if } Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^{3}. \end{cases}$$

Furthermore, for  $B \leq Z$  one can use a slightly sharper estimate for  $\overline{Q}$ :

**Theorem 26.7.5.** Let condition (26.2.28) be fulfilled. In the fixed nuclei model let  $I_N > 0$ . Then for a single atom and for molecule with  $B \leq Z$  and  $a \geq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}+\delta_1}$ 

(26.7.22) 
$$(N-Z)_{+} \leq C \begin{cases} Z^{\frac{5}{7}-\delta} & \text{if } B \leq Z^{\frac{20}{21}}, \\ Z^{\frac{5}{6}-\delta}B^{-\frac{1}{8}+\delta} & \text{if } Z^{\frac{20}{21}} \leq B \leq Z \end{cases}$$

Results for a free nuclei model follow from the above results and an estimate of **a** from below (see Subsubsection 26.8.4.4. Estimate for Excessive Negative Charge and Ionization Energy).

**Theorem 26.7.6.** Let condition (26.2.28) be fulfilled. In the free nuclei model let  $\hat{I}_N>0.$  Then

(i) Estimate (26.7.20) holds.

(ii) For  $B \leq Z$  estimate (26.7.22) holds.

## 26.7.3 Estimate for Ionization Energy

Finally, let us estimate the ionization energy, assuming that

(26.7.23)  $(Z - N)_+$  does not exceed the right-hand expression of  $(26.7.20)^{46}$ .

Few cases are possible:

(i)  $B \leq Z^{\frac{20}{21}}$  and  $(Z - N)_+ \leq C_0 Z^{\frac{5}{7}}$ . In this case we act exactly as in Subsection 25.5.2: we pick up  $b = \epsilon Z^{-\frac{5}{21}}$  with a small enough constant  $\epsilon' > 0$ ; then

(26.7.24) 
$$|\int \theta_b(x) (\rho_{\Psi} - \rho) dx| \leq C b^{\frac{1}{2}} Q^{\frac{1}{2}},$$

while

(26.7.25) 
$$\int \theta_b(x) \rho \, dx \asymp b^{-3}$$

and therefore

(26.7.26) 
$$\Theta \coloneqq \int \theta_b(x) \rho_{\Psi} \, dx \asymp b^{-3}$$

and

(26.7.27) 
$$|\int \theta(x) (\rho_{\Psi} - \rho) dx| \leq \epsilon'' \Theta.$$

Then (26.7.8), (26.7.12), (26.7.15) yield that  $I_N \leq CZ^{\frac{20}{21}}$ ; so estimate (26.7.37) below in this case is recovered.

In all other cases one needs to replace  $\theta_b$  by a function which is not *b*-admissible.

(ii) Let  $Z^{\frac{20}{21}} \leq B \leq Z^3$  and M = 1. Let here  $\bar{r}$  be the exact radius of  $\text{supp}(\rho)$ ,  $\rho = \rho_B^{\mathsf{TF}}$  and  $W = W_B^{\mathsf{TF}}$ , which were obtained in the Thomas-Fermi theory with  $\nu = 0$ . Recall that  $\bar{r} \asymp \max(B^{-\frac{1}{4}}; B^{-\frac{2}{5}}Z^{\frac{1}{5}})$  and  $\bar{Q} \asymp \max(Z^{\frac{5}{3}}; B^{\frac{4}{5}}Z^{\frac{3}{5}})$ . Also recall that  $W \asymp Gt^4$  and  $\rho \asymp BG^{\frac{1}{2}}$  for  $r = (1 - t)\bar{r}$  with  $1 - \epsilon \leq t \leq 1$ , where  $G := \min(B; B^{\frac{2}{5}}Z^{\frac{4}{5}})$ .

We take in this case  $\bar{r}t$ -admissible function  $\theta$ , equal 0 for  $|x-y| \leq \bar{r}(1-t)$ and equal 1 for  $|x-y| \geq \bar{r}(1-\frac{1}{2}t)$ .

(26.7.28) In all the above estimates one needs to replace  $Cb^{-1}\Theta_{b(1-\epsilon)}$  by  $C\bar{r}^{-1}t^{-1}\Theta'$  with  $\Theta'$  defined by  $\theta'$  which is also  $\bar{r}t$ -admissible and equal 1 in  $\epsilon\bar{r}t$ -vicinity of supp( $\theta$ ).

 $<sup>^{46)}</sup>$  Or (26.7.21), or (26.7.22) in the framework of the corresponding theorem.

Then (26.7.24) - (26.7.27) are replaced by

(26.7.29) 
$$|\int \theta(\mathbf{x}) (\rho_{\Psi} - \rho) d\mathbf{x}| \leq C Q^{\frac{1}{2}} \times ||\nabla \theta|| \asymp C t^{-\frac{1}{2}} \overline{r}^{\frac{1}{2}} Q^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

while

(26.7.30) 
$$\int \theta(x)\rho \, dx \asymp BG^{\frac{1}{2}} \overline{r}^3 t^3$$

and therefore

(26.7.31) 
$$\Theta := \int \theta(x) \rho_{\Psi} \, dx \asymp BG^{\frac{1}{2}} \bar{r}^3 t^3.$$

Then (26.7.27) holds provided the right-hand expression of (26.7.29) does not exceed the right-hand expression of (26.7.31), multiplied by  $\epsilon$ :

$$(26.7.32) t = t_* := C_0 B^{-\frac{2}{7}} G^{-\frac{1}{7}} \overline{r}^{-\frac{5}{7}} Q^{\frac{1}{7}} = C_1 \max(B^{-\frac{1}{4}} Z^{\frac{5}{21}}; B^{\frac{2}{35}} Z^{-\frac{6}{35}})$$

where we picked up the smallest possible value of t. Note that

 $(26.7.33) \ t \asymp 1 \text{ as either } B \asymp Z^{\frac{20}{21}} \text{ or } B \asymp Z^3.$ 

Further, let us estimate from above

with  $\omega = 0$  as  $|x - y| \ge 2\tau \overline{r}$  and  $\omega = 1$  as  $|x - y| \le \tau \overline{r}$ , with  $\tau \in (t, 1)$ .

Then due to Proposition 26.7.2 with  $\chi(x, y) = (1 - \omega_{\tau}(x, y))|x - y|^{-1}$ the first term in the right-hand expression does not exceed  $C\bar{r}^{\frac{1}{2}}\tau^{-\frac{1}{2}}Q^{\frac{1}{2}}\Theta$ since  $\|\nabla_{y}\chi_{x}\|_{\mathscr{L}^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3})} \simeq (\bar{r}\tau)^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  and also one can prove easily that all other terms in  $((Q + \varepsilon^{-1}N + T)^{\frac{1}{2}}\Theta + P^{\frac{1}{2}}\Theta^{\frac{1}{2}})$  do not exceed  $CQ\Theta$ .

Meanwhile, the second term in the right-hand expression of (26.7.34) does not exceed  $CBG^{\frac{1}{2}}\tau^2 \times \bar{r}^3\tau^2 \times \Theta$  because  $\rho(y) \leq CBG^{\frac{1}{2}}\tau^2$  if  $|x-y| \leq 2\tau\bar{r}$ ,  $x \in \text{supp}(\theta)$  and therefore  $\int \rho(y)\omega_{\tau}(x, y) \, dy \leq CBG^{\frac{1}{2}}\tau^4$ .

Minimizing their sum

$$C\left(\bar{r}^{\frac{1}{2}}\tau^{-\frac{1}{2}}Q^{\frac{1}{2}}+BG^{\frac{1}{2}}\bar{r}^{3}\tau^{4}\right)\Theta$$

with respect to  $\tau \geq t^{47}$ , we arrive to estimate

$$\mathcal{I}' \leq C \bar{r}^{\frac{7}{9}} Q^{\frac{4}{9}} B^{\frac{1}{9}} G^{\frac{1}{18}} \Theta.$$

Then exactly as in the proof of Theorem 25.5.3 we have inequality

(26.7.35) 
$$\bar{r} I_N \leq C(Z - N)_+ + C \bar{r}^{\frac{7}{9}} Q^{\frac{4}{9}} B^{\frac{1}{9}} G^{\frac{1}{18}}$$

and therefore for  $(Z - N)_+ \leq C \bar{r}^{\frac{7}{9}} Q^{\frac{4}{9}} B^{\frac{1}{9}} G^{\frac{1}{18}}$  we arrive to the estimate  $I_N \leq C \bar{r}^{-\frac{2}{9}} Q^{\frac{4}{9}} B^{\frac{1}{9}} G^{\frac{1}{18}}$ .

Thus we have proven estimate (26.7.37) of Theorem 26.7.7 below, at least as  $N \ge Z$ . Further, estimate (26.7.39) under the same assumption  $N \ge Z$  is due to the fact that for  $B \le Z$  one can use  $\bar{Q} = Z^{\frac{5}{3}} (B^{\delta} Z^{-\delta} + Z^{-\delta})$  instead of Q.

### Theorem 26.7.7. Let M = 1.

(i) Then for  $B \leq Z^3$  and

(26.7.36) 
$$(Z - N)_{+} \leq C_{0} \begin{cases} Z^{\frac{5}{7}} & \text{if } B \leq Z^{\frac{20}{21}}, \\ B^{-\frac{1}{8}}Z^{\frac{5}{6}} & \text{if } Z^{\frac{20}{21}} \leq B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}, \\ B^{\frac{1}{5}}Z^{\frac{2}{5}} & \text{if } Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^{3} \end{cases}$$

the following estimate holds

(26.7.37) 
$$I_{N} \leq C \begin{cases} Z^{\frac{20}{21}} & \text{if } B \leq Z^{\frac{20}{21}}, \\ B^{\frac{2}{9}}Z^{\frac{20}{27}} & \text{if } Z^{\frac{20}{21}} \leq B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \\ B^{\frac{26}{45}}Z^{\frac{4}{15}} & \text{if } Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^{3}. \end{cases}$$

(ii) Furthermore for  $B \leq Z$  and

(26.7.38) 
$$(Z - N)_{+} \leq C_0 \begin{cases} Z^{\frac{5}{7} - \delta} & \text{if } B \leq Z^{\frac{20}{21}}, \\ B^{-\frac{1}{8} + \delta} Z^{\frac{5}{6} - \delta} & \text{if } Z^{\frac{20}{21}} \leq B \leq Z \end{cases}$$

 $^{47)}$  One can see easily that minimum is achieved as  $\tau \asymp t^{\frac{7}{9}}.$ 

the following estimate holds

(26.7.39) 
$$I_{N} \leq C \begin{cases} Z_{21}^{\frac{20}{21}-\delta'} & \text{if } B \leq Z_{21}^{\frac{20}{21}}, \\ B^{\frac{2}{9}+\delta'}Z_{27}^{\frac{20}{27}-\delta'} & \text{if } Z_{21}^{\frac{20}{21}} \leq B \leq Z \end{cases}$$

Proof in the general settings. To prove estimates (26.7.37) and (26.7.39) in the general settings (i.e. without assumption  $N \ge Z$ ) observe that for N < Z

(26.7.40) 
$$\mathsf{D}(\rho_N^{\mathsf{TF}} - \rho_Z^{\mathsf{TF}}, \rho_N^{\mathsf{TF}} - \rho_Z^{\mathsf{TF}}) \le C(Z - N)^2 \bar{r}^{-1} \asymp$$
  
 $C \max((Z - N)^{\frac{7}{3}}; C(Z - N)^2 B^{\frac{1}{4}}; C(Z - N)^2 B^{\frac{2}{5}} Z^{-\frac{1}{5}})$ 

(where subscript here denotes the number of electrons rather than the intensity of the magnetic field) because the same estimate holds for  $\mathcal{E}_N^{\mathsf{TF}} - \mathcal{E}_Z^{\mathsf{TF}}$ :

(26.7.41) 
$$0 \leq \mathcal{E}_{N}^{\mathsf{TF}} - \mathcal{E}_{Z}^{\mathsf{TF}} \leq C(Z - N)^{2} \overline{r}^{-1},$$

which itself follows from

(26.7.42) 
$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}}}{\partial N} = \nu \asymp (Z - N)\bar{r}^{-1}.$$

Therefore to preserve our estimates we need to assume that the righthand expression of (26.7.40) does not exceed Q; this assumption is equivalent to  $(Z - N)_+ \leq \min(Z^{\frac{5}{7}}; Z^{\frac{5}{6}}B^{-\frac{1}{8}})$  for  $B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  which is exactly the first and the second cases in (26.7.36) (and these cases in (26.7.38) appear in the same way), and to  $(Z - N)_+ \leq CB^{\frac{1}{5}}Z^{\frac{2}{5}}$  for  $Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^3$ , which is exactly the third case in (26.7.40).

Also there is a term  $C(Z - N)_+ \bar{r}^{-1}$  in the estimate of  $I_N$ . However, under assumption (26.7.40) this term does not exceed the right hand expression of (26.7.40) or (26.7.42), in fact coincides with it only in the first case.

Consider now  $M \ge 2$ . Assume that  $B \ge Z^{\frac{20}{21}}$  since the opposite case has been analyzed already.

Let us pick up  $\bar{r}t$ -admissible function  $\theta$  such that  $\theta = 1$  if  $W \leq C_0 G t^4$ and  $\theta = 0$  if  $W \geq 2C_0 G t^4$ . In this case  $(M \geq 2)$  we can claim only that  $\|\nabla \theta\| \leq C t^{-\frac{1}{2}} \bar{r}^{\frac{1}{2}} |\log t|^{\frac{1}{2}}$  and therefore

(26.7.29)' 
$$|\int \theta(x) (\rho_{\Psi} - \rho) dx| \le Ct^{-\frac{1}{2}} |\log t|^{\frac{1}{2}} \bar{r}^{\frac{1}{2}} \bar{Q}^{\frac{1}{2}},$$

while

$$(26.7.30)' \qquad \qquad BG^{\frac{1}{2}}\overline{r}^{3}t^{3} \lesssim \int \theta(x)\rho \, dx \lesssim BG^{\frac{1}{2}}|\log t|\overline{r}^{3}t^{3}$$

and therefore

(26.7.31)' 
$$\Theta := \int \theta(x) \rho_{\Psi} \, dx \gtrsim B G^{\frac{1}{2}} \bar{r}^3 t^3$$

for

$$(26.7.32)' t \ge t_* := C_0 B^{-\frac{2}{7}} G^{-\frac{1}{7}} \bar{r}^{-\frac{5}{7}} \bar{Q}^{\frac{1}{7}} |\log t|^{\frac{2}{7}}.$$

Now we need to look more carefully at  $\overline{Q}$ , especially because while it may contain "rogue" factor L or  $L^2$ , it can also be large as  $(Z - N)_+$  is large. Fortunately, this is not the case in the current framework:

**Proposition 26.7.8.** (i) Under condition (26.7.46) below  $\overline{Q}$  is as in the case N = Z i.e.

(26.7.43) 
$$\bar{Q} = \begin{cases} Z^{\frac{5}{3}} + B^{\frac{5}{4}}L^2 & \text{if } B \le Z^{\frac{4}{3}}, \\ B^{\frac{4}{5}}Z^{\frac{3}{5}}L^2 & \text{if } Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \le B \le Z^3. \end{cases}$$

(ii) Furthermore, if  $B \leq Z$  and  $a \geq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  under condition (26.7.48) below  $\overline{Q}$  is exactly as in the case N = Z, i.e.

(26.7.44) 
$$\bar{Q} = Z^{\frac{5}{3}} \left( Z^{-\delta} + (aZ^{\frac{1}{3}})^{-\delta} + (BZ^{-1})^{\delta} \right).$$

*Proof.* One can either derive it from the existing estimates or just repeat estimates with  $\nu = 0$  adding  $(Z - N)^2_+ \bar{r}^{-1}$  to  $\bar{Q}$ . We leave easy details to the reader.

Therefore all the above arguments could be repeated with this new expression  $\bar{Q}$  which also acquires factor  $|\log t|$  (due to this factor in the estimate of  $\|\nabla \theta\|$  and this factor boils to  $L_1^{\frac{1}{2}}$  with

(26.7.45) 
$$L_{1} = \begin{cases} |\log BZ^{-\frac{20}{21}}| + 1 \quad Z^{\frac{20}{21}} \leq B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}, \\ |\log BZ^{-3}| + 1 \quad Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^{3}. \end{cases}$$

Therefore we arrive to

**Theorem 26.7.9.** Let  $M \geq 2$ . Then

(i) For

$$(26.7.46) (Z - N)_{+} \leq C_{0} \begin{cases} Z^{\frac{5}{7}} & \text{if } B \leq Z^{\frac{20}{21}}, \\ Z^{\frac{5}{6}}B^{-\frac{1}{8}} + B^{\frac{1}{2}}L & \text{if } Z^{\frac{20}{21}} \leq B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}, \\ B^{\frac{1}{5}}Z^{\frac{2}{5}}L & \text{if } Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^{3} \end{cases}$$

the following estimate holds

(26.7.47) 
$$I_{N} \leq CL_{1}^{\frac{2}{9}} \begin{cases} Z^{\frac{20}{21}} & \text{if } B \leq Z^{\frac{20}{21}}, \\ Z^{\frac{20}{27}}B^{\frac{2}{9}} + B^{\frac{7}{9}}L^{\frac{8}{9}} & \text{if } Z^{\frac{20}{21}} \leq B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \\ Z^{\frac{4}{15}}B^{\frac{26}{45}}L^{\frac{8}{9}} & \text{if } Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^{3}. \end{cases}$$

(ii) Furthermore, for  $B \leq Z$ ,  $a \geq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  and

(26.7.48) 
$$(Z - N)_{+} \leq C_0 \varsigma^{\delta} \begin{cases} Z^{\frac{5}{7}} & \text{if } B \leq Z^{\frac{20}{21}}, \\ Z^{\frac{5}{6}} B^{-\frac{1}{8}} & \text{if } Z^{\frac{20}{21}} \leq B \leq Z, \end{cases}$$

with

(26.7.49) 
$$\varsigma = Z^{-1} + BZ^{-1} + a^{-1}Z^{\frac{1}{3}}$$

the following estimate holds

(26.7.50) 
$$I_{N} \leq C L_{1}^{\frac{2}{9}} \varsigma^{\delta'} \begin{cases} Z^{\frac{20}{21}} & \text{if } B \leq Z^{\frac{20}{21}}, \\ Z^{\frac{20}{27}} B^{\frac{2}{9}} & \text{if } Z^{\frac{20}{21}} \leq B \leq Z. \end{cases}$$

# 26.8 Positively Charged Systems

Now let us estimate from above and below the ionization energy in the case when N < Z and condition (26.7.36) (if M = 1) or (26.7.46) (if  $M \ge 2$ ) fails. We also estimate excessive the positive charge in the case of  $M \ge 2$  and free nuclei model. We will follow arguments of the corresponding three subsections of Section 25.6.

## 26.8.1 Upper Estimate for Ionization Energy: M = 1

Consider first the case of M = 1. Then for B = 0 arguments are well-known (see Section 25.6) but we repeat them for B > 0: we pick up  $\beta$ -admissible

function  $\theta$  such that  $\theta = 1$  if  $|x - y_1| \ge \bar{r} - \beta$  and  $\theta = 0$  if  $|x - y_1| \le \bar{r} - 2\beta$ where  $\bar{r}$  is an exact radius of support of  $\rho^{\mathsf{TF}}$  (see the very beginning of Subsection 25.6.1) and  $\beta \ll \bar{r}$ . Recall that

(26.8.1) 
$$\bar{r} \approx \begin{cases} (Z-N)^{-\frac{1}{3}} & \text{if } B \le Z^{\frac{20}{21}}, \\ \min((Z-N)^{-\frac{1}{3}}, B^{-\frac{1}{4}}) & \text{if } Z^{\frac{20}{21}} \le B \le Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \\ B^{-\frac{2}{5}}Z^{\frac{1}{5}} & \text{if } Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \le B \le Z^{3}, \end{cases}$$

where in the first case we used that  $Z - N \ge Z^{\frac{5}{7}}$  while in the second case both subcases  $(Z - N)^{-\frac{1}{3}} \ge B^{-\frac{1}{4}}$  are possible.

We can assume without any loss of the generality that  $y_1 = 0$ . Now in the spirit of Subsection 25.6.1 we need to select as we did in Subsection 26.7.3 the smallest  $\beta$  such that

(26.8.2) 
$$\Theta^{\mathsf{TF}} \coloneqq \int \theta(x) \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}(x) \, dx \ge C \beta^{-\frac{1}{2}} \bar{r} \bar{Q}^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

implying that

(26.8.3) 
$$\Theta_{\Psi} \coloneqq \int \theta(x) \rho_{\Psi}(x) \, dx \asymp \Theta^{\mathsf{TF}}$$

where the right-hand expression of (26.8.2) estimates  $|\int \theta(x)(\rho^{\mathsf{TF}} - \rho_{\Psi}) dx|$ (recall that it does not exceed  $\|\nabla \theta\| \cdot \mathsf{D}(\rho^{\mathsf{TF}} - \rho_{\Psi}, \rho^{\mathsf{TF}} - \rho_{\Psi})^{\frac{1}{2}}$ ). Again as in Subsection 25.6.1  $\rho^{\mathsf{TF}} = \rho_N^{\mathsf{TF}}$  is calculated for the actual value of N < Z.

Then, following Subsubsection 25.6.1, eventually we arrive to estimate (25.6.8), namely:

(26.8.4) 
$$I_N \int \ell(x)\rho_{\Psi}(x)\theta(x) \, dx \leq \int \theta(x)V(x)\ell(x)\rho_{\Psi}(x) \, dx$$
$$-\int \left(\rho_{\Psi}^{(2)}(x,y) - \rho_{\Psi}(x)\rho(y)\right)\ell(x)|x-y|^{-1}\theta(x) \, dxdy$$
$$-\int \rho_{\Psi}(x)\rho(y)\ell(x)|x-y|^{-1}\theta(x) \, dxdy + C\beta^{-2}\bar{r}\Theta,$$

and then estimate from above the second term in the right-hand expression

$$(26.8.5) \quad -\int \left(\rho_{\Psi}^{(2)}(x,y) - \rho_{\Psi}(x)\rho(y)\right)\ell(x)|x-y|^{-1}\theta(x)\,dxdy \leq \\ -\int \left(\rho_{\Psi}^{(2)}(x,y) - \rho_{\Psi}(x)\rho(y)\right)\left(1 - \omega(x,y)\right)\ell(x)|x-y|^{-1}\theta(x)\,dxdy \\ +\int \rho_{\Psi}(x)\rho(y)\omega(x,y)\ell(x)|x-y|^{-1}\theta(x)\,dxdy$$

with  $\omega = \omega_{\gamma}$ :  $\omega = 0$  if  $|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}| \ge 2\gamma$  and  $\omega = 1$  if  $|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}| \le \gamma$ ,  $\gamma \ge \beta$  (see (25.6.9)).

To estimate the first term in the right-hand expression of (26.8.5) one can apply Proposition 25.5.1. In this case  $\|\nabla_y \chi\|_{\mathscr{L}^2} \simeq C\bar{r}\gamma^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ ,  $\|\nabla_y \chi\|_{\mathscr{L}^\infty} \simeq \bar{r}\gamma^{-2}$ and plugging  $P = \beta^{-2}\Theta$  and  $T = |\nu|$ ,  $\varepsilon = Z^{-\frac{2}{3}}$  we conclude that this term does not exceed (25.6.10)

(26.8.6) 
$$C\bar{r}(\gamma^{-\frac{1}{2}}Q^{\frac{1}{2}}+Z^{\frac{1}{3}}\gamma^{-2})\Theta$$

(if  $Q \ge Z^{\frac{5}{3}}$ ; otherwise here we should reset here  $Q \coloneqq Z^{\frac{5}{3}}$ ). Note that if  $0 \le \bar{r} - |x| \asymp \beta$ 

(26.8.7) 
$$W + \nu \asymp \upsilon \coloneqq \max\left\{\left(\frac{|\nu|\beta}{\bar{r}}\right); \ G\left(\frac{\beta}{\bar{r}}\right)^4\right\},$$

with G defined by (26.2.41) and therefore

(26.8.8) 
$$\rho \asymp \max\left\{\left(\frac{|\nu|\beta}{\bar{r}}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}}; B\left(\frac{|\nu|\beta}{\bar{r}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}; BG^{\frac{1}{2}}\left(\frac{\beta}{\bar{r}}\right)^{2}\right\}$$

where the first and the second clauses are forks of the first clause in (26.8.7) since in the second clause automatically  $W + \nu \leq B$  for  $0 \leq \bar{r} - |x| \leq \beta$ ; therefore

(26.8.9) 
$$\int \rho(x)\theta(x)\,dx \asymp \max\left\{\left(\frac{|\nu|\beta}{\bar{r}}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}}; B\left(\frac{|\nu|\beta}{\bar{r}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}; BG^{\frac{1}{2}}\left(\frac{\beta}{\bar{r}}\right)^{2}\right\}\beta\bar{r}^{2},$$

and therefore (26.8.2) holds if and only if

(26.8.10) 
$$\max\left\{\left(\frac{|\nu|}{\bar{r}}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}}\beta^{3}; B\left(\frac{|\nu|}{\bar{r}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}\beta^{2}; BG^{\frac{1}{2}}\left(\frac{1}{\bar{r}}\right)^{2}\beta^{\frac{7}{2}}\right\}\bar{r} \geq CQ^{\frac{1}{2}};$$

then

(26.8.11) 
$$\beta = \min\left\{Q^{\frac{1}{6}}|\nu|^{-\frac{1}{2}}\bar{r}^{\frac{1}{6}}; B^{-\frac{1}{2}}Q^{\frac{1}{4}}|\nu|^{-\frac{1}{4}}\bar{r}^{-\frac{1}{4}}; B^{-\frac{2}{7}}G^{-\frac{1}{7}}Q^{\frac{1}{7}}\bar{r}^{\frac{2}{7}}\right\}$$

and in the corresponding cases

(26.8.12) 
$$\upsilon = \left\{ Q^{\frac{1}{6}} |\nu|^{\frac{1}{2}} \bar{r}^{-\frac{5}{6}}; \ B^{-\frac{1}{2}} Q^{\frac{1}{4}} |\nu|^{\frac{3}{4}} \bar{r}^{-\frac{5}{4}}; \ B^{-\frac{8}{7}} G^{\frac{3}{7}} Q^{\frac{4}{7}} \bar{r}^{-\frac{20}{7}} \right\}.$$

Observe, however, that for  $B \lesssim Q^{\frac{4}{7}}$  and  $|\nu| \lesssim Q^{\frac{4}{7}}$  we do not need these arguments; simpler arguments of Subsection 25.5.3 show that in this case  $|I_N| \leq CQ^{\frac{4}{7}}$ .

On the other hand, for  $B \lesssim Q^{\frac{4}{7}}$  but  $|\nu| \gtrsim Q^{\frac{4}{7}}$ , we pick  $\gamma = Q^{\frac{1}{8}} |\nu|^{-\frac{15}{32}}$ , like in Subsection 25.6.1, and observe that  $|\nu|\bar{r}^{-1}\gamma \gtrsim B$  and therefore we conclude that  $I_N + \nu \leq CQ^{\frac{1}{6}} |\nu|^{\frac{17}{24}}$ , exactly like in that subsection. Therefore we arrive to

**Proposition 26.8.1.** Let  $B \le C_0 Z^{\frac{20}{21}}$ . Then

(i) If  $|\nu| \leq C_0 Z^{\frac{20}{21}}$ , then estimate  $I_N \leq C Z^{\frac{20}{21}}$  holds like in the case B = 0.

(ii) If  $|\nu| \ge C_0 Z^{\frac{20}{21}}$ , then estimate  $I_N + \nu \le C Z^{\frac{5}{18}} |\nu|^{\frac{17}{24}}$  holds like in the case B = 0.

Therefore in what follows we assume that  $B \ge Q^{\frac{4}{7}}$ . One can see easily that then  $\beta \le \bar{r}$ .

Meanwhile, the same arguments imply that the second term in the right-hand expression of (26.8.5) is of magnitude

$$\max\left\{\left(\frac{|\nu|\gamma}{\bar{r}}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}}; B\left(\frac{|\nu|\gamma}{\bar{r}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}; BG^{\frac{1}{2}}\left(\frac{\gamma}{\bar{r}}\right)^{2}\right\}\gamma^{2}$$

and we need to minimize

$$\gamma^{-\frac{1}{2}}Q^{\frac{1}{2}} + \max\left\{\left(\frac{|\nu|\gamma}{\bar{r}}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}}, B\left(\frac{|\nu|\gamma}{\bar{r}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}; BG^{\frac{1}{2}}\left(\frac{\gamma}{\bar{r}}\right)^{2}\right\}\gamma^{2},$$

which is achieved when

$$\gamma^{-\frac{1}{2}}Q^{\frac{1}{2}} \asymp \max\left\{\left(\frac{|\nu|\gamma}{\overline{r}}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}}; B\left(\frac{|\nu|\gamma}{\overline{r}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}; BG^{\frac{1}{2}}\left(\frac{\gamma}{\overline{r}}\right)^{2}\right\}\gamma^{2}.$$

Let us compare this equation with equation to  $\beta$ . It is the same albeit with factor  $\bar{r}^2$  rather than  $\gamma^2$ . Therefore if  $\gamma \geq \bar{r}$  then  $\gamma \leq \beta \leq \bar{r}$  which is a contradiction. Thus  $\gamma \leq \bar{r}$  but then  $\gamma \geq \beta$ .

Therefore we conclude that this term does not exceed

(26.8.13) 
$$\varsigma \coloneqq \max\left\{Q^{\frac{7}{16}}\left(\frac{|\nu|}{\bar{r}}\right)^{\frac{3}{16}}; Q^{\frac{5}{12}}B^{\frac{1}{6}}\left(\frac{|\nu|}{\bar{r}}\right)^{\frac{1}{12}}; Q^{\frac{4}{9}}B^{\frac{1}{9}}G^{\frac{1}{18}}\bar{r}^{-\frac{2}{9}}\right\},$$

and to estimate  $\mathsf{I}_N+\nu$  we need just to compute its sum with  $\upsilon$  defined by (26.8.12).

Therefore we conclude that

(26.8.14) 
$$I_N + \nu \le C(\upsilon + \varsigma).$$

Remark 26.8.2. Observe that

(26.8.15) 
$$v(Z, B, |\nu|) = Z^{\frac{20}{21}}v(1, Z^{-\frac{20}{21}}B, |\nu|Z^{-\frac{20}{21}}|\nu|)$$
 if  $Z^{\frac{20}{21}} \le B \le Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$   
and  
(26.8.16)  $v(Z, BZ^{-3}, |\nu|) = Z^{2}v(1, Z^{-3}B, |\nu|Z^{-2}|\nu|)$  if  $Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \le B \le Z^{3}$ ,

and  $\varsigma$  has the same scaling properties.

Therefore we can make all calculations with Z = 1 and then scale. Leaving easy calculations to the reader, we arrive to

**Proposition 26.8.3.** (i) For  $Z^{\frac{20}{21}} \le B \le Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$ 

$$(26.8.17) I_{N} + \nu \leq C \begin{cases} Z^{\frac{5}{18}} |\nu|^{\frac{17}{24}} & \text{if } |\nu| \geq Z^{-\frac{20}{51}} B^{\frac{24}{17}}, \\ Z^{\frac{5}{12}} B^{-\frac{1}{2}} |\nu|^{\frac{17}{16}} & \text{if } B \leq |\nu| \leq Z^{-\frac{20}{51}} B^{\frac{24}{17}}, \\ Z^{\frac{5}{48}} B^{-\frac{3}{16}} |\nu|^{\frac{3}{4}} & \text{if } Z^{\frac{5}{12}} B^{\frac{9}{16}} \leq |\nu| \leq B, \\ Z^{\frac{25}{36}} B^{\frac{3}{16}} |\nu|^{\frac{1}{12}} & \text{if } Z^{\frac{5}{9}} B^{\frac{5}{12}} \leq |\nu| \leq Z^{\frac{5}{9}} B^{\frac{9}{16}}, \\ Z^{\frac{20}{27}} B^{\frac{2}{9}} & \text{if } |\nu| \leq Z^{\frac{5}{9}} B^{\frac{5}{12}}. \end{cases}$$

(ii) In particular,

(26.8.18)  $I_N \leq CZ^{\frac{20}{27}}B^{\frac{2}{9}} \quad if \ |\nu| \leq Z^{\frac{20}{27}}B^{\frac{2}{9}}.$ 

(iii) For  $Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^3$ 

(26.8.19) 
$$I_{N} + \nu \leq C \begin{cases} Z^{\frac{7}{30}} B^{\frac{8}{15}} |\nu|^{\frac{1}{12}} & \text{if } |\nu| \geq Z^{\frac{2}{5}} B^{\frac{8}{15}}, \\ Z^{\frac{4}{15}} B^{\frac{26}{45}} & \text{if } |\nu| \leq Z^{\frac{2}{5}} B^{\frac{8}{15}}. \end{cases}$$

(iv) In particular,

(26.8.20)  $I_N \le CZ^{\frac{4}{15}}B^{\frac{26}{45}} \quad if \ |\nu| \le Z^{\frac{4}{15}}B^{\frac{26}{45}}.$ 

Remark 26.8.4. Recall that  $Q = Z^{\frac{5}{3}} (B^{\delta} + 1) Z^{-\delta}$  if  $B \leq Z$ ; therefore we can add factor  $(B^{\delta'} + 1) Z^{-\delta'}$  in all estimates of Propositions 26.8.1 and 26.8.3.

## 26.8.2 Lower Estimate for Ionization Energy: M = 1

Now let us derive an estimate  $I_N + \nu$  from below. Let  $\Psi = \Psi_N(x_1, ..., x_N)$  be the ground state for N electrons,  $\|\Psi\| = 1$ ; consider an antisymmetric *test function* 

(26.8.21) 
$$\tilde{\Psi} = \tilde{\Psi}(x_1, \dots, x_{N+1}) = \Psi(x_1, \dots, x_N)u(x_{n+1}) - \sum_{1 \le j \le N} \Psi(x_1, \dots, x_{j-1}, x_{N+1}, x_{j+1}, \dots, x_N)u(x_j)$$

Then exactly as in Subsection 25.6.2

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{E}_{N+1} \|\tilde{\Psi}\|^2 &\leq \langle \mathsf{H}_{N+1}\tilde{\Psi}, \tilde{\Psi} \rangle = N \langle \mathsf{H}_{N+1}\Psi u, \tilde{\Psi} \rangle = \\ N \langle \mathsf{H}_N \Psi u, \tilde{\Psi} \rangle + N \langle H_{V, x_{N+1}} \Psi u, \tilde{\Psi} \rangle + N \langle \sum_{1 \leq i \leq N} |x_i - x_{N+1}|^{-1} \Psi u, \tilde{\Psi} \rangle = \\ (\mathsf{E}_N - \nu') \|\tilde{\Psi}\|^2 + N \langle H_{W+\nu', x_{N+1}} \Psi u, \tilde{\Psi} \rangle \\ &+ N \langle (\sum_{1 \leq i \leq N} |x_i - x_{N+1}|^{-1} - (V - W)(x_{N+1})) \Psi u, \tilde{\Psi} \rangle \end{split}$$

and therefore

(26.8.22) 
$$N^{-1}(I_{N+1} + \nu') \|\tilde{\Psi}\|^2 \ge -\langle H_{W+\nu',x_{N+1}}\Psi u, \tilde{\Psi} \rangle$$
  
 $- \langle (\sum_{1 \le i \le N} |x_i - x_{N+1}|^{-1} - (V - W)(x_{N+1}))\Psi u, \tilde{\Psi} \rangle$ 

and

(26.8.23) 
$$N^{-1} \|\tilde{\Psi}\|^2 = \|\Psi\|^2 \cdot \|u\|^2 - N \int \Psi(x_1, \dots, x_{N-1}, x) \Psi^{\dagger}(x_1, \dots, x_{N-1}, y) u(y) u^{\dagger}(x) dx_1 \cdots dx_{N-1} dx dy$$

as in (25.6.14) and (25.6.15) respectively where  $^{\dagger}$  means a complex or Hermitian conjugation and  $\nu' \geq \nu$  to be chosen later.

Note that every term in the right-hand expression in (26.8.22) is the sum of two terms: one with  $\tilde{\Psi}$  replaced by  $\Psi(x_1, \ldots, x_N)u(x_{N+1})$  and another with  $\tilde{\Psi}$  replaced by  $-N\Psi(x_1, \ldots, x_{N-1}, x_{N+1})u(x_N)$ . We call these terms, as in Subsection 25.6.2, *direct* and *indirect* respectively.

Obviously, in the direct and indirect terms u appears as  $|u(x)|^2 dx$  and as  $u(x)u^{\dagger}(y) dxdy$  respectively multiplied by some kernels.

Recall that u is an arbitrary function. Let us take  $u(x) = \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(x)\phi_j(x)$ where  $\phi_j$  are orthonormal eigenfunctions of  $H_{W+\nu}$  and  $\theta(x)$  is  $\beta$ -admissible function which is supported in  $\{x: -\nu \ge W(x) + \nu \ge \frac{2}{3}\nu\}$  and equal 1 in  $\{x: -2\nu \ge W(x) + \nu \ge \frac{1}{2}\nu\}$ , satisfying (25.5.11), and  $\nu$  is related to  $\beta$  as in the previous Section 26.7:

(26.8.24) 
$$\upsilon = C \max(\nu \bar{r}^{-1}\beta; \ G \bar{r}^{-4}\beta^4).$$

Let us substitute it into (26.8.22), multiply by  $\varphi(\lambda_j L^{-1})$  and take the sum with respect to j; then we get the same expressions with  $|u(x)|^2 dx$  and  $u(x)u^{\dagger}(y) dxdy$  replaced by F(x, x) dx and F(x, y) dxdy respectively with

(26.8.25) 
$$F(x, y) = \int \varphi(\lambda L^{-1}) d_{\lambda} e(x, y, \lambda).$$

Here  $\varphi(\tau)$  is a fixed  $\mathscr{C}^{\infty}$  non-negative function equal to 1 for  $\tau \leq \frac{1}{2}$  and equal to 0 for  $\tau \geq 1$  and  $L = \nu' - \nu = 6\nu$ .

Under described construction and procedures the direct term generated by  $N^{-1}\|\tilde{\Psi}\|^2$  is

(26.8.26) 
$$\int \theta(x)\varphi(\lambda L^{-1}) d_{\lambda}e(x,x,\lambda) dx.$$

Then, applying semiclassical approximation, we get

(26.8.27) 
$$\Theta_{\Psi} \coloneqq \int \varphi(\lambda L^{-1}) \, d_{\lambda} P'_{B}(W + \nu - \lambda) \, dx.$$

Consider the remainder estimate. Assume that M = 1 (case  $M \ge 2$  will be considered later). Then since  $L = C_1 v$  the remainder does not exceed

(26.8.28)  
where  
(26.8.29)  
and  
(26.8.30)  

$$Ch^{s}(\mu h + 1)\beta^{-2}\bar{r}^{2}$$
  
 $h = 1/(v^{\frac{1}{2}}\beta)$   
 $\mu = B\beta v^{-\frac{1}{2}};$ 

one can prove it easily by partition of unity on  $\text{supp}(\theta)$  and applying semiclassical asymptotics with effective semiclassical parameter h and magnetic parameter  $\mu$ .

On the other hand, the indirect term generated by  $N^{-1} \| \tilde{\Psi} \|^2$  is

(26.8.31) 
$$-N \int \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(x) \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(y) \Psi(x_1, \dots, x_{N-1}, x) \Psi^{\dagger}(x_1, \dots, x_{N-1}, y) \times F(x, y) \, dx \, dy \, dx_1 \cdots dx_{N-1},$$

and since the operator norm of F(.,.,.) is 1, the absolute value of this term does not exceed

(26.8.32) 
$$N \int \theta(x) |\Psi(x_1, \dots, x_{N-1}, x)|^2 dx = \int \theta(x) \rho_{\Psi}(x) dx \leq \int \theta(x) \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}(x) dx + CQ^{\frac{1}{2}} \|\nabla \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}\|$$

where  $\rho^{\mathsf{TF}} = 0$  on  $\mathsf{supp}(\theta)$  and  $\|\nabla \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}\| \simeq \beta^{-\frac{1}{2}} \bar{r}$ .

Recall that  $P'(W^{\mathsf{TF}} + \nu) = \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}$ . We will take  $\nu' = \nu + L$  to keep  $\Theta_{\Psi}$  larger than all the remainders including those due to replacement W by  $W^{\mathsf{TF}}$  and  $\rho$  by  $\rho^{\mathsf{TF}}$  in the expression above. One can observe easily that then  $\beta$  should satisfy (26.8.10); let us define  $\beta$  and then  $\nu$  by (26.8.11) and (26.8.12) respectively. Then

(26.8.33) 
$$\Theta_{\Psi} \asymp \left(v^{\frac{3}{2}} + Bv^{\frac{1}{2}}\right)\beta \vec{r}^2.$$

Therefore

(26.8.34) Let  $h \leq \epsilon_0$  (i.e.  $v^{\frac{1}{2}}\beta \geq C_0$ ), and  $\beta, v$  be defined by (26.8.11) and (26.8.12) respectively. Then expression (26.8.33) is larger than  $C_0\beta^{-\frac{1}{2}}Q^{\frac{1}{2}}$  and the total expression generated by  $N^{-1}\|\tilde{\Psi}\|^2$  is greater than  $\epsilon\Theta$  with  $\Theta = \Theta_{\Psi}$  defined by (26.8.33).

Now let us consider the direct terms in the right-hand expression of (26.8.22). The first of them is like in (25.6.23)

(26.8.35) 
$$-\int \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(x)\varphi(\lambda L^{-1}) d_{\lambda} \left(H_{W+\nu',x}\theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(x)e(x,y,\lambda)\right)_{y=x} dx =$$

$$-\int \theta(x)\varphi(\lambda L^{-1}) d_{\lambda} (H_{W+\nu',x}e(x,y,\lambda))_{y=x} dx$$
  
$$-\frac{1}{2} \int \varphi(\lambda L^{-1})[[H_{W},\theta^{\frac{1}{2}}],\theta^{\frac{1}{2}}] d_{\lambda}e(x,x,\lambda) \geq$$
  
$$\int \theta(x)(\nu'-\nu-\lambda)\varphi(\lambda L^{-1}) d_{\lambda}e(x,x,\lambda) dx - C \int |\nabla \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}|^{2}e(x,x,\nu') dx.$$

Observe that the absolute value of last term in the right-hand expression of (26.8.35) does not exceed  $C\beta^{-1}\overline{r}^2(v^{\frac{3}{2}} + Bv^{\frac{1}{2}}) \simeq \beta^{-2}\Theta$ .

The second direct term in the right-hand expression of (26.8.22) is like in (25.6.24)

$$(26.8.36) \quad -\int \theta(x) \Big(\rho_{\Psi} * |x|^{-1} - (V - W)(x)\Big) F(x, x) dx = - \mathsf{D}\big(\rho_{\Psi} - \bar{\rho}, \theta(x)F(x, x)\big) \geq - \mathsf{C}\mathsf{D}\big(\rho_{\Psi} - \rho, \rho_{\Psi} - \rho\big)^{\frac{1}{2}} \cdot \mathsf{D}\Big(\theta^{\frac{1}{2}}F(x, x), \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}F(x, x)\big)\Big)^{\frac{1}{2}} \geq -\mathsf{C}\mathsf{Q}^{\frac{1}{2}}\bar{r}^{-\frac{1}{2}}\Theta,$$

provided  $V - W = |\mathbf{x}|^{-1} * \rho$  with  $\mathsf{D}(\rho - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}, \rho - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}) \leq CQ$ .

Further, the first indirect term in the right-hand expression of (26.8.22) is like in (25.6.25)

$$(26.8.37) - N \int \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(y) \Psi(x_{1}, \dots, x_{N-1}, x) \Psi^{\dagger}(x_{1}, \dots, x_{N-1}, y) \times \\ \varphi(\lambda L^{-1}) d_{\lambda} (H_{W+\nu', x} \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(x) e(x, y, \lambda)) dx dy dx_{1} \cdots dx_{N-1} = \\ - N \int \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(y) \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(x) \Psi(x_{1}, \dots, x_{N-1}, x) \Psi^{\dagger}(x_{1}, \dots, x_{N-1}, y) \times \\ \varphi(\lambda L^{-1})(\nu' - \nu - \lambda) d_{\lambda} e(x, y, \lambda) dx dy dx_{1} \cdots dx_{N-1} \\ - N \int \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(y) \Psi(x_{1}, \dots, x_{N-1}, x) \Psi^{\dagger}(x_{1}, \dots, x_{N-1}, y) \times \\ \varphi(\lambda L^{-1})[H_{W, x}, \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(x)] d_{\lambda} e(x, y, \lambda) dx dy dx_{1} \cdots dx_{N-1}.$$

Observe that one can rewrite the sum of the first terms in the right-hand expressions in (26.8.35) and (26.8.37) as  $\sum_{j} \varphi(\lambda_{j} L^{-1}) (\nu' - \nu - \lambda_{j}) \|\hat{\Psi}_{j}\|^{2}$  with

$$\hat{\Psi}_j(x_1,\ldots,x_{N-1}) \coloneqq \int \Psi(x_1,\ldots,x_{N-1},x)\theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(x)\phi_j(x)\,dx$$

and therefore this sum is non-negative.

One can see easily that the absolute value of the second term in the right-hand expression of (26.8.37) does not exceed

$$\int \rho_{\Psi}(y)\theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(y) \, dy \times \beta^{-1} \int \theta_{1}(x) e(x, x, \nu') \, dx \asymp C\Theta \times C(v^{\frac{3}{2}} + Bv) \bar{r}^{2} \asymp C\beta^{-\frac{3}{2}} \bar{r} Q^{\frac{1}{2}} \Theta$$

due the choice of  $\beta$ . This is larger than the absolute value of the right-hand expression in (26.8.36). Therefore (cf. 25.6.26) we conclude that

(26.8.38) The sum of the first direct and indirect terms in the right-hand expression of (26.8.22) is greater than  $-C\beta^{-\frac{3}{2}}\bar{r}Q^{\frac{1}{2}}\Theta$ .

Finally, we need to consider the second indirect term generated by the right-hand expression of (26.8.22):

$$(26.8.39) - \int \left(\sum_{1 \le i \le N} |y - x_i|^{-1} - (V - W)(y)\right) \times \\ \Psi(x_1, \dots, x_N) \Psi^{\dagger}(x_1, \dots, x_{N-1}, y) \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(x_N) \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(y) F(x_N, y) \, dx_1 \cdots dx_N dy = \\ -\int \left(|y|^{-1} * \varrho_{\underline{x}}(y) - (V - W)(y)\right) \Psi(x_1, \dots, x_N) \Psi^{\dagger}(x_1, \dots, x_{N-1}, y) \times \\ \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(x_N) \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(y) F(x_N, y) \, dx_1 \cdots dx_N dy \\ -\int \left(\sum_{1 \le i \le N} |y - x_i|^{-1} - |y|^{-1} * \varrho_{\underline{x}}(y)\right) \Psi(x_1, \dots, x_N) \Psi^{\dagger}(x_1, \dots, x_{N-1}, y) \times \\ \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(x_N) \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(y) F(x_N, y) \, dx_1 \cdots dx_N dy;$$

recall that  $\varrho_{\underline{x}}$  is a smeared density,  $\underline{x} = (x_1, \dots, x_N)$ . Since  $|y|^{-1} * \varrho_{\underline{x}}(y) - (V - W)(y) = |y|^{-1} * (\varrho_{\underline{x}} - \rho)$ , the first term in the right-hand expression is equal to

(26.8.40) 
$$\int \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(x_{N})\Psi(x_{1},\ldots,x_{N}) \times D_{y}\left(\varrho_{\underline{x}}(y)-\rho(y),F(x_{N},y,\lambda)\theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(y)\Psi(x_{1},\ldots,x_{N-1},y)\right)dx_{1}\cdots dx_{N}$$

and its absolute value does not exceed

$$(26.8.41)$$

$$\left(N\int \mathsf{D}(\varrho_{\underline{x}}(\cdot)-\rho(\cdot),\varrho_{\underline{x}}(\cdot)-\rho(\cdot))|\Psi(x_{1},\ldots,x_{N})|^{2}\theta(x_{N})\,dx_{1}\cdots dx_{N}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}\times$$

$$N^{-\frac{1}{2}}\left(\mathsf{D}_{y}\left(F(x_{N},y,\lambda)\theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(y)\Psi(x_{1},\ldots,x_{N-1},y),F(x_{N},y,\lambda)\theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(y)\Psi(x_{1},\ldots,x_{N-1},y)\right)dx_{1}\cdots dx_{N}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

Recall that the first factor is equivalently defined by (25.5.4) and therefore due to estimate (25.5.24) it does not exceed  $((Q + T + \varepsilon^{-1}N)\Theta + P)^{\frac{1}{2}}$ , where we assume that  $\varepsilon \leq Z^{-\frac{2}{3}}$  and  $\Theta \simeq \beta (v^{\frac{3}{2}} + Bv^{\frac{1}{2}})\bar{r}^2\beta \simeq \beta^{-\frac{1}{2}}\bar{r}Q^{\frac{1}{2}}$  is now an upper estimate for  $\int \theta(y)\rho_{\Psi}(y) dy$ -like expressions.

Then, according to (25.5.25),  $P \simeq C\beta^{-2}\Theta \ll Q\Theta$  and, according to (25.5.23),  $T \ll Q$  and therefore in all such inequalities we may skip P and T terms; so we get  $C(Q + \varepsilon^{-1}N)^{\frac{1}{2}}\Theta^{\frac{1}{2}}$ .

Meanwhile, the second factor in (26.8.41) (without square root) is equal to

$$N^{-1} \int L^{-2} \varphi'(\lambda L^{-1}) \varphi'(\lambda' L^{-1}) |y-z|^{-1} \underbrace{e(x_N, y, \lambda)}_{\theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(y) \Psi(x_1, \dots, x_{N-1}, y) \times \underbrace{e(x_N, z, \lambda')}_{\theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(z) \Psi^{\dagger}(x_1, \dots, x_{N-1}, z) \, dy dz \, dx_1 \cdots dx_{N-1} \, dx_N \, d\lambda d\lambda';$$

after integration with respect to  $x_N$  we get instead of the marked terms  $e(y, z, \lambda)$  (recall that e(., ., .) is the Schwartz kernel of the projector and we keep  $\lambda < \lambda'$ ) and then, integrating with respect to  $\lambda'$  we arrive to

$$N^{-1} \int |y-z|^{-1} F(y,z) \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(y) \Psi(x_1, \dots, x_{N-1}, y) \times \\ \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(z) \Psi^{\dagger}(x_1, \dots, x_{N-1}, z) \, dy dz \, dx_1 \cdots dx_{N-1},$$

where now F is defined by (26.8.25) albeit with  $\varphi^2$  instead of  $\varphi.$  This latter expression does not exceed

(26.8.42) 
$$N^{-1} \iint |y-z|^{-1} |F(y,z)| \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(y) |\Psi(x_1,\ldots,x_{N-1},y)|^2 \times dy dz \, dx_1 \cdots dx_{N-1}.$$

Then due to Proposition 26.A.6 expression  $\int |y - z|^{-1} |F(y, z)| dz$  does not exceed  $C\beta^{-1}(h^{-1} + \mu) \approx v^{\frac{1}{2}} + Bv^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ , and thus expression (26.8.42) does not exceed  $CZ^{-2}(v^{\frac{1}{2}} + Bv^{-\frac{1}{2}})\Theta$ . Therefore the second factor in (26.8.41) does not exceed  $CN^{-1}(v^{\frac{1}{4}} + B^{\frac{1}{2}}v^{-\frac{1}{4}})\Theta^{\frac{1}{2}}$  and the whole expression (26.8.41) does not exceed

$$C(Q + \varepsilon^{-1}N)^{\frac{1}{2}}\Theta^{\frac{1}{2}} \times N^{-1}(v^{\frac{1}{4}} + B^{\frac{1}{2}}v^{-\frac{1}{4}})\Theta^{\frac{1}{2}} = CN^{-1}(Q + \varepsilon^{-1}N)^{\frac{1}{2}}(v^{\frac{1}{4}} + B^{\frac{1}{2}}v^{-\frac{1}{4}})\Theta.$$

Finally we arrive to

### Proposition 26.8.5<sup>48)</sup>. Let

(26.8.43)  $v \ge \max\left(Z^{-\frac{4}{3}}Q^{\frac{2}{3}}; Z^{-\frac{4}{5}}Q^{\frac{2}{5}}B^{\frac{2}{5}}\right)$ and (26.8.44)  $\varepsilon \ge Z^{-1}\max\left(v^{-\frac{3}{2}}, Bv^{-\frac{5}{2}}\right).$ 

Then the first term in the right-hand expression of (26.8.39) does not exceed  $Cv\Theta$ .

Further, we need to estimate the second term in the right-hand expression of (26.8.39). It can be rewritten in the form

(26.8.45) 
$$\sum_{1\leq i\leq N} \int U(x_i, y) \Psi(x_1, \dots, x_N) \Psi^{\dagger}(x_1, \dots, x_{N-1}, y) \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(x_N) \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(y) \times F(x_N, y) dx_1 \cdots dx_N dy,$$

where  $U(x_i, y)$  is the difference between two potentials, one generated by the charge  $\delta(x - x_i)$  and another by the same charge smeared; note that  $U(x_i, y)$  is supported in  $\{(x_i, y): |x_i - y| \le \varepsilon\}$ . Let us estimate the *i*-th term in this sum with i < N first. Multiplied by N(N - 1), it does not exceed

$$(26.8.46) \\ N\left(\int |U(x_i, y)|^2 |\Psi(x_1, \dots, x_N)|^2 \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(x_N) \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(y) |F(x_N, y)| \, dx_1 \cdots dx_N \, dy\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \times \\ N\left(\int \omega(x_i, y) |\Psi(x_1, \dots, x_{N-1}, y)|^2 \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(x_N) \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(y) |F(x_N, y)| \, dx_1 \cdots dx_N \, dy\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

 $^{48)}$  Cf. claim (25.6.31).

here  $\omega$  is  $\varepsilon$ -admissible and supported in  $\{(x_i, y) : |x_i - y| \le 2\varepsilon\}$  function.

Due to Proposition 26.A.6 in the second factor

$$\int \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(x_N) |F(x_N, y)| \, dx_N \leq C(1 + \mu h) \asymp C(1 + Bv^{-1})$$

and therefore the whole second factor does not exceed

(26.8.47) 
$$C\left(\int \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(x)\omega(x,y)\varrho^{(2)}_{\Psi}(x,y)\,dxdy\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}(1+Bv^{-1})^{\frac{1}{2}},$$

where we replaced  $x_i$  by x. According to Proposition 25.5.1 in the selected expression one can replace  $\rho_{\Psi}^{(2)}(x, y)$  by  $\rho_{\Psi}(x)\rho(y)$ , with an error which does not exceed

$$C\left(\sup_{x} \|\nabla_{y}\chi_{x}\|_{\mathscr{L}^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3})} (Q+\varepsilon^{-1}N)^{\frac{1}{2}}+C\varepsilon N\|\nabla_{y}\chi\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}}\right)\Theta.$$

When we plug  $\sup_{x} \|\nabla_{y}\chi_{x}\|_{\mathcal{L}^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3})} \simeq \varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}}, \|\nabla_{y}\chi\|_{\mathcal{L}^{\infty}} \simeq \varepsilon^{-1}$  this expression becomes  $CN\Theta$ .

Meanwhile, consider

(26.8.48) 
$$\int |U(x_i, y)|^2 \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(y) |F(x_N, y)| \, dy.$$

Again, due to Proposition 26.A.6, it does not exceed

$$C(v^{\frac{3}{2}}+Bv^{\frac{1}{2}})\int |U(x_i,y)|^2\theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(y)(|x_N-y|v^{\frac{1}{2}}+1)^{-s}dy$$

and this integral should be taken over  $B(x_i, \varepsilon)$ , with  $|U(x_i, y)| \le |x_i - y|^{-1}$ , so (26.8.48) does not exceed

$$C\varepsilon \left(\upsilon^{\frac{3}{2}}+B\upsilon^{\frac{1}{2}}\right)\omega'(x_i,x_N)$$

with  $\omega'(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) = (1 + v^{\frac{1}{2}}|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}|)^{-s}$  (provided  $\varepsilon \leq v^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  which will be the case). Therefore the first factor in (26.8.46) does not exceed

(26.8.49) 
$$C\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}}(\upsilon^{\frac{3}{4}}+B^{\frac{1}{2}}\upsilon^{\frac{1}{4}})\Big(\int \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(x)\omega'(x,y)\rho_{\Psi}^{(2)}(x,y)\,dxdy\Big)^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

Therefore in the selected expression one can replace  $\rho_{\Psi}^{(2)}(x, y)$  by  $\rho_{\Psi}(x)\rho(y)$  with an error which does not exceed what we got before but with  $\varepsilon$  replaced by  $v^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ , i.e. also  $CN\Theta$ .

However, in both selected expressions, (26.8.47) and (26.8.49), replacing  $\rho_{\Psi}^{(2)}(x, y)$  by  $\rho_{\Psi}(x)\rho(y)$  we get just 0. Therefore expression (26.8.46) does not exceed  $C\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}}(\upsilon^{\frac{3}{4}} + B^{\frac{1}{2}}\upsilon^{\frac{1}{4}})Z\Theta$ , which, in turn, does not exceed  $C\upsilon\Theta$  provided  $\varepsilon \leq C\upsilon^{\frac{1}{2}}(1 + B\upsilon^{-1})^{-1}Z^{-2}$ .

So, we have two restriction to  $\varepsilon$  from above: the last one and  $\varepsilon \leq Z^{-\frac{2}{3}}$  and one can see easily that both of them are compatible with with restriction to  $\varepsilon$  in (26.8.43); also we can see easily that condition (26.8.43) is weaker than  $v \geq \{Z^{\frac{20}{21}}: Z^{\frac{20}{27}}B^{\frac{2}{9}}: Z^{\frac{4}{15}}B^{\frac{26}{45}}\}$  if  $\{B \leq Z^{\frac{20}{21}}; Z^{\frac{20}{21}} \leq B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}; Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^{3}\}$  respectively.

Finally, consider term in (26.8.45) with i = N (multiplied by N):

(26.8.50) 
$$N \int U(x_N, y) |\Psi(x_1, ..., x_N)|^2 \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(x_N) \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(y) F(x_N, y) dx_1 \cdots dx_N dy$$

due to Cauchy inequality it does not exceed

(26.8.51) 
$$N\left(\int |x_N - y|^{-2} |\Psi(x_1, \dots, x_N)|^2 \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(x_N) \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(y) dx_1 \cdots dx_N dy\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \times N\left(\int |F(x_N, y)|^2 |\Psi(x_1, \dots, x_N)|^2 \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(x_N) \theta^{\frac{1}{2}}(y) dx_1 \cdots dx_N dy\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

where both integrals are taken over  $\{|x_N - y| \le \varepsilon\}$ . Integrating with respect to y there we get that it does not exceed

$$C\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}}\Theta^{\frac{1}{2}} \times \left(\upsilon^{\frac{3}{4}} + B\upsilon^{\frac{1}{4}}\right)\varepsilon^{\frac{3}{2}}\Theta^{\frac{1}{2}} = C\left(\upsilon^{\frac{3}{4}} + B\upsilon^{\frac{1}{4}}\right)\varepsilon^{2}\Theta \ll \upsilon\Theta$$

Therefore the right-hand expression in (26.8.22) is  $\geq -C\upsilon\Theta$  and recalling that  $\nu' - \nu = O(\upsilon)$  we recover a lower estimate  $I_N + \nu \geq -C\upsilon$  in Theorem 26.8.6 below. Here  $\upsilon$  must be found from (26.8.11)–(26.8.12) and must satisfy  $\upsilon \leq |\nu|$ .

Combining this estimate with the estimate from the above, derived in Proposition 26.8.3 we arrive to

**Theorem 26.8.6.** Let M = 1. Let condition (26.2.28) be fulfilled. Then (i) For  $B \le Z^{\frac{20}{21}}$  and  $|\nu| \ge Z^{\frac{20}{21}}$ (26.8.52)  $|I_N + \nu| \le CZ^{\frac{5}{18}} |\nu|^{\frac{17}{24}}$ . (ii) For  $Z^{\frac{20}{21}} \leq B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  and  $|\nu| \geq Z^{\frac{20}{27}}B^{\frac{2}{9}}$  estimate (26.8.17) from above and estimate

$$(26.8.53) I_{N} + \nu \ge -C \begin{cases} Z^{\frac{5}{18}} |\nu|^{\frac{17}{24}} & \text{if } B \le Z^{\frac{5}{18}} |\nu|^{\frac{17}{24}}, \\ Z^{\frac{5}{12}} B^{-\frac{1}{2}} |\nu|^{\frac{17}{16}} & \text{if } Z^{\frac{5}{18}} |\nu|^{\frac{17}{24}} \le B \le |\nu|, \\ Z^{\frac{5}{12}} B^{-\frac{3}{16}} |\nu|^{\frac{3}{4}} & \text{if } |\nu| \le B \le Z^{-\frac{20}{7}} |\nu|^{4}, \\ Z^{\frac{20}{21}} & \text{if } Z^{-\frac{20}{7}} |\nu|^{4} \le B \end{cases}$$

from below hold.

(iii) For  $Z^{\frac{20}{21}} \leq B \leq Z^3$  and  $|\nu| \geq Z^{\frac{4}{15}}B^{\frac{26}{45}}$  estimate (26.8.19) from above and estimate

(26.8.54) 
$$v = \begin{cases} Z^{-\frac{1}{10}} B^{\frac{1}{5}} |\nu|^{\frac{3}{4}} & \text{if } B \le Z^{-\frac{1}{2}} |\nu|^{\frac{1}{4}} \\ Z^{\frac{4}{35}} B^{\frac{22}{35}} & \text{if } Z^{-\frac{1}{2}} |\nu|^{\frac{1}{4}} \le B \end{cases}$$

from below hold.

Remark 26.8.7. Recall that  $Q = Z^{\frac{5}{3}}(B^{\delta} + 1)Z^{-\delta}$  as  $B \leq Z$ ; therefore we can add factor  $(B^{\delta'} + 1)Z^{-\delta'}$  in all estimates of Theorem 26.8.6.

## 26.8.3 Estimates for Ionization Energy: $M \ge 2$

Recall that for  $M \ge 2$  we have only estimate (26.6.73):

$$D(\rho_{\Psi} - \rho, \rho_{\Psi} - \rho \le \bar{Q}) \coloneqq (26.5.40) + (26.6.69).$$

Then exactly the same arguments lead us to the following (we leave all details to the reader):

Theorem 26.8.8. Let  $M \ge 2$ . Then

(i) Estimate  $I_N + \nu \leq C(\nu + \varsigma)$  holds with  $\nu$  and  $\varsigma$  defined by (26.8.11)–(26.8.12) and (26.8.13) albeit with Q replaced by  $\overline{Q}$ .

(ii) Estimate  $I_N + \nu \ge -Cv$  holds with v defined by (26.8.11)–(26.8.12) albeit with Q replaced by  $\overline{Q}$ .

Therefore the case when  $\bar{Q} \leq Q$  is not affected. One can see easily that it happens for sure as  $B \leq Z^{\frac{20}{17}} L^{-\kappa}$  where  $\kappa > 0$  is some exponent.

We leave to the reader

**Problem 26.8.9.** (i) Find explicit formula for  $v + \varsigma$  and v.

(ii) Find  $\nu^* = \nu^*(Z, B)$  and  $\nu_* = \nu_*(Z, B)$  such that  $|\nu| \leq \nu + \varsigma$  iff and only if  $\nu \leq \nu^*$  and  $|\nu| \leq \nu$  iff and only if  $\nu \leq \nu_*$ .

### 26.8.4 Free Nuclei Model

In this subsection we consider two extra problems appearing in the free nuclei model–estimate the minimal distance between nuclei and the maximal excessive positive charge when system does not break apart. We also slightly improve estimates for the maximal negative charge and for the ionization energy.

#### **Preliminary Arguments**

Recall that we assume that

(26.8.55) 
$$\mathbf{Q} \coloneqq \hat{\mathbf{E}} - \sum_{1 \le m \le M} \mathbf{E}_m < \mathbf{0}$$

where

(26.8.56) 
$$\hat{\mathsf{E}} = \mathsf{E} + \sum_{1 \le m < m' \le M} \frac{Z_m Z_{m'}}{|\mathsf{y}_m - \mathsf{y}_{m'}|}.$$

We apply estimate from below for  $\hat{\mathsf{E}}$  delivered by Proposition 26.6.1(ii), and estimates from above for  $\mathsf{E}_m$ , delivered by Theorem 26.6.6(ii); then

$$\hat{\mathcal{E}}^{\mathsf{TF}} + \mathsf{Scott} - \sum_{1 \le m \le M} \left( \mathcal{E}_m^{\mathsf{TF}} - \mathsf{Scott}_m \right) \le CQ + CZ^{\frac{4}{3}}B^{\frac{1}{3}} + Ca^{-\frac{1}{2}}Z^{\frac{3}{2}}$$

or, equivalently, due to equality  $\mathsf{Scott} = \sum_{1 \leq m \leq M} \mathsf{Scott}_m$  and non-binding theorem

(26.8.57) 
$$0 \le \mathcal{Q} \coloneqq \hat{\mathcal{E}}^{\mathsf{TF}} - \sum_{1 \le m \le M} \mathcal{E}_m^{\mathsf{TF}} \le CQ + CZ^{\frac{4}{3}}B^{\frac{1}{3}} + Ca^{-\frac{1}{2}}Z^{\frac{3}{2}}.$$

Assume that assumption (26.2.28) is fulfilled. Then  $\mathcal{Q} \simeq \mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}}$  for  $\mathbf{a} \leq \epsilon \mathbf{r}^*$  with  $\mathbf{r}^* = \min(Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}; B^{-\frac{2}{5}}Z^{\frac{1}{5}})$  and therefore

(26.8.58) In the free nuclei model  $a \ge \epsilon r^*$ .
Then the last term in (26.8.57) is not needed.

*Remark 26.8.10.* (i) Obviously, the second term  $CZ^{\frac{4}{3}}B^{\frac{1}{3}}$  in the right-hand expression of (26.8.57) matters only if  $Z \leq B \leq Z^{\frac{11}{7}}$ ; however we will show that it could be skipped even in this case.

(ii) If  $B \leq Z$  we can replace the right-hand expression of (26.8.57) by  $Z^{\frac{5}{3}-\delta}(1+B^{\delta})$ .

(iii) All these estimates hold also for  $D(\rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}, \rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}})$  because this term is present in the estimate from below.

### **Minimal Distance**

We are going to improve (26.8.58). Consider the case  $B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  first. Then since  $Q \geq \epsilon_0 a^{-7}$  for  $\epsilon r^* \leq a \leq \epsilon \bar{r}$  (where in this case  $r^* = Z^{-\frac{1}{3}} \leq \bar{r} = B^{-\frac{1}{4}}$ ), we conclude that  $a \gtrsim Z^{-\frac{5}{21}}$  provided  $B \leq Z^{\frac{20}{21}}$ .

Furthermore, then we can apply improved remainder estimate  $O(Z^{\frac{5}{3}-\delta})$ , since the difference between Dirac–Schwinger terms for a molecule and the sum of these terms for the atoms is also  $O(Z^{\frac{5}{3}-\delta})$  as long as  $a \ge Z^{-\frac{1}{3}+\delta_1}$ , which is the case. Then we conclude that  $a \ge Z^{-\frac{5}{21}-\delta'}$  as long as it is less than  $\epsilon \bar{r}$  and we arrive to Statement (i) of Proposition 26.8.11:

**Proposition 26.8.11.** Let condition (26.2.28) be fulfilled. Then in the free nuclei model

- (i) For  $B \leq Z^{\frac{20}{21}}$  the minimal distance satisfies
- (26.8.59)  $a \ge \min(Z^{-\frac{5}{21}-\delta}, \epsilon B^{-\frac{1}{4}}).$

(ii) For  $Z^{\frac{20}{21}} \leq B \leq Z^3$  the distances satisfy

(26.8.60)  $|\mathbf{y}_m - \mathbf{y}_{m'}| \ge \bar{r}_m + \bar{r}_{m'} - \epsilon \bar{r} \qquad \forall m \neq m'$ 

with arbitrarily small constant  $\epsilon > 0$  where  $\bar{r}_m$  denote the exact radii of  $supp(\rho_m^{TF})$ .

*Proof.* We need to prove Statement (ii). Observe that it also follows from the arguments above in the case  $Z^{\frac{20}{21}} \leq B \leq Z$ .

For  $Z \leq B \leq CZ^{\frac{4}{3}}$  the remainder estimate is  $O(Z^{\frac{4}{3}}B^{\frac{1}{3}})$  and the same arguments imply that  $|\mathbf{y}_m - \mathbf{y}_{m'}| \geq \epsilon Z^{-\frac{4}{21}}B^{-\frac{1}{21}}$  unless  $\mathbf{a} \geq \epsilon \overline{\mathbf{r}}$  and since the latter is weaker, it must be satisfied. Therefore if (26.8.60) fails, then in virtue of Theorem 26.2.17  $Q \geq \epsilon_1 B^{\frac{7}{4}}$ , which is larger than the remainder estimate  $CZ^{\frac{4}{3}}B^{\frac{1}{3}}$ .

Finally, case  $C_{\epsilon}Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^3$  follows from the fact that if (26.8.60) fails then in virtue of Theorem 26.2.17  $Q \geq \epsilon_1 Z^{\frac{9}{5}} B^{\frac{2}{5}}$ .

**Proposition 26.8.12.** Let condition (26.2.28) be fulfilled. Then in the free nuclei model

(26.8.61) 
$$\mathcal{Q} + \mathsf{D}(\rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}, \rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}) \leq CQ.$$

*Proof.* We need to cover only case  $Z \le B \le Z^{\frac{11}{7}}$ , since only in this case term  $CZ^{\frac{4}{3}}B^{\frac{1}{3}}$  matters.

We apply now estimate from below for  $\hat{\mathsf{E}}$  delivered by Proposition 26.6.1(i), and estimates from above for  $\mathsf{E}_m$ , delivered by Theorem 26.6.6(i); then we do not have term  $CZ^{\frac{4}{3}}B^{\frac{1}{3}}$  but instead of equal to **0** difference of the Scott correction terms, we get

(26.8.62) 
$$\left( \mathsf{Tr}((H_{A,W} - \nu)^{-}) + \int P_B(W^{\mathsf{TF}} + \nu) \, dx \right) - \sum_{1 \le m \le M} \left( \mathsf{Tr}((H_{A,W_m} - \nu')^{-}) + \int P_B(W^{\mathsf{TF}} + \nu') \, dx \right),$$

where we know that  $\nu' = \nu_1 = \dots = \nu_M$ .

Let us use partition of unity  $\phi_0 + \phi_1 + \ldots + \phi_M = 1$  where  $\phi_m = 1$  in  $B(\mathbf{y}_m, \epsilon \bar{r}_m)$  and is supported in  $B(\mathbf{y}_m, 2\epsilon \bar{r}_m)$ . Then our standard methods imply that the absolute values of

(26.8.63) 
$$\operatorname{Tr}((H_{A,W}-\nu)^{-}\phi_{0}) + \int P_{B}(W^{\mathsf{TF}}+\nu)\phi_{0}(x) \, dx,$$

and

(26.8.64) 
$$\operatorname{Tr}((H_{A,W_m} - \nu')^{-} \phi_{m'}) + \int P_B(W_m^{\mathsf{TF}} + \nu') \phi_{m'} \, dx$$

with m = 1, ..., M, m' = 0, 1, ..., M,  $m' \neq m$  do not exceed  $CQ^{49}$ . Therefore we need to estimate an absolute value of

(26.8.65) 
$$\operatorname{Tr}([(H_{A,W} - \nu)^{-} - (H_{A,W_m} - \nu')^{-}]\phi_m) + \int (P_B(W^{\mathsf{TF}} + \nu) - P_B(W^{\mathsf{TF}}_m + \nu'))\phi_m \, dx.$$

Due to Proposition 26.8.11  $B(y_m, 3\epsilon \bar{r})$  does not intersect  $B(y_{m'}, \bar{r}_{m'})$  and then in  $B(y_m, 3\epsilon \bar{r}) W_{m'} \leq C(Z - N)\bar{r}^{-1}$ . Using this inequality and

(26.8.66) 
$$D(\rho - \rho_1 - ... - \rho_M, \rho - \rho_1 - ... - \rho_M) \le CQ,$$

one can prove easily that there also

(26.8.67) 
$$|W - W_m| \leq CT := CQ^{\frac{1}{2}}\bar{r}^{-\frac{1}{2}} + C(Z - N)\bar{r}^{-1}$$

and, moreover,

(26.8.68) 
$$|\nabla(W - W_m)| \le CT\bar{r}^{-1} = C\mathcal{Q}^{\frac{1}{2}}\bar{r}^{-\frac{3}{2}} + C(Z - N)\bar{r}^{-2},$$
  
(26.8.69) 
$$|\nabla^2(W - W_m)| \le CT\bar{r}^{-2} = C\mathcal{Q}^{\frac{1}{2}}\bar{r}^{-\frac{5}{2}} + C(Z - N)\bar{r}^{-3}.$$

Then using our standard methods one can prove easily that an absolute value of expression (26.8.65) with  $\phi_m$  replaced by  $\ell$ -admissible function  $\psi_m$  does not exceed

(26.8.70) 
$$CTh^{-2}(1+\mu h)$$

with our standard

(26.8.71)  $h = Z^{-\frac{1}{2}} r^{-\frac{1}{2}}, \quad \mu = B Z^{-\frac{1}{2}} r^{\frac{3}{2}}$ 

if either  $B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$ ,  $r \leq r^* Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  or  $Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^3$ ,  $r \leq \overline{r}$  and

(26.8.72) 
$$h = r, \quad \mu = Br^3$$

if  $B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$ . Plugging (26.8.71) and (26.8.72) and summing over partition we arrive to  $CTZ^{\frac{2}{3}}$  as  $Z^{\frac{20}{21}} \leq B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  and  $CTZ^{\frac{2}{5}}B^{\frac{1}{5}}$  as  $Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^{3}$ .

Plugging  $T = (Z - N)\bar{r}^{-1}$  we get expressions which are much smaller than  $\epsilon(Z - N)^2\bar{r}^{-1}$  due to (26.8.61); plugging  $T = Q^{\frac{1}{2}}\bar{r}^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  we get terms smaller than  $\epsilon'Q + C(\epsilon')B^{\frac{1}{4}}Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  if  $B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  and  $\epsilon'Q + C(\epsilon')Z^{\frac{3}{5}}B^{\frac{4}{5}}$  if  $Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^3$ ; here  $\epsilon' > 0$  is arbitrarily small and thus term (26.8.65) does not make any difference.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49)</sup> Recall that W and  $W_m$  are approximations to  $W^{\mathsf{TF}}$  and  $W_m^{\mathsf{TF}}$ .

Since  $Q \ge \epsilon a^{-1}(Z - N)^2$  we arrive to

Corollary 26.8.13. Let condition (26.2.28) be fulfilled. Then

(i) If  $(Z - N) \ge C(Qa)^{\frac{1}{2}}$  where Q is our remainder estimate in the ground state energy, then in free nuclei model minimal distance between nuclei must be at least a.

(ii) In particular, if  $(Z - N) \ge C_1(Q\bar{r})^{\frac{1}{2}}$  then in free nuclei model minimal distance between nuclei must be at least  $C_0\bar{r}$  and molecule consists of separate atoms.

We leave to the reader

**Problem 26.8.14.** Using Theorem 26.2.17 and the arguments used in the proof of Proposition 26.8.11, estimate overlapping of balls  $B(y_m, \bar{r}_m)$  if  $Z^{-\frac{5}{21}-\delta} \ge \epsilon B^{-\frac{1}{4}}$  in the free nuclei model with N = Z and prove that

$$(26.8.73) \quad (\bar{r}_m + \bar{r}_{m'} - |\mathbf{y}_m - \mathbf{y}_{m'}|) \le C\bar{r}(K^{-2}\bar{r}^{-1}Q)^{\frac{1}{2}} = \\C\begin{cases} B^{-\frac{1}{4}}(B^{-\frac{7}{4}}Z^{\frac{5}{3}} + B^{-\frac{1}{2}}L)^{\frac{1}{12}} & \text{if } Z^{\frac{20}{21}} \le B \le Z^{\frac{4}{3}}, \\ B^{-\frac{7}{15}}Z^{\frac{1}{10}}L^{\frac{1}{6}} & \text{if } Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \le B \le Z^{3}. \end{cases}$$

#### Estimate of Excessive Positive Charge

To estimate excessive positive charge when molecules can still exist in free nuclei model we apply arguments of section 5 of B. Ruskai and J. P. Solovej [1]. In view of Corollary 26.8.13 for (Z-N) violating (26.8.76) below it is sufficient to assume that (25.6.41) is satisfied:

$$(26.8.74) \qquad \qquad \mathbf{a} = \min_{j < k} |\mathbf{y}_j - \mathbf{y}_k| \ge C_0 \bar{\mathbf{r}}$$

i.e. in Thomas-Fermi theory  $\rho^{\mathsf{TF}}$  is supported in the separate "atoms". Really, it is the case if  $C_0 Z^{\frac{20}{21}} \leq B \leq Z^3$  but also it is so if  $B \leq C_0 Z^{\frac{20}{21}}$  and  $(Z - N)_+ \geq C_1 Z^{\frac{5}{7}}$  since then  $\bar{r} \simeq (Z - N)_+^{-\frac{1}{3}}$ .

Like in Subsection 25.6.3 consider *a*-admissible functions  $\theta_m(x)$ , supported in  $B(y_m, \frac{1}{3}a)$  as m = 1, ..., M and in  $\{|x - y_{m'}| \ge \frac{1}{4}a \quad \forall m' = 1, ..., M\}$  as m = 0, such that

(26.8.75) 
$$\theta_0^2 + \dots + \theta_M^2 = 1.$$

Then for the ground state  $\Psi$  equality (25.6.43) holds with *cluster Hamil*tonians  $H_{\alpha_m}$  defined by (25.6.44) and satisfying (25.6.45) and with the *intercluster Hamiltonian*  $J_{\alpha}$  defined by (25.6.46) and satisfying (25.6.47) with  $J_{ml}$  defined by (25.6.48)–(25.6.49). Furthermore, equality (25.6.50) holds.

Applying Proposition 25.5.1 and estimate (25.4.56) (replacing first  $\theta_k$  with k = 1, ..., M by  $\tilde{\theta}_k$ , supported in  $B(\mathbf{y}_k, c\bar{r})$ , and estimating the resulting error), we conclude that (25.6.51)–(25.6.54) hold with  $Y = Q^{\frac{1}{2}}\bar{r}^{\frac{1}{2}}$  since  $\mathsf{D}(\rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}, \rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}) \leq CQ$ .

The last term in (25.6.51) is estimated by Proposition 25.5.1 and estimate (26.8.61) instead of (25.4.56) and the same replacement trick; so we arrive to (25.6.55) and repeating the same trick we get that it is larger than (25.6.56).

Again let us note that the absolute value of the last term in the righthand expression of (25.6.43) does not exceed  $Ca^{-2}Y$  due to (25.6.52). Now stability condition yields that (26.6.61) must be fulfilled.

Then we conclude that (25.6.57) and (25.6.59) hold with  $J_{ml}$  defined by (25.6.58) provided (25.6.60) is fulfilled as  $|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}_k| \ge C\bar{r}$ .

This inequality, (26.8.74) and Proposition 25.6.6 (which is the special case of Theorem 26.2.13) yield that  $Z - N \leq CY = C\bar{r}^{\frac{1}{2}}Q^{\frac{1}{2}}$ . Now we need to consider two cases:

(a)  $B \leq (Z - N)^{\frac{4}{3}}$ ; then  $\bar{r} \simeq (Z - N)^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  and we conclude that  $(Z - N) \leq CQ^{\frac{3}{5}}$  exactly like in Subsubsection 25.6.3.

(b)  $(Z - N)^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^3$ ; then plugging  $\bar{r}$  and Q we arrive to two other cases of (26.8.76).

Then we arrive to Statement (i) below; Statement (ii) follows from Remark 26.8.10(ii).

**Theorem 26.8.15**<sup>50</sup>. Let condition (26.2.28) be fulfilled.

(i) Then in the framework of the free nuclei model with  $M\geq 2$  the stable molecule does not exist unless

(26.8.76) 
$$(Z - N)_{+} \leq C_{1} \begin{cases} Z^{\frac{20}{21}} & \text{if } B \leq Z^{\frac{20}{21}}, \\ Z^{\frac{5}{6}}B^{-\frac{1}{8}} & \text{if } Z^{\frac{20}{21}} \leq B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}, \\ Z^{\frac{2}{5}}B^{\frac{1}{5}} & \text{if } Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^{3}. \end{cases}$$

 $^{50)}$  Cf. Theorem 25.6.4.

(ii) Furthermore, for  $B \leq Z$  in the framework of the free nuclei model with  $M \geq 2$  the stable molecule does not exist unless

(26.8.77) 
$$(Z - N)_{+} \leq C_1 \begin{cases} Z_{21}^{20} - \delta & \text{if } B \leq Z_{21}^{20}, \\ Z_{6}^{5} - \delta B^{-\frac{1}{8} + \delta} & \text{if } Z_{21}^{20} \leq B \leq Z_{21} \end{cases}$$

#### Estimate for Excessive Negative Charge and Ionization Energy

Estimate (26.8.61) and Remark 26.8.10 immediately imply

**Theorem 26.8.16.** Let condition (26.2.28) be fulfilled.

(i) Then in the framework of the free nuclei model with  $M \ge 2$  estimates (26.7.21) for the excessive negative charge and (26.7.37) for the ionization energy  $\hat{l}_N = -\hat{E}_N + \hat{E}_{N-1}$  hold.

(ii) Furthermore, if  $B \leq Z$  estimates (26.7.22) for the excessive negative charge and (26.7.39) for the ionization energy  $\hat{I}_N$  hold.

## 26.A Appendices

## 26.A.1 Electrostatic Inequalities

There are two kinds of electrostatic inequalities: those which hold for any fermionic state  $\Psi$  and those which hold only for the ground-state (or near ground state)  $\Psi$ . Inequalities of the first kind do not depend on the quantum Hamiltonian and they are (25.2.1) repeated here:

(26.A.1) 
$$\sum_{1 \le j < k \le N} \int |x_j - x_k|^{-1} |\Psi(x_1, \dots, x_N)|^2 \, dx_1 \cdots dx_N \ge \frac{1}{2} \mathsf{D}(\rho_{\Psi}, \rho_{\Psi}) - C \int \rho_{\Psi}^{\frac{4}{3}}(x) \, dx$$

and (26.A.5) below.

Inequalities of the second kind are for B = 0:

(26.A.2) 
$$\sum_{1 \le j < k \le N} \int |x_j - x_k|^{-1} |\Psi(x_1, \dots, x_N)|^2 \, dx_1 \cdots dx_N \ge \frac{1}{2} \mathsf{D}(\rho_{\Psi}, \rho_{\Psi}) - CZ^{\frac{5}{3}},$$

and more precise one (26.A.26) below.

For  $\vec{B} = \text{const}$  there is an inequality established in E. Lieb, J. P. Solovej and J. Yngvason [3] (p. 122):

**Theorem 26.A.1.** Let  $\vec{B} = \text{const.}$  Then for the ground state  $\Psi$ 

(26.A.3) 
$$\int \rho_{\Psi}^{\frac{4}{3}} dx \leq C Z^{\frac{5}{6}} N^{\frac{1}{2}} (Z+N)^{\frac{1}{3}} (1+BZ^{-\frac{4}{3}})^{\frac{2}{5}};$$

In particular, for  $c^{-1}N \leq Z \leq cN$  the right-hand expression does not exceed

(26.A.4) 
$$CZ^{\frac{5}{3}} (1 + BZ^{-\frac{4}{3}})^{\frac{2}{5}} \simeq C \begin{cases} Z^{\frac{5}{3}} & \text{if } B \le Z^{\frac{4}{3}}, \\ Z^{\frac{17}{15}}B^{\frac{2}{5}} & \text{if } B \ge Z^{\frac{4}{3}}. \end{cases}$$

We want to establish inequality, similar to (25.A.2), but in the magnetic case. We will use for this the following

**Theorem 26.A.2**<sup>51)</sup>. Fix  $0 < \delta \leq 1/6$ . Then for any density matrix F and any density  $\rho_0(x) \geq 0$  the following inequality holds

(26.A.5) 
$$\sum_{1 \le j < k \le N} \int |x_j - x_k|^{-1} |\Psi(x_1, \dots, x_N)|^2 \, dx_1 \cdots dx_N \ge D(\rho_0, \rho_\gamma) - \frac{1}{2} D(\rho_0, \rho_0) - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\varsigma,\varsigma'} \iint |F(x, \varsigma; y, \varsigma')|^2 |x - y|^{-1} \, dx dy \\ - C \|\rho\|_{5/3}^{5/6} \cdot \|\rho\|_1^{1/6+\delta} \cdot \upsilon(\gamma, F)^{1/3-\delta},$$

where  $\rho = \rho_0 + \rho_F + \rho_{\Psi}$ ,  $v(\gamma, F) := \operatorname{Tr}(\gamma(I - F))$  and

(26.A.6) 
$$\gamma = \gamma_{\Psi}(x, y) = N \int \Psi(x, x_2, \dots, x_N) \Psi^{\dagger}(y, x_2, \dots, x_N) dx_2 \cdots x_N$$

is two-point one particle density.

Recall that  $\|.\|_p$  denotes  $\mathcal{L}^p$ -norm.

There is a connection between (26.A.1) and (26.A.5): if we set F = 0, we get  $\varsigma = \|\rho\|_1$  and the last term in (26.A.5) becomes  $\|\rho\|_{5/3}^{5/6} \cdot \|\rho\|_1^{1/2}$ . On

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51)</sup> Lemma 6 of G. Graf and J. P. Solovej [1].

the other hand,  $\|\rho\|_{4/3}^{4/3} \leq \|\rho\|_{5/3}^{5/6} \cdot \|\rho\|_1^{1/2}$ , so (26.A.5) is slightly deteriorated (26.A.1) with F = 0 but with "free"  $\rho_0$ .

Let us follow G. Graf and J. P. Solovej [1] further albeit in the case of magnetic field. Let us estimate first  $\|\rho\|_{5/3}$ .

If  $\rho = \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}$  direct calculations show that for  $N \asymp Z$ 

(26.A.7) 
$$\int \rho^{\mathsf{TF}} dx = \min(Z, N),$$

(26.A.8) 
$$\int (\rho^{\mathsf{TF}})^{\frac{4}{3}} dx \asymp C \rho^{*\frac{4}{3}} r^{*3} = C Z^{\frac{5}{3}} (1 + B Z^{-\frac{4}{3}})^{\frac{2}{5}},$$

(26.A.9) 
$$\int (\rho^{\mathsf{TF}})^{\frac{5}{3}} dx \asymp C \rho^{*\frac{5}{3}} r^{*3} = C Z^{\frac{7}{3}} (1 + B Z^{-\frac{4}{3}})^{\frac{4}{5}}$$

with

(26.A.10) 
$$r^* = \min(Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}, B^{-\frac{2}{5}}Z^{\frac{1}{5}}) \approx Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}(1 + BZ^{-\frac{4}{3}})^{-\frac{2}{5}},$$

(26.A.11) 
$$\rho^* = \min(N, Z)r^{*-3}$$

and we use  $\|\rho\|_{5/3}^{5/6} \cdot \|\rho\|_1^{1/2} \simeq \|\rho\|_{4/3}^{4/3}$  for  $\rho = \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}$ .

If  $\rho = \rho_{\Psi}$  we use magnetic Lieb–Thirring inequality (see f.e. Theorem 2.2 in L. Erdös [1])

(26.A.12) 
$$\operatorname{Tr}(H_{A,W}^{-}) \geq -C \int P_B(W) \, dx$$

and therefore

(26.A.13) 
$$\langle \mathsf{H}\Psi,\Psi\rangle \geq \mathsf{Tr}((\mathcal{H}_{A,W})^{-}) + \int W\rho_{\Psi} dx$$
  
$$-\int V\rho_{\Psi} dx + \frac{1}{2}\mathsf{D}(\rho_{\Psi},\rho_{\Psi}) - C \|\rho_{\Psi}\|_{4/3}^{4/3},$$

which due to (26.A.12) is greater than

(26.A.14) 
$$\int \left(-CP_B(W) + W\rho_{\Psi}\right) dx - \int V\rho_{\Psi} dx + \frac{1}{2}\mathsf{D}(\rho_{\Psi}, \rho_{\Psi}) - C \|\rho_{\Psi}\|_{4/3}^{4/3} \ge 3\epsilon_0 \int \tau_B(\rho_{\Psi}) dx - \int V\rho_{\Psi} dx + \frac{1}{2}\mathsf{D}(\rho_{\Psi}, \rho_{\Psi}) - C \|\rho_{\Psi}\|_{4/3}^{4/3}$$

where we picked up  $W : CP'_B(W) = \rho_{\Psi}$ .

The first two terms in the right-hand expression are estimated from below by

$$2\epsilon_0 \int \tau_B(\rho_\Psi) \, dx - C \int P_B(V) \phi \, dx - C \int V \rho_\Psi(1-\phi) \, dx$$

where  $\operatorname{supp}(\phi) \subset \{x \colon \ell(x) \leq 2r^*\}$  and  $\operatorname{supp}(1-\phi) \subset \{x \colon \ell(x) \geq r^*\}$ .

One can see easily that the absolute value of the second term is  $\approx Z^{\frac{7}{3}}(1+BZ^{-\frac{4}{3}})^{\frac{2}{5}}$ , while the absolute value of the third term does not exceed  $CZ \int V(1-\phi) dx \approx CZ^2 r^{*-1}$  which does not exceed the same expression  $Z^{\frac{7}{3}}(1+BZ^{-\frac{4}{3}})^{\frac{2}{5}}$ . Therefore

(26.A.15) 
$$\langle \mathsf{H}\Psi,\Psi\rangle + C_1 Z_3^{\frac{7}{3}} \left(1 + B Z^{-\frac{4}{3}}\right)^{\frac{2}{5}} \geq 2\epsilon_0 \int \tau_B(\rho_\Psi) \, d\mathbf{x} + \frac{1}{2} \mathsf{D}(\rho_\Psi,\rho_\Psi) - C \|\rho_\Psi\|_{4/3}^{4/3}$$

Note that  $\|\rho_{\Psi}\|_{4/3}^{4/3}$ , calculated over domain  $\{x \colon \rho_{\Psi}(x) \ge B^{\frac{4}{3}}\}$ , does not exceed  $C \|\rho_{\Psi}\|_{5/3}^{5/6} \cdot \|\rho\|_{1}^{\frac{1}{2}}$  with norms, calculated over the same domain, which does not exceed  $CT^{\frac{1}{2}}Z^{\frac{1}{2}}$  with  $T = \int \tau_{B}(\rho_{\Psi}) dx$ .

Meanwhile,  $\|\rho_{\Psi}\|_{4/3}^{4/3}$ , calculated over domain  $\{x : \rho_{\Psi}(x) \leq B^{\frac{4}{3}}\}$ , does not exceed  $C \|\rho\|_{1}^{\frac{1}{2}} \cdot \|\rho\|_{1}^{\frac{5}{6}}$  with norms, calculated over the same domain, which does not exceed  $CZ^{\frac{1}{2}}B^{\frac{1}{3}}T^{\frac{1}{6}}$ .

Therefore

(26.A.16) 
$$\|\rho_{\Psi}\|_{4/3}^{4/3} \le CT^{\frac{1}{2}}Z^{\frac{1}{2}} + CZ^{\frac{5}{6}}B^{\frac{1}{3}}T^{\frac{1}{6}}$$

and therefore (26.A.15) implies that if

(26.A.17)  $\langle \mathsf{H}\Psi,\Psi\rangle \leq C_1 Z^{\frac{7}{3}} (1+BZ^{-\frac{4}{3}})^{\frac{2}{5}},$ 

then

(26.A.18) 
$$T = \int \tau_B(\rho_{\Psi}) \, dx \le C_2 Z^{\frac{7}{3}} \left(1 + B Z^{-\frac{4}{3}}\right)^{\frac{2}{5}}$$

and

(26.A.19) 
$$\|\rho_{\Psi}\|_{4/3}^{4/3} \le CZ^{5/3} (1 + BZ^{-\frac{4}{3}})^{\frac{2}{5}};$$

taking F = 0 we arrive to (26.A.3) if  $N \simeq Z$ .

However, on our preparatory step we need to estimate also  $\|\rho_{\Psi}\|_{5/3}^{5/3}$  and due to (26.A.18) we need to consider only norms over  $\{x: \rho_{\Psi}(x) \geq B^{\frac{4}{3}}\}$ . Then  $\|\rho_{\Psi}\|_{5/3}^{5/3} \leq C \|\rho_{\Psi}\|_{4/3}^{16/15} \cdot \|\rho_{\Psi}\|_{3}^{3/5}$  and plugging the same estimates (26.A.19), (26.A.19) we conclude that

(26.A.20) 
$$\|\rho_{\Psi}\|_{5/3}^{5/3} \leq C Z^{7/3} \left(1 + B Z^{-\frac{4}{3}}\right)^{\frac{4}{5}}.$$

Now we assume that  $B \leq Z^3$ , take  $F = e(x, y, \nu)$ , where  $e(x, y, \nu)$  is the Schwartz kernel of spectral projector for potential W, approximating  $W^{\mathsf{TF}}$  and  $\nu \leq 0$  is a chemical potential. One can prove easily that  $\|\rho_F\|_{5/3}^{5/3}$ satisfies the same estimate and we need to estimate  $\operatorname{Tr}(\gamma_{\Psi}(I - E(\mu)))$ .

Consider

(26.A.21) 
$$N\langle H_{A,W(x_1)}\Psi,\Psi\rangle - \operatorname{Tr}(HE(\nu)) - \alpha \operatorname{Tr}(\gamma_{\Psi}(I-E(\nu)))$$
  

$$\geq \int_{\beta<0} \beta \, d_{\beta} \operatorname{Tr} E(\beta) - \int_{\beta\leq\nu} (\beta-\nu+\alpha) \, d_{\beta} \operatorname{Tr} E(\beta)$$

$$= -\int_{\nu-\alpha<\beta<\nu} (\beta-\nu+\alpha) \, d_{\beta} E(\beta)$$

$$= -\alpha E(\nu) + \int_{\nu-\alpha<\beta<\nu} E(\beta) \, d\beta.$$

We can replace  $E(\beta)$  by  $\int P'(W + \beta) dx$  with a resulting error  $O(Z\alpha\hbar^{\delta})$ ,  $\hbar := BZ^{-3}$ . Then the right-hand expression becomes

(26.A.22) 
$$-L(\alpha) := \int \left(-\alpha P'_{B}(W+\nu) + \int_{0}^{\alpha} P'_{B}(W+\nu-\beta) d\beta\right) dx = -\int_{0}^{\alpha} (\alpha-\beta) \left(\int P''_{B}(W+\nu-\beta) dx\right) d\beta.$$

Therefore

(26.A.23) 
$$\alpha \left( \mathsf{Tr} \left( \gamma_{\Psi} (I - E(\mu)) \right) - CZ\hbar^{\delta} \right) \leq N \langle H_{A,W(x_1)} \Psi, \Psi \rangle - \mathsf{Tr} (HE(\nu)) + L(\alpha).$$

Note that adding to the selected terms  $-\frac{1}{2}D(\rho^{\mathsf{TF}}, \rho^{\mathsf{TF}})$  we obtain exactly the snippet, occurring in the lower estimate of  $\mathsf{E}_N$ , but in virtue of the upper

estimate it should not exceed  $Q = CZ^{\frac{5}{3}} (1 + BZ^{-\frac{4}{3}})^{\frac{2}{5}} \leq CZ^{\frac{5}{3}} + Ch^2 Z^{\frac{7}{3}}$ , and therefore, plugging  $\alpha = Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \hbar^{\delta}$ , we conclude that

(26.A.24) 
$$\operatorname{Tr}(\gamma_{\Psi}(I - E(\mu)) \le Z\hbar^{\delta}$$

provided we prove that

(26.A.25) 
$$L(\alpha) \le Q$$
 for  $\alpha = Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \hbar^{\delta}$ .

Therefore modulo proof of (26.A.25) we arrive to the estimate (26.A.26) below:

**Theorem 26.A.3.** Let  $N \simeq Z$  and  $B \leq Z$ . Then for the ground state energy

(26.A.26) 
$$\sum_{1 \le j < k \le N} \int |x_j - x_k|^{-1} |\Psi(x_1, \dots, x_N)|^2 \, dx_1 \cdots dx_N \ge \frac{1}{2} \mathsf{D}(\rho^{\mathsf{TF}}, \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}) + \mathsf{Dirac} - CZ^{\frac{5}{3} - \delta}(1 + B^{\delta})$$

To prove (26.A.25) we note that  $0 \leq P_B''(w) \approx w^{\frac{1}{2}} + Bw^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ . One can prove easily then that  $L(\alpha) \leq C\alpha^{\frac{7}{4}} + CB^{\frac{1}{4}}\alpha^{\frac{3}{2}}$ , which obviously implies (26.A.25).

## 26.A.2 Very Strong Magnetic Field Case

Let us consider now case  $Z^2 \leq B \leq Z^3$ .

**Proposition 26.A.4.** Consider the Schrödinger operator  $H_{A,W}$  with a constant magnetic field of intensity B and potential  $W: W \leq Z|x|^{-1}$ . Let  $\phi(x) \coloneqq \phi_r(x)$  be r-admissible function. Then if  $Z^2 \leq B \leq Z^3$  and  $r \asymp Z^{-1}$ 

$$(26.A.27) |e(x, y, 0)| \le CZB in B(0, r)$$

and

(26.A.28) All eigenvalues are  $\geq -CZ^2$ .

*Proof.* Without any loss of the generality one can assume that

(26.A.29) 
$$H_{A,W} = D_3^2 + D_2^2 + (D_1 - Bx_2)^2 - W.$$

Consider  $f \in \mathcal{L}^2$ ; then  $||E(\lambda)f|| \leq ||f||$  and then one can prove easily (26.A.28) and inequality

(26.A.30) 
$$\|H_{A,0}E(\lambda)f\| \le (CZ^2 + \lambda_+)\|f\|.$$

Indeed,  $\frac{1}{2}D_3^2 + CZ^2 \ge W$  in the operator sense.

Then (26.A.30) implies that in  $B(0, r) \times B(y', r')$  with  $r' = B^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ 

$$|P^{lpha}E(\lambda)f| \leq CZ^{lpha_3}B^{rac{1}{2}|lpha'|} \qquad orall lpha: |lpha| \leq 2 \; orall \lambda \leq Z^2$$

with  $P = (D_1 - Bx_2, D_2, D_3)$  and therefore  $||E(\lambda)f||_{\mathscr{C}} \leq CZ^{\frac{1}{2}}B^{\frac{1}{2}}||f||$ . Then  $||E(x, .., \lambda)||_{\mathscr{L}^2_v}|| \leq CZ^{\frac{1}{2}}B^{\frac{1}{2}}$ .

Repeating the same arguments with respect to y we arrive to estimate (26.A.27).

The following corollary follows immediately:

**Corollary 26.A.5.** In the framework of Proposition 26.A.4 with  $\phi \in \mathscr{L}^{\infty}(B(0, r)), \|\phi\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}} \leq 1$ 

(26.A.31) 
$$|\int \phi(x)e(x,x,0) dx| \leq CZ^{-2}B,$$

(26.A.32) 
$$\mathsf{D}(\phi(x)e(x,x,0),\phi(x)e(x,x,0)) \leq CZ^{-3}B^{2}$$

and

(26.A.33) 
$$|\int_{-\infty}^{0}\int \phi(x)e(x,x,\tau)\,d\tau dx|\leq CB.$$

## 26.A.3 Riemann Sums and Integrals

If  $f \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^+)$  and fast decays at  $+\infty$ , then

(26.A.34) 
$$f(0)h + \sum_{n\geq 1} 2f(2nh)h \sim \int_0^\infty f(t) dt + \sum_{m\geq 1} \kappa_m f^{(2m-1)}(0)h^{2m},$$

(26.A.35) 
$$\sum_{n\geq 0} 2f((2n+1)h)h \sim \int_0^\infty f(t) dt + \sum_{m\geq 1} \kappa'_m f^{(2m-1)}(0)h^{2m} dt$$

as  $h \to +0$ . The proofs of both formulae follow from the Taylor's decomposition and observation that the odd powers of h should disappear. Taking

 $f(t) = e^{-tz/h}$  with  $\operatorname{Re} z > 0$  we arrive to

(26.A.36) 
$$1 - \frac{\cosh(z)}{\sinh(z)} z \sim \sum_{m \ge 1} \kappa_m z^{2m}$$

(26.A.37) 
$$1 - \frac{1}{\sinh(z)}z \sim \sum_{m \ge 1} \kappa'_m z^{2m}$$

for  $|z| \ll 1$ . In particular,  $\kappa_1 = \frac{1}{3}$  and  $\kappa'_1 = -\frac{1}{6}$ .

## 26.A.4 Some Spectral Function Estimates

**Proposition 26.A.6.** For the Schrödinger operator with  $A, W \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}$  and for  $\phi \in \mathscr{C}_{0}^{\infty}([-1, 1])$  the following estimate holds for any *s*:

(26.A.38)  $|F(x,y)| \le C(\mu h+1)h^{-3}(1+h^{-1}|x-y|)^{-s}$ 

where

(26.A.39) 
$$F(x, y) \coloneqq \int \phi(\lambda) \, d_{\lambda} e(x, y, \lambda).$$

*Proof.* Let  $u(x, y, t) = \int e^{-ih^{-1}t\lambda} d_{\lambda}e(x, y, \lambda)$  be the Schwartz's kernel of  $e^{-ih^{-1}Ht}$ .

Let us fix y. Note first that  $\mathscr{L}^2$ -norm<sup>52)</sup> of  $\phi(hD_t)\chi(t)\omega(x)u(x, y, t)$  is less than  $Ch^s$  for  $\chi \in \mathscr{C}_0^\infty([-\epsilon, \epsilon])$  and  $\omega \in \mathscr{C}^\infty$  supported in  $\{x : |x - y| \ge \epsilon_1\}$ (with  $\epsilon_1 = C\epsilon$ ) due to the finite speed of propagation of singularities.

We conclude then that  $\mathscr{L}^2$ -norm of  $\phi(hD_t)\chi(t)\omega(x)u(x, y, t)$  does not exceed  $C(\mu h + 1)h^s$  for  $\omega \in \mathscr{C}^\infty$  supported in  $\{x : |x - y| \ge C\}$ .

Then  $\mathscr{L}^2$ -norm of  $\partial'_t \nabla^{\alpha} \phi(hD_t) \chi(t) \omega(x) u$  does not exceed  $C(\mu h + 1) h^s$ . Therefore due to imbedding inequality  $\mathscr{L}^{\infty}$ -norm of  $\phi(hD_t) \chi(t) \omega(x) u$  also does not exceed  $C(\mu h + 1) h^s$ . Setting t = 0 and using this inequality and estimate  $|F(x, y)| \leq C(\mu h + 1) h^{-3}$  (due to Chapter 7), we conclude that  $|F(x, y)| \leq C(\mu h + 1) h^s$  for  $|x - y| \geq \epsilon_0$ .

Now let us consider general x with  $|x - y| = r \ge Ch$ . Then rescaling  $(x-y) \mapsto (x-y)r^{-1}$  we need also to rescale  $h \mapsto hr^{-1}$ ,  $\mu \mapsto \mu r$  and rescaling the above inequality and keeping in mind that F(x, y) is a density with respect to x, we conclude that  $|F(x, y)| \le Ch^s r^{-3-s}$  which is equivalent to (26.A.38)–(26.A.39).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52)</sup> With respect to x, t here and below.

## 26.A.5 Zhislin's Theorem for Constant Magnetic Field

We provide just a scheme to prove Zhislin's theorem in the case of the constant magnetic field. In this analysis  $\underline{Z}$ , y, N and B are constant.

**Proposition 26.A.7.** Let  $\Psi = \Psi_N$  be the ground state with the energy  $\mathsf{E}_N < \mathsf{E}_{N-1}$ . Then

(i) 
$$\Psi \in \mathscr{C}^1$$
 and  $\Psi = O(e^{-\epsilon |\underline{x}|})$  as  $|\underline{x}| \to \infty$ .

(ii) Let N < Z. Then  $V_{\Psi} - V \in \mathcal{C}^2$  and  $V_{\Psi} = (Z - N)|x|^{-1} + O(|x|^{-2})$ ,  $\nabla V_{\Psi} = (Z - N)|x|^{-2} + O(|x|^{-3})$  as  $|x| \to \infty$ .

Proof. Obvious proof is left to the reader.

Theorem 26.A.8 (Zhislin's theorem).  $E_{N+1} < E_N$  for N < Z.

*Proof.* We can assume that  $E_N < 0$  and the ground state energy exists. Really, it is true for some N < Z and if we prove that then automatically  $E_{N+1} < E_N$ , then it would be true for (N + 1) as well, so we may go by induction.

Consider  $\Psi = \Psi_N(x_1, ..., x_N)$  and also  $\tilde{\Psi}_{N+1}$ , which is an antisymmetrized  $\Psi_N(x_1, ..., x_N)u(x_{N+1})$  (cf. (26.8.21)):

(26.A.40) 
$$\tilde{\Psi} = \tilde{\Psi}(x_1, \dots, x_{N+1}) = \Psi(x_1, \dots, x_N)u(x_{n+1}) - \sum_{1 \le j \le N} \Psi(x_1, \dots, x_{j-1}, x_{N+1}, x_{j+1}, \dots, x_N)u(x_j).$$

Then like in the estimate of the ionization energy (cf. (26.8.22)-(26.8.23)):

(26.A.41) 
$$N^{-1}I_{N+1} \|\tilde{\Psi}\|^2 \ge -\langle \mathcal{H}_{V,x_{N+1}}\Psi u, \tilde{\Psi} \rangle - \langle \sum_{1 \le i \le N} |x_i - x_{N+1}|^{-1}\Psi u, \tilde{\Psi} \rangle$$

and

(26.A.42) 
$$N^{-1} \|\tilde{\Psi}\|^2 = \|\Psi\|^2 \cdot \|u\|^2 - N \int \Psi(x_1, \dots, x_{N-1}, x) \Psi^{\dagger}(x_1, \dots, x_{N-1}, y) u(y) u^{\dagger}(x) dx_1 \cdots dx_{N-1} dx dy.$$

Now let us consider u supported in  $\{x: \frac{1}{2}a \leq |x| \leq 3a\}$  with a to be chosen later. Then in virtue of Proposition 26.A.7(i) modulo  $O(e^{-\epsilon_1 a})$  we can replace in the right-hand expressions  $\tilde{\Psi}$  by  $\Psi_N(x_1, \ldots, x_N)u(x_{N+1})$  resulting in  $-\langle H_W u, u \rangle$  and  $||u||^2$  respectively with  $W = V_{\Psi}$  defined in Proposition 26.A.7(ii).

Therefore all we need to prove this theorem is to be able to select u with  $||u|| \approx 1$ , supported in  $\{x : a \leq |x| \leq 3a\}$  and with  $\langle H_W u, u \rangle \leq -\epsilon_0 a^{-1}$ .

In virtue of Proposition 26.A.7(ii)  $V_{\Psi} \ge \epsilon_0 a^{-1}$  in  $\{x : a \le |x| \le 3a\}$  and therefore we can replace W by  $\epsilon_0 a^{-1}$ . Without any loss of the generality one can assume that  $A = (Bx_2, 0, 0)$ . Recall that for the linear vector-potential  $\vec{A}$  operator  $H_0 = ((i\nabla - A) \cdot \sigma)^2$  is a direct sum of  $H_0^+ = (i\nabla - A)^2 + B$ and  $H_0^- = (i\nabla - A)^2 - B$ ; so we can consider only the latter. Note that  $H_0^- = (i\partial_1 - Bx_2)^2 - \partial_2^2 - \partial_3^2$  and  $H_0^- v = 0$  with  $v = \exp(-\frac{1}{2}B(x_2 - a)^2 + iBax_1)$ . Then  $u = v(x)\chi(r^{-1}(x - \bar{x}))$  with  $\chi \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(B(0, 1)), \ \chi = 1$  in  $B(0, \frac{1}{2}), \ \bar{x} = (0, 2a, 0), \ r = \frac{1}{3}a$  is a required function.

## Comments

We already mentioned papers E. H. Lieb, J. P. Solovej and J. Yngvason [1,3] where asymptotics of the ground state energy were derived in the cases  $B \ll Z^3$  and  $B \gg Z^3$  respectively. Intermediate case  $B \sim Z^3$  was covered also in [1]. Even without remainder estimates certain results concerning ionization energy and maximal possible positive and negative charges were also derived.

Remainder estimates in the case  $B \ll Z^3$  were derived by V. Ivrii in [20,21]. Unfortunately there are gaps in the proofs of the second paper in the case of  $M \ge 2$  and large Z - N > 0 which I was unable to fill.; so our results in this case are not as sharp as they supposed to be.



# Chapter 27

# The Case of Self-Generated Magnetic Field

# 27.1 Introduction

We are going to replace Schrödinger operator without magnetic field as in Chapter 25 or with a constant magnetic field as in Chapter 26 by Schrödinger operator

(27.1.1) 
$$H = H_{A,V} = ((D - A) \cdot \sigma)^2 - V(x)$$

with unknown magnetic field A but then to add to the ground state energy of the atom (or molecule) the energy of magnetic field (see selected term in (27.1.2) thus arriving to

(27.1.2) 
$$\mathsf{E}(A) = \inf \mathsf{Spec}(\mathsf{H}_{A,V}) + \alpha^{-1} \int |\nabla \times A|^2 \, dx$$

with N-particle quantum Hamiltonian  $H_{A,V}$  defined by (26.1.1) and a parameter  $\alpha \in (0, \kappa^* Z^{-1}]$  with small constant  $\kappa^* > 0$ .

Then finally

(27.1.3) 
$$\mathsf{E}^* = \inf_{\mathsf{A} \in \mathscr{H}^1_0} \mathsf{E}(\mathsf{A})$$

defines a ground state energy with a self-generated magnetic field<sup>1</sup>.

 $^{1)}$  This notion was introduced in series of papers L. Erdös, S. Fournais and J. P. Solovej [1,3,4]; see also L. Erdös and J. P. Solovej [1].

First of all we are lacking so far a semiclassical local theory and we are developing it in Section 27.2 where we consider one-particle quantum Hamiltonian

(27.1.4) 
$$H = H_{A,V} = \left( (hD - A) \cdot \sigma \right)^2 - V(x)$$

but instead of  $\operatorname{spec}(H_{A,V})$  we consider  $\operatorname{Tr}^-(H_{A,V})$  which as we already know is what replaces  $\operatorname{inf} \operatorname{Spec}(H_{A,V})$  if electrons do not interact (then if electrons interact we will need to replace V by W which includes a potential generated by the electron cloud and justify this by estimating an error).

We define the energy of the magnetic field as in (27.1.2) but with  $\kappa$  replaced by  $\kappa h^{d-1}$  (here  $d \geq 2$  is arbitrary) and we prove that for d = 2, 3 in this framework a self-generated magnetic field is weak and the asymptotics with the remainder  $O(h^{2-d})$  (or even  $o(h^{2-d})$  under standard assumption of the global nature) is exactly as for  $\kappa = 0$  (i.e. with A = 0). In the latter case asymptotics includes the Schwinger correction term  $\varkappa_2 h^{-1}$ .

Then in Section 27.3 we consider operator with potential having Coulombtype singularities and combining results and arguments of Sections 27.2 and 12.6 prove for d = 3 that

(27.1.5) 
$$\operatorname{Tr}^{-}(H_{A,V}) = \operatorname{Weyl}_{1} + 2S(\kappa)h^{-2} + O(\kappa|\log\kappa|^{\frac{1}{3}}h^{-\frac{4}{3}} + h^{-1})$$

provided  $\kappa < \kappa^*$  (which is a small constant) and there is just one singularity; when there are several singularities with a minimal distance  $a \gg 1$  between them we prove that

(27.1.6) 
$$\operatorname{Tr}^{-}(H_{A,V}) = \operatorname{Weyl}_{1} + 2S(\kappa)h^{-2} + O(\kappa |\log \kappa|^{\frac{1}{3}}h^{-\frac{4}{3}} + h^{-1} + \kappa a^{-3}h^{-2}).$$

If  $\kappa \ll h^{\frac{1}{3}} |\log h|^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  then under standard assumption about trajectories we can upgrade this asymptotics to even sharper with the remainder estimate  $o(h^{-1})$  and with the Schwinger correction term.

Further, in Section 27.4 we apply these results to provide estimates from above and below for the total energy (27.1.3). As a byproduct we also estimate  $D(\rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}, \rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}})$  where  $\Psi$  is a ground state for a near-minimizer A.

This estimate enables us in Section 27.5 to derive upper estimates for the excessive negative charge, estimates or asymptotics for the ionization energy, and in the free nuclei model also for the minimal distance between nuclei and (in the case of molecule) for the excessive positive charge.

## 27.2 Local Semiclassical Trace Asymptotics

## 27.2.1 Toy-Model

### Statement of the Problem

Let us consider operator (27.1.1) in  $\mathbb{R}^d$  with d = 3 where A, V are real-valued functions and  $V \in \mathcal{L}^{\frac{5}{2}} \cap \mathcal{L}^4$ ,  $A \in \mathcal{H}^1_0$ . Then this operator is self-adjoint. We are interested in  $\mathsf{Tr}^-(\mathcal{H}_{A,V})$  (the sum of all negative eigenvalues of this operator). Let

(27.2.1) 
$$\mathsf{E}^* \coloneqq \inf_{A \in \mathscr{H}^1_0(B(0,r))} \mathsf{E}(A),$$

(27.2.2) 
$$\mathsf{E}(A) := \left(\mathsf{Tr}^{-} H_{A,V} + \kappa^{-1} h^{-2} \int |\partial A|^{2} dx\right)$$

with  $\partial A = (\partial_i A_j)$  a matrix; here and below r is a parameter and constants do not depend on it.

The estimate from above is delivered by A=0 and Weyl formula with an error  $O(h^{-1})$  as  $V\in \mathcal{C}^{2,1\,2)}$ 

(27.2.3) 
$$E^* \leq Weyl_1 + O(h^{-1});$$

where

(27.2.4) 
$$\operatorname{Weyl}(\tau) = \frac{1}{3\pi^2} h^{-3} \int (V + \tau)_+^{\frac{3}{2}} dx,$$

and

(27.2.5) 
$$\operatorname{Weyl}_{1} = \int_{-\infty}^{0} \tau d_{\tau} \operatorname{Weyl}(\tau) = -\frac{2}{15\pi^{2}} \int V_{+}^{\frac{5}{2}} dx.$$

Also for estimates  $o(h^{-2})$  we need to include into Weyl<sub>1</sub> the corresponding boundary term. Now our goal is to provide an estimate from below

(27.2.6) 
$$E^* \ge Weyl_1 - O(h^{-1});$$

We will use also  $Weyl(x, \tau)$  and  $Weyl_1(x)$  defined the same way albeit without integration with respect to x.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2)</sup> Recall that this means that the second derivatives of V are continuous with the continuity modulus  $O(|\log |x - y||^{-1})$ , see Section 4.6. If there is a boundary it does not pose any problem provided it is in the classically forbidden region.

#### **Preliminary Analysis**

So, let us estimate  $\mathsf{E}(A)$  from below. First we need the following really simple

**Proposition 27.2.1.** Let  $V \in \mathcal{L}^{\frac{5}{2}} \cap \mathcal{L}^4$ . Then

(27.2.7) and either (27.2.8)  $E^* \ge -Ch^{-3}$   $\frac{1}{\kappa h^2} \int |\partial A|^2 dx \le Ch^{-3}$ 

or  $E(A) \ge ch^{-3}$ .

*Proof.* Using the Magnetic Lieb–Thirring inequality (5) of E. H. Lieb, M. Loss, M. and J. P. Solovej [1])

(27.2.9) 
$$\int \operatorname{tr} e_{1}(x, x, \tau) \, dx \geq -Ch^{-3} \int V_{+}^{\frac{5}{2}} \, dx - Ch^{2} \Big( h^{-2} \int |\partial A|^{2} \, dx \Big)^{\frac{3}{4}} \Big( h^{-8} \int V_{+}^{4} \, dx \Big)^{\frac{1}{4}},$$

we conclude that for any  $\delta > 0$ 

(27.2.10) 
$$\mathsf{E}(A) \ge -Ch^{-3} - C\delta^3 h^{-3} + (\kappa^{-1}h^{-2} - \delta^{-1}h^{-1}) \int |\partial A|^2 \, dx$$

which implies both assertions of this proposition.

**Proposition 27.2.2.** Let  $V_+ \in \mathcal{L}^{\frac{5}{2}} \cap \mathcal{L}^4$ ,  $\kappa \leq ch^{-1}$  and

(27.2.11) 
$$V \leq -C^{-1}(1+|x|)^{\delta} + C.$$

Then there exists a minimizer A.

*Proof.* Consider a minimizing sequence  $A_j$ . Without any loss of the generality one can assume that  $A_j \to A_\infty$  weakly in  $\mathcal{H}^1$  and in  $\mathcal{L}^6$  and strongly in  $\mathcal{L}^p_{\text{loc}}$  with any  $p < 6^{3}$ . Then  $A_\infty$  is a minimizer.

Really, due to (27.2.8) and (7.2.11) negative spectra of  $H_{A_{j},V}$  are discrete and the number of negative eigenvalues is bounded by N = N(h). Consider

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3)</sup> Otherwise we select a converging subsequence.

ordered eigenvalues  $\lambda_{j,k}$  of  $H_{A_{j,V}}$ . Without any loss of the generality one can assume that  $\lambda_{j,k}$  have limits  $\lambda_{\infty,k} \leq 0$  (we go to the subsequence if needed).

We claim that  $\lambda_{\infty,k}$  are also eigenvalues and if  $\lambda_{\infty,k} = \ldots = \lambda_{\infty,k+r-1}$  then it is eigenvalue of at least multiplicity r. Indeed, let  $u_{j,k}$  be corresponding eigenfunctions, orthonormal in  $\mathcal{L}^2$ . Then in virtue of  $A_j$  being bounded in  $\mathcal{L}^6$  and  $V \in \mathcal{L}^4$  we can estimate

$$\|Du_{j,k}\| \leq K \|u_{j,k}\|_{6}^{1-\sigma} \cdot \|u_{j,k}\|^{\sigma} \leq K \|Du_{j,k}\|^{1-\sigma} \cdot \|u_{j,k}\|^{\sigma}$$

with  $\sigma > 0$  which implies  $||Du_{j,k}|| \leq K$ . Also assumption (27.2.11) implies that  $||(1 + |x|)^{\delta/2} u_{j,k}||$  are bounded and therefore without any loss of the generality one can assume that  $u_{j,k}$  converge strongly.

Then

(27.2.12) 
$$\lim_{j\to\infty} \operatorname{Tr}^-(H_{A_j,V}) \ge \operatorname{Tr}^-(H_{A_{\infty},V}),$$

(27.2.13) 
$$\liminf_{j\to\infty} \int |\partial A_j|^2 \, dx \ge \int |\partial A_\infty|^2 \, dx$$

and therefore  $\mathsf{E}(\mathsf{A}_{\infty}) \leq \mathsf{E}^*$ . Then  $\mathsf{A}_{\infty}$  is a minimizer and there are equalities in (27.2.12)–(27.2.13) and, in particular, there no negative eigenvalues of  $\mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{A}_{\infty},\mathsf{V}}$  other than  $\lambda_{\infty,k}$ .

Remark 27.2.3. We do not know if a minimizer is unique. Also we do not impose here any restrictions on r, K (which may depend on h) in (27.2.11) or  $\kappa > 0$ . From now on until the further notice let  $A = A_h$  be a minimizer.

**Proposition 27.2.4.** In the framework of Proposition 27.2.2 let A be a minimizer. Then

(27.2.14) 
$$\frac{2}{\kappa h^2} \Delta A_j(x) = \Phi_j := -\operatorname{Retr} \left[ \sigma_j \left( (hD - A)_x \cdot \sigma e(x, y, \tau) + e(x, y, \tau)^t (hD - A)_y \cdot \sigma \right) \right] \Big|_{y=x}$$

where  $A = (A_1, A_2, A_3)$ ,  $\sigma = (\sigma_1, \sigma_2, \sigma_3)$  and  $e(x, y, \tau)$  is the Schwartz kernel of the spectral projector  $\theta(-H)$  of  $H = H_{A,V}$  and tr is a matrix trace.

*Proof.* Consider variation  $\delta A$  of A and variation of  $\operatorname{Tr}^-(H) = \operatorname{Tr}(H^-)$  where  $H^- = H\theta(-H)$  is a negative part of H. Note that the spectral projector of H is

(27.2.15) 
$$\theta(\tau - H) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{-\infty}^{\tau} \operatorname{Res}_{\mathbb{R}}(\tau - H)^{-1}$$

and therefore

$$\delta \operatorname{Tr}(\theta(\tau - H)) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{-\infty}^{\tau} \operatorname{Res}_{\mathbb{R}} \operatorname{Tr}((\tau - H)^{-1}(\delta H)(\tau - H)^{-1}) =$$
  
$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{-\infty}^{\tau} \operatorname{Res}_{\mathbb{R}} \operatorname{Tr}((\delta H)(\tau - H)^{-2}) = -\partial_{\tau} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{-\infty}^{\tau} \operatorname{Res}_{\mathbb{R}} \operatorname{Tr}((\delta H)(\tau - H)^{-1}) =$$
  
$$-\partial_{\tau} \operatorname{Tr}((\delta H)\theta(\tau - H)).$$

Plugging it into

(27.2.16) 
$$\operatorname{Tr}^{-}(H) = \int_{-\infty}^{0} \tau d_{\tau} \operatorname{Tr}(\theta(\tau - H)) = -\int_{-\infty}^{0} \operatorname{Tr}(\theta(\tau - H) d\tau)$$

and integrating with respect to  $\tau$  we arrive after simple calculations to

(27.2.17) 
$$\delta \operatorname{Tr}^{-}(H - \tau) = \operatorname{Tr}((\delta H)\theta(\tau - H)) = \sum_{j} \int \Phi_{j}(x)\delta A_{j}(x) dx$$

where  $\Phi(x)$  is the right-hand expression of (27.2.14). Therefore

(27.2.18) 
$$\delta \mathsf{E}(A) = \sum_{j} \int \left( \Phi_{j}(x) - \frac{2}{\kappa h^{2}} \Delta A_{j}(x) \right) \delta A_{j}(x) \, dx$$

which implies (27.2.14).

## **Proposition 27.2.5.** If for $\kappa = \kappa^*$

$$(27.2.19) E^* \ge Weyl_1 - CM$$

with  $M \geq Ch^{-1}$  then for  $\kappa \leq \kappa^*(1 - \epsilon_0)$ 

(27.2.20) 
$$\frac{1}{\kappa h^2} \int |\partial A|^2 \, d\mathbf{x} \leq C_1 M.$$

*Proof.* Proof is obvious based also on the upper estimate  $\mathsf{E}^* \leq \mathsf{Weyl}_1 + Ch^{-1}$ .

### Estimates

Proposition 27.2.6. Let estimate (27.2.20) be fulfilled and let

(27.2.21)  $\varsigma = \kappa Mh \le c.$ 

Then for  $\tau \leq c$ 

(i) Operator norm in  $\mathcal{L}^2$  of  $(hD)^k \theta(\tau - H)$  does not exceed C for k = 0, 1, 2.

(ii) Operator norm in  $\mathcal{L}^2$  of  $(hD)^k ((hD - A) \cdot \sigma) \theta(\tau - H)$  does not exceed C for k = 0, 1.

*Proof.* (i) Let  $u = \theta(\tau - H)f$ . Then  $||u|| \le ||f||$  and since

$$\|A\|_{\mathscr{L}^6} \le C \|\partial A\| \le C(\kappa M)^{\frac{1}{2}}h$$

we conclude that

$$\begin{split} \|hDu\| &\leq \|(hD - A)u\| + \|Au\| \leq \|(hD - A)u\| + C\|A\|_{\mathscr{L}^{6}} \cdot \|u\|_{\mathscr{L}^{3}} \leq \\ \|(hD - A)u\| + C(\kappa M)^{\frac{1}{2}}h\|u\|^{1/2} \cdot \|u\|_{\mathscr{L}^{6}}^{1/2} \leq \\ \|(hD - A)u\| + C(\kappa Mh)^{\frac{1}{2}}\|u\|^{1/2} \cdot \|hDu\|^{1/2} \leq \\ \|(hD - A)u\| + \frac{1}{2}\|hDu\| + C\kappa Mh\|u\|; \end{split}$$

therefore due to (27.2.21)

(27.2.23) 
$$\|hDu\| \le 2\|(hD - A)u\| + C\kappa Mh\|u\|.$$

On the other hand, for  $B = \nabla \times A$  and  $\tau \leq c$ 

$$\begin{split} \|(hD - A)u\|^{2} &\leq C \|u\|^{2} + (h|B|u, u) \leq C \|u\|^{2} + h\|B\| \cdot \|u\|_{\mathcal{L}^{4}}^{2} \leq \\ C\|u\|^{2} + C(\kappa M)^{\frac{1}{2}}h^{2}\|u\| \cdot \|u\|_{\mathcal{L}^{6}} \leq C\|u\|^{2} + C(\kappa M)^{\frac{1}{2}}h\|u\| \cdot \|hDu\| \leq \\ C(1 + \kappa Mh^{2} + \kappa^{\frac{3}{2}}M^{\frac{3}{2}}h^{2})\|u\|^{2} + \frac{1}{2}\|(hD - A)u\|^{2} \end{split}$$

and due to (27.2.23) we conclude that

(27.2.24)  $||(hD - A)u|| \le C||u||$  and  $||hDu|| \le C(1 + \kappa Mh)||u||$ 

provided  $\kappa Mh^{1+\delta} \leq c$  for sufficiently small  $\delta > 0$ . Therefore under assumption (27.2.21) for k = 0, 1 statement (i) is proven.

Further, since  $(hD)^2 = (hD - A)^2 + A(hD - A) + AhD - h[D, A]$  we in the same way as before (and using (27.2.24)) conclude that

$$\|(hD)^2u\| \leq C\|u\|^2 + \frac{1}{4}\|hD(hD - A)u\| + \frac{1}{4}\|h^2D^2u\|$$

and therefore

$$||h^2 D^2 u|| \le C ||u||^2 + C ||AhDu||$$

and repeating the same arguments we get  $\|h^2 D^2 u\| \leq C \|u\|$ ; so for k = 2Statement (i) is also proven.

(ii) Statement (ii) is proven in the same way.

**Corollary 27.2.7.** Let (27.2.20) and (27.2.21) be fulfilled. Then for  $\tau \leq c$ 

(27.2.25) 
$$e(x, x, \tau) \le Ch^{-3}$$

and

(27.2.26) 
$$|((hD - A) \cdot \sigma)e(x, y, \tau)|_{x=y}| \le Ch^{-3}.$$

*Proof.* Let us prove that

(27.2.27) Operator norms from  $\mathcal{L}^2$  to  $\mathcal{C}$  of both operators  $\theta(\tau - H)$  and  $((hD - A) \cdot \sigma)\theta(\tau - H)$  do not exceed  $Ch^{-\frac{3}{2}}$ .

Indeed, Proposition 27.2.6 and embedding theorem imply that the operator norm of  $\theta(\tau - H)$  from  $\mathcal{L}^2$  to C does not exceed  $Ch^{-\frac{3}{2}}$ . Then due to interpolation operator norms of  $\theta(\tau - H)$  from  $\mathcal{L}^2$  to  $\mathcal{L}^3$  and  $\mathcal{L}^6$  do not exceed  $Ch^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  and  $Ch^{-1}$  respectively.

Let  $\mathbf{v} = ((hD - A) \cdot \mathbf{\sigma})u$ ,  $u = \theta(\tau - H)f$ , ||f|| = 1. We know that  $\mathcal{L}^6$ -norms of Hu and u do not exceed  $Ch^{-1}$ , and then it is true for  $((hD - A) \cdot \mathbf{\sigma})u||$  as well.

Then  $||Au||_{\mathcal{L}^3} \leq C ||A||_{\mathcal{L}^6} ||f||_{\mathcal{L}^6} \leq Ch^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  and  $||Du||_{\mathcal{L}^3} \leq Ch^{-\frac{3}{2}}$  which together with  $||u||_{\mathcal{L}^2} \leq C$  implies that  $||u||_{\mathcal{L}^p} \leq Ch^{-3/2+3/p}$  for  $2 \leq p < \infty$ . Then  $||Au||_{\mathcal{L}^4} \leq C ||A||_{\mathcal{L}^6} ||u||_{\mathcal{L}^{12}} \leq Ch^{-\frac{1}{4}}$  and  $||Du||_{\mathcal{L}^4} \leq Ch^{-\frac{5}{4}}$ . Together with  $||u|| \leq C$  it implies  $||u|| \leq Ch^{-\frac{3}{2}}$ . So, (27.2.27) has been proven.

Then the same estimate for holds adjoint operators which imply both statements of the corollary.  $\hfill \Box$ 

**Corollary 27.2.8.** Let (27.2.20) and (27.2.21) be fulfilled and A be a minimizer. Then

 $\|\partial A\|_{\mathscr{C}^{1-\delta}} \le C\kappa h^{-1}$ 

and

 $(27.2.29) \|\partial A\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}} \le C_{\delta}' h^{-\frac{4}{5}-\delta}$ 

where  $\mathscr{C}^{\theta}$  is the scale of Hölder spaces and  $\delta > 0$  is arbitrarily small.

*Proof.* Really, due to (27.2.14) minimizer A satisfies  $\|\Delta A\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}} \leq C \kappa h^{-1}$ . Also we know that  $\|\partial A\| \leq C(\kappa M h^2)^{\frac{1}{2}} \leq C h^{\frac{1}{2}}$  due to (27.2.21). Then (27.2.28) holds due to the standard properties of the elliptic equations<sup>4</sup>.

Therefore if at some point y we have  $|\partial A(y)| \gtrsim \mu$ , it is true in its  $\epsilon(\mu h \kappa^{-1})^{1-\delta}$ -vicinity (provided  $\mu \leq \kappa h^{-1}$ ) and then

$$\|\partial A\|^2 \gtrsim \mu^2 (\mu h \kappa^{-1})^{3(1-\delta)}$$

and we conclude that

$$\mu^{2}(\mu h \kappa^{-1})^{3(1-\delta)} \leq C \kappa h^{2} M \iff \mu^{5-3\delta} \leq C \kappa^{4-3\delta} h^{-1+3\delta} M$$

and one can see easily that (27.2.29) holds due to (27.2.21) and assumption  $h^{-1} \leq M \lesssim h^{-3}$ .

On the other hand, if  $\mu \ge \kappa h^{-1}$  then we need to take  $\epsilon$ -vicinity and then  $\mu^2 \le C\kappa M h^2 \le C h^{\frac{1}{2}}$  where we used (27.2.21) again. Therefore (27.2.29) has been proven.

Remark 27.2.9. (i) It is not clear if it is possible to generalize this theory to arbitrary  $d \ge 2$  with the magnetic field energy given by

(27.2.30) 
$$\frac{1}{\kappa h^{d-1}} \int \left( |\partial A|^2 - |\nabla \cdot A|^2 \right) dx.$$

<sup>4)</sup> Actually we can slightly improve this statement.

Surely one should use generalized Pauli matrices  $\sigma_j$  in the definition of the operator: for d = 2 one can prove that  $\mathsf{E}(A)$  is bounded from below and a minimizer exists; for d = 4 one can prove that  $\mathsf{E}(A)$  is bounded from below if  $\kappa \leq \epsilon_0 h$ ; especially problematic is the case  $d \geq 5$  since then  $A \in \mathscr{H}^1$  does not guarantee enough regularity.

(ii) Therefore while arguments of Subsection 27.2.2 below remain valid for  $d \ge 4$ , so far they remain conditional (if a minimizer exists and satisfies some crude estimates).

## 27.2.2 Microlocal Analysis Unleashed

#### Sharp Estimates

Now we can unleash the full power of microlocal analysis but we need to extend it to our framework. It follows by induction from (27.2.28)–(27.2.29) and the arguments we used to derive these estimates that

$$(27.2.31) \|\partial A\|_{\mathscr{C}^{n-\delta}} \le C_n \kappa h^{-1-n} \forall n \in \mathbb{Z}^+$$

so A is "smooth" in  $\varepsilon = h$  scale while for rough microlocal analysis as in Section 2.3 one needs at least  $\varepsilon = Ch |\log h|$ . We consider in this section arbitrary  $d \ge 2$ ; see however Remark 27.2.9.

**Proposition 27.2.10.** For a commutator of a pseudodifferential operator with a smooth symbol and  $\mathcal{C}^{\theta+1}$ -function A(x) a usual commutator formula holds modulo  $O(h^{\theta+1} || \partial A ||_{\theta})$  for any non-integer  $\theta > 0$  where

(27.2.32) 
$$|||f|||_{\theta} := \begin{cases} \sum_{\alpha:|\alpha|=\theta} \sup_{x} |\partial^{\alpha}f(x)| & \theta \in \mathbb{Z}^{+}, \\ \sum_{\alpha:|\alpha|=\lfloor\theta\rfloor} \sup_{x\neq y} |x-y|^{\lfloor\theta\rfloor-\theta} \cdot |\partial^{\alpha}f(x) - \partial^{\alpha}f(y)| & \theta \notin \mathbb{Z}^{+}. \end{cases}$$

*Proof.* Easy proof is left to the reader.

Proposition 27.2.11. Assume that

$$(27.2.33) \|\partial V\|_{\mathscr{C}(B(0,2))} \le C_0$$
and

(27.2.34) 
$$\mu \coloneqq \|\partial A\|_{\mathscr{C}(B(0,2))} \le C_0.$$

Let U(x, y, t) be the Schwartz kernel of  $e^{ih^{-1}tH_{A,V}}$ . Then for  $T \simeq 1$ 

(i) Estimate

(27.2.35) 
$$\|F_{t \to h^{-1}\tau} \chi_{\tau}(t) (hD_x)^{\alpha} (hD_y)^{\beta} \psi_1(x) \psi_2(y) U \| \leq Ch^s$$

holds for all  $\alpha : |\alpha| \leq 2$ ,  $\beta : |\beta| \leq 2$ , s and all  $\psi_1, \psi_2 \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}_0(B(0,1))$ , such that dist(supp( $\psi_1$ ), supp( $\psi_2$ ))  $\geq C_0 T$  and  $\tau \leq c_0$ ; here  $\|.\|$  means an operator norm from  $\mathscr{L}^2$  to  $\mathscr{L}^2$ .

(ii) Estimate

$$(27.2.36) ||F_{t \to h^{-1}\tau} \chi_{T}(t) (hD_{x})^{\alpha} (hD_{y})^{\beta} \varphi_{1}(hD_{x}) \varphi_{2}(hD_{y}) U|| \leq Ch^{s} + Ch^{\theta} (|||A|||_{\theta+1} + |||V|||_{\theta+1})$$

holds for all  $\alpha : |\alpha| \leq 2$ ,  $\beta : |\beta| \leq 2$ , s and all  $\varphi_1, \varphi_2 \in \mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}$ , such that  $dist(supp(\varphi_1), supp(\varphi_2)) \geq C_0 T$ , and  $\tau \leq c_0$ .

(iii) If also in B(0,2)

then for a small constant  $T = \epsilon$  estimate

(27.2.38) 
$$\|F_{t \to h^{-1}\tau} \chi_{T}(t) (hD_{x})^{\alpha} (hD_{y})^{\beta} U\| \leq Ch^{s} + Ch^{\theta} (\|A\|_{\theta+1} + \|V\|_{\theta+1})$$

holds for all  $\alpha : |\alpha| \le 2$ ,  $\beta : |\beta| \le 2$ , s and all  $\psi_1, \psi_2 \in \mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}(B(0,1))$ , such that diam(supp( $\psi_1$ )  $\cup$  supp( $\psi_2$ ))  $\le \epsilon_0 T$  and  $|\tau| \le \epsilon$ .

*Proof.* Let  $u = e^{ith^{-1}H}f$  with arbitrary  $f \in \mathcal{L}^2$ .

(i) Statement (i) is easily proven by the same arguments as in the proof of Theorem 2.1.2: we consider just usual function  $\phi(x)$  and operators of multiplication like  $\chi(\phi(x))$  so there are no "bad" commutators due to non-smoothness of A or V.

(ii) Statement (ii) is also proven by the same arguments; however in this case  $\phi = \phi(\mathbf{x}, \xi)$  so we need to involve "bad" commutators but their contributions are bounded by

$$C \|Q_{1}u\| \cdot \left(h^{1+\theta} \left( \|A\|_{\theta+1} + \|V\|_{\theta+1} \right) \|u\| + h^{1+\delta} \|Q'u\| \right)$$

in the right-hand expression while the left-hand expression is  $\epsilon h \|Q_1 u\|^2$ where Q,  $Q_1$ , and Q' are operators with symbols  $\chi(\phi(x,\xi)), \chi_1(\phi(x,\xi))$ , and  $\chi_1(\phi(x,\xi) - \eta)$  respectively,  $\eta > 0$  is an arbitrarily small constant (so the latter symbol has a bit larger support than the former one),  $\delta > 0$  is a small exponent,  $\chi_1(t) = (-\chi'(t))^{\frac{1}{2}}$ , and f.e.  $\chi(t) = e^{-|t|^{-1}}$  for  $t < 0, \chi(t) = 0$  for  $t \ge 0$ .

Therefore we conclude that

$$\|Qu\| \leq Ch^{ heta} (\|A\|_{ heta+1} + \|V\|_{ heta+1}) \|u\| + Ch^{\delta} \|Q'u\|$$

and similarly we can estimate  $\|Q'u\|$  with  $\|Q''u\|$  in the right-hand expression etc and thus we conclude that

$$\|Qu\| \le Ch^{ heta}(\|A\|_{ heta+1} + \|V\|_{ heta+1})\|u\| + Ch^{s}\|u\|$$

which is what we need.

(iii) Statement (iii) is easily proven by the same arguments as in the proof of Theorem 2.1.2: we consider just usual function  $\phi(x)$  and operators of multiplication like  $\chi(\phi(x))$  so there are no "bad" commutators due to non-smoothness of A or V. However we need to consider a contribution of u which is not confined to the small vicinity of  $(y, \eta)$  and we need Statement (ii) for this so the last term in the right-hand expression of (27.2.38) is inherited.

We leave easy details to the reader.

#### Remark 27.2.12. In Proposition 27.2.11

(i) Statement (i) means the finite propagation speed with respect to x.

(ii) Statement (ii) means the finite propagation speed with respect to  $\xi$  and the last term in the right-hand expression of (27.2.36) is due to the non-smoothness of A and V.

(iii) Statement (iii) means that under assumption (27.2.37) there actually is a propagation with respect to x.

(iv) So far we have not assumed that V is very smooth function; we actually do not need it at all: it is sufficient to assume that  $\partial V$  is very smooth in the microscale  $\varepsilon = h^{1-\delta}$ ; one can actually invoke more delicate arguments of the proof of Theorem 2.3.1 and deal with microscale  $\varepsilon = Ch |\log h|$ .

Therefore in the framework of Proposition 27.2.11(iii) estimate

$$(27.2.39) |F_{t \to h^{-1}\tau} \chi_{\tau}(t) ((hD_{x})^{\alpha} (hD_{y})^{\beta} U(x, y, t))|_{x=y}| \leq Ch^{1-d+s} T^{-s} + CT^{2} h^{-d+\theta} (||A||_{\theta+1} + ||V||_{\theta+1})$$

holds for all  $\alpha : |\alpha| \leq 2, \beta : |\beta| \leq 2, s$  for  $T = \epsilon$  and  $|\tau| \leq \epsilon$  where as usual  $\chi \in \mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}([-1, -\frac{1}{2}] \cup [\frac{1}{2}, 1]), \chi_T(t) = \chi(t/T).$ 

Let us consider  $\overline{T} \in (Ch, \epsilon)$ ; then we apply the standard rescaling  $t \mapsto tT^{-1}, x \mapsto xT^{-1}, h \mapsto hT^{-1}$  and assumptions (27.2.33), (27.2.34) are replaced by weaker assumptions

 $(27.2.33)' \qquad T \|\partial V\|_{\mathscr{C}(B(x,1))} \leq C_0$ and  $(27.2.34)' \qquad T \|\partial A\|_{\mathscr{C}(B(x,1))} \leq C_0.$ 

 $\text{Further, } \|\!|\!|A\|\!|\!|_{\theta+1} \text{ and } \|\!|\!|V\|\!|\!|_{\theta+1} \text{ acquire factor } T^{\theta+1}.$ 

Furthermore, since U(x, y, t) is a density with respect to y we need to add factor  $T^{-d}$  to the right-hand expression and due to  $F_{t\to h^{-1}\tau}$  we need to add another factor T and after these substitution and multiplications we arrive to

**Proposition 27.2.13.** Let  $h \leq T \leq \epsilon$  and assumptions (27.2.33)', (27.2.34)' and (27.2.37) be fulfilled. Then estimate (27.2.39) holds.

Next we apply our standard arguments:

**Proposition 27.2.14.** In the framework of Proposition 27.2.13 let  $\bar{\chi} \in \mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}([-1,1])$ . Then the following estimates hold:

$$(27.2.40) |F_{t \to h^{-1}\tau} [\bar{\chi}_{\tau}(t) ((hD_{x})^{\alpha} (hD_{y})^{\beta} U(x, y, t))]|_{x=y}| \leq Ch^{1-d} + CT^{2}h^{-d+\theta} (||A||_{\theta+1} + |||V||_{\theta+1})$$

and

$$(27.2.41) \quad \left| \left[ \left( (hD_{x} - A(x)) \cdot \boldsymbol{\sigma} \right)^{\alpha} \left( (hD_{y} - A(y)) \cdot \boldsymbol{\sigma} \right)^{\beta} \boldsymbol{e}(x, y, t) \right] \right|_{x=y} - Weyl_{\alpha, \beta}(x) \right| \leq Ch^{1-d} \left( 1 + \|\partial A\|_{\mathscr{C}(B(x,1))} + \|\partial V\|_{\mathscr{C}(B(x,1))} \right) + Ch^{-d + \frac{1}{2}(\theta+1)} \left( \|A\|_{\theta+1} + \|V\|_{\theta+1} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

where

(27.2.42) 
$$\operatorname{Weyl}_{\alpha,\beta}(x) \coloneqq \operatorname{const} h^{-d} \int_{\{H(x,\xi) \le \tau\}} \left( (\xi - A(x)) \cdot \sigma \right)^{\alpha + \beta} d\xi$$

is the corresponding Weyl expression and

(27.2.43) 
$$H(x,\xi) = ((\xi - A(x)) \cdot \sigma)^2 - V(x);$$

in particular  $\operatorname{Weyl}_{\alpha,\beta}(x) = 0$  for  $|\alpha| + |\beta| = 1$ .

*Proof.* Obviously, the summation of (27.2.39) over  $C_0 h \leq |t| \leq T$  and a trivial estimate by  $Ch^{1-d}$  of the contribution of the interval  $|t| \leq C_0 h$  implies (27.2.40).

Then the standard Tauberian arguments imply that the left-hand expression of (27.2.41) does not exceed the right-hand expression of (27.2.40), divided by T, i.e.

$$CT^{-1}h^{1-d} + CTh^{-d+\theta} (|||A|||_{\theta+1} + |||V|||_{\theta+1}).$$

Optimizing with respect to  $T \leq \epsilon$ , such that (27.2.33)', (27.2.34)' hold, we pick up  $T = T^*$  with

(27.2.44) 
$$T^* = \epsilon \min \left( 1, \left( \|\partial A\|_{\mathscr{C}(B(x,1))} + \|\partial V\|_{\mathscr{C}(B(x,1))} \right)^{-1}, h^{-\frac{1}{2}(\theta-1)} \left( \|A\|_{\theta+1} + \|V\|_{\theta+1} \right)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \right).$$

Meanwhile the Tauberian formula and (27.2.39) imply that the contribution of the interval  $\{t : |t| \approx T\}$  with  $h \leq T \leq T^*$  to the Tauberian expression does not exceed the right-hand expression of (27.2.39) divided by T, i.e.

$$Ch^{1-d+s}T^{-s-1}+CTh^{-d+\theta}\|\partial A\|_{\mathscr{C}^{\theta}};$$

summation over  $T_* := h^{1-\delta} \leq T \leq T^*$  results in the right-hand expression of (27.2.41).

So, we need to calculate only the contribution of  $\{t : |t| \leq T_*\}$  but one can see easily that modulo indicated error it coincides with  $Weyl_{\alpha,\beta}$ .  $\Box$ 

Remark 27.2.15. For  $d \geq 3$  one can skip assumption (27.2.37).

Indeed, we can apply the standard rescaling technique:  $x \mapsto x\ell^{-1}$ ,  $h \mapsto \hbar = h\ell^{-\frac{3}{2}}$ ,  $A \mapsto A\ell^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ ,  $V \mapsto V\ell^{-1}$  with  $\ell = \max(\epsilon |V|\nu^{-1}, h^{\frac{2}{3}}\nu^{-\frac{1}{3}})$ ,  $\nu = (1 + |\partial V|_{\mathscr{C}})$ ; see Section 5.2.

### Application

Let us apply developed technique to estimate a minimizer.

**Proposition 27.2.16.** Let  $\kappa \leq c$  and let A be a minimizer. Let

(27.2.45)  $\mu \coloneqq \|\partial A\|_{\mathscr{C}} \le Ch^{-1+\delta}.$ 

For d = 2 let assumption (27.2.37) be also fulfilled. Then for  $\theta \in (1, 2)$  estimate

(27.2.46) 
$$\|\partial A\|_{\mathscr{C}^{\theta-1}} + h^{\theta-1} \|\partial A\|_{\mathscr{C}^{\theta}} \le C\kappa (1 + \|V\|_{\mathscr{C}^{1}} + h^{\frac{1}{2}(\theta-1)} \|V\|_{\mathscr{C}^{\theta+1}}^{\frac{1}{2}}) + C \|\partial A\|'$$

 $holds\ with$ 

(27.2.47) 
$$\|\partial A\|' \coloneqq \sup_{y} \|\partial A\|_{\mathscr{L}^{2}(B(y,1))}.$$

*Proof.* Consider expression for  $\Delta A$ . According to equation (27.2.14) and Proposition 27.2.14  $(|\Delta A| + |h\partial \Delta A|)$  does not exceed the right-hand expression of (27.2.41) multiplied by  $C \kappa h^{d-1}$  i.e.

(27.2.48) 
$$\|\Delta A\|_{\mathscr{C}} + \|h\partial\Delta A\|_{\mathscr{C}} \leq C\kappa \Big(1 + |\partial A|_{\mathscr{C}} + |\partial V|_{\mathscr{C}} + h^{\frac{1}{2}(\theta-1)} \|\partial A\|_{\mathscr{C}\theta}^{\frac{1}{2}} + h^{\frac{1}{2}(\theta-1)} \|\partial V\|_{\mathscr{C}\theta}^{\frac{1}{2}}\Big).$$

where we replaced  $||A||_{\theta+1}$  and  $||V||_{\theta+1}$  by larger  $||\partial A||_{\mathcal{C}^{\theta}}$  and  $||\partial V||_{\mathcal{C}^{\theta}}$  respectively.

Then the regularity theory for elliptic equations implies that

(27.2.49) For any  $\theta' \in (1, 2)$   $h^{\theta'-1} \|\partial A\|_{\mathcal{C}^{\theta'}}$  does not exceed this expression (27.2.48) plus  $C \|\partial A\|'$ .

Observe that that  $\|\partial A\|_{\mathscr{C}}$  does not exceed  $(\epsilon \|\partial A\|_{\mathscr{C}^{\theta}} + C'_{\epsilon} \|\partial A\|')$  with arbitrarily small constant  $\epsilon > 0$  and therefore

(27.2.50) 
$$h^{\theta-1} \|\partial A\|_{\mathscr{C}^{\theta}} + \epsilon^{-1} \|\partial A\|_{\mathscr{C}^{\theta}}$$

does not exceed expression (27.2.48) plus  $C'_{\epsilon} \|\partial A\|'$  where we used (27.2.49) for  $\theta' = \theta$ .

Comparing (27.2.50) and (27.2.48) we conclude that for  $\kappa \leq c$  and sufficiently small constant  $\epsilon > 0$  we can eliminate in the derived inequality both contributions of  $\partial A$  to (27.2.48) thus we arrive to (27.2.46).

Having this strong estimate to A allows us to prove

**Theorem 27.2.17.** Let  $\kappa \leq c$ , (27.2.45) be fulfilled, and let  $d \geq 3$ . Assume that

$$(27.2.51) \qquad \qquad \|V\|_{\mathscr{C}^{\theta+1}} \le c$$

with  $\theta \in (1, 2)$ . Then

(27.2.52) 
$$E^* = Weyl_1 + O(h^{2-d})$$

and a minimizer A satisfies

$$(27.2.53) \|\partial A\| \le C\kappa^{\frac{1}{2}}h^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

and

(27.2.54) 
$$\|\partial A\|_{\mathscr{C}^{\theta-1}} + h^{\theta-1} \|\partial A\|_{\mathscr{C}^{\theta}} \le C\kappa^{\frac{1}{2}} h^{\frac{1}{2}} + C\kappa^{\frac{1}{2}} h^{\frac{1}{2}} h^{\frac{1}{2}} + C\kappa^{\frac{1}{2}} h^{\frac{1}{2}} h^{\frac{$$

*Proof.* (a) In virtue of (27.2.40) the Tauberian error when calculating  $\text{Tr}(H_{A,V}^{-})$  does not exceed the right-hand expression of (27.2.40) multiplied by  $CT^{-2}$  i.e.

(27.2.55) 
$$Ch^{1-d}T^{-2} + Ch^{-d+\theta} (|||A|||_{\theta+1} + |||V|||_{\theta+1}).$$

Assumption (27.2.51) allows us to simplify this expression and take  $T \approx (1 + \mu)^{-1}$ ; applying estimate (27.2.46) we conclude that the Tauberian error does not exceed

(27.2.56) 
$$C(1+\mu)^2 h^{2-d} + C(\kappa + ||\partial A||') h^{2-d}.$$

We claim that

(27.2.57) Weyl error<sup>5)</sup> when calculating  $Tr(H_{A,V}^{-})$  also does not exceed (27.2.56).

Then

$$\begin{array}{l} (27.2.58) \quad \mathsf{E}(A) \geq \\ \operatorname{Weyl}_{1} - C(1+\mu)^{2}h^{2-d} - C(\kappa + \|\partial A\|')h^{2-d} + \kappa^{-1}h^{1-d}\|\partial A\|^{2} \geq \\ \operatorname{Weyl}_{1} - Ch^{2-d} + \frac{1}{2\kappa}h^{1-d}\|\partial A\|^{2} \end{array}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5)</sup> I.e. error when we replace Tauberian expression by Weyl expression.

because  $\mu \leq C \|\partial A\|' + 1$  due to (27.2.46) and assumption (27.2.51). This implies an estimate of E<sup>\*</sup> from below and combining with the estimate  $E^* \leq E^*(0) = Weyl_1 + Ch^{2-d}$  from above we arrive to (27.2.52) and (27.2.53) and then to (27.2.54) due to (27.2.46) and assumption (27.2.51).

(b) To prove (27.2.57) let us plug  $A_{\varepsilon}$  instead of A into  $e_1(x, x, 0)$ . Then in virtue of the rough microlocal analysis the contribution to Weyl error of the interval  $\{t : T_* \leq |t| \leq \epsilon\}$  with  $T_* = h^{1-\delta}$  would be negligible and the contribution of the interval  $\{t : |t| \leq T_*\}$  would be Weyl<sub>1</sub> +  $O(h^{2-d})$ .

(c) Now let us calculate an error which we made plugging  $A_{\varepsilon}$  instead of A into  $e_1(x, x, 0)$ . Obviously it does not exceed  $Ch^{-d} || A - A_{\varepsilon} ||_{\mathscr{C}}$  and since  $|| A - A_{\varepsilon} ||_{\mathscr{C}} \leq C \varepsilon^{\theta+1} || \partial A ||_{\mathscr{C}^{\theta}}$  this error does not exceed  $Ch^{\theta+1-d-4\delta} || \partial A ||_{\mathscr{C}^{\theta}}$ , which is marginally worse than what we are looking for.

However it is good enough to recover a weaker version of (27.2.52) and (27.2.53) with an extra factor  $h^{-\delta_1}$  in their right-hand expressions. Then (27.2.46) implies a bit weaker version of (27.2.54) and in particular that its left-hand expression does not exceed C.

Knowing this, let us consider the two term approximation. With the above knowledge one can prove easily that the error in two term approximation does not exceed  $Ch^{3-d-\delta'}$  with  $\delta' = 100\delta$ .

Then the second term in the Tauberian expression is

(27.2.59) 
$$\int \left( (H_{A,V} - H_{A_{\varepsilon},V}) e_{(\varepsilon)}^{\mathsf{T}}(x, y, 0) \right) \Big|_{y=x} dx,$$

where subscript  $_{(\varepsilon)}$  means that we plugged  $A_{\varepsilon}$  instead of A and superscript <sup>T</sup> means that we consider Tauberian expression with  $T = T^* = \epsilon$ . But then the contribution of the interval  $\{t : T_* \leq |t| \leq T^*\}$  is also negligible and modulo  $Ch^{\theta+2-d-4\delta} \|\partial A\|_{\mathscr{C}^{\theta}}$  we get a Weyl expression. However

(27.2.60) 
$$(H_{A,V} - H_{A_{\varepsilon},V}) = -2(\xi - A_{\varepsilon}) \cdot (A - A_{\varepsilon}) + |A - A_{\varepsilon}|^2$$

Observe that the first term in the right-hand expression kills the Weyl expression since an integrand is odd with respect to  $(\xi - A_{\varepsilon})$  while the second term as one can see easily makes it smaller than  $Ch^{3-d-\delta'}$ . Therefore (27.2.57) has been proven.

Remark 27.2.18. (i) For d = 2 we cannot drop assumption (27.2.37) at this stage we did it for  $d \ge 3$ . However results of the next section allow us to cure this problem using the partition-and-rescaling technique.

(ii) Actually for  $V \in \mathcal{C}^{2,1}$  we have an estimate

$$(27.2.61) \qquad |\partial A(x) - \partial A(y)| \le C\kappa |x - y| (|\log |x - y|| + 1) + C\mu.$$

Combining with (27.2.53) we conclude that

(27.2.62)  $\|\partial A\|_{\mathscr{C}} \leq C \kappa^{(d+1)/(d+2)} |\log h|^{d/(d+2)} h^{1/(d+2)}.$ 

(iii) If (27.2.51) holds for  $(h\partial)^m V$  with  $m \in \mathbb{Z}^+$  then (27.2.53) and (27.2.53) also hold for  $(h\partial)^m A$  instead of A; further, if  $(h\partial)^m V \in \mathcal{C}^{2,1}$  then (27.2.61) and (27.2.62) also hold for  $(h\partial)^m A$  instead of A.

#### **Classical Dynamics and Sharper Estimates**

Now we want to improve the remainder estimate  $O(h^{2-d})$  to  $o(h^{2-d})$ . Sure, we need to impose condition to the classical dynamical system and since  $|\partial A| = O(h^{\delta})$  with  $\delta > 0$  due to (27.2.62), it should be dynamical system associated with the Hamiltonian flow generated by  $H_{0,V}$ :

(27.2.63) The set of periodic points of the dynamical system associated with Hamiltonian flow generated by  $H_{0,V}$  has measure 0 on the energy level 0.

Recall that on the energy level  $\{(x,\xi) : H_{0,V}(x,\xi) = \tau\}$  a natural density  $d\mu_{\tau} = dxd\xi : dH|_{H=\tau}$  is defined.

The problem is we do not have a quantum propagation theory for  $H_{A,V}$  as A is not a "rough" function (i.e. smooth in microscale  $\varepsilon$ ). However it is a rather regular function, almost  $\mathscr{C}^2$ , and  $(A - A_{\varepsilon})$  is rather small:  $|A - A_{\varepsilon}| \leq \eta \coloneqq Ch^{2-3\delta}$  and  $|\partial(A - A_{\varepsilon})| \leq Ch^{1-3\delta}$  and therefore we can apply a method of successive approximations with the unperturbed operator  $H_{A_{\varepsilon},V}$  as long as  $\eta T/h \leq h^{\sigma}$  i.e. as  $T \leq h^{1-4\delta}$ . Here we, however, have no use for such large T and consider  $T = O(h^{-\delta})$ .

Consider

(27.2.64) 
$$F_{t \to h^{-1}\tau} \chi_T(t) U(x, y, t),$$

and consider terms of successive approximations. Then if we forget about microhyperbolicity arguments the first term will be  $O(h^{-d}T)$ , the second term  $O(h^{-1-d}\eta T^2) = O(h^{1-d-\delta'})$  and the error term  $O(h^{-2-d}\eta^2 T^3) = O(h^{2-d-\delta''})$ .

Therefore since our goal is  $O(h^{1-d})$  we need to consider the first two terms only. The first term is the same expression (27.2.64) with U replaced by  $U_{(\varepsilon)}$ .

Consider the second term, it corresponds to  $U'_{(\varepsilon)}(x, y, t)$  which is the Schwartz kernel of operator

$$(27.2.65) \qquad \mathsf{U}_{(\varepsilon)}' \coloneqq ih^{-1} \int_0^t e^{i(t-t')h^{-1}H_{A_{\varepsilon},V}} \big(H_{A,V} - H_{A_{\varepsilon},V}\big) e^{it'h^{-1}H_{A_{\varepsilon},V}} dt'$$

and then

(27.2.66) 
$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(\mathsf{U}_{(\varepsilon)}^{\prime}\psi\right) = ih^{-1}\operatorname{Tr}\left(\left(H_{A,V} - H_{A_{\varepsilon},V}\right)e^{ih^{-1}tH_{A_{\varepsilon},V}}\psi^{1}(t)\right)$$

where

$$\psi^{1}(t) \coloneqq \int_{0}^{t} e^{ih^{-1}t'H_{A_{\varepsilon,V}}}\psi e^{-ih^{-1}t'H_{A_{\varepsilon,V}}} dt'$$

is *h*-pseudodifferential operator with a rough symbol and  $\psi^{1}(t) \sim t$ .

Really, one can prove easily studying first the Hamiltonian flow equation and then the transport equations that  $\psi_t := e^{ih^{-1}tH_{A_{\varepsilon},V}}\psi e^{-ih^{-1}tH_{A_{\varepsilon},V}}$  is a *h*-pseudodifferential operator with a rough symbol and its corresponding norm is bounded.

Note that

$$ih^{-1}F_{t\to h^{-1}\tau}e^{ih^{-1}tH_{A_{\varepsilon,V}}}\psi^{1}(t) = (2\pi)\int (F_{t\to h^{-1}\tau'}e^{ih^{-1}tH_{A_{\varepsilon,V}}})\hat{f}(h^{-1}(\tau-\tau'))\,d\tau'$$

with  $\hat{f} = F_{t \to \tau} f_t$ ,  $f_t = \chi_T(t) \psi^1(t)$  and therefore (27.2.65)–(27.2.66) imply that

(27.2.67) 
$$|F_{t \to h^{-1}\tau} \chi_T(t) \operatorname{Tr} \mathsf{U}'_{(\varepsilon)} \psi| \le C \eta T^2 h^{-d}$$

where in comparison with the trivial estimate we gained the factor h.

We can plug here  $T' \in (T_*, T)$  instead of T and, taking summation by T' from  $T_* = \epsilon$  to T, we conclude that estimate (27.2.67) also holds for  $\chi_T(t)$  replaced by  $(\bar{\chi}_T(t) - \bar{\chi}_{T_*}(t))$  (provided  $\bar{\chi} = 1$  on  $(-\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2})$ ) and since  $\eta T^2 \leq h^{1+\delta}$  for  $T \leq h^{-\delta}$  we see that the right-hand expression (27.2.67) does not exceed  $Ch^{1-d+\delta}$ .

On the other hand, our traditional methods imply that

$$(27.2.68) \quad |\mathcal{F}_{t \to h^{-1}\tau} \chi_{\mathcal{T}}(t) \operatorname{Tr} \left( e^{ith^{-1}H_{A_{\varepsilon},V}} \psi \right)| \leq Ch^{1-d} T \mu(\Pi_{\mathcal{T},\zeta}) + C_{\mathcal{T},\zeta} h^{1-d+\delta}$$

where  $\Pi_{\mathcal{T}}$  is the set of points on energy level 0, periodic with periods not exceeding  $\mathcal{T}$ ,  $\Pi_{\mathcal{T},\zeta}$  is its  $\zeta$ -vicinity,  $\zeta > 0$  is arbitrarily small; recall that for d = 2 we assume that condition (27.2.37) is fulfilled.

Here again we can plug any  $T' \in (T_*, T)$  instead of T and after summation with respect to T' we conclude that (27.2.68) also holds with  $\chi_T(t)$  replaced by  $(\bar{\chi}_T(t) - \bar{\chi}_{T_*}(t))$ .

Combining with estimate for  $(e^{ith^{-1}H_{A_{\varepsilon},V}} - e^{ith^{-1}H_{A_{\varepsilon},V}})$  we conclude that

$$|F_{t \to h^{-1}\tau}(\bar{\chi}_{T}(t) - \bar{\chi}_{T_{*}}(t)) \operatorname{Tr}(e^{it'h^{-1}H_{A,V}}\psi)| \leq Ch^{1-d}T\mu(\Pi_{T,\zeta}) + C_{T,\zeta}h^{1-d+\delta}$$

and since

$$|F_{t \to h^{-1}\tau} \bar{\chi}_{T_*}(t) \operatorname{Tr} \left( e^{it' h^{-1} H_{A,V}} \psi \right)| \le C h^{1-d}$$

we conclude that

(27.2.69) 
$$|F_{t \to h^{-1}\tau} \bar{\chi}_{\tau}(t) \operatorname{Tr} \left( e^{it'h^{-1}H_{A,V}} \psi \right)| \leq Ch^{1-d} + Ch^{1-d} T \mu(\Pi_{\tau,\zeta}) + C_{\tau,\zeta} h^{1-d+\delta}.$$

Then the Tauberian error does not exceed the right-hand expression of (27.2.69) multiplied by  $ChT^{-2}$  and it is less than  $CT^{-1}h^{2-d}$ .

Consider now the Tauberian expression and again apply the two-term approximation for  $e^{ih^{-1}tH_{A,V}}$  considering  $e^{ih^{-1}tH_{A_{e,V}}}$  as an unperturbed operator; then the error will be less than  $Ch^{2-d+\delta}$ .

Consider the second term after taking trace; it is  $O(h^{2-d-4\delta})$ , so it is just slightly too large. Further, if  $\psi = I$  one can calculate it easily and observe that it is  $O(h^{2-d+\delta})$  provided  $V \in \mathcal{C}^{2,1}$ .

Finally, the first term is what we get for  $e^{ih^{-1}tH_{A_{\varepsilon},V}}$  and in virtue of rough microlocal analysis the contribution of the interval  $\{t: T_* \leq |t| \leq T\}$  does not exceed  $Ch^{2-d}\mu(\Pi_{T,\zeta}) + C_{T,\zeta}h^{2-d+\delta}$  and the contribution of the interval  $\{t: |t| \leq T_*\}$  is Weyl<sub>1</sub> +  $O(h^{2-d+\delta})$ .

Then we arrive to

**Theorem 27.2.19.** Let  $\kappa \leq c$ , (27.2.45) and (27.2.51) be fulfilled. Furthermore, let condition (27.2.63) be fulfilled<sup>6</sup>. Then

(27.2.70) 
$$E^* = Weyl_1^* + o(h^{2-d})$$

where

(27.2.71) 
$$\operatorname{Weyl}_{1}^{*} = \operatorname{Weyl}_{1} + \varkappa h^{2-d} \int V_{+}^{\frac{d}{2}} \Delta V \, dx$$

calculated in the standard way for  $H_{0,V}$  and a minimizer A satisfies similarly improved versions of (27.2.53) and (27.2.54).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6)</sup> I.e.  $\mu_0(\Pi_{\infty}) = 0$ .

Remark 27.2.20. (i) Recall that for d = 2 so far we assume (27.2.37). However we need it only to estimate  $\partial A$ . Indeed, even in the case of very degenerate potential V the "magnetic" correction will be small since  $|\partial A|$  is small.

(ii) Under stronger assumptions to the Hamiltonian flow one can recover better estimates like  $O(h^{2-d}|\log h|^{-2})$  or even  $O(h^{2+\delta-d})$  (like in Subsubsection 4.5.4.3 Sharper Remainder Estimates).

(iii) We leave to the reader to calculate the numerical constants  $\varkappa_*$  here and in (27.2.76) below,  $\varkappa = \varkappa_1 - \frac{2}{d}\varkappa_2$ .

(iv) However, even if  $\psi \neq I$  we can observe that it is sufficient to consider only principal terms and then the second term in approximations is also  $O(h^{2-d+\delta})$  provided  $V \in \mathcal{C}^{2,1}$  as long as principal symbol of  $\psi(x)$  is even with respect to  $\xi$ , in particular, if  $\psi = \psi(x)$ .

## 27.2.3 Local Theory

#### Localization and Estimate from above

The results of the previous Subsection 27.2.2 have two critical shortcomings: first, they impose the excessive initial requirement (27.2.21) to  $\kappa$  as we need to start from  $M \leq ch^{-3}$ ; second, they are not local. However, curing the second shortcoming, we make the way to addressing the first one as well, using the partition and rescaling technique.

We can localize  $\operatorname{Tr}^{-}(H) = \operatorname{Tr}(H^{-})$ , which is the first term in  $\mathsf{E}(A)$ , either in our traditional way as  $\operatorname{Tr}(H^{-}\psi^{2})$  or in the way favored by some mathematical physicists<sup>7</sup>: namely, we take  $\operatorname{Tr}^{-}(\psi H\psi)$  where in both cases  $\psi \in \mathscr{C}_{0}^{\infty}(B(0, \frac{1}{2})), 0 \leq \psi \leq 1$  and some other conditions will be imposed to it later. Observe that

(27.2.72) 
$$\operatorname{Tr}^{-}(\psi H\psi) \geq \operatorname{Tr}(\psi H^{-}\psi) = \int e_{1}(x, x, 0)\psi^{2}(x) dx.$$

Really, let us decompose operator  $H = H\theta(-H) + H(1 - \theta(-H))$ , where  $\theta(\tau - H)$  is a spectral projector of H, and therefore in the operator sense  $H \ge H^- := H\theta(-H)$  and  $\psi H\psi \ge \psi H^-\psi$ , and therefore all negative eigenvalues

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7)</sup> See f. e. L. Erdös, S. Fournais. and J. P. Solovej [4].
of  $\psi H \psi$  are greater than or equal to eigenvalues of the negative operator  $\psi H^- \psi$ , and then

(27.2.73) 
$$\operatorname{Tr}^{-}(\psi H\psi) \geq \operatorname{Tr}(\psi H^{-}\psi) = \operatorname{Tr}\left(\int_{-\infty}^{0} \tau d_{\tau}\theta(\tau - H)\psi^{2}\right),$$

which is exactly the right-hand expression of (27.2.72).

Remark 27.2.21. Each approach has its own advantages.

(i) In particular, no need to localize A (see (ii)) and the fact that Proposition 27.2.5 obviously remains true are advantages of  $Tr^{-}(\psi H\psi)$ -localization.

(ii) Further, sinces  $\operatorname{Tr}^{-}(\psi H\psi)$  does not depend on A outside of  $B(0, \frac{3}{4})$  we may assume that A = 0 outside of B(0, 1). Really, we can always subtract a constant from A without affecting traces and also cut-off A outside of B(0, 1) in a way such that A' = A in  $B(0, \frac{3}{4})$  and  $\|\partial A'\| \leq c \|\partial A\|_{B(0,1)}$ ; the price is to multiply  $\kappa$  by  $c^{-1}$ -as long as principal parts of asymptotics coincide.

(iii) On the other hand, additivity rather than sub-additivity of (27.2.88) and the trivial estimate from the above are advantages of  $Tr(\psi H^-\psi)$ -localization; therefore it is more advantageous.

(iv) In the next Chapter 28 (in Section 28.2) we will use more  $\text{Tr}^-(\psi H\psi)$ -localization for preliminary estimates from below and simplify many arguments of this Section. We apply these modifications and simplifications to this Section in the final version of the Book.

We will use both methods and here we provide an upper estimate for the larger expression  $\text{Tr}^-(\psi H\psi)$  and a lower estimate for the lesser expression  $\text{Tr}(\psi H^-\psi)$ . Let us estimate from the above:

**Proposition 27.2.22.** Assume that  $V \in \mathcal{C}^{2,1}$ ,  $d \geq 2$ . Let  $\ell(x)$  be a scaling function<sup>8)</sup> and  $\psi$  be a function such that  $|\partial^{\alpha}\psi| \leq c\psi\ell^{-\sigma|\alpha|}$  for all  $\alpha : |\alpha| \leq 2$  and  $|\psi| \leq c\ell^{\sigma(1+\delta)}$  with  $\sigma > 1$  and  $\delta > 0^{9}$ .

Then, if A = 0,

(27.2.74) 
$$\operatorname{Tr}^{-}(\psi H\psi) = \int \operatorname{Weyl}_{1}(x)\psi^{2}(x) \, dx + O(h^{2-d})$$

<sup>8)</sup> I.e.  $\ell \geq 0$  and  $|\partial \ell| \leq \frac{1}{2}$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9)</sup> Such compactly supported functions obviously exist.

and under assumption (27.2.63)

(27.2.75) 
$$\operatorname{Tr}^{-}(\psi H\psi) = \int \operatorname{Weyl}_{1}^{*}(x)\psi^{2}(x) \, dx + o(h^{2-d})$$

with

(27.2.76) 
$$\operatorname{Weyl}_{1}^{*}(x) = \operatorname{Weyl}_{1}(x) + \varkappa_{1}h^{-1}V_{+}^{\frac{d}{2}}\Delta V + \varkappa_{2}h^{-1}V_{+}^{\frac{d}{2}-1}|\nabla V|^{2}$$

calculated in the standard way for  $H_{0,V}$ .

*Proof.* Let us consider  $\tilde{H} = \psi H \psi$  as a Hamiltonian and let  $\tilde{e}(x, y, \tau)$  be the Schwartz kernel of its spectral projector. Then

(27.2.77) 
$$\operatorname{Tr}^{-}(\psi H\psi) = \int \tilde{e}_{1}(x, x, 0) \, dx = \sum_{j} \int \tilde{e}_{1}(x, x, 0) \psi_{j}^{2} \, dx,$$

where  $\psi_j^2$  form a partition of unity in  $\mathbb{R}^d$  and we need to calculate the right hand expression. The problem is that  $\tilde{H}$  is not a usual Schrödinger operator because of the degenerating factor  $\psi$  on each side.

Consider first an  $\ell\ell$ -admissible partition of unity in B(0,1). Let us consider  $\gamma$ -scale in such element where  $\gamma = \ell\ell^{\sigma}$  and we will use 1-scale in  $\xi$ . Then after rescaling  $x \mapsto x\gamma^{-1}$  the semiclassical parameter rescales  $h \mapsto h_{\text{new}} = h\gamma^{-1}$  and the contribution of each  $\gamma$ -subelement to a semiclassical remainder does not exceed  $C\psi^2(h/\gamma)^{2-d}$  with  $\psi \leq \gamma^{1+\delta}$ , having the same magnitude over element as long as  $\gamma \geq 2h$ . Then the contribution of  $\ell$ -element to a semiclassical error does not exceed  $C\psi^2(h/\gamma)^{2-d} \times \ell^d\gamma^{2-d} \approx Ch^{2-d}\psi^2\gamma^{-2}\ell^d \leq Ch^{2-d}\ell^{d+2\delta}$ .

Note that expression (27.2.77) only increases if we sum only with respect to elements where  $\ell^{\sigma} \geq h$ . Therefore we arrive to estimate

$$\operatorname{Tr}^{-}(\psi H\psi) \leq \int \operatorname{Weyl}_{1}(x)\psi^{2}(x) \, dx + Ch^{2-d},$$

where integration is taken over a domain  $\{x \colon \ell(x) \ge h^{1/\sigma}\}$ . Note that we can extend this integral to  $\mathbb{R}^d$ : indeed, it will add negative term with absolute value not exceeding  $Ch^{-d} \times h^{2+\delta}$  as  $\psi \le h^{1+\delta}$  there and it is absorbed by the remainder estimate.

Corollary 27.2.23. In the framework of Proposition 27.2.22

(27.2.78) 
$$\mathsf{E}_{\psi}^* \coloneqq \inf_{A} \mathsf{E}_{\psi}(A) \leq \int \mathsf{Weyl}_1(x)\psi^2(x)\,dx + Ch^{2-d}$$

and under assumption (27.2.63)

(27.2.79) 
$$\mathsf{E}_{\psi}^* \leq \int \mathsf{Weyl}_1(x)\psi^2(x)\,dx + Ch^{2-d}$$

with

(27.2.80) 
$$\mathsf{E}_{\psi}(A) \coloneqq \mathsf{Tr}^{-}(\psi H \psi) + \frac{1}{\kappa \hbar^{2}} \int |\partial A|^{2} dx.$$

*Proof.* Indeed, we just pick A = 0.

#### Estimate from below

Now let us estimate redefined  $\mathsf{E}_{\psi}(\mathsf{A})$ ,

(27.2.81) 
$$\mathsf{E}_{\psi}(A) \coloneqq \int e_1(x, x, 0) \psi^2(x) \, dx + \frac{1}{\kappa h^{d-1}} \int |\partial A|^2 \, dx,$$

from below. However we need an equation for an optimizer and it would be easier for us to deal with even lesser expression involving  $\tau$ -regularization. Let us rewrite the first term in the right-hand expression in the form

$$\int_{-\infty}^{0} \bar{\varphi}(\tau/L)\tau \, d_{\tau} e(x,x,\tau) + \int_{-\infty}^{0} (1-\bar{\varphi}(\tau/L))\tau \, d_{\tau} e(x,x,\tau) \geq \\ \int_{-\infty}^{L} \left( \bar{\varphi}(\tau/L)(\tau-L) \, d_{\tau} e(x,x,\tau) + (1-\bar{\varphi}(\tau/L))\tau \, d_{\tau} e(x,x,\tau) \right),$$

where  $\bar{\varphi} \in \mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}([-1, 1])$  equals 1 in  $[-\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}]$  and let us estimate from below

(27.2.82) 
$$\mathsf{E}'_{\psi}(A) := \int \left( \int_{-\infty}^{L} \bar{\varphi}(\tau/L)(\tau-L) d_{\tau} e(x,x,\tau)(x) + (1-\bar{\varphi}(\tau/L))(\tau-L) d_{\tau} e(x,x,\tau) \right) \psi^{2}(x) \, dx + \frac{1}{kh^{1-d}} \int |\partial A|^{2} \, dx.$$

Let us generalize Proposition 27.2.4:

**Proposition 27.2.24.** Let A be a minimizer of  $E'_{\psi}(A)$ . Then

(27.2.83) 
$$\frac{2}{\kappa h^{1-d}} \Delta A_j(x) = \Phi_j := \operatorname{Retr} \left[ \sigma_j \Big( (hD - A)_x \cdot \sigma \mathcal{K}(x, y, \tau) + \mathcal{K}(x, y, \tau)^{t} (hD - A)_y \cdot \sigma \Big) \right] \Big|_{y=x}$$

 $\square$ 

with

$$\mathcal{K} = \int_{-\infty}^{L} \mathsf{SK} \Big[ \bar{\varphi}(\tau/L)(\tau-L) \operatorname{Res}_{\mathbb{R}}(\tau-H)^{-1} \psi^{2}(\tau-H)^{-1} + (1-\bar{\varphi}(\tau/L))\tau(\tau-L) \operatorname{Res}_{\mathbb{R}}(\tau-H)^{-1} \psi^{2}(\tau-H)^{-1} \Big] (x,y) \, d\tau,$$

where we use a temporary notation SK[B](x, y) for the Schwartz kernel of operator B.

*Proof.* Follows immediately from the proof of Proposition 27.2.4.  $\Box$ 

**Proposition 27.2.25.** Let d = 3 and assumptions (27.2.20) and (27.2.21) be fulfilled. Then for  $\tau \leq c$ 

(i) Operator norm in  $\mathcal{L}^2$  of  $(hD)^k(\tau - H)^{-1}$  does not exceed  $C | \operatorname{Im} \tau |^{-1}$  for k = 0, 1, 2;.

(ii) Operator norm in  $\mathscr{L}^2$  of  $(hD)^2((hD - A) \cdot \sigma)(\tau - H)^{-1}$  does not exceed  $C |\operatorname{Im} \tau|^{-1}$  for k = 0, 1, 2.

*Proof.* Proof follows the same scheme as the proof of Proposition 27.2.6.  $\Box$ 

**Proposition 27.2.26.** Let d = 3 and assumptions (27.2.20) and (27.2.21) be fulfilled. Then  $|\Phi(x)| \leq Ch^{-3}$ .

*Proof.* Let us estimate

(27.2.84) 
$$|\int \tau \varphi(\tau/L) \operatorname{Res}_{\mathbb{R}} \operatorname{SK} \left[ Q(\tau-H)^{-1} \psi^2(\tau-H)^{-1} \right] (x,y) \, d\tau |,$$

where  $L \leq c$  and  $\varphi \in \mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}([-1, 1])$  and also a similar expression with a factor  $(\tau - L)$  instead of  $\tau$ ; here either Q = I, or  $Q = (hD_k - A_k)_x$  or  $Q = (hD_k - A_k)_y$ .

Proposition 27.2.25 implies that the Schwartz kernel of the integrand does not exceed  $Ch^{-3}|\operatorname{Im} \tau|^{-2}$  and therefore expression (27.2.84) does not exceed  $CL^2 \times h^{-3}L^{-2} = Ch^{-3}$ .

Then what comes out in  $\Phi$  from the term with the factor  $\overline{\phi}(\tau/h)$  does not exceed  $Ch^{-3}$ .

Then, representing  $(1 - \bar{\phi}(\tau/h))$  as a sum of  $\varphi(\tau/L)$  with  $L = 2^n h$  with  $n = 0, ..., \lfloor |\log h| \rfloor + c$ , we estimate the output of each term by  $Ch^{-3}$  and thus the whole sum by  $Ch^{-3} |\log h|$ .

To get rid of the logarithmic factor we use equality

(27.2.85) 
$$(\tau - H)^{-1}\psi(\tau - H)^{-1} = -\partial(\tau - H)^{-1}\psi + (\tau - H)^{-2}[h, \psi](\tau - H)^{-1};$$

if we plug only the second part, we recover a factor h/L, where h comes from the commutator and 1/L from the increased singularity; an extra operator factor in the commutator is not essential. Then summation over partition results in  $Ch^{-3}$ .

Plugging only the first part we do not use the above decomposition but the equality  $\operatorname{Res}_{\mathbb{R}}(\tau - H)^{-1} d\tau = d_{\tau}\theta(\tau - H)$ .

**Corollary 27.2.27.** Let d = 3, assumptions (27.2.20) and (27.2.21) be fulfilled and A be a minimizer. Then (27.2.28) and (27.2.29) hold.

*Proof.* Proof follows the proof of Corollary 27.2.8.

Now we can recover both Proposition 27.2.16 and our both main Theorems 27.2.17 and 27.2.19:

**Theorem 27.2.28.** Let d = 3 and assumptions (27.2.20) and  $\kappa \leq c$  be fulfilled. Then

(i) The following estimate holds:

(27.2.86) 
$$\mathsf{E}_{\psi}^{*} - \int \mathsf{Weyl}_{1}(x)\psi^{2}(x) \, dx = O(h^{2-d})$$

and and a minimizer A satisfies (27.2.53) and (27.2.54).

(ii) Furthermore, let assumption (27.2.63) be fulfilled (i.e.  $\mu_0(\Pi_\infty) = 0$ ). Then

(27.2.87) 
$$\mathsf{E}_{\psi}^{*} - \int \mathsf{Weyl}_{1}^{*}(x)\psi^{2}(x)\,dx = o(h^{2-d})$$

and a minimizer A satisfies similarly improved versions of (27.2.53) and (27.2.54).

# 27.2.4 Rescaling

Now we apply the rescaling. We consider only d = 3 here.

### Case $\kappa \leq 1$

We already have an upper estimate: see Corollary 27.2.23. Let us prove a lower estimate<sup>10</sup>). Consider an error

(27.2.88) 
$$\left(\int \operatorname{Weyl}_1(x)\psi^2 \, dx - \mathsf{E}_{\psi}(A)\right)_+$$

Obviously,  $Tr^-$  is sub-additive

(27.2.89) 
$$\operatorname{Tr}^{-}(\sum_{j}\psi_{j}H\psi_{j}) \geq \sum_{j}\operatorname{Tr}^{-}(\psi_{j}H\psi_{j}),$$

and therefore so is  $\mathsf{E}_{\psi}(A)$  under assumption that  $\psi_j \in \mathscr{C}^2_0(B(x_j, \frac{1}{2}\ell_j))$ , where multiplicity of covering by  $B(x_j, \ell_j)$  does not exceed  $C_0$  and we are allowed to replace  $\kappa$  by  $C_1\kappa$  in the right-hand expression<sup>11</sup>.

Then we need to consider each partition element and use a lower estimate for it. While considering partition we use so called *ISM identity*: if

(27.2.90) 
$$\sum_{j} \psi_{j}^{2} = 1,$$

we have

(27.2.91) 
$$H = \sum_{j} (\psi_{j} H \psi_{j} + \frac{1}{2} [[H, \psi_{j}], \psi_{j}]) = \sum_{j} \psi_{j} (H + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{k} [[H, \psi_{k}], \psi_{k}]) \psi_{j},$$

where the second equality is due to the fact that  $[[H, \psi_j], \psi_j]$  is an ordinary function.

In virtue of Proposition 27.2.5, from the very beginning we need to consider

$$(27.2.92) M = \kappa^{\beta} h^{-1-\alpha}$$

with  $\alpha = 2, \beta = 0$  and  $\kappa \leq c$ . But we need to satisfy precondition (27.2.21) which is then

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10)</sup> But only for  $\mathsf{E}_{\psi}(A)$  defined by (27.2.80).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11)</sup> Really,  $\|\partial A\|^2 \ge c \sum_j \|\partial A_j\|^2$  with  $A_j(x) = (A(x) - A_j(x_j))\psi'_j$  with  $\psi'_j \in \mathscr{C}^2_0(B(x_j, \frac{7}{8}\ell_j))$ equal 1 in  $B(x_j, \frac{3}{4}\ell_j)$ ).

(27.2.93) 
$$\kappa^{\beta+1} h^{-\alpha} \le c.$$

Therefore, if condition (27.2.93) is fulfilled with  $\alpha = 0$ , we conclude that the final error is indeed  $O(h^{-1})$  or even  $o(h^{-1})$  (under assumption (27.2.63)) without any precondition.

Let precondition (27.2.93) fail. Let us use  $\gamma$ -admissible partition of unity  $\psi_i^2$  with  $\psi_i$  satisfying after rescaling assumptions of Proposition 27.2.22.

Note that rescaling  $x \mapsto x\gamma^{-1}$  results in  $h \mapsto h_{\text{new}} = h\gamma^{-1}$  and after rescaling in the new coordinates  $\|\partial A\|^2$  acquires factor  $\gamma^{d-2}$  and thus factor  $\kappa^{-1}h^{-2}$  becomes  $\kappa^{-1}h^{-2}\gamma^{d-2} = \kappa_{\text{new}}^{-1}h_{\text{new}}^{-2}$  with  $\kappa \mapsto \kappa_{\text{new}} = \kappa\gamma$ .

Then after rescaling precondition (27.2.93) is satisfied provided before rescaling  $\kappa^{\beta+1}h^{-\alpha}\gamma^{\alpha+\beta+1} \leq c$ . Thus, let us pick up the largest  $\gamma$  satisfying this:  $\gamma = \kappa^{-(\beta+1)/(\alpha+\beta+1)}h^{\alpha/(\alpha+\beta+1)}$ . Obviously, if before rescaling condition (27.2.93) fails, then  $h \ll \gamma \leq 1$ .

But then expression (27.2.88) with  $\psi$  replaced by  $\psi_j$  does not exceed  $Ch_{\text{new}}^{-1} = C(h\gamma^{-1})^{-1}$  and the total expression (27.2.88) does not exceed  $C(h\gamma^{-1})^{-1}\gamma^{-3} = Ch^{-1}\gamma^{-2} = C\kappa^{\beta'}h^{-1-\alpha'}$  with

$$\beta' = 2(\beta + 1)/(\alpha + \beta + 1), \qquad \alpha' = 2\alpha/(\alpha + \beta + 1).$$

Therefore, actually we can pick up M with  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$  replaced by  $\alpha'$ ,  $\beta'$  and we have a precondition (27.2.93) with these new  $\alpha'$ ,  $\beta'$  and we do not need an old precondition. Repeating the rescaling procedure again, we derive a proper estimate with again weaker precondition etc.

One can see easily that  $\alpha' + \beta' + 1 = 3$  and therefore on each step  $\alpha + \beta + 1 = 3$  and we have a recurrent relation for  $\alpha'$ :  $\alpha' = \frac{2}{3}\alpha$ ; and therefore we have sequence for  $\alpha$  which decays and becomes arbitrarily small. Therefore precondition (27.2.93) has been reduced to a much weaker assumption  $\kappa \leq h^{\delta}$  and under it estimate  $M = O(h^{-1})$  has been established. Furthermore, after this under assumption (27.2.63) we can prove even sharper asymptotics.

To weaken assumption  $\kappa \leq h^{\delta}$  to  $\kappa \leq c$  we can use rescaling  $x \mapsto x\gamma^{-1}$ with  $\gamma = h^{\delta}$ . We arrive to the error estimate  $O(h^{-1-\delta})$  and therefore optimizer satisfies  $\|\nabla \times A\| \leq h^{\frac{1}{2}-\delta}$  (where  $\delta$  is increased if necessary but remains arbitrarily small). Repeating the arguments of the proof of Proposition 27.2.6, instead of  $\|\Delta A\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}} = O(1)$  we arrive to  $\|\Delta A\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}} = O(h^{-\delta})$ and to  $\|\partial^2 A\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}} = O(h^{-\delta})$ ; then  $\|\partial A\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}} = O(h^{\frac{1}{2}-\delta})$ ; it is more than sufficient to unleash the microlocal analysis technique without any need to appeal to Proposition 27.2.6 which is the only place where we needed assumption (27.2.21).

Thus we arrive to

**Theorem 27.2.29.** Let d = 3,  $V \in \mathcal{C}^{2,1}$ ,  $\kappa \leq c$  and let  $\psi$  satisfy assumption of Proposition 27.2.22. Then

(i) Asymptotics (27.2.86) holds.

(ii) Further, if assumption (27.2.63) is fulfilled then asymptotics (27.2.86) holds.

(iii) If (27.2.86) or (27.2.87) holds for  $E_{\psi}(A)$  (we need only an estimate from below) then  $\|\partial A\| = O((\kappa h)^{\frac{1}{2}})$  or  $\|\partial A\| = o((\kappa h)^{\frac{1}{2}})$  respectively.

Case  $1 \le \kappa \le h^{-1}$ 

In this framework we can consider even the case  $1 \le \kappa \le h^{-1}$ . The simple rescaling-and-partition arguments with  $\gamma = \kappa^{-1}$  lead to the following

(27.2.94) If  $1 \le \kappa \le h^{-1}$ , then the remainder estimate  $O(\kappa^2 h^{-1})$  holds and for a minimizer A satisfies  $\|\partial A\|^2 \le C \kappa^3 h$ .

However we would like to improve it and, in particular, to prove that if  $\kappa$  is moderately large then the remainder estimate is still  $O(h^{-1})$  and even  $o(h^{-1})$  under non-periodicity assumption.

**Theorem 27.2.30.** Let d = 3,  $V \in \mathcal{C}^{2,1}$ , and let  $\psi$  satisfy assumptions of Proposition 27.2.22. Then

(i) For

(27.2.95) 
$$\kappa \le \kappa_h^* \coloneqq \epsilon h^{-\frac{1}{4}} |\log h|^{-\frac{3}{4}}$$

asymptotics (27.2.86) holds.

(ii) Furthermore, for  $\kappa = o(\kappa_h^*)$  and assumption (27.2.63) is fulfilled then asymptotics (27.2.87) holds.

(iii) If  $\kappa_h^* \leq \kappa \leq ch^{-1}$  the following estimate holds:

(27.2.96) 
$$|\mathsf{E}_{\psi}^{*} - \int \mathsf{Weyl}_{1}(x)\psi^{2}(x)\,dx| \leq Ch^{-3}(\kappa h)^{\frac{8}{3}}|\log \kappa h|^{2}.$$

*Proof.* (i) From (27.2.46) we conclude for  $\kappa \geq c$  that

$$h^{1- heta}|\partial A|_{\mathscr{C}^{ heta}} \leq C\kappa(\kappa+ar\mu).$$

Then, using arguments of Subsection 27.2.2, one can prove easily that for  $\kappa \leq h^{\sigma-\frac{1}{2}}$ 

$$|F_{t\to h^{-1}\tau}\bar{\chi}_{\tau}(t)(hD_{x})^{\alpha}(hD_{x})^{\beta}(U(x,y,t)-U_{(\varepsilon)}(x,y,t)-U_{(\varepsilon)}'(x,y,t))| \leq Ch^{1-d}$$

where we use the same 2-term approximation,  $T = \epsilon \bar{\mu}^{-1}$ . Let us take then x = y, multiply by  $\varepsilon^{-d} \psi(\varepsilon^{-1}(y - z))$  and integrate over y. Using the rough microlocal analysis technique, one can prove easily that from both  $U_{(\varepsilon)}(x, y, t)$  and  $U'_{(\varepsilon)}(x, y, t)$  we get  $O(h^{-2})$  and in the end of the day we arrive to the estimate  $|\Delta A_{\varepsilon}| \leq C \kappa \bar{\mu}$ , which implies

(27.2.97) 
$$|\partial^2 A_{\varepsilon}| \le C \kappa \bar{\mu} |\log h| + C \mu,$$

where obviously one can skip the last term. Here we used the regularity property of the Laplace equation. For our purpose it is much better than the estimate  $|\partial^2 A_{\varepsilon}| \leq C \kappa^2 |\log h| + C \mu$ , which one could derive easily.

Again, using arguments of Subsection 27.2.2, one can prove easily that

$$|\operatorname{Tr}(\psi H_{A,V}^{-}\psi) - \operatorname{Tr}(\psi H_{A_{\varepsilon},V}^{-}\psi)| \le C\bar{\mu}^{2}h^{2-d}$$

and therefore

(27.2.99) 
$$|\operatorname{Tr}(\psi H_{A,V}^{-}\psi) - \int \operatorname{Weyl}_{1}(x)\psi^{2}(x) dx| \leq C\bar{\mu}^{2}h^{2-d}$$

and finally for an optimizer

$$(27.2.100) \qquad \qquad \|\partial A\|^2 \le C\kappa \bar{\mu}^2 h.$$

Here  $\mu$  and  $\overline{\mu}$  were calculated for A, but it does not really matter since due to the estimate  $|\partial^2 A| \leq C \kappa^2 h^{-\delta}$  we conclude that  $|\partial A - \partial A_{\varepsilon}| \leq C \kappa^2 h^{-\delta} \varepsilon \leq C$  due to restriction to  $\kappa$ .

Then, for d = 3

(27.2.101) 
$$\mu^2 \left( \mu / \left( \kappa \bar{\mu} | \log h | \right) \right)^3 \le \kappa \bar{\mu}^2 h$$

and if  $\mu \geq 1$  we have  $\bar{\mu} = \mu$  and (27.2.101) becomes  $\kappa^{-3} |\log h|^{-3} \leq C \kappa h$  which is impossible under (27.2.95).

So,  $\mu \leq 1$  and (27.2.101) implies (27.2.86) and (27.2.100), (27.2.101) imply that for an optimizer  $\|\partial A\| \leq C(\kappa h)^{\frac{1}{2}}$  and  $\mu \leq C\kappa^4 h |\log h|^d$ . So Statement (i) is proven.

(ii) Proof of Statement (ii) follows then in virtue of arguments of Subsection 27.2.2.

(iii) If  $\kappa_h^* \leq \kappa \leq h^{-1}$  we apply the partition-and-rescaling technique. Then  $h \mapsto h' = h\gamma^{-1}$  and  $\kappa \mapsto \kappa' = \kappa\gamma$  and to get into the framework of (27.2.95) we need  $\gamma = \epsilon \kappa^{-\frac{4}{3}} h^{-\frac{1}{3}} |\log(\kappa h)|^{-1}$ , leading to the remainder estimate  $Ch^{-1}\gamma^{-2}$ , which proves Statement (iii).

**Problem 27.2.31.** Repeat arguments of Subsubsections 27.2.1.2. Preliminary Analysis and 27.2.1.3. Estimates and of this Subsection for  $d \neq 3$ . When they hold?

# 27.3 Global Trace Asymptotics in the Case of Coulomb-Like Singularities

## 27.3.1 Problem

We consider the same operator (27.1.4) as before in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  but now we assume that V has Coulomb-like singularities. Namely let  $y_m \in \mathbb{R}^3$  (m = 1, ..., M, where M is fixed) be singularities ("nuclei"). We assume that

(27.3.1) 
$$V = \sum_{1 \le m \le M} \frac{z_m}{|x - y_m|} + W(x)$$

where

(27.3.2) 
$$z_m \ge 0, \ z_1 + \ldots + z_M \asymp 1,$$

and

(27.3.3) 
$$|D^{\alpha}W| \le C_{\alpha} \sum_{1 \le m \le M} z_m (|x - y_m| + 1)^{-1} |x - y_m|^{-|\alpha|}$$
  
 $\forall \alpha : |\alpha| \le 2,$ 

but at the first stages we will use some weaker assumptions. Later we assume that V(x) decays at infinity sufficiently fast. Let us define  $E^*$ ) and E(A) by (27.2.2)–(27.2.1). Finally, let  $\ell(x) \min_{1 \le m \le M} \ell_m(x)$  with  $\ell_m(x) := \frac{1}{2}|x - y_m|$ . In this and next Sections we assume that

(27.3.4)  $\kappa \in (0, \kappa^*]$  where  $0 < \kappa^*$  is a small constant.

For  $\kappa = 0$  we set A = 0 and consider  $\mathsf{E} := \mathsf{Tr}^-(H_{A,V})$ ; then our results are covered by Chapter 25.

# 27.3.2 Estimates to a Minimizer

Let us consider a Hamiltonian with potential V and let A be a magnetic potential, minimizing expression (27.2.2). We say that A is a *minimizer* and in the framework of our problems we will prove it existence.

### **Preliminary Analysis**

First, we start from the roughest possible estimate:

**Proposition 27.3.1.** Let V satisfy (27.3.1)–(27.3.3) and let  $\kappa \leq \kappa^*$ . Then the near-minimizer A satisfies

(27.3.5) 
$$|\int (\operatorname{tr} e_{A,1}(x, x, 0) - \operatorname{Weyl}_1(x)) dx| \le Ch^{-2}$$

and

$$(27.3.6) \|\partial A\| \le C\kappa^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

*Proof.* Definitely (27.3.5)–(27.3.6) follow from the results of L. Erdös, S. Fournais, and J. P. Solovej [3] but we give an independent easier proof, based on our Subsection 27.2.1.

(a) First, let us pick up A = 0 and consider  $\text{Tr}(\psi_{\ell}\theta(-H)\psi_{\ell})$  with cut-offs  $\psi_{\ell}(x) = \psi((x - y_m)/\ell)$  where  $\psi \in \mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}(B(0, 1))$  and equals 1 in  $B(0, \frac{1}{2})$ . Here and below  $\theta(\tau - H_{A,V})$  is a spectral projector of H.

Then

(27.3.7) 
$$|\operatorname{Tr}(\psi_{\ell}H_{A,V}^{-}(0)\psi_{\ell})| \leq Ch^{-2}$$
 for  $\ell = \ell_{*} := h^{2}$ .

On the other hand, contribution of  $B(x, \ell)$  with  $\ell(x) \geq \ell_*$  to the Weyl error does not exceed  $C\zeta^2\hbar^{-1} = C\zeta^3\ell h^{-1}$  where  $\hbar = h/(\zeta\ell)$  in the rescaling; so after summation over  $\ell \geq \ell_*$  we also get  $O(h^{-2})$  provided  $\zeta^2 \leq C\ell^{-1}$ . Therefore we arrive to the following rather easy inequality:

(27.3.8) 
$$|\int (\operatorname{tr} e_{0,1}(x, x, 0) - \operatorname{Weyl}_1(x)) dx| \le Ch^{-2}.$$

This is what the rescaling method gives us without careful the study of the singularity.

(b) On the other hand, consider  $A \neq 0$ . Let us prove first that

(27.3.9) 
$$\operatorname{Tr}^{-}(\psi_{\ell}H\psi_{\ell}) \geq -Ch^{-2} - Ch^{-2} \int |\partial A|^{2} dx \quad \text{for } \ell = \ell_{*}.$$

Rescaling  $\mathbf{x} \mapsto (\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}_m)/\ell$  and  $\tau \mapsto \tau/\ell$  and therefore  $h \mapsto h\ell^{-\frac{1}{2}} \approx 1$  and  $A \mapsto A\ell^{\frac{1}{2}}$  (because the singularity is Coulomb-like), we arrive to the same problem with the same  $\kappa$  (in contrast to Subsection 27.2.4 where  $\kappa \mapsto \kappa \ell$  because of the different scale in  $\tau$  and h) and with  $\ell = h = 1$ .

In this case the required estimate follows from L. Erdös, J. P. Solovej [1] (we reproduce Lemma 2.1 of this paper in Appendix 27.A.1.

(c) Consider now function  $\psi_{\ell}$  as in (c) with  $\ell \geq \ell_*$ . Then according to Theorem 27.2.29 rescaled

(27.3.10) 
$$\operatorname{Tr}^{-}(\psi_{\ell}H_{A,V}\psi_{\ell}) - \int \operatorname{Weyl}_{1}(x)\psi_{\ell}^{2}(x) dx$$
  

$$\geq -C\zeta^{3}\ell h^{-1} - Ch^{-2}\int_{B(x,2\ell/3)} |\partial A|^{2} dx.$$

Really, rescaling of the first part is a standard one and in the second part we should have in the front of the integral a coefficient  $\kappa^{-1}h^{-2}\zeta^2 \times \zeta^{-2}\ell(h/\zeta\ell)^{-2}$  where factor  $\zeta^2$  comes from the scaling of the spectral parameter, factor  $\zeta^{-2}$  comes from the scaling of the magnitude of A, factor  $\ell = \ell^3 \times \ell^{-2}$  comes from the scaling of dx and  $\partial$  respectively, and  $\hbar := h/(\zeta\ell)$  is a semiclassical parameter after rescaling. Therefore this expression acquires a factor  $\zeta^2 \ell \leq C$ .

Then we conclude that

(27.3.11) 
$$\int (\operatorname{tr} e_{A,1}(x, x, 0) - \operatorname{Weyl}_1(x)) \, dx \ge -Ch^{-2} - Ch^{-2} \int |\partial A|^2 \, dx$$

and adding the magnetic field energy  $\kappa^{-1}h^{-2}\|\partial A\|^2$  we find out that

(27.3.12) 
$$\mathsf{E}(A) - \int \mathsf{Weyl}_1(x) \, dx \ge$$
  
 $\mathsf{E}(0) - \int \mathsf{Weyl}_1(x) \, dx + (\kappa^{-1} - C)h^{-2} \|\partial A\|^2 - Ch^{-2}$ 

since  $\mathsf{Weyl}_1(x)$  does not depend on A. However due to (a) the right-hand expression is greater than  $(\kappa^{-1} - C)h^{-2} \|\partial A\|^2 - Ch^{-2}$ .

On the other hand, since A is supposed to be a near-minimizer, the left-hand expression of (27.3.12) should not exceed the same expression for A = 0 plus  $Ch^2$ , i.e.  $Ch^2$  due to (a) again. Then due to )(27.3.4) we arrive to (27.3.5) and (27.3.6).

**Proposition 27.3.2.** Let V satisfy (27.3.1)–(27.3.3). Then there exists a minimizer A.

*Proof.* After Proposition 27.3.1 has been proven we just repeat arguments of the proof of Proposition 27.2.2. If  $V \in \mathscr{L}^{\frac{5}{2}}$  no change would be required but for  $V \notin \mathscr{L}^{\frac{5}{2}}$  one needs to consider modifications as in Remark 27.3.3 below.

*Remark 27.3.3.* We are a bit ambivalent about a convergence of  $\int \text{Weyl}_1(x) dx$  at infinity, since for the Coulomb potential it diverges. To avoid this issue, however, we can <u>either</u> assume in addition that  $V \in \mathcal{L}^{\frac{5}{2}}$ , <u>or</u> tackle it as in Proposition 27.3.16 below.

#### Estimates to a Minimizer. I

Let us repeat arguments of Subsubsection 27.2.1.3. Estimates. However our task now is much more complicated: while we know a priory that  $\|\partial A\|^2 \leq C\kappa$  we will not be able to improve it significantly (or at all for  $\kappa \approx 1$ ).

Recall equation (27.2.14) for a minimizer A. After rescaling  $x \mapsto x/\ell$ ,  $\tau \mapsto \tau/\zeta^2$ ,  $h \mapsto \hbar = h/(\zeta\ell)$ ,  $A \mapsto A\zeta^{-1}\ell$  this equation becomes

(27.3.13) 
$$\Delta A_{j} = -2\kappa\zeta^{2}\ell\hbar^{2}\operatorname{Retr}\left[\sigma_{j}\left((\hbar Dk - \zeta^{-1}A)_{x}\cdot\sigma e(x, y, \tau) + e(x, y, \tau)^{t}(\hbar D - \zeta^{-1}A)_{y}\cdot\sigma\right)\right]\Big|_{y=x}$$

and since so far  $\zeta^2 \ell = 1$  we arrive to

(27.3.14) 
$$\Delta A_j = -2\kappa\hbar^2 \operatorname{Re}\operatorname{tr}\left[\sigma_j\left((\hbar D - \zeta^{-1}A)_x \cdot \boldsymbol{\sigma} \boldsymbol{e}(x, y, \tau) + \boldsymbol{e}(x, y, \tau)^t(\hbar D - \zeta^{-1}A)_y \cdot \boldsymbol{\sigma}\right)\right]\Big|_{y=x}.$$

(a) Plugging  $u = \psi \theta(-H) f$  with cut-off function  $\psi$  and repeating arguments of Subsubsection 27.2.1.3. Estimates, we conclude that in the rescaled coordinates

$$\begin{aligned} (27.3.15) \quad \|(\hbar D_{x} \cdot \boldsymbol{\sigma})u\| &\leq \|((\hbar D_{x} - A) \cdot \boldsymbol{\sigma})u\| + C\|A\|_{\mathscr{L}^{6}} \cdot \|u\|_{\mathscr{L}^{3}} \\ &\leq \|((\hbar D_{x} - A) \cdot \boldsymbol{\sigma})u\| + C\hbar^{-\frac{1}{2}}\|A\|_{\mathscr{L}^{6}} \cdot \|u\|^{\frac{1}{2}} \cdot \|\hbar D_{x}u\|^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &\leq \|((\hbar D_{x} - A) \cdot \boldsymbol{\sigma})u\| + \frac{1}{2}\|\hbar D_{x}u\| + C(\hbar^{-\frac{1}{2}}\|A\|_{\mathscr{L}^{6}})^{2}\|u\|, \end{aligned}$$

where  $\|A\|_{\mathscr{L}^6}$  calculated in the rescaled coordinates is equal to  $\|A_{\text{orig}}\|_{\mathscr{L}^6,\text{orig}}$ (where subscripts "orig" means that the norm is calculated in the original coordinates and A) which does not exceed  $C\kappa^{\frac{1}{2}}$  due to  $(27.3.6)^{12}$  and therefore (since  $\|(\hbar D_x \cdot \boldsymbol{\sigma})u\| = \|\hbar D_x u\|$ )

(27.3.16) 
$$\|\hbar D_{\mathsf{x}} u\| \leq C (1 + \kappa \hbar^{-1}) \|f\|.$$

Continuing arguments of Subsubsection 27.2.1.3. Estimates, we conclude that in the rescaled coordinates

(27.3.17)  $\|(\hbar D_x)^k u\| \le C (1 + \kappa \hbar^{-1})^k \|f\|,$ 

(27.3.18) 
$$\|(\hbar D_x)^k ((\hbar D_x - A) \cdot \sigma) u\| \le C (1 + \kappa \hbar^{-1})^k \|f\|,$$

for k = 0, 1, 2 and therefore

(27.3.19) 
$$\|\Delta A\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}(B(\mathsf{x},1))} \leq C\kappa\hbar^{-1}(1+\kappa\hbar^{-1})^3.$$

Here we estimate different norms of A locally. Then <u>either</u>

(27.3.20) 
$$\|\partial A\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}(B(\mathsf{x},\frac{3}{4}))} + \hbar^{\delta} \|\partial^{2}A\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}(B(\mathsf{x},\frac{3}{4}))} \leq C\kappa\hbar^{-1}(1+\kappa\hbar^{-1})^{3}$$

or

$$(27.3.21) \quad \|\partial A\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}(\mathcal{B}(\mathsf{x},1-\epsilon))} + \hbar^{\delta} \|\partial^{2}A\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}(\mathcal{B}(\mathsf{x},1-\epsilon))} \\ \leq C \|\partial A\| = C \|\partial A_{\mathsf{orig}}\|_{\mathsf{orig}} \leq C\kappa^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12)</sup> As usual we assume that the average of A over B(x, 1) is 0.

In the latter case (27.3.21) we have in the original coordinates

$$\|\partial A\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}(B(\mathsf{x},\ell))} \le C\kappa^{\frac{1}{2}}\ell^{-\frac{3}{2}}$$

and we are rather happy because then the effective intensity of the magnetic field in  $B(x, \ell)$  is  $\zeta^{-1}\ell \|\partial A\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}(B(x, 1-\epsilon))} \leq C\kappa^{\frac{1}{2}}$ .

(b) The former case (27.3.20) is much more complicated because our estimate is really poor for  $\kappa \approx 1$  and we are going to act only in the assumption (27.3.4). Assume that

$$\|\partial A\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}(B(x,1-\epsilon))} \le \mu$$

with  $\mu \geq \hbar^{-\sigma}$ . Selecting  $u = \psi \theta(-H)f$  with  $\gamma$ -admissible  $\psi$  we conclude that  $\|(A \cdot \sigma)u\| \leq \|A\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}} \|u\| \leq C \mu \gamma \|u\|$  (assuming without any loss of the generality that A = 0 at some point of  $supp(\psi)$ ) and that

$$\begin{split} \|(\hbar D)^k u\| &\leq C(1+\hbar\gamma^{-1}+\mu\gamma)^k, \ \|(\hbar D)^k ((\hbar D-A)\cdot \mathbf{\sigma})u\| &\leq C(1+\hbar\gamma^{-1}+\mu\gamma)^{k+1} \end{split}$$

and therefore

$$|\Gamma_x(\hbar D_x - A) \cdot \mathbf{\sigma}) e(.,.,0)| \leq C \hbar^{-3} (1 + \hbar \gamma^{-1} + \mu \gamma)^{\frac{7}{2}},$$

and then

$$\|\Delta A\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}(B(x,1-\epsilon))} \leq C\hbar^{-1}(1+\hbar\gamma^{-1}+\mu\gamma)^{\frac{l}{2}}.$$

Optimizing with respect to  $\gamma = \mu^{-\frac{1}{2}} h^{\frac{1}{2}}$  we conclude that <u>either</u>

(27.3.24) 
$$\|\partial^2 A\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}(B(x,1-\epsilon))} \le C\hbar^{-1-\delta}(1+\hbar\mu)^{\frac{7}{4}}$$

 $\underline{\mathrm{or}}$  (27.2.21) holds. In the former case of (27.3.24), using the second of estimates

(27.3.25) 
$$\|A\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}(B(x,1-\epsilon))} \leq C \|\partial^2 A\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}(B(x,1-\epsilon))}^{\frac{1}{5}} \|\partial A\|^{\frac{4}{5}},$$

(27.3.26) 
$$\|\partial A\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}(B(x,1-\epsilon))} \leq C \|\partial^{2}A\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}(B(x,1-\epsilon))}^{\frac{3}{5}} \|\partial A\|^{\frac{2}{5}}$$

we conclude that (27.3.23) holds with  $\mu = \mu'$ ,

$$\mu' \coloneqq \hbar^{-\frac{3}{5}-\delta} (1+\hbar\mu)^{\frac{21}{20}}$$

and one can see easily that starting from  $\mu = \hbar^{-4}$  as given by (27.3.20), we can arrive after number of iterations to  $\mu = \hbar^{-\frac{3}{5}-\delta}$  and therefore

(27.3.27) 
$$\|\partial^k A\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}(B(x,1-\epsilon))} \leq C\hbar^{-\frac{1}{5}(1+2k)-\delta} \qquad k = 0, 1, 2.$$

(c) This estimate (27.3.27) is good enough to launch our microlocal arguments. Assuming (27.3.23) with  $\mu \leq h^{\sigma-1}$  we estimate as in Section 27.2

$$|\Gamma_x((\hbar D_x - A) \cdot \sigma)e(.,.,0)| \leq C\mu\hbar^{-\delta},$$

and then

$$\|\partial^2 A\|_{B(x,1-\epsilon)} \le C\mu h^{-\delta}$$

and therefore

$$\|\partial A\|_{B(x,1-\epsilon)} \leq C\mu^{\frac{3}{5}}h^{-\delta}$$

resulting in  $\mu := \mu^{\frac{3}{5}} h^{-\delta}$  and after a number of iterations we get  $\mu = h^{-\delta}$ , and therefore iterating this procedure one more time and taking into account factor  $\kappa$  we arrive to

(27.3.28) Either (27.3.21) holds or

(27.3.29)  $\|\partial^2 A\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}(B(\mathsf{x},1-\epsilon))} \le C\kappa h^{-\delta}.$ 

However to prove that the effective magnetic field is O(1) we need to modify these arguments, and we do it in the next subsubsection.

#### Estimates to a Minimizer. II

In this step we repeat arguments of Subsubsection 27.2.2.1. Sharp Estimates, but now we have a problem: we cannot use  $\mu = \|\partial A\|_{\infty}$  since we have domains  $\mathcal{X}_r = \{x : \ell(x) \ge r\}$  rather than the whole space. So we get the following analogue of (27.2.48) where A is still rescaled and the norms are calculated in the rescaled coordinates:

$$(27.3.30) \quad \|\Delta A\|_{\mathscr{C}(B(\mathsf{x},\frac{3}{4})} + \hbar \|\Delta \partial A\|_{\mathscr{C}(B(\mathsf{x},\frac{3}{4})} \leq C\kappa \Big(1 + |\partial A|_{\mathscr{C}(B(\mathsf{x},1)} + h^{\frac{1}{2}(\theta-1)} \|\partial A\|_{\mathscr{C}^{\theta}\frac{1}{2}(B(\mathsf{x},1)}\Big),$$

which implies

$$(27.3.31) \quad \|\partial A\|_{\mathscr{C}(B(x,\frac{1}{2}))} + \hbar^{\theta-1} \|\partial A\|_{\mathscr{C}^{\theta}(B,(x,\frac{1}{2}))} \leq \epsilon \hbar^{(\theta-1)} \zeta^{-1} \|\partial A\|_{\mathscr{C}^{\theta}(B(x,1))} + C\kappa \|\partial A\|_{\mathscr{C}(B(x,1))} + C \|\partial A\|_{\mathscr{L}^{2}(B(x,1))}$$

and the last term in the right-hand expression does not exceed  $C\kappa^{\frac{1}{2}}$ .

Let  $\nu(r) = \sup_{x: \ell(x) \ge r} f(x)$ , where f(x) is the left-hand expression of (27.3.16), calculated for given x in the rescaled coordinates. Then (27.3.31) implies that for  $\kappa \in (0, \kappa^*)$  (where  $\kappa^* > 0$  is a small constant)

$$\nu(r) \leq \frac{1}{2}\nu(\frac{1}{2}r) + C\kappa^{\frac{1}{2}},$$

which in turn implies that

$$u(r) \leq \frac{1}{2}\nu(2^{-n}r) + 2C\kappa^{\frac{1}{2}}, \quad n \geq 1,$$

and therefore

$$u(r) \leq 4C\kappa^{\frac{1}{2}} + 4 \sup_{C_0h^2 \leq \ell(x) \leq 2C_0h^2} f(x) \leq C_1\kappa^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

due to the rough estimate (because  $\hbar \approx 1$  for  $\ell(x) \approx h^2$ ). Then returning to the original (not rescaled) coordinates and to the original (not rescaled) potential A we arrive to estimates (27.3.32) and (27.3.33) below:

**Proposition 27.3.4.** Let  $\kappa \leq \kappa^*$ ,  $\zeta = c\ell^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ . Let A be a minimizer. Then for  $\ell(\mathbf{x}) \geq \ell_* = h^2$  estimate (27.3.22) holds and also

(27.3.32) 
$$|\partial^2 A(x) - \partial^2 A(y)| \le C \kappa^{\frac{1}{2}} \ell^{-\frac{5}{2}} |x - y|^{\theta} \ell^{\theta/2} \ell_*^{-\theta/2} \qquad 0 < \theta < 1,$$
  
and

(27.3.33) 
$$|\partial A(x) - \partial A(y)| \le C \kappa^{\frac{1}{2}} \ell^{-\frac{5}{2}} |x - y| (1 + |\log |x - y||).$$

Remark 27.3.5. (i) So far we used only assumption that

(27.3.34) 
$$|\partial^{\alpha} V| \le C \zeta^2 \ell^{-|\alpha|} \quad \forall \alpha : |\alpha| \le 2$$

with  $\zeta = \ell^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  but even this was excessive.

(ii) In this framework however we cannot prove better estimates because (27.3.22) always remains a valid alternative even if  $\zeta \ll \ell^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ .

(iii) Originally we need an assumption (27.2.37)  $|V| \ge \epsilon_0$ , but for d = 3 one can easily get rid of it by the standard rescaling technique.

Consider now zone  $\{x : \ell(x) \leq \ell_*\}$ :

**Proposition 27.3.6.** Let  $\kappa \leq \kappa^*$ ,  $\zeta \leq c\ell^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ . Let A be a minimizer. Then  $|\partial A| \leq C\kappa^{\frac{1}{2}}h^{-3}$  for  $\ell(x) \leq \ell_* = h^2$ .

*Proof.* Proof is standard, based on the rescaling (then  $\hbar = 1$ ) and equation (27.2.14) for a minimizer A. We leave easy details to the reader.

Let us slightly improve estimate to a minimizer A. We already know that  $|\partial A(x)| \leq C_0 \beta$  with  $\beta = \ell^{-\frac{3}{2}}$  and using the standard rescaling technique we conclude that

(27.3.35) 
$$|\Delta A| \le C\kappa \zeta^2 \beta + C\kappa \zeta^3 \ell^{-1}$$

which does not exceed  $C\kappa \ell^{-\frac{5}{2}}$  which implies

Proposition 27.3.7. In our framework

(i) If  $\ell(\mathbf{x}) \geq \ell_* := h^2$ , then

(27.3.36)  $|\mathbf{A}| \le \mathbf{C}\kappa\ell^{-\frac{1}{2}}, \qquad |\partial\mathbf{A}| \le \mathbf{C}\kappa\ell^{-\frac{3}{2}}$ 

and

$$(27.3.37) \quad |\partial A(\mathbf{x}) - \partial A(\mathbf{y})| \le C_{\theta} \kappa \ell^{-\frac{3}{2}-\theta} |\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}|^{\theta} \qquad as \quad |\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}| \le \frac{1}{2} \ell(\mathbf{x})$$

for any  $\theta \in (0, 1)$ .

(ii) If  $\ell(x) \leq \ell_*$ , then these estimates hold with  $\ell(x)$  replaced by  $\ell_*$ .

*Remark 27.3.8.* (i) Here in comparison with old estimates we replaced factor  $\kappa^{\frac{1}{2}}$  by  $\kappa$  which is an advantage.

(ii) These estimates imply that  $\int_{\{x: \ell(x) \leq 1\}} |\partial A|^2 dx \leq C \kappa^2 |\log h|$  while in fact it must not exceed  $C \kappa$ .

### Estimates to a Minimizer. III

Consider now external zone  $\mathcal{Y} := \{x : \ell(x) \ge 1\}$  and assume that

(27.3.38) 
$$\zeta(x) \le C\ell(x)^{-\nu} \quad \text{for } \ell(x) \ge 1$$

with  $\nu > 1$ .

Then if also  $|\partial A(x)| = O(\ell(x)^{-\nu_1})$  for  $\ell(x) \ge 1$  then the right hand expression of (27.3.35) does not exceed  $C\kappa(\ell^{-3\nu-1} + \ell^{-\nu_1-2\nu})$  and therefore we almost upgrade estimate for  $|\partial A(x)|$  to  $O(\ell^{-3\nu} + \ell^{-\nu_1-2\nu+1})$  and repeating these arguments sufficiently many times to  $O(\ell^{-3\nu})$ . However, there are several obstacles to this conclusion: first, if  $\nu>1$  we conclude that

$$A_j = \sum_m \alpha_{j,m} |x - y_m|^{-1} + O(\ell^{-1-\delta})$$

with constant  $\alpha_{j,m}$ ; however assumption  $\nabla \cdot A = 0$  implies  $\alpha_{j,m} = 0$  and we pass this obstacle.

Indeed, let our equation be  $\Delta A_i = \Phi_i$  and therefore

$$A_j(x) = -\frac{1}{4\pi} \int |x-y|^{-1} \Phi_j(y) \, dy.$$

Let **a** be the minimal distance between nuclei,  $1 = \sum_{0 \le m \le M} \phi_m$  where  $\phi_m$  is supported in  $\frac{1}{3}a$ -vicinity of  $y_m$  and equals 1 in  $\frac{1}{4}a$ -vicinity of  $y_m$ , m = 1, ..., 1. Let

$$I_{j,m} = \int \Phi_j(y)\phi_m(y) \, dy, \qquad \eta = \max_{1 \le m \le M} |I_{j,m}|.$$

Then if x belongs to b-vicinity of  $y_m$  with  $b \leq \epsilon a$  one can prove easily that

$$|\partial_{x_k} \int |x-y|^{-1} \Phi_j(y) \phi_{m'}(y) \, dy| \le C \eta a^{-2} + C a^{-3}$$

for  $m' = 0, 1, \dots, M, m' \neq m$ .

Also one can prove easily that

$$|\partial_{x_j} \left( \int |x-y|^{-1} \Phi_j(y) \phi_{m'}(y) \, dy - |x-y_m|^{-1} I_{j,m} \right) | \leq C |x-y_m|^{-3},$$

and combining with the previous inequality and with equation  $\nabla \cdot A = 0$  we conclude that  $|I_{m,j}| \leq C\eta a^{-2}b^2 + Ca^{-3}b^2 + Cb^{-1}$  for  $b \leq \epsilon a$ . Then selecting  $b = \epsilon_1 a$  with sufficiently small constant  $\epsilon_1$ , we conclude that  $\eta \leq Ca^{-1}$  which in turn implies that  $|\partial_k A_j(x)| \leq C\ell^{-3}$ .

The second obstacle

$$A_{j} = \sum_{k,m} \alpha_{jk,m} (x_{k} - y_{k,m}) |x - y_{m}|^{-3} + O(\ell^{-2})$$

with constant  $\alpha_{jk,m}$  we cannot pass since assumption  $\nabla \cdot A = 0$  implies only that modulo gradient  $A = \sum_{m} \beta_m \times \nabla \ell_m^{-1}$  with constant vectors  $\beta_m$  and one cannot do anything about this.

Therefore we upgrade (27.3.36)–(27.3.37) there:

 $\frac{1}{2}\ell(x)$ 

**Proposition 27.3.9.** In our framework assume additionally that (27.3.38) holds. Then for  $\nu > \frac{4}{3}$ 

$$(27.3.39) |A| \le C\kappa\ell^{-2}, |\partial A| \le C\kappa\ell^{-3}$$
  
and  
$$(27.3.40) |\partial A(x) - \partial A(y)| \le C_{\theta}\kappa\ell^{-3-\theta}|x-y|^{\theta} as |x-y| \le$$
  
if  $\ell(x) \ge 1$  (for all  $\theta \in (0, 1)$ ).

Remark 27.3.10. (i) In application to the ground state energy we are interested in  $\nu = 2$ .

(ii) Observe that for  $a \ge 1$ 

(27.3.41) 
$$\int_{\{\ell(x) \lesssim a\}} |\partial A|^2 \, dx = O(\kappa^2 a^{-3}).$$

(iii) We were not able to improve (27.3.39)–(27.3.41) no matter how fast  $\zeta$  decays.

# 27.3.3 Basic Trace Estimates

Recall that the standard Tauberian theory results in the remainder estimate  $O(h^{-2})$ . Indeed, since the effective magnetic field intensity is no more than  $C\kappa$ , the contribution of  $B(x, \ell(x))$  to the Tauberian error<sup>13)</sup> does not exceed  $C\zeta^2 \times \hbar^{-1} = C\zeta^3 \ell h^{-1}$ , which for  $\zeta \simeq \ell^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  translates into  $C\ell^{-\frac{1}{2}}h^{-1}$  and summation over domain  $\{x : \ell(x) \ge \ell_* = h^2\}$  results in  $Ch^{-2}$ . On the other hand, contribution of the domain  $\{x : \ell(x) \ge \ell_* = h^2\}$  into asymptotics does not exceed  $C\hbar^{-3}\ell_*^{-1} = Ch^{-2}$  for  $\hbar = 1$ .

However, now we can unleash arguments of V. Ivrii and I. M. Sigal [1]. Recall that we are looking at

(27.3.42) 
$$\operatorname{Tr}(\psi H_{A,V}^{-}\psi) = \operatorname{Tr}(\phi_1 H_{A,V}^{-}\phi_1) + \operatorname{Tr}(\phi_2 H_{A,V}^{-}\phi_2)$$

where  $\psi^2 = \phi_1^2 + \phi_2^2$ ,  $\operatorname{supp}(\phi_1) \subset \{x, |x| \leq 2r\}$ ,  $\operatorname{supp}(\phi_2) \subset \{x, r \leq |x| \leq b\}$ and we compare it with the same expression calculated for  $H_{A,V^0}$  with  $V^0 = Z_m |x|^{-1}$ . Here we assume that

$$(27.3.43) a \le 1, z \asymp 1$$

 $<sup>^{13)}</sup>$  And then to the Weyl error because we will explain transition from the Tauberian to Weyl estimates below.

and

(27.3.44) 
$$|D^{\alpha}(V - V^{0})| \le c_{0}a^{-1}\ell^{-|\alpha|} \quad \forall \alpha : |\alpha| \le 3.$$

The latter assumption is too restrictive and could be weaken. Then if  $\phi(x)$  is an  $\ell$ -admissible partition element

(27.3.45) 
$$\operatorname{Tr}(\theta(-H_{A,V}^{-})\phi^{2}) = \int \operatorname{Weyl}(x)\phi^{2}(x) \, dx + O(rh^{-2})$$

and

(27.3.46) 
$$\operatorname{Tr}(H_{A,V}^{-}\phi^{2}) = \int \operatorname{Weyl}_{1}(x)\phi^{2}(x) \, dx + O(r^{-\frac{1}{2}}h^{-1}),$$

where the error estimates are  $O(\hbar^{-2})$  and  $O(\zeta^2 \hbar^{-1})$  respectively. One can justify transition from the Tauberian to Weyl errors by considering Tauberian expressions and considering  $H_{A_{\varepsilon,V}}$  and  $H_{A,V}$  as unperturbed and perturbed operators respectively; their difference is  $O(\zeta^3 \varepsilon^2)$  with  $\varepsilon = \hbar^{1-\delta}$ .

Then the contribution<sup>14)</sup> of the time interval  $\{t: t \simeq T\}$  to the Tauberian expression for (27.3.45) of the first term in the approximation does not exceed  $C\hbar^{-4}T \times (\hbar T^{-1})^s$ , of the second term  $C\hbar^{-4}T \times (\hbar T^{-1})^s T\hbar^{-1}\varepsilon^2$ , and of the third term  $C\hbar^{-4}T \times (\hbar T^{-1})T^2\hbar^{-2}\varepsilon^4$ . One can see easily that the end of the day the first term gives us the Weyl expression, the second term turns out to be 0, and the third term is less than the announced error.

Similarly, the contribution<sup>14</sup>) of the time interval  $\{t: t \simeq T\}$  to the Tauberian expression for (27.3.46) of the first term in the approximation does not exceed  $C\zeta^2\hbar^{-4}T \simeq (\hbar T^{-1})^s$ , of the second term  $C\zeta^2\hbar^{-4}T \simeq (\hbar T^{-1})^s T\hbar^{-1}\varepsilon^2$  and of the third term  $C\hbar^{-4}T \simeq (\hbar T^{-1})^2 T^2\hbar^{-2}\varepsilon^4$ . Again, in the end of the day the first tem gives us the Weyl expression, the second term turns out to be **0**, and the third term is less than the announced error.

The same estimates also hold for operator  $H_{A,V^0}$  and then using  $\ell\text{-}$  admissible partition of unity we conclude that

(27.3.47) 
$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(\phi_{2}(H_{A,V}^{-}-H_{A,V^{0}}^{-})\phi_{2}\right) = \int \left(\operatorname{Weyl}_{1}(x) - \operatorname{Weyl}_{1}^{0}(x)\right) \phi_{2}^{2}(x) \, dx + O(r^{-\frac{1}{2}}h^{-1}),$$

where  $Weyl_1^0$  and  $Weyl^0$  are calculated for operator with potential  $V^0$ . Indeed, we just proved this for each operator  $H_{A,V}$  and  $H_{A,V^0}$  separately.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14)</sup> After standard rescaling  $x \mapsto x\ell^{-1}$ ,  $\xi \mapsto \xi\zeta^{-1}$ ,  $h \mapsto \hbar$ ,  $\tau \mapsto \tau\zeta^{-2}$ , and  $t \mapsto t\zeta\ell^{-1}$ .

On the other hand, considering  $V^{\eta} = V^0(1-\eta) + V\eta = V^0 + W\eta$  and following V. Ivrii and I. M. Sigal [1], we can rewrite the similar expression albeit for  $\phi_2 = 1$  as

(27.3.48) 
$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(\int_{0}^{1} W\theta(-H_{A,V^{\eta}}) \, d\eta\right)$$

and applying the semiclassical approximation (under the temporary assumption that W is supported in the domain  $\{x:\ |x|\leq 4r\})$  one can prove that for  $\phi_1=1$ 

(27.3.49) 
$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(\phi_{1}(H_{A,V}^{-}-H_{A,V^{0}}^{-})\phi_{1}\right) = \int \left(\operatorname{Weyl}_{1}(x) - \operatorname{Weyl}_{1}^{0}(x)\right) \phi_{1}^{2}(x) \, dx + O(a^{-1}rh^{-2}).$$

Really, due to (27.3.45) and (27.3.44) the contribution of the ball  $B(x, \ell(x))$  does not exceed  $Ca^{-1}\hbar^{-2} = Ca^{-1}\ell(x)h^{-2}$  and summation with respect to partition with  $\ell(x) \leq 4r$  returns  $Ca^{-1}rh^{-2}$ ; meanwhile, the contribution of  $\{x : \ell(x) \leq \ell_*\}$  does not exceed  $Ca^{-1}\hbar^{-2} = Ca^{-1}$  since there  $\hbar = 1$ .

One can get easily rid of the temporary assumption and take  $\phi_1$  supported in  $\{x : \ell(x) \leq 2r\}$  instead.

Therefore we arrive to

**Proposition 27.3.11.** Under assumption (27.3.44)

(27.3.50) 
$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(\psi(H_{A,V}^{-}-H_{A,V^{0}}^{-})\psi\right) = \int \left(\operatorname{Weyl}_{1}(x) - \operatorname{Weyl}_{1}^{0}(x)\right)\psi^{2}(x)\,dx + O\left(a^{-\frac{1}{3}}h^{-\frac{4}{3}}\right).$$

Really,  $a^{-\frac{1}{3}}h^{-\frac{4}{3}}$  is  $r^{-\frac{1}{2}}h^{-1} + a^{-1}rh^{-2}$  optimized by  $r \simeq r_* \coloneqq (ah)^{\frac{2}{3}}$ ; since  $h^2 \le a$  we note that  $h^2 \le r_* \le a$ .

**Corollary 27.3.12.** (i) For M = 1 equality (27.3.50) remains valid with  $\psi = 1$  and a = 1.

(ii) For  $M \ge 2$  and  $a \ge h^2$  equality (27.3.50) becomes

(27.3.51) 
$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(\psi(H_{A,V}^{-}-H_{A,V^{0}}^{-})\psi\right) = \int \left(\operatorname{Weyl}_{1}(x) - \operatorname{Weyl}_{1}^{0}(x)\right)\psi^{2}(x)\,dx + O\left((a^{-\frac{1}{3}}+1)h^{-\frac{4}{3}}\right),$$

where we reset case  $a \ge 1$  to a = 1.

# 27.3.4 Improved Trace Estimates

#### **Improved Tauberian Estimates**

Let us apply much more advanced arguments of Section 12.6; recall that these arguments are using the long term propagation of singularities. Unfortunately, using these arguments, we are not able to improve the above results unless  $\kappa \ll 1$ .

First, let us consider  $\psi$ , which is *r*-admissible partition element located in  $\{x : \ell(x) \simeq r\}$ , and we need to estimate an absolute value of

(27.3.52) 
$$F_{t \to h^{-1}\tau} \bar{\chi}_{T}(t) \operatorname{Tr}\left(e^{ih^{-1}tH}\psi\right)$$

and to do it we need to estimate the same expression with  $\bar{\chi}_{T}(t)$  replaced by  $\chi_{T'}(t)$  with  $t_0 \leq T' \leq T$  where  $t_0 = \epsilon \ell \zeta^{-1} = \epsilon r^{\frac{3}{2}}$ . We can break  $\psi = \psi^+ + \psi^-$  with  $\psi^{\pm} = \psi^{\pm}(x, hD)$  such that the trajectories in the positive (negative) time direction from support of its symbol  $\psi^+(x, \xi)$  are going after time  $Ct_0$  in the direction of increased  $\ell(x)$ , and since we consider the trace we need to consider only  $\psi^+$  and only  $\chi \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}([\frac{1}{2}, 1])$ .

The trouble is that we have not rough but non-smooth magnetic field<sup>15</sup>); so let us consider  $t_0 + t_1 + \ldots + t_n \approx T'$  where  $t_j = \epsilon r_j^{\frac{3}{2}}$ ,  $r_j = c^j r$ ,  $j = 0, 1, \ldots, n$ , and let us estimate an error appearing when we replace in (modified) (27.3.52)  $e^{ih^{-1}tH}\psi^+$  by

(27.3.53) 
$$e^{ih^{-1}(t-t_n)H}\psi_{n+1}^+e^{ih^{-1}t_nH}\psi_n^+\cdots e^{ih^{-1}t_1H}\psi_1^+e^{ih^{-1}t_0H}\psi^+$$

with  $\psi_j^+$  defined similarly and Hamiltonian flow from  $\operatorname{supp}(\psi_j^+)$  for  $t = t_j$  is inside  $\{(x,\xi): \psi_{j+1}^+(x,\xi) = 1\}$ . Therefore we need to estimate an error when we insert  $\psi_j^+$ .

According to our propagation results (namely, Proposition 27.2.11) after  $\psi_1^+, \ldots, \psi_{j-1}^+$  were inserted, insertion of  $\psi_j^+$  brings a relative error not exceeding  $C(\hbar_j^{\theta} || \partial A ||_{\theta, Y_j} + \hbar_j^{s+1})$ , where  $\hbar_j = hr_j^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  and  $Y_j$  is an  $\epsilon r_j$ -vicinity of the x-projection of  $\operatorname{supp}(\psi_j)$ ; s is an arbitrarily large exponent. Recall that  $|| \partial A ||_{\theta, Y_j} \leq C \kappa \hbar_j^{1-\theta}$  for  $\theta \in (1, 2)$ ; therefore this relative error

Recall that  $\|\partial A\|_{\theta,Y_j} \leq C \kappa \hbar_j^{1-\theta}$  for  $\theta \in (1,2)$ ; therefore this relative error does not exceed  $C\hbar_j(\kappa + \hbar_j^s)$ . Therefore inserting all  $\psi_j^+$  brings a relative error  $C \sum_{j\geq 0} \hbar_j(\kappa + \hbar_j^s) \approx C\hbar(\kappa + \hbar^s)$  and since a priory expression (27.3.52) is bounded by  $C\hbar^{-3}T$  we conclude that

 $<sup>^{15)}</sup>$  More precisely, A is rough but with the roughness parameter  $\hbar$  which is a bit too small.

(27.3.54) The absolute value of expression (27.3.52) with  $\bar{\chi}_{\tau}(t)$  replaced by  $\chi_{\tau'}(t)$  with  $T_* \simeq r^{\frac{3}{2}} \leq T' \leq T^{*16}$  does not exceed  $C\hbar^{-2}(\kappa + \hbar^s)T'$ .

Then an absolute value of expression (27.3.52) with  $\bar{\chi}_{\tau}(t)$  replaced by  $(\bar{\chi}_{\tau}(t) - \bar{\chi}_{\tau_*})$  does not exceed  $C\hbar^{-2}(\kappa + \hbar^s)$  and since expression (27.3.52) with  $T = T_*$  does not exceed  $C\hbar^{-2}t_0$  we conclude that

(27.3.55) The absolute value of expression (27.3.52) with  $T_* \leq T \leq T^*$  does not exceed  $C\hbar^{-2}T_* + C\hbar^{-2}(\kappa + \hbar^s)T$ .

Then we conclude that

(27.3.56) An error when we replace  $\operatorname{Tr}(\theta(-H_{A,V})\psi)$  by its Tauberian expression with "time" T does not exceed  $C\hbar^{-2}(T_*T^{-1} + \kappa + \hbar^s)$ 

and

(27.3.57) An error when we replace  $\operatorname{Tr}(H_{A,V}^{-}\psi)$  by its Tauberian expression with "time" T does not exceed  $C\hbar^{-1}(T_*T^{-1} + \kappa + \hbar^s)T_*T^{-1}\zeta^2$ .

In the latter statement we need to remember how everything scales.

Observe that presence of the magnetic field due to its estimates relatively perturbs dynamics by  $O(\kappa)$  and therefore if  $\kappa$  is sufficiently small (i.e.  $\kappa \leq \kappa^*$ ) it does not affect  $T^*$ . Then assuming that

(27.3.58) 
$$|\nabla^{\alpha}(V - V^{0})| \le \epsilon a^{-1} r^{-|\alpha|}$$
  $\forall \alpha : |\alpha| \le 1, \quad V^{0} = Zr^{-1}$   
with  $Z \asymp 1, \quad a \ge h^{2-\delta}$ 

we can take  $T^* \simeq a^{\frac{3}{2}}$  and therefore we conclude that the Tauberian error in (27.3.57) does not exceed

(27.3.59) 
$$Ch^{-1}a^{-\frac{3}{2}}r\left(r^{\frac{3}{2}}a^{-\frac{3}{2}}+\kappa+h^{s}r^{-\frac{1}{2}s}\right)$$

and we arrive to Statement (i) in Proposition 27.3.13 below.

Meanwhile, the Tauberian error in  $\mathsf{Tr}((H_{A,V}^- - H_{A,V^0}^-)\psi)$  does not exceed

(27.3.60) 
$$Ca^{-1}h^{-2}r\left(r^{\frac{3}{2}}a^{-\frac{3}{2}}+\kappa+h^{s}r^{-\frac{1}{2}s}\right)$$

and we arrive to Statement (ii) below:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16)</sup> We discuss the choice of  $T^*$  later.

**Proposition 27.3.13.** Assume that (27.3.58) is fulfilled and let  $\psi$  be  $\ell$ -admissible function supported in  $\{x : \ell(x) \asymp r\}$  with  $h^2 \leq r \leq a$ . Let A satisfy minimizer estimate. Then

(i) The Tauberian error with  $T = T^* \simeq a^{\frac{3}{2}}$  in  $\text{Tr}(H_{A,V}^-\psi)$  does not exceed (27.3.59).

(ii) The Tauberian error with  $T = T^* \simeq a^{\frac{3}{2}}$  in  $\operatorname{Tr}((H^-_{A,V} - H^-_{A,V^0})\psi)$  does not exceed (27.3.60).

*Proof.* An easy proof following arguments of Section 12.6 is left to the reader.  $\Box$ 

Observe that in the deduction of Statement (i) summation with respect to  $r: b \leq r \leq a$  returns  $Ch^{-1}a^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  and in the deduction of (ii) summation with respect to  $r: h^2 \leq r \leq b$  returns  $Ch^{-2}(a^{-\frac{5}{2}}b^{\frac{5}{2}} + \kappa a^{-1}b) + Ca^{-1}$ . Note also that Statement (ii) remains true for *r*-admissible function supported in  $\{x: \ell(x) \leq r\}$  with  $r \approx h^2$ . Then we arrive to

Corollary 27.3.14. Assume that (27.3.58) is fulfilled. Then

(i) Let  $\phi_2$  be  $\ell$ -admissible function supported in  $\{x : b \leq \ell(x) \leq a\}$ . Then the Tauberian error with  $T = T^* \simeq a^{\frac{3}{2}}$  in  $\operatorname{Tr}(H^-_{AV}\phi_2)$  does not exceed  $Ch^{-1}a^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ .

(ii) Let  $\phi_1$  be  $\ell$ -admissible function supported in  $\{x : \ell(x) \leq b\}$ . Then the Tauberian error with  $T = T^* \simeq a^{\frac{3}{2}}$  in  $\text{Tr}((H^-_{A,V} - H^-_{A,V^0})\phi_1)$  does not exceed  $Ch^{-2}(a^{-\frac{5}{2}}b^{\frac{5}{2}} + \kappa a^{-1}b) + Ca^{-1}$ .

Remark 27.3.15. Obviously we do not need any new assumptions on  $\kappa$  to estimate the sum of expressions obtained in Statements (i) and (ii) of Corollary 27.3.14 by  $Ch^{-1}a^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  (as  $b \leq a^{\frac{1}{2}}h$ ) here but we need to move from Tauberian expression to Weyl expression.

#### Improved Weyl eEstimates

Note that in virtue of (27.3.54) for element  $\psi$  the contribution of the time interval  $\{t: |t| \simeq T'\}$  to the Tauberian expression for  $\text{Tr}(H_{A,V}^-\psi)$  does not exceed  $C\hbar^{-1}(\kappa + \hbar^s)T_*T'^{-1}\zeta^2$ , and therefore, replacing  $\bar{\chi}_{\tau}(t)$  by  $\bar{\chi}_{\tau_*}(t)$  we introduce an error not exceeding

(27.3.61) 
$$C\hbar^{-1}(\kappa + \hbar^{s})\zeta^{2} \simeq Ch^{-1}r^{-\frac{1}{2}}(\kappa + h^{s}r^{-\frac{1}{2}s})$$

and summation with respect to  $r: b \leq r \leq a$  returns

(27.3.62) 
$$Ch^{-1}b^{-\frac{1}{2}}(\kappa + h^{s}b^{-\frac{1}{2}s}).$$

On the other hand, also in virtue of (27.3.54) for element  $\psi$  the contribution of the time interval  $\{t : |t| \approx T'\}$  to the Tauberian expression for  $\operatorname{Tr}((H_{A,V}^- - H_{A,V^0}^-)\psi)$  does not exceed  $C\hbar^{-2}a^{-1}(\kappa + \hbar^s)$ , and therefore replacing  $\bar{\chi}_{\tau}(t)$  by  $\bar{\chi}_{\tau_*}(t)$  we introduce an error not exceeding

$$Ch^{-2}a^{-1}r(\kappa + h^{s}r^{-\frac{1}{2}s})|\log T/T_{*}|.$$

Further, in virtue of (27.3.55) the Tauberian error does not exceed  $Ch^{-2}a^{-1}r(r^{\frac{3}{2}}T^{-1} + \kappa + h^{s}r^{-\frac{1}{2}s})$ , and adding these two errors together and optimizing their sum by  $T \leq a^{\frac{3}{2}}$  we get  $T \approx r^{\frac{5}{2}}(\kappa + h^{s}r^{-\frac{1}{2}s})^{-1}$  and the sum

(27.3.63) 
$$Ch^{-2}a^{-1}r(\kappa+h^{s}r^{-\frac{1}{2}s})(|\log(\kappa+h^{s}r^{-\frac{1}{2}s})|+1)+Ch^{-2}a^{-\frac{5}{2}}r^{\frac{5}{2}}.$$

Meanwhile repeating arguments of Subsection 27.3.3 one can see easily that

(27.3.64) The difference between the Tauberian expression with  $T = T_*$ and the Weyl expression for  $\text{Tr}(H^-_{A,V}\psi)$  does not exceed (27.3.61) with any s < 2

and

(27.3.65) The difference between the Tauberian expression with  $T = T_*$ and the Weyl expression for  $\text{Tr}((H_{A,V}^- - H_{A,V^0}^-)\psi)$  does not exceed

(27.3.66) 
$$Ch^{-2}a^{-1}r(\kappa+h^{s}r^{-\frac{1}{2}s})$$

with any s < 2 and thus does not exceed (27.3.63).

Summation with respect to  $r : h^2 \le r \le b$  of (27.3.63) returns

(27.3.67) 
$$Ch^{-2}a^{-1}b\kappa|\log\kappa| + Ch^{-2}b^{\frac{5}{2}}a^{-\frac{5}{2}} + Ca^{-1};$$

adding expression (27.3.62) and optimizing the sum by  $b: h^2 \leq b \leq a$  we get  $b \asymp (ah|\log \kappa|)^{\frac{2}{3}}$  and expression

(27.3.68) 
$$Ch^{-\frac{4}{3}}a^{-\frac{1}{3}}\kappa |\log \kappa|^{\frac{1}{3}} + Ch^{-1}a^{-\frac{1}{2}}.$$

Thus we have proven

Proposition 27.3.16. (i) In the framework of Proposition 27.3.11  
(27.3.69) 
$$\operatorname{Tr}(\psi(H_{A,V}^{-} - H_{A,V^{0}}^{-})\psi) = \int (\operatorname{Weyl}_{1}(x) - \operatorname{Weyl}_{1}^{0}(x)) \psi^{2}(x) dx + O(h^{-\frac{4}{3}}a^{-\frac{1}{3}}\kappa |\log \kappa|^{\frac{1}{3}} + h^{-1}a^{-\frac{1}{2}}).$$

(ii) In particular, if

(27.3.70) 
$$\kappa \le ca^{-\frac{1}{6}}h^{\frac{1}{3}}|\log ah^{-2}|^{-\frac{1}{3}}$$

the error in (27.3.69) does not exceed  $Ch^{-1}a^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  exactly as in the case without magnetic field.

*Remark 27.3.17.* (i) Obviously we could consider a = 1 and then just rescale  $x \mapsto xa^{-1}, \tau \mapsto \tau a, h \mapsto ha^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ .

(ii) One may wonder if the same approach works for estimate of A. First of all, there is no improvement for estimate for  $|\partial^2 A|$  because it follows from the estimate for  $|\Delta A|$  which is a pointwise estimate.

(iii) Still, since  $\partial A$  and A are mollifications of  $\Delta A$  one can improve estimates for them if  $\kappa \ll 1$  and  $\ell \ll a$ ; however, there are no improvements if either  $\kappa \asymp 1$  or  $\ell \ge a$ . Since these improvements do not lead to the improvements of our final results we do not pursue them.

# 27.3.5 Single Singularity

### **Coulomb Potential**

Consider now exactly Coulomb potential:  $V = Z|x|^{-1}$ . Let us establish the existence of the Scott correction:

**Proposition 27.3.18.** Let  $V = Z|x|^{-1}$ , h > 0, Z > 0 and  $0 < \kappa \le \kappa^*$ . Then

(i) The following limit exists

(27.3.71) 
$$\lim_{r \to \infty} \left( \inf_{A} \left( \operatorname{Tr}\left( (\phi_r H_{A,V} \phi_r)^{-} \right) + \frac{1}{\kappa h^2} \int |\partial A|^2 \, dx \right) - \int \operatorname{Weyl}_1(x) \phi_r^2(x) \, dx \right) =: 2Z^2 h^{-2} S(Z\kappa).$$

(ii) And it coincides with

(27.3.72) 
$$\lim_{\eta \to 0^+} \left( \inf_{A,V} \left( \mathsf{Tr} \left( (H_{A,V} + \eta)^- \right) \right) + \frac{1}{\kappa h^2} \int |\partial A|^2 \, dx \right) - \int \mathsf{Weyl}_1 (H_{A,V} + \eta, x) \, dx \right),$$

(iii) And also with

$$(27.3.73) \quad \inf_{A} \left( \int \left( e_1(H_{A,V}; x, x, 0) - \mathsf{Weyl}_1(H_{A,V}, x) \right) dx + \frac{1}{\kappa h^2} \int |\partial A|^2 dx \right).$$

(iv) We also can replace in Statement (i)  $\operatorname{Tr}((\phi_r H_{A,V}\phi_r)^-)$  by  $\operatorname{Tr}(\phi_r H_{A,V}^-\phi_r)$ . Here  $\phi \in \mathscr{C}_0^\infty(B(0,1)), \ \phi = 1$  in  $B(0, \frac{1}{2}), \ \phi_r = \phi(x/r)$ .

*Proof.* Observe first that due to scaling  $x \mapsto Zh^{-2}x$ ,  $A \mapsto Z^{-1}hA$  and  $\partial A \mapsto z^{-2}h^3 \partial A$  one needs to consider only Z = h = 1; all expressions on the left scale exactly as  $Z^2h^{-2}S(Z\kappa)$ .

(i) Let us compare

$$Q(r,\kappa,A) \coloneqq \mathsf{Tr}\big((\phi_r H_{A,V}\phi_r)^{-}\big) - \int \mathsf{Weyl}_1(H_{A,V},x)\phi_r^2(x)\,dx + \frac{1}{\kappa}\int |\partial A|^2\,dx$$

and  $Q(r', \kappa, A)$  with  $r \ge 1$  and  $r' \ge 2r$ . Note that

$$\begin{aligned} Q(r',\kappa,A) &\geq Q(r,(1+\epsilon)\kappa,A) + \\ &\sum_{1 \leq j \leq J} \Big( \mathsf{Tr}\big( (\psi_{2^{j}r} H_{A,V} \psi_{2^{j}r})^{-} \big) - \int \mathsf{Weyl}_1(H_{A,V},x) \psi_{2^{j}r}^2(x) \, dx + \\ &\frac{\epsilon}{2\kappa} \int |\partial A|^2 \bar{\psi}_{2^{j}r}^2(x) \, dx \Big), \end{aligned}$$

where  $\psi$  and  $\bar{\psi}$  are smooth compactly supported functions, equal 0 in  $B(0, \frac{1}{2})$  and  $\bar{\psi} = 1$  in the vicinity of  $supp(\psi)$ ,  $J = \lfloor \log_2 r'/r \rfloor$ ,  $\epsilon > 0$  is arbitrarily small.

Therefore we can replace in the sum A by  $A_j$  and  $\bar{\psi}_{2j_r}$  by  $1 \text{ in } \int |\partial A|^2 \bar{\psi}_{2j_r}^2(x) dx$ ; but then in the virtue of Section 27.2 each term in the sum is bounded from below by  $-C'(\epsilon) \int \rho^3 \ell^{-1} \bar{\psi}_t dx = -C'(\epsilon) t^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  with  $t = 2^j r$ . Then

256

(27.3.74) 
$$Q(r',\kappa,A) \geq Q(r,(1+\epsilon)\kappa,A) - C'(\epsilon)r^{-\frac{1}{2}}.$$

We know that  $Q(r, (1 + \epsilon)\kappa, A)$  is bounded from below by -C(r) but now we conclude that this bound is uniform with respect to r, which implies that  $2S(\kappa) := \liminf_{r \to +\infty} \inf_{A} Q(r, \kappa, A) > -\infty$ . Further, (27.3.74) implies that

$$2S(\kappa)+C'(\epsilon)r^{-rac{1}{2}}\geq \inf_{\mathcal{A}}Q(r,(1+\epsilon)\kappa,\mathcal{A})$$

and therefore

(27.3.75) 
$$\limsup_{r\to+\infty} \inf_{A} Q(r,\kappa,A) \leq 2S((1+\epsilon)^{-1}\kappa).$$

Furthermore, plugging A = 0 we can see easily that  $Q(r, \kappa, A)$  is uniformly bounded from above and therefore  $2S(\kappa) < +\infty$ ; also our arguments imply that  $\int |\partial A|^2 dx$  is uniformly bounded for near optimizers and therefore  $S(\kappa)$ is continuous with respect to  $\kappa < \kappa^*$ ; combining with (27.3.75) we arrive to Statement (i).

(ii) Similarly, (27.3.74) holds with  $H_{A,V}$  replaced by  $H_{A,V} + \eta$  and then we can take  $r' = \infty$  and apply  $\inf_A$  to both sides arriving to

$$\begin{split} \inf_{A} & \left( \mathsf{Tr} \big( (H_{A,V} + \eta)^{-} \big) - \int \mathsf{Weyl}_{1} (H_{A,V+\eta}, x) \, dx + \frac{1}{\kappa} \int |\partial A|^{2} \, dx \right) \geq \\ & \inf_{A} \left( \mathsf{Tr} \big( (\phi_{r} (H_{A,V} + \eta) \phi_{r})^{-} \big) - \int \mathsf{Weyl}_{1} (H_{A,V+\eta}, x) \phi_{r}^{2}(x) \, dx + \\ & \frac{1}{(1+\epsilon)\kappa} \int |\partial A|^{2} \right) \, dx - C'(\epsilon) r^{-\frac{1}{2}}. \end{split}$$

After this as  $\eta \to +0$  the right-hand expression tends to itself with  $\eta = 0$ ; tending  $r \to +\infty$  we get there  $2S((1 + \epsilon)\kappa)$  in virtue of Statement (i) and tending  $\epsilon \to +0$  we arrive to

(27.3.76) 
$$\liminf_{\eta \to +0} \inf_{A} \left( \operatorname{Tr} \left( (H_{A,V} + \eta)^{-} V - \int \operatorname{Weyl}_{1} (H_{A,V+\eta}, x) \, dx + \frac{1}{\kappa} \int |\partial A|^{2} \, dx \right) \geq 2S(\kappa).$$

On the other hand, consider

$$\mathsf{Tr}\big((H_{A,V}+\eta)^{-}\big) - \int \mathsf{Weyl}_1(H_{A,V+\eta},x)\,dx + \frac{1}{\kappa}\int |\partial A|^2\,dx$$

and replace  $\operatorname{Tr}((H_{A,V} + \eta)^{-})$  by

(27.3.77) 
$$\operatorname{Tr}((H_{A,V}+\eta)^{-}\phi_{r}^{2}) + \frac{1}{\kappa}\int |\partial A|^{2} dx + \operatorname{Tr}((H_{A,V}+\eta)^{-}(1-\phi_{r}^{2})).$$

Let A be a minimizer of the first expression; then in virtue of Propositions 27.2.24–27.2.26 this minimizer is sufficiently "good" on  $\epsilon r$ -vicinity of  $\operatorname{supp}(1-\phi_r^2)$  and also the the difference between the second term and its Weyl expression does not exceed  $Cr^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ ; one can prove it easily by  $\ell(x)$ -admissible partition of unity as in Part (i) of the proof and we leave details to the reader.

Observe that the first term in (27.3.77) is  $\inf_A \operatorname{Tr}(\phi_r(H_{A,V} + \eta)^- \phi_r)$ . In this expression we can take limit as  $\eta \to +0$  just setting  $\eta = 0$  and therefore the left-hand expression in (27.3.76) with liminf replaced by lim sup does not exceed

$$\inf_{A} \left( \mathsf{Tr} \left( \phi_r H_{A,V}^- \phi_r \right) - \int \mathsf{Weyl}_1(H_{A,V}, x) \phi_r^2(x) \, dx + \frac{1}{\kappa} \int |\partial A|^2 \, dx \right) + Cr^{-\frac{1}{2}};$$

taking limit as  $r \to +\infty$  we conclude that the left-hand expression in (27.3.76) with liminf replaced by lim sup does not exceed

$$\liminf_{r \to +\infty} \inf_{A} \left( \operatorname{Tr} \left( \phi_r H_{A,V}^{-} \phi_r \right) - \int \operatorname{Weyl}_1(H_{A,V}, x) \phi_r^2(x) \, dx + \frac{1}{\kappa} \int |\partial A|^2 \, dx \right).$$

This expression does not exceed (27.3.71) and therefore combining with (27.3.76) we prove Statements (ii) and (iv).

(iii) Similarly,

$$\int \left( e_1(H_{A,V}; x, x, 0) - \operatorname{Weyl}_1(H_{A,V}, x) \right) \phi_r^2(x) \, dx + \frac{1}{\kappa} \int |\partial A|^2 \, dx \ge \inf_A \left( \operatorname{Tr}\left( (\phi_r H_{A,V} \phi_r)^- \right) - \int \operatorname{Weyl}_1(x) \phi_r^2(x) \, dx + \frac{1}{\kappa} \int |\partial A|^2 \right) - Cr^{-\frac{1}{2}}$$

and therefore

$$\inf_{A} \liminf_{r \to \infty} \int \left( e_1(H_{A,V}; x, x, 0) - \operatorname{Weyl}_1(H_{A,V}, x) \right) \phi_r^2(x) \, dx + \frac{1}{\kappa} \int |\partial A|^2 \, dx \ge 2S(\kappa).$$

On the other hand, as in Part (ii) of the proof, taking A to be a minimizer of the first expression in (27.3.77), we see that

$$\begin{split} \inf_{A} \limsup_{r \to \infty} \int \Big( e_1(H_{A,V}; x, x, 0) - \mathsf{Weyl}_1(H_{A,V}, x) \Big) \phi_r^2(x) \, dx + \\ & \frac{1}{\kappa} \int |\partial A|^2 \, dx \leq 2S(\kappa) \end{split}$$

and Statement (iii) has been proven.

*Remark 27.3.19.* (i) Statements similar to (i), (ii) were proven in L. Erdös, S. Fournais, and J. P. Solovej [3] (see Theorem 2.4 and Lemma 2.5 respectively).

(ii) Again as observed in in L. Erdös, S. Fournais, and J. P. Solovej [3] we do not know if

- (a)  $S(\kappa) < S(0)$  for  $\kappa > 0$  or just
- (b)  $S(\kappa) = S(0)$  for  $\kappa < \kappa^*$  and  $S(\kappa) = -\infty$  for  $\kappa > \kappa^*$ .

If we knew that the optimizer is unique, then obviously A = 0 and it would be relatively easy but rather unexciting the latter case.

(iii) While we assumed that  $\kappa < \kappa^*$  with  $\kappa^* > 0$  and it is possible that  $S(\kappa) = -\infty$  as  $\kappa > \kappa^*$  with some  $\kappa^* < \infty$  we are not aware about any proof of this, so in fact it could happen that  $\kappa^* = +\infty$  and then condition  $\kappa < \kappa^*$  is superficial and one needs to study asymptotics of  $S(\kappa)$  as  $\kappa \to +\infty$ .

**Proposition 27.3.20.** For  $0 < \kappa < \kappa'$ 

(27.3.78) 
$$S(\kappa') \leq S(\kappa) \leq S(\kappa') + C\kappa'(\kappa^{-1} - \kappa'^{-1}).$$

*Proof.* Monotonicity of  $S(\kappa)$  is obvious.

Let  $0 < \kappa < \kappa' < \kappa'' \le \kappa^*$ . Then for any  $\varepsilon > 0$  if  $r = r_{\varepsilon}$  is large enough then the left-hand expression in (27.3.71) for  $\kappa'$  (without inf and lim) is greater than  $S(\kappa'') - \varepsilon + (\kappa'^{-1} - \kappa''^{-1}) ||\partial A||^2$ ; also, if A is an almost minimizer there, it is less than  $S(\kappa') + \varepsilon$ .

Therefore  $(\kappa'^{-1} - \kappa''^{-1}) \|\partial A\|^2 \le |S(\kappa'') - S(\kappa')| + 2\varepsilon$ . But then

$$egin{aligned} \mathcal{S}(\kappa) &-arepsilon \leq \mathcal{S}(\kappa') + arepsilon + (\kappa^{-1} - \kappa'^{-1}) \| \partial A \|^2 \leq \ \mathcal{S}(\kappa') + arepsilon + \mathcal{C}(\kappa^{-1} - \kappa'^{-1}) (\kappa'^{-1} - \kappa''^{-1})^{-1} ig( |\mathcal{S}(\kappa'') - \mathcal{S}(\kappa')| + 2arepsilon ig) \end{aligned}$$

 $\square$ 

and therefore

(27.3.79) 
$$(\kappa^{-1} - \kappa'^{-1})^{-1} |S(\kappa) - S(\kappa')| \le (\kappa'^{-1} - \kappa''^{-1})^{-1} |S(\kappa') - S(\kappa'')|$$
  
which for  $\kappa'' = \kappa^*$  implies (27.3.78).

Remark 27.3.21. Using global equation (27.2.14) we conclude that for Z=h=1

 $\begin{array}{ll} (27.3.80) & |\partial^{\alpha} A| \leq C \kappa \ell^{-1-|\alpha|} & \text{if } \ell \geq 1, \ |\alpha| \leq 1, \\ (27.3.81) & |\partial^{\alpha} A| \leq C \kappa & \text{if } \ell \leq 1, \ |\alpha| \leq 1, \end{array}$ 

(27.3.82)	$\ \partial A\ ^2 \leq C\kappa^2.$	
Then		
(27.3.83)	${\mathcal S}'(\kappa) \leq {\mathcal C}$ ,	$ S(\kappa(1+\eta)) - S(\eta)  \leq C\kappa\eta$

### Main Theorem

In the "atomic" case M = 1 we arrive instantly to the following theorem:

**Theorem 27.3.22.** Let M = 1 and  $\kappa \leq \kappa^*$ . Then

(i) Asymptotics holds

(27.3.84) 
$$\mathsf{E}^* = \int \mathsf{Weyl}_1(x) \, dx + 2z^2 S(z\kappa) h^{-2} + O(h^{-\frac{4}{3}}\kappa |\log \kappa|^{\frac{1}{3}} + h^{-1}).$$

(*ii*) If 
$$\kappa = o(h^{\frac{1}{3}} | \log h |^{-\frac{1}{3}})$$
, then

(27.3.85) 
$$\mathsf{E}^* = \int \mathsf{Weyl}_1^*(x) \, dx + 2z^2 S(z\kappa) h^{-2} + o(h^{-1}).$$

Proof. If  ${\cal A}$  satisfies the minimizer properties, then in virtue of Proposition 27.3.16

(27.3.86) 
$$\operatorname{Tr}^{-}(H_{A,V}) - \int \operatorname{Weyl}_{1}(x) dx \equiv \operatorname{Tr}^{-}(H_{A,V^{0}}) - \int \operatorname{Weyl}_{1}^{0}(x) dx + O(h^{-\frac{4}{3}}\kappa |\log \kappa|^{\frac{1}{3}} + h^{-1})$$

and adding magnetic energy and plugging either minimizer for V or for  $V^0$  we get

Obviously if V (and surely  $V^0$ ) are not sufficiently fast decaying at the infinity, the left (and for sure the right hand) expression in (27.3.86) should be regularized as in Subsubsection 27.3.5.1. Coulomb Potential. However for potential decaying fast enough (faster than  $|x|^{-2-\delta}$ ) the regularization is not needed.

For  $V^0$  we have an exact expression which concludes the proof of Statement (i).

The proof of Statement (ii) is similar albeit with the small improvement, based on the behavior of the classical dynamics (without magnetic field) exactly as in Chapter 25.  $\hfill \Box$ 

## 27.3.6 Several Singularities

Consider now the "molecular" case  $M \ge 2$ . Then we need more delicate arguments.

### **Decoupling of Singularities**

Consider partition of unity  $1 = \sum_{0 \le m \le M} \psi_m^2$  where  $\psi_m$  is supported in  $\frac{1}{3}a$ -vicinity of  $y_m$  for m = 1, ..., M and  $\psi_0 = 0$  in  $\frac{1}{4}a$ -vicinities of  $y_m$  ("near-nuclei" and "between-nuclei" partition elements).

#### Estimate from above. Then

(27.3.88) 
$$\operatorname{Tr}(H_{A,V}^{-}) = \sum_{0 \le m \le M} \operatorname{Tr}(\psi_m H_{A,V}^{-} \psi_m),$$

and to estimate  $E^*$  from the above we impose an extra condition to A:

(27.3.89) A = 0 for  $\ell(x) \ge \frac{1}{5}a$ .

Then in this framework we estimate

CHAPTER 27. SELF-GENERATED MAGNETIC FIELD

(27.3.90) 
$$\operatorname{Tr}^{-}(\psi_{0}H_{A,V}^{-}\psi_{0}) - \int \operatorname{Weyl}_{1}(x)\psi_{0}^{2}(x) \, dx \leq Ch^{-1}a^{-\frac{1}{2}}.$$

Proof of this inequality is trivial by using  $\ell$ -admissible partition and applying results of the theory without any magnetic field.

Thus, to estimate  $E^*$  from above<sup>17)</sup> we just need to estimate from above the minimum with respect to A satisfying (27.3.89) of the expression

(27.3.91) 
$$\operatorname{Tr}(\psi_m H^-_{A,V}\psi_m) - \int \operatorname{Weyl}_1(x)\psi_m^2(x) \, dx + \frac{1}{\kappa h^2} \int_{\{\ell_m(x) \le \frac{1}{5}a\}} |\partial A|^2 \, dx.$$

Estimate from below. In this case we use the same partition of unity  $\{\psi_m^2\}_{j=0,1,\dots,M}$  and estimate

(27.3.92) 
$$\mathsf{Tr}(H_{A,V}^{-}) \ge \sum_{0 \le m \le M} \mathsf{Tr}^{-}(\psi_m H_{A,V'}\psi_m)$$

with

(27.3.93) 
$$V' = V + 2h^2 \sum_{0 \le m \le M} (\partial \psi)^2,$$

and we also use decomposition

(27.3.94) 
$$\int |\partial A|^2 \, dx = \sum_{0 \le m \le M} \int \omega_m^2 |\partial A|^2 \, dx$$

with

(27.3.95) 
$$\omega_m(x) = 1$$
 if  $\ell_m(x) \le \frac{1}{10}a$ ,  $\omega_m(x) \ge 1 - C_{\varsigma}$  if  $\ell_m(x) \le \frac{1}{2}a$   
for  $m = 1, ..., M$ ,

(27.3.96) 
$$\omega_0 \ge \epsilon_0 \varsigma \quad \text{if } \ell(x) \ge \frac{1}{5}a.$$

So far  $\varsigma>0$  is a constant but later it will become a small parameter. Then since

(27.3.97) 
$$\operatorname{Tr}^{-}(\psi_{0}H_{A,V'}\psi_{0}) - \int \operatorname{Weyl}_{1}(x)\psi_{0}^{2}(x) dx + \frac{1}{\kappa h^{2}}\int \omega_{0}^{2}|\partial A|^{2} dx \geq Ch^{-1}a^{-\frac{1}{2}}$$

(again proven by partition) in virtue of the previous Section 27.2 we are left with the estimates from below for

262

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup>) Modulo error in (27.3.51).

(27.3.98) 
$$\operatorname{Tr}^{-}(\psi_m H_{A,V'}\psi_m) - \int \operatorname{Weyl}_1(x)\psi_m^2(x)\,dx + \frac{1}{\kappa h^2}\int \omega_m^2 |\partial A|^2\,dx$$

Remark 27.3.23. (i) Note that the error in  $\text{Weyl}_1$  when we replace V' there by V does not exceed  $Ch^{-1}(1 + a^{-\frac{1}{2}})$  which is less than the error in (27.3.51). Here we can also assume that A satisfies (27.3.89); we need just to replace  $\varsigma$ by  $\epsilon_0 \varsigma$  in (27.3.95)–(27.3.96).

(ii) We can further go down by replacing  $\operatorname{Tr}^{-}(\psi_{m}H_{A,V'}\psi_{m})$  by  $\operatorname{Tr}(\psi_{m}H_{A,V'}^{-}\psi_{m})$ .

(iii) Therefore we basically have the same object for both estimates albeit with marginally different potentials (V in the estimate from above and V' in the estimate from below) and with a weight  $\omega_m^2$  satisfying (27.3.95)–(27.3.96); in both cases  $\omega = 1$  if  $\ell(x) \leq \frac{1}{10}a$  but in the estimate from above  $\omega(x)$  grows to  $C_0$  and in the estimate from below  $\omega(x)$  decays to  $\varsigma$  if  $\ell(x) \geq \frac{1}{3}a$  and in both cases condition (27.3.89) could be either imposed or skipped.

(iv) From now on we consider a single singularity at 0 and we skip subscript m. However if there was a single singularity from the beginning, all arguments of this and forthcoming paragraphs would be unnecessary.

Scaling. Now we apply scaling arguments:

(i) We are done as  $Z \approx 1$  but as  $Z \ll 1^{18}$  we need a bit more fixing. The problem is that  $V \approx Z\ell^{-1}$  only for  $|x| \leq aZ$ ; otherwise  $V \leq a^{-1}$  (where we still assume that  $a \leq 1$ ). To deal with this we apply in the zone  $\{x: aZ \leq |x| \leq a\}$  the same procedure as before and its contribution to the error will be  $Ch^{-1}a^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  as  $\rho = a^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  here. Actually we also need to keep  $|x| \geq Z^{-1}h^2$ ; so we assume that  $Z^{-1}h^2 \leq Za$ , i.e.  $Z \geq a^{-\frac{1}{2}}h$ .

Now let us scale  $x \mapsto x' = x(aZ)^{-1}$ , and multiply  $H_{a,V}$  by a and therefore also multiply A by  $a^{\frac{1}{2}}$ , so  $A \mapsto A' = a^{\frac{1}{2}}A$ ,  $h \mapsto h' = ha^{-\frac{1}{2}}Z^{-1}$ ; then the magnetic energy becomes

$$\kappa^{-1}h^{-2}Z\int\omega^2(x)|\partial'A'|^2\,dx',$$

where factors  $a^{-1}$  and aZ come from substitution  $A = a^{-\frac{1}{2}}A'$  and scaling respectively. We need to multiply it by a (since we multiplied an operator); then plugging  $h^{-2} = h'^{-2}a^{-1}Z^{-2}$  we get the same expression as before but with Z' = 1, a' = 1 and  $h' = ha^{-\frac{1}{2}}Z^{-1} \le 1$  and  $\kappa' = \kappa Z$  instead of h and  $\kappa$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18)</sup> Since Z denotes  $Z_m$  now we assume only that  $Z_1 + \ldots + Z_M \asymp 1$ .

If we prove here an error  $O(h'^{-1} + \kappa' | \log \kappa' |^{\frac{1}{3}} h'^{-\frac{4}{3}})$ , then the final error will be this expression multiplied by  $a^{-1}$ , i.e.  $O(a^{-\frac{1}{2}}Zh^{-1} + \kappa a^{-\frac{1}{2}}Z^{\frac{7}{3}} | \log \kappa Z |^{\frac{1}{3}} h^{-\frac{4}{3}})$ , which is less than the same expression with Z = 1.

(ii) On the other hand, let  $Z \leq a^{-\frac{1}{2}}h$ . Recall, we assume that  $a \geq C_0 h^2$ . Then we can apply the same arguments as before but with  $\overline{Z} = a^{-\frac{1}{2}}h$  and we arrive to the same situation as before albeit with h' = 1, a' = 1,  $\kappa' = \kappa a^{-\frac{1}{2}}h$  and with  $Z' = Z\overline{Z}^{-1}$ . Then we have the trivial error estimate  $O(a^{-1})$  which is less than  $O(a^{-\frac{1}{2}}h^{-1})$ .

### Main Results

Combining results of the previous subsubsections and paragraphs with Proposition 27.3.9 we arrive to

**Theorem 27.3.24.** Let  $M \ge 2$ ,  $\kappa \le \kappa^*$  and (27.3.38) hold with  $\nu > \frac{4}{3}$ . Then

(i) The following asymptotics holds

(27.3.99) 
$$\mathsf{E}^* = \int \mathsf{Weyl}_1(x) \, dx + 2 \sum_{1 \le m \le M} z_m^2 S(z_m \kappa) h^{-2} + O(R_1 + R_2)$$

with

(27.3.100) 
$$R_{1} = \begin{cases} h^{-1} + \kappa |\log \kappa|^{\frac{1}{3}} h^{-\frac{4}{3}} & \text{if } a \ge 1, \\ a^{-\frac{1}{2}} h^{-1} + \kappa |\log \kappa|^{\frac{1}{3}} a^{-\frac{1}{3}} h^{-\frac{4}{3}} & \text{if } h^{2} \le a \le 1 \end{cases}$$

and

(27.3.101) 
$$R_2 = \kappa h^{-2} \begin{cases} a^{-3} & \text{if } a \ge |\log h|^{\frac{1}{3}}, \\ |\log h^2 a^{-1}|^{-1} & \text{if } h^2 \le a \le |\log h|^{\frac{1}{3}}. \end{cases}$$

(ii) If  $\kappa = o(h^{\frac{1}{3}} |\log h|^{-\frac{1}{3}})$ ,  $\kappa a^{-3} = o(h)$  and  $a^{-1} = o(1)$ , then

(27.3.102) 
$$\mathsf{E}^* = \int \mathsf{Weyl}_1^*(x) \, dx + 2 \sum_{1 \le m \le M} z_m^2 S(z_m \kappa) h^{-2} + o(h^{-1}).$$

Proof. To prove theorem we need to prove the following estimate (27.3.103)  $\frac{1}{\kappa} \|\partial A\|_{\{b \le \ell(x) \le 2b\}}^2, \le Cb^{-3}$
where  $r_* \leq b \leq a$  is a "cut-off". On the other hand, we know that

(27.3.104) 
$$\frac{1}{\kappa} \|\partial A\|^2 = -\frac{\partial S}{\partial \kappa} = O(1)$$

and we need to recover the last factor in the definition of  $R_2$ .

For  $a \ge 1$  we can have  $\kappa a^{-3}$  because in virtue of (27.3.41) the square of the partial norm in (27.3.104) does not exceed  $Ca^{-3}\kappa^2$ .

On the other hand, for  $h^2 \leq r_* \leq a$  we can select  $b: r_* \leq b \leq a$  such that the partial norm in (27.3.104) does not exceed  $C |\log(a/h^2)|^{-1} \cdot ||\partial A||^2$ .  $\Box$ 

Remark 27.3.25. (i) For  $a \leq |\log h|$  we do not need assumption (27.3.38).

(ii) Following arguments of Section 12.6 estimates (27.3.85) and (27.3.104) could be improved to  $O(h^{-1+\delta})$  provided  $a \ge h^{-\delta_1}$ ,  $\kappa \le h^{\frac{1}{3}+\delta_1} |\log h|^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  and  $\kappa \le a^3 h^{1+\delta_1}$ .

#### **Problems and Remarks**

The following problem seems to be really challenging and we have no idea how to approach it:

**Problem 27.3.26.** (i) For  $\kappa \in [0, \kappa^*]$  with small enough  $\kappa^* > 0$  does  $S(\kappa)$  really depend on  $\kappa$  or  $S(\kappa) = S(0)$  (see Remark 27.3.19)?

(ii) If  $S(\kappa)$  really depends on  $\kappa$ , what is asymptotic behavior of  $S(\kappa) - S(0)$  as  $\kappa \to +0$ : can one improve  $S(\kappa) - S(0) = O(\kappa)$ ?

(iii) Do we really need an assumption  $\kappa \in [0, \kappa^*]$  (again see Remark 27.3.19)?

(iv) Can one improve estimates to minimizer?

# 27.4 Asymptotics of the Ground State Energy

### 27.4.1 Problem

Now we are ready to tackle our original object (27.1.2)–(27.1.3). So, let us consider our usual quantum Hamiltonian

(27.4.1) 
$$\mathsf{H} = \sum_{1 \le j \le N} H^0_{x_j} + \sum_{1 \le j < k \le N} |x_j - x_k|^{-1}$$

in

(27.4.2) 
$$\mathfrak{H} = \bigwedge_{1 \le n \le N} \mathsf{H}, \qquad \mathsf{H} = \mathscr{L}^2(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{C}^2)$$

with

(27.4.3) 
$$H^{0} = \left(\left(i\nabla - A\right) \cdot \boldsymbol{\sigma}\right)^{2} - V(x).$$

We are interested in the ground state energy  $\mathsf{E}^*_{N}(A)$  of our system i.e. in the lowest eigenvalue of the operator  $\mathsf{H}$  on  $\mathfrak{H}$ :

(27.4.4) 
$$\mathsf{E}^*_{\mathsf{N}}(\mathsf{0}) = \inf \mathsf{Spec}(\mathsf{H}) \quad \text{ on } \mathfrak{H}$$

if A = 0 and more generally in

(27.4.5) 
$$\mathsf{E}_{N}^{*} = \inf_{A} \left( \inf \operatorname{Spec}_{\mathfrak{H}}(\mathsf{H}) + \frac{1}{\alpha} \int |\nabla \times A|^{2} dx \right),$$

where

(27.4.6) 
$$V(x) = \sum_{1 \le m \le M} \frac{Z_m}{|x - y_m|}$$

(27.4.7)  $N \asymp Z \gg 1$ ,  $Z \coloneqq Z_1 + ... + Z_M$ ,  $Z_1 > 0, ..., Z_M > 0$ ,

 $\boldsymbol{M}$  is fixed, under assumption

$$(27.4.8) \qquad \qquad \mathbf{0} < \alpha \le \kappa^* Z^{-1}$$

with sufficiently small constant  $\kappa^* > 0$ .

Our purpose is to derive an asymptotics

(27.4.9) 
$$\mathsf{E}_{N}^{*} \approx \mathcal{E}_{N}^{\mathsf{TF}} + \sum_{1 \leq m \leq M} 2Z_{m}^{2}S(\alpha Z_{m})$$

and estimate an error (usually) provided

(27.4.10) 
$$b := \min_{1 \le m < m' \le M} |\mathbf{y}_m - \mathbf{y}_{m'}| \ge Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}.$$

Recall that the Thomas-Fermi potential  $W^{\sf TF}$  and the Thomas-Fermi density  $\rho^{\sf TF}$  satisfy equations

(27.4.11) 
$$\rho^{\mathsf{TF}} = \frac{1}{3\pi^2} (W^{\mathsf{TF}} + \nu)_+^{\frac{3}{2}}$$

and

(27.4.12) 
$$W^{\mathsf{TF}} = V^0 + |x|^{-1} * \rho^{\mathsf{TF}},$$

where  $\nu$  is a chemical potential.

## 27.4.2 Lower Estimate

Consider corresponding to  $\mathsf{H}$  quadratic form exactly as in Sections 25.2 and 26.6

(27.4.13) 
$$\langle \mathsf{H}\Psi, \Psi \rangle = \sum_{j} (\mathcal{H}_{x_{j}}^{0}\Psi, \Psi) + (\sum_{1 \le j < k \le N} |x_{j} - x_{k}|^{-1}\Psi, \Psi) = \sum_{j} (\mathcal{H}_{x_{j}}\Psi, \Psi) + ((V - W)\Psi, \Psi) + (\sum_{1 \le j < k \le N} |x_{j} - x_{k}|^{-1}\Psi, \Psi)$$

with

(27.4.14) 
$$H = \left( \left( i \nabla - A \right) \cdot \boldsymbol{\sigma} \right)^2 - W(x)$$

where we select W later. By Lieb-Oxford inequality the last term is estimated from below:

(27.4.15) 
$$\langle \sum_{1 \le j < k \le N} |x_j - x_k|^{-1} \Psi, \Psi \rangle \ge \frac{1}{2} \mathsf{D}(\rho_{\Psi}, \rho_{\Psi}) - C \int \rho_{\Psi}^{\frac{4}{3}} dx_j$$

where

(27.4.16) 
$$\rho_{\Psi}(x) = N \int |\Psi(x, x_2, \dots, x_N)|^2 dx_2 \cdots dx_N$$

is a spatial density associated with  $\Psi$  and

(27.4.17) 
$$\mathsf{D}(\rho,\rho') \coloneqq \iint |x-y|^{-1}\rho(x)\rho'(y)\,dxdy.$$

Therefore again repeating arguments of Section 25.2 we estimate  ${\sf H}$  from below:

$$(27.4.18) \quad \langle \mathsf{H}\Psi, \Psi \rangle \geq \sum_{j} (H_{x_{j}}\Psi, \Psi) - 2((V - W)\Psi, \Psi) + \frac{1}{2}\mathsf{D}(\rho_{\Psi}, \rho_{\Psi}) - C \int \rho_{\Psi}^{\frac{4}{3}} dx = \sum_{j} (H_{x_{j}}\Psi, \Psi) - \mathsf{D}(\rho, \rho_{\Psi}) + \frac{1}{2}\mathsf{D}(\rho_{\Psi}, \rho_{\Psi}) - C \int \rho_{\Psi}^{\frac{4}{3}} dx = \sum_{j} (H_{x_{j}}\Psi, \Psi) - \frac{1}{2}\mathsf{D}(\rho, \rho) + \frac{1}{2}\mathsf{D}(\rho - \rho_{\Psi}, \rho - \rho_{\Psi}) - C \int \rho_{\Psi}^{\frac{4}{3}} dx$$

swhere

(27.4.19) 
$$W - V = |x|^{-1} * \rho.$$

Note that due to antisymmetricity of  $\Psi$ 

(27.4.20) 
$$\sum_{j} (\mathcal{H}_{x_j} \Psi, \Psi) \ge \sum_{1 \le j \le N: \ \lambda_j < 0} \lambda_j \ge \mathsf{Tr}^-(\mathcal{H}),$$

where  $\lambda_i$  are eigenvalues of H.

To estimate the last term in (27.4.18) we reproduce the proof of Lemma 4.3 from L. Erdös, S. Fournais and J. P. Solovej [3]:

According to magnetic Lieb–Thirring inequality for  $U \ge 0$ :

(27.4.21) 
$$\sum_{j\leq N} \langle (H^0_{x_j} - U)\Psi, \Psi \rangle \geq -C \int U^{5/2} dx - C\gamma^{-3} U^4 dx - \gamma \int B^2 dx$$

where  $B = \nabla \times A$ ,  $\gamma > 0$  is arbitrary. Then, selecting  $U = \beta \min(\rho_{\Psi}^{5/3}, \gamma \rho_{\Psi}^{4/3})$ with  $\beta > 0$  sufficiently small but independent from  $\gamma$ , we ensure that  $\frac{1}{2}U\rho_{\Psi} \ge CU^{5/2} + C\gamma^{-3}U^4$  and then

(27.4.22) 
$$\sum_{j\leq N} \langle (H^0_{x_j})\Psi, \Psi \rangle \geq \epsilon \int \min(\rho_{\Psi}^{5/3}, \gamma \rho^{4/3}) \, dx, -\gamma \int B^2 \, dx,$$

which implies

(27.4.23) 
$$\int \rho_{\Psi}^{4/3} dx \leq \gamma^{-1} \int \min(\rho_{\Psi}^{5/3}, \gamma \rho^{4/3}) dx + \gamma \int \rho_{\Psi} dx \leq c\gamma^{-1} \sum_{j:\lambda_j < 0} \langle (H_{x_j}^0) \Psi, \Psi \rangle + c \int B^2 dx + c\gamma N$$

where we use  $\int \rho_{\Psi} dx = N$ .

*Remark 27.4.1.* As one can prove easily (see also L. Erdös, S. Fournais and J. P. Solovej [3]) that

(27.4.24) 
$$\sum_{j \le N} \langle (H^0_{x_j}) \Psi, \Psi \rangle \le C Z^{\frac{4}{3}} N$$

268

even if  $N \not\asymp Z$ ; then we conclude that

(27.4.25) 
$$\int \rho_{\Psi}^{4/3} dx \le C Z^{\frac{2}{3}} N + C_1 \int B^2 dx.$$

It is sufficient unless we want to recover Dirac-Schwinger terms which unfortunately is possible only if  $\alpha \ll Z^{-\frac{10}{9}} |\log Z|^{-\frac{1}{3}}$ . To recover remainder estimate  $o(Z^{\frac{5}{3}})$  (or marginally better) we just apply Theorem 26.A.2. We will do it later (see Theorem 27.4.5).

Therefore skipping the non-negative third term in the right-hand expression of (27.4.18) we conclude that

(27.4.26) 
$$\langle \mathsf{H}\Psi,\Psi\rangle + \frac{1}{\alpha}\int |\nabla \times A|^2 dx \ge$$
  
 $\mathsf{Tr}^-(H) + (\frac{1}{\alpha} - C_1)\int |\nabla \times A|^2 dx - \frac{1}{2}\mathsf{D}(\rho,\rho) - CZ^{\frac{5}{3}}.$ 

Applying Theorem 27.3.24 we conclude that

(27.4.27) The sum of the first and the second terms in the right-hand expression of (27.4.26) is greater than

$$\mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}} + \sum_{m} 2Z_m^2 S(\alpha Z_m) - CZ^{\frac{4}{3}}(R_1 + R_2)$$

with  $R_1$  and  $R_2$  defined by (27.3.100) and (27.3.101) respectively with  $\kappa = \alpha Z$ ,  $h = Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  and

(27.4.28) 
$$a \coloneqq Z^{\frac{1}{3}} \min_{1 \le m < m' \le M} |\mathbf{y}_m - \mathbf{y}_{m'}|.$$

To prove this claim one needs just to rescale

$$\begin{array}{ll} (27.4.29)_{1-5} & x \mapsto xZ^{\frac{1}{3}}, & a \mapsto aZ^{\frac{1}{3}}, & W \mapsto Z^{-\frac{4}{3}}W, \\ & A \mapsto A, & \nabla \times A \mapsto Z^{\frac{1}{3}}\nabla \times A \end{array}$$

and introduce

(27.4.30) 
$$h = Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}, \quad \kappa = \alpha Z.$$

Observe that due to  $(27.4.29)_3$  we need to multiply our estimate by  $Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$ .

Here one definitely needs the regularity properties like in Section 27.3 but we have them since  $\rho = \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}$ ,  $W = W^{\mathsf{TF}}$ . Also one can see easily that " $-C_1$ " brings correction not exceeding  $C_2\alpha Z^2$  as  $\alpha Z \leq 1$ .

Meanwhile for  $\rho = \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}, W = W^{\mathsf{TF}}$ 

(27.4.31) 
$$\frac{2}{15\pi^2} \int W^{\frac{5}{2}} dx - \frac{1}{2} \mathsf{D}(\rho, \rho) = \mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}}$$

Lower estimate of Theorem 27.4.3 below has been proven.

Remark 27.4.2.  $\rho = \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}$ ,  $W = W^{\mathsf{TF}}$  delivers the maximum of the right-hand expression of (27.4.31) among  $\rho$ , W satisfying (27.4.19).

### 27.4.3 Upper Estimate

Upper estimate is easy. Plugging as in Section 25.2  $\Psi$ , the *Slater determinant* (25.2.16) of  $\psi_1, \ldots, \psi_N$ , where  $\psi_1, \ldots, \psi_N$  are eigenfunctions of  $H_{A,W}$  we get

(27.4.32) 
$$\langle \mathsf{H}\Psi, \Psi \rangle = \mathsf{Tr}^{-}(H_{A,W} - \lambda_N) + \lambda_N N + \int (W - V)(x)\rho_{\Psi}(x) \, dx + \frac{1}{2}\mathsf{D}(\rho_{\Psi}, \rho_{\Psi}) - \frac{1}{2}N(N-1) \iint |x_1 - x_2|^{-1}|\Psi(x_1, x_2, x_3, \dots, x_N|^2 \, dx_1 \cdots dx_N,$$

where we do not care about the last term since we drop it (again as long as we cannot get sharp enough estimate) and the first term in the second line is in fact  $-D(\rho, \rho_{\Psi})$ , provided (27.4.19) holds. Thus we get

(27.4.33) 
$$\operatorname{Tr}^{-}(H_{A,W} - \lambda_{N}) + \lambda_{N}N - \frac{1}{2}\mathsf{D}(\rho,\rho) + \frac{1}{2}\mathsf{D}(\rho_{\Psi} - \rho,\rho_{\Psi} - \rho) + \frac{1}{\alpha}\int |\partial A|^{2} dx,$$

where we added the magnetic energy. Definitely we have several problems here:  $\lambda_N$  depends on A and there may be less than N negative eigenvalues.

However in the latter case we can obviously replace N by the lesser number  $N' := \max(n \le N, \lambda_n \le 0)$  since  $\mathsf{E}^*_N$  is decreasing function of N. In this case the first term in (27.4.33) would be just  $\mathsf{Tr}^-(\mathcal{H}_{A,W})$  and the second would be 0. Then we apply theory of the previous Section 27.3 immediately without extra complications.

Consider A a minimizer (or its mollification) for operator  $H_{A,W} - \mu$  with potential  $W = W^{\mathsf{TF}}$  and  $\mu \leq 0$ . Then

(27.4.34) 
$$\mathsf{N}(\mu) \coloneqq \#\{\lambda_k < \mu\} = \int (W + \mu)_+^{\frac{3}{2}} dx + O(Z^{\frac{2}{3}}).$$

One can prove (27.4.34) easily using the regularity properties of A established in the previous Section 27.3 and the same rescaling (27.4.29)–(27.4.30) as before. We leave this easy proof to the reader.

Therefore, repeating arguments of Subsubsection 25.4.2.1. Estimating  $|\lambda_N - \nu|$ , we conclude that either  $N \ge Z - C_0 Z^{\frac{2}{3}}$  and then  $|\nu| \le C_1 Z^{\frac{8}{9}}$  and we can take  $\mu = 0$  and  $|\lambda_{N'}| \le C_1 Z^{\frac{8}{9}}$  or  $N \le Z - C_0 Z^{\frac{2}{3}}$  and then we take  $\mu = \nu, |\lambda_N| \asymp |\nu| \asymp (Z - N)^{\frac{4}{3}}_+$  and  $|\lambda_N - \nu| \le C_1 |\nu|^{\frac{1}{4}} Z^{\frac{2}{3}}$ .

After this, following again to arguments of Subsection 25.4.2, we conclude that

(27.4.35) Expression (27.4.33) without term  $\frac{1}{2}\mathsf{D}(\rho_{\Psi} - \rho, \rho_{\Psi} - \rho)$  does not exceed

$$\mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}} + \sum_{m} 2Z_m^2 S(\alpha Z_m) + CZ^{\frac{4}{3}}(R_1 + R_2)$$

with  $R_1$  and  $R_2$  defined by (27.3.100) and (27.3.101) respectively with  $\kappa = \alpha Z$ ,  $h = Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  and a defined by (27.4.28).

Now we need to estimate properly  $D(\rho_{\Psi} - \rho, \rho_{\Psi} - \rho)$  which as in i.e. Subsubsection 25.4.2.2. Estimating D-Term does not exceed the sum of

(27.4.36)  $D(e(x, x, \mu) - Weyl(x, \mu), e(x, x, \mu) - Weyl(x, \mu)),$ (27.4.37)  $D(e(x, x, \lambda_N) - Weyl(x, \lambda_N), e(x, x, \lambda_N) - Weyl(x, \lambda_N))$ and (27.4.38)  $D(Weyl(x, \mu) - Weyl(x, \lambda_N), Weyl(x, \mu) - Weyl(x, \lambda_N)).$ 

Next, following arguments of Subsubsection 25.4.2.2. Estimating D-Term, one can prove easily that due to regularity properties of A both semiclassical (27.4.36) and (27.4.37) terms do not exceed  $CZ^{\frac{5}{3}}$  and due to estimates for  $|\lambda_N - \mu|$  the last term does (27.4.38) not exceed  $CZ^{\frac{5}{3}}$  as well.

This concludes the proof of the upper estimate in Theorem 27.4.3 below.

### 27.4.4 Main Theorems

**Theorem 27.4.3.** (i) Under assumptions (27.4.7) and (27.4.8) the following asymptotics holds

(27.4.39) 
$$\mathsf{E}_{N}^{*} = \mathcal{E}_{N}^{\mathsf{TF}} + \sum_{1 \le m \le M} 2Z_{m}^{2}S(\alpha Z_{m}) + O(Z^{\frac{4}{3}}(R_{1} + R_{2}))$$

with  $R_1$  and  $R_2$  defined by (27.3.100) and (27.3.101) respectively with  $\kappa = \alpha Z$ ,  $h = Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  and a defined by (27.4.28),  $a = \infty$  for M = 1.

(ii) In particular, under assumption (27.4.10) the following asymptotics holds

(27.4.40) 
$$\mathsf{E}_N^* = \mathcal{E}_N^{\mathsf{TF}} + \sum_{1 \le m \le M} 2Z_m^2 S(\alpha Z_m) + O(\alpha |\log(\alpha Z)|^{\frac{1}{3}} Z^{\frac{25}{9}} + Z^{\frac{5}{3}} + \alpha b^{-3} Z^2).$$

Recall that  $\mathcal{E}_N^{\mathsf{TF}}$  is a *Thomas-Fermi energy* and  $S(\alpha Z_m)Z_m^2$  are magnetic *Scott correction terms*.

**Theorem 27.4.4.** (i) Let assumptions (27.4.7) and (27.4.8) be fulfilled and let  $\Psi = \Psi_{\mathbf{A}}$  be a ground state for a near optimizer  $\mathbf{A}$  of the original multiparticle problem. Then

(27.4.41) 
$$\mathsf{D}(\rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}, \rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}) \leq C Z^{\frac{5}{3}}.$$

(*ii*) Furthermore, as  $b \ge Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$ 

(27.4.42) 
$$\mathsf{D}(\rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}, \rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}) \leq CZ^{\frac{5}{3}} (Z^{-\delta} + (bZ^{\frac{1}{3}})^{-\delta} + (\alpha Z)^{\delta})$$

*Proof.* (i) Note that all the terms in estimates from below and from above are  $O(Z^{\frac{5}{3}})$  except the common term

(27.4.43) 
$$\operatorname{Tr}^{-}(H_{A,W}+\mu) + \frac{1}{\alpha} \int |\nabla \times A|^2 dx,$$

where A is a minimizer for this term and therefore estimate (27.4.41) has been proven because estimate from below also contains  $D(\rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}, \rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}})$ .

(ii) To prove Statement (ii) one needs

(a) To improve estimate (27.4.34) to

(27.4.44) 
$$\mathsf{N}(\mu) = \int (W + \mu)_{+}^{\frac{3}{2}} dx + O(Z^{\frac{2}{3}}[Z^{-\delta} + (bZ^{\frac{1}{3}})^{-\delta} + (\alpha Z)^{\delta}]);$$

(b) To estimate terms (27.4.36)–(27.4.38) by the right-hand expression of (25.4.45); and

(c) To accommodate Dirac term in both upper and lower estimates.

Tasks (a), (b) are easy and we leave it to the reader (cf. arguments of Subsection 25.4.3); we use that after rescaling effective magnetic field intensity becomes  $O(\alpha Z)$  in the zone  $\{x : \ell(x) \simeq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}\}$  due to already established estimates to A.

To fulfill task (c) observe that in the upper estimate we already have term

(27.4.45) 
$$-\frac{1}{2}\operatorname{tr} \iint |x-y|^{-1}e_N(x,y)e_N^{\dagger}(x,y)\,dxdy.$$

On the other hand, in virtue of Theorem 26.A.2 we replace in the lower estimate term  $-C \int \rho_{\Psi}^{\frac{4}{3}}(x) dx$  by (27.4.6) with  $O(Z^{\frac{5}{3}-\delta})$  error (again we leave easy details to the reader).

One can prove by the same arguments as as in the non-magnetic case that for  $\alpha Z \leq \kappa^*$  it is  $\text{Dirac} + O(Z^{\frac{5}{3}-\delta})$ .

Finally, combining arguments sketched in the proof of Theorem 27.4.4 with the improved estimate of (27.4.43) (see Theorem 27.3.24(ii)) we arrive to

**Theorem 27.4.5.** Let assumptions (27.4.8) and (27.4.10) be fulfilled, and let  $\alpha \leq Z^{-\frac{10}{9}} |\log Z|^{-\frac{1}{3}}$ . Then

(27.4.46) 
$$\mathsf{E}_{N}^{*} = \mathcal{E}_{N}^{\mathsf{TF}} + \sum_{1 \le m \le M} 2Z_{m}^{2}S(\alpha Z_{m}) + \mathsf{Dirac} + \mathsf{Schwinger} + O(\alpha |\log(\alpha Z)|^{\frac{1}{3}} Z^{\frac{25}{9}} + Z^{\frac{5}{3}-\delta} + \alpha b^{-3} Z^{2})$$

where Dirac and Schwinger are Dirac and Schwinger correction terms defined exactly as in non-magnetic case by (25.1.29) and (25.1.30) respectively.

# 27.4.5 Free Nuclei Model

Consider now free nuclei model (see Subsubsection 25.4.4.2). Estimates for Distance between Nuclei in the Free Nuclei Model).

**Theorem 27.4.6.** Let us consider  $y_m = y_m^*$  minimizing the full energy

(27.4.47) 
$$\widehat{\mathsf{E}}_{N}^{*} := \mathsf{E}_{N}^{*} + \sum_{1 \le m < m' \le M} Z_{m} Z_{m'} |\mathsf{y}_{m} - \mathsf{y}_{m'}|^{-1}.$$

Assume that

(27.4.48)  $Z_m \simeq N \quad \forall m = 1, ..., M.$ Then (27.4.49)  $b \ge \min\left(Z^{-\frac{5}{21}+\delta}, Z^{-\frac{5}{21}}(\alpha Z)^{-\delta}, \alpha^{-\frac{1}{4}}Z^{-\frac{1}{2}}\right)$ 

and in the remainder estimates in (27.4.40) and (27.4.46) one can skip **b**-connected terms; so we arrive to

(27.4.50) 
$$\mathsf{E}_{N}^{*} = \mathcal{E}_{N}^{\mathsf{TF}} + \sum_{1 \le m \le M} 2Z_{m}^{2}S(\alpha Z_{m}) + O(\alpha |\log(\alpha Z)|^{\frac{1}{3}} Z^{\frac{25}{9}} + Z^{\frac{5}{3}})$$

and

$$(27.4.51) \quad \mathsf{E}_{N}^{*} = \mathcal{E}_{N}^{\mathsf{TF}} + \sum_{1 \le m \le M} 2Z_{m}^{2}S(\alpha Z_{m}) + \mathsf{Dirac} + \mathsf{Schwinger} + O(\alpha |\log(\alpha Z)|^{\frac{1}{3}} Z^{\frac{25}{9}} + Z^{\frac{5}{3}-\delta})$$

respectively and also the same asymptotics with  $\widehat{\mathsf{E}}_{N}^{*}$  and  $\widehat{\mathcal{E}}_{N}^{\mathsf{TF}}$  instead of  $\mathsf{E}_{N}^{*}$  and  $\mathcal{E}_{N}^{\mathsf{TF}}$ .

*Proof.* Optimization with respect to  $\mathsf{y}_1, \ldots, \mathsf{y}_M$  implies

(27.4.52) 
$$\mathsf{E}^* + \sum_{1 \le m < m' \le M} \frac{Z_m Z_{m'}}{|\mathsf{y}_m - \mathsf{y}_{m'}|} < \sum_{1 \le m \le M} \mathsf{E}^*_m$$

where  $\mathsf{E}^* = \mathsf{E}^*(\mathsf{y}_1, \dots, \mathsf{y}_M; Z_1, \dots, Z_m, N)$  and  $\mathsf{E}^*_m = \mathsf{E}^*(\mathsf{y}_m, Z_m)$  are calculated for separate atoms. In virtue of Theorem 27.4.3

(27.4.53) 
$$\mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}} + \sum_{1 \le m < m' \le M} \frac{Z_m Z_{m'}}{|\mathsf{x}_m - \mathsf{x}_{m'}|} - \sum_{1 \le m \le M} \mathcal{E}_m^{\mathsf{TF}} \le C\alpha |\log(\alpha Z)|^{\frac{1}{3}} Z^{\frac{25}{9}} + Z^{\frac{5}{3}} + C\alpha b^{-3} Z^2.$$

However due to the strong non-binding theorem in Thomas-Fermi theory the left-hand expression is  $\gtrsim b^{-7}$  for  $b \geq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  and therefore (27.4.53) implies

$$b\gtrsim \minig(Z^{-rac{5}{21}},\,lpha^{-rac{1}{7}}|\log(lpha Z)|^{-rac{1}{21}}Z^{-rac{25}{63}},\,lpha^{-rac{1}{4}}Z^{-rac{1}{2}}ig)$$

where the third expression is larger than the second one for sure. Unfortunately, for  $\alpha \geq Z^{-\frac{10}{9}-\delta'}$  it is not as good as we claimed in (27.4.49). Still this estimate implies both (27.4.50) and (27.4.51).

To prove estimate (27.4.49) we observe that  $b \gg Z^{-\frac{2}{7}19}$  and then we employ arguments used in the proof of Proposition 26.8.12 and prove that

$$|\operatorname{Tr}^{-}(H_{A,W} + \mu) - \sum_{1 \le m \le M} \operatorname{Tr}^{-}(H_{A,W_{m}} + \mu) - \int \left( \operatorname{Weyl}(H_{A,W} + \mu; x) - \sum_{1 \le m \le M} \operatorname{Weyl}(H_{A,W_{m}} + \mu; x) \right) dx | \le CZ^{\frac{5}{3}} (Z^{-\delta} + (\alpha Z)^{\delta}),$$

where A be a minimizer for "molecular" expression (27.4.45) and  $W_m$  are atomic potentials. The same estimate holds if we replace  $\operatorname{Tr}^-(H_{A,W_m} + \mu)$  by  $\operatorname{Tr}^-(H_{A_m,W_m} + \mu)$  with  $A_m = A\phi(b^{-1}|x - y_m|)$  with  $\phi \in \mathscr{C}^\infty_0(B(0, \frac{1}{3}))$ , equal 1 in  $B(0, \frac{1}{4})$ . We leave an easy proof to the reader.

Then using the lower estimate for  $\inf \text{Spec}_{\mathfrak{H}}(H)$  and upper estimates for both  $\inf \text{Spec}_{\mathfrak{H}}(H_m)$  through  $\text{Tr}^-(H_{A,W}+\mu)$  and  $\text{Tr}^-(H_{A_m,W_m}+\mu')$  respectively (where  $H_m$  are associated with  $H_{A_m,W_m}$ ) we arrive to

$$\begin{split} \inf \operatorname{Spec}_{\mathfrak{H}}(\mathsf{H}) \geq \sum_{1 \leq m \leq M} \inf \operatorname{Spec}_{\mathfrak{H}_m}(\mathsf{H}_m) + \mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}} - \sum_{1 \leq m \leq M} \mathcal{E}_m^{\mathsf{TF}} \\ &- CZ^{\frac{5}{3}} \big( Z^{-\delta} + (\alpha Z)^{\delta} \big) \end{split}$$

and therefore

$$(27.4.54) \quad \mathsf{E}_{\mathcal{A}} \geq \sum_{1 \leq m \leq \mathcal{M}} \mathsf{E}_{m,\mathcal{A}_{m}} + \mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}} - \sum_{1 \leq m \leq \mathcal{M}} \mathcal{E}_{m}^{\mathsf{TF}} - \mathcal{E}_{m}^{\mathsf{TF}} - \mathcal{E}_{m}^{\mathsf{TF}} \mathcal{E}_{m}^{\mathsf{TF}} \mathcal{E}_{m}^{\mathsf{TF}} - \mathcal{E}_{m}^{\mathsf{TF}} \mathcal{E}_{m}^{\mathsf{TF}} \mathcal{E}_{m}^{\mathsf{TF}} - \mathcal{E}_{m}^{\mathsf{TF}} \mathcal{E}_{m}^$$

where the last term is due to replacement of  $\frac{1}{\alpha} \int |\nabla \times A|^2 dx$  by "atomized" expressions  $\sum_{1 \le m \le M} \frac{1}{\alpha} \int |\nabla \times A_m|^2 dx$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19)</sup> There is no binding with  $b \leq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  because remainder estimate is (better than)  $CZ^2$  and binding energy excess is  $\asymp Z^{\frac{7}{3}}$ .

The last inequality (27.4.54) then obviously holds with  $A_m$  replaced by optimizers for "atomic" expressions (27.4.45) and *now* strong non-binding theorem implies that

$$b^{-7} \leq CZ^{\frac{5}{3}} (Z^{-\delta} + (\alpha Z)^{\delta}) + C\alpha b^{-3} Z^2$$

which implies (27.4.49) where we change  $\delta > 0$  as needed.

# 27.5 Miscellaneous Problems

Recall that in our analysis in Sections 25.5 and 25.6 the crucial role was played by an estimate of  $D(\rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}, \rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}})$  and since what we have now (see Theorem 27.4.4) is (almost) as good as we had then, all arguments of these Sections still work with the minimal modifications. We leave most of the easy details to the reader but we need to deal with different magnetic fields for different N.

## 27.5.1 Excessive Negative Charge

**Theorem 27.5.1**<sup>20)</sup>. Let condition (27.4.48) be fulfilled.

(i) In the framework of the fixed nuclei model let us assume that  $I_N^* := E_{N-1}^* - E_N^* > 0$ . Then

(27.5.1) 
$$(N-Z)_{+} \leq CZ^{\frac{5}{7}} \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } a \leq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}, \\ Z^{-\delta} + (aZ^{\frac{1}{3}})^{-\delta} + (\alpha Z)^{\delta} & \text{if } a \geq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}. \end{cases}$$

(ii) In particular, for a single atom and for molecule with  $\mathbf{a} \geq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}+\delta}$ 

(27.5.2) 
$$(N-Z)_+ \leq Z^{\frac{5}{7}} (Z^{-\delta} + (\alpha Z)^{\delta}).$$

(iii) In the framework of the free nuclei model let us assume that  $\widehat{l}_N^* := \widehat{E}_{N-1}^* - \widehat{E}_N^* > 0$ . Then estimate (27.5.2) holds.

*Proof.* The proof follows the proof of Theorem 25.5.2; since it is not specific to the case where there is no magnetic field, we find that  $(N - Z)_+ \leq Q^{\frac{3}{7}}$ , where Q is an estimate for  $D(\rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}, \rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}})$ , which we established

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20)</sup> Cf. Theorem 25.5.2.

already; recall that the equivalence  $\rho^{\mathsf{TF}} \simeq \ell^{-6}$  for  $\ell \gtrsim Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  also plays an important role.

Here we pick up  $A = A_N^{(21)}$  and conclude that

$$\mathsf{I}_{N}(A) \coloneqq \mathsf{E}_{N-1}(A) - \mathsf{E}_{N}(A) \geq \mathsf{E}_{N-1}^{*} - \mathsf{E}_{N}^{*} > 0,$$

and then repeat arguments of the proof of Theorem 25.5.2.

We leave the remaining easy details to the reader.

### 27.5.2 Estimates for iIonization Energy

**Theorem 27.5.2**<sup>22)</sup>. Let condition (27.4.48) be fulfilled and let  $N \ge Z - C_0 Z^{\frac{5}{7}}$ . Then

(i) In the framework of the fixed nuclei model

(27.5.3) 
$$I_N^* \le CZ^{\frac{20}{21}}$$

(ii) In the framework of the free nuclei model with  $N \geq Z - C_0 Z^{\frac{5}{7}} (Z^{-\delta} + \alpha Z^{\delta})$ 

(27.5.4) 
$$\widehat{\mathsf{l}}_{N}^{*} \coloneqq \widehat{\mathsf{E}}_{N-1}^{*} - \widehat{\mathsf{E}}_{N-1}^{*} \le Z^{\frac{20}{21}} \left( Z^{-\delta'} + (\alpha Z)^{\delta'} \right).$$

*Proof.* Recall that Theorem 25.5.3 was proven simultaneously with Theorem 25.5.2; we follow the same scheme here picking up  $A = A_N^{21}$ . Thus here and in the first part of the proof of Theorem 27.5.3 we estimate from above  $I_N^*(A)$ .

Again the remaining easy details a left to the reader.

**Theorem 27.5.3**<sup>23)</sup>. Let condition (27.4.48) be fulfilled and let  $N \leq Z - C_0 Z^{\frac{5}{7}}$ . Then in the framework of the fixed nuclei model under assumption (25.6.2)

(27.5.5) 
$$(I_N^* + \nu)_+ \le C(Z - N)^{\frac{17}{18}} Z^{\frac{5}{18}} \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } a \le Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}, \\ Z^{-\delta} + (aZ^{\frac{1}{3}})^{-\delta} & \text{if } a \ge Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}. \end{cases}$$

<sup>21)</sup> Exactly as in the analysis of free nuclei model we pick up  $\underline{y}$  for *N*-electrons we pick now *A* for *N* electrons.

 $\square$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22)</sup> Cf. Theorem 25.5.3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23)</sup> Cf. Theorem 25.6.3.

*Proof.* To estimate  $I_N^* + \nu$  from above we follow exactly the arguments of Subsection 25.6.1 to estimate  $I_N(A_N) \ge I_N^*$ .

**Problem 27.5.4.** To prove the same estimate for  $(I_N^* + \nu)_{-}$ .

Remark 27.5.5. To estimate  $I_N^* + \nu$  from below we need to pick up  $A = A_{N-1}$  rather than  $A = A_N$ ; then

$$I_N(A) = E_{N-1}(A) - E_N(A) \le E^*_{N-1} - E^*_N = I^*_N$$

and we should follow the arguments of Subsection 25.6.2. However, in contrast to all other proofs of this Section, here we should use the spectral properties of  $H_{A,W}$  (or at least an estimate from above for its lowest eigenvalue after localization to  $\text{supp}(\theta)$ , while in all other results we need an estimate from below for the same lowest eigenvalue after localization to  $\text{supp}(\theta)$ ).

To estimate from above the lowest eigenvalue of  $H_{A,W}$  we need some uniform (i.e. with constants which do not depend on N) smoothness estimates for  $A_{N-1}$  where  $A_{N-1}$  is the minimizer for  $E_{N-1}(A)$  as defined in Sections 27.4 and here (rather than as defined in Sections 27.2–27.3).

While (27.A.1) is an analogue of (27.2.14), it is still not the same, and while it implies some estimate, it is not even remotely as good as we achieved in Sections 27.2 and 27.3.

Sure  $\rho_{\Psi}$  is not very smooth either but it close to rather smooth  $\rho^{\mathsf{TF}}$ ; on the other hand, the minimizer  $A_N$  is an almost-minimizer for the one-particle trace problem studied Sections 27.2–27.3 but we don't know how close it to the minimizer (or one of the minimizers) of the latter problem.

### 27.5.3 Free Nuclei Model: Excessive Positive Charge

**Theorem 27.5.6**<sup>24)</sup>. Let condition (27.4.48) be fulfilled. Then in the framework of free nuclei model with  $M \ge 2$  the stable molecule does not exist unless

(27.5.6) 
$$Z - N \le Z^{\frac{5}{7}} \left( Z^{-\delta} + (\alpha Z)^{\delta} \right).$$

*Proof.* Again we just repeat the proof of Theorem 25.6.4; we leave all easy details to the reader.  $\Box$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24)</sup> Cf. Theorem 25.6.4.

# 27.A Appendices

### 27.A.1 Minimizers and Ground States

First, establish a conditional existence of the minimizer<sup>25</sup>) and the corresponding ground state of the original problem:

**Theorem 27.A.1.** Let  $\alpha Z < \kappa^*$  and let  $\mathsf{E}_N^* < \mathsf{E}_{N-1}^*$ . Then there exist a minimizer  $A = A_N$  for the original multiparticle problem and the corresponding ground state  $\Psi_N$ .

*Proof.* We know that for  $\alpha Z < \kappa^*$  (with  $\kappa^* > 0$  which does not depend on Z or positions of the nuclei)  $\mathsf{E}^*(A)$  is bounded from below; then  $\|\nabla \times A'\|^2$  is bounded from above for a near-minimizer A' (but constants do depend on Z and  $(\kappa^* - \alpha Z)$  here). On the other hand, for  $A' \in \mathscr{C}_0^\infty$  and  $\mathsf{E}_N(A') < \mathsf{E}_{N-1}(A')$  there exists a ground state  $\Psi_N(A')$ .

Therefore if  $A_{(k)} \in \mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}$  is a minimizing sequence for  $\mathsf{E}_N(A)$  we have also a sequence  $\Psi_N(A_{(k)})$  with  $\|\Psi_N(A_{(k)})\| = 1$ . Going if necessary to the subsequence, we can assume that  $A_{(k)}$  converges weakly in  $\mathscr{H}^1$  and strongly in  $\mathscr{L}_{\mathsf{loc}}^p$  for any p < 6; let A be its limit.

One can prove easily that  $\Psi_N(A_{(k)})$  converge weakly in  $\mathcal{H}^1$  and strongly in  $\mathcal{L}^2$  to  $\Psi$  and

$$(\mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{A},\mathsf{V}}\Psi,\Psi) = \lim_{k\to\infty} (\mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{A}_{(k)},\mathsf{V}}\Psi_{\mathsf{N}}(\mathsf{A}_{(k)}),\Psi_{\mathsf{N}}(\mathsf{A}_{(k)})),$$

and then

$$(\mathsf{H}_{A,V}\Psi,\Psi)+rac{1}{lpha}=\lim_{k\to\infty}\mathsf{E}_N(A_{(k)}),$$

which is  $\mathsf{E}^*_N$  since  $A_{(k)}$  is a minimizing sequence and then  $\Psi$  must be a ground state.

Now in this framework we establish properties of the minimizer and the ground state:

**Proposition 27.A.2**<sup>26)</sup>. Let  $\Psi = \Psi_N$  and  $A = A_N$  be a ground state and minimizer with energy  $\mathsf{E}_N^* < \mathsf{E}_{N-1}^*$ .

(i)  $\Psi \in \mathscr{C}^1$  and  $\Psi = O(e^{-\epsilon |\underline{x}|})$  as  $|\underline{x}| \to \infty$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25)</sup> We do not know if it is unique.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26)</sup> Cf. Proposition 26.A.7.

(ii) 
$$A \in \mathcal{C}^1$$
 and  $A = O(|x|^{-2}), \nabla \times A = O(|x|^{-3})$  as  $|x| \to \infty$ .

(iii) Let N < Z. Then  $V_{\Psi} - V \in \mathcal{C}^1$  and  $V_{\Psi} = (Z - N)|x|^{-1} + O(|x|^{-2})$ ,  $\nabla V_{\Psi} = -(Z - N)x|x|^{-3} + O(|x|^{-3})$  as  $|x| \to \infty$ .

*Proof.* An obvious proof, using also an equation

(27.A.1) 
$$\frac{2}{\alpha}\Delta A_j = -2N\operatorname{Re}\operatorname{tr} \int \Psi^{\dagger}(x, x_2, \dots, x_N)\sigma_j(D-A)_x \cdot \sigma \Psi(x, x_2, \dots, x_N) dx_2 \cdots dx_N,$$

is left to the reader. This equation is similar to (27.2.14) and is also derived from variational principles, its right-hand expression is  $\frac{\delta \Lambda}{\delta A}$  where  $\Lambda$  is the lowest eigenvalue of  $H_{A,V}$  on Fock' space.

### 27.A.2 Zhislin's Theorem

Theorem 27.A.3 (Zhislin's theorem) <sup>27)</sup>.  $\mathsf{E}_{N+1}^* < \mathsf{E}_N^*$  if N < Z.

*Proof.* An easy proof repeating with obvious modifications proof of Theorem 26.A.8 is left to the reader.  $\Box$ 

## 27.A.3 L. Erdös–J. P. Solovej's Lemma

We reproduce here Lemma 2.1 from L. Erdös, J. P. Solovej [1].

**Lemma 27.A.4.** There is a positive universal constant  $\kappa^*$  such that for any  $Z, \alpha$  with  $Z\alpha \leq \kappa^*$  we have

$$\inf_{N} \inf_{A} H_{A,V} \ge -CZ^{\frac{7}{3}}\delta^{1/2} - Z^{\frac{2}{3}}\delta^{-2}$$

if  $CZ^{-\frac{2}{3}} \leq \delta \leq C_1$  with a sufficiently large constant C.

*Proof.* Consider a pair of smooth functions  $\theta_0$  and  $\theta_1$ , such that  $\theta_0^2 + \theta_1^2 = 1$ ,  $\operatorname{supp}(\theta_1) \subset B(0, 2r), \ \theta_1 = 1$  on B(0, r), and  $|\nabla \theta_0|, \ |\nabla \theta_1| \leq Cr^{-1}$  with  $r = \delta Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27)</sup> Cf. Theorem 26.A.8.

Let  $\tilde{\chi}_0$  be a smooth cutoff function, supported on B(0, 3r) such that  $|\nabla \tilde{\chi}_0| \leq Cr^{-1}$  and  $\tilde{\chi}_0 = 1$  on B(0, 2r). Let  $\bar{A}$  be an average of A over B(0, 3r). Let  $A_0 := (A - \bar{A})\tilde{\chi}_0, B_0 := \nabla \times A_0$ ; then

$$abla \otimes {\mathcal A}_0 = ilde{\chi}_0 
abla \otimes {\mathcal A} + ({\mathcal A} - ar{{\mathcal A}}) \otimes 
abla ilde{\chi}_0.$$

Clearly

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} B_0^2 \, dx &\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} |\nabla \otimes A_0|^2 \, dx \leq 2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \tilde{\chi}_0^2 |\nabla \otimes A|^2 \, dx + Cr^{-2} \int_{B(0,3r)} (A - \bar{A})^2 \, dx \\ &\leq C_1 \int_{B(0,3r)} |\nabla \otimes A|^2 \, dx \end{split}$$

for some universal constant  $C_1$ , where in the last step we used the Poincaré inequality. Let  $\varphi$  be a real phase such that  $\nabla \varphi = \overline{A}$ . Since  $\tilde{\chi}_0 \equiv 1$  on the support of  $\theta_1$ , we have

$$\theta_1 H_{A,0} \theta_1 = \theta_1 e^{-i\varphi} H_{A-\bar{A},0} e^{i\varphi} \theta_1 = \theta_1 e^{-i\varphi} H_{A_0,V} e^{i\varphi} \theta_1.$$

After these localizations, we have

$$(27.A.2) \quad \mathcal{H}_{N,Z;A}^{1} \coloneqq \sum_{j=1}^{N} \left[ \theta_{1} \left( \mathcal{H}_{A,0} - \frac{Z}{|x|} - \left( |\nabla \theta_{0}|^{2} + |\nabla \theta_{1}|^{2} \right) \theta_{1} \right]_{j} + \frac{1}{\alpha} \int_{B(0,3r)} |\nabla \otimes A|^{2} dx \right]$$
$$\geq \sum_{j=1}^{N} \left[ \theta_{1} e^{-i\varphi} \left( \mathcal{H}_{A_{0},0} - W(x) \right) e^{i\varphi} \theta_{1} \right]_{j} + \frac{1}{2C_{1}\alpha} \int B_{0}^{2} dx$$

with

$$W(x) = \left[\frac{Z}{|x|} + Cr^{-2}\right] \mathbf{1}(|x| \le 2r),$$

where  $\mathbf{1}(X)$  is a characteristic function of X.

Now we use the "running energy scale" argument in E. Lieb, M. Loss, M. and J. Solovej [1].

(27.A.3) 
$$\sum_{j=1}^{N} \left[ \theta_{1} e^{-i\varphi} \left[ H_{A',0} - W \right] e^{i\varphi} \theta_{1} \right]_{j} \ge -\int_{0}^{\infty} \mathsf{N}_{-e} (H_{A',0} - W) \, de$$
$$\ge -\int_{0}^{\mu} \mathsf{N}_{-e} (H_{A',0} - W) \, de - \int_{\mu}^{\infty} \mathsf{N}_{0} \left( \frac{\mu}{e} H_{A',0} - W + e \right) \, de$$
$$\ge -\int_{0}^{\mu} \mathsf{N}_{-e} (H_{A',0} - W) \, de - \int_{\mu}^{\infty} \mathsf{N}_{0} \left( H_{A',0} - \frac{e}{\mu} W + \frac{e^{2}}{\mu} \right) \, de,$$

where  $N_{-e}(H)$  denotes the number of eigenvalues of a self-adjoint operator H below -e.

In the first term we use the bound  $H_{A_0,0} \ge (D - A_0)^2 - |B_0|$  and the CLR (i.e. Cwikel-Lieb-Rozenblum) bound:

$$(27.A.4) \quad \int_{0}^{\mu} \mathsf{N}_{-e}(\mathcal{H}_{A_{0},0} - W) \, de \leq C \int_{0}^{\mu} de \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} (W + |B_{0}| - e)_{+}^{\frac{3}{2}} \, dx$$
$$\leq C \int_{0}^{\mu} de \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} (W - e/2)_{+}^{\frac{3}{2}} \, dx + C \int_{0}^{\mu} de \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} (|B_{0}| - e^{2}/2\mu)_{+}^{\frac{3}{2}} \, dx$$
$$\leq C \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} W^{\frac{5}{2}} \, dx + C\mu^{\frac{1}{2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} B_{0}^{2} \, dx = CZ^{\frac{5}{2}}r^{\frac{1}{2}} + Cr^{-2} + C\mu^{\frac{1}{2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} B_{0}^{2} \, dx.$$

In the second term of (27.A.3) we use

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{H}_{A_0,0} &- \frac{e}{\mu} W \geq \frac{1}{2} \big[ (D - A_0)^2 - \frac{2eZ}{\mu|x|} \, \mathbf{1} (|x| \leq 2r) \big] \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} (D - A_0)^2 - |B_0| - \frac{Ce}{\mu r^2} \, \mathbf{1} (|x| \leq 2r), \end{split}$$

and that

$$(D-A_0)^2 - rac{2eZ}{\mu|x|} \mathbf{1}(|x| \le 2r) \ge (D-A_0)^2 - rac{4eZ}{\mu|x|} \ge -(rac{2eZ}{\mu})^2$$

i.e.

$$H_{A_0,0} - \frac{e}{\mu}W \geq \frac{1}{2}(D - A_0)^2 - 2(\frac{eZ}{\mu})^2 - |B_0| - \frac{Ce}{\mu r^2}\mathbf{1}(|x| \leq 2r).$$

Let  $\mu = 4Z^2$ , then using  $Ce/\mu r^2 \le e^2/4\mu$  for  $\mu \le e$  (i.e.  $C \le (\delta Z^{2/3})^2$ ), we get

$$(27.A.5) \quad \int_{\mu}^{\infty} \mathsf{N}_{0} \Big( \mathcal{H}_{A_{0},0} - \frac{e}{\mu} \mathcal{W} + \frac{e^{2}}{\mu} \Big) \, de$$
  
$$\leq \int_{\mu}^{\infty} \mathsf{N}_{0} \Big( \frac{1}{2} (D - A_{0})^{2} - |B_{0}| + \frac{e^{2}}{4\mu} \Big) \, de \leq C \int_{0}^{\mu} \, de \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} (|B_{0}| - e^{2}/4\mu)_{+}^{3/2} \, dx$$
  
$$\leq C \mu^{\frac{1}{2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} B_{0}^{2} \, dx.$$

Note that if  $Z\alpha \leq \kappa^*$  with some sufficiently small universal constant  $\kappa^*$ , then (27.A.5) can be controlled by the corresponding term in (27.A.2). Combining

the estimates (27.A.2), (27.A.3), (27.A.4) and (27.A.5), we obtain

$$H_{A,V} \ge -CZ^{\frac{5}{2}}r^{\frac{1}{2}} - Cr^{-2}$$

and lemma follows.

# Comments

The problem was considered first in several papers of L. Erdös, J. P. Solovej [1] and L. Erdös, S. Fournais, J. P. Solovej [1,3,4].

The same problem in the relativistic case was considered in L. Erdös, S. Fournais, J. P. Solovej [2] (under assumption preventing relativistic instability).



# Chapter 28

# The Case of Combined Magnetic Field

# 28.1 Introduction

In this Chapter instead of the Schrödinger operator without magnetic field as in Chapter 25, or with a constant magnetic field as in Chapter 26, or with a self-generated magnetic field as in Chapter 27 we consider the Schrödinger operator (27.1.1) with unknown magnetic field A, but then we add to the ground state energy of the atom (or molecule) the energy of the self-generated magnetic field (see selected term in (28.1.1) thus arriving to

(28.1.1) 
$$\mathsf{E}(A) = \inf \mathsf{Spec}(\mathsf{H}_{A,V}) + \alpha^{-1} \int |\nabla \times (A - A^0)|^2 \, dx$$

where  $A^0 = \frac{1}{2}B(-x_2, x_1, 0)$  is a constant *external magnetic field*. Then finally

(28.1.2) 
$$\mathsf{E}^* = \inf_{\mathsf{A}-\mathsf{A}^0\in\mathscr{H}^1_0}\mathsf{E}(\mathsf{A}),$$

defines a ground state energy with a combined magnetic field A while  $A' := A - A^0$  is a self-generated magnetic field.

Note that

(28.1.3) 
$$\int |\nabla \times (\mathcal{A} - \mathcal{A}^0)|^2 \, dx = \int \left( |\nabla \times \mathcal{A}|^2 - |\nabla \times \mathcal{A}^0|^2 \right) \, dx$$

which seems to be a more "physical" definition.

#### 28.1.1 Plan of the Chapter

First of all, we are lacking so far a *semiclassical local theory* and we are developing it in Sections 28.2–28.4, where we consider a one-particle quantum Hamiltonian (28.2.1) with the external constant magnetic field  $A^0$  of intensity  $\beta$ ,  $h \ll 1$  and a self-generated magnetic field  $(A - A^0)$ . Here theory significantly depends if  $\beta h \leq 1$  or  $\beta h \gtrsim 1$  as it was in the case without a self-generated magnetic field.

While Section 28.2 is preparatory and rather functional-analytical, Sections 28.3 and 28.4 are microlocal; they cover cases  $\beta h \leq 1$  and  $\beta h \geq 1$  respectively. These three sections are similar to a single Section 27.2. However in Sections 28.3 and 28.4 various non-degeneracy assumptions play a very significant role, especially for large  $\beta$ .

Then in Section 28.5 we consider a global theory if a potential has Coulomb singularities and (in some statements) behaves like (magnetic) Thomas-Fermi potential both near singularities and far from them.

Finally, in Section 28.6 we apply these results to our original problem of the ground state energy so far assuming that the number of nuclei is 1. One can recover the same results if  $M \ge 2$  but the external magnetic field B is weak enough. No surprise that the theory is different in the cases  $B \le Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  and  $Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \le B \ll Z^3$  (see Chapter 25 where this difference appears). Since as M = 1 the strongest non-degeneracy assumption is surely achieved and as  $M \ge 2$  much weaker non-degeneracy assumption is achieved in the border zone (see Chapter 25) our remainder estimates for large B significantly differ in the atomic and molecular cases.

In Appendix 28.A we first generalize Lieb-Loss-Solovej estimate to the case of the combined magnetic field (which is necessary if  $\beta h \gtrsim 1$ ), then establish electrostatic inequality in the current settings and finally study very special pointwise spectral expressions for a Schrödinger operator in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  with linear magnetic and scalar potentials (we considered such operators already in Section 16.6)

### 28.1.2 Unfinished Business

One can apply these results to estimates of the excessive positive and negative charges (the estimates for excessive positive charges, if  $M \ge 2$  in the free nuclei framework) and estimates or asymptotics of the ionization energy in the same manner as we did it in Chapters 25–27; however there are no new

ideas but rather tedious calculations and we leave it to those readers who decide to explore these topics, which is clearly serious task.

# 28.2 Local Semiclassical Trace Asymptotics: Preparation

# 28.2.1 Toy-Model

Let us consider operator (27.1.4)

(28.2.1) 
$$H = H_{A,V} = ((hD - A) \cdot \sigma)^2 - V(x)$$

in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  where A, V are real-valued functions and  $V \in \mathscr{C}^{\frac{5}{2}}, A - A^0 \in \mathscr{H}^1_0$ . Then operator  $H_{A,V}$  is self-adjoint. We are interested in  $\operatorname{Tr}^-(H_{A,V}) = \operatorname{Tr}^-(H_{A,V}^-)$ (the sum of all negative eigenvalues of this operator). Let

(28.2.2) 
$$\mathsf{E}^* = \mathsf{E}^*_{\kappa} \coloneqq \inf_{\mathsf{A} - \mathsf{A}^0 \in \mathscr{H}^1_0} \mathsf{E}(\mathsf{A}),$$

where

(28.2.3) 
$$\mathsf{E}(A) = \mathsf{E}_{\kappa}(A) \coloneqq \left(\mathsf{Tr}^{-}(H_{A,V}) + \kappa^{-1}h^{-2}\int |\partial(A - A^{0})|^{2} dx\right)$$

with a matrix  $\partial A = (\partial_i A_j)_{i,j=1,2,3}$ . Recall that  $A^0$  is a linear potential,  $A^0(x) = \frac{1}{2}\beta(-x_2, x_1, 0)$ . We consider rather separately cases

$$(28.2.4)_{1,2} \qquad \qquad \beta h \lesssim 1 \qquad \text{and} \qquad \beta h \gtrsim 1$$

of the *moderate* and *strong* external magnetic field.

To deal with the described problem we need to consider first a formal semiclassical approximation.

### 28.2.2 Formal Semiclassical Theory

### Semiclassical Theory: $\beta h \lesssim 1$

Let us replace the trace expression  $\operatorname{Tr}(H_{A,V}^-\psi)$  by its magnetic semiclassical approximation  $-h^{-3}\int P_{Bh}(V)\psi \,dx$  where  $B = |\nabla \times A|$  is a scalar intensity of the magnetic field and  $P_*(.)$  is a pressure. Then  $\mathsf{E}(A) \approx \mathcal{E}(A)$  with

(28.2.5) 
$$\mathcal{E}(A) = \mathcal{E}_{\kappa}(A) \coloneqq -h^{-3} \int P_{Bh}(V)\psi \, dx + \frac{1}{\kappa h^2} \int |\partial A'|^2 \, dx.$$

Assuming that  $|\partial A'| \ll \beta$ ,  $A' = (A - A^0)$  we find out that

$$(28.2.6) - h^{-3} \int P_{Bh}(V)\psi \, dx$$
  

$$\approx -h^{-3} \int \left( P_{\beta h}(V) - \partial_{\beta} P_{\beta h}(V)(B-\beta)\psi \right) \, dx$$
  

$$\approx -h^{-3} \int P_{\beta h}(V)\psi \, dx$$
  

$$-h^{-3} \int \left[ \partial_{x_{2}} (\partial_{\beta} P_{\beta h}(V)\psi) \cdot A_{1}' - \partial_{x_{1}} (\partial_{\beta} P_{\beta h}(V)\psi) \cdot A_{2}' \right] \, dx,$$

where we used that

$$(28.2.7) B \approx \beta - \partial_{x_2} A'_1 + \partial_{x_1} A'_2$$

and integrated by parts. Then  $\mathcal{E}(A) \approx \bar{\mathcal{E}}(A)$  with

(28.2.8) 
$$\bar{\mathcal{E}}(A) = \bar{\mathcal{E}}_{\kappa}(A) := -h^{-3} \int P_{\beta h}(V)\psi \, dx - h^{-3} \int \left[ \partial_{x_2} (\partial_{\beta} P_{\beta h}(V)\psi) \cdot A'_1 - \partial_{x_1} (\partial_{\beta} P_{\beta h}(V)\psi) \cdot A'_2 \right] dx + \frac{1}{\kappa h^2} \int |\partial A'|^2 \, dx$$

and replacing approximate equalities by exact ones and optimizing with respect to  $A^\prime$  we arrive to

(28.2.9) 
$$\Delta A'_{1} = -\frac{1}{2}\kappa h^{-1}\partial_{x_{2}} \left(\partial_{\beta}P_{\beta h}(V)\psi\right), \quad \Delta A'_{2} = \frac{1}{2}\kappa h^{-1}\partial_{x_{1}} \left(\partial_{\beta}P_{\beta}(V)\psi\right), \\ \Delta A'_{3} = 0$$

and

(28.2.10) 
$$\mathcal{E}_{\kappa}^* \coloneqq \inf_{A: A - A^0 \in \mathcal{H}_0^1} \mathcal{E}_{\kappa}(A) \approx \overline{\mathcal{E}}_{\kappa}^* \coloneqq \inf_{A: A - A^0 \in \mathcal{H}_0^1} \overline{\mathcal{E}}_{\kappa}(A).$$

To justify our analysis we need to justify approximate equality

$$(28.2.11) \quad -h^{-3} \int P_{Bh}(V) \, dx + \frac{1}{\kappa h^2} \int |\partial A'|^2 \, dx$$
$$\approx -h^{-3} \int P_{\beta h}(V) \psi \, dx - h^{-3} \int \left[ \partial_\beta P_{\beta h}(V) \psi(-\partial_{x_2} A'_1 + \partial_{x_1} A'_2) \right] \, dx + \frac{1}{\kappa h^2} \int |\partial A'|^2 \, dx$$

and estimate an error when we minimize the right-hand expression instead of the left-hand one. To do this observe that (even without assumptions  $Bh \lesssim 1$ ,  $\beta h \lesssim 1$ )

(28.2.12) 
$$|P_{Bh}(V) - P_{\beta h}(V) - \partial_{\beta h} P_{\beta h}(V) \cdot (B - \beta)h| \le C(B - \beta)^2 h^2 + C|B - \beta|^{\frac{3}{2}} \beta h^{\frac{5}{2}}.$$

Indeed, one can prove it easily recalling that

(28.2.13) 
$$P_{\beta h}(V) = \varkappa_0 \sum_{j \ge 0} (1 - \frac{1}{2} \delta_{j0}) (V - 2j\beta h)_+^{\frac{3}{2}} \beta h$$

and considering cases  $\beta h \ge 1$ ,  $Bh \ge 1$ ,  $|B - \beta| \ge \beta h$ , analyzing different terms in (28.2.13) and observing that the last term in (28.2.12) appears only in the case  $\beta h \le 1$ ,  $|B - \beta| \le \beta$ .

Then since  $|B - \beta| \le |B'|$  (where  $B' = |\partial(A - A^0)|$ ) we conclude that the left-hand expression of (28.2.11) is greater than

$$-h^{-3}\int P_{\beta h}(V)\psi dx - C\|B'\|\beta h^{-1} - C\|B'\|^{\frac{3}{2}}\beta h^{-\frac{1}{2}} + \kappa^{-1}h^{-2}\|B'\|^{2},$$

where we used that

(28.2.14) 
$$|\partial_{\beta h} \mathcal{P}_{\beta h}(V)| \le C\beta h \quad \text{if } V \le c;$$

then a minimizer for the left-hand expression of (28.2.11) must satisfy

$$(28.2.15) ||B'|| \le C\kappa\beta h$$

and one can observe easily that the same is true and for the minimizer for the right-hand expression as well.

Also observe that

(28.2.16) 
$$B = \beta + \partial_{x_1} A'_2 - \partial_{x_2} A'_1 + O(\beta^{-1} |B'|^2).$$

Then for both minimizers the differences between the left-hand and right-hand expressions of (28.2.11) do not exceed  $C\kappa^{\frac{5}{2}}\beta^{\frac{5}{2}}$  and therefore

$$(28.2.17) \qquad \qquad |\mathcal{E}^* - \bar{\mathcal{E}}^*| \le C\kappa^{\frac{5}{2}}\beta^{\frac{5}{2}}.$$

One can calculate easily the minimizer for

(28.2.18) 
$$-h^{-3}\int \left[\partial_{\beta}P_{\beta h}(V)\psi(-\partial_{x_{2}}A_{1}'+\partial_{x_{1}}A_{2}')\right]dx+\frac{1}{\kappa h^{2}}\int |\partial A'|^{2}dx$$
and conclude that  $A_{i}'=\kappa\beta ha_{i}$  with  $a_{3}=0$  and

(28.2.19)  $\Delta a_1 = -(\beta h)^{-1} \partial x_2 \partial_{\beta h} P_{\beta h}(V), \quad \Delta a_2 = (\beta h)^{-1} \partial x_1 \partial_{\beta h} P_{\beta h}(V)$ 

and the minimum is negative and  $O(\kappa\beta^2)$ ; we call it *correction term*; in fact,  $\|\partial A'\| \simeq \kappa\beta h$  and the minimum is  $\simeq -\kappa\beta^2$  in the generic case.

Then a minimum of the left-hand expression of (28.2.11) is equal to the minimum of the right-hand expression modulo  $O(\kappa^{\frac{3}{2}}\beta^{\frac{5}{2}}h)$ .

Remark 28.2.1. (i) One can improve this estimate under non-degeneracy assumptions (28.3.60) or (28.3.65). However even in the general case observe that

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{E}(A'') &- \mathcal{E}(A') \\ \geq &- C\beta h^{-\frac{1}{2}} \|B' - B''\|^{\frac{3}{2}} - C\beta h^{-\frac{1}{2}} \|B'\|^{\frac{1}{2}} \cdot \|B' - B''\| + 2\epsilon_0 \kappa^{-1} h^{-2} \|\partial(A' - A'')\|^2 \\ &\geq - C\kappa^2 \beta^2 h + \epsilon_0 \kappa^{-1} h^{-2} \|\partial(A' - A'')\|^2 \end{split}$$

if A' is the minimizer for  $\bar{\mathcal{E}}$  and therefore since  $\|B'\|\leq C\kappa\beta h$  we conclude that

(28.2.20) 
$$\mathcal{E}^* \ge \mathcal{E}(\mathcal{A}') - C\kappa^2 \beta^2 h$$

and

$$(28.2.21) \qquad \qquad \|\partial (\mathsf{A}'-\mathsf{A}'')\| \le C\kappa^{\frac{3}{2}}\beta h^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

if A'' is an almost-minimizer for  $\mathcal{E}(A'')$ .

(ii) Observe, that picking up A' = 0 and applying arguments of Chapter 18 we can derive an upper estimate

(28.2.22) 
$$\mathsf{E}^* \leq -\int P_{\beta h}(V)\psi \, dx + O(h^{-1});$$

however this estimate is not sharp for  $\kappa\beta^2 \gg h^{-1}$  because  $\mathcal{E}^*$  is less than the main term here with a gap  $\approx \kappa\beta^2$ . For  $\kappa \approx 1$  it gives us a proper upper estimate only if  $\beta \leq h^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ .

Therefore for  $\kappa\beta^2 \gg h^{-1}$  an upper estimate is not as trivial as in Chapter 26; in the future we pick up as A' a minimizer for  $\bar{\mathcal{E}}(A)$  (mollified by x as this minimizer is not smooth enough).

#### Semiclassical Theory: $\beta h \gtrsim 1$

Consider  $\beta h \geq 1$ . Without any loss of the generality one can assume that  $\|V\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}} \leq \beta h$  and  $\|\partial A'\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}} \leq \frac{1}{2}\beta$ . Then in the definition (28.2.13) of  $P_{\beta h}(V)$  (etc) remains only term with j = 0:

(28.2.13)' 
$$P_{\beta h}(V) = \frac{1}{2}\varkappa_0 V_+^{\frac{3}{2}}\beta h,$$

which leads to simplifications of  $\mathcal{E}(A')$  and  $\overline{\mathcal{E}}(A')$ ; both of them become

$$(28.2.8)' \quad \frac{1}{2}\varkappa_0\beta h^{-2} \int V_+^{\frac{3}{2}}\psi \,dx \\ \qquad + \frac{1}{2}\varkappa_0 h^{-2} \int V_+^{\frac{3}{2}} (\partial_{x_1}A_2' - \partial_{x_2}A_1')\psi \,dx + \kappa^{-1}h^{-2} \|\partial A'\|^2$$

modulo  $O(\beta^{-1}h^{-2}||B'||^2)$  and equations to the minimizer become

$$(28.2.9)' \quad \Delta A_1' = -\frac{1}{2}\varkappa_0 \kappa \partial_{\varkappa_2} \left( V_+^{\frac{3}{2}} \psi \right), \quad \Delta A_2' = \frac{1}{2}\varkappa_0 \kappa \partial_{\varkappa_1} \left( V_+^{\frac{3}{2}} \psi \right), \quad \Delta A_3' = 0.$$

Then  $||B'|| \simeq \kappa$  and a correction term is negative and  $\simeq -\kappa h^{-2}$  in the generic case. An error  $O(\beta^{-1}h^{-2}||B'||^2)$  becomes  $O(\kappa\beta^{-1}h^{-2})$  (and thus not exceeding microlocal error  $O(\beta)$ ).

### 28.2.3 Estimate from below

#### **Basic Estimates**

Let us estimate E(A) from below. First we need the following really simple

**Proposition 28.2.2**<sup>1)</sup>. Consider operator  $H_{A,V}$ , defined on  $\mathcal{H}^2(B(0,1)) \cap \mathcal{H}^1_0(B(0,1))^{2)}$ . Let  $V \in \mathcal{L}^4$ .

(i) Let  $\beta h \leq 1$ . Then

(28.2.23)

$$E^* \ge -Ch^{-3}$$

and either

(28.2.24) 
$$\frac{1}{\kappa h^2} \int |\partial (A - A^0)|^2 \, dx \le C h^{-3}$$

or  $E(A) \ge ch^{-3}$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1)</sup> Cf. Proposition 27.2.1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2)</sup> I.e. on  $\mathcal{H}^{2}(B(0,1))$  with the Dirichlet boundary conditions.

(ii) Let 
$$\beta h \ge 1$$
. Then  
(28.2.25)  $E^* \ge -C\beta h^{-2} - C\kappa^{\frac{1}{3}}\beta^{\frac{4}{3}}h^{-\frac{4}{3}}$   
and either  
(28.2.26)  $\frac{1}{\kappa h^2} \int |\partial(A - A^0)|^2 dx \le C\beta h^{-2} + C\kappa^{\frac{1}{3}}\beta^{\frac{4}{3}}h^{-\frac{4}{3}}$   
or  $E(A) \ge C\beta h^{-2} + C\kappa^{\frac{1}{3}}\beta^{\frac{4}{3}}h^{-\frac{4}{3}}$ .  
(iii) Furthermore, let  $\beta h \ge 1$  and  
(28.2.27)  $\kappa\beta h^2 \le c$ .  
Then  
(28.2.28)  $E^* \ge -C\beta h^{-2}$   
and either  
(28.2.29)  $\frac{1}{\kappa h^2} \int |\partial(A - A^0)|^2 dx \le C\beta h^{-2}$ 

or  $E(A) \geq C\beta h^{-2}$ .

*Proof.* Using estimate  $(28.A.2)^{3}$  we have

(28.2.30) 
$$\mathsf{E}(A) \ge -C(1+\beta h)h^{-3}$$
  
 $-C\beta h^{-\frac{3}{2}} \left(\int |\partial A'|^2 dx\right)^{\frac{1}{4}} - Ch^{-\frac{3}{2}} \left(\int |\partial A'|^2 dx\right)^{\frac{3}{4}} + \frac{1}{\kappa h^2} \left(\int |\partial A'|^2 dx\right),$ 

which implies both Statements (i)–(ii) while Statement (iii) is a special case of Statement (ii).  $\hfill \Box$ 

Remark 28.2.3. (i) Definitely we would prefer to have an estimate

(28.2.31) 
$$\mathsf{E}(A) \ge -C(1+\beta h)h^{-3}$$
  
 $-Ch^{-2} \left(\int |\partial A'|^2 dx\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} + \frac{1}{\kappa h^2} \left(\int |\partial A'|^2 dx\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$ 

from the very beginning, but we cannot prove it without some smoothness conditions to A and they will be proven only later under the same assumption (28.2.27).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3)</sup> Magnetic Lieb–Thirring inequality (5) of E. H. Lieb, M. Loss, M. and J. P. Solovej [1]) would be sufficient for  $\beta h \leq 1$  but will lead to a worse estimate than we claim for  $\beta h \geq 1$ .

(ii) This assumption (28.2.27) in a bit stronger form  $(28.2.27)^*$  will be required for our microlocal analysis in the next Section 28.3.

Remark 28.2.4. Using Proposition 28.2.2 one can prove easily the following:

(i) Proposition 27.2.2 (existence of the minimizer) remains valid;

(ii) As in Remark 27.2.3 we do not know if the minimizer is unique. From now on until further notice let A be a minimizer. We also assume that V is sufficiently smooth ( $V \in \mathscr{C}^{2+\delta}$ ). This is be the case for magnetic Thomas-Fermi potential for sure.

(iii) Proposition 27.2.4 (namely, equation (27.2.14) to a minimizer) remains valid for both A and  $A' = A - A^0$ .

**Proposition 28.2.5**<sup>4)</sup>. (i) Let  $\beta h \leq 1$  and  $0 < \kappa \leq (1 - \epsilon_0)\kappa^*$ . Assume that

- (28.2.32)  $\mathsf{E}^*(\kappa^*,\beta,h) \ge \mathcal{E} CM,$
- $(28.2.33) \qquad \qquad \mathsf{E}^*(\kappa,\beta,h) \le \mathcal{E} + CM$

with the same number  $\mathcal{E}$  and with  $M \geq Ch^{-1} + C\kappa^*\beta^2$ . Then

(28.2.34) 
$$\int |\partial A'|^2 dx \leq C_1 \kappa h^2 M;$$

(ii) Let  $\beta h \geq 1$  and  $\kappa^* \beta h \leq c$ ,  $0 < \kappa \leq (1 - \epsilon_0)\kappa^*$ . Assume that (28.2.32)–(28.2.33) are fulfilled with the same number  $\mathcal{E}$  and with  $M \geq C\beta + C\kappa^* h^{-2}$ . Then estimate also (28.2.34) holds.

*Proof.* Proof obviously follows the proof of Proposition 27.2.5.  $\Box$ 

### Estimates to a Minimizer: $\beta h \lesssim 1$

Consider first the simpler case  $\beta h \leq 1$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4)</sup> Cf. Proposition 27.2.5.

#### **Proposition 28.2.6.** Let $\beta h \leq 1$ . Then

(28.2.35)  $|e(x, y, \tau)| \leq C(1 + \mu^{\frac{1}{2}}h^{\frac{1}{2}})h^{-3}$ and (28.2.36)  $|((hD - A)_x \cdot \sigma)e(x, y, \tau)| \leq C(1 + \mu^{\frac{1}{2}}h^{\frac{1}{2}})h^{-3},$ where (28.2.37)  $\mu = ||\partial A'||_{\infty}.$ 

*Proof.* Without any loss of the generality one can assume that  $\mu h \ge 1$ . Consider  $\mu^{-\frac{1}{2}}h^{\frac{1}{2}}$ -element in  $\mathbb{R}^3_{\times}$ . Without any loss of the generality one can assume that  $A^0(z) = A(z) = 0$  in its center z.

Since both operators  $E(\tau)$  and  $((hD - A)_{\times} \cdot \sigma)E(\tau)$  have their operator norms bounded by c in  $\mathcal{L}^2$ , one can prove easily that both operators  $\phi D^{\alpha}E(\tau)$ and  $\phi D^{\alpha}((hD - A)_{\times} \cdot \sigma)E(\tau)$  have their operator norms bounded by  $C\zeta^{|\alpha|}$ with  $\zeta = \mu^{\frac{1}{2}}h^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  if  $\alpha \in \{0, 1\}^3$  and  $\phi$  is supported in the mentioned element.

Then operator norms of both operators  $\gamma_{x}E(\tau)$  and  $\gamma_{x}((hD-A)_{x}\cdot\sigma)E(\tau)$ from  $\mathcal{L}^{2}$  to  $\mathbb{C}^{q}$  do not exceed  $C_{0}\zeta_{1}\zeta_{3}^{\frac{1}{2}}$  and therefore the same is true for adjoint operators; here  $\gamma_{z}$  is operator of restriction to x = z.

Since  $E(\tau)^* = E(\tau)^2 = E(\tau)$  we conclude that the left-hand expressions in (28.2.35) and (28.2.36) do not exceed  $C\zeta^3$ , which is exactly the right-hand expression in both of them.

Then from equation (27.2.14), which remains valid (see Remark 28.2.4(iii)) we conclude that

(28.2.38)  $\|\Delta A'\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}} \leq C\kappa \left(1 + \mu^{\frac{1}{2}}h^{\frac{1}{2}}\right)h^{-1}$ and therefore (28.2.39)  $\|\partial^2 A'\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}} \leq C\kappa |\log h| \left(1 + \mu^{\frac{1}{2}}h^{\frac{1}{2}}\right)h^{-1}.$ 

Further, combining (28.2.39) with (28.2.24), the standard inequality  $\|\partial A'\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}} \leq \|\partial^2 A'\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}}^{\frac{3}{5}} \cdot \|\partial A'\|^{\frac{2}{5}}$  and (28.2.37), we conclude that

$$\mu \leq C(\kappa |\log h|)^{\frac{4}{5}} (1 + \mu^{\frac{1}{2}} h^{\frac{1}{2}})^{\frac{4}{5}} h^{-\frac{4}{5}}$$

and therefore  $\mu h \ll 1$ . Then

$$(28.2.40) \qquad \qquad \|\partial \mathsf{A}'\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}} \leq C(\kappa |\log h|)^{\frac{4}{5}} h^{-\frac{4}{5}}$$

and therefore due to (28.2.39)

$$(28.2.41) \|\partial A'\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}} \le C\kappa |\log h|h^{-1}$$

(where for a sake of simplicity we slightly increase power of logarithm) thus arriving to

**Proposition 28.2.7.** Let  $\beta h \leq 1$  and  $\kappa \leq \kappa^*$ . Let A be a minimizer. Then estimates (28.2.40) and (28.2.41) hold.

Furthermore, the standard scaling arguments applied to the results of Section 27.2 imply that in fact the left-hand expressions of estimates (28.2.36) and (28.2.24) do not exceed  $C(1 + \beta + \mu)h^{-2}$  and  $C(1 + \beta + \mu)^2h^{-1}$  respectively.

Therefore  $\|\partial^2 A'\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}}$  does not exceed  $C\kappa |\log h|(1+\beta+\mu)$  and  $\|\partial A'\|$ does not exceed  $C\kappa^{\frac{1}{2}}(1+\beta+\mu)h^{\frac{1}{2}}$ , and then  $\mu \leq C(\kappa |\log h|)^{\frac{4}{5}}(1+\beta+\mu)^{\frac{4}{5}}h^{\frac{1}{5}}$ which implies  $\mu \leq C(\kappa |\log h|)^{\frac{4}{5}}(1+\beta)^{\frac{4}{5}}h^{\frac{1}{5}}$  and finally we arrive to

**Proposition 28.2.8.** Let  $\beta h \leq 1$  and  $\kappa \leq \kappa^*$ . Then

(28.2.42)  $\|\partial A'\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}} \leq C(\kappa |\log h|)^{\frac{4}{5}} (1+\beta)^{\frac{4}{5}} h^{\frac{1}{5}}$ and (28.2.43)  $\|\partial^2 A'\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}} \leq C\kappa |\log h| (1+\beta).$ 

Estimates to a Minimizer:  $\beta h \gtrsim 1$ 

Consider now more complicated case  $\beta h \geq 1$ .

**Proposition 28.2.9.** Let  $\beta h \ge 1$ . Then the following estimates hold with  $\mu = \|\partial A'\|_{\infty}$ :

(28.2.44)  $|e(x, y, \tau)| \leq C(\beta + \mu)(1 + \mu^{\frac{1}{2}}h^{\frac{1}{2}})h^{-2}$ 

and

(28.2.45) 
$$|((hD - A)_x \cdot \sigma)e(x, y, \tau)| \le C(\beta + \mu)(1 + \mu^{\frac{1}{2}}h^{\frac{1}{2}})h^{-2}$$

*Proof.* Without any loss of the generality one can assume that  $\mu \leq \beta$ ; otherwise we simply replace  $\beta$  by  $\mu$ . Consider  $(\beta^{-\frac{1}{2}}h^{\frac{1}{2}}, \beta^{-\frac{1}{2}}h^{\frac{1}{2}}, (\mu+1)^{-\frac{1}{2}}h^{\frac{1}{2}})$ -box in  $\mathbb{R}^3_{\times}$ , where recall that  $\nabla \times A^0$  is directed along  $x_3$ . Without any loss of the generality one can assume that  $A^0(z) = A'(z) = 0$  in its center z.

Since both operators  $E(\tau)$  and  $((hD - A)_{\times} \cdot \sigma)E(\tau)$  have their operator norms bounded by c in  $\mathscr{L}^2$ , one can prove easily that both operators  $\phi D^{\alpha}E(\tau)$ and  $\phi D^{\alpha}((hD - A)_{\times} \cdot \sigma)E(\tau)$  have their operator norms bounded by  $C\zeta^{\alpha}$  with  $\zeta_1 = \zeta_2 = \beta^{\frac{1}{2}}h^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  and  $\zeta_3 = (h^{-1} + \mu^{\frac{1}{2}}h^{-\frac{1}{2}})$  for  $\alpha \in \{0, 1\}^3$  and  $\phi$ , supported in the mentioned cube.

Then operator norms of both operators  $\gamma_{x}E(\tau)$  and  $\gamma_{x}((hD-A)_{x}\cdot\sigma)E(\tau)$ from  $\mathcal{L}^{2}$  to  $\mathbb{C}^{q}$  do not exceed  $C_{0}\zeta_{1}\zeta_{3}^{\frac{1}{2}}$  and therefore the same is true for adjoint operators; recall that  $\gamma_{z}$  is operator of restriction to x = z.

Since  $E(\tau)^* = E(\tau)^2 = E(\tau)$  we conclude that the left-hand expressions in (28.2.44) and (28.2.45) do not exceed  $C\zeta_1^2\zeta_3$  which is exactly the right-hand expressions in both of them.

Then from equation (27.2.14), which remains valid (see Remark 28.2.4(iii)), we conclude that

(28.2.46)  $\|\Delta A'\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}} \leq C\kappa \left(\beta + \mu\right) \left(1 + \mu^{\frac{1}{2}} h^{\frac{1}{2}}\right)$ and therefore (28.2.47)  $\|\partial^{2} A'\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}} \leq C\kappa |\log \beta| \left(\beta + \mu\right) \left(1 + \mu^{\frac{1}{2}} h^{\frac{1}{2}}\right).$ 

Let (28.2.27)) be fulfilled. Then combining (28.2.47) with (28.2.29) and  $\|\partial A'\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}} \leq \|\partial^2 A'\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}}^{\frac{3}{5}} \cdot \|\partial A'\|^{\frac{2}{5}}$  we conclude that

 $\mu \leq C(\kappa |\log \beta|)^{\frac{3}{5}} (\beta + \mu)^{\frac{3}{5}} (1 + h^{\frac{1}{2}} \mu^{\frac{1}{2}})^{\frac{3}{5}} \times \kappa^{\frac{1}{5}} \beta^{\frac{1}{5}}$ 

and then <u>either</u>

(28.2.48) 
$$1 \le \mu h \le C(\kappa \beta h | \log \beta |)^{\frac{6}{7}} (\kappa \beta h^2)^{\frac{2}{7}}$$

or  $\mu h \leq 1$ . In the former case of (28.2.48)

(28.2.49)  $\|\partial A'\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}} \leq C(\kappa\beta |\log\beta|)^{\frac{8}{7}} h^{\frac{3}{7}}$ 

and

(28.2.50) 
$$\|\partial^2 A'\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}} \leq C(\kappa\beta |\log\beta|)^{\frac{11}{7}} h^{\frac{5}{7}}.$$

Observe that the right-hand expression of (28.2.49) is less than  $C\beta$  under assumption

$$(28.2.27)^* \qquad \qquad \kappa\beta h^2 |\log\beta|^K \le c$$

with sufficiently large K; however the right-hand expression of (28.2.50) is not necessarily less than  $C\beta$  under this assumption and we need more delicate arguments.

Without any loss of the generality we can assume that  $\partial_3 A_3(z) = 0$  (we can reach it by a gauge transformation).

Then considering  $(\beta^{-\frac{1}{2}}h^{\frac{1}{2}}, \beta^{-\frac{1}{2}}h^{\frac{1}{2}}, \nu^{-\frac{1}{3}}h^{\frac{1}{3}})$ -box in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  we can replace factor  $(1 + \mu^{\frac{1}{2}}h^{\frac{1}{2}})h^{-1}$  by  $(1 + \nu^{\frac{1}{3}}h^{\frac{2}{3}})h^{-1}$  in all above estimates with  $\nu = \|\partial^2 A'\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}}$  and therefore (28.2.47) is replaced by

 $\nu \leq C\kappa |\log\beta|\beta \left(1+\nu^{\frac{1}{3}}h^{\frac{2}{3}}\right)$ 

and then under assumption  $(28.2.27)^*$ 

(28.2.51)  $\nu = \|\partial^2 A'\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}} \le C\kappa |\log \beta|\beta$ which implies (28.2.52)  $\|\partial A'\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}} \le C(\kappa |\log \beta|\beta)^{\frac{4}{5}}.$ 

Obviously, if  $\mu h \leq 1$  we arrive to the same conclusion in easier way. Thus we have proven

**Proposition 28.2.10.** Let  $\beta h \ge 1$ ,  $\kappa \le \kappa^*$  and  $(28.2.27)^*$  be fulfilled. Then estimates (28.2.51)–(28.2.52) hold.

# **28.3** Microlocal Analysis Unleashed: $\beta h \lesssim 1$

### 28.3.1 Rough Estimate to a Minimizer

Recall equation (27.2.14) to a minimizer A of E(A):

(27.2.14) 
$$\frac{2}{\kappa h^2} \Delta A_j(x) = \Phi_j(x) := -\operatorname{Retr} \left[ \sigma_j \left( \left( (hD - A)_x \cdot \sigma e(x, y, \tau) + e(x, y, \tau)^t (hD - A)_y \cdot \sigma \right) \right) \right] |_{y=x},$$

where  $e(x, y, \tau)$  is the Schwartz kernel of the spectral projector  $\theta(\tau - H_{A,V})$ . In the current framework this equation should be replaced by

(28.3.1) 
$$\frac{2}{\kappa h^2} \Delta \left( A_j(x) - A_j^0(x) \right) = \Phi_j(x)$$

with  $\Phi_j(x)$  defined above but since  $\Delta A_j^0 = 0$  these two equations are equivalent. We assume in this section that  $\beta h \lesssim 1$ .

### **Proposition 28.3.1.** Let $\beta h \lesssim 1$ and let

 $\begin{aligned} &\|\partial A'\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}} \leq \mu \leq h^{-1}.\\ &Then \ for \ \theta \in [1,2]\\ (28.3.3) \quad \|\Phi_j\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}} + \|h\partial\Phi_j\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}}\\ &\leq Ch^{-2}\Big(1 + \beta^{\frac{3}{2}}h^{\frac{1}{2}} + |\log h| + (\beta h)^{\frac{\theta-1}{\theta+1}} \|\partial A'\|_{\mathscr{C}^{\theta}}^{\frac{1}{\theta+1}} + (\beta h)^{\frac{\theta-1}{\theta+1}} \|\partial V\|_{\mathscr{C}^{\theta}}^{\frac{1}{\theta+1}}\Big).\\ &Proof. \ (i) \ Assume \ first \ that \ V \approx 1. \end{aligned}$ 

(28.3.4) 
$$\beta h^{\frac{1}{3}} \lesssim 1$$
 and  $\mu = 1$ 

Note that we need to consider only case  $\beta \geq 2$  because otherwise estimate has been proven in Section 27.2 (see Proposition 27.2.16). Then the contribution of the zone  $\mathcal{Z}'_{\rho} := \{ |\xi_3 - A_3(x)| \leq \rho \}$  with  $\rho \geq \rho_* := C_0 \beta^{-1}$  to the Tauberian remainder with  $T = T_* := \epsilon \beta^{-1}$  does not exceed

(28.3.5) 
$$Ch^{-2}\rho \Big(\beta + h^{\frac{1}{2}(\theta-1)} \|\partial A'\|_{\mathscr{C}^{\theta}}^{\frac{1}{2}} + h^{\frac{1}{2}(\theta-1)} \|\partial V\|_{\mathscr{C}^{\theta}}^{\frac{1}{2}}\Big).$$

Indeed, if Q is *h*-pseudodifferential operator supported in this zone then exactly as in the proof of (27.2.48) for  $T \leq T_*$ 

$$|F_{t\to h^{-1}\tau}\bar{\chi}_{\tau}(t)\Gamma_{x}((hD)^{k}Q_{x}U_{\varepsilon})| \leq C\rho h^{-2}$$

and

$$|F_{t\to h^{-1}\tau}\bar{\chi}_{\tau}(t)\Gamma_{x}((hD)^{k}Q_{x}(U-U_{\varepsilon}))| \leq C\rho h^{-4}\vartheta T^{2},$$

where U and  $U_{\varepsilon}$  are Schwartz kernels of  $e^{-ih^{-1}tH_{A,V}}$  and  $e^{-ih^{-1}tH_{A_{\varepsilon},V_{\varepsilon}}}$  respectively and  $\vartheta$  is an operator norm of perturbation  $(H_{A_{\varepsilon},V_{\varepsilon}} - H_{A,V})$ ,  $A_{\varepsilon}$  and  $V_{\varepsilon}$  are  $\varepsilon$ -mollification of A and V respectively and  $\varepsilon \geq h$ ; then

$$|F_{t\to h^{-1}\tau}\bar{\chi}_{\tau}(t)\Gamma_{x}((hD)^{k}Q_{x}U)| \leq C\rho(h^{-2}+h^{-4}\vartheta T^{2})$$

and therefore the Tauberian error does not exceed  $C\rho(h^{-2}T^{-1} + h^{-4}\vartheta T)$ .

Optimizing by  $T \leq T_*$  we get  $C\rho(h^{-2}\rho^{-1} + h^{-3}\vartheta^{\frac{1}{2}})$  with  $\varepsilon = h$  and  $\vartheta = \varepsilon^{\theta+1} \|\partial A'\|_{\mathscr{C}^{\vartheta}}$ , which is exactly the (28.3.5).

Further, following arguments of Section 27.2 we conclude that an error when we pass from the Tauberian expression to the Weyl expression does not exceed

(28.3.6) 
$$C\rho h^{-2} \left( 1 + h^{\frac{1}{2}(\theta-1)} \|\partial A'\|_{\mathscr{C}^{\theta}}^{\frac{1}{2}} + h^{\frac{1}{2}(\theta-1)} \|\partial V\|_{\mathscr{C}^{\theta}}^{\frac{1}{2}} \right).$$

(ii) On the other hand, the contribution of zone  $\mathcal{Z}_{\rho} = \{|\xi_3 - A_3(x)| \asymp \rho\}$ with  $\rho \ge \rho_* = C_0 \beta^{-1}$  to the Tauberian remainder with  $T = T^* := \epsilon \rho$  does not exceed

(28.3.7) 
$$Ch^{-2} \left( 1 + \rho^{\frac{1}{2}(1-\theta)} h^{\frac{1}{2}(\theta-1)} \| \partial A' \|_{\mathscr{C}^{\theta}}^{\frac{1}{2}} + \rho^{\frac{1}{2}(1-\theta)} h^{\frac{1}{2}(\theta-1)} \| \partial V \|_{\mathscr{C}^{\theta}}^{\frac{1}{2}} \right).$$

Indeed, if Q is  $h\text{-}\mathrm{pseudodifferential}$  operator, supported in this zone, then for  $T \leq T^*$ 

$$|F_{t \to h^{-1}\tau} \bar{\chi}_{\tau}(t) \Gamma_x((hD)^k Q_x U_{\varepsilon})| \leq C \rho h^{-2},$$

and for  $T_* \leq T \leq T^*$ 

$$F_{t\to h^{-1}\tau}\chi_{T}(t)\Gamma_{x}((hD)^{k}Q_{x}U_{\varepsilon})|\leq C\rho h^{-2}(h/T\rho^{2})^{s},$$

and then

$$|F_{t\to h^{-1}\tau}(\bar{\chi}_{T}(t)-\bar{\chi}_{T_{*}}(t))\Gamma_{x}((hD)^{k}Q_{x}U_{\varepsilon})|\leq C\rho h^{-2}(\beta h/\rho^{2})^{s}$$

and

$$|F_{t \to h^{-1}\tau} \bar{\chi}_T(t) \Gamma_x((hD)^k Q_x U_{\varepsilon})| \leq C \rho h^{-2},$$

while approximation error is estimated in the same way as before but with  $\varepsilon = h\rho^{-1}$  and thus  $\vartheta$  acquires factor  $\rho^{-1-\theta}$ .

Then the Tauberian error is estimated and optimized by  $T \leq T^*$  and it does not exceed (28.3.7).

Following arguments of Section 27.2 we conclude that an error when we pass from the Tauberian expression to the Weyl expression does not exceed (28.3.6).

Then the summation of the Tauberian error with respect to  $\rho$  ranging from  $\rho = \rho'$  to  $\rho = 1$  (where in what follows we use  $\rho$  instead of  $\rho'$  notation) returns

$$(28.3.8) \\ Ch^{-2} \Big( 1 + |\log \rho| + \rho^{-\frac{1}{2}(\theta-1)} h^{\frac{1}{2}(\theta-1)} ||\partial A'||_{\mathscr{C}^{\theta}}^{\frac{1}{2}} + \rho^{-\frac{1}{2}(\theta-1)} h^{\frac{1}{2}(\theta-1)} ||\partial V||_{\mathscr{C}^{\theta}}^{\frac{1}{2}} \Big)$$

and adding contribution of zone  $\mathcal{Z}'_\rho$  we conclude that the total Tauberian remainder does not exceed

(28.3.9)  

$$Ch^{-2} \Big(\beta\rho + |\log\rho| + \rho^{-\frac{1}{2}(\theta-1)} h^{\frac{1}{2}(\theta-1)} \|\partial A'\|_{\mathscr{C}^{\theta}}^{\frac{1}{2}} + \rho^{-\frac{1}{2}(\theta-1)} h^{\frac{1}{2}(\theta-1)} \|\partial V\|_{\mathscr{C}^{\theta}}^{\frac{1}{2}} \Big)$$

Meanwhile, the summation of the Tauberian-to-Weyl error with respect to  $\rho$  returns (28.3.9) albeit without logarithmic term. Optimizing with respect to  $\rho \ge \rho_*$  we arrive to

(28.3.10) 
$$Ch^{-2} \left( 1 + |\log h| + (\beta h)^{\frac{\theta-1}{\theta+1}} \|\partial A'\|_{\mathscr{C}^{\theta}}^{\frac{1}{\theta+1}} + (\beta h)^{\frac{\theta-1}{\theta+1}} \|\partial V\|_{\mathscr{C}^{\theta}}^{\frac{1}{\theta+1}} \right)$$

Furthermore, observe that

(28.3.11) If in  $\epsilon$ -vicinity of x inequality  $|\nabla V| \leq \zeta$  holds (with  $\zeta \geq |\log h|^{-1}$ ), then we can pick up  $T^* = \epsilon \min(\zeta^{-1}\rho, 1)$ .

Indeed, we can introduce

$$p'_3 \coloneqq \xi_3 - A_3 - \beta^{-1} \alpha_1 (\xi_1 - A_1) - \beta^{-1} \alpha_2 (\xi_2 - A_2)$$

such that  $\{H, p'_3\} = V_{\xi_3} + O(\nu\beta^{-1})$  with  $\nu \coloneqq \|\partial^2 A\|_{\mathscr{C}^\infty}$ .

Therefore, in this case the remainder does not exceed

(28.3.12) 
$$Ch^{-2} \left(1+\zeta |\log h| + (\beta h)^{\frac{\theta-1}{\theta+1}} \|\partial A'\|_{\mathscr{C}\theta}^{\frac{1}{\theta+1}} + (\beta h)^{\frac{\theta-1}{\theta+1}} \|\partial V\|_{\mathscr{C}\theta}^{\frac{1}{\theta+1}}\right).$$

(iii) Finally, observe that the Weyl expression for  $\Phi_j$  is just 0. Therefore under assumption (28.3.4) slightly improved estimate (28.3.3) has been proven:  $\|\Phi_j\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}} + \|h\partial\Phi_j\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}}$  does not exceed expression (28.3.12).

(iv) To get rid of assumption (28.3.4) we scale  $x \mapsto x\gamma^{-1}$ ,  $h \mapsto h\gamma^{-1}$ ,  $\beta \mapsto \beta\gamma$  and pick up  $\gamma = \min((\beta h^{\frac{1}{3}})^{-\frac{3}{2}}, \mu^{-1})$ ; then  $\beta h \mapsto \beta h$ , and  $Ch^{-2} \mapsto Ch^{-2}\gamma^{-1} = C\beta^{\frac{3}{2}}h^{-\frac{3}{2}} + C\mu h^{-2}$  (as we need to multiply by  $\gamma^{-3}$ ) and both  $\|\partial A'\|_{\mathscr{C}^{\theta}}^{\frac{1}{\theta+1}}$  acquire factor  $\gamma$ .

Observing that we can take  $\zeta = C\gamma$  and that factor  $\gamma$  also pops up in all other terms (except 1) in (28.3.12) we arrive to estimate (28.3.3).

Furthermore, to get rid of assumption  $V \simeq 1$  we also can scale with  $\gamma = \epsilon |V| + h^{\frac{2}{3}}$  and multiply operator by  $\gamma^{-1}$ ; then  $h \mapsto h\gamma^{-\frac{3}{2}}$ ,  $\beta \mapsto \beta\gamma^{\frac{1}{2}}$  and estimate (28.3.3) does not deteriorate; we need to multiply by  $\gamma^{\frac{1}{2}}$  which does not hurt.

Remark 28.3.2. (i) We can use  $\theta' \neq \theta$  for norm of V.

(ii) If V is smooth enough we can skip the related term (details later).

(iii) We can take  $\theta = 1$  but in this case factor  $\rho^{-\frac{1}{2}(\theta-1)}h^{\frac{1}{2}(\theta-1)}$  in (28.3.8) (i.e. after summation) and in (28.3.9) is replaced by  $|\log \rho|$ ; then taking into account (i) we replace (28.3.10) by

$$(28.3.10)' \qquad Ch^{-2} \left( 1 + |\log h| + |\log h| \cdot ||\partial A'||_{\mathscr{C}^1}^{\frac{1}{2}} + (\beta h)^{\frac{\theta'-1}{\theta'+1}} ||\partial V||_{\mathscr{C}^{\theta'}}^{\frac{1}{\theta'+1}} \right)$$

and similarly we deal with (28.3.12) and (28.3.3):

$$(28.3.3)' \quad \|\Phi_{j}\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}} + \|h\partial\Phi_{j}\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}} \leq Ch^{-2} \Big(1 + \beta^{\frac{3}{2}}h^{\frac{1}{2}} + |\log h| + |\log h| \|\partial A'\|_{\mathscr{C}^{1}}^{\frac{1}{2}} + (\beta h)^{\frac{\theta'-1}{\theta'+1}} \|\partial V\|_{\mathscr{C}^{\theta'}}^{\frac{1}{\theta'+1}}\Big).$$

(iv) From the very beginning we could assume that  $\mu \leq \beta$ ; otherwise we could rescale as above with  $\gamma = \beta^{-1}$  and apply arguments of Section 27.2 simply ignoring external field.

**Corollary 28.3.3.** Let in the framework of Proposition 28.3.1 A' be a minimizer. Then for  $\theta, \theta' \in [1, 2]$ 

$$(28.3.13) |\log h|^{-1} ||\partial A'||_{\mathscr{C}^{1}} + h^{\theta-1} ||\partial A'||_{\mathscr{C}^{\theta}} \leq C\kappa \Big( \beta^{\frac{3}{2}} h^{\frac{1}{2}} + |\log h| + \mu + (\beta h)^{\frac{1}{2}(\theta'-1)} ||V||_{\mathscr{C}^{\theta'+1}}^{\frac{1}{2}} \Big) + C\kappa^{2} |\log h| |\log h|^{2} + C ||\partial A'||.$$

*Proof.* Indeed, the left-hand expression of (28.3.13) does not exceed

$$\|\Delta A'\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}} + \|h\partial \Delta A'|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}} + C\|\partial A'\|$$

while for a minimizer  $\|\Delta A'\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}} + \|h\partial \Delta A'\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}}$  does not exceed the right-hand expression of (28.3.3) multiplied by  $C\kappa h^2$ .

# 28.3.2 Microlocal Analysis

As long as  $\beta \leq C_0 h^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  we are rather happy with our result here, but we want to improve it otherwise. First we will prove that singularities propagate along magnetic lines; however since we do not know a self-generated magnetic field we just consider all possible lines which will be in the cone  $\{(x, y): |x'-y'| \leq C_0 \mu \beta^{-1} T\}$  where  $1 \leq \mu \leq \beta$ .
**Proposition 28.3.4.** Assume that  $\beta h \lesssim 1$ ,

 $(28.3.14) ||V||_{\mathscr{C}^1(B(0,2))} \le C_0$ 

and

$$(28.3.15) \|\partial A'\|_{\mathscr{C}(B(0,2))} \le \mu (1 \le \mu \le \epsilon\beta)$$

with sufficiently small constant  $\epsilon > 0$ .

Let U(x, y, t) be the Schwartz kernel of  $e^{ih^{-1}tH_{A,V}}$ . Then

(i) For  $T \simeq 1$  estimate

(28.3.16) 
$$\|F_{t\to h^{-1}\tau}\bar{\chi}_{\tau}(t)\psi_1(x)\psi_2(y)U\| \leq Ch^s$$

holds for all  $\psi_1, \psi_2 \in \mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}(B(0,1))$ , such that  $\operatorname{dist}(\operatorname{supp}(\psi_1), \operatorname{supp}(\psi_2)) \geq C_0 T$ and  $\tau \leq c_0$ ; here  $\|.\|$  means an operator norm from  $\mathscr{L}^2$  to  $\mathscr{L}^2$  and s is arbitrarily large.

(ii) For  $\bar{\rho} \leq \rho \lesssim 1$  with  $\bar{\rho} \coloneqq C_0 \mu \beta^{-1}$  and  $T \asymp \rho$  estimate

(28.3.17) 
$$\|F_{t \to h^{-1}\tau} \bar{\chi}_{\tau}(t) \varphi_1(\rho^{-1} \rho_{3x}) \varphi_2(\rho^{-1} \rho_{3y}) \psi_1(x) \psi_2(y) U\|$$
  
 $\leq C \rho^{1-3s} h^s + C \rho^{2-\theta} h^{\theta} (|||A'|||_{\theta+1} + |||V|||_{\theta+1})$ 

holds for all all  $\varphi_1, \varphi_2 \in \mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}, \psi_1, \psi_2 \in \mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}(B(0, 1))$ , such that  $dist(supp(\varphi_1), supp(\varphi_2)) \geq C_0$ , and  $\tau \leq c_0$ ; here and below  $p_j = hD_j - A_j$ ,  $p_j^0 = hD_j - A_j^0$ .

(iii) For  $\bar{\rho} \leq \rho \lesssim 1$  and  $T \asymp \rho \lesssim 1$  estimate

(28.3.18) 
$$\| \mathcal{F}_{t \to h^{-1}\tau} \bar{\chi}_{\tau}(t) \varphi_1(\rho^{-1} p_{3x}) \varphi_2(\rho^{-1} p_{3y}) \psi_1(\gamma^{-1} x) \psi_2(\gamma^{-1} y) U \|$$
  
 
$$\leq C \rho^{1-s} \gamma^{-s} h^s + C h^{\theta} \gamma \rho^{-\theta} \left( \| \mathcal{A}' \|_{\theta+1} + \| \mathcal{V} \|_{\theta+1} \right)$$

holds for all  $\varphi_1, \varphi_2 \in \mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}, \psi_1, \psi_2 \in \mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}$ , such that  $dist(supp(\psi_1), supp(\psi_2)) \geq C_0, \gamma = \rho T \geq \beta^{-1}, \rho \gamma \geq h$  and  $\tau \leq c_0$ .

*Proof.* Statement (i) claims that the general propagation speed with respect to x is bounded by  $C_0$ . Further, Statement (ii) claims that the on distances  $\geq C_0\bar{\rho}$  the propagation speed with respect to  $p_3$  is also bounded by  $C_0$ . Finally, Statement (iii) claims that on distances  $\geq C_0\bar{\rho}$  the propagation speed with respect to x is bounded by  $C_0\rho$ . Note that from Corollary 28.3.3 we know that  $\mu \leq \beta$ .

(a) Proof follows the proof of Proposition 27.2.11 in the framework of the strong magnetic field. Namely, proof of Statement (i) is a straightforward repetition of the proof of Proposition 27.2.11(i). Since here we do not apply at this stage operators  $(hD_x)^{\alpha}$  and  $(hD_y)^{\alpha'}$ , no assumption to the smoothness of A is needed.

(b) Assume that  $A_3 \equiv 0$  (we will get rid of this assumption on the next step). After Statement (i) has been proven we rescale  $t \mapsto t/T$ ,  $x_3 \mapsto x_3/\gamma$  with  $\gamma = \rho T$  (since  $\varphi_l$  depend only on  $\xi_3$ , all other coordinates are rather irrelevant),  $h \mapsto \hbar = h/(\rho\gamma)$ ,  $T \mapsto 1$ . Then we apply the arguments used in the proof of Proposition 27.2.11(ii) and conclude that the left-hand expression of (28.3.17) does not exceed

$$T\Big(\hbar^{s}+C\hbar^{\theta}\gamma^{\theta+1}\big(|||A'|||_{\theta+1}+|||V|||_{\theta+1}\big)\Big),$$

where factor  $\mathcal{T}$  is due to the scaling in the Fourier transform and  $\gamma^{\theta+1}$  is due to the scaling in  $\|\cdot\|$ -norms. Plugging  $\hbar$ ,  $\mathcal{T}$ , and  $\gamma = \rho^2$  we get the right-hand expression of (28.3.17).

Then if  $\psi_l$  depend only on  $x_3$ ,  $y_3$  we can follow the proof of Proposition 27.2.11(iii) and prove Statement (iii).

(c) Let  $A_3$  be not necessarily identically 0. To consider  $\psi_i$  depending only on  $x_1$  or  $x_2$  we should introduce (in the standard magnetic Schrödinger manner)  $x'_1 := x_1 + \beta^{-1} p_2^0$  or  $x'_2 := x_2 - \beta^{-1} p_1^0$  respectively; recall that  $p_j^0 = hD_j - A_j^0$  and  $p_j = hD_j - A_j$ , j = 1, 2, 3.

Then  $[p_1^0, p_2^0] = ih\beta^{-1}, [p_j^0, x_k] = -ih\delta_{jk}, [p_j^0, x_k'] = 0$  and one can see easily that  $[p_j, x_k'] = O(\beta^{-1}\mu h)$  (for any  $\mu : 1 \le \mu \le \beta$ ) for j = 1, 2, 3 and k = 1, 2. Now we can apply the same arguments as above as long as  $\rho \ge \overline{\rho}$ .

(d) Next we need to recover Statement (ii) in the general case. Without any loss of the generality we may consider a vicinity of point z where A'(z) = 0 and also  $\partial A'(z) = 0$ . Indeed we can achieve the former by the gauge transformation and the latter by a rotation of coordinates in which case increment of  $p_3^0$  will be  $O(\bar{\rho})$ .

In this case we just repeat the same arguments of Part (b) of our proof.

(e) Finally, the proof of Statement (iii) as  $\psi_I$  depend only on  $x_3$  follows from Statement (ii).

We leave all easy details to the reader.

**Proposition 28.3.5.** Let  $\beta h \lesssim 1$  and assumptions (28.3.14) and (28.3.15) be fulfilled. Then

(i) For  $h \leq T \leq 1$  estimate

(28.3.19)  $|F_{t \to h^{-1}\tau} \bar{\chi}_{\tau}(t) p_x^{\alpha} p_y^{\alpha'} U| \le C T^{-s} h^{-3+s}$ 

holds for all  $\alpha : |\alpha| \leq 2$ ,  $\alpha' : |\alpha'| \leq 2$ , and all  $x, y \in B(0, 1)$ , such that  $|x - y| \geq C_0 T$  and  $\tau \leq c_0$ .

(ii) In the framework of Proposition 28.3.4(ii) the following estimate holds for all  $\alpha : |\alpha| \le 2$ ,  $\alpha' : |\alpha'| \le 2$ , and  $\tau \le c$ :

$$(28.3.20) |F_{t \to h^{-1}\tau} \bar{\chi}_{\tau}(t) \rho_{x}^{\alpha} \rho_{y}^{\alpha'} \varphi_{1}(\rho^{-1} \rho_{3x}) \varphi_{2}(\rho^{-1} \rho_{3y}) \psi_{1}(x) \psi_{2}(y) U| \leq C \rho h^{-1} (\beta h^{-1} + \rho^{2} h^{-2}) \Big( \rho^{1-3s} h^{s} + \rho^{2-\theta} h^{\theta} \big( ||A'||_{\theta+1} + ||V||_{\theta+1} \big) \Big);$$

(iii) In the framework of Proposition 28.3.4(iii) the following estimate holds for all  $\alpha : |\alpha| \le 2$ ,  $\alpha' : |\alpha'| \le 2$ , and  $\tau \le c$ :

$$(28.3.21) |F_{t \to h^{-1}\tau} \bar{\chi}_{\tau}(t) p_x^{\alpha} p_y^{\alpha'} \varphi_1(\rho^{-1} p_{3x}) \varphi_2(\rho^{-1} p_{3y}) \psi_1(\gamma^{-1} x) \psi_2(\gamma^{-1} y) U| \leq C \rho h^{-1} (\beta h^{-1} + \rho^2 h^{-2}) (\rho^{1-s} \gamma^{-s} h^s + h^{\theta} \gamma \rho^{-\theta} (|||A'|||_{\theta+1} + |||V|||_{\theta+1})).$$

*Proof.* Observe that estimates (28.3.16)-(28.3.18) hold if one applies operator  $p_x^{\alpha} p_y^{\alpha'}$  under the norm (this follows from equations for U by (x, t) and dual equations by (y, t)). Then estimates (28.3.19)-(28.3.21) hold with  $\alpha = \alpha' = 0$ .

Really, without any loss of the generality one can assume that A' = 0 at some point of  $\operatorname{supp}(\psi_1)$ ; then estimates (28.3.16)–(28.3.18) hold if one applies operator  $p_x^{0\alpha}p_y^{0\alpha'}$  instead. Then estimate (28.3.19) holds with  $\alpha = \alpha' = 0$ ; further, estimates (28.3.20)–(28.3.21) also hold with  $\alpha = \alpha' = 0$  if one applies an extra factor  $\bar{\varphi}_1(\rho^{-1}p_{3x}^0)\bar{\varphi}_2(\rho^{-1}p_{3y}^0)$  under the norm (this follows from the properties of  $p_j^0$ , j = 1, 2, 3, in particular, canonical form). However if  $\bar{\varphi}_l = 1$  in  $\epsilon$ -vicinity of  $\operatorname{supp}(\varphi_l)$  then we can skip this factor.

Finally, appealing to equations for U by (x, t) and (y, t) again we recover estimates (28.3.19)-(28.3.21) with  $|\alpha| \leq 2$ ,  $|\alpha'| \leq 2$ .

**Proposition 28.3.6.** Let  $\beta h \leq 1$  and (28.3.14) and (28.3.15) be fulfilled. Let  $z \in B(0, 1)$ . Then:

(i) The following estimate

(28.3.22) 
$$|F_{t \to h^{-1}\tau} \bar{\chi}_{\tau}(t) p_x^{\alpha} p_y^{\alpha'} \varphi_1(\rho^{-1} p_{3x}) \varphi_2(\rho^{-1} p_{3y}) U|_{x=y=z}|$$
  
 $\leq C \rho T h^{-1} (\beta h^{-1} + \rho^2 h^{-2})$ 

holds for all  $\alpha$ :  $|\alpha| \leq 2$ ,  $\alpha'$ :  $|\alpha'| \leq 2$ , and  $\tau \leq c$ .

(ii) Let  $A_z(x) = A(z) + \langle x - z, \nabla_z \rangle A(z)$ ,  $V_z(x) = V(z) + \langle x - z, \nabla_z \rangle V(z)$ be linear approximations to A and V at z; let  $H_z = H_{A_z,V_z}$ ,  $U_z(x, y, t)$  be its Schwartz kernel. Then for  $h^{1-\delta} \leq T \leq C_0$ ,  $\rho \leq C_0$  estimate

(28.3.23) 
$$|F_{t \to h^{-1}\tau} \bar{\chi}_{\tau}(t) p_x^{\alpha} p_y^{\alpha'} \varphi_1(\rho^{-1} p_{3x}) \varphi_2(\rho^{-1} p_{3y}) (U - U_z)|_{x=y=z}|$$
  
 $\leq C \rho T^2 h^{-2} (\beta h^{-1} + \rho^2 h^{-2}) \nu \gamma^2$ 

holds with

(28.3.24) 
$$\gamma = \gamma(\rho, T) \coloneqq C_0(\rho + T)T + C_0h\rho^{-1},$$

and

(28.3.25) 
$$\nu = \left( \| \mathbf{A}' \|_2 + \| \mathbf{V} \|_2 \right) + \mu^2$$

*Proof.* (i) Proof of Statement (i) is easy and left to the reader.

(ii) To prove Statement (ii) observe that

(28.3.26) 
$$e^{ith^{-1}H} = e^{ith^{-1}H_z} + ih^{-1} \int_0^t e^{i(t-t')h^{-1}H} (H - H_z) e^{it'h^{-1}H_z} dt' = e^{ith^{-1}H_z} + \sum_{0 \le k \le K} ih^{-1} \int_0^t e^{i(t-t')h^{-1}H} (H - H_z) \psi_k e^{it'h^{-1}H_z} dt',$$

where  $\psi_0$  is a  $\gamma$ -admissible function supported in  $B(z, 2\gamma)$  and  $\psi_k$  are  $\gamma_k$ admissible functions supported in  $B(z, \gamma_k) \setminus B(z, \frac{1}{2}\gamma_k)$  with  $\gamma_k = 2^k \gamma$ . Plugging (28.3.26) into the left-hand expression of (28.3.23) we note that the first term is cancelled and we have the sum with respect to  $k : 0 \le k \le K$ obtained from this expression when we replace  $(U - U_z)$  by the Schwartz kernel of the selected above term. Further, observe that the term with k = 0 does not exceed the right-hand expression of (28.3.23).

Furthermore, terms with  $k : 1 \leq k \leq K$  do not exceed the right-hand expression of (28.3.21) multiplied by  $CTh^{-1}\min(\nu\gamma_k^2, 1)$ ; indeed, we just replace  $\rho$  by T if needed. After summation with respect to  $k : 0 \leq k \leq K$  we get

$$C\rho h^{-1}T(\beta h^{-1} + \rho^2 h^{-2}) \times \left(\rho^{-s}\gamma^{-s}h^s\min(\nu\gamma^2, 1) + h^2\rho^{-2}\nu\min(\nu, 1)\right)$$

which again does not exceed the right-hand expression of (28.3.23).

Remark 28.3.7. Actually Statement (ii) is better than Statement (i) only if  $\nu \gamma^2 T h^{-1} \leq 1$ .

## 28.3.3 Advanced Estimate to a Minimizer

Now we are going to apply the results of the previous Subsection 28.3.2 to the right-hand expression of (27.2.14).

#### **Tauberian Estimate**

Consider different zones (based on the magnitude of  $|p_3|$ ). Recall that  $\bar{\rho} = \beta^{-1} {}^{5)}$  and  $\rho^* = (\beta h)^{\frac{1}{2}}$ .

**Zone**  $\{\rho' \leq |p_3| \leq \rho^*\}$ . Observe that Proposition 28.3.6(ii) implies that for  $\varphi_j \in \mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}([-2, -\frac{1}{2}] \cup [\frac{1}{2}, 2])$  estimate

(28.3.27)  $|F_{t \to h^{-1}\tau} \bar{\chi}_{\tau}(t) p_x^{\alpha} p_y^{\alpha'} \varphi_1(\rho^{-1} p_{3x}) \varphi_2(\rho^{-1} p_{3y}) U|_{x=y=z}| \leq CS(\rho, T)$ holds with

(28.3.28) 
$$S(\rho, T) = (\beta h^{-1} + \rho^2 h^{-2}) (\rho^{-1} + \rho h^{-2} \nu \gamma^2 T^2),$$

where  $\gamma = \gamma(\rho, T)$  is defined by (28.3.24).

Indeed, one can prove easily that

(28.3.29) 
$$|F_{t \to h^{-1}\tau} \bar{\chi}_{\tau}(t) \rho_x^{\alpha} \rho_y^{\alpha'} \varphi_1(\rho^{-1} \rho_{3x}) \varphi_2(\rho^{-1} \rho_{3y}) U_z|_{x=y=z}|$$
  
 $\leq C(\beta h^{-1} \rho^{-1} + \rho^2 h^{-2}).$ 

<sup>5)</sup> As we assume that  $\mu = 1$ ; otherwise  $\bar{\rho} = \mu \beta^{-1}$ .

Let us take  $\alpha = \alpha'$ ,  $\varphi_1 = \varphi_2$  and  $\rho_1 = \rho_2$ . Since in this case expression

(28.3.30) 
$$p_x^{\alpha} \rho_y^{\alpha'} \varphi_1(\rho_1^{-1} p_{3x}) \varphi_2(\rho_2^{-1} p_{3y}) e(.,.,\tau)|_{x=y}$$

is a monotone function with respect to  $\tau$ , then the standard Tauberian arguments (part I–estimates; we leave easy details to the reader) imply that

(28.3.31) 
$$|p_x^{\alpha} p_y^{\alpha} \varphi_1(\rho^{-1} p_{3x}) \varphi_1(\rho^{-1} p_{3y}) [e(.,.,\tau) - e(.,.,\tau')]|_{x=y}|$$
  
 $\leq CS(\rho, T) (T^{-1} + |\tau - \tau'|h^{-1})$ 

for all  $\tau' \leq \tau \leq c$  and therefore

$$(28.3.32) \quad |p_x^{\alpha} p_y^{\alpha'} \varphi_1(\rho_1^{-1} p_{3x}) \varphi_2(\rho_2^{-1} p_{3y}) [e(.,.,\tau) - e(.,.,\tau')]|_{x=y}| \\ \leq C (S(\rho_1, T_1) S(\rho_2, T_2))^{\frac{1}{2}} (T_1^{-\frac{1}{2}} T_2^{-\frac{1}{2}} + |\tau - \tau'|^{\frac{1}{2}} (T_1^{-\frac{1}{2}} + T_2^{-\frac{1}{2}}) h^{-\frac{1}{2}} + |\tau - \tau'| h^{-1}).$$

Then the standard Tauberian arguments (part II–asymptotics, with the minor modifications; again we leave easy details to the reader) imply that expression (28.3.30) is given by the standard Tauberian formula with an error, not exceeding the right-hand expression of (28.3.32) with  $|\tau - \tau'|$  replaced by  $hT^{-1}$ , which is

(28.3.33) 
$$C(S(\rho_1, T_1)S(\rho_2, T_2))^{\frac{1}{2}} (T_1^{-\frac{1}{2}}T_2^{-\frac{1}{2}} + (T_1^{-\frac{1}{2}} + T_2^{-\frac{1}{2}})T^{-\frac{1}{2}} + T^{-1}).$$

Note that for  $T \ge \max(T_1, T_2)$  the second factor in (28.3.33) is  $\asymp T_1^{-\frac{1}{2}}T_2^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ .

In other words, a contribution of the pair  $(\rho_1, \rho_2)$  to the Tauberian error does not exceed a square root of  $S(\rho_1, T_1)T_1^{-1} \times S(\rho_2, T_2)T_2^{-1}$  with

(28.3.34) 
$$S(\rho, T)T^{-1} = \beta h^{-1} \left( \rho^{-1}T^{-1} + h^{-2}\rho\nu T \left( T^4 + \rho^2 T^2 + h^2\rho^{-2} \right) \right)$$
  
 $\approx \beta h^{-1} \left( \rho^{-1}T^{-1} + h^{-2}\nu\rho^3 T^3 + h^{-2}\nu\rho T^5 + \nu\rho^{-1}T \right)$   
for  $\bar{\rho} \le \rho \le \rho^*$ .

Minimizing this expression by  $h \leq T \lesssim 1$  we get

then the summation by  $\rho \in [\rho', \rho^*]$  returns

(28.3.35) 
$$\beta h^{-1} \left( h^{-\frac{1}{2}} \nu^{\frac{1}{4}} |\log h| + h^{-\frac{1}{3}} \nu^{\frac{1}{6}} \rho^{-\frac{2}{3}} + \nu^{\frac{1}{2}} \rho^{-1} \right)$$

with  $\rho = \rho'$  to be selected later.

**Zone**  $\{\rho^* \lesssim |p_3| \lesssim 1\}$ . Further, we claim that

(28.3.36) For  $h^{\frac{1}{3}} \leq \rho \leq C_0$ ,  $h \leq T \leq \epsilon_0 \rho$  we can take  $\gamma = h \rho^{-1}$ .

Indeed, observe that if we use  $\varepsilon$ -approximation with  $\varepsilon = (\rho^{-1}h)^{1-\delta}$  then the contribution of time intervals  $\{t: T_* \leq |t| \leq T^*\}$  with  $T_* = \rho^{-1}(\rho^{-1}h)^{1-\delta}$ ,  $T^* = \epsilon_0 \rho$  is negligible and the transition from  $\varepsilon = (\rho^{-1}h)^{1-\delta}$  to  $\varepsilon = (\rho^{-1}h)$  is done like in the previous Chapter 26. Again we leave easy details to the reader.

Then

(28.3.37) 
$$S(\rho, T)T^{-1} \simeq \rho h^{-2} (T^{-1} + \nu T);$$

minimizing by  $T: h \leq T \leq \epsilon \rho$  we get

$$\rho h^{-2} \left( \nu^{\frac{1}{2}} + \rho^{-1} + \nu h \right);$$

then summation by  $\rho \in [\rho^*, C_0]$  returns

(28.3.38) 
$$h^{-2} \left( \nu^{\frac{1}{2}} + (1 + \nu h) |\log h| \right).$$

Observe that  $\rho^* = (\beta h)^{\frac{1}{2}} \ge h^{\frac{1}{3}}$  as  $\beta \ge h^{-\frac{1}{3}}$ .

**Zone**  $\{|p_3| \leq \rho'\}$ . Finally, the remaining zone  $\{|p_3| \leq \rho'\}$  is covered by a single element  $\varphi(\rho^{-1}p_3)$  with  $\varphi \in \mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}([-2, 2]), \rho = \rho'$ .

Then instead of minimized  $S(\rho, T)T^{-1}$  we can take  $\rho\beta h^{-2}$  which should be added to the sum of expressions (28.3.38) and (28.3.35) which estimate contributions of two other zones resulting in

(28.3.39) 
$$h^{-2} \left( \nu^{\frac{1}{2}} + (1 + \nu h) |\log h| \right) + \beta h^{-1} \left[ h^{-\frac{1}{2}} \nu^{\frac{1}{4}} |\log h| + h^{-\frac{1}{3}} \nu^{\frac{1}{6}} \rho^{-\frac{2}{3}} + \nu^{\frac{1}{2}} \rho^{-1} + \rho h^{-1} \right].$$

Obviously the second term in (28.3.39) should be minimized by  $\rho = \rho' \in [\bar{\rho}, \rho^*]$ , resulting in

two terms arising when we set  $\rho = \rho^*$  in the terms with negative power of  $\rho$  and one term arising when we set  $\rho = \bar{\rho}$  in the term with positive power of  $\rho$  are absorbed by other terms in (28.3.39), which becomes

(28.3.40) 
$$h^{-2} \left( \nu^{\frac{1}{2}} + (1 + \nu h) |\log h| \right) + \beta h^{-1} \left[ h^{-\frac{1}{2}} \nu^{\frac{1}{4}} |\log h| + h^{-\frac{3}{5}} \nu^{\frac{1}{10}} + h^{-\frac{1}{2}} \nu^{\frac{1}{4}} \right].$$

This is an estimate for the whole Tauberian error (with variable  $T = T(\rho)$ ).

#### **Calculating Tauberian Expression**

Now we need to consider the Tauberian expression for  $p_x^{\alpha} p_y^{\alpha'} e(.,.,0)|_{x=y=z}$ and estimate an error made when we replace it by the Tauberian expression for  $p_x^{\alpha} p_y^{\alpha'} e_z(.,.,0)|_{x=y=z}$ ; we will call it the *second error* in contrast to the first (Tauberian) error. Note that we are interested only in the case  $|\alpha| + |\alpha'| = 1$ .

Let us again consider contribution of pair  $(\rho_1, \rho_2)$ . First, observe that for  $\rho_1 \simeq \rho_2$  this error does not exceed  $CS(\rho_2, T)T^{-1}$  due to our standard arguments and therefore we get for such pairs the same contribution to the total error as we already got for the Tauberian error.

Second, consider pairs with  $\rho_1 \gg \rho_2$  and in this case redoing previous arguments we observe that the contribution to the first error does not exceed  $CS(\rho_1, T)^{\frac{1}{2}}S(\rho_2, T)^{\frac{1}{2}}T^{-1}$  and the contribution to the second error does not exceed

(28.3.41) 
$$C\beta h^{-1} \times \rho_1^{\frac{1}{2}} \rho_2^{\frac{1}{2}} h^{-2} \nu T^3 (T + \rho_2)^2,$$

where the first term which was  $C\beta h^{-1}\rho^{-1}T^{-1}$  in the former case  $\rho_1 \simeq \rho_2$ simply disappear. Indeed, it appears only due to the contribution of the time interval  $\{|t| \leq \rho\}$  where we should take  $\rho = \max(\rho_1, \rho_2) = \rho_1$  and estimate an error due to the propagation of singularities. Similarly, the second term leading to expression (28.3.41) would also disappear unless  $\rho_1 \leq T$  again due to the propagation of singularities. Therefore the combined contribution of any pair to both errors does not exceed

(28.3.42) 
$$\left( \rho_1^{-1} T^{-1} + \rho_1^3 h^{-2} \nu T^3 + \rho_1 h^{-2} \nu T^5 + \rho_1^{-1} \nu T \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ \times \left( \rho_2^{-1} T^{-1} + \rho_2^3 h^{-2} \nu T^3 + \rho_2 h^{-2} \nu T^5 + \rho_2^{-1} \nu T \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} + \rho_1^{\frac{1}{2}} \rho_2^{\frac{1}{2}} h^{-2} \nu T^5$$

multiplied by  $C\beta h^{-1}$  since we consider at this moment the case of  $\rho' \leq \rho_2 \ll \rho_1 \leq \rho^*$  while all other cases (namely,  $\rho_2 \leq \rho' \leq \rho_1 \leq \rho^*$ ;  $\rho_2 \leq \rho' \leq \rho^* \leq \rho_1$ ;  $\rho' \leq \rho_2 \leq \rho^* \leq \rho_1$ ; and  $\rho^* \leq \rho_2 \ll \rho_1$ ) are easier and left to the reader.

Opening parenthesis in (28.3.42) and eliminating all smaller terms we arrive to

$$\begin{split} \rho_{1}^{-\frac{1}{2}}\rho_{2}^{-\frac{1}{2}}T^{-1} + \rho_{1}^{\frac{1}{2}}\rho_{2}^{\frac{1}{2}}h^{-2}\nu T^{5} + \rho_{1}^{\frac{3}{2}}\rho_{2}^{\frac{1}{2}}h^{-2}\nu T^{4} \\ &+ \left(\rho_{1}^{\frac{3}{2}}\rho_{2}^{\frac{3}{2}}h^{-2}\nu + \rho_{1}^{\frac{1}{2}}\rho_{2}^{-\frac{1}{2}}h^{-1}\nu\right)T^{3} + \left(\rho_{1}^{\frac{1}{2}}\rho_{2}^{-\frac{1}{2}}(h^{-2}\nu)^{\frac{1}{2}} + \rho_{1}^{\frac{3}{2}}\rho_{2}^{-\frac{1}{2}}h^{-1}\nu\right)T^{2} \\ &+ \left(\rho_{1}^{-\frac{1}{2}}\rho_{2}^{-\frac{1}{2}}\nu + \rho_{1}^{\frac{3}{2}}\rho_{2}^{-\frac{1}{2}}(h^{-2}\nu)^{\frac{1}{2}}\right)T + \rho_{1}^{-\frac{1}{2}}\rho_{2}^{-\frac{1}{2}}\nu^{\frac{1}{2}}; \end{split}$$

minimizing by T we get

$$\rho_{1}^{-\frac{1}{3}}\rho_{2}^{-\frac{1}{3}}(h^{-2}\nu)^{\frac{1}{6}} + \rho_{1}^{-\frac{1}{10}}\rho_{2}^{-\frac{3}{10}}(h^{-2}\nu)^{\frac{1}{5}} + (h^{-2}\nu)^{\frac{1}{4}} + \rho_{1}^{-\frac{1}{4}}\rho_{2}^{-\frac{1}{2}}(h^{-1}\nu)^{\frac{1}{4}} \\ + \rho_{1}^{-\frac{1}{6}}\rho_{2}^{-\frac{1}{2}}(h^{-1}\nu)^{\frac{1}{6}} + \rho_{1}^{-\frac{1}{2}}\rho_{2}^{-\frac{1}{2}}\nu^{\frac{1}{2}} + \rho_{1}^{\frac{1}{2}}\rho_{2}^{-\frac{1}{2}}(h^{-2}\nu)^{\frac{1}{4}} + \rho_{1}^{-\frac{1}{2}}\rho_{2}^{-\frac{1}{2}}\nu^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

Observe, that only the last term has  $\rho_1$  in the positive degree. Also observe, that the optimal  $T = T(\rho)$  in the Tauberian error is a decreasing function of  $\rho$ , so  $T_1 \leq T_2$  where  $T_j := T(\rho_j)$ ; therefore we consider the Tauberian expression for  $T \leq T_2$  and thus for  $\rho_1 \leq T \lesssim T_2$ .

Therefore  $T_2$  must be an upper bound for  $\rho_1$  and therefore the summation by  $\rho_1 : \rho_2 \leq \rho_1 \leq T_2$  results in all the terms with negative power of  $\rho_1$  in the value as  $\rho_1 = \rho_2$  and in the exceptional (last) term with  $\rho_1 = T_2$ :

$$(28.3.43) \quad \rho_2^{-\frac{2}{3}} (h^{-2}\nu)^{\frac{1}{6}} + \rho_2^{-\frac{2}{5}} (h^{-2}\nu)^{\frac{1}{5}} + (h^{-2}\nu)^{\frac{1}{4}} |\log \rho_2 (\rho_2^{-2}h^2\nu^{-1})^{-\frac{1}{6}}| + \rho_2^{-\frac{3}{4}} (h^{-1}\nu)^{\frac{1}{4}} + \rho_2^{-1}\nu^{\frac{1}{2}} + (\rho_2^{-2}h^2\nu^{-1})^{\frac{1}{12}}\rho_2^{-\frac{1}{2}} (h^{-2}\nu)^{\frac{1}{4}}$$

(where we used inequality  $T_2 \leq (\rho_2^{-2}h^2\nu^{-1})^{\frac{1}{6}}$ ) with the last term equal to the first one.

Then the summation by  $\rho_2 \geq \rho'$  results in the same expression (28.3.43) calculated for  $\rho_2 = \rho'$ ; adding as usual  $\rho' h^{-1}$  (asince  $\rho' \beta h^{-2}$  estimates the contribution of zone  $\{\rho_2 \leq \rho'\}$ ) and minimizing by  $\rho' \geq \bar{\rho}$ , we get, after we multiply by  $\beta h^{-1}$  and add contributions of all other zones and also Tauberian estimate (28.3.40), the following expression:

(28.3.44) 
$$h^{-2} \left( \nu^{\frac{1}{2}} + (\mu + \nu h) |\log h| \right) + \beta h^{-1} \left[ h^{-\frac{1}{2}} \nu^{\frac{1}{4}} |\log h| + h^{-\frac{3}{5}} \nu^{\frac{1}{10}} + h^{-\frac{4}{7}} \nu^{\frac{1}{7}} + h^{-\frac{1}{2}} \nu^{\frac{1}{4}} \right].$$

Recall that we derived estimate for the difference between  $p_x^{\alpha} p_y^{\alpha'} e(.,.,0)|_{x=y=z}$ and  $p_x^{\alpha} p_y^{\alpha'} e_z(.,.,0)|_{x=y=z}$  and thus for  $\mu = 1$  we arrive to Statement (i) of Proposition 28.3.8 below for  $\mu = 1$ .

Observe, however, that in virtue of Subsection 28.3.1 the same estimate holds for  $\beta \leq h^{-\frac{1}{3}}$ . Then, if  $1 \leq \mu \leq \beta$ , one can scale  $x \mapsto \mu x$ ,  $h \mapsto \mu h$ ,  $\nu \mapsto \mu^2 \nu$ ,  $\kappa \mapsto \mu \kappa$  and we arrive to the same statement without assumption  $\mu = 1$ .

Furthermore, in virtue of Propositions 28.A.4 and 28.A.5, expression  $|p_x^{\alpha}p_y^{\alpha'}e_z(.,.,0)|_{x=y=z}|$  does not exceed  $C\beta^{\frac{1}{2}}h^{-2}\|\partial V\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}}$  if  $|\alpha| + |\alpha'| = 1^{6}$ . Therefore we arrive to Statement (ii) below:

**Proposition 28.3.8.** Let  $\beta \leq h^{-1}$  and (28.3.14) and (28.3.15) be fulfilled. Then

(i)  $|p_x^{\alpha} p_y^{\alpha'}[e(.,.,0) - e_z(.,.,0)]|_{x=y=z}|$  does not exceed expression (28.3.44) for  $|\alpha| \le 2$ ,  $|\alpha'| \le 2$ .

(ii) Consider  $|\alpha| + |\alpha'| = 1$ ; then  $|p_x^{\alpha} p_y^{\alpha'} e(.,.,0)|_{x=y=z}|$  does not exceed expression (28.3.44) plus  $C \omega h^{-2}$  with

(28.3.45) 
$$\omega = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } \beta \le h^{-\frac{1}{3}}, \\ \beta^{\frac{3}{2}} h^{\frac{1}{2}} & \text{if } h^{-\frac{1}{3}} \le \beta \le h^{-\frac{1}{2}}, \\ \beta^{\frac{1}{2}} & \text{if } h^{-\frac{1}{2}} \le \beta \le h^{-1}. \end{cases}$$

<sup>6)</sup> Actually Proposition 28.A.4 provides better estimate for  $\|\partial V\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}} \leq \beta^2 h$ .

*Remark 28.3.9.* (i) Observe that for  $\beta \leq h^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  we got no improvement over results of Subsection 28.3.1.

(ii) One can replace  $\mu$  in the definition of  $\bar{\rho}$  by  $\nu^{\frac{1}{2}}$ . Indeed, we can assume that  $\partial A'(z) = 0$ . Then  $\gamma$ -vicinity of z we have  $\mu = O(\nu\gamma)$  and scaling we should be concerned only abut this vicinity. We select  $\gamma = \nu^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ .

Estimating  $|\partial^2 A'|$ 

Recall that if A' is a minimizer, then it must satisfy (27.2.14) and then for  $h^{-\frac{1}{2}} \leq \beta \leq h^{-1}$  due to Proposition 28.3.8(ii)  $\|\Delta A'\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}}$  does not exceed  $C \kappa h^2 ((28.3.44) + \beta^{\frac{1}{2}} h^{-2})$  and then  $\|\partial^2 A'\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}}$  must not exceed this expression multiplied by  $C |\log h|$  plus  $\|\partial A'\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}}^{7}$ :

$$\begin{aligned} (28.3.46) \quad \|\partial^2 A'\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}} &\leq C\kappa |\log h| \left(\nu^{\frac{1}{2}} + (\mu + \nu h) |\log h|\right) \\ &+ C\kappa\beta h |\log h| \left(h^{-\frac{3}{5}}\nu^{\frac{1}{10}} + h^{-\frac{4}{7}}\nu^{\frac{1}{7}} + h^{-\frac{1}{2}}\nu^{\frac{1}{4}} |\log h|^2\right) + C\kappa |\log h|\beta^{\frac{1}{2}} \|\partial V\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}} \\ &+ C \|\partial A'\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}}. \end{aligned}$$

Also recall that we can define  $\nu := \max(\|\partial^2 A'\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}}, 1)$ ; then we arrive to

**Proposition 28.3.10.** Let  $1 \leq \beta \lesssim h^{-1}$  and (28.3.14) be fulfilled. Let A' be a minimizer satisfying (28.3.15).

Then one of the following two cases holds: <u>either</u>

$$\begin{aligned} (28.3.47) \quad \|\partial^2 A'\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}} &\leq C\mu(\kappa|\log h|^2 + 1) \\ &+ C(\kappa\beta|\log h|)^{\frac{10}{9}}h^{\frac{4}{9}} + C(\kappa\beta|\log h|)^{\frac{7}{6}}h^{\frac{1}{2}} + C(\kappa\beta|\log h|^3)^{\frac{4}{3}}h^{\frac{2}{3}} \\ &+ C\kappa|\log h|\omega + C\|\partial A'\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}} \end{aligned}$$

with the right-hand expressions  $\geq$  C  $\underline{or}$ 

$$\begin{aligned} (28.3.48) \quad \|\partial^2 A'\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}} &\leq C\mu(\kappa |\log h|^2 + 1) \\ &+ C\kappa\beta |\log h|h^{\frac{2}{5}} + C\kappa\beta |\log h|h^{\frac{3}{7}} + C\kappa\beta |\log h|^3 h^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &+ C\kappa |\log h|\omega + C \|\partial A'\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}} \end{aligned}$$

with the right-hand expression  $\leq C$ . Recall that  $\omega$  is defined by (28.3.45).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7)</sup> Which can be replaced by a different norm, say,  $\|\partial A'\|$ .

*Proof.* Indeed, if  $\nu \geq C$  we have

$$egin{aligned} 
u &\leq egin{aligned} \kappa \mu |\log h| + egin{aligned} &C(\kappaeta |\log h|h^{rac{2}{5}})^{rac{1}{9}} + egin{aligned} &C(\kappaeta |\log h|h^{rac{3}{7}})^{rac{7}{5}} + egin{aligned} &C(\kappaeta |\log h|^{3}h^{rac{1}{2}})^{rac{4}{3}} \ &+ egin{aligned} &C\kappaeta^{rac{1}{2}} \|\partial V\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}} + egin{aligned} &C\|\partial A'\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}}, \end{aligned}$$

which leads to (28.3.47); if  $\nu \approx 1$  we have (28.3.48).

*Remark 28.3.11.* (i) Observe that the right-hand expressions of (28.3.47) and (28.3.48) are either  $\leq 1$  or  $\geq 1$  simultaneously.

(ii) The second term in the right-hand expression of (28.3.47) (i.e. with the power  $\frac{10}{9}$ ) is always greater than the third and the fourth terms unless  $\kappa\beta h \ge |\log h|^{-\kappa}$ ). Because of this we just take power K of  $|\log h|$  in this term and skip two other terms. One can find easily that K = 4 is sufficient;

(iii) The second term in the right-hand expression of (28.3.47) is less than the last one as  $\beta \leq h^{-\frac{8}{11}} (\kappa |\log h|)^{-\frac{20}{11}}$ .

(iv) Obviously, in (28.3.48) we can take  $\mu = 1$ ; however we are missing estimate of  $\mu$  in (28.3.47). For sure, we know that  $\mu \leq C\nu$  but we will be able to do a better work after we estimate  $\|\partial A'\|^2$  in Subsubsection 28.3.5.3. Weak Magnetic Field Approach.

# 28.3.4 Trace Term Asymptotics

#### **General Microlocal Arguments**

Now let us consider the trace term. We are not assuming anymore that A' is a minimizer but that it satisfies

$$(28.3.49)_{1,2} \quad \|\partial A'\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}} \le \mu, \qquad \|\partial^2 A'\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}} \le \nu \qquad \text{with} \quad 1 \le \mu \le \nu \le \epsilon.$$

We assume that  $V \in \mathcal{C}^2$  uniformly. Later we will impose on V different non-degeneracy assumptions; from now on small constant  $\epsilon > 0$  in conditions (28.3.15) and (28.3.49)<sub>1,2</sub> depends also on the constants in the non-degeneracy assumption.

Let us introduce the scaling function

(28.3.50) 
$$\ell(\mathbf{x}) \coloneqq \epsilon_0 \left(\min_j |V - 2j\beta h| + |\partial V|^2\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} + \bar{\ell}$$

with

(28.3.51) 
$$\bar{\ell} \coloneqq C_0 \max\left(\nu\beta^{-1}, \ \mu\beta^{-1}, \ h^{\frac{1}{2}}\right).$$

We need the following

**Proposition 28.3.12.** Let  $\beta h \leq 1$  and  $(28.3.49)_{1,2}$  be fulfilled. Consider  $(\gamma, \rho)$ -element with respect to  $(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{p}_3)$  with  $\gamma \rho \geq h$ ,  $\gamma \leq \max(\ell, \rho)$  and

(28.3.52) 
$$\rho \ge \bar{\rho} \coloneqq C_0 \max\left(\mu\beta^{-1}, \ h^{\frac{1}{2}}\right).$$

Then for

(28.3.53) 
$$T_* \coloneqq h\rho^{-2} \leq T \leq T^* \coloneqq \epsilon_0 \min(1, \rho\ell^{-1})$$

for  $(\gamma, \rho)$ -element  $\{(x, \xi_3): x \in B(z, \gamma), |\xi_3 - A_3(z)| \asymp \rho\}$  the following estimate

$$(28.3.54) |F_{t \to h^{-1}\tau} \bar{\chi}_{\tau}(t) \Gamma(p_x^{\alpha} p_y^{\alpha'} \varphi_1(\rho^{-1} p_{3x}) \varphi_2(\rho^{-1} p_{3y}) \psi_1(\gamma^{-1} x) \psi_2(\gamma^{-1} y) U)| \leq CS(\rho, T) \gamma^3$$

holds with

(28.3.55) 
$$S(\rho, T) = (\beta h^{-1} + \rho^2 h^{-2}) (\rho^{-1} + \rho^{-3} h \nu^2 \varepsilon^4 T^3),$$

where  $\varepsilon = h\rho^{-1}$ .

Observe that we redefined  $\bar{\rho}$  possibly increasing it.

*Proof.* The proof is similar to one of Theorem 27.2.17 and is based on  $h\rho^{-1}$ -approximation. Note first that the propagation speed with respect to  $x_3$  is  $\approx \rho$ , the propagation speed with respect to  $p_3$  is  $O(\ell)$  and all other propagation speeds are bounded by  $\bar{\rho}$ . Therefore the shift with respect to  $x_3$  is  $\approx \rho T \lesssim \ell$  as  $T \leq T^*$  and it is observable for  $T \geq T_* = h |\log h| \rho^{-2.8}$ .

Let us apply the three-term approximation. Then since the first term does not includes any error, we can estimate it by

$$\frac{C(\beta h^{-1} + \rho^2 h^{-2})\rho\gamma^3 h^{-1}T_*}{C(\beta h^{-1} + \rho^2 h^{-2})\rho^{-1}\gamma^3},$$

 $<sup>^{8)}</sup>$  But in estimates we can skip the logarithmic factor using our standard scaling arguments.

which delivers the first term in  $S(\rho, T)\ell^3$ .

The second term is linear with respect to the perturbation  $(A - A_{\varepsilon})$  and asince we consider a shift by  $x_3$  in the estimate of this term, we also can take  $T = T_*$ . Indeed, contributions of intervals  $|t| \simeq T'$  with  $T_* \leq T' \leq T^*$ to this term are negligible if we include a logarithmic factor in  $T_*^{8}$ . Then this term does not exceed  $C(\beta h^{-1} + \rho^2 h^{-2})\rho \ell^3 \nu \gamma^2 T_*^2 h^{-2}$  and it is less than the first term in  $S(\rho, T)\gamma^3$ .

Finally, the third term does not exceed the second term in  $S(\rho, T)\gamma^3$ .

After estimate (28.3.54) has been proven we can estimate the contribution of the given element to the Tauberian error by  $CS(\rho, T)\gamma^3\rho^2h^2T^{-2}$ <sup>9)</sup> which is

(28.3.56) 
$$C(\beta + \rho^2 h^{-1}) (\rho T^{-2} + \rho^{-1} \nu^2 h T) \gamma^3.$$

Consider an error appearing when we replace in the Tauberian expression T by  $T_*$ . The first two terms are negligible on intervals  $|t| \simeq T'$  with  $T_* \leq T' \leq T^*$  and the third term contributes here

$$\mathcal{C}(eta+
ho^2h^{-1})
ho^{-1}
u^2hT'\gamma^3$$
,

which sums to its value for T' = T. Therefore this error does not exceed (28.3.56) as well.

Minimizing expression (28.3.56) by  $T \leq T^*$  we get

(28.3.57) 
$$C(\beta + \rho^2 h^{-1}) (\rho T^{*-2} + \rho^{-\frac{1}{3}} \nu^{\frac{4}{3}} h^{\frac{2}{3}}) \gamma^3$$
  
 $\approx C(\beta + \rho^2 h^{-1}) (\rho + \rho^{-1} \ell^2 + \rho^{-\frac{1}{3}} \nu^{\frac{4}{3}} h^{\frac{2}{3}}) \gamma^3,$ 

where we do not include the last term with  $T = T_*$  since then the first term would be larger than  $C\beta h^{-2}\rho^3\gamma^3$ , which is the trivial estimate.

Now let us sum over the partition. Observe first that

(28.3.58) The contribution of the zone  $\{\rho: \rho \ge (\beta h)^{\frac{1}{2}}\}$  does not exceed

(28.3.59) 
$$Q_0 \coloneqq Ch^{-1} + Ch^{-\frac{1}{3}}\nu^{\frac{4}{3}}$$

since  $\rho$  here would be in the positive degree. Consider now the contribution of the zone  $\{\rho: \rho \leq (\beta h)^{\frac{1}{2}}\}$ .

 $<sup>^{9)}</sup>$  Factors  $\rho^2$  and  $h^2T^{-2}$  (rather than  $hT^{-1})$  appear because we consider the trace term.

#### Strong Non-Degenerate Case

Here  $\rho$  is in the negative degree but we can help it under *strong non*degeneracy assumption

(28.3.60) 
$$\min_{i} |V - 2j\beta h| + |\partial V| \ge \epsilon_0 \quad \text{in } B(0,1),$$

which later will be relaxed. Indeed, the relative measure of those x-balls with  $\gamma = \rho^2$ , where operator is non-elliptic is  $\rho^2(\beta h)^{-1}$  as  $\rho \ge h^{\frac{1}{3}}$ . Then the total contribution of such elements does not exceed  $\rho^2 h^{-1} (\rho^{-1} \ell^2 + \rho^{-\frac{1}{3}} \nu^{\frac{4}{3}} h^{\frac{2}{3}})$  and the summation over  $\rho$  results in (28.3.59). Meanwhile, the total contribution of balls with  $|\xi_3 - A'_3| \le \bar{\rho} = h^{\frac{1}{3}}$  does not exceed  $C\bar{\rho}^5 h^{-3}$ , which is smaller<sup>10</sup>.

However we have another restriction, namely,  $\bar{\rho} \geq C_0 \mu \beta^{-1 \ 11}$ . Because of this we need to increase the remainder estimate by  $C \bar{\rho} \beta^2 h^{-1} \times \bar{\rho}^2 (\beta h)^{-1}$  i.e. by

(28.3.61) 
$$Q' = \mu^3 \beta^{-2} h^{-2}.$$

We should not be concerned about the zone  $\{\rho : \bar{\rho} \ge \rho \ge (\beta h)^{\frac{1}{2}}\}$  since here we can always use  $T \simeq \beta^{-1}$  and its contribution to the remainder will be the same  $\mu^{3}\beta^{-2}h^{-2}$ .

Now we need to pass from the Tauberian expression with  $T = T_*$ to the magnetic Weyl expression and we need to consider only two first terms in the successive approximations. We can involve our standard methods of Section 18.9: note that  $|x - y| \leq c\rho T_* = C\varepsilon$  in the propagation and then we consider another unperturbed operator with V = V(y) and  $A'_j = A'(y) + \langle \nabla A_j(y), x - y \rangle$  frozen at point y (when we later set x = y). Then one can see that these terms modulo an error, not exceeding  $Q_0$ , are respectively

$$(28.3.62)_1 \qquad \qquad -h^{-3} \int P_{B_{\varepsilon}h}(V)\psi \,dx$$

and

$$(28.3.62)_2 -h^{-3} \int (P_B(V) - P_{B_{\varepsilon}h}(V)) \psi \, dx$$

<sup>10)</sup> These arguments work even if  $\beta \leq h^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  (and therefore  $(\beta h)^{\frac{1}{2}} \leq h^{\frac{1}{3}}$ ): we just set  $\gamma = h\rho^{-1}$  for  $(\beta h)^{\frac{1}{2}} \leq \beta \leq h^{\frac{1}{3}}$ .

<sup>11)</sup> Here we can take  $\mu = \|\partial A'\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}}$  without resetting it to 1 if the former is smaller.

with  $B_{\varepsilon} = |\nabla \times (A^0 + A'_{\varepsilon})|$ . Then we arrive to estimate (28.3.64) below.

Observe that non-degeneracy condition (28.3.60) was used only to estimate by  $\rho^2(\beta h)^{-1}$  a relative measure of some set. However the same estimate would be achieved under slightly weaker non-degeneracy condition

(28.3.63) 
$$\min_{j} |V - 2j\beta h| + |\partial V| + |\det(\operatorname{Hess} V)| \ge \epsilon_0 \quad \text{in } B(0,1);$$

all arguments including transition to the magnetic Weyl expression work. Therefore under this assumption the same estimate holds and we arrive to

**Proposition 28.3.13.** Let  $\beta h \leq 1$  and conditions  $(28.3.49)_{1,2}$  be fulfilled. Then under non-degeneracy assumptions (28.3.60) or (28.3.63) estimate

(28.3.64) 
$$|\operatorname{Tr}(H_{A,V}^{-}\psi) + h^{-3}\int P_{Bh}(V)\psi\,dx| \leq CQ$$

holds with  $Q = Q_0 + Q'$  with  $Q_0$  and Q' defined by (28.3.59) and (28.3.61).

Remark 28.3.14. We will show that for a minimizer  $Q \simeq Q_0$  in both cases (and even under even weaker non-degeneracy assumption (28.3.65)).

#### Non-Degenerate Case

Assume now that even weaker non-degeneracy condition is fulfilled:

(28.3.65) 
$$\min_{j} |V - 2j\beta h| + |\partial V| + |\partial^2 V| \ge \epsilon_0 \quad \text{in } B(0,1).$$

Then the measure of the degenerate set is  $\rho(\beta h)^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  but even this is sufficient to obtain the same sum from the second term. In the first term we get however extra  $C\beta |\log h|$  (which is  $O(h^{-1})$  provided  $\beta \leq (h|\log h|)^{-1}$ ) but we can help with this too: indeed, if we fix  $\ell \geq 2\overline{\ell}$ , then the relative measure does not exceed  $\rho^2(\beta h\ell)$  and summation results in  $O(h^{-1})$ . We still need to consider set  $\{x : \ell(x) \leq 2\overline{\ell}\}$ , but its contribution is obviously less than  $C\beta\overline{\ell}|\log h|$  which in turn is  $O(h^{-1} + \nu|\log h|)$  (and this is  $O(h^{-1})$  for a minimizer).

However contribution of the degenerate set becomes  $C\beta h^{-2}\bar{\rho}^{3}\bar{\ell}$  which boils down to the same expression Q'. Then we arrive to

**Proposition 28.3.15.** Let  $\beta h \leq 1$  and conditions  $(28.3.49)_{1,2}$  be fulfilled. Then under non-degeneracy assumption (28.3.65) estimate (28.3.63) holds with  $Q = Q_0 + Q''$ ,  $Q'' = Q' + \nu |\log h|$  with  $Q_0$  and Q' defined by (28.3.59) and (28.3.61) respectively. We leave easy details to the reader.

#### **Degenerate** Case

Let us derive a remainder estimate without any non-degeneracy assumptions. In comparison with the non-degenerate case we need to sum  $\beta \rho^{-\frac{1}{3}} \nu^{\frac{4}{3}} h^{\frac{2}{3}}$  and we sum it over  $\rho \geq \rho_*$ , resulting in the same expression with  $\rho$  replaced by  $\rho_*$ ; adding the contribution of the degenerate zone, equal to  $\beta \rho^3_*$ , we get  $\beta \rho^{-\frac{1}{3}}_* \nu^{\frac{4}{3}} h^{\frac{2}{3}} + \beta h^{-2} \rho^3_*$ , which should be minimized by  $\rho_* \geq \bar{\rho}$ , resulting in  $\beta \nu^{\frac{6}{5}} h^{\frac{2}{5}} + \beta \bar{\rho}^3$  i.e.

(28.3.66) 
$$Q''' = \beta \nu^{\frac{6}{5}} h^{\frac{2}{5}} + \beta h^{-\frac{1}{2}} + \mu^{3} \beta^{-2} h^{-2} + \nu |\log h|.$$

Thus we arrive to

**Proposition 28.3.16.** Let  $\beta h \leq 1$  and conditions  $(28.3.49)_{1,2}$  be fulfilled. Then estimate (28.3.63) holds with Q replaced by  $Q = Q_0 + Q'''$  with  $Q_0$  and Q''' are defined by (28.3.59) and (28.3.66) respectively.

*Remark 28.3.17.* We are going to apply our results to  $V = W_B^{\mathsf{TF}} + \lambda$  with chemical potential  $\lambda$ . We know that

(i) For M = 1 (single nucleus case) after rescalings the non-degeneracy condition (28.3.60) is fulfilled everywhere including the *boundary zone*  $\{x: \epsilon_0 \bar{r} \leq r(x) \leq C_0 \bar{r}\}.$ 

(ii) For  $M \ge 2$  (multiple nuclei case) after rescalings the non-degeneracy condition (28.3.60) is fulfilled if  $r(x) \le \epsilon d$  where d is the minimal distance between nuclei.

(iii) Further, for  $M \ge 2$  and  $B \le Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  after rescalings the non-degeneracy condition (28.3.65) is fulfilled in the zone  $\{x : Z^{-\frac{1}{3}} \le r(x) \le \epsilon_0 \overline{r}\}$  where r(x) is the distance to the closest nuclei and  $\overline{r} = \min(B^{-\frac{1}{4}}, (Z - N)^{-\frac{1}{3}})$ .

(iv) On the other hand, the non-degeneracy condition (28.3.63) is uncalled: while we believe that this condition is often fulfilled while (28.3.60) fails we have no proof of this.

(v) For  $M \ge 2$  in the boundary zone a more delicate scaling needs to be applied to improve remainder estimate which is possible not only because  $W_B^{\mathsf{TF}}$  is more regular than just  $\mathscr{C}^2$  but also has some special properties.

# 28.3.5 Endgame

Until now in this Section we assumed only that A' satisfies equation to the minimizer locally (and assumptions (28.3.14)–(28.3.15)) but now we assume that A' is a minimizer.

#### **Upper Estimate**

Let us first derive an upper estimate for  $\mathsf{E}^*_\kappa$  and for this we need to pick-up some A'. First of all, we try A' = 0 resulting in

$$\mathsf{E}^*_{\kappa} \leq \mathcal{E}^*_0 + \mathit{Ch}^{-1} \leq \mathcal{E}^*_{\kappa} + \mathit{Ch}^{-1} + \mathit{C}\kappa\beta^2$$

which is a good estimate for  $\kappa \beta^2 \lesssim h^{-1}$ :

$$(28.3.67) \mathsf{E}_{\kappa}^* \le \mathcal{E}_{\kappa}^* + Ch^{-1}$$

However for  $\kappa\beta^2 \gtrsim h^{-1}$  we need to be more subtle. Namely, we pick up a mollified minimizer for the modified functional  $\bar{\mathcal{E}}_{\kappa}(A')$ , defined by (28.2.8). More precisely, let A' be the minimizer for  $\bar{\mathcal{E}}_{\kappa}(A')$ ; then  $\mathcal{E}_{\kappa}(A') = \mathcal{E}_{\kappa}^* + O(h^{-1})$ .

Still it is not a good choice since our approach relies upon  $\mathscr{C}^2$ -smoothness but A' is only  $\mathscr{C}^{\frac{3}{2}}$ -smooth.

**Proposition 28.3.18.** Let  $\beta h \leq 1$  and  $\kappa \beta^2 h \geq 1$ ; let A' be a minimizer for the modified functional  $\overline{\mathcal{E}}_{\kappa}(A')$  and let  $A'_{\varepsilon}$  be its  $\varepsilon$ -mollification. Then there exists  $\varepsilon > 0$  such that

 $(28.3.68)_{1,2} \quad |\partial A_{\varepsilon}'| \le C\mu = \kappa\beta h, \quad |\partial^2 A_{\varepsilon}'| \le C\nu = C\left(1 + (\kappa\beta)^{\frac{4}{3}}h^{\frac{2}{3}}\right)|\log h|$ and  $(28.2.60) \qquad \qquad \mathcal{E}\left(A'\right) - \mathcal{E}^* + O(h^{-1})$ 

(28.3.69) 
$$\mathcal{E}_{\kappa}(\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}') = \mathcal{E}_{\kappa}^* + O(h^{-1})$$

*Proof.* From equation to A' we observe that

(28.3.70) 
$$|\partial (A' - A_{\varepsilon}')| \le C\kappa(\varepsilon + \beta h\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}}), \quad |\partial^2 A_{\varepsilon}'| \le C\kappa(1 + \beta h\varepsilon^{-\frac{1}{2}})|\log h|$$

and

(28.3.71) 
$$|\mathcal{E}_{\kappa}(\mathcal{A}') - \mathcal{E}_{\kappa}(\mathcal{A}'_{\varepsilon})| \leq C(\varepsilon^{2} + \beta h \varepsilon^{\frac{3}{2}}) \kappa h^{-3} + C \kappa (\varepsilon + \beta h \varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}})^{2} h^{-2}$$

because linear with respect to  $\partial (A' - A'_{\varepsilon})$  terms disappear due to equation to a minimizer. Then for  $\varepsilon \ge h$  the right-hand expression of (28.3.71)

is  $O(h^{-1} + \kappa\beta h^{-2}\varepsilon^{\frac{3}{2}})$  and we take  $\varepsilon = \min(1, (\kappa\beta)^{-\frac{2}{3}}h^{\frac{2}{3}})^{12}$ , resulting in (28.3.68)<sub>1,2</sub> and (28.3.69) since  $|\partial A'| \leq C\kappa\beta h$ .

Then applying Propositions 28.3.12, 28.3.15 and 28.3.16 to operator  $H_{A_{\varepsilon},V}$  with  $A_{\varepsilon} = A^0 + A'_{\varepsilon}$  we arrive to

**Proposition 28.3.19.** (i) For  $\beta h \lesssim 1$  and  $\kappa \beta^2 h \lesssim 1$  estimate (28.3.67) holds.

(ii) For  $\beta h \lesssim 1$  and  $\kappa \beta^2 h \gtrsim 1$  estimate  $\mathsf{E}^*_{\kappa} \leq \mathcal{E}^*_{\kappa} + CQ$  holds with  $Q = Q_0$ under non-degeneracy assumption (28.3.65) and with  $Q = Q_0 + Q'''$  in the general case, calculated with  $\nu = (1 + (\kappa \beta)^{\frac{4}{3}} h^{\frac{2}{3}}) |\log h|, \ \bar{\rho} = h^{\frac{1}{2}}, and$  $<math>\bar{\ell} = \max(h^{\frac{1}{2}}, \beta^{-1}\nu).$ 

Indeed, for A' selected above  $\mu \leq \kappa \beta h$  and one can check easily that  $Q' \leq Q_0$ . Since  $\nu$  here is lesser than one derived for a minimizer of  $\mathsf{E}^*_{\kappa}(A')$ , we are happy and skip calculation of Q'''.

#### Lower Estimate

Estimate (28.3.63) implies that

$$\frac{\operatorname{Tr}(H_{A,V}^{-}\psi)+\kappa^{-1}h^{2}\|\partial A'\|^{2}}{=\mathsf{E}_{\kappa}(A')}\geq -h^{-3}\int P_{Bh}(V)\psi\,dx+\kappa^{-1}h^{-2}\|\partial A'\|^{2}-CQ$$

and therefore

(28.3.72) 
$$\mathsf{E}_{\kappa}^* \geq \mathcal{E}_{\kappa}^* - CQ$$
 with  $\mathsf{E}_{\kappa}^* = \inf_{A'} \mathsf{E}_{\kappa}(A'), \quad \mathcal{E}_{\kappa}^* = \inf_{A'} \mathcal{E}_{\kappa}(A'),$ 

where  $A' = A'_{\kappa}$  is a minimizer of  $\mathsf{E}_{\kappa}(A')$  and Q is defined in Propositions 28.3.12, 28.3.15 and 28.3.16 and  $\nu$  is a right-hand expression of (28.3.47) or 1 whatever is larger. For a sake of simplicity we replace it by a marginally larger expression

$$(28.3.47)^* \quad \nu = (\mu + 1)(\kappa |\log h|^2 + 1) + (\kappa \beta)^{\frac{10}{9}} h^{\frac{4}{9}} |\log h|^{\kappa} + \kappa \beta^{\frac{1}{2}} |\log h|;$$

recall that in "old" (28.3.47)  $\mu = \|\partial A'\|_{\mathcal{L}^{\infty}}$  or  $\mu = 1$ , whatever is larger, so we modified the first term here accordingly.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12)</sup> Then  $\varepsilon \gtrsim h$  due to  $\kappa \beta^2 h \gtrsim 1$ .

Our problem is that so far we know neither  $\|\partial A'\|_{\mathcal{L}^{\infty}}$  nor  $\|\partial A'\|$ . Observe however that

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{E}_{\kappa}^{*} &= \mathsf{E}_{\kappa}(\mathcal{A}') \geq \mathsf{E}_{2\kappa}(\mathcal{A}') + (2\kappa)^{-1} \|\partial \mathcal{A}'\|^{2} \geq \mathcal{E}_{2\kappa}^{*} + (2\kappa)^{-1} \|\partial \mathcal{A}'\|^{2} - \mathcal{C}\mathcal{Q} \\ &\geq \mathcal{E}_{\kappa}^{*}(\mathcal{A}') - \mathcal{C}\kappa\beta^{2}(2\kappa)^{-1} \|\partial \mathcal{A}'\|^{2} - \mathcal{C}\mathcal{Q} \end{split}$$

and therefore combining this with an upper estimate we arrive to estimate

(28.3.73) 
$$\|\partial A'\| \leq C(\kappa h^2 Q)^{\frac{1}{2}} + C\kappa\beta h,$$

and we have also

(28.3.74) 
$$\|\partial A'\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}} \leq C \|\partial A'\|_{\mathfrak{T}^{\infty}}^{\frac{2}{5}} \cdot \|\partial^{2}A'\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}}^{\frac{3}{5}}.$$

We are going to explore what happens if

(28.3.75) 
$$\nu \asymp \mu(\kappa |\log h|^2 + 1),$$

where the right-hand expression is the sum of all terms in  $(28.3.47)^*$  containing  $\mu$ .

Remark 28.3.20. (i) Observe first that remainder estimate  $Q = O(\beta^2 h^{-1})$  is guaranteed and therefore  $\|\partial A'\| \leq C\beta h^{\frac{1}{2}}$ . Then  $\mu \leq C\beta^{\frac{2}{5}} h^{\frac{1}{5}} \nu^{\frac{3}{5}}$  due to (28.3.74).

(ii) Further, if (28.3.75) is fulfilled, then  $\mu \leq \beta h^{\frac{1}{2}} |\log h|^{\kappa}$  and the same estimate holds for  $\nu$  and then  $Q_0 \simeq h^{-1}$ ,  $Q''' \leq C\beta h^{-\frac{1}{2}} |\log h|^{\kappa}$ ; then the rough estimate to Q is improved, and then  $\mu \ll \beta h^{\frac{1}{2}}$ ,  $\nu \ll \beta h^{\frac{1}{2}}$  and, finally,  $Q \simeq h^{-1}$  under assumption (28.3.65) and  $Q \simeq h^{-1} + \beta h^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  in the general case, and we also have nice estimates to  $\mu, \nu$ .

Therefore we can assume that (28.3.75) is not fulfilled, but then  $\nu$  is defined by the remaining terms and then

(28.3.76) 
$$\nu = \kappa |\log h| + \kappa \min(\beta^{\frac{3}{2}} h^{-\frac{1}{2}}, \beta^{\frac{1}{2}})|\log h| + (\kappa \beta)^{\frac{10}{9}} h^{\frac{4}{9}}|\log h|^{\kappa}$$

(and from now we do not reset to 1 if this expression is smaller).

We *almost* proved the following estimates for Q:

(28.3.77)  $Q = Q_0$  under non-degeneracy assumption (28.3.65) and  $Q = Q_0 + \beta h^{-\frac{1}{2}} \approx h^{-1} + \beta h^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  in the general case.

However we need still explore what happens if  $Q \simeq \mu^3 \beta^{-2} h^{-2}$ . In this case  $\mu \leq (\mu^3 \beta^{-2})^{\frac{1}{5}} \nu^{\frac{3}{5}}$  and then  $\mu^{\frac{2}{5}} \leq \beta^{-\frac{2}{5}} \nu^{\frac{3}{5}}$ , and using (28.3.76) one can prove easily (28.3.77) unless  $\beta \leq h^{-\frac{1}{5}} |\log h|^{\kappa}$  in which case  $\nu = (\kappa |\log h| + 1)$ .

#### Weak Magnetic Field Approach

Consider now case  $\beta \leq h^{-\frac{1}{3}}$ . Recall that then  $\nu \leq C\kappa |\log h|$  and  $\mu \ll 1$ . Then as we study propagation with respect to  $p_3$  we do not need to correct it to  $p'_3$  and then we do not need  $\bar{\rho}$ .

Then we can apply weak magnetic field approach (see Section 13.4). Now contribution of a partition element with  $\rho \geq C_0\beta^{-1}$  does not exceed  $\rho^3 h^{-1} \times \rho^{-2}$  as we use  $T \leq \epsilon_0\rho$  and the total contribution of such elements does not exceed  $Ch^{-1}$ ; meanwhile the total contribution of elements with  $\rho = C_0\beta^{-1}$  does not exceed  $C\beta^2h^{-1} \times \beta^{-3} \leq Ch^{-1}$  as we use  $T = \epsilon_0\beta^{-1}$ .

#### Main Theorem

Therefore after we plug  $\nu$  into  $Q_0$  we have proven our estimate from below and also the main theorem of this Section:

**Theorem 28.3.21.** Let  $\beta h \lesssim 1$  and  $\kappa \leq \kappa^*$ . Then

(i) Estimate

$$(28.3.78) \qquad |\mathsf{E}_{\kappa}^* - \mathcal{E}_{\kappa}^*| \le CQ$$

holds where under non-degeneracy assumption (28.3.65)

(28.3.79)  $Q := h^{-1} + \kappa^{\frac{40}{27}} \beta^{\frac{40}{27}} h^{\frac{7}{27}} |\log h|^{\kappa},$ 

and in the general case

(28.3.80) 
$$Q := h^{-1} + \beta h^{-\frac{1}{2}}.$$

(ii) For a minimizer the following estimate holds:  $\|\partial^2 A'\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}} \leq C\nu$  with  $\nu$ , defined by (28.3.76).

We leave as an easy exercise to the reader

Problem 28.3.22. (i) Starting from estimate  $\|\partial^2 A'\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}} \leq C\nu$  derive from (28.3.73)–(28.3.74) estimate for  $\|\partial A'\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}}$ ; consider separately three cases:  $1 \leq \beta \leq h^{-\frac{1}{3}}, \ h^{-\frac{1}{3}} \leq \beta \leq h^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  and  $h^{-\frac{1}{2}} \leq \beta \leq 1$ .

(ii) Prove that for  $\kappa \beta^2 h \gtrsim 1$ 

(28.3.81) 
$$\|\partial (A' - A'')\| \le C(\kappa Qh^2)^{\frac{1}{2}},$$

where A' and A'' are minimizers for  $\mathsf{E}_{\kappa}$  and  $\bar{\mathcal{E}}_{\kappa}$  respectively; in particular, observe that  $\|\partial(A' - A'')\| \ll \|\partial A'\|$  for  $\kappa \beta^2 h \gg 1$ ;

(iii) Since (28.3.81) holds for A'' replaced by  $A''_{\varepsilon}$  as well and since we have estimate  $\|\partial^2 A''_{\varepsilon}\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}} \leq C\nu$ , derive from (28.3.81) estimate for  $\|\partial (A' - A''_{\varepsilon})\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}}$  and then the same estimate for  $\|\partial A'\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}}$ .

*Remark 28.3.23.* In the following observations we use simpler but less sharp upper estimates to critical  $\beta$ :

(i) Under non-degeneracy assumption (28.3.65) we conclude that  $Q \leq Ch^{-1}$  and  $\nu \leq C\beta^{\frac{1}{2}} |\log h|$  for  $\beta \leq h^{-\frac{2}{3}}$  and therefore  $\mu \leq 1$  for  $\beta \leq h^{-\frac{2}{3}} |\log h|^{-\kappa}$ .

(ii) In the general case we see that  $Q \leq Ch^{-1} + C\beta h^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  and  $\nu \leq C\beta^{\frac{1}{2}} |\log h|$  for  $\beta \leq h^{-\frac{2}{3}}$  and therefore  $\mu \leq 1$  fors  $\beta \leq h^{-\frac{3}{5}} |\log h|^{-\kappa}$ ; we used here estimate  $\mu \leq C(\kappa h^2 Q)^{\frac{1}{5}} \nu^{\frac{3}{5}}$ .

# 28.3.6 N-Term Asymptotics

#### Introduction

In the application to the ground state energy one needs to consider also N-term asymptotics and D-term estimates. Let us start from the former: we consider N-term

(28.3.82) 
$$\int e(x, x, 0)\psi(x) dx$$

Again we consider this asymptotics in the more broad content of assumptions  $V \in \mathscr{C}^2$  and  $(28.3.49)_{1,2}$  and we will follow arguments employed for a trace term using the same notations. Then the Tauberian error does not exceed  $CS(\rho, T)\gamma^3 hT^{-1\,13}$ , which is

(28.3.56)' 
$$C(\beta + \rho^2 h^{-1}) h^{-1} (\rho^{-1} T^{-1} + \rho^{-3} \nu^2 h T^{-2}) \gamma^3.$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13)</sup> With  $S(\rho, T)$  defined by (28.3.28).

Minimizing by  $T \leq T^*$  we get

(28.3.57)' 
$$C(\beta + \rho^2 h^{-1}) h^{-1} \left( \rho^{-1} + \rho^{-2} \ell + \rho^{-\frac{5}{3}} \nu^{\frac{2}{3}} h^{\frac{1}{3}} \right) \gamma^3.$$

Then summation over zone  $\{\rho: \rho^2 \ge \beta h\}$  results in

$$(28.3.59)' R_0 = C(h^{-2} + h^{-\frac{5}{3}}\nu^{\frac{2}{3}})$$

and we need to consider only contributions of elements belonging to the zone  $\{\rho: \rho^2 \leq \beta h\}$ 

(28.3.83) 
$$\beta h^{-1} \left( \rho^{-1} + \rho^{-2} \ell + \rho^{-\frac{5}{3}} \nu^{\frac{2}{3}} h^{\frac{1}{3}} \right) \gamma^{3}.$$

#### Strong Non-Degenerate Case

Under non-degeneracy conditions (28.3.60) or (28.3.63) expression (28.3.83) should be multiplied by  $\rho^2(\beta h)^{-1}\gamma^{-3}$  and after summation by  $\rho$  we get an extra term  $Ch^{-2}|\log h|$ .

However we can get rid of the logarithmic factor by the standard trick: in one direction time could be improved to  $\rho^{1-\delta}\ell^{\delta}$ . We leave easy details to the reader.

Further, adding  $R' = C\beta h^{-2}\bar{\rho} \times \bar{\rho}^2(\beta h)^{-1}$  with  $\bar{\rho} = C_0 \max(\mu\beta^{-1}, h^{\frac{1}{2}})^{-11}$  i.e.

$$(28.3.61)' \qquad \qquad R' = \mu^3 \beta^{-3} h^{-3},$$

which is a contribution of the zone  $\{\rho \colon \rho \leq \overline{\rho}\}$ , we arrive to

**Proposition 28.3.24.** Let  $\beta h \leq 1$  and conditions  $(28.3.49)_{1,2}$  be fulfilled. Then under non-degeneracy assumption (28.3.60) or (28.3.63) estimate

(28.3.84) 
$$|\int (\operatorname{tr} e(x, x, 0) - h^{-3} \int P'_{Bh}(V)) \psi(x) \, dx| \leq CR$$

holds with  $R = R_0 + R'$ ,  $R_0$ , R' defined by (28.3.59)' and (28.3.61)'.

Remark 28.3.25. The above estimate is sufficiently good since the weak magnetic field approach brings remainder estimate  $C\mu h^{-2}$  even without any non-degeneracy assumption. We leave easy details to the reader.

#### Non-Degenerate Case

Under non-degeneracy assumption (28.3.65) we need to apply more subtle arguments than before. Consider first subelements<sup>14)</sup> with  $\rho \ge \ell$ ; for them we need to multiply expression (28.3.83) by  $\rho\gamma^{-3}$  and sum by  $\rho \ge \rho_*$ , resulting in  $C\beta h^{-1}|\log h| + C\beta h^{-\frac{2}{3}}\nu_*^2\rho_*^{-\frac{2}{3}}$ .

On the other hand, for subelements with  $\rho \leq \ell$  we need to multiply (28.3.83) by  $\rho^2(\beta h)^{-1}\gamma^{-3}$  and sum by  $\rho_* \leq \rho \leq \ell$  and then by  $\ell \geq \rho_*$ , resulting in the same expression albeit with a factor  $|\log h|^2$  instead of  $|\log h|$ . Here we get also  $Ch^{-2}|\log h|$  term but we deal with it exactly as in the previous Subsubsection 28.3.6.2 Strong Non-Degenerate Case.

We need also to add contributions of subelements with  $\rho_* \leq \rho \leq \ell \leq \ell$ and with  $\rho \leq \rho_*$ . For the former subelements we need to consider only term  $\beta h^{-1} \rho^{-2} \bar{\ell} \gamma^3$  in (28.3.83) and only if  $\bar{\ell} = \nu \beta^{-1}$ , resulting in  $\beta h^{-1} \rho_*^{-1} \bar{\ell} \gamma^3$  and contribution of the latter subelements we estimate by  $\beta h^{-2} \rho_*^2$ . So we get

(28.3.85) 
$$C\beta(h^{-1}|\log h| + h^{-1}\rho_*^{-1}\overline{\ell} + h^{-\frac{2}{3}}\nu_*^{\frac{2}{3}}\rho_*^{-\frac{2}{3}} + h^{-2}\rho_*^{2}),$$

which should be minimized by  $\rho_* \geq \bar{\rho}$ , resulting in

$$C\beta(h^{-1}|\log h|^2 + h^{-\frac{4}{3}}\bar{\ell}^{\frac{2}{3}} + h^{-1}\nu^{\frac{1}{2}} + h^{-2}\bar{\rho}^2).$$

Then plugging  $\bar{\rho}$  and  $\bar{\ell} = \nu \beta^{-1}$  we arrive to

(28.3.86) 
$$R'' = C\beta \left( h^{-1} |\log h|^2 + h^{-\frac{4}{3}} \nu^{\frac{2}{3}} \beta^{-\frac{2}{3}} + h^{-1} \nu^{\frac{1}{2}} \right) + C \mu^2 \beta^{-1} h^{-2}$$

thus proving Proposition 28.3.26(i) below.

#### Degenerate cCase

In the general case we arrive to (28.3.85) albeit with factor  $\rho_*^{-1}$ 

(28.3.87) 
$$C\beta \left(h^{-1}\rho_*^{-1} + h^{-1}\rho_*^{-2}\overline{\ell} + h^{-\frac{2}{3}}\nu_*^{\frac{2}{3}}\rho_*^{-\frac{5}{3}} + h^{-2}\rho_*\right),$$

which should be minimized by  $\rho_* \geq \bar{\rho}$ , resulting in

$$C\beta (h^{-\frac{3}{2}} + h^{-\frac{5}{3}} \overline{\ell}^{\frac{1}{3}} + h^{-\frac{4}{3}} \nu^{\frac{1}{4}} + h^{-2} \overline{\rho}).$$

 $<sup>^{14)}</sup>$  We call them "subelements" but they live in the phase spaces in contrast to elements which live in the coordinate spaces.

Then plugging  $\bar{\rho}$  and  $\bar{\ell}$  we arrive to

(28.3.88) 
$$R''' = C\beta \left( h^{-\frac{3}{2}} + h^{-\frac{5}{3}} \nu^{\frac{1}{3}} \beta^{-\frac{1}{3}} + h^{-\frac{4}{3}} \nu^{\frac{1}{4}} \right) + C\mu h^{-2}$$

thus proving Proposition 28.3.26(ii):

**Proposition 28.3.26.** Let  $\beta h \lesssim 1$  and conditions  $(28.3.49)_{1,2}$  be fulfilled. Then

(i) Under non-degeneracy assumption (28.3.65) estimate (28.3.63) holds with  $R = R_0 + R''$ ,  $R_0$ , R'' defined by (28.3.59)' and (28.3.86).

(ii) In the general case estimate (28.3.63) holds with  $R = R_0 + R'''$ ,  $R_0$ , R''' defined by (28.3.59)' and (28.3.88).

## 28.3.7 D-Term Estimate

 ${\rm Consider} \,\, {\rm now} \,\, {\sf D}\text{-}{\rm term}$ 

(28.3.89)  $D([e(x, x, 0) - h^{-3}P'_{Bh}(V)]\psi, [e(x, x, 0) - h^{-3}P'_{Bh}(V)]\psi)$ 

with  $\psi \in \mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}((B(0,1)))$ .

**Proposition 28.3.27.** Let  $\beta h \lesssim 1$  and A' satisfy  $(28.3.49)_{1,2}$ . Then under non-degeneracy assumption (28.3.60) D-term (28.3.89) does not exceed  $CR^2$  with  $R = R_0 + R'$ ,  $R_0$  and R' defined by (28.3.59)' and (28.3.61)'.

*Proof.* Step 1. Let us apply Fefferman-de Llave decomposition (16.4.1); then we need to consider pairs of elements  $B(\bar{x}, r)$  and  $B(\bar{y}, r)$  such that  $3r \leq |\bar{x} - \bar{y}| \leq 4r$ . If  $r \geq \bar{\rho}$ , then on each of these elements we should consider  $(\gamma, \rho)$  subelements (we call them "subelements" but they live in the phase spaces in contrast to the elements which live in the coordinate spaces). Then we have three parameters, namely  $(r, \rho_x, \rho_y)$ .

Observe that for each  $\bar{y}$  the number of matching x-elements is  $\approx 1$ and that the summation with respect to  $\rho_x \geq \rho^* = (\beta h)^{\frac{1}{2}}$  results in  $R_0 r^2$ multiplied by a contribution of  $(\gamma, \rho_y)$ -subelement; after summation by rand then by these  $(\gamma, \rho_y)$ -subelements we get  $CR_0R$ . Similarly we are dealing with  $\rho_y \geq \rho^*$ .

Therefore we need to consider only the case when both  $\rho_x$  and  $\rho_y$  do not exceed  $\rho^*$ . If  $r \ge c\rho^*$ , then "the relative measure trick" allows us to add factors  $\rho_x^2(\beta h)^{-1}$  and  $\rho_y^2(\beta h)^{-1}$  even if  $\rho_x^2 \ge r$  or  $\rho_y^2 \ge r$  and then the total contribution of such subelements also does not exceed  $CR^2$ .

Step 2. Consider next  $h \leq r \leq \rho^{* (15)}$  and we should look only at  $\rho_x \leq \rho^*$ ,  $\rho_y \leq \rho^*$ . Further, if  $\rho_x^2 \geq \epsilon r$  or  $\rho_y^2 \geq \epsilon r$  we can always inject factor  $c \rho_x^2 r^{-1}$  or  $c \rho_y^2 r^{-1}$  ending up again with  $CR^2$ .

On the other hand, if both  $\rho_x^2 \leq \epsilon r$  and  $\rho_y^2 \leq \epsilon r$  but  $r \geq c\bar{\rho}$  we can apply the same "relative measure trick" but comparing the measure of  $\rho_x^2$ or  $\rho_y^2$ -elements with violated ellipticity assumption to the total measure of B(z, r); then we can inject factors  $(\rho_x^2/r)^{\theta}$  and  $(\rho_y^2/r)^{\theta}$  with arbitrary  $0 \leq \theta \leq 1$  and we select any  $\theta : \frac{5}{6} < \theta < 1$  to have positive powers of  $\rho_x$  and  $\rho_y$  and power of r (counting  $r^{-1}$ ) greater than -3. We end up again with  $CR^2$ .

Observe that these arguments cover also cases  $\rho_x \leq \bar{\rho}$  or  $\rho_y \leq \bar{\rho}$ .

Step 3. To estimate the contribution of zone  $\{(x, y): r \leq h\}$  we just estimate  $|e(x, x, \tau)| \leq Ch^{-3}$ .

For  $M \ge 2$  we will need to estimate D-term under non-degeneracy assumptions (28.3.63), or (28.3.65), or without any non-degeneracy assumption.

**Proposition 28.3.28.** Let  $\beta h \lesssim 1$  and A' satisfy  $(28.3.49)_{1,2}$ . Then D-term (28.3.89) does not exceed  $CR^2$  where

(i) Under non-degeneracy assumption (28.3.63)  $R = R_0 + R'$ ,  $R_0$  and R' defined by (28.3.59)' and (28.3.61)'.

(ii) Under non-degeneracy assumption (28.3.65)  $R = R_0 + R''$ ,  $R_0$  and R'' defined by (28.3.59)' and (28.3.86).

(iii) In the general case  $R = R_0 + R'''$ ,  $R_0$  and R''' defined by (28.3.59)' and (28.3.88).

*Proof.* Let us use ideas used in the proofs of Proposition 28.3.26, 28.3.24 and 28.3.26. Let us apply Fefferman-de Llave decomposition (16.4.1); then we need to consider pairs of elements  $B(\bar{x}, r)$  and  $B(\bar{y}, r)$  with  $3r \leq |\bar{x} - \bar{y}| \leq 4r$ . If  $r \geq \bar{\rho}$  on each of these elements we should consider  $(\gamma, \rho)$  subelements<sup>14)</sup>. Then again we have three parameters, namely  $(r, \rho_x, \rho_y)$ . On the other hand, there is a scaling function  $\ell(x)$  and covering of B(0, 1) by  $\ell$ -elements.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15)</sup> Observe that we do not need to keep  $t \ge \overline{\rho}$  but we need to keep  $\rho r \ge h$ .

Part 1. Consider case of  $\ell_x \leq r$  (and therefore  $\ell_y \leq r$ ). Then we must assume that  $\rho_x \ell_x \gtrsim h$ ,  $\rho_y \ell_y \gtrsim h$ . Observe as in *Step 1* of the previous proof that if  $\rho_x \gtrsim \rho^* = (\beta h)^{\frac{1}{2}}$ , then the relative density of such subelements is  $\rho_x^2/(\beta h)$  and therefore the summation over such subelements of the given *x*-element results in  $CR_0\ell_x^3$ . Therefore the double summation over corresponding subelements of *x*- and *y*-elements results in  $CR_0^2\ell_x^3\ell_y^3r^{-1}$ . Finally, after the double summation over *x*- and *y*-elements we get  $CR_0^2\int |x-y|^{-1} dxdy$ , which does not exceed  $CR_0^2$ .

Therefore in what follows we need to consider only subelements with  $\rho_x \leq \rho^*, \rho_y \leq \rho^{* 16}$ . Further, observe that the same arguments are applicable if  $\ell_x \gtrsim \rho^*, \ell_y \gtrsim \rho^*$  and we are left with the pairs of elements with  $\ell_x \leq \rho^*, \ell_y \leq \rho^*$  and their subelements with  $\rho_x \leq \rho^*, \rho_y \leq \rho^*$  since we will always keep  $\ell_x \geq \bar{\rho}, \ell_y \geq \bar{\rho}$ .

Observe that the summation of (28.3.83) over subelements with  $\rho \ge \ell$  of the given element results in

(28.3.90) 
$$C\beta h^{-1} (\ell^{-1} + \ell^{-\frac{5}{3}} \nu^{\frac{2}{3}} h^{\frac{1}{3}}) \ell^{3}$$

On the other hand, for  $\rho \leq \ell$  the relative density of  $\rho$ -subelements of the given  $\ell$ -element does not exceed  $C\rho^2\ell^{-2}$  and therefore summation over such subelements results in (28.3.90) again.

However in (28.3.83) if  $\ell \leq \overline{\ell}$  we need to take in the middle term  $\ell = \overline{\ell}$  and here we can ignore other options but  $\overline{\ell} = \nu \beta^{-1}$ .

Then the summation of this term over subelements with  $\rho \geq \max(\ell, \rho_*)$  results in  $C\beta h^{-1}\min(\rho_*^{-2}, \ell^{-2})\bar{\ell}\ell^3$  and the summation over subelements with  $\rho_* \leq \rho \leq \ell$  results in  $C\beta h^{-1}\rho_*^{-2}\bar{\ell}(1+|\log \rho_*\ell^{-1}|)\ell^3$  (and should be counted as  $\ell \geq \rho_*$  only.

Finally, the contribution of subelements with  $\rho \leq \rho_*$  does not exceed  $C\beta h^{-2}\rho_*^3\ell$  and  $C\beta h^{-2}\rho_*\ell^3$  if  $\rho_* \leq \ell$  and  $\rho_* \geq \ell$  respectively. So, in the former case the total contribution of all subelements does not exceed

(28.3.91) 
$$C\beta h^{-1} \Big[ \ell^{-1} + \ell^{-\frac{5}{3}} \nu^{\frac{2}{3}} h^{\frac{1}{3}} + \rho_*^{-2} \bar{\ell} (1 + |\log \rho_* \ell^{-1}|) + h^{-1} \rho_*^3 \ell^{-2} \Big] \ell^3.$$

 $<sup>^{16)}</sup>$  Due to positivity quadratic form D(.,.) we need to consider only "pure" pairs. We will use this observation many times.

Minimizing this expression by  $\rho_*$  we get

$$(28.3.92) \\ \mathcal{C}\beta h^{-1} \Big[ \ell^{-1} + \nu^{\frac{2}{3}} h^{\frac{1}{3}} \ell^{-\frac{5}{3}} + \bar{\ell}^{\frac{3}{5}} h^{-\frac{2}{5}} (1 + |\log \ell_* \ell^{-1}|)^{\frac{3}{5}} \ell^{-\frac{4}{5}} + h^{-1} \bar{\rho}^3 \ell^{-2} \Big] \ell^3,$$

achieved for

(28.3.93) 
$$\rho_* = \rho_*(\ell) \asymp \max((\bar{\ell}h\ell^2 |\log h|)^{\frac{1}{5}}, \bar{\rho})$$
  
if  $\ell \ge \ell_* = \max((\bar{\ell}h|\log h|)^{\frac{1}{3}}, \bar{\rho}).$ 

Then  $N\text{-}\mathrm{term}$  does not exceed

$$(28.3.94) C\beta h^{-1} \int_{\ell_{x} \ge \ell_{*}} \left[ \ell_{x}^{-1} + \nu^{\frac{2}{3}} h^{\frac{1}{3}} \ell_{x}^{-\frac{5}{3}} + \bar{\ell}^{\frac{3}{5}} h^{-\frac{2}{5}} (1 + |\log \ell_{*} \ell_{x}^{-1}|)^{\frac{3}{5}} \ell_{x}^{-\frac{4}{5}} + h^{-1} \bar{\rho}^{3} \ell_{x}^{-2} \right] dx + C\beta h^{-1} \left[ \ell_{*}^{-1} + \nu^{\frac{2}{3}} h^{\frac{1}{3}} \ell_{*}^{-\frac{5}{3}} + \bar{\ell}^{\frac{3}{5}} h^{-\frac{2}{5}} \ell_{*}^{-\frac{4}{5}} + h^{-1} \bar{\rho}^{3} \ell_{*}^{-2} \right] \operatorname{mes}(\{\ell_{x} \le \ell_{*}\})$$

where the first and second terms estimate contributions of elements with  $\ell_x \geq \ell_*$  and  $\ell_x \leq \ell_*$  respectively.

Remark 28.3.29. Observe that

(i) Under non-degeneracy assumption (28.3.60) we get  $C(R_0+R')$  as expected and under non-degeneracy assumption (28.3.63) we get  $C(R_0 + R' | \log h |)$ but this is only because we counted here the contribution of subelements with  $\{x : \rho_x \leq \ell_x\}$  in the less efficient way.

(ii) Under non-degeneracy assumption (28.3.65) we get  $C(R_0 + R'')$  and and in the general case we get  $C(R_0 + R''')$  where  $R_0, R', R'', R'''$  are defined in Propositions 28.3.24 and 28.3.26.

Similarly, the total contribution of the zone considered here (in *Part I*) to D-term does not exceed

$$(28.3.95) \quad C\beta^2 h^{-2} \iint_{\ell_x \ge \ell_*, \ell_y \ge \ell_*, |\mathbf{x}-\mathbf{y}| \ge \max(\ell_x, \ell_y)}$$

$$\times \left[ \ell_{x}^{-1} + \nu^{\frac{2}{3}} h^{\frac{1}{3}} \ell_{x}^{-\frac{5}{3}} + \bar{\ell}^{\frac{3}{5}} h^{-\frac{2}{5}} (1 + |\log \ell_{*} \ell_{x}^{-1}|)^{\frac{3}{5}} \ell_{x}^{-\frac{4}{5}} + h^{-1} \bar{\rho}^{3} \ell_{x}^{-2} \right] \\ \times \left[ \ell_{y}^{-1} + \nu^{\frac{2}{3}} h^{\frac{1}{3}} \ell_{y}^{-\frac{5}{3}} + \bar{\ell}^{\frac{3}{5}} h^{-\frac{2}{5}} (1 + |\log \ell_{*} \ell_{y}^{-1}|)^{\frac{3}{5}} \ell_{y}^{-\frac{4}{5}} + h^{-1} \bar{\rho}^{3} \ell_{y}^{-2} \right] \\ \times |x - y|^{-1} dx dy \\ + C \beta^{2} h^{-2} \left[ \ell_{*}^{-1} + \nu^{\frac{2}{3}} h^{\frac{1}{3}} \ell_{*}^{-\frac{5}{3}} + \bar{\ell}^{\frac{3}{5}} h^{-\frac{2}{5}} \ell_{*}^{-\frac{4}{5}} + h^{-1} \bar{\rho}^{3} \ell_{*}^{-2} \right]^{2} \iint_{\ell_{x} \le \ell_{*}, \ell_{y} \le \ell_{*}} |x - y|^{-1} dx dy.$$

Then under non-degeneracy assumption (28.3.60) we get  $C(R_0 + R')^2$ as expected while under weaker non-degeneracy assumption (28.3.63) we get  $C(R_0 + R' | \log h |)^2$  but this is only because we counted here contribution of subelements with  $\{x: \rho_x \leq \ell_x\}$  in the less efficient way. Using the method employed in the proof of Proposition 28.3.24 we can recover estimate  $C(R_0 + R')^2$  as well.

Further, under non-degeneracy assumption (28.3.63) we get  $C(R_0 + R'')^2$ and under non-degeneracy assumption (28.3.65) we get  $C(R_0 + R''')^2$ .

Part 2. Consider the case of  $\ell_x \geq Cr$  (and therefore  $\ell_y \simeq \ell_x$ ). Then we apply the same arguments as before albeit with  $\ell^2$  replaced by  $\ell r$ . First, consider the pair of subelements with  $\rho_x \geq \rho^*$ ,  $\rho_y \geq \rho^*$ . Their contribution to D-term does not exceed the product of expressions (28.3.83) with  $\rho = \rho_x$ ,  $\gamma = \gamma_x$  multiplied by  $\rho_x^2(\beta h)^{-1}$  and (28.3.83) with  $\rho = \rho_y$ ,  $\gamma = \gamma_y$  multiplied by  $\rho_x^2(\beta h)^{-1}$ , and multiplied by  $|x - y|^{-1}$ . Then the double summation by  $\rho_x$ ,  $\rho_y$  results in  $Ch^{-4}(1 + \nu^{\frac{4}{3}}h^{\frac{2}{3}})\gamma_x^3\gamma_y^3|x - y|^{-1}$ ; and, finally, the double summation over x, y returns  $Ch^{-4}(1 + \nu^{\frac{4}{3}}h^{\frac{2}{3}}) \int \int |x - y|^{-1} dx dy \lesssim CR^2$ .

Then we need to consider pairs with  $\rho_x \leq \rho^*$ ,  $\rho_y \leq \rho^*$  and also pairs with  $|x - y| \leq h \max(\rho_x^{-1}, \rho_y^{-1})$ .

Next consider pairs of subelements with  $\rho^* \ge \rho_x \ge (\ell r)^{\frac{1}{2}}$ ,  $\rho^* \ge \rho_y \ge (\ell r)^{\frac{1}{2}}$ . Their contributions to D-term does not exceed expression

$$C\beta^{2}h^{-2}\left(\rho_{x}^{-1}\rho_{y}^{-1}+\bar{\ell}^{2}\rho_{x}^{-2}\rho_{y}^{-2}+\rho_{x}^{-\frac{5}{3}}\rho_{y}^{-\frac{5}{3}}\nu^{\frac{4}{3}}h^{\frac{2}{3}}\right)\gamma_{x}^{3}\gamma_{y}^{3}|x-y|^{-1}$$

and the double summation over x, y in  $B(z, \ell)$  with  $\ell_z = \ell$  results in the same expression with the selected factor replaced by  $\ell^5$  and then the double summation over  $\rho_x$ ,  $\rho_y$  results in

(28.3.96) 
$$C\beta^{2}h^{-2}\left[\ell^{-2} + \bar{\ell}^{2}\ell^{-4} + \ell^{-\frac{10}{3}}\nu^{\frac{4}{3}}h^{\frac{2}{3}}\right]\ell^{5}.$$

Meanwhile, considering pairs of subelements with  $(\ell r)^{\frac{1}{2}} \ge \rho_x \ge \rho_*$  and  $(\ell r)^{\frac{1}{2}} \ge \rho_y \ge \rho_*$  (we use  $\rho_* = \rho_*(\ell)$  and  $\ell_*$  introduced in (28.3.93)) we gain factor  $\rho_x^2 \rho_y^2 / (\rho \ell)$  in the summation by subelements and we arrive to the same expression (28.3.96) but with a logarithmic factor at  $\bar{\ell}^2$ :

$$C\beta^{2}h^{-2}\Big[\ell^{-2}+\bar{\ell}^{2}\ell^{-4}(1+|\log 
ho_{*}\ell^{-1}|)^{3}+\ell^{-rac{10}{3}}
u^{rac{4}{3}}h^{rac{2}{3}}\Big]\ell^{5}.$$

However we can get rid of logarithmic factors exactly as in the proof of Proposition 28.3.26 thus getting (28.3.96). Then we need to sum by balls  $B(z, \ell_z)$  resulting in the same expression multiplied by  $\ell^{-3}$  and integrated:

$$C\beta^{2}h^{-2}\int_{\{\ell_{x}\geq\ell_{*}\}}\left[\ell_{x}^{-2}+\bar{\ell}^{2}\ell_{x}^{-4}+\ell_{x}^{-\frac{10}{3}}\nu^{\frac{4}{3}}h^{\frac{2}{3}}\right]\ell_{x}^{2}\,dx,$$

which we estimate by

(28.3.97) 
$$C\beta^{2}h^{-2}\int_{\ell\geq\ell_{*}}\left[\ell^{-2}+\bar{\ell}^{2}\ell^{-4}+\ell^{-\frac{10}{3}}\nu^{\frac{4}{3}}h^{\frac{2}{3}}\right]\ell^{2+m}d\ell$$

with m = 2, 1, 0 under non-degeneracy assumptions (28.3.63), (28.3.65) and in the general case respectively. Then we arrive to the terms of integrand multiplied by  $\ell$  and calculated either for  $\ell = 1$  or  $\ell = \ell_*$ . One can see easily that this does not exceed  $CR^2$  with R defined in the corresponding statement of Proposition 28.3.24.

One also can derive easily the same estimate for contributions of the pairs of subelements with  $\rho_x \leq \rho_*(\ell)$ ,  $\rho_y \leq \rho_*(\ell)$ ,  $\ell \geq \ell_*$ , and for contributions of the pairs of subelements with  $\rho_x \leq \ell_*$ ,  $\rho_y \leq \ell_*$ ,  $\ell \leq \ell_*$ , assuming in both cases that  $\rho_x r \geq h$ ,  $\rho_y r \geq h$ .

Finally, like in the proof of Proposition 28.3.26 we estimate the contribution of zone  $\{x, y : \rho_x r \leq h, \rho_y r \leq h\}$ . We leave easy details to the reader.  $\Box$ 

Remark 28.3.30. These arguments also work to estimate

$$(28.3.98) \qquad \mathsf{D}\big(\mathsf{\Gamma}_{\mathsf{x}}(hD-A)_{\mathsf{x}}\cdot \boldsymbol{\sigma} e(.,.,0), \, \mathsf{\Gamma}_{\mathsf{x}}(hD-A)_{\mathsf{x}}\cdot \boldsymbol{\sigma} e(.,.,0)\big).$$

Indeed, Weyl expression for  $\Gamma_x(hD - A)_x \cdot \sigma e(.,.,0)$  is just 0. Therefore we arrive under either of non-degeneracy assumptions (28.3.60), (28.3.63), (28.3.65) and in the general case to estimate

$$(28.3.99) \|\nabla A'\| \le C\kappa h^2 R,$$

which could be better or worse than estimate  $\|\nabla A'\| \leq C\kappa^{\frac{1}{2}}$  which we have already. It is not clear if estimate  $\|\nabla A'\| \leq C\kappa$  holds.

# **28.4** Microlocal Analysis: $\beta h \gtrsim 1$

Now let us investigate the case of  $\beta h \gtrsim 1$ . In this case we assume not only that  $\kappa \lesssim 1$  but also  $(28.2.27)^*$ :  $\kappa \beta h^2 |\log h|^{\kappa} \leq 1$ . We can apply the same arguments as before and in the end of the day we will get the series of the statements; we leave most of the easy details to the reader.

# 28.4.1 Estimate to a Minimizer

Observe first that

(28.4.1) 
$$\|\partial A'\|^2 \le C\beta h^{-2} \times \kappa h^2 = C\kappa\beta \le Ch^{-2}|\log h|^{-\kappa}$$

and

$$|\Delta A'| \leq C\beta h^{-2} \times \kappa h^2 = C\kappa\beta \leq Ch^{-2}|\log h|^{-K},$$

and therefore

(28.4.2) 
$$|\partial^2 A'| \le C\kappa\beta \le Ch^{-2}|\log h|^{-\kappa}$$

First of all, repeating arguments leading to Proposition 28.4.8, we arrive to estimate (28.3.46) modified

$$(28.4.3) \quad \|\partial^{2} A'\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}} \leq C\kappa \beta h \nu^{\frac{1}{2}} |\log h|^{2} \\ + C\kappa\beta h |\log h| (\underline{h^{-\frac{3}{5}}\nu^{\frac{1}{10}}} + \underline{h^{-\frac{4}{7}}\nu^{\frac{1}{7}}} + h^{-\frac{1}{2}}\nu^{\frac{1}{4}} |\log h|^{2}) + C\kappa |\log h|\beta^{\frac{1}{2}} \|\partial V\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}} \\ + C \|\partial A'\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}}.$$

Note a new factor  $\beta h$  in the first line, which first becomes

(28.4.4) 
$$C\kappa\beta h|\log h|(\nu^{\frac{1}{2}} + (\mu + \nu h)|\log h|).$$

We prove it first for  $\mu = 1$  and then rescale and in virtue of Remark 28.3.9(ii) we can always replace  $\mu$  by  $\nu^{\frac{1}{2}} \ll h^{-1}$ ; then, using  $\nu := \max(\|\partial^2 A'\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}}, 1)$  and assumption (28.2.27)<sup>\*</sup>, we reduce (28.4.4) to its final form in (28.4.3).

Further, under additional super-strong non-degeneracy assumption

(28.4.5) 
$$\min_{x,j\geq 0} |V - 2j\beta h| \asymp 1$$

we can skip two selected terms in the second line of (28.4.3), arriving to

(28.4.6) 
$$\|\partial^2 A'\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}} \leq C\kappa\beta h\nu^{\frac{1}{2}}|\log h|^2$$
  
  $+ C\kappa\beta h^{-\frac{1}{2}}\nu^{\frac{1}{4}}|\log h|^3 + C\kappa|\log h|\beta^{\frac{1}{2}}\|\partial V\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}} + C\|\partial A'\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}}.$ 

Then we arrive to the following assertion:

**Proposition 28.4.1**<sup>17)</sup>. Let  $\beta h \gtrsim 1$ ,  $\kappa \leq \kappa^*$  and  $(28.2.27)^*$  be fulfilled; let  $V \in \mathscr{C}^2$ ; then

(i) The following estimates hold:

(28.4.7) 
$$\|\partial^2 A'\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}} \le \nu$$

with

(28.4.8) 
$$\nu \coloneqq C\kappa\beta^{\frac{1}{2}} |\log h| + C(\kappa\beta)^{\frac{10}{9}} h^{\frac{4}{9}} |\log h|^{\kappa} \qquad for \ \kappa\beta h \le 1$$
  
and

(28.4.9)  $\nu := C\kappa\beta^{\frac{1}{2}} |\log h| + C(\kappa\beta)^{\frac{4}{3}} h^{\frac{2}{3}} |\log h|^{\kappa} \qquad for \quad \kappa\beta h \ge 1.$ 

(ii) Moreover, under assumption (28.4.5) estimate  $\nu$  is given by (28.4.9) even for  $\kappa\beta h \lesssim 1$ .

Remark 28.4.2. (i) While case  $\beta h \approx 1$  has been already explored, we missed an important case when non-degeneracy assumption (28.4.5) is fulfilled; so we reexamine this case.

(ii) While technically (28.4.3) and (28.4.6) hold even if assumption  $(28.2.27)^*$  fails provided  $\nu \leq \epsilon \beta$ , we cannot guarantee in this case that this inequality holds.

# 28.4.2 Trace Term Asymptotics

Further, continuing our analysis we arrive to the following assertion

**Proposition 28.4.3**<sup>18)</sup>. Let  $\beta h \gtrsim 1$ ,  $\kappa \leq \kappa^*$  and  $\nu h^2 \leq 1^{19}$ . Then

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17)</sup> Cf. Proposition 28.3.10.

 $<sup>^{18)}</sup>$  Cf. Propositions 28.3.13, 28.3.15 and 28.3.16; only factor  $\beta h$  appears in the definition of  $Q_0.$ 

 $<sup>^{19)}</sup>$  In the framework of Proposition 28.4.1 for a minimizer this assumption is due to  $(28.2.27)^{\ast}.$ 

(i) Under non-degeneracy assumption (28.3.60), or (28.3.63) remainder estimate

(28.4.10) 
$$|\operatorname{Tr}(H_{A,V}^{-}\psi) + h^{-3}\int P_{Bh}(V)\psi \,dx| \leq Q$$

holds with  $Q = Q_0 + Q'$ ,

(28.4.11) 
$$Q_0 \coloneqq C\beta + C\beta\nu^{\frac{4}{3}}h^{\frac{2}{3}},$$

and Q' defined by (28.3.61).

(ii) Under non-degeneracy assumption (28.3.65) remainder estimate (28.4.10) holds with  $Q = Q_0 + Q''$  with  $Q'' = Q' + \nu |\log h|$  and  $Q_0$  and Q' defined by (28.4.10) and (28.3.61) respectively.

(iii) In the general case remainder estimate (28.4.10) holds with  $Q = Q_0 + Q'''$  with  $Q_0$  and Q''' defined by (28.4.10) and (28.3.66) respectively.

Applying Proposition 28.4.1 we arrive to

**Corollary 28.4.4.** In the framework of Proposition 28.4.3 let A' be a minimizer. Then

(i) Under non-degeneracy assumption (28.3.60), or (28.3.63), or even (28.3.65) estimate (28.4.10) holds with

$$\begin{array}{ll} (28.4.12) & Q = Q_0 = C\beta + C\kappa^{\frac{40}{27}}\beta^{\frac{57}{27}}h^{\frac{34}{27}}|\log h|^{\kappa} & \quad for \ \kappa\beta h \le 1\\ and\\ (28.4.13) & Q = Q_0 = C\beta + C\kappa^{\frac{16}{9}}\beta^{\frac{25}{9}}h^{\frac{14}{9}}|\log h|^{\kappa} & \quad for \ \kappa\beta h \ge 1. \end{array}$$

(ii) Furthermore, under assumption (28.4.5)  $Q_0$  is defined by (28.4.13) even for  $\kappa\beta h \leq 1$ .

(iii) In the general case estimate (28.4.10) holds with

(28.4.14) 
$$Q = Q_0 + \beta h^{-\frac{1}{2}} + \kappa^{\frac{8}{5}} \beta^{\frac{13}{5}} h^{\frac{6}{5}} |\log h|^{\kappa}.$$

Remark 28.4.5. Observe that

(i) If assumption  $(28.2.27)^*$  holds, then  $Q_0 \leq \kappa^{\frac{1}{3}} \beta^{\frac{4}{3}} h^{-\frac{4}{3}} \leq \beta h^{-2}$ , where the middle expression appears in (28.2.25). On the other hand, if (28.2.27)<sup>\*</sup> fails, then the reverse inequalities hold. In the general case we assume that  $\beta h^2 \ll 1$  to get a remainder estimate smaller than the main term.

(ii) Also  $\nu \leq \beta$  provided (28.2.27)<sup>\*</sup> holds; if  $\kappa = 1$  then  $\nu \leq \beta$  if and only if (28.2.27)<sup>\*</sup> holds.

# 28.4.3 Endgame

Similarly to Theorem 28.3.21 we arrive to

**Theorem 28.4.6.** Let  $\beta h \gtrsim 1$ ,  $\kappa \leq \kappa^*$  and  $(28.2.27)^*$  be fulfilled. Then estimate (28.3.78)

$$|\mathsf{E}^*_\kappa - \mathcal{E}^*_\kappa| \le CQ$$

holds where

(i) Under non-degeneracy assumption (28.3.65) Q is defined by (28.4.12) and (28.4.13).

(ii) In the general case Q is defined by (28.4.12); in particular,  $Q = \beta h^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  as  $\kappa \beta h \leq 1$ .

Problem 28.4.7<sup>20)</sup>. In this new settings recover estimates for  $\|\partial (A' - A'')\|$ ,  $\|\partial (A' - A'')\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}}$  and  $\|\partial A'\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}}$  where A'' is a minimizer for  $\overline{\mathcal{E}}(A'')$ .

# 28.4.4 N-Term Asymptotics and D-Term Estimates

Repeating arguments of the proofs of Propositions 28.3.24, 28.3.26 we arrive to

**Proposition 28.4.8.** Let  $\beta h \gtrsim 1$  and conditions  $(28.3.49)_{1,2}$  be fulfilled. Then

(i) Under non-degeneracy assumption (28.3.60) or (28.3.63) estimate (28.3.84) holds with  $R = R_0 + R'$ ,

(28.4.15)  $R_0 = \beta h^{-1} + \beta h^{-\frac{2}{3}} \nu^{\frac{2}{3}}$ 

and R' defined by (28.3.61)'.

<sup>20)</sup> Cf. Problem 28.3.22.

(ii) Under non-degeneracy assumption (28.3.63) estimate (28.3.84) holds with  $R = R_0 + R''$ ,  $R_0$  and R'' defined by (28.4.15) and (28.3.86).

(iii) In the general case estimate (28.3.84) holds with  $R = R_0 + R'''$ ,  $R_0$  and R''' defined by (28.4.15) and (28.3.88).

Repeating arguments of the proof of Propositions 28.3.27 and 28.3.27 we arrive to

**Proposition 28.4.9.** Let  $\beta h \gtrsim 1$  and conditions  $(28.3.49)_{1,2}$  be fulfilled. Then

(i) Under non-degeneracy assumptions (28.3.60) or (28.3.63) D-term (28.3.89) does not exceed  $CR^2$  with  $R = R_0 + R'$ ,  $R_0$  and R' defined by (28.4.15) and (28.3.61)' respectively.

(ii) Under non-degeneracy assumption (28.3.65) D-term (28.3.89) does not exceed  $CR^2$  with  $R = R_0 + R''$ ,  $R_0$  and R' defined by (28.4.15) and (28.3.86).

(iii) In the general case D-term (28.3.89) does not exceed  $CR^2$  with  $R = R_0 + R'''$ ,  $R_0$  and R' defined by (28.4.15) and (28.3.88).

**Problem 28.4.10.** In the general case (without any non-degeneracy assumptions) for  $\beta h \lesssim 1$  and for  $\beta h \gtrsim 1$  improve the remainder estimates for both the trace term and N-term and estimates for D-term (so, make R''' and Q''' smaller) under assumption  $V \in \mathcal{C}^s$  with s > 2.

To do this use more advanced partition of unity as in Chapter 25. Most likely, however, it will affect only terms  $C\beta h^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  and  $C\beta h^{-\frac{3}{2}}$  in Q''' and R''' replacing them by  $C\beta h^{(s-4)/(s+2)}$  and  $C\beta h^{-1-2/(s+2)}$  respectively.

# 28.5 Global Trace Asymptotics in the Case of Thomas-Fermi Potential: $B \le Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$

# 28.5.1 Introduction

In this Section we consider global trace asymptotics for Thomas-Fermi potential. First we consider the singularity zones where our results would follow from Section 27.3, then we consider their interaction with the regular zone which would lead to the deterioration of the remainder estimates for  $\beta \gg h^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  and finally the boundary zone where non-degeneration properties could be violated (especially for  $M \ge 2$ ), which requires rather subtle analysis and usage of the specific properties of Thomas-Fermi potential.

Remark 28.5.1. Recall that according to Chapter 25 there are two cases:

(a)  $B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$ , when the most contributing to both the number of particles and the energy zone is  $\{x : \ell(x) \asymp r^* = Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}\}$  (where  $\ell(x)$  is the distance to the closest nucleus), and then rescaling  $x \mapsto xr^{*-1}$ ,  $\tau \mapsto \tau Z^{-\frac{4}{3}}$  we arrive in this zone to  $\beta = BZ^{-1}$ ,  $h = Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  with  $\beta h \leq 1$ .

(b)  $Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^3$ , when the most contributing to both the number of particles and the energy zone is  $\{x : \ell(x) \asymp r^* = B^{-\frac{2}{5}}Z^{\frac{1}{5}}\}$ , and then rescaling  $x \mapsto xr^{*-1}, \tau \mapsto \tau B^{-\frac{2}{5}}Z^{-\frac{4}{5}}$  we arrive in this zone to  $\beta = B^{\frac{2}{5}}Z^{-\frac{1}{5}}, h = B^{\frac{1}{5}}Z^{-\frac{3}{5}}$  with  $\beta h \geq 1$ .

We also recall that in the free (movable) nuclei model the distances between nuclei were greater than  $\epsilon r^*$  (which would be the case in the current settings as well as we show later), so we will assume that it is the case deducting our main results.

# 28.5.2 Estimates to a Minimizer

#### **Preliminary Analysis**

Consider potential V with the Coulomb-like singularities, exactly as in Section 27.3 i.e. satisfying (27.3.1)–(27.3.3).

**Proposition 28.5.2**<sup>21)</sup>. Let V satisfy (27.3.1)-(27.3.2) and

$$(28.5.1) \quad |D^{\alpha}W| \leq C_{\alpha} \sum_{1 \leq m \leq M} z_m (|x - \bar{y}_m| + 1)^{-4} |x - \bar{y}_m|^{-|\alpha|}$$
$$\forall \alpha : |\alpha| < 2.$$

Let  $\kappa \leq \kappa^*$  and  $\beta h \leq 1$ . Then the near-minimizer A satisfies

(28.5.2) 
$$|\operatorname{Tr}(H_{A,V}^{-}) + \int h^{-3} P_{\beta h}(V(x))) dx| \leq Ch^{-2}$$

and

 $(28.5.3) \qquad \qquad \|\partial A'\| \le C\kappa^{\frac{1}{2}}.$ 

<sup>21)</sup> Cf. Proposition 27.3.1.
*Proof.* We follow the proof of Proposition 27.3.1. Observe that scaling  $x \mapsto (x - \bar{y}_m)\ell^{-1}, \tau \mapsto \tau \zeta^{-2}$  leads us to

(28.5.4) 
$$h \mapsto h_1 = h\ell^{-1}\zeta^{-1}, \qquad \beta \mapsto \beta_1 = \beta\ell\zeta^{-1}, \qquad \kappa \mapsto \kappa_1 = \kappa\zeta^2\ell.$$

Also observe that for  $\zeta = \ell^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ 

(28.5.5) 
$$\kappa_1 \beta_1 h_1^2 \gtrsim 1 \implies \ell \gtrsim \ell^* = (\beta + 1)^{-\frac{1}{2}} h^{-1}$$

and for  $\kappa \simeq 1$  those are equivalent.

(i) First, we pick up A' = 0. Then

(28.5.6) 
$$|\operatorname{Tr}(H^{-}_{A^{0},V}(0)) + h^{-3} \int P_{\beta h}(V(x)) dx| \leq Ch^{-2};$$

this estimate follows from the standard partition with  $\ell$ -admissible partition elements, supported in  $\{x : \ell(x) \leq \ell\}$  for  $\ell = \ell_*$  and and in  $\{x : \ell(x) \approx \ell\}$  for  $\ell \geq 2\ell_*$ .

(ii) On the other hand, consider  $A' \neq 0$ . Let us prove first that

(28.5.7) 
$$\operatorname{Tr}^{-}(\psi_{\ell}H\psi_{\ell}) \geq -C_{\varepsilon}h^{-2} - \varepsilon\kappa^{-1}h^{-2}\|\partial A'\|^{2}$$

for  $\ell = \ell_* = h^2$  where one can select constant  $\varepsilon$  arbitrarily small.

Rescaling  $\mathbf{x} \mapsto (\mathbf{x} - \bar{\mathbf{y}}_m)/\ell$  and  $\tau \mapsto \tau/\ell$  and therefore  $h \mapsto h\ell^{-\frac{1}{2}} \approx 1$ and  $A \mapsto A\ell^{\frac{1}{2}}$  (because singularity is Coulomb-like), we arrive to the same problem with the same  $\kappa$  and with  $\ell = h = 1$  and with  $\beta$  replaced by  $\beta h^3$ . Then for  $\beta h^3 \leq 1$  we refer to Appendix 27.A.1 since  $H_{A,V} \geq H_{A',V'}$  with  $V' = V - \beta^2 |\mathbf{x}|^2$ .

(iii) Consider now  $\psi_{\ell}$  as in (i) with  $\ell \geq \ell_*$ . Then according to Theorems 28.3.21 and 28.4.6 for  $\beta_1 h_1 \lesssim 1$  and  $\kappa \zeta^2 \ell \leq \kappa^*$ 

(28.5.8) 
$$\operatorname{Tr}^{-}\left(\psi_{\ell}H_{A,V}\psi_{\ell}\right) + h^{-3}\int P_{\beta h}(V(x))\psi_{\ell}^{2}(x)\,dx$$
$$\geq -C_{\varepsilon}\zeta^{2}(h_{1}^{-1} + \beta_{1}h_{1}^{-1}) - \varepsilon\kappa^{-1}h^{-2}\|\partial A'\|^{2}.$$

Remark 28.5.3. Observe that if  $\psi_{\ell}$  is supported in  $\{x : \frac{1}{2}r \leq \ell(x) \leq 2r\}$ , then we can take a norm of  $\partial A'$  over  $\{x : \frac{1}{4}r \leq \ell(x) \leq 4r\}$ . Indeed, we can just replace A' by  $A'' = \phi_{\ell}(A' - \eta)$  with arbitrary constant  $\eta$  and with  $\phi_{\ell}$  supported in  $\{x : \frac{1}{4}r \leq \ell(x) \leq 4r\}$  and equal 1 in  $\{x : \frac{1}{3}r \leq \ell \leq 3r\}$  (and  $\varepsilon$  by  $c\varepsilon$ ).

Then summation of these norms returns  $-C_0 \varepsilon \kappa^{-1} h^{-2} \|\partial A'\|^2$ .

Furthermore, the first term in the right-hand expression of (28.5.8) is  $-C_{\varepsilon}(\zeta^{3}\ell^{-1}h^{-1}+\zeta^{2}\ell^{2}\beta h^{-1})$  and summation over  $\ell \geq h^{2}$  returns  $-C_{\varepsilon}h^{-2}$  since  $\zeta = \min(\ell^{\frac{1}{2}}, \ell^{-2}).$ 

(iv) Consider next zone where  $\beta_1 h_1 \ge 1$  (and  $\ell \ge 1$ ) but still  $h_1 \le 1$ . According to previous Section 28.5 inequality (28.5.8) should be replaced by

(28.5.9) 
$$\operatorname{Tr}^{-}(\psi_{\ell}H_{A,V}\psi_{\ell}) + h^{-3}\int P_{\beta h}(V(x))\psi_{\ell}^{2}(x) dx$$
  

$$\geq -C_{\varepsilon}\zeta^{2}\beta_{1}h_{1}^{-1}(1+\nu_{1}^{\frac{4}{3}}h_{1}^{\frac{5}{3}}) - \varepsilon\kappa^{-1}h^{-2}\|\partial A'\|^{2}$$

with  $\nu_1 = (\kappa_1 \beta_1)^{\frac{10}{9}} h_1^{\frac{4}{9}} |\log h|^{\kappa_{22}}$  and  $\kappa_1 \beta_1 = \kappa \beta \zeta \ell^2 = \kappa \beta$  and thus with  $\beta_1 h_1^{-1} \zeta^2 = \beta h^{-1} \zeta^2 \ell^2$ . Then summation of the first term in the right-hand expression results in its value when  $\ell$  is the smallest i.e.  $\beta_1 h_1 = 1$  and one can check easily<sup>23</sup> that this is less than  $Ch^{-2}$ .

Further, Remark 28.5.3 remains valid. Then adding this zone does not change inequality in question.

(v) The rest of the proof is obvious. Zone  $\{x : \ell(x) \ge \ell^*\}$  is considered as a single element and just rough variational estimate is used there to prove that its contribution does not exceed  $Ch^{-2}$ .

*Remark 28.5.4.* Later we will improve both upper and lower estimates using different tricks: imposing non-degeneracy assumptions, picking for an upper estimate semiclassical self-generated magnetic field, using Scott approximation terms. These improvements will lead not only to our final goal, but also to our intermediate one–getting better estimates for a minimizer.

**Proposition 28.5.5**<sup>24)</sup>. In the framework of Proposition 28.5.2 there exists a minimizer A.

*Proof.* After Proposition 28.5.2 has been proven we just repeat arguments of the proof of Proposition 27.2.2.  $\Box$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22)</sup> Because  $\kappa_1 \beta_1 h_1 = \kappa \beta h \ell \leq \kappa (\beta h)^{\frac{3}{4}} \leq 1$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23)</sup> Sufficient to check for  $\beta = h^{-1}$ ,  $\ell = 1$  and  $\kappa = 1$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24)</sup> Cf. Proposition 27.3.2.

#### Estimates to a Minimizer: Interior Zone

Recall equation (27.2.14) for a minimizer A:

(27.2.14) 
$$\frac{2}{\kappa h^2} \Delta A_j(x) = \Phi_j := -\operatorname{Retr} \sigma_j \Big( (hD - A)_x \cdot \sigma e(x, y, \tau) + e(x, y, \tau)^t (hD - A)_y \cdot \sigma \Big) \Big|_{y=x}.$$

After rescaling  $\mathbf{x} \mapsto \mathbf{x}/\ell, \tau \mapsto \tau/\zeta^2, \mathbf{h} \mapsto \hbar = \mathbf{h}/(\zeta \ell), \mathbf{A} \mapsto \mathbf{A}\zeta^{-1}\ell, \beta \mapsto \beta \zeta^{-1}\ell$ this equation becomes (27.3.13)

(27.3.13) 
$$\Delta A_j = -2\kappa\zeta^2 \ell \hbar^2 \operatorname{Retr} \sigma_j \left( (\hbar D - \zeta^{-1} A)_x \cdot \boldsymbol{\sigma} e(x, y, \tau) + e(x, y, \tau)^t (\hbar D - \zeta^{-1} A)_y \cdot \boldsymbol{\sigma} \right) \Big|_{y=x}$$

and since we can take  $\zeta^2 \ell = 1$  we arrive to (27.3.14)

(27.3.14) 
$$\Delta A_j = -2\kappa\hbar^2 \operatorname{Retr} \sigma_j \left( (\hbar D - \zeta^{-1} A)_x \cdot \sigma e(x, y, \tau) + e(x, y, \tau)^t (\hbar D - \zeta^{-1} A)_y \cdot \sigma \right) \Big|_{y=x}.$$

Let us modify arguments of Subsection 27.3.1. First observe that

(28.5.10) 
$$|\partial A'| \leq C \kappa^{\frac{1}{2}} h^{-3}, \quad |\partial^2 A'| \leq C \kappa^{\frac{1}{2}} h^{-5} \quad \text{for } \ell \leq 2\ell_*$$

with  $\ell_* = h^2$ ; this follows from above equations rescaled and from  $\beta h^3 \leq \epsilon_0$ . Let

(28.5.11) 
$$\mu(r) = \sup_{\ell(x) \ge r} |\partial A'| \ell \zeta^{-1}, \qquad \nu(r) = \sup_{\ell(x) \ge r} |\partial^2 A'| \ell^2 \zeta^{-1};$$

then  $\nu(r)$  should not exceed<sup>25)</sup>

(28.5.12) 
$$F(\nu) = C\kappa_1 \left( 1 + \mu + \min\left(\beta_1^{\frac{3}{2}} h_1^{\frac{1}{2}}, \beta_1^{\frac{1}{2}}\right) + \beta_1 h_1 \left(\nu^{\frac{1}{10}} h_1^{-\frac{3}{5}} + \nu^{\frac{1}{7}} h_1^{-\frac{4}{7}} + \nu^{\frac{1}{4}} h_1^{-\frac{1}{2}} |\log h_1|^2 \right) \right) |\log h_1| + C\kappa^{\frac{1}{2}} (\ell\zeta^2)^{-\frac{1}{2}},$$

where here  $\nu = \nu(\frac{1}{2}r)$ ,  $\mu = \mu(r)$ , the last term is just an estimate for  $\|\partial A'\|$  rescaled and  $\ell \simeq r$  in that term. Indeed, (28.5.12) is derived exactly as (28.3.46), but here we cut a hole  $\{x : \ell(x) \leq \frac{1}{2}r\}$  in our domain.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25)</sup> As long as  $\beta_1 h_1 \leq 1$ .

We also know that  $\mu \leq C\nu^{\frac{3}{5}}\kappa^{\frac{1}{5}}(\ell\zeta^2)^{-\frac{1}{5}}$ . Using (28.5.12) and (28.5.10) one can prove easily that  $\nu(r)$  does not exceed solution of the equation  $\nu = F(\nu)$  multiplied by  $C^{26}$ , i.e.

$$(28.5.13) \quad \nu \leq C\kappa_1 \left( 1 + \min\left(\beta_1^{\frac{3}{2}} h_1^{\frac{1}{2}}, \beta_1^{\frac{1}{2}}\right) \right) |\log h_1| \\ + C\left( \left(\kappa_1 \beta_1\right)^{\frac{10}{9}} h_1^{\frac{4}{9}} + \left(\kappa_1 \beta_1\right)^{\frac{4}{3}} h_1^{\frac{2}{3}} \right) |\log h_1|^{\kappa} + C\kappa^{\frac{1}{2}} (\ell\zeta^2)^{-\frac{1}{2}}.$$

In particular, scaling back and setting  $\zeta = \ell^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  we arrive to

$$\begin{aligned} (28.5.14) \quad |\partial^{2} A'| &\leq C \kappa \Big( \ell^{-\frac{5}{2}} + \min \left( \beta^{\frac{3}{2}} h^{\frac{1}{2}} \ell^{-\frac{1}{2}}, \ \beta^{\frac{1}{2}} \ell^{-\frac{7}{4}} \right) \Big) |\log \ell / \ell_{*}| \\ &+ C \Big( (\kappa \beta)^{\frac{10}{9}} h^{\frac{4}{9}} \ell^{-\frac{19}{18}} + (\kappa \beta)^{\frac{4}{3}} h^{\frac{2}{3}} \ell^{-\frac{5}{6}} \Big) |\log \ell / \ell_{*}|^{\kappa} + C \kappa^{\frac{1}{2}} \ell^{-\frac{5}{2}}. \end{aligned}$$

The same arguments work for  $\beta_1 h_1 \geq 1$  but now we need to replace  $|\log h_1|$  by  $|\log \beta_1|$  which however is also  $\approx \ell/\ell_*$  as  $\beta h \leq 1$ .

After this estimate is proven we can remove the last term in the righthand expression and we arrive to

Proposition 28.5.6. In the framework of Proposition 28.5.2

$$\begin{aligned} (28.5.15) \quad |\partial^2 A'| &\leq C\kappa \Big( \ell^{-\frac{5}{2}} + \min \Big( \beta^{\frac{3}{2}} h^{\frac{1}{2}} \ell^{-\frac{1}{2}}, \ \beta^{\frac{1}{2}} \ell^{-\frac{7}{4}} \Big) \Big) |\log \ell / \ell_*| \\ &+ C \Big( (\kappa \beta)^{\frac{10}{9}} h^{\frac{4}{9}} \ell^{-\frac{19}{18}} + (\kappa \beta)^{\frac{4}{3}} h^{\frac{2}{3}} \ell^{-\frac{5}{6}} \Big) |\log \ell / \ell_*|^{\kappa} \end{aligned}$$

#### Estimates to a Minimizer: Exterior Zone

Let us estimate  $|\partial^2 A'|$  as  $\ell \ge \ell^*$ . Observe that

(28.5.16) 
$$A'_{j}(x) = -\frac{\kappa h^{2}}{4\pi} \int |x-y|^{-1} \Phi_{j}(y) \, dy,$$

where  $\Phi_j$  is given by (27.2.14). Then  $\partial^2 A'$  is expressed via  $\Phi_j$  as an integral with a kernel K(x, y), singular when x = y and such that  $|K(x, y)| \leq c(|x|+|y|)^{-3}$  when  $|x-y| \approx |x|+|y|$ . Further, applying representation like in Proposition 27.3.9, we can get an extra factor  $|y|(|x|+|y|)^{-1}$  upgrading it to  $|K(x, y)| \leq c|y|(|x|+|y|)^{-4}$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26)</sup> As long as a resulting expression rescaled, see (28.5.14) is a decaying function of  $\ell$ .

Then, starting from (28.5.15) and iterating (28.3.46) we arrive to estimate

$$|\partial^2 A'| \leq C \kappa \ell^{-4} |\log h| + C(\kappa \beta)^{\frac{10}{9}} h^{\frac{4}{9}} \ell^{-\frac{32}{9}+\delta} |\log h|^K \qquad \text{for } \ \ell \geq 1$$

with arbitrarily small  $\delta > 0$ . Furthermore, using arguments of the proof of Proposition 28.5.6 we can make  $\delta = 0$  thus arriving to

Proposition 28.5.7. In the framework of Proposition 28.5.2

(28.5.17) 
$$|\partial^2 A'| \le C \kappa \ell^{-4} |\log h| + C(\kappa \beta)^{\frac{10}{9}} h^{\frac{4}{9}} \ell^{-\frac{32}{9}} |\log h|^{\kappa} \quad for \ \ell \ge 1.$$

Remark 28.5.8. Sure, as  $\ell \geq 1$ ,  $\beta_1 h_1^{\frac{1}{2}} |\log h_1|^{\kappa} \leq 1$  this estimate could be improved but these improvements would not affect our crucial estimates.

## 28.5.3 Trace Asymptotics

Before proving trace estimates observe

Remark 28.5.9. (i) All local asymptotics and estimates with with mollification with respect to spatial variables <sup>27)</sup> proven in Sections 28.3 and 28.4 with unspecified  $\nu \leq \epsilon \beta$  remain valid in the more general framework of the smooth non-degenerate external field  $A^0(\mathbf{x})$ : namely

$$(28.5.18)_{1,2} \qquad \qquad \|\partial^4 A^0\| \le C_0\beta, \qquad B^0 = |\nabla \times A^0| \ge \epsilon_0\beta.$$

Indeed, we use only  $\varepsilon$ -approximations with  $\varepsilon = h$  or  $\varepsilon = h\rho^{-1}$  and we can always change coordinate system so magnetic lines are  $(x_1, x_2) = \text{const.}$  We leave easy arguments to the reader.

(ii) However since we do not have estimates (28.3.47) or (28.4.7)–(28.4.9) in this more general framework<sup>28)</sup>, we also do not have (28.4.12), (28.4.13) then.

Now consider the trace term assuming that

$$(28.5.19) d := \min_{1 \le m < m' \le M} |\bar{\mathbf{y}}_m - \bar{\mathbf{y}}_{m'}| \gtrsim 1.$$

 $<sup>^{27)}</sup>$  Thus trace and N-term asymptotics and D-term estimates.

 $<sup>^{28)}</sup>$  Even if we believe that these estimates are true. So far we have no need in such generalization.

(a) Due to the proofs of Theorem 27.3.22 and Proposition 28.5.2 we can evaluate contribution of the zone  $\{x : |x - \bar{y}_m| \le \epsilon\}$ , provided  $\beta \le 1$ :

(28.5.20) 
$$|\operatorname{Tr}(H_{A,V}^{-}\psi_m) - \operatorname{Tr}(H_{A,V_m}^{-}\psi_m) + h^{-3}\int P_{Bh}(V)\psi_m \,dx - h^{-3}\int P_0(V_m)\psi_m \,dx| \leq C(h^{-1} + \kappa |\log \kappa|^{\frac{1}{3}}h^{-\frac{4}{3}}),$$

where  $V_m = z_m |x - \bar{y}_m|^{-1}$  and  $\psi_m$  is supported in  $\{x : |x - \bar{y}_m| \le \epsilon\}$  and equal 1 in  $\{x : |x - \bar{y}_m| \le \frac{1}{2}\epsilon\}$ .

Further, we can replace in this estimate  $\mathsf{Tr}(H^-_{A',\,V_m}\psi_m)+h^{-3}\int P_0(V_m)\psi_m$  by

(28.5.21) 
$$\int \left( \int_{-\infty}^{0} e_{V_m, A'}(x, x, \tau) \, d\tau + h^{-3} P_0(V_m) \right) \psi_m \, dx$$

and we can also replace in the latter expression  $\psi_m$  by 1.

(b) If  $\beta \geq 1$ , we can apply estimate (28.5.20) to the zone  $\{x : |x - \bar{y}_m| \leq \epsilon b\}$ with  $b = \beta^{-\frac{2}{3}}$  scaling  $x \mapsto (x - \bar{y}_m)b^{-1}$  and  $\tau \to \tau$  and  $h \mapsto h_1 = hb^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ ,  $\beta \mapsto \beta b^{\frac{3}{2}} = 1$ ,  $\kappa \mapsto \kappa$ ; now  $\psi_m$  is supported in  $\{x : |x - \bar{y}_m| \leq \epsilon b\}$  and equals 1 in  $\{x : |x - \bar{y}_m| \leq \frac{1}{2}\epsilon b\}$  and the right-hand expression of (28.5.20) becomes

(28.5.22) 
$$Cb^{-1}(h_1^{-1} + \kappa |\log \kappa|^{\frac{1}{3}}h_1^{-\frac{4}{3}}) = C(\beta^{\frac{1}{3}}h^{-1} + \kappa |\log \kappa|^{\frac{1}{3}}\beta^{\frac{2}{9}}h^{-\frac{4}{3}}).$$

If  $\beta \geq 1$ , let us consider contribution of the zone  $\{x : \epsilon_0 b \leq |x - \bar{y}_m| \leq \epsilon_0\}$ , where due to assumption (28.5.19) non-degeneracy condition (28.3.60) is automatically satisfied after rescaling; namely before rescaling it is

(28.5.23) 
$$\min_{j} |V - 2j\beta h| + |\nabla V|\ell \asymp \zeta^{2}$$

A contribution of  $\ell$ -element in this zone does not exceed

(28.5.24) 
$$C\zeta^2 (h_1^{-1} + h_1^{-\frac{1}{3}}\nu^{\frac{4}{3}})$$

with

(28.5.25) 
$$\nu = \sup_{|\mathbf{x} - \bar{\mathbf{y}}_m| \asymp \ell} |\partial^2 \mathbf{A}'| \ell^2 \zeta^{-1},$$

and plugging (28.5.4) into (28.5.24) we get

$$C(\ell^{-\frac{1}{2}}h^{-1} + (\kappa\beta)^{\frac{40}{27}}h^{\frac{7}{27}}\ell^{\frac{59}{54}}|\log(h\ell^{-\frac{1}{2}})|^{\kappa}),$$

which sums to (28.5.26)  $C(\beta^{\frac{1}{3}}h^{-1} + (\kappa\beta)^{\frac{40}{27}}h^{\frac{7}{27}}|\log h|^{\kappa}).$ 

which obviously does not exceed 
$$(28.5.22)$$
. Thus after scaling<sup>29)</sup> we arrive to

**Proposition 28.5.10.** Let  $V = W_B^{TF} + \lambda$  be Thomas-Fermi potential with  $N \leq Z$ ,  $N \asymp Z_1 \asymp Z_2 \asymp ... \asymp Z_M$ ,  $B \lesssim Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  and

(28.5.27) 
$$|\mathbf{y}_m - \mathbf{y}_{m'}| \ge d \gtrsim Z^{-\frac{1}{3}} \quad \forall 1 \le m < m' \le M.$$

Then if  $\psi_m$  is supported in  $\epsilon r^*$ -vicinity of  $y_m$ 

(28.5.28) 
$$|\operatorname{Tr}(H_{A,V}^{-}\psi_{m}) - \operatorname{Tr}(H_{A,V_{m}}^{-}\psi_{m}) + \int P_{B}(V)\psi_{m} \, dx - \int P_{0}(V_{m})\psi_{m} \, dx |$$

does not exceed  $CQ_0$  with

(28.5.29) 
$$Q_0 := \begin{cases} \left(Z^{\frac{5}{3}} + \alpha |\log(\alpha Z)|^{\frac{1}{3}} Z^{\frac{25}{9}}\right) & \text{for } B \leq Z, \\ \left(B^{\frac{1}{3}} Z^{\frac{4}{3}} + \alpha |\log(\alpha Z)|^{\frac{1}{3}} B^{\frac{2}{9}} Z^{\frac{23}{9}}\right) & \text{for } Z \leq B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}. \end{cases}$$

Furthermore, if  $B \leq Z$ , then expression (28.5.28) does not exceed

(28.5.30) 
$$C\left(Z^{\frac{5}{3}}[Z^{-\delta} + (BZ^{-1})^{\delta} + (dZ^{\frac{1}{3}})^{-\delta}] + \alpha |\log(\alpha Z)|^{\frac{1}{3}}Z^{\frac{25}{9}}\right).$$

Here improved estimate (28.5.30) can be proven by our standard propagation arguments.

Further, let us consider the regular exterior zone  $\{x : \epsilon_0 r^* \leq |x-y_m| \leq \epsilon \overline{r}\}$ with  $\overline{r} := \min(B^{-\frac{1}{4}}, (Z - N)^{-\frac{1}{3}}_+)$ . Then due to Thomas-Fermi equation  $W_B^{\mathsf{TF}} + \lambda$  satisfies here non-degeneracy condition (28.3.65) after rescaling and  $\zeta = \ell^{-2}, h_1 = \ell(x), \beta_1 = B\ell^3$ .

Then the contribution of  $\ell$ -element in this zone does not exceed (28.5.25) as long as  $\beta_1 h_1 \leq 1$ ,  $h_1 \leq 1$  i.e.  $\ell(x) \leq \min(\bar{r}, 1)$ , and due to (28.5.24) this contribution does not exceed  $C\zeta^2(h_1^{-1} + h_1^{-\frac{1}{3}}\nu^{\frac{4}{3}})$ , where  $\nu_1$  is estimate for  $|\partial^2 A'|$  multiplied by  $\zeta^{-1}\ell^2$ :

(28.5.31) 
$$\nu_1 = \kappa |\log h| + (\kappa\beta)^{\frac{10}{9}} h^{\frac{4}{9}} \ell^{\frac{4}{9}} |\log h|^{\kappa}.$$

 $\overline{\begin{array}{c} ^{29)} x \mapsto Z^{\frac{1}{3}}x, \tau \mapsto Z^{\frac{4}{3}}\tau, 1 \mapsto h} = Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}, B \mapsto \beta = Z^{-1}, \alpha \mapsto \kappa = \alpha Z; \text{ recall that } \\ \beta h \lesssim 1 \iff B \lesssim Z^{-\frac{4}{3}}. \end{array}}$ 

Then calculating  $\nu_1$  and plugging it and  $h_1 = h\ell$  into  $C\zeta^2(h_1^{-1} + h_1^{-\frac{1}{3}}\nu^{\frac{4}{3}})$  one can see easily that here all terms contain  $\ell$  in the negative powers.

Then summation by  $\ell$  results in the same expression calculated for  $\ell = r^*$ and one can observe easily that it does not exceed (28.5.29), (28.5.30) for  $B \leq Z, Z \leq B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  respectively. One can see easily that dealing with terms  $C\zeta^2 \times \mu^3 \beta^{-2} h^{-2}$  due to (28.3.61) and  $C\zeta^2 \nu |\log h|$  (see Propositions 28.3.13 and 28.3.15) leads to smaller expressions.

Furthermore, using the standard propagation arguments one can upgrade (28.5.29) to (28.5.30). Therefore we conclude that

(28.5.32) Proposition 28.5.10 remains true for  $\psi_m$  supported in the zone  $\{x : |x - y_m| \le \epsilon \min(\bar{r}, 1)\}.$ 

Consider now the contribution of the boundary zone  $\{x \colon \ell(x) \ge \min(\bar{r}, 1)\}$ .

(a) Let us start from more difficult and interesting case  $B \ge 1$  assuming first that Z = N. Rescale this zone first  $x \mapsto xB^{\frac{1}{4}}, \tau \mapsto \tau B^{-1}$ , then we have  $h_1 = B^{-\frac{1}{4}}, \beta_1 = B^{\frac{1}{4}}$ . Observe that

(28.5.33) After this rescaling a rescaled magnetic field satisfies  $|\partial^2 A'| \leq \nu_1$ where  $\nu_1$  is given by (28.5.31) for  $\ell = \bar{r}$ .

As we know from Subsection 26.5.1, after the first scaling there exists the scaling function  $\gamma$  such that

(28.5.34)  $|\partial^{\alpha} V| \le C \gamma^{4-|\alpha|} \qquad |\alpha| \le 4,$ 

(28.5.35) 
$$V \asymp \gamma^4$$
,  $|\partial^2 V| \asymp \gamma^2$ 

and therefore we can use a  $\gamma$ -admissible partition. Then scaling again  $x \mapsto x\gamma^{-1}, \tau \mapsto \tau\gamma^{-4}, h_1 \mapsto h_2 = h\gamma^{-3}, \beta_1 \mapsto \beta_2 = \beta_1\gamma^{-1}$  and  $\nu_1 \mapsto \nu_2 = \nu_1$  we see that non-degeneracy assumption (28.3.65) is fulfilled and therefore according to Proposition 28.4.3(ii) the contribution of  $\gamma$ -element to the remainder does not exceed  $CB\gamma^4\beta_2(1+h_2^{\frac{2}{3}}\nu_2^{\frac{4}{3}})$  because now  $\beta_2h_2 \geq 1$ . Then the total contribution of such elements does not exceed

(28.5.36) 
$$CB \int \beta_2 \left(1 + h_2^{\frac{2}{3}} \nu_2^{\frac{4}{3}}\right) \gamma^{-3} dx$$

with integral taken over zone  $\{x : \gamma(x) \ge \overline{\gamma} := h_1^{\frac{1}{3}}\}$  where  $h_2 \le 1$ . Plugging  $\beta_2$ ,  $h_2$  and  $\nu_2 = \nu_1$  we get in the second term  $\gamma^{-2}$  which is not good. Let us apply Remark 28.5.9.

Recall that A'(x) is a solution of the Laplace equation and therefore  $A'(x) = \int |x - y|^{-1} F(y) \, dy$ ; then A'(x) with  $x \in B(z, \gamma(z))$  can be decomposed into the sum of two terms; the first one is given by the integral over  $\{y : |y - z| \ge \frac{3}{2}\gamma(z)\}$  and therefore is smooth and could be included in  $A^0(x)$  while the second is given by integral over  $\{y : |y - z| \le 2\gamma(z)\}$  and could be estimated by (28.3.46) with  $\beta$ , h,  $\kappa$  and  $\nu$  replaced by  $\beta_2$ ,  $h_2$ ,  $\kappa_2 = \kappa_1 \gamma^5$  and  $\nu_1$  and then one can see easily that  $\nu_2 \le \nu_1 \gamma^{\frac{3}{2} + \delta}$ . Therefore we conclude that

*Remark 28.5.11.* In the boundary zone calculating trace term, N- and D-terms one can take  $\nu_2 = \nu_1 \gamma^{\frac{3}{2} + \delta}$  with  $\delta > 0$ .

Plugging this improved  $\nu_2$  into (28.5.36) we get everywhere  $\gamma$  in the positive power and therefore expression (28.5.36) does not exceed the integrand for  $\gamma = 1$ , which is  $CB\beta_1(1 + h_1^{\frac{2}{3}}\nu_1^{\frac{4}{3}})$ , which we already got when estimating the contribution of the regular zone.

(b) In the zone  $\{x : \gamma(x) \leq \overline{\gamma}\}$  we just reset  $\gamma = \overline{\gamma}$  and since  $h_2 \simeq 1$  we do not need any non-degeneracy condition here. Thus its contribution does not exceed  $CB\beta_1$ . Therefore we arrive to Proposition 28.5.12(i) with Z = N and  $B \geq 1$ .

(c) In the case  $B \leq 1$  we need no non-degeneracy assumption in the zone  $\{x : \ell(x) \gtrsim 1\}$  as  $h_1 = 1$ ; Proposition 28.5.12(i) has been proven in this case as well.

(d) Explore now case N < Z. Then eventually we will need to take  $V = W_B^{\mathsf{TF}} + \lambda$ , where  $\lambda$  is a chemical potential. In this case the same arguments hold provided  $B\gamma^4 \leq |\lambda| \implies \gamma \leq h_1^{\frac{1}{3}}$  which is equivalent to  $(Z - N)_+ \leq B^{\frac{5}{12}}$  since in this case  $-\lambda \simeq (Z - N)_+ \bar{r}^{-1} = (Z - N)_+ B^{\frac{1}{4}}$ .

(e) Further, for M = 1 we do not need assumption N = Z since we can always refer to non-degeneracy condition (28.5.23), which is fulfilled, and we arrive to Proposition 28.5.12(ii). Indeed, as in Section 26.5 we do not partition further elements where this condition is fulfilled. We arrive to Proposition 28.5.12(i), (ii) below. (f) Furthermore, consider case  $M \ge 2$  and  $B^{\frac{5}{12}} \le (Z - N)_+ \le B^{\frac{3}{4}}$ . Then  $B\bar{\gamma}^4 = (Z - N)_+ B^{\frac{1}{4}}$  and  $\bar{\gamma} = (Z - N)_+^{\frac{1}{4}} B^{-\frac{3}{16}}$ .

In this case the contribution of  $\bar{\gamma}$ -element (in the excess what was prescribed before) does not exceed term (28.3.66) multiplied by  $\zeta^2$ . Note that two last terms in (28.3.66) are not new. Meanwhile, the first term there (i.e.  $C\beta\nu^{\frac{6}{5}}h^{\frac{2}{5}}$ ) becomes  $CB\bar{\gamma}^4 \times B^{\frac{1}{4}}\bar{\gamma}^{-1} \times \bar{\nu}^{\frac{6}{5}} \times (B^{-\frac{1}{4}}\bar{\gamma}^{-3})^{\frac{2}{5}}$  and after multiplication by  $\bar{\gamma}^{-2}|\log\bar{\gamma}|$  it has  $\bar{\gamma}$  in the negative degree, so it does not exceed the same value for  $\bar{\gamma} = B^{-\frac{1}{12}}$ . After easy but tedious calculations one can see that it is less than (28.5.22).

This leaves us with the second term in (28.3.66) (i.e.  $C\beta h^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ ), which becomes  $CB\bar{\gamma}^4 \times B^{\frac{1}{4}}\bar{\gamma}^{-1} \times B^{\frac{1}{8}}\bar{\gamma}^{\frac{3}{2}}$  and after multiplication by  $\bar{\gamma}^{-2}|\log \bar{\gamma}|$  we get

(28.5.37) 
$$CB^{\frac{11}{8}}\bar{\gamma}^{\frac{5}{2}}|\log\bar{\gamma}| \simeq CQ' \coloneqq CB^{\frac{29}{32}}(Z-N)^{\frac{5}{8}}_{+}(1+|\log(Z-N)_{+}B^{-\frac{3}{4}}|).$$

(g) Finally, if  $(Z - N)_+ \ge B^{\frac{3}{4}}$ , we again end up with the term  $C\zeta^2\beta h^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  this time with  $\zeta^2 = (Z - N)_+^{\frac{4}{3}}$ ,  $h = (Z - N)_+^{-\frac{1}{3}}$ ,  $\beta = B(Z - N)_+^{-1}$  (now  $\bar{\gamma} \asymp 1$ ); so we arrive to

$$(28.5.38) CQ'' \coloneqq CB(Z - N)_+^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

Thus we arrive to Proposition 28.5.12(iii), (iv) below.

**Proposition 28.5.12.** Let  $V = W_B^{\mathsf{TF}} + \lambda$  be Thomas-Fermi potential with  $N \leq Z$ ,  $N \approx Z_1 \approx Z_2 \approx ... \approx Z_M$ ,  $B \lesssim Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  and chemical potential  $\lambda$ . Let assumption (28.5.27) be fulfilled. Then

(i) For Z = N ( $\lambda = 0$ ) the trace remainder

(28.5.39) 
$$|\operatorname{Tr}(H_{A,V}^{-}) + \int P_{Bh}(V) dx - \sum_{1 \le m \le M} \left( \operatorname{Tr}(H_{A,V_m}^{-}\psi_m) - \int P_0(V_m)\psi_m dx \right) |$$

does not exceed  $CQ_0$  with  $Q_0$  defined by (28.5.29); the same is true for  $(Z - N)_+ \leq B^{\frac{5}{12}}$ .

(ii) For M = 1 the trace remainder (28.5.39) also does not exceed  $CQ_0$ .

(iii) For  $M \ge 1$  and  $B^{\frac{5}{12}} \le (Z - N)_+ \le B^{\frac{3}{4}}$  the trace remainder (28.5.39) does not exceed  $C(Q_0 + Q')$  with Q' defined by (28.5.37).

(iv) For  $M \ge 1$  and  $(Z - N)^{\frac{4}{3}}_+ \ge B$  the trace remainder (28.5.39) does not exceed  $C(Q_0 + Q'')$  with Q'' defined by (28.5.38).

Remark 28.5.13. (i) For  $B \leq Z$  expression (28.5.29) could be upgraded to (28.5.30).

(ii) Terms (28.5.38) and (28.5.39) are rather superficial: they do not depend on  $\alpha$  and they were not present in Chapter 25. Indeed, using more precise arguments of Chapter 25 one can get rid of them, at least for sufficiently small  $\alpha$ .

However in the upper estimate we will need to deal with D-term as well and this would give us a far larger error.

## 28.5.4 Endgame

#### Main Theorem: M = 1

For M = 1 we almost immediately arrive to the following statement which we formulate in "rescaled" terms:

**Theorem 28.5.14.** Let  $V = W_B^{\mathsf{TF}} + \lambda$  be a Thomas-Fermi potential as  $B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$ ,  $N \asymp Z$  and M = 1. Then

(28.5.40) 
$$\mathcal{E}_{0}^{*} + 2S(\alpha Z)Z^{2} - CZ^{\frac{5}{3}}(1 + \alpha B) \leq \mathsf{E}_{\alpha}^{*}$$
  
$$\leq \mathcal{E}_{\alpha}^{*} + 2S(\alpha Z)Z^{2} + C(Z^{\frac{5}{3}} + \alpha B^{2}Z^{\frac{1}{3}}),$$

where  $S(\alpha Z)Z^2$  is a Scott correction term derived in Section 27.3.

*Proof: Estimate from above.* We already know from (28.5.20) that after the standard rescaling for any magnetic field A' satisfying the same estimates as a minimizer of  $\mathsf{E}_{\kappa}(A')$  the following estimate holds:

(28.5.41) 
$$\operatorname{Tr}(H_{A,V}^{-}) + \kappa^{-1} h^{-2} \|\partial A'\|^{2}$$
  
 $\leq -h^{-3} \int P_{Bh}(V) \, dx + (28.5.21) + \kappa^{-1} h^{-2} \|\partial A'\|^{2} + (28.5.22).$ 

Here the left-hand expression is  $\mathsf{E}_{\kappa}(A') \geq \mathsf{E}_{\kappa}^*$  and in expression (28.5.21) we take  $\psi_1 = 1$ .

Let us pick up A' which is a minimizer for the Coulomb potential  $V_1(x) = z_1|x - y_1|^{-1}$  without any external magnetic field<sup>30</sup>). Then we can replace the selected sum of two terms by  $2h^{-2}S(\kappa z)z^2$  (in virtue of Subsubsection 27.3.5.1 an error does not exceed (28.5.22)).

Unfortunately A' is not a minimizer for a local problem; however we can replace  $P_{Bh}(V)$  by

(28.5.42) 
$$P_{\beta h}(V) + \partial_{\beta} P_{\beta h}(V) \cdot \Phi, \qquad \Phi = \partial_{1} A_{2}' - \partial_{2} A_{1}'$$

and, if we apply partition, then on each partition element an error in (28.5.41) does not exceed  $C\kappa_1\zeta^2\beta_1h_1^{-\frac{1}{2}} = C\kappa\beta h^{-\frac{1}{2}}\zeta^{\frac{5}{2}}\ell^{\frac{5}{2}}$ . Indeed, we know that for a minimizer  $\|\partial A'\| \leq C(\kappa + \kappa^{\frac{1}{2}}h^{\frac{1}{2}})$  (also see in the proof of the estimate from below).

Summation over partition results in  $C\kappa\beta^2$  and we arrive to

(28.5.43) 
$$-h^{-3}\int P_{\beta h}(V)\,dx-h^{-3}\int \partial_{\beta}P_{\beta h}(V)\cdot\Phi\,dx+C(h^{-1}+\kappa\beta^{2})$$

in the right-hand expression where the first term is  $\mathcal{E}_0^{* 31}$ .

The second term is rather unpleasant because we cannot estimate it by anything better than  $C\beta h^{-1}$  (see in the estimate from below) but *here* we have a trick<sup>32</sup>): we replace A' by -A' which is also a minimizer for the same Coulomb potential  $V_1$  without external magnetic field. Then  $\Phi$  and the second term change signs and since nothing else happens we can skip the second term which concludes the proof of the upper estimate.

Scaling back we arrive to the upper estimate in (28.5.40).

*Proof: Estimate from below.* Again from (28.5.20) we already know that for a minimizer A' of  $\mathsf{E}_{\kappa}(A')$  estimate (28.5.41) could be reversed

(28.5.44) 
$$\operatorname{Tr}(H_{A,V}^{-}) + \kappa^{-1} h^{-2} \|\partial A'\|^{2}$$
  

$$\geq -h^{-3} \int P_{Bh}(V) \, dx + (28.5.21) + \kappa^{-1} h^{-2} \|\partial A'\|^{2} - (28.5.22).$$

<sup>32)</sup> Which unfortunately we cannot repeat in estimate from below.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30)</sup> Actually since for the Coulomb potential the trace is infinite we take potential  $V_1(x) + \tau$  with  $\tau < 0$ , establish estimates and then tend  $\tau \to -0$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31)</sup> I.e. Thomas-Fermi energy calculated for A' = 0.

Here the left-hand expression is  $\mathsf{E}_{\kappa}(A') = \mathsf{E}_{\kappa}^*$  and the selected sum of two terms can be estimated from below by  $2h^{-2}S(\kappa z)z^2$ .

Again A' is not a minimizer for a local problem; however we can replace  $P_{Bh}(V)$  by  $P_{\beta h}(V)$  with an error not exceeding

$$\begin{split} Ch^{-3} \int |\partial_{\beta} P_{\beta h}(V)| \cdot |\partial A'| \, dx + Ch^{-3} \int |\partial_{\beta}^{2} P_{\beta h}(V)| \cdot |\partial A'|^{2} \, dx \\ &\leq Ch^{-3} \|\partial_{\beta} P_{\beta h}(V)\| \cdot \|\partial A'\| + Ch^{-3} \int |\partial_{\beta}^{2} P_{\beta h}(V)| \, dx \times \|\partial A'\|^{2} \end{split}$$

with the right-hand expression not exceeding

(28.5.45) 
$$C\beta h^{-1} |\partial A'|| + Ch^{-1} ||\partial A'||^2.$$

However we already know that  $\mathsf{E}_{2\kappa}^* \geq \mathcal{E}_0^* - C(\kappa h^{-2} + h^{-1})$  and therefore since  $\mathsf{E}_\kappa(A') = \mathsf{E}_{2\kappa}(A') + (2\kappa h^2)^{-1} \|\partial A'\|^2$  we conclude that

(28.5.46) 
$$\|\partial A'\| \le C(\kappa + \kappa^{\frac{1}{2}}h^{\frac{1}{2}});$$

then expression (28.5.45) does not exceed  $C(\kappa\beta + 1)h^{-1}$  which concludes the proof of the lower estimate.

Since A' is a minimizer in the presence of the external field, we cannot replace A' by -A' and thus cannot repeat the trick used in the proof of the upper estimate. Thus in the estimate from below we are left with  $C\kappa\beta h^{-1}$  rather than with  $C\kappa\beta^2$ .

Scaling back we arrive to the lower estimate in (28.5.40).

Remark 28.5.15. (i) It is a very disheartening that our estimate deteriorated here. However it may be that indeed the better estimate does not hold due to the *entanglement* of the singularity and the regular zone via self-generated magnetic field. Still we did not loose Scott correction term as long as  $\kappa\beta h \ll 1$ .

(ii) Recall that in the Section 27.3 we already had an entanglement of different singularities which obviously remains with us for  $M \ge 2$ . Surely both of these entanglements matter only if we are looking for the remainder estimate better than  $O(\kappa h^{-2})$ . Otherwise we can just pick up A' = 0 near singularities and the Scott correction term equal to  $2h^{-2}S(0)z^2$ ;

(iii) The silver lining is that we do not need all these non-degeneracy conditions for such bad estimate and we expect that our arguments would work for  $M \ge 2$ . Still for  $M \ge 2$  we will need to decouple singularities and to do this we will need to estimate  $\|\partial A'\|_{\mathcal{L}^2(\{\ell(x) \ge d\})}$  where d is the minimal distance between nuclei (see (28.5.19)).

For  $\beta \ll 1$ ,  $\kappa \ll h^{\frac{1}{3}} |\log h|^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  we can recover even Schwinger correction term:

**Theorem 28.5.16.** Let V be a Thomas-Fermi potential  $W_B^{\mathsf{TF}} + \lambda$  rescaled as  $B \ll Z$ ,  $N \asymp Z$  and M = 1. Let respectively  $\beta = BZ^{-1}$ ,  $h = Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$ , and  $\kappa = \alpha Z \leq \kappa^*$ . Then

$$(28.5.47) |\mathsf{E}_{\alpha}^{*} - \left(\mathcal{E}_{0}^{*} + 2S(\alpha Z)Z^{2} + \mathsf{Schwinger}\right)| \\ \leq CZ^{\frac{5}{3}}\left(Z^{-\delta} + B^{\delta}Z^{-\delta}\right) + C\alpha |\log \alpha Z|^{\frac{1}{3}}Z^{\frac{25}{9}}$$

where Schwinger is a Schwinger correction term.

*Proof.* The proof is standard like in Section 27.3: we invoke propagation arguments in the zone  $\{x : (\beta + h)^{\sigma} \le \ell(x)Z^{\frac{1}{3}} \le (\beta + h)^{-\sigma}\}$ .  $\Box$ 

## 28.5.5 N-Term Asymptotics and D-Term Estimate

Consider now N-terms assuming that A' is a minimizer.

## Case M = 1

Assume first that M = 1.

(a) Consider first singular and regular zones (but not the boundary zone). Then after rescaling the contribution of  $\ell$ -element to the remainder does not exceed

(28.5.48) 
$$C(h_1^{-2} + h_1^{-\frac{5}{3}}v_1^{\frac{2}{3}})$$

and summation over zone  $\{x \colon \ell(x) \leq 1\}$  results in the value of this as  $\ell = 1$  i.e.

(28.5.49) 
$$C(h^{-2} + h^{-\frac{5}{3}}\nu^{*\frac{2}{3}}), \quad \nu^* = (\kappa\beta)^{\frac{10}{9}}h^{\frac{4}{9}}|\log h|^{\kappa}.$$

Recall that for  $\ell \geq 1$  we have  $h_1 = h\ell$ ,  $\beta_1 = \beta\ell^3$  and  $\nu_1$  is defined by (28.5.31) which is sufficient even without invoking Remark 28.5.9 since all powers of  $\ell$  in (28.5.48) become negative. Therefore the contribution of the regular exterior zone also does not exceed (28.5.49).

(b) Consider now the boundary zone. Let us repeat arguments used in the proof of Proposition 28.5.12: the contribution of  $\gamma$ -element does not exceed  $C\beta_2(h_2^{-1} + h_2^{-\frac{2}{3}}\nu_2^{\frac{2}{3}})$  and plugging  $\beta_2 = \beta_1\gamma^{-1}$ ,  $h_2 = h_1\gamma^{-3}$  and  $\nu_2 = \nu_1\gamma^{\frac{3}{2}+\delta}$  we get  $C\beta_1(h_1^{-1}\gamma^2 + h_1^{-\frac{2}{3}}\nu_1^{\frac{2}{3}}\gamma^{2+\delta})$  and therefore the total contribution of the boundary zone to the remainder does not exceed

$$(28.5.50) \qquad C\beta_1 \int \left(h_1^{-1}\gamma^{-1} + h_1^{-\frac{2}{3}}\nu_1^{\frac{2}{3}}\gamma^{-1+\delta}\right) dx \asymp C\left(h_1^{-2}|\log h| + h_1^{-\frac{5}{3}}\nu_1^{\frac{2}{3}}\right)$$

since  $\beta_1 = h_1^{-1}$  and from Subsection 26.5.1 we also know that even in the general case

(26.5.14) 
$$D(\gamma^{-1+s}, \gamma^{-1+s}) \le Cs^{-2}$$
 for  $s > 0$ .

Here we integrate over  $\gamma \geq \bar{\gamma} = h_1^{\frac{1}{3}}$  while the contribution of the zone  $\{x: \gamma(x) \leq \bar{\gamma} \text{ does not exceed } Ch_1^{-2}.$ 

If  $\bar{\gamma} \geq h_1^{\frac{1}{3}}$  (i.e.  $(Z - N)_+ \gtrsim B^{\frac{5}{12}}$ ) we invoke in the zone  $\{x \colon \gamma(x) \leq \bar{\gamma}\}$  the strong non-degeneracy assumption (28.3.60) fulfilled for M = 1 and estimate its contribution by the same expression (28.5.50) albeit without the logarithmic term. Similar arguments work also for  $(Z - N)_+ \geq B^{\frac{3}{4}}$ .

(c) In expression (28.5.50) the logarithmic factor is mildly annoying. However we can get rid of it using our standard propagation arguments like in Subsection 26.6.3; we leave easy details to the reader.

Note that so far in the estimate we also have  $P'_{Bh}(V)$  rather than  $P'_{\beta h}$ ; observe however that in the virtue of non-degeneracy assumption (28.3.60) fulfilled for M = 1 the error when we replace  $P'_{Bh}(V)$  by  $P'_{\beta h}(V)$  does not exceed  $C\beta_1 h_1^{-1}$  on the regular elements and  $Ch_2^{-2}$  on the boundary elements and summation in both cases results in  $O(\beta h^{-1} \bar{\ell}^2) = O(\beta^{\frac{1}{2}} h^{-\frac{3}{2}})$ . Therefore in contrast to the trace estimate there is no deterioration.

Scaling back, we arrive to estimate (28.5.51) below.

(d) In the framework of Theorem 28.5.16 we invoke our standard propagation arguments in the zone  $\{x: (\beta + h)^{\sigma} \leq \ell(x) \leq (\beta + h)^{-\sigma}\}$ ; considering D-terms we invoke these arguments if both elements in the pair belong to this zone. Again, we leave easy details to the reader. Scaling back, we arrive to estimate (28.5.53) below.

(e) We deal with D-term in our usual manner considering double partition and different pairs of partition elements–disjoint when we just apply above arguments since the kernel  $|x - y|^{-1}$  is smooth there and non-disjoint when we appeal to the local estimates of D-term. We we leave easy details to the reader.

**Proposition 28.5.17.** Let  $V = W_B^{\mathsf{TF}} + \lambda$  be a Thomas-Fermi potential for  $B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$ ,  $N \asymp Z$  and M = 1. Then

(i)

(28.5.51) 
$$|\int (\operatorname{tr} e(x, x, 0) - P'_B(V(x)) dx| \le CR$$

and

(28.5.52)  $D(tr e(x, x, 0) - P'_B(V(x), tr e(x, x, 0) - P'_B(V(x))) \le CZ^{\frac{1}{3}}R^2$ with

(28.5.53)  $R = R_0 := DefZ^{\frac{2}{3}} + Z^{\frac{5}{9}} \nu^{*\frac{2}{3}}, \quad \nu^* = (\alpha B)^{\frac{10}{9}} Z^{-\frac{4}{27}} |\log Z|^{\kappa}.$ 

(ii) In the framework of Theorem 28.5.16 estimates (28.5.51) and (28.5.52) hold with

(28.5.54) 
$$R \coloneqq CZ^{\frac{2}{3}} \left( Z^{-\delta} + B^{\delta} Z^{-\delta} + (\alpha Z)^{\delta} \right).$$

Case  $M \ge 2$ 

Consider now  $M\geq 2.$  In comparison with the case M=1 we should get some extra terms because

(a) First, in the regular zone with  $\ell(x) \ge \epsilon d$  the strong non-degeneracy assumption (28.3.60) is replaced by the strong assumption (28.3.65).

(b) In the boundary zone with  $\gamma(x) \leq \overline{\gamma}$  (and with  $\overline{\gamma} \geq h_1^{\frac{1}{3}}$ ) there is no non-degeneracy assumption at all.

Consider a regular zone first. According to (28.3.86) we get an extra term

(28.5.55) 
$$C\beta_1 h_1^{-1} \nu_1^{\frac{1}{2}} \asymp C\beta h^{-1} (\kappa\beta)^{\frac{5}{9}} \ell^{\frac{20}{9}} |\log h|^{\mu}$$

since other extra terms are smaller; summation over the regular zone results in the value with  $\ell = \bar{r}$ ; since  $\bar{r} = (\beta h)^{-\frac{1}{4}}$  we get  $C \kappa^{\frac{5}{9}} \beta h^{-\frac{14}{9}} |\log h|^{\kappa}$ . Scaling back we arrive to

(28.5.56) 
$$CR'' = C\alpha^{\frac{5}{9}}BZ^{\frac{2}{27}}|\log Z|^{K}.$$

Using  $\gamma$ -partition in the boundary zone and plugging  $h_2 = h_1 \gamma^{-3}$ ,  $\beta_2 = \beta_1 \gamma^{-1}$ ,  $\nu_2 = \nu_1 \gamma^{\frac{3}{2}+\delta}$  (see Remark 28.5.11) and using (28.5.52) we prove easily that if  $\bar{\gamma} = h_1^{\frac{1}{3}}$  (i.e.  $(Z - N)_+ \leq B^{\frac{5}{12}}$ ) the contribution of the boundary zone is smaller than CR''.

On the other hand, in the case  $B^{\frac{5}{12}} \leq (Z - N)_+ \leq B^{\frac{3}{4}}$  we need to add  $C\beta_2 h_2^{-\frac{3}{2}} \bar{\gamma}^{-2} (1+|\log \bar{\gamma}|)$ . Plugging  $h_2 = h_1 \bar{\gamma}^{-3}$ ,  $\beta_2 = \beta_1 \bar{\gamma}^{-1}$ ,  $\bar{\gamma} = (Z-N)_+^{\frac{1}{4}} B^{-\frac{3}{16}}$  and scaling back we arrive to

(28.5.57) 
$$CR''' = C(Z - N)_{+}^{\frac{3}{8}}B^{\frac{11}{32}}(1 + |\log(Z - N)_{+}B^{-\frac{3}{4}}|).$$

Finally if  $(Z - N)_+ \ge B^{\frac{3}{4}}$  we get  $C\beta_1 h_1^{-\frac{3}{2}}$  with  $\ell = (Z - N)_+^{-\frac{1}{3}} Z^{\frac{1}{3}}$  i.e.

(28.5.58) 
$$CR''' = C(Z - N)_{+}^{-\frac{1}{2}}B.$$

Thus we arrive to Proposition 28.5.18(i). The similar arguments work for D-term and we arrive to Proposition 28.5.18(ii)

**Proposition 28.5.18.** Let  $V = W_B^{\mathsf{TF}} + \lambda$  be a Thomas-Fermi potential with  $B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$ ,  $N \asymp Z$  and  $M \geq 2$ . Let  $d \geq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$ . Then

(i) Estimate (28.5.51) holds with  $R = R_0 + R''$  and R'' defined by (28.5.56) for  $(Z - N)_+ \le B^{\frac{5}{12}}$ ,  $R = R_0 + R'' + R'''$  and R''' defined by (28.5.57) for  $B^{\frac{5}{12}} \le (Z - N)_+ \le B^{\frac{3}{4}}$ ,  $R = R_0 + R'''$  and R''' defined by (28.5.58) for  $(Z - N)_+ \ge B^{\frac{3}{4}}$ .

Furthermore, if  $B \leq Z$  estimate (28.5.51) holds with

(28.5.59) 
$$R = Z^{\frac{2}{3}} \left[ Z^{-\delta} + B^{\delta} Z^{-\delta} + (dZ^{\frac{1}{3}})^{-\delta} + (\alpha Z)^{\delta} \right].$$

(ii) The left-hand expression of (28.5.57) does not exceed  $CZ^{\frac{1}{3}}R_0^2 + CB^{\frac{1}{4}}R''^2$ if  $(Z - N)_+ \leq B^{\frac{5}{12}}, CZ^{\frac{1}{3}}R_0^2 + CB^{\frac{1}{4}}(R'' + R''')^2$  and R''' defined by (28.5.57) if  $B^{\frac{5}{12}} \leq (Z - N)_+ \leq B^{\frac{3}{4}}, CZ^{\frac{1}{3}}R_0^2 + (Z - N)_+^{\frac{1}{3}}R'''^2$  and R''' defined by (28.5.58) if  $(Z - N)_+ \geq B^{\frac{3}{4}}$ .

Furthermore, if  $B \leq Z$  the left-hand expression of (28.5.57) does not exceed  $CZ^{\frac{1}{3}}R^2$  with R defined by (28.5.59).

## 28.5.6 More Estimates to a Minimizer

Now we want to provide different kinds of estimates to the minimizer for  $\ell(x) \ge Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  in the original scale. More precisely, we are looking for

(28.5.60) 
$$\alpha^{-1} \int \phi_r(\mathbf{x}) |\partial A'|^2 d\mathbf{x}$$

with  $\phi_r$  supported in  $\{x \colon \ell(x) \asymp r\}$  because it will appear as an error when we decouple singularities for  $M \ge 2$  (in this case we should take  $r \asymp d$ . Due to equation (27.2.14) it is D-type term as well: namely, with the integral taken over  $\mathbb{R}^3$  it would be equal to  $\alpha Z^{\frac{5}{3}} D(\phi \Phi_j, \phi \Phi_j)$  calculated in the rescaled coordinates with  $\Phi_j$  defined by (27.2.14); however with the cut-off the integral kernel  $|x - y|^{-1}$  needs to be modified. Recall that the corresponding Weyl expression is **0**.

First, using (28.5.16) and decomposition like in the proof of Proposition 27.3.9 we can rewrite (28.5.60) as

(28.5.61) 
$$I \coloneqq \int K(z; x, y) \Phi(x) \Phi(y) \, dx \, dy \, dz$$

multiplied by  $\alpha Z^{\frac{5}{3}}$ ; here K(z; x, y) is supported in  $\{z : \ell(z) \asymp r\}$ , singular at x = z and y = z and satisfies

(28.5.62) 
$$|K(z; x, y)| \le |x - z|^{-2}|y - z|^{-2}|x| \cdot |y|(|x| + r)^{-1}(|y| + r)^{-1}$$

Here we temporarily replaced r by  $Z^{\frac{1}{3}}r$ .

Let us make a double  $\ell$ -admissible partition of unity and consider pairs of elements with  $\ell(x) \approx r_1$  and  $\ell(y) \approx r_2$ . There are three cases:  $r_1 \leq \epsilon r$ ,  $r_1 \approx r$  and  $r_1 \geq cr$ , and so also for  $r_2$ , and we can consider only pure pairs.

#### Case M = 1

Assume first that M = 1. Then the contribution of each pair with  $r_j \leq \epsilon r$  (assuming that they belong to regular zone) does not exceed

(28.5.63) 
$$C\zeta_1 r_1 (h_1^{-2} + h_1^{-\frac{5}{3}} \nu_1^{\frac{2}{3}}) \times \zeta_2 r_2 (h_2^{-2} + h_2^{-\frac{5}{3}} \nu_2^{\frac{2}{3}}) \times r^{-3}$$

where  $\zeta_j = r_j^{-2}$ ,  $h_j = hr_j$ ,  $\nu_j = (\kappa\beta)^{\frac{10}{9}} h^{\frac{4}{9}} r_j^{\frac{4}{9}}$  if  $r_j \ge 1$  and  $\zeta_j = r_j^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ ,  $h_j = hr_j^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ ,  $\nu_j = (\kappa\beta)^{\frac{10}{9}} h^{\frac{4}{9}}$  if  $r_j \le 1$ . Double summation returns its value if  $r_1 = r_2 = 1$  i.e.

(28.5.64) 
$$Ch^{-4} (1 + h^{\frac{2}{3}} \nu^{*\frac{4}{3}}) r^{-3}.$$

Further, using Fefferman-de Llave decomposition one can prove easily that the contribution of pairs with  $r_1 \simeq r_2 \simeq r$  (the only case when we have a singular kernel) does not exceed (28.5.63) calculated as  $r_1 = r_2 = r$  which is decaying function of r and therefore does not exceed (28.5.64).

Furthermore, the contribution of each pair with  $r_j \ge Cr$  (assuming that they belong to regular zone) does not exceed

(28.5.65) 
$$C\zeta_1 r_1^{-2} \left(h_1^{-2} + h_1^{-\frac{5}{3}} \nu_1^{\frac{2}{3}}\right) \times \zeta_2 r_2^{-2} \left(h_2^{-2} + h_2^{-\frac{5}{3}} \nu_2^{\frac{2}{3}}\right) \times r^3,$$

and the double summation returns its value with  $r_1 = r_2 = r$  which is the same as (28.5.63) calculated with  $r_1 = r_2 = r$  and again does not exceed (28.5.64).

Finally, considering  $r_1 \simeq r_2 \simeq \bar{r}$  we apply for  $(Z - N)_+ \leq B^{\frac{3}{4}}$  secondary partitions with respect to x and y and using our standard arguments we estimate the contribution of this zone by (28.5.65) calculated with  $r_1 = r_2 = \bar{r}$ .

Therefore we estimated expression (28.5.61) by (28.5.64). In particular, if  $\kappa\beta \leq h^{-\frac{17}{20}} |\log h|^{-\kappa}$  i.e.  $\alpha B \leq Z^{\frac{17}{60}} |\log Z|^{-\kappa}$ ), then  $\nu^* \leq h^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  and expression (28.5.61) does not exceed  $Ch^{-4}r^{-3}$ . Plugging  $h = Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$ , multiplying by  $\alpha Z^{\frac{5}{3}}$  and replacing r by  $Z^{\frac{1}{3}}r$  we get  $\alpha Z^2r^{-3}$  thus proving Proposition 28.5.19(i).

On the other hand, for  $\kappa\beta \ge h^{-\frac{17}{20}} |\log h|^{-\kappa}$  estimate (28.5.61) by (28.5.64) could be improved. Indeed, let us apply all the above arguments only for  $r_j \ge t$  with  $1 \le t \le \epsilon r$ . Then we get expression (28.5.63) with  $r_1 = r_2 = t$  i.e.

(28.5.66) 
$$Ch^{-4} \times \nu^{*\frac{4}{3}} h^{\frac{2}{3}} t^{-\frac{128}{27}} r^{-3}$$

where we consider only term possibly exceeding  $Ch^{-4}r^{-3}$ .

To estimate the contribution of zone  $\{x, y : \ell(x) \le t, \ell(y) \le t\}$  we replace  $\Phi_j$  by  $(\kappa h^{-2})\Delta A'_j$  and using the standard estimate for operator norm in  $\mathcal{L}^2$  we conclude that the corresponding part of expression (28.5.61) does not exceed  $C\kappa^{-2}h^{-4}\|\partial A'\|^2 \times t^3r^{-3} \le Ch^{-4}t^3r^{-3}$  as long as  $\|\partial A'\| \le C\kappa$ .

Adding this to (28.5.66) and minimizing by  $t \leq r$  we get  $Ch^{-4}(\nu^{*2}h)^{\frac{54}{209}}r^{-3}$  provided  $r \geq (\nu^{*2}h)^{\frac{18}{209}}$ .

Plugging  $\nu^*$  and h, multiplying by  $\alpha Z^{\frac{5}{3}}$  and replacing r by  $Z^{\frac{1}{3}}r$  we arrive to Proposition 28.5.19(ii).

**Proposition 28.5.19.** Let  $V = W_B^{\mathsf{TF}} + \lambda$  be a Thomas-Fermi potential with  $B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$ ,  $N \asymp Z$  and M = 1. Then

(i) A minimizer satisfies

(28.5.67) 
$$\alpha^{-1} \int_{\{x: \ell(x) \ge r\}} |\partial A'|^2 \, dx \le CT_0 r^{-3} = C\alpha Z^2 r^{-3}$$

for  $r \ge r_* = Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  holds provided (28.5.68)  $\alpha B \le Z^{\frac{17}{60}} |\log Z|^{-\kappa}$ .

(ii) Otherwise a minimizer satisfies

(28.5.69) 
$$\alpha^{-1} \int_{\{x: \ell(x) \ge r\}} |\partial A'|^2 dx \le CT_0 r^{-3} = C\alpha Z^3 r_*^3 r^{-3} \quad for \ r \ge r_*$$

with

(28.5.70) 
$$r_* := (\alpha B)^{\frac{40}{209}} Z^{-\frac{81}{209}} |\log Z|^{\kappa} \gtrsim Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}.$$

Remark 28.5.20. (i) Assumption (28.5.68) means exactly that  $r_* \leq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$ .

(ii) Our usual approach implies that for  $B \leq Z$  the Tauberian error estimate could be slightly improved but it has no implications here because in contrast to  $e(x, x, \tau)$  where the main term in the formal asymptotic decomposition is  $h^{-3}P'_{Bh}$  and the next one is  $\approx \beta^2 h^{-2}$ , in  $\Phi_j$  the main term is 0 and the next one is  $\eta h^{-2}$  with the coefficient  $\eta$  depending on A' and trying to calculate it and plug the corresponding term into (28.5.61) instead of  $\Phi_j$  will certainly result in the identity.

(iii) It may happen that  $r_* \geq \bar{r}$ ; then it follows from the proof that  $r_*$  should be truncated to  $\bar{r}$  in (28.5.69). Moreover, estimate (28.5.69) with  $r_* = \bar{r}$  holds even for  $M \geq 2$  if no non-degeneracy assumption is made.

#### Case $M \ge 2$

Assume now that  $M \ge 2$  and that (28.5.19) is fulfilled. Then we need to take into account excess terms in our estimates. In the regular zone such excess term is

(28.5.71)  $C\zeta_1 r_1 \beta_1 h_1^{-1} \nu_1^{\frac{1}{2}} \times \zeta_2 r_2 \beta_2 h_2^{-1} \nu_2^{\frac{1}{2}} \times r^{-3}$  for  $r_1 \le r, r_2 \le r_2$ 

and

(28.5.72)  $C\zeta_1 r_1^{-2} \beta_1 h_1^{-1} \nu_1^{\frac{1}{2}} \times \zeta_2 r_2^{-2} \beta_2 h_2^{-1} \nu_2^{\frac{1}{2}} \times r^3$  for  $r_1 \ge r, r_2 \ge r$ .

Plugging  $\beta_j$ ,  $h_j$  and  $\nu_j$  one observes easily that the former is a growing and the latter is a decaying function of  $r_j$  and these expressions coincide at  $r_1 = r_2 = r$ . To decouple singularities we need to consider  $r \leq \epsilon d$  where d is the minimal distance between singularities; so we will assume this. Observe that extra terms appear only if  $r_j \geq \epsilon d$ , so we need to consider only (28.5.72).

Therefore if  $d \leq \bar{r}$  the summation results in expression (28.5.72) calculated at  $r_1 = r_2 = d$  which is

$$C\beta^2 h^{-\frac{14}{9}}(\kappa\beta)^{\frac{10}{9}}|\log h|^{\kappa} d^{-\frac{32}{9}}r^3,$$

which results in the original settings  $in^{33}$ 

(28.5.73) 
$$CT'r^3 = C(\alpha B)^{\frac{19}{9}}Bd^{-\frac{32}{9}}r^3;$$

recall that we plug  $\beta$ , h,  $\kappa$ , replace d and r by  $Z^{\frac{1}{3}}d$  and  $Z^{\frac{1}{3}}r$ , and multiply by  $\alpha Z^{\frac{5}{3}}$ .

Meanwhile, using our standard arguments one can prove easily that the contribution of the boundary zone is less than this provided  $(Z - N)_+ \leq B^{\frac{5}{12}}$ .

On the other hand, for  $B^{\frac{5}{12}} \leq (Z - N)_+ \leq B^{\frac{3}{4}}$  an extra contribution of the boundary zone does not exceed

$$Ceta^2 h^{-3} ar{\gamma}^{13} ar{r}^{-5} r^3 (1+|\log ar{\gamma}|)^2$$
,

which results in the original settings  $in^{33}$ 

(28.5.74) 
$$CT''r^3 = C\alpha(Z-N)_+^{\frac{13}{4}}B^{\frac{13}{16}}(1+|\log(Z-N)_+B^{-\frac{3}{4}}|)^2r^3.$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33)</sup> I.e. after we plug  $\kappa$ ,  $\beta$ , h, replace d and r by  $Z^{\frac{1}{3}}d$  and  $Z^{\frac{1}{3}}r$  and multiply by  $\alpha Z^{\frac{5}{3}}$ .

Finally, for  $(Z-N)_+\geq B^{\frac{3}{4}}$  an extra contribution of the boundary zone does not exceed

$$C\beta^2 h^{-3} \overline{r}^{-5} r^3,$$

which results in the original settings  $in^{33}$ 

(28.5.75) 
$$CT''r^3 = C\alpha(Z-N)^{\frac{5}{3}}_+B^2.$$

Thus we have proven

**Proposition 28.5.21.** Let  $V = W_B^{\mathsf{TF}} + \lambda$  be Thomas-Fermi potential with  $B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}, N \asymp Z_1 \asymp Z_2 \asymp ... \asymp Z_M$  and  $M \geq 2$ . Let  $r_* \ll r \ll d \leq \epsilon \overline{r}$ . Then expression

(28.5.76) 
$$\alpha^{-1} \int_{\{x: \ell(x) \asymp r\}} |\partial A'|^2 dx$$

does not exceed  $C(T_0r^{-3} + (T' + T'')r^3)$  with  $T_0$  defined by (28.5.68) or (28.5.69) and T' defined by (28.5.73), and T'' either 0 (as  $(Z - N)_+ \leq B^{\frac{5}{12}})$  or defined by (28.5.74), or (28.5.75).

Remark 28.5.22. (i) Recall that the decoupling error between the singularity and the regular part does not exceed  $C\alpha BZ^{\frac{5}{3}}$ .

(ii) Meanwhile in these settings  $\text{Scott} - \text{Scott}_0 = O(\alpha Z^3)$  and if decoupling error is greater than this there is no point in decoupling.

(iii) Obviously we need to assume that  $r_* \leq \epsilon \bar{r}$  which implies that

(28.5.77) 
$$(\alpha Z)^{40} B^{\frac{369}{4}} \le \epsilon Z^{121},$$

which is just tiny bit stronger than  $\alpha Z \lesssim 1$ ,  $B \lesssim Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$ . For  $(Z - N)_+ \leq B^{\frac{3}{4}}$  this condition is also sufficient.

(iv) Decoupling singularities we get an error (28.5.76) with integration over  $\{x: \ell(x) \approx r\}$ ; therefore if  $r_* \ll d \leq \bar{r}$  then minimizing  $T_0 r^{-3} + T' r^3$  by  $r: r_* \leq r \leq d$  we get

(28.5.78) 
$$T_* := \left(T_0(T'+T'')\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} + \left(T'+T''\right)r_*^3 + T_0d^{-3}.$$

## **28.5.7** Endgame: $M \ge 2$

For  $M \geq 2$  we have two rather different results. In the first (28.5.39) we appeal to the sum of localized trace terms  $\sum_{1\leq m\leq M} \text{Tr}(\psi_m H_{A,V_m}^-\psi_m)$  where  $\psi_m$  is supported in  $\{x : |x - y_m| \leq \frac{1}{3}d\}$  (recall that d is the minimal distance between singularities).

In the second one we want to use  $2h^{-2}\sum S(\alpha Z_m)Z_m^2$  instead. If A' = 0 then transition would be immediate. However in our case we need to "decouple" singularities. Therefore in the estimate from below we need results from the previous subsubsection:

**Theorem 28.5.23.** Let  $V = W_B^{\mathsf{TF}} + \lambda$  be a Thomas-Fermi potential with  $B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$ ,  $N \asymp Z$  and  $M \geq 2$ . Let  $\kappa = \alpha Z \leq \kappa^*$ . Then if  $r_* \leq d \leq \bar{r}$ 

(28.5.79) 
$$|\mathsf{E}_{\alpha}^{*} + \int P_{B}(V) \, dx - 2 \sum S(\alpha Z_{m}) Z_{m}^{2} - \mathsf{Schwinger}|$$

does not exceed C(Q + T) where Q is the trace estimate obtained in Proposition 28.5.12(iii)–(iv) and  $T_*$  is an estimate for expression (28.5.76) given by (28.5.78).

*Proof.* (i) In the estimate from below we just replace A' in  $\mathsf{E}_{\alpha}(A)$  by the sum  $\sum_{1 \le m \le M} A' \psi_m$  with  $\psi_m$  supported in  $\{x : |x - y_m| \le \frac{1}{3}r\}$  and equal 1 in  $\{x : |x - y_m| \le \frac{1}{4}r\}$  where r is the minimal distance between singularities, and observe that  $\alpha^{-1} ||\partial A'||^2$  increased by no more than CT.

(ii) In the estimate from above we just plug into  $\mathsf{E}_{\alpha}(A) A' = \sum_{1 \le m \le M} A'_m \psi_m$ with  $A'_m$  minimizers for a single-singularity potential  $V_m$ .

Remark 28.5.24. (i) Theorem 28.5.23 makes sense only if  $r_* \ll d \leq \bar{r}$  and  $T_* \ll \alpha Z^3$ ; if any of these assumptions fails, we observe that  $\mathsf{E}_{\alpha}(A')$  is greater than  $\mathcal{E}_0 + \mathsf{Schwinger} - CQ - C\alpha Z^3$  and in this case we can replace  $S(\alpha Z_m)$  by S(0); in this case in the upper estimate we pick up A' = 0.

(ii) In the estimate from above  $T = \max_m T_m$  with  $T_m$  an estimate for a single-singularity potential  $V_m$  delivered by Proposition 28.5.19; thus  $T = T_0 d^{-3}$  if  $r_* \leq d \leq \bar{r}$ . Still it is at least  $C \alpha B^{\frac{3}{4}} Z^2$  while decoupling error of singularity and the regular zone is  $C \alpha B Z^{\frac{5}{3}}$  which is smaller.

# 28.6 Global Trace Asymptotics in the Case of Thomas-Fermi Potential: $Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^{3}$

## 28.6.1 Trace Estimates

In this Section we consider the case of  $Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^3$  (corresponding to  $\beta h \geq 1$  after rescaling<sup>34</sup>). We start with

Remark 28.6.1. (i) In contrast to the previous Section 28.5 in this case the remainder estimate will be at least  $C\kappa h^{-2}$  and therefore there will be no difficulty to decouple between singularities or between singularities and a regular zone and the Scott correction term will be either  $\sum 2S(0)Z_m^2$  or even absent.

Therefore in the estimate from above we just pick up A' = 0 both here and in the multiparticle problem and we will need only N-term and D-terms with A' = 0 referring to Chapter 25.

(ii) For  $\beta h \geq 1$  we have a major dichotomy unrelated to the self-generated magnetic field:

(a)  $\beta h^2 \leq 1$  (i.e.  $Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^{\frac{7}{4}}$ ). In this case Scott correction term could be larger than the contribution of zone  $\{x : \ell(x) \approx 1\}$  to the remainder estimate which is no better than  $O(\beta)$  and one probably needs to include Scott correction term in the final trace asymptotics.

(b)  $\beta h^2 \ge 1$  (i.e.  $Z^{\frac{7}{4}} \le B \le Z^3$ ). In this case the opposite is true; then one does not need to include Scott correction term for sure. Recall that condition  $C \le Z^3$  is also unrelated to self-generated magnetic field.

(iii) Recall that we need to impose condition  $\kappa\beta h^2|\log\beta|^{\kappa}\leq 1$  which is equivalent to

(28.6.1) 
$$\alpha B^{\frac{4}{5}} Z^{-\frac{2}{5}} |\log Z|^{\kappa} \le 1.$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34)</sup> Recall that as  $Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^3$  the scaling is  $x \mapsto B^{\frac{2}{5}}Z^{-\frac{1}{5}}x$  (and the original distance between nuclei is at least  $B^{-\frac{2}{5}}Z^{\frac{1}{5}}$ ),  $\tau \mapsto B^{-\frac{2}{5}}Z^{\frac{4}{5}}\tau$ ,  $\beta = B^{\frac{2}{5}}Z^{-\frac{1}{5}}$ ,  $h = B^{\frac{1}{5}}Z^{-\frac{3}{5}}$  and  $B \leq Z^3$ . <sup>35)</sup> Cf. Proposition 28.5.2.

**Theorem 28.6.2** <sup>35)</sup>. Let V be Thomas-Fermi potential  $V := W_B^{\mathsf{TF}} + \lambda$  with  $Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^3$ ,  $N \asymp Z_1 \asymp Z_2 \asymp \ldots \asymp Z_M$  and  $N \leq Z$ . Let  $\alpha Z \leq \kappa^*$  and assumption (28.6.1) be fulfilled. Let A' be a minimizer. Then

(i) If <u>either</u>  $(Z - N)_+ \lesssim B^{\frac{4}{15}} Z^{\frac{1}{5}}$  or M = 1 and  $\alpha B^{\frac{3}{5}} Z^{\frac{1}{5}} \gtrsim 1$ , then expression

(28.6.2) 
$$|\mathsf{E}_{\kappa}(\mathcal{A}') - \mathsf{Scott}_0 + \int \int P_{\mathcal{B}}(V(x)) \, dx|$$

 $does \ not \ exceed$ 

(28.6.3) 
$$C\left(B^{\frac{1}{3}}Z^{\frac{4}{3}} + B^{\frac{4}{5}}Z^{\frac{3}{5}} + \alpha Z^{3} + \alpha^{\frac{16}{9}}B^{\frac{82}{45}}Z^{\frac{58}{45}} |\log Z|^{\kappa}\right).$$

(ii) If M = 1,  $(Z - N)_+ \gtrsim B^{\frac{4}{15}}Z^{\frac{1}{5}}$  and  $\alpha B^{\frac{3}{5}}Z^{\frac{1}{5}} \lesssim 1$ , then expression (28.6.2) does not exceed

$$(28.6.4) \quad C \Big( B^{\frac{1}{3}} Z^{\frac{4}{3}} + B^{\frac{4}{5}} Z^{\frac{3}{5}} + \alpha Z^{3} + \alpha^{\frac{16}{9}} B^{\frac{82}{45}} Z^{\frac{49}{45}} |\log Z|^{\kappa} \\ + \alpha^{\frac{40}{27}} B^{\frac{74}{45}} Z^{\frac{131}{540}} (Z - N)^{\frac{85}{108}}_{+} |\log Z|^{\kappa} \Big).$$

(iii) If  $M\geq 2$  and  $(Z-N)_+\gtrsim B^{\frac{4}{15}}Z^{\frac{1}{5}},$  then expression (28.6.2) does not exceed

$$(28.6.5) \quad C \Big( B^{\frac{1}{3}} Z^{\frac{4}{3}} + B^{\frac{4}{5}} Z^{\frac{3}{5}} + \alpha Z^{3} + \alpha^{\frac{16}{9}} B^{\frac{82}{45}} Z^{\frac{49}{45}} |\log Z|^{\kappa} + B^{\frac{7}{10}} Z^{\frac{11}{40}} (Z - N)^{\frac{5}{8}}_{+} |\log(Z - N)_{+} Z^{-1}| \Big).$$

*Proof.* (a) Observe first that we need to prove only the estimate from below for expression (28.6.2) without absolute value since in the estimate from above we just pick A' = 0 and apply results of Chapter 25 producing estimate  $CB^{\frac{4}{5}}Z^{\frac{3}{5}}$ .

Proof of the estimate from below repeats the proof of Proposition 28.5.2. Namely, we apply an appropriate partition and on each element  $\psi_{\iota}^2$  estimate from below

(28.6.6) 
$$\operatorname{Tr}^{-}(\psi_{\iota}H_{A,V}\psi_{\iota}) + (C_{0}\alpha)^{-1}\int |\partial A'|^{2} dx + \int \int P_{B}(V(x))\psi_{\iota}^{2}(x) dx$$

for  $\iota \geq 1$  and

(28.6.7) 
$$\operatorname{Tr}^{-}(\psi_{0}H_{A,V}\psi_{0}) + (C_{0}\alpha)^{-1}\int |\partial A'|^{2} dx$$
  
  $+ \int \int P_{B}(V(x))\psi_{0}^{2}(x) dx - \operatorname{Scott}_{0}.$ 

For  $B \leq Z^2$  we separate zone  $\mathcal{X}_0 := \{x : \ell(x) \leq r_* = B^{-\frac{2}{3}} Z^{\frac{1}{3}}\}$  in which after rescaling  $x \mapsto r_*^{-1}x$ ,  $\tau \mapsto r_*Z^{-1}\tau$ , we have  $\beta = 1$ ,  $h = B^{\frac{1}{3}}Z^{-\frac{2}{3}}$  and  $\kappa = \alpha Z$ . Then for the corresponding partition element  $\psi_0^2$  expression (28.6.7) in virtue of Chapter 26 does not exceed (by an absolute value)

$$C(h^{-1}+\kappa|\log\kappa|^{\frac{1}{3}}h^{-\frac{4}{3}})\times Zr_*^{-1}$$

which does not exceed (28.6.3) without the last term.

For  $B \geq Z^2$  we separate zone  $\mathcal{X}_0 := \{x : \ell(x) \leq r_* = Z^{-1}\}$  and after rescaling  $x \mapsto r_*^{-1}x$ ,  $\tau \mapsto Z^{-1}r_*\tau$  we have h = 1,  $\beta = BZ^{-2}$  and apply variational estimates of Appendix 28.A.1 here. Then the contribution of  $\mathcal{X}_0$ to the remainder does not exceed  $C\beta \times Zr_*^{-1} = CB \leq CB^{\frac{4}{5}}Z^{\frac{3}{5}}$ .

(b) Further, a contribution of each regular element with  $r_* \leq \ell(x) \leq \epsilon \bar{r}$  (recall that  $\bar{r} = B^{-\frac{2}{5}} Z^{\frac{1}{5}}$ ) does not exceed

(28.6.8) 
$$C\zeta^2 h_1^{-1} \left( 1 + (\kappa_1 \beta_1)^{\frac{40}{27}} h_1^{\frac{34}{27}} |\log h_1|^{\kappa} \right) \quad \text{for } \beta_1 h_1 \le C_0$$

(28.6.9) 
$$C\zeta^2\beta_1\left(1+(\kappa_1\beta_1)^{\frac{16}{9}}h_1^{\frac{14}{9}}|\log h_1|^{\kappa}\right)$$
 for  $\beta_1h_1 \ge C_0$ 

with  $\zeta = Z^{\frac{1}{2}} \ell^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ ,  $\beta_1 = BZ^{-\frac{1}{2}} \ell^{\frac{3}{2}}$ ,  $h_1 = Z^{-\frac{1}{2}} \ell^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ ,  $\kappa_1 = \alpha Z$ . Indeed, if  $\beta_1 h_1 \ge C_0$ and  $\ell(\mathbf{x}) \le \epsilon \overline{\mathbf{r}}$ , then the super-strong non-degeneracy assumption (28.4.5) is fulfilled.

Observe that the first term in (28.6.8) has  $\ell$  in the negative power and therefore sums to its value at  $\ell = r_*$  while the second term has  $\ell$  in the positive power and therefore sums to its value at  $\beta_1 h_1 = 1$  (i.e.  $\ell = B^{-1}Z$ ,  $h_1 = B^{\frac{1}{2}}Z^{-1}$ ,  $\beta_1 = B^{-\frac{1}{2}}Z$ ); one can see easily that it is less than  $\alpha Z^3$ . Actually this zone appears only as  $B \leq Z^2$ .

On the other hand, both terms in (28.6.9) have  $\ell$  in the positive power and thus sum to their values at  $\ell = \bar{r}$ ,  $\beta_1 = B^{\frac{2}{5}}Z^{-\frac{1}{5}}$ ,  $h_1 = B^{\frac{1}{5}}Z^{-\frac{3}{5}}$  and  $\kappa_1 = \alpha Z$  which are exactly the second and the fourth terms in (28.6.2). (c) Boundary zone  $\{x: \epsilon \leq \ell(x) \leq c\}$  is treated in the same way albeit with  $\zeta = B^{\frac{2}{5}} Z^{\frac{4}{5}} \gamma^2$ ,  $\beta_1 = B^{\frac{2}{5}} Z^{-\frac{1}{5}} \gamma^{-1}$ ,  $h_1 = B^{\frac{1}{5}} Z^{-\frac{3}{5}} \gamma^{-3}$  and  $\kappa_1 = \alpha Z \gamma^5$  as long as  $\gamma \geq C_0 \overline{\gamma}$  (with  $\overline{\gamma} = (Z - N)^{\frac{1}{4}} Z^{-\frac{1}{4}}$  but reset to  $B^{\frac{1}{15}} Z^{-\frac{1}{5}}$  if the latter is larger). Observe that plugging into (28.6.9) we get in both terms  $\gamma$  in the power greater than 2; therefore after summation with respect to partition elements we get expression (28.6.9) with  $\gamma = 1$ ,  $\beta_1 = B^{\frac{2}{5}} Z^{-\frac{1}{5}}$ ,  $h_1 = B^{\frac{1}{5}} Z^{-\frac{3}{5}}$  and  $\kappa_1 = \alpha Z$ .

This proves the lower estimate (28.6.2) in the framework of the first clause of Statement (i) as contribution of the zone  $\gamma \leq B^{\frac{1}{15}}Z^{-\frac{1}{5}}$  is estimated easily; we leave it to the reader.

(d) Assume now that  $(Z - N)_+ \ge B^{\frac{4}{15}}Z^{\frac{1}{5}}$ . We do not partition zone  $\{x: \gamma(x) \le C_0 \bar{\gamma}\}$  further. In this case we need to take

(28.6.10) 
$$\nu_{1} = \left( \left( \kappa_{1} \beta_{1} \right)^{\frac{4}{3}} h_{1}^{\frac{2}{3}} + \left( \kappa_{1} \beta_{1} \right)^{\frac{10}{9}} h_{1}^{\frac{4}{9}} \right) |\log h_{1}|^{\kappa}.$$

For M = 1 we should plug it into

(28.6.11) 
$$C\zeta^2\beta_1 (1+h_1^{\frac{2}{3}}\nu_1^{\frac{4}{3}})\gamma^{-2}$$

with  $\zeta = B^{\frac{2}{5}} Z^{\frac{4}{5}} \gamma^2$  and  $\gamma = \overline{\gamma}$ .

For  $\kappa\beta h \gtrsim 1$  we estimate it by the same expression with  $\bar{\gamma}$  replaced by 1 but then in  $\nu_1$  dominates the first term and we arrive to the lower estimate (28.6.2) in the framework of the second clause of Statement (i).

(e) For M = 1 and  $\kappa \beta h \lesssim 1$  we need to take into account term (28.6.11) with  $\nu_1 = (\kappa_1 \beta_1)^{\frac{10}{9}} h_1^{\frac{4}{9}} |\log h_1|^{\kappa}$  which results in the last term in (28.6.4). Indeed, as  $\gamma(x) \leq C_0 \bar{\gamma}$  super-strong non-degeneracy condition is not fulfilled.

(f) For  $M \ge 2$ , we need to take into account term  $C\zeta^2\beta_1 h_1^{-\frac{1}{2}}\gamma^{-2}(1+|\log \gamma|)$  with  $\gamma = \bar{\gamma}$  which results in the last term in (28.6.5). This concludes estimate from below.

**Corollary 28.6.3.** In the framework of Theorem 28.6.2(i), (ii), (iii) expression  $\|\partial A'\|^2$  does not exceed expressions (28.6.3), (28.6.4) and (28.6.5) respectively, multiplied by  $\alpha$ .

*Proof.* Indeed, the same estimates hold with  $\alpha$  replaced by  $2\alpha$ .

The same methods lead us to a similar result for  $B \lesssim Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  (we leave the oproof to the reader):

**Theorem 28.6.4.** Let V be Thomas-Fermi potential  $W_B^{\mathsf{TF}} + \lambda$  with  $B \leq Z_3^4$ ,  $N \simeq Z_1 \simeq Z_2 \simeq ... \simeq Z_M$  and  $N \leq Z$ . Let  $\alpha Z \leq \kappa^*$ . Let A' be a minimizer. Then

(i) If <u>either</u>  $(Z - N)_+ \leq B^{\frac{5}{12}}$  or M = 1, then expression

(28.6.12) 
$$|\mathsf{E}_{\kappa}(\mathcal{A}') - \mathsf{Scott}_0 + \int \int \mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{B}}(V(x)) \, dx|$$

does not exceed

(28.6.13) 
$$C\left(B^{\frac{1}{3}}Z^{\frac{4}{3}}+Z^{\frac{5}{3}}+\alpha Z^{3}\right);$$

(ii) If  $M\geq 2$  and  $B^{\frac{5}{12}}\lesssim (Z-N)_+\lesssim B^{\frac{3}{4}},$  then expression (28.6.12) does not exceed

(28.6.14) 
$$C\left(B^{\frac{1}{3}}Z^{\frac{4}{3}} + Z^{\frac{5}{3}} + \alpha Z^{3} + B^{\frac{29}{32}}(Z - N)^{\frac{5}{8}}_{+} |\log(Z - N)_{+}B^{-\frac{3}{4}}|\right).$$

(iii) If  $M \ge 2$  and  $(Z - N)_+ \gtrsim B^{\frac{3}{4}}$ , then expression (28.6.12) does not exceed

(28.6.15) 
$$C\left(B^{\frac{1}{3}}Z^{\frac{4}{3}} + Z^{\frac{5}{3}} + \alpha Z^{3} + B(Z - N)^{\frac{1}{2}}_{+}\right).$$

## 28.6.2 Estimates to a Minimizer

Observe that only terms  $B^{\frac{1}{3}}Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  and  $\alpha Z^3$  are associated with the singularities and they are definitely smaller than  $B^{\frac{4}{5}}Z^{\frac{3}{5}}$  if  $B \gtrsim Z^{\frac{7}{4}}$ . Therefore for  $B \gtrsim Z^{\frac{7}{4}}$ we do not expect estimate for  $D(\rho_{\Psi} - \rho_{B}, \rho_{\Psi} - \rho_{B})$  better than expressions (28.6.3)–(28.6.5).

However for  $B \leq Z^{\frac{7}{4}}$  to improve such estimate we need to study a minimizer. We assume that the remainder in Theorem 28.6.4 does not exceed  $C(B^{\frac{1}{3}}Z^{\frac{4}{3}} + \alpha Z^3)$  and therefore

(28.6.16) 
$$\|\partial A'\| \le C\alpha^{\frac{1}{2}}B^{\frac{1}{6}}Z^{\frac{2}{3}} + C\alpha Z^{\frac{3}{2}}$$

or, after our usual scaling,

(28.6.17) 
$$\|\partial A'\| \leq \varsigma \coloneqq C\left(\kappa + \kappa^{\frac{1}{2}}\beta^{\frac{1}{6}}h^{\frac{1}{2}}\right).$$

Observe that for  $Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^2$  we have all zones.

**Proposition 28.6.5.** Let V be Thomas-Fermi potential  $W_B^{\mathsf{TF}} + \lambda$  rescaled with  $Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^3$ ,  $N \approx Z_1 \approx Z_2 \approx ... \approx Z_M$  and  $N \leq Z$ . Further, let  $\alpha Z \lesssim 1$  and  $\alpha B^{\frac{2}{5}} Z^{-\frac{2}{5}} |\log \beta|^{\kappa} \lesssim 1$ . Then under assumption (28.6.17) the minimizer A' satisfies

(i) If 
$$\ell \leq r_* = h^2$$
 (i.e.  $h_1 \geq 1$ ) then  
(28.6.18)  $|\partial^2 A'| \leq C \varsigma h^{-5}$ .  
(ii) If  $r_* \leq \ell \leq c(\beta h)^{-1}$  (i.e.  $h_1 \leq 1$ ,  $\beta_1 h_1 \leq c$ ), then  
(28.6.19)  $|\partial^2 A'| \leq C \kappa \left(\varsigma \ell^{-\frac{5}{2}} + \min\left(\beta^{\frac{3}{2}}h^{\frac{1}{2}}\ell^{-1}, \beta^{\frac{1}{2}}\ell^{-\frac{3}{4}}\right)\right)|\log \ell/r_*|$   
 $+ C(\kappa \beta)^{\frac{10}{9}}h^{\frac{4}{9}}\ell^{-\frac{19}{9}}|\log \ell/r_*|^{\kappa}$ 

(iii) If 
$$C(\beta h)^{-1} \leq \ell \leq c$$
, then  
(28.6.20)  $|\partial^2 A'| \leq C_{\varsigma} \ell^{-\frac{5}{2}} + C_{\kappa} \beta^{\frac{1}{2}} \ell^{-\frac{7}{4}} |\log \ell / r_*| + C \left( (\kappa \beta)^{\frac{10}{9}} h^{\frac{4}{9}} \ell^{-\frac{19}{9}} + (\kappa \beta)^{\frac{4}{3}} h^{\frac{2}{3}} \ell^{-\frac{5}{6}} \right) |\log \ell / r_*|^{\kappa}.$ 

*Proof.* The proof of these two propositions repeats our standard arguments and is left to the reader.  $\Box$ 

These propositions may not provide the best D-term estimate as  $\kappa\beta h \leq 1$ (i.e.  $\alpha B^{\frac{3}{5}}Z^{\frac{1}{5}} \leq 1$ ) and could be improved in virtue of the super-strong non-degeneracy assumption fulfilled at regular elements with  $\ell \geq c(\beta h)^{-1}$ and at border elements with  $\gamma \geq C_0 \bar{\gamma}$ . We want to improve term containing  $(\kappa\beta)^{\frac{10}{9}}h^{\frac{4}{8}}\ell^{-\frac{19}{9}}$  in (28.6.20). Assume now that  $\beta h^2 \leq 1$  and  $\kappa\beta h \leq 1$  (case we need to cover). Let us consider zone  $\{x : (\epsilon_0\beta h \geq V(x) \geq C_0|\eta|\}$  where in the corresponding scale super-strong non-degeneracy condition is fulfilled and  $\eta = \lambda B^{-\frac{2}{5}}Z^{\frac{1}{5}}$ .

Proposition 28.6.6. Let conditions of Proposition 28.6.5 be fulfilled. Then

(i) Estimate

$$(28.6.21) \quad |\partial^{2} A'(x)| \leq C \left(\varsigma \ell^{-\frac{5}{2}} + \kappa \beta^{\frac{1}{2}} \ell(x)^{-\frac{7}{4}} + (\kappa \beta)^{\frac{4}{3}} h^{\frac{2}{3}} \ell(x)^{-\frac{5}{6}}\right) |\log h|^{\kappa}$$
  
holds provided  
(28.6.22) 
$$\beta h |\log h|^{-\delta} \geq V(x) \geq |\eta| \cdot |\log h|^{\delta}$$

with arbitrarily small exponent  $\delta > 0$ .

(ii) Furthermore, if  $|\eta| \leq |\log h|^{-\delta}$ , then estimate

$$(28.6.23) \qquad |\partial^2 A'(\mathbf{x})| \le C \left(\varsigma + \kappa \beta^{\frac{1}{2}} + (\kappa \beta)^{\frac{4}{3}} h^{\frac{2}{3}} + (\kappa \beta)^{\frac{10}{9}} h^{\frac{4}{9}} \overline{\gamma}^{\frac{28}{9}}\right) |\log h|^{\kappa}$$

holds provided  $|V(\mathbf{x})| \lesssim 1$ ,  $\bar{\gamma} = |\eta|^{\frac{1}{4}}$ .

Proof. (i) Let

$$\nu_n(t) = \sup_{\mathcal{X}_n(t)} |\partial^2 A'(x)| \ell(x)^{\frac{5}{2}}, \qquad \mathcal{X}_n(t) = \{e^{-\epsilon n - 1}t \leq V(x) \leq e^{\epsilon n + 1}t\}$$

Here  $\epsilon > 0$  is arbitrarily small (but constants may depend on it). Assume that

$$(28.6.24) e^{\epsilon n} t \le \epsilon_0, e^{-\epsilon n} t \ge C_0 |\eta|, e^{\epsilon n} \le |\log h|.$$

Here first two conditions assure that in  $\mathcal{X}_n(t)$  the super-strong non-degeneracy assumption is fulfilled after rescaling and the last condition assures that  $\ell(x)$  remains the same (modulo logarithmic factor) here. Then

(28.6.25) 
$$\nu_{n}(t) \leq C\left(\varsigma + \kappa\beta_{1}^{\frac{1}{2}} + C\kappa_{1}\beta_{1}h_{1}^{\frac{1}{4}}(\nu_{n+1}(t))^{\frac{1}{4}}\right) |\log h|^{\kappa_{1}}$$

with  $\kappa_1 = \kappa$ ,  $\beta_1 = \beta r^{\frac{3}{2}}$ ,  $h_1 = hr^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ ,  $r = \min(t^{-1}, 1)$ . Indeed,  $|\Delta A'|$  in  $\mathcal{X}_{n+1/2}(t)$  does not exceed the right-hand expression (without term  $\varsigma$  and without logarithmic factor) multiplied by  $r^{-\frac{5}{2}}$  and  $C_{\varsigma}$  estimates  $\mathcal{L}^2$ -norm of  $\partial A'$  (and we scale it properly). Recall that we scale  $x \mapsto x/r$  if  $r \leq \epsilon_0$  and  $x \mapsto x/\gamma$  if  $r \approx 1$  and in the latter case  $\beta_1 = \beta \gamma^{-1}$ ,  $h_1 = h\gamma^{-3}$  and  $\kappa_1 = \kappa \gamma^5$ ; the uncertainty due to r or  $\gamma$  defined modulo logarithmic factor compensates by  $|\log h|^{\kappa_1}$  in the right-hand expression of (28.6.25).

Therefore

$$F_{n}(t) \leq C\left(\varsigma r^{-\frac{5}{3}} + C\kappa\beta^{\frac{1}{2}}r^{-\frac{11}{12}} + C\kappa\beta h^{\frac{1}{2}} \times (F_{n+1}(t))^{\frac{1}{4}}\right) |\log h|^{\kappa_{1}}$$

for  $F_n(t) = \nu_n(t) r^{-\frac{5}{3}}$ . Iterating we see that

$$F_0(t) \leq C\left(\varsigma r^{-\frac{5}{3}} + \kappa \beta^{\frac{1}{2}} r^{-\frac{11}{12}}\right) |\log h|^{\kappa} + C(\kappa \beta h^{\frac{1}{2}})^{\frac{4}{3}} |\log h|^{\kappa} \times (F_{n+1}(t))^{\frac{1}{4^n}}.$$

Since  $F_{n+1}(r) \leq h^{-L}$  the last factor is bounded by a constant if  $2^n \geq |\log h|$  and we can satisfy this and (28.6.24) as long as (28.6.22) holds. This proves Statement (i).

(ii) Consider the remaining zone  $\mathcal{Y} = \{x \colon V(x) \leq |\eta| \cdot |\log h|^{\delta}\}$  and let  $\nu = \sup_{\mathcal{Y}} |\partial^2 A'|$ . Observe that in  $\mathcal{Y} |\Delta A'|$  does not exceed

$$C\left(\kappa\beta^{\frac{1}{2}}+\kappa\beta h^{\frac{1}{2}}|\nu|^{\frac{1}{4}}+\kappa\beta h^{\frac{2}{5}}\bar{\gamma}^{\frac{14}{5}}\nu^{\frac{1}{10}}\right)|\log h|^{\kappa}$$

and on its border (28.6.23) is fulfilled. It implies that (28.6.23) is fulfilled in  $\mathcal{Y}$  as well. This proves Statement (ii).

Remark 28.6.7. If  $|\eta| \ge |\log h|^{-\delta}$  then Proposition 28.6.5 is sufficiently good in the remaining zone  $\mathcal{Y}$ .

## 28.6.3 N-Term Asymptotics and D-Term Estimates

We leave to the reader not complicated but rather tedious and error-prone task

Problem 28.6.8. Estimate remainder in N-term

(28.6.26) 
$$\left|\int \left(e(x, x, \lambda') - P_B(V(x) + \lambda')\right) dx\right|$$

and D-term

(28.6.27) 
$$\mathsf{D}\big(e(x,x,\lambda')-\mathsf{P}_{\mathsf{B}}(\mathsf{V}(x)+\lambda'),\ e(x,x,\lambda')-\mathsf{P}_{\mathsf{B}}(\mathsf{V}(x)+\lambda')\big).$$

After usual rescaling one needs to consider the following zones:

(a) Zone  $\{x \colon \ell(x) \leq (\beta h)^{-1} |\log h|^{\delta}\}$ . In this zone one should use  $\beta_1 = \beta \ell^{\frac{3}{2}}$ ,  $h_1 = h \ell^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  and  $\nu_1 = (\kappa \beta_1)^{\frac{10}{9}} h_1^{\frac{4}{9}} |\log h_1|^{\kappa}$  (other terms are not important here); then its contributions to expressions (28.6.26) and (28.6.27) do not exceed respectively  $C(h_1^{-2} + h_1^{-\frac{5}{3}} \nu_1^{\frac{2}{3}})$  and  $C(h_1^{-2} + h_1^{-\frac{5}{3}} \nu_1^{\frac{2}{3}})^2 \ell^{-1}$  (for  $\ell(x) \lesssim (\beta h)^{-1}$  but slight extension just adds some logarithmic factor). In the final tally  $\ell = (\beta h)^{-1} |\log h|^{\delta}$ .

(b) Zone  $\{x : (\beta h)^{-1} | \log h |^{\delta} \le \ell(x) \le | \log h |^{-\delta}\}$ . In this zone we have the same expressions for  $h_1$  and  $\beta_1$  and  $\nu_1 = (\kappa \beta_1)^{\frac{4}{3}} h_1^{\frac{2}{3}} | \log h_1 |^{\kappa}$ ; then its contributions to expressions (28.6.26) and (28.6.27) do not exceed respectively  $C\beta_1(h_1^{-1} + h_1^{-\frac{2}{3}}\nu_1^{\frac{2}{3}})$  and  $C\beta_1^2(h_1^{-1} + h_1^{-\frac{2}{3}}\nu_1^{\frac{2}{3}})^2\ell^{-1}$ . In the final tally  $\ell = 1$ .

(c) Zone  $\{x \colon \ell(x) \ge |\log h|^{-\delta}, \gamma(x) \ge \overline{\gamma}|\log h^{\delta}\}$ . In this zone  $h_1 = h\gamma^{-3}$  and  $\beta_1 = \beta\gamma^{-1}$  and  $\nu = (\kappa\beta)^{43}h^{\frac{2}{3}}|\log h|^{\kappa}$  but we use according to Remark 28.5.9 instead  $\nu_1 = \kappa_1\beta_1h_1^{\frac{1}{4}}\nu^{\frac{1}{4}}$  with  $\kappa_1 = \kappa\gamma^5$ . Then

(c<sub>1</sub>) For M = 1 contributions of  $\gamma$ -element to expressions (28.6.26) and (28.6.27) do not exceed  $C\beta_1(h_1^{-1} + h_1^{-\frac{2}{3}}\nu_1^{\frac{2}{3}})$  and  $C\beta_1^2(h_1^{-1} + h_1^{-\frac{2}{3}}\nu_1^{\frac{2}{3}})^2$  respectively.

(c<sub>2</sub>) As  $M \geq 2$  contributions of  $\gamma$ -element to expressions (28.6.26) and (28.6.27) do not exceed respectively  $C\beta_1 h_1^{-1} \nu_1^{\frac{1}{2}}$  and  $C\beta_1^2 h_1^{-2} \nu_1$ .

In the final tally  $\gamma = 1$  in both cases (c<sub>1</sub>) and (c<sub>2</sub>).

(d) Then for M = 1 contributions of  $\bar{\gamma}$ -element to expressions (28.6.26) and (28.6.27) do not exceed respectively (in comparison to what we have already)  $C\beta_1 h_1^{-\frac{2}{3}} \nu_1^{\frac{2}{3}}$  and  $C\beta_1^2 h_1^{-\frac{4}{3}} \nu_1^{\frac{4}{3}}$  with  $\nu_1 = (\kappa\beta)^{\frac{10}{9}} h_1^{\frac{4}{9}} \bar{\gamma}^{\frac{58}{27}} |\log h|^{\kappa}$ .

On the other hand, for  $M \ge 2$  contributions of  $\bar{\gamma}$ -element to expressions (28.6.26) and (28.6.27) do not exceed respectively (in comparison to what we have already)  $C\beta_1 h_1^{-\frac{3}{2}}$  and  $C\beta_1^2 h_1^{-3}$ .

Let us partially summarize what we got. Let  $\kappa\beta h \gtrsim 1$ . Then for M = 1 the final results are  $C\beta \left(h^{-1} + h^{-\frac{2}{9}}(\kappa\beta)^{\frac{8}{9}} |\log h|^{\kappa}\right)$  and the same expression squared. On the other hand, for  $M \geq 2$  the final results from all zones except  $\{x \colon \gamma(x) \leq C_0 \overline{\gamma}\}$  are  $C\beta h^{-\frac{1}{3}}(\kappa\beta)^{\frac{2}{3}} |\log h|^{\kappa}$  and the same expression squared.

On the other hand, let  $\kappa\beta h \lesssim 1$ . Then for M = 1 the final results do not exceed  $C\beta \left(h^{-1} + h^{-\frac{10}{27}} (\kappa\beta)^{\frac{20}{27}} |\log h|^{\kappa}\right)$  and the same expression squared.

## 28.7 Applications to the Ground State Energy

## 28.7.1 Preliminary Remarks

Recall that we are looking for

(28.7.1) 
$$\langle \mathsf{H}\Psi,\Psi\rangle + \frac{1}{\alpha}\int |\partial A'|^2 dx,$$

which should be minimized by  $\Psi \in \mathfrak{H}$  and A'.

We know (see f.e. Subsection 25.2.1) that

(28.7.2) 
$$\langle \mathsf{H}\Psi,\Psi\rangle \geq \mathsf{Tr}^{-}(H_{A,W+\lambda'}) + \lambda'N + \frac{1}{2}\mathsf{D}(\rho_{\Psi}-\rho, \rho_{\Psi}-\rho) - \frac{1}{2}\mathsf{D}(\rho, \rho) - C\int \rho_{\Psi}^{\frac{4}{3}} dx,$$

where  $W = V - |x|^{-1} * \rho$ , V is a Coulomb potential of nuclei,  $\rho$  and  $\lambda \leq 0$  are arbitrary.

Therefore to derive an estimate from below for expression (28.7.1) we just need to pick up  $\rho$  and  $\lambda'$  but we cannot pick up A'. Let us select  $\rho$  and  $\lambda$  equal to Thomas-Fermi density =  $\rho_B^{TF}$  and chemical potential  $\lambda$  respectively (but if  $N \approx Z$  it is beneficial to pick up  $\lambda' = 0$ ), add  $\alpha^{-1} \int |\partial A'|^2 dx$ , and apply trace asymptotics without any need to consider N- or D-terms and we have an estimate from below which includes also "bonus term"  $\frac{1}{2}D(\rho_{\Psi}-\rho, \rho_{\Psi}-\rho)$  and is as good as a remainder estimate in the trace asymptotics rescaled-provided we estimate properly the last term in (28.7.2).

Thus here we are missing only estimate for  $\int \rho_{\Psi}^{\frac{4}{3}} dx$  or more sophisticated estimate if we are interested in Dirac and Schwinger terms. We will prove in Appendix 28.A.2 that in the electrostatic inequality for near ground-state one can replace this term  $-C \int \rho_{\Psi}^{\frac{4}{3}} dx$  by  $-CZ^{\frac{5}{3}}$  for  $B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  and  $-CB^{\frac{4}{5}}Z^{\frac{3}{5}}$ for  $Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^3$ ; further, for  $B \leq Z$  one can replace it by Dirac  $-CZ^{\frac{5}{3}-\delta}$ thus proving Bach-Graf-Solovej estimate in our current settings.

Therefore due to these arguments estimates from below in Theorems 28.7.4 and 28.7.5 follow immediately from Theorems 28.5.14, 28.5.16 and 28.5.23 for  $B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  and estimates from below in Theorem 28.7.11 follow immediately from Theorems 28.6.2 and 28.6.4 for  $Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^3$ .

On the other hand, an estimate from above involves picking up  $\rho$  (which we select to be  $\rho_B^{\mathsf{TF}}$  again) and picking A' as well–which we choose as in upper estimates of Section 28.5 (rescaled) and also picking up  $\Psi$  which we select  $\phi_1(x_1, \varsigma_1) \cdots \phi_N(x_N, \varsigma_N)$  anti-symmetrized by  $(x_1, \varsigma_1), \ldots, (x_N, \varsigma_N)$  but we do not select  $\lambda'$  in the trace asymptotics which *must* be equal to  $\lambda_N$ , which is *N*-th eigenvalue of  $H_{W,A}$  or to 0 if there are less than *N* negative eigenvalues of  $H_{W,A}$ .

In this case we need to estimate  $|\lambda' - \lambda|$  and also

(28.7.3) 
$$\mathsf{D}(\mathsf{tr}\, \mathsf{e}(\mathsf{x},\mathsf{x},\lambda') - \rho_B^{\mathsf{TF}}, \, \mathsf{tr}\, \mathsf{e}(\mathsf{x},\mathsf{x},\lambda') - \rho_B^{\mathsf{TF}}),$$

which required some efforts in Chapters 25–27 but here we will do it rather easily because in Section 28.5 we took either A' equal to one for Coulomb potential and without external magnetic field (as  $\beta h^2 \leq 1$ ) or just 0 (as  $\beta h^2 \geq 1$ ).

## 28.7.2 Estimate from above: $B \le Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$

Recall that now we can select  $\rho$  and A' but cannot select  $\lambda'$ .

If  $B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  (or  $\beta h \leq 1$  after rescaling) we select A' as a minimizer for oneparticle operator with Coulomb potential and without external magnetic field. Then after rescaling  $x \mapsto Z^{\frac{1}{3}}x$ ,  $\tau \mapsto Z^{-\frac{4}{3}}\tau$ ,  $h = 1 \mapsto h = Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$ ,  $B \mapsto \beta = BZ^{-1}$ ,  $\alpha \mapsto \kappa = \alpha Z$ 

(28.7.4) 
$$|\partial A'| \leq C \kappa \ell^{-\frac{3}{2}}, \qquad |\partial^2 A'| \leq C \kappa \ell^{-\frac{5}{2}} |\log(\ell/h^2)|,$$

or before it

(28.7.5) 
$$|\partial A'| \le C\alpha Z^{\frac{5}{3}} \ell^{-\frac{3}{2}}, \qquad |\partial^2 A'| \le C\alpha Z^{\frac{5}{3}} \ell^{-\frac{5}{2}} |\log(Z\ell)|$$

Let us start from the easy case M = 1. We need the following

**Proposition 28.7.1.** Let M = 1,  $N \simeq Z$ ,  $B \lesssim Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  and  $\alpha Z \leq \kappa^*$ . Assume that A' satisfies (28.7.5). Then

(i) The remainder in the trace asymptotics does not exceed

(28.7.6) 
$$\begin{cases} C\left(Z^{\frac{5}{3}} + \alpha |\log(\alpha Z)|^{\frac{1}{3}} Z^{\frac{25}{9}}\right) & \text{for } B \le Z, \\ C\left(B^{\frac{1}{3}} Z^{\frac{4}{3}} + \alpha |\log(\alpha Z)|^{\frac{1}{3}} B^{\frac{2}{9}} Z^{\frac{23}{9}}\right) & \text{for } B \ge Z. \end{cases}$$

(ii) The remainder in N-term asymptotics does not exceed  $CZ^{\frac{2}{3}}$ .

(*iii*) D-term does not exceed  $CZ^{\frac{5}{3}}$ .

*Proof.* We cannot directly apply previous results because A' is now generated by much slower decaying Coulomb potential. The good news however is that A' is generated without presence of the external magnetic field. Let us scale as we mentioned above.

(i) Consider the remainder estimate in the trace asymptotics.

(ia) A contribution of the near singularity zone  $\{x : \ell(x) \le \ell^* = \epsilon \min(\beta^{-\frac{2}{3}}, 1)\}$  does not exceed

(28.7.7) 
$$\begin{cases} C(h^{-1} + \kappa |\log \kappa|^{\frac{1}{3}} h^{-\frac{4}{3}}) & \text{as } \beta \le 1\\ C(\beta^{\frac{1}{3}} h^{-1} + \kappa |\log \kappa|^{\frac{1}{3}} \beta^{\frac{2}{9}} h^{-\frac{4}{3}}) & \text{as } \beta \ge 1 \end{cases}$$

(ib) A contribution of  $\ell$ -element in the regular zone  $\{x \colon \ell(x) \ge \ell^*\}$  does not exceed  $C\zeta^2(h_1^{-1} + h_1^{-\frac{1}{3}}\nu_1^{\frac{2}{3}})$ . We plug  $h_1 = h/(\zeta\ell)$ , and in virtue of (28.7.4)  $\nu_1 = \kappa \ell^{-\frac{5}{2}} \cdot \ell^3 \zeta^{-1} = \kappa \ell^{\frac{1}{2}} \zeta^{-1}$ . Taking a sum we arrive to the same expression at  $\ell = \ell^*$  i.e. expression (28.7.7). Scaling back we arrive to (28.7.6).

(ic) We leave analysis of the boundary zone to the reader. It requires just repetition of the corresponding arguments of Section 28.5.

(ii) Next let us consider a remainder estimate in the N-term asymptotics.

(iia) Note that a contribution of  $\ell$ -element in the regular zone does not exceed  $C(h_1^{-2} + h_1^{-\frac{5}{3}}\nu_1^{\frac{1}{3}})$ . Then plugging  $h_1$ ,  $\nu_1$  we arrive after summation to the same expression at  $\ell = 1$  i.e.  $Ch^{-2}$ . One can prove easily that the contribution of the near singularity zone is  $O(h^{-2+\delta})$ .

Consider the contribution of the boundary zone. Note that this zone appears only if  $B \geq (Z - N)_{+}^{\frac{4}{3}}$ . Let us scale  $x \mapsto x\bar{\ell}^{-1}$ ,  $\tau \mapsto \bar{\ell}^{-4}\tau$ , with  $\bar{\ell} = (\beta h)^{-\frac{1}{4}}$ . Then  $h \mapsto h_1 = h^{\frac{3}{4}}\beta^{-\frac{1}{4}}$ ,  $\beta \mapsto \beta_1 = h_1^{-1}$  and after scaling A' satisfies  $|\partial^2 A'| \leq \nu_1 = C\kappa \bar{\ell}^{\frac{3}{2}} |\log \kappa|$ .

(iib) Consider a contribution of  $\gamma$ -element; scaling again  $x \mapsto x\gamma^{-1}, \tau \mapsto \gamma^{-4}\tau$ ,  $h_1 \mapsto h_2 = h_1\gamma^{-3}, \beta_1 \mapsto \beta\gamma^{-1}, \nu_1 \mapsto \nu_2 = \nu_1$  we see that it does not exceed  $C\beta_2(h_2^{-1} + h_2^{-\frac{2}{3}}\nu_2^{\frac{2}{3}}) = C\beta_1(\gamma^2h_1^{-1} + \gamma h_1^{-\frac{2}{3}}\nu_1^{\frac{2}{3}})$ . This expression must be divided by  $\gamma^2$  and summed resulting in

(28.7.8) 
$$C(h_1^{-2}|\log \bar{\gamma}| + \bar{\gamma}^{-1}h_1^{-\frac{5}{3}}\nu_1^{\frac{2}{3}})$$

with  $\bar{\gamma} \geq h_1^{\frac{1}{3}}$  (equality is achieved if  $(Z - N)_+$  is small enough, otherwise partitioning may be cut-off by a chemical potential). One can get rid of the logarithmic factor by our standard propagation arguments; the second term in (28.7.8) does not exceed  $Ch_1^{-2}\nu_1^{\frac{2}{3}}$  and plugging  $h_1$ ,  $\nu_1$  we get  $O(h^{-2}) = O(Z^{\frac{2}{3}})$ . (iii) D-term is analyzed in the same way.

**Proposition 28.7.2.** In the framework of Proposition 28.7.1 assume that  $B \leq Z$ . Then

(i) The remainder in the trace asymptotics (with the Schwinger term) does not exceed

(28.7.9) 
$$CZ^{\frac{5}{3}}(Z^{-\delta} + (BZ^{-1})^{\delta}) + \alpha |\log(\alpha Z)|^{\frac{1}{3}}Z^{\frac{25}{9}}.$$

(ii) The remainder in N-term asymptotics does not exceed  $CZ^{\frac{2}{3}}(Z^{-\delta} + (BZ^{-1})^{\delta} + (\alpha Z)^{\delta}).$ 

(iii) D-term does not exceed  $CZ^{\frac{5}{3}}(Z^{-\delta} + (BZ^{-1})^{\delta} + (\alpha Z)^{\delta}).$ 

*Proof.* Proof includes improved (due to the standard arguments of propagation of singularities) estimates of the contributions of *threshold zone*  $\{x: h^{\delta'} \leq \ell(x) \leq h^{-\delta'}\}$  after rescaling. We leave details to the reader.  $\Box$ 

Since we now have exactly the same N-term asymptotics and the same remainder term estimate as in Subsection 26.6.3 as if there was no self-generated magnetic field we immediately arrive to the same estimates of  $|\lambda_N - \lambda|$  as there and therefore to the same estimates for  $|\lambda_N - \lambda| \cdot N$  and not only for two D-terms

$$D(\operatorname{tr} e(x, x, \tau) - P'_B(W + \tau), \operatorname{tr} e(x, x, \tau) - P'_B(W + \tau))$$

with  $\tau = \lambda$  and  $\tau = \lambda_N$  but also for the third one

$$D(P'_B(W + \lambda_N) - P'_B(W + \lambda), P'_B(W + \lambda_N) - P'_B(W + \lambda))$$

The trace term however is different—with Scott correction term  $2S(\alpha Z)Z^2$  instead of  $2S(0)Z^2$  and the remainder estimate here includes an extra term related to  $\alpha$ .

It concludes the proof of the estimate from above for  $\mathsf{E}_N^*$ . Combined with estimate from below it concludes the proof of Theorem 28.7.4.

Consider now the case  $M \ge 2$ . Since we need to decouple singularities in this case we need sufficiently fast decaying magnetic field and thus potential generating it. So we will take  $A' = \sum_m A'_m \phi_m$  with  $A'_m$  defined by  $V = W_m^{\mathsf{TF}}$
(where  $W_m^{\mathsf{TF}}$  corresponds to a single nucleus) without any magnetic field and with N = Z (i.e.  $\lambda = 0$ ) and  $\phi_m$  is supported in  $\{x : |x - y_m \leq \frac{1}{3}d\}$  and equals 1 in  $\{x : |x - y_m \leq \frac{1}{4}d\}$ . However everywhere else we take  $V = W_B^{\mathsf{TF}}$ .

Assume first that  $(Z - N)_+$  is sufficiently small and we take Z = N even in the definition of  $W_B^{TF}$ . Then one can prove easily that

(28.7.10) 
$$|\operatorname{Tr}^{-}(H_{A,V}) + \alpha^{-1} \int |\partial A'|^2 dx + \int P_B(V) dx - \operatorname{Scott}|$$
  
 $\leq (28.7.6) + C\alpha Z^2 d^{-3},$ 

where the last term is due to decoupling; indeed,  $|\partial A'|$  and  $|\partial^2 A'|$  decay as  $\ell^{-3}$  and  $\ell^{-4}$  if  $\ell \geq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$ .

Moreover, for  $B \leq Z$  one can replace (28.7.6) by

(28.7.11) 
$$CZ^{\frac{5}{3}}(Z^{-\delta} + (BZ^{-1})^{\delta} + (\alpha Z)^{\delta} + (dZ^{\frac{1}{3}})^{-\delta}) + C\alpha |\log(\alpha Z)|^{\frac{1}{3}}Z^{\frac{25}{9}}$$

while including **Schwinger** into left-hand expression. This estimate is at least as good as what we got in the estimate from below but probably even better since magnetic field admits now better estimates.

Let us estimate  $|\lambda_N|$  if  $\lambda_N < 0$ . To do this consider

(28.7.12) 
$$\int \left[ e(x, x, \lambda) - e(x, x, \lambda_N) \right] dx$$

with non-negative integrand. Then the contribution of  $\ell$ -element into the main part of this expression, namely

(28.7.13) 
$$\int \left[ e(x, x, \lambda) - e(x, x, \lambda_N) \right] \psi_{\iota}^2 dx$$

is

(28.7.14) 
$$\int \left[ P'(x, V(x) + \lambda) - P'(x, V(x) + \lambda_N) \right] \psi_{\iota}^2 dx$$

and it does not depend on A'. On the other hand, since now  $|\partial^2 A'|$  admits so good estimate, the contribution of this element to the remainder estimated as if there was no self-generated magnetic field.

The same is true for the boundary elements as well.

But then  $|\lambda_N|$  is estimated exactly as if there was no self-generated magnetic field, i.e. exactly as in Section 26.6. But then all components of the estimate from above, with exception of the trace term, namely  $|\lambda_N| \cdot N$ 

and all three D-terms are estimated as in Section 26.6. Under assumption small  $(Z - N)_+$  all of them do not exceed  $CZ^{\frac{5}{3}}$  which could be improved to

(28.7.15) 
$$CZ^{\frac{5}{3}}(Z^{-\delta} + (BZ^{-1})^{\delta} + (\alpha Z)^{\delta} + (dZ^{\frac{1}{3}})^{-\delta})$$

for  $B \leq Z$ .

Similarly, if  $(Z - N)_+$  is larger than the corresponding threshold, we need to consider two cases:  $0 > \lambda > \lambda_N$  and  $0 > \lambda_N > \lambda$  and estimate from below

(28.7.16) 
$$\int (e(x, x, \lambda) - e(x, x, \lambda_N)) \psi_{\iota}^2 dx$$

and

(28.7.17) 
$$\int (e(x, x, \lambda_N) - e(x, x, \lambda)) \psi_{\iota}^2 dx$$

respectively, leading to the estimate of  $|\lambda_N - \lambda|$  and then  $|\lambda_N - \lambda| \cdot N$  and all three D-terms and again here these terms are estimated as if there was no self-generating magnetic field.

This concludes the proof of Theorem 28.7.5.

Remark 28.7.3. For  $M \ge 2$  one could be concerned about term coming from  $C\beta h^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  in the trace term and  $C\beta h^{-\frac{3}{2}}$  or its square in N- and D-terms but assuming that  $d \le \bar{r}$  we simply have A' = 0 due to decoupling there and therefore apply theory of Chapter 25 without any modification.

## **28.7.3** Main Theorems: $B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$

#### Ground State Energy Asymptotics

**Theorem 28.7.4.** Let M = 1,  $N \asymp Z$ ,  $B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  and  $\alpha \leq \kappa^* Z^{-1}$  with small constant  $\kappa^*$ . Then

(i) If  $B \leq Z$ , then

(28.7.18) 
$$\mathsf{E}_{N}^{*} = \mathcal{E}_{N}^{\mathsf{TF}} + \mathsf{Scott} + O\left(Z^{\frac{5}{3}} + \alpha |\log(\alpha Z)|^{\frac{1}{3}} Z^{\frac{25}{9}}\right)$$

with  $\text{Scott} = 2Z^2 S(\alpha Z)$ .

(ii) Moreover, if  $B \ll Z$  and  $\alpha |\log Z|^{\frac{1}{3}} \ll Z^{-\frac{10}{9}}$ , then this estimate could be improved to

(28.7.19) 
$$\mathsf{E}_{N}^{*} = \mathcal{E}_{N}^{\mathsf{TF}} + 2Z^{2}S(\alpha Z) + \mathsf{Schwinger} + \mathsf{Dirac} \\ + O\left(Z^{\frac{5}{3}}\left[Z^{-\delta} + B^{\delta}Z^{-\delta}\right] + \alpha |\log(\alpha Z)|^{\frac{1}{3}}Z^{\frac{25}{9}}\right).$$

(iii) If  $Z \le B \le Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$ , then (28.7.20)  $\mathsf{E}_{N}^{*} = \mathcal{E}_{N}^{\mathsf{TF}} + 2Z^{2}S(\alpha Z)$  $+ O\left(B^{\frac{1}{3}}Z^{\frac{4}{3}} + \alpha |\log(\alpha Z)|^{\frac{1}{3}}B^{\frac{2}{9}}Z^{\frac{23}{9}} + \alpha BZ^{\frac{5}{3}}\right).$ 

 $\begin{aligned} \text{Theorem 28.7.5. Let } M &\geq 2, \ N \asymp Z_1 \asymp Z_2 \asymp ... \asymp Z_M, \ B \lesssim Z^{\frac{4}{3}}. \ Let \\ \alpha &\leq \kappa^* Z^{-1}, \ d \geq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}} \ be \ a \ minimal \ distance \ between \ nuclei \ capped \ by \\ \overline{r} &= \min(B^{-\frac{1}{4}}, (Z - N)^{-\frac{1}{3}}_{+}). \ Then \\ (i) \ If \ B &\leq Z, \ then \\ (28.7.21) \qquad \mathsf{E}_N^* &= \mathcal{E}_N^{\mathsf{TF}} + \mathsf{Scott} + O\Big(Z^{\frac{5}{3}} + \alpha \big[|\log(\alpha Z)|^{\frac{1}{3}} Z^{\frac{25}{9}} + Z^2 d^{-3}\big]\Big) \\ with \ \mathsf{Scott} &= 2 \sum_{1 \leq m \leq M} Z_m^2 S(\alpha Z_m) \ and, \ moreover, \\ (28.7.22) \quad \mathsf{E}_N^* &= \mathcal{E}_N^{\mathsf{TF}} + \mathsf{Scott} + \mathsf{Schwinger} + \mathsf{Dirac} \\ &+ O\Big(Z^{\frac{5}{3}} \big[Z^{-\delta} + (BZ^{-1})^{\delta} + (dZ^{\frac{1}{3}})^{-\delta}\big] + \alpha \big[|\log(\alpha Z)|^{\frac{1}{3}} Z^{\frac{25}{9}} + Z^2 d^{-3}\big]\Big). \\ (ii) \ If \ B \geq Z, \ \alpha B \leq Z^{\frac{17}{60}} |\log Z|^{-K} \ and \ (Z - N)_+ \leq B^{\frac{5}{12}}, \ then \\ (28.7.23) \quad \mathsf{E}_N^* &= \mathcal{E}_N^{\mathsf{TF}} + \mathsf{Scott} \\ &+ O\Big(B^{\frac{1}{3}} Z^{\frac{4}{3}} + \alpha \big[|\log\alpha|^{\frac{1}{3}} B^{\frac{2}{9}} Z^{\frac{23}{9}} + BZ^{\frac{5}{3}} + Z^2 d^{-3}\big]\Big); \end{aligned}$ 

(iii) If  $B \ge Z^{\frac{77}{60}} |\log Z|^{-\kappa}$ ,  $\alpha \ge B^{-1}Z^{\frac{17}{60}} |\log Z|^{-\kappa}$ ,  $(Z - N)_+ \le B^{\frac{5}{12}}$  and  $d \ge \bar{d} = (\alpha B)^{\frac{40}{209}} Z^{-\frac{81}{209}} |\log Z|^{\kappa}$ , then

(28.7.24) 
$$\mathsf{E}_{N}^{*} = \mathcal{E}_{N}^{\mathsf{TF}} + \mathsf{Scott} O\Big(B^{\frac{1}{3}}Z^{\frac{4}{3}} + \alpha \Big[|\log \alpha|^{\frac{1}{3}}B^{\frac{2}{9}}Z^{\frac{23}{9}} + BZ^{\frac{5}{3}} + (\alpha B)^{\frac{120}{209}}Z^{\frac{384}{209}}d^{-3}|\log Z|^{K}\Big]\Big).$$

(iv) In any case

(28.7.25) 
$$\mathsf{E}_{N}^{*} = \mathcal{E}_{N}^{\mathsf{TF}} + \mathsf{Scott}_{0} + O\left(B^{\frac{1}{3}}Z^{\frac{4}{3}} + \alpha Z^{3}\right)$$

with  $Scott_0 = 2 \sum_{1 \le m \le M} Z_m^2 S(0)$ .

Recall that in the free nuclei model excess energy is  $\approx d^{-7}$  (as  $d \leq \epsilon B^{-\frac{1}{4}}$ ) and therefore an error must be greater than  $\epsilon d^{-7}$ . One can see easily that  $d \geq \min(Z^{-\frac{5}{21}}, B^{-\frac{1}{4}})$  if  $B \leq Z$  and then in estimates (28.7.21) and (28.7.22) the last terms (with  $d^{-3}$ ) could be skipped.

On the other hand, in (28.7.23)–(28.7.25) we can either skip the last terms (with  $d^{-3}$ ) or assume that  $d \approx B^{-\frac{1}{4}}$  and these terms should be calculated under this assumption and we arrive to

**Theorem 28.7.6.** Let  $M \ge 2$ ,  $N \asymp Z_1 \asymp Z_2 \asymp ... \asymp Z_M$ ,  $B \lesssim Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  and  $(Z - N)_+ \lesssim B^{\frac{1}{2}}$ . Consider a free nuclei model. Then

(i) If  $B \leq Z$ , then

(28.7.26) 
$$\hat{\mathsf{E}}_{N}^{*} = \hat{\mathcal{E}}_{N}^{\mathsf{TF}} + \mathsf{Scott} + O\left(Z^{\frac{5}{3}} + \alpha\left[|\log(\alpha Z)|^{\frac{1}{3}}Z^{\frac{25}{9}}\right]\right)$$

 $and \ moreover$ 

(28.7.27) 
$$\hat{\mathsf{E}}_{N}^{*} = \hat{\mathcal{E}}_{N}^{\mathsf{TF}} + \mathsf{Scott} + \mathsf{Schwinger} + \mathsf{Dirac} \\ + O\Big(Z^{\frac{5}{3}} \big[ Z^{-\delta} + (BZ^{-1})^{\delta} \big] + \alpha \big[ |\log(\alpha Z)|^{\frac{1}{3}} Z^{\frac{25}{9}} \big] \Big).$$

(ii) If  $B \ge Z$ ,  $\alpha \le B^{-1}Z^{\frac{17}{60}} |\log Z|^{-K}$ , then

(28.7.28) 
$$\hat{\mathsf{E}}_{N}^{*} = \hat{\mathcal{E}}_{N}^{\mathsf{TF}} + \mathsf{Scott} + O\Big(B^{\frac{1}{3}}Z^{\frac{4}{3}} + \alpha\Big[|\log \alpha|^{\frac{1}{3}}B^{\frac{2}{9}}Z^{\frac{23}{9}} + Z^{2}B^{\frac{3}{4}}\Big]\Big).$$

(iii) If 
$$B \ge Z^{\frac{77}{60}} |\log Z|^{-K}$$
,  $B^{-1}Z^{\frac{17}{60}} |\log h|^{-K} \le \alpha \le B^{-\frac{369}{160}}Z^{\frac{81}{40}} |\log Z|^{-K}$ , then

(28.7.29) 
$$\mathsf{E}_{N}^{*} = \mathcal{E}_{N}^{\mathsf{TF}} + \mathsf{Scott} \\ O\Big(B^{\frac{1}{3}}Z^{\frac{4}{3}} + \alpha \big[|\log \alpha|^{\frac{1}{3}}B^{\frac{2}{9}}Z^{\frac{23}{9}} + (\alpha B)^{\frac{120}{209}}Z^{\frac{384}{209}}B^{\frac{3}{4}}|\log Z|^{\kappa}\big]\Big).$$

(iv) In any case

(28.7.30) 
$$\hat{\mathsf{E}}_{N}^{*} = \hat{\mathcal{E}}_{N}^{\mathsf{TF}} + \mathsf{Scott}_{0} + O(B^{\frac{1}{3}}Z^{\frac{4}{3}} + \alpha Z^{3}).$$

We leave to the reader the following

**Problem 28.7.7.** In the frameworks of fixed nuclei and free nuclei models consider the case  $M \ge 2$ ,  $B \ge Z$  and  $(Z - N)_+ \ge B^{\frac{5}{12}}$ . Use results of Sections 28.5 and 26.6. Recall that there are two cases:  $B^{\frac{5}{12}} \le (Z-N)_+ \le B^{\frac{3}{4}}$  and  $(Z - N)_+ \ge B^{\frac{3}{4}}$ .

In particular find out for which B this assumption could be skipped without deterioration of the remainder estimates.

#### Ground State Density Asymptotics

Consider now asymptotics of  $\rho_{\Psi}$ . Apart of independent interest one needs them for estimate of excessive negative charge and estimate or asymptotics of the ionization energy.

**Theorem 28.7.8.** Let M = 1,  $N \simeq Z$ ,  $B \lesssim Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  and  $\alpha \leq \kappa^* Z^{-1}$ , with small constant  $\kappa^*$ . Then

(i) If  $B \leq Z$ , then

(28.7.31) 
$$\mathsf{D}(\rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}, \ \rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}) = O(Z^{\frac{5}{3}})$$

and moreover this estimate could be improved to

(28.7.32) 
$$\mathsf{D}(\rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}, \rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}) = O\left(Z^{\frac{5}{3}}\left[Z^{-\delta} + B^{\delta}Z^{-\delta} + (\alpha Z)^{\delta}\right]\right);$$

(ii) If  $Z \leq B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$ , then

(28.7.33) 
$$\mathsf{D}(\rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}, \rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}) = O\left(Z^{\frac{5}{3}} + (\alpha B)^{\frac{40}{27}} Z^{\frac{101}{81}} |\log Z|^{\kappa}\right).$$

*Proof.* We need to consider only the case when errors in the estimates for  $\mathsf{E}_N^*$  exceed those announced in (28.7.31)–(28.7.33). Otherwise an estimate for  $\mathsf{D}(\rho_\Psi - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}, \rho_\Psi - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}})$  follow from the estimates from above and below for  $\mathsf{E}_N^*$  as estimates from below contain the "bonus term"  $\mathsf{D}(\rho_\Psi - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}, \rho_\Psi - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}})$ .

Let in the estimate from below pick up  $\lambda' = \lambda_N$  and in the estimate from above pick up A' as a minimizer for a potential  $W_B^{\mathsf{TF}} + \lambda'$  with  $\lambda' = \lambda_N$ ; we do not calculate asymptotics of the trace terms since these terms in both estimates coincide<sup>36</sup>; then we arrive to estimate

(28.7.34) 
$$\mathsf{D}(\rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}, \rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}})$$
  
 $\leq \mathsf{CD}(\mathsf{tr} \, \mathsf{e}(\mathsf{x}, \mathsf{x}, \lambda_{\mathsf{N}}) - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}, \, \mathsf{tr} \, \mathsf{e}(\mathsf{x}, \mathsf{x}, \lambda_{\mathsf{N}}) - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}) + \mathsf{CZ}^{\frac{\mathsf{F}}{\mathsf{S}}}$ 

and we need to estimate the first term in the right-hand expression.

Let us scale as usual. Then  $\beta h \leq 1$  since  $B \leq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  and our standard arguments estimate this term by  $C(h^{-2} + h^{-\frac{5}{3}}\nu^{\frac{2}{3}})^2$  with  $\nu = (\kappa\beta)^{\frac{10}{9}}h^{\frac{4}{9}}|\log h|^{\kappa}$ .

Plugging  $\beta = BZ^{-1}$ ,  $h = Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$ ,  $\kappa = \alpha Z$  and multiplying by  $Z^{\frac{1}{3}}$  due to the spatial scaling we arrive exactly to (28.7.31) and (28.7.33).

Furthermore, as  $\beta \ll 1$  let us consider contribution of the main zone  $\{x: h^{\delta} \leq \ell(x) \leq h^{-\delta} + (\beta + \kappa)^{\delta}\}$  and use propagation arguments and improved electrostatic inequality; then we arrive to estimate  $Ch^{-4}(h + \beta + \kappa)^{\delta}$  which after rescaling becomes (28.7.32).

We leave all easy details to the reader.

Consider now case  $M \ge 2$ . Then no matter what is the distance between nuclei (as long as it is greater than  $\epsilon Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$ ) we need to add one or two more extra terms.

(a) The first one always appears and it is what becomes from  $C\beta_1^2 h_1^{-2} \nu_1 \ell^{-1}$ as we plug  $\beta_1 = \beta \ell^3$ ,  $h_1 = h\ell$ ,  $\kappa_1 = \kappa \ell^{-3}$ ,  $\nu_1 = (\kappa_1 \beta_1)^{\frac{10}{9}} h_1^{\frac{4}{9}} |\log h_1|^{\kappa} \approx (\kappa \beta)^{\frac{10}{9}} h^{\frac{4}{9}} \ell^{\frac{4}{9}} |\log h|^{\kappa}$ , and multiply by  $\ell^{-1}$  we get  $\ell$  in the positive power and therefore we must plug the largest possible  $\ell$  which in case  $(Z - N)_+ \leq B^{\frac{3}{4}}$  is  $\ell = (\beta h)^{-\frac{1}{4}}$ . Also plugging  $\kappa = \alpha Z$ ,  $\beta = BZ^{-1}$ ,  $h = Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  and  $\ell = (\beta h)^{-\frac{1}{4}} = B^{-\frac{1}{4}}Z^{\frac{1}{3}}$  and multiplying by  $Z^{\frac{1}{3}}$  due to the scaling (with a possible improvement for  $B \ll Z$ ) we arrive to  $\alpha^{\frac{40}{27}} B^{\frac{9}{4}} |\log Z|^{\kappa}$ . One can see easily that this term is larger than the second term in (28.7.33).

For  $(Z - N)_+ \ge B^{\frac{3}{4}}$  this term will be smaller than the second extra term.

(b) The second extra term appears only if  $(Z - N)_+ \gtrsim B^{\frac{5}{12}}$ .

(b)<sub>1</sub> For  $B^{\frac{5}{12}} \leq (Z - N)_+ \leq B^{\frac{3}{4}}$  it is what becomes from  $\beta_2^2 h_2^{-3} \bar{\gamma}^{-4} |\log \bar{\gamma}|^2$ with substitutions  $\beta_2 = \beta_1 \bar{\gamma}^{-1}$ ,  $h_2 = h_1 \bar{\gamma}^{-3}$ ,  $\bar{\gamma} = (Z - N)_+^{\frac{1}{4}} B^{-\frac{3}{16}}$  and with  $\beta_1$ ,  $h_1$ ,  $\ell$  defined above (we still need to multiply by  $Z^{\frac{1}{3}}$ ).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36)</sup> Due to the matching choices of A' and  $\lambda'$ .

(b)<sub>2</sub> For  $(Z-N)_+ \ge B^{\frac{3}{4}}$  it is what becomes out  $\beta_1^2 h_1^{-3} \ell^{-1}$  with  $\ell = (Z-N)_+^{-\frac{1}{3}}$ .

Thus we arrive to

**Theorem 28.7.9.** Let  $M \geq 2$ ,  $N \asymp Z_1 \asymp ... \asymp Z_M$ ,  $B \lesssim Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$ . Further, let  $\alpha \leq \kappa^* Z^{-1}$ ,  $d \gtrsim Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$ . Then

(i) For  $B \leq Z$  estimate (28.7.31) holds and, moreover, it could be improved to

(28.7.35) 
$$\mathsf{D}(\rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}, \rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}})$$
  
=  $O\left(Z^{\frac{5}{3}} \left[Z^{-\delta} + B^{\delta} Z^{-\delta} + (\alpha Z)^{\delta} + (dZ^{\frac{1}{3}})^{-\delta}\right]\right).$ 

(ii) For  $B \ge Z$  and  $(Z - N)_+ \le B^{\frac{5}{12}}$ 

(28.7.36) 
$$\mathsf{D}(\rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}, \, \rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}) = O\left(Z^{\frac{5}{3}} + \alpha^{\frac{10}{9}}B^{\frac{9}{4}} |\log Z|^{\kappa}\right).$$

(*iii*) For 
$$B \ge Z$$
 and  $B^{\frac{5}{12}} \le (Z - N)_+ \le B^{\frac{3}{4}}$ 

(28.7.37) 
$$D(\rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}, \rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}})$$
  
=  $O\left(Z^{\frac{5}{3}} + \alpha^{\frac{10}{9}}B^{\frac{9}{4}}|\log Z|^{\kappa} + B^{\frac{15}{16}}(Z - N)^{\frac{3}{4}}_{+}(1 + |\log(Z - N)_{+}B^{-\frac{1}{3}}|)^{2}\right).$ 

(iv) For 
$$B \ge Z$$
 and  $(Z - N)_+ \le B^{\frac{3}{4}}$   
(28.7.38)  $D(\rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}, \ \rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}) = O(Z^{\frac{5}{3}} + B^2(Z - N)_+^{-\frac{2}{3}}).$ 

**Corollary 28.7.10.** *Estimates* (28.7.31), (28.7.35) – (28.7.38) *hold for a free nuclei model.* 

# **28.7.4** Main Theorems: $Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^{3}$

#### Ground State Energy Asymptotics

For  $Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^3$  we select A' = 0 in the estimate from above and therefore just apply an upper estimate  $\mathsf{E}^*_N$  from Subsection 26.6.3. Combined with estimate from below provided by Theorem 28.6.2 it implies the following **Theorem 28.7.11.** Let  $Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^3$ ,  $Z_1 \approx ... \approx Z_M \approx N$ , and  $\alpha \leq \kappa^* Z^{-1}$  with small constant  $\kappa^*$ , and also  $\alpha \leq B^{-\frac{4}{5}} Z^{\frac{2}{5}} |\log Z|^{-\kappa}$ . Then

(i) For M = 1 and either  $(Z - N)_{+} \lesssim B^{\frac{4}{15}}Z^{\frac{1}{5}}$  or  $\alpha B^{\frac{3}{5}}Z^{\frac{1}{5}} \gtrsim 1$ (28.7.39)  $|E_{N}^{*} - \mathcal{E}_{N}^{\mathsf{TF}} - \mathsf{Scott}_{0}|$ does not exceed (28.6.3)  $C\left(B^{\frac{1}{3}}Z^{\frac{4}{3}} + B^{\frac{4}{5}}Z^{\frac{3}{5}} + \alpha Z^{3} + \alpha^{\frac{16}{9}}B^{\frac{82}{45}}Z^{\frac{49}{45}}|\log Z|^{\kappa}\right).$ 

(ii) For M = 1 and  $(Z - N)_+ \gtrsim B^{\frac{4}{15}}Z^{\frac{1}{5}}$  and  $\alpha B^{\frac{3}{5}}Z^{\frac{1}{5}} \lesssim 1$  expression (28.7.39) does not exceed

$$(28.6.4) \quad C \Big( B^{\frac{1}{3}} Z^{\frac{4}{3}} + B^{\frac{4}{5}} Z^{\frac{3}{5}} + \alpha Z^{3} + \alpha^{\frac{16}{9}} B^{\frac{82}{45}} Z^{\frac{49}{45}} |\log Z|^{\kappa} \\ + \alpha^{\frac{40}{27}} B^{\frac{13}{15}} Z^{\frac{139}{155}} (Z - N)^{\frac{28}{27}}_{+} |\log Z|^{\kappa} \Big).$$

$$\begin{aligned} (iii) \ \ For \ M &\geq 2 \ and \ (Z-N)_{+} \lesssim B^{\frac{4}{15}}Z^{\frac{1}{5}} \ expression \ (28.7.39) \ does \ not \ exceed \\ (28.7.40) \ \ C \left( B^{\frac{1}{3}}Z^{\frac{4}{3}} + B^{\frac{4}{5}}Z^{\frac{3}{5}}(1+|\log BZ^{-3}|)^{2} + \alpha Z^{3} + \alpha^{\frac{16}{9}}B^{\frac{82}{45}}Z^{\frac{49}{45}}|\log Z|^{K} \right). \\ (iv) \ \ For \ M &\geq 2 \ and \ (Z-N)_{+} \gtrsim B^{\frac{4}{15}}Z^{\frac{1}{5}} \ expression \ (28.7.39) \ does \ not \ exceed \\ (28.7.41) \ \ \ C \left( B^{\frac{1}{3}}Z^{\frac{4}{3}} + B^{\frac{4}{5}}Z^{\frac{3}{5}}(1+|\log BZ^{-3}|)^{2} + \alpha Z^{3} + \alpha^{\frac{16}{9}}B^{\frac{82}{45}}Z^{\frac{49}{45}}|\log Z|^{K} \\ & + B^{\frac{2}{3}}(Z-N)_{+}(1+|\log(Z-N)_{+}Z^{-1}|)^{2} \right). \end{aligned}$$

#### Ground State Density Asymptotics

Consider now asymptotics of  $\rho_{\Psi}$ . Apart of independent interest we need them for estimate of excessive negative charge and estimate or asymptotics of the ionization energy. We are interested as usual in  $D(\rho_{\Psi} - \rho_{B}^{\mathsf{TF}}, \rho_{\Psi} - \rho_{B}^{\mathsf{TF}})$  and we know that

**Corollary 28.7.12.** In the framework of Theorem 28.7.11(i), (ii), (iii), (iv)  $D(\rho_{\Psi} - \rho_{B}^{\mathsf{TF}}, \rho_{\Psi} - \rho_{B}^{\mathsf{TF}})$  does not exceed the corresponding remainder estimate (28.6.3), (28.6.4), (28.7.40), (28.7.41).

If we want to get rid of  $\alpha Z^3 + B^{\frac{1}{3}}Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  terms (which may be dominant only for  $B \leq Z^{\frac{7}{4}}$  and  $B \leq Z^{\frac{11}{7}}$  respectively) we need not to find asymptotics of the trace term but to have trace term in the estimates from above and below more consistent. The only explored option is to take in the estimate from above the same A' as in the estimate from below, which is a minimizer for the corresponding one particle problem.

**Theorem 28.7.13.** Let  $Z^{\frac{4}{3}} \leq B \leq Z^3$ ,  $Z_1 \approx ... \approx Z_M \approx N$ , and  $\alpha \leq \kappa^* Z^{-1}$  with small constant  $\kappa^*$ , and also  $\alpha \leq B^{-\frac{4}{5}} Z^{\frac{2}{5}} |\log Z|^{-\kappa}$ .

(i) Let 
$$M = 1$$
. Then  $D(\rho_{\Psi} - \rho_{B}^{\mathsf{TF}}, \rho_{\Psi} - \rho_{B}^{\mathsf{TF}})$  does not exceed

$$(28.7.42) \quad CB^{\frac{4}{5}}Z^{\frac{3}{5}} + C\left(\alpha^{\frac{16}{9}}B^{\frac{82}{45}}Z^{\frac{49}{45}} + \alpha^{\frac{40}{27}}B^{-\frac{10}{9}}Z^{\frac{127}{27}} + \alpha^{\frac{40}{27}}B^{\frac{74}{45}}Z^{\frac{11}{90}}(Z - N)^{\frac{29}{54}}_{+}\right)|\log Z|^{K}.$$

(ii) Let M = 2 and the minimal distance between nuclei  $d \gtrsim B^{-\frac{2}{5}}Z^{\frac{1}{5}}$ . Then  $D(\rho_{\Psi} - \rho_{B}^{\mathsf{TF}}, \rho_{\Psi} - \rho_{B}^{\mathsf{TF}})$  does not exceed

$$(28.7.43) \quad CB^{\frac{4}{5}}Z^{\frac{3}{5}} + C\left(\alpha^{\frac{4}{3}}B^{\frac{22}{15}}Z^{\frac{19}{15}} + \alpha^{\frac{40}{27}}B^{-\frac{10}{9}}Z^{\frac{127}{27}} + B^{\frac{3}{5}}Z^{\frac{9}{20}}(Z-N)^{\frac{3}{4}}_{+}\right)|\log Z|^{\kappa}.$$

*Proof.* We will use Propositions 28.6.5 and 28.6.6 to estimate (28.6.27). Let us consider for each partition element

(28.7.44) 
$$|\int (e(x, x, \lambda') - P_B(V(x) + \lambda'))\psi(x) dx|.$$

(a) Zone  $\{x : \ell(x) \leq B^{-1}Z | \log h|^{\delta}\}$ . Here for each  $\ell$ -element expression (28.7.44) does not exceed  $R_a = C(h_1^{-2} + \beta_1 h_1^{-1})(1 + \nu_1^{\frac{2}{3}} h_1^{\frac{1}{3}})$  with  $\beta_1 = \beta \ell^{\frac{3}{2}}$ ,  $h_1 = h\ell^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  and  $\nu_1$  defined according to Proposition 28.6.5(ii). As usual  $\beta = B^{\frac{2}{5}}Z^{-\frac{1}{5}}$  and  $h = B^{\frac{1}{5}}Z^{-\frac{3}{5}}$ .

Then one can prove easily that the total contribution of this zone to

(28.7.45) 
$$\mathsf{D}\big(e(x,x,\lambda') - \mathsf{P}_{\mathsf{B}}(\mathsf{V}(x) + \lambda'), \ e(x,x,\lambda') - \mathsf{P}_{\mathsf{B}}(\mathsf{V}(x) + \lambda')\big)$$

does not exceed  $CBZ^{-1}R_a^{2\ 37)}$  which is the second term in the parenthesis of (28.7.42) and (28.7.43)<sup>38)</sup>.

(b) Zone  $\{x: B^{-1}Z | \log h|^{\delta} \leq \ell(x) \leq \epsilon B^{-\frac{2}{5}}Z^{\frac{1}{5}}\}$  (with the exception of the case  $\bar{\gamma} \geq |\log h|^{-\delta}$  which we leave to the reader). Here for each  $\ell$ -element expression (28.7.44) does not exceed  $R_b = C\beta_1 h_1^{-1} (1 + \nu_1^{\frac{2}{3}} h_1^{\frac{1}{3}})$  with  $\beta_1 = \beta \ell^{\frac{3}{2}}$ ,  $h_1 = h \ell^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  and  $\nu_1$  defined according to Proposition 28.6.6(i).

Then one can prove easily that the total contribution of this zone to (28.7.45) does not exceed  $CB^{\frac{2}{5}}Z^{-\frac{1}{5}}R_b^{2\,37)}$  which is the first term in the parenthesis of (28.7.42)<sup>38)</sup>.

(c) Zone  $\{x: \bar{\gamma} | \log h |^{\delta} \leq \gamma(x) \leq C_0\}$ . Here for each  $\gamma$ -element expression (28.7.44) does not exceed  $R_c$  where  $R_c = C\beta_2 h_2^{-1} (1 + \nu_2^{\frac{2}{3}} h_2^{\frac{1}{3}})$  (as M = 1) and  $R_c = C\beta_2 h_2^{-1} \nu_2^{\frac{1}{2}}$  (as  $M \geq 2$ ) with  $\beta_2 = \beta \gamma^{-1}$ ,  $h_2 = h \gamma^{-3}$  and  $\nu_2$  defined by Proposition 28.6.6(i) and redefined by Remark 28.5.9.

Then one can prove easily that the total contribution of this zone to (28.7.45) does not exceed  $CB^{\frac{2}{5}}Z^{-\frac{1}{5}}R_c^{2\,37)}$  which is the first term in the parenthesis of (28.7.42) and (28.7.43) for M = 1 and  $M \ge 2$  respectively<sup>38)</sup>.

(d) Zone  $\{x : \gamma(x) \leq \overline{\gamma} | \log h|^{\delta}\}$ . Here for each  $\gamma$ -element expression (28.7.44) does not exceed  $R_d = C\beta_2 h_2^{-1} (1 + \nu_2^{\frac{2}{3}} h_2^{\frac{1}{3}})$  (as M = 1) and  $R_d = C\beta_2 h_2^{-\frac{3}{2}}$  (as  $M \geq 2$ ) with  $\beta_2 = \beta \gamma^{-1}$ ,  $h_2 = h \gamma^{-3}$  and  $\nu_2$  defined by Proposition 28.6.6(ii).

Then one can prove easily that the total contribution of this zone to (28.7.45) does not exceed  $CB^{\frac{2}{5}}Z^{-\frac{1}{5}}R_d^2\bar{\gamma}^{-4\,37}$  which is the third term in the parenthesis of (28.7.42) and (28.7.43) for M = 1 and  $M \ge 2$  respectively <sup>38</sup>.

## 28.A Appendices

## 28.A.1 Generalization of Lieb-Loss-Solovej Estimate

**Proposition 28.A.1.** Consider operator H defined by (27.1.1) with A = A' + A'',  $A' = (A'_1(x'), A'_2(x'), 0)$ ,  $x' = (x_1, x_2)$ , and  $A'' = (A''_1(x), A''_2(x), A''_3(x))$ 

 $<sup>^{37)}</sup>$  Calculated for  $\ell$  or  $\gamma$  on its maximum.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38)</sup> Modulo term not exceeding  $CB^{\frac{4}{5}}Z^{\frac{3}{5}}$ .

on  $\Omega$ . Assume that

(28.A.1) 
$$\int B'^2 dx \ge \int B''^2 dx$$

with  $B = |\nabla \times A|$ ,  $B' = |\nabla \times A'|$ ,  $B'' = |\nabla \times A''|$ . Then

$$(28.A.2) - \operatorname{Tr}(H_{A,V}^{-}) \leq C \int V_{+}^{\frac{5}{2}}(x) \, dx + C \left(\int B^{2} \, dx\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\int B''^{2} \, dx + \int V^{2} \, dx\right)^{\frac{1}{4}} \left(\int V^{4} \, dx\right)^{\frac{1}{4}} + C \left(\int B^{2} \, dx\right)^{\frac{3}{8}} \left(\int V^{2} \, dx\right)^{\frac{3}{8}} \left(\int V^{4} \, dx\right)^{\frac{1}{4}}.$$

*Proof.* Without any loss of the generality we can assume that  $V \ge 0$ . We apply the *moving frame technique* of Lieb-Loss-Solovej [1]. Obviously

(28.A.3) 
$$-\operatorname{Tr}(H_{A,V}^{-}) = \int_{0}^{\infty} \operatorname{N}^{-}(H_{A,V} + \lambda) \, d\lambda = \int_{0}^{\infty} \operatorname{N}^{-}(H_{A,0} + \lambda - V) \, d\lambda \leq \int_{0}^{\infty} \operatorname{N}^{-}(H_{A,0} + (\lambda - V)\phi(\lambda)) \, d\lambda$$

with  $\phi(\lambda) = \max(1, \lambda \mu^{-1})$  since  $H_{A,0} \ge 0$ . Since

(28.A.4) 
$$H_{A,0} = (P \cdot \sigma)^2 = (P' \cdot \sigma')^2 + P_3^2 + \sum_{j=1,2} [P_j, P_3] [\sigma_j, \sigma_3] \ge H'_{A,0} + P_3^2 - B''$$

with

(28.A.5) 
$$H'_{A,0} = \left(P' \cdot \boldsymbol{\sigma}'\right)^2 = \left(\sum_{j=1,2} P_j \cdot \sigma_j\right)^2,$$

 $P_j = D_j - A_j$ , we conclude that  $- \operatorname{Tr}(H^-_{A,V})$  does not exceed

(28.A.6) 
$$\int_0^\infty N^- (H'_{A,0} + P_3^2 - B'' + (\lambda - V)\phi(\lambda)) d\lambda.$$

Consider this integral over  $(\mu, \infty)$ ; it is equal to

(28.A.7) 
$$\int_{\mu}^{\infty} \mathsf{N}^{-} \left( H'_{A,0} + P_{3}^{2} - B'' + (\lambda - V)\lambda\mu^{-1} \right) d\lambda$$

and since  $H_{A,0}'\geq 0$  this integral does not exceed

(28.A.8) 
$$\int_{\mu}^{\infty} \mathsf{N}^{-} \left( \mathsf{H}'_{\mathsf{A},0} + \mathsf{a}[\mathsf{P}_{3}^{2} - \mathsf{B}'' + (\lambda - \mathsf{V})\lambda\mu^{-1}] \right) d\lambda$$

with  $a \ge 1$ ; since  $H'_{A,0} \ge P_1^2 + P_2^2 - |B|$  this integral (28.A.8) does not exceed

(28.A.9) 
$$\int_{\mu}^{\infty} \mathsf{N}^{-} \left( \mathsf{P}_{1}^{2} + \mathsf{P}_{2}^{2} - \mathsf{B} + \mathsf{a}[\mathsf{P}_{3}^{2} - \mathsf{B}'' + (\lambda - \mathsf{V})\lambda\mu^{-1}] \right) \mathsf{d}\lambda$$

which can be estimated due to CLR inequality after rescaling  $x_3 \mapsto a^{\frac{1}{2}} x_3$ ,  $P_3 \mapsto a^{-\frac{1}{2}} P_3$  by

$$C \int \int_{\mu}^{\infty} a^{-\frac{1}{2}} (B + a[B'' + (V - \lambda)\lambda\mu^{-1}])_{+}^{\frac{3}{2}} d\lambda dx$$
  

$$\leq C \int \int_{\mu}^{\infty} a^{-\frac{1}{2}} (B - \frac{1}{3}a\lambda^{2}\mu^{-1})_{+}^{\frac{3}{2}} d\lambda dx$$
  

$$+ C \int \int_{\mu}^{\infty} a(B'' - \frac{1}{3}\lambda^{2}\mu^{-1})_{+}^{\frac{3}{2}} d\lambda dx$$
  

$$+ C \int \int_{\mu}^{\infty} a(\lambda\mu^{-1})^{\frac{3}{2}} (V - \frac{1}{3}\lambda)_{+}^{\frac{3}{2}} d\lambda dx$$
  

$$\leq Ca^{-1}\mu^{\frac{1}{2}} \int B^{2} dx + Ca\mu^{\frac{1}{2}} \int B''^{2} dx + Ca\mu^{-\frac{3}{2}} \int V^{4} dx,$$

where we integrated over  $[0, \infty]$ . Optimizing with respect to  $a \ge 1$  we get

(28.A.10) 
$$C\left(\int B^2 dx\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\mu \int B''^2 dx + \mu^{-1} \int V^4 dx\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} + C\mu^{\frac{1}{2}} \int B''^2 dx + C\mu^{-\frac{3}{2}} \int V^4 dx.$$

Therefore integral (28.A.7) does not exceed (28.A.10).

Consider integral (28.A.6) over  $[0, \mu]$ ; it is

(28.A.11) 
$$\int_0^\mu \mathsf{N}^- \left( \mathsf{H}'_{\mathsf{A},0} + \mathsf{P}_3^2 - \mathsf{B}'' + (\lambda - \mathsf{V}) \right) d\lambda$$

and exactly as before it does not exceed

$$C \int \int_{0}^{\mu} a^{-\frac{1}{2}} \left( B - \frac{1}{3} a \lambda \right)_{+}^{\frac{3}{2}} d\lambda dx + C \int \int_{0}^{\mu} a \left( B'' - \frac{1}{3} \lambda \right)_{+}^{\frac{3}{2}} d\lambda dx + C \int \int_{0}^{\mu} a \left( V - \frac{1}{3} \lambda \right)_{+}^{\frac{3}{2}} d\lambda dx$$

with  $a \ge 1$ ; in first two integrals we replace (in parenthesis)  $\lambda$  by  $\lambda^2 \mu^{-1}$  and expand integral to  $[0, \infty]$ , arriving to

$$Ca^{-1}\mu^{\frac{1}{2}}\int B^2 dx + Ca\mu^{\frac{1}{2}}\int B''^2 dx + C\int aV^{\frac{3}{2}}\min(V,\mu) dx;$$

optimizing with respect to  $a \geq 1$  we get

(28.A.12) 
$$C\left(\int B^2 dx\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\mu \int B''^2 dx + \mu^{\frac{1}{2}} \int V^{\frac{3}{2}} \min(V, \mu) dx\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} + C\mu^{\frac{1}{2}} \int B''^2 dx + C \int V^{\frac{3}{2}} \min(V, \mu) dx.$$

Therefore integral (28.A.11) does not exceed (28.A.12) and the whole expression does not exceed

$$C\left(\int B^2 dx\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\mu \int B''^2 dx + \mu^{-1} \int V^4 dx + \mu^{\frac{1}{2}} \int V^{\frac{3}{2}} \min(V, \mu) dx\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} + C\mu^{\frac{1}{2}} \int B''^2 dx + C\mu^{-\frac{3}{2}} \int V^4 dx + C \int V^{\frac{3}{2}} \min(V, \mu) dx;$$

replacing  $\min(V, \mu)$  by  $V^{\frac{1}{2}}\mu^{\frac{1}{2}}$  and V in the first and second lines respectively we get

$$C\left(\int B^{2} dx\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\mu \int B''^{2} dx + \mu^{-1} \int V^{4} dx + \mu \int V^{2} dx\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} + C\mu^{\frac{1}{2}} \int B''^{2} dx + C\mu^{-\frac{3}{2}} \int V^{4} dx + C \int V^{\frac{5}{2}} dx.$$

We skip the last term since it is already in (28.A.2); temporarily skip monotone increasing by  $\mu$  selected term; optimizing the rest by  $\mu > 0$  we get

$$C\left(\int B^2\,dx\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}\left(\int B^{\prime\prime\,2}\,dx\right)^{\frac{1}{4}}\left(\int V^4\,dx\right)^{\frac{1}{4}}.$$

Now we are left with

$$C\mu^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\int B^{2} dx\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\int V^{2} dx\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} + C\mu^{-\frac{1}{2}} \left(\int B^{2} dx\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\int V^{4} dx\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} + C\mu^{-\frac{3}{2}} \int V^{4} dx.$$

Optimizing by  $\mu > 0$  we get

$$C\left(\int B^{2} dx\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\int V^{2} dx\right)^{\frac{1}{4}} \left(\int V^{4} dx\right)^{\frac{1}{4}} + C\left(\int B^{2} dx\right)^{\frac{3}{8}} \left(\int V^{2} dx\right)^{\frac{3}{8}} \left(\int V^{4} dx\right)^{\frac{1}{4}}$$

which concludes the proof.

## 28.A.2 Electrostatic Inequality

**Proposition 28.A.2.** (i) Let  $B \leq Z^3$ ,  $\alpha \leq \kappa^* Z^{-1}$ ,  $c^{-1}Z \leq N \leq cZ$ . Further, if  $B \geq Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  then  $\alpha B^{\frac{4}{5}}Z^{-\frac{2}{5}} \leq \epsilon$ . Then

(28.A.13) 
$$\sum_{1 \le j < k \le M} \int |x_j - x_k|^{-1} |\Psi(x_1, \dots, x_N)|^2 \, s dx_1 \cdots dx_N$$
$$\geq \mathsf{D}(\rho_{\Psi}, \rho_{\Psi}) - C(Z^{\frac{5}{3}} + B^{\frac{2}{5}} Z^{\frac{17}{15}} + B);$$

(ii) Further, afor  $B \leq Z$  one can replace the last term in (28.A.13) by Dirac  $-CZ^{\frac{5}{3}-\delta}$ .

Remark 28.A.3. Without self-generated magnetic field the last term was  $-C(Z^{\frac{5}{3}} + B^{\frac{2}{5}}Z^{\frac{17}{15}})$  and probably it holds here but does not give us any advantage; for  $B \ge Z$  we need only  $C(Z^{\frac{5}{3}} + B^{\frac{4}{5}}Z^{\frac{3}{5}})$  estimate.

*Proof.* Since we prove estimate from below we replace first

$$\langle \sum_{1 \leq j \leq N} (H_{A,V})_{x_j} \Psi, \Psi 
angle$$

by

$$\langle \sum_{1 \leq j \leq N} (H_{A,W})_{x_j} \Psi, \Psi 
angle + \int (W-V) 
ho_{\Psi} dx$$

without changing anything else and then we estimate the first term here from below by  $\text{Tr}(H_{A,W}^{-})$ ; then in  $\text{Tr}(H_{A,W}^{-}) + \alpha^{-1} \|\partial A'\|^2$  we replace A' by a minimizer for this expression (rather than for the original problem) only decreasing this expression. So we can now consider A' a minimizer of Section 28.5.

Then we follow arguments of Appendix 26.A.1 but now we need to justify magnetic Lieb-Thirring estimate (26.A.12)

(26.A.12) 
$$\operatorname{Tr}(H_{A,W}^{-}) \geq -C \int P_B(W) \, dx$$

in the current settings and with  $W : CP'(W) = \rho_{\Psi}$  and then  $W \simeq \min(B^{-2}\rho_{\Psi}^2; \rho_{\Psi}^{\frac{2}{3}}).$ 

Estimate (26.A.12) has been proven in L. Erdös [1] (Theorem 2.2) under assumption that intensity of the magnetic field  $\vec{B}(x)$  has a constant direction which was the case in Chapter 25 but not here.

However we actually we do not need (26.A.12); we need this estimate but with an extra term -CR in the right-hand expression where in (i)  $R = (Z^{\frac{5}{3}} + B^{\frac{4}{5}}Z^{\frac{3}{5}})$  is the last term in (28.A.13) and in (ii)  $R = CZ^{\frac{5}{3}-\delta}$ .

Further, the same paper L. Erdös [1]) provides an alternative version of Theorem 2.2: as long as  $|\partial A'| \leq B$  it is sufficient to estimate  $|\partial^2 A| \leq cB^{\frac{3}{2}}$ .

One can check easily that this pointwise estimate holds if <u>either</u>  $B \leq Z^2$ and  $\ell(x) \geq r_* := B^{-\frac{3}{2}}Z^{\frac{1}{3}}$  or  $Z^2 \leq B \leq Z^3$  and  $\ell(x) \geq r_* = Z^{-1}$ . Introducing partition into two zones  $\{x : \ell(x) \geq r_*\}$  and  $\{x : \ell(x) \leq 2r_*\}$  adds  $\ell^{-2}\phi(x)$ with  $\phi(x) = \mathbf{1}_{\{x : r_* \leq \ell(x) \leq 2r_*\}}$ , which adds -CR to the right-hand expression of (26.A.12).

Therefore we need to deal with the zone  $\{x : \ell(x) \leq 2r_*\}$ . In this zone however we can neglect an external field; indeed, as in Remark 27.4.1 we get the same estimate (27.4.25) but with *B* intensity of the combined field; however  $\int B^2 dx$  over this zone does not exceed *CR*. This concludes proof of Statement (i).

Statement (ii) is proven in the same manner as in Appendix 26.A.1. We leave details to the reader.  $\hfill \Box$ 

## 28.A.3 Estimates for $(hD_{x_j} - \mu x_j)e(x, y, \tau)|_{x=y}$ for Toy-Model Operator

We will use here notations of Subsection 27.5.1.

#### Calculations

Let us calculate the required expressions as  $X = \mathbb{R}^3$  and A(x) and V(x) are linear. To do this we can consider just Schrödinger operator (acting on

vector-functions) and then replace V by  $V \pm \mu h$  where  $\mu$  is the magnetic intensity; since  $\sigma_j \sigma_k + \sigma_k \sigma_j = 2\delta_{jk}$  we have to consider scalar a Schrödinger operator. Let us apply calculations of Subsection 16.6.1 with operator

(28.A.14) 
$$H = h^2 D_1^2 + (h D_2 - \mu x_1)^2 + h D_3^2 - 2\alpha x_1 - 2\beta x_3,$$

where without any loss of the generality we assume that  $\alpha \ge 0, \beta \ge 0$ .

After rescaling  $x \mapsto \mu x$ ,  $y \mapsto \mu y$ ,  $t \mapsto \mu t$ ,  $\mu \mapsto 1$  (but we will need to use old  $\mu$  in calculations),  $h \mapsto \hbar = \mu h$  we have  $U(x, y, t) = U_{(1)}(x_3, y_3, t)U_{(2)}(x', y', t)$  where from (16.6.4)

(28.A.15) 
$$U_{(1)}(x_3, y_3, t) =$$
  

$$\frac{1}{2}\mu(2\pi\hbar|t|)^{-\frac{1}{2}}\exp\left(i\hbar^{-1}(\mu^{-1}\beta t(x_3+y_3)+\frac{1}{8}t^{-1}(x_3-y_3)^2+\frac{1}{3}\mu^{-2}\beta^2 t^3)\right);$$

and repeating (16.2.9) - (28.A.16) we get

(28.A.16) 
$$U_{(2)}(x, y, t) = i(4\pi\hbar)^{-1}\mu^2 \csc(t) e^{i\hbar^{-1}\bar{\phi}_{(2)}(x', y', t)}$$

with

(28.A.17) 
$$\bar{\phi}_{(2)} \coloneqq -\frac{1}{4}\cot(t)(x_1 - y_1)^2 \\ +\frac{1}{2}(x_1 + y_1 + 2\alpha\mu^{-1})(x_2 - y_2 + 2t\alpha\mu^{-1}) \\ -\frac{1}{4}\cot(t)(x_2 - y_2 + 2t\alpha\mu^{-1})^2 - t\alpha^2\mu^{-2}.$$

Then

(28.A.18) 
$$U(x, y, t) = i(2\pi h)^{-\frac{3}{2}} |t|^{-\frac{1}{2}} \mu^{\frac{3}{2}} \csc(t) e^{i\hbar^{-1}\bar{\phi}(x, y, t)}$$

with

(28.A.19) 
$$\bar{\phi} \coloneqq -\frac{1}{4} \cot(t)(x_1 - y_1)^2$$
  
  $+\frac{1}{2}(x_1 + y_1 + 2\alpha\mu^{-1})(x_2 - y_2 + 2t\alpha\mu^{-1}) - \frac{1}{4}\cot(t)(x_2 - y_2 + 2t\alpha\mu^{-1})^2 - t\alpha^2\mu^{-2} + \mu^{-1}\beta t(x_3 + y_3) + \frac{1}{8}t^{-1}(x_3 - y_3)^2 + \frac{1}{3}\mu^{-2}\beta^2 t^3).$ 

Therefore applying first  $\hbar D_{x_1}$ ,  $\hbar D_{x_2} - \mu x_1$ , or  $\hbar D_{x_3}$  and setting after this x = y = 0 we conclude that

$$(28.A.20)_{1} (\hbar D_{x_{1}}U)|_{x=y=0} = i\alpha\mu^{-1}t \times (2\pi h)^{-\frac{3}{2}}|t|^{-\frac{1}{2}}\mu^{\frac{3}{2}}e^{i\hbar^{-1}\varphi(t)},$$
  

$$(28.A.20)_{2} (\hbar D_{x_{2}}U)|_{x=y=0} = i\alpha\mu^{-1}(1-t\cot(t)) \times (2\pi h)^{-\frac{3}{2}}|t|^{-\frac{1}{2}}\mu^{\frac{3}{2}}e^{i\hbar^{-1}\varphi(t)},$$
  

$$(28.A.20)_{3} (\hbar D_{x_{3}}U)|_{x=y=0} = i\beta\mu^{-1}t \times (2\pi h)^{-\frac{3}{2}}|t|^{-\frac{1}{2}}\mu^{\frac{3}{2}}e^{i\hbar^{-1}\varphi(t)},$$

with

(28.A.21) 
$$\varphi(t) = \alpha^2 \mu^{-2} t - \alpha^2 \mu^{-2} t^2 \cot(t) + \frac{1}{3} \mu^{-2} \beta^2 t^3.$$

In other words, in comparison with  $U|_{x=y=0}$ , calculated in Subsection 16.6.1, expressions  $(\hbar D_{x_1} U)|_{x=y=0}$ ,  $(\hbar D_{x_2} U)|_{x=y=0}$  and  $(\hbar D_{x_3} U)|_{x=y=0}$  acquire factors  $\mu^{-1}\alpha t$ ,  $\mu^{-1}\alpha (1 - t \cot(t))$  and  $\mu^{-1}\beta t$  respectively.

Recall that we had 2 cases:  $\mu^2 h \leq \alpha$  and  $\mu^2 h \geq \alpha$ .

## Case $\alpha \geq \mu^2 h$

Then for each  $k, 1 \leq |k| \leq C_0 \mu \alpha^{-1}$ , the k-th tick contributed no more than

(28.A.22) 
$$C\mu h^{-1} (\mu^2 h/\alpha |k|)^{\frac{1}{2}} \times (\mu/h|k|)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

to  $F_{t\to\hbar^{-1}\tau}U|_{x=y=0}$  (see Subsection 16.6.2) and then it contributed no more than this multiplied by  $|t_k|^{-1}$ , i.e.

(28.A.23) 
$$C\mu h^{-1}|k|^{-1} (\mu^2 h/\alpha |k|)^{\frac{1}{2}} \times (\mu/h|k|)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

to the corresponding Tauberian expression. Even when we multiply by  $\mu^{-1}|k|$ , we get (28.A.22) again proportional to  $|k|^{-1}$ ; then summation with respect to  $k, 1 \leq |k| \leq k^* \coloneqq C_0 \mu(\alpha + \beta)^{-1 39}$  returns its value at k = 1, i.e.  $\mu^{\frac{3}{2}}h^{-1}\alpha^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  multiplied by logarithm  $(1 + |\log k^*|)$  and therefore we arrive to Proposition 28.A.4 below for j = 1, 3.

Let j = 2. Since  $t_k / \cot(t_k) \approx \alpha^{-1} \mu$  we conclude that contribution of k-th tick does not exceed

(28.A.24) 
$$C\mu h^{-1}|k|^{-1} (\mu^2 h/\alpha |k|)^{\frac{1}{2}} \times (\mu/h|k|)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

39 As  $|t| \ge k^*$  we have  $\phi'(t) \ge c_1$  and then integrating by parts there we can recover factor  $(t/k^*)^{-n}$  thus effectively confining us to integration over  $\{t: |t| \le k^*\}$ . This observation can also improve some results of Sections 16.6–16.10.

and summation by  $|k| \ge 1$  returns its value as |k| = 1 i.e.  $C\mu^{\frac{5}{2}}h^{-1}\alpha^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  and therefore we arrive to proposition 28.A.4 below for j = 2.

**Proposition 28.A.4.** Let  $\mu h \leq \epsilon_0$ ,  $\tau \approx 1$ ,  $\alpha \geq \mu^2 h$ . Then

(i) Expression  $(hD_{x_2} - \mu x_1)e(x, y, \tau)|_{x=y=0}$  does not exceed  $C\mu^{\frac{5}{2}}h^{-1}\alpha^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ .

(*ii*) Expression  $hD_{x_j}e(x, y, \tau)|_{x=y=0}$  does not exceed  $C\mu^{\frac{3}{2}}h^{-1}\alpha^{\frac{1}{2}}(1+|\log\mu(\alpha+\beta)^{-1}|)$ , and  $C\mu^{\frac{3}{2}}h^{-1}\beta\alpha^{-\frac{1}{2}}(1+|\log\mu(\alpha+\beta)^{-1}|)$  for j = 1, 3 respectively.

Case  $\alpha \leq \mu^2 h$ 

If  $\mu^2 h \geq \alpha$ , then the same arguments work only for  $\bar{k} := \mu^2 h \alpha^{-1} \leq |k| \leq k^*$ , resulting in contributions  $C\mu^{\frac{3}{2}}h^{-1}\alpha^{\frac{1}{2}}(1 + |\log k^*\bar{k}^{-1}|)$ ,  $C\mu^{\frac{1}{2}}h^{-2}\alpha^{\frac{1}{2}}$ , and  $C\mu^{\frac{3}{2}}h^{-1}\beta\alpha^{-\frac{1}{2}}(1 + |\log k^*\bar{k}^{-1}|)$  for j = 1, 2, 3 respectively if  $\bar{k} \leq k^*$  (i.e.  $\mu h\beta \leq \alpha$ ) or 0 otherwise.

Let  $1 \leq |k| \leq \bar{k}$ . We mainly consider the most difficult case j = 2 and (as  $|t| \geq \epsilon_0$ ) only term arising from  $-\alpha \mu^{-1} t \cot(t)$  factor, namely

(28.A.25) 
$$\alpha \mu^{-1} \times \mu^{\frac{3}{2}} h^{-\frac{3}{2}} \int |t|^{-\frac{1}{2}} \cos(t) (\sin(t))^{-2} e^{i\hbar^{-1}(\varphi(t)-t\tau)} dt,$$

where we took into account that we need to divide by t and skipped a constant factor.

Consider first (28.A.25) with integration over interval  $\{t : |t - t_k| \le s_k\}$ near  $t_k$ . Observe that

(28.A.26) 
$$\phi'(t) = (\sin(t))^{-2} \alpha^2 \mu^{-2} t^2 - 2t (\sin(t))^{-1} \alpha^2 \mu^{-2} t^2 + \beta^2 t^2$$

and transform (28.A.25) into

$$(28.A.27) \quad \alpha^{-1} \mu^{\frac{7}{2}} h^{-\frac{1}{2}} \int_{t_k - s_k}^{t_k + s_k} |t|^{-\frac{5}{2}} \cos(t) \partial_t \left[ e^{i\hbar^{-1}(\varphi(t) - t\tau)} \right] dt + \alpha^{-1} \mu^{\frac{5}{2}} h^{-\frac{3}{2}} \int_{t_k - s_k}^{t_k + s_k} |t|^{-\frac{5}{2}} \cos(t) \left[ 2t(\sin(t))^{-1} \alpha^2 \mu^{-2} - \beta^2 t^2 + \tau \right] e^{i\hbar^{-1}(\varphi(t) - t\tau)}.$$

Integrating the first term by parts we get a non-integral term

(28.A.28) 
$$\alpha^{-1}\mu^{\frac{7}{2}}h^{-\frac{1}{2}}|t|^{-\frac{5}{2}}\cos(t)e^{i\hbar^{-1}(\varphi(t)-t\tau)}\Big|_{t=t_k-s_k}^{t=t_k+s_k}$$

and we get an integral term

$$(28.A.29) \quad \alpha^{-1} \mu^{\frac{5}{2}} h^{-\frac{3}{2}} \int_{t_k - s_k}^{t_k + s_k} \left[ \mu h \partial_t \left[ |t|^{-\frac{5}{2}} \cos(t) \right] \right. \\ \left. + |t|^{-\frac{5}{2}} \cos(t) \left[ 2t(\sin(t))^{-1} \alpha^2 \mu^{-2} - \beta^2 t^2 + \tau \right] \right] e^{i\hbar^{-1}(\varphi(t) - t\tau)} dt \\ = 2\alpha \mu^{\frac{1}{2}} h^{-\frac{3}{2}} \int_{t_k - s_k}^{t_k + s_k} |t|^{-\frac{3}{2}} \cot(t) e^{i\hbar^{-1}(\varphi(t) - t\tau)} dt + O\left(\alpha^{-1} \mu^{\frac{5}{2}} h^{-\frac{3}{2}} s_k |k|^{-\frac{5}{2}} \right).$$

Repeating the same trick we can eliminate the first term in the right-most expression. Therefore we arrive to (28.A.28) with  $O(\alpha^{-1}\mu^{\frac{5}{2}}h^{-\frac{3}{2}}s_k|k|^{-\frac{5}{2}})$  error. When  $s_k \simeq \alpha^2 \mu^{-3}h^{-1}k^2$  we get

(28.A.30) 
$$C\mu^{\frac{3}{2}}h^{-\frac{3}{2}} \times (\alpha/\mu^2 h)|k|^{-\frac{1}{2}}$$

error.

On the other hand, consider integral over  $[t_k + s_k, t_{k+1} - s_{k+1}], k \neq 0$ . Decomposing  $e^{i\mu^{-1}h^{-1}(\phi(t)-t\tau)}$  into Taylor series with respect to  $\alpha^2 h^{-1}\mu^{-3}\cot(t)$  one can prove easily that expression in question is

$$\alpha^{-1}\mu^{\frac{7}{2}}h^{-\frac{1}{2}}|t|^{-\frac{5}{2}}\cos(t)(e^{i\hbar^{-1}(\varphi(t)-t\tau)}-e^{i\hbar^{-1}(\varphi_{(1)}(t)-t\tau)})\Big|_{t=t_{k}+s_{k}}^{t=t_{k}+1-s_{k+1}}$$

with  $\varphi_{(1)}(t) = \frac{1}{3}\mu^{-2}\beta^2 t^3$  and with error not exceeding (28.A.30) multiplied by  $(1 + |\log s_k|)$ :

(28.A.31) 
$$C\mu^{\frac{3}{2}}h^{-\frac{3}{2}} \times (\alpha/\mu^2 h)|k|^{-\frac{1}{2}} \times (1+|\log(\alpha^2\mu^{-3}h^{-1}k^2)|).$$

So non-integral terms with  $\varphi$  cancel one another because by the similar arguments we can also cover  $[0, t_1 - s_1]$  and  $[t_{-1} + s_{-1}]$  and due to non-singularity of  $t^{-1}(1 - t \cot(t)) \csc(t)$  at t = 0 there will be no non-integral terms with k = 0. So we are left with

$$-\alpha^{-1}\mu^{\frac{7}{2}}h^{-\frac{1}{2}}|t|^{-\frac{5}{2}}\cos(t)e^{i\hbar^{-1}(\varphi_{(1)}(t)-t\tau)}\Big|_{t=t_{k}-s_{k}}^{t=t_{k}+s_{k}}$$

and their absolute values do not exceed (28.A.30).

Finally, summation of (28.A.31) by  $k : 1 \le |k| \le \min(\bar{k}, k^*)$  returns

(28.A.32) 
$$C\mu^{\frac{3}{2}}h^{-\frac{3}{2}}(\alpha/\mu^{2}h)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$
  
  $\times \begin{cases} (1+|\log(\mu h)|) & \beta\mu h \leq \alpha, \\ (\alpha/\beta\mu h)^{\frac{1}{2}}(1+|\log(\mu h)|+|\log(\alpha/\beta\mu h)|) & \beta\mu h \geq \alpha. \end{cases}$ 

and we arrive to Proposition 28.A.5 below for j = 2:

**Proposition 28.A.5.** Let  $\mu h \leq \epsilon_0$ ,  $\tau \approx 1$ , and  $\alpha \leq \mu^2 h$ . Then

(i) Expression  $(hD_{x_2} - \mu x_1)e(x, y, \tau)|_{x=y=0}$  does not exceed (28.A.32).

(ii) Expression  $hD_{x_3}e(x, y, \tau)|_{x=y=0}$  does not exceed

(28.A.33) 
$$C \begin{cases} \mu^{\frac{3}{2}} h^{-1} \beta \alpha^{-\frac{1}{2}} (1 + |\log(\alpha/\beta\mu h)|) & \text{if } \beta \mu h \le \alpha, \\ \mu h^{-\frac{3}{2}} \beta^{\frac{1}{2}} & \text{if } \beta \mu h \ge \alpha. \end{cases}$$

(iii) Expression  $hD_{x_1}e(x, y, \tau)|_{x=y=0}$  does not exceed

(28.A.34) 
$$C\begin{cases} \mu^{\frac{3}{2}}h^{-1}\alpha^{\frac{1}{2}}(1+|\log(\alpha/\beta\mu h)|) & \text{if } \beta\mu h \le \alpha, \\ \mu h^{-\frac{3}{2}}\alpha^{\frac{1}{2}} & \text{if } \beta\mu h \ge \alpha. \end{cases}$$

Case  $\mu h \ge \epsilon_0$ 

If  $\mu h \geq \epsilon_0$  we consider a different representation: namely (16.2.15) for a spectral projector in dimension 2 (again after rescaling where we scale  $e_*$  as functions rather than Schwartz kernels):

$$(28.A.35) \quad e_{(2)}(x', y', \tau) = (2\pi)^{-1}\mu h^{-1} \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}^+} \int v_m (\eta + \mu^{-\frac{1}{2}} h^{-\frac{1}{2}} (x_1 - y_1)) v_m (\eta - \mu^{-\frac{1}{2}} h^{-\frac{1}{2}} (x_1 - y_1)) \times \theta \Big( \tau - \alpha \mu^{-1} (x_1 + y_1) - 2\alpha \mu^{-\frac{1}{2}} h^{\frac{1}{2}} \eta - \alpha^2 \mu^{-2} - 2m \mu h \Big) e^{i\mu^{-\frac{1}{2}} h^{-\frac{1}{2}} (x_2 - y_2) \eta} d\eta,$$

where we also replaced  $H_{(2)}$  by  $H_{(2)} - \mu h$  and  $\tau$  by  $\mu h + \tau$ . Since

(28.A.36) 
$$e(x, y, \tau) = e_{(2)}(x', y', .) *_{\tau} e_{(1)}(x_3, y_3, .),$$

where  $e_{(1)}(x_3,y_3,\tau)$  is a Schwartz kernel of the spectral projector of 1-dimensional operator

(28.A.37) 
$$\mu^2 h^2 D_3^2 - 2\beta \mu^{-1} x_3,$$

we conclude that

$$(28.A.38) \quad e(x, y, \tau) = (2\pi)^{-1} \mu h^{-1} \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}^+} \int \upsilon_m (\eta + \mu^{-\frac{1}{2}} h^{-\frac{1}{2}} (x_1 - y_1)) \upsilon_m (\eta - \mu^{-\frac{1}{2}} h^{-\frac{1}{2}} (x_1 - y_1)) \times e_{(1)} \Big( x_3, y_3, \tau - \alpha \mu^{-1} (x_1 + y_1) - 2\alpha \mu^{-\frac{1}{2}} h^{\frac{1}{2}} \eta - \alpha^2 \mu^{-2} - 2m \mu h \Big) e^{i\mu^{-\frac{1}{2}} h^{-\frac{1}{2}} (x_2 - y_2) \eta} d\eta.$$

Then

(28.A.39) 
$$(\mu h D_{x_2} - x_1) e(x, y, \tau) \Big|_{x=y=0}$$
  
=  $(2\pi)^{-1} \mu^{\frac{3}{2}} h^{-\frac{1}{2}} \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}^+} \int v_m^2(\eta) \eta \times e_{(1)} \Big( 0, 0, \tau - 2\alpha \mu^{-\frac{1}{2}} h^{\frac{1}{2}} \eta - \alpha^2 \mu^{-2} - 2m \mu h \Big) d\eta$ 

and since  $v_m(.)$  is an even (odd) function for even (odd) m we can replace  $e_{(1)}(0, 0, \tau' - 2\alpha\mu^{-\frac{1}{2}}h^{\frac{1}{2}}\eta)$  by

(28.A.40) 
$$e_{(1)}(0, 0, \tau' - 2\alpha\mu^{-\frac{1}{2}}h^{\frac{1}{2}}\eta) - e_{(1)}(0, 0, \tau' + 2\alpha\mu^{-\frac{1}{2}}h^{\frac{1}{2}}\eta)$$

In virtue of Subsubsection 5.2.1.3 Asymptotics without Spatial Mollification we know that an absolute value of this expression does not exceed  $Ch^{-\frac{1}{2}}\alpha^{\frac{1}{2} 40}$  we arrive to estimate<sup>41</sup>

(28.A.41) 
$$|(hD_{x_2} - \mu x_1)e(x, y, \tau)|_{x=y=0}| \leq C\mu^{\frac{3}{2}}h^{-1}\alpha^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

Further,

$$(28.A.42) \quad \mu h D_{x_1} e(x, y, \tau) \Big|_{x=y=0}$$
  
=  $i(2\pi)^{-1} \alpha \mu \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}^+} \int v_m^2(\eta) \times \partial_\tau e_{(1)}(0, 0, \tau - 2\alpha \mu^{-\frac{1}{2}} h^{\frac{1}{2}} \eta - \alpha^2 \mu^{-2} - 2m\mu h) d\eta$   
=  $i(2\pi)^{-1} \mu^{\frac{3}{2}} h^{-\frac{1}{2}} \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}^+} \int v_m(\eta) v_m'(\eta) \times e_{(1)}(0, 0, \tau - 2\alpha \mu^{-\frac{1}{2}} h^{\frac{1}{2}} \eta - \alpha^2 \mu^{-2} - 2m\mu h) d\eta$ 

and using the same arguments we arrive to  $estimate^{41}$ 

(28.A.43) 
$$|hD_{x_1}e(x, y, \tau)|_{x=y=0}| \leq C\mu^{\frac{3}{2}}h^{-1}\alpha^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

Finally,

(28.A.44) 
$$\mu h D_{x_3} e(x, y, \tau) \big|_{x=y=0} = (2\pi)^{-1} \mu h^{-1} \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}^+} \int v_m^2(\eta)$$
  
  $\times \mu h D_{x_3} e_{(1)}(x_3, y_3, \tau - 2\alpha \mu^{-\frac{1}{2}} h^{\frac{1}{2}} \eta - \alpha^2 \mu^{-2} - 2m \mu h) \big|_{x_3=y_3=0} d\eta$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40)</sup> Only in the worst case when  $|\tau - 2m\mu h|$  is not disjoint from 0.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41)</sup> In the non-rescaled coordinates.

and again in virtue of Subsubsection 5.2.1.3 Asymptotics without Spatial Mollification we know that an absolute value of selected expression does not exceed  $Ch^{-\frac{1}{2}}\beta^{\frac{1}{2}}$  and we arrive to estimate<sup>41)</sup>

(28.A.45) 
$$|hD_{x_3}e(x, y, \tau)|_{x=y=0}| \le C\mu h^{-\frac{3}{2}}\beta^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

Therefore we have proven

**Proposition 28.A.6.** Let  $\mu h \ge 1$ ,  $\alpha \le 1$ ,  $\beta \le 1$ ,  $|\tau| \le c_0$ . Then for operator  $(H - \mu h)$  estimates (28.A.41), (28.A.43) and (28.A.45) hold.

#### **Tauberian Estimates**

Remark 28.A.7. Assume now that all assumptions are fulfilled only in  $B(0, \ell)$  rather than in  $\mathbb{R}^3$ . Then there is also a Tauberian estimate which should be added to Weyl estimate. This Tauberian estimate (the same for all j = 1, 2, 3) coincides with the Tauberian estimate was calculated in Chapter 16. Namely

(i) For  $\mu h \leq 1$ ,  $\ell \geq C_0 \mu^{-1}$  this Tauberian estimate was calculated in Proposition 16.6.2(ii)<sup>41)</sup>.

(ii) For  $\mu h \ge 1$ ,  $\ell \ge C_0 h$  this Tauberian estimate was calculated in Proposition 16.6.7(i) and corollary 16.6.8(i)<sup>41)</sup> and it does not exceed  $C \mu h^{-\frac{3}{2}} \ell^{-1}$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42)</sup> Without applying  $(hD_i - \mu A_i(x))$  but it does not matter.

# Bibliography

## Agmon, S.

- Lectures on Elliptic Boundary Value Problems. Princeton, N.J.: Van Nostrand Mathematical Studies, 1965.
- [2] On kernels, eigenvalues, and eigenfunctions of operators related to elliptic problems. Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 18, 627–663 (1965).
- [3] Asymptotic formulas with remainder estimates for eigenvalues of elliptic operators. Arch. Rat. Mech. Anal., 28:165–183 (1968).
- [4] Spectral properties of Schrödinger operators and scattering theory. Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa Cl. Sci. (2) 4:151-218 (1975).
- [5] A perturbation theory of resonances. Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 51(11-12):1255-1309 (1998).

#### Agmon, S.; Douglis, A.; Nirenberg, L.

- Estimates near the boundary for solutions of elliptic partial differential equations satisfying general boundary conditions. I.. Commun. Pure Appl. Math., 12(4):623–727 (1959).
- Estimates near the boundary for solutions of elliptic partial differential equations satisfying general boundary conditions. II.. Commun. Pure Appl. Math., 17(1):35–92 (1964).

## Agmon, S.; Hörmander, L.

[1] Asymptotic properties of solutions of differential equations with simple characteristics. J. Analyse Math. 30: 1—38 (1976).

## Agmon, S.; Kannai Y.

[1] On the asymptotic behavior of spectral functions and resolvent kernels of elliptic operators. Israel J. Math. 5:1–30 (1967).

## Agranovich, M. A.

- Elliptic operators on closed manifolds. Sovremennye problemy matematiki. Fundamental'nye napravleniya. VINITI (Moscow), 63:5–129 (1990). The English translation has been published by Springer-Verlag: Partial Differential Equations VI, EMS, vol. 63, (1994).
- [2] Elliptic boundary value problems. Sovremennye problemy matematiki. Fundamental'nye napravleniya. VINITI (Moscow), 63 (1993). The English translation has been published by Springer-Verlag: Partial Differential Equations VIII, EMS, vol. 79 (1997).

## Alekseev, A. B.; Birman, M. Sh.

 A variational formulation of the problem of the oscillations of a resonator that is filled with a stratified anisotropic medium. Vestn. Leningr. Univ., Math. 10:101–108 (1982).

## Alekseev, A. B.; Birman, M. Sh.; Filonov, N

[1] Spectrum asymptotics for one "nonsmooth" variational problem with solvable constraint. St. Petersburg. Math. J. 18(5):681–697 (2007).

## Ammari, K.; Dimassi, M.

[1] Weyl formula with optimal remainder estimate of some elastic networks and applications. Bull. Soc. Math. France 138(3):395–413 (2010).

## Andreev, A. S.

 On an estimate for the remainder in the spectral asymptotics of pseudodifferential operators of negative order. Probl. Mat. Fiz., 11:31–46 (1986). In Russian.

#### Arendt W.; Nittka R., Peter W.; Steiner F.

 Weyl's Law: Spectral Properties of the Laplacian in Mathematics and Physics, Mathematical Analysis of Evolution, Information, and Complexity, by W. Arendt and W.P. Schleich, Wiley-VCH, pp. 1–71, 2009.

## Arnold, V. I.

- [1] Geometrical Methods in the Theory of Ordinary Differential Equations, Springer-Verlag, 1983.
- [2] Mathematical Methods of Classical Mechanics. Springer-Verlag, 1990.
- [3] Singularities of caustics and wave fronts. Kluwer, 1990.
- Assal, M.; Dimassi, M.; Fujiié S. Semiclassical trace formula and spectral shift function for systems via a stationary approach, Int. Math. Res. Notices, rnx149 (2017).

#### Atiyah, M. F.; Bott, R. and Gårding, L.

[1] Lacunas for hyperbolic differential operators with constant coefficients. I. Acta Mathematica 124(1):109–189 (1970).

## Avakumovič, V. G.

[1] Uber die eigenfunktionen auf geschlossen riemannschen mannigfaltigkeiten. Math. Z., 65:324–344 (1956).

#### Avron, J.; Herbst, I.; Simon, B.

 Schrödinger operators with magnetic fields, I: General interactions. Duke Math. J., 45:847–883 (1978).

#### Babich, V. M.

[1] Focusing problem and the asymptotics of the spectral function of the Laplace-Beltrami operator. II. J. Soviet Math., 19(4):1288–1322 (1982).

## Babich, V. M.; Buldyrev, V. S.

[1] Short-wavelength Diffraction Theory. Springer Series on Wave Phenomena, vol. 4. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1991.

## Babich, V. M.; Kirpicnikova, N. Y.

[1] The Boundary-layer Method in Diffraction Theory. Springer Electrophysics Series, vol. 3. Springer-Verlag, 1979.

#### Babich, V. M.; Levitan, B. M.

- The focusing problem and the asymptotics of the spectral function of the Laplace-Beltrami operator. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR, 230(5):1017–1020 (1976).
- [2] The focusing problem and the asymptotics of the spectral function of the Laplace-Beltrami operator. I. Zap. Nauchn. Sem. Leningr. Otd. Mat. Inst. 78:3–19 (1978).

## Bach, V.

[1] Error bound for the Hartree-Fock energy of atoms and molecules. Commun. Math. Phys. 147:527–548 (1992).

#### Bañuelos R.; Kulczycki T.

[1] Trace estimates for stable processes. Probab. Theory Related Fields 142:313–338 (2008).

## Bañuelos R.; Kulczycki T.; Siudeja B.

 On the trace of symmetric stable processes on Lipschitz domains. J. Funct. Anal. 257(10):3329–3352 (2009).

## Barnett A.; Hassell A.

[1] Boundary quasiorthogonality and sharp inclusion bounds for large Dirichlet eigenvalues. SIAM J. Numer. Anal., 49(3):1046–1063 (2011). Baumgartner, B.; Solovej, J. P.; Yngvason, J. Atoms in Strong Magnetic Fields: The High Field Limit at Fixed Nuclear Charge. Commun. Math. Phys.212:703-724 (2000).

## Beals, R.

 A general calculus of pseudo-differential operators Duke Math. J., 42:1– 42 (1975).

## Beals, R.; Fefferman, C.

[1] Spatially inhomogenous pseudo-differential operators. Commun. Pure. Appl. Math., 27:1–24 (1974).

## Ben-Artzi, M.; Umeda, T.

[1] Spectral theory of first-order systems: from crystals to dirac operators. (in preparation)

## Benguria, R.

[1] Dependence of the Thomas-Fermi energy on the nuclear coordinates, Commun. Math. Phys., 81:419–428 (1981).

## Benguria, R.; Lieb, E. H.

[1] The positivity of the pressure in Thomas-Fermi theory. Commun. Math. Phys., 63:193–218 (1978).

## Bérard, P.

- On the wave equation on a compact manifold without conjugate points. Math. Zeit., 155(2):249–273 (1977).
- Spectre et groupes cristallographiques. I: Domains Euclidiens. Inv. Math., 58(2):179–199 (1980).
- [3] Spectre et groupes cristallographiques II: Domains sphériques. Ann. Inst. Fourier, 30(3):237–248 (1980).
- [4] Spectral Geometry: Direct and Inverse Problems. Lect. Notes Math. Springer-Verlag, 1207, 1985.

## Berezin, F. A.; Shubin, M. A.

- Symbols of operators and quantization. In Hilbert Space Operators and Operator Algebras: Proc. Intern. Conf., Tihany, 1970, number 5, pages 21–52. Coloq. Math. Soc. Ja. Bolyai, North-Holland (1972).
- [2] The Schrödinger Equation. Kluwer Ac. Publ., 1991. Also published in Russian by Moscow University, 1983.

#### Besse, A.

[1] Manifolds all of whose Geodesics are Closed. Springer-Verlag, 1978.

#### Birman, M. S.

- The Maxwell operator for a resonator with inward edges. Vestn. Leningr. Univ., Math., 19(3):1–8 (1986).
- [2] The Maxwell operator in domains with edges. J. Sov. Math., 37:793-797 (1987).
- [3] The Maxwell operator for a periodic resonator with inward edges. Proc. Steklov Inst. Math. 179: 21–34 (1989).
- [4] Discrete spectrum in the gaps of the continuous one in the large-couplingconstant limit. Oper. Theory Adv. Appl., 46:17–25, Birkhauser, Basel, (1990).
- [5] Discrete spectrum in the gaps of a continuous one for perturbations with large coupling constant. Adv. Soviet Math., 7:57–74 (1991).
- [6] Three problems in continuum theory in polyhedra. Boundary value problems of mathematical physics and related questions in the theory of functions, 24. Zap. Nauchn. Sem. S.-Peterburg. Otdel. Mat. Inst. Steklov. (POMI) 200 (1992), 27–37.
- [7] Discrete spectrum of the periodic Schrödinger operator for non-negative perturbations. Mathematical results in quantum mechanics (Blossin, 1993), 3-7. Oper. Theory Adv. Appl., 70, Birkhauser, Basel, (1994).

- [8] The discrete spectrum in gaps of the perturbed periodic Schrödinger operator. I. Regular perturbations. Boundary value problems, Schrödinger operators, deformation quantization, Math. Top., Akademie Verlag, Berlin, (8):334–352 (1995).
- [9] The discrete spectrum of the periodic Schrödinger operator perturbed by a decreasing potential. St. Petersburg Math. J., 8(1):1–14 (1997).
- [10] Discrete spectrum in the gaps of the perturbed periodic Schrödinger operator. II. Non-regular perturbations. St. Petersburg Math. J., 9(6):1073– 1095 (1998).
- [11] On the homogenization procedure for periodic operators in the neighbourhood of the edge of internal gap. St. Petersburg Math. J. 15(4):507–513 (2004).
- [12] List of publications. http://www.pdmi.ras.ru/~birman/papers.html.

#### Birman, M. Sh.; Borzov, V. V.

[1] The asymptotic behavior of the discrete spectrum of certain singular differential operators. Problems of mathematical physics, No. 5. Spectral theory., pp. 24–38. Izdat. Leningrad. Univ., Leningrad, 1971.

#### Birman, M. Sh.; Filonov, N

[1] Weyl asymptotics of the spectrum of the Maxwell operator with nonsmooth coefficients in Lipschitz domains. Nonlinear equations and spectral theory, Amer. Math. Soc. Transl. Ser. 2, 220:27–44 (2007).

#### Birman, M. S.; Karadzhov, G. E.; Solomyak, M. Z.

- [1] Boundedness conditions and spectrum estimates for operators b(X)a(D)and their analogs. Adv. Soviet Math., 7:85–106 (1991).
- Birman, M. Sh.; Koplienko, L. S.; Solomyak, M. Z. Estimates of the spectrum of a difference of fractional powers of selfadjoint operators. Izv. Vyssh. Uchebn. Zaved. Matematika, 3(154):3–10 (1975).

## Birman, M. S.; Laptev A.

- Discrete spectrum of the perturbed Dirac operator. Ark. Mat. 32(1):13– 32 (1994).
- [2] The negative discrete spectrum of a two-dimensional Schrödinger operator.Commun. Pure Appl. Math., 49(9):967–997 (1996).
- [3] "Non-standard" spectral asymptotics for a two-dimensional Schrödinger operator. Centre de Recherches Mathematiques, CRM Proceedings and Lecture Notes, 12:9–16 (1997).

#### Birman, M. Sh.; Laptev, A.; Solomyak, M.Z.

- [1] The negative discrete spectrum of the operator  $(-\Delta)' \alpha V$  in  $L_2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ for d even and  $2l \ge d$ . Ark. Mat. 35(1):87–126 (1997).
- [2] On the eigenvalue behaviour for a class of differential operators on semiaxis. Math. Nachr. 195:17–46 (1998).

#### Birman M. S.; Laptev A.; Suslina T.

 Discrete spectrum of the twodimensional periodic elliptic second order operator perturbed by a decreasing potential. I. Semiinfinite gap. St. Petersbg. Math. J., 12(4):535–567 (2001).

#### Birman, M. Sh.; Pushnitski, A. B.

- Discrete spectrum in the gaps of perturbed pseudorelativistic Hamiltonian. Zap. Nauchn. Sem. POMI, 249:102–117 (1997).
- [2] Spectral shift function, amazing and multifaceted. Integral Equations Operator Theory. 30(2):191–199 (1998).

#### Birman, M. S.; Raikov, G.

[1] Discrete spectrum in the gaps for perturbations of the magnetic Schrödinger operator. Adv. Soviet Math., 7:75–84 (1991). Birman, M. S.; Sloushch, V. A. Discrete spectrum of the periodic Schrodinger operator with a variable metric perturbed by a nonnegative potential. Math. Model. Nat. Phenom. 5(4), 2010.

#### Birman, M. S.; Solomyak, M. Z.

- [1] The principal term of the spectral asymptotics for "non-smooth" elliptic problems. Functional Analysis Appl. 4(4):265–275 (1970).
- [2] The asymptotics of the spectrum of "nonsmooth" elliptic equations. Functional Analysis Appl. 5(1):56–57 (1971).
- [3] Spectral asymptotics of nonsmooth elliptic operators. I. Trans. Moscow Math. Soc., 27:1–52 (1972).
- [4] Spectral asymptotics of nonsmooth elliptic operators. II. Trans. Moscow Math. Soc., 28:1–32 (1973).
- [5] Asymptotic behaviour of spectrum of differential equations. J. Soviet Math., 12:247–283 (1979).
- [6] Quantitative analysis in Sobolev imbedding theorems and application to the spectral theory. AMS Trans. Ser. 2, 114 (1980).
- [7] A certain "model" nonelliptic spectral problem. Vestn. Leningr. Univ., Math. 8:23–30 (1980).
- [8] Asymptotic behavior of the spectrum of pseudodifferential operators with anisotropically homogeneous symbols. Vestn. Leningr. Univ., Math. 10:237-247 (1982).
- [9] Asymptotic behavior of the spectrum of pseudodifferential operators with anisotropically homogeneous symbols. II. Vestn. Leningr. Univ., Math. 12:155–161 (1980).
- [10] Asymptotic behavior of the spectrum of variational problems on solutions of elliptic equations. Sib. Math. J.20:1–15(1979), 1-15.
- [11] Asymptotic behavior of the spectrum of variational problems on solutions of elliptic equations in unbounded domains. Funct. Anal. Appl. 14:267– 274 (1981).

- [11] The asymptotic behavior of the spectrum of variational problems on solutions of elliptic systems. J. Sov. Math. 28:633–644 (1985).
- [12] Asymptotic behavior of the spectrum of pseudodifferential variational problems with shifts. Sel. Math. Sov. 5:245–256 (1986).
- [13] On subspaces that admit a pseudodifferential projector. Vestn. Leningr. Univ., Math. 15:17–27 (1983).
- [14] Spectral Theory of Self-adjoint Operators in Hilbert Space. D. Reidel (1987).
- [15] The Maxwell operator in domains with a nonsmooth boundary. Sib. Math. J., 28:12–24 (1987).
- [16] Weyl asymptotics of the spectrum of the Maxwell operator for domains with a Lipschitz boundary. Vestn. Leningr. Univ., Math., 20(3):15–21 (1987).
- [17] L<sub>2</sub>-theory of the Maxwell operator in arbitrary domains. Russ. Math. Surv., 42(6):75–96 (1987).
- The self-adjoint Maxwell operator in arbitrary domains. Leningr. Math. J., 1(1):99–115 (1990).
- [19] Interpolation estimates for the number of negative eigenvalues of a Schrodinger operator. Schrodinger operators, standard and nonstandard (Dubna, 1988), 3–18, World Sci. Publishing, Teaneck, NJ, 1989.
- [20] Discrete negative spectrum under nonregular perturbations (polyharmonic operators, Schrodinger operators with a magnetic field, periodic operators). Rigorous results in quantum dynamics (Liblice, 1990), 25–36. World Sci. Publishing, River Edge, NJ, 1991.
- [21] The estimates for the number of negative bound states of the Schrödinger operator for large coupling constants. In Proc. Conf. Inverse Problems, Varna, Sept. 1989, volume 235 of Pitman Res. Notes in Math. Sci., pages 49–57 (1991).
- [22] Negative Discrete Spectrum of the Schrödinger Operator with Large Coupling Constant: Qualitative Discussion, volume 46 of Operator Theory: Advances and Applications. Birkhäuser (1990).

- [23] Schrodinger operator. Estimates for number of bound states as functiontheoretical problem. Spectral theory of operators (Novgorod, 1989), 1-54. Amer. Math. Soc. Transl. Ser. 2, 150, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, (1992).
- [24] Principal singularities of the electric component of an electromagnetic field in regions with screens. St. Petersburg. Math. J. 5(1):125–139 (1994).
- [25] On the negative discrete spectrum of a periodic elliptic operator in a waveguide-type domain, perturbed by a decaying potential. J. Anal. Math., 83:337–391 (2001).

## Birman M. S., Suslina T.

- [1] The two-dimensional periodic magnetic Hamiltonian is absolutely continuous. St. Petersburg Math. J. 9(1):21–32 (1998).
- [2] Absolute continuity of the two-dimensional periodic magnetic Hamiltonian with discontinuous vector-valued potential. St. Petersburg Math. J. 10(4):1–26 (1999).
- [3] Two-dimensional periodic Pauli operator. The effective masses at the lower edge of the spectrum. Mathematical results in quantum mechanics (Prague, 1998), Oper. Theory Adv. Appl., vol. 108, Birkhauser, Basel, pp. 13–31 (1999).

## Birman, M. Sh.; Weidl, T.

 The discrete spectrum in a gap of the continuous one for compact supported perturbations Mathematical results in quantum mechanics (Blossin, 1993), 9–12. Oper. Theory Adv. Appl., 70, Birkhauser, Basel, (1994).

## Blanshard, P.; Stubbe, J.; Reznde, J.

[1] New estimates on the number of bound states of Schrödinger operator. Lett. Math. Phys., 14:215–225 (1987).

## Blumenthal, R. M.; Getoor, R. K.

[1] Sample functions of stochastic processes with stationary independent increments. J. Math. Mech., 10:493–516 (1961).

## Boscain, U.; Prandi, D.; Seri, M.

[1] ASpectral analysis and the Aharonov-Bohm effect on certain almost-Riemannian manifolds. Comm. Part. Diff. Equats., 41(1):32–50 (2016).

## Bolley, C.; Helffer, B.

 An application of semi-classical analysis to the asymptotic study of the supercooling field of a superconducting material. Annales de l'Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré, section Physique théorique, 58(2):189–233, (1993).

## Bony, J. F., Petkov, V.

[1] Resolvent estimates and local energy decay for hyperbolic equations. Annali dell'Universita' di Ferrara, 52(2):233-246 (2006).

#### Bony, J. M.; Lerner, N.

 Quantification asymptotique et microlocalizations d'ordre supérier. I. Ann. Sci. Ec. Norm. Sup., sér. IV, 22:377–433 (1989).

#### Borovikov V. A.

[1] Diffraction by polygons and polyhedra. Nauka (1966) (in Russian).

#### Borovikov V. A.; Kinber B. Ye.

[1] Geometrical Theory of Diffraction (IEEE Electromagnetic Waves Series). (1994).

## Boutet de Monvel, L.

- Boundary problems for pseudodifferential operators. Acta Math., 126, 1-2:11-51 (1971).
- [2] Hypoelliptic operators with double characteristics and related pseudodifferential operators. Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 27:585–639 (1974).
- [3] Selected Works. Birkhäuser, 2017.

## Boutet de Monvel L.; Grigis A.; Helffer, B.

 Parametrixes d'opérateurs pseudo-différentiels à caractéristiques multiples. Journées: Équations aux Dérivées Partielles de Rennes. Astérisque, 34-35:93-121 (1975).

## Boutet de Monvel; L., Krée, P.

[1] *Pseudo-differential operators and Gevrey classes.* Annales de l'institut Fourier, 1:295–323 (1967).

## Bouzouina, A.; Robert, D.

[1] Uniform semiclassical estimates for the propagation of quantum observables. Duke Mathematical Journal, 111:223–252 (2002).

## Bovier A.; Eckhoff M.; Gayrard V.; Klein M.

[1] Metastability in reversible diffusion processes. I. Sharp asymptotics for capacities and exit times. J. Eur. Math. Soc., 6:399–424 (2004).

## Brenner, A. V.; Shargorodsky, E. M.

 Boundary value problems for elliptic pseudodifferential operators. Partial Differential Equations IX, Encyclopaedia of Mathematical Sciences Volume 79:145–215 (1997).

## Brezis, H.; Lieb E.

[1] Long range potentials in Thomas-Fermi theory. Commun. Math. Phys. 65:231–246 (1979).

## Bronstein, M.; Ivrii V.

 Sharp Spectral Asymptotics for Operators with Irregular Coefficients. Pushing the Limits. Comm. Partial Differential Equations, 28, 1&2:99– 123 (2003).

## Brossard, J.; Carmona, R.

[1] Can one hear the dimension of the fractal? Commun. Math. Phys., 104:103–122 (1986).

## Brummelhuis, R. G. M.

- Sur les inégalités de Gårding pour les systèmes d'opérateurs pseudodifférentiels. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris, Sér. I, 315:149-152 (1992).
- [2] On Melins inequality for systems. Comm. Partial Differential Equations, 26, 9&10:1559–1606 (2001).
   pagebreak[2]

## Brummelhuis, R. G. M.; Nourrigat, J.

[1] A necessary and sufficient condition for Melin's inequality for a class of systems. J. Anal. Math., 85:195–211 (2001).

## Bruneau, V.; Petkov, V.

- [1] Representation of the scattering shift function and spectral asymptotics for trapping perturbations. Commun. Partial Diff. Equations, 26:2081– 2119 (2001).
- [2] Meromorphic continuation of the spectral shift function. Duke Math. J., 116:389–430 (2003).
### Brüning, J.

 Zur Abschätzzung der Spectralfunktion elliptischer Operatoren. Mat. Z., 137:75–87 (1974).

## Bugliaro, L.; Fefferman, C.; Fröhlich; J., Graf, G. M.; Stubbe, J.

 A Lieb-Thirring bound for a magnetic Pauli Hamiltonian. Commun. Math. Phys. 187:567–582 (1997).

#### Burghelea D.; Friedlander L.; Kappeler T.

[1] Meyer-Vietoris type formula for determinants of elliptic differential operators, J. Funct. Anal. 107(1):34–65 (1992).

#### Buslaev, V. S.

[1] On the asymptotic behaviour of spectral characteristics of exterior problems of the Schrödinger operator. Math. USSR Izv., 39:139–223 (1975).

#### Calderón A. P.

 On an inverse boundary value problem. Seminar on Numerical Analysis and its Applications to Continuum Physics (Rio de Janeiro, 1980), pp. 65–73, Soc. Brasil. Mat., Rio de Janeiro, 1980.

### Candelpergher, B.; Nosmas, J. C.

 Propriétes spectrales d'opérateurs differentiels asymptotiques autoadjoints. Commun. Part. Diff. Eq., 9:137–168 (1984).

#### Canzani, Y.; Hanin, B.

- Scaling limit for the kernel of the spectral projector and remainder estimates in the pointwise Weyl law. Analysis and PDE, 8(7):1707–1731 (2015).
- [2]  $C^{\infty}$  Scaling Asymptotics for the Spectral Projector of the Laplacian. J of Geometric Analysis 1—12 (2017).

# Carleman, T.

- Propriétes asymptotiques des fonctions fondamentales des membranes vibrantes. In C. R. 8-ème Congr. Math. Scand., Stockholm, 1934, pages 34–44, Lund (1935).
- [2] Über die asymptotische Verteilung der Eigenwerte partieller Differentialgleichungen. Ber. Sachs. Acad. Wiss. Leipzig, 88:119–132 (1936).

# Charbonnel, A. M.

- [1] Spectre conjoint d'opérateurs qui commutent. Annales de Toulouse, 5(5):109–147 (1983).
- [2] Calcul fonctionnel à plusieurs variables pour des o.p.d. sur ℝ<sup>n</sup>. Israel J. Math., 45(1):69–89 (1983).
- [3] Localization et développement asymptotique des élements du spectre conjoint d'opérateurs pseudo-différentiels qui commutent. Integral Eq. Op. Th., 9:502-536 (1986).
- [4] Comportement semi-classique du spectre conjoint d'opérateurs pseudodifférentiels qui commutent. Asymp. Anal., 1:227–261 (1988).

## Chazarain, J.

- Formule de Poisson pour les variétés riemanniennes. Inv. Math, 24:65– 82 (1977).
- [2] Spectre d'un hamiltonien quantique et méchanique classique. Commun. Part. Diff. Eq., 5(6):595–611 (1980).
- [3] Sur le Comportement Semi-classique du Spectre et de l'Amplitude de Diffusion d'un Hamiltonien Quantique. Singularities in Boundary Value Problems, NATO. D. Reidel.

# Cheeger, J.; Taylor, M. E.

[1] On the diffraction of waves by conical singularities. I. Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 35(3):275–331, 1982. [2] On the diffraction of waves by conical singularities. II. Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 35(4):487–529, 1982.

## Chen Hua

 Irregular but nonfractal drums and n-dimensional weyl conjecture. Acta Mathematica Sinica, 11(2):168-178 (1995).

## Cheng, Q.-M.; Yang, H.

[1] Estimates on eigenvalues of Laplacian. Mathematische Annalen, 331(2):445—460 (2005).

## Chervova O.; Downes R. J.; Vassiliev, D

- [1] The spectral function of a first order elliptic system. Journal of Spectral Theory, 3(3):317–360 (2013).
- [2] Spectral theoretic characterization of the massless Dirac operator. Journal London Mathematical Society-second series, 89:301–320 (2014).

### Colin de Verdiére, Y.

- Spectre du laplacien et longeurs des géodésiques periodiques. I. Comp. Math., 27(1):83–106 (1973).
- Spectre du laplacien et longeurs des géodésiques periodiques. II. Comp. Math., 27(2):159–184 (1973).
- [3] Spectre conjoint d'opérateurs qui commutent. Duke Math. J., 46:169–182 (1979).
- [4] Spectre conjoint d'opérateurs qui commutent. Mat. Z., 171:51–73 (1980).
- [5] Sur les spectres des opérateurs elliptiques à bicaractéristiques toutes périodiques. Comment. Math. Helv., 54(3):508-522 (1979).
- [6] Sur les longuers des trajectories périodiques d'un billard, pp. 122–139. in South Rhone seminar on geometry, III (Lyon, 1983) Travaux en Cours, Hermann, Paris, 1984, pp. 122-139.

- [7] Ergodicité et fonctions propres du laplacien. Commun. Math. Phys., 102:497–502 (1985).
- [8] Comportement asymptotique du spectre de boitelles magnétiques. In Travaux Conf. EDP Sant Jean de Monts, volume 2 (1985).
- [9] L'asymptotique du spectre des boitelles magnétiques. Commun. Math. Phys., 105(2):327–335 (1986).

## Colin De Verdière, Y.; Truc F.

[1] Confining quantum particles with a purely magnetic field. HALarchives:00365828.

## Colombini, F.; Petkov, V.; Rauch, J.

[1] Spectral problems for non elliptic symmetric systems with dissipative boundary conditions. J. Funct. Anal. 267:1637–1661 (2014).

#### Combescure, M.; Robert D.

- [1] Semiclassical spreading of quantum wavepackets an applications near unstable fixed points of the classical flow Asymptotic Analysis, 14:377– 404 (1997).
- [2] Quadratic quantum Hamiltonians revisited. Cubo, A Mathematical Journal, 8, 1: 61–86 (2006).

## Conlon, J.

 A new proof of the Cwickel-Lieb-Rozenbljum bound. Rocky Mountain J. Math., 15:117–122 (1985).

#### Cornean, H. D.; Fournais, S.; Frank, R. L.; Helffer, B.

[1] Sharp trace asymptotics for a class of 2D-magnetic operators. Annales de l'institut Fourier, 63(6):2457–2513 (2013).

## Cornfeld, I. P.; Fomin, S. V.; Sinai, Y. G.

[1] Ergodic Theory, volume 245 of Grundlehren. Springer-Verlag (1982).

## Courant, R.

- Über die Eigenwerte bei den Differentialgleichungen der mathematischen Physik. Mat. Z., 7:1–57 (1920).
- [2] Methods of Mathematical Physics, vol II, 2nd edition. Wiley (1962) and reprints.

#### Courant, R.; Hilbert D.

[1] Methods of Mathematical Physics, vol I,II. Interscience (1953) and reprints.

## Cwikel, M.

[1] Weak type estimates for singular values and the number of bound states of Schrödinger operator. Ann. Math, 106:93–100 (1977).

#### Cycon, H. L.; Froese, R. G.; Kirsh, W.; Simon, B.

[1] Schrödinger Operators with Applications to Quantum Mechanics and Global Geometry. Texts and Monographs in Physics. Springer-Verlag.

## Danford, N.; Schwartz, J. T.

[1] Linear Operators, Parts I–III. Willey Classics Library.

#### Datchev K.; Gell-Redman J.; Hassell A.; Humphries P.

[1] Approximation and equidistribution of phase shifts: spherical symmetry. Comm. Math. Phys., 326(1):209–236 (2014).

#### Daubechies, I.

[1] An uncertainty principle for fermions with generalized kinetic energy. Commun. Math. Phys. 90(4):511–520 (1983).

#### Dauge, M.; Hellfer, B.

 Eigenvalues variation. I, Neumann problem for Sturm-Liouville operators. J. Differential Equations, 104(2):243–262 (1993).

#### Dauge, M.; Robert, D.

- Formule de Weyl pour une classe d'opérateurs pseudodifférentiels d'ordre négatif sur L<sup>2</sup>(R<sup>n</sup>). Lect. Notes Math., 1256:91–122 (1987).
- **Davies, E.B.** *Heat Kernels and Spectral Theory*. Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, (1989).
- **Davies, E.B.; Simon B.** Spectral properties of Neumann Laplacian of horns. Geometric & Functional Analysis GAFA, 2(1):105–117 (1992).

#### De Bievre, S. ; Pulé, J. V.

[1] Propagating edge states for a magnetic Hamiltonian. Mathematical physics electronic journal, 5:1–17 (1999).

#### Dencker, N.

- [1] On the propagation of polarization sets for systems of real principal type. J. Funct. Anal., 46(3):351–372 (1982).
- The Weyl calculus with locally temperate metrics and weights. Ark. Mat., 24(1):59–79 (1986).
- [3] On the propagation of polarization in conical refraction. Duke Math. J., 57(1):85–134 (1988).
- [4] On the propagation of polarization in double refraction. J. Func. Anal., 104:414–468 (1992).

#### Dimassi, M.

[1] Spectre discret des opérateurs périodiques perturbés par un opérateur différentiel. C.R..A.S., 326, 1181–1184, (1998).

- [2] Trace asymptotics formula and some applications. Asymptotic Analysis, 18:1–32 (1998).
- [3] Semi-classical asymptotics for the Schrödinger operator with oscillating decaying potential. Canad. Math. Bull. 59(4):734–747 (2016).

## Dimassi, M.; Petkov, V.

- [1] Spectral shift function and resonances for non semi-bounded and Stark Hamiltonians. J. Math. Math. Pures Appl. 82:1303–1342 (2003).
- Spectral problems for operators with crossed magnetic and electric fields.
  J. Phys. A: Math. Theor, 43(47): 474015 (2010).
- [2] Resonances for magnetic Stark Hamiltonians in two dimensional case. Internat. Math. Res. Notices, 77:4147–4179 (2004).

## Dimassi, M.; Sjöstrand, J.

- Trace asymptotics via almost analytic extensions. 21, Partial Progr. Nonlinear Differential Equation Appl., 126–142. Birkhäuser Boston, (1996).
- Spectral Asymptotics in the semiclassical limit, London Mathematical Society Lecture notes series 265, (1999), 227pp.
   pagebreak[2]

## Dimassi, M.; Tuan Duong, A.

- Scattering and semi-classical asymptotics for periodic Schrödinger operators with oscillating decaying potential. Math. J. Okayama Univ, 59:149–174 (2017).
- [2] Trace asymptotics formula for the Schrödinger operators with constant magnetic fields. J. Math. Anal. Appl., 416(1):427–448 (2014).

#### Dolbeault, J.; Laptev, A.; Loss, M.

 Lieb-Thirring inequalities with improved constants. J. Eur. Math. Soc. 10(4):1121–1126 (2008).

## Dolgopyat, D; Jakobson, D.

[1] On small gaps in the length spectrum. Journal of Modern Dynamics 10:339–352 (2016).

## Dragovič V.; Radnović, M.

 Geometry of integrable billiards and pencils of quadrics. J. Math. Pures Appl., 85:758–790 (2006).

## Dubrovin, B. A.; Fomenko, A. T.; Novikov, S. P.

- [1] Modern Geometry—Methods and Applications 1, volume 92 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag (1984).
- [2] Modern Geometry—Methods and Applications 2, volume 104 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag (1985).

#### Duistermaat, J. J.

[1] Fourier integral operators. Birkhäuser (1996).

#### Duistermaat, J. J.; Guillemin, V.

 The spectrum of positive elliptic operators and periodic bicharacteristics. Invent. Math., 29(1):37–79 (1975).

#### Dunford N.; Schwartz J. T.

[1] Linear Operators, Parts 1–3.. Interscience, (1963).

## Dyatlov S.; Zworski, M.

 [1] Mathematical theory of scattering resonances. http://math.mit.edu/ ~dyatlov/res/res\_20170323.pdf

#### Efremov, D. V.; Shubin, M. A.

[1] Spectral asymptotics for elliptic operators of Schrödinger type on hyperbolic space. Trudy sem. Petrovskogo, 15:3–32 (1991).

## Egorov, Y. V.

[1] *Microlocal Analysis*. Partial Differential Equations IV, Encyclopaedia of Mathematical Sciences, 33:1–147 (1993).

# Egorov, Y. V.; Kondrat'ev, V. A.

- [1] On the estimate of the negative spectrum of the Schrödinger operator. Math. USSR Sbornik, 62(4):551–566 (1989).
- [2] On the negative spectrum of elliptic operator. Math. USSR Sbornik, 69(4):155–177 (1991).
- [3] Estimates of the negative spectrum of an elliptic operator. AMS Transl. Ser. 2, 150 (1992).
- [4] On Spectral Theory of Elliptic Operators. Birkhäuser (1996), 317pp.

# Egorov, Y. V.; Shubin, M. A.

 Linear Partial Differential Equations. Elements of the Modern Theory. Partial Differential Equations II, Encyclopaedia of Mathematical Sciences, 31:1–120 (1994).

## Ekholm, T.; Frank, R.; Kovarik, H.

[1] Eigenvalue estimates for Schrödinger operators on metric trees. arXive: 0710.5500.

# Erdös, L.

[1] Magnetic Lieb-Thirring inequalities. Commun. Math. Phys., 170:629–668 (1995).

## Erdös, L.; Fournais, S.; Solovej, J. P.

[1] Second order semiclassics with self-generated magnetic fields. Ann. Henri Poincare, 13:671–730 (2012).

- [2] Relativistic Scott correction in self-generated magnetic fields. Journal of Mathematical Physics 53, 095202 (2012), 27pp.
- [3] Scott correction for large atoms and molecules in a self-generated magnetic field. Commun. Math. Phys., 25:847–882 (2012).
- [4] Stability and semiclassics in self-generated fields. J. Eur. Math. Soc. (JEMS), 15(6):2093-2113 (2013).

## Erdös, L.; Solovej, J. P.

[1] Ground state energy of large atoms in a self-generated magnetic field. Commun. Math. Phys., 294(1):229–249 (2010).

#### Eskin, G.

- [1] Parametrix and propagation of singularities for the interior mixed hyperbolic problem. J. Anal. Math., 32:17–62 (1977).
- General Initial-Boundary Problems for Second Order Hyperbolic Equations, pages 19–54. D. Reidel Publ. Co., Dordrecht, Boston, London (1981).
- [3] Initial boundary value problem for second order hyperbolic equations with general boundary conditions, I. J. Anal. Math., 40:43–89 (1981).

#### Fabio, N.

 A lower bound for systems with double characteristics. J. Anal. Math. 96:297–311 (2005).

## Fang, Y.-L.; Vassiliev, D.

- Analysis as a source of geometry: a non-geometric representation of the Dirac equation. Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and Theoretical, 48, article number 165203, 19 pp. (2015).
- [2] Analysis of first order systems of partial differential equations. Complex Analysis and Dynamical Systems VI: Part 1: PDE, Differential Geometry, Radon Transform. AMS Contemporary Mathematics Series, 653:163–176 (2015).

#### Fedoryuk, M. V.; Maslov, V. P.

[1] Semi-classical Approximation in Quantum Mechanics. D. Reidel (1981).

#### Fefferman, C. L.

[1] The uncertainty principle. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc., 9:129–206 (1983).

#### Fefferman, C. L.; Ivrii, V.; Seco, L. A.; Sigal, I. M.

[1] The energy asymptotics of large Coulomb systems. In Proc. Conf. "Nbody Quantum Mechanics", Aarhus, Denmark 79–99 (1991).

#### Fefferman, C. L.; Seco, L.

[1] On the Dirac and Schwinger corrections to the ground state energy of an atom Adv. Math., 107(1): 1–185 (1994).

## Feigin, V. I.

- The asymptotic distribution of the eigenvalues of pseudodifferential operators in ℝ<sup>n</sup>/. Math. USSR Sbornik, 28:533–552 (1976).
- [2] The asymptotic distribution of eigenvalues and a formula of Bohr-Sommerfeld type. Math. USSR Sbornik, 38(1):61–81 (1981).

#### Filonov, N.; Pushnitski, A.

[1] Spectral asymptotics of Pauli operators and orthogonal polynomials in complex domains. Comm. Math. Phys., 264:759–772 (2006).

### Filonov; N., Safarov, Yu.

[1] Asymptotic estimates of the difference between the Dirichlet and Neumann counting functions. J. Funct. Anal. 260:2902–2932 (2011).

### Fleckinger, J. and Lapidus, M.

 Tambour fractal: vers une résolution de la conjecture de Weyl-Berry pour les valeurs propres du laplacien. C. R. A. S. Paris, Sér. 1, 306:171– 175 (1988).

### Fleckinger, J.; Métivier, G.

[1] Théorie spectrale des opérateurs uniforment elliptiques des quelques ouverts irréguliers. C. R. A. S. Paris, Sér. A–B, 276:A913–A916 (1973).

#### Fleckinger, J.; Vassiliev, D. G.

 Tambour fractal: Exemple d'une formule asymptotique à deux termes pour la "fonction de compatage". C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris, Ser. 1, 311:867– 872 (1990).

## Folland, G. B.

[1] Real Analysis: Modern Techniques and Their Applications. A Wiley-Interscience, 408pp (1999).

#### Frank, R.; Geisinger L.

- [1] Semi-classical analysis of the Laplace operator with Robin boundary conditions. Bull. Math. Sci. 2 (2012), no. 2, 281–319.
- [2] Refined semiclassical asymptotics for fractional powers of the Laplace operator. J. reine angew. Math. 712:1-37 (2016).

## Frank, R.; Lieb, E.; Seiringer, R.

 Hardy-Lieb-Thirring inequalities for fractional Schrödinger Operators. J. Amer. Math. Soc. 21(4), 925–950 (2008).

#### Frank, R.; Siedentop, H.; Warzel, S.

[1] The ground state energy of heavy atoms: relativistic lowering of the leading energy correction. Commun. Math. Phys., 278(2):549–566 (2008).

#### Frank, R.; Siedentop, H.

[1] The energy of heavy atoms according to Brown and Ravenhall: the Scott correction. Documenta Mathematica, 14:463–516 (2009)

#### Friedlander, F. G.

- Notes on closed billiard ball trajectories in polygonal domains. I. Commun. Part. Diff. Eq., 12 (1990).
- [2] Notes on closed billiard ball trajectories in polygonal domains. II. Commun. Part. Diff. Eq., 16(6):1687–1694 (1991).

#### Friedlander, L.

 Some inequalities between Dirichlet and Neumann eigenvalues. Arch. Rational Mech. Anal., 116(2):153–160 (1991).

#### Friedrichs, K.

[1] Perturbations of Spectra in Hilbert Space. AMS, Providence, RI (1965).

### Fröhlich; J., Graf, G. M.; Walcher, J.

[1] On the extended nature of edge states of Quantum Hall Hamiltonians. Ann. H. Poincaré 1:405-442 (2000).

#### Fröhlich, J.; Lieb, E. H.; Loss, M.

[1] Stability of Coulomb systems with magnetic fields. I. The one-electron atom. Commun. Math. Phys., 104:251–270 (1986).

#### Fushiki, I.; Gudmundsson, E.; Pethick, C. J.; Yngvason, J.

[1] Matter in a Magnetic Field in the Thomas-Fermi and Related Theories. Annals of Physics, 216:29–72 (1992).

## Geisinger, L.; Weidl T.

[1] Sharp spectral estimates in domains of infinite volume. Reviews in Math. Physics, 23(6):615-641 (2011).

#### Geisinger, L.; Laptev, A.; Weidl T.

[1] Geometrical versions of improved Berezin–Li–Yau inequalities. J. Spectral Theory, 1(1):87–109 (2011).

## Gell-Redman J.; Hassell A.; Zelditch S.

 Equidistribution of phase shifts in semiclassical potential scattering. J. Lond. Math. Soc., (2) 91(1):159–179 (2015).

## Gérard, P.; Lebeau, G.

 Diffusion d'une onde par un coin. J. Amer. Math. Soc. 6(2):341–424 (1993).

### Gottwald, S.

[1] Two-term spectral asymptotics for the Dirichlet pseudo-relativistic kinetic energy operator on a bounded domain. arXiv:1706.08808

### Graf, G. M.; Solovej, J. P.

 A correlation estimate with applications to quantum systems with Coulomb interactions. Rev. Math. Phys., 6(5a):977–997 (1994).
 Reprinted in The state of matter a volume dedicated to E. H. Lieb, Advanced series in mathematical physics, 20, M. Aizenman and H. Araki (Eds.), 142–166, World Scientific (1994).

## Gravel, C.

[1] Spectral geometry over the disk: Weyl's law and nodal sets. arxiv.org:1208.5275

## Grebenkov, D. S.; Nguyen, B.T.

- [1] Geometrical structure of Laplacian eigenfunctions. SIAM Review, 55(4):601-667 (2013).
- Grigoryan, A. Heat kernels and function theory on metric measure spaces. Heat Kernels and Analysis on Manifolds, Graphs, and Metric Spaces. (Paris, 2002), Am. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 143–172 (2003).

## Grubb, G.

- Spectral symptotics for Douglis-Nirenberg elliptic systems and pseudodifferential boundary value problems. Commun. Part. Diff. Eq., 2(9):1071– 1150 (1977).
- [2] Remainder estimates for eigenvalues and kernels of pseudo-differential elliptic systems. Math. Scand., 43:275–307 (1978).
- [3] Functional calculus of pseudo-differential boundary problems. Birkhäuser (1986, 2012).
- [4] Local and nonlocal boundary conditions for μ-transmission and fractional elliptic pseudodifferential operators. Analysis and Part. Diff. Equats., 7(71):649–1682 (2014).
- [5] Fractional Laplacians on domains, a development of Hörmander's theory of μ-transmission pseudodifferential operators. Adv. Math. 268:478–528 (2015).
- [6] Spectral results for mixed problems and fractional elliptic operators. J. Math. Anal. Appl., 421(2):1616–1634 (2015).
- [7] Regularity of spectral fractional Dirichlet and Neumann problems. Math. Nachr., 289(7):831–844 (2016).

## Grubb, G.; Hörmander, L.

[1] The transmission property. Math. Scand., 67:273-289 (1990).

# Guillemin, V.

- [1] Lectures on spectral properties of elliptic operators. Duke Math. J., 44(3):485–517 (1977).
- [2] Some spectral results for the Laplace operator with potential on the *n*-sphere. Adv. Math., 27:273–286 (1978).
- [3] Some classical theorems in spectral theory revised. Seminar on Singularities of solutions of partial differential equations, Princeton University Press, NJ, 219–259 (1979).

## Guillemin, V.; Melrose, R. B.

 The Poisson summation formula for manifolds with boundary. Adv. Math., 32:204–232 (1979).

# Guillemin, V.; Sternberg, S.

- On the spectra of commuting pseudo-differential operators. In Proc. Park City Conf., 1977, number 48 in Lect. Notes Pure Appl. Math., pages 149–165 (1979).
- [2] Geometric Asymptotics. AMS Survey Publ., Providence, RI (1977).
- [3] Semi-classical Analysis. International Press of Boston (2013).

## Guo, J.; Wang, w.

[1] An improved remainder estimate in the Weyl formula for the planar disk. arXiv:math/0612039

## Gureev, T.; Safarov, Y.

 Accurate asymptotics of the spectrum of the Laplace operator on manifold with periodic geodesics. Trudy Leningradskogo Otdeleniya Mat. Inst. AN SSSR, 179:36–53 (1988). English translation in Proceedings of the Steklov Institute of Math., 2, (1988).

## Gutkin, E.

- [1] Billiard dynamics: a survey with the emphasis on open problems. Regular and Chaos Dynamics, 8 (1): 1–14 (2003).
- [2] A few remarks on periodic orbits for planar billiard tables. arXiv:math/0612039

# Hainzl, C.

[1] Gradient corrections for semiclassical theories of atoms in strong magnetic fields. J. Math. Phys. 42:5596–5625 (2001).

## Handrek, M.; Siedentop, H.

[1] The ground state energy of heavy atoms: the leading correction, Commun. Math. Phys., 339(2):589–617 (2015).

# Harman, G.

[1] Metric Number Theory Clarendon Press, Oxford, xviii+297 (1998).

## Hassel A. and Ivrii V.

 A. HASSEL; V. IVRII Spectral asymptotics for the semiclassical Dirichlet to Neumann operator. J. of Spectral Theory 7(3):881–905 (2017).

## Havin, V.; Joricke B.

Uncertainty Principle in Harmonic Analysis. Ergeb. Math. Grenzgeb.
 (3) 28, Springer-Verlag, Berlin (1994).

## Helffer, B.

- [1] *Théorie spectrale pour des opérateurs globalement elliptiques*. Astérisque, 112 (1984).
- [2] Introduction to the Semi-classical Analysis for the Schrödinger Operator and Applications. Number 1336. Lect. Notes Math. (1984).

### Helffer, B.; Klein M.; Nier, F.

[1] Quantitative analysis of metastability in reversible diffusion process via a Witten complex approach. Proceedings of the Symposium on Scattering and Spectral Theory. Matematica Contemporanea (Brazilian Mathematical Society), 26:41-86 (2004).

## Helffer, B.; Knauf, A.; Siedentop, H.; Weikart, R.

 On the absence of a first order correction for the number of bound states of a Schrödinger operator with Coulomb singularity. Commun. Part. Diff. Eq., 17(3-4):615-639 (1992).

#### Helffer, B., Kordyukov, Y.

 Accurate semiclassical spectral asymptotics for a two-dimensional magnetic Schrödinger operator. Ann. Henri Poincaré, 16(7):1651—1688 (2015).

#### Helffer, B., Kordyukov, Y; Raymond, N.; Vu-Ngoc, S.

[1] Magnetic wells in dimension three. Analysis & PDE, Mathematical Sciences Publishers, 9(7):1575–1608 (2016).

## Helffer, B.; Martinez, A.

[1] Phase transition in the semiclassical regime. Rev. Math. Phys., 12(11):1429–1450 (2000).

#### Helffer, B.; Martinez, A.; Robert, D.

 Ergodicité et limite semi-classique. Commun. Math. Phys., 109:313–326 (1987).

#### Helffer, B.; Mohamed, A. (Morame, A.)

[1] Sur le spectre essentiel des opérateurs de Schrödinger avec champ magnétique. Ann. Inst. Fourier, 38(2) (1988).

#### Helffer, B.; Nourrigat, J.; Wang, X. P.

 Spectre essentiel pour l'équation de Dirac. Ann. Sci. Ec. Norm. Sup., Sér. IV, 22:515–533 (1989).

## Helffer, B.; Parisse, B.

 Moyens de Riesz d'états bornés et limite semi-classique en liasion avec la conjecture de Lieb-Thirring. III. Ec. Norm. Sup. Paris, Prep. LMENS-90-12 (1990).

#### Helffer, B.; Robert, D.

- [1] Comportement semi-classique du spectre des hamiltoniens quantiques elliptiques. Ann. Inst. Fourier, 31(3):169–223 (1981).
- [2] Comportement semi-classique du spectre des hamiltoniens quantiques hypoelliptiques. Ann. Ec. Norm. Sup. Pisa, Sér. IV, 9(3) (1982).
- [3] Propriétes asymptotiques du spectre d'opérateurs pseudo-differentiels sur ℝ<sup>n</sup>. Commun. Part. Diff. Eq., 7:795–882 (1982).
- [4] Etude du spectre pour un opérateur globalement elliptique dont le symbole présente des symétries. I: Action des groupes finis. Amer. J. Math., 106(5):1199–1236 (1984).
- [5] Etude du spectre pour un opérateur globalement elliptique dont le symbole présente des symétries. II: Action des groupes compacts. Amer. J. Math, 108:978–1000 (1986).
- [6] Asymptotique des niveaux d'énergie pour des hamiltoniens à un degré de liberté. Duke Math. J., 49(4):853–868 (1982).
- [7] Puits de potentiel généralisés et asymptotique semi-classique. Ann. de l'Inst. Henri Poincaré, sect. Phys. Theor., 41(3):291–331 (1984).
- [8] Riesz means of bound states and semi-classical limit connected with a Lieb-Thirring conjecture. I. Asymp. Anal., 3(4):91–103 (1990).
- [9] Riesz means of bound states and semi-classical limit connected with a Lieb-Thirring conjecture. II. Ann. de l'Inst. Henri Poincaré, sect. Phys. Theor., 53(2):139–147 (1990).

#### Helffer, B.; Sjöstrand, J.

- Multiple wells in the semiclassic limit. I. Commun. Part. Diff. Eq., 9(4):337–408 (1984).
- [2] On diamagnetism and Haas-van Alphen effect. Ann. Inst. Henri Poincaré, 52(4):303–375 (1990).

#### Hempel R.; Seco L. A.; Simon B.

 The essential spectrum of Neumann Laplacians on some bounded singular domains. J. Func. Anal., 102(2):448–483 (1991).

#### Herbst, I. W

[1] Spectral Theory of the Operator  $(p^+m^2)^{1/2} - Ze'r$ , Commun. Math. Phys. 53(3):285–294 (1977).

#### Hörmander, L.

- [1] The Analysis of Linear Partial Differential Operators. I–IV. Springer-Verlag (1983, 1985).
- Pseudo-differential operators. Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 18, 501–517 (1965).
- [3] The spectral function of an elliptic operator. Acta Math., 121:193–218 (1968).
- [4] On the Riesz means of spectral functions and eigenfunction expansions for elliptic differential operators. In Yeshiva Univ. Conf., November 1966, volume 2 of Ann. Sci. Conf. Proc., pages 155–202. Belfer Graduate School of Sci. (1969).
- [5] The existence of wave operators in scattering theory. Math. Z. 146(1):69– 91 (1976).
- [6] The Cauchy problem for differential equations with double characteristics. J. An. Math., 32:118–196 (1977).
- [7] On the asymptotic distribution of eigenvalues of p.d.o. in ℝ<sup>n</sup>. Ark. Math., 17(3):169-223 (1981).

#### Houakni, Z. E.; Helffer, B.

[1] Comportement semi-classique en présence de symétries. action d'une groupe de Lie compact. Asymp. Anal., 5(2):91–114 (1991).

## Hughes, W.

[1] An atomic energy lower bound that agrees with Scott's correction. Adv. in Math., 79(2):213–270 (1990).

#### Hundertmark, D.; Laptev, A.; Weidl, T.

[1] New bounds on the Lieb-Thirring constants. Invent. Math. 140(3):693–704 (2000).

## Ivrii, V.

- [1] Wave fronts of solutions of symmetric pseudo-differential systems. Siberian Math. J., 20(3):390–405 (1979).
- Wave fronts of solutions of boundary-value problems for symmetric hyperbolic systems. I: Basic theorems. Siberian Math. J., 20(4):516–524 (1979).
- Wave fronts of solutions of boundary value problems for symmetric hyperbolic systems. II. systems with characteristics of constant multiplicity. Siberian Math. J., 20(5):722–734 (1979).
- [4] Wave Front Sets of Solutions of Certain Pseudodifferential Operators. Trudy Moskov. Mat. Obshch. 39:49–86 (1979).
- [5] Wave Front Sets of Solutions of Certain Hyperbolic Pseudodifferential Operators. Trudy Moskov. Mat. Obshch. 39:87–119 (1979).
- [6] Wave fronts of solutions of boundary value problems for symmetric hyperbolic systems. III. systems with characteristics of variable multiplicity. Sibirsk. Mat. Zhurn., 21(1):54–60 (1980).
- [7] Wave fronts of solutions of boundary value problems for a class of symmetric hyperbolic systems. Siberian Math. J., 21(4):527–534 (1980).

- [8] Second term of the spectral asymptotic expansion for the Laplace-Beltrami operator on manifold with boundary. Funct. Anal. Appl., 14(2):98–106 (1980).
- [9] Propagation of singularities of solutions of nonclassical boundary value problems for second-order hyperbolic equations. Trudy Moskov. Mat. Obshch. 43 (1981), 87–99.
- [10] Accurate spectral asymptotics for elliptic operators that act in vector bundles. Funct. Anal. Appl., 16(2):101–108 (1982).
- [11] Precise Spectral Asymptotics for Elliptic Operators. Lect. Notes Math. Springer-Verlag 1100 (1984).
- [12] Global and partially global operators. Propagation of singularities and spectral asymptotics. Microlocal analysis (Boulder, Colo., 1983), 119– 125, Contemp. Math., 27, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, (1984).
- [13] Weyl's asymptotic formula for the Laplace-Beltrami operator in Riemann polyhedra and in domains with conical singularities of the boundary. Soviet Math. Dokl., 38(1):35–38 (1986).
- [14] Estimations pour le nombre de valeurs propres negatives de l'operateurs de Schrödinger avec potentiels singuliesrs. C.R.A.S. Paris, Sér. 1, 302(13, 14, 15):467-470, 491-494, 535-538 (1986).
- [15] Estimates for the number of negative eigenvalues of the Schrödinger operator with singular potentials. In Proc. Intern. Cong. Math., Berkeley, pages 1084–1093 (1986).
- [16] Precise spectral asymptotics for elliptic operators on manifolds with boundary. Siberian Math. J., 28(1):80–86 (1987).
- [17] Estimates for the spectrum of Dirac operator. Dokl. AN SSSR, 297(6):1298–1302 (1987).
- [18] Linear hyperbolic equations. Sovremennye Problemy Matematiki. Fundamental'nye Napravleniya. VINITI (Moscow), 33:157–247 (1988).
- [19] Semiclassical spectral asymptotics. (Proceedings of the Conference, Nantes, France, June 1991)

- [20] Asymptotics of the ground state energy of heavy molecules in the strong magnetic field. I. Russian Journal of Mathematical Physics, 4(1):29–74 (1996).
- [21] Asymptotics of the ground state energy of heavy molecules in the strong magnetic field. II. Russian Journal of Mathematical Physics, 5(3):321– 354 (1997).
- [22] *Heavy molecules in the strong magnetic field*. Russian Journal of Math. Phys., 4(1):29–74 (1996).
- [23] Microlocal Analysis and Precise Spectral Asymptotics., Springer-Verlag, (1998).
- [24] Heavy molecules in the strong magnetic field. Estimates for ionization energy and excessive charge. Russian Journal of Math. Phys., 6(1):56–85 (1999).
- [25] Accurate spectral asymptotics for periodic operators.Proceedings of the Conference, Saint-Jean-de-Monts, France, June (1999)
- [26] Sharp Spectral Asymptotics for Operators with Irregular Coefficients. Internat. Math. Res. Notices (22):115–1166 (2000).
- [27] Sharp spectral asymptotics for operators with irregular coefficients. Pushing the limits. II. Comm. Part. Diff. Equats., 28 (1&2):125–156, (2003).
- [28] 100 years of Weyl's law. Bulletin of Mathematical Sciences, 6(3):379–452 (2016). Also in arXiv:1608.03963 and in this book.
- [29] V. Ivrii. Spectral asymptotics for fractional Laplacians. In arXiv:1603.06364 and in this book.
- [30] V. Ivrii. Asymptotics of the ground state energy in the relativistic settings. Algebra i Analiz (Saint Petersburg Math. J.), 29(3):76—92 (2018) and in this book.
- [31] V. Ivrii. Asymptotics of the ground state energy in the relativistic settings and with self-generated magnetic field. In arXiv:1708.07737 and in this book.

- [32] V. Ivrii. Spectral asymptotics for Dirichlet to Neumann operator in the domains with edges. In arXiv:1802.07524 and in this book.
- [33] V. Ivrii. Complete semiclassical spectral asymptotics for periodic and almost periodic perturbations of constant operator. In arXiv:1808.01619 and in this book.
- [34] V. Ivrii. Complete differentiable semiclassical spectral asymptotics. In arXiv:1809.07126 and in this book.
- [34] V. Ivrii. Bethe-Sommerfeld conjecture in semiclassical settings. In arXiv:1902.00335 and in this book.
- [35] V. Ivrii. Upper estimates for electronic density in heavy atoms and molecules. In arXiv:1906.00611.

## Ivrii, V.; Fedorova, S.

[1] Dilitations and the asymptotics of the eigenvalues of spectral problems with singularities. Funct. Anal. Appl., 20(4):277–281 (1986).

## Ivrii, V.; Petkov V.

[1] Necessary conditions for the Cauchy problem for non-strictly hyperbolic equations to be well-posed. Russian Math. Surveys, 29(5):1–70 (1974).

#### Ivrii, V.; Sigal, I. M.

[1] Asymptotics of the ground state energies of large Coulomb systems. Ann. of Math., 138:243–335 (1993).

#### Iwasaki, C.; Iwasaki, N.

 Parametrix for a degenerate parabolic equation and its application to the asymptotic behavior of spectral functions for stationary problems. Publ. Res. Inst. Math. Sci. 17(2):577–655 (1981).

## Iwasaki, N.

 Bicharacteristic curves and wellposedness for hyperbolic equations with non-involutive multiple characteristics. J. Math. Kyoto Univ., 34(1):41– 46 (1994).

## Jakobson, D.; Polterovich, I.; Toth, J.

[1] Lower bounds for the remainder in Weyl's law on negatively curved surfaces. IMRN 2007, Article ID rnm142, 38 pages (2007).

## Jakšić V.; Molčanov S.; Simon B.

[1] Eigenvalue asymptotics of the Neumann Laplacian of regions and manifolds with cusps. J. Func. Anal., 106:59–79 (1992).

## Kac, M.

[1] Can one hear the shape of a drum? Amer. Math. Monthly, 73:1–23 (1966).

## Kannai, Y.

 On the asymptotic behavior of resolvent kernels, spectral functions and eigenvalues of semi-elliptic systems. Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa (3) 23:563-634 (1969).

## Kapitanski L.; Safarov Yu.

 A parametrix for the nonstationary Schrödinger equation. Differential operators and spectral theory, Amer. Math. Soc. Transl. Ser. 2, 189:139– 148, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI (1999).

## Kohn, J.J.; Nirenberg, L.

[1] On the algebra of pseudo-differential operators. Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 18, 269–305 (1965).

## Kolmogorov;, A. N.; Fomin S. V.

- [1] Elements of the Theory of Functions and Functional Analysis. Dover.
- [2] Introductory Real Analysis. Dover.

## Kovarik, H.; Vugalter, S.; Weidl, T.

 Two-dimensional Berezin-Li-Yau inequalities with a correction term. Comm. Math Physics, 287(3):959–881 (2009).

## Kovarik, H.; Weidl, T.

[1] Improved Berezin—Li—Yau inequalities with magnetic field. Proc. Royal Soc. of Edinburgh Section A: Mathematics, 145(1)145–160 (2015).

## Kozhevnikov, A. N.

- [1] Remainder estimates for eigenvalues and complex powers of the Douglis-Nirenberg elliptic systems. Commun. Part. Diff. Eq., 6:1111–1136 (1981).
- Spectral problems for pseudo-differential systems elliptic in the Douglis-Nirenberg sense and their applications. Math. USSR Sbornik, 21:63–90 (1973).

## Kozlov, V. A.

- Asymptotic behavior of the spectrum of nonsemibounded elliptic systems. Probl. Mat. Analiza, Leningrad Univ., 7:70–83 (1979).
- [2] Estimates of the remainder in formulas for the asymptotic behavior of the spectrum of linear operator bundles. Probl. Mat. Analiza, Leningrad Univ., 9:34–56 (1984).

#### Kucherenko, V. V.

[1] Asymptotic behavior of the solution of the system  $A(x, ih\partial/\partial x)u = 0$  as  $h \rightarrow 0$  in the case of characteristics with variable multiplicity. (Russian) Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR Ser. Mat. 38:625–662 (1974).

## Kuznecov, N. V.

- [1] Asymptotic formulae for eigenvalues of an elliptic membrane. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR, 161:760–763 (1965).
- [2] Asymptotic distribution of eigenfrequencies of a plane membrane in the case of separable variables. Differencial'nye Uravnenija, 2:1385–1402 (1966).

# Kuznecov, N. V.; Fedosov, B. V.

[1] An asymptotic formula for eigenvalues of a circular membrane. Differencial'nye Uravnenija, 1:1682–1685 (1965).

## Kwaśnicki, M.

[1] Eigenvalues of the fractional laplace operator in the interval. J. Funct. Anal., 262(5):2379–2402 (2012).

## Lakshtanov, E.; Vainberg, B.

[1] Remarks on interior transmission eigenvalues, Weyl formula and branching billiards. Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and Theoretical, 45(12) (2012) 125202 (10pp).

## Lapidus, M. L.

 Fractal drum, inverse spectral problems for elliptic operators and a partial resolution of the Weyl-Berry conjecture. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 325:465–529 (1991).

## Lapointe H.; Polterovich I.; Safarov Yu.

[1] Average growth of the spectral function on a Riemannian manifold. Comm. Part. Diff. Equat., 34(4–6):581–615 (2009).

# Laptev, A.

- [1] Asymptotics of the negative discrete spectrum of class of Schrödinger operators with large coupling constant. Linköping University Preprint, (1991).
- [2] The negative spectrum of the class of two-dimensional Schrödinger operators with potentials that depend on the radius. Funct. Anal. Appl., 34(4) 305–307 (2000).
- [2] Spectral inequalities for partial differential equations and their applications.. AMS/IP Studies in Advanced Mathematics, 51:629–643 (2012).

## Laptev A.; Netrusov, Yu.

 On the negative eigenvalues of a class of Schrödinger operators. Differential Operators and Spectral Theory, Am. Math. Soc., Providence, RI 173–186 (1999).

## Laptev, A.; Geisinger, L.; Weidl, T.

[1] Geometrical versions of improved Berezin-Li-Yau inequalities. Journal of Spectral Theory 1:87–109 (2011).

## Laptev A.; Robert D.; Safarov, Yu.

 Remarks on the paper of V. Guillemin and K. Okikiolu: "Subprincipal terms in Szegö estimates". Math. Res. Lett. 4(1):173–179 (1997) and Math. Res. Lett. 5(1–2):57–61(1998).

## Laptev A.; Safarov Yu.

- [1] Global parametrization of Lagrangian manifold and the Maslov factor. Linköping University Preprint, (1989).
- [2] Szegö type theorems. Partial differential equations and their applications (Toronto, ON, 1995), CRM Proc. Lecture Notes, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 12:177–181 (1997).

## Laptev, A.; Safarov, Y.; Vassiliev, D.

 On global representation of Lagrangian distributions and solutions of hyperbolic equations. Commun. Pure Applied Math., 47(11):1411-1456 (1994).

## Laptev, A.; Weidl, T.

- [1] Sharp Lieb-Thirring inequalities in high dimensions. Acta Math. 184(1):87–111 (2000).
- [2] Recent Results on Lieb-Thirring Inequalities. J. Èquat. Deriv. Partielles" (La Chapelle sur Erdre, 2000), Exp. no. 20, Univ. Nantes, Nantes (2000).

#### Laptev, A.; Solomyak, M.

[1] On spectral estimates for two-dimensional Schrödinger operators. J. Spectral Theory 3(4):505–515 (2013).

#### Larson, S.

[1] On the remainder term of the Berezin inequality on a convex domain. Proc. AMS 145:2167–2181 (2017).

#### Lax, P.D.

[1] Functional Analysis. Wiley (2002).

#### Lazutkin, V. F.

- [1] Asymptotics of the eigenvalues of the Laplacian and quasimodes. Math. USSR Sbornik, 7:439–466 (1973).
- [2] Convex billiards and eigenfunctions of the Laplace operators. Leningrad Univ., (1981). In Russian.
- [3] Semiclassical asymptotics of eigenfunctions. Sovremennye Problemy Matematiki. Fundamental'nye Napravleniya. VINITI (Moscow), 34:135– 174 (1987)

## Lebeau, G.

- [1] *Régularité Gevrey* **3** *pour la diffraction*. Comm. Partial Differential Equations, 9(15):1437–1494 (1984).
- [2] Propagation des singularités Gevrey pour le problème de Dirichlet. Advances in microlocal analysis (Lucca, 1985), NATO Adv. Sci. Inst. Ser. C Math. Phys. Sci., 168:203–223, Reidel (1986).
- [3] Propagation des ondes dans les dièdres. Mém. Soc. Math. France (N.S.), 60, 124pp (1995).
- [4] Propagation des ondes dans les variétés à coins. Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. (4), 30 (1):429–497 (1997).

## Leray, J.

[1] Analyse Lagrangienne et Mécanique Quantique. Univ. Louis Pasteur, Strasbourg (1978).

## Levendorskii, S. Z.

- Asymptotic distribution of eigenvalues. Math. USSR Izv., 21:119–160 (1983).
- The approximate spectral projection method. Acta Appl. Math., 7:137– 197 (1986).
- [3] The approximate spectral projection method. Math. USSR Izv., 27:451– 502 (1986).
- [4] Non-classical spectral asymptotics. Russian Math. Surveys, 43:149–192 (1988).
- [5] Asymptotics of the spectra of operators elliptic in the Douglis-Nirenberg sense. Trans. Moscow Math. Soc., 52:533–587 (1989).
- [6] Asymptotic Distribution of Eigenvalues of Differential Operators. Kluwer Acad. Publ. (1990).

### Levin, D.; Solomyak, M.

 The Rozenblum-Lieb-Cwikel inequality for Markov generators. J. Anal. Math., 71:173–193 (1997).

## Levitan, B. M.

- On the asymptotic behaviour of the spectral function of the second order elliptic equation. Izv. AN SSSR, Ser. Mat., 16(1):325–352 (1952). In Russian.
- [2] Asymptotic behaviour of the spectral function of elliptic operator. Russian Math. Surveys, 26(6):165–232 (1971).

#### Levitin, M., Vassiliev D.

 Spectral asymptotics, renewal Theorem, and the Berry conjecture for a class of fractals. Proceedings of the London Math. Soc., (3) 72:188--214 (1996)

## Levy-Bruhl, P.

[1] Spectre d'opérateurs avec potentiel et champ magnétique polynomiaux. Preprint (1988?).

### Li, P.; Yau, S.-T.

 On the Schrödinger equation and the eigenvalue problem. Comm. Math. Phys., 88:309–318 (1983).

### Lieb, E. H.

- [1] The number of bound states of one-body Schrödinger operators and the Weyl problem. Bull. of the AMS, 82:751–753 (1976).
- Thomas-Fermi and related theories of atoms and molecules. Rev. Mod. Phys. 65(4): 603-641 (1981).

- [3] Variational principle for many-fermion systems. Phys. Rev. Lett., 46:457–459 (1981) and 47:69(E) (1981).
- [4] The stability of matter: from atoms to stars (Selecta). Springer-Verlag (2005).

## Lieb, E. H.; Loss, M.

[1] Analysis. American Mathematical Society, 346pp (2001).

#### Lieb, E. H.; Loss, M.; Solovej, J. P.

 Stability of matter in magnetic fields. Phys. Rev. Lett., 75:985–989 (1995) arXiv:cond-mat/9506047

## Lieb, E. H.; Oxford S.

 Improved Lower Bound on the Indirect Coulomb Energy. Int. J. Quant. Chem. 19:427–439, (1981)

## Lieb, E. H.; Simon, B.

 The Thomas-Fermi theory of atoms, molecules and solids. Adv. Math. 23:22-116 (1977).

### Lieb, E. H.; Solovej J. P.; Yngvason J.

- [1] Asymptotics of heavy atoms in high magnetic fields: I. Lowest Landau band regions. Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 47:513–591 (1994).
- [2] Asymptotics of heavy atoms in high magnetic fields: II. Semiclassical regions. Commun. Math. Phys., 161:77–124 (1994).
- [3] Asymptotics of Natural and Artificial Atoms in Strong Magnetic Fields, in: D. Iagolnitzer (ed.), XIth International Congress of Mathematical Physics, pp. 185–205, International Press 1995.

#### Lieb, E. H.; Thirring, W.

[1] Inequalities for the moments of the eigenvalues of the Schrödinger Hamiltonian and their relation to Sobolev inequalities. Studies in Mathematical Physics, Princeton University Press, 269–303 (1976).

#### Lieb, E. H.; Yau, H.T.

[1] The Stability and Instability of Relativistic Matter. Commun. Math. Phys. 118(2): 177–213 (1988).

#### Lions, J. L.; Magenes, E.

 Non-homogeneous Boundary Value Problems, volume 181, 182, 183 of Die Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften in Einzeldarstellungen. Springer-Verlag, Berlin (1972–).

#### Liu, G.

- Some inequalities and asymptotic formulas for eigenvalues on Riemannian manifolds. J. Math. Anal.s and Applications 376(1):349–364 (2011).
- [2] The Weyl-type asymptotic formula for biharmonic Steklov eigenvalues on Riemannian manifolds. Advances in Math., 228(4):2162–2217 (2011).

#### Lorentz, H.A.

 Alte und neue Fragen der Physik. Physikal. Zeitschr., 11, 1234–1257 (1910).

#### Malgrange, B.

[1] *Ideals of Differentiable Functions*. Tata Institute and Oxford University Press, Bombay (1966).

#### Markus, A. S.; Matsaev, V. I.

[1] Comparison theorems for spectra of linear operators and spectral asymptotics. Trans. Moscow Math. Soc., 45:139–187 (1982, 1984).

## Martinet, J.

[1] Sur les singularités des formes différentielles. Ann. Inst. Fourier., 20(1):95–178 (1970).

# Martinez, A.

[1] An Introduction to semiclassical and microlocal analysis. Springer-Verlag (2002).

# Maslov, V. P.

[1] Théorie des Perturbations et Méthodes Asymptotiques. Dunod, Paris (1972).

# Maz'ya, V. G.

[1] Sobolev Spaces. Springer-Verlag (1985).

## Maz'ya, V. G.; Verbitsky, I. E.

[1] Boundedness and compactness criteria for the one-dimensional Schrödinger operator. Function spaces, interpolation theory and related topics (Lund, 2000), 369–382, de Gruyter, Berlin, 2002.

# Melgaard, M.; Ouhabaz, E. M.; Rozenblum, G.

[1] Negative discrete spectrum of perturbed multivortex Aharonov-Bohm Hamiltonians. Annales Henri Poincaré, 5(5): 979–1012 (2004).

# Melgaard, M.; Rozenblum, G.

[1] Eigenvalue asymptotics for weakly perturbed Dirac and Schrödinger operators with constant magnetic fields of full rank. Comm. Partial Differential Equations, 28(3-4):697–736 (2007).

## Melrose, R.

- Microlocal parametrices for diffractive boundary value problems. Duke Math. J., 42:605–635 (1975).
- [2] Local Fourier-Airy operators. Duke Math. J., 42:583–604 (1975).
- [3] Airy operators. Commun. Part. Differ. Equat., 3(1):1–76 (1978).
- [4] Weyl's conjecture for manifolds with concave boundary. In Proc. Symp. Pure Math., volume 36, Providence, RI. AMS (1980).
- [5] Hypoelliptic operators with characteristic variety of codimension two and the wave equation. Séminaire Goulaouic-Schwartz, Exp. No. 11, 13 pp., École Polytech., Palaiseau, (1980).
- [6] Transformation of boundary problems. Acta Math., 147:149–236 (1981).
- [7] The trace of the wave group. Contemp. Math., 27:127–161 (1984).
- [8] Weyl asymptotics for the phase in obstacle scattering. Commun. Part. Differ. Equat., 13(11):1441–1466 (1989).

#### Melrose, R. B.; Sjöstrand, J.

- Singularities of boundary value problems. I. Commun. Pure Appl. Math., 31:593-617 (1978).
- Singularities of boundary value problems. II.. Commun. Pure Appl. Math., 35:129–168 (1982).

#### Melrose, R. B.; Taylor, M. E.

[1] Near peak scattering and the corrected Kirchhoff approximation for a convex obstacle. Adv. in Math. 55(3):242–315 (1985).

## Menikoff, A.; Sjöstrand, J.

 On the eigenvalues of a class of hypoelliptic operators. I. Math. Ann., 235:55–85 (1978).

- [2] On the Eigenvalues of a Class of Hypoelliptic Operators. II. pages 201–247. Number 755 in Lect. Notes Math. Springer-Verlag.
- [3] On the eigenvalues of a class of hypoelliptic operators. III. J. d'Anal. Math., 35:123–150 (1979).

#### Métivier, G. M.

- [1] Fonction spectrale et valeurs propres d'une classe d'opérateurs nonelliptiques. Commun. Part. Differ. Equat., 1:467–519 (1976).
- [2] Valeurs propres de problèmes aux limites elliptiques irreguliers. Bull. Soc. Math. France, Mém, 51–52:125–219 (1977).
- [3] Estimation du reste en théorie spectral. In Rend. Semn. Mat. Univ. Torino, Facs. Speciale, pages 157–180 (1983).

## Miyazaki, Y.

 Asymptotic behavior of normal derivatives of eigenfunctions for the Dirichlet Laplacian. J. Math. Anal and Applications, 388(1):205–218 (2012).

#### Mohamed, A. (Morame, A.)

- Etude spectrale d'opérateurs hypoelliptiques à caractéristiques multiples.
  I. Ann. Inst. Fourier, 32(3):39–90 (1982).
- [2] Etude spectrale d'opérateurs hypoelliptiques à caractéristiques multiples.
  II. Commun. Part. Differ. Equat., 8:247–316 (1983).
- [3] Comportement asymptotique, avec estimation du reste, des valeurs propres d'une class d'opd sur ℝ<sup>n</sup>. Math. Nachr., 140:127–186 (1989).
- [4] Quelques remarques sur le spectre de l'opérateur de Schrödinger avec un champ magnétique. Commun. Part. Differ. Equat., 13(11):1415–1430 (1989).
- [5] Estimations semi-classique pour l'operateur de Schrödinger à potentiel de type coulombien et avec champ magnétique. Asymp. Anal., 4(3):235– 255 (1991).
#### Mohamed, A. (Morame, A.); Nourrigat, J.

[1] Encadrement du  $N(\lambda)$  pour un opérateur de Schrödinger avec un champ magnétique et un potentiel électrique. J. Math. Pures Appl., 70:87–99 (1991).

#### Morame, A.; Truc, F.

[1] Eigenvalues of Laplacian with constant magnetic field on non-compact hyperbolic surfaces with finite area. arXiv:1004.5291 (2010) 9pp.

#### ter Morsche, H.; Oonincx, P. J.

[1] On the integral representations for metaplectic operators. J. Fourier Analysis and Appls., 8(3):245–258 (2002).

#### Musina, R.; Nazarov, A. I.

- [1] On fractional Laplacians. arXiv:1308.3606
- [2] On fractional Laplacians-2. arXiv:1408.3568
- [3] OSobolev and Hardy-Sobolev inequalities for Neumann Laplacians on half spaces. arXiv:708.01567

#### Naimark, K.; Solomyak, M.

[1] Regular and pathological eigenvalue behavior for the equation  $-\lambda u'' = Vu$ on the semiaxis. J. Funct. Anal., 151(2):504–530 (1997).

#### Netrusov, Yu.; Safarov, Yu.

- [1] Weyl asymptotic formula for the Laplacian on domains with rough boundaries. Commun. Math. Phys., 253:481–509 (2005).
- [2] Estimates for the counting function of the Laplace operator on domains with rough boundaries. Around the research of Vladimir Maz'ya. III, Int. Math. Ser. (N. Y.), Springer, New York, 13:247–258 (2010).

# Netrusov, Yu.; Weidl T.

[1] On Lieb-Thirring inequalities for higher order operators with critical and subcritical powers. Commun. Math. Phys., 182(2):355–370 (1996).

# Nishitani, T.

- [1] Propagation of singularities for hyperbolic operators with transverse propagation cone. Osaka J. Math., 27(1): 1–16 (1990).
- [2] Note on a paper of N. Iwasaki. J. Math. Kyoto Univ., 38(3):415–418 (1998).
- [3] On the Cauchy problem for differential operators with double characteristics, transition from effective to non-effective characteristics. arXiv:1601.07688, 1–31 (2016).

# Nosmas, J. C.

 [1] Approximation semi-classique du spectre de systemes différentiels asymptotiques. C.R.A.S. Paris, Sér. 1, 295(3):253-256 (1982).
 pagebreak[2]

# Novitskii, M.; Safarov, Yu.

 Periodic points of quasianalytic Hamiltonian billiards. Entire functions in modern analysis (Tel-Aviv, 1997), Israel Math. Conf. Proc., Bar-Ilan Univ., Ramat Gan, 15:269–287 (2001).

# Otsuka, K.

 The second term of the asymptotic distribution of eigenvalues of the laplacian in the polygonal domain. Comm. Part. Diff. Equats., 8(15):1683-1716 (1983).

# Pam The L.

 Meilleurs estimations asymptotiques des restes de la fonction spectrale et des valeurs propres relatifs au Laplacien. Math. Scand., 48:5–31 (1981).

#### Paneah, B.

- Support-dependent weighted norm estimates for Fourier transforms. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 189(2):552–574 (1995).
- [2] Support-dependent weighted norm estimates for Fourier transforms, II. Duke Math. J., 92(1):335–353 (1998).

# Parenti, C.; Parmeggiani, A.

 Lower bounds for systems with double characteristics. J. Anal. Math., 86: 49–91 (2002).

# Parmeggiani, A.

- [1] A class of counterexamples to the Fefferman-Phong inequality for systems. Comm. Partial Differential Equations 29(9-10):1281-1303 (2004).
- [2] On the Fefferman-Phong inequality for systems of PDEs. in Phase space analysis of partial differential equations, 247–266, Progr. Nonlinear Differential Equations Appl., 69, Birkhäuser Boston, Boston, MA, (2006).
- [3] On positivity of certain systems of partial differential equations. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 104(3):723–726 (2007).
- [4] A remark on the Fefferman-Phong inequality for 2 × 2 systems. Pure Appl. Math. Q. 6(4):1081-1103 (2010), Special Issue: In honor of Joseph J. Kohn. Part 2.
- [5] On the problem of positivity of pseudodifferential systems. Studies in phase space analysis with applications to PDEs, 313–335, Progr. Nonlinear Differential Equations Appl., 84, Birkhäuser/Springer, New York, (2013).
- [6] Spectral theory of non-commutative harmonic oscillators: an introduction. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, 1992. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, (2010). xii+254 pp.

#### Parnovski, L.; Shterenberg, R.

 Complete asymptotic expansion of the integrated density of states of multidimensional almost-periodic Schrödinger operators. arXiv:1004.2939v2, 1–54 (2010).

#### Paul, T.; Uribe, A.

 Sur la formula semi-classique des traces. C.R.A.S. Paris, Sér. 1, 313:217– 222 (1991).

#### Petkov, V.; Popov, G.

- [1] Asymptotic behaviour of the scattering phase for non-trapping obstacles. Ann. Inst. Fourier, 32:114–149 (1982).
- [2] On the Lebesgue measure of the periodic points of a contact manifold. Math. Zeischrift, 218:91–102 (1995).
- [3] Semi-classical trace formula and clustering of eigenvalues for Schrödinger operators. Ann. Inst. H. Poincare (Physique Theorique), 68:17-83 (1998).

#### Petkov, V.; Robert, D.

 Asymptotique semi-classique du spectre d'hamiltoniens quantiques et trajectories classiques periodiques. Commun. Part. Differ. Equat., 10(4):365–390 (1985).

#### Petkov, V.; Stoyanov, L.

- Periodic geodesics of generic non-convex domains in ℝ<sup>2</sup> and the Poisson relation. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc., 15:88–90 (1986).
- [2] Periods of multiple reflecting geodesics and inverse spectral results. Amer. J. Math., 109:617–668 (1987).
- [3] Spectrum of the Poincare map for periodic reflecting rays in generic domains. Math. Zeischrift, 194:505–518 (1987).

- [4] Geometry of reflecting rays and inverse spectral results. John & Wiley and Sons, Chichester (1992).
- [5] Geometry of the generalized geodesic flow and inverse spectral problems. John & Wiley and Sons, Chichester (2017).
- Petkov, V.; Vodev, G. Asymptotics of the number of the interior transmission eigenvalues. Journal of Spectral Theory, 7(1):1–31 (2017).

# Popov, G.

 Spectral asymptotics for elliptic second order differential operators. J. Math. Kyoto Univ., 25:659–681 (1985).

# Popov, G.; Shubin, M. A.

 Asymptotic expansion of the spectral function for second order elliptic operators on ℝ<sup>n</sup>. Funct. Anal. Appl., 17(3):193–199 (1983).

# Pushnitski, A.; Rozenblum, G. V.

[1] Eigenvalue clusters of the Landau Hamiltonian in the exterior of a compact domain. Doc. Math. 12:569–586 (2007).

# Raikov, G.

- [1] Spectral asymptotics for the Schrödinger operator with potential which steadies at infinity. Commun. Math. Phys., 124:665–685 (1989).
- [2] Eigenvalue asymptotics for the Schrödinger operator with homogeneous magnetic potential and decreasing electric potential. I: Behavior near the essential spectrum tips. Commun. Part. Differ. Equat., 15(3):407–434 (1990).
- [3] Eigenvalue asymptotics for the Schrödinger operator with homogeneous magnetic potential and decreasing electric potential. II: Strong electric field approximation. In Proc. Int. Conf. Integral Equations and Inverse Problems, Varna 1989, pages 220–224. Longman (1990).

- [4] Strong electric field eigenvalue asymptotics for the Schrödinger operator with the electromagnetic potential. Letters Math. Phys., 21:41–49 (1991).
- [5] Semi-classical and weak-magnetic-field eigenvalue asymptotics for the Schrödinger operator with electromagnetic potential. C.R.A.S. Bulg. AN, 44(1) (1991).
- [6] Border-line eigenvalue asymptotics for the Schrödinger operator with electromagnetic potential. Int. Eq. Oper. Theorem., 14:875–888 (1991).
- [7] Eigenvalue asymptotics for the Schrödinger operator in strong constant magnetic fields. Commun. P.D.E. 23:1583–1620 (1998).
- [8] Eigenvalue asymptotics for the Dirac operator in strong constant magnetic fields. Math. Phys. Electron. J. 5(2) (1999), 22 pp.
- [9] Eigenvalue asymptotics for the Pauli operator in strong non-constant magnetic fields. Ann. Inst. Fourier, 49:1603–1636 (1999).

# Raikov, G.; Warzel, S.

 Quasiclassical versus non-classical spectral asymptotics for magnetic Schroödinger operators with decreasing electric potentials. Rev. Math. Phys., 14 (2002), 1051–1072.

# Randoll, B.

 The Riemann hypothesis for Selberg's zeta-function and asymptotic behavior of eigenvalues of the Laplace operator. Trans. AMS, 276:203– 223 (1976).

#### Raymond, N.

 Bound States of the Magnetic Schrödinger Operator. Tract in Math., 27, European Math. Soc., xiv+280 pp (2015).

# Raymond, N.; Vu-Ngoc, S.

[1] Geometry and spectrum in 2D magnetic wells. Annales de l'Institut Fourier, 2015, 65(1):137–169 (2015).

#### Reed, M.; Simon, B.

 The Methods of Modern Mathematical Physics. Volumes I–IV. Academic Press, New York (1972, 1975, 1979, 1978).

#### Robert, D.

- [1] Propriétés spectrales d'opérateurs pseudodifférentiels. Commun. Part. Differ. Equat., 3(9):755–826 (1978).
- [2] Comportement asymptotique des valeurs propres d'opérateurs du type Schrödinger à potentiel dégénére. J. Math. Pures Appl., 61(3):275–300 (1982).
- [3] Calcul fonctionnel sur les opérateurs admissibles et application. J. Funct. Anal., 45(1):74–84 (1982).
- [4] Autour de l'Approximation Semi-classique. Number 68 in Publ. Math. Birkhäuser (1987).
- [5] Propagation of coherent states in quantum mechanics and applications. http://www.math.sciences.univ-nantes.fr/~robert/proc\_cimpa.pdf.

#### Robert, D.; Tamura, H.

[1] Asymptotic behavior of scattering amplitudes in semi-classical and low energy limits. Ann. Inst. Fourier, 39(1):155–192 (1989).

#### Roussarie, R.

[1] Modèles locaux de champs et de forms. Astérisque, 30(1):3–179 (1975).

#### Rozenblioum, G. V.

- The distribution of the discrete spectrum for singular differential operators. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR, 202:1012–1015 (1972). In Russian. Poor English translation in Soviet Math. Dokl. 13 245–249 (1972).
- [2] Distribution of the discrete spectrum for singular differential operators. Soviet Math. Dokl., 13(1):245–249 (1972).

- [3] On the eigenvalues of the first boundary value problem in unbounded domains. Math. USSR Sb., 89(2):234–247 (1972).
- [4] Asymptotics of the eigenvalues of the Schrödinger operator. Math. USSR Sb., 22:349–371 (1974).
- [5] The distribution of the discrete spectrum of singular differential operators. English transl.: Sov. Math., Izv. VUZ, 20(1):63–71 (1976).
- [6] An asymptotics of the negative discrete spectrum of the Schrödinger operator. Math. Notes Acad. Sci. USSR, 21:222–227 (1977).
- [7] On the asymptotics of the eigenvalues of some 2-dimensional spectral Problems. pages 183–203. Number 7 in Univ. Publ. Leningrad (1979).

#### Rozenblum, G. V.; Sobolev, A. V.

 Discrete spectrum distribution of the Landau operator perturbed by an expanding electric potential. Spectral theory of differential operators, 169–190, Amer. Math. Soc. Transl. Ser. 2, 225, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2008.

#### Rozenblioum, G. V.; Solomyak, M. Z.

- The Cwikel-Lieb-Rozenblum estimates for generators of positive semigroups and semigroups dominated by positive semigroups. St. Petersbg. Math. J., 9(6):1195–1211 (1998).
- [2] Counting Schrödinger boundstates: semiclassics and beyond. Sobolev spaces in mathematics. II. Applications in Analysis and Partial Differential Equations, International Mathematical Series. Springer-Verlag, 9 (2008), 329–353.

#### Rozenblioum, G. V.; Solomyak, M. Z.; Shubin, M. A.

 Spectral theory of differential operators. Sovremennye problemy matematiki. Fundamental'nye napravleniya. VINITI, Moscow, 64 (1990). Translation to English has been published by Springer-Verlag: Partial Differential Equations VII, EMS volume 34 (1994).

#### Rozenblioum, G. V.; Tashchiyan, G.

- On the spectral properties of the Landau Hamiltonian perturbed by a moderately decaying magnetic field. Spectral and scattering theory for quantum magnetic systems. 169–186, Contemp. Math., 500, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2009.
- [2] On the spectral properties of the perturbed Landau Hamiltonian. Comm. Partial Differential Equations 33(4–6), 1048–1081 (2008).

#### Ruskai, M. B.; Solovej, J. P.

 Asymptotic neutrality of polyatomic molecules. In Schrödinger Operators, Springer Lecture Notes in Physics 403, E. Balslev (Ed.), 153–174, Springer Verlag (1992).

#### Safarov, Yu.

- Asymptotic behavior of the spectrum of the Maxwell operator. J. Soviet Math., 27(2):2655-2661 (1984).
- The asymptotics of the spectrum of transmission problems. J. Soviet Math., 32(5):519-525 (1986).
- [3] The asymptotics of the spectrum of boundary value problem with periodic billiard trajectories. Funct. Anal. Appl., 21:337–339 (1987).
- [4] On the second term of the spectral asymptotics of the transmission problem. Acta Appl. Math., 10:101–130 (1987).
- [5] On the Riesz means of the counting eigenvalues function of elliptic operator. Zapiski Nauchnykh Seminarov Leningradskogo Otdeleniya Matematicheskogo Instituta im. V.A. Steklova AN SSSR, 163: 143–145 (1987). In Russian.
- [6] The asymptotics of the spectrum of pseudodifferential operator with periodic bicharacteristics. In LOMI Proceedings, 152:94–104 (1986).
   English translation in J. Soviet Math., 40, no. 5 (1988).
- [7] The asymptotics of the spectral function of positive elliptic operator without non-trapping condition. Funct. Anal. Appl., 22(3):213–223 (1988).

- [8] The precise asymptotics of the spectrum of boundary value problem and periodic billiards. Izv. AN SSSR, 52(6):1230–1251 (1988).
- Lower bounds for the generalized counting function. The Maz'ya anniversary collection, Vol. 2 (Rostock, 1998), Oper. Theory Adv. Appl., Birkhäuser, Basel, 110:275–293 (1999).
- [10] Fourier Tauberian theorems and applications. J. Funct. Anal. 185(1):111– 128 (2001).
- [11] Berezin and Gårding inequalities. Funct. Anal. Appl. 39(4):301–307 (2005).
- [12] Sharp remainder estimates in the Weyl formula for the Neumann Laplacian on a class of planar regions. J. Functional Analysis, 250(1):21–41 (2007).
- [13] On the comparison of the Dirichlet and Neumann counting functions. Spectral theory of differential operators, Amer. Math. Soc. Transl. Ser.
   2, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 225:191–204 (2008).

#### Safarov, Yu. G.; Vassiliev, D. G.

- [1] Branching Hamiltonian billiards. Soviet Math. Dokl., 38(1) (1989).
- [2] The asymptotic distribution of eigenvalues of differential operators. AMS Transl., Ser. 2, 150 (1992).
- [3] The Asymptotic Distribution of Eigenvalues of Partial Differential Operators. volume 155 of Translations of Mathematical Monographs. American Mathematical Society (1997). 354pp.

#### Sarnak, P.

[1] Spectra and eigenfunctions of Laplacians. CRM Proc. and Lecture Notes, 12:261–273 (1997).

#### Schenk, D.; Shubin, M. A.

[1] Asymptotic expansion of the density of states and the spectral function of the Hill operator. Mat. Sborn., 12(4):474–491 (1985).

#### Seco, L. A.; Sigal, I. M.; Solovej, J. P.

[1] Bound of the ionization energy of large atoms. Commun. Math. Phys., 131:307–315 (1990).

#### Seeley, R.

- A sharp asymptotic estimate for the eigenvalues of the Laplacian in a domain of R<sup>3</sup>. Advances in Math., 102(3):244-264 (1978).
- [2] An estimate near the boundary for the spectral function of the Laplace operator. Amer. J. Math., 102(3):869–902 (1980).

#### Shargorodsky E.

 On negative eigenvalues of two-dimensional Schrödinger operators. Proc. Lond. Math. Soc. (3) 108 (2014), no. 2, 441–483.

#### Shigekawa, I.

 Eigenvalue problems for the Schrödinger operator with magnetic field on a compact Riemannian manifold. J. Funct. Anal., 87(75):92–127 (1989).

#### Shubin, M. A.

- [1] Weyl's theorem for the Schrödinger operator with an almost periodic potential. Trans. Moscow Math. Soc., 35:103–164 (1976).
- [2] Spectral theory and the index of elliptic operators with almost periodic potential. Soviet Math. Surv., 34(2):95–135 (1979).
- [3] *Pseudodifferential Operators and Spectral Theory*. Nauka (1978). In English: Springer-Verlag (2001).

#### Shubin, M. A.; Tulovskii, V. A.

 On the asymptotic distribution of eigenvalues of p.d.o. in ℝ<sup>n</sup>. Math. USSR Sbornik, 21:565–573 (1973).

#### Siedentop, H.; Weikard R.

- [1] On the leading energy correction for the statistical model of the atom: interacting case. Comm. Math. Phys. 112:471-490 (1987).
- [2] On the leading correction of the Thomas-Fermi model: lower bound. Invent. Math. 97, 159–193 (1989).
- [3] A new phase space localization technique with application to the sum negative eigenvalues of Schrödinger operators. Annales Sci. de l'É.N.S., 4e sér, 24(2):215-225 (1991).

#### Sigal, I. M.

 Lectures on large Coulomb systems. CRM Proc. and Lecture Note, 8:73–107 (1995).

#### Simon, B.

- [1] The bound state of weakly coupled Schrödinger operators in one and two dimensions. Annals of Physics. 97(2):279–288 (1976).
- [2] Nonclassical eigenvalue asymptotics. J. Funct. Anal., 33:84–98 (1983).
- [3] The Neumann Laplacian of a jelly roll. Proc. AMS, 114(3):783–785 (1992).
- [4] Comprehensive Course in Analysis. Parts I-IV. American Mathematical Society (2015).

#### Sjöstrand, J.

- Analytic singularities and microhyperbolic boundary value problems. Math. Ann., 254:211–256 (1980).
- [2] On the eigenvalues of a class of hypoelliptic operators. IV. Ann. Inst. Fourier, 30(2) (1980).
- [3] Singularités analytiques microlocales. Astérisque, 95 (1982).

- [4] Propagation of analytic singularities for second order Dirichlet problems.
   I. Commun. Part. Differ. Equat., 5(1):41–94 (1980).
- [5] Propagation of analytic singularities for second order Dirichlet problems. II. Commun. Part. Differ. Equat., 5(2):187–207 (1980).
- [6] Propagation of analytic singularities for second order Dirichlet problems. III. Commun. Part. Differ. Equat., 6(5):499–567 (1981).

#### Sobolev, A. V.

- [1] On the asymptotic for energy levels of a quantum particle in a homogeneous magnetic field, perturbed by a decreasing electric field. 1. J. Soviet Math., 35(1):2201–2211 (1986).
- [2] On the asymptotic for energy levels of a quantum particle in a homogeneous magnetic field, perturbed by a decreasing electric field. 2. Probl. Math. Phys, 11:232–248 (1986).
- [3] Discrete spectrum asymptotics for the Schrödinger operator with electric and homogeneous magnetic field. Notices LOMI sem., 182:131–141 (1990).
- [4] On the asymptotics of discrete spectrum for the Schrödinger operator in electric and homogeneous magnetic field. Operator Theory: Advances and Applications, 46:27–31 (1990).
- [5] Weyl asymptotics for the discrete spectrum of the perturbed Hill operator. Adv. Soviet Math., 7:159–178 (1991).
- [6] The quasiclassical asymptotics of local Riesz means for the Schrödinger operator in a strong homogeneous magnetic field. Duke Math. J., 74(2):319–429 (1994).
- [7] Quasiclassical asymptotics of local Riesz means for the Schrödinger operator in a moderate magnetic field. Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré, 62(4):325– 359 (1995).
- [8] Discrete Spectrum Asymptotics for the Schrödinger Operator in a Moderate Magnetic Field. volume 78, pages 357–367. Birkhäuser (1995).

#### Sobolev, A. V.; Yafaev D. R.

 Phase analysis in the problem of scattering by a radial potential. Zap. Nauchn. Sem. Leningrad. Otdel. Mat. Inst. Steklov. (LOMI), 147:155– 178, 206, 1985.

#### Sogge, C. D.

[1] Hangzhou lectures on eigenfunctions of the Laplacian (AM-188). Princeton Univ. Press, (2014).

#### Sogge, C. D.; Zelditch, S.

[1] Riemannian manifolds with maximal eigenfunction growth. Duke Math. J., 114(3):387–437 (2002).

#### Sobolev, S. L.

[1] Some Applications of Functional Analysis in Mathematical Physics. volume 90 of Trans. of Math. Monographs. AMS (1991)

#### Solnyshkin, S. N.

- Asymptotic of the energy of bound states of the Schrödinger operator in the presence of electric and homogeneous magnetic fields. Select. Math. Sov., 5(3):297–306 (1986).
- [2] On the discrete spectrum of a quantum particle in an electrical and a homogeneous magnetic field. Algebra i Analiz, 3(6):164–172 (1991).

#### Solomyak, M. Z.

- Spectral asymptotics of Schrödinger operators with non-regular homogeneous potential. Math. USSR Sbornik, 55(1):9–38 (1986).
- [2] Piecewise-polynomial approximation of functions from  $H^{l}((0, 1)^{d})$ , 2l = d, and applications to the spectral theory of the Schrödinger operator. Israel J. Math., 86(1-3):253-275 (1994).

- [3] On the negative discrete spectrum of the operator  $-\Delta_N \alpha V$  for a class of unbounded domains in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . CRM Proceedings and Lecture Notes, Centre de Recherches Mathematiques, 12:283–296 (1997).
- [4] On the discrete spectrum of a class of problems involving the Neumann Laplacian in unbounded domains. Advances in Mathematics, AMS (volume dedicated to 80-th birthday of S.G.Krein (P. Kuchment and V.Lin, Editors) - in press.

# Solomyak, M. Z.; Vulis, L. I.

[1] Spectral asymptotics for second order degenerating elliptic operators. Math. USSR Izv., 8(6):1343–1371 (1974).

# Solovej, J. P.

- [1] Asymptotic neutrality of diatomic molecules. Commun. Math. Phys., 130:185–204 (1990).
- [2] A new look at Thomas-Fermi Theory. Molecular Physics, 114(7-8), 1036–1040 (2016).
- [3] Thomas Fermi type theories (and their relation to exact models). In Encyclopedia of Applied and Computational Mathematics, Eds. B. Engquist, Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg, pp. 1471–1475 (2015).

#### Solovej, J. P.; Sørensen, T. Ø.; Spitzer W. L.

[1] The relativistic Scott correction for atoms and molecules. Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 63: 39–118 (2010).

# Solovej, J. P.; Spitzer W. L.

[1] A new coherent states approach to semiclassics which gives Scott's correction. Commun. Math. Phys. 241, 383–420, (2003).

# Sommerfeld, A.

[1] Die Greensche Funktion der Schwingungsgleichung für ein beliebiges Gebiet. Physikal. Zeitschr., 11, 1057–1066 (1910).

# Tamura, H.

- [1] The asymptotic distribution of eigenvalues of the Laplace operator in an unbounded domain. Nagoya Math. J. 60:7–33 (1976).
- [2] Asymptotic formulas with sharp remainder estimates for bound states of Schrödinger operators. J. d'Anal. Math., 40:166–182 (1981).
- [3] Asymptotic formulas with sharp remainder estimates for bound states of Schrödinger operators. II. J. d'Anal. Math., 41:85–108 (1982).
- [4] Asymptotic formulas with sharp remainder estimates for eigenvalues of elliptic second order operators. Duke Math. J., 49(1):87–119 (1982).
- [5] Asymptotic formulas with remainder estimates for eigenvalues of Schrödinger operators. Commun. Part. Differ. Equat., 7(1):1–54 (1982).
- [6] The asymptotic formulas for the number of bound states in the strong coupling limit. J. Math. Soc. Japan, 36:355–374 (1984).
- [7] Eigenvalue asymptotics below the bottom of essential spectrum for magnetic Schrödinger operators. In Proc. Conf. on Spectral and Scattering Theory for Differential Operators, Fujisakara-so, 1986, pages 198–205, Tokyo. Seizo Itô (1986).
- [8] Asymptotic distribution of eigenvalues for Schrödinger operators with magnetic fields. Nagoya Math. J., 105(10):49–69 (1987).
- [9] Asymptotic distribution of eigenvalues for Schrödinger operators with homogeneous magnetics fields. Osaka J. Math., 25:633–647 (1988).
- [10] Asymptotic distribution of eigenvalues for Schrödinger operators with homogeneous magnetic fields. II. Osaka J. Math., 26:119–137 (1989).

#### Taylor, M. E.

- Reflection of singularities of solutions to systems of differential equations. Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 28(4):457–478,1975.
- [2] Grazing rays and reflection of singularities of solutions to wave equations. Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 29(1):1–38 (1976).

- [3] Grazing rays and reflection of singularities of solutions to wave equations. II. Systems. Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 29(5):463–481, (1976).
- [4] Rayleigh waves in linear elasticity as a propagation of singularities phenomenon. Partial differential equations and geometry. Proc. Conf., Park City, Utah, 1977), Lecture Notes in Pure and Appl. Math., 48:273– 291 (1979), Dekker, New York.
- [5] Diffraction effects in the scattering of waves. Singularities in boundary value problems (Proc. NATO Adv. Study Inst., Maratea, 1980), NATO Adv. Study Inst. Ser. C: Math. Phys. Sci., 65, Reidel, Dordrecht-Boston, Mass., 271–316, 1981. pages 271–316. D. Reidel Publ. Co., Dordrecht, Boston, London (1981).
- [6] Diffraction of waves by cones and polyhedra. Analytical and numerical approaches to asymptotic problems in analysis Proc. Conf., Univ. Nijmegen, Nijmegen, 1980, 235–248, North-Holland Math. Stud., 47, North-Holland, Amsterdam-New York, 1981.
- [7] Pseudodifferential Operators. Princeton University Press (1981).

# Treves, F.

[1] Introduction to Pseudo-differential and Fourier Integral Operators. Vol. 1,2 Plenum Press (1982).

# Vainberg, B. R.

[1] A complete asymptotic expansion of the spectral function of second order elliptic operators in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . Math. USSR Sb., 51(1):191–206 (1986).

# Van Den Berg, M.

- [1] Dirichlet-Neumann bracketing for horn-shaped regions. Journal Funct. Anal., 104(1), 110–120 (1992).
- [12] On the spectral counting function for the Dirichlet laplacian. Journal Funct. Anal., 107(12), 352–361 (1992).

# Vassiliev, D. G.

- [1] Binomial asymptotics of spectrum of boundary value problems. Funct. Anal. Appl., 17(4):309–311 (1983).
- Two-term asymptotics of the spectrum of a boundary value problem under an interior reflection of general form. Funct. Anal. Appl., 18(4):267– 277 (1984).
- [3] Asymptotics of the spectrum of pseudodifferential operators with small parameters. Math. USSR Sbornik, 49(1):61–72 (1984).
- [4] Two-term asymptotics of the spectrum of a boundary value problem in the case of a piecewise smooth boundary. Soviet Math. Dokl., 33(1):227– 230 (1986).
- [5] Two-term asymptotics of the spectrum of natural frequencies of a thin elastic shell. Soviet Math. Dokl., 41(1):108–112 (1990).
- [6] One can hear the dimension of a connected fractal in R<sup>2</sup>. In Petkov & Lazarov: Integral Equations and Inverse Problems, 270–273; Longman Academic, Scientific & Technical (1991).

# Volovoy, A.

- Improved two-term asymptotics for the eigenvalue distribution function of an elliptic operator on a compact manifold. Commun. Part. Differ. Equat., 15(11):1509–1563 (1990).
- [2] Verification of the Hamiltonian flow conditions associated with Weyl's conjecture. Ann. Glob. Anal. Geom., 8(2):127–136 (1990).

# Vorobets, Y. B.; Galperin, G. A.; Stepin, A. M.

 Periodic billiard trajectories in polygons. Uspechi Matem. Nauk, (6):165– 166 (1991).

# Vugal'ter, S. A.

[1] On asymptotics of eigenvalues of many-particles Hamiltonians on subspaces of functions of the given symmetry. Theor. Math. Physics, 83(2):236-246 (1990).

#### Vugal'ter, S. A.; Zhislin, G. M.

- [1] On the spectrum of Schrödinger operator of multiparticle systems with short-range potentials. Trans. Moscow Math. Soc., 49:97–114 (1986).
- [2] Asymptotics of the discrete spectrum of Hamiltonians of quantum systems with a homogeneous magnetic field. Operator Theory: Advances and Applications, 46:33–53 (1990).
- [3] On precise asymptotics of the discrete spectrum of n-particle Schrödinger operator in the spaces with symmetry. Soviet Math. Dokl., 312(2):339– 342 (1990).
- [4] On the asymptotics of the discrete spectrum of the given symmetry for many-particle Hamiltonians. Trans. Moscow Math. Soc., 54:187–213 (1991). In Russian.
- [5] On the discrete spectrum of the given symmetry for the Schrödinger operator of the n-particle system in the homogeneous magnetic field. Funct. Anal. Appl., 25(4):83–86 (1991). In Russian, also in Soviet Math. Dokl., 317, no 6, 1365–1369 (1991).
- [6] On the asymptotics of the discrete spectrum of given symmetry of multiparticle Hamiltonians. (Russian) Trudy Moskov. Mat. Obshch. 54:186-212 (1992).
- Spectral asymptotics of N-particle Schrödinger operators with a homogeneous magnetic field on subspaces with fixed SO(2) symmetry. (Russian) Algebra i Analiz 5(2):108–125 (1993).

#### Wakabayashi, S.

- [1] Analytic singularities of solutions of the hyperbolic Cauchy problem. Japan Acad. Proc. Ser. A. Math. Sci. 59(10):449–452 (1983).
- [2] Singularities of solutions of the Cauchy problem for symmetric hyperbolic systems. Commun. Part. Differ. Equat., 9(12):1147–1177 (1984).

#### Wang, X. P.

- Asymptotic behavior of spectral means of pseudo-differential operators.
   J. Approx. Theor. Appl., 1(2):119–136 (1985).
- [2] Asymptotic behavior of spectral means of pseudo-differential operators. II. J. Approx. Theor. Appl., 1(3):1–32 (1985).

#### Weidl, T.

- [1] On the Lieb-Thirring Constants  $L_{\gamma,1}$  for  $\gamma \geq \frac{1}{2}$ . Comm. Math. Phys., 178:135–146 (1996).
- [2] Improved Berezin-Li-Yau inequalities with a remainder term. In Spectral Theory of Differential Operators, Amer. Math. Soc. Transl. (2) 225:253– 263 (2008).

#### Weinstein, A.

[1] Asymptotics of the eigenvalues, clusters for Laplacian plus a potential. Duke Math. J., 44:883–892 (1977).

#### Weyl, H.

- Uber die Asymptotische Verteilung der Eigenwerte. Nachr. Konigl. Ges. Wiss. Göttingen 110–117 (1911).
- [2] Das asymptotische Verteilungsgesetz linearen partiellen Differentialgleichungen. Math. Ann., 71:441–479 (1912).
- Uber die Abhängigkeit der Eigenschwingungen einer Membran von deren Begrenzung. J. Für die Angew. Math., 141:1–11 (1912).
- [4] Uber die Randwertaufgabe der Strahlungstheorie und asymptotische Spektralgeometrie. J. Reine Angew. Math., (143):177–202 (1913).
- [5] Das asymptotische Verteilungsgesetz der Eigenschwingungen eines beliebig gestalteten elastischen Körpers. Rend. Circ. Mat. Palermo. 39:1–49 (1915).
- [6] Quantenmechanik und Gruppentheorie. Zeitschrift f
  ür Physik, 46:1–46 (1927) (see The Theory of Groups and Quantum Mechanics, Dover, 1950, xxiv+422).

 [7] Ramifications, old and new, of the eigenvalue problem. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 56(2):115–139 (1950).

# Widom, H.

 A complete symbolic calculus for pseudo-differential operators. Bull. Sci. Math., Sér. 2, 104:19–63 (1980).

# Yngvason, J.

[1] Thomas-Fermi Theory for Matter in a Magnetic Field as a Limit of Quantum Mechanics. Lett. Math. Phys. 22:107–117 (1991).

# Zaretskaya, M. A.

- [1] On the spectrum of a class of differential operators. Izvestiya VUZ. Matematika, 27(5):76–78 (1983).
- [2] The character of the spectrum of square quantum Hamiltonians, Izvestiya VUZ. Matematika, 29(5):68–69 (1985).
- [3] Joint spectrum of system of commuting quadratic quantum Hamiltonians. Izvestiya VUZ. Matematika, 31(4):80–82 (1987).
- [4] Spectrum of quadratic operators different from normal. Izvestiya VUZ. Matematika, 33(11):24–30 (1990).

# Zelditch, S.

[1] Selberg trace formulae,  $\Psi$  do's and equidistribution theorems for closed geodesics and Laplace eigenfunctions. Lect. Notes Math., 1256:467–479 (1987).

# Zhislin, G.

[1] Discussion of the spectrum of Schrodinger operator for systems of many particles. Tr. Mosk. Mat. Obs., 9, 81–128 (1960).

# Zielinski, L.

- [1] Asymptotic distribution of eigenvalues of some elliptic operators with simple remainder estimates. J. Operator Theory, 39:249–282 (1998).
- [2] Asymptotic distribution of eigenvalues for some elliptic operators with intermediate remainder estimate. Asymptot. Anal., 17(2):93–120 (1998).
- [3] Asymptotic distribution of eigenvalues for elliptic boundary value problems. Asymptot. Anal., 16(3–4):181–201 (1998).
- [4] Sharp spectral asymptotics and Weyl formula for elliptic operators with non-smooth coefficients. Math. Phys. Anal. Geom., 2(3):291–321 (1999).
- [5] Sharp semiclassical estimates for the number of eigenvalues below a degenerate critical level. Asymptot. Anal., 53(1-2):97–123 (2007).
- [6] Semiclassical Weyl formula for a class of weakly regular elliptic operators. Math. Phys. Anal. Geom., 9(1):1–21 (2006).
- [7] Sharp semiclassical estimates for the number of eigenvalues below a totally degenerate critical level. J. Funct. Anal., 248(2):259–302 (2007).

# Zworski, M.

[1] Semiclassical Analysis. volume 138 of Graduate Studies in Mathematics. AMS, (2012).

# Part XII

# Articles



# Spectral Asymptotics for the Semiclassical Dirichlet to Neumann Operator \*,<sup>†</sup>

Andrew Hassell<sup>‡</sup>, Victor Ivrii<sup>§</sup>

#### Abstract

Let M be a compact Riemannian manifold with smooth boundary, and let  $R(\lambda)$  be the Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator at frequency  $\lambda$ . The semiclassical Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator  $R_{scl}(\lambda)$  is defined to be  $\lambda^{-1}R(\lambda)$ . We obtain a leading asymptotic for the spectral counting function for  $R_{scl}(\lambda)$  in an interval  $[a_1, a_2)$  as  $\lambda \to \infty$ , under the assumption that the measure of periodic billiards on  $T^*M$  is zero. The asymptotic takes the form

$$\mathsf{N}(\lambda; a_1, a_2) = (\kappa(a_2) - \kappa(a_1)) \operatorname{vol}'(\partial M) \lambda^{d-1} + o(\lambda^{d-1}),$$

where  $\kappa(a)$  is given explicitly by

$$\kappa(a) = \frac{\omega_{d-1}}{(2\pi)^{d-1}} \left( -\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-1}^{1} (1-\eta^2)^{(d-1)/2} \frac{a}{a^2+\eta^2} \, d\eta -\frac{1}{4} + H(a)(1+a^2)^{(d-1)/2} \right).$$

\*2010 Mathematics Subject Classification: 35P20, 58J50.

 $<sup>^{\</sup>dagger}Key$  words and phrases: Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator, semiclassical Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator, spectral asymptotics.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>‡</sup>Andrew.Hassell@anu.edu.au, Mathematical Sciences Institute, Australian National University, Canberra, ACT 0200 Australia. This research was supported in part by Australian Research Council Discovery Grants DP120102019 and DP150102419.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>§</sup>This research was supported in part by National Science and Engineering Research Council (Canada) Discovery Grant RGPIN 13827.

# 1 Introduction

Let M be a Riemannian manifold with boundary. The Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator is a family of operators defined on  $L^2(\partial M)$  depending on the parameter  $\lambda \ge 0$ . It is defined as follows: given  $f \in L^2(\partial M)$ , we solve the equation (if possible)

(1.1) 
$$(\Delta - \lambda^2) u = 0 \quad \text{on } M, \qquad u|_{\partial M} = f.$$

Then the Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator at frequency  $\lambda$  is the map

(1.2) 
$$R(\lambda): f \mapsto -\partial_{\nu} u|_{\partial M}.$$

Here  $\partial_{\nu}$  is the interior unit normal derivative, and  $\Delta$  is the positive Laplacian on M.

It is well known that  $R(\lambda)$  is a self-adjoint, semi-bounded from below pseudodifferential operator of order 1 on  $L^2(\partial M)$ , with domain  $H^1(\partial M)$ . It therefore has discrete spectrum accumulating only at  $+\infty$ . The Dirichletto-Neumann operator and closely related operators are important in a number of areas of mathematical analysis including inverse problems (such as Calderón's problem [Cal]), domain decomposition problems (such as the determinant gluing formula of Burghelea-Friedlander-Kappeler [BFK]), and spectral asymptotics (see e.g. [Fried]).

In this paper, we are interested in the spectral asymptotics of  $R(\lambda)$  in the high-frequency limit,  $\lambda \to \infty$ . Let us recall standard spectral asymptotics for elliptic differential operators, for simplicity in the simplest case of a positive self-adjoint second order scalar operator. Suppose that Q is such an operator on a manifold M of dimension d, with principal symbol q. Then in the case that M is closed, we have an asymptotic for the number  $N(\lambda)$  of eigenvalues of Q (counted with multiplicity) less than  $\lambda^2$ :

(1.3) 
$$\mathsf{N}(\lambda) = (2\pi)^{-d} \operatorname{vol}\{(x,\xi) \in T^*M \mid q(x,\xi) \le \lambda^2\} + O(\lambda^{d-1})$$
  
=  $(\frac{\lambda}{2\pi})^d \operatorname{vol}\{(x,\xi) \in T^*M \mid q(x,\xi) \le 1\} + O(\lambda^{d-1}),$ 

where the equality of the two expressions on the RHS is a simple consequence of the homogeneity of q. Moreover, if the set of periodic geodesics has measure zero, then there is a two-term expansion of the form

$$\left(rac{\lambda}{2\pi}
ight)^d \operatorname{vol}\{(x,\xi)\in T^*M\mid q(x,\xi)\leq 1\}+rac{\lambda^{d-1}}{(2\pi)^d}\int_{\{q=1\}}\operatorname{sub}(Q)+o(\lambda^{d-1})$$

where  $\operatorname{sub}(Q)$  is the subprincipal symbol of Q [DuGu]. This was generalised to the case of manifolds with boundary by the second author [Ivr1]. For simplicity we state the result in the case that  $Q = \Delta$  is the (positive) metric Laplacian, which satisfies  $\operatorname{sub}(\Delta) = 0$ . Then  $\Delta$  is a self-adjoint operator under either Dirichlet (-) or Neumann (+) boundary conditions, and if the set of periodic generalised bicharacteristics has measure zero, we get a two-term expansion for  $N_{\Delta}(\lambda)$  of the form

(1.4) 
$$(\frac{\lambda}{2\pi})^d \operatorname{vol} B^* M \pm \frac{1}{4} (\frac{\lambda}{2\pi})^{d-1} \operatorname{vol} B^* \partial M + o(\lambda^{d-1}).$$

These statements can be generalized to the semiclassical setting. Consider a classical Schrödinger operator on M,  $P = h^2 \Delta + V(x) - 1$ , where h > 0is a small parameter ("Planck's constant") and V is a smooth real-valued function. We consider the asymptotic behaviour  $N_h^-(P)$  of the number of negative eigenvalues of P as  $h \to 0$ . This is equivalent to the problem above if  $h = \lambda^{-1}$  and V is identically zero. Define  $p(x, \xi)$  to be the semiclassical symbol of P, i.e.  $p = |\xi|_{g(x)}^2 + V(x) - 1$ . Then, if M is closed, under the assumption that the measure of periodic bicharacteristics of P is zero in  $T^*M$ , and that 0 is a regular value for p, we have

(1.5) 
$$\mathsf{N}_h^-(P) = (2\pi h)^{-d} \operatorname{vol}\{(x,\xi) \in T^*M \mid p(x,\xi) \le 0\} + O(h^{1-d}).$$

Moreover, for manifolds with boundary, we have an analogue of (1.4): under either Dirichlet (-) or Neumann (+) boundary conditions, if the set of periodic generalised bicharacteristics has measure zero, we get a two-term expansion for  $N_h^-(P)$  (where here we understand the self-adjoint realization of P with either Dirichlet or Neumann boundary condition) of the form

(1.6) 
$$(2\pi h)^{-d} \operatorname{vol}\{(x,\xi) \in T^*M \mid p(x,\xi) \le 0\} \pm \frac{1}{4} (2\pi h)^{1-d} \operatorname{vol} \mathcal{H} + o(h^{1-d}),$$

where  $\mathcal{H} \subset T^*(\partial M)$  is the hyperbolic region in the boundary, that is, the projection of the set  $\{(x,\xi) \mid p(x,\xi) \leq 0\} \cap T^*_{\partial M}M$  to  $T^*\partial M$ .

From the semiclassical point of view, since  $R(\lambda)$  is a first order operator, it makes sense to consider  $R_{scl}(\lambda) := \lambda^{-1}R(\lambda)$  (for  $\lambda > 0$ ), which we call the semiclassical Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator. Like  $R(\lambda)$ , it is a self-adjoint, semi-bounded from below operator on  $L^2(\partial M)$ , with discrete spectrum accumulating only at  $+\infty$ . The goal of this paper is to investigate the spectral asymptotics of  $R_{scl}(\lambda)$ , that is, the asymptotics of

(1.7) 
$$\mathsf{N}(\lambda; \mathbf{a}_1, \mathbf{a}_2) := \#\{\beta : \beta \text{ is an eigenvalue of } R_{\mathsf{scl}}(\lambda), \ \mathbf{a}_1 \le \beta < \mathbf{a}_2\},$$

the number of eigenvalues of  $R_{scl}(\lambda)$  in the interval  $[a_1, a_2)$ , as  $\lambda \to \infty$ .

Both  $R(\lambda)$  and  $R_{scl}(\lambda)$  have the disadvantage that they are undefined whenever  $\lambda^2$  is a Dirichlet eigenvalue, since then (1.1) is not solvable for arbitrary  $f \in H^1(M)$ . Indeed, when  $\lambda^2$  is a Dirichlet eigenvalue, a necessary condition for solvability of (1.1) is that f is orthogonal to the normal derivatives of Dirichlet eigenfunctions at frequency  $\lambda$ . To overcome this issue, we introduce the *Cayley transform* of  $R_{scl}(\lambda)$ : we define

(1.8) 
$$C(\lambda) = (R_{\rm scl}(\lambda) - i)(R_{\rm scl}(\lambda) + i)^{-1}.$$

This family of operators is related to impedance boundary conditions: we have  $C(\lambda)f = g$  if and only if there is a function u on M satisfying

$$(1.9) \qquad \qquad (\Delta - \lambda^2)u = 0$$

and

$$(1.10)_{1,2} \qquad \frac{1}{2}(\lambda^{-1}\partial_{\nu}u - iu) = f, \qquad \frac{1}{2}(\lambda^{-1}\partial_{\nu}u + iu) = g.$$

As observed in [BH],  $C(\lambda)$  is a well-defined analytic family of operators for  $\lambda$  in a neighbourhood of the positive real axis, which is unitary on the real axis. In particular, it is well-defined even when  $\lambda^2$  is a Dirichlet eigenvalue of the Laplacian on M. As a unitary operator,  $C(\lambda)$ ,  $\lambda > 0$ , has its spectrum on the unit circle, and as  $R_{scl}(\lambda)$  has discrete spectrum accumulating only at  $\infty$ , it follows that the spectrum of  $C(\lambda)$  is discrete on the unit circle except at the point 1. Our question can be formulated in terms of  $C(\lambda)$ : given two angles  $\theta_1, \theta_2$  satisfying  $0 < \theta_1 < \theta_2 < 2\pi$ , what is the leading asymptotic for

(1.11) 
$$\tilde{N}(\lambda; \theta_1, \theta_2) \coloneqq \#\{e^{i\theta} : e^{i\theta} \text{ is an eigenvalue of } C(\lambda), \ \theta_1 \le \theta < \theta_2\}$$

the number of eigenvalues of  $C(\lambda)$  in the interval  $\{e^{i\theta} : \theta \in [\theta_1, \theta_2)\}$  of the unit circle, as  $\lambda \to \infty$ . Clearly, we have

(1.12) 
$$\tilde{\mathsf{N}}(\lambda;\theta_1,\theta_2) = \mathsf{N}(\lambda;a_1,a_2)$$
, where  $e^{i\theta_j} = \frac{a_j - i}{a_j + i}$ , i.e.  $a_j = -\cot(\frac{\theta_j}{2})$ .

To answer this question we relate it to a standard semiclassical eigenvalue counting problem on M. To state the next result, we first define the self-adjoint operator  $P_{a,h}$  on  $L^2(M)$  by

(1.13) 
$$\mathfrak{D}(P_{a,h}) = \{ u \in H^2(M) : (h\partial_{\nu} + a)u = 0 \text{ at } \partial M \},$$

(1.14) 
$$P_{a,h}(u) = (h^2 \Delta - 1)u, \quad u \in \mathfrak{D}(P_{a,h}).$$

It is the self-adjoint operator associated to the semi-bounded quadratic form

(1.15) 
$$h^2 \|\nabla u\|_M^2 - \|u\|_M^2 - ha\|u\|_{\partial M}^2$$

The operator  $P_{a,h}$  is linked with the semiclassical Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator as follows: if f is an eigenfunction of  $R_{scl}(\lambda)$  with eigenvalue a, then the corresponding Helmholtz function u defined by (1.1) is in the domain (1.13) of  $P_{a,h}$ , and  $P_{a,h}u = 0$  (where  $h = \lambda^{-1}$ ).

Then we have the following result, proved in Section 2.

**Proposition 1.1.** Let  $h = \lambda^{-1}$ . Assume  $0 < \theta_1 < \theta_2 < 2\pi$ . Then the number of eigenvalues of  $C(\lambda)$  in the interval  $J_{\theta_1,\theta_2} := \{e^{i\theta} : \theta \in [\theta_1, \theta_2)\}$  is equal to

(1.16) 
$$\tilde{\mathsf{N}}(\lambda;\theta_1,\theta_2) = \mathsf{N}(\lambda;a_1,a_2) = \mathsf{N}_h^-(a_2) - \mathsf{N}_h^-(a_1),$$

where  $a_j = -\cot(\theta_j/2)$  and

(1.17)  $\mathsf{N}_h^-(\mathbf{a}) \coloneqq \#\{\mu : \mu \text{ is an eigenvalue of } \mathsf{P}_{\mathbf{a},h}, \ \mu < 0\}.$ 

Having thus reduced the problem to a standard question about semiclassical spectral asymptotics, we obtain (after some calculations in Section 3) our main result.

**Theorem 1.2.** (i) The following estimate for the quantity (1.11) holds:

(1.18) 
$$\mathsf{N}(\lambda; a_1, a_2) = O(\lambda^{d-1});$$

(ii) Further, if the set of periodic billiards on M has measure 0 then the following asymptotic holds as  $\lambda \to +\infty$ :

(1.19) 
$$\mathsf{N}(\lambda; \mathbf{a}_1, \mathbf{a}_2) = \left(\kappa(\mathbf{a}_2) - \kappa(\mathbf{a}_1)\right) \mathsf{vol}'(\partial M) \lambda^{d-1} + o(\lambda^{d-1}),$$

where  $\kappa(\mathbf{a})$  is given explicitly by

(1.20) 
$$\kappa(\mathbf{a}) = \frac{\omega_{d-1}}{(2\pi)^{d-1}} \left( -\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-1}^{1} (1-\eta^2)^{(d-1)/2} \frac{\mathbf{a}}{\mathbf{a}^2 + \eta^2} d\eta -\frac{1}{4} + H(\mathbf{a})(1+\mathbf{a}^2)^{(d-1)/2} \right).$$

Here  $H(\cdot)$  is the Heaviside function,  $\omega_d$  is the volume of the unit ball in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , and  $\operatorname{vol}(M)$  and  $\operatorname{vol}'(\partial M)$  are *d*-dimensional volume of *M* and (d-1)-dimensional volume of  $\partial M$  respectively.

(iii) In the case d = 3, we can evaluate this integral exactly and we find that

(1.21) 
$$\kappa(a) = \frac{1}{4\pi} \left( -\frac{1}{4} - \frac{1}{\pi} \operatorname{arccot}(a)(1+a^2) + (1+a^2) + \frac{1}{\pi}a \right)$$

where arccot has range  $(0, \pi)$ . This is simpler expressed in terms of  $\theta$ . Defining  $\tilde{\kappa}(\theta) = \kappa(a)$  where  $a = -\cot(\theta/2) = \cot(\pi - \theta/2)$ , we have (still under the zero-measure assumption on periodic billiards)

(1.22) 
$$\tilde{\mathsf{N}}(\lambda;\theta_1,\theta_2) = \left(\tilde{\kappa}(\theta_2) - \tilde{\kappa}(\theta_1)\right) \operatorname{vol}'(\partial M) \lambda^2 + o(\lambda^2),$$

(1.23) 
$$\tilde{\kappa}(\theta) = \frac{1}{4\pi} \Big( -\frac{1}{4} + \frac{1}{2\pi} \Big( \frac{\theta - \sin\theta}{\sin^2(\theta/2)} \Big) \Big).$$

Remark 1.3. It looks disheartening that we only get an upper bound in case (i) and only a "o" remainder under a global geometric condition, but it is the nature of the beast.

In regards to case (i), consider M a hemisphere; then for  $\lambda_n^2 = n(n+d-1)$  with  $n \in \mathbb{Z}^+$  the operator  $R(\lambda)$  has eigenvalue 0 of multiplicity  $\simeq n^{d-1}$ , hence  $N(\lambda; a_1, a_2)$  jumps by at least  $c\lambda^{d-1}$  as  $a_1$  or  $a_2$  crosses zero. Therefore, in this case, we do not have an asymptotic, but only an estimate.

In regards to case (ii), we believe that the "o" remainder is the best that can be achieved using current technology. To justify this, consider the problem of finding the spectral asymptotics of the semiclassical Dirichletto-Neumann operator for the operator  $\Delta + \lambda^2$ , instead of  $\Delta - \lambda^2$  (for real  $\lambda$ ). In this case, one can readily check that the semiclassical Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator is a semiclassically elliptic pseudodifferential operator on the boundary, with principal symbol  $\sqrt{1 + h^2 \Delta_{\partial M}}$ . Then standard spectral asymptotics hold for this operator, and we would get a remainder term  $O(\lambda^{d-2})$ . However, for the operator  $\Delta - \lambda^2$ , the semiclassical Dirichletto-Neumann operator is only microlocally elliptic in the region  $\{(y, \eta) \mid$  $|\eta|_{g'} > 1 \subset T^* \partial M$ , where g' is the induced metric on the boundary. It is hyperbolic in the region where  $|\eta|_{g'} < 1$ , and that means there is (currently) no machinery for *directly* tackling its spectral asymptotics. Instead, we proceed by relating it to the spectral asymptotics for the interior problem with a family of boundary conditions depending on the spectral parameter a. This means that the problem is in some sense really d-dimensional, and our  $o(\lambda^{d-1})$  remainder is the "ghost" of *d*-dimensional spectral asymptotics, in which the principal, Weyl term cancels under taking the difference (1.16), and all we are left with is the second term — and only under the global geometric assumption of measure zero periodic billiard trajectories.

We note that under stronger assumptions on the billiard flow, the remainder could be improved, for example to  $O(\lambda^{d-1-\delta})$  for some  $\delta > 0$  in the case of a Euclidean ellipse or elliptical annulus — see Section 7.4 of [Ivr4].

Remark 1.4. One can consider eigenvalues of operator  $\rho\lambda^{-1}R(\lambda)$  with  $\rho > 0$ smooth on  $\partial M$ ; then estimates (3.1), (1.18) and asymptotics (3.2), (1.19) hold in the frameworks of Statement (i) and (ii) of Theorem 1.2 respectively albeit with  $\kappa(a) \operatorname{vol}'(\partial M)$  replaced by

$$\int_{\partial M} \kappa(
ho(x')a) \, d\sigma$$

where  $d\sigma$  is a natural measure on  $\partial M$ ; however without this condition  $\rho > 0$  problem may be much more challenging; even self-adjointness is by no means guaranteed.

Remark 1.5. Operators of the form  $P_{a,h}$  were considered by Frank and Geisinger [FG]. They showed that the trace of the negative part of  $P_{a,h}$  has a two-term expansion as  $h \to 0$  regardless of dynamical assumptions<sup>1</sup>), and the second term in their expansion (the  $L_d^{(2)}$  term of [FG, Theorem 1.1]) is closely related to  $\kappa(a)$  — see Remark 3.4.

Remark 1.6. We can rephrase Theorem 1.2 in terms of a limiting measure on the unit circle. For each  $\lambda > 0$ , let  $\mu(h)$ ,  $h = \lambda^{-1}$ , denote the atomic measure determined by the spectrum of  $C(\lambda)$ :

(1.24) 
$$\mu(h) = (2\pi h)^{d-1} \sum_{e^{i\theta_j} \in \operatorname{spec} C(h^{-1})} \delta(\theta - \theta_j),$$

where we include each eigenvalue according to its multiplicity as usual. Then Theorem 1.2 can be expressed in the following way: the measures  $\mu(h)$  converge in the weak-\* topology as  $h \to 0$  to the measure

(1.25) 
$$\omega_{d-1} \operatorname{vol}'(\partial M) \frac{d}{d\theta} \tilde{\kappa}(\theta) d\theta$$
 on  $(0, 2\pi)$ , that is on  $S^1 \setminus \{1\}$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1)</sup> The fact that Frank and Geisinger obtain a second term regardless of dynamical assumptions is simply due to the fact that they study  $\operatorname{Tr} f(P_{a,h})$  with  $f(\lambda) = -\lambda H(-\lambda)$  (*H* is the Heaviside function), which is one order smoother than  $f(\lambda) = H(-\lambda)$ .

In particular, this measure is absolutely continuous, and finite away from  $e^{i\theta} = 1$  with an infinite accumulation of mass as  $\theta \uparrow 2\pi$ . In this form, we can compare our result with results on the semiclassical spectral asymptotics of scattering matrices. In [DGHH] and [GHZ], the scattering matrix  $S_h(E)$ at energy E for the Schrödinger operator  $h^2 \Delta + V(x)$  on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  was studied in the semiclassical limit  $h \to 0$ . Assuming that V is smooth and compactly supported, that E is a nontrapping energy level, and that the set of periodic trajectories of the classical scattering transformation on  $T^*S^{d-1}$  has measure zero, it was shown that the measure  $\mu(h)$  defined by (1.24) converged weak-\* to a uniform measure on  $S^1 \setminus \{1\}$ , with an atom of infinite mass at the point 1. On the other hand, for polynomially decaying potentials, it was shown by Sobolev and Yafaev [H-SoYa] in the case of central potentials and by Gell-Redman and the first author more generally [GRH] that there is a limiting measure which is nonuniform, and is qualitatively similar to the measure for  $C(h^{-1})$  above in that it is finite away from 1, with an infinite accumulation of mass at 1 from one side.

# 2 Reduction to Semiclassical Spectral Asymptotics

In this section we prove Proposition 1.1. This result actually follows directly from the Birman-Schwinger principle. As some readers may not be familiar with this, we give the details.

*Proof of Proposition 1.1.* We begin by recalling that the operator  $P_{a,h}$  is the self-adjoint operator associated to the quadratic form (1.15), that is,

$$Q_{a,h}(u) := h^2 \|\nabla u\|_M^2 - \|u\|_M^2 - ha\|u\|_{\partial M}^2$$

We recall the min-max characterization of eigenvalues: the *n*th eigenvalue  $\mu_n(a, h)$  of  $P_{a,h}$  is equal to the infimum of

$$\sup_{v\in V, \|v\|=1} Q_{a,h}(v)$$

over all subspaces  $V \in H^1(M)$  of dimension n. The monotonicity of  $Q_{a,h}$  in a, for fixed h, shows that the eigenvalues are monotone nonincreasing with a. In fact, they are strictly decreasing, which follows from the fact



Figure 1: Diagram showing the variation of eigenvalues  $\mu(a, h)$  of  $P_{a,h}$  as a function of a for fixed h. The eigenvalues are strictly decreasing in a. Consequently, the number of negative eigenvalues of  $P_{a_{2,h}}$  is equal to the number of negative eigenvalues of  $P_{a_{1,h}}$  together with the number that cross the a-axis between  $a = a_1$  and  $a = a_2$ .

that eigenfunctions of  $P_{a,h}$  cannot vanish at the boundary. Indeed, the eigenfunctions satisfy the boundary condition  $h\partial_{\nu}u = -au$ , which shows that if u vanishes at the boundary, so does  $\partial_{\nu}u$ , which is impossible.

The eigenvalues  $\mu_n(a, h)$  are thus continuous, strictly decreasing functions of a. Let  $a_1 < a_2$  be real numbers. The Birman-Schwinger principle [Ivr3, Prop. 9.2.7] says that the number of negative eigenvalues of  $P_{a_2,h}$  is equal to the number of negative eigenvalues of  $P_{a_1,h}$ , plus the number of eigenvalues  $\mu_n(a, h)$  of  $P_{a,h}$  that change from nonnegative to negative as a varies from  $a_1$  to  $a_2$ . A diagram makes this clear: see Figure 1.

The strict monotonicity of  $\mu(a, h)$  in a shows that the number of eigenvalues  $\mu_n(a, h)$  of  $P_{a,h}$  that change from nonnegative to negative as a varies from  $a_1$  to  $a_2$  is the same as the number of  $\mu(a, h)$  (counted with multiplicity) equal to zero, for  $a \in [a_1, a_2)$ . Next, we observe that the space of eigenfunctions  $u_n(a, h)$  of  $P_{a,h}$  with zero eigenvalue, i.e.  $\mu_n(a, h) = 0$  is in one-to-one

correspondence with the space of eigenfunctions of  $C(\lambda)$ ,  $\lambda = h^{-1}$ , with eigenvalue  $(a-i)(a+i)^{-1}$ , or equivalently  $e^{i\theta}$  where  $a = -\cot(\theta/2)$ . Indeed, whenever  $u_n$  is such an eigenfunction of  $P_{a,h}$ , then

(2.1) 
$$f \coloneqq \frac{1}{2} (h \partial_{\nu} u - i u) \big|_{\partial M}$$

is an eigenfunction of  $C(\lambda)$ , with eigenvalue  $(a - i)(a + i)^{-1}$ . Conversely, if f is an eigenfunction of  $C(\lambda)$  with eigenvalue  $(a - i)(a + i)^{-1}$ , then by definition there exists a Helmholtz function u such that u is related to faccording to (2.1), and we have  $(h\partial_{\nu} + a)u = 0$  at  $\partial M$ . This completes the proof.

Remark 2.1. We can apply similar arguments for  $\lambda^{-\delta}\rho^{-1}R(\lambda)$  as  $\rho > 0$  is a smooth function on  $\partial M$  and then plug corresponding parameters in the boundary conditions coming again to equality (1.16).

We next digress to prove that the eigenvalues of  $C(\lambda)$  are monotonic (that is, they move monotonically around the unit circle) in  $\lambda$ . This plays no role in the remainder of our proof, but is (in the authors' opinion) of independent interest.

**Proposition 2.2.** The eigenvalues of  $C(\lambda)$  rotate clockwise around the unit circle as  $\lambda$  increases.

Remark 2.3. This implies that the eigenvalues of  $R_{scl}(\lambda)$  are monotone decreasing in  $\lambda$ .

*Proof.* As discussed in the previous proof,  $C(\lambda)$  has eigenvalue  $e^{i\theta}$  if and only if  $P_{a,h}$  has a zero eigenvalue, where  $a = a(\theta) = -\cot(\theta/2)$ . Thus, as a function of  $h = \lambda^{-1}$ ,  $\theta(h)$  is defined implicitly by the condition

$$\mu(a(\theta), h) = 0.$$

Since **a** is a strictly increasing function of  $\theta$ , and we have just seen that  $\mu$  is a strictly decreasing function of **a**, it suffices to show that when  $\mu = 0$ ,  $\mu$  is a strictly increasing function of **h**, hence a strictly decreasing function of  $\lambda$ .

We now compute the derivative of  $\mu$  with respect to h, at a value of a and h where  $\mu(a, h) = 0$ . We have

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{d}{dh}\mu(a,h) &= \frac{d}{dh}((h^2\Delta - 1)u(h), u(h))_M \\ &= 2h(\Delta u, u)_M + ((h^2\Delta - 1)u'(h), u(h))_M + ((h^2\Delta - 1)u(h), u'(h))_M \\ &= 2h(\Delta u, u)_M + ((h^2\Delta - 1)u', u)_M - (u', (h^2\Delta - 1)u)_M \end{aligned}$$

In the third line, we used the fact that  $(h^2\Delta - 1)u = 0$  when  $\mu(h) = 0$ . Note the second term is not zero, as u' is not in the domain of the operator due to the changing boundary condition, so we cannot move the operator to the right hand side of the inner product without incurring boundary terms. We use the Gauss-Green formula to express the last two terms as a boundary integral:

$$\mu'(h) = 2h(\Delta u, u)_M + h(h\partial_\nu u', u)_{\partial M} - h(u', h\partial_\nu u)_{\partial M}$$
  
=  $2h(\Delta u, u)_M + h(h\partial_\nu u', u)_{\partial M} + ha(u', u)_{\partial M}.$ 

Differentiating the boundary condition we find that

$$(h\partial_{\nu} + a)u' = -h\partial_{\nu}u$$
 at  $\partial M$ .

Substituting that in we get

$$\mu'(h) = 2h(\Delta u, u)_M - h(u, \partial_{\nu} u)_{\partial M}.$$

Applying Gauss-Green again, we get

$$\mu'(h) = h(\Delta u, u)_M + h \|\nabla u\|_M^2$$
  
=  $h^{-1} \Big( \|u\|_{L^2(M)}^2 + \|h\nabla u\|_{L^2(M)}^2 \Big) > 0.$ 

# **3** Semiclassical Spectral Asymptotics

In this section, we prove Theorem 1.2. Essentially, we have arrived at a rather standard semiclassical spectral asymptotics problem and results are due to [Ivr3], Chapter 5 or [Ivr4], Chapter 7. See the appendix to this paper for further discussion.

478

**Proposition 3.1.** (i) Let  $N_h^-(a)$  be as in (1.17). The following asymptotic holds as  $h \to +0$ :

(3.1) 
$$\mathsf{N}_h^-(a) = (2\pi h)^{-d} \omega_d \operatorname{vol}(M) + O(h^{1-d})$$

(ii) Further, if the set of periodic billiards on M has measure 0 then as  $h \rightarrow +0$ :

(3.2) 
$$\mathsf{N}_h^-(a) = (2\pi h)^{-d} \omega_d \operatorname{vol}(M) + h^{1-d} \kappa(a) \operatorname{vol}'(\partial M) + o(h^{1-d})$$

with  $\kappa(a)$  given by (1.20).

*Proof.* One can check easily that the operator  $P_{a,h}$  is microhyperbolic at energy level 0 at each point  $(x, \xi) \in T^*M$  in the direction  $\xi$ ; further, the boundary value problem is microhyperbolic at each point  $(x'; \xi') \in T^*\partial M$ at energy level 0 in the multidirection  $(\xi', \xi_1^-, \xi_1^+)$  with  $\xi_1 = \xi_1^\pm$  roots of  $\sum g^{jk}\xi_j\xi_k = 0$ ; finally, the boundary value problem is elliptic at each point of the elliptic zone  $(\subset T^*\partial M)$  if  $a \leq 0$ , and either elliptic or microhyperbolic in the direction  $\xi'$  at each point of the elliptic zone  $(\subset T^*\partial M)$  if a > 0 see definitions in Chapters 2, 3 of [Ivr4]. Then statements (1.18), (1.19) follow from Theorems 7.3.11 and 7.4.1 of [Ivr4].

We now assume that the set of periodic billiards on M has measure zero, and compute the second term in the spectral asymptotic explicitly. Similar calculations appear in [FG].

To do this, one can use method of freezing coefficients (see the appendix, or [Ivr4], 7.2) which results in

(3.3) 
$$h^{1-d}\kappa(a) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^+} \left( e(0, x_1; 0, x_1; 1) - (2\pi h)^{-d} \omega_d \right) dx_1$$

where  $e(x', x_1; y', y_1; \tau)$  is the Schwartz kernel of the spectral projector  $E(\tau)$  of the operator  $H_a = h^2 \Delta$  in half-space  $\mathbb{R}^{d-1} \times \mathbb{R}^+ \ni (x', x_1)$  with domain  $\mathfrak{D}(H_a) = \{ u \in H^2 : (h\partial_{x_1} + a)u|_{x_1=0} = 0 \}.$ 

We obtain this spectral projector by integrating the spectral measure. This in turn is obtained via Stone's formula

(3.4) 
$$dE_L(\sigma) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \left( (L - (\sigma + i0))^{-1} - (L - (\sigma - i0)^{-1}) d\sigma \right).$$

Consider the resolvent for  $H_a$ ,  $(H_a - \sigma)^{-1}$ , for  $\sigma \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$ . Using the Fourier transform in the x' variables, we can write the Schwartz kernel of this resolvent in the form

(3.5) 
$$(2\pi h)^{1-d} \int e^{i(x'-y')\cdot\xi'} (T_a + |\xi'|^2 - \sigma)^{-1}(x_1, y_1) d\xi'.$$

Here  $T_a$  is the one-dimensional operator  $T_a = -h^2 \partial^2 + |\xi'|^2$  on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)$  under the boundary condition  $(h\partial + a)u|_{x_1=0} = 0$ . The spectral projector  $E_{H_a}(1)$  is therefore given by

(3.6) 
$$(2\pi h)^{1-d} \int_{-\infty}^{1} \int e^{i(x'-y')\cdot\xi'} dE_{T_a}(\sigma - |\xi'|^2)(x_1, y_1) d\xi' d\sigma.$$

Thus, we need to find the spectral measure for  $T_a$ . Write  $\sigma - |\xi'|^2 = \eta^2$ , where we take  $\eta$  to be in the first quadrant of  $\mathbb{C}$  for  $\operatorname{Im} \sigma > 0$ , and in the fourth quadrant for  $\operatorname{Im} \sigma < 0$ .

**Lemma 3.2.** Suppose that  $\text{Im } \eta > 0$  and  $\text{Re } \eta \ge 0$ . Then the resolvent kernel  $(T_a - \eta^2)^{-1}$  takes the form

(3.7) 
$$(T_a - \eta^2)(x, y) = \begin{cases} \frac{i}{2h\eta} \left( e^{i\eta(x-y)/h} + \frac{i\eta-a}{i\eta+a} e^{i\eta(x+y)/h} \right), & x > y \\ \frac{i}{2h\eta} \left( e^{i\eta(y-x)/h} + \frac{i\eta-a}{i\eta+a} e^{i\eta(x+y)/h} \right), & x < y. \end{cases}$$

If  $Im\,\eta<0$  and  $Re\,\eta\geq0,$  then the resolvent kernel  $(T_a-\eta^2)^{-1}$  takes the form

(3.8) 
$$(T_a - \eta^2)(x, y) = \begin{cases} -\frac{i}{2h\eta} \left( e^{i\eta(y-x)/h} + \frac{i\eta+a}{i\eta-a} e^{-i\eta(x+y)/h} \right), & x > y \\ -\frac{i}{2h\eta} \left( e^{i\eta(x-y)/h} + \frac{i\eta+a}{i\eta-a} e^{-i\eta(x+y)/h} \right), & x < y. \end{cases}$$

*Proof.* In the regions x < y and x > y, the resolvent kernel must be a linear combination of  $e^{i\eta x/h}$  and  $e^{-i\eta x/h}$ . Moreover, for  $\text{Im } \eta > 0$ , we can only have the  $e^{+i\eta x/h}$  term, as  $x \to \infty$ , as the other would be exponentially increasing. So we can write the kernel in the form

(3.9) 
$$\begin{cases} c_1 e^{+i\eta x/h}, & x > y \\ c_2 e^{+i\eta x/h} + c_3 e^{-i\eta x/h}, & x < y. \end{cases}$$

We apply the boundary condition, and the two connection conditions at x = y, namely continuity, and a jump in the derivative of -1/h, in order to

480
obtain the delta function  $\delta(x - y)$  after applying  $T_a$ . These three conditions determine the  $c_i$  uniquely, and we find that, in the case  $\text{Im } \eta > 0$ ,

$$(3.10)_1 c_1 = \frac{i}{2h\eta} \left( e^{-i\eta y/h} + \frac{i\eta - a}{i\eta + a} e^{+i\eta y/h} \right),$$

(3.10)<sub>2,3</sub> 
$$c_2 = \frac{i}{2h\eta} \frac{i\eta - a}{i\eta + a} e^{+i\eta y/h}, \quad c_3 = \frac{i}{2h\eta} e^{+i\eta y/h},$$

yielding (3.7). A similar calculation yields (3.8).

We now apply (3.4) to find the Schwartz kernel of the spectral measure for  $T_a$ .

**Lemma 3.3.** The spectral measure  $dE_{T_a}(\tau)$  is given by the following.

(i) For 
$$\tau \ge 0$$
,  $\tau = \eta^2$ 

$$(3.11) \quad dE_{T_a}(\tau) = \frac{1}{4\pi h\eta} \left( e^{i\eta(x-y)/h} + e^{i\eta(y-x)/h} + \frac{i\eta - a}{i\eta + a} e^{i\eta(x+y)/h} + \frac{i\eta + a}{i\eta - a} e^{-i\eta(x+y)/h} \right) 2\eta d\eta.$$

(ii) For  $\tau < 0$ , the spectral measure  $dE(\tau)$  vanishes for  $a \leq 0$ , while for a > 0

(3.12) 
$$dE_{T_a}(\tau) = \frac{2a}{h}e^{-ax/h}e^{-ay/h}\delta(\tau+a^2)d\tau.$$

*Proof.* This follows directly from Lemma 3.2 and Stone's formula, (3.4). The extra term for a > 0 arises from the pole in the denominator,  $i\eta + a$  for  $\operatorname{Im} \eta > 0$  and  $i\eta - a$  for  $\operatorname{Im} \eta < 0$  in the expressions (3.7), (3.8), which only occurs for a > 0. For  $\tau$  negative, we need to set  $\eta = i\sqrt{-\tau} + 0$  in (3.7) and  $\eta = -i\sqrt{-\tau} + 0$  in (3.8), and subtract. Then everything cancels except at the pole, where we obtain a delta function  $-2\pi i\delta(\sqrt{-\tau} - a)$ , which arises from  $(\sqrt{-\tau} + i0 + a)^{-1} - (\sqrt{-\tau} - i0 + a)^{-1}$ . This term arises from the negative eigenvalue  $-a^2$  which occurs for a > 0, corresponding to the eigenfunction  $\sqrt{2a/h} e^{-ax/h}$ .

Plugging this into (3.6), and making use of the fact that  $d\sigma d\xi' = 2\eta d\eta d\xi'$ , we find that the Schwartz kernel of  $E_{H_a}(1)$  is given by

$$(3.13) \quad (2\pi h)^{-d} \int_0^1 \int H(1 - |\xi'|^2 - \eta^2) e^{i(x'-y')\cdot\xi'} \\ \times \left( e^{i\eta(x_1-y_1)/h} + e^{i\eta(y_1-x_1)/h} + \frac{i\eta - a}{i\eta + a} e^{i\eta(x_1+y_1)/h} + \frac{i\eta + a}{i\eta - a} e^{-i\eta(x_1+y_1)/h} \right) d\xi' d\eta$$

for  $a \leq 0$  while for a > 0, it is given by the sum of (3.13) and

(3.14) 
$$(2\pi h)^{1-d} \frac{2a}{h} e^{-ax_1/h} e^{-ay_1/h} \int_{-\infty}^{1} \int e^{i(x'-y')\cdot\xi'} \delta(\sigma - |\xi'|^2 + a^2) d\xi' d\sigma.$$

We are actually interested in the value on the diagonal. Setting x = y, and performing the trivial  $\xi'$  integral, we find that the Schwartz kernel of the spectral projector  $E_{H_a}(1)(x, x)$  on the diagonal is given by

$$(3.15) \quad \frac{\omega_{d-1}}{(2\pi h)^d} \int_0^1 (1-\eta^2)^{(d-1)/2} \left( 2 + \frac{i\eta - a}{i\eta + a} e^{2i\eta x_1/h} + \frac{i\eta + a}{i\eta - a} e^{-2i\eta x_1/h} \right) d\eta + H(a) \frac{(d-1)\omega_{d-1}}{(2\pi h)^{d-1}} \frac{a}{h} e^{-2ax_1/h} \int_{-a^2}^1 (\sigma + a^2)^{(d-3)/2} d\sigma.$$

Since

$$\omega_{d-1} \int_0^1 2(1-\eta^2)^{(d-1)/2} d\eta = \omega_d,$$

we see by comparing with (3.3) that this term disappears in the expression for  $\kappa(a)$  and we have, after performing the  $x_1$  integral as in (3.3)

$$(3.16) \quad h^{1-d}\kappa(a) = \frac{\omega_{d-1}}{(2\pi h)^d} \int_0^1 (1-\eta^2)^{(d-1)/2} \\ \times \left(\frac{i\eta-a}{i\eta+a} \left(\frac{ih}{2}(\eta+i0)^{-1}\right) - \frac{i\eta+a}{i\eta-a} \left(\frac{ih}{2}(\eta-i0)^{-1}\right)\right) d\eta \\ + H(a) \frac{(d-1)\omega_{d-1}}{2(2\pi h)^{d-1}} \int_{-a^2}^1 (\sigma+a^2)^{(d-3)/2} d\sigma.$$

Simplifying a bit, and performing the  $\sigma$  integral, we have

(3.17) 
$$\kappa(\mathbf{a}) = -\frac{i\omega_{d-1}}{2(2\pi)^d} \int_{-1}^{1} (1-\eta^2)^{(d-1)/2} \frac{(i\eta-\mathbf{a})^2}{\mathbf{a}^2+\eta^2} (\eta+i0)^{-1} d\eta + H(\mathbf{a}) \frac{\omega_{d-1}}{(2\pi)^{d-1}} (1+\mathbf{a}^2)^{(d-1)/2}.$$

We further simplify this expression by expanding  $(i\eta - a)^2 = a^2 - 2ia\eta - \eta^2$ , and noting that the contribution of the  $-\eta^2$  term is zero, as this gives an odd integrand in the  $\eta$  integral. A similar statement can be made for the  $a^2$ term, except that there is a contribution from the pole in this case. This leads to the expression

(3.18) 
$$\kappa(\mathbf{a}) = \frac{\omega_{d-1}}{(2\pi)^{d-1}} \left( -\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-1}^{1} (1-\eta^2)^{(d-1)/2} \frac{\mathbf{a}}{\mathbf{a}^2+\eta^2} d\eta -\frac{1}{4} + H(\mathbf{a})(1+\mathbf{a}^2)^{(d-1)/2} \right).$$

Although not immediately apparent, this formula is continuous at a = 0. In fact, the function  $a(a^2 + \eta^2)^{-1}$  has a distributional limit  $(\operatorname{sgn} a)\pi\delta(\eta)$  as a tends to zero from above or below. The change of sign as a crosses 0 means that the integral in (3.18) has a jump of -1 as a crosses zero from negative to positive. That exactly compensates the jump in the final term.

In odd dimensions, we can compute this integral exactly. In particular, in dimension d = 3, we find that

(3.19) 
$$\kappa(a) = \frac{\omega_2}{(2\pi)^2} \Big( -\frac{1}{4} + \frac{a}{\pi} + (1+a^2)\Big(1 - \frac{\operatorname{arccot} a}{\pi}\Big) \Big).$$

Proof of Theorem 1.2. This follows immediately from Proposition 3.1 and Proposition 1.1.  $\hfill \Box$ 

Remark 3.4. The second term of the expansion in [FG, Theorem 1.1] is obtained by computing

(3.20) 
$$(2\pi h)^{1-d} \int_{-\infty}^{1} (1-\sigma) \int e^{i(x'-y')\cdot\xi'} dE_{T_a}(\sigma-|\xi'|^2)(x_1,y_1) d\xi' d\sigma$$

instead of (3.6).

# 4 Relation to Dirichlet Boundary Condition

In this section we observe that the limit  $a \to -\infty$  corresponds to the Dirichlet boundary condition. More precisely, we have

**Proposition 4.1.** Let  $N_h^-(-\infty)$  denote the limit

484

$$\mathsf{N}_h^-(-\infty)\coloneqq \lim_{a\to -\infty}\mathsf{N}_h^-(a),$$

where  $N_{h}^{-}(a)$  is given by (1.17). Then we have

(4.1) 
$$\mathsf{N}_{h}^{-}(-\infty) = \#\{\lambda_{j} \le h^{-1} \mid \lambda_{j}^{2} \text{ is a Dirichlet eigenvalue of } \Delta\}$$

*Remark 4.2.* Because the quadratic form (1.15) is monotone in a, the counting function  $N_h^-(a)$  is monotone in a. Hence the limit above exists.

*Proof.* We use the min-max characterisation of eigenvalues. Let  $\hat{N}_D(\lambda)$  denote the number of Dirichlet eigenvalues (counted with multiplicity) less than or equal to  $\lambda = h^{-1}$ . This is equal to the maximal dimension of a subspace of  $H_0^1(M)$  on which the quadratic form  $Q_D$ , given by

(4.2) 
$$Q_D(u, u) = h^2 \|\nabla u\|_2^2 - \|u\|_2^2$$

is negative semidefinite. On the other hand,  $\tilde{N}_h(a)$  is equal to the maximal dimension of a subspace of  $H^1(M)$  on which the quadratic form  $Q_a$  given by (1.15) is (strictly) negative definite.

We first show that  $\tilde{N}_D(h^{-1}) \leq \tilde{N}_h^-(-\infty)$ . Let V be the vector space spanned by Dirichlet eigenfunctions with eigenvalue  $\leq \lambda^2$ . Clearly, the quadratic form  $Q_a$  is negative *semi*definite on V, and if  $\lambda^2$  is not a Dirichlet eigenvalue, then it is negative definite, proving the assertion. In the case that  $\lambda^2$  is a Dirichlet eigenvalue, we perturb V to  $V_{\epsilon}$ , a vector space of  $H^1(M)$  of the same dimension as V, so that, for for  $\epsilon$  sufficiently small depending on a,  $Q_a$  is negative definite on  $V_{\epsilon}$ . For simplicity we only do this in the case that the  $\lambda^2$ -eigenspace is one dimensional, leaving the general case to the reader. To do this, we choose an orthonormal basis of V (with respect to the  $L^2$  inner product) of Dirichlet eigenfunctions  $v_1, \ldots, v_k$  with eigenvalues  $\lambda_1^2 \ldots \lambda_k^2$ , where  $\lambda_k = \lambda$ . Then we perturb only  $v_k$ , leaving the others fixed. We choose  $s \in H_0^1(M)^{\perp}$ , the orthogonal complement of  $H_0^1(M)$  in  $H^1(M)$ (with respect to the inner product in  $H^1(M)$ ), so that

(4.3) 
$$Q_a(v_i, s) = 0, \quad i < k \text{ and } Q_a(v_k, s) > 0.$$

We check that this is possible. Notice that  $s \in H_0^1(M)^{\perp}$  implies that  $(\Delta + 1)s = 0$  in M. Then as  $v_i$  has zero boundary data, we have

(4.4) 
$$(\lambda_i^2 + 1)(\mathbf{v}_i, \mathbf{s})_M = (\Delta \mathbf{v}_i, \mathbf{s})_M - (\mathbf{v}_i, \Delta \mathbf{s})_M = \langle \partial_\nu \mathbf{v}_i, \mathbf{s} \rangle_{\partial M}$$

We choose s so that  $\langle \partial_{\nu} v_i, s \rangle_{\partial M}$  vanishes for i < k and is positive for i = k. This is possible: in fact, due to the unique solvability of the boundary value problem

(4.5) 
$$(\Delta + 1)s = 0, \quad s|_{\partial M} = f \in H^{1/2}(M),$$

for  $s \in H^1(M)$ , we see that s can have any boundary value in  $H^{1/2}(\partial M)$  which is dense in  $L^2(\partial M)$ . Then using (4.4) we see that  $\langle \partial_{\nu} v_k, s \rangle_{\partial M} > 0$  implies that  $(v_k, s)_M > 0$ .

We now define  $V_\epsilon$  to be the span of  $v_1,\ldots,v_{k-1}$  and  $v_k+\epsilon s.$  Then we have

$$(4.6) Q_a(v_i, v_k + \epsilon s) = 0, \ i < k$$

and

$$(4.7) Q_a(v_k + \epsilon s, v_k + \epsilon s) = Q_a(v_k, v_k) + 2\epsilon Q_a(v_k, s) + \epsilon^2 Q_a(s, s)$$
$$= 2\epsilon Q_a(v_i, s_i) + \epsilon^2 Q_a(s_i, s_i)$$
$$= -2\epsilon (h^2 + 1)(v_i, s_i)_M + O(\epsilon^2 a^2)$$

which is strictly negative for  $\epsilon a^2$  small enough. It follows that  $Q_a$  is negative definite on  $V_k$  when  $\epsilon a^2$  is small enough. A similar construction can be made when  $\lambda^2$  has multiplicity greater than 1.

We next show that  $\tilde{N}_D(h^{-1}) \geq N_h^-(-\infty)$ . We argue by contradiction: if not, then for any a, there is a vector space W of dimension  $\geq k + 1$ on which  $Q_a$  is negative definite. Then there is a nonzero vector  $w \in W$ orthogonal (in the  $H^1(M)$  inner product) to V. We can write w = w' + swhere  $w' \in H_0^1(M)$  and  $s \in H_0^1(M)^{\perp}$ . Then w' is a linear combination of Dirichlet eigenfunctions with eigenvalue  $\geq \lambda' > \lambda$ , where  $\lambda'$  is the smallest eigenvalue larger than  $\lambda$ . We then have

(4.8) 
$$0 > Q_{a}(w'+s,w'+s) = Q_{a}(w',w') + 2Q_{a}(w',s) + Q_{a}(s,s)$$
$$\geq (\lambda'-\lambda) \|w'\|_{2}^{2} - 2(h^{2}+1) \|w'\|_{2} \|s\|_{L^{2}(M)} - ha\|s\|_{L^{2}(\partial M)}^{2}.$$

However, some standard potential theory shows that  $\|s\|_{L^2(M)}$  is bounded by a constant times  $\|s\|_{L^2(\partial M)}$ . To see this, extend M to a larger manifold  $\tilde{M}$  of the same dimension, and let G(x, y) be the Schwartz kernel of the inverse of  $(\Delta_{\tilde{M}} + 1)^{-1}$  on  $L^2(\tilde{M})$ , with Dirichlet boundary conditions at  $\partial \tilde{M}$ . We can write s as  $\int_{\partial M} d_{\nu_y} G(x, y)h(y) dy$  where  $(1/2 + D)h = s|_{\partial M}$  and D is the double layer operator on  $\partial M$  determined by G. Standard arguments show that (1/2 + D) has a bounded inverse on  $L^2(\partial M)$  and  $d_{\nu_y}G(x, y)$  is a bounded integral operator from  $L^2(\partial M)$  to  $L^2(M)$ . So we can write, for a < 0,

$$\begin{split} 0 &> Q_a(w'+s,w'+s) \\ &\geq (\lambda'-\lambda) \|w'\|_2^2 - 2C(h^2+1) \|w'\|_2 \|s\|_{L^2(\partial M)} + h|a| \|s\|_{L^2(\partial M)^2}^2 \end{split}$$

and the RHS is clearly positive for |a| large enough, giving us the desired contradiction.  $\hfill \Box$ 

# A Appendix

#### A.1 Standard Semiclassical Asymptotics

The proof of the standard semiclassical asymptotics (i.e. asymptotics of the number of negative eigenvalues of  $H_a := h^2 \Delta - 1$  with the boundary condition  $(h\partial_{x_1} + a)u|_{\partial M} = 0$ ) is in [Ivr4], Section 8.3 and also in [Ivr3], Section 5.3, but we describe a simplified albeit less general proof. Basically it is a simplified proof of [Ivr1], used also in [LH], Section 29.3.

#### A.2 Tauberian Theorem

We use the following "semiclassical" version of the Tauberian theorem in [Ivr1].

**Proposition A.1.** Let  $e_h(\lambda)$  be an nondecreasing function of  $\lambda$ , depending on the parameter h > 0, equal to zero for  $\lambda \leq \Lambda_0$ . Let  $\beta \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$  be a cutoff function with  $\beta(t) = 1$ ,  $|t| \leq 1/2$ ,  $\beta(t) = 0$ ,  $|t| \geq 1$ , and  $\hat{\beta}(\lambda) > 0$ . Let  $\beta_T(t) = \beta(t/T)$ . Assume that for all  $\lambda$ , we have

(A.1) 
$$|e_h(\lambda)| \le C'(1+|\lambda|)^M h^{-d}$$

and, for all  $\lambda \in [\Lambda_0, \Lambda_1]$  we have

(A.2) 
$$\frac{1}{h} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \hat{\beta}_{\tau} \left(\frac{\lambda - \mu}{h}\right) de_h(\mu) = A_0(\lambda) h^{-d} + A_1(\lambda) h^{1-d} + o(h^{1-d}),$$
$$h \to 0.$$

Then for all  $\lambda \in [\Lambda_0, \Lambda_1 - \epsilon]$  we have

(A.3) 
$$\left| e_h(\lambda) - B_0(\lambda)h^{-d} - B_1(\lambda)h^{1-d} \right| \leq \frac{C \|A_0\|_{L^{\infty}([\Lambda_0,\Lambda_1])}}{T}h^{1-d} + o(h^{1-d}),$$

where

$$B_i(\lambda) = \int_{-\Lambda_0}^{\lambda} A_i(\mu) \, d\mu$$

and C depends only on  $\epsilon$ ,  $\Lambda_1$ , C' and  $\beta$ .

This is proved by modifying the proof of the corresponding proposition in [Shub], pp 152-153.

### A.3 Propagator

We now fix  $a \in \mathbb{R}$  and let  $e_h(\lambda)$  be the number of eigenvalues, counting multiplicity, of the operator  $P_{a,h}$  that are less than  $\lambda$ , or equivalently, the trace of the spectral projection  $E_{a,h}(\lambda)$  for  $P_{a,h}$ . According to Proposition A.1, it suffices to consider the smoothed spectral projector,

(A.4) 
$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(\frac{1}{h}\int_{-\infty}^{\infty}\hat{\beta}\left(\frac{\lambda-\mu}{h}\right)dE_{a,h}(\mu)\right),$$

since it is straightforward to show that the estimate (A.1) holds with M = d. By the spectral theorem, this is precisely the trace of the operator

(A.5) 
$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(\hat{\beta}\left(\frac{\lambda-P_{a,h}}{h}\right)\right).$$

If we are only interested in this for  $\lambda$  in some interval  $[\Lambda, \Lambda_1]$ , then, up to  $O(h^{\infty})$  errors we can compose with a smooth function  $\phi(P_{a,h})$  where  $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ , and  $\phi = 1$  on  $[\Lambda - \epsilon, \Lambda_1 + \epsilon]$ . Then, using the Fourier transform we can express this operator in terms of the propagator  $e^{itP_{a,h}/h}$ :

(A.6) 
$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{-it\lambda/h} \beta(t) \phi(P_{a,h}) e^{itP_{a,h}/h} dt$$

Since  $(hD_t - P_{a,h})e^{itP_{a,h}/h} = 0$ , this is the same as

(A.7) 
$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{-it\lambda/h} \beta(t) \phi(hD_t) e^{itP_{a,h}/h} dt$$

The advantage of the spectral cutoff  $\phi(hD_t)$  is that the operator  $\phi(hD_t)e^{itP_{a,b}/h}$  has finite speed of propagation.

# A.4 Propagation of Singularities

Let  $u_h(x, y, t)$  be the Schwartz kernel of  $e^{ih^{-1}tP_{a,h}}$ ; then  $u_h(x, y, t) = u_h^0(x, y, t) + u_h^1(x, y, t)$  where  $u_h^0(x, y, t)$  is a free space solution and  $u_h^1(x, y, t)$  satisfies

(A.8) 
$$(hD_t - P_{a,h})u^1 = 0, \quad u^1|_{t=0} = 0, \quad (hD_{x_1} + a)(u^0 + u^1)|_{\partial M} = 0.$$

We define

(A.9) 
$$\sigma_h^i(t) \coloneqq \int_M \phi(hD_t) u^i(x, x, t) \, dx, \quad i = 0, 1.$$

We claim that, for suitable  $\phi$ ,  $\sigma_h^i(t)$  has an isolated singularity (in the semiclassical sense of nontrivial behaviour as  $h \to 0$ ) at t = 0. More precisely, we claim that if  $\phi \in C^{\infty}$  and is supported in  $(-\epsilon_0, \epsilon_0)$ , then

(A.10) 
$$\sigma_h^i(t) = O(h^\infty) \text{ for } \epsilon \le |t| \le \epsilon_0,$$

where  $\epsilon_0$  is a fixed, sufficiently small constant, and  $0 < \epsilon < \epsilon_0$  is arbitrary.

This follows from propagation of singularities arguments. The bicharacteristic flow for  $P_{a,h}$  is given by

(A.11) 
$$\begin{cases} \dot{t} = 1, \\ \dot{\tau} = 0, \\ \dot{x}^{i} = 2g^{ij}(x)\xi_{j}, \\ \dot{\xi}_{j} = -2\frac{\partial g^{kl}}{\partial x^{j}}\xi_{k}\xi_{l}. \end{cases}$$

That is, with respect to the parameter t,  $(x, \xi)$  moves along a geodesic at speed  $2|\xi|_g$ , and  $\tau$  is fixed. By standard propagation of singularities arguments, the (semiclassical) wavefront set of  $u^0$  is contained in the conormal bundle of  $\{t = 0, s = y\}$  together with the forward bicharacteristic

flow from this conormal bundle intersected with the characteristic variety of  $hD_t - P_{a,h}$ , namely  $\{\tau = |\xi|_g^2 - 1\}$ . Composing with  $\phi(hD_t)$  restricts this wavefront set to be contained in  $\{\tau \in (-\epsilon_0, \epsilon_0)\}$ . That implies that  $||\xi|_g - 1| \leq 2\epsilon_0$ . So for small time, the wavefront set of  $u_0$  is restricted to the set where  $|d(x, y) - 2t| \leq 2\epsilon_0 t$ . In particular, points with x = y are not in the wavefront set for t in a deleted neighbourhood of 0. This proves (A.10) for i = 0.

A similar argument for  $u^1$  shows that  $\phi(hD_t)u^1(t, x, y)$  is  $O(h^{\infty})$  for  $|t| \leq \epsilon_0$  unless we have

$$\mathsf{dist}(x,\partial M) + \mathsf{dist}(y,\partial M) \leq 2\epsilon_0(1+2\epsilon_0).$$

Thus, we can work in a collar neighbourhood of  $\partial M$ . We can choose coordinates  $x = (x_1, x')$  so that the boundary is given by  $x_1 = 0$ ,  $x_1 \ge 0$  on M, and the metric takes the form  $dx_1^2 + g'_{ij}(x_1, x')x'^i x'^j$ , that is, Fermi coordinates near the boundary. Now we split the analysis of  $u^1$  into two cases. We write the identity operator in the x' coordinates in the form  $\mathsf{Id} = Q_{\mathsf{norm}} + Q_{\mathsf{tan}}$ , where  $Q_*$  are pseudodifferential operators in the x' variables such that the symbol  $q_{\mathsf{norm}}$  of  $Q_{\mathsf{norm}}$  is supported in  $\{|\xi'| \le 2\epsilon_1\}$  and  $q_{\mathsf{tan}}$  is supported in  $\{|\xi'| \ge \epsilon_1\}$ .

Correspondingly, write

$$\phi(hD_t)u^1 = \phi(hD_t)Q_{tan}(x', hD_{x'})u^1 + \phi(hD_t)Q_{norm}(x', hD_{x'})u^1$$

For the first term, a standard positive commutator argument in the x' variables only shows that this term is  $O(h^{\infty})$  unless  $dist(x', y') \geq 2\epsilon_1 t - \epsilon'$  for arbitrary  $\epsilon' > 0$ ; in particular, if x' = y' then this is  $O(h^{\infty})$  for  $t \geq \epsilon, \epsilon > 0$  arbitrary. On the other hand, for the  $Q_{norm}$  term, then we have  $\xi_1^2 = 1 + O(\epsilon_0 + \epsilon_1)$ . In particular, this means that  $\dot{x}_1 = 1 + O(\epsilon_0 + \epsilon_1)$ , so the propagation is transverse (in fact, nearly normal) to  $\partial M$ . A standard propagation of singularities argument shows that the wavefront set of  $\phi(hD_t)Q_{norm}u^1$  for  $\epsilon \leq |t| \leq \epsilon_0$  is contained in

$$\begin{aligned} \mathsf{WF}_h(\phi(hD_t)Q_{\mathsf{norm}}u^1) \cap \{x = y, \ \epsilon \le |t| \le \epsilon_0\} \\ \subset \big\{(t, x, x; \tau, \xi, \eta) \mid \xi_1, \eta_1 = 1 + O(\epsilon_0 + \epsilon_1)\big\}, \end{aligned}$$

since the only way to have x = y is to bounce off the boundary, in which case  $\xi_1$ , the momentum in the normal direction, changes from being approximately opposite to  $\eta_1$  to being approximately equal. This wavefront set is killed under restriction to x = y and then integration in x, showing that  $\phi(hD_t)Q_{norm}u^1$  is also  $O(h^{\infty})$  for  $\epsilon \leq |t| \leq \epsilon_0$ . This establishes (A.10).

#### A.5 Method of Successive Approximations

We now observe that (A.10) self-improves to the statement that

(A.12) 
$$\sigma_h^i(t) = O(h^\infty) \text{ for } h^{1-\delta} \le |t| \le \epsilon_0, \quad \delta > 0.$$

This follows from a simple scaling argument. Fix a base point  $y \in \partial M$ , and consider the scaled metric (following [Mel])

$$g_{T,y} = g_{ij}(TX+y)dX^{i}dX^{j}$$

where T is a small parameter. Let  $u_{T,\hbar}(t, X)$  be given by

$$u_{T,\hbar}(t,X) = T^{d+1}(\phi(hD_t)u_{T\hbar})(Tt,y+TX,y);$$

then, with  $\hbar := h/T$  we have

(A.13) 
$$\left(\hbar D_t - \hbar^2 \Delta_{g_{T,y}}\right) u_{T,\hbar}(t,X) =$$
  
 $T^{(d+1)} \left(h D_t - h^2 \Delta_g\right) u_h(Tt, y + TX, y) = \phi(h D_t) \delta(t) \delta(X),$ 

(A.14) 
$$(\hbar \partial_{X_1} + a) u_{T,\hbar}(t, X) = 0, \quad X_1 = 0.$$

Using (A.10) we see that we have

(A.15) 
$$\int_{M} \phi(\hbar D_t) u_{T,\hbar}(X, X, t) \, dX = O(T^{-(d+1)}h^{\infty}) \text{ for } \epsilon \leq |t| \leq \epsilon_0,$$

In particular, (A.15) is  $O(h^{\infty})$  provided that  $T \ge h^{1-\delta}$  for arbitrary  $\delta > 0$ . Unravelling the scaling demonstrates (A.12).

Therefore if we want to construct  $\sigma(t)$  for  $|t| \leq \epsilon_0$  it suffices to construct it for  $|t| \leq t_* = h^{1-\delta}$ . However on this short interval we can construct it by the method of successive approximations. For each  $y \in M$  we let  $P_y$ be the constant coefficient differential operator  $P_{a,h}$  with coefficients frozen at y. Then we regard  $P_{h,a}$  as a perturbation of  $P_y$  for x close to y. So  $K = P_{h,a} - P_y$  is a second order differential operator with coefficients that are O(x-y). The perturbation K is  $O(t_*)$  due to finite speed of propagation and each successive term in the approximation acquires a factor not exceeding  $Ct_* \cdot t_*/h = Ct_*^2 h$  due to Duhamel's principle. So the construction works for  $t_* \leq h^{\frac{1}{2}+\delta}$ .

490

If we apply this to the  $u^0$  term then the calculation proceeds as follows. We let  $\overline{u^0}$  denote the propagator for the constant coefficient operator  $P_y$  with coefficients frozen at  $y \in M$  (and taking only the second order derivatives). Then, with E the forward fundamental solution for  $P_y$ , we obtain a formula

$$u^0 = \overline{u^0} + EKu^0,$$

leading to a formal series

(A.16) 
$$u^{0} = \sum_{k=0}^{m} (EK)^{k} \overline{u^{0}} + (EK)^{m+1} u^{0}.$$

Applying the Fourier transform in x, we find that the first term is

$$\phi(hD_t)\overline{u^0} = (2\pi h)^{-d} \int e^{i(x-y)\cdot\xi/h} e^{it(|\xi|^2-1)/h} \phi(|\xi|^2-1) d\xi.$$

If we then plug this term into (A.7) then we find that this term is  $h^{-d}$  times a smooth function of  $\lambda$  and a. The method of successive approximations then generates a series of the form  $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \kappa'_n(a, \lambda) h^{-d+n}$ , and the terms corresponding to odd n are given by the integral in  $\xi$  of an odd function of  $\xi$ , hence vanish.

Using this expansion of  $u^0$ , we compute a series for  $u^1$ . In this case, the leading term  $\overline{u^1}$  is given as follows:

$$\phi(hD_t)\overline{u^1} = (2\pi h)^{-d} \int e^{-i(x_1+y_1)\xi_1/h} e^{i(x'-y')\cdot\xi'/h} e^{it(|\xi|^2-1)/h} \phi(|\xi|^2-1) \frac{i\xi_1+a}{i\xi_1-a} d\xi.$$

We can form a similar formal series for  $u^1$ , which converges when  $t \leq h^{1/2+\delta}$ . As with the case of  $u^0$ , we can check that the successive terms in the approximation for  $u^1$ , when plugged into (A.7), give a series with the contribution of  $\phi(hD_t)u^1$  at order  $h^{1-d}$  and with successive terms contributing at increasing integer powers of h.

Now, using this together with the Tauberian theorem, Proposition A.1, shows that we get a leading Weyl asymptotic with remainder term  $O(h^{1-d})$ , as in (1.18).

#### A.6 Two Term Expansion

If we assume that the measure of periodic generalized bicharacteristics is zero, then we can use the standard method to obtain a two-term expansion of the counting function. We briefly recall here the argument, following [Ivr1]. Let  $\epsilon > 0$  be given. Then we decompose the identity operator on  $L^2(M)$  as a sum of three terms. The first is multiplication by a cutoff function  $\zeta$  identically 1 near  $\partial M$  and supported in a collar neighbourhood of  $\partial M$ , such that

$$\int_M \zeta^2 \le \epsilon.$$

The second and third are pseudodifferential operators chosen as follows. With T > 1 a large constant to be chosen later, we let  $\Lambda_T$  denote the union of points in

$$\{(x,\xi)\in T^*M\mid |\xi|_g\in (1-\epsilon_0,1+\epsilon_0)\}$$

which are either periodic with period  $\leq T$  under generalized bicharacteristic flow (for  $P_{a,h}$ ), or for which the generalized bicharacteristic of length T in both directions are not transverse to the boundary. This is a closed set of measure zero so one can find two open sets  $U_1, U_2$  such that  $T^*M = U_1 \cup U_2$ ,  $\Lambda_T \subset U_1$ , and the measure of  $U_1$  is less than  $\epsilon$ . Then we choose (semiclassical) pseudodifferential operators  $Q_1, Q_2$  such that  $Q_i$  is microsupported in the conic set determined by  $U_i$ , and such that  $\mathrm{Id} = \zeta^2 + Q_1^*Q_1 + Q_2^*Q_2$ . We then define

$$\begin{aligned} e_h^0(\lambda) &= \operatorname{Tr} \zeta^2 E_{h,a}(\lambda) = \operatorname{Tr} \zeta E_{h,a}\zeta \\ e_h^i(\lambda) &= \operatorname{Tr} Q_i^* Q_i E_{h,a}(\lambda) = \operatorname{Tr} Q_i E_{h,a}(\lambda) Q_i^*, \quad i = 1, 2; \end{aligned}$$

notice that each of these is nondecreasing in  $\lambda$ , and the sum of the three terms is equal to the counting function for  $P_{h,a}$ . Correspondingly, we break (A.7) into a sum of three terms, with i = 0, 1, 2.

Using the series for  $u^0$  and  $u^1$  sketched above, we compute expansions for the three terms. Applying Proposition A.1 we find that

$$\left|e_h^0(\lambda)-A_0^0(\lambda)h^{-d}-A_1^0(\lambda)h^{1-d}\right|=O(\epsilon h^{1-d}),$$

since in this case  $A_0^0(\lambda)$  is  $O(\epsilon)$ , as it is proportional to  $\int_M \zeta^2$ . For the term i = 1 we similarly find that

$$\left|e_h^1(\lambda)-A_0^1(\lambda)h^{-d}-A_1^1(\lambda)h^{1-d}\right|=O(\epsilon h^{1-d}),$$

since  $A_0^1(\lambda)$  is proportional to the integral of  $|\sigma(Q_1)|^2$  which is also  $O(\epsilon)$ . For the third term, we scale  $\beta$  to  $\beta_T$ , exploiting the condition that on the microsupport of  $Q_2$ , there are no periodic bicharacteristics up to time T, hence the trace of  $\phi(hD_t)e^{itP_{a,h}/h}$  has no singularities for  $t \in [-T, T]$  except at t = 0. Hence this term also has an expansion in powers of h, and we find that

$$\left|e_h^2(\lambda)-A_0^2(\lambda)h^{-d}-A_1^2(\lambda)h^{1-d}\right|=O(\frac{h^{1-d}}{T}).$$

Choosing T sufficiently large, this is also  $O(\epsilon h^{1-d})$ , and we have shown the existence of a two-term expansion.

It only remains to identify the first two terms. But once we know that there is a two-term expansion, we can identify the coefficients from the first two terms in the expansion of  $\operatorname{Tr} \phi(hD_t)e^{itP_{a,h}/h}$  at t = 0. From the method of successive approximations we see that these terms arise from the contribution of  $\overline{u^0}$  and  $\overline{u^1}$ . We observe that  $\overline{u^0} + \overline{u^1}$  gives precisely the propagator for the  $h^2 \Delta_{\mathbb{R}^d_+}$ , the flat Laplacian on the half-space  $\mathbb{R}^d_+ = \{x_1 \ge 0\}$ , with the boundary condition  $(h\partial_{x_1} + a)\overline{u}(x, y, t) = 0$  at  $x_1 = 0$ . It follows that the local densities for each term of the two-term expansion is equal to the local density for the flat half-space model. This justifies the calculations in Section 3 based on this flat model.

# Bibliography

- [BH] A. Barnett; A. Hassell. Fast computation of high-frequency Dirichlet eigenmodes via spectral flow of the interior Neumann-to-Dirichlet map. Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 67 (2014), no. 3, 351–407.
- [BFK] D. Burghelea; L. Friedlander; T. Kappeler. Meyer-Vietoris type formula for determinants of elliptic differential operators. J. Funct. Anal. 107 (1992), no. 1, 34–65.
- [Cal] A. P. Calderón. On an inverse boundary value problem Seminar on Numerical Analysis and its Applications to Continuum Physics (Rio de Janeiro, 1980), pp. 65–73, Soc. Brasil. Mat., Rio de Janeiro, 1980.
- [DGHH] K. Datchev; J. Gell-Redman; A. Hassell; P. Humphries. Approximation and equidistribution of phase shifts: spherical symmetry. Comm. Math. Phys. 326 (2014), no. 1, 209–236.
- [DuGu] J. J. Duistermaat; V. W. Guillemin. The spectrum of positive elliptic operators and periodic bicharacteristics. Invent. Math. 29 (1975), no. 1, 39–79.

#### 494 SEMICLASSICAL DIRICHLET TO NEUMANN OPERATOR

- [FG] R. L. Frank; L. Geisinger. Semi-classical analysis of the Laplace operator with Robin boundary conditions. Bull. Math. Sci. 2 (2012), no. 2, 281–319.
- [Fried] L. Friedlander. Some inequalities between Dirichlet and Neumann eigenvalues. Arch. Rational Mech. Anal. 116 (1991), no. 2, 153–160.
- [GHZ] J. Gell-Redman; A. Hassell; S. Zelditch. Equidistribution of phase shifts in semiclassical potential scattering. J. Lond. Math. Soc. (2) 91 (2015), no. 1, 159–179.
- [GRH] J. Gell-Redman; A. Hassell. The distribution of phase shifts for semiclassical potentials with polynomial decay. arXiv:1509.03468.
- [LH] L. Hörmander. The Analysis of Linear Partial Differential Operators I–IV. Springer-Verlag (1983, 1985).
- [Ivr1] V. Ivrii. The second term of the spectral asymptotics for a Laplace-Beltrami operator on manifolds with boundary. (Russian) Funktsional. Anal. i Prilozhen. 14 (1980), no. 2, 25–34. English translation in Functional Analysis and Its Applications, 14:2 (1980), 98–106.
- [Ivr2] V. Ivrii. Semiclassical spectral asymptotics. (Proceedings of the Conference, Nantes, France, June 1991)
- [Ivr3] V. Ivrii, Microlocal Analysis and Precise Spectral Asymptotics, Springer-Verlag, SMM, 1998, xv+731.
- [Ivr4] V. Ivrii. Microlocal Analysis, Sharp Spectral Asymptotics and Applications. http://www.math.toronto.edu/ivrii/monsterbook.pdf
- [Mel] R. B. Melrose. The trace of the wave group. Contemp. Math 27 (1984), 127–167.
- [Shub] M. Shubin. Pseudodifferential operators and spectral theory. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1987.
- [H-SoYa] A. V. Sobolev; D. R. Yafaev. Phase analysis in the problem of scattering by a radial potential. Zap. Nauchn. Sem. Leningrad. Otdel. Mat. Inst. Steklov. (LOMI), 147:155–178, 206, 1985.



# Spectral asymptotics for fractional Laplacians<sup>\*,†</sup> Victor Ivrii<sup>‡</sup>

#### Abstract

In this article we consider fractional Laplacians which seem to be of interest to probability theory. This is a rather new class of operators for us but our methods works (with a twist, as usual). Our main goal is to derive a two-term asymptotics since one-term asymptotics is easily obtained by R. Seeley's method.

In this article we consider fractional Laplacians. This is a rather new class of operators for us but our methods works (with a twist, as usual). Our main goal is to derive a two-term asymptotics since one-term asymptotics is rather easily obtained by R. Seeley's method.

# 1 Problem Set-up

Let us consider a bounded domain  $X \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  with the smooth boundary  $\partial X \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty 1}$ . In this domain we consider a fractional Laplacian  $\Lambda_m = (\Delta^{m/2})_{\mathfrak{D}}$  with m > 0 originally defined on functions  $u \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d) : \theta_X u \in \mathcal{H}^{m/2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  by

(1.1) 
$$\Lambda_{m,X} := (\Delta^{m/2})_{\mathfrak{D}} u = R_X \Delta^{m/2}(\theta_X u)$$

where  $\theta_X$  is a characteristic function of X,  $R_X$  is an operator of restriction to X and  $\Delta^{m/2}$  is a standard pseudodifferential operator in  $\mathbb{R}^d$  with the Weyl symbol  $g(x,\xi)^{m/2}$  where as usual  $g(x,\xi)$  is non-degenerate Riemannian metrics.

<sup>\*2010</sup> Mathematics Subject Classification: 35P20, 58J50.

 $<sup>^{\</sup>dagger}\mathit{Key}\ words$  and  $\mathit{phrases:}\ Fractional$  Laplacians, , spectral asymptotics.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>‡</sup>This research was supported in part by National Science and Engineering Research Council (Canada) Discovery Grant RGPIN 13827.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1)</sup> Alternatively consider a bounded domain X on the Riemannian manifold  $\mathcal{X}$ .

Remark 1.1. (i) We consider  $\Lambda_{m,X}$  as an unbounded operator in  $\mathscr{L}^2(X)$  with domain  $\mathfrak{D}(\Lambda_{m,X}) = \{ u \in \mathscr{L}^2(\mathbb{R}^d) : \operatorname{supp}(u) \subset \overline{X}, R_X \Lambda_m \in \mathscr{L}^2(X) \} \subset \mathscr{H}_0^{m/2}(X).$ 

(ii) This operator can also be introduced through positive quadratic form with domain  $\{u \in \mathcal{H}^m(\mathbb{R}^d), \operatorname{supp}(u) \subset \overline{X}\}$  and is a positive self-adjoint operator which is Friedrichs extension of operator originally defined on  $\mathcal{H}_0^m(X)$ .

(iii) We can consider this operator as a bounded operator from  $\mathcal{H}_0^{m/2}(X)$  to  $\mathcal{H}^{-m/2}(X) \coloneqq \mathcal{H}_0^{m/2*}(X)$ .

(iv) Let  $0 < m \notin 2\mathbb{Z}$ . Then  $\mathfrak{D}(\Lambda_{m,X}) \subset \mathscr{H}^m(X)$  if and only if  $m \in (0,1)$ ; otherwise even eigenfunctions of  $\Lambda_{m,X}$  may not belong to  $\mathscr{H}^m(X)$ .

(v) Since  $\Lambda_m$  does not possess transmission property for  $m \notin 2\mathbb{Z}$ , we are not in the framework of the Boutet-de-Monvel algebra, but pretty close:  $\Lambda_m$  possess  $\mu$ -transmission property introduced by L. Hörmander and systematically studied by G. Grubb in [5,6]. We provide definition in Subsection A.2.

We are interested in the asymptotics of the eigenvalue counting function  $N(\lambda)$  for  $\Lambda_{m,X}$  as  $\lambda \to +\infty$ .

# 2 Preliminary Analysis

As usual we reduce problem to a semiclassical one. Let  $A = A_h := h^m \Lambda_{m,X} - 1$ with  $h = \lambda^{-1/m}$ ,  $e_h(x, y, \tau)$  the Schwartz kernel of  $\theta(\tau - A_h)$  a spectral projector of  $A_h$ , and  $N_h^-$  the number of negative eigenvalues of  $A_h$ .

**Proposition 2.1.** Let  $\bar{x} \in X$ ,  $B(\bar{x}, 2\gamma) \subset X$ ,  $\gamma \geq h$ . Then

(2.1) 
$$|e_h(x, x, 0) - \mathsf{Weyl}(x)| \le Ch^{1-d}\gamma^{-1} \qquad \forall x \in B(\bar{x}, \gamma)$$

and

(2.2) 
$$\left|\int \psi((x-\bar{x})/\gamma)\left(e_h(x,x,0)-\operatorname{Weyl}(x)\right)dx\right| \leq Ch^{1-d}\gamma^{d-1}\left(\gamma^{\delta}+h^{\delta}\gamma^{-\delta}\right)$$

as  $\psi \in \mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}(B(0,1))$  and  $\delta > 0$ , where

$$\mathsf{Weyl}(x) = (2\pi h)^{-d} \mathsf{mes}(\{\xi \colon g(x,\xi) \leq 1\})$$

is the standard pointwise Weyl expression.

*Proof.* Estimate (2.1) is easily proven by just rescaling as modulo  $O(h^{s}\gamma^{-s})$  we get a  $\hbar$ -pseudodifferential operator with  $\hbar = h\gamma^{-1}$ .

Estimate (2.2) is easily proven by rescaling plus R. Seeley's method as described in Subsection 7.5.1 of [9]. We leave easy details to the reader.  $\Box$ 

Then we immediately arrive to

**Corollary 2.2.** (i) Contribution of the inner zone  $\{x : \text{dist}(x, \partial X) \ge h\}$  to the Weyl remainder does not exceed  $Ch^{1-d}$ .

(ii) Contribution of the intermediate strip  $\{x : \varepsilon \ge \operatorname{dist}(x, \partial X) \ge \varepsilon^{-1}h\}$  to the Weyl remainder does not exceed  $\eta(\varepsilon)h^{1-d}$  with  $\eta(\varepsilon) \to 0$  as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ .

Here and in what follows  $\varepsilon > 0$  is an arbitrarily small constant.

**Proposition 2.3.** The following estimate holds:

$$|e_h(x,x,0)| \le Ch^{-d}$$

*Proof.* The standard proof we leave to the reader.

**Theorem 2.4.** (i) For operator A the Weyl remainder in the asymptotics for  $N_h^-$  does not exceed  $Ch^{1-d}$ .

(ii) For operator  $\Lambda_{m,X}$  the following asymptotics holds

(2.4) 
$$\mathsf{N}(\lambda) = \kappa_0 \lambda^{\frac{d}{m}} + O(\lambda^{\frac{d-1}{m}}) \quad as \ \lambda \to +\infty,$$

where  $\kappa_0 = (2\pi)^{-d} \varpi_d \operatorname{vol}(X)$ ,  $\varpi_d$  is a volume of the unit ball in  $\mathbb{R}^d$  and  $\operatorname{vol}(X)$  means the Riemannian volume of X.

*Proof.* Statement (i) follows immediately from Corollary 2.2(i) and Proposition 2.3. Statement (ii) follows immediately from (i) as  $d \ge 2$ .

Remark 2.5. (i) Therefore, we extended the result, well-known for  $m \in 2\mathbb{Z}^+$  to  $m \in \mathbb{R}^+$ .

(ii) This was easy but to recover the second term (which is also known for  $m \in 2\mathbb{Z}^+$  under non-periodicity condition) is a much more daunting task requiring first to improve the contribution of the *near boundary strip*  $\{x : \operatorname{dist}(x, \partial X) \leq \varepsilon^{-1}h\}$  and also of the *inner zone*  $\{x : \operatorname{dist}(x, \partial X) \geq \varepsilon\}$ .

# 3 Propagation of Singularities near the Boundary

Without any loss of the generality one can assume that

(3.1) 
$$X = \{x : x_1 > 0\}, \quad g^{jk} = \delta_{1j} \quad \forall j = 1, ..., d.$$

First let us study the propagation of singularities along the boundary:

**Theorem 3.1.** On the energy level  $\tau : |\tau| \leq \epsilon_0$ 

(i) Singularities (with respect to x') propagate with the speed not exceeding c with respect to  $(x, \xi')$ .

(ii) For  $|\xi'| \approx \rho \geq Ch^{\frac{1}{2}-\delta}$ , and  $|t| \leq T = \epsilon \rho$ , singularities (with respect to x') move from x' = y' with the speed  $\approx \rho$  with respect to x.

*Proof.* In the terminology of [9] both statements mean that  $u = u_h(x, y, t)$ , the Schwartz kernel of  $e^{-ih^{-1}tA}$ , satisfies

(3.2) 
$$F_{t \to h^{-1}\tau} \chi_T(t) Q_{1,x} u^t Q_{2,y} = O(h^s),$$

where  $F_{t \to h^{-1}\tau}$  is *h*-Fourier transform,  $Q_1 = q_1(x, hD')$  and  $Q_2 = q_2(x, hD')$  are *h*-pseudodifferential operators,  ${}^tQ_{2,y}$  is a dual operator, acting with respect to y (and we write it to the right of the function, it is applied to),  $\chi_{\tau}(t) = \chi(t/T)$ , where

- (a) in the Statement (i)  $h^{\frac{1}{2}-\delta} \leq T_0$ ,  $T_0$  is the small constant, the distance between  $supp(q_1)$  and  $supp(q_2)$  is at least cT, and  $\chi \in \mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}([-1,1])$ .
- (b) in the Statement (ii) the diameter of  $\operatorname{supp}(q_1) \cup \operatorname{supp}(q_2)$  is does not exceed  $\epsilon \rho$ ,  $\epsilon$  is the small constant, and  $\chi \in \mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}([-1, -\frac{1}{2}] \cup [\frac{1}{2}, 1]);$

s is an arbitrarily large exponent,  $\delta > 0$  is arbitrarily small,

The proof is standard, by means of the positive commutator method, like those proofs in the Chapters 2 and 3 of [9], since it involves only pseudodifferential operators  $q_j(x, hD')$  and their commutators with A, but one can see easily that those commutators do not bring any troubles as the energy level is  $\approx 1$ . We leave all easy details to the reader.

**Corollary 3.2.** (i) Let  $\rho \geq Ch^{\frac{1}{2}-\delta}$ ,  $h^{1-\delta} \leq \gamma \leq \epsilon$ . Then the contribution of the zone  $\{(x,\xi') : x_1 \leq \gamma, |\xi'| \approx \rho\}$  to the Tauberian remainder with  $T \in (T_*(\rho), T^*(\rho))$ , where  $T_*(\rho) = h^{1-\delta}\rho^{-2}$ ,  $T^*(\rho) = \epsilon\rho$  does not exceed

(3.3) 
$$C\rho^{d-1}h^{-d} \times \gamma \times h^{1-\delta}\rho^{-2} \times \rho^{-1}.$$

(ii) The total contribution of the zone  $\{(x,\xi') : x_1 \leq \gamma = h^{1-\delta}\}$  to the Tauberian error with  $T = h^{1-3\delta}$  does not exceed  $Ch^{-d+1+\delta}$ .

*Proof.* In the terminology of [9] the *Tauberian error* is the difference between  $N_{h}^{-}$  and the *Tauberian expression* 

(3.4) 
$$\mathsf{N}_{h}^{\mathsf{T}} \coloneqq h^{-1} \int_{-\infty}^{0} \left( \int F_{t \to h^{-1}\tau} \bar{\chi}_{\tau}(t) u(x, x, t) \, dx \right) d\tau,$$

where  $\bar{\chi} \in \mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}([-1, 1]), \ \bar{\chi} = 1 \text{ on } [-\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}].$ 

The easy and standard proof of Statement (i) is left to the reader; it is like those proofs in Chapter 7 of [9].

Then the contribution of the zone  $x_1 \leq h^{1-\delta}$ ,  $|\xi'| \geq Ch^{\delta}$  to the Tauberian error with  $T = h^{1-3\delta}$  does not exceed  $Ch^{-d+1+\delta}$ . Since the contribution of the zone  $\{(x,\xi'): x_1 \leq \gamma = h^{1-\delta}, |\xi'| \leq Ch^{2\delta}\}$  to the asymptotics does not exceed  $C\rho^{d-1}h^{-d} \times \gamma \leq Ch^{-d+1+\delta}$  we arrive to Statement (ii).

Therefore in this zone  $\{(x, \xi') : x_1 \leq \gamma = h^{1-\delta}\}$  all we need is to pass from the Tauberian expression to the Weyl expression.

However the inner zone should be reexamined and we need to describe what happens with the propagation along Hamiltonian trajectory in the zone  $\{(x,\xi) : x_1 \leq h^{1-\delta}\}$ . We can assume that  $|\xi_1| \geq \varepsilon$  since the measure of the remaining trajectories is small, here  $\varepsilon > 0$  is an arbitrarily small constant.

# 4 Reflection of Singularities from the Boundary

# 4.1 Toy-Model

We start from the pilot-model which will be used to prove the main case. Namely, let us consider 1-dimensional operator on half-line  $\mathbb{R}^+$  with Euclidean metrics

(4.1) 
$$B := B_{m,a,h} = ((h^2 D_x^2 + a^2)^{m/2})_{\mathfrak{D}}$$

with  $a \ge 0$ . We denote  $e_{m,a,h}(x_1, y_1, \tau)$  the Schwartz kernel of its spectral projector.

Observe that scaling  $x \mapsto x\gamma^{-1}$ ,  $\tau \mapsto \tau\rho^{-m}$  transforms operator to one with  $h \mapsto h/(\rho\gamma)$ ,  $\tau \mapsto \tau\rho^{-m}$ ; because of this we can assume that h = 1 and the second scaling implies that we can assume that either a = 1 or  $\tau = 1$ .

**Proposition 4.1.** (i) The spectrum of operator  $\Lambda_{m,a}$  is absolutely continuos and it coincides with  $[a^m, \infty)$ .

(ii) The following equalities hold:

(4.2) 
$$\boldsymbol{e}_{m,a,h}(x,y,\lambda) = \boldsymbol{e}_{m,1,ha^{-1}}(ax,ay,\lambda a^{-m}) = \\ \lambda^{1/m} \boldsymbol{e}_{m,a\lambda^{-1/m},h}(\lambda^{1/m}x,\lambda^{1/m}y,1) = a\boldsymbol{e}_{m,1,h}(ax,ay,\lambda a^{-m}).$$

Proposition 4.2. Let  $\psi \in \mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}([-1,1])$ ,  $\psi_{\gamma}(x) = \psi(x/\gamma)$  and  $\phi \in \mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}([-1,1])$ ,  $0 \le a \le 1 - \epsilon_0$ . Then as  $\gamma \ge h^{1-\delta}$ ,  $T \ge C_0\gamma$ ,  $h^{\delta} \ge \eta \ge h^{1-\delta}T^{-1}$ 

(4.3) 
$$\|\phi(\eta^{-1}(hD_t-1))\psi_{\gamma}e^{i(mh)^{-1}tB}\psi_{\gamma}|_{t=T}\|\leq CT^{-1}\gamma+Ch^{\delta'}.$$

*Proof.* Observe first that if for u supported in  $\mathbb{R}^+$  and  $L=x_1hD_1-ih/2=L^*$ 

(4.4) 
$$\operatorname{Re} i(BLu, u) = \frac{1}{2}(i[B, L]u, u)$$

and then

(4.5) 
$$\operatorname{Re}(Lu, u_t - ih^{-1}Bu) = \frac{1}{2}(ih^{-1}[B, L]u, u) + \frac{1}{2}\partial_t \operatorname{Re}(Lu, u)$$

and

(4.6) 
$$\operatorname{Re}(ktu + Lu, u_t - ih^{-1}Bu) = \frac{1}{2}\partial_t(kt\|u\|^2 + (Lu, u)) + \frac{1}{2}((ih^{-1}[B, L]u, u) - k\|u\|^2).$$

Let us plug

(4.7) 
$$\boldsymbol{u} = \phi(\eta^{-1}(hD_t - 1))\boldsymbol{e}^{ih^{-1}TB}\psi_{\gamma}\boldsymbol{v}$$

with  $\|v\| = 1$ . Then the left hand expression in (4.6) is 0 and

(4.8) 
$$\frac{1}{2}\partial_t (kt ||u||^2 + (Lu, u)) \leq \frac{1}{2} (-(ih^{-1}[B, L]u, u) + k ||u||^2).$$

Let us estimate from above the right-hand expression; obviously

(4.9) 
$$ih^{-1}[B_m, L] = m(B_m - a^2 B_{m-2})$$

(a) Assume first that m > 2. Then since

(4.10) 
$$(1 - C\eta) \|u\| \le \|B_m u\| \le (1 + C\eta) \|u\|$$

due to cutoff by  $\phi$  and

(4.11) 
$$B_{m-2} \le B_m^{(m-2)/m}$$

in virtue of Corollary A.2 we conclude that as  $k = m(1 - a^2)$  the right-hand expression does not exceed  $C\eta$  and therefore

(4.12) 
$$m(1-a^2)t||u||^2 + (Lu, u) \le C\gamma + C\eta T$$

since the value of the left-hand expression as t = 0 does not exceed  $C\gamma$ .

Further, observe that on the energy levels from  $(1 - C_0\eta, 1 + C_0\eta)$  the singularities propagate with a speed (with respect to  $x_1$ ) not exceeding  $m(1 - a^2)^{\frac{1}{2}}(1 + C_0\eta)$ . Therefore we conclude that u is negligible as  $|x_1| \ge m(1 - a^2)^{\frac{1}{2}}(1 + C_0\eta)T + C\gamma$  and therefore since

(4.13) 
$$||D_1u|| \le (B_2u, u) \le ((1-a^2)^{\frac{1}{2}} + C_0\eta),$$

we conclude using (4.10) and (4.11) that

(4.14) 
$$|(Lu, u)| \leq m(1 - a^2 + C_0\eta)T + C\gamma - \epsilon_0T||\psi_{\gamma}(x_1)u||^2$$

and the left-hand expression of (4.12) is greater than  $\epsilon_0 T \|\psi_{\gamma} u\|^2 - C(\eta T + \gamma)$ and we arrive to (4.3). (b) Assume now that 0 < m < 2. Then our above proof fails short in both estimating Re  $ih^{-1}([B, L]u, u)$  from below and |(Lu, u)| from above and we need to remedy it.

Note first that away from  $x_1 = 0$  only symbols are important and therefore the right-hand expression of (4.8) does not exceed  $\frac{m}{2}(a^m - a^2) \|\psi_{\sigma} u\|^2 + Ch^2 \sigma^{-2}$ since  $\|B_{m-2}\| \leq a^{m-2}$ . Indeed, we need just to decompose  $1 = \psi_{\sigma}^2 + \psi_{\sigma}'^2$  and use our standard arguments to rewrite the right-hand expression of (4.8) as the sum of the same expressions for  $\psi_{\sigma} u$  and  $\psi'_{\sigma} u$  plus  $Ch^2 \sigma^{-2} \|u\|^2$ .

Similarly we deal  $\operatorname{Re}(Lu, u) = \operatorname{Re}(L\psi_{\sigma}u, \psi_{\sigma}u) + \operatorname{Re}(L\psi'_{\sigma}u, \psi'_{\sigma}u)$  and the absolute value of the second term does not exceed  $m(1-a^2)^{\frac{1}{2}}T\|B_m^{1/m}\psi'_{\sigma}\|^2$ .

We claim that

(4.15) 
$$\operatorname{Re}(L\psi_{\sigma}u,\psi_{\sigma}u) \leq C\sigma \|\psi_{\sigma}u\|^{2} + C\sigma h^{\delta};$$

we prove it later but now instead of (4.12) we arrive for  $\sigma = \epsilon_0 t$  to

$$((1-a^2)-\epsilon)P(T) \le Ch^{\delta'} + (a^m - a^2)T^{-1}\int_{\gamma}^{T}P(t)\,dt + C\gamma T^{-1}$$

with  $P(t) = \|\psi_{\epsilon_0 t} u(., t)\|^2$ . Then since  $\nu = (a^m - a^2)/((1 - a^2) - \epsilon) < 0$  this inequality implies (4.3) again.

*Proof of* (4.15). Indeed, as h = 1,  $||B_m^{1/m}u|| \le 1$  we from G. Grubb [5,6] conclude that  $|u(x_1)| \le C x_1^{(m-1)/2} ||uB_m^{1/m}u||$  and  $|Lu(x_1)| \le C x_1^{(m-1)/2}$  and therefore  $|(Lu, u)| \le C \sigma^m ||B_m^{1/m}u||^2$ . Take  $\sigma = 1$ .

Scaling returns (4.15) as  $\sigma = h$ .

**Proposition 4.3.** Let  $\Lambda = \Lambda_{m,X}$  be a *d*-dimensional operator (1.1) on the half-space  $X = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^d, x_1 > 0\}$  with Euclidean metrics  $(d \ge 2)$  and  $A = h\Lambda^{1/m} - 1$ .

Let  $\psi \in \mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}([-1,1])$ ,  $\psi_{\gamma}(x) = \psi(x_1/\gamma)$ ,  $\phi \in \mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}([-1,1])$ ,  $\varphi \in \mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{d-1})$ supported in  $\{|\xi'| \leq 1 - \epsilon\}$  with  $\epsilon > 0$ . Finally, let  $\gamma \geq h^{1-\delta}$ ,  $T \geq Ch^{-\delta}\gamma$ ,  $h^{\delta} \geq \eta \geq h^{1-\delta}T^{-1}$ . Then

(4.16) 
$$\|\phi(\eta^{-1}hD_t - 1)\varphi(hD')\psi_{\gamma}(x_1)e^{ih^{-1}tA}\psi_{\gamma}(x_1)|_{t=T}\| = O(h^s)$$

with arbitrarily large s.

*Proof.* By making Fourier transform  $F_{x' \to h^{-1}\xi'}$  we reduce the general case to d = 1 and operator B.

According to Proposition 4.2  $\|\phi(\eta^{-1}hD_t)\psi_{\gamma}e^{ih^{-1}TA}\psi\| \leq h^{\delta}$ . Thus for  $s = \delta'$  (4.16) has been proven (we reduce  $\delta'$  if necessary).

Without any loss of the generality we assume that  $\psi(x_1) = 1$  as  $x_1 \leq 1$ ,  $\psi(x_1) = 0$  as  $x_1 \geq 2$ . Observe that due to propagation as  $t \leq T$  and  $x_1 \geq \gamma$  we see that  $\phi(\eta^{-1}hD_t)Q^+(hD_1)(1-\psi_{\gamma})e^{ih^{-1}TA}\psi_{\gamma}$  is negligible where  $Q^{\pm} \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$  is supported in  $\{\pm\xi_1 > \epsilon\}$ . Furthermore, from the standard ellipticity arguments we conclude that  $\phi(\eta^{-1}hD_t)Q^0(hD_1)(1-\psi_{\gamma})e^{ih^{-1}TA}\psi_{\gamma}$ is also negligible for  $Q^0 \in \mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}([-2\epsilon, 2\epsilon])$ .

Finally, due to propagation as  $t \geq T$  and  $x_1 \geq \gamma$  we conclude that  $\phi(\eta^{-1}hD_t)\psi_{\gamma}e^{ih^{-1}(t-T)A}Q^{-}(hD_1)(1-\psi_{\gamma})e^{ih^{-1}TA}\psi_{\gamma}$  is negligible for  $t \geq T$ .

What is left is  $\phi(\eta^{-1}hD_t)\psi_{\gamma}e^{ih^{-1}(t-T)A}Q^{-}(hD_1)\psi_{\gamma}e^{ih^{-1}TA}\psi_{\gamma}$  and since (4.16) holds for  $s = \delta'$  we conclude that it holds for  $s = 2\delta'$  and T replaced by 2T.

Continuing this process we see that (4.16) holds for  $s = n\delta'$  and T replaced by nT. Therefore, as we redenote nT by T (and T by T/n respectively), we acquire factor  $(\gamma n/T)^n$  in our estimate and it is  $O(h^s)$  for any s as h is sufficiently small,  $\gamma/T \leq h^{\delta}$  and  $n = s/\delta'$ .

#### 4.2 General Case

**Theorem 4.4.** Let  $(\bar{x}, \bar{\xi})$  be a point on the energy level 1. Consider a Hamiltonian trajectory  $\Psi_t(\bar{x}, \bar{\xi})$  with  $\pm t \in [0, mT]$  (one sign only) with  $T \geq \epsilon_0$  and assume that for each t indicated it meets  $\partial X$  transversally i.e.

(4.17) 
$$\operatorname{dist}(\pi_{x}\Psi_{t}(x,\xi),\partial X) \leq \epsilon \implies |\frac{d}{dt}\operatorname{dist}(\pi_{x}\Psi_{t}(x,\xi),\partial X)| \geq \epsilon \qquad \forall t: \pm t \in [0, mT].$$

Also assume that

(4.18)  $\operatorname{dist}(\pi_{x}\Psi_{t}(x,\xi),\partial X) \geq \epsilon_{0} \quad as \quad t = 0, \ \pm t = mT.$ 

Let  $\epsilon > 0$  be a small enough constant, Q be supported in  $\epsilon$ -vicinity of  $(x, \xi)$  and  $Q_1 \equiv 1$  in  $C_0 \epsilon$ -vicinity of  $\Psi_t(x, \xi)$  as  $t = \pm mT$ . Then operator  $(I - Q_1)e^{-ih^{-1}tH}Q$  is negligible as  $t = \pm mT$ .

503

*Proof.* (a) Obviously without any loss of the generality one can assume that there is just one reflection from  $\partial X$  (and this reflection is transversal) and that (3.1) is fulfilled in its vicinity.

Further, without any loss of the generality one can assume that Q is supported in  $\varepsilon$ -vicinity of  $(\bar{x}, \bar{\xi})$ ,  $Q_1 \equiv 1$  in  $\varepsilon$ -vicinity of  $\Psi_{mT}(\bar{x}, \bar{\xi})$  and  $T \simeq \varepsilon$ with  $\varepsilon = h^{\frac{1}{2} - \delta'}$ . Then both  $\bar{x}$  and  $\pi_x \Psi_{mT}(\bar{x}, \bar{\xi})$  belong to  $C_0 \varepsilon$ -vicinity of  $\partial X$ .

Indeed, it follows from the propagation inside of domain.

(b) Then instead of isotropic vicinities we can consider anisotropic ones:  $\varepsilon$  with respect to  $(x', \xi')$ ,  $h^{1-3\delta'}$  with respect to  $x_1$  and  $h^{\delta'}$  with respect to  $\xi_1$ . Let now Q and  $Q_1$  be corresponding operators.

In this framework from the propagation inside of domain it follows that without any loss of the generality one can assume that  $T \simeq \gamma = h^{1-\delta''}$  and both  $\bar{x}$  and  $\pi_x \Psi_{mT}(\bar{x}, \bar{\xi})$  belong to  $C_0 \gamma$ -vicinity of  $\partial X$ .

(c) Then one can employ the method of the successive approximations freezing coefficients at point  $\bar{x}$  and in this case the statement of the theorem follows from the construction of Section 7.2 of  $[9]^{2}$  and Proposition 4.3. We leave easy details to the reader.

Then we arrive immediately to

**Corollary 4.5.** Under standard non-periodicity condition<sup>3</sup>  $N_h^-$  is given with  $o(h^{1-d})$ -error by the Tauberian expression with  $T = h^{1-\delta}$ .

*Proof.* Easy details are left to the reader.

# 5 Main Results

#### 5.1 From Tauberian to Weyl Asymptotics

Now we can apply the method of successive approximations as described in Section  $7.2^{2}$  and prove that for operator A the Tauberian expression with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2)</sup> Insignificant and rather obvious modifications are required.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3)</sup> The set of all periodic billiards has measure zero.

 $T = h^{1-\delta}$  (with sufficiently small  $\delta > 0$ ) equals to Weyl expression  $N_h^W$  with  $O(h^{2-d-\delta''})$  error,

(5.1) 
$$\mathsf{N}_{h}^{\mathsf{W}} = \kappa_{0} h^{-d} + \kappa_{1,m} h^{1-d} + o(h^{1-m})$$

with the standard coefficient  $\kappa_0 = (2\pi)^{-d} \varpi_d \operatorname{vol}_d(X)$  and with

(5.2) 
$$\kappa_{1,m} = (2\pi)^{1-d} \varpi_{d-1} \varkappa_m \operatorname{vol}_{d-1} (\partial X)$$

where

(5.3) 
$$\varkappa_m =$$
  
=  $\frac{d-1}{m} \iint_1^\infty \lambda^{-(d-1)/m-1} \left( e_m(x_1, x_1, \lambda) - \pi^{-1}(\lambda - 1)^{1/m} \right) dx_1 d\lambda$ 

with  $\boldsymbol{e}_m(x_1, y_1, \tau) = \boldsymbol{e}_{m,1,1}(x_1, y_1, \tau)$  the Schwartz kernel of the spectral projector of operator  $\boldsymbol{a}_m \coloneqq B_{m,1,1}$  introduced by (4.1):

(5.4) 
$$\boldsymbol{a}_m = ((D_x^2 + 1)^{m/2})_{\mathfrak{D}}$$

Recall that  $\mathsf{vol}_d$  and  $\mathsf{vol}_{d-1}$  are Riemannian volumes corresponding to metrics g and its restriction to  $\partial X$  respectively and  $\pi^{-1}(\lambda - 1)^{1/m}$  is a Weyl approximation to  $e_{m,1}(x_1, x_1, \lambda)$ . Thus we arrive to

**Theorem 5.1.** Under standard non-periodicity condition the following asymptotics holds:

(5.5) 
$$\mathsf{N}(\tau) = \kappa_0 \tau^{\frac{d}{m}} + \kappa_{1,m} \tau^{\frac{d-1}{m}} + o(\tau^{\frac{d-1}{m}}) \qquad as \ \tau \to +\infty.$$

*Proof.* First we establish as described above asymptotics

(5.6) 
$$\mathsf{N}_{h}^{-} = \kappa_{0} h^{-d} + \kappa_{1,m} h^{1-d} + o(h^{1-d})$$
 as  $h \to +0$ ,

which immediately implies (5.5).

*Remark 5.2.* Based on our analysis one can prove easily also the asymptotics for the Riesz means:

(5.7) 
$$\left(\mathsf{N}(\tau) - \sum_{k < r+1} \kappa_{k,m} \tau^{\frac{d-k}{m}}\right) * \tau_+^{r-1} = O(\tau^{\frac{d-1}{m}}) \quad \text{as} \ \tau \to +\infty,$$

and under standard non-periodicity condition

(5.8) 
$$\left(\mathsf{N}(\tau) - \sum_{k \le r+1} \kappa_{k,m} \tau^{\frac{d-k}{m}}\right) * \tau_+^{r-1} = o(\tau^{\frac{d-1}{m}}) \quad \text{as} \quad \tau \to +\infty,$$

with some coefficients  $\kappa_{k,m}$ .

#### 5.2 Discussion

The following problems seem to be challenging

Problem 5.3. As  $m_1 > 0$ ,  $m_2 > 0$  consider

(5.9) 
$$K = K_{m_1,m_2,X} \coloneqq \Lambda_{m,X} - \Lambda_{m_1,X} \Lambda_{m_2,X}$$

on  $\mathfrak{D}(\Lambda_m)$  with  $m = m_1 + m_2$ . From Corollary A.2 we conclude that this is a non-negative operator. Furthermore, due to [12,13] it is a positive operator. Obviously singularities of its Schwartz kernel  $\mathcal{K}(x, y)$  belong to  $\partial X \times \partial X$ .

(i) Provide an effective estimate for this operator from below.

(ii) Prove that as  $X = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^d : x_1 > 0\}$  with Euclidean metrics its Schwartz kernel  $K(x, y) = k(x_1, y_1, x' - y')$  which is positive homogeneous of degree -m - d satisfies

(5.10) 
$$|D_x^{\alpha} D_y^{\beta} \mathcal{K}(x, y)|$$
  
  $\leq C_{\alpha\beta} x_1^{-\frac{m}{2} - \alpha_1} y_1^{-\frac{m}{2} - \beta_1} (x_1 + y_1 + |z|)^{-d - |\alpha'| + |\beta'|}.$ 

(iii) In the general case in the local coordinates in which  $X = \{x : x_1 > 0\}$ and  $x_1 = dist(x, \partial X)$  not only (5.10) holds but also

(5.11) 
$$|D_x^{\alpha} D_y^{\beta} (\mathcal{K}(x, y) - \mathcal{K}^0(x, y))|$$
  
 $\leq C_{\alpha\beta} (x_1 + y_1)^{-m - \alpha_1 - \beta_1} (x_1 + y_1 + |z|)^{-d - |\alpha'| + |\beta'| + 1}$ 

where  $K^0(x, y) = k(x_1, y_1, x' - y')$  and  $g^{jk} = \delta_{jk}$  at point  $(0, \frac{1}{2}(x' + y'))$ .

**Problem 5.4.** For m > 0, n > 0 consider operator

(5.12) 
$$K = K_{m,n,X} \coloneqq \Lambda_{m,X} - \Lambda_{n,X}^{m/n}$$

on  $\mathfrak{D}(\Lambda_k)$  with  $k = \max(m, n)$ . Then this is a non-negative (non-positive) operator as m > n (m < n respectively. Furthermore, due to [12, 13] it is a positive (negative) operator respectively.

(i) Provide an effective estimate for this operator from below.

(ii) Prove that if  $X = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^d : x_1 > 0\}$  with Euclidean metrics its Schwartz kernel  $\mathcal{K}(x, y) = k(x_1, y_1, x' - y')$  which is positive homogeneous of degree -(m + d) and satisfies (5.10).

(iii) Prove that in the framework of Problem 5.3(iii) both (5.10) and (5.11) hold.

**Problem 5.5.** (i) Consider operators  $(\Delta^{m/2})_{\mathfrak{D}}$  with m < 0 and the asymptotics of eigenvalues tending to +0.

(ii) Consider operators with degenerations like  $A_{m,X} = h^m \Lambda_{m,X} + V(x)$ .

(iii) Consider more general operators where instead of  $\Delta$  general elliptic (matrix) operator is used.

**Problem 5.6.** (i) Consider Neumann boundary conditions: having smooth metrics g in the vicinity of  $\bar{X}$  for each point  $x \notin X$  in the vicinity of  $\partial X$  we can assign a mirror point  $j(x) \in \bar{X}$  such that x and j(x) are connected by a (short) geodesics orthogonal to Y at the point of intersection. Each u defined in X we can continue to the vicinity of  $\bar{X}$  as  $Ju(x) = \psi(x)u(j(x))$  with  $\psi$  supported in the vicinity of  $\bar{X}$  and  $\psi = 1$  in the smaller vicinity of  $\bar{X}$ . Then  $\Lambda_m u = R_X \Delta^{m/2} Ju$ .

- Establish eigenvalue asymptotics for this operator.
- Surely we need to prove that the choice neither of metrics outside of X nor  $\psi$  is important.

(ii) One can also try  $Ju(x) = -\psi(x)u(j(x))$  and prove that eigenvalue asymptotics for this operator do not differ from what we got just for continuation by **0**.

**Problem 5.7.** Consider manifolds with all geodesic billiards closed as in Section 8.3 of [9]. To do this we need to calculate the "phase shift" at the transversal reflection point itself seems to be an extremely challenging problem.

# 6 Global Theory

Let us discuss fractional Laplacians defined by (1.1) in domain  $X \subset \mathbb{R}^d.$  Then under additional condition

(6.1) 
$$\operatorname{dist}(x, y) \leq C_0 |x - y| \qquad \forall x, y \in X$$

(where dist(x, y) is a "connected" distance between x and y) everything seems to work. We leave to the reader:

**Problem 6.1.** Under assumption (6.1)

(i) prove Lieb-Cwikel-Rozeblioum estimate (9.A.11) of [9].

(ii) Restore results of Chapter 9 of [9].

(iii) Reconsider examples of Sections 11.2 and 11.3 of [9].

Remark 6.2. Obviously domains with cuts and inner spikes (inner angles of  $2\pi$ ) do not fit (6.1). On the other hand, in the case of the domain with the cut due to non-locality of  $\Delta^r$  with  $r \in \mathbb{R}^+ \setminus \mathbb{Z}$  both sides of the cut "interact" and at least coefficient in the second term of two-term asymptotics may be wrong; in the case of the inner spike some milder effects are expected.



Figure 1: Domain with a cut (a) and an inner spike (b).

The following problem seems to be very challenging:

**Problem 6.3.** (i) Investigate fractional Laplacians in domains with cuts and inner spikes and save whatever is possible.

(ii) Generalize these results to higher dimensions.

# A Variational Estimates for Fractional Laplacian

#### A.1 Variational Estimates for Fractional Laplacian

We follow here R. Frank and L. Geisinger [4]. This is Lemma 19 and the next paragraph of their paper:

**Lemma A.1.** (i) Let B be a non-negative operator with Ker  $B = \{0\}$  and let P be an orthogonal projection. Then for any operator monotone function  $\phi : (0, \infty) \to \mathbb{R}$ ,

(A.1) 
$$P\phi(PBP)P \ge P\phi(B)P.$$

(ii) If, in addition, B is positive definite and  $\phi$  is not affine linear, then  $\phi(PBP) = P\phi(B)P$  implies that the range of P is a reducing subspace of B.

We recall that, by definition, the range of P is a reducing subspace of a non-negative (possibly unbounded) operator if  $(B + \tau)^{-1} \operatorname{Ran} P \subset \operatorname{Ran} P$  for some  $\tau > 0$ . We note that this is equivalent to  $(B + \tau)^{-1}$  commuting with P, and we see that the definition is independent of  $\tau$  since

$$(B + \tau')^{-1}P - P(B + \tau')^{-1} = (B + \tau)(B + \tau')^{-1} ((B + \tau)^{-1}P - P(B + \tau)^{-1}) (B + \tau)(B + \tau')^{-1}.$$

We refer to the proof given there.

Corollary A.2. The following inequality holds

(A.2)  $\Lambda_{m,X} \leq \Lambda_{n,X}^{m/n} \quad as \quad 0 < m < n.$ 

*Proof.* Plugging into (A.1)  $B = \Delta^{n/2}$  in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ ,  $P = \theta_X(x)$  and  $\phi(\lambda) = \lambda^{m/n}$  we get (A.2).

Repeating arguments of Proposition 20 and following it Subsection 6.4 of R. Frank and L. Geisinger [4] (powers of operators will be different but also negative) we conclude that

**Proposition A.3.** Let  $d \ge 2$ . Then  $-\varkappa_m$  is positive strictly monotone increasing function of m > 0.

We leave details to the reader.

# A.2 $\mu$ -Transmission Property

Proposition 1 of G. Grubb [6] claims that

**Proposition A.4.** A necessary and sufficient condition in order that  $R_X Pu \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(\bar{X})$  for all  $u \in \mathscr{E}_{\mu}(\bar{X})$  is that P satisfies the  $\mu$ -transmission condition (in short: is of type  $\mu$ ), namely that

(A.3) 
$$\partial_x^\beta \partial_\varepsilon^\alpha p_j(x, -N) = e^{\pi i (m-2\mu-j-|\alpha|)} \partial_x^\beta \partial_\varepsilon^\alpha p_j(x, N) \quad \forall x \in \partial\Omega,$$

for all  $j, \alpha, \beta$ , where **N** denotes the interior normal to  $\partial X$  at x, m is an order of classical pseudo-differential operator **P** and for  $\mu \in \mathbb{C}$  with  $\operatorname{Re} \mu > -1$ .

Here  $\mathscr{E}_{\mu}(\bar{X})$  denotes the space of functions u such that  $u = E_X d(x)^{\mu} v$ with  $v \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(\bar{X})$  where  $E_X$  is an operator of extension by 0 to  $\mathbb{R}^d \setminus X$  and  $d(x) = \operatorname{dist}(x, \partial X)$ .

Observe that for  $\mu = 0$  we have an ordinary transmission property (see Definition 1.4.3) of [9].

# Comments

This project started when I learned to my surprise that fractional Laplacians are of the interest to probability theory: which seem to be of interest to probability theory starting from R. M. Blumenthal, R. M. and R. K. Getoor [3] and then by R. Bañuelos and T. Kulczycki [1], R. Bañuelos, T. Kulczycki and B. Siudeja [2], M. Kwaśnicki [11]; some of these authors were interested in "Ivrii-type results" (i.e. generalizations from m = 2 to  $m \in (0, 2)$ 

Those operators were formulated in the framework of stochastic processes and thus were not accessible for me until I found paper R. Frank and L. Geisinger [4] provided definition we follow here. They showed that the trace has a two-term expansion regardless of dynamical assumptions<sup>4</sup>), and the second term in their expansion paper [4] defined by (3.2)–(3.3) is closely related to  $\kappa_{1,m}$ . It corresponds to r = 1 in Remark 5.2.

Furthermore, I learned that one-term asymptotics for more general operators (albeit without remainder estimate) was obtained by G. Grubb [7].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4)</sup> The fact that R. Frank and L. Geisinger obtain a second term regardless of dynamical assumptions is simply due to the fact that they study  $\text{Tr}(f(\Lambda_{m,X}))$  with  $f(\lambda) = -\lambda \theta(-\lambda)$ , which is one order smoother than  $f(\lambda) = \theta(-\lambda)$ .

Very recently I used the ideas of Section 4 to study sharp spectral asymptotics for Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator in [10].

I express my gratitudes to G. Grubb and R. Frank for pointing to rather nasty errors in the previous version of this article and very useful comments, and to R. Bañuelos for very useful comments. I also express my gratitudes to the referee of this paper for several useful remarks.

# Bibliography

- R. Bañuelos and T. Kulczycki, Trace estimates for stable processes, Probab. Theory Related Fields 142:313–338 (2008).
- [2] R. Bañuelos., T. Kulczycki T. and B. Siudeja., On the trace of symmetric stable processes on Lipschitz domains. J. Funct. Anal. 257(10):3329–3352 (2009).
- [3] R. M. Blumenthal and R. K. Getoor, Sample functions of stochastic processes with stationary independent increments. J. Math. Mech., 10:493–516 (1961).
- [4] R. Frank, and L. Geisinger, Refined Semiclassical asymptotics for fractional powers of the Laplace operator. arXiv:1105.5181, 1–35, (2013).
- [5] G. Grubb, Local and nonlocal boundary conditions for μ-transmission and fractional elliptic pseudodifferential operators, Analysis and Part. Diff. Equats., 7(71):649–1682 (2014).
- [6] G. Grubb, Fractional Laplacians on domains, a development of Hörmander's theory of μ-transmission pseudodifferential operators, Adv. Math. 268:478–528 (2015).
- [7] G. Grubb, Spectral results for mixed problems and fractional elliptic operators, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 421(2):1616–1634 (2015).
- [8] G. Grubb and L. Hörmander, The transmission property. Math. Scand., 67:273–289 (1990).
- [9] V. Ivrii, Microlocal Analysis and Sharp Spectral Asymptotics, available online at http://www.math.toronto.edu/ivrii/monsterbook.pdf

- [10] V. Ivrii, Spectral asymptotics for Dirichlet to Neumann operator, arXiv:1802.07524, 1–14, (2018).
- [11] M. Kwaśnicki, Eigenvalues of the fractional laplace operator in the interval. J. Funct. Anal., 262(5):2379–2402 (2012).
- [12] R. Musina, A. I. Nazarov, On fractional Laplacians. Comm. Part. Diff. Eqs. 39(9):1780–1790 (2014).
- [13] R. Musina, L. Nazarov. On fractional Laplacians-2. Annales de l'Institut Henri Poincare. Non Linear Analysis, 33(6):1667-1673 (2016).



# Spectral Asymptotics for Dirichlet to Neumann Operator in the Domains with $Edges^{*,\dagger}$

# Victor Ivrii<sup>‡</sup>

#### Abstract

We consider eigenvalues of the Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator for Laplacian in the domain (or manifold) with edges and establish the asymptotics of the eigenvalue counting function

$$N(\lambda) = \kappa_0 \lambda^d + O(\lambda^{d-1})$$
 as  $\lambda \to +\infty$ ,

where d is dimension of the boundary. Further, in certain cases we establish two-term asymptotics

$$\mathsf{N}(\lambda) = \kappa_0 \lambda^d + \kappa_1 \lambda^{d-1} + o(\lambda^{d-1}) \quad \text{as} \; \lambda \to +\infty.$$

We also establish improved asymptotics for Riesz means.

# 1 Introduction

Let X be a compact connected (d + 1)-dimensional Riemannian manifold with the boundary Y, regular enough to properly define operators J and  $\Lambda$ below<sup>1</sup>). Consider Steklov problem

(1.1) 
$$\Delta w = 0$$

in X,

(1.2) 
$$(\partial_{\nu} + \lambda) w|_{Y} = 0,$$

\*2010 Mathematics Subject Classification: 35P20, 58J50.

<sup>†</sup>Key words and phrases: Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator, spectral asymptotics.

<sup>‡</sup>This research was supported in part by National Science and Engineering Research Council (Canada) Discovery Grant RGPIN 13827.

<sup>1)</sup> Manifolds with edges are of this type.

where  $\Delta$  is the positive Laplace-Beltrami operator<sup>2)</sup>, acting on functions on X, and  $\nu$  is the unit inner normal to Y. In the other words, we consider eigenvalues of the Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator. For  $\nu$ , which is a restriction to Y of  $\mathscr{C}^2$  function, we define  $J\nu = w$ , where  $\Delta w = 0$  in X,  $w|_Y = \nu$ , and  $\Lambda v = -\partial_{\nu} J v|_Y$ .

#### **Definition 1.1.** A is called *Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator*.

The purpose of this paper is to consider manifold with the boundary which has edges: i.e. each point  $y \in Y$  has a neighbourhood U in  $\overline{X} := X \cap Y$ , which is the diffeomorphic either to  $\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^d$  (then y is a *regular point*), or to  $\mathbb{R}^{+2} \times \mathbb{R}^{d-1}$  (then y is an *inner edge point*) or to  $(\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \mathbb{R}^{-2}) \times \mathbb{R}^{d-1}$  (then y is an *outer edge point*). Let  $Z_{\text{inn}}$  and  $Z_{\text{out}}$  be sets of the inner and outer edge points respectively, and  $Z = Z_{\text{inn}} \cup Z_{\text{out}}$ .

One can prove easily the following proposition:

**Proposition 1.2.** (i)  $\Lambda$  is a non-negative essentially self-adjoint operator in  $\mathcal{L}^2(Y)$ ; Ker( $\Lambda$ ) consists of constant functions.

(ii)  $\Lambda$  has a discrete accumulating to infinity spectrum with eigenvalues  $0 = \lambda_0 < \lambda_1 \leq \dots$  could be obtained recurrently from the following variational problem:

(1.3) 
$$\int_{X} |\nabla w|^2 dx \mapsto \min(=\lambda_n)$$
  
as 
$$\int_{Y} |w|^2 dx' = 1, \qquad \int_{Y} ww_k^{\dagger} dx' = 0 \quad for \quad k = 0, \dots, n-1.$$

**Corollary 1.3.** The number of eigenvalues of  $\Lambda$ , which are less than  $\lambda$ , equals to the maximal dimension of the linear space of  $\mathcal{C}^2$ -functions, on which the quadratic form

(1.4) 
$$\int_{X} |\nabla w|^2 \, dx - \lambda \int_{Y} |w|^2 \, dx'$$

is negative definite.

**Proposition 1.4.** Operator  $\Lambda$  has a domain  $\mathcal{H}^1(Y)$  and

(1.5)  $\|\Lambda u\|_{Y} + \|u\|_{Y} \asymp \|u\|_{\mathscr{H}^{1}(Y)},$ 

where (.,.) and  $\|.\|$  denote  $\mathcal{L}^2$  inner product and norm.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2)</sup> Defined via quadratic forms.

*Proof.* Let  $L = \ell \cdot \nabla$ ,  $\ell$  be a vector field which makes an acute angle with the inner normal (at Z-with both inner normals). Consider

(1.6) 
$$0 = -(\Delta w, Lw)_X = (\nabla w, \nabla Lw)_X + (\partial_{\nu} w, Lw)_Y = \int Q(\nabla w) \, dy + O(||w||_{\mathscr{H}^1(X)}^2),$$

where

(1.7) 
$$Q(\nabla w) = (\nu \cdot \nabla w)(\ell \cdot \nabla w) - \frac{1}{2}\nu \cdot \ell |\nabla w|^2.$$

This quadratic form has one positive and d negative eigenvalues. Further, on the subspace orthogonal to  $\ell$ , all eigenvalues are negative. Then

(1.8) 
$$\|\partial_{\nu}w\|^2 + C\|w\|_{\mathscr{H}^1(X)}^2 \asymp \|w\|_{\mathscr{H}(Y)}^2$$

Combined with the estimate for  $\|w\|_{\mathscr{H}^1(X)}^2 \leq C \|w\|_{\mathscr{H}^{\frac{1}{2}}(Y)}^2$  it implies the statement.  $\Box$ 

Remark 1.5. (i) If Y is infinitely smooth, then  $\Lambda$  is the first-order pseudodifferential operator on Y with the principal symbol  $(g_Y(x,\xi))^{1/2}$ , where  $g_Y$ is the restriction of the metrics to Y. Then the standard results hold:

(1.9) 
$$\mathsf{N}(\lambda) = \kappa_0 \lambda^d + O(\lambda^{d-1}) \quad \text{as} \quad \lambda \to +\infty$$

with the standard coefficient  $\kappa_0 = (2\pi)^{-d} \omega_d \operatorname{mes}(Y)$ , where  $\operatorname{mes}(Y)$  means d-dimensional volume of Y,  $\omega_d$  is the volume of the unit ball in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . We also can get two-term asymptotics with the same remainder estimate for  $N(\lambda) * \lambda_+^{r-1}$ ,  $0 < r \leq 1$ .

(ii) Moreover, if the set of all periodic geodesics of Y has measure 0, then

(1.10) 
$$\mathsf{N}(\lambda) = \kappa_0 \lambda^d + \kappa_1 \lambda^{d-1} + o(\lambda^{d-1}) \quad \text{as} \quad \lambda \to \infty$$

We also can get two-term asymptotics (three-term for r = 1) with the same remainder estimate for  $N(\lambda) * \lambda_{+}^{r-1}$ ,  $0 < r \leq 1$ . The same asymptotics, albeit with a larger number of terms, hold for r > 1.

(iii) "Regular" singularities of the dimension < (d-1) (like conical points in 3D) do not cause any problems for asymptotics of N( $\lambda$ )—we can use a rescaling technique to cover them; moreover, in the framework of this paper they would not matter even combined with edges (like vertices in 3D).

# 2 Dirichlet-to-Neumann Operator

# 2.1 Toy-Model: Dihedral Angle

Let  $Z = \mathbb{R}^{d-1}$  with the Euclidean metrics,  $X = \mathcal{X} \times Z$ ,  $Y = \mathcal{Y} \times Z$ , where  $\mathcal{X}$  is a planar angle of solution  $\alpha$ ,  $0 < \alpha \leq 2\pi$ ,  $\mathcal{Y} = \mathcal{Y}_1 \cup \mathcal{Y}_2$ ,  $\mathcal{Y}_j$  are rays (see Figure 2).

Then one can identify Y with  $\mathbb{R}^d$  with coordinates (s,z), where  $z\in Z$  and

- s = dist(y, Z) for for a point  $y \in Y_1 = \mathcal{Y}_1 \times Z$ ,
- $s = -\operatorname{dist}(y, Z)$  for for a point  $y \in Y_2 = \mathcal{Y}_2 \times Z$ .

Then we have a Euclidean metrics and a corresponding positive Laplacian  $\Delta_Y$  on Y.

Remark 2.1. (i) We can consider any angle  $\alpha > 0$ , including  $\alpha > 2\pi$  (in which case X could be defined in the polar coordinates, but then we need to address some issues with the domain of operator).

(ii) If  $\alpha = \pi$ , then  $\Lambda = \Delta_Y^{1/2}$ .

(iii) We say that X is a proper angle if  $\alpha \in (0, \pi)$  and that X is a improper angle if  $\alpha \in (\pi, 2\pi)$ . We are not very concerned about  $\alpha = \pi$ ,  $2\pi$  since these cases will be forbidden in the general case.

For this toy-model we can make a partial Fourier transform  $F_{z\to\zeta}$  and then study equation in the planar angle:

$$\Delta_2 w + w = 0,$$

where  $\Delta_2$  is a positive 2D-Laplacian and we made also a change of variables  $x'' \mapsto |\zeta| \cdot x'', x'' = (x_1, x_2)$ . Denote by  $\overline{J}$  and  $\overline{\Lambda}$  operators J and  $\Lambda$  for (2.1). This problem is extensively studied in Appendix A.1.

Then we can use the separation of variables. Singularities at the vertex for solutions to (2.1) and  $w|_{Y} = 0$ , are the same as for  $\Delta_{2}w = 0$ ,  $w|_{Y} = 0$  and they are combinations of  $r^{\pi n/\alpha} \sin(\pi n\theta/\alpha)$  with n = 1, 2, ..., where  $(r, \theta) \in \mathbb{R}^{+} \times (0, \alpha)$  are polar coordinates.

This show the role of  $\alpha$ : if  $\alpha \in (0, \pi)$  those functions are in  $\mathscr{H}^{\sigma}_{\mathsf{loc}}(\mathscr{X})$  with  $\sigma < 1 + \pi n/\alpha$ , and  $\partial_{\nu} w|_{Y}$  belong to  $\mathscr{H}^{\sigma-3/2}_{\mathsf{loc}}(\mathscr{Y})$ .

One can prove easily the following Propositions 2.2 and 2.3 below:
**Proposition 2.2.** The following are bounded operators

(2.2) 
$$\Delta_{\mathsf{D}}^{-1}: \mathscr{H}^{\sigma}(X) \to \mathscr{H}^{\sigma+2}(X),$$

(2.2) 
$$\Delta_{\mathrm{D}} : \mathscr{H}^{\sigma+\frac{3}{2}}(Y) \to \mathscr{H}^{\sigma+2}(X),$$
  
(2.3) 
$$J : \mathscr{H}^{\sigma+\frac{3}{2}}(Y) \to \mathscr{H}^{\sigma+2}(X),$$
  
(2.4) 
$$\Lambda : \mathscr{H}^{\sigma+\frac{3}{2}}(Y) \to \mathscr{H}^{\sigma+\frac{1}{2}}(X),$$

(2.4) 
$$\Lambda: \mathscr{H}^{\sigma+\frac{3}{2}}(Y) \to \mathscr{H}^{\sigma+\frac{1}{2}}(X)$$

where  $\Delta_D$  is an operator  $\Delta$  with zero Dirichlet boundary conditions on Y and

- 
$$\sigma \in [-\frac{1}{2}, 0]$$
, if  $\alpha \in (0, \pi)$ , and  
-  $\sigma \in [-\frac{1}{2}, \overline{\sigma})$  with  $\overline{\sigma} = \pi/\alpha - 1$  otherwise.

**Proposition 2.3.** For equation (2.1) in  $\mathcal{X}$ 

(2.5) 
$$\bar{\Lambda} - (D_s^2 + 1)^{1/2} = \sum_{j+k \le 1} D_s^j \bar{K}_{jk} D_s^k,$$

where operators  $\bar{K}_{jk}$  have Schwartz kernels  $\bar{K}_{jk}(s, s')$  such that

$$(2.6) |D_{s}^{p}D_{s'}^{q}\bar{K}_{jk}(s,t')| \leq C_{pqm}|s|^{-(\bar{\sigma}-p)_{-}}|s'|^{-(\bar{\sigma}-q)_{-}}(|s|+|s'|)^{-p-q+(\bar{\sigma}-p)_{-}+(\bar{\sigma}-q)_{-}}(|s|+|s'|+1)^{m}$$

and  $I_{\pm} \coloneqq \max(\pm I, 0)$  and *m* is arbitrarily large.

Then

Corollary 2.4. For the toy-model in X

(2.7) 
$$\Lambda - \Delta_Y^{1/2} = \sum_{j+k \le 1} D_s^j K_{jk} D_s^k ,$$

where operators  $K_{jk}$  have Schwartz kernels

(2.8) 
$$K_{j,k}(x',s;y',s') = (2\pi)^{1-d} \iint |\xi'|^{2-j-k} \bar{K}_{jk}(s|\xi'|,s'|\xi'|) e^{-i\langle x'-y',\xi'\rangle} d\xi'.$$

### 2.2 General Case

Consider now the general case. In this case we can again introduce coordinate s on Y and consider Y as a Riemannian manifold, but with the metrics which is only  $\mathscr{C}^{0,1}$  (Lipschitz class); more precisely, it is  $\mathscr{C}^{\infty}$  on both  $Y_1$  and  $Y_2$ , but the first derivative with respect to s may have a jump on Z. It does not, however, prevent us from introduction of  $\Delta_Y$  and therefore  $\Delta_Y^{\frac{1}{2}}$ , but the latter would not be necessarily the classical pseudodifferential operator.

We want to exclude the degenerate cases of the angles  $\pi$  and  $2\pi.$  So, let us assume that

(2.9)  $Z = \{x : x_1 = x_2 = 0\}$  and  $X = Z \times \mathcal{X}$  with a planar angle  $\mathcal{X} \ni (x_1, x_2)$ , disjoint from half-plane and the plane with a cut.

**Definition 2.5.** For  $z \in Z$  let  $\alpha(z)$  be an internal angle between two leaves of Y at point z (calculated in the corresponding metrics). Due to our assumption either  $\alpha(z) \in (0, \pi)$  or  $\alpha(z) \in (\pi, 2\pi)$ . Let  $Z_j$  be a connected component of Z.

- (i)  $Z_i$  is a *inner edge* if  $\alpha(z) \in (0, \pi)$  on  $Z_i$ , and
- (ii)  $Z_j$  is an outer edge if  $\alpha(z) \in (\pi, 2\pi)$  on  $Z_j$ .

One can prove easily

Proposition 2.6. The following are bounded operators

(2.10)  $\Delta_{\mathsf{D}}^{-1}: \mathscr{H}^{\sigma}(X) \to \mathscr{H}^{\sigma+2}(X),$ 

(2.11) 
$$J: \mathscr{H}^{\sigma+\frac{3}{2}}(Y) \to \mathscr{H}^{\sigma+2}(X),$$

(2.12)  $\Lambda: \mathscr{H}^{\sigma+\frac{3}{2}}(Y) \to \mathscr{H}^{\sigma+\frac{1}{2}}(X),$ 

where  $\Delta_D$  is an operator  $\Delta$  with zero Dirichlet boundary conditions on Y and

- (i)  $\sigma \in [-\frac{1}{2}, 0]$ , if  $\alpha(z) \in (0, \pi) \forall z \in Z$ , and
- (*ii*)  $\sigma \in [-\frac{1}{2}, \bar{\sigma})$  with  $\bar{\sigma} = \pi/\bar{\alpha} 1$ ,  $\bar{\alpha} = \max_{z \in Z} \alpha(z)$  otherwise.

One can also prove easily

**Proposition 2.7.** In the general case, assuming that  $Z = \{x : x_1 = x_2 = 0\}$ and  $X = Z \times \mathcal{X}$  with a planar angle  $\mathcal{X} \ni (x_1, x_2)$  of solution  $\in (0, \pi) \cup (\pi, 2\pi)$ 

(2.13) 
$$\Lambda - \Delta_Y^{1/2} = b + \sum_{j+k \le 1} D_s^j K_{jk} D_s^k,$$

where **b** is a bounded operator and operators  $K_{jk}$  have Schwartz kernels and

(2.14) 
$$K_{j,k}(x', s; y', s') =$$
  
 $(2\pi)^{1-d} \iint |\xi'|^{2-j-k} \bar{K}_{jk}(\frac{1}{2}(x'+y'), s|\xi'|, s'|\xi'|) e^{-i\langle x'-y',\xi'\rangle} d\xi'.$ 

Remark 2.8. On the distances  $\gtrsim 1$  from Z, b is a classical 0-order pseudodifferential operator, on the distance  $\gtrsim |\xi'|^{-1+\delta}$  it is a rough 0-order pseudodifferential operator<sup>3)</sup>.

## 3 Microlocal Analysis

#### 3.1 Propagation of Singularities near Edge

We are going to consider microlocal analysis near point  $(\bar{x}, \bar{\xi}'') \in T^*Z$  under assumption (2.9). In our approach we use definition of operator  $\Lambda$  rather than its description of the previous Section 2. So, let  $x = (x''; x') \in \mathbb{R}^2 \times \mathbb{R}^{d-1}$ .

**Proposition 3.1.** (i) Let  $q_j = q_j(\xi')$  (j = 1, 2) be two symbols, constant as  $|\xi'| \ge C$ . Assume that the dist(supp $(q_1)$ , supp $(q_2)$ )  $\ge \epsilon$ .

Consider h-pseudodifferential operators  $Q_j = q_j^w(h^{-1}D'), j = 1, 2$ . Then the operator norms of

 $\begin{array}{ll} (3.1)_{1,2} & Q_1 \Delta_{\mathsf{D}}^{-1} Q_2 : \mathscr{L}^2(X) \to \mathscr{H}^2(X), & Q_1 J Q_2 : \mathscr{H}^{\frac{1}{2}}(Y) \to \mathscr{H}^2(X), \\ (3.1)_3 & Q_1 \Lambda Q_2 : \mathscr{H}^1(Y) \to \mathscr{L}^2(Y) \end{array}$ 

do not exceed  $C'h^s$  with arbitrarily large s where  $\Delta_D$  is an operator  $\Delta$  with zero Dirichlet boundary conditions on Y.

(ii) Let  $Q_j(x')$  (j = 1, 2) be two functions. Then operators  $(3.1)_{1-3}$  are infinitely smoothing by x'.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3)</sup> I. e. with the symbols such that  $|D_x^{\alpha}D_{\xi}^{\beta}| \leq C_{\alpha\beta}\rho^{-|\beta|}\gamma^{-|\alpha|}$  with  $\rho\gamma \geq h^{1-\delta}$ ,  $\rho\gamma \geq h^{1-\delta}$ . Here  $\rho = 1, \gamma = |x|$ .

*Proof.* (i) Without any loss of the generality one can assume that  $q_j$  are constant also in the vicinity of **0**. Then the operator norms of  $[Q_j, \Delta]\Delta_D^{-1}$  in  $\mathscr{L}^2(X)$  do not exceed *Ch*; replacing  $Q_j$  by  $Q_j^{(n)}$  with  $Q_j^{(0)} = Q_j$  and  $Q_j^{(n)} \coloneqq [Q_j^{(n-1)}, \Delta]\Delta_D^{-1}$  for j = 1, 2, ..., we prove by induction that the operator norms of  $Q_j^{(n)}$  in in  $\mathscr{L}^2(X)$  do not exceed *Ch*<sup>n</sup>. Then one can prove by induction easily that the operator norm of  $(3.1)_1$  does not exceed *Ch*<sup>s</sup>.

Then one can prove easily that the operator norm of  $(3.1)_{2,3}$  do not exceed  $Ch^s$  as well. It concludes the proof of Statement (i).

(ii) Statement (ii) is proven by the same way.

Let u(x, y, t) be Schwartz kernel of  $e^{it\Lambda}$ ,  $x, y \in Y$ .

**Proposition 3.2.** Consider h-pseudodifferential operator  $Q = q^w(x', h^{-1}D')$ where q vanishes  $\{|\xi'| \leq c_0\}$ . Let  $\chi \in \mathscr{C}_0^\infty(\mathbb{R}), T \geq h^{1-\delta}$ . Then operator norms of  $F_{t\to\tau}\chi_T(t)Q_xu$  and  $F_{t\to\tau}\chi_T(t)u^tQ_y$  do not exceed  $C'_Th^s$  for  $\tau \leq c$ for  $c_0 = c_0(c)$ .

Proof. One need to consider  $v = e^{it\Lambda}f$ ,  $f \in \mathcal{H}^1(Y)$ ,  $||f||_{\mathcal{L}^2(Y)} = 1$  and observe that it satisfies  $(D_t - \Lambda)v = 0$ . Using (1.5) we see that operator  $(D_t - V)$  is elliptic in  $\{|\xi'| \ge c_0, \tau \le c\}$  while Proposition 3.1 ensures its locality.

Therefore, in what follows

Remark 3.3. Studying energy levels  $\tau \leq c$  we can always apply cut-out domain  $\{|\xi'| \geq c_0\}$ .

Now we can study the propagation of singularities. Let us prove that the propagation speed with respects to x and  $\xi'$  do not exceed  $C_0$ . For this and other our analysis we need the following Proposition 3.4:

**Proposition 3.4.** For h-pseudodifferential operator  $Q = q^{w}(x, hD')$  the following formula onnecting commutators  $[\Delta, Q]$  and  $[\Lambda + \partial_{\nu}, Q]$  holds:

$$(3.2) - \operatorname{Re} i([\Delta, Q] Jv, Jv)_X = \operatorname{Re} i(([\Lambda, Q] + [\partial_{\nu}, Q])v, v)_Y$$

*Proof.* First, consider real valued symbol  $q = q(x, \xi')$  and  $Q = q^w(x, hD')$  its Weyl quantization. Let v denote just any function on Y and V its continuation as a harmonic function. Then for w = Jv

$$0 = (Q\Delta w, w)_{X} = (\Delta Qw, w) - ([\Delta, Q]w, w)_{X} = - ([\Delta, Q]w, w)_{X} + (Qw, \Delta w)_{X} - (\partial_{\nu}Qw, w)_{Y} + (Qw, \partial_{\nu}w)_{Y} = - ([\Delta, Q]w, w)_{X} - (Q\partial_{\nu}w, w)_{Y} - ([\partial_{\nu}, Q]w, w)_{Y} + (Qw, \partial_{\nu}w)_{Y} = - ([\Delta, Q]w, w)_{X} + (Q\Lambda v, v)_{Y} - ([\partial_{\nu}, Q]v, v)_{Y} - (v, Q\Lambda v)_{Y} = - ([\Delta, Q]w, w)_{X} - (\Lambda Qv, v)_{Y} - ([\partial_{\nu}, Q]v, v)_{Y},$$

which implies (3.2).

Now we can prove that at energy levels  $\tau \leq c$  the propagation speed with respects to x and  $\xi'$  do not exceed  $C_0 = C_0(c)$ .

**Proposition 3.5**<sup>4)</sup>. Let  $Q_j = q_j^w(x, hD')$  and dist(supp $(q_1)$ , supp $(q_2)$ )  $\geq C_0T$  with fixed T > 0. Let  $\chi \in \mathscr{C}_0^\infty([-1, 1])$ . Then for  $\tau \leq c$ 

$$(3.3) |F_{t\to h^{-1}\tau}(\chi_T(t)Q_{1x}u^tQ_{2y})| \le Ch^m,$$

where here and below m is an arbitrarily large exponent and  $C = C_m$ .

*Proof.* (i) The proof is the standard one for propagation with respect to  $(x', \xi')$ : we consider  $\phi(x', \xi', t)$  and prove that under the microhyperbolicity condition

(3.4) 
$$\phi_t - \{|\xi'|, \phi\} \ge \epsilon_0,$$

which is equivalent to

(3.5) 
$$2\phi_t - |\xi'|^{-1}\{|\xi'|^2, \phi\} \ge 2\epsilon_0 |\xi'|,$$

our standard propagation theorem (see Theorem 2.1.2) holds, just repeating arguments of its proof, using equality (3.2) and the fact that  $\|Jv\|_{\mathscr{H}^{1/2}(X)} \approx \|v\|_{\mathscr{L}^{2}(Y)}$ .

Then we plug  $\phi(x', \xi', t) = \psi(x', \xi') - t$  with  $|\nabla_{x',\xi'}\psi| \leq \epsilon_0$ , and prove that (3.3) for  $q_j = q_j(x', \xi')$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4)</sup> Cf. Theorem 3.1(i) of [Ivr2].

(ii) We need also prove that the propagation speed with respect to  $(x_1, x_2)^{5}$  does not exceed  $C_0$ , but it is easy since for  $|s| \ge \epsilon$ ,  $\Lambda$  is a first-order pseudodifferential operator with the symbol  $|\xi|$ .

Remark 3.6. In fact, it follows from the proof, that the propagation speed with respect to x' do not exceed  $C_0$ , and the propagation speed with respect to  $\xi'$  does not exceed  $C_0|\xi'|$  with  $C_0$ , which does not depend on restriction  $\tau \leq c$ . Meanwhile, the propagation speed with respect  $(x_1, x_2)$  does not exceed 1.

Next we prove that at energy levels  $\tau = 1$  the propagation speed with respects to x' in the vicinity of  $(0, \bar{\xi}')$  with  $|\bar{\xi}'| \ge \epsilon_0$  is at least  $\epsilon_1 = \epsilon_1(\epsilon_0)$ .

Proposition 3.7<sup>6</sup>). Let  $Q_i = q_i^w(x, hD')$  and

 $\operatorname{dist}_{x'}(\operatorname{supp}(q_1),\operatorname{supp}(q_2)) \leq \epsilon_1 T$ 

with fixed T > 0. Let  $\chi \in \mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}([-1, -\frac{1}{2}] \cup [-\frac{1}{2}, -1])$ . Then for  $|\tau - 1| \le \epsilon_0$ (3.3) holds.

*Proof.* After propagation theorem mentioned in the proof of Proposition 3.5 is proven we just plug  $\phi(x', \xi', t) = \psi(x', \xi') - \epsilon t$  with  $\xi' \cdot \nabla_{x'} \psi \ge 1$ .  $\Box$ 

**Corollary 3.8**<sup>7)</sup>. In the framework of Proposition 3.5 consider  $|\tau - 1| \leq \epsilon$ . Then

(3.6) 
$$|F_{t \to h^{-1}\tau} \Gamma_x \chi_T(t) u^t Q_y| \leq C h^{1-d+m} T^{-m}$$

and

(3.7) 
$$|F_{t \to h^{-1}\tau} \Gamma_x (\bar{\chi}_{T'}(t) - \bar{\chi}_T(t)) u^t Q_y| \le C h^{1-d+m} T^{-m},$$

provided  $\chi \in \mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}([-1, -\frac{1}{2}] \cup [\frac{1}{2}, 1]), \ \bar{\chi} \in \mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}([-1, 1]), \ \bar{\chi} = 1 \ on \ [-\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}], \ h \leq T \leq T' \leq T_0 \ with \ small \ constant \ T_0.$ 

*Proof.* For small constant T (3.6) follows directly from Proposition 3.7, after one proves easily that we can insert  $D_{x''}$ ,  $D_{y''}$  to the corresponding estimate, which is easy.

For  $h \leq T \leq T_0$  we use just rescaling like in the proof of Theorem 2.1.19. Finally, (3.7) is obtained by the summation with respect to partition of unity with respect to t.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5)</sup> Or, equivalently, with respect to s.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6)</sup> Cf. Theorem 3.1(ii) of [Ivr2].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7)</sup> Cf. Corollary 2.2(ii) of [Ivr2].

This implies immediately

**Corollary 3.9.**  $N_h(\tau)$  and  $N_h(\tau) * \tau_+^{\sigma-1}$  are approximated by the corresponding Tauberian expressions with  $T \simeq h^{1-\delta}$  with errors  $O(h^{1-d})$  and  $O(h^{1-d+\sigma})$ respectively (as  $\tau = 1$  and  $h \to +0$ ).

### 3.2 Reflection of Singularities from the Edge

The results of the previous subsubsection are sufficient to prove *sharp spectral* asymptotics (with the remainder estimate  $O(\lambda^{d-1})$ ), which do not require conditions of the global nature, but insufficient to prove sharper spectral asymptotics (with the remainder estimate  $o(\lambda^{d-1})$ ), which require conditions of the global nature.

For this more ambitious purpose we need to prove that the singularities propagate along geodesic billiards on the boundary Y, reflecting and refracting on the edge Z (so billiards will be branching), and the typical singularity (with  $|\xi'| < \tau$ ) does not stick to Z.

To do this we will follow arguments of Subsubsection 4 of [Ivr2]. Assuming (2.9) consider operator  $Q = x_1D_1 + x_2D_2 - i/2$ , which acts along Y. As an operator in  $\mathcal{L}^2(Y)$  it is self-adjoint, as an operator in  $\mathcal{L}^2(X)$  it is not, but differs from a self-adjoint operator  $Q = x_1D_1 + x_2D_2 - i$  by i/2, which does not affects commutators.

As a result, repeating the proof of Proposition 3.4 we arrive to

(3.8) Under assumption (2.9) equality (3.2) also holds for the operator  $Q = x_1D_1 + x_2D_2 - i$ .

To apply arguments of the proof of Propositions 4.2 and then 4.3 of [Ivr2], we need to check, if operator  $i[\Lambda, Q]$  is positive definite, which in virtue of (3.2) is equivalent to the same property for the form in the left:

(3.9) 
$$\operatorname{\mathsf{Re}}(i[\Delta, Q]w, w) - \operatorname{\mathsf{Re}}(i[\partial_{\nu}, Q]w, w)_{Y} \ge \epsilon \|\nabla w\|^{2} \text{for } w \colon \Delta = 0.$$

For the toy-model  $i[\Delta, Q] = 2(D_1^2 + D_2^2)$ ,  $i[\partial_{\nu}, Q] = -\partial_{\nu}$ , and the form on the left coincides with  $\|\nabla w\|^2 - 2\|\nabla' w\|^2$  on w in question and therefore after Fourier transform  $F_{x' \to \zeta}$  and change of variables  $x_{1,2}$  it boils down to the inequality

(3.10) 
$$\|\nabla w\|^2 - \|w\|^2 \ge \epsilon (\|\nabla w\|^2 + \|w\|^2)$$
 for  $w: \Delta_2 w + w = 0$ 

for two-dimensional  $\Delta_2$ , norms and scalar products.

This inequality is explored in Appendix A.1, and in virtue of Proposition A.11 (3.10) holds for  $\alpha \in (\pi, 2\pi)$ . Meanwhile due to Proposition A.16 (3.10) fails for  $\alpha \in (0, \pi)$ .

Therefore we arrive to

**Proposition 3.10**<sup>8)</sup>. Consider two-dimensional toy-model (planar angle) with  $\alpha \in (\pi, 2\pi)$ .

Let  $\psi \in \mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}([-1, 1]), \psi_{\gamma}(x) = \psi(x/\gamma) \text{ and } \phi \in \mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}([-1, 1]), \tau \ge 1 + \epsilon_0.$ Then as  $\gamma \ge h^{1-\delta}, T \ge C_0\gamma, h^{\delta} \ge \eta \ge h^{1-\delta}T^{-1}$ 

(3.11) 
$$\|\phi(\eta^{-1}(hD_t-\tau))\psi_{\gamma}e^{it\Lambda}\psi_{\gamma}|_{t=\tau}\| \leq CT^{-1}\gamma + Ch^{\delta'}.$$

*Proof.* Proof follows the proof of Proposition 4.2 of [Ivr2] with m = 1, and uses equality (3.2) to reduce calculation of the commutator  $[\Lambda, Q]$  to the calculation of the commutator  $[\Delta, Q]$ .

**Proposition 3.11**<sup>9)</sup>. Consider (d + 1)-dimensional toy-model (dihedral angle) with  $\alpha \in (\pi, 2\pi)$ .

Let  $\psi \in \mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}([-1,1])$ ,  $\psi_{\gamma}(\mathbf{x}) = \psi(\mathbf{x}_1/\gamma)$ ,  $\phi \in \mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}([-1,1])$ ,  $\varphi \in \mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{d-1})$ supported in  $\{|\xi'| \leq 1-\epsilon\}$  with  $\epsilon > 0$ . Finally, let  $\gamma \geq h^{1-\delta}$ ,  $T \geq Ch^{-\delta}\gamma$ ,  $h^{\delta} \geq \eta \geq h^{1-\delta}T^{-1}$ . Then

(3.12)  $\|\phi(\eta^{-1}(hD_t-1))\varphi(hD')\psi_{\gamma}(x_1)e^{it\Lambda}\psi_{\gamma}(x_1)|_{t=\tau}\| = O(h^m)$ 

with arbitrarily large m.

*Proof.* Proof follows the proof of Proposition 4.3 of [Ivr2] with m = 1.  $\Box$ 

Now we can consider the general case. Consider a point  $\bar{z} = (\bar{x}, \bar{\xi}') \in T^*Z$ ,  $|\bar{x}'| < 1$ .

We can raise to points  $\bar{z}^{\pm} = (\bar{x}, \bar{\xi}^{\pm}) \in T^* Y_{1,2}|_Z$  with  $|\bar{\xi}^{\pm}| = 1$  and  $\iota \bar{z}^{\pm} = \bar{z}$ , where  $\iota(x, \xi) = (x, \xi') \in T^* Z$  for  $(x, \xi) \in T^* Y|_Z$ .

Consider geodesic trajectories  $\Psi_t(\bar{z}^{\pm})$ , going from  $\bar{z}^{\pm}$ ) into  $T^*Y_{1,2}$  for  $t < 0, |t| < \epsilon$ ; this distinguishes these two points.

We also can consider geodesic trajectories  $\Psi_t(\bar{z}^{\pm})$ , going from  $\bar{z}^{\mp}$  into  $T^*Y_{1,2}$  for t > 0,  $|t| < \epsilon$ .

Let  $\iota^{-1}\bar{z} = \{\bar{z}^+, \bar{z}^-\}$  and let  $\Psi_t(\iota^{-1}\bar{z})$  be obtained as a corresponding union as well<sup>10</sup>. So, for such point  $\bar{z} \quad \Psi_t(\iota^{-1}z)$  with t < 0 consists of two

<sup>9)</sup> Cf. Proposition 4.3 of [Ivr2].

<sup>10)</sup> So we actually restrict  $\iota$  to  $S^*Y|_Z$  and  $\iota^{-1}$  to  $B^*Z$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8)</sup> Cf. Proposition 4.2 of [Ivr2].

incoming geodesic trajectories,  $\Psi_t(\iota^{-1}z)$  with t < 0 consists of two outgoing geodesic trajectories. Similarly, for  $z \in (T^*(Y \setminus Z))$  we can introduce  $\Psi_t(z)$ : when trajectory hits Z it branches.

**Theorem 3.12**<sup>11)</sup>. Consider a point  $z = (x, \xi) \in T^*Y$ ,  $|\xi| = 1$ . Consider a (branching) geodesic trajectory  $\Psi_t(z)$  with  $\pm t \in [0, T]$  (one sign only) with  $T \ge \epsilon_0$  and assume that for each t indicated it meets  $\partial X$  transversally *i.e.* 

(3.13) 
$$\operatorname{dist}(\pi_{x}\Psi_{t}(x,\xi),\partial X) \leq \epsilon \implies |\frac{d}{dt}\operatorname{dist}(\pi_{x}\Psi_{t}(x,\xi),\partial X)| \geq \epsilon \qquad \forall t: \pm t \in [0, mT].$$

Also assume that

(3.14) 
$$\operatorname{dist}(\pi_{x}\Psi_{t}(x,\xi),\partial X) \geq \epsilon_{0} \quad as \quad t = 0, \ \pm t = T.$$

Let  $\epsilon > 0$  be a small enough constant, Q be supported in  $\epsilon$ -vicinity of  $(x, \xi)$  and  $Q_1 \equiv 1$  in  $C_0 \epsilon$ -vicinity of  $\Psi_t(x, \xi)$  as  $t = \pm T$ . Then operator  $(I - Q_1)e^{-it\Lambda}Q$  is negligible as  $t = \pm mT$ .

*Proof.* Proof follows the proof of Theorem 4.4 of [Ivr2] with m = 1.

Adapting construction of the "dependence set" to our case, we arrive to the following

**Definition 3.13.** (i) The curve z(t) in  $T^*Y$  is called a *generalized geodesic* billiard if a.e.

$$(3.15) \qquad \qquad \frac{dz}{dt} \in K(z)$$

where

- (a)  $K(z) = \{H_g(z)\}, g(z) \text{ is a metric form, if } z \in T^*(Y \setminus Z),$
- (b)  $K(z) = \{H_g(z'): z' \in \iota^{-1}\iota z\}, \text{ if } z \in T^*Y|_Z.$

(ii) Let  $\Psi_t(z)$  for  $t \ge 0$  be a set of points  $z' \in T^*Y$  such that there exists generalized geodesic billiard z(t') with  $0 \le t' \le t$ , such that z(0) = z and z(t) = z'. Map  $(z, t) \mapsto \Psi_t(z)$  is called a *generalized (branching) billiard flow*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11)</sup> Cf. Theorem 4.4 of [Ivr2].

(iii) Point  $z \in T^*Y$  is partially periodic (with respect to  $\Psi$ ) if for some  $t \neq 0$   $z \in \Psi_t(z)$ . Point  $z \in T^*Y$  is completely periodic (with respect to  $\Psi$ ) if for some  $t \neq 0$   $\{z\} = \Psi_t(z)$ 

Then we arrive immediately to

**Corollary 3.14.** Assume that Z consists only of only outer edges. Also assume that the set of all partially periodic points is zero.

Then  $N_h(\tau)$  and  $N_h(\tau) * \tau_+^{r-1}$  are approximated by the corresponding Tauberian expressions with  $T \simeq h^{1-\delta}$  with errors  $o(h^{1-d})$  and  $o(h^{1-d+r})$  respectively (as  $\tau = 1$  and  $h \to +0$ ).

*Proof.* Easy details are left to the reader.

## 4 Main Results

#### 4.1 From Tauberian to Weyl Asymptotics

Now we can apply the method of successive approximations as described in Section 7.2, considering an unperturbed operator

(a) As one in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , with the metrics, frozen at point y, if dist $(y, Z) \ge h^{1-\delta}$ .

(b) As one in the dihedral edge, with the metrics, frozen at point (y', 0), if y = (y'; s) with  $|s| = \text{dist}(y, Z) \le h^{1-\delta}$ ,

with the following modification: We calculate  $\Lambda$  also this way, applying successful approximations for both  $\Delta$ , when we solve  $\Delta w = 0$ ,  $w|_Y = v$ , and to  $\partial_{\nu}$ , when we calculate  $\partial_{\nu} w|_Y$ .

Then we prove that for operator  $h\Lambda$  the Tauberian expression  $N_h^{\mathsf{T}}(1)$  for  $N_h^{\mathsf{-}}(1)$  with  $\mathcal{T} = h^{1-\delta}$  coincides modulo  $O(h^m)$  with the (generalized) Weyl expression

(4.1) 
$$\mathsf{N}_h^\mathsf{W} \sim \kappa_0 h^{-d} + \kappa_1 h^{1-d} + \dots,$$

with the standard coefficient  $\kappa_0$  and with  $\kappa_1 = \kappa_{1,Y\setminus Z} + \kappa_{1,Z}$ , where  $\kappa_{1,Y\setminus Z}$  is calculated in the standard way, for the smooth boundary, and

(4.2) 
$$\kappa_{1,Z} = (2\pi)^{1-d} \omega_{d-1} \int_{Z} \varkappa(\alpha(y)) \, dy$$

(4.3) 
$$\varkappa(\alpha) = \int_{1}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \lambda^{-d} \left( \boldsymbol{e}_{\alpha}(\boldsymbol{s}, \boldsymbol{s}, \lambda) - \pi^{-1}(\lambda - 1) \right) d\boldsymbol{s} d\lambda,$$

 $\mathbf{e}_{\alpha}(\mathbf{s}, \mathbf{s}', \lambda)$  is a Schwartz kernel of the spectral projector of  $\hat{\Lambda}$  in the planar angle of solution  $\alpha$  and  $\pi^{-1}(\lambda - 1)$  is a corresponding Weyl approximation.

### 4.2 Main Theorems

Thus we arrive to the corresponding asymptotics for  $N_h^-(1)$  and from them, obviously to asymptotics for  $N(\tau)$ :

**Theorem 4.1.** Let Y be a compact manifold with edges. Then the following asymptotics hold as  $\tau \to +\infty$ :

(4.4) 
$$\mathsf{N}(\tau) = \kappa_0 \tau^d + O(\tau^{d-1})$$

and for r > 0

(4.5) 
$$\mathsf{N}(\tau) * \tau_{+}^{r-1} = \left(\sum_{m < r} \kappa_m \tau^{d-r}\right) * \tau_{+}^{r-1} + O(\tau^{d-1}).$$

**Theorem 4.2.** Let Y be a compact manifold with edges. Assume that Z consists only of outer edges and that the set of all points, which are partially periodic with respect to the generalized billiard flow, has a measure 0. Then the following asymptotics hold as  $\tau \to +\infty$ :

(4.6) 
$$\mathsf{N}(\tau) = \kappa_0 \tau^d + \kappa_1 \tau^{d-1} + o(\tau^{d-1})$$

and for r > 0

(4.7) 
$$\mathsf{N}(\tau) * \tau_{+}^{r-1} = \left(\sum_{m \le r} \kappa_m \tau^{d-r}\right) * \tau_{+}^{r-1} + o(\tau^{d-1}).$$

### 4.3 Discussion

Remark 4.3. (i) Even for standard ordinary non-branching billiards, billiard flow  $\Psi_t$  could be multivalued. However, if through point  $z \in T^*(Y \setminus Z)$ (where now Y is a manifold, and Z is its boundary) passes an infinitely long in the positive (or negative) time direction billiard trajectory, which always meets Z transversally, and each finite time interval contains a finite number of reflections, then  $\Psi_t(z)$  for  $\pm t > 0$  is single-valued. Points, which do not have such property, are called *dead-end points*. For ordinary billiards the set of dead-end points has measure zero. (ii) For branching billiards (with velocities  $c_1$ ,  $c_2$ ) we can introduce the notion of the dead-end point as well: it is if at least one of the branches either meets Z non-transversally, or makes an infinite number of reflections on some finite time interval. As it was shown by Yu. Safarov and D. Vassiliev [SaVa], if  $c_1$ and  $c_2$  are not disjoint (our case!), the set of dead-end billiards could have positive measure.

Remark 4.4. (i) Checking non-periodicity assumption is difficult. But in some domains it will be doable. F.e. assume that  $Y = Y_1 \cup Y_2$  globally is a domain of revolution, so Z is a (d-1)-dimensional sphere. Then the measure of the set of dead-end billiards is 0.

(ii) Assume that neither  $Y_1$ , nor  $Y_2$  contains closed geodesics. Let  $\varphi_j(\beta)$  be the length of the segment of geodesics in  $Y_j$ , with only ends on Z, where  $\beta$  is the reflection angle: Assume that  $\varphi_j(\beta)$  are analytic and  $\varphi_j(\beta) \to 0$  as



Figure 1: Trajectories on the manifold of revolution

 $\beta \rightarrow +0$ . Then the measure of the set of partially periodic billiards is 0.

Remark 4.5. Our arguments hold not only for compact X but also for  $X \subset \mathbb{R}^{d+1}$  with the compact complement and with the metrics. stabilizing to Euclidean at infinity.

Remark 4.6. (i) In the next version of this paper we want to prove sharper asymptotics for domains with inner edges. To do this we need to understand, how singularities propagate near inner edges. One can prove that there are plenty of singularities, concentrated in  $Z \times \mathbb{R} \ni (x, t)$  and  $\{|\xi'| < \tau\}$ . This is similar to the Rayleigh waves. And, we hope, exactly like Rayleigh waves, those singularities do not prevent us from the sharper asympotics. What we need to prove is that the singularities in  $\{|\xi'| < \tau\}$ , coming from  $Y \setminus Z$  transversally to Z, reflect and refract but leave Z instantly. In other words, that these two kinds of waves are completely separate. It is what I am trying to prove now.

(ii) Let  $\mathcal{K}$  be the linear span of the corresponding eigenfunctions. We need to prove that  $\|\nabla w\| \ge \|w\|$  holds for  $w = \hat{J}v$  with  $v \in \mathcal{K}^{\perp}$ . One can prove easily that  $\|\nabla w\| = \|w\|$  for  $w = \hat{J}v$  and eigenfunction v (Proposition A.16).

# A Appendix

### A.1 Planar Toy-Model

#### **Preparatory Results**

Here, in contrast to the whole article,  $X = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^2, x_1 \ge |x_2| \cot(\alpha/2)\}$  is a planar angle of solution  $\alpha \in (0, 2\pi]$  with a boundary  $Y = Y_1 \cup Y_2$ ,  $Y_{1,2} = \{x: x_1 = |x_2| \cot(\alpha/2), \pm x_2 < 0\}$  and a bisector  $Y_0 = \{x: x_2 = 0, x_1 > 0\}$ , and  $\Delta = -\partial_1^2 - \partial_2^2$  is a positive Laplacian (so, for simplicity we do not write "hat").



Figure 2: Proper and improper angles

Remark A.1. (i) For  $\alpha = \pi$  we have a regular half-plane  $\{x : x_1 > 0\}$ , and for  $\alpha = 2\pi$  we have a plane with the cut  $\{x : x_1 \leq 0, x_2 = 0\}$ .

(ii) One can consider  $\alpha > 2\pi$  on the covering of  $\mathbb{R}^2$ .

Consider real-valued<sup>12)</sup> solutions of

(A.1) 
$$Lw \coloneqq (\Delta + 1)w = 0$$

and operators  $J, \Lambda$ : w = Jv solves (A.1) and  $w|_{Y} = v$ ;  $\Lambda v = -\partial_{\nu}w|_{Y}$  with w = Jv. Recall that  $\nu$  is an inner normal to Y.

Observe that for any  $angle^{13}$ 

(A.2) 
$$2 \iint_{X} Lw \cdot w_{x_1} dx_1 dx_2 = \int_{\partial X} \left( (w_{x_1}^2 - w_{x_2}^2 - w^2) \nu_1 + 2w_{x_1} w_{x_2} \nu_2 \right) dr,$$

where dr is a Euclidean measure on Y, and the then similar formula holds with  $x_1$  and  $x_2$  permuted. Then for solution of (A.1) (A.3)

$$\int_{\partial X} \left( (w_{x_1}^2 - w_{x_2}^2) (\nu_1 \ell_1 - \nu_2 \ell_2) + 2w_{x_1} w_{x_2} (\nu_2 \ell_1 + \nu_1 \ell_2) - w^2 (\nu_1 \ell_1 + \nu_2 \ell_2) \right) dr = 0.$$

If on  $\Gamma \subset \partial X \ \ell_1 = \nu_1, \ \ell_2 = \nu_2$ , then we can calculate invariantly as if  $\ell_1 = \nu_1 = 0, \ \ell_2 = \nu_2 = 1$ :

(A.4) 
$$(w_{x_1}^2 - w_{x_2}^2)(\nu_1\ell_1 - \nu_2\ell_2) + 2w_{x_1}w_{x_2}(\nu_2\ell_1 + \nu_1\ell_2) - w^2(\nu_1\ell_1 + \nu_2\ell_2) = w_{\nu}^2 - w_r^2 - w^2,$$

where  $w_r = \partial_r w$  and  $w_\nu = \partial_\nu w$ .

All these formulae hold not only for the original angle, but also for the smaller angle. Then let consider as X an upper half of the symmetric angle,  $\partial X = Y_2 \cup Y_0$ , on  $Y_0$  the integrand is

(A.5) 
$$\mathcal{I} \coloneqq (w_{x_2}^2 - w_{x_1}^2 - w^2)\ell_2 + 2w_{x_1}w_{x_2}\ell_1$$

with  $\ell_1 = \sin(\alpha/2), \ \ell_2 = -\cos(\alpha/2).$ 

Consider different cases:

Antisymmetric case:  $w|_{Y_0} = 0$ , then  $\mathcal{I} = -w_{x_2}^2 \cos(\alpha/2)$  and

(A.6) 
$$\int_{Y_2} \left( w_{\nu}^2 - w_r^2 - w^2 \right) dr - \cos(\alpha/2) \int_{Y_0} w_{x_2}^2 dx = 0$$

Symmetric case:  $w_{x_2}|_{Y_0} = 0$ , then  $\mathcal{I} = (w_{x_1}^2 + w^2)\cos(\alpha/2)$  and

(A.7) 
$$\int_{Y_2} \left( w_{\nu}^2 - w_r^2 - w^2 \right) dr + \cos(\alpha/2) \int_{Y_0} \left( w_{x_1}^2 + w^2 \right) dx_1 = 0.$$

 $^{12)}$  For complex-valued solutions then the main inequalities with  $w^2$  replaced by  $|w|^2$  follow automatically.

<sup>13)</sup> Not necessary symmetric with respect to  $x_1$ -axis.

**Proposition A.2.** Let w satisfy (A.1). Let <u>either</u>  $\alpha \in (0, \pi]$  and w is antisymmetric, <u>or</u>  $\alpha \in [\pi, 2\pi)$  and w is symmetric. Then

$$\|\nabla w\|^2 \ge \|w\|^2.$$

*Proof.* In both cases  $\int_{Y_2} (|\nabla w|^2 - w^2) dr \ge \int_{Y_2} (w_{\nu}^2 - w^2) ds \ge 0$ . Applying this inequality to the angle, shifted by t along  $x_1$ , and integrating by  $t \in (0, \infty)$ , we obtain a double integral (divided by  $\sin(\alpha/2)$ ).

Moreover, one can see easily, that this inequality is strict unless w = 0.

Similarly, if instead of multiplying by  $(\nu_1 w_{x_1} + \nu_2 w_{x_2})$  we multiply by  $(x_2 w_{x_1} - x_1 w_{x_2})$ , then extra terms in the double integral will be  $\pm w_{x_1} w_{x_2}$  and they cancel one another. However, on Y we get  $x_2 = \nu_1 r$ ,  $x_1 = -\nu_2 r$  and therefore contribution of  $Y_2$  will be as in above with extra factor r:

(A.9) 
$$\int_{Y_1} (w_{\nu}^2 - w_r^2 - w^2) \, r dr$$

On  $Y_0$  we get extra factor  $x_1 = r$ , but not  $\nu_2 = -\cos(\alpha/2)$ , and we arrive to Antisymmetric case:  $w|_{Y_0} = 0$ , then  $\mathcal{I} = w_{\chi_0}^2 x_1$  and

(A.10) 
$$\int_{Y_2} \left( w_{\nu}^2 - w_r^2 - w^2 \right) r dr + \int_{Y_0} w_{x_2}^2 x_1 dx_1 = 0.$$

Symmetric case:  $w_{x_2}|_{Y_0} = 0$ , then  $\mathcal{I} = (-w_{x_1}^2 - w^2)x_1$  and

(A.11) 
$$\int_{Y_2} \left( w_{\nu}^2 - w_r^2 - w^2 \right) r dr - \int_{Y_0} \left( w_{x_1}^2 + w^2 \right) x_1 dx_1 = 0.$$

Let us explore dependence  $\Lambda = \Lambda(\alpha)$  on  $\alpha$ . Observe first that

(A.12) 
$$\iint (\nabla w \cdot \nabla w' + ww') \, dx d_1 dx_2 = \int Lw \cdot w' - \int_{\partial X} \partial_{\nu} w \cdot w' \, dr$$

where  $(r, \theta)$  are polar coordinates and therefore dr is an Euclidean measure on Y. It implies

(A.13) 
$$(\Lambda v, v')_{Y} = \iint (\nabla w \cdot \nabla w' + ww') dx_1 dx_2,$$

for w = Jv, w' = Jv'. Therefore

(A.14)  $\Lambda$  is symmetric and nonnegative operator in  $\mathcal{L}^2(Y)$ .

Consider  $X = X(\alpha)$ ,  $Y = Y(\alpha)$ ,  $\Lambda = \Lambda(\alpha)$  and keep *w* independent on  $\alpha$ . Let us replace  $\alpha$  by  $\alpha + \delta \alpha$  etc. Then for a symmetric *X* we have  $\delta v = -r(\partial_{\nu}w)\delta \alpha = \frac{1}{2}r(\Lambda v)\delta \alpha$  and it follows from (A.13) that

$$((\delta\Lambda)\mathbf{v},\mathbf{v})_{\mathbf{Y}}+2(\Lambda\mathbf{v},\delta\mathbf{v})_{\mathbf{Y}}=\frac{1}{2}\int_{\mathbf{Y}}(|\nabla w|^{2}+|w|^{2})\,\mathbf{r}d\mathbf{r}\times\delta\alpha$$

and therefore

(A.15) 
$$((\delta\Lambda)\mathbf{v},\mathbf{v})_{\mathbf{Y}} = -\frac{1}{2}\int_{\mathbf{Y}} \left(w_{\nu}^2 - w_r^2 - |\mathbf{w}|^2\right) r d\mathbf{r} \times \delta\alpha.$$

Combining with (A.10) and (A.13) we arrive to

**Proposition A.3.** (i) On symmetric functions  $\Lambda(\alpha)$  is monotone increasing function of  $\alpha$ .

(ii) On antisymmetric functions  $\Lambda(\alpha)$  is monotone inreasing function of  $\alpha$ .

Let us identify Y with  $\mathbb{R} \ni s$ ,  $s = \mp r$  on  $Y_{1,2}$  respectively.

**Proposition A.4.** (i) On symmetric functions  $\Lambda(\pi) = (D_s^2 + I)^{\frac{1}{2}}$ .

(ii) On antisymmetric functions  $\Lambda(2\pi) \ge (D_s^2 + I)^{\frac{1}{2}}$ .

*Proof.* Statement (i) is obvious. Statement (ii) follows from the fact that on antisymmetric function  $\nu \Lambda(2\pi)\nu$  coincides with  $\Lambda(\pi)\nu^0$ , restricted to  $\{x_1 < 0\}$ , where  $\nu^0$  is  $\nu$ , extended by 0 to  $\{x_1 > 0\}$ .

Therefore, combining Propositions A.3 and A.4 we conclude that

**Corollary A.5.** (i) On symmetric functions  $\Lambda(\alpha) \geq (D_s^2 + I)^{\frac{1}{2}}$  for  $\alpha \in [\pi, 2\pi]$ .

(ii) On antisymmetric functions  $\Lambda(\alpha) \ge (D_s^2 + I)^{\frac{1}{2}}$  for  $\alpha \in (0, 2\pi]$ .

Remark A.6. One can prove easily, that inequalities are strict for  $\alpha \in (\pi, 2\pi]$ ,  $\alpha \in (0, 2\pi]$  respectively.

Now we want to finish general arguments and to prove inequality (A.8)for antisymmetric w and  $\alpha \in (\pi, 2\pi]$ . It will be more convenient to use polar coordinates  $(r, \theta)$  and notations  $\mathcal{Y}_{\beta} = \{(r, \theta): : \theta = \beta\}, \mathcal{X}_{\beta_1,\beta_2} = \{(r, \theta): : \theta = \beta\}$  $\beta_1 \leq \theta \leq \beta_2$ . Here and below  $\beta_* \in [-\alpha/2, \alpha/2]$ .

Recall that

(A.16) 
$$L = -\partial_r^2 - r^{-1}\partial_r - r^{-2}\partial_\theta^2 + 1$$

**Proposition A.7.** (i) Let w satisfy equation (A.1) in X. Then

(A.17) 
$$\mathcal{I}(\beta) := \int_{\mathcal{Y}_{\beta}} \left[ r^{-2} w_{\theta}^{2} - w_{r}^{2} - w^{2} \right] r dr$$

does not depend on  $\beta$ .

(ii) Therefore

(A.18) 
$$\mathcal{J}(\beta_1,\beta_2) \coloneqq \iint_{\mathcal{X}_{\beta_1,\beta_2}} \left[ r^{-2} w_{\theta}^2 - w_r^2 - w^2 \right] r dr d\theta$$

depends only on  $\beta_2 - \beta_1$  and therefore is proportional to it.

*Proof.* One proves (i) by analyzing  $-\iint_{\mathcal{X}_{\beta_1,\beta_2}} Lw \cdot \partial_{\theta}w \, dxdy$  (which actually was done before, since  $w_{\theta} = -x_2 w_{x_1} + x_1 w_{x_2}$ .

To prove (ii) observe that  $\partial_{\beta} \mathcal{J}(\beta_1, \beta) = \mathcal{I}(\beta)$ .

**Proposition A.8.** (i) Function

(A.19) 
$$\mathcal{J}(\beta_1, \beta_2) \coloneqq \int_{\mathcal{X}_{\beta_1, \beta_2}} w^2 r^{-1} \, dr d\theta$$

with fixed  $\beta_{1,2} = \beta \mp \sigma$  is convex with respect to  $\beta$  (if  $\sigma > 0$ ).

(ii) Further, if w is either symmetric or antisymmetric, then it reaches minimum as  $\beta = 0$  (i.e.  $\mathcal{X}_{\beta_1,\beta_2}$  is symmetric with respect to  $Y_0$ ).

*Proof.* (i) Consider

(A.20) 
$$0 = \iint_{\mathcal{X}_{\beta_1,\beta_2}} Lw \cdot w \, rdrd\theta = \iint_{\mathcal{X}_{\beta_1,\beta_2}} (w_r^2 + r^{-2}w_\theta^2 + w^2) \, rdrd\theta + \mathcal{I}'(\beta_1) - \mathcal{I}'(\beta_2)$$

$$\square$$

with

(A.21) 
$$\mathcal{I}'(\beta) = \int_{\mathcal{Y}_{\beta}} w w_{\theta} r^{-1} dr = \partial_{\beta} \mathcal{I}(\beta), \qquad \mathcal{I}(\beta) \coloneqq \int_{\mathcal{Y}_{\beta}} w^2 r^{-1} dr.$$

Observe that the first term is positive. Then  $\mathcal{I}'(\beta_2) - \mathcal{I}'(\beta_1) > 0$ ; on the other hand, it is the second derivative of  $\mathcal{J}(\beta_1, \beta_2)$  with respect to  $\beta$ .

(ii) Moreover, for both symmetric and antisymmetric  $w \mathcal{I}(\beta_2) - \mathcal{I}(\beta_1) = 0$ . And the difference  $\mathcal{I}(\beta_2) - \mathcal{I}(\beta_1) = 0$  for  $\beta = 0$ .

**Corollary A.9.** Since  $w_{\theta}$  satisfies the same equation and is antisymmetric (symmetric) respectively, the same conclusions (i), (ii) hold for  $\mathcal{J} := \int_{\mathcal{X}_{\beta_1,\beta_2}} w_{\theta}^2 r^{-1} r dr d\theta$ .

Then in virtue of Proposition A.7(ii) the same conclusions (i), (ii) hold for  $\mathcal{J} \coloneqq \iint_{\mathcal{X}_{\beta_1,\beta_2}} (w_r^2 + w^2) \, rdrd\theta$ .

Next, observe that  $Lr\partial_r w = 2\Delta w = -2w$  and if we use the same arguments, as in the proof of Proposition A.8(ii) for  $r\partial_r w$ , then instead of the first term in (A.20) we get

(A.22) 
$$\iint_{\mathcal{X}_{\beta_1,\beta_2}} \left( (rw_r)_r^2 + w_{r\theta}^2 + (rw_r)^2 - w^2 \right) r dr d\theta,$$

where an additional last term appears as

$$\iint_{\mathcal{X}_{\beta_1\beta_2}} 2w\partial_r w \cdot r^2 dr d\theta = -\iint_{\mathcal{X}_{\beta_1\beta_2}} w^2 r dr d\theta.$$

Consider last two terms and skip integration by  $d\theta$ ; plugging  $w = r^{-3/2}u$  with u(0) = 0, we arrive to

$$\int \left(u_r - \frac{3}{2}r^{-1}u\right)^2 - r^{-2}u^2 dr = \int \left(u_r^2 - 3r^{-1}u_r u + \frac{5}{4}r^{-2}u^2\right) dr = \int \left(u_r^2 - \frac{1}{4}r^{-2}u^2\right) dr$$

which is again nonnegative term. Then we arrive to

**Corollary A.10.** The same conclusions (i) and (ii) of Proposition A.8 hold for  $\mathcal{J}(\beta_1, \beta_2)$  with w replaced by  $\mathsf{rw}_r$ , i.e.  $\mathcal{J}(\beta_1, \beta_2) := \iint_{\mathcal{X}_{\beta_1,\beta_2}} \mathsf{w}_r^2 \mathsf{rdrd}\theta$ . Then in virtue of Proposition A.7(ii) the same conclusions (i), (ii) hold for

(A.23) 
$$2 \iint_{\mathcal{X}_{\beta_1,\beta_2}} |\partial_r w|^2 \, r dr d\theta + \\ \iint_{\mathcal{X}_{\beta_1,\beta_2}} (r^{-2} |\partial_\theta w|^2 - |\partial_r w|^2 - |w|^2|) \, r dr d\theta = \iint_{\mathcal{X}_{\beta_1,\beta_2}} (|\nabla w|^2 - |w|^2) \, dx dy.$$

Now we can prove

**Proposition A.11.** Let  $\alpha \in (\pi, 2\pi]$ . Then for both symmetric and antisymmetric w (A.8) holds.

*Proof.* Indeed, assume that it is not the case:  $\iint_X (|\nabla w|^2 - w^2) dxdy < 0$  for some w. Then due to Corollary A.10 the same is true for X replaced by  $\mathcal{X}_{\beta_1,\beta_2}$  with  $\beta_{1,2} = \mp (2\pi - \alpha)/2$  and the same w. Then it is true for the sum of these to expressions (with  $X == X_{-\alpha/2,\alpha/2}$  and  $\mathcal{X}_{\beta_1,\beta_2}$ ), which is the sum of the same expressions for the half-planes  $X_{\alpha/2-\pi,\alpha/2}$  and  $X_{-\alpha/2,\pi-\alpha/2}$ . However, for half-planes (A.8) holds.

Let  $P_{\tau} = \theta(\tau - \Lambda)$ .

**Proposition A.12.** (i) Let  $\alpha \in [\pi, 2\pi]$ . Then for any  $\tau > 1$  for w = Jv,  $v \in \text{Ran}(I - P_{\tau})$ ,

(A.24) 
$$\|\nabla w\|^2 \ge (1+\delta) \|w\|^2$$

with  $\delta = \delta(\tau) > 0$ .

(ii) Let  $\alpha \in (0, \pi]$ . Then for any  $\tau > 1$  for antisymmetric  $\mathbf{w} = J\mathbf{v}, \mathbf{v} \in \text{Ran}(I - P_{\tau})$ , (A.24) holds.

*Proof.* Observe first that

(A.25)  $\{ \mathbf{v} \in \operatorname{Ran}(I - P_{\tau}) : \|\mathbf{v}\|_{Y} = 1, : \|\nabla J \mathbf{v}\|^{2} \le (1 + \delta') \|J \mathbf{v}\|^{2} \}$  is a compact set in  $\mathcal{L}^{2}(Y)$  for  $\delta' = \delta'(\tau) > 0$ .

Indeed, in the zone  $\{x \colon |x| \ge R\}$  we can apply semiclassical arguments with  $h := R^{-1}$  after scaling  $x \mapsto R^{-1}x$ .

Since in both cases (A.8) holds with a strict inequality for  $w \neq 0$ , we arrive to both Statements (i) and (ii).

### A.2 Spectrum

The above results are sufficient for our needs, for  $\alpha \in (\pi, 2\pi]$ . However we would like to explore the case of  $\alpha \in (0, \pi)$  and even  $\alpha \in (\pi, 2\pi]$  in more depth.

**Corollary A.13.** (i) Let  $\alpha \in [\pi, 2\pi]$ . Then Spec( $\Lambda$ ) = [1,  $\infty$ ) and it is continuous.

(ii) Let  $\alpha \in (0, \pi]$ . Then  $\text{Spec}(\Lambda_{asym}) = [1, \infty)$  and it is continuous, where  $\Lambda_{sym}$  and  $\Lambda_{asym}$  denote the restriction of  $\Lambda$  to the spaces of symmetric and antisymmetric functions, correspondingly.

*Proof.* We already know that the that essential spectrum of  $\Lambda$  is  $[1, \infty)$ . We also know that in the case (i)  $\Lambda > I$  and in the case (ii)  $\Lambda_{asym} > I$ . Therefore 1 is not an eigenvalue. Continuity of the spectrum follows from  $(i[\Lambda, Q]v, v) \ge \delta ||v||^2$  for  $v \in \operatorname{Ran}(I - P_{\tau})$ , v is antisymmetric in the case (ii), which is due to Statements (i) and (ii) of Propostion A.12.

Remark A.14. Paper [S-KP] is dealing mainly with the eigenvalues of  $\Delta_2$ in the planar sector under Robin boundary condition  $(\partial_{\nu} + \gamma)w|_{\Upsilon} = 0$ ,  $\gamma > 0^{14}$ . Then eigenvalues  $\tau$  of  $\Lambda$  and eigenvalues  $\mu$  of that problem are related through Birman-Schwinger principle and scaling:  $\mu_k = -\tau_k^{-2}\gamma^2$ . Some of the results:

(i) Theorem 3.1 states that  $(-\infty, -\gamma^2)$  contains only discrete spectrum of such operator and it is finite.

(ii) Theorem 2.3 states that for  $\alpha \in (0, \pi)$  the bottom eigenvalue  $-\gamma^2 / \sin^2(\alpha/2)$  is simple and the corresponding eigenfunction is  $\exp(-\gamma x_1 / \sin(\alpha/2))$ .

(iii) Theorem 3.6 states that for  $\alpha \in [\frac{\pi}{3}, \pi)$  there is no other eigenvalues in (0, 1), while Theorem 4.1 implies that the number of such eigenvalues is  $\approx \alpha^{-2}$  as  $\alpha \to 0^{15}$ .

Then we conclude that

 $<sup>^{14)}</sup>$  In that paper  $\alpha$  is a half-angle, and  $\nu$  is a unit external normal. Below we refer to this paper using our notations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15)</sup> In fact, the compete asymptotic expansion of the eigenvalues is derived in Theorem 4.16 of [S-KP].

Corollary A.15. (i) Interval (0, 1) contains only discrete spectrum of  $\Lambda_{sym}$  which is finite.

(ii) For  $\alpha \in (0, \pi)$  the bottom eigenvalues is  $\sin(\alpha/2)$  and the corresponding eigenfunction is  $\exp(-x_1)$ .

The discrete spectrum would not prevent us from the extending our main results to  $\alpha \in (0, \pi)$ . Even (possible) eigenvalue 1 on the edge of the essential spectrum would not be an obstacle. However eigenvalues embedded into  $(1, \infty)$  are an obstacle (see Proposition A.16).

**Proposition A.16.** If  $w_p = Jv_p$  where  $v_p$  are eigenfunctions of  $\Lambda$ , corresponding to eigenvalues  $\tau_p$ , and  $\tau_i = \tau_k$ , then

(A.26) 
$$(\nabla w_i, \nabla w_k) - (w_i, w_k) = 0.$$

In particular,

(A.27) 
$$\|\nabla w_j, \|^2 - \|w_j\|^2 = 0.$$

*Proof.* It follows from equality (3.2) for  $Q = x_1D_1 + x_2D_2 + i/2$  and

$$([Q,\Lambda]v_j,v_k) = (\Lambda v_j, Qv_jk) - (Qv_j,\Lambda v_k) = 0$$

for eigenfunction  $v_i v_k$  provided  $\tau_i = \tau_k$ .

To extend the main sharp spectral asymptotics to operators in domains with inner edges one needs to prove the first following

**Conjecture A.17.** For any  $\tau > 1$  and for any w = Jv with symmetric  $v \in \text{Ran}(I - P_{\tau})$  estimate (A.24) holds.

Remark A.18. (i) Recall that this is true for  $\alpha \in [\pi, 2\pi]$  and, also, for  $\alpha \in (0, \pi)$  and antisymmetric  $\nu$ . So, only the case of  $\alpha \in (0, \pi)$  and symmetric  $\nu$  needs to be covered.

(ii) So far it is unknown, if in the the case of  $\alpha \in (0, \pi) \Lambda_{sym}$  has eigenvalues embedded into continuous spectrum  $(1, \infty)$  or on its edge.

(iii) Also it is unknown in any case, if the continuous spectrum is absolutely continuous (i.e. that the singular continuous spectrum is empty).

# Bibliography

- [AM] W. Arendt; R. Mazzeo. Friedlander's eigenvalue inequalities and the Dirichlet-to-Neumann semigroup. Commun. Pure Appl. Anal., 11(6):2201–2212 (2012).
- [DG] J. J. Duistermaat; V. W. Guillemin. The spectrum of positive elliptic operators and periodic bicharacteristics. Invent. Math., 29(1):39–79 (1975).
- [GP] A. Girouard; I. Polterovich. Spectral geometry of the Steklov problem arxiv:1411.6567
- [GLPS] A. Girouard; J. Lagacé; I. Polterovich, A. Savo. The Steklov spectrum of cuboids. arxiv:1711.03075
- [GG] G. Grubb. *Mixed boundary problems on creased domains*. Private Communication.
- [Ivr1] V. Ivrii. Microlocal Analysis, Sharp Spectral Asymptotics and Applications.
- [Ivr2] V. Ivrii. Spectral asymptotics for fractional Laplacians.
- [Ivr3] V. Ivrii. 100 years of Weyl's law, Bulletin of Mathematical Sciences, Springer (2016).
- [Ivr4] V. Ivrii. Talk: Eigenvalue Asymptotics for Fractional Laplacians.
- [Ivr45] V. Ivrii. Talk: Eigenvalue asymptotics for Steklov's problem in the domain with edges.
- [S-KP] M. Khalile; K. Pankrashkin. Eigenvalues of Robin Laplacians in infinite sectors. arXiv:1607.06848
- [LPPS] M. Levitin, L. Parnovski; I. Polterovich; D. A. Sher. Sloshing, Steklov and corners I: Asymptotics of sloshing eigenvalues. arXiv:1709.01891
- [Nec] J. Necas. Direct methods in the theory of elliptic equations. Springer Monographs in Mathematics. Springer, Heidelberg, 2012. Translated from the 1967 French original by Gerard Tronel and Alois Kufner.

- [PS] I. Polterovich; D. A. Sher. Heat invariants of the Steklov problem. J. Geom. Analysis 25, no. 2, 924–950 (2015).
- [Se] R. Seeley. A sharp asymptotic estimate for the eigenvalues of the Laplacian in a domain of R<sup>3</sup>. Advances in Math., 102 (3):244–264 (1978).
- [SaVa] Yu. Safarov; D. Vassiliev. Branching Hamiltonian billiards. Soviet Math. Dokl. 38:64–68 (1989).



# To the memory of Michael Solomyak Asymptotics of the Ground State Energy in the Relativistic Settings<sup>\*,†</sup>

# Victor Ivrii<sup>‡</sup>

### Abstract

The purpose of this paper is to derive sharp asymptotics of the ground state energy for the heavy atoms and molecules in the relativistic settings, and, in particular, to derive relativistic Scott correction term and also Dirac, Schwinger and relativistic correction terms. Also we will prove that Thomas-Fermi density approximates the actual density of the ground state, which opens the way to estimate the excessive negative and positive charges and the ionization energy.

# 1 Introduction

The purpose of this paper is to derive sharp asymptotics of the ground state energy for heavy atoms and molecules in the relativistic settings, and, in particular, to derive relativistic Scott correction term and also Dirac, Schwinger and relativistic correction terms. The relativistic Scott correction term was first derived in [SSS] which both inspired our paper and provided necessary functional analytic tools; our improvement is achieved due to more refined microlocal semiclassical technique.

Also we will prove that the Thomas-Fermi density approximates the actual density of the ground state, which opens the way to estimate the excessive negative and positive charges and the ionization energy.

<sup>‡</sup>This research was supported in part by National Science and Engineering Research Council (Canada) Discovery Grant RGPIN 13827.

<sup>\*2010</sup> Mathematics Subject Classification: 35P20, 81Q10.

 $<sup>^\</sup>dagger Key\ words\ and\ phrases:$  Relativistic Schrödinger operator, Heavy atoms and Molecules, Thomas-Fermi theory, Scott correction term, Microlocal Analysis, Sharp Spectral Asymptotics.

In the next paper [Ivr2] we will introduce a self-generated magnetic field and improve results of [EFS2].

Multielectron Hamiltonian is given by

(1.1) 
$$\mathsf{H} = \mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{N}} := \sum_{1 \le j \le \mathsf{N}} H_{\mathsf{V}, \mathsf{x}_j} + \sum_{1 \le j < k \le \mathsf{N}} \frac{\mathsf{e}^2}{|\mathsf{x}_j - \mathsf{x}_k|}$$

on

(1.2) 
$$\mathfrak{H} = \bigwedge_{1 \le n \le N} \mathcal{H}, \qquad \mathcal{H} = \mathcal{L}^2(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{C}^q) \simeq \mathcal{L}^2(\mathbb{R}^3 \times \{1, \dots, q\}, \mathbb{C})$$

with

$$(1.3) H_V = T - eV(x)$$

describing N same type particles in the external field with the scalar potential -V and repulsing one another according to the Coulomb law; e is the charge of the electron, T is an *operator of the kinetic energy*.

In the non-relativistic framework this operator is defined as

(1.4) 
$$T = \frac{1}{2\mu} (-i\hbar\nabla)^2.$$

In the relativistic framework this operator is defined as

(1.5) 
$$T = \left(c^2(-i\hbar\nabla)^2 + \mu^2 c^4\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} - \mu^2 c^4.$$

Here

(1.6) 
$$V(x) = \sum_{1 \le m \le M} \frac{Z_m \mathbf{e}}{|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}_m|}$$

and

(1.7) 
$$d = \min_{1 \le m < m' \le M} |y_m - y_{m'}| > 0.$$

where  $Z_m e > 0$  and  $y_m$  are charges and locations of nuclei.

It is well-known that the non-relativistic operator is always semibounded from below. On the other hand, it is also well-known [Herb, LY] that

*Remark 1.1.* One particle relativistic operator is semibounded from below if and only if

(1.8) 
$$Z_m\beta \leq \frac{2}{\pi} \quad \forall m = 1, \dots, M; \quad \beta \coloneqq \frac{e^2}{\hbar c}.$$

We will assume (1.8), sometimes replacing it by a strict inequality:

(1.9) 
$$Z_m \beta \leq \frac{2}{\pi} - \epsilon \quad \forall m = 1, \dots, M; \qquad \beta \coloneqq \frac{\mathrm{e}^2}{\hbar c}.$$

We also assume that  $d \ge CZ^{-1}$ . Then we are interested in  $\mathsf{E} := \inf \mathsf{Spec}(\mathsf{H})$ .

Remark 1.2. (i) In the non-relativistic theory by scaling with respect to the spatial and energy variables we can make  $\hbar = \mathbf{e} = \mu = \mathbf{1}$  while  $Z_m$  are preserved.

(ii) In the relativistic theory by scaling with respect to the spatial and energy variables we can make  $\hbar = \mathbf{e} = \mu = \mathbf{1}$  while  $\beta$  and  $Z_m$  are preserved.

From now on we assume that such rescaling was already made and we are free to use letters  $\hbar$ ,  $\mu$  and c for other notations.

### 2 Functional Analytic Arguments

### 2.1 Estimate from below

In contrast to [SSS] we will start from the more traditional approach. We estimate  $\sum_{1 \le j < k \le N} \langle |x_j - x_k|^{-1} \Psi, \Psi \rangle$  from below, using Lieb's electrostatic inequality, by  $\frac{1}{2} D(\rho_{\Psi}, \Psi) - C \int \rho_{\Psi}^{4/3} dx$  where  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  means the inner product in  $\mathfrak{H}, \rho_{\Psi}(x)$  is a one particle density,

$$\mathsf{D}(\rho,\rho') = \iint |x-y|^{-1}\rho(x)\rho'(y)\,dxdy,$$

and we use notations of Chapter 25.

The the standard lower estimate (25.2.2) holds:

(2.1) 
$$\langle \mathsf{H}_{N}\Psi,\Psi\rangle \geq \sum_{1\leq j\leq N} \langle \mathsf{H}_{V,x_{j}}\Psi,\Psi\rangle + \frac{1}{2}\mathsf{D}(\rho_{\Psi},\rho_{\Psi}) - C\int \rho_{\Psi}^{\frac{4}{3}}(x)\,dx =$$
  
$$\sum_{1\leq j\leq N} \langle \mathsf{H}_{W,x_{j}}\Psi,\Psi\rangle + \frac{1}{2}\mathsf{D}(\rho_{\Psi}-\rho,\rho_{\Psi}-\rho) - \frac{1}{2}\mathsf{D}(\rho,\rho) - C\int \rho_{\Psi}^{\frac{4}{3}}(x)\,dx,$$

where  $H_W$  is the one-particle Schrödinger operator (respectively, non-relativistic or relativistic) with the potential

(2.2) 
$$W = V - |x|^{-1} * \rho,$$

and  $\rho$  is an arbitrary chosen real-valued non-negative function. Then again we get

(2.3) 
$$\mathsf{E}_{N} \ge \mathsf{Tr}(H_{W+\lambda}^{-}) + \lambda N + \frac{1}{2}\mathsf{D}(\rho_{\Psi} - \rho, \rho_{\Psi} - \rho) - \frac{1}{2}\mathsf{D}(\rho, \rho) - C \int \rho_{\Psi}^{\frac{4}{3}}(x) \, dx$$

with arbitrary  $\lambda$ .

*Remark 2.1.* As usual, we will need to improve these estimates to recover a remainder estimate better than  $O(Z^{\frac{5}{3}})$ .

Now we need to prove estimate

(2.4) 
$$\int \rho_{\Psi}^{\frac{4}{3}}(x) \, dx \le C Z^{\frac{5}{3}}$$

for the ground state energy. It follows from

(2.5) 
$$\int \rho_{\Psi}^{\frac{5}{3}}(x) \, dx \leq C Z^{\frac{7}{3}},$$

equality  $\int \rho_{\Psi} dx = N$  and assumption  $N \leq Z$ . To prove (2.5) we apply classical arguments of Lieb–Thirring, but replacing the Lieb–Thirring inequality by some relativistic inequalities (see Appendix A). Namely, let  $\mathbf{b} \coloneqq T - KU$  with  $U = \rho_{\Psi}^{\frac{2}{3}} \varphi_{<} + \beta^{-1} \rho_{\Psi}^{\frac{1}{3}} \varphi_{>}$  where  $\varphi_{\gtrless}$  is the characteristic function of  $\{x \colon \rho_{\Psi} \gtrless \beta^{-3}\}$ .

Consider the multiparticle operator  $B = \sum b_{x_j}$  and its lowest eigenvalue  $E_0$ . Obviously,

(2.6) 
$$E_0 \leq \langle B\Psi, \Psi \rangle = \sum_j \langle T_{x_j}\Psi, \Psi \rangle - K \int \left(\rho_{\Psi}^{\frac{5}{3}}\varphi_{<} + \beta^{-1}\rho_{\Psi}^{\frac{4}{3}}\varphi_{>}\right) dx.$$

On the other hand,  $E_0$  does not exceed the sum of negative eigenvalues of b, and due to Daubechies inequality (A.1), the absolute value of this sum does not exceed

(2.7) 
$$C_0 \int \max(U^{\frac{5}{2}}, \beta^3 U^4) \, dx \leq C_0 K^{\frac{5}{2}} \int \left(\rho_{\Psi}^{\frac{5}{3}} \varphi_{<} + \beta^{-1} \rho_{\Psi}^{\frac{4}{3}} \varphi_{>}\right) \, dx.$$

Therefore, assuming that  $E_0 \leq 0$  we conclude that

$$\sum_{j} \langle T_{x_{j}}\Psi,\Psi\rangle - \mathcal{K}\int \min(\rho_{\Psi}^{\frac{5}{3}},\beta^{-1}\rho_{\Psi}^{\frac{4}{3}}) + C_{0}\mathcal{K}^{\frac{5}{2}}\int \left(\rho_{\Psi}^{\frac{5}{3}}\varphi_{<} + \beta^{-1}\rho_{\Psi}^{\frac{4}{3}}\varphi_{>}\right) dx \ge 0$$

and therefore, for small positive constant K, we conclude that

(2.8) 
$$\sum_{j} \langle T_{x_{j}} \Psi, \Psi \rangle \geq 2\epsilon_{0} \int \left( \rho_{\Psi}^{\frac{5}{3}} \varphi_{<} + \beta^{-1} \rho_{\Psi}^{\frac{4}{3}} \varphi_{>} \right) dx.$$

Thus, we proved that for any  $\Psi \in \mathfrak{H}$  (2.8) holds. Then

(2.9) 
$$\sum_{j} \langle H_{x_{j}} \Psi, \Psi \rangle = \sum_{j} \langle T_{x_{j}} \Psi, \Psi \rangle - \int V(x) \rho_{\Psi}(x) \, dx \ge \int \left( 2\epsilon_{0} \rho_{\Psi}^{\frac{5}{3}} - V(x) \rho_{\Psi} \right) \varphi_{<} \, dx + \int \left( 2\epsilon_{0} \beta^{-1} \rho_{\Psi}^{\frac{4}{3}} - V(x) \rho_{\Psi} \right) \varphi_{>} \, dx.$$

We know, that the latter expression must be less than  $-c_0 Z^{\frac{7}{3}}$  (it will follow, e. g., from the estimate from above). Observe that for  $\ell(x) \ge aZ^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  we have  $V(x) < a^{-1}Z^{\frac{4}{3}}$  and the integral over this zone of  $-V\rho_{\Psi}$  is greater than  $-C_0 a^{-1}Z^{\frac{4}{3}}N$ . Here and below  $\ell(x) :== \min_j |x - y_j|$ . Let us fix a, a large enough constant.

Next,

$$\int_{\{x:\ \ell(x)\leq aZ^{-1/3}\}} (\epsilon_0 \rho_{\Psi}^{\frac{5}{3}} - V(x)\rho_{\Psi})\varphi_{<} dx \geq -C \int_{\{x:\ \ell(x)\leq aZ^{-1/3}\}} V^{\frac{5}{2}} dx \geq -C_1 Z^{\frac{7}{3}}$$

and  $(\epsilon_0 \beta^{-1} \rho_{\Psi}^{1/3} - V) \varphi_>$  is positive unless  $\rho_{\psi} > \beta^{-3}$  and  $V \ge \epsilon_1 \beta^{-1} \rho_{\Psi}^{1/3} \ge \epsilon_1 \beta^{-2}$  (and then  $\ell(\mathbf{x}) \le C_0 \beta$ ).

Therefore, we estimate  $\int (\rho_{\Psi}^{5/3}\varphi_{<} + \beta^{-1}\rho_{\Psi}^{4/3}\varphi_{<}) dx$  from above by  $CZ^{7/3}$ plus  $\int_{\{x:\ell(x)\leq C\beta\}} V\rho_{\Psi} dx$ , and to obtain (2.4), it is sufficient to estimate this term. Further, it is sufficient to replace V by  $V_m$  (since  $V = V_m + O(\beta^2)$ , provided distances between nuclei are  $\geq C\beta$ ). Also we can replace  $V_m$  by  $V_m + C\beta^{-2}$ .

If  $Z_m\beta \leq \frac{2}{\pi} - \epsilon$ , then we can decompose  $H = \eta(H - V^1) + (1 - \eta)(H - V^0)$ , where  $(1 - \eta)V^0$  coincides with V in the  $\beta$ -vicinity of  $y_m$  and equals 0 outside of the  $2\beta$ -vicinity of it and  $V^1 = \eta^{-1}(V - (1 - \eta)V^0)$ , and apply all above arguments for the operator with  $V = V^1$  while simply observing that  $H - V^0$ is a positive operator for  $\eta$  sufficiently small. So we have proven that

**Proposition 2.2.** Under assumption (1.9) for the ground state,

(2.10) 
$$\int \min(\beta^{-1} \rho_{\Psi}^{\frac{4}{3}}, \rho_{\Psi}^{\frac{5}{3}}) \, dx \le C Z^{\frac{7}{3}}$$

and (2.4) holds.

Then we immediately arrive to Statement (i) below, and Statement (ii) follows from the main theorems of either [Bach] (Theorem 1) or [GS] (Theorem 3):

#### **Corollary 2.3.** Under assumption (1.9)

(i) The following estimate holds

(2.11) 
$$\mathsf{E}_{N} \ge \mathsf{Tr}(H_{W+\lambda}^{-}) - \frac{1}{2}\mathsf{D}(\rho, \rho) - CZ^{\frac{5}{3}} + \frac{1}{2}\mathsf{D}(\rho - \rho_{\Psi}, \rho - \rho_{\Psi}),$$

where  $\rho$ ,  $\lambda$  are arbitrary and  $W = V - |x|^{-1} * \rho$ .

(ii) Further,

(2.12) 
$$\mathsf{E}_{N} \geq \mathsf{Tr}(H_{W+\lambda}^{-}) - \frac{1}{2}\mathsf{D}(\rho,\rho) - \frac{1}{2}\int |x-y|^{-1}\operatorname{tr}\left(e_{N}^{\dagger}(x,y)\,e_{N}(x,y)\right)\,dxdy - CZ^{\frac{5}{3}-\delta} + \frac{1}{2}\mathsf{D}(\rho-\rho_{\Psi},\,\rho-\rho_{\Psi}),$$

where  $e_N(x, y)$  is the Schwartz kernel of the projector to N lower eigestates of  $H_W$  and tr denotes the matrix trace.

To cover<sup>1)</sup> the critical case<sup>2)</sup> we will use (2.21) from [SSS]

(2.13) 
$$\sum_{1 \le i < j \le N} |x_i - x_j|^{-1} \ge \sum_{j=1}^N (\rho * |x|^{-1} * \Phi_s)(x_j) - \frac{1}{2} \mathsf{D}(\rho, \rho) - CN\varepsilon^{-1},$$

where, again,  $\rho \ge 0$  is arbitrary,  $\lambda$  is arbitrary,  $\Phi \ge 0$  is spherically symmetric with  $\int \Phi \, dx = 1$ ,  $\Phi_{\varepsilon}(x) = \varepsilon^{-3} \Phi(x/\varepsilon)$ . Here the factor  $\frac{1}{2}$  is due to the difference in notations and also now

(2.14) 
$$W := W_{\varepsilon} = V - |x|^{-1} * \rho * \Phi_{\varepsilon}$$

instead of (2.2) and the term  $-CNs^{-1}$  replaces the last term in (2.3):

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1)</sup> Unfortunately, only partially.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2)</sup> I.e. with the non-strict inequality (1.8) instead of (1.9).

**Proposition 2.4.** Under assumption (1.8)

(2.15) 
$$\mathsf{E}_{N} \geq \mathsf{Tr}(H_{W+\lambda}^{-}) + \lambda N - \frac{1}{2}\mathsf{D}(\rho, \rho) - CN\varepsilon^{-1}.$$

Remark 2.5. (i) Later we set  $\varepsilon = Z^{-\frac{2}{3}}$ . This would lead to  $O(Z^{\frac{5}{3}})$  remainder estimate.

(ii) Proposition 2.4 is weaker than Corollary 2.3 in two ways: there is no improved version of corollary 2.3(ii) and also there is no "bonus term"  $\frac{1}{2}D(\rho - \rho_{\Psi}, \rho - \rho_{\Psi})$  in the right-hand expression.

### 2.2 Estimate from above

The estimate from above is straight-forward: we simply take  $\Psi$  as a Slater determinant of N lower eigenfunctions of  $H_W$ . If there are only N' < N negative eigenvalues then we take only N' such eigenvalues, because  $\mathsf{E}_N \leq \mathsf{E}_{N'}$ . Then we arrive to

#### Proposition 2.6.

(2.16) 
$$\mathsf{E}_{N} \leq \mathsf{Tr}(H_{W+\lambda}^{-}) - \frac{1}{2}\mathsf{D}(\rho, \rho) + |\lambda - \nu| \cdot |\mathsf{N}_{W+\nu}^{-} - N| + \mathsf{D}(\mathsf{tr} \, e_{N}(x, x) - \rho, \, \mathsf{tr} \, e_{N}(x, x, \nu) - \rho) - \frac{1}{2} \int |x - y|^{-1} \, \mathsf{tr}\left(e_{N}^{\dagger}(x, y)e_{N}(x, y)\right) \, dxdy$$

with an arbitrary  $\rho$  and any  $\nu \leq 0$ ,  $W = V - |x|^{-1} * \rho$ .

# 3 Semiclassical Methods

We will need the following semiclassical expressions:

(3.1) 
$$P'(w) = (2\pi)^{-3}q \int_{\{\xi:b(\xi) \le w\}} d\xi,$$

and its integral

(3.2) 
$$P(w) = (2\pi)^{-3} q \int_{\{\xi: b(\xi) \le w\}} b(\xi) \, d\xi,$$

where in the non-relativistic case  $b(\xi) = \frac{\hbar^2}{2\mu} |\xi|^2$  and, correspondingly for  $\mu = \hbar = 1$ 

(3.3) 
$$P^{\mathsf{TF}'}(w) = \frac{q}{6\pi^2} w_+^{\frac{3}{2}},$$

(3.4) 
$$P^{\mathsf{TF}}(w) = \frac{q}{15\pi^2} w_+^{\frac{5}{2}}$$

while in the relativistic case  $b(\xi) = (c^2\hbar^2|\xi|^2 + \mu^2 c^4)^{\frac{1}{2}} - \mu c^2$  and, correspondingly for  $\mu = \hbar = 1$ 

(3.5) 
$$P^{\mathsf{RTF}}(w) = \frac{q}{6\pi^2} w_+^{\frac{3}{2}} (1 + \beta^2 w_+)^{\frac{3}{2}}.$$

Note that  $P^{\mathsf{RTF}}(w)$  is an elementary function as well, and a sadistic Calculus instructor can give it on the test. However it turns out that we really do not need any separate relativistic Thomas-Fermi theory.

After scalings we have a semiclassical zone  $\mathcal{X}_{scl} := \{x : \ell(x) \ge cZ^{-1}\}$ , where the effective semiclassical parameter is  $h = 1/\zeta \ell$ . Then, from the semiclassical point of view, on the energy levels  $\le 0$ , the relativistic operator has the same properties as the non-relativistic one.

There is also a singular zone  $\mathcal{X}_{sing} := \{x : \ell(x) \leq cZ^{-1}\}$  and it covers the relativistic zone  $\mathcal{X}_{rel} := \{x : \ell(x) \leq c\beta\}$ . The important properties are that

$$(3.6) 0 \le V(x) - W(x) \le C\zeta^2 := \min(Z^{\frac{4}{3}}, Z\ell^{-1}),$$

$$(3.7) |\partial^{\gamma}(W-V)| \le C\zeta^2 \ell(x)^{-|\gamma|} \forall \gamma : |\gamma| \le 2.$$

#### 3.1 Trace Term

Now the rescaling methods allow us to prove the following:

**Proposition 3.1.** Let condition (1.8) be fulfilled and let W satisfy (3.6) and (3.7).

(i) Let  $\psi_0(x)$  be  $\ell$ -admissible function<sup>3)</sup>, being equal 1 in  $\{x : \ell(x) \ge 2a\}$  and supported in  $\{x : \ell(x) \ge a\}$ . Then for  $W = W^{\mathsf{TF}}$ 

$$(3.8) | \operatorname{Tr}(H_{W+\lambda}^{-}\psi_{0}) - \int P^{\operatorname{RTF}}(W+\lambda)\psi_{0}(x) dx | \leq C \begin{cases} Z^{\frac{3}{2}}a^{-\frac{1}{2}} & a \leq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}, \\ Z^{\frac{5}{3}}(aZ^{\frac{1}{3}})^{-\delta} & a \geq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}. \end{cases}$$

<sup>3)</sup> I.e.  $\partial^{\alpha}\psi_{0}| \leq C_{\alpha}\ell^{-\alpha}$ .

(ii) Let  $\psi_{m}(x)$  be  $\ell$ -admissible, equal 1 in  $\{x : |x - y_{m}| \le a\}$  and supported in  $\{x : |x - y_{m}| \le 2a\}$ . Then for  $W = V_{m} = Z_{m}|x - y_{m}|^{-1}$ (3.9)  $|\int (tr(e^{1}(x, x, 0)) - P^{\mathsf{RTF}}(V_{m}))(1 - \psi_{m}(x)) dx| \le Z^{\frac{3}{2}}d^{-\frac{1}{2}},$ 

where  $e^{1}(.,.,\tau) = \int_{-\infty}^{\tau} e(.,.,\tau') d\tau'$ .

*Proof.* Indeed, the contribution of the  $\ell$ -element of the partition<sup>4)</sup> to the remainder is  $O(\zeta^3 \ell)$ , exactly as in the non-relativistic case. Summation by partition elements results in the right-hand expression.

Next, we need to consider vicinities of the singularities. Then the methods of Chapter 25 allow us to prove the following:

**Proposition 3.2.** In the framework of Proposition 3.1 let  $\phi_m$  be equal 1 in  $\{x: |x - y_m| \leq Z_m^{-1}\}$  and supported in  $\{x: |x - y_m| \leq 2Z_m^{-1}\}$ . Let  $|\lambda| \leq C_0 Z d^{-1}$ . Then

$$(3.10) | \operatorname{Tr}(H_{W+\lambda}^{-}\psi_{m}(1-\phi_{m})) - \operatorname{Tr}(H_{V_{m}}^{-}\psi_{m}(1-\phi_{m})) + \int (P^{\operatorname{RTF}}(W+\lambda) - P^{\operatorname{RTF}}(V_{m}))\psi_{m}(x)(1-\phi_{m}(x)) dx | \leq C \begin{cases} Z^{\frac{3}{2}}d^{-\frac{1}{2}} & d \leq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}, \\ Z^{\frac{5}{3}} & d \geq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}, \end{cases}$$

where  $d \ge cZ^{-1}$  is the minimal distance between nuclei.

*Proof.* Indeed, exactly as in the non-relativistic case, using methods of Sections 12.6 and 25.4 we estimate the contribution of an  $\ell$ -element to the remainder by  $O(\zeta \ell^3 \bar{\zeta}^2 \bar{\ell}^{-2})$  provided  $Z^{-1+\delta} \lesssim \ell \lesssim d$ , and by  $O(\zeta^2 \ell^2 \bar{\zeta}^2)$  provided  $Z^{-1} \lesssim \ell \lesssim Z^{-1+\delta}$ . Here  $\bar{\ell} = d$  and  $\bar{\zeta} = Z^{\frac{1}{2}} d^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ . This proves the required remainder estimate. For  $d \leq Z^{-1+\delta}$  we use a rescaling.

Summation by partition elements results in the right-hand expression.  $\Box$ 

Remark 3.3. We need to include the cut-off  $(1-\phi_m(x))$  because not only integrals of  $P^{\mathsf{RTF}}(W+\lambda)$  and  $P^{\mathsf{RTF}}(V_m)$  (of magnitude  $\beta^3 Z^4 \ell^{-4}$ ) and  $P^{\mathsf{RTF}}(W+\lambda)$  are diverging at  $y_m$ , but even integral of their difference is logarithmically diverging.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4)</sup> I.e.  $\ell$ -admissible function  $\psi(x)$ , supported in  $\frac{1}{2}\ell(y)$  for some y; then  $\ell(x) \simeq \ell(y)$  on  $supp(\psi)$ .

Now we need to consider  $CZ^{-1}$  vicinities of  $y_m$  and we will use the following Proposition:

**Proposition 3.4.** In the framework of Proposition 3.1

- (i)  $H_W \geq -C_0 Z^2$ .
- (ii) Further,

(3.11) 
$$e(x, x, \lambda) \leq CZ^{1-\delta}\ell(x)^{\delta-2} \quad for \ |\lambda| \leq c_0 Z^2.$$

*Proof.* (a) Assume first that  $Z \simeq \beta^{-1}$  (i. e.  $Z \ge \epsilon_0 \beta^{-1}$ ); then Statement (i) follows immediately from Lieb-Yau inequality (Theorem A.2): in the operator sense  $H \ge \beta^{-1} \sqrt{\Delta} - \beta^{-2} - Z_m r^{-1} \ge -\beta^{-2}$ ,  $r = |x - y_m|$ .

Then  $e(x, x, \lambda) \leq C\ell(x)^{-3}h^{-3}$  with the semiclassical parameter h, which is  $\approx 1$  for  $\ell \leq Z^{-1}$ ,  $\lambda \leq Z^2$ . Therefore,

(3.12) 
$$e(x, x, \lambda) \leq C\ell(x)^{-3}$$
 for  $\lambda \leq C_0 Z^2$ ,  $\ell(x) \lesssim Z^{-1}$ .

Unfortunately this estimate falls short for our needs. Let us shift  $y_m \mapsto 0$ , and scale  $x \mapsto Zx$ ,  $\tau \mapsto Z^{-2}\tau$ . Then we arrive to an operator which modulo O(1) is  $\sqrt{\Delta} - Zr^{-1}$ . Due to

(3.13) 
$$\sqrt{\Delta} - \frac{2}{\pi |\mathbf{x}|} \ge A_{\mathbf{s}}(\Delta)^{\mathbf{s}} - B_{\mathbf{s}}$$

for any  $s \in [0, 1/2)$  and  $A_s, B_s > 0$  we can "trade" (due to Sobolev embedding theorem)  $\ell^{-1+\delta}$  by 1 in the scaled inequality (3.12) and by  $Z^{1-\delta}$  in the original one, thus arriving to (3.11).

(b) Let us consider  $Z \leq \epsilon_0 \beta^{-1}$ . Observe that in the operator sense

$$H \ge (\frac{1}{4}\beta^{-2}r^{-2} + \beta^{-4})^{1/2} - Zr^{-1} - C\beta^{-2} \ge CZ^{-2};$$

the latter inequality is proven separately for  $r \lesssim \beta$  and for  $r \gtrsim \beta$ .

Moreover, we get  $H \ge \epsilon_1 \min(r^{-2}, \beta^{-1}r^{-1})$  for  $r \le \epsilon_1 Z^{-1}$  and then we can trade  $\ell^{-3}$  to  $CZ^3$  arriving even to the stronger version of (3.12): namely,

$$(3.14) e(x, x, \lambda) \le CZ^3.$$

Actually estimate (3.14) holds as  $Z_m\beta \leq 2\pi^{-1} - \sigma$  for  $\sigma > 0$  with  $C = C(\sigma)$  which could be calculated explicitly.

Then we immediately conclude that

**Corollary 3.5.** In the framework of Proposition 3.1 for  $|\lambda| \leq C_0 Z d^{-1}$ 

$$(3.15) \qquad |\operatorname{Tr}(H^{-}_{W+\lambda}\phi_m) - \operatorname{Tr}(H^{-}_{V_m}\phi_m)| \leq CZd^{-1}.$$

Now we can assemble all these results. However, before doing this we replace  $P^{\mathsf{RTF}}$  by  $P^{\mathsf{TF}}$ :

**Proposition 3.6.** (i) Estimates (3.8), (3.9) and (3.10) hold with  $P^{\mathsf{RTF}}$  replaced by  $P^{\mathsf{TF}}$ .

(ii) Estimate (3.10) with  $P^{\mathsf{RTF}}$  replaced by  $P^{\mathsf{TF}}$  also holds with  $\phi_m = 0$ .

*Proof.* Statement (i) follows immediately from

(3.16) 
$$P^{\mathsf{RTF}}(w) - P^{\mathsf{TF}}(w) \asymp \beta^2 w^{\frac{7}{2}}, \qquad P^{\mathsf{RTF}}(w) - P^{\mathsf{TF}}(w) \asymp \beta^2 w^{\frac{5}{2}}$$
  
for  $\beta^2 w \lesssim 1$ 

due to (3.5). Statement (ii) follows immediately from  $P^{\mathsf{TF}}(w) \simeq w^{\frac{5}{2}}$ ,  $P^{\mathsf{TF}'}(w) \simeq w^{\frac{3}{2}}$ .

Remark 3.7. Meanwhile,

(3.17) 
$$\int \left( P^{\mathsf{RTF}}(V+\lambda) - P^{\mathsf{TF}}(V+\lambda) \right) \psi(x) \, dx \asymp \beta^2 Z^4,$$

which could be as large as  $Z^2$ .

Due to the scaling properties of e(x, x, 0) for  $H = H_V$  and  $P^{\mathsf{TF}}(V)$  for  $V = V_m$  we conclude that

(3.18) 
$$\int \left( \operatorname{tr}(e^1(x, x, 0)) - P^{\mathsf{RTF}}(V_m) \right) dx = q Z_m^2 S(Z_m \beta)$$

with an unknown function  $S(Z_m\beta)$ . Indeed, if  $y_m = 0$  then  $x \mapsto x/k$  transforms the operator with parameters  $Z_m$ ,  $\beta$  into the operator with parameters  $Z_m k$ ,  $\beta k^{-1}$ , multiplied by  $k^{-2}$ .

Remark 3.8. Obviously,  $S(Z_m\beta)$  monotonely decreases as  $\beta \to 0+$  and tends to S(0) for the Schrödinger operator.

Then due to (3.9) for  $V = V_m$ 

(3.19) 
$$|\int (\operatorname{tr}(e^1(x,x,0)) - P^{\mathsf{TF}}(V_m))\psi_m(x)\,dx - qZ_m^2S(Z_m\beta)| \leq Z^{\frac{3}{2}}d^{-\frac{1}{2}}$$

and we arrive to

**Proposition 3.9.** Let (1.8) be fulfilled. Then for  $W = W^{\mathsf{TF}}$ 

$$(3.20) | \operatorname{Tr}(H_{W+\lambda}^{-}) + \int P^{\operatorname{TF}}(W+\lambda) \, dx - \sum_{1 \le m \le M} q Z_m^2 S(Z_m \beta) | \le C \begin{cases} Z^{\frac{3}{2}} d^{-\frac{1}{2}} & d \le Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}, \\ Z^{\frac{5}{3}} & d \ge Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}. \end{cases}$$

#### 3.2 Trace Term. II

Let improve the above results for  $d \gg Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$ . Observe first that the in this case the error in (3.8) can be made  $O(Z^{\frac{5}{3}}(dZ^{\frac{1}{3}})^{-\delta} + Z^{\frac{5}{3}-\delta})$  provided we include the relativistic Schwinger correction term. Since this term has magnitude  $Z^{\frac{5}{3}}$  and the contributions of the zones  $\{x \colon \ell(x) \leq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}-\delta_1}\}$  and  $\{x \colon \ell(x) \geq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}+\delta_1}\}$  in this term are  $O(Z^{\frac{5}{3}-\delta})$ , the difference between the relativistic and the standard non-relativistic Schwinger terms is  $O(Z^{\frac{5}{3}-\delta})$ , and we can use the latter

(3.21) Schwinger = 
$$(36\pi)^{\frac{2}{3}}q^{\frac{2}{3}}\int (\rho^{\mathsf{TF}})^{\frac{4}{3}}dx$$

Next, consider the relativistic correction term (3.22)

$$\int \left(-P^{\mathsf{RTF}}(W+\lambda)+P^{\mathsf{RTF}}(V_m)+P^{\mathsf{TF}}(W+\lambda)-P^{\mathsf{TF}}(V_m)\right)\psi_m(1-\phi_m)\,dx.$$

Again, one can see easily that we need to consider only the contribution of the *threshold zone*  $\mathcal{Y} := \{x : Z^{-\frac{1}{3}-\delta_1} \leq \ell(x) \leq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}+\delta_1}\}$  because the contributions of both zones  $\{x : \ell(x) \leq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}-\delta_1}\}$  and  $\{x : \ell(x) \geq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}+\delta_1}\}$  in this term are  $O(Z^{\frac{5}{3}-\delta})$ .

One can see easily that in the threshold zone due to (3.5)

$$P^{\mathsf{RTF}}(w) - P^{\mathsf{TF}}(w) = rac{q}{14\pi^2} \beta^2 w_+^{rac{7}{2}} + O(Z^{rac{8}{3}-\delta})$$

(for both  $w = W^{\mathsf{TF}} + \lambda$  and  $w = V_m$ ), and therefore modulo the same error expression (3.22) coincides with

(3.23) 
$$\mathsf{RCT} \coloneqq \frac{q}{14\pi^2} \beta^2 \int \left( -(W^{\mathsf{TF}} + \lambda)_+^{\frac{7}{2}} + V^{\frac{7}{2}} \right) dx$$

with the integral taken over this zone or  $\mathbb{R}^3$  (it does not matter). Then we arrive to

**Proposition 3.10.** Let (1.8) be fulfilled and  $d \ge Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$ . Then for  $W = W^{\mathsf{TF}}$ 

(3.24) 
$$|\operatorname{Tr}(H_{W+\lambda}^{-}) + \int P^{\mathsf{TF}}(W+\lambda) dx - \sum_{1 \le m \le M} q Z_m^2 S(Z_m\beta) -$$
  
Schwinger  $-\operatorname{RCT}| \le C \left( Z^{\frac{5}{3}} (dZ^{\frac{1}{3}})^{-\delta} + Z^{\frac{5}{3}-\delta} \right).$ 

### 3.3 Trace Term. III

Obviously, all these results hold for  $W = W_{\varepsilon}$  defined by (2.14) with  $\rho = \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}$ . However we need to estimate an error when we replace  $W_{\varepsilon}$  by  $W^{\mathsf{TF}}$ . One can prove easily that

(3.25) 
$$|W_{\varepsilon} - W^{\mathsf{TF}}| \leq C_{\mathsf{s}} (Z\ell^{-1})^{\frac{3}{2}} \varepsilon^{2} (\varepsilon\ell - 1)^{\mathsf{s}}$$

with arbitrary s for  $\ell \leq \epsilon_0 Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  and with  $s = \frac{1}{2}$  for  $\ell \leq \epsilon_0 Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$ , and therefore,

(3.26) 
$$|\int (P^{\mathsf{TF}}(W_{\varepsilon} + \lambda) - P^{\mathsf{TF}}(W^{\mathsf{TF}} + \lambda)| dx| \leq CZ^{3}\varepsilon^{2};$$

adding error  $CZ\varepsilon^{-1}$  in (2.15) we get  $C(Z^3\varepsilon^2 + Z\varepsilon^{-1})$ . It reaches minimum  $CZ^{\frac{5}{3}}$  as  $\varepsilon \simeq Z^{-\frac{2}{3}}$  and we arrive to

**Proposition 3.11.** Let (1.8) be fulfilled. Then for  $W = W_{\varepsilon}$  with  $\varepsilon = Z^{-\frac{2}{3}}$ , (3.20) holds and the left-hand expression of (3.26) is  $O(Z^{\frac{5}{3}})$ .

### 3.4 N- and D-Terms

For these terms (needed for the estimate from above) arguments are simpler; let  $\phi_0 = 1 - \phi_1 - \dots - \phi_M$ .

Proposition 3.12. In the framework of Proposition 3.1
(i) The following estimates hold

$$(3.27) \qquad |\int (e(x,x,\lambda) - P^{\mathsf{RTF}}(W+\lambda))\phi_0(x)\,dx| \le CZ^{\frac{2}{3}}$$
  
and for  $d \ge Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$   
$$(3.28) |\int (e(x,x,\lambda) - P^{\mathsf{RTF}}(W+\lambda))\phi_0(x)\,dx| \le C(Z^{\frac{2}{3}}(dZ^{\frac{1}{3}})^{-\delta} + Z^{\frac{2}{3}-\delta}).$$

(ii) Further,

(3.29) 
$$|\int e(x, x, \lambda)\phi_m(x) dx| \leq C.$$

(iii) Finally,

(3.30) 
$$|\int \left( P^{\mathsf{RTF}}'(W+\lambda) - P^{\mathsf{TF}}'(W+\lambda) \right) \phi_0(x) \, dx| \leq C Z^{\frac{1}{3}}.$$

Proposition 3.13. In the framework of Proposition 3.1

(i) The following estimates hold

(3.31) 
$$\mathsf{D}((e(x, x, \lambda) - P^{\mathsf{RTF}}(W + \lambda))\phi_0, (e(x, x, \lambda) - P^{\mathsf{RTF}}(W + \lambda))\phi_0)$$
  
 $< CZ^{\frac{5}{3}}$ 

and for 
$$d \ge Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$$
  
(3.32)  $D((e(x, x, \lambda) - P^{\mathsf{RTF}}(W + \lambda))\phi_0, (e(x, x, \lambda) - P^{\mathsf{RTF}}(W + \lambda))\phi_0)$   
 $\le CZ^{\frac{5}{3}}(dZ^{\frac{1}{3}})^{-\delta} + CZ^{\frac{5}{3}-\delta}.$ 

(ii) Further,

$$(3.33) \qquad \mathsf{D}\big(e(x,x,\lambda)\phi_m(x), e(x,x,\lambda)\phi_m(x)\big) \leq CZ.$$

(iii) Finally,

(3.34) 
$$\mathsf{D}\big((P^{\mathsf{RTF}}(W+\lambda) - P^{\mathsf{TF}}(W+\lambda))\phi_0, (P^{\mathsf{RTF}}(W+\lambda) - P^{\mathsf{TF}}(W+\lambda))\phi_0\big) \le CZ.$$

Proof of Propositions 3.12 and 3.13. Proof is straightforward:

Statements (i) are proven by the semiclassical scaling technique exactly as in Chapter 25.

Statements (ii) follow from Proposition 3.4. Statements (iii) follow from (3.5) and properties of  $W^{\mathsf{TF}}$ .

### 3.5 Dirac Term

Finally, consider the term  $-\frac{1}{2} \iint \operatorname{tr} \left( e_N^{\dagger}(x, y) e_N(x, y) \right) dxdy$ . The main contribution to it is delivered by the zone  $\mathcal{Y} \times \mathcal{Y}$  where  $\mathcal{Y}$  is the threshold zone, and in this zone the non-magnetic approximation delivers the correct expression

(3.35) 
$$\mathsf{Dirac} = -\frac{9}{2} (36\pi)^{\frac{2}{3}} q^{\frac{2}{3}} \int (\rho^{\mathsf{TF}})^{\frac{4}{3}} dx$$

with an error  $Z^{\frac{5}{3}-\delta}$ .

# 4 Main Theorems

Now repeating arguments of Section 25.4 we arrive to our main results:

**Theorem 4.1**<sup>5</sup>). Let assumption (1.8) be fulfilled. Then

(i) The following asymptotics holds

(4.1) 
$$\mathsf{E}_{N} = \mathcal{E}_{N}^{\mathsf{TF}} + \mathsf{Scott} + O(Z^{\frac{5}{3}} + Z^{\frac{3}{2}}d^{-\frac{1}{2}}).$$

Recall that  $Scott = q \sum Z_m^2 S(Z_m \beta)$  and d is the minimal distance between nuclei.

(ii) Furthermore, let assumption (1.9) be fulfilled. Then for  $d \ge Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$ 

(4.2) 
$$\mathsf{E}_{N} = \mathcal{E}_{N}^{\mathsf{TF}} + \mathsf{Scott} + \mathsf{Dirac} + \mathsf{Swinger} + \mathsf{RCT} + O(Z^{\frac{5}{3}} (dZ^{\frac{1}{3}})^{-\delta} + Z^{\frac{5}{3}-\delta}).$$

*Remark 4.2.* (i) For the improved upper estimate in (4.2) we do not need assumption (1.9).

 $<sup>^{5)}</sup>$  Cf. Theorems 25.4.8 and 25.4.13 .

(ii) These theorems allow us to consider the free nuclei model and recover Theorem 25.4.14, albeit without assumption (1.9) we get only  $\delta = 0$ .

(iii) We also recover the estimate

(4.3) 
$$|\lambda_N - \nu| \le C \begin{cases} Z^{\frac{8}{9}} & (Z - N)_+ \le Z^{\frac{2}{3}}, \\ (Z - N)^{\frac{1}{3}}_+ & (Z - N)_+ \ge Z^{\frac{2}{3}}, \end{cases}$$

where  $\nu$  is a chemical potential and  $\lambda_N$  is the *N*-th lowest eigenvalue of  $H_{W^{TF}}$  (reset to 0 if there are less than *N* negative eigenvalues). Furthermore, for  $d \geq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  one can include the factor  $((dZ^{\frac{1}{3}})^{-\delta} + Z^{-\delta})$  into the right-hand expression.

**Theorem 4.3**<sup>6</sup>). Let assumption (1.9) be fulfilled. Then

(i) The following estimate holds:

(4.4) 
$$\mathsf{D}(\rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}, \, \rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}) \leq C Z^{\frac{5}{3}}.$$

(*ii*) Furthermore, for  $d \ge Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$ 

(4.5) 
$$\mathsf{D}(\rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}, \rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}) \leq C(Z^{\frac{5}{3}}(dZ^{\frac{1}{3}})^{-\delta} + Z^{\frac{5}{3}-\delta}).$$

*Remark* 4.4. (i) Estimates (4.4) and (4.5) allow us to consider the excessive negative charge and ionization energy and, repeating arguments of Section 25.5, to recover Theorems 25.5.2 and 25.5.3.

(ii) Further, these estimates allow us to consider the excessive positive charge in the free nuclei model and, repeating arguments of Section 25.6, to recover Theorems 25.6.3 and 25.6.4.

*Remark 4.5.* We can even make a poor man version of (4.2) in the critical case, when only assumption (1.8) is fulfilled.

(i) Consider how our terms depend on q. In the atomic case consider given  $Z,\,N$  and shift to  $y_1=0.$  Then

(4.6) 
$$\rho_q^{\mathsf{TF}}(x) = q^2 \rho_1^{\mathsf{TF}}(q^{\frac{2}{3}}x), \qquad W_q^{\mathsf{TF}}(x) = q^{\frac{2}{3}} W_1^{\mathsf{TF}}(q^{\frac{2}{3}}x)$$

and  $\mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}} \simeq q^{\frac{2}{3}} Z^{\frac{7}{3}}$ , Scott  $\simeq qZ^2$ , Dirac  $\simeq$  Schwinger  $\simeq q^{\frac{4}{3}} Z^{\frac{5}{3}}$ , while RCT  $\simeq q^{\frac{4}{3}} \beta^2 Z^{\frac{11}{3}}$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6)</sup> Cf. Theorem 25.4.15.

(ii) Repeating the corresponding arguments in [SSS], one can prove that in the correlation inequality (2.13), the constant is  $C(q) \leq C_0 q^{\frac{2}{3}}$ . On the other hand, we use the estimate for  $|W - W_{\varepsilon}| \approx q \varepsilon^2 Z^{\frac{3}{2}} \ell^{-\frac{3}{2}}$  and then the approximation error is  $C_0 Z^3 q^2 \varepsilon^2$ . Optimizing  $Z^3 q^2 \varepsilon^2 + Z q^{\frac{2}{3}} \varepsilon^{-1}$  by  $\varepsilon$  we get  $C q^{\frac{10}{9}} Z^{\frac{5}{3}}$  and for a large constant q it is less than  $q^{\frac{4}{3}}$ . In the "real life" q = 2.

# A Some Inequalities

We follow [SSS] with some modifications:

The following two inequalities we recall are crucial in many of our estimates. They serve as replacements for the Lieb-Thirring inequality [LT] used in the non-relativistic case.

Theorem A.1 (Daubechies inequality). (i) One-body case:

(A.1) 
$$\operatorname{Tr}\left[\left(\beta^{-2}\Delta + \beta^{-4}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} - \beta^{-2} - V(x)\right]^{-} \ge -C \int \left(V_{+}^{(n+2)/2} + \beta^{n}V_{+}^{n+1}\right) dx.$$

where  $n \geq 3$  is a dimension.

(ii) <u>Many-body case</u>: Let  $\Psi \in \bigwedge_{j=1}^{N} \mathcal{L}^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3}; \mathbb{C}^{q})$  and let  $\rho_{\Psi}$  be its one-particle density. Then for n = 3

(A.2) 
$$\langle \sum_{j=1}^{N} \left[ \left( \beta^{-2} \Delta_j + \beta^{-4} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} - \beta^{-2} \right] \Psi, \Psi \rangle \geq \int \min \left( \rho_{\Psi}^{\frac{5}{3}}, \beta^{-1} \rho_{\Psi}^{\frac{4}{3}} \right) dx.$$

This theorem also holds in the non-relativistic limit  $\beta = 0$  and operator  $(\beta^{-2}\Delta + \beta^{-4})^{\frac{1}{2}} - \beta^{-2}$  replaced by  $\frac{1}{2}\Delta$ .

**Theorem A.2 (Lieb-Yau inequality).** Let n = 3. Let C > 0 and R > 0 and let

(A.3) 
$$H_{C,R} = \Delta^{\frac{1}{2}} - \frac{2}{\pi |\mathbf{x}|} - C/R.$$

Then, for any density matrix  $\gamma$  and any function  $\theta$  with support in  $B_R = \{x \mid |x| \leq R\}$ 

(A.4) 
$$\operatorname{Tr}\left[\bar{\theta}\gamma\theta H_{C,R}\right] \ge -4.4827 \ C^4 R^{-1} \{3/(4\pi R^3) \int |\theta(x)|^2 dx\}.$$

Note that when  $\theta = 1$  on  $B_R$  then the term inside the brackets {} equals 1.

**Theorem A.3 (Critical Hydrogen inequality).** Let n = 3. For any  $s \in [0, 1/2)$  there exists constants  $A_s$ ,  $B_s > 0$  such that

(A.5) 
$$\Delta^{\frac{1}{2}} - \frac{2}{\pi |x|} \ge A_s \Delta^s - B_s.$$

Theorem A.4 (Hardy-Littlewood-Sobolev inequality). There exists a constant C such that

(A.6) 
$$\mathsf{D}(f) \coloneqq \iint |x - y|^{-1} f(x) f^{\dagger}(y) \, dx dy \leq C \, \|f\|_{\mathscr{L}^{6/5}}^2$$

# Bibliography

- [Bach] V. Bach. Error bound for the Hartree-Fock energy of atoms and molecules. Commun. Math. Phys. 147:527–548 (1992).
- [Dau] I. Daubechies. An uncertainty principle for fermions with generalized kinetic energy. Commun. Math. Phys. 90(4):511–520 (1983).
- [EFS1] L. Erdös, S. Fournais, J. P. Solovej. Scott correction for large atoms and molecules in a self-generated magnetic field. Commun. Math. Physics, 312(3):847–882 (2012).
- [EFS2] L. Erdös, S. Fournais, J. P. Solovej. Relativistic Scott correction in self-generated magnetic fields. Journal of Mathematical Physics 53, 095202 (2012), 27pp.
- [FLS] R. L. Frank, E. H. Lieb, R. Seiringer. Hardy-Lieb-Thirring inequalities for fractional Schrödinger operators. J. Amer. Math. Soc. 21(4), 925–950 (2008).
- [FSW] R. L. Frank, H. Siedentop, S. Warzel. The ground state energy of heavy atoms: relativistic lowering of the leading energy correction. Comm. Math. Phys. 278(2):549–566 (2008).

- [GS] G. M. Graf, J. P Solovej. A correlation estimate with applications to quantum systems with Coulomb interactions Rev. Math. Phys., 6(5a):977–997 (1994). Reprinted in The state of matter a volume dedicated to E. H. Lieb, Advanced series in mathematical physics, 20, M. Aizenman and H. Araki (Eds.), 142–166, World Scientific (1994).
- [Herb] I. W. Herbst. Spectral Theory of the operator  $(p^2 + m^2)^{1/2} Ze^2/r$ , Commun. Math. Phys. 53(3):285–294 (1977).
- [Ivr1] V. Ivrii. Microlocal Analysis, Sharp Spectral Asymptotics and Applications.
- [Ivr2] V. Ivrii. Asymptotics of the ground state energy in the relativistic settings and with self-generated magnetic field.
- [LT] E. H. Lieb, W. E. Thirring, Inequalities for the moments of the eigenvalues of the Schrödinger Hamiltonian and their relation to Sobolev inequalities, in Studies in Mathematical Physics (E. H. Lieb, B. Simon, and A. S. Wightman, eds.), Princeton Univ. Press, Princeton, New Jersey, 1976, pp. 269–303.
- [LY] E. H. Lieb, H. T. Yau. The Stability and instability of relativistic matter. Commun. Math. Phys. 118(2): 177–213 (1988).
- [SSS] J. P. Solovej, T. Ø. Sørensen, W. L. Spitzer. The relativistic Scott correction for atoms and molecules. Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 63:39– 118 (2010).



# Asymptotics of the ground state energy in the relativistic settings and with self-generated magnetic field<sup>\*,†</sup>

# Victor Ivrii<sup>‡</sup>

### Abstract

The purpose of this paper is to derive sharp asymptotics of the ground state energy for the heavy atoms and molecules in the relativistic settings, with the self-generated magnetic field, and, in particular, to derive relativistic Scott correction term and also Dirac, Schwinger and relativistic correction terms. Also we will prove that Thomas-Fermi density approximates the actual density of the ground state, which opens the way to estimate the excessive negative and positive charges and the ionization energy.

# 1 Introduction

Multielectron Hamiltonian is defined by

(1.1) 
$$\mathsf{H} = \mathsf{H}_{N} := \sum_{1 \le j \le N} H_{V, x_{j}} + \sum_{1 \le j < k \le N} \frac{\mathsf{e}^{2}}{|x_{j} - x_{k}|}$$

on

(1.2) 
$$\mathfrak{H} = \bigwedge_{1 \le n \le N} \mathcal{H}, \qquad \mathcal{H} = \mathcal{L}^2(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{C}^q) \simeq \mathcal{L}^2(\mathbb{R}^3 \times \{1, \dots, q\}, \mathbb{C})$$

\*2010 Mathematics Subject Classification: 35P20, 81Q10.

 $^\dagger Key\ words\ and\ phrases:$  Relativistic Schrödinger operator, Heavy atoms and Molecules, Thomas-Fermi theory, Scott correction term, Microlocal Analysis, Sharp Spectral Asymptotics, Self-generated Magnetic Field

<sup>‡</sup>This research was supported in part by National Science and Engineering Research Council (Canada) Discovery Grant RGPIN 13827.

with

(1.3) 
$$H_V = T - eV(x),$$

describing N same type particles in the external field with the scalar potential -V and repulsing one another according to the Coulomb law; **e** is a charge of the electron, T is an *operator of the kinetic energy*. Unless specifically mentioned, q = 2.

In the non-relativistic framework this operator is defined as

$$(1.4)_1 T = \frac{1}{2\mu} (-i\hbar\nabla - \mathbf{e}A)^2,$$

(1.4)<sub>2</sub> 
$$T = \frac{1}{2\mu} ((i\nabla - eA) \cdot \sigma)^2$$

in the magnetic (Schrödinger) and (Schrödinger-Pauli) settings respectively.

In the relativistic framework this operator is defined as

(1.5)<sub>1</sub> 
$$T = \left(c^2(-i\hbar\nabla - eA)^2 + \mu^2 c^4\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} - \mu^2 c^4$$

(1.5)<sub>2</sub> 
$$T = \left(c^2 \left(\left(-i\hbar\nabla - \mathbf{e}A\right)\cdot\mathbf{\sigma}\right)^2 + \mu^2 c^4\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} - \mu^2 c^4$$

in the magnetic (Schrödinger) and (Schrödinger-Pauli) settings respectively.

Recall that in non-magnetic settings we have (1.4) and (1.5) of [Ivr2] in the non-relativistic and relativistic settings respectively. Here

(1.6) 
$$V(x) = \sum_{1 \le m \le M} \frac{Z_m \mathbf{e}}{|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}_m|}$$

and

(1.7) 
$$d = \min_{1 \le m < m' \le M} |y_m - y_{m'}| > 0.$$

where  $Z_m e > 0$  and  $y_m$  are charges and locations of nuclei.

It is well-known that the non-relativistic operator is always semibounded from below. On the other hand, it is also well-known [Herb, LY] that one particle relativistic non-magnetic operator is semibounded from below if and only if  $Z_m\beta \leq \frac{2}{\pi}$  for m = 1, ..., M. In this paper we assume a strict condition:

(1.8) 
$$Z_m \beta \leq \frac{2}{\pi} - \epsilon \quad \forall m = 1, \dots, M; \qquad \beta \coloneqq \frac{e^2}{\hbar c}$$

In the non-magnetic case we were interested in  $E := \inf \text{Spec}(H)$ . In the magnetic case we consider only a self-generated magnetic field, that is we consider

(1.9) 
$$\mathsf{E}^* = \inf_{A \in \mathscr{H}^1_0} \mathsf{E}(A),$$

where

(1.10) 
$$\mathsf{E}(A) = \inf \operatorname{Spec}(\mathsf{H}_{A,V}) + \frac{\mathsf{e}^2}{\alpha\hbar^2} \int |\nabla \times A|^2 \, dx,$$

(1.11) 
$$\alpha Z_m \leq \kappa^* (2\pi^{-1} - \beta Z_m)^{\frac{3}{2}} \qquad m = 1, \dots, M.$$

with a unspecified constant  $\kappa^* > 0$ . We also assume that  $d \ge CZ^{-1}$ .

Remark 1.1. (i) In the non-relativistic theory by scaling with respect to the spatial and energy variables we can make  $\hbar = \mathbf{e} = \mu = 1$  while  $\alpha$  and  $Z_m$  are preserved.

(ii) In the relativistic theory by scaling with respect to the spatial and energy variables we can make  $\hbar = \mathbf{e} = \mu = \mathbf{1}$  while  $\beta$ ,  $\alpha$  and  $Z_m$  are preserved.

(iii) In the one particle case there are additional scalings with respect to the spatial and energy variables, preserving only  $Z_m \alpha$  and  $Z_m \beta$  (but not the  $Z_m, \alpha, \beta$ ).

From now on we assume that such rescaling was done and we are free to use letters  $\hbar$ ,  $\mu$  and c for other notations.

The sharp results in the non-relativistic frameworks, without magnetic field and with self-generated magnetic filed were obtained in Chapters 25 and 27 respectively, and in the relativistic frameworks without magnetic field—in [Ivr2]. The transition from the non-relativistic framework to the relativistic one required mainly modifications of the function-analytic arguments in the singular zone  $\bigcup_m \{x : |x - y_m| \le cZ_m^{-1}\}$ , and it was done in many articles, listed in the references, which we heavily use. On the other hand, transition from the non-magnetic case to the case of the self-generated magnetic field requires microlocal semiclassical arguments of Chapter 27 in the semiclassical zone  $\bigcap_m \{x : |x - y_m| \ge cZ_m^{-1}\}$ , which we also heavily rely upon. However relativistic settings require modifications of these arguments, and we are providing most of details when such modifications are needed, and are rather sketchy when no modifications are required.

# 2 Local Semiclassical Trace Asymptotics

### 2.1 Set-up

This section matches to Section 27.2. We consider potential W supported in B(x, r) (with  $r = \ell(x)$  the half-distance to the nearest nucleus), and scale it to B(0, 1) with  $W \approx 1$ .

Recall that the original non-relativistic operator is

(2.1) 
$$\frac{1}{2}((D-A)\cdot\sigma)^2 - W,$$

which after rescaling  $x \mapsto (x - x)/r$ ,  $\tau \mapsto \tau/(Zr^{-1})$  becomes

(2.2) 
$$\frac{1}{2}((hD - A') \cdot \sigma)^2 - W$$
,  $h = Z^{-1/2}r^{-1/2}$ ,  $A' = Z^{-1/2}r^{1/2}A$ ,

while the "penalty" becomes

(2.3) 
$$\frac{r}{\alpha} \int |\nabla \times A'|^2 \, dx = \frac{1}{\kappa \hbar^2} \int |\nabla \times A'|^2 \, dx$$

with  $\kappa = Z\alpha$  and we assume that  $\kappa \leq \kappa^*$ .

What happens with our relativistic operator? The same scaling transforms  $(\beta^{-2}((D-A)\cdot\sigma)^2 + \beta^{-4})^{1/2} - \beta^{-2}$  into

(2.4) 
$$rZ^{-1}(\beta^{-2}((r^{-1}D - A) \cdot \sigma)^2 + \beta^{-4})^{1/2} - rZ^{-1}\beta^{-2} = (\gamma^{-2}((hD - A') \cdot \sigma)^2 + \gamma^{-4})^{1/2} - \gamma^{-2})^{1/2}$$

with  $\gamma = \beta h^{-1} \leq 1$ .

Exactly like in Subsubsection 27.2.1 we need to start with the functionalanalytic arguments.

# 2.2 Functional Analytic Arguments

### Estimates

Proposition 2.1<sup>1)</sup>. Let  $V \in \mathscr{L}^{\frac{5}{2}} \cap \mathscr{L}^4$ . Then

 $(2.5) E^* \ge -Ch^{-3}$ 

<sup>1)</sup> Cf. Proposition 27.2.1.

and either

(2.6) 
$$\frac{1}{\kappa h^2} \int |\partial A|^2 \, dx \le C h^{-3}$$

or  $E(A) \ge ch^{-3}$ .

*Proof.* Using Theorem A.1 (magnetic Daubechies inequality rather than magnetic Lieb-Thirring inequality) with  $\gamma := \gamma h$ ,  $V := h^{-2}V$ ,  $A := h^{-1}A$  and with multiplication of the result by  $h^2$ , we have

(2.7) 
$$\operatorname{Tr}(H_{A,V}^{-}) \geq -Ch^{-3} \int \left(V_{+}^{5/2} + \gamma^{3}V_{+}^{4}\right) dx - Ch^{-2} \left(|\partial A|^{2} dx\right)^{\frac{1}{4}} \left(V_{+}^{4} dx\right)^{\frac{3}{4}}$$

(cf. (27.2.9); only the term  $\gamma^3 V_+^4$  adds up); then (27.2.10) holds, which completes the proof.

**Proposition 2.2**<sup>2)</sup>. Let  $V_+ \in \mathscr{L}^{\frac{5}{2}} \cap \mathscr{L}^4$ ,  $\kappa \leq ch^{-1}$  and

(2.8) 
$$V \leq -C^{-1}(1+|x|)^{\delta} + C.$$

Then there exists a minimizer A.

*Proof.* Let us consider a minimizing sequence  $A_j$ . Without any loss of the generality one can assume that  $A_j \to A_\infty$  weakly in  $\mathcal{H}^1$  and in  $\mathcal{L}^6$  and then strongly in  $\mathcal{L}^p_{\mathsf{loc}}$  with any  $p < 6^{3}$ . Then  $A_\infty$  is a minimizer.

Really, due to (2.6) and (2.8) negative spectra of  $H_{A_{j,V}}$  are discrete and the number of negative eigenvalues is bounded by N = N(h). Consider ordered eigenvalues  $\lambda_{j,k}$  of  $H_{A_{j,V}}$ . Without any loss of the generality one can assume that  $\lambda_{j,k}$  have limits  $\lambda_{\infty,k} \leq 0$  (we go to the subsequence if needed).

We claim that  $\lambda_{\infty,k}$  are also eigenvalues and if  $\lambda_{\infty,k} = \dots = \lambda_{\infty,k+r-1}$  then it is eigenvalue of at least multiplicity r.

Indeed, let  $u_{j,k}$  be corresponding eigenfunctions, orthonormal in  $\mathcal{L}^2$ . Then in virtue of  $A_j$  being bounded in  $\mathcal{L}^6$  and  $V \in \mathcal{L}^4$  we can estimate

$$\||D|^{1/2}u_{j,k}\| \le K \|u_{j,k}\|_{6}^{1-\delta} \cdot \|u_{j,k}\|^{\sigma} \le K \||D|^{1/2}u_{j,k}\|^{1-\delta} \cdot \|u_{j,k}\|^{\delta}$$

<sup>2)</sup> Cf. Proposition 27.2.2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3)</sup> Otherwise we select a converging subsequence.

with  $\delta > 0$  which implies  $|||D|^{1/2}u_{j,k}|| \leq K$ . Also assumption (2.8) implies that  $||(1 + |x|)^{\delta/2}u_{j,k}||$  are bounded and therefore without any loss of the generality one can assume that  $u_{j,k}$  converge strongly.

Then

(2.9) 
$$\lim_{j\to\infty} \operatorname{Tr}(H^{-}_{A_{j},V}) \ge \operatorname{Tr}(H^{-}_{A_{\infty},V}),$$

(2.10) 
$$\liminf_{j \to \infty} \int |\partial A_j|^2 \, dx \ge \int |\partial A_\infty|^2 \, dx$$

and therefore  $\mathsf{E}(\mathsf{A}_{\infty}) \leq \mathsf{E}^*$ . Then  $\mathsf{A}_{\infty}$  is a minimizer and there are equalities in (2.9)–(2.10) and, in particular, there no negative eigenvalues of  $H_{\mathsf{A}_{\infty},\mathsf{V}}$ other than  $\lambda_{\infty,k}$ .

### Properties of a Minimizer

Next, we need to study the minimizer<sup>4</sup>).

Proposition 2.3<sup>5</sup>). Let A be a minimizer. Then

(2.11) 
$$\frac{2}{\kappa h^2} \Delta A_j(x) = \Phi_j := -\operatorname{Re} \operatorname{tr} \left[ \int_0^\infty \sigma_j ((hD - A)_x \cdot \sigma) e^{-\lambda S} e(.,.,0) e^{-\lambda S} d\lambda \right] \Big|_{x=y} -\operatorname{Re} \operatorname{tr} \left[ \int_0^\infty \sigma_j e^{-\lambda S} e(.,.,0) e^{-\lambda S t} ((hD - A)_y \cdot \sigma) d\lambda \right] \Big|_{x=y}.$$

where  $A = (A_1, A_2, A_3)$ ,  $\sigma = (\sigma_1, \sigma_2, \sigma_3)$  and  $e(x, y, \tau)$  is the Schwartz kernel of the spectral projector  $\theta(-H)$  of  $H = H_{A,V}$  and tr is a matrix trace;

(2.12) 
$$S = \gamma^{2} (T + \gamma^{-2}) = ((\gamma^{2} (hD - A) \cdot \sigma)^{2} + 1)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

*Proof.* Consider variation  $\delta A$  of A and variation of  $\text{Tr}(H^-)$  where  $H^- = H\theta(-H)$  is a negative part of H. Then, like in the proof of Proposition 27.2.4,

(2.13) 
$$\delta \operatorname{Tr}(H^{-}) = \operatorname{Tr}((\delta H)\theta(-H)).$$

 $<sup>^{4)}</sup>$  We do not know if it is unique, exactly like in the non-relativistic case; see Remark 27.2.3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5)</sup> Cf. Proposition 27.2.4. Observe that (2.11) is more complicated than (27.2.14).

But we need to find  $\delta H = \gamma^{-2} \delta S$ , which is a bit more tricky than in the non-relativistic case. Observe that

(2.14) 
$$\delta(S^2) = S(\delta S) + (\delta S)S_3$$

then

(2.15) 
$$\delta S = \int_0^\infty e^{-\lambda S} \delta(S^2) e^{-\lambda S} d\lambda$$

while

(2.16) 
$$\gamma^{-2}S^2 = ((hD - A) \cdot \sigma)^2 + \gamma^{-2}$$

and therefore

(2.17) 
$$\delta(\gamma^{-2}S^2) = -\sum_j \Big( \delta A_j \sigma_j ((hD - A) \cdot \sigma) - ((hD - A) \cdot \sigma) \delta A_j \sigma_j \Big),$$

exactly like in non-relativistic case.

Therefore  $\operatorname{Tr}(\delta S\theta(-H))$  is equal to the sum of  $\int_0^\infty d\lambda$  of

$$-\operatorname{Tr}\left(e^{-\lambda S}\delta A_{j}\sigma_{j}((hD-A)\cdot\sigma)e^{-\lambda S}\theta(-H)\right)$$
$$-\operatorname{Tr}\left(e^{-\lambda S}((hD-A)\cdot\sigma)\delta A_{j}\sigma_{j}e^{-\lambda S}\theta(-H)\right) =$$
$$-\operatorname{Tr}\left(\delta A_{j}\sigma_{j}((hD-A)\cdot\sigma)e^{-tS}\theta(-H)e^{-\lambda S}\right)$$
$$-\operatorname{Tr}\left(\delta A_{j}\sigma_{j}e^{-\lambda S}\theta(-H)e^{-\lambda S}((hD-A)\cdot\sigma)\right).$$

Then  $\operatorname{Tr}(\delta L\theta(-H)) = \int \sum_{j} \Phi_{j}(x) \delta A_{j}$ , which implies equality (2.11).

**Proposition 2.4**<sup>6)</sup>. If for  $\kappa = \kappa^*$ 

$$(2.18) E^* \ge Weyl_1 - CM$$

(2.19)

with  $M \ge Ch^{-1}$ , then for  $\kappa \le \kappa^*(1 - \epsilon_0)$ 

(2.20) 
$$\frac{1}{\kappa h^2} \int |\partial A|^2 \, dx \le C_1 M.$$

<sup>6)</sup> Cf. Proposition 27.2.5.

*Proof.* Proof is obvious, also based on the upper estimate  $E^* \leq E(0) \leq Weyl_1 + Ch^{-1}$ , which is due to [Ivr2].

Proposition 2.5<sup>7</sup>). Let estimate (2.20) be fulfilled and let

(2.21) 
$$\varsigma = \kappa Mh \le c.$$

Then for  $\tau \leq c$ 

(i) Operator norm in  $\mathcal{L}^2$  of  $(hD)^k \theta(\tau - H)$  does not exceed C for k = 0, 1. (ii) Operator norm in  $\mathcal{L}^2$  of  $(hD)^k ((hD - A) \cdot \sigma) \theta(\tau - H)$  does not exceed C for k = 0.

*Proof.* First, let us repeat of some arguments of the proof of Proposition 27.2.6. Let  $u = \theta(\tau - H)f$ . Then  $||u|| \le ||f||$  and since

(2.22) 
$$\|A\|_{\mathscr{L}^6} \le C \|\partial A\| \le C(\kappa M)^{\frac{1}{2}}h,$$

we conclude that

$$\begin{split} \|hDu\| &\leq \|(hD-A)u\| + \|Au\| \leq \|(hD-A)u\| + C\|A\|_{\mathscr{L}^{6}} \cdot \|u\|_{\mathscr{L}^{3}} \leq \\ \|(hD-A)u\| + C(\kappa M)^{\frac{1}{2}}h\|u\|^{1/2} \cdot \|u\|_{\mathscr{L}^{6}}^{1/2} \leq \\ \|(hD-A)u\| + C(\kappa Mh)^{\frac{1}{2}}\|u\|^{1/2} \cdot \|hDu\|^{1/2} \leq \\ \|(hD-A)u\| + \frac{1}{2}\|hDu\| + C\kappa Mh\|u\|_{\mathscr{L}^{6}} \end{split}$$

therefore due to (2.21)

(2.23) 
$$||hDu|| \le 2||(hD - A)u|| + C\kappa Mh||u||.$$

Further,  $||Tu|| \le c_1 ||u||$  because  $H \ge -c$ ,  $|V| \le c$ ,  $|\tau| \le c$ ; then  $||(T + \gamma^{-2})u \le (c_1 + \gamma^{-2})||u||$  and therefore

$$(((T + \gamma^{-2})^2 - \gamma^{-4})u, u) \le ((c_1 + \gamma^{-2})^2 - \gamma^{-4}) = (2c_1\gamma^{-2} + c_1^2)||u||^2,$$

and finally

$$(2.24) (Lu, u) \le C \|u\|^2$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7)</sup> Cf. Proposition 27.2.6.

with

(2.25) 
$$L := ((hD - A) \cdot \sigma)^2.$$

Then, again following the same proof, we conclude that

(2.26) 
$$||(hD - A)u|| \le C||u||$$
 and  $||hDu|| \le C(1 + \kappa Mh)||u||$ ,

provided  $\kappa Mh^{1+\delta} \leq c$  for sufficiently small  $\delta > 0$ . Therefore under assumption (2.21) for j = 0, 1 both Statements (i) and (ii) are proven.

Thus, in contrast to Proposition 27.2.6 of, we do not have k = 2 in Statement (i), and k = 1 in Statement (ii) so far and need some extra arguments.

**Proposition 2.6.** Assume that  $\|V\|_{\mathscr{C}^2} \leq c$ . Then

(2.27) 
$$\|[S, V]u\| \le Ch\gamma^2(\|L^{\frac{1}{2}}u\| + \|u\|).$$

*Proof.* Recall that that  $S^2 = \gamma^2 L + 1$ . Therefore  $\gamma^2[L, V] = [S, V]S + S[S, V]$  and then

(2.28) 
$$[S, V] = \gamma^2 \int_0^\infty e^{-\lambda S} [L, V] e^{-\lambda S} d\lambda.$$

Also

(2.29) 
$$||[L, V]w|| \le Ch(||L^{1/2}w|| + ||w||)$$

and

$$\|e^{-\lambda S}\| \le e^{-\lambda}.$$

**Proposition 2.7.** (i) Assume that  $\|V\|_{\mathscr{C}^2} \leq c$  and  $|\tau| \leq c$ . Then the operator norm of  $(hD)^k \theta(\tau - H)$  does not exceed C for k = 0, 1, 2.

(ii) Assume that  $\|V\|_{\mathscr{C}^3} \leq c$  and  $|\tau| \leq c$ . Then the operator norm of operators  $(hD)^k((hD - A)_x \cdot \sigma)\theta(\tau - H)$  and  $(hD)^k\hat{\Phi}_j\theta(\tau - H)$  with

(2.31) 
$$\hat{\Phi}_j = \int_0^\infty \sigma_j ((hD - A)_x \cdot \sigma) e^{-\lambda S} e(.,.,0) e^{-\lambda S} d\lambda$$

do not exceed C for k = 0, 1, 2.

*Proof.* (i) Let  $u = \theta(\tau - H)f$  with  $f \in \mathcal{L}^2$ . Then u satisfies (2.2) and  $||Tu|| \leq C ||u||$ . Also, which implies

$$\gamma^{-2} \|Lu\| = \|(T + 2\gamma^{-2})Tu\| \le C\gamma^{-2} \|u\| + C\gamma^{-1} \|[T, V]u\| \le C_1 \gamma^{-2} \|u\|$$

due to (2.27). Then, repeating arguments of the proof of Propositiob 27.2.6, we conclude that  $\|(hD)^2u\| \leq C \|u\|$ , i.e. Statement (i).

(ii) Plugging  $(T - V - \tau)u$  instead of u (with  $||(T - V - \tau)u|| \le C||u||$ ) we have  $||L(T - \tau - V)u|| \le C||u||$ . Then

$$||TLu|| \le C||Lu|| + C||[L, V]u|| \le C(||Lu|| + ||u||) \le C_1||u||.$$

Again plugging  $(T - V - \tau)u$  instead of u we have

$$\gamma^{-2} \|L^2 u\| = \|(T + 2\gamma^{-2})TLu\| \le \|T(T - V - \tau)Lu\| \le C\gamma^{-2} \|Lu\| + C\|T[L, V]u\|.$$

Further, the last term does not exceed  $Ch \| TV'L^{\frac{1}{2}}u \| + Ch^{2} \| TV''u \|$  where V' are miscellaneous first derivatives of V and  $V'' = \Delta V$ . Then, the former does not exceed  $C \| Lu \|$ , while the latter does not exceed  $C\gamma^{-2} \| u \| + h \| \nabla (V''u) \|$ , which does not exceed  $C\gamma^{-2} \| u \|$ .

Therefore  $||L^2 u|| \leq C ||u||$ , which implies that  $||L((hD - A) \cdot \sigma)u|| \leq C ||u||$ , which in turn implies that  $||(hD)^2((hD - A) \cdot \sigma)u|| \leq C ||u||$  and, finally,  $||(hD)^2 \hat{\Phi}_j u|| \leq C ||u||$ .

**Corollary 2.8.** (i) Assume that  $\|V\|_{\mathscr{C}^2} \leq c$  and  $|\tau| \leq c$ . Then the operator norm of  $\theta(\tau - H)$  from  $\mathscr{L}^2$  to  $\mathscr{C}^{\delta}$  does not exceed  $Ch^{-3/2-\delta}$  for  $0 \leq \delta \leq \frac{1}{2}$ .

(ii) Assume that  $\|V\|_{\mathscr{C}^3} \leq c$  and  $|\tau| \leq c$ . Then the operator norm of  $\hat{\Phi}_j$ from  $\mathscr{L}^2$  to  $\mathscr{C}^{\delta}$  do not exceed  $Ch^{-3/2-\delta}$  for  $0 \leq \delta \leq \frac{1}{2}$ . Then  $\|\Phi_j\|_{\mathscr{C}} \leq Ch^{-3}$ .

**Corollary 2.9.** Under assumptions (2.18)–(2.21)  $\|A_j\|_{\ell^{2-\delta}} \leq C \kappa h^{-1}$  for any  $\delta > 0$ .

### 2.3 Microlocal Analysis and Local Theory

### Microlocal Analysis Unleashed

Then we can apply all arguments of Subsection 27.2.2<sup>8</sup>, even if expression for  $\Phi_j$  differs. Indeed, observe first that we can restrict ourselves by  $0 \leq \lambda \leq c |\log h|$ . Then, using our standard arguments based on the analysis of the propagation of singularities, we can prove that the Tauberian expression with  $T = h^{1-\delta}$  for  $\Phi_i$  has an error  $O(h^{-2})$  provided

$$(2.32) V(x) \asymp 1.$$

Then our standard trick with the freezing coefficients works and with the same  $O(h^{-2})$  error we can replace  $\Phi_j(x)$  by its Weyl expression, i.e. expression we obtain if replace operators by their symbols, depending on x and  $\xi$ , integrating by  $d\xi$  and multiplying by  $(2\pi h)^{-3}$ . However due to skew-symmetry with respect to  $\xi - A(x)$ , this Weyl expression is 0, and  $\Phi_j(x) = O(h^{-2})$ .

Finally, we can get rid of assumption (2.32) by the standard rescaling arguments. We leave all the details to the reader.

### Local Theory and Rescaling

Then we can apply all arguments of Subsection 27.2.3<sup>9)</sup>. As a result we arrive under assumption (2.21) to the trace formula<sup>10)</sup> with the remainder estimate  $O(h^{-1})$  and to estimate  $||\partial A|| = O(\kappa^{1/2} h^{1/2})$ .

Moreover, under the standard assumption of the global nature we arrive to the trace formula with the remainder estimate  $o(h^{-1})$  (but it will have the Schwinger-type correction term) and to estimate  $\|\partial A\| = o(\kappa^{1/2} h^{1/2})$ .

Finally, we an apply all arguments of Subsection  $27.2.4^{11}$  and we weaken assumption (2.21), recovering the same estimates as before. Again, we leave all the details to the reader.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8)</sup> Namely of Subsubsections 27.2.2.1. Sharp Estimates, 27.2.2.2. Application and 27.2.2.3. Classical Dynamics and Sharper Estimates.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9)</sup> Namely, Subsubsections 27.2.3.1. Localization and Estimate from above and 27.2.3.2. Estimate from below.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10)</sup> In the trace formula "Weyl<sub>1</sub>" is given by the relativistic expression,  $-P^{\mathsf{RTF}}(W + \nu)$ . <sup>11)</sup> Namely, Subsubsection 27.2.4.1. Case  $\kappa \leq 1$  and Subsubsection 27.2.4.2. Case  $1 \leq \kappa \leq h^{-1}$ .

# 3 Global Trace Asymptotics in the Case of Coulomb-Like Singularities

### 3.1 Estimates to a Minimizer

Let us return to the original settings, with Coulomb-like singularities and parameters  $Z_m$ ,  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ . At the moment we consider the one-particle Hamiltonian. Let us deal first with the vicinity of  $y_m$ .

Then we scale like in Section 27.3:  $x \mapsto Z^{\frac{1}{3}}x$ ,  $\tau \mapsto Z^{-\frac{4}{3}}\tau$ ,  $A \mapsto Z^{-\frac{2}{3}}A$ ,  $\beta \mapsto \beta Z^{\frac{3}{3}}$ , arriving to the semiclassical problem with Coulomb singularities  $z_m |x - y_m|^{-1}$  ( $z_m = Z_m Z^{-1}$ ), with  $h = Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  and with  $\kappa = \alpha Z^{\frac{2}{3}}$ . In particular,  $E^*$  is a minimum with respect to A of

(3.1) 
$$\mathsf{E}(A) \coloneqq \mathsf{Tr}(H^{-}_{A,W+\tau}) + \kappa^{-1}h^{-2} \|\partial A\|^{2}.$$

Let us follow arguments of Subsubsection 27.3.2.1 Preliminary Analysis. Observe first that the estimate from above is

(3.2) 
$$E^* \le h^{-3} \int Weyl_1(x) \, dx + Ch^{-2}$$

we simply take A = 0 and refer to  $[Ivr2]^{12}$ .

Consider now estimate from below and apply  $\ell$ -admissible partition exactly like in Subsection 27.3.2. Then, according to the previous section, for any element of partition with  $\ell \geq ch^{-2}$  ( $\ell \geq cZ_m^{-1}$  in the original settings) its contribution is estimated from below by the corresponding Weyl expression minus  $Ch^{-1}\zeta^2 \times \zeta \ell = Ch^{-1}\zeta^3 \ell^{-1}$  and summation with respect to these elements returns  $\mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}}$  minus  $Ch^{-1}\zeta^3 \ell|_{\ell=h^{-2}}$ , i.e.

(3.3) 
$$h^{-3} \int \operatorname{Weyl}_1(x) \, dx - Ch^{-2}$$

because the contribution of the zone  $\mathcal{Z}_0 = \{x \colon \ell(x) \leq ch^{-2}\}$  to the main term is  $O(h^{-2})$ .

On the other hand, the contribution of  $\mathcal{Z}_0$  is  $-Ch^{-2}$ . Indeed, scale first  $x \mapsto h^{-2}x, \tau \mapsto h^2\tau, h \mapsto 1, A \mapsto hA, \beta \mapsto \gamma = \beta h^{-1}$ , and the Coulomb

 $<sup>^{12)}</sup>$  In the original settings the remainder estimate would be  ${\cal O}(Z^2)$  exactly as in the non-relativistic case.

singularity remains the same while the magnetic energy becomes  $\kappa^{-1} \|\partial A\|^2$ . Observe that  $\gamma = \beta_{\text{orig}} Z_m^{-13}$ , so (1.8), (1.11) become

(3.4) 
$$\beta \le 2\pi^{-1} - \epsilon, \qquad \kappa \le \kappa^* (2\pi^{-1} - \beta).$$

Then we can apply a "singular magnetic Daubechies inequality" (A.3) and repeat all arguments of the regular case in a simple case of h = 1. There will be an extra terms O(1) and  $-C(1 - \pi\gamma/2)^{-\frac{3}{2}} ||\partial A||^2$  and that latter term requires (1.11).

Now we conclude that Proposition 27.3.1 holds:

**Proposition 3.1**<sup>14)</sup>. In our framework  $\kappa \leq \kappa^*$ . Then the near-minimizer A satisfies

(3.5) 
$$|\int (\operatorname{tr} e_{A,1}(x, x, 0) - \operatorname{Weyl}_1(x)) dx| \le Ch^{-2}$$

and

$$(3.6) \|\partial A\| \le C\kappa^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

It allows us to repeat arguments of the proof Proposition 2.2 and to prove

**Proposition 3.2**<sup>15)</sup>. In our framework there exists a minimizer  $A^{4)}$ .

Now we can repeat arguments of Subsubsection 27.3.2.2 Estimates to a Minimizer. I, albeit with the right-hand expression of (27.3.14) given now by (2.11) and to prove the claim (27.3.28), which is marginally stronger than

(3.7) 
$$\|\partial^2 A\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}(B(0,1-\epsilon))} \leq C \kappa^{\frac{1}{2}} h^{-\delta}.$$

Then we can repeat arguments of Subsubsection 27.3.2.3 Estimates to a Minimizer. II and recover Propositions 27.3.4, 27.3.6 and 27.3.7, estimating A and its derivatives as  $\ell(x) \leq 1$ :

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13)</sup> Considering vicinity of  $y_m$  it is more convenient to take the original rescaling with Z replaced by  $Z_m$ , and therefore  $z_m = 1$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14)</sup> Cf. Proposition 27.3.1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15)</sup> Cf. Proposition 27.3.2.

**Proposition 3.3**<sup>16)</sup>. In our framework if  $\ell(x) \ge \ell_* := h^2$ , then

(3.8) 
$$|A| \le C\kappa \ell^{-\frac{1}{2}}, \qquad |\partial A| \le C\kappa \ell^{-\frac{3}{2}}$$

and

(3.9) 
$$|\partial A(x) - \partial A(y)| \le C_{\theta} \kappa \ell^{-\frac{3}{2}-\theta} |x-y|^{\theta} \quad as \quad |x-y| \le \frac{1}{2} \ell(x)$$

for any  $\theta \in (0, 1)$ .

Consider now the non-semiclassical zone  $\{x : \ell(x) \leq \ell_*\}$ , which contains the relativistic zone  $\{x : \ell(x) \leq \overline{\ell} := \gamma h\}$ . Using arguments of the proof of Proposition 3.4 of [Ivr2], but additionally taking care of the magnetic field using arguments of the proofs of Propositions 2.5, 2.6 and 2.7 (we leave all details to the reader), we arrive to

**Proposition 3.4.** In our framework  $H_{W,A} \ge C_0 \ell_*^{-1}$  and  $e(x, x, \lambda) \le C \ell_*^{-3}$  for  $\ell(x) \le c \ell_*$  and  $|\lambda| \le C h^{-2}$ .

Remark 3.5. (i) Then in the original settings  $H_{W,A} \ge C_0 Z^{-2}$  and  $e(x, x, \lambda) \le CZ^3$  for  $\ell(x) \le cZ^{-1}$  and  $|\lambda| \le C_0 Z^2$ .

(ii) We have a better estimate than (3.11) of [Ivr2] due to assumptions (1.8) and (1.11).

Next, we follow arguments of Subsubsection 27.3.2.4 Estimates to a Minimizer. III and prove (again, leaving details to the reader)

**Proposition 3.6**<sup>17)</sup>. In our framework

$$(3.10) |A| \le C\kappa\ell^{-2}, |\partial A| \le C\kappa\ell^{-3}$$

and

(3.11) 
$$|\partial A(x) - \partial A(y)| \le C_{\theta} \kappa \ell^{-3-\theta} |x-y|^{\theta}$$
 as  $|x-y| \le \frac{1}{2} \ell(x)$ 

if  $\ell(x) \geq 1$  (for all  $\theta \in (0, 1)$ ).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16)</sup> Cf. Proposition 27.3.7(i).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17)</sup> Cf. Proposition 27.3.9.

### **3.2** Trace Estimates

Next we can go after trace asymptotics. Recall that we are dealing with the rescaled operator. Let a be the minimal distance between nuclei (after rescaling), capped by 1; recall that  $a \ge \ell_*$ .

After we estimated A for  $\ell(x) \leq 1$  in Proposition 3.1 and  $e(x, x, \lambda)$  for  $\ell(x) \leq \ell_* = h^{-2}$ , we can apply arguments of Subsection 27.3.3 and arrive to

**Proposition 3.7**<sup>18)</sup>. In our framework let  $\psi$  be *a*-admissible and supported in  $\frac{1}{2}a$ -vicinity of  $y_m$ , let  $\varphi$  be  $\ell_*$ -admissible, supported in  $2\ell_*$ -vicinity and equal 1 in  $\ell_*$ -vicinity of  $y_m$ , and let  $V^0 = Z_m |x|^{-1}$ . Then

(3.12) 
$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(\psi(H_{A,V}^{-}-H_{A,V^{0}}^{-})\psi\right) = \int \left(\operatorname{Weyl}_{1}(x) - \operatorname{Weyl}_{1}^{0}(x)\right)(1-\varphi(x)) dx + O\left(a^{-\frac{1}{3}}h^{-\frac{4}{3}}\right).$$

*Remark 3.8.* Here and in Proposition 3.9 Weyl and Weyl<sub>1</sub> are defined for the relativistic operator (i.e. Weyl =  $P^{\mathsf{RTF}}(V)$  and Weyl =  $-P^{\mathsf{RTF}}(V)$ ), but following arguments of 3.6 of [Ivr2], we can replace it by those for non-relativistic operator (i.e. Weyl =  $P^{\mathsf{TF}}(V)$  and Weyl =  $-P^{\mathsf{TF}}(V)$ ) and then skip the factor  $(1 - \varphi(x))$ .

Moreover, applying arguments of Subsection 27.3.4 we arrive to

**Proposition 3.9**<sup>19)</sup>. (i) In the framework of Proposition 3.7

(3.13) 
$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(\psi(H_{A,V}^{-}-H_{A,V^{0}}^{-})\psi\right) = \int \left(\operatorname{Weyl}_{1}(x) - \operatorname{Weyl}_{1}^{0}(x)\right)\psi^{2}(x)(1-\varphi(x))\,dx + O\left(h^{-\frac{4}{3}}a^{-\frac{1}{3}}\kappa|\log\kappa|^{\frac{1}{3}}+h^{-1}a^{-\frac{1}{2}}\right).$$

(ii) In particular, if

(3.14) 
$$\kappa \le ca^{-\frac{1}{6}}h^{\frac{1}{3}}|\log ah^{-2}|^{-\frac{1}{3}},$$

then the error in (3.13) does not exceed  $Ch^{-1}a^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  exactly as in the case without magnetic field.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18)</sup> Cf. Proposition 27.3.11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19)</sup> Cf. Proposition 27.3.16.

Next consider the case of exactly Coulomb potential  $V=Z|x|^{-1}$  and  $\nu=0.$  Then

**Proposition 3.10**<sup>20)</sup>. Let  $V = Z|x|^{-1}$ , h > 0, Z > 0, and (1.8) and (1.11) be fulfilled. Then

(i) The following limit exists  $^{21)}$ 

(3.15) 
$$\lim_{r \to \infty} \left( \inf_{A} \left( \operatorname{Tr} \left( (\phi_r H_{A,V} \phi_r)^{-} \right) + \frac{1}{\kappa h^2} \int |\partial A|^2 \, dx \right) - \int \operatorname{Weyl}_1(x) \phi_r^2(x) \, dx \right) =: 2Z^2 h^{-2} S(Z\kappa, Z\beta).$$

(ii) And it coincides with (27.3.72) and also with (27.3.73).

(iii) We also can replace in Statement (i)  $\operatorname{Tr}((\phi_r H_{A,V}\phi_r)^-)$  by  $\operatorname{Tr}(\phi_r H_{A,V}^-\phi_r)$ .

Here  $\phi \in \mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}(B(0,1))$ ,  $\phi = 1$  in  $B(0, \frac{1}{2})$ ,  $\phi_r = \phi(x/r)$  and Weyl and Weyl<sub>1</sub> are defined for non-relativistic operator.

Then we also arrive to

**Proposition 3.11**<sup>22)</sup>. In the framework of Proposition 3.10 for  $0 < \kappa < \kappa'$ ,  $\beta < \beta'$ 

(3.16)  $S(\kappa',\beta) \le S(\kappa,\beta) \le S(\kappa',\beta) + C\kappa'(\kappa^{-1}-\kappa'^{-1}),$ 

 $(3.17) S(\kappa,\beta) \le S(\kappa',\beta').$ 

Then, in the "atomic" case M=1 we arrive instantly to the following theorem:

**Theorem 3.12**<sup>23)</sup>. Let M = 1 and (1.8) and (1.11) be fulfilled. Then

(i) The following asymptotics holds

(3.18) 
$$\mathsf{E}^* = \int \mathsf{Weyl}_1(x) \, dx + 2z^2 S(z\kappa, z\beta) h^{-2} + O(h^{-\frac{4}{3}}\kappa |\log \kappa|^{\frac{1}{3}} + h^{-1}).$$

- <sup>20)</sup> Cf. Proposition 27.3.18.
- $^{21)}$  Cf. (27.3.71) and (3.18) of [Ivr2].
- <sup>22)</sup> Cf. Proposition 27.3.20 and Remark 3.8 of [Ivr2].
- <sup>23)</sup> Cf. Theorem 27.3.22 and Propositions 3.9 and 3.10 of [Ivr2].

(*ii*) If 
$$\kappa = o(h^{\frac{1}{3}} |\log h|^{-\frac{1}{3}})$$
, then

(3.19) 
$$\mathsf{E}^* = \int \mathsf{Weyl}_1^*(x) \, dx + 2z^2 S(z\kappa, z\beta) h^{-2} + o(h^{-1}),$$

in which case  $Weyl_1^*$  must in addition to  $-h^{-3}P^{TF}(W + \nu)$  contain the Schwinger correction, and also the relativistic correction.

Next, using arguments Subsection 27.3.6, in particular, decoupling of singularities (which is needed only in the case of the self-generated magnetic field), we arrive to

**Theorem 3.13**<sup>24)</sup>. Let  $M \geq 2$ ,  $\kappa \leq \kappa^*$  and (1.8) and (1.11) be fulfilled. Then

(i) The following asymptotics holds

(3.20) 
$$\mathsf{E}^* = \int \mathsf{Weyl}_1(x) \, dx + 2 \sum_{1 \le m \le M} z_m^2 S(z_m \kappa, z_m \beta) h^{-2} + O(R_1 + R_2)$$

with

(3.21) 
$$R_{1} = \begin{cases} h^{-1} + \kappa |\log \kappa|^{\frac{1}{3}} h^{-\frac{4}{3}} & \text{if } a \ge 1, \\ a^{-\frac{1}{2}} h^{-1} + \kappa |\log \kappa|^{\frac{1}{3}} a^{-\frac{1}{3}} h^{-\frac{4}{3}} & \text{if } h^{2} \le a \le 1 \end{cases}$$

(3.22)

and

(3.23) 
$$R_2 = \kappa h^{-2} \begin{cases} a^{-3} & \text{if } a \ge |\log h|^{\frac{1}{3}}, \\ |\log h^2 a^{-1}|^{-1} & \text{if } h^2 \le a \le |\log h|^{\frac{1}{3}}. \end{cases}$$

(ii) If  $\kappa = o(h^{\frac{1}{3}} |\log h|^{-\frac{1}{3}})$ ,  $\kappa a^{-3} = o(h)$  and  $a^{-1} = o(1)$ , then

(3.24) 
$$\mathsf{E}^* = \int \mathsf{Weyl}_1^*(x) \, dx + 2 \sum_{1 \le m \le M} z_m^2 S(z_m \kappa, z_m \beta) h^{-2} + o(h^{-1}).$$

<sup>24)</sup> Cf. Theorem 27.3.24.

# 4 Main Results

## 4.1 Asymptotics of the Ground State Energy

Now we can apply arguments of Section 27.4. In addition to (1.8) and (1.11) we assume that

(4.1) 
$$d := \min_{1 \le m < m' \le M} |\mathbf{y}_m - \mathbf{y}_{m'}| \ge Z^{-1},$$

$$(4.2) N \asymp Z_1 \asymp \ldots \asymp Z_M.$$

Then the estimates from below follow immediately from the trace asymptotics, while for the estimate from above we need also estimate N and miscellaneous D-terems. We leave all the details to the reader.

**Theorem 4.1**<sup>25)</sup>. (i) Under assumptions (1.8), (1.11), (4.1) and (4.2) the following asymptotics holds

(4.3) 
$$\mathsf{E}_{N}^{*} = \mathcal{E}_{N}^{\mathsf{TF}} + \sum_{1 \le m \le M} 2Z_{m}^{2}S(\alpha Z_{m}, \beta Z_{m}) + O(Z^{\frac{4}{3}}(R_{1} + R_{2}))$$

with  $R_1$  and  $R_2$  defined by (3.21) and (3.23) respectively with  $\kappa = \alpha Z$ ,  $h = Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  and  $a = Z^{\frac{1}{3}}d$ , d is defined by (4.1),  $d = \infty$  for M = 1.

(ii) In particular, under assumption  $d\gtrsim Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  the following asymptotics holds

(4.4) 
$$\mathsf{E}_{N}^{*} = \mathcal{E}_{N}^{\mathsf{TF}} + \sum_{1 \le m \le M} 2Z_{m}^{2}S(\alpha Z_{m}, \beta Z_{m}) + O(\alpha |\log(\alpha Z)|^{\frac{1}{3}}Z^{\frac{25}{9}} + Z^{\frac{5}{3}} + \alpha d^{-3}Z^{2}).$$

**Theorem 4.2**<sup>26)</sup>. (i) Let assumptions (1.8), (1.11), (4.1) and (4.2) be fulfilled and let  $\Psi = \Psi_{\mathbf{A}}$  be a ground state for a near optimizer  $\mathbf{A}$  of the original multiparticle problem. Then

(4.5) 
$$\mathsf{D}(\rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}, \, \rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}) \leq C Z^{\frac{5}{3}}.$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25)</sup> Cf. Theorem 27.4.3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26)</sup> Cf. Theorem 27.4.4.

(ii) Furthermore, if  $d \ge Z^{-\frac{1}{3}}$ , then

(4.6) 
$$\mathsf{D}(\rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}, \rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}) \leq C Z^{\frac{5}{3}} \left( Z^{-\delta} + (dZ^{\frac{1}{3}})^{-\delta} + (\alpha Z)^{\delta} \right).$$

**Theorem 4.3**<sup>27)</sup>. Let assumptions (1.8), (1.11), (4.1) and (4.2) be fulfilled, and let  $\alpha \leq Z^{-\frac{10}{9}} |\log Z|^{-\frac{1}{3}}$ . Then

(4.7) 
$$\mathsf{E}_{N}^{*} = \mathcal{E}_{N}^{\mathsf{TF}} + \sum_{1 \le m \le M} 2Z_{m}^{2}S(\alpha Z_{m}, \beta Z_{m}) + \mathsf{Dirac} + \mathsf{Schwinger} + \mathsf{RCT} + O(\alpha |\log(\alpha Z)|^{\frac{1}{3}}Z^{\frac{25}{9}} + Z^{\frac{5}{3}-\delta} + \alpha d^{-3}Z^{2})$$

where Dirac and Schwinger are Dirac and Schwinger correction terms defined exactly as in non-magnetic non-relativistic case by (25.1.29) and (25.1.30) respectively, and RCT is relativistic correction term, defined as in the nonmagnetic case by (3.23) of [Ivr2].

**Theorem 4.4**<sup>28)</sup>. Let assumptions (1.8), (1.11) and (4.2) be fulfilled. Let us consider  $y_m = y_m^*$  minimizing the full energy

(4.8) 
$$\widehat{\mathsf{E}}_{N}^{*} \coloneqq \mathsf{E}_{N}^{*} + \sum_{1 \le m < m' \le M} Z_{m} Z_{m'} |\mathsf{y}_{m} - \mathsf{y}_{m'}|^{-1}.$$

Then

(4.9) 
$$d \ge \min\left(Z^{-\frac{5}{21}+\delta}, \ Z^{-\frac{5}{21}}(\alpha Z)^{-\delta}, \ \alpha^{-\frac{1}{4}}Z^{-\frac{1}{2}}\right)$$

and in the remainder estimates in (4.4) and (4.7) one can skip *d*-connected terms; so we arrive to

(4.10) 
$$\mathsf{E}_{N}^{*} = \mathcal{E}_{N}^{\mathsf{TF}} + \sum_{1 \le m \le M} 2Z_{m}^{2}S(\alpha Z_{m}, \beta Z_{m}) + O(\alpha |\log(\alpha Z)|^{\frac{1}{3}}Z^{\frac{25}{9}} + Z^{\frac{5}{3}})$$

and

$$(4.11) \quad \mathsf{E}_{N}^{*} = \mathcal{E}_{N}^{\mathsf{TF}} + \sum_{1 \le m \le M} 2Z_{m}^{2}S(\alpha Z_{m}) + \mathsf{Dirac} + \mathsf{Schwinger} + \mathsf{RCT} + O(\alpha |\log(\alpha Z)|^{\frac{1}{3}} Z^{\frac{25}{9}} + Z^{\frac{5}{3}-\delta})$$

respectively and also the same asymptotics with  $\widehat{\mathsf{E}}_{\mathsf{N}}^*$  and  $\widehat{\mathcal{E}}_{\mathsf{N}}^{\mathsf{TF}}$  instead of  $\mathsf{E}_{\mathsf{N}}^*$  and  $\mathcal{E}_{\mathsf{N}}^{\mathsf{TF}}$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27)</sup> Cf. Theorem 27.4.5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28)</sup> Cf. Theorem 27.4.6.

# 4.2 Related Problems

After Theorems 4.1–4.4 are proven, we can apply arguments of Sections 25.5 and 25.6.

**Theorem 4.5**  $^{29)}$ . Let assumptions (1.8), (1.11) and (4.2) be fulfilled.

(i) In the framework of the fixed nuclei model let us assume that  $I_N^* := E_{N-1}^* - E_N^* > 0$ . Then

(4.12) 
$$(N-Z)_{+} \leq CZ^{\frac{5}{7}} \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } d \leq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}} \\ Z^{-\delta} + (dZ^{\frac{1}{3}})^{-\delta} + (\alpha Z)^{\delta} & \text{if } d \geq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}} \end{cases}$$

(ii) In particular, for a single atom and for molecule with  $d \ge Z^{-\frac{1}{3}+\delta}$ 

(4.13) 
$$(N-Z)_+ \leq Z^{\frac{5}{7}} \left( Z^{-\delta} + (\alpha Z)^{\delta} \right).$$

(iii) In the framework of the free nuclei model let us assume that  $\hat{l}_N^* := \hat{E}_{N-1}^* - \hat{E}_N^* > 0$ . Then estimate (4.13) holds.

**Theorem 4.6**<sup>30)</sup>. Let assumptions (1.8), (1.11) and (4.2) be fulfilled and let  $N \ge Z - C_0 Z^{\frac{5}{7}}$ . Then

(i) In the framework of the fixed nuclei model

(4.14) 
$$I_N^* \le CZ^{\frac{20}{21}}$$
.

(ii) In the framework of the free nuclei model with  $N \geq Z - C_0 Z^{\frac{5}{7}} (Z^{-\delta} + \alpha Z^{\delta})$ 

(4.15) 
$$\widehat{\mathsf{l}}_{N}^{*} \coloneqq \widehat{\mathsf{E}}_{N-1}^{*} - \widehat{\mathsf{E}}_{N-1}^{*} \le Z^{\frac{20}{21}} \left( Z^{-\delta'} + (\alpha Z)^{\delta'} \right).$$

**Theorem 4.7**<sup>31)</sup>. Let assumptions (1.8), (1.11) and (4.2) be fulfilled and let  $N \leq Z - C_0 Z^{\frac{5}{7}}$ . Then in the framework of the fixed nuclei model under assumption  $b \geq C_1(N-Z)^{-\frac{1}{3}}$ 

$$(4.16) \qquad (\mathsf{I}_{N}^{*}+\nu)_{+} \leq C(Z-N)^{\frac{17}{18}} Z^{\frac{5}{18}} \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } d \leq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}} \\ Z^{-\delta} + (dZ^{\frac{1}{3}})^{-\delta} & \text{if } d \geq Z^{-\frac{1}{3}} \end{cases}$$

- <sup>29)</sup> Cf. Theorem 27.5.1.
- <sup>30)</sup> Cf. Theorem 27.5.2.
- <sup>31)</sup> Cf. Theorem 27.5.3.

**Theorem 4.8**<sup>32)</sup>. Let assumptions (1.8), (1.11). Then in the framework of free nuclei model with  $M \ge 2$  the stable molecule does not exist unless

(4.17) 
$$Z - N \le Z^{\frac{5}{7}} \left( Z^{-\delta} + (\alpha Z)^{\delta} \right)$$

# A Some Inequalities

In this section we reproduce from [EFS2]: two new Lieb-Thirring type inequalities for the relativistic kinetic energy with a magnetic field.

**Theorem A.1**<sup>33)</sup>. There exists a universal constant C > 0 such that for any positive number  $\gamma > 0$ , for any potential V with  $V_+ \in \mathcal{L}^{5/2} \cap \mathcal{L}^4(\mathbb{R}^3)$ , and magnetic field  $B = \nabla \times A \in \mathcal{L}^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ , we have

(A.1) 
$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(\left(\sqrt{\gamma^{-2}(D-A)\cdot\sigma}\right)^{2}+\gamma^{-4}-\gamma^{-2}-U(x)\right)^{-}\right)\geq -C\left\{\int U_{+}^{5/2}\,dx+\gamma^{3}\int U_{+}^{4}\,dx+\left(\int |\nabla\times A|^{2}\,dx\right)^{3/4}\left(\int U_{+}^{4}\,dx\right)^{1/4}\right\}.$$

Notice that Theorem A.1 reduces to the well-known Daubechies inequality in the case A = 0 [Dau].

For the Schrödinger case, the Daubechies inequality was generalized (and improved to incorporate a critical Coulomb singularity) to non-zero Ain [FLS] by using diamagnetic techniques. Theorem A.1 is the generalization of the Daubechies inequality for the Pauli operator, in which case there is no diamagnetic inequality. Moreover, in the  $\gamma \rightarrow 0$  limit, (A.1) converges to the magnetic Lieb-Thirring inequality for the Pauli operator [LLS] since

(A.2) 
$$\sqrt{\gamma^{-2}(D-A)\cdot\sigma}^2 + \gamma^{-4} - \gamma^{-2} \rightarrow \frac{1}{2}(D-A)\cdot\sigma^2$$
,  $\gamma \rightarrow 0$ .

Theorem A.1 does not cover the case of a Coulomb singularity. The next result shows that for  $\gamma$  smaller than the critical value  $2/\pi$ , the Coulomb singularity can be included.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32)</sup> Cf. Theorem 27.5.6.

 $<sup>^{33)}</sup>$  Theorem 2.2 of [EFS2].

 $<sup>^{34)}</sup>$  Theorem 2.3 of [EFS2].

**Theorem A.2**<sup>34)</sup>. Let  $\phi_r$  be a real function satisfying supp  $\phi_r \subset \{|x| \leq r\}$ ,  $\|\phi_r\|_{\infty} \leq 1$ . There exists a constant C > 0 such that if  $\gamma \in (0, 2/\pi)$ , then

(A.3) 
$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(\phi_r\left(\sqrt{\gamma^{-2}(D-A)\cdot\sigma}\right)^2 + \gamma^{-4} - \gamma^{-2} - \frac{1}{|x|} - U\right)\phi_r\right)^-$$
  

$$\geq -C\left\{\eta^{-3/2}\int |\nabla \times A|^2 \, dx + \eta^{-3}r^3 + \eta^{-3/2}\int U_+^{5/2} \, dx + \eta^{-3}\gamma^3\int U_+^4 \, dx + \left(\int |\nabla \times A|^2 \, dx\right)^{3/4}\left(\int U_+^4 \, dx\right)^{1/4}\right\},$$

where  $\eta := \frac{1}{10} (1 - (\pi \gamma/2)^2).$ 

# Bibliography

- [Bach] V. Bach. Error bound for the Hartree-Fock energy of atoms and molecules. Commun. Math. Phys. 147:527–548 (1992).
- [Dau] I. Daubechies: An uncertainty principle for fermions with generalized kinetic energy. Commun. Math. Phys. 90(4):511–520 (1983).
- [EFS1] L. Erdös, S. Fournais, J. P. Solovej, Scott correction for large atoms and molecules in a self-generated magnetic field. Commun. Math. Physics, 312(3):847–882 (2012).
- [EFS2] L. Erdös, S. Fournais, J. P. Solovej, *Relativistic Scott correction in self-generated magnetic fields*. Journal of Mathematical Physics 53, 095202 (2012), 27pp.
- [FLS] R. L. Frank, E. H. Lieb, R. Seiringer. Hardy-Lieb-Thirring inequalities for fractional Schrödinger operators. J. Amer. Math. Soc. 21(4), 925-950 (2008).
- [FSW] R. L. Frank, H. Siedentop, S. Warzel. The ground state energy of heavy atoms: relativistic lowering of the leading energy correction. Comm. Math. Phys. 278(2):549–566 (2008).
- [GS] G. M. Graf, J. P Solovej. A correlation estimate with applications to quantum systems with Coulomb interactions Rev. Math. Phys., 6(5a):977–997 (1994). Reprinted in The state of matter a volume

dedicated to E. H. Lieb, Advanced series in mathematical physics, 20, M. Aizenman and H. Araki (Eds.), 142–166, World Scientific (1994).

- [Herb] I. W. Herbst. Spectral Theory of the operator  $(p^2 + m^2)^{1/2} Ze^2/r$ , Commun. Math. Phys. 53(3):285–294 (1977).
- [Ivr] V. Ivrii. Microlocal Analysis, Sharp Spectral Asymptotics and Applications.
- [Ivr2] V. Ivrii. Asymptotics of the ground state energy in the relativistic settings.
- [LLS] E. H. Lieb, M. Loss, J. P. Solovej: Stability of Matter in Magnetic Fields, Phys. Rev. Lett. 75:985–989 (1995).
- [LT] E. H. Lieb, W. E. Thirring, Inequalities for the moments of the eigenvalues of the Schrödinger Hamiltonian and their relation to Sobolev inequalities, in Studies in Mathematical Physics (E. H. Lieb, B. Simon, and A. S. Wightman, eds.), Princeton Univ. Press, Princeton, New Jersey, 1976, pp. 269–303.
- [LY] E. H. Lieb, H. T. Yau. The Stability and instability of relativistic matter. Commun. Math. Phys. 118(2): 177–213 (1988).
- [SSS] J. P. Solovej, T. Ø. Sørensen, W. L. Spitzer. The relativistic Scott correction for atoms and molecules. Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 63:39– 118 (2010).



# Complete Semiclassical Spectral Asymptotics for Periodic and Almost Periodic Perturbations of Constant Operators<sup>\*,†</sup>

Victor Ivrii<sup>‡</sup>

### Abstract

Under certain assumptions we derive a complete semiclassical asymptotics of the spectral function  $e_{h,\varepsilon}(x, x, \lambda)$  for a scalar operator

$$A_{\varepsilon}(x, hD) = A^{0}(hD) + \varepsilon B(x, hD),$$

where  $A^0$  is an elliptic operator and B(x, hD) is a periodic or almost periodic perturbation.

In particular, a complete semiclassical asymptotics of the integrated density of states also holds. Further, we consider generalizations.

# 1 Introduction

# 1.1 Preliminary Remarks

This work is inspired by several remarkable papers of L. Parnovski and R. Shterenberg [PS1,PS2,PS3], S. Morozov, L. Parnovski and R. Shterenberg [MPS] and earlier papers by A. Sobolev [So1,So2]. I wanted to understand the approach of the authors and, combining their ideas with my own approach, generalize their results.

<sup>\*2010</sup> Mathematics Subject Classification: 35P20.

 $<sup>^{\</sup>dagger}Key$  words and phrases: Microlocal Analysis, sharp spectral asymptotics, integrated density of states, periodic and almost periodic operators, Diophantine conditions.

 $<sup>^{\</sup>ddagger} \rm This$  research was supported in part by National Science and Engineering Research Council (Canada) Discovery Grant RGPIN 13827

In these papers the complete asymptotic expansion of the integrated density of states  $N(\lambda)$  for operators  $\Delta + V$  was derived as  $\lambda \to +\infty$ ; here  $\Delta$  is a positive Laplacian and V is a periodic or almost periodic potential (satisfying certain conditions). In [MPS] more general operators were considered.

Further, in [PS3] the complete asymptotic expansion of  $e(x, x, \lambda)$  was derived, where  $e(x, y, \lambda)$  is the Schwartz kernel of the spectral projector.

I borrowed from these papers Conditions 1.2–1.6 and the *special gauge* transformation and added the hyperbolic operator method (actually nonstationary semiclassical Schrödinger operator method– [Ivr1]) and extremely long propagation of singularities. I believe that this is a simpler and more powerful approach. Also, in contrast to those papers I consider more general semiclassical asymptotics.

Consider a scalar self-adjoint *h*-pseudo-differential operator A(x, hD) in  $\mathbb{R}^d$  with the Weyl symbol  $A(x, \xi)$ , such that

(1.1) 
$$|D_x^{\alpha} D_{\xi}^{\beta} A(x,\xi)| \le c_{\alpha\beta} (|\xi|+1)^m \quad \forall \alpha, \beta \ \forall x, \xi$$

and

(1.2) 
$$A(x,\xi) \ge c_0 |\xi|^m - C_0 \qquad \forall x,\xi$$

Then it is semibounded from below. Let  $e_h(x, y, \lambda)$  be the Schwartz kernel of its spectral projector  $E(\lambda) = \theta(\lambda - A)$ . We are interested in the semiclassical asymptotics of  $e_h(x, x, \lambda)$  and

(1.3) 
$$\mathsf{N}_h(\lambda) = \mathsf{M}[e(x, x, \lambda)] := \lim_{\ell \to \infty} (\mathsf{mes}(\ell X))^{-1} \int_{\ell X} e(x, x, \lambda) \, dx,$$

where  $0 \in X$  is an open domain in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . The latter expression in the cases we are interested in does not depend on X and is called *Integrated Density of States*.

It is well-known that under  $\xi$ -microhyperbolicity condition on the energy level  $\lambda$ 

(1.4) 
$$|A(x,\xi,h) - \lambda| + |\nabla_{\xi}A(x,\xi,h)| \ge \epsilon_0$$

the following asymptotics holds

(1.5) 
$$e_h(x, x, \lambda) = \kappa_0(x, \lambda)h^{-d} + O(h^{1-d}) \quad \text{as} \quad h \to +0,$$

and therefore

(1.6) 
$$\mathsf{N}_h(\lambda) = \bar{\kappa}_0(\lambda)h^{-d} + O(h^{1-d}),$$

where here and below

(1.7)  $\bar{\kappa}_n(\lambda) = \mathsf{M}[\kappa_n(x,\lambda)].$ 

For generalization to matrix operators and degenerate scalar operators see Chapters 4 and 5 respectively. Also there one can find slightly sharper two-term asymptotics under non-periodicity conditions.

Also it is known (see Chapter 4) that under microhyperbolicity condition (1.4) for  $|\tau - \lambda| < \epsilon$  the following complete asymptotics holds:

(1.8) 
$$F_{t\to h^{-1}\tau}(\bar{\chi}_{\tau}(t)(Q_{2x}u_h(x,y,t)^tQ_{1y})|_{y=x}) \sim \sum_{n\geq 0}\kappa'_{n,Q_1,Q_2}(x,\tau)h^{1-d+n}$$

where  $u_h(x, y, t)$  is the Schwartz kernel of the propagator  $e^{ih^{-1}tA}$ ,  $\bar{\chi} \in \mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}([-1, 1]), \bar{\chi}(t) = 1$  at  $[-\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}], T \in [h^{1-\delta}, T^*], T^*$  is a small constant here and  $Q_j = Q_j(x, hD)$  are *h*-pseudo-differential operator; we write operators, acting with respect to y on Schwartz kernels to the right of it.

Further, it is known that

(1.9) 
$$\operatorname{supp}(Q_1) \cap \operatorname{supp}(Q_2) = \emptyset \implies \kappa'_{n,Q_1,Q_2}(x,\tau) = 0,$$

where  $supp(Q_i)$  is a support of its symbol  $Q_i(x, \xi)$  and

(1.10) 
$$\tau \leq \tau^* = \inf_{\mathbf{x},\xi} A(\mathbf{x},\xi) \implies \kappa'_{n,Q_1,Q_2}(\mathbf{x},\tau) = \mathbf{0}.$$

Let

(1.11) 
$$\kappa_{n,Q_1,Q_2}(x,\tau) = \int_{-\infty}^{\tau} \kappa'_{n,Q_1,Q_2}(x,\tau') \, d\tau.$$

In what follows we skip subscripts  $Q_j = I$ .

Remark 1.1. This equality (1.8) plus Hörmander's Tauberian theorem imply the remainder estimates  $O(h^{1-d})$  for  $Q_{2x}e_h(x, y, \tau) {}^tQ_{1y}|_{x=y}$ . On the other hand, if we can improve (1.8) by increasing  $T^*$ , we can improve the remainder estimate to  $O(T^{*-1}h^{1-d})^{(1),2)}$ .

Observe that for A = A(hD)

(1.12) 
$$e_h(x, x, \lambda) = \mathsf{N}_h(\lambda) = \kappa_0(\lambda) h^{-d}.$$

<sup>1)</sup> Provided  $T^* = O(h^{-M})$  for some M.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2)</sup> This plus estimate for  $\kappa'_0$  is a major method for obtaining sharp remainder estimates in [Ivr1].

In this paper we consider

(1.13) 
$$A(x, hD) = A^{0}(hD) + \varepsilon B(x, hD),$$

where  $A^0(\xi)$  satisfies (1.1), (1.2) and (1.4) and  $B(x, \xi)$  satisfies (1.1) and  $\varepsilon > 0$  is a small parameter. Later we assume that B(x, hD) is almost periodic and impose other conditions.

First, we claim that for operator (1.13) with  $\varepsilon \leq \epsilon_0$  the equality (1.8) holds with  $T^* = \epsilon_1 \varepsilon^{-1}$  where  $\epsilon_j$  are small constants and we assume that  $\varepsilon \geq h^M$  for some M. Then the remainder estimate is  $O(\varepsilon h^{1-d})^{3}$ .

### 1.2 Main Theorem

Now we consider the main topic of this work where we will use ideas from [PS1, PS2, PS3, MPS]: the case of an almost periodic operator B(x, hD),

(1.14) 
$$B(x,\xi) = \sum_{\theta \in \Theta} b_{\theta}(\xi) e^{i \langle \theta, x \rangle}$$

with discrete (i.e. without any accumulation points) frequency set  $\Theta$ .

Operator B is quasiperiodic if  $\Theta$  is a finite set, periodic if  $\Theta$  is a lattice and almost periodic in the general case.

Our goal is to derive (under certain assumptions) complete semiclassical asymptotics:

(1.15) 
$$e_{h,\varepsilon}(x,x,\tau) \sim \sum_{n\geq 0} \kappa_{n,\varepsilon} x(x,\tau) h^{-d+n}.$$

First, in addition to microhyperbolicity condition (1.4) we assume that  $\Sigma_{\lambda} = \{\xi : A^{0}(\xi) = \lambda\}$  is a strongly convex surface i.e.

(1.16) 
$$\pm \sum_{j,k} A^{0}_{\xi_{j}\xi_{k}}(\xi)\eta_{j}\eta_{k} \geq \epsilon |\eta|^{2} \qquad \forall \xi \colon A^{0}(\xi) = \lambda \quad \forall \eta \colon \sum_{j} A^{0}_{\xi_{j}}(\xi)\eta_{j} = 0,$$

where the sign depends on the connected component of  $\Sigma_{\lambda}$ , containing  $\xi$ .

Without any loss of generality we assume that

(1.17)  $\Theta$  spans  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , contains 0 and is symmetric about 0.

586

 $<sup>^{3)}</sup>$  See Theorem 2.4.

**Condition 1.2.** For each  $\theta_1, \ldots, \theta_d \in \Theta$  <u>either</u>  $\theta_1, \ldots, \theta_d$  are linearly independent over  $\mathbb{R}$  <u>or</u> they linearly dependent over  $\mathbb{Z}$ .

Assume also that

**Condition 1.3.** For any arbitrarily large L and for any sufficiently large real number  $\omega$  there are a finite symmetric about 0 set  $\Theta' := \Theta'_{(L,\omega)} \subset (\Theta \cap B(0,\omega))$  (with  $B(\xi, \mathbf{r})$  the ball of the radius  $\mathbf{r}$  and center  $\xi$ ) and a "cut-off" coefficients  $b'_{\theta} := b'_{\theta,(L,\omega)}$ , such that

(1.18) 
$$B' := B'_{(L,\omega)}(x,\xi) := \sum_{\theta \in \Theta'} b'_{\theta}(\xi) e^{i\langle \theta, x \rangle}$$

satisfies

(1.19) 
$$\|D_x^{\alpha}D_{\xi}^{\beta}(B-B')\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}} \leq \omega^{-L}(|\xi|+1)^m \quad \forall \alpha, \beta \colon |\alpha| \leq L, |\beta| \leq L.$$

Remark 1.4. (i) Then

(1.20) 
$$|D_{\xi}^{\beta}b_{\theta}| = O(|\theta|^{-\infty}(|\xi|+1)^{m}) \quad \text{as} \quad |\theta| \to \infty$$

and

(1.21) 
$$|D_{\xi}^{\beta}(b_{\theta} - b_{\theta}')| = O(\omega^{-\infty}(|\xi| + 1)^{m}).$$

Indeed, one suffices to observe that  $b_{\theta}(\xi) = \mathsf{M}(B(x,\xi)e^{-i\langle\theta,x\rangle})$  etc.

(ii) On the other hand, under additional assumption

(1.22) 
$$\#\{\theta \in \Theta, |\theta| \le \omega\} = O(\omega^p) \quad \text{as} \quad \omega \to \infty$$

for some p, (1.20) implies Condition 1.3 with  $\Theta'_{(L,\omega)} \coloneqq \Theta \cap \mathsf{B}(0,\omega)$ . However we will need  $\Theta'_{(L,\omega)}$  in the next condition.

(iii) We need only to estimate the operator norm of the difference between B(x, hD) and B'(x, hD) (from  $\mathscr{H}^m$  to  $\mathscr{L}^2$ ); therefore for differential operators we can weaken (1.19): if

(1.23) 
$$B = \sum_{\mu,\nu:|\alpha| \le m', |\beta| \le m'} D^{\alpha} b_{\alpha\beta}(x) D^{\beta}, \qquad b_{\alpha\beta} = b_{\beta\alpha}^{\dagger},$$

where we assume that  $b_{\alpha\nu}(x)$  and  $b'_{\alpha\beta}(x)$  have similar decompositions (1.14) and (1.18) respectively, then (1.19) should be replaced by

(1.24) 
$$\|\boldsymbol{D}_{\boldsymbol{x}}^{\alpha}(\boldsymbol{b}_{\alpha\beta}-\boldsymbol{b}_{\alpha\beta}')\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}} \leq \omega^{-L} \quad \forall \alpha.$$

(iv) While Condition 1.3 is Condition B of [PS3], adopted to our case, Condition 1.2 and Conditions 1.5, 1.6 below are borrowed without any modifications (except changing notations).

The next condition we need to impose is a version of the Diophantine condition on the frequencies of B. First, we need some definitions. We fix a natural number K (the choice of K will be determined later by how many terms in the asymptotic decomposition of  $e(x, x, \lambda)$  we want to obtain) and consider  $\Theta'_{K}$ , which here and below denotes the algebraic sum of K copies of  $\Theta'$ :

(1.25) 
$$\Theta'_{K} \coloneqq \sum_{1 \le i \le K} \Theta.$$

We say that  $\mathfrak{V}$  is a *quasilattice subspace* of dimension q, if  $\mathfrak{V}$  is a linear span of q linear independent vectors  $\theta_1, \ldots, \theta_q \in \Theta'_K \setminus 0$ . Obviously, the zero space is a quasilattice subspace of dimension 0 and  $\mathbb{R}^d$  is a quasilattice subspace of dimension d.

We denote by  $\mathcal{V}_q$  the collection of all quasilattice subspaces of dimension q and also  $\mathcal{V} := \bigcup_{q \ge 0} \mathcal{V}_q$ .

Consider  $\mathfrak{V}, \mathfrak{U} \in \mathcal{V}$ . We say that these subspaces are *strongly distinct*, if neither of them is a subspace of the other one. Next, let  $(\mathfrak{V}, \mathfrak{U}) \in [0, \pi/2]$  be the angle between them, i.e. the angle between  $\mathfrak{V} \ominus \mathfrak{W}$  and  $\mathfrak{U} \ominus \mathfrak{W}$ ,  $\mathfrak{W} = \mathfrak{U} \cap \mathfrak{V}$ . This angle is positive iff  $\mathfrak{V}$  and  $\mathfrak{U}$  are strongly distinct.

**Condition 1.5.** For each fixed L and K the sets  $\Theta'_{(L,\omega)}$  satisfying (1.18) and (1.19) can be chosen in such a way that for sufficiently large  $\omega$  we have

(1.26) 
$$s(\omega) = s(\Theta'_{\kappa}) := \inf_{\mathfrak{V},\mathfrak{U}\in\mathcal{V}} sin((\widehat{\mathfrak{V},\mathfrak{U}})) \ge \omega^{-1}$$

and

(1.27) 
$$r(\omega) \coloneqq \inf_{\theta \in \Theta'_{k} \setminus 0} |\theta| \ge \omega^{-1},$$

where the implied constant (i.e. how large should  $\omega$  be) depends on L and K.

Let  $\mathfrak{V}$  be the span of  $\theta_1, \ldots, \theta_q \in \Theta'_K \setminus 0$ . Then due to Condition 1.2 each element of the set  $\Theta'_K \cap \mathfrak{V}$  is a linear combination of  $\theta_1, \ldots, \theta_q$  with rational coefficients. Since the set  $\Theta'_K \cap \mathfrak{V}$  is finite, this implies that the set  $\Theta'_{\infty} \cap \mathfrak{V}$  is discrete and is, therefore, a lattice in  $\mathfrak{V}$ . We denote this lattice by  $\Gamma(\omega; \mathfrak{V})$ .

Our final condition states that this lattice cannot be too dense.

588

**Condition 1.6.** We can choose  $\Theta'_{(L;\omega)}$ , satisfying Conditions 1.3 and 1.5 in such a way that for sufficiently large  $\omega$  and for each  $\mathfrak{V} \in \mathcal{V}$ ,  $\mathfrak{V} \neq \mathbb{R}^d$ , we have

(1.28) 
$$\operatorname{vol}(\mathfrak{V}/\Gamma(\omega;\mathfrak{V})) \ge \omega^{-1}.$$

Remark 1.7. See Section 2 of [PS3] for discussion of these conditions. In particular, if  $\Theta$  is a lattice, then Conditions 1.2–1.6 are fulfilled. Further, if  $\Theta$  is a finite set and Condition 1.2 is fulfilled, then  $\Theta_{\infty} := \bigcup_{K \ge 1} \Theta_K$  is a lattice and Conditions 1.3–1.6 are fulfilled. Furthermore, the same is true, if  $\Theta$  is an arithmetic sum of a finite set and a lattice.

The main theorem of this paper is

**Theorem 1.8.** Let A be a self-adjoint operator (1.13), where  $A^0$  satisfies (1.1), (1.2), (1.4) and (1.16) and B satisfies (1.1).

Let Conditions 1.2–1.6 be fulfilled. Then for  $|\tau - \lambda| < \epsilon, \varepsilon \leq h^{\vartheta}, \vartheta > 0$ 

(1.29) 
$$e_{h,\varepsilon}(x, x, \tau) \sim \sum_{n \ge 0} \kappa_n(x, \tau; \varepsilon) h^{-d+n}$$

Corollary 1.9. In the framework of Theorem 1.8

(1.30) 
$$\mathsf{N}_{h,\varepsilon}(\tau) \sim \sum_{n\geq 0} \bar{\kappa}_n(\tau;\varepsilon) h^{-d+n}.$$

# 1.3 Plan of the Paper

Section 2 is devoted to the proof of Theorem 1.8. In Subsection 2.1 we make some general remarks, and, in particular, we prove more general albeit far less precise Theorem 2.4. Then, in Subsection 2.2 we describe a gauge transformation.

In Subsection 2.3 we consider a non-resonant zone and justify such transformation, which reduces operator microlocally to a constant symbol operator A''(hD, h). This allows us to study a propagation of singularities with respect to  $\xi$  and prove that the singularities do not propagate with respect to  $\xi^{4}$ . In Subsection 2.5 we consider a resonant zone and justify such transformation, which reduces operator microlocally to an operator

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4)</sup> For time  $T^* = h^{-M}$  with arbitrarily large M.
A''(x', hD, h), where  $x' \in \mathfrak{V}$  the corresponding resonant subspace, and prove that the singularities propagate only with respect to  $\xi'$ . Then the convexity condition implies that the singularities actually do not propagate with respect to  $\xi^{4}$ .

In Subsection 2.6 we consider propagation with respect to x and using the results of Subsections 2.3 and 2.5 we prove that the singularities "propagate away" and do not return<sup>4</sup>). The we apply Tauberian theorem with  $T = T^*$  and prove Theorem 1.8.

In Section 3 we generalize Theorem 1.8. First, in Subsection 3.1 we consider matrix operators with the simple eigenvalues of  $A^{0}(\xi)$ .

Then, in Subsection 3.2 we consider operators  $A^0(hD) + \varepsilon V(x, hD)$ where symbol  $V(x, \xi)$  decays as  $|x| \to \infty$  and hybrid operators  $A^0(hD) + \varepsilon (B(x, hD) + V(x, hD))$  with almost periodic *B* and decaying *V* and show that our methods work for them as well.

Finally, in Subsection 3.3 we discuss differentiability of our asymptotics with respect to  $\tau$ .

### 2 Proof of the Main Theorem

### 2.1 Preliminary Analysis

Remark 2.1. (i) It follows from Section 4 that the contribution of the zone  $\{\xi : |A^{0}(\xi) - \tau| \geq C_{0}\varepsilon + h^{1-\varsigma}\}$  to the remainder is negligible. Here and below  $\varsigma > 0$  is an arbitrarily small exponent. Namely, let  $Q_{j} = Q_{j}(hD)$  be operators with the symbols  $Q_{j}(\xi)$ , such that

(2.1) 
$$\operatorname{supp}(Q_1) \cap \operatorname{supp}(Q_2) \cap \Omega_{\tau} = \emptyset$$

with

(2.2) 
$$\Omega_{\tau} \coloneqq \{\xi \colon |\mathcal{A}^{0}(\xi) - \tau| \leq C_{0}\varepsilon + h^{1-\varsigma}\}$$

and satisfying

(2.3) 
$$|D^{\alpha}Q_{j}| \leq C_{\alpha}h^{-(1-\varsigma)|\alpha|} \quad \forall \alpha$$

Then

(2.4) 
$$(Q_{2x}e(x, y, \tau)^{t}Q_{1y})|_{y=x} = \kappa_{0,Q_{1},Q_{2}}h^{-d} + O(h^{\infty})$$

with

(2.5) 
$$\kappa_{0,Q_1,Q_2} = (2\pi)^{-d} \int \theta(\tau - A^0(\xi)) Q_1(\xi) Q_2(\xi) d\xi$$

with  $\theta(\tau - A^0(\xi))$  equal to either 0 or 1 on each connected component of  $\Omega_{\tau} \cap \text{supp}(Q_1) \cap \text{supp}(Q_2)$ .

Therefore we restrict ourself by the analysis in the zone  $\Omega_{\tau}$ .

(ii) To upgrade (1.8) with  $T = T_*$  (a small constant) to (1.8) with  $T = T^*$  it is sufficient to prove that

(2.6) 
$$|F_{t\to h^{-1}\tau}(\chi_{\tau}(t)(Q_{2x}u_h(x, y, t)^{t}Q_{1y})|_{y=x})| \leq C_s h^{-d+s},$$

for  $|\tau - \lambda| \leq \epsilon$ ,  $T \in [T_*, T^*]$  and  $\chi \in \mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}([-1, -\frac{1}{2}] \cup [\frac{1}{2}, 1])$ , where s is an arbitrarily large exponent.

In the very general setting for  $|t| \leq h^{-M}$  the propagation speed with respect to  $\xi$  does not exceed  $C\varepsilon$ . More precisely

**Proposition 2.2.** Let  $A = A^0 + \varepsilon B$  where  $A^0(hD)$  and B(x, hD) are matrix operators satisfying (1.1). Let  $Q_i(hD)$  be operators with symbols satisfying (2.3). Further, let  $supp(Q_i) \subset \{\xi : |\xi| \le c\}$  and

(2.7) 
$$\operatorname{dist}(\operatorname{supp}(Q_1), \operatorname{supp}(Q_2)) \ge \max(C_0 \varepsilon T, h^{1-\varsigma})$$

with  $T \leq h^{-M}$ . Then for  $|t| \leq T$ 

(2.8) 
$$\|Q_2 e^{ih^{-1}tA}Q_1\| \le C_{M,s}h^s$$

*Proof.* One can prove easily by arguments of the proof of Theorem 2.1.2, applied to operator  $\varepsilon^{-1}A = \varepsilon^{-1}A^0(hD_x) + B(x,hD)$  and  $\phi(\xi,t)$ , that the propagation speed with respect  $\xi$  does not exceed  $C_0$ ; presence of the term  $\varepsilon^{-1}A^0(hD_x)$  does not matter since it disappears in the commutator with  $\phi(hD)$ . Changing  $t \mapsto \varepsilon t$  we conclude that for operator A the propagation speed with respect to  $\xi$  does not exceed  $C_0\varepsilon$ .

We do not need compactness of the domain in the phase space with respect to x since the propagation speed with respect to x does not exceed  $C_0$  and we have such compactness implicitly. We leave easy details to the reader.

**Proposition 2.3.** In the framework of Proposition 2.2 assume that  $A^{0}(hD)$  is microhyperbolic on the energy level  $\lambda^{5}$ . Then for  $T_{*} \leq T \leq T^{*} = \min(\epsilon_{0}\varepsilon^{-1}, h^{-M})$  (2.6) holds.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5)</sup> For definition for matrix operators see Definition 2.1.1.

*Proof.* It is sufficient to prove for  $supp(Q_1)$  contained in the small vicinity of some point  $\overline{\xi}$ . Then due to Proposition 2.2  $e^{ih^{-1}tA}Q_1 \equiv Q_2 e^{ih^{-1}tA}Q_1$  modulo operators with  $O(h^{\infty})$ -norms<sup>6)</sup> and with  $Q_2$  also supported in the small vicinity of  $\overline{\xi}$  and equal 1 in the vicinity of  $supp(Q_1)$ .

Then on  $\text{supp}(Q_2)$  operator is microhyperbolic with respect to vector  $\ell$  and we can employ the proof of Theorem 2.1.2 again, this time with  $\phi(x, t) = \ell x - \epsilon_0 t$ . For further details see Chapter 4.

Then in virtue of (1.8) with  $t = T_*$  (which is also due to the microhyperbolicity condition) (1.8) also holds with  $T = T^*$  and applying Hörmander's Tauberian theorem we arrive to the remainder estimate  $Ch^{1-d}T^{*-1} = C \varepsilon h^{1-d}$ , thus proving the following theorem:

**Theorem 2.4.** Let  $A = A^0(hD) + \varepsilon B(x, hD)$  with  $A^0$  satisfying conditions (1.1), (1.2) and (1.4) and B satisfying conditions (1.1). Then

(2.9) 
$$e_h(x,x,\tau) = \sum_{0 \le n \le M} \kappa_n(x,\tau) h^{-d+n} + O(\varepsilon h^{1-d})$$

provided  $\varepsilon \geq h^M$ ,  $|\tau - \lambda| \leq \epsilon$ .

From now on we discuss only Theorem 1.8.

*Remark 2.5.* (i) It suffices to prove asymptotics

(2.10) 
$$e_h(x, x, \tau) = \sum_{0 \le n \le M} \kappa_n(x, \tau) h^{-d+n} + O(h^{-d+M})$$

with arbitrarily large fixed M. To do so we will use the hyperbolic operator method (which we implement as semiclassical Schrödinger operator method) with maximal time  $T^* = h^{-M}$ .

(ii) Then we can replace operator B by operator B', provided operator norm of B - B' from  $\mathcal{H}^m$  to  $\mathcal{L}^2$  does not exceed  $Ch^{3M}$ .

Indeed, let  $A' = A^0 + \varepsilon B'$ . Due to Remark 2.1 we need to compare only  $Q_1 e^{ih^{-1}tA'}Q_1$  and  $Q_1 e^{ih^{-1}tA}Q_1$ . Observe that due to (1.2)

$$|||e^{ih^{-1}tA}Q_1 - Q_2e^{ih^{-1}tA}Q_1|||_k \le C_{k,s}h^s$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6)</sup> By default, operator norm is from  $\mathcal{L}^2$  to  $\mathcal{L}^2$ .

with arbitrarily large k, s, where  $\|\|.\|_k$  denotes an operator norms from  $\mathscr{L}^2$  to  $\mathscr{H}^k$  provided  $\operatorname{supp}(Q_j) \subset \{\xi \colon A^0(\xi) \leq 2jc\}$  and  $Q_2 = 1$  in  $\{\xi \colon A^0(\xi) < 3c\}$ . The same is true for A' as well.

Then equality

$$e^{ih^{-1}tA'} - e^{ih^{-1}tA} = ih^{-1}\int_0^t e^{ih^{-1}(t-t')A}(A'-A)e^{ih^{-1}t'A'}dt'$$

and restriction  $|t| \leq T^*$  imply that  $||| (e^{ih^{-1}tA'} - e^{ih^{-1}tA})Q|||_k$  does not exceed  $C_{k,s}h^s + Ch^{-1-M}|||Q_2(B-B')Q_2|||_k$ .

Finally, observe that  $|||Q_2(B - B')Q_2||_k \leq C_k h^{-k-m} |||(B - B')||'_k$  where  $|||.||'_k$  denotes an operator norm from  $\mathcal{H}^m$  to  $\mathcal{L}^2$ .

(iii) Since  $N_h(\tau)$  could be defined equivalently as

(2.11) 
$$\mathsf{N}_h(\lambda) = \lim_{\ell \to \infty} (\mathsf{mes}(\ell X))^{-1} \mathsf{N}_h(\lambda, \ell X) e(x, x, \lambda) \, dx,$$

where  $N_h(\lambda, X)$  is an eigenvalue counting function for operator A in X with the Dirichlet (or Neumann-does not matter) boundary conditions on  $\partial X$ , for  $N_h(\tau)$  we can arrive to the same conclusion from the variational arguments.

(iv) First such replacement will be  $B' := B'_{(L,\omega)}$  from Condition 1.3 with  $\omega = h^{-\sigma}$ , arbitrarily small  $\sigma > 0$  and  $L = 3M/\sigma$ .

So, from now  $\Theta$  and B are effectively replaced by  $\Theta' \coloneqq \Theta'_{(L,\omega)}$  and  $B'_{(L,\omega)}$  correspondingly.

### 2.2 Gauge Transformation

Consider now the "gauge" transformation  $A \mapsto e^{-i\varepsilon h^{-1}P}Ae^{i\varepsilon h^{-1}P}$  with *h*-pseudodifferential operator *P*. Observe that

(2.12) 
$$e^{-i\varepsilon h^{-1}P}Ae^{i\varepsilon h^{-1}P} = A - i\varepsilon h^{-1}[P, A] + \sum_{2\le n\le K-1} \frac{1}{n!} (-i\varepsilon h^{-1})^n \operatorname{Ad}_P^n(A)$$
  
  $+ \int_0^1 \frac{1}{(K-1)!} (1-s)^{K-1} (-i\varepsilon h^{-1})^K e^{-i\varepsilon h^{-1}sP} \operatorname{Ad}_P^K(A) e^{i\varepsilon h^{-1}sP} ds,$ 

where  $\operatorname{Ad}_{P}^{0}(A) = A$  and  $\operatorname{Ad}_{P}^{n+1}(A) = [P, \operatorname{Ad}_{P}^{n}(A)]$  for n = 0, 1, ...

Thus formally we can compensate  $\varepsilon B$ , taking

(2.13) 
$$P = \sum_{\theta} ih \left( A^0(\xi + \theta h/2) - A^0(\xi - \theta h/2) \right)^{-1} b_{\theta}(\xi) e^{i \langle \theta, x \rangle}$$

so that

(2.14) 
$$ih^{-1}[P, A^0] = B \implies ih^{-1}[P, A] = B + i\varepsilon h^{-1}[P, B].$$

Then perturbation  $\varepsilon B$  is replaced by  $\varepsilon^2 B'$ , which is the right hand expression in (2.12) minus  $A^0$ , i.e.

(2.15) 
$$B' = -ih^{-1}[P, B] + \sum_{2 \le n \le K-1} \frac{1}{n!} \varepsilon^{n-2} (-ih^{-1})^n \operatorname{Ad}_P^n(A),$$

where we ignored the remainder.

New perturbation, again formally, has a magnitude of  $\varepsilon^2$ . Repeating this process we will make a perturbation negligible.

Remark 2.6. However, we need to address the following issues issues:

(i) Denominator  $h^{-1}(A^0(\xi + \theta h/2) - A^0(\xi - \theta h/2)) = \langle \nabla_{\xi} A^0, \theta \rangle + O(h^{1-\sigma})$  could be small.

(ii) In B' set  $\Theta'$  increases:  $\varepsilon^2 B' = \varepsilon^2 B'_2 + \varepsilon^3 B'_3 + \ldots + \varepsilon^M B'_M$ , where for  $B'_j$  the frequency set is  $\Theta'_i$  (the arithmetic sum of j copies of  $\Theta'$ ).

(iii) We need to prove that the remainder is negligible.

(iv) This transformation was used in Section 9 of [PS3] (etc); in contrast to these papers we use Weyl quantization instead of pq-quantization, and have therefore  $(A^{0}(\xi + \theta h/2) - A^{0}(\xi - \theta h/2))$  instead of  $(A^{0}(\xi + \theta h) - A^{0}(\xi))$ .

#### 2.3 Non-Resonant Zone

#### 2.4 Gauge Transformation

One can see easily that if inequality

(2.16) 
$$|\langle \nabla_{\xi} \mathcal{A}^{0}(\xi), \theta \rangle| \geq \gamma := \varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}} h^{-\delta}$$

holds for all  $\theta \in \Theta'_{K} \setminus 0$ , then the terms could be estimated by  $h^{\delta n}$  and our construction works with  $K = 3M/\delta$ . Here and below without any loss of the generality we assume that  $\varepsilon \geq h$ ; so, in fact,

Indeed, if P = P(x, hD) has the symbol, satisfying

(2.18) 
$$|D_{\xi}^{\alpha}D_{x}^{\beta}P| \leq c_{\alpha\beta}\gamma^{-1-|\alpha|} \quad \forall \alpha, \beta,$$

then  $B' = \varepsilon h^{-1}[P, B]$  has a symbol, satisfying

(2.19) 
$$|D^{\alpha}_{\xi}D^{\beta}_{x}B'| \le c'_{\alpha\beta}\varepsilon\gamma^{-2-|\alpha|} \quad \forall \alpha, \beta,$$

so indeed  $\varepsilon' = \varepsilon \gamma^{-2}$ .

Then we can eliminate a perturbation completely, save terms with the frequency 0, both old and new. The set of  $\xi$  satisfying (2.16) for all  $\theta \in \Theta'_{\mathcal{K}}$  we call *non-resonant zone* and denote by  $\mathcal{Z}$ . Thus, we arrive to

**Proposition 2.7.** Let Q = Q(hD) with the symbol supported in  $\mathcal{Z} \cap \Omega$  and satisfying (2.3)

Then there exists a pseudo-differential operator P = P(x, hD) with the symbol, satisfying (2.18) and such that

(2.20) 
$$(e^{-i\varepsilon h^{-1}P}Ae^{i\varepsilon h^{-1}P} - A'')Q \equiv 0$$

with

(2.21) 
$$A'' = A^0(hD) + \varepsilon B''_0(hD)$$

modulo operator from  $\mathcal{H}^m$  to  $\mathcal{L}^2$  with the operator norm  $O(h^{3M})$ .

Remark 2.8. (i) This proposition is similar to Lemma 9.3 of [PS3]. However, in contrast to [PS1, PS2, PS3, MPS], after it is proven we do not write asymptotic decomposition there, but simply prove that singularities do not propagate with respect to  $\xi$  there.

(ii) It is our second replacement of operator A; recall that the first one was based on Condition 1.3, and now we ignore the remainder after transformation, which is justified by Remark 2.5(i).

#### Propagation.

**Proposition 2.9.** Let  $Q_j = Q_j(hD)$  with the symbols, satisfying (2.3) and let symbol of  $Q_1$  be supported in  $\mathcal{Z} \cap \Omega$ .

Let dist(supp( $Q_1$ ), supp( $Q_2$ ))  $\geq c\gamma$ . Then

(2.22) 
$$||Q_2e^{ih^{-1}tA}Q_1|| = O(h^{2M})$$
 as  $|t| \le T^* = h^{-M}$ .

*Proof.* One can prove easily that the operator norms of  $Q_2 e^{ih^{-1}tA''}Q_1$  and  $Q_2 e^{\pm i\varepsilon h^{-1}P}Q_1$  are  $O(h^{2M})$ . We leave all easy details to the reader.

### 2.5 Resonant Zone

Consider now resonant zone

(2.23) 
$$\Lambda := \bigcup_{\theta \in \Theta'_{K} \setminus 0} \Lambda(\theta),$$

where  $\Lambda(\theta)$  is the set of  $\xi$ , violating (2.16) for given  $\theta$ :

(2.24)  $\Lambda(\theta) = \Lambda_{\delta}(\theta) := \{\xi : |\langle \nabla_{\xi} A^{0}(\xi), \theta \rangle| \geq \gamma = c \varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}} h^{-\delta} \}.$ 

**Case** d = 2. We start from the easiest case d = 2 (in the trivial case d = 1 there is no resonant zone). Observe that due to assumption (1.16) for each  $\theta$ 

(2.25) 
$$\operatorname{mes}_1(\Lambda(\theta) \cap \Sigma_{\lambda}) \leq C\gamma.$$

Further,  $\#\Theta'_{K} \leq Ch^{-\sigma}$  (as  $h \leq h_{0}(K, \sigma)$ ) due to Condition 1.5. Thus  $\mathsf{mes}_{1}(\Lambda \cap \Sigma_{\lambda}) \leq \gamma h^{-\sigma}$ . Recall, that  $\sigma > 0$  is arbitrarily small.

Since due to Proposition 2.9, the propagation which starts in the nonresonant zone  $\mathcal{Z}$  remains there<sup>7</sup> we conclude that the propagation which is started in some connected component of the resonant zone also remains there<sup>7</sup>.

Thus,  $\nabla_{\xi} A^{0}(\xi)$  does not change by more than  $\gamma h^{-\sigma}$  and since  $\sigma$  ais arbitrarily small we conclude that (2.22) also holds for  $Q_{1}$ , supported in the resonant zone. Therefore

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7)</sup> May be, with different constant c in the definition of  $\gamma$ .

(2.26) Estimate (2.22) holds for all  $Q_1$ ,  $Q_2$  satisfying (2.3) and

(2.27)  $\operatorname{dist}(\operatorname{supp}(Q_1), \operatorname{supp}(Q_2)) \geq \gamma.$ 

Remark 2.10. (i) In the proof of Theorem 1.8 we need only to have estimate (2.22) holding for all  $Q_1$ ,  $Q_2$  satisfying (2.3) and (2.27) with arbitrarily small constant  $\gamma$ .

(ii) Then for d = 2 we can replace assumption (1.16) by

(2.28)  $\varkappa(s)$  (a curvature of  $\Sigma_{\lambda}$ , naturally parametrized by s) has zeroes only of the finite order.

Indeed, then (2.25) will be replaced by  $\mathsf{mes}_1(\Lambda(\theta) \cap \Sigma_{\lambda}) \leq C\gamma^{\nu}, \nu = 1/(q+1)$  with q the maximal order of zeroes of  $\varkappa(s)$ .

**General Case: Gauge Transformation.** Consider now the general case  $d \ge 2$ . In this case due Conditions 1.2, 1.5 and 1.6 we can cover  $\Lambda \cap \Omega_{\tau}$  by  $\Lambda^*$ ,

(2.29) 
$$\Lambda \cap \Omega_{\tau} \subset \Lambda^* = \bigcup_{1 \le j \le d-1} \Lambda_j^*,$$

defined as:

(2.30) Let  $\xi \in \Omega_{\tau}$ ; then  $\xi \in \Lambda_j^*$  iff there exist  $\theta_1, \ldots, \theta_j \in \Theta'_K$  which are linearly independent and such that  $\xi \in \Lambda_{\delta_j}(\theta_k)$  for all  $k = 1, \ldots, j$ ,

where  $0 < \delta = \delta_1 < \delta_2 < ... < \delta_{d-1}$  are arbitrarily fixed and we chose sufficiently small  $\sigma > 0$  afterwards.

Further, due to Conditions 1.2, 1.5, 1.6 and (1.16)  $\Lambda_{d-1}^* \cap \Omega_{\tau}$  could be covered by no more than  $\gamma_{d-1}$ -vicinities of some points  $\xi_{\iota}, \iota = 1, ..., \omega^g$ , g = g(d). Recall that  $\Omega_{\tau} := \{\xi : |A^0(\xi) - \tau| \le C_0 \varepsilon + h^{1-\varsigma}\}$ .

Consider some connected component  $\Xi$  of  $\Lambda_j^*$ . Let some point  $\overline{\xi}$  of it belong to  $\bigcap_{1 \le k \le j} \Lambda_{\delta_j}(\theta_k) \cap \Omega_{\tau}$  with linearly independent  $\theta_1, \ldots, \theta_j$ . Observe that diam $(\bigcap_{1 \le k \le j} \Lambda_{\delta_j}(\theta_k) \cap \Omega) \le c\gamma_j$  due to strong convexity assumption (1.16). Then this set either intersects or does not intersect with  $\Lambda_{j+1}^* \cap \Omega$ . In the former case we include it to  $\Lambda_{j+1}^*$  and exclude it from  $\Lambda_j^*$ .

After we redefined  $\Lambda_i^*$  we arrive to the following proposition:

**Proposition 2.11.** Equation (2.29) still holds where now each connected component  $\equiv$  of  $\Lambda_i^*$  has the following properties:

(*i*) diam  $\Xi \leq c \gamma_j$ .

(ii) There exist linearly independent  $\theta_1, ..., \theta_j \in \Theta'_K$ , such that for each  $\xi \in \Xi$  $|\langle \nabla_{\xi} A^0(\xi), \theta \rangle| \leq c_j \gamma_j$  for all  $\theta \in \mathfrak{V} \cap (\Theta'_K \setminus 0)$  and  $|\langle \nabla_{\xi} A^0(\xi), \theta \rangle| \geq \epsilon_j \gamma_{j+1}$  for all  $\theta \in \Theta'_K \setminus \mathfrak{V}$  with  $\mathfrak{V} = \operatorname{Span}(\theta_1, ..., \theta_j)$ .

Now we generalize Proposition 2.7:

**Proposition 2.12.** Let Q = Q(hD) with the symbol supported in the connected component  $\Xi$  of  $\Lambda_j^*$ , corresponding to subspace  $\mathfrak{V}$ , and satisfying (2.3). Then there exists a pseudo-differential operator P = P(x, hD) with the symbol, satisfying (2.18) and such that

(2.31) 
$$\left( e^{-i\varepsilon h^{-1}P} A e^{i\varepsilon h^{-1}P} - A'' \right) Q \equiv 0$$

modulo operator from  $\mathcal{H}^m$  to  $\mathcal{L}^2$  with the operator norm  $O(h^{3M})$ , where  $A'' = A^0 + \varepsilon B''(x, hD)$ , where B'' is an operator with Weyl symbol

(2.32) 
$$B''(x,\xi) = \sum_{\theta \in \Theta'_K \cap \mathfrak{V}} b_{\mathfrak{V},\theta}(\xi) e^{i\langle \theta, x \rangle}.$$

*Proof.* The proof obviously generalizes the proof of Proposition 2.7. We eliminate all  $\theta \notin \mathfrak{V}$  exactly in the same way as it was done there.

#### General Case: Propagation.

**Proposition 2.13.** Let  $Q_j = Q_j(hD)$  with the symbols, satisfying (2.3) and let symbol of  $Q_1$  be supported in  $\Lambda_i^*$ .

Let dist(supp(Q\_1), supp(Q\_2))  $\geq C_0 \gamma_j$ . Then  $||Q_2 e^{ih^{-1}tA}Q_1|| = O(h^{2M})$  for  $|t| \leq T_* = h^{-M}$ .

*Proof.* In virtue of Proposition 2.9 it is sufficient to consider  $\text{supp}(Q_1)$  belonging to the connected component  $\Xi'$  of  $\Lambda_j^*$ . Indeed, the values of  $\delta_1, \ldots, \delta_{d-1}$  are arbitrarily small.

One can prove easily that the operator norm of  $Q_2 e^{\pm i\varepsilon h^{-1}P} Q_1$  are  $O(h^{2M})$ . We need to prove that the operator norm of  $Q_2 e^{\pm ih^{-1}tA''} Q_1$  is also  $O(h^{2M})$ . In the coordinates  $(x'; x'') \in \mathfrak{V} \oplus (\mathbb{R}^d \ominus \mathfrak{V})$  we observe that the propagation speed is only along  $\mathfrak{V}$  as long as it remains in  $\epsilon \gamma_j$  vicinity of  $\operatorname{supp}(Q_1)$ . The proof is similar to the proof of Proposition 2.2 and we leave it to the reader.

However propagation is confined to  $\Omega'_{\tau} := \{\xi : |A^0(\xi) - \tau| \le C\varepsilon + 2h^{1-\varsigma}\})$ and due to (1.16) it remains in that vicinity as  $\varsigma < \delta$ .

Now we arrive to the following proposition:

**Proposition 2.14.** Let  $Q_1, Q_2$  satisfy (2.3) and  $supp(Q_1) \subset \Omega$ . Then for  $T_* \leq T \leq T^*$ 

(2.33) 
$$F_{t\to h^{-1}\tau}(\chi_T(t)Q_{2x}u(x,y,t)^tQ_{1y}) = O(h^{2M}).$$

*Proof.* It is standard, due to Proposition 2.13, microhyperbolicity condition and the results of Chapter 2 of [Ivr1] we conclude that if  $|\ell| = 1$  and

(2.34) 
$$\langle \ell, \nabla_{\xi} A^{0}(\xi) \rangle \geq \epsilon_{0} \quad \forall \xi \in \operatorname{supp}(Q_{1})$$

and

(2.35) 
$$\langle \ell, x - y \rangle \leq \epsilon_1 T \quad \forall x \in \operatorname{supp}(\phi_1), y \in \operatorname{supp}(\phi_2),$$

then  $\|\phi_2 e^{ih^{-1}tA}Q_1\phi_2\| = O(h^{2M})$  for  $T \le t \le 2T$ .

This implies (2.33) provided  $\operatorname{diam}(\operatorname{supp}(Q_1)) \leq \epsilon$ . But then for (2.33) we can drop this assumption.

### 2.6 End of the Proof

Now we conclude that

(2.36) 
$$F_{t \to h^{-1}\tau} \left( \left[ \bar{\chi}_{\tau}(t) - \bar{\chi}_{\tau_*}(t) \right] Q_{2x} u(x, y, t) {}^t Q_{1y} \right) \Big|_{x=y} = O(h^{2M})$$

and since

(2.37) 
$$F_{t \to h^{-1}\tau} (\bar{\chi}_{\tau}(t) Q_{2x} u(x, y, t) {}^{t} Q_{1y}) \Big|_{x=y} = \sum_{0 \le n \le M} \kappa'_{n}(x, \varepsilon) h^{1-d+n} + O(h^{M+1})$$

holds for  $T = T_*$ , it also holds for  $T = T^*$ .

Finally, Hörmander's Tauberian theorem implies Theorem 1.8.

### 3 Generalizations and Discussion

### 3.1 Matrix Operators

Consider now  $n \times n$ -matrix operators  $A^0$  and B; then (1.2) should be understood in the matrix sense. Assume that

(3.1) Symbol  $A^0(\xi)$  has only simple eigenvalues  $a_1^0(\xi), \ldots, a_n^0(\xi)$ , which also satisfy (1.4) and (1.16).

Then there exists a unitary transformation  $R^0 = R(\xi)$ , such that  $R^{0\dagger}(\xi)A^0(\xi)R^0(\xi) = \text{diag}(a_1^0(\xi), \dots, a_n^0(\xi)).$ 

Then one can prove easily, that there exists a unitary operator  $R(x, hD) = R^0(hD) + \varepsilon R'(x, D)$ , such that  $R^*AR = \text{diag}(a_1, \dots, a_n)$ , where  $a_j = a_j(x, hD) = a_j^0(hD) + \varepsilon b_j(x, hD)$  (and we assume as before that (2.17) holds.

If Conditions 1.2–1.6 are fulfilled for A(x, hD), then they are also fulfilled for  $a_j(x, hD)$  and we can apply the same propagation arguments as before and Theorem 1.8 extends to such operators provided conditions (1.4) and (1.16) are fulfilled for  $a_j(x, hD)$  with j = 1, ..., n.

Let us replace (1.2) by more general ellipticity assumption

(3.2) 
$$|\mathbf{A}^{0}(\xi)\mathbf{v}| \geq \epsilon |\xi|^{m} |\mathbf{v}| \qquad \forall \mathbf{v} \in \mathbb{C}^{n} \; \forall \xi \colon |\xi| \geq C_{0}.$$

Then we cannot restrict  $e(x, y, \lambda)$  to x = y but we can restrict  $e(x, y, \lambda, \lambda')$ , the Schwartz kernel of the difference of the corresponding projectors.

Theorem 1.8 trivially extends to such operators, if instead of  $e(x, x, \lambda)$  we consider  $e(x, x, \lambda, \lambda')$  provided conditions (1.4) and (1.16) are fulfilled for  $a_j(x, hD)$  with j = 1, ..., n and for both  $\lambda$  and  $\lambda'$ . It also extends to

(3.3) 
$$\int e(x, y, \lambda, \lambda') \phi(\lambda') \, d\lambda', \qquad \phi \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}_{0}(\mathbb{R}),$$

provided conditions (1.4) and (1.16) are fulfilled for  $a_j(x, hD)$  with j = 1, ..., n for  $\lambda$ .

Remark 3.1. Our reduction construction fails in the case of a scalar operator  $A^0$  and a matrix operator B unless either  $\varepsilon = h^{1+\delta}$  or the principal symbol of B satisfies some very restrictive condition. Therefore for a matrix operator  $A^0$  with the eigenvalues of  $A^0(\xi)$  of constant multiplicities our construction works only under similar assumptions.

#### 3.2 Perturbations

Consider operators in question, perturbed by  $\varepsilon V(x, hD)$  where  $V(x, \xi)$  decays as  $|x| \to \infty$ . Such perturbations do not affect  $N_h(\lambda)$ , but they do affect  $e_h(x, x, \lambda)$ .

**Decaying Perturbations.** We start from the easy case

(3.4) 
$$A = A^{0}(hD) + \varepsilon V(x, hD),$$

where

$$(3.5) \qquad |D_{\xi}^{\alpha}D_{x}^{\beta}V(x,\xi)| \leq c_{\alpha\beta}(|\xi|+1)^{m}(|x|+1)^{-\delta-|\beta|} \qquad \forall \alpha, \beta \ \forall x,\xi$$

First of all, we claim that

(3.6) Under assumption (3.7) below the propagation speed with respect to  $\xi$  does not exceed  $c\varepsilon(|\mathbf{x}|+1)^{-\delta}$ .

Indeed, note first that due to Proposition 2.2 the propagation speed with respect to  $\xi$  does not exceed  $c\varepsilon$ . Next, consider domain  $\{x: |x| \simeq r\}$  with  $r \ge 1$ . Scaling  $x \mapsto x/r$ ,  $t \mapsto t/r$  we get a domain  $\{x: |x| \simeq 1\}$ ,  $h \mapsto \hbar = h/r$  and we need to prove that after this scaling the propagation speed with respect to  $\xi$  does not exceed  $\nu = c\varepsilon r^{-\delta}$ , on the time interval  $\{t: |t| \le 1\}$ .

To prove this we can apply Proposition 2.2 but ewe need to have the microlocal uncertainty principle fulfilled:  $\nu \geq \hbar^{1-\sigma}$  with  $\sigma > 0$ , where  $\nu$  is a shift with respect to  $\xi$ . This inequality is equivalent to  $\varepsilon r^{-\delta} \geq h^{1-\sigma}r^{-1+\sigma}$  i.e.  $\varepsilon r^{1-\sigma-\delta} \geq h^{1-\sigma}$  and it suffice to have

(3.7) 
$$\delta < 1, \quad \varepsilon \ge h^{1-\sigma} \quad \text{with} \quad \sigma > 0.$$

To join different time intervals one can use the technique of Subsection 12.7.6.

Consider now  $\xi$  in the vicinity of  $\overline{\xi}$  and x with  $|x| \leq c$ . Then as long as  $|\xi - \overline{\xi}| \leq \epsilon$  with small enough constant  $\epsilon > 0$ , evolution goes away from 0 with the speed  $\approx 1$ , so we are in the zone  $\{x : |x| \approx |t|\}$  and in this zone the propagation speed with respect to  $\xi$  does not exceed  $c \varepsilon r^{-1-\delta}$ , and therefore  $|\xi - \overline{\xi}| \leq c \varepsilon \int_{1}^{\infty} t^{-1-\delta} dt \leq c \varepsilon$  and this is less that  $\epsilon/2$  as  $\varepsilon \leq \epsilon_0$ .

We can also consider evolution which starts from x with  $|x| \ge 1$ . Then the same arguments work albeit with  $r \simeq |t - t^*|$  for some  $t^*$  with  $|t^*| \le c|x|$ .

Then we arrive to

**Theorem 3.2.** Consider operator (3.4) with V satisfying (3.5). Let microhyperbolicity condition (1.4) on the energy level  $\lambda$  be fulfilled and  $\varepsilon \leq \epsilon_0$ . Then the complete spectral asymptotics (1.29) holds.

**Hybrid Perturbations.** Now we consider the hybrid operators, containing both  $\varepsilon B$  and  $\varepsilon V$ . However, trying to eliminate  $\varepsilon B$  by the same approach as in Subsubsection 2.5.2, we get an another type of terms, and it is only natural to consider them being in the operator from the beginning:

(3.8) 
$$A = A^{0}(hD) + \varepsilon (B(x, hD) + V(x, hD)),$$

where

(3.9) 
$$V(x,\xi) = \sum_{\theta \in \Theta} e^{i\langle \theta, x \rangle} V_{\theta}(x,\xi),$$

(3.10) 
$$|D_{\xi}^{\alpha}D_{x}^{\beta}V(x,\xi)| \leq c_{\alpha\beta}(|\xi|+1)^{m}(|x|+1)^{-\delta} \quad \forall \alpha, \beta \ \forall x, \xi$$

We impose condition

**Condition 3.3.** For each  $\omega$  and L for the same set  $\Theta'$  as before there exists

(3.11) 
$$V'(x,\xi) = \sum_{\theta \in \Theta'} e^{i\langle \theta, x \rangle} V'_{\theta}(x,\xi),$$

such that

(3.12) 
$$\|D_x^{\alpha} D_{\xi}^{\beta} (V - V')\|_{\mathscr{L}^{\infty}} \leq \omega^{-L} (|\xi| + 1)^m$$

and

$$(3.13) \qquad |D_{x}^{\alpha}D_{\xi}^{\beta}V_{\theta}'| \leq c_{Ls\alpha\beta}(|x|+1)^{-1-\delta-|\alpha|}(|\theta|+1)^{-s}$$
$$\forall \alpha, \beta \colon |\alpha| \leq L, |\beta| \leq L \ \forall s$$

**Non-Resonant Zone.** We deal with the purely exponential terms in our standard way and with the hybrid terms as if they were purely exponential (i.e. as if  $V'_{\theta}$  were not depending on x), then a new kind of terms will be produced: they acquire factor  $h(A^0(\xi + \theta h/2) - A^0(\xi - \theta h/2))^{-1}$  and the derivative with respect to x to  $V'_{\theta}$ .

Eventually we end up with the operator of the same type (3.8) with  $B(x,\xi)$  replaced by  $B''(\xi)$  and with  $V_{\theta}(x,\xi)$  replaced by  $V''_{\theta}(x,\xi)$ , such that

$$|D_{\xi}^{\alpha}D_{x}^{\beta}V_{\theta}''(x,\xi)| \leq C_{n\alpha\beta}\varepsilon^{k+1}\gamma^{-2k-n-|\alpha|}(|x|+1)^{-n-\delta-|\beta|}$$

with  $n+k \geq 3K$ .

Then

 $|D^{\alpha}_{\xi}D^{\beta}_{x}\big[V_{\theta}''(x,\xi)e^{i\langle\theta,x\rangle}\big]| \leq C_{s\alpha\beta}\varepsilon^{k+1}\gamma^{-2k-n-|\alpha|}(|x|+1)^{-n-\delta}(|\theta|+1)^{|\beta|};$ 

recall that  $|\theta| \leq CKh^{-\sigma}$ .

Let us pick up  $\gamma = h^{\delta}$  with  $\delta = \vartheta/6K$ . Then, ignoring therms with  $k \geq K$  which are negligible, and following the proof of (3.6), we can recover the same statement for the operator after transform, and, finally, to the analogue of Proposition 2.9.

**Resonant Zone.** If d = 2 we arrive to the analogue of Proposition 2.2 in the virtue of the we arguments as in Subsubsection 2.5.1.

If  $d \geq 3$  we apply the reduction, similar to one, used in Subsubsection 2.5.3, and arrive again to operator of the type (3.8) with *B* replaced by  $B''(x,\xi')$  and with  $V_{\theta}(x,\xi)$  replaced by  $V''_{\theta}(x,\xi)$ .

Then we observe that the shift in direction  $\mathbb{R}^d \ominus \mathfrak{V}$  does not exceed  $c\varepsilon^{\delta/2}$ and if it is  $\ll \gamma^2$  we arrive to the analogue of Proposition 2.13. It is doable by the choice of really small  $\sigma_1 < \ldots < \sigma_{d-1}$ . Then we arrive to the analogue of Proposition 2.14 and, finally, to

**Theorem 3.4.** Let A be a self-adjoint operator (3.8), where  $A^0$  satisfies (1.1), (1.2), (1.4) and (1.16) and B satisfies (1.1), V satisfies (3.9) and (3.10).

Let Conditions 1.2–3.3 be fulfilled. Then for  $|\tau - \lambda| < \epsilon, \epsilon \leq h^{\vartheta}, \vartheta > 0$ asymptotics (1.29) holds.

### 3.3 Differentiability

It also follows from Corollary 1.9 that

(3.14) 
$$\frac{1}{\nu} \Big[ \mathsf{N}_{h,\varepsilon}(\tau+\nu) - \mathsf{N}_{h,\varepsilon}(\tau) \Big] = \frac{1}{\nu} \Big[ \mathcal{N}_{h,\varepsilon}(\tau+\nu) - \mathcal{N}_{h,\varepsilon}(\tau) \Big] + O(h^{\infty})$$

provided  $\nu \geq h^M$ , where  $\mathcal{N}_{h,\varepsilon}(\tau)$  is the right-hand expression of (1.30).

The question remains, if (3.14) holds for smaller  $\nu$ , in particular, if it holds in  $\nu \to 0$  limit? If the latter holds, then

(3.15) 
$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \tau} \mathsf{N}_{h,\varepsilon}(\tau) = \frac{\partial}{\partial \tau} \mathcal{N}_{h,\varepsilon}(\tau) + O(h^{\infty})$$

and we call the left-hand expression the *density of states*.

It definitely is not necessarily true, at least in dimension 1. From now on we consider only asymptotics with respect to  $\tau \to +\infty$ . Let  $A = \Delta + V(x)$ with periodic V. It is well-known that for d = 1 and generic periodic V all spectral gaps are open which contradicts to

(3.16) 
$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \tau} \mathsf{N}(\tau) = \frac{\partial}{\partial \tau} \mathcal{N}(\tau) + \mathcal{O}(\tau^{-\infty}).$$

On the other hand, this objection does not work in case  $d \ge 2$  since only several the lowest spectral gaps are open (Bethe-Sommerfeld conjecture, proven in [PS]).

Assume for simplicity, that  $A = \Delta + V$  has no negative eigenvalues; then we can apply wave operator method<sup>8</sup>). We consider u(x, y, t), the Schwartz kernel of  $\cos(\sqrt{A}t)$ ,

(3.17) 
$$u(x, y, t) = \int \cos(t\tau) d_{\tau} e(x, y, \tau^2).$$

Then, for compactly supported  $V^{(9)}$ 

(3.18) 
$$u(x, y, t) = \begin{cases} O(e^{-\epsilon|t|}) & \text{for odd } d, \\ O(|t|^{-d}) & \text{for even } d \end{cases}$$

as  $|\mathbf{x}| + |\mathbf{y}| \leq c$ ,  $|t| \to +\infty$  and  $\frac{\partial}{\partial \tau} e(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}, \tau^2)$  could be completely restored by inverse **cos**-Fourier transform, without any Tauberian theorem, and we arrive to asymptotics of  $\frac{\partial}{\partial \tau} e(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}, \tau^2)$ . Moreover, we can differentiate complete asymptotics of the *Birman-Krein spectral shift function* 

(3.19) 
$$\xi(\tau) \coloneqq \int \left( e(x, x, \tau^2) - e^0(x, x, \tau^2) \right) dx \sim \sum_{n \ge 0} \overline{\kappa}_n \tau^{-d+n}$$

with

(3.20) 
$$\bar{\kappa}_n := \int (\kappa_n(x) - \kappa_n^0) \, dx$$

where  $e^0(x, y, \tau)$  and  $\kappa_n^0$  correspond to  $A^0 = \Delta$ . In the case of  $A = \Delta$  in the exterior of smooth, compact and non-trapping obstacle and  $A^0 = \Delta$  in  $\mathbb{R}^d$  such asymptotics was derived in [PP].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8)</sup> It could be applied without this assumption, but with tweaking.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9)</sup> It, probably could be proven for V, decaying fast enough at infinity

### Bibliography

- [DG] J. J. Duistermaat, V. W. Guillemin. The spectrum of positive elliptic operators and periodic bicharacteristics. Invent. Math., 29(1):39–79 (1975).
- [HeMo] B. Helffer, A. Mohamed, Asymptotics of the density of states for the Schrödinger operator with periodic electric potential, Duke Math. J. 92:1–60 (1998).
- [Ivr1] V. Ivrii, Microlocal Analysis, Sharp Spectral, Asymptotics and Applications.
- [Ivr2] V. Ivrii. 100 years of Weyl's law, Bull. Math. Sci., 6(3):379–452 (2016).
- [Moh] A. Mohamed, Asymptotic of the density of states for the Schrödinger operator with periodic electromagnetic potential, J. Math. Phys. 38(8):4023–4051 (1997).
- [MPS] S. Morozov, L. Parnovski, R. Shterenberg. Complete asymptotic expansion of the integrated density of states of multidimensional almostperiodic pseudo-differential operators Ann. Henri Poincaré 15(2):263– 312 (2014).
- [PS1] L. Parnovski, R. Shterenberg. Asymptotic expansion of the integrated density of states of a two-dimensional periodic Schroedinger operator, Invent. Math., 176(2):275–323 (2009).
- [PS2] L. Parnovski, R. Shterenberg. Complete asymptotic expansion of the integrated density of states of multidimensional almost-periodic Schrödinger operators, Ann. of Math., Second Series, 176(2):1039–1096 (2012).
- [PS3] L. Parnovski, R. Shterenberg. Complete asymptotic expansion of the spectral function of multidimensional almost-periodic Schrödinger operators, Duke Math. J. 165(3) 509–561 (2016).
- [PS] L. Parnovski, A. V. Sobolev. Bethe-Sommerfeld conjecture for periodic operators with strong perturbations, Invent. Math., 181:467–540 (2010).

#### 606 COMPLETE ASYMPTOTICS FOR PERIODIC OPERATORS

- [PP] V. Petkov, G. Popov. Asymptotic behaviour of the scattering phase for non-trapping obstacles. Ann. Inst. Fourier, 32:114–149 (1982).
- [SS] D. Schenk, M. A. Shubin. Asymptotic expansion of the density of states and the spectral function of the Hill operator. Mat. Sborn., 12(4):474– 491 (1985).
- [So1] A. V. Sobolev. Asymptotics of the integrated density of states for periodic elliptic pseudo-differential operators in dimension one. Rev. Mat. Iberoam. 22(1):55–92 (2006).
- [So2] A. V. Sobolev. Integrated density of states for the periodic schrödinger operator in dimension two. Ann. Henri Poincaré. 6:31–84 (2005).



# Complete Differentiable Semiclassical Spectral Asymptotics $^{*,\dagger}$

### Victor Ivrii<sup>‡</sup>

#### Abstract

For an operator  $A := A_h = A^0(hD) + V(x, hD)$  with a "potential" V decaying as  $|x| \to \infty$  we establish under certain assumptions the complete and differentiable with respect to  $\tau$  asymptotics of  $e_h(x, x, \tau)$  where  $e_h(x, y, \tau)$  is the Schwartz kernel of the spectral projector.

### 1 Introduction

Consider a self-adjoint matrix operator

(1.1) 
$$A := A_h = A^0(hD) + V(x, hD),$$

where

(1.2) 
$$|D_{\xi}^{\beta}A^{0}(\xi)| \leq c_{\alpha\beta}(|\xi|+1)^{m} \quad \forall \beta \ \forall \xi$$

and

(1.3) 
$$A^0(\xi) \ge c_0 |\xi|^m - C_0 \qquad \forall \xi.$$

We assume that  $A^0(\xi)$  is  $\xi$ -microhyperbolic at energy level  $\lambda$ , i.e. for each  $\xi$  there exists a direction  $\ell(\xi)$  such that  $|\ell(\xi)| \leq 1$  and

(1.4) 
$$(\langle \ell(\xi), \nabla_{\xi} \rangle A^{0}(\xi) \nu, \nu) + |(A^{0}(\xi) - \lambda)\nu| \ge \epsilon_{0}|\nu|^{2} \quad \forall \nu.$$

Further, we assume that  $V(x, \xi)$  is a real-valued function, satisfying

(1.5) 
$$|D_{\xi}^{\alpha}D_{x}^{\beta}V(x,\xi)| \leq c_{\alpha\beta}(|\xi|+1)^{m}(|x|+1)^{-\delta-|\beta|} \quad \forall \alpha, \beta \; \forall x, \xi$$

\*2010 Mathematics Subject Classification: 35P20.

 $^{\dagger}Key\ words\ and\ phrases:$  Microlocal Analysis, differentiable complete spectral asymptotics.

 $^{\ddagger}{\rm This}$  research was supported in part by National Science and Engineering Research Council (Canada) Discovery Grant RGPIN 13827

V. Ivrii, Microlocal Analysis, Sharp Spectral Asymptotics and Applications V, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-30561-1\_35 and

(1.6) 
$$|D_{\xi}^{\alpha}D_{x}^{\beta}V(x,\xi)| \leq \varepsilon \quad \forall \alpha, \beta \colon |\alpha| + |\beta| \leq 1 \; \forall x, \xi.$$

Our main theorem is

**Theorem 1.1.** Let conditions (1.2)–(1.4) and (1.6) with sufficiently small constant  $\varepsilon > 0$  be fulfilled. Then

(i) The complete spectral asymptotics holds for  $\tau: |\tau - \lambda| \leq \epsilon$ :

(1.7) 
$$e_h(x, x, \tau) \sim \sum_{n \ge 0} \kappa_n(x, \tau) h^{-d+r}$$

where  $e_h(x, y, \tau)$  is the Schwartz kernel of the spectral projector  $\theta(\tau - A_h)$  of  $A_h$ .

(ii) This asymptotics is infinitely differentiable with respect to  $\tau$ .

*Remark 1.2.* (i) Statement (i) was sketched under much more restrictive assumptions in Theorem 3.2 of [Ivr3]; however we provide here more detailed exposition.

(ii) In Theorem 2.8 we provide the dependence of the remainder on |x|.

(iii) This asymptotics is also infinitely differentiable with respect to x but it is really easy.

Differentiability and completeness of the spectral asymptotics are really different. F.e. for operators with almost periodic with respect to x perturbation V(x, hD) the spectral asymptotics are complete (see [Ivr3] and references there) but in dimension 1 it is not necessarily differentiable even once due to spectral gaps. Furthermore, if we perturb an operator we study in this paper by an appropriate "negligible" operator (i. e. with  $O(h^{\infty})$ norm), the absolutely continuous spectrum on the segment  $[\lambda_{-}, \lambda_{+}]$  with  $\lambda_{\mp} = \lambda + O(h^{\infty})$  will be replaced by an eigenvalue of the infinite multiplicity and then the spectral asymptotics will complete albeit non-differentiable even once.

To establish spectral asymptotics we apply the "hyperbolic operator method"; namely, let us consider the Schwartz kernel of the propagator  $e^{ih^{-1}tA_h}$ :

(1.8) 
$$u \coloneqq u_h(x, y, t) = \int e^{ih^{-1}t\tau} d_{\tau} e_h(x, y, \tau).$$

Then under ellipticity and microhyperbolicity conditions (1.3) and (1.4)

(1.9) 
$$F_{t\to h^{-1}\tau}\bar{\chi}_{\tau}(t)u_h(x,x,t)\sim \sum_{n\geq 0}\kappa'_n(x,\tau)h^{1-d+n},$$

where here and below  $\chi \in \mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}([-1, -\frac{1}{2}] \cup [\frac{1}{2}, 1]), \ \bar{\chi} \in \mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}([-1, 1]), \ \bar{\chi}(t) = 1$ on  $[-\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}], \ \chi_T(t) = \chi(t/T)$  etc,  $\kappa'_n(x, \tau) = \partial_\tau \kappa_n(x, \tau)$ , and  $T = T_* > 0$  is a small constant here.

Then, due to Tauberian theorem we arrive to the spectral asymptotics with the remainder estimate  $O(h^{1-d})$ . Next, under different assumptions one, using propagation of singularities technique, can prove that

(1.10) 
$$|F_{t\to h^{-1}\tau}\chi_T(t)u_h(x,x,t)| = O(h^\infty)$$

for all  $T \in [T_*, T^*]$ . Then (1.9) holds with  $T = T^*$  and again, due to Tauberian theorem, we arrive to the spectral asymptotics with the remainder estimate  $O(T^{*-1}h^{1-d})$  (provided  $T^* = O(h^{-\kappa})$ ). In particular, if (1.10) holds provided  $T^* = h^{-\infty}$ , we arrive to complete spectral asymptotics. This happens f.e. in the framework of [Ivr3].

However we do not have Tauberian theorems for the derivatives (with respect to  $\tau$ ) and we need to use an inverse Fourier transform and its derivatives

(1.11) 
$$\partial_{\tau}^{n} e_{h}(x, x, \tau) = (2\pi h)^{-1} \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-ih^{-1}\tau t} (-ih^{-1}t)^{n-1} u_{h}(x, x, t) dt$$

for  $n \geq 1$ . If we insert a factor  $\bar{\chi}_{\tau}(t)$  into integral, we will get exactly *n*-th derivative of the right-hand expression of (1.7). However we need to estimate the remainder

(1.12) 
$$(2\pi h)^{-1} \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-ih^{-1}\tau t} (-ih^{-1}t)^{n-1} (1-\bar{\chi}_{\tau}(t)) u_h(x,x,t) dt$$

and to do this we need to properly estimate the left-hand expression of (1.10) for all  $T \ge T_*$  (rather than for  $T \in [T_*, T^*]$ ).

To achieve this we will use a more subtle propagation technique and prove that for  $T \ge T_*(R)$  the left-hand expression of (1.10) is  $O((h/T)^{\infty})$ , provided  $|x| \le R$ .

### 2 Proofs

### 2.1 Preliminary Remarks

Observe that, due to assumptions (1.6) and (1.5) a propagation speed with respect to  $\xi$  does not exceed min $(\varepsilon, C(|x|+1)^{-1-\delta})$  and one can prove easily, that for for a generalized Hamiltonian trajectory<sup>1</sup>  $(x(t), \xi(t))$  on energy level  $\tau \leq c$ 

(2.1) 
$$\Sigma_{\tau} \coloneqq \{ (x, \xi) \colon \operatorname{Ker}(A(x, \xi) - \tau) \neq \{ 0 \} \}$$

with  $A(x,\xi) = A^0(\xi) + V(x,\xi)$  we have  $|\xi(t) - \xi(0)| \le \varepsilon'$  for all t with  $\varepsilon' = \varepsilon'(\varepsilon) \to 0$  as  $\varepsilon \to 0$  and therefore

(2.2) Let conditions (1.2)–(1.4), (1.5) and (1.6) with  $\varepsilon = \varepsilon(\varepsilon') > 0$  with arbitrarily small  $\varepsilon'$  be fulfilled. Then for a generalized Hamiltonian trajectory  $(x(t), \xi(t))$  on  $\Sigma_{\tau}$ 

(2.3) 
$$|\xi(t) - \xi(0)| \le \varepsilon' \text{ and } |x(t) - x(0)| \ge \epsilon_2 |t| \quad \forall t \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Then we conclude immediately that inequality

$$(2.4) |F_{t\to h^{-1}\tau}\chi_T(t)u_h(x,x,t)| \le C'_s(T)h^s$$

holds for arbitrarily constant T > 0.

Combining with (1.9) for small constant T we conclude that

(2.5) Let conditions (1.2)–(1.4), (1.5) and (1.6) with sufficiently small constant  $\varepsilon > 0$  be fulfilled. Then asymptotic decomposition (1.9) holds with an arbitrarily large constant T.

### 2.2 Propagation and Local Energy Decay

First we have the finite speed with respect to x propagation:

**Proposition 2.1.** For  $\tau \leq c$  the following estimate holds

(2.6) 
$$|F_{t \to h^{-1}\tau} \Big( \chi_T(t) u(x, y, t) \Big) | \leq C'_s h^s R^{-s}$$
  
 $\forall x, y \colon |x - y| \geq C_0 T, |x| + |y| \asymp R.$ 

<sup>1</sup> For a definition of the generalized Hamiltonian trajectory see Definition 2.2.8 of [Ivr1].

*Proof.* In the zone  $\{x : |x| \simeq R\}$  we can apply scaling  $x \mapsto xR^{-1}$ ,  $t \mapsto tR^{-1}$ ,  $h \mapsto hR^{-1}$  and apply the standard theory of Chapter 2 of [Ivr1]. The rest is trivial.

Next, we consider  $R \leq \epsilon_1 T$  and apply energy estimate method to prove the local energy decay. Observe that one can select smooth  $\ell(\xi)$  in condition (1.4). Consider operator  $L^0(x, hF)$  with Weyl symbol  $-\langle x, \ell(\xi) \rangle$ and  $L(x, hD; t) = L^0 + \varepsilon t$ .

Then

(2.7) 
$$2h^{-1}\operatorname{Re} i((hD_t - A)v, Lv)_{\Omega_T} =$$
  
 $(Lv, v)\Big|_{t=0}^{t=T} - \operatorname{Re} ih^{-1}([hD_t - A, L]v, v)_{\Omega_T} =$   
 $(Lv, v)\Big|_{t=0}^{t=T} - \varepsilon ||v||_{\Omega_T}^2 + \operatorname{Re}(ih^{-1}[A, L]v, v)_{\Omega_T},$ 

where  $\|.\|_{\Omega}$  and  $(.,.)_{\Omega}$  are a norm and an inner product in  $\mathscr{L}^{2}(\Omega)$  with  $\Omega = \Omega_{T} = \mathbb{R}^{d} \times [0, T] \ni (x, t)$ . Indeed, writing the left-hand expression as

$$ih^{-1}[((hD_t - A)v, Lv)_{\Omega_T} - (L, (hD_t - A)v)_{\Omega_T}] = ih^{-1}[(L(hD_t - A)v, v)_{\Omega_T} - ((hD_t - A)L, v)_{\Omega_T}] + (Lv, v)|_{t=0}^{t=7}$$

because  $L^* = L$ , we arrive to (2.7).

In virtue of (1.5) and (1.6) for sufficiently small constant  $\varepsilon$  and for  $h \leq h_0(\varepsilon_1)$  the operator norm of  $h^{-1}[V, L]$  from  $\mathscr{H}^m(\mathbb{R}^d)$  to  $\mathscr{L}^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  does not exceed  $\varepsilon_1$  with  $\varepsilon_1 = \varepsilon_1(\varepsilon) \to 0$  as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ , and then due to the microhyperbolicity assumption we conclude that

(2.8) 
$$\operatorname{Re}(ih^{-1}[A, L]v, v) \ge (\epsilon_0 - 2\varepsilon_1) \|v\|^2 - C \|(A - \tau)v\|^2$$

for both  $\mathbb{R}^d$  and  $\Omega_T$ .

Let us plug into (2.7)  $\mathbf{v} = \varphi_{\varepsilon}(\mathbf{A} - \tau)e^{ihtA}\mathbf{w}$  where  $\varphi \in \mathscr{C}_{0}^{\infty}([-1, 1])$ ,  $0 \le \varphi \le 1$ ; then for sufficiently small constant  $\varepsilon > 0$  we arrive to

(2.9) 
$$\epsilon \|\mathbf{v}\|_{\Omega_T}^2 + (L\mathbf{v}, \mathbf{v})\Big|_{t=T} \leq (L\mathbf{v}, \mathbf{v})\Big|_{t=0}.$$

On the other hand,

(2.10) 
$$\operatorname{\mathsf{Re}}(L\nu,\nu)|_{t=\mathcal{T}} \ge \varepsilon T \|\nu\|^2 - C \||x|^{\frac{1}{2}}\nu\|^2$$

with

$$||x|^{\frac{1}{2}}v||^{2} = ||x|^{\frac{1}{2}}v||_{B(0,R)}^{2} + ||x|^{\frac{1}{2}}v||_{B(0,R')\setminus B(0,R)}^{2} + ||x|^{\frac{1}{2}}v||_{\mathbb{R}^{d}\setminus B(0,R')}^{2}$$

with  $R'=\,C_0\,T$  and therefore for  $R\leq \varepsilon\,T$ 

(2.11) 
$$\operatorname{Re}(Lv, v)|_{t=T} \ge \varepsilon T ||v||^2 - CR' ||v||^2_{B(0,R')\setminus B(0,R)} - ||x|^{\frac{1}{2}} v||^2_{\mathbb{R}^d\setminus B(0,R')}.$$

Observe that

$$(Lv, v)|_{t=0} \leq C \left( ||v_0||^2 + |||x|^{\frac{1}{2}} v_0||^2 \right)$$

and then (2.9) and (2.10) imply that if  $R \leq \varepsilon T$  then

(2.12) 
$$\|v\|_{B(0,r)}^2 \le \sigma \|v_0\|^2 + CT^{-1} \Big( \||x|^{\frac{1}{2}}v\|_{\mathbb{R}^d \setminus B(0,R')}^2 + \|v_0\|^2 + \||x|^{\frac{1}{2}}v_0\|^2 \Big)$$

with  $\sigma < 1$  and  $v|_0 = v|_{t=0}$ ; recall that  $||v|| = ||v_0||$ .

Recall that  $\mathbf{v} = e^{ih^{-1}tA}\varphi_{\varepsilon}(A-\tau)\psi_{R}(\mathbf{x})\mathbf{w}$  where we plugged  $\psi_{R}\mathbf{w}$  instead of  $\mathbf{w}, \psi \in \mathscr{C}_{0}^{\infty}(B(0,1)), \ 0 \leq \psi \leq 1$  and  $\psi = 1$  in  $B(0, \frac{1}{2})$ .

One can prove easily that  $Q = \varphi_{\varepsilon}(A - \tau)$  is an operator with Weyl symbol  $Q(x, \xi)$ , satisfying

$$|D^lpha_\xi D^eta_x Q| \leq C_{lphaeta} arepsilon^{-|lpha|-|eta|} (|x|+1)^{-|eta|}.$$

Then  $\|v_0\|_{\mathbb{R}^d \setminus B(0,2R)} \leq C(h/R)^s \|w\|$  and therefore  $\||x|^{\frac{1}{2}}v_0\|^2 \leq 2R\|w\|^2$ . Further, then Proposition 2.1 implies that  $\||x|^{\frac{1}{2}}v\|_{\mathbb{R}^d \setminus B(0,R')}^2 \leq C(h/T)^s \|w\|$  provided or  $R' \geq C_0 T$  with sufficiently large  $C_0$  and we arrive to

Proposition 2.2. In the framework of Theorem 1.1

(2.13) 
$$\|\psi_{\mathsf{R}}e^{ih^{-1}\mathsf{T}\mathsf{A}}\varphi_{\varepsilon}(\mathsf{A}-\lambda)\psi_{\mathsf{R}}\|<1$$

provided  $\varepsilon T \ge R \ge 1$ .

While this statement looks weak, it will lead to much stronger one:

**Proposition 2.3.** In the framework of Theorem 1.1

(2.14) 
$$\|\psi_{R}e^{ih^{-1}TA}\varphi_{\varepsilon}(A-\lambda)\psi_{R}\| \leq C_{s}R^{s}T^{-s}$$

provided  $T \ge C_0 R$ ,  $R \ge 1$ .

*Proof.* We want to prove by induction that

(2.15) 
$$\|\psi_R e^{inh^{-1}TA}\varphi_{\varepsilon}(A-\lambda)\psi_R\| \le C\nu^N + C_s nR^s T^{-s}$$

with  $\nu < 1$ .

Assuming that for n we have (2.15), we apply the previous arguments on the interval [nt, (n + 1)T] to  $v = e^{ih^{-1}tA}\varphi_{\varepsilon}(A - \lambda)\psi_{R/2}e^{ih^{-1}nTA}\psi_{R}w$  and derive an estimate

(2.16) 
$$\|\psi_{R}e^{ih^{-1}tA}\varphi_{\varepsilon}(A-\lambda)\psi_{R/2}e^{ih^{-1}nTA}\psi_{R}w\| \leq \nu\|\varphi_{\varepsilon}(A-\lambda)\psi_{R}e^{ih^{-1}nTA}\psi_{R}w\| + C'_{K}(h/R)^{K}\|w\|$$

with  $\nu < 1$ .

To make a step of induction we weed to estimate the norm of

(2.17) 
$$\psi_{R}e^{ih^{-1}tA}\varphi_{\varepsilon}(A-\lambda)(1-\psi_{R/2})e^{ih^{-1}nTA}\psi_{R}w = \psi_{R}e^{ih^{-1}tA}\varphi_{\varepsilon}(A-\lambda)(1-\psi_{R/2})Q^{+}e^{ih^{-1}nTA}\psi_{R} + \psi_{R}e^{ih^{-1}tA}\varphi_{\varepsilon}(A-\lambda)(1-\psi_{R/2})Q^{-}e^{ih^{-1}nTA}\psi_{R},$$

with  $Q^{\pm} = Q^{\pm}(x, hD), Q^{+} + Q^{-} = I$  to be selected to ensure that

(2.18) Generalized Hamiltonian trajectories on  $\Sigma_{\tau}$ , starting as t = 0 from  $\operatorname{supp}(Q^{\pm}) \cap \operatorname{supp}(1 - \psi_{R/2})$  in the positive (negative) time direction, remain in the zone  $\{|x| \ge \epsilon_1 R + \epsilon_2 |t|\}$ .

Then we show that

(2.19) 
$$\|\psi_R e^{ih^{-1}tA}\varphi_{\varepsilon}(A-\lambda)(1-\psi_{R/2})Q^+\| \leq C_s(h/R)^s$$

and

(2.20) 
$$\|\varphi_{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{A}-\boldsymbol{\lambda})(1-\psi_{R/2})\boldsymbol{Q}^{-}\boldsymbol{e}^{ih^{-1}nT\boldsymbol{A}}\psi_{R}\| \leq C_{s}(h/R)^{s}.$$

To achieve that consider  $A^0(\xi)$  and for each  $\xi$  in the narrow vicinity  $\mathcal{W}$  of  $\Sigma_{\tau}$  let  $\mathcal{K}^+(\xi) \subset \mathbb{R}^d_{\times} \times \mathbb{\bar{R}}^+$  be a forward propagation cone and  $\mathcal{K}^-(\xi) = -\mathcal{K}^+(\xi)$  be a backward propagation cone. Let

(2.21) 
$$\Omega^{\pm} = \{ (\mathbf{x}, \xi) \colon \mathbf{x} \notin \pi_{\mathbf{x}} K^{\pm}(\xi) \}$$

where  $\pi_x$  is *x*-projection.

Then  $\Omega^{\pm}$  are open sets and since  $\pi_{x}K^{+}(\xi) \cap \pi_{x}K^{-}(\xi) = \{0\}$  we conclude that  $\Omega^{+} \cup \Omega^{-} \supset \mathbb{S}^{d-1} \times \mathcal{W}$ . We can then find smooth positively homogeneous of degree 0 with respect to x symbols  $q^{\pm}(x,\xi)$  supported in  $\Omega^{\pm}$  such that  $q^{+} + q^{-} = 1$  on  $\mathbb{S}^{d-1} \times \mathcal{W}$ . Let  $q^{0} = 1 - (q^{+} + q^{-})$ ; then  $(A^{0} - \tau)$  is elliptic on  $\mathrm{supp}(q^{0})$ .

Finally, let  $Q^{\pm}$  and  $Q^{0}$  be operators with the symbols  $q^{\pm}(x,\xi)\phi_{R}(x)$ and  $q^{0}(x|,\xi)\phi_{R}(x)$  correspondingly, where  $\phi \in \mathscr{C}_{0}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{d} \setminus 0)$ , equal 1 as  $c^{-1} \leq |x| \leq c$  with large enough constant c. Then

(2.22) 
$$Q^{+} + Q^{-} + Q^{0} = \phi_{R}(x),$$

where (2.18) holds and  $(A - \tau)$  is elliptic on the support of the symbol of  $Q^{0}$ .

Then Proposition 2.4 below implies that for  $R \leq \varepsilon T$  with sufficiently small constant  $\varepsilon$  both (2.19) and (2.20) hold. On the other hand, ellipticity of  $(A - \tau)$  on  $\text{supp}(Q^0)$  implies that

(2.23) 
$$\|\varphi_{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{A}-\boldsymbol{\lambda})(1-\psi_{R/2})Q^{0}\| \leq C_{s}(h/R)^{s}.$$

Then we can make an induction step by n and to prove (2.15). After this, let us replace in (2.15) R and T by r and t. Next, for given R, T such that  $R \leq \varepsilon^3 T$  let us plug into (2.15)  $n = (T/R)^{\frac{1}{3}}$ ,  $t = T^{\frac{2}{3}}R^{\frac{1}{3}} = T/n$  and  $r = T^{\frac{1}{3}}R^{\frac{2}{3}} = nR$  (obviously  $r \leq \varepsilon t$ ). We arrive to (2.14) with a different but still arbitrarily large exponent s.

As mentioned, we need the following proposition:

**Proposition 2.4.** Let conditions of Theorem 1.1 be fulfilled. Let  $\bar{\mathbf{x}} \in \mathbb{R}^d \setminus \mathbf{0}$ ,  $\bar{\xi} \in \mathcal{W}$  and assume that  $\mathbf{0} \notin \bar{\mathbf{x}} + \pi_{\mathbf{x}} K^{\mp}(\xi)$ . Let  $\mathcal{K}^{\mp}$  be a conical  $\eta$ -vicinity of  $K^{\mp}(\xi)$  and  $\mathcal{V}$  be  $\eta R$ -vicinity of  $\bar{\mathbf{x}}$ ,  $R = |\mathbf{x}|$ . Then

(2.24) 
$$\|Q'e^{\pm ih^{-1}TA}Q\| \leq C_s(h/R)^s$$

provided Q = Q(x, hD) and Q' = Q'(x, hD) are operators with the symbols satisfying

$$(2.25) |D_{\varepsilon}^{\alpha} D_{x}^{\beta} Q| \le c_{\alpha\beta} r^{-|\beta|}$$

with r = T + R and r = R respectively,  $R \ge R(\eta)$  and support of symbol of Q does not intersect with  $\mathcal{V} + \mathcal{K}^{\mp}|_{t=T}$ , symbol of Q' is supported in the sufficiently small vicinity of  $(\bar{x}, \bar{\xi})$ .

*Proof.* Considering propagation in the zone  $\{x : |x| \simeq r\}$ , we see that the propagation speed with respect to  $\xi$  does not exceed  $Cr^{-1-\delta}$ . To prove this we scale  $x \mapsto xr^{-1}$ ,  $t \mapsto tr^{-1}$ ,  $h \mapsto \hbar = hr^{-1}$  and apply the standard energy method (see Chapter 2 of [Ivr1]). We leave the easy details to the reader.

Therefore for time  $t \simeq r$  variation of  $\xi$  does not exceed  $Cr^{-\delta}$ . Then, the propagation speed with respect to  $\langle x, \ell(\bar{\xi}) \rangle$  (which increases) is of magnitude 1 (as long as  $\xi$  remains in the small vicinity of  $\bar{\xi}$ ). Again, to prove it we scale and apply the energy method (see Chapter 2 of [Ivr1]).

But then the contribution of the time interval  $t \simeq r$  to the variation of  $\xi$  does not exceed  $Cr^{-\delta}$  and therefore the variation of  $\xi$  for a time interval [0, T] with  $T \ge 0$  does not exceed  $CR^{-\delta} \le \eta$  for  $R \ge R(\eta)$ .

Proposition 2.5. In the framework of Theorem 1.1

(2.26) 
$$\|\psi_{R}e^{ih^{-1}TA}\varphi_{\varepsilon}(A-\lambda)\psi_{R}\| \leq C_{s}h^{s},$$

provided  $T \ge C_0 R$ ,  $R \ge 1$ .

*Proof.* It follows immediately from Proposition 2.4 with the semiclassical parameter  $hr^{-1}$  and with r set to its minimal value along the cone of propagation, which is 1.

Combining Propositions 2.3 and 2.5 we arrive to

Corollary 2.6. In the framework of Theorem 1.1

(2.27) 
$$\|\psi_R e^{ih^{-1}TA}\varphi_{\varepsilon}(A-\lambda)\psi_R\| \le C_s h^s R^s T^{-s}$$

provided  $T \ge C_0 R$ ,  $R \ge 1$ .

### 2.3 Traces and the End of the Proof

**Proposition 2.7.** In the framework of Theorem 1.1 the following estimates hold for  $T \ge 1$ 

(2.28) 
$$|F_{t\to\tau}\chi_{\tau}(t)u(x,x,t)| \leq C_s h^s (|x|+1)^{s+1} ((|x|+1)+T)^{-s},$$

(2.29) 
$$|F_{t\to\tau}\chi_T(t)\int\psi_R(x)u(x,x,t)\,dx|\leq C_sh^sT^{-s},$$

provided  $\psi \in \mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}(B(0,1))$ . Further,

(2.30) 
$$|F_{t\to\tau}\chi_T(t)\int\psi_R(x)u(x,x,t)\,dx|\leq C_sh^sR^{-s}T^{-s},$$

provided  $\psi \in \mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}(B(0,1) \setminus B(0,\frac{1}{2}))$ .

*Proof.* Estimate (2.28) follows immediately from (2.26). Estimate (2.30)follows from (2.26) and

$$|F_{t\to\tau}\chi_T(t)\int\psi_R(x)u(x,x,t)\,dx|\leq C_sh^sR^{-s}T,$$

which holds because we can chose the time direction on the partition element (see Chapter 4 of [Ivr1]) and we chose the one in which  $|x| \gtrsim R$  (which is possible; see the part of proof of Proposition 2.3 dealing with  $Q^{\pm}$  and  $Q^{0}$ ).  $\square$ 

Finally, estimate (2.29) follows from (2.30).

Then we immediately arrive to the following theorem, which in turn implies Theorem 1.1:

**Theorem 2.8.** In the framework of Theorem 1.1 the following estimates hold

(2.31) 
$$|\partial_{\tau}^{k} \Big( e(x, x, \tau) - \sum_{n \leq N-1} \kappa_{n}(x, \tau) h^{-d+n} \Big) | \leq C_{N} h^{-d+N} (|x|+1)^{-N} + C_{s} h^{s} (|x|+1)^{k}$$

and for 
$$\psi \in \mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}(B(0,1))$$
  
(2.32)  $|\partial_{\tau}^k \int \left( e(x,x,\tau) - \sum_{n \leq N-1} \kappa_n(x,\tau) h^{-d+n} \right) \psi_R(x) dx | \leq C_N h^{-d+N}.$ 

#### $\mathbf{2.4}$ Discussion

Corollary 2.9. Let conditions of Theorem 1.1 be fulfilled. Assume that

(2.33) 
$$|D_x^{\alpha}V| \leq c_{\alpha}(|\xi|+1)^m (|x|+1)^{-d-|\alpha|-\delta}$$

Then the asymptotics of the Birman-Schwinger spectral shift function

(2.34) 
$$\mathsf{N}_h(\tau) \coloneqq \int \left( e_h(x, x, \tau) - e_h^0(x, x, \tau) \right) dx \sim \sum_{n \ge 0} \varkappa h^{-d+n}$$

is infinitely differentiable with respect to  $\tau$ . Here  $e_h^0(x, x, \tau) = \kappa_0^0 h^{-d}$  and  $e_h^0(x, y, \tau)$  is the Schwartz kernel of spectral projector for  $A^0(hD)$ , and

(2.35) 
$$\varkappa_n(\tau) = \int \left(\kappa_n(x,\tau) - \delta_{n0}\kappa^0\right) dx.$$

Indeed, condition (2.33) guarantees the absolute convergence of integrals in (2.35).

Remark 2.10. Our results could be easily generalized to non-semi-bounded elliptic  $A^0$  (like in Subsection 3.1 of [Ivr3]). Then instead of  $e(x, y, \lambda)$  one needs to consider  $e(x, y, \lambda, \lambda')$  the Schwartz kernel of  $\theta(\lambda - A) - \theta(\lambda' - A)$  and <u>either</u> impose conditions for both  $\lambda$  and  $\lambda'$ , <u>or</u> only for  $\lambda$  and mollify with respect to  $\lambda'$ .

It looks strange that the last term in the remainder estimate (2.31) increases as |x| increases, but so far I can neither improve it to the uniform with respect to x in the general case, nor show by the counter-example that such improvement is impossible. However I hope to prove

**Conjecture 2.11.** Assume in addition that  $A^0$  is a scalar operator and  $\Sigma^0_{\lambda} = \{\xi : A^0(\xi) = \lambda\}$  is a strongly convex surface *i.e.* 

(2.36) 
$$\pm \sum_{j,k} A^{0}_{\xi_{j}\xi_{k}}(\xi)\eta_{j}\eta_{k} \geq \epsilon |\eta|^{2} \qquad \forall \xi \in \Sigma^{0}_{\lambda} \quad \forall \eta \colon \sum_{j} A^{0}_{\xi_{j}}(\xi)\eta_{j} = 0,$$

where the sign depends on the connected component of  $\Sigma_{\lambda}$ , containing  $\xi$ .

Then the last term in the right-hand expression of (2.31) could be replaced by  $C_s h^s(|x|+1)^{k-d}$ .

Rationale here is that only few Hamiltonian trajectories from x with  $|x|=R\gg 1$  pass close to the origin and even they do not spend much time there.

### Bibliography

[DG] J. J. Duistermaat, V. W. Guillemin. The spectrum of positive elliptic operators and periodic bicharacteristics. Invent. Math., 29(1):39–79 (1975).

- [Ivr1] V. Ivrii, Microlocal Analysis, Sharp Spectral, Asymptotics and Applications.
- [Ivr2] V. Ivrii. 100 years of Weyl's law, Bull. Math. Sci., 6(3):379–452 (2016).
- [Ivr3] V. Ivrii. Complete semiclassical spectral asymptotics for periodic and almost periodic perturbations of constant operators, arXiv:1808.01619 and in this book, 24pp.
- [PP] V. Petkov, G. Popov. Asymptotic behavior of the scattering phase for non-trapping obstacles. Ann. Inst. Fourier, 32:114–149 (1982).



### Be the-Sommerfeld Conjecture in Semiclassical Settings $^{*,\dagger}$

### Victor Ivrii<sup>‡</sup>

#### Abstract

Under certain assumptions (including  $d\geq 2)$  we prove that the spectrum of a scalar operator in  $\mathcal{L}^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ 

 $A_{\varepsilon}(x, hD) = A^{0}(hD) + \varepsilon B(x, hD),$ 

covers interval  $(\tau - \epsilon, \tau + \epsilon)$ , where  $A^0$  is an elliptic operator and B(x, hD) is a periodic perturbation,  $\varepsilon = O(h^{\varkappa}), \varkappa > 0$ . Further, we consider generalizations.

## 1 Introduction

### 1.1 Preliminary Remarks

This work is inspired by a paper [PS3] by L. Parnovski and A. Sobolev, in which a classical Bethe-Sommerfeld conjecture was proven for operators  $(-\Delta)^m + B(x, D)$  with operator B of order < 2m. In this paper the crucial role was played by a (pseudodifferential) gauge transformation and thorough analysis of the resonant set, both introduced in the papers of L. Parnovski and R. Shterenberg [PSh1, PSh2, PSh3], S. Morozov, L. Parnovski and R. Shterenberg [MPS] and earlier papers by A. Sobolev [So2, So2], devoted to complete asymptotics of the integrated density of states.

Later in [Ivr3] I used the gauge same transformation in the semiclassical settings, which allowed me to generalize the results and simplify the proofs

<sup>\*2010</sup> Mathematics Subject Classification: 35P20.

 $<sup>^{\</sup>dagger}Key$  words and phrases: Microlocal Analysis, sharp spectral asymptotics, integrated density of states, periodic operators, Bethe-Sommerfeld conjecture.

 $<sup>^{\</sup>ddagger}{\rm This}$  research was supported in part by National Science and Engineering Research Council (Canada) Discovery Grant RGPIN 13827

of those papers<sup>1)</sup>. Now I would like to apply this gauge transform to Bethe-Sommerfeld conjecture in the semiclassical settings. The results obtained are more general (except the smoothness with respect to  $\xi$  assumptions in [PS3] are more general than here) and the proofs are simpler.

Consider a scalar self-adjoint *h*-pseudo-differential operator  $A_h := A(x, hD)$ in  $\mathbb{R}^d$  with the Weyl symbol  $A(x, \xi)$ , such that<sup>2)</sup>

(1.1) 
$$|D_x^{\alpha} D_{\xi}^{\beta} A(x,\xi)| \leq c_{\alpha\beta} (|\xi|+1)^m \quad \forall \alpha, \beta$$

and

(1.2) 
$$A(x,\xi) \ge c_0 |\xi|^m - C_0 \qquad \forall (x,\xi) \in \mathbb{R}^{2d}.$$

Then  $A_h$  is semibounded from below. Also we assume that it is  $\Gamma$ -periodic with the *lattice of periods*  $\Gamma$ :

(1.3) 
$$A(x+y,\xi) = A(x,\xi) \quad \forall x \in \mathbb{R}^n \quad \forall y \in \Gamma.$$

We assume that  $\Gamma$  is non-degenerate<sup>3)</sup> and denote by  $\Gamma^*$  the *dual lattice*:

(1.4) 
$$\gamma \in \Gamma^* \iff \langle \gamma, \mathbf{y} \rangle \in 2\pi \mathbb{Z} \quad \forall \mathbf{y} \in \Gamma_{\mathbf{y}}^*$$

since we use  $\Gamma^*$  and it's elements in the paper much more often, than  $\Gamma$  and it's elements, it is more convenient for us to reserve notation  $\gamma$  for elements of  $\Gamma^*$ .

Also let  $\mathcal{O} = \mathbb{R}^d / \Gamma$  and  $\mathcal{O}^* = \mathbb{R}^d / \Gamma^*$  be fundamental domains; we identify them with domains in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ .

It is well-known that Spec(A) has a *band-structure*. Namely, consider in  $\mathcal{L}^2(\mathcal{O})$  operator  $A_h(\xi) = A(x, hD)$  with the *quasi-periodic boundary* condition:

(1.5) 
$$u(x + y) = e^{i\langle y, \xi \rangle} u(x) \quad \forall x \in \mathcal{O} \quad \forall y \in \Gamma$$

with  $\xi \in \mathcal{O}^*$ ; it is called a *quasimomentum*. Then  $\text{Spec}(A_h(\xi))$  is discrete

(1.6) 
$$\operatorname{Spec}(A_h(\xi)) = \bigcup_n \lambda_{n,h}(\xi)$$

 $^{1)}$  The other components of the proof were not only completely different, but in the framework of the different paradigm.

<sup>2)</sup> In fact, we consider  $A_h := A(x, hD, h)$ .

<sup>3)</sup> I.e. with the  $\Gamma = \{y = n_1y_1 + \ldots + n_dy_d, (n_1, \ldots, n_d) \in \mathbb{Z}^d\}$  with linearly independent  $y_1, \ldots, y_d \in \mathbb{R}^d$ .

and depends on  $\xi$  continuously. Further,

(1.7) 
$$\operatorname{Spec}(A_h) = \bigcup_{\xi \in \mathcal{O}^*} \operatorname{Spec}(A_h(\xi)) =: \bigcup_n \Lambda_{n,h},$$

with the spectral bands  $\Lambda_{n,h} := \bigcup_{\xi \in \mathcal{O}^*} \{\lambda_{n,h}(\xi)\}.$ 

One can prove that the with of the spectral band near energy level  $\tau$  is O(h). Spectral bands could overlap but they also could leave uncovered intervals, called *spectral gaps*. It follows from [Ivr3] that in our assumptions (see below) the width of the spectral gaps near energy level  $\tau$  is  $O(h^{\infty})$ . Bethe-Sommerfeld conjecture in the semiclassical settings claims that there are no spectral gaps near energy level  $\tau$  (in the corresponding assumptions, which include  $d \geq 2$ ).

### **1.2** Main Theorem (Statement)

We assume that

(1.8) 
$$A_h \coloneqq A(x, hD) = A^0(hD) + \varepsilon B(x, hD),$$

where  $A^{0}(\xi)$  satisfies (1.1), (1.2) and  $B(x, \xi)$  satisfies (1.1) and (1.3) and  $\varepsilon > 0$  is a small parameter. For  $A^{0}(\xi)$  instead of  $\lambda_{n}(\xi)$  we have

(1.9) 
$$\lambda_{\gamma}^{0}(\xi) \coloneqq A^{0}(h(\gamma + \xi)) \quad \text{with } \gamma \in \Gamma^{*}.$$

Recall that (as in [Ivr3])

(1.10) 
$$B(x,\xi) = \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma} b_{\gamma}(\xi) e^{i \langle \gamma, x \rangle}$$

with  $\Theta = \Gamma^*$  where due to (1.1)

(1.11) 
$$|D_{\xi}^{\beta}b_{\gamma}(\xi)| \leq C_{L\beta}(|\gamma|+1)^{-L}(|\xi|+1)^{m} \quad \forall \beta \quad \forall (x,\xi) \in \mathbb{R}^{2d}$$

with an arbitrarily large exponent L.

**Theorem 1.1.** Let  $d \ge 2$  and let operator  $A_h$  be given by (1.8) with  $\varepsilon = O(h^\vartheta)$  with arbitrary  $\varkappa > 0$  and with  $A_h^0 = A^0(hD)$  satisfying (1.1), (1.2) and  $B(x,\xi)$  satisfying (1.1) and (1.3).

j

0.

Further, assume that the microhyperbolicity and strong convexity conditions on the energy level  $\tau$  are fulfilled:

(1.12) 
$$|\mathcal{A}^{0}(\xi) - \tau| + |\nabla_{\xi} \mathcal{A}^{0}(\xi)| \ge \epsilon_{0}$$

and

(1.13) 
$$\pm \sum_{j,k} A^0_{\xi_j \xi_k}(\xi) \eta_j \eta_k \ge \epsilon_0 |\eta|^2$$
$$\forall \xi \colon A^0(\xi) = \tau \quad \forall \eta \colon \sum A^0_{\xi_j}(\xi) \eta_j =$$

Furthermore, assume that there exists  $\xi \in \Sigma_{\tau}$  such that for every  $\eta \in \Sigma_{\tau}$ ,  $\eta \neq \xi$ , such that  $\nabla_{\eta} A^{0}(\eta)$  is parallel to  $\nabla_{\xi} A^{0}(\xi)^{(4)}$ 

(1.14)  $\Sigma_{\tau}$ , intersected with some vicinity of  $\eta$  and shifted by  $(\xi - \eta)$ , coincides in the vicinity of  $\xi$  with  $\{\zeta : \zeta_k = g(\zeta_k)\}$  and  $\Sigma_{\tau}$  coincides in the vicinity of  $\xi$ with  $\{\zeta : \zeta_k = f(\zeta_k)\}^{(5)}$  and  $\nabla^{\alpha}(f - g)(0) \neq 0$  for some  $\alpha : |\alpha| = 2^{6}$ .

Then  $\operatorname{Spec}(A_h) \supset [\tau - \epsilon, \tau + \epsilon]$  for sufficiently small  $\epsilon > 0$ .

Remark 1.2. (i) If  $\Sigma_{\tau}$  is strongly convex and connected then for every  $\xi \in \Sigma_{\tau}$  there exists exactly one antipodal point  $\eta \in \Sigma_{\tau}$ ; then  $\nu < 0$  and assumption (1.14) is fulfilled. In particular, if  $A^{0}(\xi) = |\xi|^{m}$ , then  $\eta = -\xi$  and  $\nu = -1$ .

(ii) If  $\Sigma_{\tau}$  is is strongly convex and consists of p connected components, then the set  $\mathfrak{Z}(\xi) = \{\eta \in \Sigma_{\tau}, \eta \neq \xi \colon \nabla_{\eta} A^{0}(\eta) \parallel \nabla_{\xi} A^{0}(\xi)\}$  contains exactly 2p - 1elements, and for p of them  $\nu < 0$  and assumption (1.14) is fulfilled for sure, while for (p-1) of them  $\nu > 0$ .

### 1.3 Idea of the Proof and the Plan of the Paper

One needs to understand, how gaps could appear, why they appear if d = 1and why it is not the case if  $d \ge 2$ . Observe that  $\lambda_n(\xi)$  can be identified with some  $\lambda_{\gamma}^0(\xi)$  only locally, if  $\lambda_{\gamma}^0(\xi)$  is sufficiently different from  $\lambda_{\gamma'}^0(\xi)$  for any  $\gamma' \ne \gamma$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4)</sup> I.e.  $\eta A^{0}(\eta) = \nu \nabla_{\xi} A^{0}(\xi)$  with  $\nu \neq 0$ ; we call  $\eta$  antipodal point.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5)</sup> With  $\zeta_{\hat{k}}$  meaning all coordinates except  $\zeta_k$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6)</sup> Obviously  $\nabla(f - g)(0) = 0$ . One can prove easily, that if this condition holds at  $\xi$  with some  $\alpha : |\alpha| > 2$ , then changing slightly  $\xi$ , we make it fulfilled with  $|\alpha| = 2$ .

Indeed, in the basis of eigenfunctions of  $A^0_{\xi}(hD)^{(7)}$  perturbation  $\varepsilon B(x, hD)$  can contain out-of-diagonal elements  $\varepsilon b_{\gamma-\gamma'}(\xi)$  and such identification is possible only if  $|\lambda^0_{\gamma}(\xi) - \lambda^0_{\gamma'}(\xi)|$  is larger than the size of such element.

If d = 1,  $A^{0}(\xi) = \xi^{2}$  and  $\varepsilon \leq \epsilon' h$  with sufficiently small  $\epsilon' > 0$  and  $\tau \approx 1$ , it can happen only if  $\gamma'$  coincides with  $-\gamma$  or with one of two adjacent points in  $\Gamma^{*}$  and  $|\xi - \frac{1}{2}(\gamma + \gamma')| = O(\varepsilon h^{\infty})$ . This exclude from possible values of either  $\lambda_{\gamma}^{0}(\xi)$  or  $\lambda_{\gamma'}^{0}(\xi)$  the interval of the width  $O(\varepsilon h^{\infty})$  and on such interval can happen (and really happens for a generic perturbation) the realignment:



Figure 1: Spectral gap is a gray interval

If  $d \geq 2$  the picture becomes more complicated: there are much more opportunities for  $\lambda_{\gamma}^{0}(\xi)$  and  $\lambda_{\gamma'}^{0}(\xi)$  to become close, even if  $\gamma$  and  $\gamma'$  are not that far away; on the other hand, there is a much more opportunities for us to select  $\xi = h(\gamma + \xi) \in \Sigma_{\tau}$  and then to adjust  $\xi$  so that  $\xi = h(\gamma + \xi)$ remains on  $\Sigma_{\tau}$  but  $\eta = h(\gamma' + \xi)$  moves away from  $\Sigma_{\tau}$  sufficiently far away<sup>8</sup>) and then tune-up  $\xi$  once again so that  $\tau \in \text{Spec}(A_h(\xi))$ .

In fact, we prove the following statement which together with Theorem 1.1 (which follows from it trivially) are semiclassical analogue of Theorem 2.1 of [PS3]:

**Theorem 1.3.** In the framework of Theorem 1.1 there exist  $\mathbf{n}$  and  $\xi^*$  such that  $\lambda_n(\xi^*) = \tau$  and  $\lambda_n(\xi)$  covers interval  $[\tau - \upsilon \mathbf{h}, \tau + \upsilon \mathbf{h}]$  when  $\xi$  runs ball  $\mathsf{B}(\xi^*, \upsilon)$  while  $|\lambda_m(\xi) - \tau| \ge \epsilon \upsilon \mathbf{h}$  for all  $m \ne \mathbf{n}$  and  $\xi \in \mathsf{B}(\xi^*, \upsilon)$ . Here

(1.15) 
$$\upsilon = \epsilon \begin{cases} h^{(d-1)^2} \min(1, \varepsilon^{-3(d-1)/2} h^{(d-1)+\sigma}) & d \ge 3\\ h \min(|\log h|^{-1}, \varepsilon^{-3/2} h^{\sigma}) & d = 2 \end{cases}$$

<sup>7)</sup> Consisting of  $\exp(i\langle x, \gamma + \xi \rangle)$ .

<sup>8)</sup> This will happen if either  $\nabla_{\eta} A^{0}(\eta)$  differs from  $\nu \nabla_{\xi} A^{0}(\xi)$ , or if coincides with it but (1.14) is fulfilled.

with arbitrarily small exponent  $\sigma > 0$ .

Proof of Theorem 1.3 occupies two next sections. In Section 2 we reduce operator in the vicinity of  $\Sigma_{\tau}$  to the block-diagonal form and study its structure. To do this we need to examine the structure of the resonant set of the operator. In Section 3 we prove Theorem 1.3 and thus Theorem 1.1.

Finally, in Section 4 we discuss our results and the possible improvements.

### 2 Reduction of Operator

### 2.1 Reduction

On this step we reduce A to the block-diagonal form in the vicinity of  $\Sigma_{\tau}$ 

(2.1) 
$$\Omega_{\tau} \coloneqq \{\xi \colon |A^{0}(\xi) - \tau| \leq C \varepsilon h^{-\delta} \}.$$

In what follows, we assume that  $\varepsilon \geq h$ , i.e.

(2.2) 
$$h \le \varepsilon \le h^{\vartheta}, \qquad \vartheta > 0.$$

To do this we need just to repeat with the obvious modifications definitions and arguments of Sections 1 and 2 of [Ivr3]. Namely, now  $\Theta := \Gamma^*$  is a non-degenerate lattice rather than the pseudo-lattice, as it was in that paper, and all conditions 1.2, 1.3, 1.5, 1.6, and 3.3, are fulfilled with  $\Theta' := \Theta \cap B(0, \omega)$  with  $\omega = h^{-\varkappa}$  where we select sufficiently small  $\varkappa > 0$  later and  $\Theta'_{\kappa} = \Theta \cap B(0, \kappa\omega)$  be an arithmetic sum of K copies of  $\Theta'$  with sufficiently large K to be chosen later.

We call point  $\xi$  non-resonant if

(2.3) 
$$|\langle \nabla_{\xi} \mathcal{A}^{0}(\xi), \theta \rangle| \ge \rho \qquad \forall \theta \in \Theta_{\mathcal{K}}^{\prime} \setminus \mathbf{0}$$

with  $\rho \in [\varepsilon^{1/2} h^{-\delta}, h^{\delta}]$  with arbitrarily small  $\delta > 0$ . Otherwise we call it *resonant*. More precisely

(2.4) 
$$\Lambda := \bigcup_{\theta \in \Theta'_{K} \setminus 0} \Lambda(\theta),$$

where  $\Lambda(\theta)$  is the set of  $\xi$ , violating (2.3) for given  $\theta \in \Theta'_{\mathcal{K}} \setminus 0$ .

It obviously follows from the microhyperbolicity and strong convexity assumptions (1.12) and (1.13) that

(2.5)  $\mu_{\tau}$ -measure<sup>9)</sup> of  $\Lambda \cap \Sigma_{\tau}$ , does not exceed  $C_0 r^{d-1} \rho$  and Euclidean measure of  $\Lambda \cap \{\xi : |A^0(\xi) - \tau| \leq \varsigma\}$  does not exceed  $C_0 r^{d-1} \rho \varsigma$ , where  $r = K h^{-\varkappa}$ .

Indeed, (d-1)-dimensional measure of  $\{x : |x| = 1, |\langle x, \theta \rangle| \le \rho\}$  does not exceed  $C_0 |\theta|^{-1} \rho$  and and due to microhyperbolicity and strong convexity assumptions maps  $\Sigma_{\tau} \to \nabla A^0(\xi) / |\nabla A^0(\xi)| \in \mathbb{S}^{d-1}$  and

$$\{\xi \colon |A^{0}(\xi) - \tau| \leq \varsigma\} \to (\nabla A^{0}(\xi) / |\nabla A^{0}(\xi)|, A^{0}(\xi)) \in \mathbb{R}^{d}$$

are diffeomorphisms.

Furthermore, according to Proposition 2.7 of [Ivr3] that on the non-resonant set one can "almost" diagonalize A(x, hD). More precisely

**Proposition 2.1.** Let assumptions (1.12) and (1.13) be fulfilled.

(i) Then there exists a periodic pseudodifferential operator P = P(x, hD) such that

(2.6) 
$$(e^{-i\varepsilon h^{-1}P}Ae^{i\varepsilon h^{-1}P} - A)Q \equiv 0$$

with

(2.7) 
$$\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{A}^{0}(hD) + \varepsilon \mathcal{B}'(hD) + \varepsilon \mathcal{B}''(x, hD)$$

modulo operator from  $\mathcal{H}^m$  to  $\mathcal{L}^2$  with the operator norm  $O(h^M)$  with M arbitrarily large and  $K = K(M, d, \delta)$  in the definition of non-resonant point provided Q = Q(hD) has a symbol, supported in  $\{\xi : |A^0(\xi) - \tau| \leq 2\varepsilon h^{-\delta}\}$ .

Here P(x, hD), B'(hD) and B''(x, hD) are operator with Weyl symbols of the same form (1.10) albeit such that

(2.8) 
$$|D^{\alpha}_{\xi}D^{\beta}_{x}P| \leq c_{\alpha\beta}\rho^{-1-|\alpha|} \quad \forall \alpha, \beta,$$

(2.9) 
$$|D_{\xi}^{\alpha}D_{x}^{\beta}B''| \leq c_{\alpha\beta}'\rho^{-|\alpha|} \quad \forall \alpha, \beta,$$

and symbol of B' also satisfies (2.9).

(ii) Further,

(2.10) 
$$\xi \notin \Lambda(\theta) \implies b''_{\theta}(\xi) = 0.$$

and  $B'(\xi)$  coincides with  $b_0(\xi)$  modulo  $O(\varepsilon \rho^{-2})$ .

<sup>9)</sup>  $\mu_{\tau} = d\xi : dA^0(\xi)$  is a natural measure on  $\Sigma_{\tau}$ .
In what follows

(2.11) 
$$\mathcal{A}^{0}(hD) := \mathcal{A}^{0}(hD) + \varepsilon \mathcal{B}'(hD)$$
 and  $\mathcal{B} := \mathcal{B}''(x, hD)$ 

Remark 2.2. (i) Eigenvalues of  $\mathcal{A}^0$  are

(2.12) 
$$\lambda_{\gamma}(\xi) = \mathcal{A}^{0}(h(\gamma + \xi)).$$

(ii) If  $\xi = h(\gamma + \xi)$  is non-resonant, then due to (2.10) in  $\epsilon' \rho$ -vicinity of  $\xi$  this  $\lambda_{\gamma}(\xi)$  is also an eigenvalue of  $\mathcal{A}$ .

(iii) Without any loss of the generality one can assume that

(2.13) 
$$|\theta| \ge \varepsilon h^{-\delta} \implies b_{\theta}'' = 0.$$

We assume that this is the case.

(iv) Let us replace operator  $\mathcal{A}$  defined by (2.7) by operator

(2.14) 
$$\mathcal{A}' = \mathcal{A}^0(hD) + \varepsilon \mathcal{B}'(x, hD), \qquad \mathcal{B}'(x, hD) = T(hD)\mathcal{B}T(hD)$$

with T(hD) operator with symbol  $T(\xi)$  which is a characteristic function of  $\Omega_{\tau}$  defined by (2.1) with C = 6. Then (2.6) holds.

From now on  $\mathcal{A} \coloneqq \mathcal{A}'$  and  $\mathcal{B} \coloneqq \mathcal{B}'$ .

It would be sufficient to prove Theorem 1.3 for operator  $\mathcal{A}$ . Indeed,

**Proposition 2.3.** (i) For each point  $\lambda \in \text{Spec}(A(\xi)) \cap \{|\lambda - \tau| \leq \varepsilon h^{-\delta}\}$ dist $(\lambda, \text{Spec}(A(\xi)) \leq Ch^{M}$ .

(*ii*) Conversely, for each point  $\lambda \in \text{Spec}(\mathcal{A}(\xi)) \cap \{|\lambda - \tau| \leq \varepsilon h^{-\delta}\}$ dist $(\lambda, \text{Spec}(\mathcal{A}(\xi)) \leq Ch^{M}$ .

(iii) Furthermore, if  $\lambda \in \text{Spec}(A(\xi)) \cap \{|\lambda - \tau| \leq \varepsilon h^{-\delta}\}$  is a simple eigenvalue separated from the rest of  $\text{Spec}(A(\xi))$  by a distance at least  $2h^{M-1}$ , then there exists  $\lambda' \in \text{Spec}(A(\xi)) \cap \{|\lambda' - \lambda| \leq Ch^M\}$  separated from the rest of  $\text{Spec}(A(\xi))$  by a distance at least  $h^{M-1}$ .

(iv) Conversely, if  $\lambda' \in \text{Spec}(\mathcal{A}(\xi)) \cap \{|\lambda - \tau| \leq \varepsilon h^{-\delta}\}\$  is a simple eigenvalue separated from the rest of  $\text{Spec}(\mathcal{A}(\xi))\$  by a distance at least  $2h^{M-1}$ , then there exists  $\lambda \in \text{Spec}(\mathcal{A}(\xi)) \cap \{|\lambda' - \lambda| \leq Ch^M\}\$  separated from the rest of  $\text{Spec}(\mathcal{A}(\xi))\$  by a distance at least  $h^{M-1}$ .

*Proof.* Trivial proof is left to the reader.

Remark 2.4. One can generalize Statements (iii) and (iv) of Proposition 2.3 from simple eigenvalues to subsets of  $\text{Spec}(\mathcal{A}(\xi))$  and  $\text{Spec}(\mathcal{A}(\xi))$  separated by the rest of the spectra; these subsets will contain the same number of elements.

### 2.2 Classification of Resonant Points

We start from the case d = 2. Then we have only one kind of resonant points  $\Xi_1 = \Lambda$ . If  $d \ge 3$  then there are (d - 1) kinds of resonant points. First, following [PS3] consider *lattice spaces*  $\mathfrak{V}$  spanned by *n* linearly independent elements  $\theta_1, \ldots, \theta_n \in \Gamma^* \cap B(0, r)$ , where we take  $r = Kh^{-\varkappa}$ . Let  $\mathcal{V}_n$  be the set of all such spaces.

It is known [PS3] that

**Proposition 2.5.** For  $\mathfrak{V} \in \mathcal{V}_n$ ,  $\mathfrak{W} \in \mathcal{V}_m$  either  $\mathfrak{V} \subset \mathfrak{W}$ , or  $\mathfrak{W} \subset \mathfrak{V}$  or the angle<sup>10</sup> between  $\mathfrak{V}$  and  $\mathfrak{W}$  is at least  $\epsilon r^{-L}$  with L = L(d) and  $\epsilon = \epsilon(d, \Gamma)$ .

Fix  $0 < \delta_1 < ... < \delta_n$  arbitrarily small and for  $\mathfrak{V} \in \mathcal{V}_n$  let us introduce

(2.15) 
$$\Lambda(\mathfrak{V},\rho_n) \coloneqq \{\xi \in \Omega_\tau \colon |\langle \nabla_\xi A^0(\xi),\theta\rangle| \le \rho_n |\theta| \ \forall \theta \in \mathfrak{V}\}$$

with  $\rho_n = \varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}} h^{-\delta_n}$ .

We define  $\Xi_n$  by induction. First,  $\Xi_d = \emptyset$ . Assume that we defined  $\Xi_d, \ldots, \Xi_{n+1}$ . Then we define

(2.16) 
$$\Xi_n \coloneqq \bigcup_{\mathfrak{V} \in \mathcal{V}_n, \xi \in \Lambda(\mathfrak{V}) \cap \Omega_\tau} (\xi + \mathfrak{V}) \cap \Omega_\tau.$$

It follows from Proposition 2.5 that

**Proposition 2.6.** Let  $\varkappa > 0$  in the definition of  $\Theta'$  and  $\delta > 0$  in the definition of  $\Omega_{\tau}$  be sufficiently small<sup>11</sup>. Then for sufficiently small h

(*i*) 
$$\Xi_n \subset \bigcup_{\mathfrak{V} \in \mathcal{V}} \Lambda(\mathfrak{V}, 2\rho_n).$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10)</sup> This angle  $(\mathfrak{V}, \mathfrak{W})$  is defined as the smallest possible angle between two vectors  $v \in \mathfrak{V} \ominus (\mathfrak{V} \cap \mathfrak{W})$  and  $w \in \mathfrak{W} \ominus (\mathfrak{V} \cap \mathfrak{W})$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11)</sup> They depend on  $\vartheta$  and  $\delta_1, \ldots, \delta_n$ .

(ii) If  $\xi \notin \Xi_{n+1}$  and  $\xi \in \xi' + \mathfrak{V}$ ,  $\xi \in \xi'' + \mathfrak{W}$  for  $\xi' \in \Lambda(\mathfrak{V})$ ,  $\xi'' \in \Lambda(\mathfrak{W})$  with  $\mathfrak{V}, \mathfrak{W} \in \mathcal{V}_n$ , then  $\mathfrak{V} = \mathfrak{W}$ .

**Corollary 2.7.** Let  $\varkappa > 0$  in the definition of  $\Theta'$  and  $\delta > 0$  in the definition of  $\Omega_{\tau}$  be sufficiently small<sup>11</sup>. Let h be sufficiently small.

Then for each  $\xi \in \Xi_n \setminus \Xi_{n+1}$  is defined just one  $\mathfrak{V} = \mathfrak{V}(\xi)$  such that  $\xi \in \xi' + \mathfrak{V}$  for some  $\xi' \in \Lambda(\mathfrak{V})$ .

(2.17) We slightly change definition of  $\Xi_n$ :  $\xi = h(\gamma + \xi) \in \Xi_{n,\text{new}}$  iff  $h\gamma \in \Xi_n$ . From now on  $\Xi_n := \Xi_{n,\text{new}}$ .

Consider  $\xi', \xi'' \in \Xi_n \setminus \Xi_{n+1}$ . We say that  $\xi' \cong \xi''$  if there exists  $\xi \in \mathfrak{V}$ ,  $\mathfrak{V} \in \mathcal{V}$  such that  $\xi', \xi'' \in \xi + \mathfrak{V}$  and if  $\xi' - \xi'' \in \Gamma$ . In virtue of above

(2.18) This relation is reflexive, symmetric and transitive.

For  $\xi \in \Xi_n$  we define

(2.19)  $\mathfrak{X}(\xi) = \{\xi' \colon \xi' \cong \xi\}.$ 

Then

(2.20)  $\operatorname{diam}(\mathfrak{X}(\xi)) \leq C\rho_{d-1}.$ 

# 2.3 Structure of Operator A

For  $\xi \in \Xi_n \setminus \Xi_{n+1}$  denote by  $\mathfrak{H}(\xi)$  the subspace  $\mathscr{L}^2(\mathcal{O})$  consisting of functions of the form

(2.21) 
$$\sum_{\xi'\in\mathfrak{X}(\xi)}c_{\xi'}e^{i\langle x,\xi'\rangle}.$$

In virtue of the properties of  $\mathcal{A}$  and  $\mathcal{B}$  and of resonant sets we arrive to

**Proposition 2.8.** Let  $\varkappa > 0$  in the definition of  $\Theta'$  and  $\delta > 0$  in the definition of  $\Omega_{\tau}$  be sufficiently small<sup>11</sup>. Let h be sufficiently small. Then for  $\xi \in \Xi_n \setminus \Xi_{n+1}$  operators  $\mathcal{B}$  and  $\mathcal{A}$  transform  $\mathfrak{H}(\xi)$  into  $\mathfrak{H}(\xi)$ .

Let us denote by  $\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}(\xi)$  and  $\mathcal{B}_{\gamma}(\xi)$  restrictions of  $\mathcal{A}$  and  $\mathcal{B}$  to  $\mathfrak{H}(\eta + \xi)$ . Here for n = 0 we consider  $\Xi_0$  to be the set of all non-resonant points and  $\mathfrak{X}(\xi) = \{\xi\}$  for  $\xi \in \Xi_0$ .

Then due to Propositions 2.5 and 2.8 we arrive to

**Proposition 2.9.** (i) For each point  $\lambda \in \text{Spec}(A(\xi)) \cap \{|\lambda - \tau| \leq \varepsilon h^{-\delta}\}$ exists  $\gamma \in \Gamma^*$  such that  $\xi = h(\gamma + \xi) \in \Omega_{\tau}$  and  $\text{dist}(\lambda, \text{Spec}(\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}(\xi)) \leq Ch^{M}$ .

(*ii*) Conversely, for each point  $\lambda \in \text{Spec}(\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}(\xi)) \cap \{|\lambda - \tau| \leq \varepsilon h^{-\delta}\}$ and  $\xi = h(\xi + \gamma)$ , dist $(\lambda, \text{Spec}(\mathcal{A}(\xi)) \leq Ch^{M}$ .

(iii) Further, if  $\lambda \in \text{Spec}(A_{\gamma}(\xi)) \cap \{|\lambda - \tau| \leq \varepsilon h^{-\delta}\}\$  is a simple eigenvalue separated from the rest of  $\text{Spec}(A(\xi))$  by a distance at least  $2h^{M-1}$ , then there exist  $\gamma$  and  $\lambda'$ , such that for  $\xi = h(\gamma + \xi), \lambda' \in \text{Spec}(\mathcal{A}(\xi)) \cap \{|\lambda' - \lambda| \leq Ch^M\}$ , separated from the rest of  $\text{Spec}(\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}(\xi))$  by a distance at least  $h^{M-1}$  and from  $\bigcup_{\gamma' \in \Gamma^*, \ \gamma' \neq \gamma} \text{Spec}(\mathcal{A}_{\gamma'}(\xi))$  by a distance at least  $h^{M-1}$  as well.

(iv) Conversely, if  $\lambda' \in \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}(\xi)) \cap \{|\lambda - \tau| \leq \varepsilon h^{-\delta}\}$  is a simple eigenvalue separated from the rest of  $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}(\xi))$  by a distance at least  $2h^{M-1}$ , and also separated from  $\bigcup_{\gamma' \in \Gamma^*, \ \gamma' \neq \gamma} \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{A}_{\gamma'}(\xi))$  by a distance at least  $2h^{M-1}$ , then there exists  $\lambda \in \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{A}(\xi)) \cap \{|\lambda' - \lambda| \leq Ch^M\}$  separated from the rest of  $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{A}(\xi))$  by a distance at least  $h^{M-1}$ .

*Proof.* Proof is trivial.

# 3 Proof of Theorem 1.3

# 3.1 Choosing $\gamma^*$

The first approximation is  $\xi^* \in \Sigma_{\tau}$  satisfying (1.14). Any  $\xi \in \Sigma_{\tau}$  in  $\epsilon'$ -vicinity of  $\xi^*$  also fits provided  $\epsilon' > 0$  is sufficiently small.

(3.1) One can select  $\xi_{\text{new}}^* \in \Sigma_{\tau}$  such that  $|\xi_{\text{new}}^* - \xi^*| \leq h^{\delta}$  and  $\xi_{\text{new}}^*$  satisfies (1.14) with  $\rho = \gamma \coloneqq h^{\delta}$ . Here  $\delta > 0$  is arbitrarily small and  $\varkappa = \varkappa(\delta)$ .

Indeed, it follows from (2.5). From now on  $\xi^* := \xi^*_{new}$ .

Then, according to Proposition 2.1 we can diagonalize operator in  $\gamma$ -vicinity of  $\xi^*$  and there  $\rho = \gamma$ . Then there

(3.2) 
$$|\nabla^{\alpha} (\mathcal{A}^{0} - \mathcal{A}^{0})| \leq C_{\alpha} (\varepsilon + \varepsilon^{2} \rho^{-2-|\alpha|})$$

and in particular

(3.3) 
$$|\nabla^{\alpha} (\mathcal{A}^{0} - \mathcal{A}^{0})| \leq Ch^{\delta} \quad \text{for } |\alpha| \leq 2.$$

Let

(3.4) 
$$\Sigma'_{\tau} = \{\xi \colon \mathcal{A}^{0}(\xi) = \tau\}.$$

Then in the non-resonant points we are interested in functions  $\lambda_{\gamma}(\xi) = \mathcal{A}^{0}(h(\gamma + \xi))$  rather than in  $\lambda_{\gamma}^{0}(\xi) = \mathcal{A}^{0}(h(\gamma + \xi))$ . One can prove easily the following statements:

**Proposition 3.1.** (i) One can select  $\xi^* := \xi^*_{new} \in \Sigma'_{\tau}$  satisfying (1.14) and non-resonant with  $\rho = \gamma$ .

(ii) Further, all antipodal to  $\xi^*$  points  $\xi_1^*, \ldots, \xi_{2p-1}^*$  have the same properties.

Let  $\xi^* =: h(\gamma^* + \xi^*), \gamma^* \in \Gamma^*$  and  $\xi^* \in \mathcal{O}^*$ . Then values in the nearby points are sufficiently separated:

(3.5) 
$$|\lambda_{\gamma}(\xi) - \lambda_{\gamma^{*}}(\xi)| \ge \epsilon h^{1+\delta} \quad \forall \gamma \colon |\gamma - \gamma^{*}| \le K h^{-\varkappa} \quad \forall \xi \in \mathcal{O}^{*}.$$

Indeed,  $|\gamma - \gamma^*| \leq Kh^{-\kappa}$  implies that  $(\gamma - \gamma^*) \in \Theta'_K$  and then

$$|\langle \nabla \mathcal{A}^{\mathbf{0}}(\xi^*), \gamma - \gamma^* \rangle| \geq \gamma$$

while

$$|\lambda_\gamma(\xi) - \lambda_{\gamma^*}(\xi) - h \langle 
abla \mathcal{A}^0(\xi^*), \gamma - \gamma^* 
angle| \leq Ch^{3-3arkappa}.$$

### 3.2 Non-Resonant Points

Consider other non-resonant points (with  $\rho = \varepsilon^{1/2} h^{-\delta}$ ). Let us determine how  $\lambda_{\gamma}(\xi)$  changes when we change  $\xi$ . Due to (3.3)

(3.6) 
$$\delta\lambda_{\gamma} := \lambda_{\gamma}(\xi + \delta\xi) - \lambda_{\gamma}(\xi) = h \langle \nabla A^{0}(\xi), \delta\xi \rangle + O(h^{2}|\delta\xi|^{2}).$$

To preserve  $\lambda_{\gamma^*}(\xi) = \tau$  in the *linearized settings* we need to shift  $\xi$  by  $\delta\xi$  which is orthogonal to  $\nabla_{\xi} \mathcal{A}(\xi^*)$ .

Let us take  $\delta \xi = t\eta$ 

(3.7) 
$$\ell \colon |\eta| = 1, \qquad \langle \nabla \mathcal{A}^{0}(\xi^{*}), \eta \rangle = 0.$$

Then in all non-resonant  $\xi$  the shift will be  $\langle \nabla_{\xi} \mathcal{A}(\xi), \delta \xi \rangle$  with an absolute value  $|\langle \nabla_{\xi} \mathcal{A}(\xi), \eta \rangle| \cdot |t|$ .

**Case** d = 2. Let us start from the easiest case d = 2. Without any loss of the generality we assume that  $\xi^*$  is strictly inside  $\mathcal{O}^*$  (at the distance at least  $C\epsilon^*$  from the border). Then there is just one tangent direction  $\eta$  and

(3.8) 
$$|\langle \nabla_{\xi} \mathcal{A}^{0}(\xi)|_{\xi=h\gamma}, \eta \rangle| \asymp |\sin \varphi(\gamma^{*}, \gamma)| \asymp h \min_{1 \le k \le 2p} |\gamma - \gamma_{k}^{*}|$$

where  $\varphi(\gamma^*, \gamma)$  is an angle between  $\nabla_{\xi} \mathcal{A}^0(\xi)|_{\xi=h\gamma^*}$  and  $\nabla_{\xi} \mathcal{A}^0(\xi)|_{\xi=h\gamma}$ , and  $\xi_1^*, \ldots, \xi_{2p-1}^*$  are antipodal points, and  $\xi_{2p}^* = \xi^*$ .

As long as  $\min_{1 \le k \le 2p} |\gamma - \gamma_k^*| \gtrsim h^{1-\varkappa}$  we may replace here  $\xi = h(\gamma + \xi)$  by  $\xi = h\gamma$  and  $\mathcal{A}^0$  by  $\mathcal{A}$ . In the nonlinear settings to ensure that

(3.9) 
$$\lambda_{\gamma^*}(\xi^* + \delta\xi(t)) = \tau$$

we need to include in  $\delta\xi(t)$  a correction:  $\delta\xi(t) = t\eta + O(t^2)$  but still

(3.10) 
$$\frac{d}{dt}\lambda_{\gamma}(\xi^* + \delta\xi(t)) \asymp h\langle \nabla_{\xi}\mathcal{A}(\xi)|_{\xi=h\gamma}, \eta\rangle^{-1}.$$

Then the set  $\mathcal{T}(\xi) := \{t : |t| \leq \epsilon_0, |\mathcal{A}^0(\xi(t)) - \tau| \leq \upsilon h\}$  is an interval of the length  $\asymp \upsilon$  and then the union of such sets over  $\xi = h\gamma + \xi$  with indicated  $\gamma$  does not exceed  $R\upsilon$  with

(3.11) 
$$R \coloneqq \sum_{\gamma} |\langle \nabla_{\xi} \mathcal{A}(\xi)|_{\xi = h\gamma}, \eta \rangle|^{-1},$$

where we sum over set  $\{\gamma \colon |\gamma - \gamma^*| \gtrsim h^{-\varkappa} \& |\lambda_{\gamma}(h\gamma) - \tau| \leq 2Ch\}$ . The last restriction is due to the fact that  $\mathcal{T}(\xi) \neq \emptyset$  only for points with  $|\lambda_{\gamma}(h\gamma) - \tau| \leq 2Ch$ .

One can see easily that  $R \simeq h^{-1} |\log h|$ . Then, as  $Rv \leq \epsilon'$  the set  $[-\epsilon_0, \epsilon_0] \setminus \bigcup_{\gamma} \mathcal{T}(h(\gamma + \xi))$  contains an interval of the length  $\ell = v$  and for all t, belonging to this interval,

(3.12) 
$$|\lambda_{\gamma}(h(\gamma + \xi + \delta\xi(t))) - \tau| \ge \epsilon \upsilon h.$$

Then we need to take  $v = \epsilon R^{-1} = \epsilon h |\log h|^{-1}$  and for d = 2 as far as non-resonant are concerned, Theorem 1.3 is almost proven<sup>12</sup>.

 $<sup>^{12)}</sup>$  We need to cover almost antipodal points and it will be done in the end of this subsection. We need to consider resonant points and as well, and it will be done in the next subsection.

**Case**  $d \geq 3$ . In this case we need to be more subtle and to make (d-1) steps. We start from the point  $\xi^* = h(\gamma^* + \xi^*)$ ; again without any loss of the generality we assume that  $\xi^*$  is strictly inside  $\mathcal{O}^*$  (at the distance at least  $C\epsilon^*$  from the border). Then after each step below it still will be the case (with decreasing constant).

Step I. On the first step we select  $\eta = \eta_1$  and consider only  $\gamma$  such that (3.8) holds; more precisely, the left-hand expression needs to be greater than the right-hand expression, multiplied by  $\epsilon^{13}$ . Then  $R \simeq h^{1-d}$  and therefore exists  $\xi^*$  such that  $\lambda_{\gamma^*}(\xi^*) = \tau$  and  $|\lambda_{\gamma}(\xi^*) - \tau| \ge \epsilon v_1 h$  with  $v_1 = \epsilon h^{d-1}$  for all  $\gamma$  indicated above.

Step II. On the second step we select  $\eta = \eta_2$  perpendicular to  $\eta_1$ . To preserve inequality (3.12) (with smaller constant  $\epsilon$ ) for  $\gamma$ , already covered by Step I, we need to take  $|\delta\xi| \leq \epsilon' v_1$  and consider  $\delta\xi = t\eta_2 + O(t^2)$ .

Then the same arguments as before results in inequality (3.12) with  $v \coloneqq v_2 = \epsilon R^{-1}v_1$  for a new bunch of points. Then for d = 3 as far as non-resonant are concerned, Theorem 1.3 is almost proven<sup>13)</sup>.

Next steps. Continuing this process, on k-th step we select  $\eta_k$  orthogonal to  $\eta_1, \ldots, \eta_{k-1}$ . Then we get  $\upsilon_k = \epsilon R^{-1} \upsilon_{k-1}$  and on the last (d-1)-th step we achieve a separation at least  $\upsilon_{d-1} = \epsilon R^{1-d}$ .

Remark 3.2. In Subsection 4.1 we discuss how to increase v for  $d \geq 3$ .

Almost Antipodal Points. We need to cover points with  $|\xi - \xi_k^*| \leq h^{1-\kappa}$  for k = 1, ..., 2p - 1 and as we already know for each k (and fixed  $\xi$ ) there exists no more than one such point  $\xi = h(\gamma + \xi)$  with  $|\lambda_{\gamma}(\xi) - \tau| \leq h^{1+\delta}$ .

We take care of such points during Step I. Observe that during this step we automatically take care of any point with

$$(3.13) |\nabla_{\xi} \mathcal{A}^{0}(\xi), \eta_{1}\rangle| \geq \epsilon h,$$

assuming that  $|t| \leq \epsilon_0$  with sufficiently small  $\epsilon_0 = \epsilon_0(\epsilon)$ .

Let us select  $\eta_1$  so that on  $\eta_1$  quadratic forms at points  $\xi_1^*, \ldots, \xi_{2p-1}^*$  in condition (1.14) are different from one at point  $\xi^*$  by at least  $\epsilon_0$ . Then for each  $j = 1, \ldots, 2p - 1$  the the measure of the set

$$\{t \colon |t| \leq \epsilon_0, |\lambda_{\gamma_i}(\xi + \delta\xi(t))| \leq vh\}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13)</sup> One can see easily, that the opposite inequality holds.

does not exceed  $Ch^{-1}(vh)^{\frac{1}{2}}$ , and then the measure of the union of such sets (by *j*) also does not exceed it and therefore for  $v_1 = \epsilon_1 h^{d-1}$  (for  $d \ge 3$ ) and  $v_1 = \epsilon_1 h |\log h|^{-1}$  (for d = 2) with sufficiently small  $\epsilon_1$  we can find  $t : |t| \le \epsilon_0$  so that condition (3.8) is fulfilled for all non-resonant points.

### 3.3 Resonant Points

Next on this step we need to separate  $\lambda_{\gamma^*}(\xi)$  from all  $\lambda_n(\xi)$  (save one, coinciding with it) by the distance at least  $\upsilon h$  by choosing  $\xi$ . We can during the same steps as described in the previous section: let  $\lambda_{\gamma,j}(\xi)$  denote eigenvalues of  $\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}(\xi)$  with  $j = #\mathfrak{X}(\gamma h)$ .

Observe that both  $\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}(\xi)$  and  $\#\mathfrak{X}(\gamma h)$  depend on the equivalency class  $[\gamma]$  of  $\gamma$  rather than on  $\gamma$  itself and that

(3.14) 
$$\sum_{[\gamma]} \#\mathfrak{X}(\gamma h) = \sum_{1 \le n \le d-1} \#(\Xi_n) = O(h^{1-d+\sigma'} + \varepsilon^{3/2} h^{-d-\sigma}),$$

where on the left  $[\gamma]$  runs over all equivalency classes with  $\gamma \in \bigcup_{1 \le n \le d-1} \Xi_n$ .

We also observe that for resonant points

$$(3.15) \qquad \qquad |\sin\varphi(\xi,\xi^*)| \ge \epsilon h^{\delta}$$

and therefore for  $\lambda'_{\gamma}$ , which are eigenvalues of  $\mathcal{A}^{0}(h(\gamma + \xi))^{14}$  (3.10) holds and signs are the same for  $\gamma$  in the same block. On the other hand,

(3.16) 
$$|\frac{d}{dt}\mathcal{B}(h(\gamma + \xi^* + \delta\xi(t)))| \le C\varepsilon h \ll h^{1+\delta'}$$

and therefore for  $\lambda_{\gamma,j}(t)$  which are eigenvalues of  $\mathcal{A}_{[\gamma]}(\xi)$  (3.10) sill holds.

Therefore the arguments of each Step I, Step II etc extends to resonant points as well. However the number of *new points* to be taken into account on each step is given by the right-hand expression of (3.14) and therefore Rneeds to be redefined

(3.17) 
$$R := h^{1-d} + \varepsilon^{3/2} h^{-d-\sigma}.$$

This leads to the final expression (1.15) for v. Theorem 1.3 is proven.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14)</sup> Recall, that  $\mathcal{A}^0$  is diagonal matrix.

# 4 Discussion

### 4.1 Improving v

Can we improve (increase) expression for v given by (1.15)? I do not know if one can do anything with the restriction  $v \leq \epsilon \varepsilon^{-\frac{3}{2}(d-1)} h^{d(d-1)}$  which is due to resonant points, but restriction  $v \leq \epsilon h^{(d-1)^2}$  could be improved for  $d \geq 3$ , which makes sense only if

$$(4.1) h \le h \le h^{\frac{2}{3}-\sigma}.$$

Indeed, on Step  $n,\,n\geq 2,$  we need to take into account only non-resonant points belonging to the set

(4.2) 
$$\mathcal{J} := h(\Gamma^* + \xi) \cap \{\xi : |\mathcal{A}^0(\xi) - \tau| \le C \upsilon_{n-1}h\}.$$

Determination of upper estimate for such number falls into realm of the Number Theory. I am familiar only with the estimate

(4.3) 
$$\#\mathcal{J} \le Ch^{1-d}v_{n-1} + Ch^{2-d-2/(d+1)},$$

which follows from Theorem at page 224 of [Gui]. Probably it was improved, but those improvement have no value here.

The second term in the right-hand expression of (4.2) is larger, however, the second term in the right-hand expression of (3.17) is still larger and therefore on each Step  $n \ge 2$  we have  $R := \varepsilon^{3/2} h^{-d-\sigma}$ , and this leads us to the following improvement of Theorem 1.3:

**Theorem 4.1.** In the framework of Theorem 1.1, under additional assumptions  $d \ge 3$  and (4.1), the statement of Theorem 1.3 holds with

(4.4) 
$$\upsilon = \epsilon \varepsilon^{-3(d-2)/2} h^{d^2 - d - 1 - \sigma}$$

with arbitrarily small exponent  $\sigma > 0$ . In particular,  $\upsilon = \epsilon h^{d^2 - 5d/2 + 3 - \sigma}$  for  $\varepsilon = h$ .

Remark 4.2. One can try to improve further (4.4) for  $\varepsilon \leq h$ . In this case resonant points become the main obstacle. In the definition of resonant points we need to take  $\rho = h^{1/2-\delta}$ ; however only resonant points  $\xi$  with

$$\mathfrak{X}(\xi) \cap \{\xi' \colon |\mathcal{A}^{0}(\xi') - \tau| \leq C(\upsilon_{n-1}h + \varepsilon)\} \neq \emptyset$$

should be taken into account on n-th step.

## 4.2 Condition (1.14)

We know that for connected component  $\Sigma_{\tau}$  this condition (1.14) is fulfilled automatically.

On the other hand, let  $\Sigma_{\tau} = \bigcup_{1 \le j \le p} \Sigma_{\tau}^{(j)}$  with connected  $\Sigma_{\tau}^{(j)}$ . Let p = 2and condition (1.14) be violated at each point of  $\Sigma_{\tau}$ . Does it mean that  $\Sigma_{\tau}^{(2)} = \Sigma_{\tau}^{(1)} + \eta$  (i.e.  $\Sigma_{\tau}^{(1)}$  shifted by  $\eta$ )? Next, let  $\Sigma_{\tau}^{(j)} = \Sigma_{\tau}^{(1)} + \eta_j$  for j = 2, ..., q. Then for these components

Next, let  $\Sigma_{\tau}^{(j)} = \Sigma_{\tau}^{(1)} + \eta_j$  for j = 2, ..., q. Then for these components instead of condition (1.14) one can impose the similar condition involving level surfaces  $\sigma_{\tau,\varepsilon}$  of  $\mathcal{A}^0(\xi) + \varepsilon B_0(\xi)$ . This would affect only *Step I* of our analysis, leading to  $\upsilon_{1,\text{new}} := \min(\varepsilon h, \upsilon_1)$  with  $\upsilon_1$  defined without taking into account of antipodal points. Since  $\upsilon_1 \leq h^{d-1}$  anyway, under assumption  $\varepsilon \geq h$  we get the same formulae for  $\upsilon$  for  $d \geq 3$  as stated in Theorems 1.3 and 4.1, while for d = 2 we get

(4.5) 
$$v = h \min(\varepsilon, \varepsilon^{-3/2} h^{\sigma}).$$

# 4.3 Differentiability

Definitely our result would follow from the asymptotics of the *density of* states

(4.6) 
$$\mathsf{N}'_h(\tau) \coloneqq \frac{d\mathsf{N}_h(\tau)}{d\tau} = (\kappa'_0(\tau) + o(1))h^{-d} \quad \text{as} \quad h \to +0,$$

where

(4.7) 
$$\mathsf{N}_{h}(\tau) = \int_{\mathcal{O}^{*}} \mathsf{N}_{h}(\xi, \tau) \, d\xi$$

is an integrated density of states:

(4.8) 
$$\mathsf{N}_h(\xi, \tau) = \#\{\mu < \tau, \mu \text{ is an eigenvalue of } A_h(\xi)\}.$$

However, despite  $\mathsf{N}_h(\xi, \tau)$  has a complete asymptotics (see f.e. [Ivr3]), we do not know anything about asymptotics of  $\mathsf{N}'_h(\tau)$  (even  $\mathsf{N}'_h(\tau) \asymp h^{-d}$  is unknown).

# 4.4 Bethe-Sommerfeld Conjecture for Almost Periodic Perturbations

While both the proof of Bethe-Sommerfeld conjecture and the statement of Theorem 1.3 rely upon periodicity, the conjecture itself (as stated in Theorem 1.1) does not. It is only natural to try to prove it for almost periodic perturbations as in [Ivr3].

# Bibliography

- [Gui] V. Guillemin, Some classical theorems in spectral theory revised, Seminar on Singularities of solutions of partial differential equations, Princeton University Press, NJ, 219–259 (1979).
- [BP] G. Barbatis, L. Parnovski. Bethe Sommerfeld conjecture for pseudodifferential perturbation, Comm.P.D.E. 34(4):383 - 418, (2009).
- [BeSo] A. Sommerfeld, H. Bethe, *Elektronentheorie der Metalle*, in H. Geiger and K. Scheel, eds., Handbuch der Physik, Volume 24, Part 2, 333-622 (Springer, 1933). Later edition: *Elektronentheorie der Metalle*, Springer, 1967.
- [Cas] J.W.S. Cassels, An introduction to the geometry of numbers, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1959.
- [DT] B.E.J. Dahlberg, E. Trubowitz, A remark on two dimensional periodic potentials, Comment. Math. Helvetici 57:130–134 (1982).
- [E] M.S.P. Eastham, The spectral theory of periodic differential equations, Scottish Academice Press, 1973.
- [FKT1] J. Feldman, H. Knörrer, E. Trubowitz, The perturbatively stable spectrum of a periodic Schrödinger operator, Invent. Math., 100:259–300 (1990).
- [FKT2] J. Feldman, H. Knörrer, E. Trubowitz, Perturbatively unstable eigenvalues of a periodic Schrödinger operator, Comment. Math. Helvetici, 66:557–579 (1991).
- [Ivr1] V. Ivrii, Microlocal Analysis, Sharp Spectral, Asymptotics and Applications.
- [Ivr2] V. Ivrii. 100 years of Weyl's law, Bull. Math. Sci., 6(3):379–452 (2016).

- [Ivr3] V. Ivrii. Complete semiclassical spectral asymptotics for periodic and almost periodic perturbations of constant operators, arXiv:1808.01619 (2018).
- [Kar1] Y. E. Karpeshina, Perturbation theory for the Schrödinger operator with a periodic potential, Lecture Notes in Math. 1663, Springer Berlin 1997.
- [Kar2] Y. E. Karpeshina, Spectral properties of periodic magnetic Schrödinger operator in the high-energy region. Two-dimensional case, Comm. Math. Phys., 251(3):473–514 (2004).
- [Kat] T. Kato, Perturbation theory for linear operators, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1980.
- [Kuch] P. Kuchment, *Floquet theory for partial differential equations*, Birkhäuser, Basel, 1993.
- [MPS] S. Morozov, L. Parnovski, R. Shterenberg. Complete asymptotic expansion of the integrated density of states of multidimensional almostperiodic pseudo-differential operators, Ann. Henri Poincaré 15(2):263– 312 (2014).
- [Par] L. Parnovski, Bethe-Sommerfeld conjecture, Annales H. Poincaré, 9(3):457–508 (2008).
- [PSh1] L. Parnovski, R. Shterenberg. Asymptotic expansion of the integrated density of states of a two-dimensional periodic Schroedinger operator, Invent. Math., 176(2):275–323 (2009).
- [PSh2] L. Parnovski, R. Shterenberg. Complete asymptotic expansion of the integrated density of states of multidimensional almost-periodic Schrödinger operators, Ann. of Math., Second Series, 176(2):1039–1096 (2012).
- [PSh3] L. Parnovski, R. Shterenberg. Complete asymptotic expansion of the spectral function of multidimensional almost-periodic Schrödinger operators, Duke Math. J., 165(3):509–561 (2016).
- [PSo1] L. Parnovski, A. V. Sobolev, Bethe-Sommerfeld conjecture for polyharmonic operators, Duke Math. J., 107(2):209–238 (2001).

- [PSo2] L. Parnovski, A. V. Sobolev, Perturbation theory and the Bethe-Sommerfeld conjecture, Annales H. Poincaré, 2:573–581 (2001).
- [PS3] L. Parnovski, A. V. Sobolev. Bethe-Sommerfeld conjecture for periodic operators with strong perturbations, Invent. Math., 181:467–540 (2010).
- [PopSkr] V.N. Popov, M. Skriganov, A remark on the spectral structure of the two dimensional Schrödinger operator with a periodic potential, Zap. Nauchn. Sem. LOMI AN SSSR, 109:131–133 (1981) (Russian).
- [RS] M. Reed M., B. Simon, Methods of Modern Mathematical Physics, IV, Academic Press, New York, 1975.
- [R] G. V. Rozenbljum, Near-similarity of operators and the spectral asymptotic behavior of pseudodifferential operators on the circle, Trudy Moskov. Mat. Obshch. 36:59–84 (1978) (Russian).
- [Skr1] M. Skriganov, Proof of the Bethe-Sommerfeld conjecture in dimension two, Soviet Math. Dokl. 20(1):89–90 1979).
- [Skr2] M. Skriganov, Geometrical and arithmetical methods in the spectral theory of the multi-dimensional periodic operators, Proc. Steklov Math. Inst. Vol. 171, 1984.
- [Skr3] M. Skriganov, The spectrum band structure of the three-dimensional Schrödinger operator with periodic potential, Inv. Math. 80:107–121 (1985).
- [SkrSo1] M. Skriganov, A. Sobolev, Asymptotic estimates for spectral bands of periodic Schrödinger operators, St Petersburg Math. J. 17(1):207–216 (2006).
- [SkrSo2] M. Skriganov, A. Sobolev, Variation of the number of lattice points in large balls, Acta Arith. 120(3): 245–267 (2005).
- [So1] A. V. Sobolev. Integrated density of states for the periodic Schrödinger operator in dimension two, Ann. Henri Poincaré. 6:31–84 (2005).
- [So2] A. V. Sobolev. Asymptotics of the integrated density of states for periodic elliptic pseudo-differential operators in dimension one, Rev. Mat. Iberoam. 22(1):55–92 (2006).

- [So3] A.V.Sobolev, Recent results on the Bethe-Sommerfeld conjecture, Spectral theory and mathematical physics: a Festschrift in honor of Barry Simon's 60th birthday, ix-xii, Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., 76, Part 1, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2007.
- [Vel1] O.A. Veliev, Asymptotic formulas for the eigenvalues of the periodic Schrödinger operator and the Bethe-Sommerfeld conjecture, Functional Anal. Appl. 21(2):87–100 (1987).
- [Vel2] O.A. Veliev, Perturbation theory for the periodic multidimensional Schrödinger operator and the Bethe-Sommerfeld Conjecture, Int. J. Contemp. Math. Sci., 2(2):19–87 (2007).



# 100 years of Weyl's Law

Victor Ivrii

July 11, 2019

### Abstract

We discuss the asymptotics of the eigenvalue counting function for partial differential operators and related expressions paying the most attention to the sharp asymptotics. We consider Weyl asymptotics, asymptotics with Weyl principal parts and correction terms and asymptotics with non-Weyl principal parts. Semiclassical microlocal analysis, propagation of singularities and related dynamics play crucial role.

We start from the general theory, then consider Schrödinger and Dirac operators with the strong magnetic field and, finally, applications to the asymptotics of the ground state energy of heavy atoms and molecules with or without a magnetic field.

# 1 Introduction

# A Bit of History

In 1911, Hermann Weyl, who at that time was a young German mathematician specializing in partial differential and integral equations, proved the following remarkable asymptotic formula describing distribution of (large) eigenvalues of the Dirichlet Laplacian in a bounded domain  $X \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ :

(1.1)  $\mathsf{N}(\lambda) = (2\pi)^{-d} \omega_d \operatorname{vol}(X) \lambda^{d/2} (1 + o(1))$  as  $\lambda \to +\infty$ ,

where  $N(\lambda)$  is the number of eigenvalues of the (positive) Laplacian, which are less than  $\lambda^{1}$ ,  $\omega_d$  is a volume of the unit ball in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , vol(X) is the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1)</sup>  $N(\lambda)$  is called the *eigenvalue counting function*.

volume of X. This formula was actually conjectured independently by Arnold Sommerfeld [Som] and Hendrik Lorentz [Lor] in 1910 who stated the *Weyl's Law* as a conjecture based on the book of Lord Rayleigh "The Theory of Sound" (1887) (for details, see [ANPS]).

H. Weyl published several papers [2-5, W1](1911-1915) devoted to the eigenvalue asymptotics for the Laplace operator (and also the elasticity operator) in a bounded domain with regular boundary. In [W4], he published what is now known as *Weyl's conjecture* 

(1.2) 
$$\mathsf{N}(\lambda) = (2\pi)^{-d} \omega_d \operatorname{vol}(X) \lambda^{d/2} \mp \frac{1}{4} (2\pi)^{1-d} \omega_{d-1} \operatorname{vol}'(\partial X) \lambda^{(d-1)/2}$$
  
as  $\lambda \to +\infty$ 

for Dirichlet and Neumann boundary conditions respectively where  $\operatorname{vol}'(\partial X)$  is the (d-1)-dimensional volume of  $\partial X \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}$ . Both these formulae appear in the toy-model of a rectangular box  $X = \{0 < x_1 < a_1, \dots, 0 < x_d < a_d\}$  and then  $\mathsf{N}(\lambda)$  is the number of integer lattice points in the part of ellipsoid  $\{z_1^2/a_1^2 + \ldots + z_d^2/a_d^2 < \pi^2\lambda\}$  with  $z_j > 0$  and  $z_j \ge 0$  for Dirichlet and Neumann boundary conditions respectively<sup>2</sup>).

After his pioneering work, a huge number of papers devoted to spectral asymptotics were published. Among the authors were numerous prominent mathematicians.

After H. Weyl, the next big step was made by Richard Courant [Cour](1920), who further developed the variational method and recovered the remainder estimate  $O(\lambda^{(d-1)/2} \log \lambda)$ . The variational method was developed further by many mathematicians, but it lead to generalizations rather than to getting sharp remainder estimates and we postpone its discussion until Section 3. Here we mention only Mikhail Birman, Elliott Lieb and Barry Simon and their schools.

The next development was due to Torsten Carleman [C1, C2](1934, 1936) who invented the *Tauberian method* and was probably the first to consider an arbitrary spacial dimension (H. Weyl and R. Courant considered only dimensions 2 and 3) followed by Boris Levitan [Lev1](1952) and V. G. Avakumovič [Av](1956) who, applied hyperbolic operator method (see Section 1) to recover the remainder estimate  $O(\lambda^{(d-1)/2})$ , but only for closed manifolds and also for  $e(x, x, \lambda)$  away from the boundary<sup>3)</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2)</sup> Finding sharp asymptotics of the number of the lattice points in the inflated domain is an important problem of the number theory.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3)</sup> Where here and below  $e(x, y, \lambda)$  is the Schwartz kernel of the spectral projector.

After this, Lars Hörmander [Hör1, Hör2](1968, 1969) applied Fourier integral operators in the framework of this method. Hans Duistermaat and Victor Guillemin [DG](1975) recovered the remainder estimate  $o(\lambda^{(d-1)/2})$  under the assumption that

### (1.3) The set of all periodic geodesics has measure 0

observing that for the sphere neither this assumption nor (1.2) hold. Here, we consider the phase space  $T^*X$  equipped with the standard measure  $dxd\xi$  where X is a manifold<sup>4</sup>). This was a very important step since it connected the sharp spectral asymptotics with classical dynamics.

The main obstacle was the impossibility to construct the parametrix of the hyperbolic problem near the boundary<sup>5)</sup>. This obstacle was partially circumvented by Robert Seeley [See1, See2](1978, 1980) who recovered remainder estimate  $O(\lambda^{(d-1)/2})$ ; his approach we will consider in Subsection 4. Finally the Author [Ivr1](1980), using very different approach, proved (1.2) under assumption that

(1.4) The set of all periodic geodesic billiards has measure 0,

which obviously generalizes (1.3). Using this approach, the Author in [Ivr2] (1982) proved (1.1) and (1.2) for elliptic systems on manifolds without boundary; (1.2) was proven under certain assumption similar to (1.3).

The new approaches were further developed during the 35 years to follow and many new ideas were implemented. The purpose of this article is to provide a brief and rather incomplete survey of the results and techniques. Beforehand, let us mention that the field was drastically transformed.

First, at that time, in addition to the problem that we described above, there were similar but distinct problems which we describe by examples:

(b) Find the asymptotics as  $\lambda \to +\infty$  of  $N(\lambda)$  for the Schrödinger operator  $\Delta + V(x)$  in  $\mathbb{R}^d$  with potential  $V(x) \to +\infty$  at infinity;

(c) Find the asymptotics as  $\lambda \to -0$  of  $N(\lambda)$  for the Schrödinger operator in  $\mathbb{R}^d$  with potential  $V(x) \to -0$  at infinity (decaying more slowly than  $|x|^{-2}$ );

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4)</sup> In fact the general scalar pseudodifferential operator and Hamiltonian trajectories of its principal symbol were considered.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5)</sup> Or even inside for elliptic systems with the eigenvalues of the principal symbol having the variable multiplicity.

(d) Find the asymptotics as  $h \to +0$  of  $N^-(h)$  the number of the negative eigenvalues for the Schrödinger operator  $h^2\Delta + V(x)$ .

These four problems were being studied separately albeit by rather similar methods. However, it turned out that the latter problem (d) is more fundamental than the others which could be reduced to it by the variational *Birman-Schwinger principle*.

Second, we should study the *local semiclassical spectral asymptotics*, i.e. the asymptotics of  $\int e(x, x, 0)\psi(x) dx$  where  $\psi \in \mathcal{C}_0^{\infty}$  supported in the ball of radius 1 in which<sup>6</sup>) V is of magnitude 1<sup>7</sup>). By means of scaling we generalize these results for  $\psi$  supported in the ball of radius  $\gamma$  in which<sup>6</sup>) V is of magnitude  $\rho$  with  $\rho\gamma \geq h$  because in scaling  $h \mapsto h/\rho\gamma$ . Then in the general case we apply partition of unity with *scaling functions*  $\gamma(x)$  and  $\rho(x)$ .

Third, in the singular zone  $\{x : \rho(x)\gamma(x) \le h\}$  by we can apply variational estimates and combine them with the semiclassical estimates in the *regular* zone  $\{x : \rho(x)\gamma(x) \ge h\}$ . It allows us to consider domains and operators with singularities.

Some further developments will be either discussed or mentioned in the next sections. Currently, I am working on the Monster book [Ivr4] which summarizes this development. It is almost ready and is available online and we will often refer to it for details, exact statements and proofs.

Finally, I should mention that in addition to the variational methods and method of hyperbolic operator, other methods were developed: other Tauberian methods (like the method of the heat equation or the method of resolvent) and the almost-spectral projector method [ST]. However, we will neither use nor even discuss them; for survey of different methods, see [RSS].

# Method of the Hyperbolic Operator

The method of the hyperbolic operator is one of the Tauberian methods proposed by T. Carleman. Applied to the Laplace operator, it was designed as follows: let  $e(x, y, \lambda)$  be the Schwartz kernel of a spectral projector and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6)</sup> Actually, in the proportionally larger ball.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7)</sup> Sometimes, however, we consider *pointwise semiclassical spectral asymptotics*, i.e. asymptotics of e(x, x, 0).

 $\operatorname{let}$ 

(1.5) 
$$u(x, y, t) = \int_0^\infty \cos(\lambda t) d_\lambda e(x, y, \lambda^2);$$

observe, that now  $\lambda^2$  is the spectral parameter. Then, u(x, y, t) is a propagator of the corresponding wave equation and satisfies

$$(1.6) u_{tt} + \Delta u = 0,$$

(1.7) 
$$u|_{t=0} = \delta(x-y), \quad u|_{t=0} = 0$$

(recall that  $\Delta$  is a positive Laplacian).

Now we need to construct the solution of (1.6)–(1.7) and recover e(x, y, t) from (1.5). However, excluding some special cases, we can construct the solution u(x, y, t) only modulo smooth functions and only for  $t : |t| \leq T$ , where usually T is a small constant. It leads to

(1.8) 
$$F_{t\to\tau}(\bar{\chi}_{\tau}(t)u(x,x,t)) = T \int \widehat{\bar{\chi}}((\lambda-\tau)T) d_{\lambda}e(x,x,\lambda^{2}) = c_{0}(x)\lambda^{d-1} + c_{1}(x)\lambda^{d-2} + O(\lambda^{d-3})$$

where F denotes the Fourier transform,  $\bar{\chi} \in \mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}(-1, 1)$ ,  $\bar{\chi}(0) = 1$ ,  $\bar{\chi}'(0) = 0$ and  $\bar{\chi}_{\tau}(t) = \bar{\chi}(t/T)^{8}$ .

Then using Hörmander's Tauberian theorem<sup>9)</sup>, we can recover

(1.9) 
$$e(x, x, \lambda^2) = c_0(x)d^{-1}\lambda^d + O(\lambda^{d-1}T^{-1}).$$

To get the remainder estimate  $o(\lambda^{d-1})$  instead, we need some extra arguments. First, the asymptotics (1.8) holds with a cut-off:

(1.10) 
$$F_{t\to\tau}(\bar{\chi}_{\tau}(t)(Q_{x}u)(x,x,t)) = T \int \widehat{\bar{\chi}}((\lambda-\tau)T) d_{\lambda}(Q_{x}e)(x,x,\lambda^{2}) = c_{0Q}(x)\lambda^{d-1} + c_{1Q}(x)\lambda^{d-2} + O_{\tau}(\lambda^{d-3})$$

where  $Q_x = Q(x, D_x)$  is a 0-order pseudo-differential operator (acting with respect to x only, before we set x = y; and  $T = T_0$  is a small enough constant. Then the Tauberian theory implies that

(1.11) 
$$(Q_x e)(x, x, \lambda^2) = c_{0Q}(x)d^{-1}\lambda^d + c_{1Q}(x)(d-1)^{-1}\lambda^{d-1} + O(\lambda^{d-1}T^{-1}\mu(\operatorname{supp}(Q))) + o_{Q,T}(\lambda^{d-1})$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8)</sup> In fact, there is a complete decomposition.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9)</sup> Which was already known to Boris Levitan.

where  $\mu = \frac{dxd\xi}{dg}$  is a natural measure on the energy level surface  $\Sigma = \{(x, \xi) : g(x, \xi) = 1\}$  and we denote by supp(Q) the support of the symbol  $Q(x, \xi)$ .

On the other hand, propagation of singularities (which we discuss in more details later) implies that if for any point  $(x, \xi) \in \text{supp}(Q)$  geodesics starting there are not periodic with periods  $\leq T$  then asymptotics (1.10) and (1.11) hold with T.

Now, under the assumption (1.4), for any  $T \geq T_0$  and  $\varepsilon > 0$ , we can select  $Q_1$  and  $Q_2$ , such that  $Q_1 + Q_2 = I$ ,  $\mu(\text{supp}(Q_1)) \leq \varepsilon$  and for  $(x,\xi) \in \text{supp}(Q_2)$  geodesics starting from it are not periodic with periods  $\leq T$ . Then, combining (1.11) with  $Q_1, T_0$  and with  $Q_2, T$ , we arrive to

(1.12) 
$$e(x, x, \lambda^2) = c_0(x)d^{-1}\lambda^d + c_1(x)(d-1)^{-1}\lambda^{d-1} + O(\lambda^{d-1}(T^{-1}+\varepsilon)) + o_{\varepsilon,T}(\lambda^{d-1})$$

with arbitrarily large T and arbitrarily small  $\varepsilon > 0$  and therefore

(1.13) 
$$e(x, x, \lambda^2) = c_0(x)d^{-1}\lambda^d + c_1(d-1)^{-1}\lambda^{d-1} + O(\lambda^{d-1}T^{-1})$$

holds. In these settings,  $c_1 = 0$ .

More delicate analysis of the propagation of singularities allows under certain very restrictive assumptions to the geodesic flow to boost the remainder estimate to  $O(\lambda^{d-1}/\log \lambda)$  and even to  $O(\lambda^{d-1-\delta})$  with a sufficiently small exponent  $\delta > 0$ .

# 2 Local Semiclassical Spectral Asymptotics

### Asymptotics Inside the Domain

As we mentioned, the approach described above was based on the representation of the solution u(x, y, t) by an oscillatory integral and does not fare well in (i) domains with boundaries because of the trajectories tangent to the boundary and (ii) for matrix operators whose principal symbols have eigenvalues of variable multiplicity. Let us describe our main method. We start by discussing matrix operators on closed manifolds.

So, let us consider a self-adjoint elliptic matrix operator A(x, D) of order m. For simplicity, let us assume that this operator is semibounded from below and we are interested in  $N(\lambda)$ , the number of eigenvalues not exceeding  $\lambda$ , as  $\lambda \to +\infty$ . In other words, we are looking for the number  $N^{-}(h)$  of

negative eigenvalues of the operator  $\lambda^{-1}A(x, D) - I = H(x, hD, h)$  with  $h = \lambda^{-1/m \ 10}$ .

#### **Propagation of Singularities**

Thus, we are now dealing with the semiclassical asymptotics. Therefore, instead of individual functions, we should consider families of functions depending on the *semiclassical parameter*  $h^{11}$  and we need a *semiclassical microlocal analysis*. We call such family *temperate* if  $||u_h|| \leq Ch^{-M}$  where  $||\cdot||$  denotes usual  $\mathcal{L}^2$ -norm.

We say that  $u \coloneqq u_h$  is *s*-negligible at  $(\bar{x}, \bar{\xi}) \in T^* \mathbb{R}^d$  if there exists a symbol  $\phi(x, \xi), \phi(\bar{x}, \bar{\xi}) = 1$  such that  $\|\phi(x, hD)u_h\| = O(h^s)$ . We call the wave front set of  $u_h$  the set of points at which  $u_h$  is not negligible and denote by  $WF^s(u_h)$ ; this is a closed set. Here,  $-\infty < s \leq \infty$ .

Our first result is rather trivial: if P = P(x, hD, h),

$$WF^{s}(u) \subset WF^{s}(Pu) \cup Char(P)$$

where  $\operatorname{Char}(P) = \{(x, \xi), \det P^0(x, \xi) = 0\}$ ; we call  $P^0(x, \xi) := P(x, \xi, 0)$  the *principal symbol* of P and  $\operatorname{Char}(P)$  the *characteristic set* of L.

We need to study the propagation of singularities (wave front sets). To do this, we need the following definition:

**Definition 2.1.** Let  $P^0$  be a Hermitian matrix. Then P is *microhyperbolic* at  $(x, \xi)$  in the direction  $\ell \in T(T^*\mathbb{R}^d)$ ,  $|\ell| \simeq 1$  if

(2.2) 
$$\langle (\ell P^0)(x,\xi)v,v\rangle \geq \epsilon |v|^2 - C|P^0(x,\xi)v|^2 \quad \forall v$$

with constants  $\epsilon$ ,  $C > 0^{12}$ .

Then we have the following statement which can be proven by the *method* of the positive commutator:

**Theorem 2.2.** Let P = P(x, hD, h) be an *h*-pseudodifferential operator with a Hermitian principal symbol. Let  $\Omega \in T^*\mathbb{R}^d$  and let  $\phi_j \in \mathscr{C}^\infty$  be realvalued functions such that P is microhyperbolic in  $\Omega$  in the directions  $\nabla^{\#}\phi_j$ ,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10)</sup> If operator is not semi-bounded we consider the number of eigenvalues in the interval  $(0, \lambda)$  (or  $(-\lambda, 0)$ ) which could be reduced to the asymptotics of the number of eigenvalues in the interval (-1, 0) (or (0, 1)) of H(x, hD, h).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11)</sup> Which in quantum mechanics is called Planck constant and usually is denoted by  $\hbar$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12)</sup> Here and below  $\ell P^0$  in is the action of the vector field  $\ell$  upon  $P^0$ .

j = 1, ..., J where  $\nabla^{\#} \phi = \langle (\nabla_{\xi} \phi), \nabla_{x} \rangle - \langle (\nabla_{x} \phi), \nabla_{\xi} \rangle$  is the Hamiltonian field generated by  $\phi$ .

Let  $\boldsymbol{u}$  be tempered and suppose that

(2.3) 
$$\mathsf{WF}^{s+1}(\mathsf{Pu}) \cap \Omega \cap \{\phi_1 \leq 0\} \cap \cdots \cap \{\phi_J \leq 0\} = \emptyset,$$

(2.4) 
$$\mathsf{WF}^{\mathsf{s}}(u) \cap \partial\Omega \cap \{\phi_1 \leq 0\} \cap \cdots \cap \{\phi_J \leq 0\} = \emptyset.$$

Then,

(2.5) 
$$\mathsf{WF}^{s}(u) \cap \Omega \cap \{\phi_{1} \leq 0\} \cap \cdots \cap \{\phi_{J} \leq 0\} = \emptyset.$$

*Proof.* This is Theorem 2.1.2 from [Ivr4]. See the proof and discussion there.  $\Box$ 

The above theorem immediately implies:

**Corollary 2.3.** Let H = H(x, hD, h) be an h-pseudodifferential operator with a Hermitian principal symbol and let  $P = hD_t - H$ . Let us assume that

(2.6)  $|\partial_{x,\xi} H^0 v| \le C_0 |v| + C|(H^0 - \bar{\tau})v| \qquad \forall v.$ 

Let u(x, y, t) be the Schwartz kernel of  $e^{ih^{-1}tH}$ .

(i) For a small constant  $T^* > 0$ ,

(2.7)  $WF(u) \cap \{|t| \leq T^*, \tau = \overline{\tau}\} \subset \{|x - y|^2 + |\xi + \eta|^2 \leq (C_0 t)^2\}.$ 

(ii) Assume that H is microhyperbolic in some direction  $\ell = \ell(x, \xi)$  at the point  $(x, \xi)$  at the energy level  $\bar{\tau}^{13}$ . Then for a small constant  $T^* > 0$ ,

(2.8) 
$$WF(u) \cap \{0 \le \pm t \le T^*, \ \tau = \overline{\tau}\} \subset \{\pm(\langle \ell_x, x - y \rangle + \langle \ell_{\xi}, \xi + \eta \rangle) \ge \pm \epsilon_0 t\}.$$

*Proof.* It is sufficient to prove the above statements for  $t \ge 0$ . We apply Theorem 2.2 with

- (i)  $\phi_1 = t$  and  $\phi_2 = t C_0^{-1} (|x \bar{x}|^2 + \epsilon^2)^{\frac{1}{2}} + \varepsilon$ ,
- (ii)  $\phi_1 = t$  and  $\phi_2 = (\langle \ell_x, x y \rangle + \langle \ell_{\xi}, \xi + \eta \rangle) \epsilon_0 t + \varepsilon$ ,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13)</sup> Which means that  $H - \bar{\tau}$  is microhyperbolic in the sense of Definition 2.1.

where  $\varepsilon > 0$  is arbitrarily small.

**Corollary 2.4.** (i) In the framework of Corollary 2.3(ii) with  $\ell = (\ell_x, 0)$ , the inequality

(2.9) 
$$|F_{t\to h^{-1}\tau}\chi_{\tau}(t)(Q_{1\times}u^{t}Q_{2y})(x,x,t)| \leq C_{s}h^{-d}(h/|t|)^{s}$$

holds for all  $\mathbf{s}, \tau : |\tau - \overline{\tau}| \leq \epsilon, h \leq |t| \leq T \leq T^*$  where  $Q_{1x} = Q_1(\mathbf{x}, hD_x)$ ,  $Q_{2y} = Q_2(y, hD_y)$  are operators with compact supports,  ${}^tQ_2$  is the dual rather than the adjoint operator and we write it to the right of the function,  $\chi \in \mathcal{C}_0^{\infty}([-1, -\frac{1}{2}] \cup [\frac{1}{2}, 1]), \ \chi_T(t) = \chi(t/T), \text{ and } \epsilon, T^* \text{ are small positive}$ constants.

(ii) In particular, we get the estimate  $O(h^s)$  as  $T_* := h^{1-\delta} \le |t| \le T \le T^*$ .

(iii) More generally, when  $\ell = (\ell_x, \ell_\xi)$ , the same estimates hold for the distribution  $\sigma_{Q_1,Q_2}(t) = \int (Q_{1x}u^t Q_{2y})(x, x, t) dx$ .

*Proof.* (i) If  $t \approx 1$ , (2.9) immediately follows from Corollary 2.3(ii). Consider  $t \approx T$  with  $h \leq T \leq T^*$  and make the rescaling  $t \mapsto t/T$ ,  $x \mapsto (x - y)/T$ ,  $h \mapsto h/T$ . We arrive to the same estimate (with  $T^{-d}(h/T)^s$  in the right-hand expression where the factor  $T^{-d}$  is due to the fact that u(x, y, t) is a density with respect to y). The transition from  $|t| \approx T$  to  $|t| \leq T$  is trivial.

(ii) Statement (ii) follows immediately from Statement (i).

(iii) Statement (iii) follows immediately from Statements (i) and (ii) if we apply the metaplectic transformation  $(x, \xi) \mapsto (x - B\xi, \xi)$  with a symmetric real matrix B.

Therefore under the corresponding microhyperbolicity condition, we can construct  $(Q_{1\times}u^{t}Q_{2y})(x, x, t)$  or  $\sigma_{Q_1,Q_2}(t)$  for  $|t| \leq T_*$  and then we automatically get it for  $|t| \leq T^*$ . Since the time interval  $|t| \leq T_*$  is very short, we are able to apply the successive approximation method.

#### Successive Approximation Method

Let us consider the propagator u(x, y, t). Recall that it satisfies the equations

- (2.10)  $(hD_t H)u = 0,$
- (2.11)  $u|_{t=0} = \delta(x y)I$

and therefore,

(2.12) 
$$(hD_t - H)u^{\pm t}Q_{2y} = \mp ih\delta(t)\delta(x-y)^tQ_{2y},$$

where  $u^{\pm} = u\theta(\pm t)$ ,  $\theta$  is the Heaviside function, I is the unit matrix,  $Q_{1x} = Q_1(x, hD_x)$ ,  $Q_{2y} = Q_2(y, hD_y)$  have compact supports,  ${}^tQ$  is the *dual* operator<sup>14</sup>) and we write operators with respect to y on the right from u in accordance with the notations of matrix theory.

Then,

(2.13) 
$$(hD_t - \bar{H})u^{\pm t}Q_{2y} = H'u \mp ih\delta(t)\delta(x-y) {}^tQ_{2y}I$$

with  $\overline{H} = H(y, hD_x, 0)$  obtained from H by freezing x = y and skipping lower order terms and  $H' = H'(x, y, hD_x, h) = H - \overline{H}$ . Therefore,

(2.14) 
$$u^{\pm t}Q_{2y} = \bar{G}^{\pm}ihH'u^{\pm t}Q_{2y} \pm ih\bar{G}^{\mp}\delta(t)\delta(x-y)^{t}Q_{2y}I.$$

Iterating, we conclude that

(2.15) 
$$u^{\pm t}Q_{2y} = \sum_{0 \le n \le N-1} (\bar{G}^{\pm}ihH')^n \bar{u}^{\pm t}Q_{2y} + (\bar{G}^{\pm}ihH')^N u^{\pm t}Q_{2y},$$

(2.16) 
$$\bar{u}^{\pm} = \mp i h \bar{G}^{\pm} \delta(t) \delta(x-y) {}^{t} Q_{2y} h$$

where  $\bar{G}^{\pm}$  is a parametrix of the problem

(2.17) 
$$(ihD_t - \bar{H})v = f, \quad \operatorname{supp}(v) \subset \{\pm t \ge 0\}$$

and  $G^{\pm}$  is a parametrix of the same problem problem albeit for H.

Observe that

(2.18) 
$$H' = \sum_{1 \le |\alpha| + m \le N-1} (x - y)^{\alpha} h^m R_{\alpha,m}(y, hD_x) + \sum_{|\alpha| + m = N} (x - y)^{\alpha} h^m R_{\alpha,m}(x, y, hD_x);$$

therefore due to the finite speed of propagation, its norm does not exceed CT as long as we only consider strips  $\Pi_T^{\pm} := \{0 \leq \pm t \leq T\}$ . Meanwhile, due to the Duhamel's integral, the operator norms of  $G^{\pm}$  and  $\overline{G}^{\pm}$  from  $\mathcal{L}^2(\Pi_T^{\pm})$  to  $\mathcal{L}^2(\Pi_T^{\pm})$  do not exceed  $Ch^{-1}T$  and therefore each next term in the successive

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14)</sup> I.e.  ${}^{t}Qv = (Q^*v^{\dagger})^{\dagger}$  where  $v^{\dagger}$  is the complex conjugate to v.

approximations (2.15) acquires an extra factor  $Ch^{-1}T^2 = O(h^{\delta})$  as long as  $T \leq h^{\frac{1}{2}(1+\delta)}$  and the remainder term is  $O(h^s)$  if N is large enough.

To calculate the terms of the successive approximations, let us apply *h*-Fourier transform  $F_{(x,t)\to h^{-1}(\xi,\tau)}$  with  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^d$ ,  $\tau \in \mathbb{C}_{\mp} := \{\tau : \mp \operatorname{Im} \tau > 0\}$ and observe that  $\delta(t)\delta(x-y) \mapsto (2\pi)^{-d-1}e^{-ih^{-1}\langle y,\eta \rangle}$ ,  ${}^tQ_{2y}$  and  $R_{\alpha,m}$  become multiplication by  $Q_2(y,\eta)$  and  $R_{\alpha,m}(y,\xi)$  respectively, and  $\overline{G}^{\pm}$  becomes multiplication by  $(\tau - H^0(y,\xi))^{-1}$ . Meanwhile,  $(x_j - y_j)$  becomes  $-ih\partial_{\xi_j}$ .

Therefore the right-hand expression of (2.15) without the remainder term becomes a sum of terms  $\mp i \mathcal{F}_m(y,\xi,\tau) h^{m+1} e^{-ih^{-1}\langle y,\eta \rangle}$  with  $m \ge 0$  and  $\mathcal{F}_m(y,\xi,\tau)$  the sum of terms of the type

(2.19) 
$$(\tau - H^0(y,\xi))^{-1}b_*(y,\xi)(\tau - H^0(y,\xi))^{-1}b_*(y,\xi)\cdots b_*(y,\xi) \times (\tau - H^0(y,\xi))^{-1}Q_2(y,\eta)$$

with no more than 2m + 1 factors  $(\tau - H^0(y, \xi))^{-1}$ . Here, the  $b_*$  are regular symbols. In particular,

(2.20) 
$$\mathcal{F}_0(y,\xi,\tau) = (2\pi)^{-d-1} (\tau - H^0(y,\xi))^{-1} Q_2(y,\eta).$$

If we add the expressions for  $u^+$  and  $u^-$  instead of  $\mathcal{F}_m(y,\xi,\tau)$  with  $\tau \in \mathbb{C}_{\mp}$ , we get the distributions  $(\mathcal{F}_m(y,\xi,\tau+i0) - \mathcal{F}_m(y,\xi,\tau-i0))$  with  $\tau \in \mathbb{R}$ .

Applying the inverse *h*-Fourier transform with respect to x, operator  $Q_{1x}$ , and setting x = y, we cancel the factor  $e^{-ih^{-1}\langle y,\eta\rangle}$  and gain a factor of  $h^{-d}$ . Thus we arrive to the Proposition 2.5(i) below; applying Corollary 2.4(ii) and (iii), we arrive to its Statements (ii) and (iii). We also need to use

(2.21) 
$$u(x, y, t) = \int e^{ih^{-1}t\tau} d_{\tau} e(x, y, \tau).$$

**Proposition 2.5.** (i) As  $T_* = h^{1-\delta} \leq T \leq h^{\frac{1}{2}+\delta}$  and  $\bar{\chi} \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}_0([-1,1])$ 

(2.22) 
$$T \int \widehat{\overline{\chi}}((\lambda - \tau)Th^{-1}) d_{\tau}(Q_{1x}e^{t}Q_{2y})(y, y, \tau) \sim \sum_{m \ge 0} h^{-d+m}T \int \widehat{\overline{\chi}}((\lambda - \tau)Th^{-1})\kappa'_{m}(y, \tau)d\tau,$$

where  $\hat{\overline{\chi}}$  is the Fourier transform of  $\overline{\chi}$  and

(2.23) 
$$\kappa'_m(y) = \int \left( \mathcal{F}_m(y,\xi,\tau+i0) - \mathcal{F}_m(y,\xi,\tau-i0) \right) d\eta.$$

(ii) If H is microhyperbolic on the energy level  $\bar{\tau}$  on  $\text{supp}(Q_2)$  in some direction  $\ell$  with  $\ell_x = 0$  then (2.21) holds with  $T_* \leq T \leq T^*$ ,  $|\lambda - \bar{\tau}| \leq \epsilon$ , where  $T^*$  is a small constant.

(iii) On the other hand, if  $\ell_x \neq 0$ , then (2.21) still holds with  $T \leq T^*$ , albeit only after integration with respect to y:

(2.24) 
$$T \int \widehat{\chi}((\lambda - \tau)Th^{-1}) d_{\tau} \left( \int (Q_{1x}e^{t}Q_{2y})(y, y, \tau) dy \right) \sim \sum_{m \ge 0} h^{-d+m}T \int \widehat{\chi}((\lambda - \tau)Th^{-1})\varkappa'_{m}(\tau) d\tau$$

with

(2.25) 
$$\varkappa'_{m}(\tau) = \iint \left( \mathcal{F}_{m}(\mathbf{y},\xi,\tau+i\mathbf{0}) - \mathcal{F}_{m}(\mathbf{y},\xi,\tau-i\mathbf{0}) \right) d\mathbf{y} d\eta.$$

For details, proofs and generalizations, see Section 4.3 of [Ivr4].

#### **Recovering Spectral Asymptotics**

Let  $\alpha(\tau)$  denote  $(Q_{1x}e^{t}Q_{2y})(y, y, \tau)$  (which may be integrated with respect to y) and  $\beta(\tau)$  denote the convolution of its derivative  $\alpha'(\tau)$  with  $T\hat{\chi}(\tau T/h)$ . To recover  $\alpha(\tau)$  from  $\beta(\tau)$ , we apply *Tauberian methods*. First of all, we observe that under the corresponding microhyperbolicity condition the distribution  $\kappa'_m(y, \tau)$  or  $\varkappa'_m(\tau)$  is smooth and the right-hand side expression of (2.22) or (2.24) does not exceed  $Ch^{-d+1}$ .

Let us take  $Q_1 = Q_2$ ; then  $\alpha(y, \tau)$  or  $\alpha(\tau)$  is a monotone non-decreasing matrix function of  $\tau$ . We choose a Hörmander function<sup>15)</sup>  $\bar{\chi}(t)$  and estimate the left-hand expressions of (2.22) or (2.24) from below by

$$\epsilon_0 T (\alpha (\lambda + hT^{-1}) - \alpha (\lambda - hT^{-1})),$$

which implies that  $(\alpha(\lambda + hT^{-1}) - \alpha(\lambda - hT^{-1})) \leq CT^{-1}h^{-d+1}$  and therefore

(2.26) 
$$|\alpha(\lambda) - \alpha(\mu)| \le Ch^{-d+1}|\lambda - \mu| + CT^{-1}h^{-d+1}$$

as  $\lambda, \mu \in (\bar{\tau} - \epsilon, \bar{\tau} + \epsilon)$ . Then (2.26) automatically holds, even if  $Q_1$  and  $Q_2$  are not necessarily equal.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15)</sup> I.e. a compactly supported function with positive Fourier transform.

Further, (2.26) implies that

(2.27) 
$$|\alpha(\lambda) - \alpha(\mu) - h^{-1} \int_{\mu}^{\lambda} \beta(\tau) \, d\tau| \leq C T^{-1} h^{-d+1}$$

and therefore

(2.28) 
$$|\int \left(\alpha(\lambda) - \alpha(\mu) - h^{-1} \int_{\mu}^{\lambda} \beta(\tau) \, d\tau\right) \phi(\mu) \, d\mu| \leq C T^{-1} h^{-d+1}$$

if  $\bar{\chi} = 1$  on  $[-\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}]$ ,  $\lambda, \mu \in (\bar{\tau} - \epsilon, \bar{\tau} + \epsilon)$  and  $\phi \in \mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}((\bar{\tau} - \epsilon, \bar{\tau} + \epsilon))$  with  $\int \phi(\tau) d\tau = 1$ .

On the other hand, even without the microhyperbolicity condition, our successive approximation construction is not entirely useless. Let us apply  $\varphi_L(hD_t - \lambda)$  with  $\varphi \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}_0([-1, 1])$  and  $L \ge h^{\frac{1}{2}-\delta}$ , and then set t = 0. We arrive to

(2.29) 
$$\int \varphi((\tau - \lambda)L^{-1})(\alpha'(\tau) - \beta(\tau)) d\tau = O(h^{\infty}).$$

This allows us to extend (2.28) to  $\phi \in \mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}(bR)$ ) with  $\int \phi(\tau) d\tau = 1$ . For full details and generalizations, see Section 4.4 of [Ivr4].

Thus, we have proved:

**Theorem 2.6.** Let H = H(x, hD, h) be a self-adjoint operator. Then,

(i) The following asymptotics holds for  $L \ge h^{\frac{1}{2}-\delta}$ :

(2.30) 
$$\int \phi((\tau-\lambda)L^{-1})\Big(d_{\tau}(Q_{1x}e^{t}Q_{2y})(y,y,\tau)-\sum_{m\geq 0}h^{-d+m}\kappa'(y,\tau)d\tau\Big)$$
$$=O(h^{\infty}).$$

(ii) Let H be microhyperbolic on the energy level  $\bar{\tau}$  in some direction  $\ell$  with  $\ell_x = 0$ . Then for  $|\lambda - \bar{\tau}| \leq \epsilon$ ,

(2.31) 
$$(Q_{1x}e^{t}Q_{2y})(y, y, \lambda) = h^{-d}\kappa_{0}(y, \lambda) + O(h^{-d+1})$$

with  $\kappa_m(\mathbf{y}, \lambda) := \int_{-\infty}^{\lambda} \kappa'_m(\mathbf{y}, \tau) \, d\tau$ .

(iii) Let H be microhyperbolic on the energy level  $\bar{\tau}$  in some direction  $\ell$ . Then for  $|\lambda - \bar{\tau}| \leq \epsilon$ ,

(2.32) 
$$\int (Q_{1x}e^{t}Q_{2y})(y, y, \lambda) dy = h^{-d} \varkappa_{0}(\lambda) + O(h^{-d+1})$$

with  $\varkappa_m(y) \coloneqq \int_{-\infty}^{\lambda} \varkappa'_m(\tau) \, d\tau.$ 

(iv) In particular, it follows from (2.20) that

(2.33) 
$$\kappa_0(\lambda, x) = (2\pi)^{-d} \int q_1^0(x,\xi) \theta(\lambda - H^0(x,\xi)) q_2^0(x,\xi) d\xi$$

and

(2.34) 
$$\varkappa_{0}(\lambda) = (2\pi)^{-d} \int q_{1}^{0}(x,\xi) \theta(\lambda - H^{0}(x,\xi)) q_{2}^{0}(x,\xi) \, dx d\xi$$

Remark 2.7. (i) So far we have assumed that  $Q_1, Q_2$  had compactly supported symbols in  $(x, \xi)$ . Assuming that these symbols are compactly supported with respect to x only, in particular when  $Q_1 = \psi(x), Q_2 = 1$ , with  $\psi \in \mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}(X)$ , we need to assume that

(2.35) 
$$\{\xi : \exists x \in X : \text{Spec } H^0(x,\xi) \cap (-\infty, \lambda + \epsilon_0] \neq \emptyset\}$$
 is a compact set.

(ii) If we assume only that

(2.36) 
$$\{\xi : \exists x \in X : \text{Spec } H^0(x,\xi) \cap (\mu - \epsilon_0, \lambda + \epsilon_0] \neq \emptyset\}$$
 is a compact set,

instead of (2.31) and (2.32), we get

(2.37) 
$$|(Q_{1x}e^{t}Q_{2y})(y, y, \lambda, \mu) - h^{-1}\kappa_{0}(y, \lambda, \mu)| \leq Ch^{-d+1}$$

and

(2.38) 
$$| \iint (Q_{1x}e^{t}Q_{2y})(y,y,\lambda,\mu) dy - h^{-1}\varkappa_0(\lambda,\mu)| \leq Ch^{-d+1},$$

where  $\mu \leq \lambda$ ,  $e(x, y, \lambda, \mu) \coloneqq e(x, y, \lambda) - e(x, y, \mu)$ ,  $\kappa_m(y, \lambda) \coloneqq \int_{\mu}^{\lambda} \kappa'_m(y, \tau) d\tau$ ,  $\varkappa_m(y, \lambda) \coloneqq \int_{\mu}^{\lambda} \varkappa'_m(y, \tau) d\tau$  and we assume that the corresponding microhyperbolicity assumption is fulfilled on both energy levels  $\mu$  and  $\lambda$ . (iii) If  $H^0(x,\xi)$  is an elliptic symbol which is positively homogeneous of degree m > 0 with respect to  $\xi$ , then the microhyperbolicity condition is fulfilled with  $\ell = (0, \pm \xi)$  on energy levels  $\tau \neq 0$ . Furthermore, the compactness condition of (ii) is fulfilled, and if  $H^0(x,\xi)$  is also positive-definite, then the compactness condition of (i) is also fulfilled.

### Second Term and Dynamics

**Propagation of Singularities** To derive two-term asymptotics, one can use the scheme described in Section 1, albeit one needs to describe the propagation of singularities. For matrix operators, this may be slightly tricky.

Let us introduce the characteristic symbol  $g(x, \xi) := \det(\tau - H^0(x, \xi))$ where  $x = (x_0, x)$ ,  $\xi = (\xi_0, \xi)$  etc; then  $\operatorname{Char}(\xi_0 - H(x, \xi)) = \{(x, \xi) : g(x, \xi) = 0\}$ . Let  $\xi_0$  be a root of multiplicity r of  $g(x, \xi_0, \xi)$ ; then  $g_{(\beta)}^{(\alpha)}(x, \xi) = 0$  for all  $\alpha, \beta : |\alpha| + |\beta| < r$ . Let us consider the r-jet of g at such a point:

(2.39) 
$$g_{(x,\xi)}(y,\eta) \coloneqq \sum_{\alpha,\beta:|\alpha|+|\beta| < r} \frac{1}{\alpha!\beta!} g_{(\beta)}^{(\alpha)}(x,\xi) y^{\beta} \eta^{\alpha};$$

it is a hyperbolic polynomial with respect to  $\eta_0$ . Consider its hyperbolicity cone  $K(x,\xi)$ , which is the connected component of  $\{(y;\eta) \in \mathbb{R}^{2d+2} : g_{(x,\xi)}(y,\eta) \neq 0\}$  containing  $\{(y,\eta) : \eta_0 = 1, y = \eta = 0\}$  and the dual hyperbolicity cone

(2.40) 
$$\mathcal{K}^{\#}(\mathbf{x},\boldsymbol{\xi}) = \{(\mathbf{y}',\boldsymbol{\eta}'): \langle \mathbf{y}',\boldsymbol{\eta} \rangle - \langle \mathbf{y},\boldsymbol{\eta}' \rangle > 0\} \subset \{\mathbf{y}_0 = 0\}.$$

**Definition 2.8.** (i) An absolutely continuous curve  $(x(t), \xi(t))$  (with  $x_0 = t$ ) is called a *generalized Hamiltonian trajectory* if a.e.

(2.41) 
$$(1, \frac{dx}{dt}; \frac{d\xi}{dt}) \in K^{\#}(x, \xi_0, \xi).$$

Note that  $\xi_0 = \tau$  remains constant along the trajectory.

(ii) Let  $\mathcal{K}^{\pm}(x, \xi)$  denote the union of all generalized Hamiltonian trajectories issued from  $(x, \xi)$  in the direction of increasing/decreasing t.

If  $g = \alpha g_1^r$  where  $\alpha \neq 0$  and  $g_1 = 0 \implies \nabla g_1 \neq 0$ , the generalized Hamiltonian trajectories are just (ordinary) Hamiltonian trajectories of  $g_1$  and  $\mathcal{K}^{\pm}(x, \xi)$  are just half-trajectories<sup>16</sup>.

The following theorem follows from Theorem 2.2:

**Theorem 2.9.** If u(x, y, t) is the Schwartz kernel of  $e^{ih^{-1}tH}$ , then

(2.42) WF(u) 
$$\subset \{(x,\xi;y,-\eta;t,\tau) : \pm t > 0, (t,x;\tau,\xi) \in K^{\pm}(0,y;\tau,\eta)\}.$$

Then, we obtain:

Corollary 2.10. In the framework of Theorem 2.9,

(2.43) 
$$\mathsf{WF}(\sigma_{Q_1,Q_2}(t)) \subset \{(t,\tau) : \exists (x,\xi) : (t,x;\tau,\xi) \in \mathcal{K}^{\pm}(0,x;\tau,\xi) \},\$$

and for any x,

$$(2.44) \qquad \mathsf{WF}(Q_{1x}u^{t}Q_{2y}) \subset \{(t,\tau): \exists \xi, \eta: (t,x;\tau,\xi) \in \mathcal{K}^{\pm}(0,x;\tau,\eta)\}.$$

**Definition 2.11.** (i) A *periodic point* is a point  $(x, \xi)$  which satisfies  $(t, x; \tau, \xi) \in \mathcal{K}^{\pm}(0, x; \tau, \xi)$  for some  $t \neq 0$ .

(ii) A loop point is a point x which satisfies  $(t, x; \tau, \xi) \in \mathcal{K}^{\pm}(0, x; \tau, \eta)$  for some  $t \neq 0, \xi, \eta$ ; we call  $\eta$  a loop direction.

**Application to Spectral Asymptotics** Combining Corollary 2.10 with the arguments of Section 1, we arrive to

**Theorem 2.12.** (i) In the framework of Theorem 2.6(ii) let for some x the set of all loop directions at point x on energy level  $\lambda$  have measure  $0^{17}$ . Then,

(2.45) 
$$(Q_{1x}e^{t}Q_{2y})(y, y, \lambda) = h^{-d}\kappa_{0}(y, \lambda) + h^{1-d}\kappa_{1}(y, \lambda) + o(h^{-d+1}).$$

(ii) In the framework of Theorem 2.6(iii), suppose that the set of all periodic points on energy level  $\lambda$  has measure  $0^{18}$ . Then,

(2.46) 
$$\int (Q_{1x}e^{t}Q_{2y})(y, y, \lambda) dy = h^{-d}\varkappa_{0}(\lambda) + h^{1-d}\varkappa_{1}(\lambda) + o(h^{-d+1}).$$

 $^{16)}$  Since  $e^{ih^{-1}tH}$  describes evolution with revert time, time is also reverted along (generalized) Hamiltonian trajectories.

<sup>17)</sup> There exists a natural measure  $\mu_{\lambda,x}$  on  $\{\xi : \det(\lambda - H^0(x,\xi)) = 0\}$ .

<sup>18)</sup> There exists a natural measure  $\mu_{\lambda}$  on  $\{(x,\xi) : \det(\lambda - H^0(x,\xi)) = 0\}$ .

*Remark 2.13.* (i) When studying propagation, we can allow H to also depend on  $x_0 = t$ ; for all details and proofs, see Sections 2.1 and 2.2 of [Ivr4].

(ii) Recall that  $e(x, y, \lambda)$  is the Schwartz kernel of  $\theta(\lambda - H)$ . We can also consider  $e_{\nu}(x, y, \tau)$  which is the Schwartz kernel of  $(\lambda - H)^{\nu}_{+} := (\lambda - H)^{\nu}\theta(\lambda - H)$  with  $\nu \geq 0$ . Then in the Tauberian arguments,  $h^{-d} \times (h/T)$  is replaced by  $h^{-d} \times (h/T)^{1+\nu}$  and then in the framework of Theorem 2.6(ii) and (iii) remainder estimates are  $O(h^{-d+1+\nu})$  and in the framework of Theorem 2.6(i) and (ii), the remainder estimates are  $o(h^{-d+1+\nu})$ ; sure, in the asymptotics one should include all the necessary terms  $\kappa_m h^{-d+m}$  or  $\varkappa_m h^{-d+m 19}$ .

(iii) Under more restrictive conditions on Hamiltonian trajectories instead of T an arbitrarily large constant, we can take T depending on  $h^{20}$ ; see Section 2.4 of [Ivr4]. Usually, we can take  $T = \epsilon |\log h|$  or even  $T = h^{-\delta}$ .

Then in the remainder estimate, the main term is

$$C(\mu(\Pi_{T,\gamma})h^{-d+1} + h^{-d+1+\nu}T^{-1-\nu}),$$

where  $\Pi_{\mathcal{T},\gamma}$  is the set of all points  $z = (x,\xi)$  (on the given energy level) such that  $\operatorname{dist}(\Psi_t(z), z) \leq \gamma$  for some  $t \in (\epsilon, \mathcal{T})$  and  $\gamma = h^{1/2-\delta'}$ . Here, however, we assume that either  $H^0$  is scalar or its eigenvalues have constant multiplicities and apply the Heisenberg approach to the long-term evolution.

Then the remainder estimates could be improved to  $O(h^{-d+1+\nu}|\log h|^{-1-\nu})$ or even to  $O(h^{-d+1+\nu+\delta})$  respectively. As examples, we can consider the geodesic flow on a Riemannian manifold with negative sectional curvature (log case) and the completely integrable non-periodic Hamiltonian flow (power case). For all details and proofs, see Section 4.5 of [Ivr4].

#### **Rescaling Technique**

The results we proved are very uniform: as long as we know that operator in question is self-adjoint and that the smoothness and non-degeneracy conditions are fulfilled uniformly in  $B(\bar{x}, 1)$ , then all asymptotics are also uniform (as  $x \in B(\bar{x}, \frac{1}{2})$  or  $\text{supp}(\psi) \subset B(\bar{x}, \frac{1}{2})$ ). Then these results could self-improve.

 $<sup>^{19)}</sup>$  Here, we need to assume that H is semi-bounded from below; otherwise some modifications are required.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20)</sup> Usually these restrictions are  $T \leq h^{-\delta}$  and  $|D\Psi_t(z)| \leq h^{-\delta}$  with sufficiently small  $\delta > 0$ .

Here we consider only the Schrödinger operator away from the boundary; but the approach could be generalized for a wider class of operators. For generalizations, details and proofs, see Chapter 5 of [Ivr4].

**Proposition 2.14.** Consider the Schrödinger operator. Assume that  $\rho\gamma \ge h$  and in  $B(\bar{x}, \gamma) \subset X$ ,

$$(2.47)_{1,2} \qquad \qquad |\partial^{\alpha} g^{jk}| \le c_{\alpha} \gamma^{-|\alpha|}, \qquad |\partial^{\alpha} V| \le c_{\alpha} \rho^{2} \gamma^{-|\alpha|}.$$

Then,

(i) In  $B(\bar{x}, \frac{1}{2}\gamma)$ , (2.48)  $e(x, x, 0) \le C\rho^d h^{-d}$ .

(ii) If in addition  $|V| + |\nabla V|\gamma \ge \epsilon \rho^2$ , then for  $\operatorname{supp}(\psi) \subset B(\bar{x}, \frac{1}{2}\gamma)$  such that  $|\partial^{\alpha}\psi| \le c_{\alpha}\gamma^{-|\alpha|}$ ,

(2.49) 
$$\left| \int \left( e(x, x, 0) - \kappa_0 V_{-}^{d/2} \right) dx \right| \leq C \rho^{d-1} \gamma^{d-1} h^{1-d};$$

(iii) If in addition  $|V| \ge \epsilon \rho^2$  in  $B(\bar{x}, \gamma)$  then

(2.50) 
$$|e(x, x, 0) - \kappa_0 V_-^{d/2}| \le C \rho^{d-1} \gamma^{-1} h^{1-d};$$

(iv) If in addition  $V \ge \epsilon \rho^2$  in  $B(\bar{x}, \gamma)$ , then for any s,

$$(2.51) |e(x,x,0)| \le C\rho^{d-s}\gamma^{-s}h^{s-d}.$$

*Proof.* Indeed, we have already proved this in the special case  $\rho = \gamma = 1$ ,  $h \leq 1$ . In the general case, we can reduce the problem to the special case by rescaling  $x \mapsto x\gamma^{-1}$ ,  $\tau \mapsto \tau\rho^{-2}$  (so we multiply operator by  $\rho^{-2}$ ) and then automatically  $h \mapsto \hbar = h\rho^{-1}\gamma^{-1}$ . Recall that  $e(x, y, \tau)$  is a function with respect to x but a density with respect to y so an extra factor  $\gamma^{-d}$  appears in the right-hand expressions.

Let us assume that the conditions  $(2.47)_{1,2}$  are fulfilled with  $\rho = \gamma = 1$ . We want to get rid of the non-degeneracy assumption  $|V| \approx 1$  in the pointwise asymptotics. Let us introduce the *scaling function*  $\gamma(\mathbf{x})$  and also  $\rho(\mathbf{x})$ 

(2.52) 
$$\gamma(\mathbf{x}) = \epsilon |V(\mathbf{x})| + \bar{\gamma} \text{ with } \bar{\gamma} = h^{\frac{2}{3}}, \qquad \rho(\mathbf{x}) = \gamma(\mathbf{x})^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

One can easily see that

(2.53) 
$$|\nabla \gamma| \le \frac{1}{2}, \qquad \rho \gamma \ge h,$$

 $(2.47)_{1,2}$  are fulfilled and either  $|V| \ge \epsilon \rho^2$  or  $\rho \gamma \asymp h$  and therefore (2.50) holds ( $\hbar \asymp 1$  as  $\rho \gamma \asymp h$  and no non-degeneracy condition is needed). Note that for  $d \ge 3$ , the right-hand expression of (2.50) is  $O(h^{1-d})$  and for d = 1, 2, it is  $O(h^{-\frac{2}{3}d})$ . So, we got rid of the non-degeneracy assumption  $|V| \asymp 1$ , and the remainder estimate deteriorated only for d = 1, 2.

Remark 2.15. (i) We can improve the estimates for d = 1, 2 to  $O(h^{\frac{1}{3}-\frac{2}{3}d})$ , but then we will need to add some correction terms first under the assumption  $|V| + |\nabla V| \approx 1$  and then get rid of it by rescaling; these correction terms are of boundary-layer type (near V = 0) and are  $O(h^{-\frac{2}{3}d})$  and are due to short loops. For details, see Theorems 5.3.11 and 5.3.16 of [Ivr4].

(ii) If d = 2, then under the assumption  $|V| + |\nabla V| \approx 1$ , the weight  $\rho^{-1}\gamma^{-1}$  is integrable, and we arrive to the local asymptotics with the remainder estimate  $O(h^{1-d})$ .

(iii) We want to get rid of the non-degeneracy assumption  $|V| + |\nabla V| \approx 1$ in the local asymptotics. We can do it with the scaling function

(2.54) 
$$\gamma(\mathbf{x}) = \epsilon \left( |V(\mathbf{x})| + |\nabla V|^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} + \overline{\gamma} \quad \text{with} \quad \overline{\gamma} = h^{\frac{1}{2}}, \qquad \rho(\mathbf{x}) = \gamma(\mathbf{x}).$$

Then for d = 2, we recover remainder the estimate  $O(h^{-1})$ ; while for d = 1, the remainder estimate  $O(h^{-\frac{1}{2}})$  which could be improved further up to O(1) under some extremely weak non-degeneracy assumption or to  $O(h^{-\delta})$  with an arbitrarily small exponent  $\delta > 0$  without it.

(iv) If  $d \ge 2$ , then in the framework of Theorem 2.12(i), we can get rid of the non-degeneracy assumption as well. This is true for the magnetic Schrödinger operator as well if  $d \ge 2$ ; when d = 2, some modification of the statement is required; see Remark 5.3.4 of [Ivr4].

(v) Furthermore, if we consider asymptotics for  $\text{Tr}((\lambda - H)^{\nu}_{+}\psi)$  (see Remark 2.13(ii)) with  $\nu > 0$  then in the local asymptotics, we get the remainder estimate  $O(h^{1-d+s})$  without any non-degeneracy assumptions. For details, see Theorem 5.3.5 of [Ivr4].

#### **Operators with Periodic Trajectories**

**Preliminary Analysis** Consider a scalar operator H. For simplicity, assume that X is a compact closed manifold. Assume that all the Hamiltonian trajectories are periodic (with periods not exceeding  $C(\mu)$  on the energy levels  $\lambda \leq \mu$ ). Then the period depends only on the energy level and let  $T(\lambda)$  be the minimal period such that all trajectories on the energy level  $\lambda$  are  $T(\lambda)$  periodic<sup>21</sup>.

Without any loss of the generality, one can assume that  $T(\lambda) = 1$ . Indeed, we can replace H by f(H) with  $f'(\lambda) = 1/T(\lambda)$ . Then,

$$(2.55) e^{\nabla^{\#} H^0} = I$$

and therefore,

 $(2.56) e^{ih^{-1}H} = e^{i\varepsilon h^{-1}B},$ 

where B = B(x, hD, h) is an *h*-pseudo-differential operator which could be selected to commute with *H*, at this point,  $\varepsilon = h$ . Then,  $H_0 = H - \varepsilon B$  satisfies

(2.57) 
$$e^{ih^{-1}H_0} = I \implies \operatorname{Spec}(H_0) \subset 2\pi h\mathbb{Z};$$

we call this quantum periodicity in contrast to the classical periodicity (2.55).

We can calculate the multiplicity  $N_{k,h} = O(h^{1-d})$  of the eigenvalue  $2\pi hk$ with  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$  modulo  $O(h^{\infty})$ . The formula is rather complicated especially since subperiodic trajectories<sup>21)</sup> cause the redistribution of multiplicities between eigenvalues (however, this causes no more than  $O(h^{1-d+r})$  error).

We consider  $H := H_{\varepsilon} = H_0 + \varepsilon B$  as a perturbation of  $H_0$  and we assume only that  $\varepsilon \ll 1$ . If  $\varepsilon \leq \epsilon_0 h$ , the spectrum of H consists of *eigenvalue clusters* of the width  $C_0 \varepsilon$  separated by *spectral gaps* of the width  $\asymp h$ , but if  $\varepsilon \geq \epsilon_0 h$ , these clusters may overlap.

#### Long Range Evolution Consider

(2.58) 
$$e^{ih^{-1}tH} = e^{ih^{-1}tH_0}e^{-ih^{-1}t\varepsilon B} = e^{ih^{-1}t'H_0}e^{ih^{-1}t''B}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21)</sup> However, there could be subperiodic trajectories, i.e. trajectories periodic with period  $T(\lambda)/p$  with p = 2, 3, ... It is known that the set  $\Lambda_p$  of subperiodic trajectories with subperiod  $T(\lambda)/p$  is a union of symplectic submanifolds  $\Lambda_{p,r}$  of codimension 2r.

with  $t'' = \varepsilon t$ ,  $t' = t - \lfloor t \rfloor$ . We now have a *fast evolution*  $e^{ih^{-1}t'H_0}$  and a *slow* evolution  $e^{ih^{-1}t''B}$  and both t', t'' are bounded as  $|t| \leq T^* := \varepsilon^{-1}$ . Therefore, we can trace the evolution up to time  $T^*$ .

Let the following non-degeneracy assumption be fulfilled:

$$(2.59) |\nabla_{\Sigma(\lambda)} b| \ge \epsilon_0,$$

where b is the principal symbol of B,  $\Sigma(\lambda) := \{(x, \xi) : H^0(x, \xi) = \lambda\}$  and  $\nabla_{\Sigma(\lambda)}$  is the gradient along  $\Sigma(\lambda)$ . Then using our methods, we can prove that

(2.60) 
$$|F_{t\to h^{-1}\tau}\chi_{\tau}(t)\int u(x,x,t)\psi(x)\,dx|\leq CTh^{1-d}(h/\varepsilon T)^{s},$$

and therefore

(2.61) 
$$F_{t\to h^{-1}\tau}\bar{\chi}_{\tau}(t)\int u(x,x,t)\psi(x)\,dx|\leq Ch^{1-d}(\varepsilon^{-1}h+1)$$

for  $\epsilon_0(\varepsilon^{-1}h+1) \leq T \leq \epsilon_0\varepsilon^{-1}$ ; recall that  $\chi \in \mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}([-1,-\frac{1}{2}] \cup [\frac{1}{2},1]$  and  $\bar{\chi} \in \mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}([-1,1], \bar{\chi}=1 \text{ on } [-\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2}].$ 

Then the Tauberian error does not exceed the right-hand expression of (2.61) multiplied by  $T^{*-1} \simeq \varepsilon$ , i.e.  $Ch^{1-d}(\varepsilon + h)$ . In the Tauberian expression, we need to take  $T = \epsilon_0(\varepsilon^{-1}h^{1-\delta} + 1)$ .

**Calculations** We can pass from Tauberian expression to a more explicit one. Observe that the contribution to the former are produced only by time intervals  $t \in [n - h^{1-\delta}, n + h^{1-\delta}]$  with  $|n| \leq T_*$ ; contribution of the remaining interval will be either negligible (if there are no subperiodic trajectories) or  $O(h^{2-d})$  (if such trajectories exist). Such an interval with n = 0 produces the standard Weyl expression.

Consider  $n \neq 0$ . Then the contribution of such intervals lead to a correction term

(2.62) 
$$\mathsf{N}_{\operatorname{corr},Q_1,Q_2}(\lambda) \coloneqq (2\pi)^{-d} h^{1-d} \int_{\Sigma_{\tau}} q_1^0 \Upsilon_1(h^{-1}(H^0 - \varepsilon b)) d\mu_{\tau} q_2^0,$$

where  $\Upsilon_1(t) = 2\pi \lceil \frac{t}{2\pi} \rceil - t + \frac{1}{2}$ .

**Theorem 2.16.** Under assumptions (2.55), (2.56), (2.59) and  $\varepsilon \ge h^M$ ,

(2.63) 
$$\int (Q_{1x}e^{t}Q_{2y})(y,y,\lambda) dy = h^{-d}\varkappa_{0,Q_{1},Q_{2}}(\lambda) + h^{1-d}\varkappa_{1,Q_{1},Q_{2}}(\lambda) + \mathsf{N}_{\operatorname{corr},Q_{1},Q_{2}}(\lambda) + O(h^{1-d}(\varepsilon+h)).$$

For a more general statement with (2.59) replaced by a weaker nondegeneration assumption, see Theorem 6.2.24 of [Ivr4]. Further, we can skip a correction term (2.62) if  $\varepsilon \geq h^{1-\delta}$ ; while if  $h^M \leq \varepsilon \leq h^{1-\delta}$ , this term is  $O(h^{1-d}(h/\varepsilon)^s)$  for  $\varepsilon \geq h$  and of magnitude  $h^{1-d}$  for  $h^M \leq \varepsilon \leq h$ .

For further generalizations, details and proofs, see Sections 6.2 and 6.3 of [Ivr4]. For related spectral asymptotics for a family of commuting operators, see Section 6.1 of [Ivr4].

One can also consider the case when there is a massive set of periodic trajectories, yet non-periodic trajectories exist. For details, see [SV1] and Subsection 6.3.7 of [Ivr4].

### **Boundary Value Problems**

### **Preliminary Analysis**

Let X be a domain in  $\mathbb{R}^d$  with boundary  $\partial X$  and H an h-differential matrix operator which is self-adjoint in  $\mathcal{L}^2(X)$  under the h-differential boundary conditions. Again, we are interested in the local and pointwise spectral asymptotics, i.e. those of  $\int e(x, x, 0)\psi(x) dx$  with  $\psi \in \mathscr{C}_0^\infty(B(0, \frac{1}{2}))$  and of e(x, x, 0) with  $x \in B(0, \frac{1}{2})$ .

Assume that in B(0, 1), everything is good:  $\partial X$  and coefficients of H are smooth, H is  $\xi$ -microhyperbolic on the energy levels  $\lambda_{1,2}$  ( $\lambda_1 < \lambda_2$ ) and also H is elliptic as a differential operator, i.e.

(2.64) 
$$\|H(x,\xi)v\| \ge (\epsilon_0|\xi|^m - C_0)\|v\| \quad \forall v \quad \forall x \in B(0,1) \ \forall \xi.$$

Then,

(2.65) 
$$e(x, x, \lambda_1, \lambda_2) = \kappa_0(x, \lambda_1, \lambda_2)h^{-d} + O(h^{1-d}\gamma(x)^{-1})$$

for  $x \in B(0, \frac{1}{2})$  and  $\gamma(x) \ge h$ ,

(2.66) 
$$\kappa_0(x,\lambda_1,\lambda_2) = (2\pi)^{-d} \int \left(\theta(\lambda_2 - H^0(x,\xi)) - \theta(\lambda_1 - H^0(x,\xi))\right) d\xi$$

and  $\gamma(x) = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{dist}(x, \partial X)$ .

Indeed, the scaling  $x \mapsto (x - y)/\gamma$  and  $h \mapsto \hbar/\gamma$  brings us into the framework of Theorem 2.6(ii) because  $\xi$ -microhyperbolicity (in contrast to
the  $(x, \xi)$ -microhyperbolicity) survives such rescaling. Then,

(2.67) 
$$\int_{\{x:\gamma(x)\geq h\}} \left(e(x,x,\lambda_1,\lambda_2) - h^{-d}\kappa_0(x,\lambda_1,\lambda_2)\right)\psi(x)\,dx$$
$$= O(h^{1-d}\log h),$$

since  $\int_{\{x: \gamma(x) \ge h\}} \gamma(x)^{-1} dx \simeq |\log h|$ . One can easily show that if the boundary value problem for H is elliptic then

(2.68) 
$$e(x, x, \lambda_1, \lambda_2) = O(h^{-d})$$

and therefore,

(2.69) 
$$\int \left( e(x, x, \lambda_1, \lambda_2) - h^{-d} \kappa_0(x, \lambda_1, \lambda_2) \right) \psi(x) \, dx = O(h^{1-d} \log h).$$

To improve this remainder estimate, one needs to improve (2.67) rather than (2.65) but to get sharper asymptotics, we need to improve both. We will implement the same scheme as inside the domain.

### **Propagation of Singularities**

Toy-Model: Schrödinger Operator Let us consider the Schrödinger operator

$$(2.70) H \coloneqq h^2 \Delta + V(x)$$

with the boundary condition

 $(\alpha(\mathbf{x})h\partial_{\nu}+\beta(\mathbf{x}))\mathbf{v}|_{\partial \mathbf{X}}=\mathbf{0},$ (2.71)

where

(2.72) 
$$\Delta = \sum_{j,k} D_j g^{jk} D_k, \qquad \partial_{\nu} = \sum_j g^{j1} \partial_j$$

is derivative in the direction of the inner normal  $\nu$  (we assume that X = $\{x: x_1 > 0\}$  locally<sup>22</sup>),  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  are real-valued and do not vanish simultaneously. Without any loss of the generality, we can assume that locally

$$(2.73) g^{j1} = \delta_{j1}.$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22)</sup> I.e. in intersection with B(0, 1).

First of all, near the boundary, we can study the propagation of singularities using the same scheme as in Subsection 2 as long as  $\phi_j(x,\xi) = \phi_j(x,\xi')$ do not depend on the component of  $\xi$  which is "normal to the boundary". The intuitive way to explain why one needs this is that at reflections,  $\xi_1$ changes by a jump.

For the Schrödinger operator, it is sufficient for our needs: near glancing points  $(x, \xi')$  (which are points such that  $x_1 = 0$  and the set  $\{\xi_1 : H^0(x', \xi', \xi_1) = \tau\}$  consists of exactly one point), we can apply this method. On the other hand, near other points, we can construct the solution by traditional methods of oscillatory integrals.

It is convenient to decompose u(x, y, t) into the sum

(2.74) 
$$u = u^{0}(x, y, t) + u^{1}(x, y, t),$$

where  $u^0(x, y, t)$  is a *free space solution* (without boundary) which we studied in Subsection 2 and  $u^1 := u - u^0$  is a *reflected wave*.

Observe that even for the Schrödinger operator, we cannot claim that the singularity of u(x, x, t) at t = 0 is isolated. The reason are *short loops* made by trajectories which reflect from the boundary in the normal direction and follow the same path in the opposite direction. However, these short loops affect neither u(x, x, t) at the points of the boundary nor u(x, x, t)integrated in any direction transversal to the boundary (and thus do not affect  $\sigma_{\psi}(t)$  defined below).

Furthermore, they do not affect  $(Q_{1x}u^{t}Q_{2y})(x, x, t)$  as long as at least one of operators  $Q_{j} = Q_{j}(x, hD', hD_{t})$  cuts them of. Then we get the estimate (2.9). Consider  $Q_{1} = Q_{2} = 1$ . Then, if  $V(x) - \lambda > 0$ , we get the same estimate at the point  $x \in \partial X$ . On the other hand, if either  $V(x) - \lambda < 0$  or  $V(x) = \lambda$ ,  $\nabla_{\partial X}V(x) \neq 0$  (where  $\nabla_{\partial X}$  means "along  $\partial X$ ") at each point of  $\sup p(\psi)$ , we get the same estimate for  $\sigma_{\psi}(x) = \int u(x, x, t) dx$ . As usual,  $\lambda$ is an energy level.

Moreover,  $\sigma_{\psi}^{1}(t) = \int u^{1}(x, x, t)\psi(x) dx$  satisfies

(2.75) 
$$|F_{t \to h^{-1}\tau} \chi_{T}(t) \sigma_{\psi}^{1}(t)| \leq C_{s} h^{1-d} (h/|t|)^{s}.$$

In contrast to the Dirichlet ( $\alpha = 0, \beta = 1$ ) or Neumann ( $\alpha = 1, \beta = 0$ ) conditions, under the more general boundary condition (2.71), the classically forbidden level  $\lambda$  (i.e. with  $\lambda < \inf_{B(0,1)} V$ ) may be not forbidden after all. Namely, in this zone, the operator  $hD_t - H$  is elliptic and we can construct

the Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator  $L: v|_{\partial X} \to h\partial_1 v|_{\partial X}$  as  $(hD_t - H)v \equiv 0$ . This is an *h*-pseudo-differential operator on  $\partial X$  with principal symbol

(2.76) 
$$L^{0}(x',\xi',\tau) = -\left(V + \sum_{j,k\geq 2} g^{jk}\xi_{j}\xi_{k} - \tau\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

Then the boundary condition (2.71) becomes

(2.77) 
$$Mw \coloneqq (\alpha L + \beta)w \equiv 0, \qquad w = v|_{\partial X}.$$

The energy level  $\lambda < V(x)$  is indeed forbidden if the operator M is elliptic as  $\tau = \lambda$ , i.e. if  $M^0(x', \xi', \lambda) = \alpha L^0(x', \xi', \lambda) + \beta \neq 0$  for all  $\xi'$ ; it happens as either  $\alpha^{-1}\beta < 0$  or  $W := V - \alpha^{-2}\beta^2 > \lambda$ . Otherwise, to recover  $(2.75)^{23}$ , we assume that M is either  $\xi'$ -microhyperbolic or  $(x', \xi')$ -microhyperbolic  $(W > \lambda \text{ and } W = \lambda \implies \nabla_{\partial X} W \neq 0$  respectively).

**General Operators** For more general operators and boundary value problems, we use similar arguments albeit not relying upon the representation of u(x, y, t) via oscillatory integrals. It follows from (2.74) that

(2.78) 
$$(hD_t - H)u^{1\pm} = 0,$$

(2.79) 
$$Bu^{1\pm}|_{x_1=0} = -Bu^{0\pm}|_{x_1=0},$$

where as before,  $u^{k\pm} = u^k \theta(\pm t)$ , k = 0, 1. Assuming that H satisfies (2.64), we reduce (2.78)–(2.79) to the problem

(2.80) 
$$\mathcal{A}U^{1\pm} \coloneqq (\mathcal{A}_0 h D_1 + \mathcal{A}_1) U^{1\pm} \equiv 0,$$

(2.81) 
$$\mathcal{B}U^{1\pm}|_{x_1=0} = -\mathcal{B}U^{0\pm}$$

with  $\mathcal{A}_k = \mathcal{A}_k(x, hD', hD_t)$ ,  $\mathcal{B} = \mathcal{B}(x, hD', hD_t)$  and  $U = S_x u^t S_y$  with  $S = S(x, hD_x, hD_t)$  etc<sup>24)</sup>.

In a neighbourhood of any point  $(\bar{x}', \bar{\xi}', \lambda)$ , the operator  $\mathcal{A}$  could be reduced to the block-diagonal form with blocks  $\mathcal{A}_{kj}$  (k = 0, 1, j = 1, ..., N) such that

(a) For each j = 1, ..., N - 1, the equation  $\det(\mathcal{A}_{0j}^0 \eta + \mathcal{A}_{1j}^0) = 0$  has a single real root  $\eta_j$  (at the point  $(\bar{x}', \bar{\xi}', \lambda)$  only),  $\eta_j$  are distinct, and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23)</sup> With d replaced by d - 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24)</sup> If *H* is a D × D matrix operator of order *m* then  $\mathcal{A}$  and *S* are  $mD \times mD$  and  $mD \times D$  matrix operators, *B* and  $\mathcal{B}$  are  $\frac{1}{2}mD \times D$  and  $\frac{1}{2}mD \times mD$  matrix operators respectively.

(b)  $\mathcal{A}_{kN} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \mathcal{A}'_{kN} \\ \mathcal{A}''_{kN} & 0 \end{pmatrix}$  with  $\det(\mathcal{A}'^0_{0N}\eta + \mathcal{A}'^0_{1N}) = 0$  and  $\det(\mathcal{A}''^0_{0N}\eta + \mathcal{A}''^0_{1N}) = 0$  has only roots with  $\operatorname{Im} \eta < 0$  and with  $\operatorname{Im} \eta > 0$  respectively.

We can prove a statement similar to Theorem 2.2, but instead of functions  $\phi_*(x,\xi)$ , we now have arrays of functions  $\phi_{*j}(x, t, \xi', \tau)$  (j = 1, ..., N-1)coinciding with  $\phi_{*N}(x', t, \xi', \tau)$  as  $x_1 = 0$ . Respectively, instead of microhyperbolicity of the operator in the direction  $\ell \in T(T^*(X \times \mathbb{R}))$ , we now have the microhyperbolicity of the boundary value problem in the multidirection  $(\ell', \nu_1, ..., \nu_{N-1}) \in T(T^*(\partial X \times \mathbb{R})) \times \mathbb{R}^{N-1}$ ; see Definition 3.1.4 of [Ivr4]. It includes the microhyperbolicity of  $\mathcal{A}_j$  in the direction  $(\ell', 0, \nu_j)$  for j = 1, ..., N-1 and a condition invoking  $\mathcal{A}_N$  and  $\mathcal{B}$  and generalizing the microhyperbolicity of operator M for the Schrödinger operator. Respectively, instead of the microhyperbolicity of an operator in the direction  $\nabla^{\#}\phi_*$ , we want the microhyperbolicity in the multidirection  $(\nabla'^{\#}\phi_*, \partial_1\phi_{*1}, ..., \partial_1\phi_{*(N-1)})$ .

As a corollary, under the microhyperbolicity assumption on the energy level  $\lambda$ , we prove estimates (2.9) for  $\sigma_{\psi}^{0}(t)$ ,  $\sigma_{\psi}(t)$  and (2.75) for  $\sigma_{\psi}^{1}(t)$  as  $\tau$ is close to  $\lambda$ . Furthermore, if the operator H is elliptic on this energy level then  $\sigma_{\psi}^{0}(t)$  is negligible and (2.75) holds for  $\sigma_{\psi}^{1}(t)$  and  $\sigma_{\psi}(t)$ .

For details, proofs and generalizations, see Chapter 3 of [Ivr4].

#### Successive Approximations Method

After the (2.9) and (2.75)-type estimates are established, we can apply the successive approximations method like in Subsection 2 but with some modifications: to construct  $Bu^{0\pm}|_{x_1=0}$  and from it to construct  $u^{1\pm}$ , we freeze coefficients in (y', 0) rather than in y. As a result, we can calculate all terms in the asymptotics and under microhyperbolicity in the multidirection condition, we arrive to the formulae (2.24) for  $e^0(.,.,\tau)$ ,  $e^1(.,.,\tau)$  and  $e(.,.,\tau)^{25}$  with  $m \ge 1$  for  $e^1(.,.,\tau)$ .

The formulae for  $\varkappa_m^1(\tau)$  (and thus for  $\varkappa_m(\tau) = \varkappa_m^0(\tau) + \varkappa_m^1(\tau)$  are however rather complicated and we do not write them here. For the Schrödinger operator with V = 0 and boundary condition (2.71), the calculation of  $\varkappa_1^1(\tau)$ is done in [HA].

Similar formulae also hold if we take  $x_1 = y_1 = 0$  and integrate over  $\partial X$  (but in this case  $m \ge 0$  even for  $e^1(.,.,\tau)$ ).

Furthermore, if  $\ell'_x = 0$  and  $\nu_1 = \dots = \nu_{N-1}$  in the condition of microhyperbolicity, we are able to get formulae for  $e^0(x, x, \tau)$ ,  $e^1(x, x, \tau)$  and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25)</sup> With the obvious definitions of  $e^0(.,.,\tau)$  and  $e^1(.,.,\tau)$ .

 $e(x, x, \tau)$  without setting  $x_1 = 0$  and without integrating but  $e^1(x, x, \tau)$  is a boundary-layer type term.

For details and proofs, see Section 7.2 of [Ivr4].

### **Recovering Spectral Asymptotics**

Repeating the arguments of Subsection 2, we can recover the local spectral asymptotics:

**Theorem 2.17.** (i) Let an operator H be microhyperbolic on  $\text{supp}(\psi)$  on the energy levels  $\lambda_1$  and  $\lambda_2$  ( $\lambda_1 < \lambda_2$ ) and the boundary value (H, B) problem be microhyperbolic on  $\text{supp}(\psi) \cap \partial X$  on these energy levels. Then,

(2.82) 
$$\int_X e(y, y, \lambda_1, \lambda_2) \psi(y) \, dy$$
$$= h^{-d} \int_X \kappa_0(y, \lambda_1, \lambda_2) \psi(y) \, dy + O(h^{-d+1}).$$

(ii) Suppose that an operator H is elliptic on  $supp(\psi)$  on the energy levels  $\lambda_1$ and  $\lambda_2$  ( $\lambda_1 < \lambda_2$ )<sup>26)</sup> and the boundary value (H, B) problem is microhyperbolic on  $supp(\psi) \cap \partial X$  on these energy levels. Then,

(2.83) 
$$\int_X e(y, y, \lambda_1, \lambda_2) \psi(y) \, dy$$
$$= h^{1-d} \int_X \kappa_1(y, \lambda_1, \lambda_2) \psi(y) \, dy + O(h^{-d+2}).$$

On the other hand, for the Schrödinger operator, we can calculate the contributions of near normal trajectories explicitly and then we arrive to:

**Theorem 2.18.** Let (H, B) be the Schrödinger operator (2.70)–(2.71) and let  $|V| \neq \lambda$  on supp $(\psi)$ . Then,

(2.84) 
$$e(y, y, \lambda) = h^{-d} \left( \kappa_0(x, \lambda) + \mathcal{Q}(x', \lambda; h^{-1}x_1) \right) + O(h^{-d+1})$$

where Q depends on the "normal variables"  $(x', \lambda)$  and a "fast variable"  $s = h^{-1}x_1$  and decays as  $O(s^{-d+1/2})$  as  $s \to +\infty$ . Here,  $x_1 = \text{dist}(x, \partial X)$ .

For details, exact statement and proofs, see Section 8.1 of [Ivr4].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26)</sup> Then, it is elliptic on all energy levels  $\tau \in [\lambda_1, \lambda_2]$ .

### Second Term and Dynamics

As in Subsection 2, we can improve our asymptotics under certain conditions to the dynamics of propagation of singularities. However, in the case that the manifold has a non-empty boundary, propagation becomes really complicated. For Schrödinger operators, we can prove that singularities propagate along Hamiltonian billiards unless they "behave badly" that is become tangent to  $\partial X$  at some point or make an infinite number of reflections in finite time. However, the measure of *dead-end points*<sup>27)</sup> is **0**.

Thus, applying the arguments of Section 1 we arrive to

**Theorem 2.19.** Let  $d \ge 2$ ,  $|V - \lambda| + |\nabla V| \ne 0$  on  $\operatorname{supp}(\psi)$  and  $|V - \lambda| + |\nabla_{\partial X} V| \ne 0$  on  $\operatorname{supp}(\psi) \cap \partial X$ . Further, assume that the measure of periodic Hamiltonian billiards passing through points of  $\{H^0(x, \xi) = 0\} \cap \operatorname{supp}(\psi)$  is  $0^{28}$ . Then,

(2.85) 
$$\int e(y, y, \lambda)\psi(y) \, dy = h^{-d} \int \kappa_0(y, \lambda)\psi(y) \, dy + o(h^{-d+1}).$$

*Remark 2.20.* If we are interested in the propagation of singularities without applications to spectral asymptotics, the answer is "singularities propagate along the generalized Hamiltonian billiards" (see Definition 3.2.2 in [Ivr4]).

One can easily show:

**Theorem 2.21.** Let  $d \ge 3$ . Assume that we are in the framework of Theorem 2.17(ii). Further assume that the set of periodic trajectories of the Schrödinger operator on  $\partial X$  with potential W introduced after (2.77) has measure 0. Then,

(2.86) 
$$\int e(\mathbf{y}, \mathbf{y}, \lambda) \psi(\mathbf{y}) \, d\mathbf{y} = h^{1-d} \varkappa_{1,\psi}(\lambda) + h^{2-d} \varkappa_{2,\psi}(\lambda) + o(h^{-d+2}).$$

Remark 2.22. Analysis becomes much more complicated for more general operators even if we assume that the inner propagation is simple. For example, if the operator in question is essentially a collection of m Schrödinger operators intertwined through boundary conditions then every incidence ray after reflection generates up to m reflected rays and we have *branching* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27)</sup> I.e. points  $z \in \Sigma(\lambda)$  the billiard passing through which behaves badly.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28)</sup> There is a natural measure  $dxd\xi : dH^0$ .

Hamiltonian billiards. Here, a dead-end point is a point  $z \in \Sigma(\lambda)$  such that some of the branches behave badly and a periodic point is a point  $z \in \Sigma(\lambda)$  such that some of the branches return to it.

Assume that the sets of all periodic points and all dead-end points on the energy level  $\Sigma(\lambda)$  have measure 0 (as shown in [SV2], the set of all dead-end points may have positive measure). Then, the two-term asymptotics could be recovered. However, the investigation of branching Hamiltonian billiards is a rather daunting task.

### **Rescaling Technique**

The rescaling technique could be applied near  $\partial X$  as well. Assume that  $\lambda = 0$ . Then to get rid of the non-degeneracy assumption  $V(x) \leq -\epsilon$ , we use scaling functions  $\gamma(x)$  and  $\rho(x)$  as in Subsection 2. It may happen that  $B(x, \gamma(x)) \subset X$  or it may happen that  $B(x, \gamma(x))$  intersects  $\partial X$ . In the former case, we are obviously done and in the latter case we are done as well because in the condition (2.71) we scale  $\alpha \mapsto \alpha \rho \nu$ ,  $\beta \mapsto \beta \nu$  where  $\nu > 0$  is a parameter of our choice. Thus, in the pointwise asymptotics, we can get rid of this assumption for  $d \geq 3$ , and in the local asymptotics for  $d \geq 2$  assuming that  $|V| + |\nabla V| \approx 1$  because the total measure of the balls of radii  $\leq \gamma$  which intersect  $\partial X$  is  $O(\gamma)$ . For details, exact statements and proofs, see Section 8.2 of [Ivr4].

### **Operators with Periodic Billiards**

Simple Billiards Consider an operator on a manifold with boundary. Assume first that all the billiard trajectories (on energy levels close to  $\lambda$ ) are *simple* (i.e. without branching) and periodic with a period bounded from above; then the period depends only on the energy level. Example: the Laplace-Beltrami operator on the semisphere. Under some non-degeneracy assumptions similar to (2.59), we can derive asymptotics similar to (2.63) but with two major differences:

(i) We assume that  $\varepsilon \simeq h$  and recover remainder estimate only  $O(h^{1-d+\delta})$ ; it is still good enough to have the second term of the non-standard type.

(ii) We can consider  $b(x, \xi)$  (which is invariant with respect to the Hamiltonian billard flow) as a phase shift for one period. Now, however, it could

be a result not only of the quantum drift as in Subsection 2, but also of an instant change of phase at the moment of the reflection.

For exact statements, details and proofs, see Subsection 8.3.2 of [Ivr4].

Branching Billiards with "Scattering" We now assume that the billiard branches but only one ("main") branch is typically periodic. For example, consider two Laplace-Beltrami operators intertwined through boundary conditions: one of them is an operator on the semisphere  $X_1$  and another on the disk  $X_2$  with  $\partial X_1$  and  $\partial X_2$  glued together. Then all billiards on  $X_1$ are periodic but there exist nowhere dense sets  $\Lambda_j(\lambda)$  of measure 0, such that the billiards passing through  $\Sigma_j(\lambda) \setminus \Lambda_j(\lambda)$  and containing at least one segment in  $X_2$  are not periodic. Assume also that the boundary conditions guarantee that at reflection, the "observable" part of energy escapes into  $X_2$ . Then to recover the sharp remainder estimates, we do not need a phase shift because for time  $T \gg 1$ , we have

(2.87) 
$$T|F_{t\to h^{-1}\tau}\bar{\chi}_{\tau}(t) d_{\tau}e(y, y, \tau) dy| \leq C_0 h^{1-d} \sum_{|n|\leq \tau} q^n + o_{\tau}(h^{1-d}),$$

where  $q \leq 1$  estimates from above the "portion of energy" which goes back to  $X_1$  at each reflection; if q < 1, as we have assumed the right-hand expression does not exceed  $C_1 h^{1-d} + o_T(h^{1-d})$  and we recover asymptotics similar to (2.63) with the remainder estimate  $o(h^{1-d})$ .

For exact statements, details and proofs, see Subsection 8.3.3 of [Ivr4].

**Two Periodic Billiards** We can also consider the case when the billiards flows in  $X_1$  and  $X_2$  are both periodic but "magic" happens at reflections. For exact statements, details and proofs, see Subsection 8.3.4 of [Ivr4].

# 3 Global Asymptotics

In this section, we consider global spectral asymptotics. Here we are mainly interested in the asymptotics with respect to the spectral parameter  $\lambda$ . We consider mainly examples.

# Weyl Asymptotics

### **Regular Theory**

We start from examples in which we apply only the results of the previous Chapter 2 which may be combined with *Birman-Schwinger principle* and the rescaling technique.

### Simple Results

Example 3.1. Consider a self-adjoint operator A with domain  $\mathfrak{D}(A) = \{u : Bu|_{\partial X} = 0\}$ . We assume that A is elliptic and the boundary value problem (A, B) is elliptic as well.

(i) We are interested in  $N(0, \lambda)$ , the number of eigenvalues of A in  $[0, \lambda)$ . Instead we consider  $N(\lambda/2, \lambda)$ , which is obviously equal to  $N_h(\frac{1}{2}, 1)$ , the number of eigenvalues of  $A_h = \lambda^{-1}A$  that lie in  $[\frac{1}{2}, 1)$ , with  $h = \lambda^{-1/m}$  where mis the order of A. In fact, more is true: the principal symbols of semiclassical operators  $A_h$  and  $B_h$  coincide with the senior symbols of A and B. Then the microhyperbolicity conditions are satisfied and the semiclassical asymptotics with the remainder estimate  $O(h^{1-d})$  hold which could be improved to two-term asymptotics under our standard non-periodicity condition. As a result, we obtain

(3.1) 
$$\mathsf{N}(0,\lambda) = \varkappa_0 \lambda^{\frac{d}{m}} + O(\lambda^{\frac{d-1}{m}})$$

and

(3.2) 
$$\mathsf{N}(0,\lambda) = \varkappa_0 \lambda^{\frac{d}{m}} + \varkappa_1 \lambda^{\frac{d-1}{m}} + o(\lambda^{\frac{d-1}{m}}),$$

as  $\lambda \to +\infty$  in the general case and under the standard non-periodicity condition respectively. Here,

(3.3) 
$$\varkappa_0 = (2\pi)^{-d} \iint \mathbf{n}(x,\xi) \, dx d\xi$$

where  $n(x,\xi)$  is the number of eigenvalues of  $A^0(x,\xi)$  in (0,1) and  $m = m_A$  is the order of A.

(ii) Suppose that  $A_B$  is positive definite (then  $m_A \ge 2$ ) and V is an operator of the order  $m_B < m_A$ , symmetric under the same boundary conditions. We are interested in N(0,  $\lambda$ ), the number of eigenvalues of  $VA_B^{-1}$  in  $(\lambda^{-1}, \infty)$ .

Using the Birman-Schwinger principle, we can again reduce the problem to the semiclassical one with  $H = h^{m_A}A - h^{m_V}V$ ,  $h = \lambda^{-1/m}$ ,  $m = m_A - m_V$ . The microhyperbolicity condition is fulfilled automatically unless  $\xi = 0$  and  $V^0(x,\xi)$  is degenerate. Still under certain appropriate assumptions about  $V^0$ , we can ensure microhyperbolicity (for  $m_B = 0, 1$  only). Then (3.1) and (3.2) (the latter under standard non-periodicity condition) hold with  $n(x,\xi)$  the number of eigenvalues of  $V^0(x,\xi)(A^0(x,\xi)^{-1})$  in  $(1,\infty)$ .

(iii) Alternatively, we can consider the case when V is positively defined (and  $A_B$  may be not).

(iv) For scalar operators, one can replace microhyperbolicity by a weaker non-degeneracy assumption. Furthermore, without any non-degeneracy assumption we arrive to one-term asymptotics with the remainder estimate  $O(\lambda^{(d-1+\delta)/m})$ .

(v) Also one can consider operators whose all Hamiltonian trajectories are periodic; in this case the oscillatory correction term appears.

(vi) Suppose the operator  $A_B$  has negative definite principal symbol but  $A_B$  is not semi-bounded from above and V is positive definite. Then instead of (3.1) or (3.2), we arrive to

(3.4) 
$$\mathsf{N}(\mathbf{0},\lambda) = \varkappa_1 \lambda^{\frac{d-1}{m}} + O(\lambda^{\frac{d-2}{m}})$$

and

(3.5) 
$$\mathsf{N}(0,\lambda) = \varkappa_1 \lambda^{\frac{d-1}{m}} + \varkappa_2 \lambda^{\frac{d-2}{m}} + o(\lambda^{\frac{d-2}{m}}),$$

(the latter under an appropriate non-periodicity assumption).

**Fractional Laplacians** The fractional Laplacian  $\Lambda_{m,X}$  appears in the theory of stochastic processes. For m > 0, it is defined first on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  as  $\Delta^{m/2}$ , and in a domain  $X \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ , it is defined as  $\Lambda_{m,X} u = R_X \Delta^{m/2}(\theta_X u)$  where  $R_X$  is the restriction to X and  $\theta_X$  is the characteristic function of X. It differs from the m/2-th power of the Dirichlet Laplacian in X and for  $m \notin 2\mathbb{Z}$ , it does not belong to the Boutet de Monvel's algebra. In particular, even if X is a bounded domain with  $\partial X \in \mathscr{C}^\infty$  and  $u \in \mathscr{C}^\infty(\bar{X})$ ,  $\Lambda_{m,X} u$  does not necessarily belong to  $\mathscr{C}^\infty(\bar{X})$  (smoothness is violated in the direction normal to  $\partial X$ ).

Then the standard Weyl asymptotics (3.1) and (3.2) hold (the latter under standard non-periodicity condition) with the standard coefficient  $\varkappa_0 = (2\pi)^{-d} \omega_{d-1} \operatorname{vol}_d(X)$  and with

(3.6) 
$$\varkappa_{1,m} = (2\pi)^{1-d} \omega_{d-1} \sigma_m \operatorname{vol}_{d-1}(\partial X),$$

3.7) 
$$\sigma_m =$$
  
=  $\frac{d-1}{m} \iint_1^\infty \tau^{-(d-1)/m-1} \left( \mathbf{e}_m(x_1, x_1, \tau) - \pi^{-1}(\tau - 1)^{1/m} \right) dx_1 d\tau$ 

where  $e_m(x_1, y_1, \tau)$  is the Schwartz kernel of the spectral projector of operator

(3.8) 
$$a_m = ((D_x^2 + 1)^{m/2})_{\mathbb{D}}$$

on  $\mathbb{R}^+$ . To prove this, we need to redo some analysis of Chapter 2. While tangent rays are treated exactly as for the ordinary Laplacian, normal rays require some extra work. However, we can show that the singularities coming along transversal rays do not stall at the boundary but reflect according the standard law. For exact statements, details and proofs, see [Ivr5].

Semiclassical Dirichlet-to-Neumann Operator Consider the Laplacian  $\Delta$  in X. Assuming that  $\lambda$  is not an eigenvalue of  $\Delta_{\rm D}$ , we can introduce the Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator  $\mathcal{L}_{\lambda} : \mathbf{v} \mapsto \lambda^{-\frac{1}{2}} \partial_{\nu} u|_{\partial X}$  where u is defined as  $(\Delta - \lambda)u = 0$ ,  $u|_{\partial X} = \mathbf{v}$  and  $\nu$  is the inner unit normal. Here,  $\mathcal{L}_{\lambda}$  is a self-adjoint operator and we are interested in  $N_{\lambda}(\mathbf{a}_1, \mathbf{a}_2)$ , the number of its eigenvalues in the interval  $[\mathbf{a}_1, \mathbf{a}_2)$ . Due to the Birman-Schwinger principle, it is equal to  $N_h^-(\mathbf{a}_1) - N_h^-(\mathbf{a}_2)$  where  $N_h^-(\mathbf{a})$  is the number of the negative eigenvalues of  $h^2\Delta - 1$  under the boundary condition  $(h\partial_{\nu} - \mathbf{a})u|_{\partial X} = 0$  and then we arrive to

(3.9) 
$$\mathsf{N}_{\lambda}(a_1, a_2) = O(\lambda^{\frac{d-1}{m}})$$

and

(

(3.10) 
$$\mathsf{N}_{\lambda}(a_1, a_2) = \varkappa_1(a_1, a_2)\lambda^{\frac{d-1}{2}} + o(\lambda^{\frac{d-1}{2}})$$

(the latter under a standard non-periodicity condition). For exact statements, details and proofs, see [HA].

**Rescaling Technique** We are interested in the asymptotics of either

(3.11) 
$$\mathsf{N}^{-}(\lambda) = \int e(x, x, \lambda) \, dx$$

or

(3.12) 
$$\mathsf{N}(\lambda_1, \lambda_2) = \int e(x, x, \lambda_1, \lambda_2) dx$$
 with  $\lambda_1 < \lambda_2$ :

with respect to either the spectral parameter(s), or semiclassical parameter(s), or some other parameter(s). We assume that there exist *scaling functions*  $\gamma(x)$  and  $\rho(x)$  satisfying

$$(3.1.13)_{1,2} \qquad |\nabla \gamma| \leq \frac{1}{2}, \qquad |x-y| \leq \gamma(y) \implies c^{-1} \leq \rho(x)/\rho(y) \leq c,$$

such that after rescaling  $x \mapsto x/\gamma(y)$  and  $\xi \mapsto \xi/\rho(y)$  in  $B(y, \gamma(y))$ , we find ourselves in the framework of the previous chapter with an *effective* semiclassical parameter  $\hbar \leq 1^{29}$ .

To avoid non-degeneracy assumptions, we consider only the Schrödinger operator (2.70) in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , assuming that  $g^{jk} = g^{kj}$ ,

(3.14) 
$$|\nabla^{\alpha} g^{jk}| \le c_{\alpha} \gamma^{-|\alpha|}, \qquad |\nabla^{\alpha} V| \le c_{\alpha} \rho^{2} \gamma^{-|\alpha|}$$

and

(3.15) 
$$\sum_{j,k} g^{jk} \xi_j \xi_k \ge \epsilon_0 |\xi|^2 \qquad \forall x, \xi.$$

In the examples below,  $h \simeq 1$ .

Example 3.2. (i) Suppose the conditions (3.14), (3.15) are fulfilled with  $\gamma(x) = \frac{1}{2}(|x|+1)$  and  $\rho(x) = |x|^m$ , m > 0. Further, assume that the coercivity condition

$$(3.16) V(x) \ge \epsilon_0 \rho^2$$

holds for  $|x| \ge c_0$ . Then if  $|x| \le C\lambda^{1/2m}$ , for the operator  $H - \lambda$ , we can use  $\rho_{\lambda}(x) = \lambda^{1/2}$  and then the contribution of the ball  $B(x, \gamma(x))$  to the remainder does not exceed  $C\lambda^{(d-1)/2}\gamma^{d-1}(x)$ ; summation over these balls results in  $O(\lambda^{(d-1)(m+1)/2m})$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29)</sup> In purely semiclassical settings,  $\hbar = h/\rho\gamma$  and we assume  $\rho\gamma \ge h$ .

On the other hand, if  $|x| \leq C\lambda^{\frac{1}{2m}}$ , for the operator  $H - \lambda$  we can use  $\rho(x) = \gamma^m(x)$  but there the ellipticity condition is fulfilled and then the contribution of the ball  $B(x, \gamma(x))$  to the remainder does not exceed  $C\gamma^{-s}$ ; summation over these balls results in  $o(\lambda^{(d-1)(m+1)/2m})$ . Then we arrive to

(3.17) 
$$\mathsf{N}(\lambda) = c_0 h^{-d} \int (\lambda - V(x))_+^{\frac{d}{2}} + O(\lambda^{(d-1)(m+1)/2m})$$

as  $\lambda \to +\infty$ . Obviously the main part of the asymptotics is  $\approx \lambda^{d(m+1)/2m}$ .

(ii) Suppose instead 0 > m > -1. We are interested in its eigenvalues tending to the bottom of the continuous spectrum (which is 0) from below. We no longer require the assumption (3.16).

We use the same  $\gamma(x)$  but now  $\rho_{\lambda}(x) = \gamma(x)^{m}$  for  $|x| \leq C |\lambda|^{1/2m}$ . Then the contribution of the ball  $B(x, \gamma(x))$  to the remainder does not exceed  $C\gamma(x)^{(d-1)(m+1)}$ ; summation over these balls results in  $O(|\lambda|^{(d-1)(m+1)/2m})$ .

On the other hand, if  $|x| \geq C|\lambda|^{1/2m}$ , for the operator  $H - \lambda$  we can use  $\rho_{\lambda}(x) = |\lambda|^{\frac{1}{2}}$ , but there the ellipticity condition is fulfilled and then the contribution of the ball  $B(x, \gamma(x))$  to the remainder does not exceed  $C|\lambda|^{-s}\gamma^{d-s}$ ; summation over these balls results in  $o(|\lambda|^{(d-1)(m+1)/2m})$ . Then we arrive to asymptotics (3.17) again as  $\lambda \to -0$ .

Obviously the main part of the asymptotics is  $O(|\lambda|^{d(m+1)/2m})$  and under the assumption  $V(x) \leq -\epsilon \rho(x)^2$ , in some cone it is  $\approx |\lambda|^{d(m+1)/2m}$ .

(iii) In both cases (i) and (ii), the main contribution to the remainder is delivered by the zone  $\{\varepsilon < |x||\lambda|^{-1/2m} < \varepsilon^{-1}\}$  and assuming that  $g^{jk}(x)$  and V(x) stabilize as  $|x| \to +\infty$  to  $g^{jk0}(x)$  and  $V^0(x)$ , positively homogeneous functions of degrees 0 and 2m respectively, and that the set of periodic trajectories of the Hamiltonian  $\sum_{j,k} g^{jk}(x)\xi_j\xi_k + V^0(x)$  on energy level 1 in (i) or -1 in (ii) has measure 0, we can improve the remainder estimates to  $o(|\lambda|^{(d-1)(m+1)/2m})$ .

Example 3.3. Consider the Dirac operator

(3.18) 
$$H = \sum_{1 \leq j \leq d} \sigma_j D_j + M \sigma_0 + V(x),$$

where  $\sigma_j$  (j = 0, ..., d) are Pauli matrices in the corresponding dimension and M > 0. Let  $V(x) \to 0$  as  $|x| \to \infty$ . Then the essential spectrum of H is  $(-\infty, -M] \cup [M, \infty)$  and for V as in Example 3.2(ii), we can get similar results for the asymptotics of eigenvalues tending to M - 0 or -M + 0: so instead of  $N(\lambda)$ , we consider  $N(0, M - \eta)$  or  $N(M + \eta, 0)$  with  $\eta \to +0$ .

*Example 3.4.* Consider the Schrödinger operator, either in a bounded domain  $X \ni 0$  or in  $\mathbb{R}^d$  like in Example 3.2(i) and assume that  $g^{jk}(x)$  and V(x) have a singularity at 0 satisfying there (3.14)–(3.16) with  $\gamma(x) = |x|$  and  $\rho(x) = |x|^m$  with m < -1.

Consider the asymptotics of eigenvalues tending to  $+\infty$ . As in Example 3.2(i), we take  $\gamma(x) = \frac{1}{2}|x|$  and  $\rho_{\lambda}(x) = \lambda^{1/2}$  for  $|x| \ge \epsilon_0 \lambda^{1/2m}$  (then the contribution of  $B(x, \gamma(x))$ ) to the remainder does not exceed  $\lambda^{(d-1)/2}|x|^{d-1}$ ) and  $\rho_{\lambda}(x) = |x|^m$  as  $|x| \le \epsilon_0 \lambda^{1/2m}$  (then due to the ellipticity the contribution of  $B(x, \gamma(x))$  to the remainder does not exceed  $\rho^{-s}\gamma^{-s-d}$ ). We conclude that the contribution of  $B(0, \epsilon)$  to the remainder does not exceed  $C\lambda^{(d-1)/2}\epsilon^{d-1}$  which means that this singularity does not prevent remainder estimate as good as  $o(\lambda^{(d-1)/2})$ . However, this singularity affects the principal part which should be defined as in (3.17).

*Example 3.5.* (i) When analyzing the asymptotics of the large eigenvalues, we can consider a potential that is either rapidly increasing (with  $\rho = \exp(|x|^m)$ ,  $\gamma(x) = |x|^{1-m}$ , m > 0), or slowly increasing (with  $\rho = (|\log x|)^m$ ,  $\gamma(x) = |x|, m > 0$ ) which affects both the magnitude of the main part and the remainder estimate.

(ii) When analyzing the asymptotics of the eigenvalues tending to the bottom of the essential spectrum, we can consider a potential that is either rapidly decreasing (with  $\rho = |x|^{-1} (\log |x|)^m$  with m > 0,  $\gamma(x) = |x|, m > 0$ ) or slowly decreasing (with  $\rho = (|\log x|)^m$ ,  $\gamma(x) = |x|, m < 0$ ) which affects both the magnitude of the main part as well as the remainder estimate.

Remark 3.6. We can consider the same examples albeit assuming only that  $h \in (0, 1)$ ; then the remainder estimate acquires the factor  $h^{-d+1}$ .

## Singularities

Let us consider other types of singularities when there is a singular zone where after rescaling  $\hbar \leq 1^{29}$ . Still, it does not prevent us from using the approach described above to get an estimate from below for (3.11) or (3.12): we only need to decrease these expressions by inserting  $\psi$  ( $0 \leq \psi \leq 1$ ) that is supported in the regular zone (aka the semiclassical zone) defined by  $\hbar \leq 2\hbar_0$  after rescaling and equal to 1 for  $\hbar \leq \hbar_0$  and applying the rescaling technique there.

Let us discuss an estimate from above. If there was no regular zone at all, we would have no estimate from below at all but there could be some estimate from above of variational nature. The best known is the LCR (Lieb-Cwikel-Rosenblum) estimate

(3.19) 
$$N^{-}(0) \le Ch^{-d} \int V_{-}^{\frac{d}{2}} dx$$

for the Schrödinger operator with Dirichlet boundary conditions as  $d \ge 3$ . For d = 2, the estimate is marginally worse (see [Roz1] for the most general statement for arbitrary orders of operators and dimensions and [Shar] for the most general results for the Schrödinger operator in dimension 2).

It occurs that we can split our domain into an overlapping regular zone  $\{x : \rho(x)\gamma(x) \ge h\}$  and a singular zone  $\{x : \rho(x)\gamma(x) \le 3h\}$ , then evaluate the contribution of the regular zone using the rescaling technique and the contribution of the singular zone by the variational estimate as if on the inner boundary of this zone (i.e. a part of its boundary which is not contained in  $\partial X$ ) the Dirichlet boundary condition was imposed, and we add these two estimates:

$$(3.20) - Ch^{1-d} \int_{\{\rho\gamma \ge h, V \le \epsilon\rho^2\}} \rho^{d-1} \gamma^{-1} \sqrt{g} \, dx$$
  
$$\leq \mathsf{N}^-(0) - (2\pi)^{-d} \omega_d h^{-d} \int_{\{\rho\gamma \ge h\}} V_-^{d/2} \, dx$$
  
$$\leq Ch^{1-d} \int_{\{\rho\gamma \ge h, V \le \epsilon\rho^2\}} \rho^{d-1} \gamma^{-1} \, dx + Ch^{-d} \int_{\{\rho\gamma \le h, V \le \epsilon\rho^2\}} \rho^d \, dx.$$

See Theorems 9.1.7 and 9.1.13 of [Ivr4] for more general statements. Further, similar statements could be proven for operators which are not semi-bounded (see Theorems 10.1.7 and 10.1.8 of [Ivr4]).

In particular, we have:

Example 3.7. (i) Let

(3.21) 
$$\int \rho^{d-1} \gamma^{-1} \, dx < \infty.$$

Then,

(3.22) 
$$\mathsf{N}^{-}(\mathsf{0}) = (2\pi)^{-d} \omega_d h^{-d} \int V_{-}^{d/2} \sqrt{g} \, dx + O(h^{1-d}).$$

(ii) If in addition the standard non-periodicity condition is satisfied then

(3.23) 
$$\mathsf{N}^{-}(0) = (2\pi)^{-d} \omega_d h^{-d} \int V_{-}^{d/2} \sqrt{g} \, dx - \frac{1}{4} (2\pi)^{1-d} \omega_{d-1} h^{1-d} \int V_{-}^{(d-1)/2} \, dS + o(h^{1-d}),$$

where dS is a corresponding density on  $\partial X$ .

*Example 3.8.* Consider the Dirichlet Laplacian in a domain X assuming that there exists scaling function  $\gamma(x)$  such that (3.14) holds and

(3.24) For each  $y \in X$ , the connected component of  $B(y, \gamma(x)) \cap X$  containing y coincides with  $\{x \in B(0, 1), x_1 \leq f(x')\}$ , where  $x' = (x_2, ..., x_d)$  and

(3.25) 
$$|\nabla^{\alpha} f| \le C_{\alpha} \gamma^{1-|\alpha|} \quad \forall \alpha$$

where we rotate the coordinate system if  $necessary^{30}$ .

(i) Then the principal part of asymptotics is

(3.26) 
$$c_0 \lambda^{\frac{d}{2}} h^{-d} \int_{\{x:\gamma(x) \ge \lambda^{-\frac{1}{2}}\}} dx$$

and the remainder does not exceed

(3.27) 
$$C\lambda^{\frac{d-1}{2}}h^{1-d}\int_{\{x:\gamma(x)\geq\lambda^{-\frac{1}{2}}\}}\gamma(x)^{-1}\,dx+C\lambda^{\frac{d}{2}}h^{-d}\int_{\{x:\gamma(x)\leq\lambda^{-\frac{1}{2}}\}}dx.$$

(ii) In particular, if

$$(3.28) \qquad \qquad \int_X \gamma(x)^{-1} \, dx < \infty,$$

 $^{30)}$  It is precisely the condition that we need to impose on the boundary for the rescaling technique to work.

then the standard asymptotics with the remainder estimate  $O(\lambda^{(d-1)/2} h^{1-d})$  hold. Moreover, under the standard condition (1.3), we arrive to the two-term asymptotics (1.2).

These conditions are satisfied for domains with vertices, edges and conical points. In fact, we may allow other singularities including outer and inner spikes and cuts.

Furthermore, these conditions are satisfied for unbounded domains with cusps (exits to infinity) provided these cusps are thin enough (basically having finite volume and area of the boundary).

(iii) These results hold under the Neumann or mixed Dirichlet-Neumann boundary condition, but then we need to assume that the domain satisfies the cone condition; for the two-term asymptotics, we also need to assume that the border between the parts of  $\partial X$  with the Dirichlet and Neumann boundary conditions has (d-1)-dimensional measure 0.

*Example 3.9.* (i) Suppose that the potential is singular at  $0 \in X$  like  $|x|^{2m}$  with  $m \in (-1, 0)$ . Then this singularity does not affect the asymptotics of large eigenvalues.

(ii) Let us consider Example 3.2(i) albeit allow  $V \ge 0$  to vanish along certain directions. Then we have *canyons* and  $\{x : V(x) \le \lambda\}$  are cusps. If the canyons are narrow and steep enough then the same asymptotics (3.17) hold. Moreover, under the non-periodicity condition, the remainder estimate is "o".

(iii) Let us consider Example 3.2(ii) albeit allow  $V \ge 0$  to be singular along certain directions. Then we have *gorges* and  $\{X : V(x) \le \lambda\}$  are cusps. If the gorges are narrow and shallow enough then the same asymptotic (3.17) hold. Moreover, under the non-periodicity condition, the remainder estimate is "o".

*Example 3.10.* We can consider also multiparameter asymptotics, for example with respect to  $h \to +0$  and  $\lambda$ . In addition to what we considered above, the following interesting possibility appears:  $\lambda \searrow \lambda_* := \inf V(x)$  which is either finite or  $-\infty$ . Then if  $\lambda$  tends to  $\lambda_*$  slowly enough so that  $\mathsf{N}_h^-(\lambda) \to +\infty$ , we get interesting asymptotics.

In particular, as either  $V(x) \approx |x|^{2m}$  with m > 0 and  $\lambda \to +0$  or  $V(x) \approx |x|^{2m}$  with 0 > m > -1 and  $\lambda \to -\infty$ , then this condition is  $h = o(|\lambda|^{(m+1)/2m})$ .

Remark 3.11. We can also consider  $\operatorname{Tr}((-H)^{\nu}\theta(-H))$  with  $\nu > 0$ . Then in the estimates above,  $\rho^{d} \mapsto \rho^{d+2\nu}$  and  $\rho^{d-1} \mapsto \rho^{d+\nu-1}\gamma^{-\nu-1}$ .

For full details, proofs and generalizations, see Chapter 11 of [Ivr4] which covers also non-semibounded operators.

# **Non-Weyl Asymptotics**

### Partially Weyl Theory

Analyzing the examples of the previous section, one can observe that for some values of the exponents, the condition (3.21) (or it special case (3.28)) fails but the main term of the asymptotics is still finite and has the same rate of the growth as it had before, while for other values of the exponent, it is infinite. In the former case, we get Weyl asymptotics but with a worse remainder estimate, in the latter case, all we can get is an estimate rather than the asymptotics. Can one save the day?

In many cases, the answer is positive and we can derive either the Weyl asymptotics but with a non-Weyl correction term or completely non-Weyl asymptotics. The main but not the only tool is the spectral asymptotics for operators with operator-valued symbols. Namely, in some zone of the phase space, we separate the variables<sup>31</sup> x = (x'; x'') and  $(\xi'; \xi'')$  respectively and consider the variables  $(x', \xi')$  as *semiclassical variables* (or *Weyl variables*), similar to  $(x, \xi)$  in the previous scheme. So we get an operator H(x', D') with an operator-valued symbol which we can study in the same way as the operator H before.

One can say that we have a matrix operator but with a twist: first, instead of finite-dimensional matrices, we have unbounded self-adjoint operators in the auxilary infinite-dimensional Hilbert space  $\mathbb{H}$  (usually  $\mathscr{L}^2$  in the variables x''); second, we are interested in the asymptotics

(3.29) 
$$\int \operatorname{tr}_{\mathbb{H}}(\hat{e}(x', x', \lambda)) \, dx'$$

 $<sup>^{31)}</sup>$  After some transformation, the transformations and separations in the different zones are not necessarily the same.

rather than in the asymptotics without trace where  $\hat{e}(x', y'; \lambda)$  is an operator in  $\mathbb{H}$  (with Schwartz kernel  $e(x', y'; x'', y''; \lambda)$ ); and, finally, the main term in asymptotics is

(3.30) 
$$\int \operatorname{tr}_{\mathbb{H}}(\mathsf{e}(x',\xi';\lambda)) \, d\xi' dx',$$

where  $\mathbf{e}(\mathbf{x}', \xi', \lambda)$  is a spectral projector (in  $\mathbb{H}$ ) of  $\mathbf{H}(\mathbf{x}', \xi')$ . Here, we need to assume that  $\mathbf{H}(\mathbf{x}', \xi')$  is microhyperbolic with respect to  $(\mathbf{x}', \xi')$ . Since the operator  $\mathbf{tr}_{\mathbb{H}}$  is now unbounded, both the main term of the asymptotics of (3.29) and the remainder estimate *may* have magnitudes different from what they would be without  $\mathbf{tr}_{\mathbb{H}}$ .

Since the operator  $H(x', \xi')$  is rather complicated, we want to replace it by some simpler operator and add some easy to calculate correction terms.

We consider multiple examples below. Magnetic Schrödinger, Schrödinger-Pauli and Dirac operators studied in Sections 2 and 3 are also of this type.

### Domains with Thick Cusps

This was done in Section 12.2 of [Ivr4] for operators in domains with thick cusps of the form  $\{x : x'' \in f(x')\Omega\}$  where  $\Omega$  is a bounded domain in  $\mathbb{R}^{d''}$  with smooth boundary, defining the cusp crossection. Here again we consider for simplicity the Dirichlet Laplacian. Assume first that the metric is Euclidean and the domain  $X = \{x = (x', x'') : x' \in X' := \mathbb{R}^{d'}, x'' \in f(x')\Omega\}$ . Then, the change of variables  $x'' \mapsto x''/f(x')$  transforms  $\Delta$  to the operator

(3.31) 
$$P = \sum_{1 \le j \le d'} \left( D_j + g_{x_j} L + \frac{id''}{2} g_{x_j} \right) \left( D_j + g_{x_j} L - \frac{id''}{2} g_{x_j} \right) + \frac{1}{f^2} \Delta''$$

in  $\mathscr{L}^2(X' \times \Omega) = \mathscr{L}^2(\mathbb{R}^{d'}, \mathbb{H})$  where  $L = \langle x'', D'' \rangle$ ,  $g = -\log f$ ,  $\mathbb{H} = \mathscr{L}^2(\Omega)$ ,  $\Delta'$  is a Laplacian in X', and  $\Delta'' = \Delta''_{\mathsf{D}}$  is a Dirichlet Laplacians in  $\Omega$ , and we simultaneously multiply u by  $f^{-d''/2}$  to have the standard Euclidean measure rather than the weighted one  $f^{d''}dx$ . We consider the operator (3.31) as a perturbation of the operator

(3.32) 
$$\bar{P} \coloneqq \Delta' + \frac{1}{f^2} \Delta'',$$

which is a direct sum of d'-dimensional Schrödinger operators  $P_n = \Delta' + \mu_n f^{-2}$ in X' where  $\mu_n > 0$  are the eigenvalues of  $\Delta''_{\rm D}$ . Assuming that

$$(3.33) f \asymp |x|^{-m}, |\nabla f| \asymp |x|^{-m-1} for |x'| \ge c,$$

we can ensure that the microhyperbolicity condition (with respect to  $(x'; \xi')$ ) is fulfilled for  $P_n$ ,  $\overline{P}$ , as well as for P.

Then according to the previous section, for  $\mathcal{P}_n$  the eigenvalue counting function is

(3.34) 
$$\mathsf{N}_n(\lambda) = c_{d'} \int \left(\lambda - \mu_n f^{-2}(x')\right)_+^{\frac{d'}{2}} dx' + O\left(\lambda^{(d'-1)(m+1)/2m} \mu_n^{-(d'-1)/2m}\right)$$

where the remainder estimate is uniform with respect to n. Observe that for  $\bar{P}$  the eigenvalue counting function is  $\bar{N}(\lambda) = \sum_{n} N_{n}(\lambda)$ . Using  $\mu_{n} \simeq n^{2/d''}$ , we arrive to

(3.35) 
$$\mathsf{N}_{n}(\lambda) = c_{d'} \iint (\lambda - \mu f^{-2}(x'))_{+}^{\frac{d'}{2}} dx' d_{\mu} \mathbf{n}(\mu) + O(R(\lambda))$$

with

(3.36) 
$$R(\lambda) = \lambda^{\frac{1}{2}(d-1)} + \lambda^{\frac{m+1}{2m}(d'-1)} + \delta_{(d'-1),md''}\lambda^{\frac{1}{2}(d-1)}\log\lambda,$$

where  $\boldsymbol{n}(\mu)$  is the eigenvalue counting function for  $\Delta_{\mathsf{D}}^{\prime\prime}$ .

We show, moreover, that the same asymptotics holds for our original operator (3.31). Furthermore, if the first term in (3.35) is dominant, then under the standard non-periodicity assumption we can replace  $O(\lambda^{(d-1)/2})$  by  $o(\lambda^{(d-1)/2})$ ; we need to add the standard boundary term to the right-hand expression in (3.35).

On the other hand, if the second term in (3.35) dominates, then assuming that f stabilizes as  $|x'| \to \infty$  to a positively homogeneous function  $f_0$ , under the corresponding non-periodicity assumption (now in  $\mathcal{T}^*\mathbb{R}^{d'}$ ) for  $|\xi'|^2 + f_0^{-2}(x')$ , we can replace  $O(\lambda^{(m+1)(d'-1)/2m})$  by  $o(\lambda^{(m+1)(d'-1)/2m})$ . Finally, if both powers coincide then under the stabilization condition, the remainder estimate is  $o(\lambda^{(d-1)/2} \log \lambda)$  but we need to add the modified boundary term to the right-hand expression in (3.35).

Obviously, the principal part in (3.35) is of the magnitude

(3.37) 
$$S(\lambda) = \lambda^{\frac{1}{2}d} + \lambda^{\frac{m+1}{2m}d'} + \delta_{d',md''}\lambda^{\frac{1}{2}d}\log\lambda.$$

If X is not exactly of the same form and the metric only stabilizes (fast enough) at infinity to  $g^{jk0} := \delta_{jk}$ , then we can recover the same remainder estimate and reduce the principal part to

(3.38) 
$$c_{d'} \iint (\lambda - \mu f^{-2}(x'))_{+}^{\frac{d'}{2}} \phi(x') dx' d_{\mu} n(\mu) + c_{d} \lambda^{d/2} \int_{X} (\sqrt{g} - \sqrt{g^{0}} \phi(x')) dx,$$

where  $\operatorname{supp}(\phi) \subset \{|x'| \geq c\}, \phi = 1 \text{ in } \{|x'| \geq c\}$ . Here, the first part is exactly as above and the second term is actually the sum of two terms; one of them  $c_d \lambda^{d/2} \int \sqrt{g} (1 - \phi(x')) dx$  is the contribution of the "finite part of the domain" (without the cusp) and the second  $c_d \lambda^{d/2} \int (\sqrt{g} - \sqrt{g^0}) \phi(x') dx$  is a contribution of the cusp in the correction.

Note that now to get the remainder estimate  $o(\lambda^{(d-1)/2})$ , one needs to include the standard boundary term in the second part of (3.38).

The crucial part of our arguments is a *multiscale analysis*. As long as  $r \leq c\lambda^{1/2m-\delta}$ , we can scale  $x \mapsto xr^m$  and consider  $\sigma_0(t) = \text{Tr}(e^{ih^{-1}tH}\phi(x'/r))$ ; here  $H = \lambda^{-1}P$ ,  $h = \lambda^{-1/2}r^m$ . From the propagation with respect to  $(x, \xi)$ , we know that on energy level 1, the time interval  $(h^{1-\delta}, \epsilon)$  contains no singularities of  $\sigma_0(t)$ .

On the other hand, for  $r \geq c$ , we can scale  $x \mapsto x/r$  and consider  $\sigma_1(t) = \text{Tr}(e^{i\hbar^{-1}tH}\phi(x'/r))$ ; here  $\hbar = \lambda^{-1/2}r^{-1}$ . From the propagation with respect to  $(x', \xi')$ , we know that on energy level 1, the time interval  $(\hbar^{1-\delta}, \epsilon)$  contains no singularities of  $\sigma_1(t)$ .

Observe first that  $\sigma_1(t) = \sigma_0(r^{-1-m}t)$  and therefore the time interval  $(h^{1-\delta}, \epsilon r^{m+1})$  contains no singularities of  $\sigma_0(t)$ . This allows us to improve the remainder estimate in the full Weyl asymptotics but we need to include many terms which are difficult to calculate.

On the other hand, for  $\lambda^{\delta} \leq r \leq c\lambda^{1/2m}$ , we can consider H as a perturbation of  $\bar{H} = \lambda^{-1}\bar{P}$ . We do it first in the framework of the theory of operators with operator-valued symbols. Then we consider all perturbation terms and apply to them "full Weyl theory" and due to the stabilization assumption, the error is less than (3.36). This gives us another asymptotics, also with many terms which are difficult to calculate.

Comparing these two asymptotics in their common domain  $\lambda^{\delta} \leq r \leq \lambda^{1/2m-\delta}$ , we conclude that all terms but those present in both must be 0; it allows us to eliminate almost all the terms and sew these asymptotics resulting in (3.38).

Using the same approach, we can consider higher order operators, the case when X' is a conical set and there are several cusps  $X_k$  which may have different dimensions  $d'_k$  and rates of decay (then both the principal part and the remainder estimate should be modified accordingly).

### Neumann Laplacian in Domains with Ultra-Thin Cusps

Consider the Neumann Laplacian in domains with cusps. Recall that since these domains do not satisfy the cone condition, we so far have no results even if the cusp is thin. Applying the same arguments as before, we hit two obstacles. The first (minor) obstacle is that the Neumann boundary condition for the operator (3.31) coincides with the same condition for  $\Delta''$ only asymptotically. The second (major) obstacle is that  $\mu_1 = 0$  and  $P_1 = \Delta'$ has a continuous spectrum. In fact, we should not reduce P to  $\bar{P}$ ; from (3.31) we conclude that

(3.39) 
$$P_{1} = \sum_{1 \le j \le d'} \left( D_{j} + \frac{id''}{2} g_{x_{j}} \right) \left( D_{j} - \frac{id''}{2} g_{x_{j}} \right) = \Delta' + W$$

with

(3.40) 
$$W = \frac{d''^2}{4} |\nabla g|^2 + \frac{d''}{2} \Delta' g.$$

Still this operator may have a continuous spectrum unless  $|\nabla g| \to \infty$  as  $|x| \to \infty$ . We need to assume that f has superexponential decay:  $f = e^{-g}$  with

(3.41) 
$$|\nabla^{\alpha} g| \leq c_{\alpha} |x|^{1+m-|\alpha|} \quad \forall \alpha,$$

(3.42) 
$$g \asymp |x'|^{m+1}$$
,  $|\nabla g| \asymp |x'|^m$  for  $|x'| \ge c$ ,

$$(3.43) \qquad |\nabla|\nabla g|^2| \asymp |x|^{2m-1} \qquad \text{for } |x'| \ge c,$$

where m > 0 and (3.43) is a microhyperbolicity condition for  $P_1$ . Then one can prove easily that when  $d'' \ge 2$ ,

(3.44) 
$$\mathsf{N}(\lambda) = c_d \lambda^{d/2} \int_X \sqrt{g} \, dx + c_{d'} \int (\lambda - W)_+^{d'/2} \, dx' + O(R(\lambda))$$

with

(3.45) 
$$R(\lambda) = \lambda^{\frac{1}{2}(d-1)} + \lambda^{\frac{m+1}{2m}(d'-1)}.$$

Moreover, if the first term in (3.35) dominates, then under the standard non-periodicity assumption, we can replace  $O(\lambda^{(d-1)/2})$  by  $o(\lambda^{(d-1)/2})$  (simultaneously including the standard boundary term); if the second term dominates, then assuming that W stabilizes as  $|x'| \to \infty$  to a positively homogeneous function  $W_0$ , under the corresponding assumption for  $|\xi'|^2 + W_0(x')$  we can replace  $O(\lambda^{(m+1)(d'-1)/2m})$  by  $o(\lambda^{(m+1)(d'-1)/2m})$ .

One can see easily that  $N(\lambda) \simeq S(\lambda) = \lambda^{\frac{1}{2}d} + \lambda^{\frac{m+1}{2m}d'}$ . Observe that in contrast to (3.36) and (3.37), even if the exponents coincide, a logarithmic factor does not appear.

The case d'' = 1 is special since even an ultra-thin cusp is also thick (according to the classification of the previous Subsection 3) and the corresponding formulae should include a modified boundary term containing the double logarithm of  $\lambda$ . For this and other generalizations, see Section 12.7 of [Ivr4]. Also one can consider *spikes* with  $supp(f) = \{|x'| \leq L\}$ , in which case the standard Weyl asymptotics holds.

# Operators in $\mathbb{R}^d$

The scheme of Subsection 3 is repeated in many similar cases.

First, consider eigenvalues tending to  $+\infty$  for the Schrödinger operator with potential V which generically is  $\approx |x|^{2m}$  but vanishes along some directions.

For example, consider the toy-model  $V = |x|^{2m-2m'} |x''|^{2m'}$  with m > m' > 0. Let  $X' = \mathbb{R}^{d'} \ni x'$  and  $X'' = \mathbb{R}^{d''} \ni x''$ . Consider only the conical vicinity of X' and here we instead consider the potential  $V = |x'|^{2m-2m'} |x''|^{2m'}$ . Consider only the part of operator which is related to x'':  $\Delta'' + |x'|^{2m-2m'} |x''|^{2m'}$  and after the change of variables  $x'' \mapsto x'' |x'|^k$  with k = (m - m')/(m' + 1), it becomes  $|x'|^{2k}L$  with  $L = \Delta'' + U(x'')$ ,  $U = |x''|^{2m''}$ . The condition m'' > 0 ensures that the spectrum of L is discrete and accummulates to  $+\infty$ .

So basically we have a mixture of the Schrödinger operator on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  with a potential growing as  $|x|^{2m}$  and the Schrödinger operator with the operatorvalued symbol on  $\mathbb{R}^{d''}$  with a potential growing as  $|x|^{2k}$  and we recover the asymptotics with the remainder estimate  $O(R(\lambda))$ , where

(3.46) 
$$R(\lambda) = \lambda^{\frac{m(d-1)}{(m+1)}} + \lambda^{\frac{k(d'-1)}{(k+1)}} + \delta_{\frac{m(d-1)}{(m+1)},\frac{k(d'-1)}{(k+1)}} \lambda^{\frac{m(d-1)}{(m+1)}} \log \lambda$$

and the principal part is  $\asymp S(\lambda)$ , where

(3.47) 
$$S(\lambda) = \lambda^{\frac{md}{(m+1)}} + \lambda^{\frac{kd'}{(k+1)}} + \delta_{\frac{md/(m+1)}{k}} \lambda^{\frac{md}{(m+1)}} \log \lambda.$$

In a rather general situation, this principal part is similar to the one in (3.38) where  $\boldsymbol{n}(\mu)$  is the eigenvalue counting function for  $\boldsymbol{L}$ . Further, under similar

non-periodicity assumptions, we can replace "O" by "o". For generalizations, details and proofs, see Section 12.3 of [Ivr4].

Second, consider eigenvalues tending to -0 for the Schrödinger operator with a potential V which generically is  $\approx |x|^{2m}$  with  $m \in (-1, 0)$  but is singular in some directions. Again, consider a toy-model  $V = -|x|^{2m-2m'}|x''|^{2m'}$ with -1 < m < m' < 0. Again,  $L = \Delta'' + U(x'')$ ,  $U = -|x''|^{2m''}$  and its negative spectrum is discrete and accumulates to -0. The formulae (3.46) and (3.47) remain valid (albeit  $\lambda \to -0$ ). For generalizations, details and proofs, see Section 12.4 of [Ivr4].

# Maximally Hypoelliptic Operators

Third, consider the eigenvalues tending to  $+\infty$  for maximally hypoelliptic operators with a symplectic manifold of degeneration. Consider the toy-model  $P = \Delta'' + |x''|^{2m} \Delta'$ . In this case, after the partial Fourier transform, we get  $\Delta'' + |x''|^{2m} |\xi'|^2$  and after the change of variables  $x'' \mapsto |\xi'|^k x''$ , we get  $|\xi'|^{2k} L$ ,  $L = \Delta'' + |x''|^{2m}$  and k = 1/(m+1).

This toy-model is maximally hypoelliptic as the spectrum of L is discrete and accummulates to  $+\infty$ . So basically we have a blend of operator of order 2 on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  and of order 2k on  $\mathbb{R}^{d'}$  and we recover the asymptotics with remainder estimate  $O(R(\lambda))$  with

(3.48) 
$$R(\lambda) = \lambda^{\frac{(d-1)}{2}} + \lambda^{\frac{(d'-1)}{2k}} + \delta_{d-1,(d'-1)/k} \lambda^{\frac{(d-1)}{2}} \log \lambda$$

and principal part  $\asymp S(\lambda)$  with

(3.49) 
$$S(\lambda) = \lambda^{\frac{d}{2}} + \lambda^{\frac{d'}{2k}} + \delta_{d,d'/k} \lambda^{\frac{d}{2}} \log \lambda.$$

Further, under similar non-periodicity assumptions, we can replace "O" by "o". For generalizations, details and proofs, see Section 12.5 of [Ivr4].

## Trace Asymptotics for Operators with Singularities

Here, we also consider only one example (albeit the most interesting one) of a Schrödinger operator  $H := h^2 \Delta - V(x)$  in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  with potential V(x) at 0 stabilizing to a positive homogeneous function  $V_0$  of degree -1:

$$(3.50) \qquad \qquad |\nabla^{\alpha} (V - V_0)| \le c_{\alpha} |x|^{-|\alpha|} \qquad \forall \alpha.$$

We assume that V(x) decays fast enough at infinity and we are interested in the asymptotics of  $Tr(H_{-})$ , which is the sum of the negative eigenvalues of H. While generalizations are considered in Section 12.6 of [Ivr4], exactly this problem with  $V_0 = |x|^{-1}$  arises in the asymptotics of the ground state energy of heavy atoms and molecules.

It follows from Section 3 that  $N_h^-$  has purely Weyl asymptotics with the remainder estimate  $O(h^{-2})$  and<sup>32)</sup> it could be improved to  $o(h^{-2})$  but we have a different object and if the potential had no singularities, the remainder estimate would be  $O(h^{-1})$  or even  $o(h^{-1})^{32),33)}$ .

Therefore considering the contribution of the ball  $B(x, \gamma(x))$  with  $\gamma(x) = \frac{1}{2}|x|$ , we have a contribution to the Weyl expression

(3.51) 
$$-ch^{-3}\int V_{+}^{\frac{5}{2}}dx$$

of magnitude  $C\rho^2(h/\rho\gamma)^{-3} = Ch^{-3}\rho^5\gamma^3$ , while the contribution to the remainder does not exceed  $C\rho^2(h/\rho\gamma)^{-1} = Ch^{-1}\rho\gamma$  with  $\rho = |x|^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ . We see that the former converges at 0 and the latter diverges. This analysis could be done for  $\rho\gamma \ge h$  i.e. if  $|x| \ge h^2$ . Then we conclude that the contribution of the zone  $\{x : |x| \ge a\}$  to the remainder does not exceed  $Ch^{-1}a^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  which as  $a = h^2$  is  $O(h^{-2})$ . On the other hand, one can easily prove that the contribution of  $B(0, h^2)$  to the asymptotics is also  $O(h^{-2})$ .

To improve this estimate, we analyze B(0, a) in more detail. In virtue of (3.50), we can easily prove that the contribution of  $B(x, \gamma)$  to  $\text{Tr}(H_- - H_{0-})$  (with  $H_0 = h^2 \Delta - V_0$ ) does not exceed  $C(h/\rho\gamma)^{-2} = Ch^{-2}\rho^2\gamma^2$  and therefore the contribution of B(0, a) to the remainder is  $O(h^{-2}a)$ . Minimizing the total error  $h^{-2}a + h^{-1}a^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  in a, we get  $a = h^{\frac{2}{3}}$  and the remainder  $O(h^{-\frac{4}{3}})$ , which is better than  $O(h^{-2})$  but not as good as  $O(h^{-1})$ .

But then we need to include in the asymptotics the extra term

(3.52) 
$$\int \left( e_0^1(x, x, 0) - cV_+^{\frac{5}{2}}(x) \right) \psi(a^{-1}x) \, dx,$$

where  $e(\cdot, \cdot, \lambda)$  is the Schwartz kernel of the spectral projectors for H,  $e^1(\cdot, \cdot, 0) = \int_{-\infty}^0 \lambda \, d_\lambda e(\cdot, \cdot, \lambda)$  and the subscript 0 means that it is for  $H_0$  and  $\psi \in \mathcal{C}_0^\infty(B(0, 2))$  and equals 1 in B(0, 1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32)</sup> Under the standard non-periodicity condition.

 $<sup>^{33)}</sup>$  But then the principal part of asymptotics should include the third term  $ch^{-1}$  while the second term vanishes.

Basically, all that we achieved so far was to replace H by  $H_0$  in (3.52). The same arguments allow us to replace  $\psi$  by 1 in this expression with the same error  $O(h^{-1}a^{-\frac{1}{2}})$ . This time, we cannot decompose it as the difference of two integrals because each of them is diverging at infinity (since  $V_0$  decays there not fast enough). Further, due to the homogeneity of  $V_0$ , one can prove that this remodelled expression (3.52) is homogeneous of degree -2 with respect to h and thus is equal to  $\kappa h^{-2}$ . Here,  $\kappa$  is some unknown constant, but for  $V_0 = |x|^{-1}$ , it could be calculated explicitly.

Therefore, we conclude that with the remainder estimate  $O(h^{-\frac{4}{3}})$ ,  $Tr(H_{-})$  is given by the Weyl expression plus the *Scott corretion term*  $\kappa h^{-2}$ .

To improve this remainder estimate, we should carefully study the propagation of singularities. We can prove that if  $h^{2-\delta} \leq \gamma \leq 1$ , then the singularities do not come back "in real time"  $\approx 1$ , which is a vast improvement over  $\approx \gamma \rho^{-1} \approx \gamma^{\frac{3}{2}}$ . Then the contribution of  $B(x, \gamma)$  to the "trace remainder" does not exceed  $Ch^{-1}\rho^2\gamma^3$  but then the principal part of asymptotics should have a lot of terms; the *n*-th term is of the magnitude  $h^{-3+2n}\rho^{2-2n}\gamma^{3-2n}$ ; however, using (3.50) we conclude that the difference between such terms for H and  $H_0$  is  $O(h^{-3+2n}\rho^{-2n}\gamma^{3-2n})$  which leads to the estimate

(3.53) 
$$\left| \int \left( e^1(x, x, 0) - e^1_0(x, x, 0) - cV_+^{\frac{5}{2}}(x) + cV_{0+}^{\frac{5}{2}}(x) \right) dx \right| \le Ch^{-1}.$$

This estimate implies that with the remainder estimate  $O(h^{-1})$ ,  $Tr(H_{-})$  is given by the Weyl expression plus  $\kappa h^{-2}$ . Moreover, this estimate could be further improved to  $o(h^{-1})^{32),33)}$ .

Similar results hold for other singularities (including singularities of the boundary), dimensions and  $Tr(H^{\nu}_{-})$  with  $\nu > 0$ . However, note that there could be more than one such correction term.

### **Periodic Operators**

Finally, consider an operator  $H_0 = H_0(x, D)$  with periodic coefficients (with the lattice of periods  $\Gamma$ ). Then its spectrum is usually absolutely continuous and consists of *spectral bands*  $\{\lambda_k(\xi) : \xi \in \mathcal{Q}'\}$  separated by *spectral gaps*. Here,  $\lambda_k$  are the eigenvalues of operator  $H_0$  with *quasiperiodic boundary conditions* 

(3.54) 
$$u(x+n) = T^n e^{i\langle n,\xi\rangle}(x) \quad \forall n \in \Gamma,$$

 $\Gamma^*$  is the dual lattice<sup>34)</sup>, Q and Q' are corresponding *elementary cells*<sup>35)</sup>;  $\xi$  is called the *quasimomentum*. Here,  $T = (T_1, ..., T_d)$  is a family of commuting unitary matrices.

Let us consider an operator  $H_t = H_0 - tW(x)$  with W(x) > 0 decaying at infinity. Then, while the essential spectra of H and  $H_t$  are the same,  $H_t$  can have discrete eigenvalues in the spectral gaps and these eigenvalues decrease as t increases.

Let us fix an observation point E belonging to either the spectral gap or its boundary and introduce  $N_E(\tau)$ , the number of eigenvalues of  $H_t$  crossing E as t changes between 0 and  $\tau$ . We are interested in the asymptotics of  $N_E(\tau)$  as  $t \to \infty$ .

Then using Gelfand's transform,

(3.55) 
$$\mathcal{F}u(\xi, x) = (2\pi)^{\frac{d}{2}} (\operatorname{vol}(\mathcal{Q}'))^{-1} \sum_{n \in \Gamma} T^n e^{-i\langle n-x,\xi \rangle} u(x-n)$$

with  $(x, \xi) \in \mathcal{Q} \times \mathcal{Q}'$ , this problem is reduced to the problem for operators with operator-valued symbols on  $\mathscr{L}^2(\mathcal{Q}', \mathbb{H}_{\xi, \{T\}})$  where  $\mathbb{H}_{\xi, \{T\}}$  is the space of functions satisfying (3.54).

After that, different results are obtained in three essentially different cases: when E belongs to the spectral gap, E belongs to the bottom of the spectral gap, and E belongs to the top of the spectral gap. For exact results, proofs and generalizations, see Section 12.8 of [Ivr4].

# 4 Non-Smooth Theory

So far we have considered operators with smooth symbols in domains with smooth boundaries. Singularities were possible but only on "lean" sets. However, it turns out that many results remain true under very modest smoothness assumptions.

### Non-Smooth Symbols and Rough Microlocal Analysis

To deal with non-smooth symbols, we approximate them by *rough* symbols  $p \sim \sum_m p_m$ , depending on a small *mollification parameter*  $\varepsilon$  and satisfying

(1.1) 
$$|\nabla_{\xi}^{\alpha}\nabla_{x}^{\beta}\rho_{m}(x,\xi)| \leq C_{m\alpha\beta}\rho^{-\alpha}\gamma^{-\beta}\varepsilon^{-m}$$

<sup>34)</sup> I.e. if  $\Gamma = \mathbb{Z}e_1 \oplus \mathbb{Z}e_2 \oplus ... \oplus \mathbb{Z}e_d$  then  $\Gamma^* = \mathbb{Z}e'_1 \oplus \mathbb{Z}e'_2 \oplus ... \oplus \mathbb{Z}e'_d$  with  $\langle e_j, e'_k \rangle = \delta_{jk}$ .

<sup>35)</sup> I.e.  $Q = \{x_1e_1 + \dots + x_de_d : x \in [0, 1]^d\}$  and  $Q' * = \{\xi_1e'_1 + \dots + \xi_de'_d : \xi \in [0, 1]^d\}.$ 

with

(1.2) 
$$\min_{j} \rho_{j} \gamma_{j} \ge \varepsilon \ge C h^{1-\delta}$$

(microlocal uncertainty principle), which could be weakened to

(1.3) 
$$|\nabla^{\alpha}_{\xi}\nabla^{\beta}_{x}p_{m}(x,\xi)| \leq C^{|\alpha|+|\beta|+m+1}\alpha!\beta!m!\rho^{-\alpha}\gamma^{-\beta}\varepsilon^{-m}$$
  
 $\forall \alpha, \beta, m: |\alpha| + |\beta| + 2m \leq N = C|\log h|^{-1}$ 

with

(1.4) 
$$\min_{i} \rho_{j} \gamma_{j} \ge \varepsilon \ge Ch |\log h|$$

(*logarithmic uncertainty principle*). At this point, microlocal analysis ends: the assumptions cannot be weakened any further.

Assuming that

(1.5) 
$$|\nabla_{\xi}^{\alpha} \nabla_{x}^{\beta} \nabla p_{0}(x,\xi)| \leq C^{|\alpha|+|\beta|+1} \alpha! \beta! \rho^{-\alpha} \gamma^{-\beta}$$

and

(1.6) 
$$|\nabla_{\xi}^{\alpha}\nabla_{x}^{\beta}\nabla\rho_{m}(x,\xi)| \leq C^{|\alpha|+|\beta|+m+1}\alpha!\beta!m!\rho^{-\alpha}\gamma^{-\beta}\varepsilon^{1-m} \quad (m\geq 1),$$

we can restore Theorem 2.2 (see Theorem 2.3.2 of [Ivr4]) and therefore also the Corollaries 2.3 and 2.4, assuming  $\xi$ -microhyperbolicity instead of the usual microhyperbolicity. For proofs and details, see Section 2.3 of [Ivr4].

After this, we can than use the successive approximation method like in Subsection 2 (definitely some extra twisting required) and then recover the spectral asymptotics – originally only for operators which are  $\xi$ -microhyperbolic.

To consider non-smooth symbols, we can bracket them between rough symbols: for example, for the Schrödinger operator  $p^-(x,\xi,h) \leq p(x,\xi,h) \leq p^+(x,\xi,h)$  where  $p^{\pm} = p_{\varepsilon} \pm C\nu(\varepsilon)$  and  $p_{\varepsilon}$  is the symbol  $p, \varepsilon$ -mollified and  $\nu(\varepsilon)$  is the modulus of continuity of the metric and potential;  $\varepsilon = Ch |\log h|$ .

Then for  $\nu(\varepsilon) = O(\varepsilon | \log \varepsilon |^{-1})^{36}$ , we can recover the remainder estimate  $O(h^{1-d})$ ; under even weaker regularity conditions by rescaling, we can recover weaker remainder estimates. On the other hand, if  $\nu(\varepsilon) = o(\varepsilon | \log \varepsilon |^{-1})$ ,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36)</sup> Which means that the first partial derivatives are continuous with modulus of continuity  $\nu_1(\varepsilon) = \nu(\varepsilon)\varepsilon^{-1}$ .

we can recover the remainder estimate  $o(h^{1-d})$  under the standard nonperiodicity condition<sup>37)</sup>. For proofs and details, see Section 4.6 of [Ivr4]. There is an alternative to the bracketing construction based on perturbation theory, which works better for the trace asymptotics and also covers the pointwise asymptotics. For an exposition, see Section 4.6 of [Ivr4].

Further, for scalar and similar operators, the rescaling technique allows us to replace  $\xi$ -microhyperbolicity by microhyperbolicity under really weak smoothness assumptions; here we also use  $\varepsilon$  depending on the point so that we can consider scalar symbols under weaker and weaker non-degeneracy assumptions albeit stronger and stronger smoothness assumptions. See Section 5.4 of [Ivr4].

#### Non-Smooth Boundaries

Let us consider a domain with non-smooth boundary (with the Dirichlet boundary condition). Here, the standard trick to flatten out the boundary by the change of variables  $x_1 \mapsto x_1 - \phi(x')$  works very poorly: the operator principal symbol contains the first partial derivatives  $\phi$  and therefore we need to require  $\phi \in \mathscr{C}^2$ . Fortunately, the method of R. Seelley [See1] can help us. This method was originally developed for the Laplacian with a smooth metric and a smooth boundary.

Here, we consider only the Schrödinger operator; assume first that the metric and potential are smooth. Consider a point  $\bar{x} \in X$  and assume that the metric is Euclidean at  $\bar{x}$  and nearby, X looks like  $\{x : x_1 \ge \phi(x')\}$  with  $\nabla' \phi(\bar{x'}) = 0$ . Observe that these assumptions do not require any smoothness beyond  $\mathscr{C}^1$ .

Consider a trajectory starting from  $(\bar{x}, \xi)$ . If  $|\xi_1| < \rho := Ch |\log h|/\gamma$ , the trajectory starts parallel to  $\partial X$  and  $\partial X$  can "catch up" only at time at least  $\mathcal{T} = \sigma(\gamma)$  where  $\gamma = \frac{1}{2} \text{dist}(x, \partial X)$  and  $\sigma$  is the inverse function to  $\nu$ , which is a modulus of continuity for  $\phi^{36}$ .

If  $\xi_1 > \rho$  then this trajectory "runs away from  $\partial X$ " and  $\partial X$  can "catch up" only at time at least  $\mathcal{T} = \sigma(\gamma) + \sigma_1(\xi_1)$  where  $\sigma_1$  is the inverse function to  $\nu_1^{36}$ . On the other hand, if  $\xi_1 < -\rho$ , then we can revert the trajectory (which works only for local but not pointwise spectral asymptotics).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37)</sup> However, even for the Schrödinger operator without boundary, the dynamic equations do not satisfy the Lipschitz condition and thus the flow could be multivalued.

These arguments allow us to estimate the contribution of  $B(x, \gamma(x))$  to the remainder by  $Ch^{1-d}\gamma^d h |\log h|\sigma(\gamma)^{-1}$  and then the total remainder by  $Ch^{1-d} \int \sigma(\gamma)^{-1} dx$ . The latter integral converges for  $\nu(t) = t |\log t|^{-1-\delta}$ .

Sure, this works only when  $\gamma \geq \bar{\gamma} = Ch |\log h|$ . However, if we smoothen the boundary with a smoothing parameter  $C\bar{\gamma}$ , for  $\gamma \leq \bar{\gamma}$ , we will be in the framework of the smooth theory after rescaling and we can take  $T = \bar{\gamma}$ . The contribution of this strip to the remainder does not exceed  $Ch^{1-d}\bar{\gamma}T^{-1}$  as its measure does not exceed  $C\bar{\gamma}$ . One can easily check that the variation of  $\operatorname{vol}(X)$  due to the smoothing of the boundary is  $Ch^{1-d}$  and we can use the bracketing of X as well.

We can even improve the remainder estimate to  $o(h^{1-d})$  under the standard non-periodicity condition.

Furthermore, if the metric and potential are not smooth, we need to mollify them, taking the mollification parameter  $\varepsilon$  larger near  $\partial X$  and taking  $\rho = Ch |\log h| / \varepsilon$ , but it works. For systems, we can exploit the fact that most of the cones of dependence are actually trajectories. For exact statements, proofs and details, see Section 7.5 of [Ivr4].

# Aftermath

After the non-smooth local theory is developed, we can use all the arguments of Section 3 and consider "stronger but more concentrated" singularities added on the top of the weaker ones.

# 2 Magnetic Schrödinger Operator

# Introduction

This Section is entirely devoted to the study of the magnetic Schrödinger operator

(2.1) 
$$H = (-ih\nabla - \mu A(x))^2 + V(x)$$

and of the Schrödinger-Pauli operator

(2.2) 
$$H = ((-ih\nabla - \mu A(x)) \cdot \sigma)^2 + V(x)$$

with a small semiclassical parameter h and large magnetic intensity parameter (coupling constant) responsible for the interaction of a particle with the

magnetic field  $\mu$ . Here,  $\boldsymbol{\sigma} = (\sigma_1, \dots, \sigma_d)$  where  $\sigma_1, \dots, \sigma_d$  are Pauli  $\mathsf{D} \times \mathsf{D}$ matrices and A is magnetic vector potential. We are interested in the two-parameter asymptotics (with respect to h and  $\mu$ ) as well as related asymptotics.

# Standard Theory

## Preliminaries

For a detailed exposition, generalizations and proofs, see Chapter 13 of [Ivr4].

Consider the most interesting cases d = 2, 3 with smooth V(x) and A(x). If d = 2, the magnetic field could be described by a single (pseudo)scalar  $F_{12} = \partial_1 A_2 - \partial_2 A_1$  and by a scalar  $F = |F_{12}|$ . If d = 3, the magnetic field could be described by a (pseudo)vector  $\mathbf{F} = \nabla \times A$  (vector magnetic intensity) and by a scalar  $F = |\mathbf{F}|$  (scalar magnetic intensity). As a toy-model, we consider an operator in  $\mathbb{R}^d$  with constant V and  $\mathbf{F}$ . Then canonical form of the operator (2.1) is

(2.3) 
$$H = h^2 D_1^2 + (h D_2 - \mu F x_1)^2 + h^2 D_3^2 + V,$$

with the third term omitted when d = 3. Then we can calculate

(2.4) 
$$e(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}, \tau) = h^{-d} \mathcal{N}_d^{\mathsf{MW}}(\tau - \mathbf{V}, \mu h \mathbf{F})$$

(2.5) 
$$\mathcal{N}_{d}^{\mathsf{MW}}(\tau, F) = \kappa_{d} \sum_{n \ge 0} (\tau - (2n+1)F)_{+}^{\frac{1}{2}(d-2)} F,$$

where  $\kappa_2 = 1/(2\pi)$ ,  $\kappa_3 = 1/(2\pi^2)$ . In particular, if d = 2,  $F \neq 0$  this operator has a pure point spectrum of infinite multiplicity. Eigenvalues  $(2m + 1)\mu hF$ are called *Landau levels*. If d = 3, this operator has an absolutely continuous spectrum.

In these cases, the operator (2.2) is a direct sum of D/2 operators  $H_{-}$ and D/2 operators  $H_{+}$  where  $H_{\mp} = H_0 \mp \mu h F$ ,  $H_0$  is the operator (2.1); then

(2.6) 
$$\mathcal{N}_{d}^{\mathsf{MW}}(\tau - V, \mu h F) \coloneqq \kappa_{d} D\Big(\frac{1}{2}\tau_{+}^{\frac{1}{2}(d-2)} + \sum_{n \ge 1} (\tau - 2nF)_{+}^{\frac{1}{2}(d-2)}\Big) F$$

Classical dynamics are different as well: when d = 2, the trajectories are *magnetrons*-circles of radii  $(\mu F)^{-1}$ , while if d = 3, there is also free movement along *magnetic lines*-integral curves of F, so the trajectories are solenoids.

### **Canonical Form**

Using the  $\hbar$ -Fourier transform, we can reduce the magnetic Schrödinger operator to its microlocal canonical form

(2.7) 
$$\mu^{2} \sum_{n \geq 0} B_{n}(x_{1}, \hbar D_{1}, \mu^{-2}, \hbar) \mathcal{L}_{0}^{n} \qquad \text{for } d = 2,$$
  
(2.8) 
$$h^{2} D_{2}^{2} + \mu^{2} \sum_{n \geq 0} B_{n}(x', \hbar D_{1}, \mu^{-2}, \hbar) \mathcal{L}_{0}^{n} \qquad \text{for } d = 3,$$

with  $\hbar = \mu^{-1}h$ ,  $\mathcal{L}_0 = x_d^2 + \hbar^2 D_d^2$ ,  $x' = x_1$  and  $x' = (x_1, x_2)$  when d = 2, 3respectively. Further, the principal symbols of the operators  $B_0$  and  $B_1$  are  $\mu^{-2}V \circ \Psi$  and  $F \circ \Psi$  respectively, where  $\Psi$  is a diffeomorphism  $(x', \xi_1) \to x$ .

This canonical form allows us to study both the classical trajectories and the propagation of singularities in the general case. When d = 2, there is still movement along the magnetrons but magnetrons are drifting with the velocity  $\mathbf{v} = \mu^{-1} (\nabla ((\mathbf{V} - \tau)/F_{12}))^{\perp}$  where  $^{\perp}$  denotes the counter-clockwise rotation by  $\pi/2$ . If d = 3, trajectories are solenoids winding around magnetic lines and the movement along magnetic lines is described by an 1-dimensional Hamiltonian but there there is also side-drift as in d = 2.

We can replace then  $\mathcal{L}_0$  by its eigenvalues which are  $(2j + 1)\hbar$ , thus arriving to a family of  $\hbar$ -pseudodifferential operators with respect to  $x_1$  if d = 2 and to a family of  $\hbar$ -pseudodifferential operators with respect to  $x_1$  which is also a Schrödinger operator with respect to  $x_2$ .

#### Asymptotics: Moderate Magnetic Field

We can always recover the estimate  $O(\mu h^{1-d})$  with the standard Weyl principal part simply by using the scaling  $x \to \mu x$ ,  $h \mapsto \mu h$ ,  $\mu \mapsto 1$ . On the other hand, for d = 2, we cannot in general improve it as follows from the example with constant F and V.

However, under a(THE?) non-degeneracy assumption, the remainder estimate is much better:

**Theorem 2.1.** Let d = 2,  $F \approx 1$ ,  $\mu h \lesssim 1$  and

(2.9) 
$$|\nabla VF^{-1}| + |\det \operatorname{Hess} VF^{-1}| \ge \epsilon.$$

Then

(2.10) 
$$\int \left( e(x, x, 0) - h^{-2} \mathcal{N}_2^{\mathsf{MW}}(x, -V, \mu h F) \right) \psi(x) \, dx = O(\mu^{-1} h^{-1}).$$

The explanation is simple: each of the non-degenerate 1-dimensional  $\hbar$ -pseudodifferential operators contributes O(1) to the remainder estimate and there is  $\approx (\mu h)^{-1}$  of them which should be taken into account. Another explanation is that under the non-degeneracy assumption, the drift of the magnetrons destroys the periodicity but we can follow the evolution for time  $T^* = \epsilon \mu$ , so the remainder estimate is  $O(T^{*-1}h^{-1})$ .

If d = 3, we cannot get the local remainder estimate better than  $O(h^{-2})$  without global non-periodicity conditions due to the evolution along magnetic lines. On the other hand, we do not need strong non-degeneracy assumptions:

**Theorem 2.2.** Let d = 3,  $F \approx 1$  and  $\mu h \lesssim 1$ . Then,

(2.11) 
$$\int \left( e(x, x, 0) - h^{-3} \mathcal{N}_3^{MW}(x, -V, \mu hF) \right) \psi(x) \, dx = O(h^{-2} + \mu h^{-1-\delta})$$

in the general case and

(2.12) 
$$\int \Big( e(x, x, 0) - h^{-3} \mathcal{N}_3^{MW}(x, -V, \mu hF) \Big) \psi(x) \, dx = O(h^{-2}),$$

provided

(2.13) 
$$\sum_{\alpha: 1 \le |\alpha| \le K} |\nabla^{\alpha} V F^{-1}| \ge \epsilon.$$

Further, in the general case,  $as(FOR?) \mu \leq h^{-\frac{1}{3}}$ , we can replace the magnetic Weyl expression  $\mathcal{N}_3^{MW}$  by the standard Weyl expression  $\mathcal{N}_3$ .

### Asymptotics: Strong Magnetic Field

Let us now consider the strong magnetic field case  $\mu h \gtrsim 1$ . Then the remainder estimates (2.10), (2.11) and (2.12) acquire a factor of  $\mu h^{-1}$ :

**Theorem 2.3.** Let d = 2,  $F \approx 1$  and  $\mu h \gtrsim 1$ . Then for the operator (2.3),

(i) Under the assumption

(2.14) 
$$|\tau V - (2j+1)\mu hF| \ge \epsilon_0 \qquad \forall j \in \mathbb{Z}^+,$$

the following asymptotics holds:

(2.15) 
$$e(x, x, \tau) - h^{-2} \mathcal{N}_2^{\mathsf{MW}}(x, \tau - V, F) = O(\mu^{-s} h^{s}).$$

### (ii) Under the assumption

(2.16) 
$$|\tau V - (2j+1)\mu hF| + |\nabla ((V - \tau)F^{-1})| + |\det \operatorname{Hess}((V - \tau)F^{-1})| \ge \epsilon_0 \qquad \forall j \in \mathbb{Z}^+,$$

the following asymptotics holds:

(2.17) 
$$\int \left( e(x, x, \tau) - h^{-2} \mathcal{N}_2^{MW}(x, \tau - V, F) \right) \psi(x) \, dx = O(1).$$

Remark 2.4. If d = 2, we only need that  $\mu^{-1}h \ll 1$  rather than  $h \ll 1$ .

**Theorem 2.5.** Let d = 3,  $F \approx 1$  and  $\mu h \gtrsim 1$ . Then for the operator (2.3),

(2.18) 
$$\int \left( e(x, x, 0) - h^{-3} \mathcal{N}_3^{\mathsf{MW}}(x, -V, \mu hF) \right) \psi(x) \, dx = O(\mu h^{-1-\delta})$$

in the general case and

(2.19) 
$$\int \Big( e(x, x, 0) - h^{-3} \mathcal{N}_3^{\mathsf{MW}}(x, -V, \mu hF) \Big) \psi(x) \, dx = O(\mu h^{-1})$$

 $under \ the \ assumption$ 

(2.20) 
$$|V + (2j+1)\mu hF| + \sum_{\alpha: 1 \le |\alpha| \le K} |\nabla^{\alpha} VF^{-1}| \ge \epsilon \qquad \forall j \in \mathbb{Z}^+.$$

Remark 2.6. (i)  $\mathcal{N}_d^{MW} = O(\mu h)$  for  $\mu h \gtrsim 1$ .

(ii) For the Schrödinger-Pauli operator (2.4), one only needs to replace "(2j + 1)" by "2j" in the assumptions above.

# 2D case, Degenerating Magnetic Field

## Preliminaries

Since  $\mu F$  plays such a prominent role when d = 2, one may ask what happens if F vanishes somewhere? Obviously, one needs to make certain assumptions; it turns out that in the generic case

$$(2.21) |F| + |\nabla F| \asymp 1,$$

the degeneration manifold  $\Sigma := \{x : F(x) = 0\}$  is a smooth manifold and the operator is modelled by

(2.22) 
$$h^2 D_1^2 + (hD_2 - \mu x_1^2/2)^2 + V(x_2),$$

which we are going to study. We consider the local spectral asymptotics for  $\psi$  supported in a small enough vicinity of  $\Sigma$ . Under the assumption (2.21) (or, rather more a general one), the complete analysis was done in Chapter 14 of [Ivr4].

### Moderate and Strong Magnetic Field

We start from the case  $\mu h \leq 1$ . Without any loss of the generality, one can assume that  $\Sigma = \{x : x_1 = 0\}$ . Then, the scaling  $x \mapsto x/\gamma(\bar{x})$  (with  $\gamma(x) = \frac{1}{2} \text{dist}(x, \Sigma)$ ), brings us to the case of the non-degenerate magnetic field with  $h \mapsto h_1 = h/\gamma$  and  $\mu \mapsto \mu_1 = \mu\gamma^2$  as long as  $\gamma \geq \mu^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ . Then the contribution of  $B(x, \gamma(x))$  to the remainder does not exceed  $C\mu_1^{-1}h_1^{-1} = C\mu^{-1}h^{-1}\gamma^{-1}$  and the total contribution of the *regular zone*  $\mathcal{Z} = \{\gamma(x) \geq C_0\mu^{-\frac{1}{2}}\}$  does not exceed  $C \int \mu^{-1}h^{-1}\gamma^{-3} dx = Ch^{-1}$ .

On the other hand, in the degeneration zone  $\mathcal{Z}_0 = \{\gamma(x) \leq C_0 \mu^{-\frac{1}{2}}\}$ , we use  $\gamma = \mu^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  and the contribution of  $B(x, \gamma(x))$  does not exceed  $Ch_1^{-1} = Ch^{-1}\mu^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  and the total contribution of this zone also does not exceed  $Ch^{-1}$ .

Thus we conclude that the left-hand expression of (2.10) is now  $O(h^{-1})$ . Can we do any better than this?

Analysis of the evolution and propagation in the zone  $\mathcal{Z}$  shows that there is a drift of magnetic lines along  $\Sigma$  with speed  $C\mu^{-1}\gamma^{-1}$  which allows us to improve  $T^* \simeq \mu\gamma^2$  to  $T^* \simeq \mu\gamma$  (both before rescaling) and improve the estimate of the contribution of  $B(x, \gamma(x))$  to  $C\mu^{-1}h^{-1}$  and the total contribution of this zone to  $C \int \mu^{-1}h^{-1}\gamma^{-2} dx = C\mu^{-\frac{1}{2}}h^{-1}$ .

Analysis of evolution and propagation in the zone  $\mathcal{Z}_0$  is more tricky. It turns out that there are *short periodic trajectories* with period  $\approx \mu^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ , but there are not many of them which allows us to improve the remainder estimate in this zone as well.

**Theorem 2.7.** Let d = 2 and suppose the condition (2.21) is fulfilled. Let  $\Sigma := \{F = 0\} = \{x_1 = 0\}$  and  $-V \simeq 1$ . Let  $\mu \leq h^{-1}$ . Then,

(i) The left-hand expression of (2.17) is  $O(\mu^{-\frac{1}{2}}h^{-1} + h^{-1}(\mu^{\frac{1}{2}}h|\log h|)^{\frac{1}{2}})$ . In particular, for  $\mu \leq (h|\log h|)^{-\frac{2}{3}}$ , it is  $O(\mu^{-\frac{1}{2}}h^{-1})$ .

(ii) Further,

(2.23) 
$$\int \left( e(x, x, 0) - h^{-2} \mathcal{N}_2^{\mathsf{MW}}(x, -V, \mu h F) \right) \psi(x) \, dx - h^{-1} \int \mathcal{N}_{\mathsf{corr}}^{\mathsf{MW}}(x_2, 0) \psi(x_2, 0) = O(\mu^{-\frac{1}{2}} h^{-1} + h^{-\delta})$$

with

(2.24) 
$$h^{-1}\mathcal{N}_{corr}^{MW} :=$$
  
 $(2\pi h)^{-1}\int \mathbf{n}_0(\xi_2, -W(x_2), \hbar) d\xi_2 - h^{-2}\int \mathcal{N}^{MW}(-W(x_2), \mu hF(x_1)) dx_1$ 

where  $\mathbf{n}_0(\xi_2, \tau, \hbar)$  is an eigenvalue counting function for the operator  $\mathbf{a}_0(\xi_2, \hbar) = \hbar^2 D_1^2 + (\xi_2 - x_1^2/2)^2$  on  $\mathbb{R}^1 \ni x_1$ ,  $\hbar = \mu^{\frac{1}{2}} h$  and  $W(x_2) = V(0, x_2)$ .

(iii) Furthermore, under the non-degeneracy assumption

(2.25) 
$$\sum_{1 \le k \le m} |\partial_{x_2}^k W| \asymp 1$$

(in the framework of assumption (2.22)), one can take  $\delta = 0$  in (2.23).

*Remark 2.8.* (i) Under some non-degeneracy assumptions, Theorem 2.7(i) could also be improved.

(ii) Theorem 2.7 remains valid for  $h^{-1} \le \mu \lesssim h^{-2}$  as well but then the zone  $\{x : \gamma(x) \ge C(\mu h)^{-1}\}$  is forbidden, contribution to the principal part is delivered by the zone  $\{x : \gamma(x) \le (\mu h)^{-1}\}$  and it is  $\lesssim \mu^{-1} h^{-3}$ .

(iii) As  $\mu \ge Ch^2$ , the principal part is 0 and the remainder is  $O(\mu^{-s})$ .

For further details, generalizations and proofs, see Section 14.6 of [Ivr4].

### Strong and Superstrong Magnetic Field

Assume now that  $\mu \gtrsim h^{-1}$  and replace V by  $V - (2j+1)\mu hF_{12}$  with  $j \in \mathbb{Z}^+$ . Then the zone  $\{x : \gamma(x) \ge C(\mu h)^{-1}\}$  is no longer forbidden, the principal part of asymptotics is of the magnitude  $\mu h^{-1}$  (cf. Remark 2.8(ii) and the remainder estimate becomes  $O(\mu^{-\frac{1}{2}}h^{-1}+h^{-\delta})$  (and under the non-degeneracy assumption one can take  $\delta = 0$ ).
Furthermore, the case  $\mu \geq Ch^{-2}$  is no longer trivial. First, one needs to change the correction term by replacing  $\mathbf{a}_0$  with  $\mathbf{a}_{2j+1} \coloneqq \mathbf{a}_0 - (2j+1)\hbar x_1$ . Second, the non-degeneracy condition should be relaxed by requiring (2.25) only if

(2.26) 
$$|\hbar^{2/3}\lambda_{j,n}(\eta) + W(x_2)| + |\partial_{\eta}\lambda_{j,n}(\eta) \ge \epsilon \qquad \forall \eta,$$

fails, where  $\lambda_{j,n}$  are the eigenvalues of  $\boldsymbol{a}_{2j+1}$  with  $\hbar = 1$ .

Furthermore, if

(2.27) 
$$|\hbar^{2/3}\lambda_{j,n}(\eta) + W(\mathbf{x}_2)| \ge \epsilon \qquad \forall \eta$$

then 0 belongs to the spectral gap and the remainder estimate is  $O(\mu^{-s})$ .

For further details, exact statements, generalizations and proofs, see Sections 14.7 and 14.8 of [Ivr4].

## 2D Case, near the Boundary

#### Moderate Magnetic Field

We now consider the magnetic Schrödinger operator with d = 2,  $F \approx 1$  in a compact domain X with  $\mathcal{C}^{\infty}$ -boundary. While the dynamics inside the domain do not change, the dynamics in the boundary layer of the width  $\approx \mu^{-1}$  are completely different. When the magnetron hits  $\partial X$ , it reflects according to the standard "incidence angle equals reflection angle" law and thus the "particle" propagates along  $\partial X$  with speed O(1) rather than  $O(\mu^{-1})$ . Therefore, physicists distinguish between *bulk* and *edge particles*. Note however that in general, this distinction is not as simple as in the case of constant F and V. Indeed, a drifting inner trajectory can hit  $\partial X$ and become a *hop trajectory*, while the latter could leave the boundary and become an inner trajectory.

It follows from Section 2 that the contribution of  $B(x, \gamma(x))$  with  $\gamma(x) = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{dist}(x, \partial X) \geq \overline{\gamma} = C\mu^{-1}$  to the remainder is  $O(\mu^{-1}h^{-1}\gamma^2 T(x)^{-1})$ , where T(x) is the length of the drift trajectory inside the *bulk zone*  $\{x \in X : \gamma(x) \geq \overline{\gamma}\}$ . Then the total contribution of this zone to the remainder does not exceed  $C\mu^{-1}h^{-1}\int T(x)^{-1} dx = O(\mu^{-1}h^{-1})$  since  $T(x) \gtrsim \gamma(x)^{\frac{1}{2}}$  (in the proper direction).

On the other hand, due to the rescaling  $x \mapsto x/\bar{\gamma}$ , the contribution of  $B(x,\bar{\gamma})$  with  $\gamma(x) \leq \bar{\gamma}$  to the remainder does not exceed  $C\mu h^{-1}\bar{\gamma}^2$  and the

total contribution of the *edge zone*  $\{x \in X : \gamma(x) \leq \bar{\gamma}\}$  does not exceed  $C\mu h^{-1}\bar{\gamma} = Ch^{-1}$  and the total remainder is  $O(h^{-1})$ . Thus, if we want a better estimate, we need to study propagation along  $\partial X$ .

**Theorem 2.9.** Under the non-degeneracy assumption  $|\nabla_{\partial X}(VF^{-1})| \approx 1$  on  $\operatorname{supp}(\psi)$  (contained in the small vicinity of  $\partial X$ ) for  $\mu h \leq 1$ 

(2.28) 
$$\int_{X} \left( e(x, x, 0) - h^{-2} \mathcal{N}^{\mathsf{MW}}(x, 0, \mu h) \right) \psi(x) \, dx - h^{-1} \int_{\partial X} \mathcal{N}^{\mathsf{MW}}_{*,\mathsf{bound}}(x, 0, \mu h) \psi(x) \, ds_g = O(\mu^{-1} h^{-1}),$$

where  $\mathcal{N}_{*,\text{bound}}^{\text{MW}}$  is introduced in  $(5.4.2)_{\text{D}}$  or  $(5.4.2)_{\text{N}}$  below for the Dirichlet or Neumann boundary conditions respectively with  $\hbar = \mu h F(x)$  and  $\tau$  replaced by -V(x).

Here,

$$(5.4.2)_{\mathsf{D}} \quad \mathcal{N}_{\mathsf{D},\mathsf{bound}}^{\mathsf{MW}}(\tau,\hbar) \coloneqq (2\pi)^{-1} \int_{0}^{\infty} \sum_{j\geq 0} \left( \int \theta(\tau - \hbar\lambda_{\mathsf{D},j}(\eta)) v_{\mathsf{D},j}^{2}(x_{1},\eta) \, d\eta - \theta(\tau - (2j+1)\hbar) \right) \hbar^{\frac{1}{2}} \, dx_{1}$$

and

$$(5.4.2)_{\mathsf{N}} \quad \mathcal{N}_{\mathsf{N},\mathsf{bound}}^{\mathsf{MW}}(\tau,\hbar) \coloneqq (2\pi)^{-1} \int_{0}^{\infty} \sum_{j\geq 0} \left( \int \theta(\tau - \hbar\lambda_{\mathsf{N},j}(\eta)) v_{\mathsf{N},j}^{2}(x_{1},\eta) \, d\eta - \theta(\tau - (2j+1)\hbar +) \right) \hbar^{\frac{1}{2}} \, dx_{1},$$

where  $\lambda_{D,j}(\eta)$  and  $\lambda_{N,j}(\eta)$  are eigenvalues and  $v_{D,j}$  and  $v_{N,j}$  are eigenfunctions of operator

(2.30) 
$$a(\eta, x_1, D_1) = D_1^2 + x_1^2 \quad as \quad x_1 < \eta$$

with the Dirichlet or Neumann boundary conditions respectively at  $x_1 = \eta$ .

Remark 2.10. Under weaker non-degeneracy assumptions  $|\nabla VF^{-1}| \approx 1$  and  $\nabla_{\partial X} VF^{-1} = 0 \implies \pm \nabla_{\partial X}^2 VF^{-1} \geq \epsilon$ , less sharp remainder estimates are derived. The sign in the latter inequality matters since it affects the dynamics. It also matters whether Dirichlet or Neumann boundary conditions are considered: for the Dirichlet boundary condition we get a better remainder estimate.

For exact statements, generalizations and proofs, see Sections 15.2 and 15.2 of [Ivr4].

#### Strong Magnetic Field

We now consider the strong magnetic field  $\mu h \gtrsim 1$  and for simplicity assume that F = 1. In this case, we need to study an auxillary operator  $D_1^2 + (x_1 - \eta)^2$  as  $x_1 < 0$  with either the Dirichlet or Neumann boundary conditions at  $x_1 = 0$  or equivalently the operator (2.30) and our operator is basically reduced to a perturbed operator

(2.31)  $a(\hbar D_2, x_1, D_1) - (2j+1) - (\mu h)^{-1} W(x_2) \qquad \hbar = \mu^{-1} h,$ 

with  $W(x_2) = V(0, x_2)$ . Then we need to analyze either  $\lambda_{D,j}(\eta)$  or  $\lambda_{N,j}(\eta)$  more carefully. It turns out that:

**Proposition 2.11.**  $\lambda_{D,n}(\eta)$  and  $\lambda_{N,n}(\eta)$ , n = 0, 1, 2, ... are real analytic functions with the following properties:

(i)  $\lambda_{\mathsf{D},k}(\eta)$  are monotone decreasing for  $\eta \in \mathbb{R}$ ;  $\lambda_{\mathsf{D},k}(\eta) \nearrow +\infty$  as  $\eta \to -\infty$ ;  $\lambda_{\mathsf{D},k}(\eta) \searrow (2k+1)$  as  $\eta \to +\infty$ ;  $\lambda_{\mathsf{D},k}(0) = (4k+3)$ .

(ii)  $\lambda_{\mathsf{N},k}(\eta)$  are monotone decreasing for  $\eta \in \mathbb{R}^-$ ;  $\lambda_{\mathsf{N},k}(\eta) \nearrow +\infty$  as  $\eta \to -\infty$ ;  $\lambda_{\mathsf{N},k}(\eta) < (2n+1)$  as  $\eta \ge (2n+1)^{\frac{1}{2}}$ ;  $\lambda_{\mathsf{N},k}(0) = (4n+1)$ .

(*iii*) 
$$\lambda_{\mathsf{N},k}(\eta) < \lambda_{\mathsf{D},k}(\eta) < \lambda_{\mathsf{N},(k+1)}(\eta); \lambda_{\mathsf{D},k}(\eta) > (2k+1), \lambda_{\mathsf{N},n}(\eta) > (2k-1)_+.$$

Proposition 2.12. (i)  $\partial_{\eta}\lambda_{D,k}(\eta) < 0$ .

(*ii*)  $\partial_{\eta}\lambda_{N,n}(\eta) \gtrless 0$  if and only if

(2.32) 
$$\lambda_{\mathsf{N},k}(\eta) \stackrel{\leq}{=} \eta^2.$$

(iii)  $\lambda_{N,k}(\eta)$  has a single stationary point<sup>38)</sup>  $\eta_k$ , it is a non-degenerate minimum, and at this point (2.32) holds.

(iv) In particular,  $(\lambda_{N,k}(\eta) - \eta^2)$  has the same sign as  $(\eta_k - \eta)$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38)</sup> And it must have one due to Proposition 2.11.

We see the difference between the Dirichlet and Neumann cases because we need non-degeneracy for  $\lambda_{*,k}(\hbar D_2) - (2j+1) + W(x_2)$ . It also means the difference in the propagation of singularities along  $\partial X$ : in the Dirichlet case, all singularities move in one direction (constant sign of  $\lambda'_{D,k}$ ), while in the Neumann case, some move in the opposite direction (variable sign of  $\lambda'_{N,k}$ ); this effect plays a role also in the case when  $\mu h \leq 1$ .

Assume here that  $\tau$  is in an "inner" spectral gap:

(2.33) 
$$|(2j+1)\mu h + V - \tau| \ge \epsilon_0 \mu h \qquad \forall x \ \forall j \in \mathbb{Z}^+.$$

**Theorem 2.13.** Suppose that  $\mu h \gtrsim 1$  and the condition (2.33) is fulfilled. Then,

(i) In case of the Dirichlet boundary condition, the left-hand expression in (2.28) is O(1).

(ii) In case of the Neumann boundary condition, assume additionally that

$$(5.4.7)_{\pm} |(\lambda_{\mathsf{N},j}(\eta)\mu h + V - \tau)| \leq \epsilon_0 \mu h,$$
  
$$|\lambda'_{\mathsf{N},j}(\eta)| + |\partial_{x_2}V| \leq \epsilon_0 \implies \pm \partial_{x_2}^2 V \geq \epsilon_0 \qquad \forall j = 0, 1, 2, \dots$$

Then, the left-hand expression in (2.28) is O(1) under the assumption (2.34)<sub>+</sub> and  $O(\log h)$  under the assumption (2.34)<sub>-</sub>.

Remark 2.14. (i) If (2.33) is fulfilled for all  $\tau \in [\tau_1, \tau_2]$ , then the asymptotics is "concentrated" in the boundary layer.

(ii) For a more general statement when (2.33) fails (i.e. when  $\tau$  is no longer in the "inner" spectral gap) and is replaced with the condition

(2.35) 
$$|V + (2j+1)\mu h - \tau| + |\nabla V| \approx 1$$

on  $supp(\psi)$ , see Theorem 15.4.18 of [Ivr4].

#### Pointwise Asymptotics and Short Loops

We are now interested in the pointwise asymptotics inside the domain. Surprisingly, it turns out that the standard Weyl formula for this purpose is better than the Magnetic Weyl formula.

#### Case d = 2

We start from the case d = 2, F = 1,  $|\nabla V| \approx 1$ . One can easily see that in classical dynamics, short loops of the lengths  $\approx \mu^{-1}n$  with n = 1, ..., N,  $N \approx \mu$  appear. We would like to understand how these loops affect the asymptotics in question.

**Theorem 2.15.** For the magnetic Schrödinger operator which satisfies the above assumptions in a domain  $X \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ , with  $B(0,1) \subset X$ , the following estimates hold at a point  $x \in B(0, \frac{1}{2})$ 

(i) For  $1 \le \mu \le h^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ ,

(2.36) 
$$|e(x, x, \tau) - h^{-2} \mathcal{N}_{x}^{\mathsf{W}}(\tau)| \leq C \mu^{-1} h^{-1} + C \mu^{\frac{1}{2}} h^{-\frac{1}{2}} + C \mu^{2} h^{-\frac{1}{2}}$$

and

$$(2.37) \quad \mathsf{R}^{\mathsf{W}}_{\mathsf{x}(r)} := |e(x, x, 0) - h^{-2} (\mathcal{N}^{\mathsf{W}}_{\mathsf{x}}(0) + \mathcal{N}^{\mathsf{W}}_{\mathsf{x}, \mathsf{corr}(r)}(0))| \leq C\mu^{-1}h^{-1} + C\mu^{\frac{1}{2}}h^{-\frac{1}{2}} + C\mu h^{-1} (\mu^{2}h)^{r+\frac{1}{2}} + C\mu^{r+\frac{1}{2}}h^{-\frac{1}{2}} + C\mu^{\frac{1}{2}}h^{\frac{r+\frac{1}{2}}{2}} + \mu^{\frac{1}{3}}h^{-\frac{2}{3}} + C\mu^{r+\frac{1}{2}}h^{\frac{r+\frac{1}{2}}{2}} + \mu^{\frac{1}{3}}h^{-\frac{2}{3}} + L^{\frac{r+\frac{1}{2}}{2}}h^{\frac{r+\frac{1}{2}}{2}} + L^{\frac{r+\frac{1}{2}}{2}} + L^{\frac{r+\frac{1}{2}$$

where  $\mathcal{N}_{x,\text{corr}(r)}^{\mathsf{W}}$  is the *r*-term stationary phase approximation to some explicit oscillatory integral (see Section 16.3 of [Ivr4]).

(*ii*) For 
$$h^{-\frac{1}{3}} \le \mu \le h^{-1}$$
,

$$\begin{array}{ll} (2.38) \quad \mathsf{R}_{\mathsf{x}(r)}^{\mathsf{W}''} \coloneqq \\ & \left| \left( e(x,x,\tau) - h^{-2} \mathcal{N}_{\mathsf{x},\mathsf{corr}(r)} - \bar{e}_{\mathsf{x}}(x,x,\tau) + h^{-2} \bar{\mathcal{N}}_{\mathsf{x},\mathsf{corr}(r)} \right) \right| \leq \\ & C \mu^{\frac{1}{2}} h^{-\frac{1}{2}} + C \begin{cases} \mu^{-2} h^{-2} (\mu^{2} h)^{r+\frac{1}{2}} & \text{for } \mu \leq h^{-\frac{1}{2}} \\ h^{-1} & \text{for } \mu \geq h^{-\frac{1}{2}} \end{cases} \\ & + C \begin{cases} h^{-1} (\mu^{\frac{5}{2}} h)^{r+\frac{1}{2}} + \mu^{\frac{1}{3}} h^{-\frac{2}{3}} & \text{for } \mu \leq h^{-\frac{2}{5}} \\ \mu^{\frac{5}{3}} h^{-\frac{1}{3}} & \text{for } h^{-\frac{2}{5}} \leq \mu \leq h^{-\frac{1}{2}} \end{cases} \\ & \mu^{-\frac{1}{3}} h^{-\frac{4}{3}} & \text{as } \mu \geq h^{-\frac{1}{2}} \end{array}$$

while for  $\mathbf{r} = \mathbf{0}$ , (2.39)  $\mathsf{R}_{\mathbf{x}(\mathbf{0})}^{\mathsf{W}''} \coloneqq |\mathbf{e}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}, \tau) - \bar{\mathbf{e}}_{\mathbf{x}}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}, \tau)| \le C\mu^{\frac{1}{2}}h^{-\frac{1}{2}} + C\begin{cases} h^{-1}\mu^{\frac{1}{2}} & \text{for } \mu \le h^{-\frac{1}{2}}, \\ \mu^{-\frac{1}{2}}h^{-\frac{3}{2}} & \text{for } \mu \ge h^{-\frac{1}{2}} \end{cases}$ 

where here and in (iii),  $\bar{\mathbf{e}}_{\mathbf{y}}$  is constructed for the toy-model in  $\mathbf{y}$  (with  $F = F(\mathbf{y})$  and  $V(\mathbf{x}) = V(\mathbf{y}) + \langle \nabla V(\mathbf{y}), \mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y} \rangle$ ).

(*iii*) For 
$$\mu \ge h^{-1}$$
,  $\tau \le c\mu h$ ,  
(2.40)  $|e(x, x, \tau) - \bar{e}_x(x, x, \tau)| \le C\mu^{\frac{1}{2}}h^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ .

#### Case d = 3

For d = 3, we cannot expect a remainder estimate better than  $O(h^{-1})$ . On the other hand, the purely Weyl approximation has a better chance to succeed as the loop condition now includes returning free movement along the magnetic line in addition to the returning circular movement. We formulate only one theorem out of many from Section 16.7 of [Ivr4]:

Theorem 2.16. Let d = 3. Then,

(i) In the general case,

(2.41) 
$$|e(x, x, \tau) - h^{-3} \mathcal{N}_{x}^{W}(x, x, \tau)| \leq Ch^{-2} + C\mu^{\frac{3}{2}} h^{-\frac{3}{2}}.$$

(ii) Under non-degeneracy condition

(2.42) 
$$|\nabla_{\perp F} (V - \tau) / F| \asymp 1,$$

where  $\nabla_{\perp}$  is the component of the gradient perpendicular to  $\mathbf{F}$ , for  $\mu \leq h^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ , we have the estimates

(2.43) 
$$|e(x, x, \tau) - h^{-3} \mathcal{N}_{x}^{W}(x, x, \tau)| \leq Ch^{-2} + C\mu^{\frac{5}{2}} h^{-1}$$

and

(2.44) 
$$|e(x, x, \tau) - h^{-3} \mathcal{N}_{x}^{\mathsf{W}}(x, x, \tau) - h^{-3} \mathcal{N}_{x, \operatorname{corr}(r)}| \leq Ch^{-2} + C\mu^{\frac{3}{2}} h^{-\frac{3}{2}} (\mu^{2} h)^{r+\frac{1}{2}}.$$

Here we use stationary phase approximations again.

Remark 2.17. One can also consider the cases  $h^{-\frac{1}{2}} \leq \mu \leq h^{-1}$  and  $\mu \gtrsim h^{-1}$ . But then one needs to include the toy-model expression (with constant F and  $\nabla V$ ) into the approximation.

#### **Related Asymptotics**

Apart from the pointwise asymptotics, one can consider the related asymptotics of

(2.45) 
$$\int \omega(\frac{1}{2}(x+y), x-y)e(x, y, \tau)e(y, x, \tau) dxdy$$

and estimates of

(2.46) 
$$\int \omega(\frac{1}{2}(x+y), x-y) (e(x, x, \tau) - e^{\mathsf{W}}(x, x, \tau)) \times (e(y, y, \tau) - e^{\mathsf{W}}(y, y, \tau)) dxdy.$$

For all the details, see Chapter 16 of [Ivr4]. These expressions play important role in Section 4.

## Magnetic Dirac oOperators

We discuss the magnetic Dirac operators

(2.47) 
$$H = ((-ih\nabla - \mu A(x)) \cdot \sigma) + \sigma_0 M + V(x)$$

and

(2.48) 
$$H = ((-ih\nabla - \mu A(x)) \cdot \sigma) + V(x).$$

If d = 3, for the second operator, we can consider  $2 \times 2$  matrices rather than  $4 \times 4$  matrices.

If V = 0 then  $H^2$  equals to the Schrödinger-Pauli operator (plus  $M^2$ ) and therefore the theory of magnetic Dirac and Schrödinger operators are closely connected. If V = 0 and  $0 \neq F$  is constant then the operator for d = 2 has a pure point spectrum of infinite multiplicity consisting of  $\pm \sqrt{M^2 + 2j\mu hF}$ with  $j \in \mathbb{Z}^{+39}$  and for d = 3, this operator has absolutely continuous spectrum  $(-\infty, -M] \cup [M, \infty)$ . Thus we get corresponding *Landau levels*.

The results similar to those of Section 2 hold (for details, exact statements and proofs, see Chapter 17 of [Ivr4]. Further, the results of Sections 2 and 2 probably are not difficult to generalize, and maybe the results of Section 2 as well under correctly posed boundary conditions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39)</sup> However, one of the points  $\pm M$  is missing depending on whether  $F_{12} \ge 0$  and  $\sigma_1 \sigma_2 \sigma_3 = \pm i$ .

# 3 Magnetic Schrödinger Operator. II

## **Higher Dimensions**

#### **General Theory**

We can consider a magnetic Schrödinger (and also Schrödinger-Pauli and Dirac) operators in higher dimensions. In this case, the magnetic intensity is characterized by the skew-symmetric matrix  $F_{jk} = \partial_j A_k - \partial_k A_j$  rather than by a pseudo-scaler  $F_{12}$  or a pseudo-vector  $\boldsymbol{F}$ . As a result, the magnetic Weyl expression becomes more complicated; as before, it is exactly  $\boldsymbol{e}(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{x}, \tau)$  for the operator in  $\mathbb{R}^d$  if  $F_{jk}$  and V constant:

(3.1) 
$$h^{-d} \mathcal{N}_{d}^{\mathsf{MW}}(\tau) \coloneqq$$
  
 $(2\pi)^{-r} \mu^{r} h^{-r} \sum_{\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}^{+r}} \left( \tau - \sum_{j} (2\alpha_{j} + 1) f_{j} \mu h - V \right)_{+}^{\frac{1}{2}(d-2r)} f_{1} \cdots f_{r} \sqrt{g},$ 

where  $2r = \operatorname{rank}(F_{jk})$  and  $\pm if_j$  (with j = 1, ..., r,  $f_j > 0$ ) are its eigenvalues<sup>40</sup>) which are not 0; recall that  $z^0_+ = \theta(z)$ .

One can see that H has pure point of infinite multiplicity spectrum when d = 2r and H has an absolutely continuous spectrum when d > 2r. In any case, the bottom of the spectrum is  $\mu h(f_1 + \ldots + f_r)$ .

We are interested in the asymptotics with the sharpest possible remainder estimate like the one for d = 2 or d = 3 in the cases d = 2r and d > 2r respectively<sup>41</sup>. Asymptotics without a remainder estimate were derived in [Rai1, Rai2].

As we try to reduce the operator to the canonical form, we immediately run into problem of *resonances* when  $f_1m_1 + \ldots + f_rm_r = 0$  at some point with  $m \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ ;  $|m_1| + \ldots + |m_r|$  is an order of resonance. If the lowest order of resonances is k, then we can reduce the operator to its canonical form modulo  $O(\mu^{-k})$  for  $\mu h \leq 1$  (when  $\mu h \geq 1$ , this problem is less acute).

It turns out, however, that we can deal with an incomplete canonical form (with a sufficiently small remainder term).

Another problem is that we cannot in general assume that the  $f_j$  are constant (for d = 2, 3, we could achieve this by multiplying the operator by  $f_1^{-1/2}$ ) and the microhyperbolicity condition becomes really complicated.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40)</sup> In the general case, the eigenvalues of  $(F_k^j) = (g^{jl})(F_{lk})$  where  $(g^{jk})$  is a metric.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41)</sup> We assume that  $(F_{ik}(x))$  has constant rank.

**Case** 2r = d In this case, only the resonances of orders 2, 3 matter as we are looking for an error  $O(\mu^{-1}h^{1-d})$  when  $\mu h \leq 1$ . If the magnetic field is weak enough, we use the incomplete canonical form only to study propagation of the singularities and if the magnetic field is sufficiently strong, the omitted terms  $O(\mu^{-4})$  in the canonical form are small enough to be neglected.

As a result, the indices j = 1, ..., r are broken into several groups (indices j and k belong to the same group if they "participate" in the resonance of order 2 or 3 after all the reductions). Then under a certain non-degeneracy assumption called  $\mathfrak{N}$ -microhyperbolicity (see Definition 19.2.5 of [Ivr4]) in which this group partition plays a role, we can recover the remainder estimate  $O(\mu^{-1}h^{1-d})$  for  $\mu h \leq 1$  (in which case, the principal part has magnitude  $h^{-d}$ ) and  $O(\mu^{r-1}h^{1-d+r})$  for  $\mu h \gtrsim 1$  (in which case, the principal part has magnitude  $\mu^r h^{r-d}$ ). If we ignore the resonances of order 3, we get a partition into smaller groups and we need a weaker non-degeneration assumption called microhyperbolicity (see Definition 19.2.4 of [Ivr4]) but the remainder estimate would be less sharp.

In an important special case of constant  $f_1, \ldots, f_r$ , both these conditions are equivalent to  $|\nabla V|$  disjoint from 0 (on  $\text{supp}(\psi)$ ) but it could be weakened to V having only non-degenerate critical points (if there are saddles, we need to add a logarithmic factor to the remainder estimate).

On the other hand, without any non-degeneracy assumptions, the remainder estimate can be as bad as  $O(\mu h^{1-d})$  for  $\mu h \lesssim 1$  and as bad as the principal part itself for  $\mu h \gtrsim 1$ .

For exact statements, details, proofs and generalizations, see Chapter 19 of [Ivr4].

**Case** 2r < d In this case, only the resonances of order 2 matter since we are expecting a larger error than in the previous case. As a result, the indices j = 1, ..., r are broken into several groups (indices j and k belong to the same group if  $f_i = f_k$ ).

Then under a certain non-degeneracy assumption called microhyperbolicity (see Definition 20.1.2 of [Ivr4]) in which this group partition plays a role, we can recover the remainder estimate  $O(h^{1-d})$  for  $\mu h \leq 1$  (then the principal part is of the magnitude  $h^{-d}$ ) and  $O(\mu^r h^{1-d+r})$  for  $\mu h \gtrsim 1$  (then the principal part is of the magnitude  $\mu^r h^{r-d}$ ).

In an important special case of constant  $f_1, \ldots, f_r$ , this condition is equiv-

alent to  $|\nabla V|$  being disjoint from 0 (on  $\text{supp}(\psi)$ ) but it could be weakened to " $\nabla V = 0 \implies \text{Hess } V$  has a positive eigenvalue"; if we assume only that " $\nabla V = 0 \implies \text{Hess } V$  has a non-zero eigenvalue", but we need to add a logarithmic factor to the remainder estimate.

As expected, for 2r = d-1, we can recover less sharp remainder estimates even without any non-degeneracy assumptions and for  $2r \leq d-2$ , we do not need any non-degeneracy conditions at all. For exact statements, details, proofs and generalizations, see Chapter 20 of [Ivr4].

#### Case d = 4: More Results

This case is simpler than the general one since we have only  $f_1$  and  $f_2$  and resonance happens if either  $f_1 = f_2$  or  $f_1 = 2f_2$  (or  $f_2 = 2f_1$ ).

If we assume that the magnetic intensity matrix  $(F_{jk})$  has constant rank 4, this case is simpler than the general one (d = 2r) and we can recover sharp remainder estimates under less restrictive conditions. For exact statements, details, proofs and generalizations, see Chapter 22 of [Ivr4].

On the other hand, if we consider  $(F_{jk})$  of variable rank, then in the generic case, it has the eigenvalues  $\pm if_1$  and  $\pm if_2$  and  $\Sigma = \{x : f_1(x) = 0\}$  is a  $\mathscr{C}^{\infty}$  manifold of dimension 3,  $\nabla f_1 \neq 0$  on  $\Sigma$ , while  $f_2$  is disjoint from 0. It is similar to a 2-dimensional operator which we considered in Section 2, although with a twist: the symplectic form restricted to  $\Sigma$  has rank 2 everywhere except on a 1-dimensional submanifold  $\Lambda$  where it has rank 0.

Our results are also similar to those of Section 2 with rather obvious modifications but the proofs are more complicated.

For exact statements, details, proofs and generalizations, see Chapter 21 of [Ivr4].

# Non-Smooth Theory

As in Chapter 4, we do not need to assume that the coefficients are very smooth. As before, we bracket the operator in question between two "rough" operators with the same asymptotics and with sharp remainder estimates. However, the lack of sufficient smoothness affects the reduction to the canonical form: it will be incomplete even if there are no resonances. Because of this, to get as sharp asymptotics as in the smooth case, we need to request more smoothness than in Chapter 4.

**Case** d = 2 For d = 2, we require smoothness of  $F_{12}$ ,  $g^{jk}$  and V marginally larger than  $\mathscr{C}^2$  to recover the same remainder estimate as in the smooth case, but there is a twist: unless the smoothness is  $\mathscr{C}^3$ , a correction term needs to be included. This is due to the fact that V(x) and W(x) differ and a more precise formula should use W(x) rather than V(x). Here, Wis V averaged along a magnetron with center x. In fact, it is possible to consider V of the lesser smoothness than  $\mathscr{C}^2$  (but marginally better than  $\mathscr{C}^1$ ), but one gets a worse remainder estimate. For exact statements, details and proofs, see Chapter 18 of [Ivr4] and especially Section 18.5.

Case d = 3 Results are similar to those in the smooth case. However, in this case, if we assume no non-degeneracy conditions then the exponent  $\delta$  in the estimates (2.11) and (2.18) depends on the smoothness and if we assume a non-degeneracy condition (2.13) or (2.20) then obviously K depends on the smoothness. Under the non-degeneracy assumption with K = 1, we need smoothness marginally better than  $\mathscr{C}^1$  but again unless the smoothness is  $\mathscr{C}^2$ , we need to use the averaged potential W(x) rather than V(x).

For exact statements, details and proofs, see Chapter 18 of [Ivr4] and especially Section 18.9.

**Case**  $d \ge 4$  Basically, the results are similar to those for d = 2 (if rank $(F_{jk}) = d$ ) or for d = 3 (if rank $(F_{jk}) < d$ ), but we cannot recover the sharp remainder estimate if the smoothness of V is less than  $\mathscr{C}^3$  or  $\mathscr{C}^2$  respectively because we cannot replace V(x) by its average W(x) in the canonical form.

For exact statements, details and proofs, see Chapters 19 (if  $rank(F_{jk}) = d$ ) and Chapters 20 (if  $rank(F_{jk}) < d$ ) of [Ivr4].

## **Global Asymptotics**

For magnetic Schrödinger and Dirac operators, one can derive results similar to those of Sections 3 and 3. We describe here only some results which are very different from those already mentioned and only for the Schrödinger operator.

#### Case d = 2r

Assume that  $F_{jk} = \text{const}$ ,  $\operatorname{rank}(F_{jk}) = 2r = d$ ,  $\mu = h = 1$  and V decays at infinity. Then instead of an eigenvalue of infinite multiplicity  $\lambda_{j,\infty} = (2j_1 + 1)f_1 + \ldots + (2j_r + 1)f_r$  (with  $j \in \mathbb{Z}^{+r}$ ), we have a sequence of eigenvalues  $\lambda_{j,n}$  tending to  $\lambda_{j,\infty}$  as  $n \to \infty$  and we want to consider the asymptotics of  $N_j^-(\eta)$  which is the number of eigenvalues in  $(\lambda_{j,\infty} - \epsilon, \lambda_{j,\infty} - \eta)$  and  $N_j^+(\eta)$ which is the number of eigenvalues in  $(\lambda_{j,\infty} + \eta, \lambda_{j,\infty} + \epsilon)$ , as  $\eta \to +0$ .

It turns out that in contrast to the Schrödinger operator without a magnetic field, there are meaningful results no matter how fast V decays.

**Theorem 3.1.** Let us consider a Schrödinger operator in  $\mathbb{R}^2$  satisfying the above conditions,  $\mu = h = 1$  and

(3.2) 
$$|\nabla^{\alpha} V| \leq c_{\alpha} \rho^2 \gamma^{-|\alpha|},$$

with  $\rho = \langle x \rangle^m$ ,  $\gamma = \langle x \rangle$ , m < 0. Let

 $(6.3.2)_{\mp} \qquad \mp V \ge -\epsilon \rho^2 \implies |\nabla V| \ge \epsilon \rho^2 \gamma^{-1} \qquad for \ |\mathbf{x}| \ge \mathbf{c}.$ 

Then,

(i) The asymptotics  $(6.3.3)_{\pm}$   $N_j^{\mp}(\eta) = \mathcal{N}^{\mp}(\eta) + O(\log \eta)$ 

hold with

(6.3.4)<sub>±</sub> 
$$\mathcal{N}^{\mp}(\eta) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\{\mp V > \eta\}} F \, dx$$

and in our conditions  $\mathcal{N}^{\mp}(\eta) = \mathcal{O}(\eta^{1/m})$ . Moreover,  $\mathcal{N}^{\mp}(\eta) \simeq \eta^{1/m}$  provided that  $\mp \mathbf{V} \ge \epsilon \rho^2$  for  $\mathbf{x} \in \Gamma$ , where  $\Gamma$  is a non-empty open sector (cone) in  $\mathbb{R}^2$ .

(ii) Furthermore, if

 $(6.3.5)_{\pm} \qquad \qquad \mp V \ge \epsilon \rho^2 \qquad for \ |\mathbf{x}| \ge \mathbf{c},$ 

then the remainder estimate is O(1). In this case, the points  $(2j + 1)F \pm 0$  are not limit points of the discrete spectrum.

This theorem is proved by rescaling the results of Subsection 2 which do not require  $h \ll 1$ , but only  $\mu h \gtrsim 1$  and  $\mu^{-1}h \ll 1$  (see Remark 2.4); in our case, after rescaling  $\mu = 1/\rho\gamma$  and  $\mu = \gamma/\rho$ , so that  $\mu h = 1/\rho^2$  and  $\mu^{-1}h = \gamma^{-2}$ . Therefore, the remainder does not exceed  $\int \gamma^{-2} dx$ , where we integrate over  $\{x : |V(x)| \ge (1 - \epsilon)\eta\}$  in the general case and over  $\{x : (1 + \epsilon)\eta \ge |V(x)| \ge (1 - \epsilon)\eta\}$  under the assumption  $(6.3.5)_{\pm}$ .

Remark 3.2. (i) Similar results hold in the *d*-dimensional case  $(d \ge 4)$  when (F) = const and d = rank(F): the remainder is  $O(\eta^{(d-2)/2m})$  and the principal part is  $O(\eta^{d/2m})$ .

(ii) One can consider the case  $\rho = \exp(-\langle x \rangle^m)$ ,  $\gamma = \langle x \rangle^{1-m}$ , 0 < m < 1, and recover remainder estimate  $O(|\log \eta|^{(d-2)/m+2})$  in the general case and  $O(|\log \eta|^{(d-2)/m+1})$  under the assumption  $(6.3.5)_{\pm}$  with  $\mathcal{N}^{\mp}(\eta) = O(|\log \eta|^{d/m})$ .

(iii) On the other hand, the cases when V decays like  $\exp(-2\langle x \rangle)$  or faster, or is compactly supported, are out of reach of our methods but the asymptotics (without a remainder estimate) were obtained in [MR, RT, RW].

For exact statements, details, proofs and generalizations for arbitrary  $\operatorname{rank}(F_{ik}) = d = 2r$ , see Subsection 23.4.1 of [Ivr4].

Case d > 2r. I

This case is less "strange" than case d = 2. Here, we can discuss only the eigenvalue counting function  $N_0^-(\eta)$ .

**Theorem 3.3.** Let us consider a Schrödinger operator in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  satisfying  $\mathbf{F} = \text{const}$  and (3.2) with  $\rho = \langle x \rangle^m$ ,  $\gamma = \langle x \rangle$ ,  $m \in (-1, 0)$ . Then,

(i) The asymptotics

(6.3.6)\_ 
$$N_0^-(\eta) = \mathcal{N}^-(\eta) + O(\eta^{\frac{1}{m}-\delta})$$

hold with

(3.8) 
$$\mathcal{N}^{-}(\eta) = \frac{1}{2\pi^2} \int F(-V - \eta)_{+}^{\frac{1}{2}} dx$$

and arbitrarily small  $\delta > 0$ , and furthermore,  $\mathcal{N}^{-}(\eta) = O(\eta^{\frac{3}{2m} + \frac{1}{2}})$ . Moreover,  $\mathcal{N}^{-}(\eta) \simeq \eta^{\frac{3}{2m} + \frac{1}{2}}$ , provided  $-V \ge \epsilon \rho^{2}$  for  $\mathbf{x} \in \Gamma$  where  $\Gamma$  is a non-empty open cone in  $\mathbb{R}^{3}$ .

(ii) Further, under the assumption

(3.9) 
$$\sum_{|\alpha| \le K} |\nabla^{\alpha} V| \cdot \gamma^{|\alpha|} \ge \epsilon \rho^{2} \quad for \ |x| \ge c,$$

the asymptotics (3.8) hold with  $\delta = 0$ .

Remark 3.4. (i) Similar results hold in the *d*-dimensional case when  $(F_{jk}) =$ const and d > 2r =rank $(F_{jk})$ : the remainder estimate is  $O(\eta^{(d-2r-1)/2+(d-1)/2m-\delta})^{42}$  and  $\mathcal{N}^{-}(\eta) = O(\eta^{(d-2r)/2+d/2m})$ .

(ii) Observe that for m = -1, both the principal part and the remainder estimate have magnitude  $\eta^{-r}$ .

(iii) One can also consider  $\rho = \langle x \rangle^{-1} |\log \langle x \rangle|^{\alpha}$  with  $\alpha > 0$ .

For exact statements, details, proofs and generalizations, see Subsection 24.4.1 of [Ivr4].

#### Case d > 2r. II

We now discuss faster decaying potentials. Assume that d = 2r+1 (otherwise there will be no interesting results). Assume for simplicity that  $g^{jk} = \delta_{jk}$  and  $F_{dk} = 0$ . Further, one can assume that  $A_d(x) = 0$ ; otherwise one can achieve it by a gauge transformation. Then,  $A_j = A_j(x')$  with  $x' = (x_1, \ldots, x_{2r})$  and the operator is of the form

(3.10) 
$$D_d^2 + V(x) + H'_0$$
, with  $H'_0 := \sum_{1 \le j \le d-1} (D_j - A_j(x'))^2$ .

For any fixed  $x' : |x'| \ge c$ , consider the one-dimensional operator

$$(3.11) L \coloneqq D_t^2 + V(x'; t)$$

on  $\mathbb{R} \ni t$ . It turns out that under the assumption

$$(3.12) |V(x';t)| \le \varepsilon t^{-2},$$

with  $\varepsilon \leq (\frac{1}{4} - \epsilon)$ , this operator has no more than one negative eigenvalue  $\lambda(x')$ ; moreover, it has exactly one negative eigenvalue

(3.13) 
$$\lambda(x') = -\frac{1}{4}W(x')^2 + O(\varepsilon^3),$$

provided

(3.14) 
$$W(x') \coloneqq \int_{\mathbb{R}} V(x'; t) < 0 \quad \text{and} \quad -W(x') \asymp \varepsilon.$$

<sup>42)</sup> Where  $\delta = 0$  if either  $d \ge 2r + 2$  or the assumption (3.9) is fulfilled.

Furthermore, in this case  $\lambda(x')$  nicely depends on x'.

Let

(3.15) 
$$|\nabla^{\alpha} V| \leq c_{\alpha} \rho^2 \gamma_1^{-|\alpha'|} \gamma^{-\alpha_d},$$

with  $\rho = \langle x \rangle^{I} \langle x' \rangle^{k}$ ,  $\gamma = \langle x \rangle$ ,  $\gamma_{1} = \langle x' \rangle$  and  $I \leq -2$ ,  $m \coloneqq 2I + 2k + 1 < 0$  and if

(3.16)  $W(x') < 0, \quad W(x') \asymp \rho', \quad \rho' \coloneqq \langle x' \rangle^m,$ 

then we are essentially in the (d - 1)-dimensional case of an operator  $H' := H'_0 + \lambda(x')$ , and for  $N^-(\eta)$ , we have the corresponding asymptotics of Subsubsection 3.

For exact statements, details, proofs and generalizations, see Subsections 24.4.2 of [Ivr4]. For improvements for slower decaying potentials, see Subsections 24.4.3 of [Ivr4].

# 4 Applications to Multiparticle Quantum Theory

## **Problem Set-up**

In this Chapter, we discuss an application to Thomas-Fermi Theory. Consider a large (heavy) atom or molecule; it is described by a *Multiparticle Quantum Hamiltonian* 

(4.1) 
$$\mathsf{H}_{N} = \sum_{1 \le n \le N} H_{V}(x_{n}) + \sum_{1 \le n < k \le N} \frac{1}{|x_{n} - x_{k}|}$$

where H is a one-particle quantum Hamiltonian, Planck constant  $\hbar = 1$ , electron mass  $= \frac{1}{2}$ , electron charge = -1. This operator acts on the space  $\mathfrak{H} := \wedge_{1 \leq j \leq N} \mathscr{L}^2(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{C}^2)$  of totally antisymmetric functions  $\Psi(x_1, \varsigma_1; ...; x_N, \varsigma_N)$  because the electrons are fermions,  $x_n = (x_n^1, x_n^2, x_n^3)$  is a coordinate and  $\varsigma_n \in \{-\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}\}$  is the *spin* of *n*-th particle. We identify the  $\mathbb{C}^2$ -valued function  $\psi(x)$  on  $\mathbb{R}^3$  with a scalar-valued function  $\psi(x, \varsigma)$ .

If the electrons did not interact between themselves, but the field potential was -W(x), then they would occupy the lowest eigenvalues and the ground state wave functions would be the anti-symmetrized product  $\phi_1(x_1,\varsigma_1)\phi_2(x_2,\varsigma_2)\dots\phi_N(x_N,\varsigma_N)$ , where  $\phi_n$  and  $\lambda_n$  are the eigenfunctions and eigenvalues of  $H_W$  respectively.

Then the local electron density would be  $\rho_{\Psi} = \sum_{1 \le n \le N} |\phi_n(x)|^2$  and according to the pointwise Weyl law (if there is no magnetic field)

(4.2) 
$$\rho_{\Psi}(x) \approx \frac{1}{3\pi^2} (W + \nu)_+^{\frac{3}{2}},$$

where  $\nu = \lambda_N$ . We first assume that there is no magnetic field and therefore,  $H_V = -\Delta - V(x)$ .

This density would generate the potential  $-|x|^{-1} * \rho_{\Psi}$  and we would have  $W \approx V - |x|^{-1} * \rho_{\Psi}$ .

Replacing all approximate equalities by strict ones, we arrive to the *Thomas-Fermi equations*:

(4.3) 
$$V - W^{\mathsf{TF}} = |x|^{-1} * \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}$$

(4.4) 
$$\rho^{\mathsf{TF}} = \frac{1}{3\pi^2} (W^{\mathsf{TF}} + \nu)_{+,}^{\frac{3}{2}}$$

(4.5) 
$$\int \rho^{\mathsf{TF}} \, d\mathbf{x} = \mathbf{N},$$

where  $\nu \leq 0$  is called the *chemical potential* and in fact approximates  $\lambda_N$ .

Considering atoms and molecules, we assume that

(4.6) 
$$V(x) = \sum_{1 \le m \le M} \frac{Z_m}{|x - y_m|},$$

where  $y_m$  is the *position* and  $Z_m$  is the *charge* of the *m*-th nuclei, *M* is fixed and  $Z_1 \simeq Z_2 \simeq ... \simeq Z_M \simeq N \to \infty$ .

Thomas-Fermi theory has been rigorously justified (with pretty good error estimates) and we want to explain how.

## **Reduction to One-Particle Problem**

#### Estimate from below

We start from the estimate from below. The ground state energy  $\mathsf{E}_{\mathsf{N}} := \inf \langle \mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{N}} \Psi, \Psi \rangle$ , taken over all  $\Psi \in \mathfrak{H}$  with  $\|\Psi\| = 1$ , where  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  denotes the inner product in  $\mathfrak{H}$ . Classical mathematical physics provides a wealth of results. One of them is the *electrostatic inequality* due to

E. H. Lieb [L]:

(4.7) 
$$\sum_{1 \le j < k \le N} \int |x_j - x_k|^{-1} |\Psi(x_1, \dots, x_N)|^2 dx_1 \cdots dx_N \ge \frac{1}{2} \mathsf{D}(\rho_{\Psi}, \rho_{\Psi}) - C \int \rho_{\Psi}^{\frac{4}{3}}(x) dx,$$

with  $\rho_{\Psi}$  defined by (4.2). This inequality holds for all (not necessarily antisymmetric) functions  $\Psi$  with  $\|\Psi\|_{\mathcal{L}^2(\mathbb{R}^{3N})} = 1$ . Therefore,

(4.8) 
$$\langle \mathsf{H}_{N}\Psi,\Psi\rangle \geq \sum_{1\leq j\leq N} \langle \mathsf{H}_{V,x_{j}}\Psi,\Psi\rangle + \frac{1}{2}\mathsf{D}(\rho_{\Psi},\rho_{\Psi}) - C\int \rho_{\Psi}^{4}(x)\,dx =$$
  
$$\sum_{1\leq j\leq N} \langle \mathsf{H}_{W,x_{j}}\Psi,\Psi\rangle + \frac{1}{2}\mathsf{D}(\rho_{\Psi}-\rho,\rho_{\Psi}-\rho) - \frac{1}{2}\mathsf{D}(\rho,\rho) - C\int \rho_{\Psi}^{4}(x)\,dx$$

and  $H_W$  is a one-particle Schrödinger operator with potential

(4.9) 
$$W = V - |x|^{-1} * \rho,$$

where  $\rho$  is an arbitrarily chosen real-valued non-negative function and therefore,

(4.10) 
$$(V - W, \rho_{\Psi}) = -\mathsf{D}(\rho, \rho_{\Psi}).$$

The physical sense of the second term in W is transparent: it is a potential created by the charge  $-\rho$ . Skipping the positive second term in the right-hand expression of (4.8) and believing that the last term is not very important for the ground state function  $\Psi^{43}$ , we see that we need to estimate from below the first term. Since the first term is simply the sum of operators acting with respect to different variables, we can estimate it from below by

(4.11) 
$$\langle (H_{W,x_i} - \nu)\Psi, \Psi \rangle + \lambda N$$

with arbitrary  $\nu$ ; therefore, it is bounded from below by  $\text{Tr}((H_W - \nu)_-)$ , where  $(H_W - \nu)_-$  denotes the negative part of the operator  $(H_W - \nu)$ , and hence its trace is the sum of the negative eigenvalues.

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 43)}$  When we derive the upper estimate for E, we will get an upper estimate for this term as a bonus.

Here, the assumption that  $\Psi$  is antisymmetric is crucial. Namely, for general (or symmetric–does not matter)  $\Psi$ , the best possible estimate is  $\lambda_1 N$  where  $\lambda_1$  is the lowest eigenvalue of  $H_W$  (we always assume that there are sufficiently many eigenvalues below the bottom of the essential spectrum of  $H_W$ ) and we cannot apply semiclassical theory.

Thus we arrive to

(4.12) 
$$\mathsf{E}_{N} \geq \mathsf{Tr}((H_{W} - \nu)_{-}) + \nu N - \frac{1}{2}\mathsf{D}(\rho, \rho) - CN^{\frac{5}{3}},$$

where we used another result of E. H. Lieb [L]:  $\int \rho_{\Psi}^{\frac{4}{3}}(x) dx \leq CN^{\frac{5}{3}}$  for the ground state  $\Psi$ .

#### Estimate from above

Here, we simply plug in a test function  $\Psi$  which is an (anti-symmetrized) product  $\phi_1(x_1, \varsigma_1)\phi_2(x_2, \varsigma_2) \dots \phi_N(x_N, \varsigma_N)$  where  $\phi_n$  and  $\lambda_n$  are eigenfunctions and eigenvalues of  $H_W$  respectively, and we pick W later. It may happen, however, that  $H_W$  does not have N negative eigenvalues, then we can reduce N and use the inequality  $\mathsf{E}_N \leq \mathsf{E}_{N'}$  as  $N' \leq N$ .

Then,  $\mathsf{E}_N$  is estimated from above by

(4.13) 
$$\langle \mathsf{H}_{N}\Psi,\Psi\rangle =$$
  

$$\sum_{n} (\mathcal{H}_{W,x_{j}}-\lambda)\Psi,\Psi\rangle + \lambda N - (V - W,\rho_{\Psi}) + \frac{1}{2}\mathsf{D}(\rho_{\Psi},\rho_{\Psi}) - \frac{1}{2}\sum_{n}\iint |x - y|^{-1}|\psi_{n}(x)|^{2}|\psi_{n}(y)|^{2} dxdy$$

and therefore recalling (4.10), we obtain

(4.14) 
$$\mathsf{E}_{N} \leq \mathsf{Tr}((H_{W} - \lambda)_{-}) + \lambda N + \frac{1}{2}\mathsf{D}(\rho_{\Psi} - \rho, \rho_{\Psi} - \rho) - \frac{1}{2}\mathsf{D}(\rho, \rho)$$

and  $\rho_{\Psi} = \operatorname{tr} e_N(x, x)$  where  $e_N(x, y)$  and  $e(x, y, \lambda)$  are the Schwartz kernels of the projector to the N lowest eigenvalues of  $H_W$  and of the operator  $\theta(\lambda - H_W)$  respectively; here tr denotes the matrix trace, and  $\lambda = \lambda_N$  if  $\lambda_N < 0$  and  $\lambda = 0$  otherwise. Finally, we conclude that

(4.15) 
$$\mathsf{E}_{N} \leq \mathsf{Tr}((H_{W} - \nu)_{-}) + \nu N + |\lambda - \nu| \cdot |\mathsf{N}^{-}(H_{W} - \nu) - N| + \frac{1}{2}\mathsf{D}(\mathsf{tr} \, e_{N}(x, x) - \rho, \mathsf{tr} \, e_{N}(x, x) - \rho) - \frac{1}{2}\mathsf{D}(\rho, \rho)$$

with arbitrary  $\nu \leq 0$ .

## Semiclassical Approximation

#### Estimate from below

In the estimate from below (4.12), we replace  $Tr((H_W - \nu)_-)$  by its semiclassical approximation

(4.16) 
$$\operatorname{Tr}((H_W - \nu)_{-}) \approx -\int P(W + \nu) \, dx$$

with

(4.17) 
$$P(W + \nu) \coloneqq \frac{2}{5\pi^2} (W + \nu)_+^{\frac{5}{2}},$$

and also plug in  $\rho = \frac{1}{4\pi} \Delta(W - V)$ ; then we obtain the functional

(4.18) 
$$\Phi_*(W,\nu) = -\int P(W+\nu) \, dx - \frac{1}{8\pi} \|\nabla(W-V)\|^2 + \nu N;$$

maximizing it, we arrive to the Thomas-Fermi equations and its maximal value is  $\mathcal{E}_N^{\mathsf{TF}}$ , delivered by Thomas-Fermi theory. Then, we need to understand the semiclassical error. To do this, we use the properties of the Thomas-Fermi potential and rescale  $x \mapsto xN^{\frac{1}{3}}$  and  $\tau \mapsto N^{-\frac{4}{3}}\tau$  (so,  $\nu \mapsto N^{-\frac{4}{3}}\nu$ ) with

where near  $y_m$ , the rescaled potential is Coulomb-like:  $W \sim z_m |x - y|^{-1}$ with  $z_m = Z_m N^{-1}$ .

Then, we can apply results Subsection 3 (see (3.53)): for the operator (4.19),

(4.20) 
$$\operatorname{Tr}((H_W - \nu)_{-}) = -h^{-3} \int P(W + \nu) \, dx + \kappa h^{-2} + O(h^{-1}),$$

where in this case, the numerical value of  $\kappa = 2 \sum_m z_m^2$  is well-known. Scaling back, we obtain  $\mathcal{E}_N^{\mathsf{TF}} + \mathsf{Scott} + O(N^{\frac{5}{3}})$  where the leading term is of magnitude  $N^{\frac{7}{3}}$  and the Scott correction term  $\mathsf{Scott} = 2 \sum_m Z_m^2$ . Here, we need to assume that  $|y_m - y_{m'}| \gtrsim 1$  after rescaling (and  $|y_m - y_{m'}| \gtrsim N^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  before it). Indeed, after rescaling, we get an operator which is uniformly in the

Indeed, after rescaling, we get an operator which is uniformly in the framework of Subsection 3 due to the following properties of the Thomas-Fermi potential:

(4.21) Before rescaling,  $W^{\mathsf{TF}} = Z_m |x - y_m|^{-1} + O(N)$  for  $|x - y_m| \lesssim N^{-\frac{1}{3}}$ and  $W^{\mathsf{TF}} \approx \sum_m (|x - y_m|^{-4} + (Z - N)_+ |x - y_m|^{-1})$  for  $|x - y_m| \gtrsim 1$  for all m = 1, ..., M.

In fact, the analysis of Subsection 3 was mainly motivated by this problem.

#### Estimate from above

Again, using the semiclassical approximation (4.16) for  $\text{Tr}((H_W - \nu)^-)$  and also  $e_N(x, x) \approx P'(W + \nu)$  with  $P' = \frac{1}{3\pi^2}(W + \nu)^{\frac{3}{2}}$  the derivative of  $P(W + \nu)$ , we arrive to the functional

(4.22) 
$$\Phi^{*}(W,\nu) = -\int P(W+\nu) dx - \frac{1}{8\pi} \|\nabla(W-V)\|^{2} + \nu N$$
$$+ D(P'(W+\nu) - \frac{1}{4\pi} \Delta(W-V), P'(W+\nu) - \frac{1}{4\pi} \Delta(W-V));$$

minimizing it, we again arrive to the Thomas-Fermi equations and the minimal value is  $\mathcal{E}_N^{\mathsf{TF}}$ , again delivered by Thomas-Fermi theory.

However, in addition to the semiclassical error for the trace, we have other errors from (4.15):

(4.23) 
$$|\lambda - \nu| \cdot |\mathsf{N}^{-}(H_W - \nu) - \mathsf{N}|,$$

(4.24) 
$$\mathsf{D}(\mathsf{tr}\, e(x, x, \nu) - P'(W + \nu), \, \mathsf{tr}\, e(x, x, \nu) - P'(W + \nu))$$

and

$$(4.25) \qquad \mathsf{D}(\mathsf{tr}\, e_N(x,x) - \mathsf{tr}\, e(x,x,\nu), \, \mathsf{tr}\, e_N(x,x) - \mathsf{tr}\, e(x,x,\nu)).$$

The expression (4.24) is the semiclassical error and after rescaling it, we can estimate it by  $O(h^{-4})$  (due to the pointwise spectral asymptotics). When scaling back, we gain the factor  $N^{\frac{1}{3}}$ , resulting in  $O(N^{\frac{5}{3}})$ .

Expressions (4.23) and (4.25) can be also estimated by  $O(N^{\frac{5}{3}})$  based on another semiclassical error

(4.26) 
$$\mathsf{N}^{-}(H_{W}-\sigma) - \int P'(W+\sigma) \, dx = O(h^{-2}),$$

(for  $\sigma \leq 0$ ) after rescaling and thus,  $O(N^{\frac{2}{3}})$  in the original scale, due to the definitions of  $\lambda$  and  $\nu$ . One needs to consider four cases depending on whether  $\lambda < 0$  (i.e.  $N^{-}(H_W) \geq N$ ) or  $\lambda = 0$  (i.e.  $N^{-}(H_W) < N$ ) and whether  $\nu < 0$  (i.e. N < Z) or  $\nu = 0$  (i.e.  $N \geq Z$ ), where  $Z = Z_1 + \ldots + Z_M$  is the total charge of the nuclei.

#### More Precise Estimates

If we want to improve the remainder estimate  $O(N^{\frac{5}{3}})$ , then we need to improve the semiclassical remainder estimates and also deal with  $O(N^{\frac{5}{3}})$  in Lieb's electrostatic inequality (4.7).

The first task could be done under the assumption

(4.27) 
$$\mathbf{a} \coloneqq \min_{m \neq m'} |\mathbf{y}_m - \mathbf{y}_{m'}| \gg \bar{\mathbf{a}} \coloneqq \mathbf{N}^{-\frac{1}{3}},$$

which is completely reasonable (see Section 4). In this case, in each zone  $\mathcal{Y}_m := \{x : |x - y_m| \leq a^{1-\eta} \bar{a}^{\eta}\}$ , with  $\eta > 0$ , both  $\rho^{\mathsf{TF}}$  and  $W^{\mathsf{TF}}$  are close to those of a single atom which are spherically symmetric. Then one can prove easily that the standard conditions to the trajectories are fulfilled and we may use the improved remainder estimates. On the other hand, contributions of the "outer" zone  $\mathcal{Y}_0 := \{x : |x - y_m| \geq a^{1-\eta} \bar{a}^{\eta} \; \forall m = 1, \dots, M\}$  to these remainders is smaller.

Therefore all remainder estimates acquire the factor  $(h^{\delta} + b^{-\delta})$  with  $b = a\bar{a}^{-1}$  before scaling back, i.e.  $(N^{\frac{1}{3}\delta} + (aN^{\frac{1}{3}})^{-\delta})$  after it. However, the trace asymptotics should also include the term  $-\kappa_1 h^{-1}$  before scaling back or  $-\kappa_1 N^{\frac{5}{3}}$  after it; for the potential  $W^{\mathsf{TF}}$ , it is numerically equal to Schwinger  $= -c_1 \int \rho^{\mathsf{TF} \frac{4}{3}} dx$  which is called the Schwinger correction term.

The second task requires an improvement in Lieb's electrostatic inequality due to [GS] and [Ba]: one can replace the last term in (4.8) for the ground state energy  $\Psi$  by

(4.28) 
$$-\frac{1}{2}\iint |x-y|^{-1}\operatorname{tr}\left(e_{N}^{\dagger}(x,y)e_{N}(x,y)\right)\,dxdy - O(N^{\frac{5}{3}-\delta})$$

where the first term coincides with the last term in (4.13) (the estimates from above) and again modulo  $O(N^{\frac{5}{3}-\delta})$  can be rewritten as

(4.29) 
$$-\frac{1}{2}\iint |x-y|^{-1}\operatorname{tr}(e^{\dagger}(x,y,\nu)e(x,y,\nu))\,dxdy.$$

So far, we have not explored such expressions but we can handle them.

For this expression, after rescaling, we can derive the asymptotics with principal term  $-\kappa_2 h^{-4}$  and with remainder estimate as good as  $O(h^{-3})$ , which after scaling back becomes  $O(N^{\frac{4}{3}})$  (which is an overkill). Here, we use the representation of  $e(x, y, \nu)$  by an oscillatory integral modulo a term whose  $\mathcal{L}^2(\mathbb{R}^6)$  norm does not exceed  $Ch^{-2}$ .

To calculate  $\kappa_2$ , we can consider the operator with constant potential W, and for this operator, we calculate  $-\frac{1}{2}\int |x - y|^{-1} \operatorname{tr}(e^{\dagger}(x, y, \nu)e(x, y, \nu)) dy$ obtaining  $-\operatorname{const}(W + \nu)^2 h^{-4}$ , then plug in W = W(x) and integrate over x. For  $W = W^{\mathsf{TF}}$ , after scaling back, we arrive to  $\mathsf{Dirac} = -c_2 \int \rho^{\mathsf{TF} \frac{4}{3}} dx$ which is called the *Dirac correction term*.

Despite having completely different origins, these correction terms differ only by numerical constants.

We arrive to the theorem:

**Theorem 4.1.** As  $Z = Z_1 + ... + Z_M \approx N \rightarrow \infty$ , *M* remains bounded,  $a = \min_{m \neq m'} |y_m - y_{m'}| \gtrsim N^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  and

(4.30) 
$$\mathsf{E}_{N} = \mathcal{E}_{N}^{\mathsf{TF}} + \mathsf{Scott} + \mathsf{Schwinger} + \mathsf{Dirac} + O(R)$$
  
with  $R = N^{\frac{5}{3}} (N^{-\delta} + (aN^{\frac{1}{3}})^{-\delta})$ 

where  $\delta > 0$  is unspecified.

As a byproduct of the proof, we obtain

(4.31) 
$$\mathsf{D}(\rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}, \ \rho_{\Psi} - \rho^{\mathsf{TF}}) = O(R).$$

For details and proofs, see Sections 25.1–25.4 of [Ivr4].

# Ramifications

First, instead of the *fixed nuclei model*, we can consider the *free nuclei model* where we add to both  $\mathsf{E}_N$  and  $\mathcal{E}_N^{\mathsf{TF}}$  the energy of nuclei-to-nuclei interaction

(4.32) 
$$\sum_{m < m'} Z_m Z_{m'} |\mathbf{y}_m - \mathbf{y}_{m'}|^{-1}$$

and minimize the results by the position of nuclei  $(y_1, ..., y_m)$ ; denote the results by  $\widehat{E}_N$  and  $\widehat{\mathcal{E}}_N^{\mathsf{TF}}$  respectively.

Combining (4.30) with the non-binding theorem in Thomas-Fermi theory<sup>44)</sup>, we obtain that in the free nuclei model (with  $Z_1 \simeq ... \simeq Z_M \simeq Z \simeq N$ ),

(4.33) 
$$\mathbf{a} = \min_{m \neq m'} |\mathbf{y}_m - \mathbf{y}_{m'}| \gtrsim N^{-\frac{5}{3} + \delta}$$

and then (4.30) and (4.31) hold with  $R = N^{\frac{5}{3}-\delta}$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44)</sup> In the Thomas-Fermi theory, molecules do not exist.

Next, using methods already developed by mathematical physicists before asymptotics (4.30) and (4.31) were derived, we can answer several questions with far better precision than before; for simplicity, we assume that  $a \ge N^{-\frac{1}{3}+\delta}$ .

(i) How many extra electrons can the system bind? In other words, if  $\mathsf{E}_N < \mathsf{E}_{N-1}$ , what we can say about N - Z? According to a classical theorem due to G. Zhislin, the system can bind at least Z electrons. Our answer:  $(N - Z)_+ = O(N^{\frac{5}{7} - \delta})$ , based on the fact that in the Thomas-Fermi theory, negative ions do not exist.

(ii) What we can say about the *ionization energy*  $I_N = E_{N-1} - E_N$ ? Our answer:  $I_N = O(N^{\frac{20}{21}-\delta})$  if  $N-Z \ge -CN^{\frac{5}{7}-\delta}$  and  $I_N = -\nu + O((Z-N)^{\frac{17}{18}}Z^{\frac{5}{18}-\delta})$  if  $N-Z \le -CN^{\frac{5}{7}-\delta}$ ; if  $N \le Z \ \nu \asymp (Z-N)^{\frac{4}{3}}$ .

(iii) In the free nuclei model (with  $M \ge 2$ ), what can we say about N-Z > 0 if a stable configuration exists? Our answer:  $Z - N \le CN^{\frac{5}{7}-\delta}$  (again based on the non-binding theorem).

For details and proofs, see Sections 25.5 and 25.6 of [Ivr4].

# Adding Magnetic Field

#### Adding External Magnetic Field

Consider the Schrödinger-Pauli operator with magnetic field

(4.34) 
$$H_{A,V} = ((-ih\nabla - \mu A(x)) \cdot \sigma)^2 - V(x).$$

Then instead of P(w) defined by (4.17), we need to define it according to (2.5) by

(4.35) 
$$P(w) = \frac{2}{\pi^2} \left( \frac{1}{2} w_+^{\frac{3}{2}} B + \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} (w - 2jB)_+^{\frac{3}{2}} B \right),$$

where B is the scalar intensity of the magnetic field. This changes both the Thomas-Fermi theory and properties of the Thomas-Fermi potential  $W^{\mathsf{TF}}$  and Thomas-Fermi density  $\rho^{\mathsf{TF}}$ .

**Case**  $B \leq Z^{4/3}$  For  $B \leq Z^{4/3}$ , the main contributions to the (approximate) electronic charge  $\int \rho^{\mathsf{TF}} dx$  and the energy  $\mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}}$  come from the zone  $\{x : d(x) \asymp Z^{-1/3}\}$   $(d(x) = \min_m |x - y_m|)$ , exactly as for B = 0.

Furthermore,  $W^{\mathsf{TF}} \approx Z_m d(x)^{-1}$  if  $d(x) \lesssim Z^{-1/3}$  and (for Z = N)  $W^{\mathsf{TF}} \approx d(x)^{-4}$  if  $Z^{-1/3} \leq d(x) \lesssim B^{-1/4}$  but  $\rho^{\mathsf{TF}} = 0$  if  $d(x) \geq C_0 B^{-1/4} 4^{-1/3}$ .

Finally, as we using scaling to bring our problem to the standard one, we get that in the zone  $\{x : d(x) \approx Z^{-1/3}\}$ , the effective semiclassical parameter is  $h_{\text{eff}} = Z^{-1/3}$  which leads to  $\mathcal{E}^{\text{TF}} \approx Z^{7/3}$  again exactly as for B = 0.

As a result, assuming that M = 1, we can recover asymptotics for the ground state energy E with the Scott correction term but with the remainder estimate  $O(Z^{5/3} + Z^{4/3}B^{1/3})$ . For  $M \ge 2$  and  $N \ge Z$ , our estimates are almost as good (provided  $a = \min_{m \ne m'} |y_m - y_{m'}| \ge Z^{-1/3}$ ), but deteriorate when both  $(Z - N)_+$  and B are large.

Moreover, for  $B \ll Z$  assuming (4.27), we can marginally improve these results and include the Schwinger and Dirac correction terms.

The main obstacles we need to overcome are that now  $W^{\mathsf{TF}}$  is not infinitely smooth but only belongs to the class  $\mathscr{C}^{5/2}$  and that for  $M \geq 2$ , the nondegeneracy assumption  $(|\nabla W| \approx 1 \text{ after rescaling})$  fails.

**Case**  $B \gtrsim Z^{4/3}$  On the other hand, for  $B \gtrsim Z^{4/3}$ , the the main contributions to the (approximate) electronic charge and the energy  $\mathcal{E}^{\mathsf{TF}}$  come from the zone  $\{x : d(x) \asymp B^{-1/4}\}$  and (for Z = N)  $W^{\mathsf{TF}} \asymp Zd(x)^{-1}$  if  $d(x) \lesssim B^{-1/4}$  but  $W^{\mathsf{TF}} = 0$  if  $d(x) \ge C_0 B^{-1/4}$ . In this case,  $\mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{TF}} \asymp B^{2/5} Z^{9/5}$ .

Further, as we using scaling to bring our problem to the standard one, we see that in the zone  $\{x : d(x) \simeq B^{-1/4}\}$ , the effective semiclassical parameter is  $h_{\text{eff}} = B^{1/5}Z^{-3/5}$  and therefore unless  $B \ll Z^3$ , the semiclassical approximation fails and the correct answer should be expressed in completely different terms [LSY1].

As a result, assuming that M = 1 if  $Z^{4/3} \le B \le Z^3$ , we can recover the asymptotics for E with the Scott correction term but with the remainder estimate  $O(B^{4/5}Z^{3/5} + Z^{4/3}B^{1/3})$ .

For  $M \ge 2$  and  $N \ge Z$ , our estimates are almost as good (provided  $a = \min_{m \ne m'} |y_m - y_{m'}| \ge B^{-1/4}$ ), but deteriorate when  $(Z - N)_+$  is large.

Again the main obstacles we need to overcome are that now  $W^{\mathsf{TF}}$  is not infinitely smooth but only belongs to  $\mathscr{C}^{5/2}$  and that for  $M \geq 2$ , the nondegeneracy assumption  $(|\nabla W| \approx 1 \text{ after rescaling})$  fails.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45)</sup> So, the radii of atoms in Thomas-Fermi theory are  $\approx \min(B^{-1/4}, (Z - N)^{-1/3})$ .

For details, exact statement and proofs, see Sections 26.1 and 26.6 of [Ivr4]. We also estimate the left-hand expression of (4.20) and are able to obtain results similar to those mentioned in Section 4. For details and proofs, see Sections 26.7–26.8 of [Ivr4].

#### Adding Self-Generated Magnetic Field

Let

(4.36) 
$$\mathsf{E}(A) = \inf \mathsf{Spec}(\mathsf{H}_{A,V}) + \alpha^{-1} \int |\nabla \times A|^2 \, dx$$

and

(4.37) 
$$\mathsf{E}^* = \inf_{\mathsf{A} \in \mathscr{H}^1_0} \mathsf{E}(\mathsf{A}),$$

where A is an unknown magnetic field and the underlined term is its energy. One can prove that an "optimal" magnetic field exists (for given parameters  $Z_1, \ldots, Z_M, y_1, \ldots, y_M, N$ ) but we do not know if it is unique<sup>46</sup>).

Using the same arguments as before, we can reduce this problem to the one-particle problem with  $\inf \text{Spec}(H_{A,V})$  replaced by  $\text{Tr}((H_{A,W} + \nu)_{-})$  plus some other terms. However, in the estimate from below, most of the terms do not depend on A and in the estimate from above, we pick up A.

Then after the usual rescalings, the problem is reduced to the problem of minimizing

(4.38) 
$$\operatorname{Tr}((H_{A,W}+\nu)_{-}) + \frac{1}{\kappa h^2} \int |\nabla \times A|^2 \, dx$$

and then the optimal magnetic potential A must satisfy

(4.39) 
$$\frac{2}{\kappa h^2} \Delta A_j(x) = \Phi_j := -\operatorname{Retr}\left(\sigma_j \Big((hD - A)_x \cdot \sigma e(x, y, \tau) + e(x, y, \tau)^t (hD - A)_y \cdot \sigma\Big)\Big|_{y=x}\Big),$$

where  $e(x, y, \tau)$  is the Schwartz kernel of the spectral projector  $\theta(-H)$  of  $H = H_{A,W}$  and tr is the matrix trace. As usual, we are mainly interested in  $h = Z^{-1/3}$  (and then  $\kappa = \alpha Z$ ).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46)</sup> If it was unique, then for M = 1, the spherical symmetry would imply that A = 0.

First, (4.39) allows us to claim a certain smoothness of A. Second, the right-hand expression is something we studied in pointwise spectral asymptotics, and the Weyl expression here is 0, so the right-hand expression of (4.39) is something that we could estimate. Surely, it is not that simple but improving our methods in the case of smooth W, we are able to prove that A is so small that the ordinary asymptotics with remainder estimates  $O(h^{-2})$  and  $O(h^{-1})$  would hold in both the pointwise asymptotics and the trace asymptotics. Moreover, under standard conditions, we would be able to get the remainder estimates  $o(h^{-2})$  and  $o(h^{-1})$  in the eigenvalue counting and the trace asymptotics respectively.

However, in reality, the above is not exactly true since W has Coulomblike singularities  $W \sim z_m |x - y_m|^{-1}$  with  $z_m \simeq 1$ . If M = 1,  $z_m = 1$ , a singularity leads us to the Scott correction term  $S(\kappa)h^{-2}$  derived in the same way as without a self-generated magnetic field. However, we do not have an explicit formula for  $S(\kappa)$ ; we even do not know its properties except that it is non-increasing function of  $\kappa \in [0, \kappa^*)$ ; we even do not know if we can take  $\kappa^* = \infty$ . If the optimal magnetic potential A was unique, then A = 0 and  $S(\kappa) = S(0)$ , which corresponds to this term without a magnetic field.

Then as  $M \ge 2$ , the Scott correction term is  $\sum_{1 \le m \le M} S(\kappa z_m) z_m^2 h^{-2}$  in the general case. However, as  $M \ge 2$  we need to decouple singularities as all of them are served by the same A and it leads to decoupling errors depending on the internuclei distance.

For details, exact statements and proofs, see Sections 27.2–27.3 of [Ivr4].

As a result, we derive the ground state asymptotics with the Scott correction term  $\sum_{1 \le m \le M} S(\alpha Z_m) Z_m^2$ . We also estimate the left-hand expression of (4.20) and are able to obtain results similar to those mentioned in Section 4. For details, exact statements and proofs, see Sections 27.3–27.4 of [Ivr4].

#### Combining External and Self-Generated Magnetic Fields

We can also combine a constant strong external magnetic field and a selfgenerated magnetic field. Results are very similar to those of Subsection 4, but this time, the Scott correction term and the decoupling errors are like in Subsection 4. For details, exact statements and proofs, see Chapter 28 of [Ivr4].

# Bibliography

- [ANPS] W. ARENDT W., R. NITTKA R., W. PETER W. AND F. STEINER. WeylÍs Law: Spectral Properties of the Laplacian in Mathematics and Physics, pp. 1–71, in Mathematical Analysis of Evolution, Information, and Complexity, by W. Arendt and W.P. Schleich, Wiley-VCH, 2009.
- [Av] V. G. AVAKUMOVIČ. Über die eigenfunktionen auf geschlossen riemannschen mannigfaltigkeiten. Math. Z., 65:324–344 (1956).
- [Ba] V. BACH. Error bound for the Hartree-Fock energy of atoms and molecules. Commun. Math. Phys. 147:527–548 (1992).
- [C1] T. CARLEMAN. Propriétes asymptotiques des fonctions fondamentales des membranes vibrantes. In C. R. 8-ème Congr. Math. Scand., Stockholm, 1934, pages 34–44, Lund (1935).
- [C2] T. CARLEMAN. Über die asymptotische Verteilung der Eigenwerte partieller Differentialgleichungen. Ber. Sachs. Acad. Wiss. Leipzig, 88:119–132 (1936).
- [Cour] R. COURANT. Über die Eigenwerte bei den Differentialgleichungen der mathematischen Physik. Mat. Z., 7:1–57 (1920).
- [DG] J. J. DUISTERMAAT AND V. GUILLEMIN. The spectrum of positive elliptic operators and periodic bicharacteristics. Invent. Math., 29(1):37–79 (1975).
- [GS] G. M. GRAF AND J. P. SOLOVEJ. A correlation estimate with applications to quantum systems with Coulomb interactions. Rev. Math. Phys., 6(5a):977–997 (1994). Reprinted in The state of matter a volume dedicated to E. H. Lieb, Advanced series in mathematical physics, 20, M. Aizenman and H. Araki (Eds.), 142–166, World Scientific 1994.
- [HA] A. HASSEL; V. IVRII Spectral asymptotics for the semiclassical Dirichlet to Neumann operator. J. of Spectral Theory 7(3):881–905 (2017).
- [Hör1] L. HÖRMANDER. The spectral function of an elliptic operator. Acta Math., 121:193–218 (1968).

- [Hör2] L. HÖRMANDER. On the Riesz means of spectral functions and eigenfunction expansions for elliptic differential operators. In Yeshiva Univ. Conf., November 1966, volume 2 of Ann. Sci. Conf. Proc., pages 155–202. Belfer Graduate School of Sci. (1969).
- [Ivr1] V. IVRII. Second term of the spectral asymptotic expansion for the Laplace-Beltrami operator on manifold with boundary. Funct. Anal. Appl., 14(2):98–106 (1980).
- [Ivr2] V. IVRII. Accurate spectral asymptotics for elliptic operators that act in vector bundles. Funct. Anal. Appl., 16(2):101–108 (1982).
- [Ivr3] V. IVRII. Microlocal Analysis and Precise Spectral Asymptotics, Springer-Verlag, SMM, 1998, xv+731.
- [Ivr4] V. IVRII. Microlocal Analysis and Sharp Spectral Asymptotics
- [Ivr5] V. IVRII Spectral asymptotics for fractional Laplacians.
- [Lev1] B. M. LEVITAN. On the asymptotic behaviour of the spectral function of the second order elliptic equation. Izv. AN SSSR, Ser. Mat., 16(1):325–352 (1952) (in Russian).
- [Lev2] B. M. LEVITAN. Asymptotic behaviour of the spectral function of elliptic operator. Russian Math. Surveys, 26(6):165–232 (1971).
- [L] E. H. LIEB. The stability of matter: from atoms to stars (Selecta). Springer-Verlag (1991).
- [LSY1] E. H. LIEB, J. P. SOLOVEJ AND J. YNGVARSSON. Asymptotics of heavy atoms in high magnetic fields: I. Lowest Landau band regions. Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 47:513–591 (1994).
- [LSY2] E. H. LIEB, J. P. SOLOVEJ AND J. YNGVARSSON. Asymptotics of heavy atoms in high magnetic fields: II. Semiclassical regions. Comm. Math. Phys., 161: 77–124 (1994).
- [Lor] H. A. LORENTZ. Alte und neue Fragen der Physik. Physikal. Zeitschr., 11, 1234–1257 (1910).

- [MR] M. MELGAARD AND G. ROZENBLUM. Eigenvalue asymptotics for weakly perturbed Dirac and Schrödinger operators with constant magnetic fields of full rank. Comm. Partial Differential Equations 28 (2003), no. 3–4, 697–736.
- [N] S. NONNENMACHER, Counting stationary modes: a discrete view of geometry and dynamics, Talk at Weyl Law at 100, a workshop at the Fields Institute, September 19-21, (2012).
- [Rai1] G. D. RAIKOV, Eigenvalue asymptotics for the Schrödinger operator in strong constant magnetic fields, Commun. P.D.E. 23 (1998), 1583– 1620.
- [Rai2] G. D. RAIKOV, Eigenvalue asymptotics for the Pauli operator in strong non-constant magnetic fields, Ann. Inst. Fourier 49, (1999), 1603–1636.
- [RW] G. D. RAIKOV, S. WARZEL, Quasiclassical versus non-classical spectral asymptotics for magnetic Schrödinger operators with decreasing electric potentials, Rev. Math. Phys. 14 (2002), 1051–1072.
- [Roz1] G. ROZENBLIOUM. The distribution of the discrete spectrum of singular differential operators. English transl.: Sov. Math., Izv. VUZ 20(1):63-71 (1976).
- [RSS] G. V. ROZENBLIOUM, M. Z. SOLOMYAK, AND M. A. SHUBIN. Spectral theory of differential operators. Partial Differential Equations VII, EMS volume 34 (1994), Springer-Verlag.
- [RT] G. ROZENBLUM AND G. TASHCHIYAN. On the spectral properties of the perturbed Landau Hamiltonian. Comm. Partial Differential Equations 33 (2008), no. 4–6, 1048—1081.
- [SV1] YU. SAFAROV AND D. VASSILIEV. Asymptotic distribution of eigenvalues of differential operators. AMS Transl., Ser. 2, 150 (1992).
- [SV2] YU. SAFAROV AND D. VASSILIEV. The Asymptotic Distribution of Eigenvalues of Partial Differential Operators, Translations of Mathematical Monographs. AMS, 155 (1997).

- [See1] R. SEELEY. A sharp asymptotic estimate for the eigenvalues of the Laplacian in a domain of R<sup>3</sup>. Advances in Math., 102(3):244–264 (1978).
- [See2] R. SEELEY. An estimate near the boundary for the spectral function of the Laplace operator. Amer. J. Math., 102(3):869–902 (1980).
- [Shar] E. SHARGORODSKY On negative eigenvalues of two-dimensional Schrödinger operators. Proc. Lond. Math. Soc. (3) 108 (2014), no. 2, 441-483.
- [ST] M. A. SHUBIN AND V. A. TULOVSKII On the asymptotic distribution of eigenvalues of p.d.o. in ℝ<sup>n</sup>. Math. USSR Sbornik, 21:565–573 (1973).
- [Som] A. SOMMERFELD. Die Greensche Funktion der Schwingungsgleichung f
  ür ein beliebiges Gebiet. Physikal. Zeitschr., 11, 1057–1066 (1910).
- [W1] H. WEYL. Über die Asymptotische Verteilung der Eigenwerte. Nachr. Konigl. Ges. Wiss. Göttingen, 110–117 (1911).
- [W2] H. WEYL. Das asymptotische Verteilungsgesetz linearen partiellen Differentialgleichungen. Math. Ann., 71:441–479 (1912).
- [W3] H. WEYL. Über die Abhängigkeit der Eigenschwingungen einer Membran von deren Begrenzung. J. Für die Angew. Math., 141:1–11 (1912).
- [W4] H. WEYL. Über die Randwertaufgabe der Strahlungstheorie und asymptotische Spektralgeometrie. J. Reine Angew. Math., 143, 177– 202 (1913).
- [W5] H. WEYL. Das asymptotische Verteilungsgesetz der Eigenschwingungen eines beliebig gestalteten elastischen Körpers. Rend. Circ. Mat. Palermo. 39:1–49 (1915).
- [W6] H. WEYL. Quantenmechanik und Gruppentheorie, Zeitschrift für Physik, 46:1–46 (1927) (see The Theory of Groups and Quantum Mechanics, Dover, 1950, xxiv+422).

[W7] H. WEYL. Ramifications, old and new, of the eigenvalue problem. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 56(2):115–139 (1950).

# Presentations

- [1] Sharp spectral asymptotics for irregular operators
- [2] Sharp spectral asymptotics for magnetic Schrödinger operator
- [3] 25 years after
- [4] Spectral asymptotics for 2-dimensional Schrödinger operator with strong degenerating magnetic field
- [5] Magnetic Schrödinger operator: geometry, classical and quantum dynamics and spectral asymptotics
- [6] Spectral asymptotics and dynamics
- [7] Magnetic Schrödinger operator near boundary
- [8] 2D- and 3D-magnetic Schrödinger operator: short loops and pointwise spectral asymptotics
- [9] 100 years of Weyl's law
- [10] Some open problems, related to spectral theory of PDOs
- [11] Large atoms and molecules with magnetic field, including selfgenerated magnetic field (results: old, new, in progress and in perspective)
- [12] Semiclassical theory with self-generated magnetic field
- [13] Eigenvalue asymptotics for Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator
- [14] Eigenvalue asymptotics for Fractional Laplacians
- [15] Asymptotics of the ground state energy for relativistic atoms and molecules
- [16] Etudes in spectral theory
- [17] Eigenvalue asymptotics for Steklov's problem in the domain with edges

Available at http://weyl.math.toronto.edu/victor\_ivrii/research/talks/

#### PRESENTATIONS

- [18] Complete semiclassical spectral asymptotics for periodic and almost periodic perturbations of constant operators
- [19] Complete Spectral Asymptotics for Periodic and Almost Periodic Perturbations of Constant Operators and Bethe-Sommerfeld Conjecture in Semiclassical Settings

# Index

charge term, 102 chemical potential, 11 density classical, 39 smeared, 39 spacial. 5 Thomas-Fermi. 11 direct term. 52 electrostatic inequality, 9 entanglement, 349 fermion, 3 fixed nuclei model, 4, 70 Fock space, 3 free nuclei model, 4, 70 ground state energy, 4, 69 Hamiltonian cluster. 60 intercluster, 60, 197 inner core, 105 integrated density of states, 584 intermediate case, 73 ionization energy, 4, 70 ISM identity, 234

magnetic field

combined, 284 external, 284 moderate. 286 strong, 286 self generated, 208 self-generated, 284 maximal excessive negative charge, 4.70 maximal excessive positive charge, 5.70 moderate magnetic field case, 72 potential smeared, 40 Thomas-Fermi, 11 pressure, 6, 71 quantum correlation function, 40 scaling function absolute, 118 relative, 118 Scott correction terms, 272 Slater determinant, 12 spacial density, 71 spin variable, 3 strong magnetic field case, 72 Thomas-Fermi density, 11

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019 V. Ivrii, *Microlocal Analysis, Sharp Spectral Asymptotics and Applications V*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-30561-1

# INDEX

potential, 11 Thomas-Fermi energy, 4 magnetic, 70 trace term, 105

#### zone

external, 132, 138 inner, 23

# **Content of All Volumes**

# Volume I. Semiclassical Microlocal Analysis and Local and Microlocal Semiclassical Asymptotics

Preface		V	
Introduction		XXII	
Ι	Semiclassical Microlocal Analysis	1	
1	Introduction to Microlocal Analysis	2	
2	Propagation of Singularities in the Interior of the Domain	126	
3	Propagation of Singularities near the Boundary	196	
II Local and Microlocal Semiclassical Spectral			
	Asymptotics in the Interior of the Domain	285	
4	General Theory in the Interior of the Domain	286	
5	Scalar Operators in the Interior of the Domain.		
	Rescaling Technique	407	
6	Operators in the Interior of Domain. Esoteric Theory	521	
IJ	Local and Microlocal Semiclassical Spectral		
-------	---	-----	
	Asymptotics near the Boundary	622	
7	Standard Local Semiclassical Spectral Asymptotics near the Boundary	623	
8	Standard Local Semiclassical Spectral Asymptotics near the Boundary. Miscellaneous	742	
Bi	bliography	801	
Pr	resentations	873	
In	Index		
	Volume II. Functional Methods and Eigenvalue Asymptotics		
Pr	eface	V	
In	troduction	XII	
г	V Estimates of the Spectrum	1	
9	Estimates of the Negative Spectrum	2	
10	Estimates of the Spectrum in the Interval	45	
V	Asymptotics of Spectra	94	
11	Weyl Asymptotics of Spectra	95	
12	Miscellaneous Asymptotics of Spectra	262	
Bi	bliography	440	
Pr	resentations	512	
Index		514	

Volume III. Magnetic Schrödinger Operator.	1	
Preface	V	
Introduction		
VI Smooth theory in dimensions 2 and 3	1	
13 Standard Theory	2	
14 2D-Schrödinger Operator with Strong Degenerating Magnetic Field	182	
15 2D-Schrödinger Operator with Strong Magnetic Field near Boundary	317	
<b>VII</b> Smooth theory in dimensions 2 and 3		
(continued)	414	
16 Magnetic Schrödinger Operator: Short Loops, Pointwise		
Spectral Asymptotics and Asymptotics of Dirac Energy	415	
17 Dirac Operator with the Strong Magnetic Field	564	
Bibliography	647	
Presentations	719	
Index	721	
Volume IV. Magnetic Schrödinger Operator.	<b>2</b>	
Preface	Ι	
Introduction	XX	

VIII	Non-smooth theory and higher dimensions	1
18 2 <b>D</b> -	and 3D-magnetic Schrödinger operator with irregular coefficients	2
19 Mul	tidimensional Magnetic Schrödinger Operator. Full-Rank Case	104
20 Mul	ltidimensional Magnetic Schrödinger Operator. Non-Full-Rank Case	222
IX	Magnetic Schrödinger Operator in Dimension 4	324
21 4D-	Schrödinger Operator with a Degenerating Magnetic Field	325
22 4D-	Schrödinger Operator with the Strong Magnetic Field	433
X	Eigenvalue Asymptotics for Schrödinger and Dirac	
	Operators with the Strong Magnetic Field	497
23 Eige	envalue asymptotics. 2D case	498
24 Eige	envalue asymptotics. 3D case	569
Bibliog	raphy	632
Present	ations	704
Index		706

Volume V. Applications to Quantum Theory and Miscellaneous Problems	
Preface	V
Introduction	XX
XI Application to Multiparticle Quantum Theory	1
25 No Magnetic Field Case	2
26 The Case of External Magnetic Field	68
27 The Case of Self-Generated Magnetic Field	208
28 The Case of Combined Magnetic Field	284
Bibliography	395
XII Articles	467
Spectral Asymptotics for the Semiclassical Dirichlet to Neumann Operator	468
Spectral Asymptotics for Fractional Laplacians	495
Spectral Asymptotics for Dirichlet to Neumann Operator in the Domains with Edges	513

Relativistic Settings	540
Asymptotics of the Ground State Energy in the	
Relativistic Settings and with Self-Generated Magnetic Field	559
Complete Semiclassical Spectral Asymptotics for Periodic and	
Almost Periodic Perturbations of Constant Operator	583

Asymptotics of the Ground State Energy in the

Complete Differentiable Semiclassical Spectral Asymptotics	607
Bethe-Sommerfeld Conjecture in Semiclassical Settings	619
100 years of Weyl's Law	641
Presentations	730
Index	732